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Coxmrmî Boom, 27th February, 1877.

REPORT OF TRE CLEat.

To the Chairman and Members of the Joint Commitmee on Printing:

GENTLEMN,-
Herewith I beg to submit the Annual Balance 8Ieet for 1875-4, whick aJw,

the coSt of thePrinting Services of Parliament for t jt.ar to have been 87?.59.
The Accounts in etail, together with the Vouchera, and fyle of the pr-

formed are ready for submission to the Audit Cormttee:
The several services have been, satisfactorily perfbrmed during tie reqw4*

the Contractors have evinced every desire to meet the require cent f a* t
and, I think, very successfully.

The total oït of the Official Publication of the Debats of the Rouseof<O.M
for the Session of 1876 was $11,280.15.

I prepared an estimate of $é0,000 for the P inn :ervices of Parliaa-Wthe
ear 1876. being the amount voted last year, afl smitted the
inister of Finance to be laid before Parliament witi lhe other th

year; su t however, to the pproval of the Comitte.
All àe respectfully ubmitted.

Courrrm Roon, February, 1877<
k ,DepartÀmst Y.in qg o rNqausi.

wi&

The joint Committeêof b"th Houses on the Printing of Parliam.it bsg ýpave to
submit-as thirbird£ t

Theo t of the sùI-O Èttee appointed to audit the Printing eoUonata,
together withof the Comà tte on the Printig Servicerof
the, past year, and ' Te Printing Account Baance She.pt," ail hereto anexed; al.of
which they ro Uly recqinuend to the consideration of both Rouses.

All which is espectfuly sulmitted.
J. 8IMPSON. Chairman

owm' Room, 28th Feburary, 1877.

REPORT OF THE SUB-O0%MITTEE.
The Sub-Cotnmittee of the Joint Committee of bath Houses on tih P of

Parliament, to whom was referred the Printing &counts, together with the e
Sheet -nd the. Clerk's Report on the services of the pass year, beg lave tchregprt
as follows:-

ThaI they bave carefilly examined the Balance Sheet, and found the bokas;#ir
whichu ei Pr tingServices of Parlignent are debited to agree *ith the cettigate
of the AuditQrfwa*rrants issed, etc. Yorthe sums expended, acoounts and vecno6es
in detail weremfirnished and examined your Qpmmittee -and found correct, The
Printing Acunts were further verifi0iby fyles of the work performed, with théir
cost, in detail, in each, a sufficient nualber of which your Committee - tO
satisfy themseolves of their correctness. They have therefore signed theu ce
Sheet, certifying that lhe Balance Sheet and Accounts have been examined br tm
and found correct.

A communication from the Distributor was submitted toyour Commaittee, atang
that from the increase of the labour in the Department, an extra Sessional
was necessary; the Sub-Committee having enquired into the necessity, re.-- y
recommend that the ap ication be granted, and that Win. Cairns, now dolig duty
temporarily, be retain sessionally.

- Ail which is respectfully submitted.

A1 40- 041
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REPORT.
The Select Standing Committee on Publie Accounts beg leave to present as their

FIIRST REPORT:

The papers relating to the superannuation of Wm. Warren, Esq., late Colleetor of
Customs at Whitby, Ontario.

All which is respeetfully submitted.

CoMMITTEE RooM, 9th March, 1877.

(Signed) JAMES YOUNG,
Onairman.

To the Honourabe the Minister of Customs for the Dominion of Canada, Ottawa -

IoNOBBLE AND DEAR Sm,-The memorial of the undersigned merchants and
others, of the Town of Whitby, in the County oi Ontario and Province of Ontario,
humbly sheweth,

That your memorialists are informed that Mr. William Warren, of this place,Custom Ilonse Olficer at Port Whitby, is about to resign his position, which he ha.
so long and so worthily held;

That we believe George A. Carson, M. D., of this place, to be in every respct
well qualified to fili said position, and that he would perform the duties of his ofice
with ability and integrity, and that his appointment would be most favourably
received by the business men of this.town and neighbourhood, and the public at-
large;

Your memorialists therefore pray that the said George A. Carson may, in the
event of Mr. Warren's resignation, be appointed to fill the position of Custom Hon
Officer at Port Whitby.

And your memori:dists, as in duty bound, will ever pray.
J. Ramer Greenwood, Mayor cf Whitby, G. Young Smith,
Canada Clock Company, J. K. Gordon,
The Mudge and Yarwood Manufacturing H. Fraser,

Company, Fred Mudge, Manager, Charles Scott, Sen.,
King Bros., Tanners and Leather Dealers. Andrew Orvis, Pickering,
A. M. Brown, President of the Brown and Canning, Barrister at Law,

Patterson Manufacturing Company, Jno. C. Farewell, County Crown Attorney,
Calimer Campbell, J. P., D. Ormiston,
Jno. Donovan, Reeve, Town of Whitby, and H. B. Taylor, Agent Dominion Bank,

Carriage Manufacturer, Ron. Jobnston,
Hatch & Bro., Importers of Rardware, D. B. Modder, Wesleyan Minister,J. P. White, Reeve of Pickering, C. VanDusen, Weslefan Minister,Laing & Stewart, Importers of Dry Goods, Alex. Ogston,R. H. Jamieson, Importer of Groceries, James Byrne, Chemist and Druggist,
Lowes & Powell, M-erchants, J. G. MeDougal, Confectioner,
James H. Gerrie & Co., Druggists, James J. Murphy, Merchant,
John Bryan, Importer cf Stoves, S. M. Thomas, J. P.,
Yeoman Gibson, Produce Dealer, James Dryden,
Gross & MacNachtan Hardware Mer- W. R. Higgins, Whitby Chronicle

chanta,

40 Victoria. Appendi& (Neo.)



Petition to the Honourable the Minister of Customs, Ottawoa.

We, the undersigned oetitioners, respectfally represent,
That a petition has been circulated in the Town of Whitby, for the purpose of

appointing another Collector of Cnstoms in the place of William Warren, Esquire,
the present Collector, and representing that X r. Warren is to be siuperannuated at
bis own request. That Mr. Warren states he has no wish to reti.e from his oice,
and some of us, under the representation that he was so desirous, have signed a
petition for the appointment of anoLher pfity.

We believe Mr. Warren to be quite as able now as he ever has been to perform
the duties required.

We wold humnbly ask you to retain him in his offce, as he has always given
the greatest satisfaction to the people of this country, and, we believe, in your
Department.

And your petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

Dated at Whitby, the 17th November, 1874.

I & J. Campbell, Merchants and Importers, James H. Gerriè & 0o., Druggists,
Hamilton & Co., Geo. Yule, Erpress and Telegraph Agent,

Ja& Byr4o, "" ester Draper, Produce MarchAn4,
Geo. C. Gross, Hardware Importer, W. H. Billings,
z»ewi Affin, Demler in Jeweltery, etc., William Till Burniture ManBaturr,
biewes& ?ow.l, Merchants and Importers, J. H. Perry, Cemity Registrar,
H. R Taylor, Agent Dominion Bank, G. Young Smith, Barrister,

SJ. Rbre &r o., Merchants, Z. Burnham, Judge, etc.
8.H Jánaieson,

OmroM Houas, Warrmm, 18th November, 18¾,

ihn,-I have the honour to state that certain persons in this plea either hae or
a &bout ta send a petition to the Honourable the Miniater of Cstons to hav m

that my place may be filled by one of their own fiend. Now,
am seventy-four years of age, and over thirty-one years Obilector at this

port, I am as well able to perform the duties of my offeo as I ever have bee;
uadeed there are very few mn Of rMy age as strong and active, as Mr. Inpector
Kavanagh or Acting-Inspector Lewis can informyeu. I hope, therefore, you wiiR
prevent my being superannuated for a year or two longer.

I have th» honour to þe, Sir,
oY»ur obøîuin êevmat,

(Signed) Wl. WAREIN
The Oommisuioner of Castoms.

Odbyf John Les Bg., &UWyor of Catoms, Montreal, afterOfàciaL Vi À nÂ~U9, 18'14.

or mWrre ) Collecter, is no doubt a reliable oeIer, as far as a",b, t too oldRti the duties requiredOf hom " ,
ýRePort forwarded fim Montreale nder date lôth juanugry, 81
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REPORT.

The Select Standing Committee on Public Accoants beg eave to ma" twir

SEOOND REPOWRT:

That it appears, from the vouchers now before thei, lp sums of money har.
from time to time, been paid to T. W. Anglin, a Member of the House of Commoems
0r prin' and etationery while a Member of that House.

Your mmittee beg leave to report copies of aid vouchers and paper to your
Honourable House.

The whole, nevertheles, humbly submitted.

(Signed)

oDMrMe Rooar, l5th March, 1877.

JAÂM14 YOUNG,

[I aordance to«th te recommeadaton of the Jint Qun 0 g e ¢
<,oimyig voucAers and papers are not proý"ee

AÊ"td (Né. 1.)
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Appendix (No. 2.)

REPORT.

THE SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE on Public Accounts, to whom was referred the
following items of expenditure of Secret Service Fund?, viz.: The item of
$15,086.41, for the year 1868; the item of 833,103.88, for the year 1869; ihe
item of $10,208.54, for the year 1870; and the item of $75,000, for the year 1871,
have had the same under consideration ; and upon the order of reference and
matters connected therewith, including the refund of $25,579.04 to the Receiver-
General on 12th November, 1875, and the withdrawal of $6.600 from the sanie
fund upon the same day, the Committee beg to present as tiheir

TIRD REPORT:

That they have examined several witnesses, a copy of whose evidenlce together with
the motions, proceedings and votes of the Connnittee in this reference, is

' appended, and upon the facts established before the Committee they beg leave
to submit the following:-

in the session of 1867-68 Parliament appropriated for Secret and Detective Service
for the fiscal year, 1867-68, the sum of $50,000.

On the 5th June, 1868, within four weeks of the close of the fiscal year, an order
was made in Council directing $50,000 of the vote for Secret and Detective Service
for 1868 to he placed on special account with the Bank of -Montreal, in the names of
the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the
Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certificate that the money or any part thereof
had been disbursed for the service of the country should be a suffieient diseharge and
voucher for the payment of the same. On the 6th of June this sun was deposited
acordingly.

Between the 10th and the 29th of June there was drawn, as aýppears by hie Rank
account produced by the Agent of the Bank, $21,991.41, leaving a balance unex-
pended at the close of the fiscal year of $28,008.59. Bv the PuUle Acoets the
sum Of 815,081.41 only is entered as expended during the fiscal vear. Tuis entry
was made by the Auditor General under verbal instructions from soine Nnister, but
whom he does not remember. No certificate of any Minister fir thle disbursement of
this or any other sum expended for this service has ever been given.

In the session of 1869 the sum of $75,000 was voted for this >ervice for the fiscal
year 1868-69, but this vote was written otl.

During the fiscal vear 1868-69 the sum of824,128.88 was, as appbears by the Bank
account, drawn from the special account already referred to, leavinIg a alnee at the
close of the year of $3,879.71. By the Publie Accounts the sum of $33,103.88 is eni
tered as expended during this fiscal year. This entry was made by% the Auditoi
General on authority similar to that of the preceding year.

The balance unexpended by the Public Accounts thus appears to have been
$1,809.71.

During the fiscal year 1869-70, the Auditor, on the 18th October, 1869, certi ed:
" That a transfer entry warrant may issue eharging special deposit Secret Ser-

"vice, and croditing services of 1868 with $8.398,83, being the balance unexpended
"in the year 1866-67,'

40 Victoria. A. 1877l
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The history of this sum is as follows :-Prior to Confederation the Legislature of
the late Province *of Canada had appropriated a sum for Secret Service, out of which
by an Order in Council, dated August 6th, 1866, $50,000 was ordered to be placed in a
specla account with the Bank of Montredl, in th4 names of the Attornies General for
Up r and Lower Canada, the Minister of Finance, and the Provineial Secietary;
a was so placed on the following day, August 7th. On the 30th June, 1867, there
remained unexpended of this amount the sum of $8,398.83. *

This sum was a banker's balance within the meaning of the 107th clause of the
British North America Act, 1867, which provides that:-

" AH stocks, cash, banker's balances, and securities for money belonging to each
"Province at the time of the Union, except as in this Act mentioned, shall be the
"property of Canada, and shall be taken in reduction of the amount of the respective
"debts ofthe Provinces at the Union."

Certain moneys paid by the Dominion immediately after the Union for certain
servies of the late Province of Canada were charged against the late Province in

-the Public Accounts of 1867-68, and in reduction thereof credit was given to the late
Province for this balance as so much eash, thus closing this item of the accounts be-
tween the late Province and the Dominion. The balance which was thus the property
of Canada remained untouched from 27th July, 1867, until 18th October, 1869. when
under the authority of a transfer warrant issued by virtue of the Auditor's certificate
above quoted; and without any Order in Council, it was transferred in the Public
Accounts to the Secret Service account, and being added to the balance $1,809.71 of
the vote of $50,000 for 1867-68, makes the sum of $10,208.54, appearing in the Public
Accounts for the year 1868-69, as an asset.

The Auditor states that this transfer was made because the fund was getting
low.

By this transaction the sum in question was, in fact, diverted from the general
funds of Canada and appropriated to Secret Service withoat authority from or
indemnity by Parliament.

By the Bank account the expenditmre during the fiscal year 186940 was $13,960.
In the Public Accounts the sum of $10,208.54 is entered as expended for this year.
This entry was made by the Auditor under similar circumstances to the preceding
enmdes of similar eigenditures.

During the session of 1870 the sum of $75,000 was appropriated for this service
fbr the fical yar 1870-71.

On the lst July, 1870, an Order-in Council was made directing that $30;000 he
approplated of the vote for 1870-71, and that a warrant should issue in favor ofthe

r of the Bank of Montreal, with directions " to place it in special accuint with
"the Lak of Montreal in the names of the Minister of Justice, the Minister of
"Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the Minister of Inland Revenue. whose certifi-
" cae that the same or any part thereof has been disbursed for the service of the
"country shall be a sulflcient discharge and voucher for the payment of tle-game,"
and on the 6th July this sum was passed to the credit of the old special account of
the late Province which had been opened on August 7th, 1866, and was thus added
tohe balance already referred to as standing to the credit of that account. The
Bank account shows thîat from this account was drawn S32,299.20 between 1st July
and *à December 1870, at which date an Order in Council in terms siinilar to the
on. of July ist, authorized the deposit of $10,000 more. Between that date and
February 11th, 1871, tbere was drawn $749.30, and on February 11th there was
deposited to the credit of the account the sum of $15,584, which had been previously
drawn by the then Minister of Finance for the payment of certain claims in connec-
tion with the difficulties in the Red River Settlement.

This deposit is stated to have been made out of funds provided under Orders in
(ouncil of I4th February and 10th July, 1871.

Between the 11th Fcbruary sud the close of the fiscal year 1870-71, theée was
drawn là,480, making the total drawn during that year for Secret Service, (and exela-
»ive of th. sun of $15,584 drawn and re-deposited as already mntientd) $2249f4f0.
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The balance appearing by the Bank account at the credit of this account o 30th
June, 1871, is $15,754.04.

On the 26th June, 1871, Sir John A. Macdonald, Minister of Justice, reported to
Council " That it appears from the certificate of the Auditor that there remains
"unexpended of the vote for Secret Service the sum of thirty-five thousand dollars.

" As there was no vote taken for Secret Service last session, and inasmuch as
"there is sufficient evidence to show that the public interests may require that the
"unexpended balance should be used, the undersigned recommenCds that the saie be

carriedto the credit of the Sub-Committee of Council on Secret Service matters."
And on the following day an Order in Council was made, carrying out this

recommendation. In pursuance of this Order the sum of $35,000 vas, on the 3rd
July, 1871, carried to the credit of the account.

By this course the whole of the vote of $75,000 was taken, although there
remained unexpended at the close of the fiscal year 1870-71 the two sums of $15,754.04,
and $35,000, making in all $50,754.04. In the Public Accounts for this fiscal year
the whole sum of$75,000 is entered as actually expended. This entry was made by
the Auditor inder verbal instructions. The Public Accounts contain no indication
that any alteration was being made in the system of entry or accounting.

Sir John A. Macdonald states that he recommended the issue of $35,000 on
June 26th, 1871, partly because there were old claims, the payment of whiclh might
require a considerable sum, and partly because the public exigencies might require
further expenditure.

The Bank account shows that between the 30th June, 1871, and 29th May, 1872,
there was drawn $3,575, whieh includes the sum of $1,000 paid on the 27th I Decenber,
1872, to Archbishop Taché for Louis Riel, and referred to in the report of t lie Select
Committee on the North-West Troubles.

On the 29th May, 1872, the Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts
reported to the Bouse as follows:-

" That inasmuch as such large sums as $75,000 have been voted for Secret Service
"rmoney, of which there is no audit as in the case of other expenditure, ihis Com-

mittee is of opinion that an account of all sums hereafter spent'fbr Secre Service
"should be kept as in England, in a book specially prepared for the pur;pose, and
"that this book should annually be inspected by a confidential Committec, of whom
" two shall be members of the Opposition of the day."

No further sum was drawn during the fiscal year 1871-72, and the balance at the
close of that year remained at $47,179.40.

On November 11th, 1872, $10,000 was transferred to the credit of Sir John A.
Macdonald in the Bank of Montreal, Toronto, from which Bank it was C rawn as
follows: November 13, $2,000; November 15, $3,000; November 15, $3,000;
November 19, $2,000.

On the 5th March, 1873, being the day of the opening of Parlianent, Mr.
Drummond, at the request of Sir John A. Macdonald. sent him ail the ch es and
other vouchers in connection with the various Secret Service accounts to i'at date,
and Sir John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these papers are or what has
become of them.

On the 27th June, 1873, the further sum of $5,000 was drawn, making a total
during the fiscal year 1872-73, and subsequent to the above quoted resolutin of the
Committee on Public Accounts, of $15,000, and leaving a balance at the clo e of that
year of $32,179.04.

In August, 1873, Mr. Drummond, at Sir John A. Macdonald's request. sent him
the cheques and other vouchers in connection with the payments subsu puent to
March 5th, and Sir John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these papers are or
what has become of them.

To summarize for convenience, the expenditures and unexpended 1 lance of
each fiscal year, as appears by the Bank account, exclusive of the anount o>! 815,584
re-deposited February 11th, 1871, and not crediting the unexpenled1 lîlance of



*83883, until it was transferred October 18th, 1869, they are shown to be as

Expenditure for year 1867-68... 21,99141
Balance at close of the year...................... 28008 59
Expenditure for year 1868-69............. .................. 24,128 88
Balance at close of the year..................................3y879 71
Expenditure for year 1869-70 ..................... 13,960 0
Expenditure for the year 1870-71...........................22,494 50
Balance at close of -the year........................... 1574 04

Exclusive of $35,000 not deposited tilt July 3rd.
Expenditure for year 1871-72.................. 3,575 00)
Balance at close of the year.......................4... 47,179 04
Expenditure for year 1872-73 .-....................... 15,000 00
Balance at close of the year.................................. 32,179 04

On the 7th of November, 1873, the Ministry of Sir John A. Macdonala
resigned.

No intimation was given by the out-going to the in coming Ministers of the
existence of the balance of $32,179.04, nor was any proposal then made to clear the
account.

Just before the time ofhis resignation, Sir John A. Mrcdonald intimated to Mr.
Langton, the Auditor-Gencral, that there was a balance wlich was subject to some
outstanding claims; but that fact was not communicated by Mr. Langton to the new
Ministers.

More than once between the resignation and November, 1875, Sir John A.
Macdonald intimated to Mr. Drummond, Manager of the Bank of Montreal, his desire
to withdraw from the special deposit a sum in respect of some alleged outstanding
claims, but Mr. Drummond stated that he considered the authority of the Govern-
ment would be requisite for such a transaction, on which Sii John intimated that he
would communicate with Mr. Langton on the subject.

Matters so remained till November, 1875, when Sir John A. Macdonald visited
Ottawa, and saw Mr. Langton upon the business. There ipon Mr. Langton had a
conversation with Mr. Drammond, who subsequently wrote Mr. Langton the
following letter:

"BANK OF MONTREAL,
"OTTAWA, 3rd Noveniber, 1875.

"My DE&R SiR,-The balance of credit of the special of Sir John A. Macdonald
"in this branch is $32,179.04.

" In view of this being closed under the arrangemen s you may have agreed on
"with Sir John, please send me such official instructions is to its disposai as may be

re luisite to authorize me to carry out the same."

On November 4th, Mr. Drummond received the following reply -

"INovember 4th, 1875.

"My DEAu Sm,-I had an interview with Sir John Macdonald before I left
"Ottawa, in which he explained to me that the balance of Secret Service standing in
"lhis name was 832,179.04. Of this $6,600 is pledged for certain expenses incurred
" before the resignation of the late Minîitry, and he wishes the balance to be
"deposited.

"Be good enough, therefore, to deposit the $25,579.04 to the predit of the
"Receiver-General. and send me a duplicate and triplicate of the deposit.

"(Signed)
vU

- JOHN LANGTON."
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On the 12th November, 1875, Sir John A. Macdonald drew a cheque on the
account in question in his own favour for $6,600, and another cheque in favour of the
Receiver-General for the balance of $25,579.04. The latter was deposited to the credit
of the Receiver-General; the former was transferred to Sir John A. Macdonald's
private account ut Toronto.

On 12th November, Mr. Drummond wrote the following letter to Mr. Langton:

"BANK OF MONTREAL,
" OTTAWA, t2th November, 1875.

" DEAR SiR,-Tho special Secret Service Fund account has been closed in the
"n anner authorized by your letter of the 4th inst., by the accounting to Sir John A.

Macdonald Ior $6,600, the amourit pledged by him as agrced with you, and t.raiisfer
of the balance $25,579.04 to the credit of the Receiver-Gen eral as per enclosed ieceipt

"No. 66.

"(Signed) A. DRUMMOND,
Manager."

None of the parties made any communication of these transactions to any Min-
ister till after they had been closed, when Mr. Langton informed the Prime Minister,
Mr. Mackenzie, of the receipt of revenue under the head of Secret Service, and
also of the retention by Sir John A. Macdonald of the sum of $6,600. it
was not intimated to Mr. Mackenzie that this sum had been standing to the credit of a
Committee of Council, and his impression was that it had been in the hands of Sir John
A. Macdonald individually, and that he had disbursed it.

In this view, Mr. Mackenzie discussed the subject with Mr. Langton, who, oi
23rd November, wrote Sir John A. Macdonald the following letter:-

" November 23rd, 1875.

" MY DEAR SiR JoHN,-When I mentioned to Mr. Mackenzie the other day, the
" receipt we had had from you on account of Secret Service money, he requested me
" to call your attention to a resolution of the Committee upon public accounts which
"was submitted to the House, and which you will find at page 173 of the Journals of

1872. I doubt whether there was any expenditure for Secret Service after that
"date, as I learn from the Bank of Montreal that the present balance had remained
"untouched for upwards of a year before the resignation of your Ministry, but Mr.
"Mackenzie intimated that ho would expect a statement to be made of the payments
" made out of the $6,600 which you withhold as already pledged, in accordance with
" that resolution.

"(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,
" Auditor."

To this, Sir John A. Macdonald replied as follows:-

" ToRONTo, November 30th, 1875.

"MY DEAR LANGTON,-I have yours of the 23rd, which absence from home has
"prevented me from acknowledging before.

" I do not think that the fund at my disposal comes within the resolution you
"refer to; but I shall wait on Mr. Mackenzie, and explain the matter to him on the
"first opportunity. I would have done so had he been in Ottawa when I was there,
" but he had gone to the Maritime Provinces.

" (Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD."
yv
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Sir John A. Macdonald retained the sum of $6,600, and during the session of
1876 was informed by Ir. Mackenzie, on three several occasions, that the whle
subjeet must be communicated to Parliament. le requested delay however, parÈdy
owing to illnese, promising to see Mr. Mackenzie in rotation to the matter. He did
not see Mr. Mackenzie to give the promised explanations until about the time of
prorogation, when a conversation was had which did not result in any arrangement.

Shortly afterwards Sir John A. Macdonald paid $6,000 to the Hon. Senator
Campbell; $60G he still retains for the purpose hereinafter mentioned.

Sir John.A. Macdonald states that all the moneys spent since the 29th May,
1872, save the $600 chequed out for payment to the Hon. J. H. Pope, were for claims
contracted before 29th May, 1872.

The Committee abstaining, in view of the resolution of the 29th May, 1872,from
any public enquiry into the destination of the sums expended, have not investigated
the specific dates at which all those claims arose which were satisfied by payment
subsequent to the resolution of 1872; but it has been made to appear, with reference
to the sum of $600 retained to meet a payment made by the Hon. J. H. Pope, the
member for Compton, that this claim arose in the summer of the year 1873, and
consequently subsequent to the date of the resolution.

The English law and practice applicable to Secret Service moneys, so far as
material to the present enquiry, seems to be as follows:-

(1.) When money-is issued from the pay office to the Secretary of State as
Secret Service money, the Secretary of State gives a receipt under his own hand for
the money which is issuod to him.

(2.) By 22 Geo. Ill., c. 82, it is provided by section 24, as follows :-" and from pre-
venting as much as may be all abuses in the disposal of moneys issued under the head of
Secret Service money,or money for special service, be it enacted by the authority afore-
said, that it shall not be lawful to issue or imprest from the Exchequer,or order to be paid
by a Treasury Warrant, or under sign manual or otherwise, to any Secretary or Secre-
taries of the Treasury, or to any other person or persons whatsoever, from the Civil
List revenues, for the purpose of Secret Service within this Kingdom, any sum or
sums of money which in the whole shall excoed the sum of ten thousand pounds in
any one year." And it is also provided that when the Treasury issues or directs
the payment' of money from the civil list revenues for foreign Secret Service,
the same is issued and paid to one of His Majesty's principal Secretaries of State, or to
the firet Commissioner of the Admiralty, who shall for his discharge at the
Exchequer, within three years from the issue, produce the receipt of Ris Majesty's
Minister, Commissioner, or Consul in foreign parts, or of any Commander in Chief or
other commander of His Majesty's Navy or land forces to whom the said money shall
have been sent or given; that the saie hath been received for the purpose for which
the same hath been issued; which said receipt shall be filed in the Exchequer in
order to charge the said foreign Minister or other officer with the same; and the said
receipt shall be sufficient to acquit or discharge the said Secretary or Secretaries, or
first Commissioner of the Admiralty in the said account at the Exchequer.

And any foreign Mikister or other officer who shall stand charged at the
Exchequer for or by reason of any Secret Service money by him received, shall stand
discharged and acquitted thereof, if within one year after his arrival in Great Britain
he shall either return the said money into the Exchequer or make oath before the
Barons of the Exchequer, or one of them, in fori following:

I, A. B., do swear that I have disbursed the money entrusted to me for foreignl
Secret Service faithfully, according to the intent and purpose for whieh it was given;
accordi ng to the best of my judgment, for His Majesty's service. So help me God.

And also, whenever it shal be necessary for the principal Secretary of State, or
firstCommissioner of the Admiralty, to make payment f an money issued foi foreign
Secret Service, or for Secret Service, in dotecting, preven ,or defeating treasonable
conspiracies against the State in any place within the om, thon it sha be
mfieientto acquit and disecharge the said Secretary or other 'nister for him or the

tUnder$eéreeary of State in the office in which suc Secret Service money hath beenu
. iiâ



paid, or the Secretary of the Admiralty, to make out before the Barons of the
Exchequer, or one of ihem, or before the Cursitory Baron, in form following: T, A.
B., do swear that the money paid to me for foreign and Secret Service, or for Secret
Service, in detecting, preventing or defeating treasonable or other dangerous con-
spiracies against the State (mutatis mutandis, as the case may be), has been bond fide
applied to the said purpose or purposes, and to no other; and that it bath not
appeared to me coivenient to state that the sane should be paid abroad.

(3.) The practice enjoined by this Statute is acted on with reference to the
Parliamentary appropriation made from year to year fr Secret Service.

(4.) Eaeh outgoing Secretary of State immediately renders -an account, and
transfers the money iii his hands to the new Secretary of State, who starts with a
fresb account, carrying on as the first item on the debit side the Secret Service
money which has been transferred to him by the previous Secretary of State.

(5.) Since 1870, the amount expended during the fiscal year is entered in the
Public Accounts for the year as expended for Secret Service.

(6.) Since 1870, the balance unexpended at the end of the fiscal year is surren-
dered to the Treasury in like manner as other balances of public funds.

The Canadian law contains no special provision for Secret Service expenditures,
and consequently some of the special safeguards provided for by the English law are
absent.

Under the Canadian law and Orders in Council and the resolution of the Public
Accounts Committee of May 29th, 1872, the practice should have been as follows:-

(1.) The Ministers in whose names the fund was placed should have certified
that the money paid therefrom had been disbursed for the service of the country.

(2.) The amount disbursed during the fiscal year should have been entered in
the Public Accounts for the year, as expended for Secret Service.

(3.) The amount unexpended at the end of the fiscal year, remaining at the
credit of the special account of the Sub-Committee of Council on Secret Service,
should have been treated as a lapsed balance, under the Act 31 Vic., cap. 5, sect. 28,
which, without making any exception whatever, provided that: "All balances of
"appropriations which remain unexpended at the end of the financial year, shall
"lapse and be written off."

(4.) Any moneys standing to the credit of any Sub-Committee of Council on
Secret Service, should have been treated as remaining at the credit of the Sirb-
Committee, notwithstanding any change in the persons of the Ministers composing
the Sub-Committee, and thus, in case any of such persons ceased to hold office, his
Interest in or control over the moneys would thereon end, and his successor in office
would succeed to his rights and responsibilities in this as in other respects. The
same rule would, of course, apply in the case of the resignation of all the members
of the Sub-Committee.

(5.) If, however, it were supposed that owing to the form of the deposit or other-
wise, any member of the Sub-Committee retained, after his resignation, control over
the fund, or ir case any portion of the fund had been, before his resignation, placed in
the individual control of any member of the Sub-Committee, for expenditure, but had
not been actually disbursed, such individual could not, after his resignation, have any
right to disburse the fund, but would be bound to hand it over to those who had
succeeded to his responsibilities.

In this connection reference may be made to the 42nd clause of the Act respect-
ing the liability of Public Accounts, 31 Vic., cap. 5, which provides that:

" If any officer or person bas received public money for the purpose of applying
"it to any specific purpose, and bas not so applied within the time or in the manner

provided by law, or if any person, having held any public office, and having ceased
"to hold the same, bas in his hands any public money, received by him as such officer,
"for the purpose of being applied to any specific purpose to which b h as not so
"applied it, such officer or person shall be deemed to-have received such money for
" the Crown, for the public uses of the Dominion, and may be notified by the Minister
"of Finance to pay such sum back to the Receiver-General, and the same may be
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4reovered from him as a debt to the Crown, in awny manner in which debte to the
<I Crown may be recovered, ard fn equal sum may, in the meantime, be applied to
"-the purpose to which such sum ought to have been applied."

(6.) An Aecount should have been kept of ail sutns spent, and this, more espe-
cially, after the resolut ion of the Publie Accounts Committee of May 29th, 1872.

These provisions appear to have been disregarded. For example:
(1.) No certificate or voucher of the disbursing Ministers was given.
(2.) The entries made (without any such certificate) of amounts expended in the

earlier fiscal years after Confederation were, as compared with the bank account,

varied therefrom.
(3.) The unexpended balances were not surrendered.
(4.) With ieference to- the expenditure of the vote for 1867-68, a sum was

entered in the Publie Accounts as actually expended in the fiscal year, and an
assumed balance was ucarried forward a an asset. This practice was repeated for the
two following years, and thereby Parliament was practically told that the amount
entered as expended in each fiscal year had been actually expended in that year, and
that the balance was boing carried forward for expenditure in future years.

This course was, however, without any communication of the change, departed
from in the case of the large vote of 875,000 for the service of the fiscal year 1870-71,
the whole of which sum was entered as actually expended in that fiscal year, although
at the close of the year $50,754.04, or more than two-thirds of the amount, remained
unexpended, $35,000 of which was actually not placed to the credit of the Sub-
Committee until three days after the close of the fiscal year.

The result of this alteration of system without communication to Parliament,
was to lead Parliament to believe that the Secret Service Fund voted for 1870-71
was exhausted, when, in fact, there remained thereof unexpended over $50,000.

(5.) A considerable part of this balance, which should have been written of,
was spent in subsequent years.

(6.) No entry of the existence, or of any subsequent actual expenditure of this
balance was even made in the Public Accounts, and its existence and the dealings
therewith would have remained unknown but for the events which have led to the
present enquiry.

(7.) No account of the sumas spent for Secret Service was kept after the
resolution of the 29th May, 1872, which expressly stated that such an account should
be kept for the purpose of a confidential audit.

It has been suggested that this resolution does not apply to moneys spent subse-
quent to its date iu discharge o' prior claims, but the Committee cannot coueur in
this view. The clear and conclusive language of the resolution embraces all sums
spent subsequent to its date,

(8.) The sum of $8,398.83 of the public moneys of Canada was, without the
authority of Parliament, appropriated to and expended for Secret Service.

(9.) Two sums, amounting in the aggregate to $15,584, were drawn from the
Secret Service Special Account and applied to other unauthorized purposes, though
subsequently made good to the fund.

(10.) The outgoing -Ministers did not inform their sugcesàors of the balance to
lhe. credit of the Sub-Committee of Council, or deal, with them'in respect thereof.

(11.) Over two years after his resignation, when another person was filling the
office of Minister of Justice, and after Sir John A. Macdonald had ceased to have any
legal or constitutional control over the fund, for the disbursement of which his
successors were responsible, he drew therefrom the sum of $6,600 before mentioned.

The Committee are of opinion as follows:-
(1.) That the course pursued and hereinbefore specified with regard to the

Secret Service moneys, was highly irregular and a breach of the duty of those con-
eerned therein.

(2.) That steps should be taken for the recovery into the public chest of the said
sua of na6,6O0.

(3.) That ne accounts having been kept, and the. cheques or papers having been
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¶ost or destroyed, a satisfactory audit of the Secret Service expenditure has bea
rendered impossible.

(4.) That it was the duty of ,the Auditor-General to have informed the new
ministers of the fact that there was a balance at the credit of the Sub.Committee of
Council, and to have obtained the authority of the Ministers before giving Kr.
Drummond the directions about the disposal of the money contained in his letter of
November 4th, 1875.

(5.) That, in case Secret Service moneys should at any time hereafter be voted
by Parliament, it would be proper to provide further statutory safeguards against
ebuses in the application thereof.

All which i3 respectfully submitted.
JAMES YOUNG,

Chaùan.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

EXPENDITURE OF

SECRET SERVICE FUNDS.

RAILWAY COMMITTEE ROOM,
OTTAWA, Saturday, 17th March, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. YoUNG in the chair.

ANDREW DRUMMOND, Esq., Manager of the Ottawa Branch of the Bank of>
iMontreal, being in attendance submitted the following letter and statements:

(1.)

BANK OF MONTREAL,
OTTAWA, 16th March, 1877i

SIR,-In conformity with the request of the Committee on Public Accounts,
.conveyed through you in your letter of yesterday, I have the honour to submit here-
with statements of the amounts for Secret Service purposes deposited in, and the
<lisbursements made through this Branch, from August, 1866, until closed on
12th November, 1875.

gA statement of the accounts, accompanied by all the vouchers, was rendered on
5thb7March, 1873, to Sir John A. Macdonald, at his request, and again about August
of ?same year, there are consequently no cheques in the possession of the Bank
connected with the transactions, excepting for the closing of the accounts.

I remain,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) ANDREW DRUMMOND,
!Manager.

EDWARD P. HARTNEY, Esq.,
Clerk of Committee, louse of Commons.

2--1
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(2.)

No. 1, SPECIAL ACCOUNT.
1BANK OF MoNTBEAL in Account with Sir J. A. Macdonald et alia John A. Macdonaldp.
Du. G. E. Cartier, Wm. McDougall, A. T. Galt and Sir F. Iineks. Ca.

1866.
Aug. 7 To deposit... ........

1870.
July 6. Warrant 51...........
Dec. 9 do 1902.............

1871. 9
7eb. il Deposit...............
July 3, Warrant 15..........

$ ets. 1866. f
50,000 00 Au g. 7 By Cheque...

do 7 do
Sept. 19 do

30,000 00 Oct. 1 do
10,000 00 Nov. 9 do .............

do 14 do

15,584 00 1867.
35,000 00 Jan. 12 do ..

do 12 do
do 12 do

May 9 do
June 6 d

1june 6 do ........... ...... ........

fJUl 27 do .........................

Oct. 18 do .......................
do 20 do ...................

d1870.
Jan. 14
Mar. 10do 23
May 19
do 19
do 19

June 27
do 27
do 27

Jny 2
do 4
do 6

Aug. 30
Sept. 19
Oct. 18

do 18
Dec. 5

do 5

1871.Jan. 21
Feb. 11
Mar. 6
June 5
Sept. Il

IDec. 27

1 1872.
Jan. 23
IMar. 12
Oct. 17

1873-
June 27

18T5..
Nov. 12
do 12

140,584 00 j

$ ets-
38,000 00

500 00
500 0
200 00,
500 00
200 0>

50 04>
100 00

1,001 17-
50 0<>

500 0<>
70 0»>

1,130 29.
1,000 0>

........... ' 1,000 04
... . 1,000 0w

. .......... 200 0>

......................... 500 0>

....... 1................. ,900 0<

.................. .. ,.... 300 00>

........ ................. 400 0S

.......... ......... ,500 00.
.......................... 1500<)
.......................... 2,600 0

....................... 1,0500>
.......................... 21,834 0
.................. ....... 2520
.......................... 230 00

............,...... 2,500 0<.
................ ,... .... 600 0
.......................... 2,960 00-
................... ...... 500 09

.................... 749 3e
.......................... 4,600 O<>
.. ....................... 1800
.... ................... 250 00
W.......,... ............. 425 0O

............... ,.... 1,000 00

............ ..... 2, 0000-
................. 50 00

.................... ..... 10,000 00

................. . .. 5,00<0

............. .... 8,00 00
to Receiver-Gen'i- 25,579 04

140,58400

(Signed)

A. March 18th, 1877.

ANDREW DRUMMOND,
Manager.

Â. 18
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(3.)

No. 2, SPECIAL ACCOTJNT.

BANK OF MONTREAL in account with Minister of Justice et al. (J. A. Macdonald,
Attorney-General; John Rose, Finance Minister; G. E. Cartier, Minister of

Da. Militia; and W. P. Howland, Minister of Inland Revenue.) CR

1868. $ ets.
J .Deposit...............50,000 00 June 10...... Cheque No. 1...,..... 4,000 00

do 12...... do 3........ 100 00
do 13...... do 2 15,000 00
do 29...... do 4...,..... 2,891 41

'July 7...... do 5 600 00
Aug. 27..... do 6......... 2,000 00
Oct. 10...... do 7......... 1,518 00
Nov. 2...... do 8 ......... 202 50

do 9...... do 9. 1,072 00
'Dec. 28..... do 10 980 38

1869.
Feb. 8 ...... do il....1 61 0
March 16......i do 12 4,000 00
April 12......I do 13 4,000 00
May 14...... do 14 3,575 00

do 26...... do 15 550000
Aug. 18...... do 2000 00
Oct. 18...... do 17 1,809 71
..................... do 18 7000

50,000100 50,000 00

(Signed)

BANK OF MONTREAL,
OTTAWA, 16th

A. DRUMMOND,
Xanager.

March, 1877.

Mr. LANGTON, Auditor-General, who was also in
following statement:-

(4.)

SECRET SERVICE.

1868-JUNE 5.

attendance then submitted the,

A Warrant issued on the Certificate 1, on the sheet A, in accordance with
the O. O m arked I, for............................. ...............................

An Entry Warrant marked B was issued in accordance with which the
expenditure which had taken place was charged in the Public
Accounts, 1868, I, p. :153, under the head Miscellaneous ................

$ ets.

50,000 00,

15,086 41

And the balance was entered in the Public Accounts,
I, p. 11, in a special account............................. 34,913 59

1869.
An Entry Warrant, on the Certificate 1, on the Sheet marked C, was

issued, adding the unexpended balance, before Confederation, to the
special account............................................ .................... ..... 8,398 8a-

43,312 42:
3

2-1l

40 «Victoria. Appendix (No. 2.) A. 181Tr



The vote for the year 1869, of $75,000, was written off, an Bntry Warrant
on the Certificate 2, on Sheet C, was issued in accordance with which
the expenditure of the year was entered in Miscellaneou, P. A.,
I, p. 189 .......................................................... .............. 33,103 88

And the balance appears, P. A., I, p. 6.............. 10,208 4

1870.

Àn Entry Warrant, on Certificate 2, Sheet C, was issued 'in accordance
with which the whole balance was entered as expended, P. A., I, p. 229..

1871.

Voted in the Estimates for 1870-71................................... 75,000 00

A Warrant was issued on Certificate 2, of Sheet A, in accord-
ance with O. C., marked II......................................30,000 O

A Warrant, on Certificate 3, was issued in accordance with
O. C., marked III............................................. 10,000

A Warrant, on Certificate 4, was issued in accordance with
O. C., marked .. ............................... 35,000 00

75,000 00

A.-WARRANTS.

1.---JUNE 5, 1868.

I certify that a warrant may issue in favour of the Receiver-General for $50,000,
in accordance with Order in Council, JJne 5.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON.

2.-JULY 4, 1870.

Certfied,-That a warrant for $30,000 may issue in favor of the Bank of Mon-
treal, on account of Secret Service, to place to special account.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,
-Estimates, 70-71.

3.-DEcEimER 7th, 1870.

Certied,-That a warrant -may issue in favor of A. Drummond, Manager of the
Bank.pf Montreal, for $10,000, charged to Miscellaneos-Secret Service. Order in
Council, 6th December, 1870.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON.

4.--JUNE30, 1871.

Cert fied,-That a warrant may issue in favor of A. Drummond, Manager of the
eaak of for $35,000. Cbarge to Miscellaneous-Secrot Service. Esti-

mes, 7041.
(Signed)
4

Appenix (Ned.> )4n Victoria.

JOHN L ANGTOX.
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BY IS EXCELLENCY THE RIGHT HONOURABLE gIn JOHN YOUNG,
G. 0. B., G. C. MK E., ONE 0F RER MAJEBTY'S MOST HONORABLR
PRIYY COUNCIL, GOVERNORGENERAL OF CANADA, &c., &c., &o.

To the Honorable the Receiver-General of Conada.

You are hereby authorized and required to place the sum of thirty-four thousand
nine hundred and thirteen dollars and fifty-nine cents to the credit of Secret Service of
the year 1867-1868, and debiting a new Account to be called "Special Deposit for
Secret Service," that being the amount of Secret Service Money unexpended, 3oth
June, 1868.

No. 10. $34,913.59. Entered. (Signed) W. DICKINSON.

And for so doing this shall be to you a sufficient warrant and discharge.
Ottawa, this lst day of April, 1869.

(Signed) W. H. LEE,
Deputy Governor.

In accordance with this warrant a special deposit was opened for Secret Service,
vide Public Accounts, page 1, ii, and the balance of $15,086.41 was charged in Mis-
cellaneous, Public Accounts i, page 153.

C. ENTRY WAMRA1NTS.

1.

October 18, 1869. Certified that a transfer entry warrant may issue charging
"Special Deposit Secret Service," and crediting " Services of 1668 I" with $8,398.83,
being the balance unexpended in the year 1866-7.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON.

2.

October 18, 1869. Also an entry warrant charging " Miscellaneous " and credit-
ing " Special Deposit Secret Service" with $33,103.88, being the amount expended
in the year 1868-9.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,
Audit or.

3.
January 20, 1871. Certified that sa entry warrant is required in connexion withthe accounts of 1869-70 to authorize charging " Miscellaneous " for Detective and

Eecret Service, and crediting "Special lepoeitßegret Service," the balance of appro-priation granted by Act 31 Vic., Cap. 31, Schedule A, expended during fleeal year
7M90,amotag to410208.54.

Sitgned) JOHRN LANUTON!,
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Âfter which Mr. LANGTON was called and examined;-

By -Mr. Charlton:

1. What amount of Secret Service money was brought over from the fund which
.existed prior to Confederation ?-The sum of $8,398.83 was brought forward as the
unexpended balance before' Confederation.

2. Were the unexpended balances surrendered at the end of each fiscal year ?-
ln 1868-9 and in 1870 the Secret Service expenditure for the year is shewn in the Public
Accounts ; that is to say, with reference to the vote of $50,000, which was charged as
a special account in 1868. The eitry warrant at the end of the year shews that out of
tis vote were taken 4 15,086.41, and the balance remaining is shewn in the Public
Accounts, as I have already stated. In the next year the entry warrant shews that
433,103.88 were spent, and the balance remaining over is shewn in the Public
Accounts. Afterwards, in 1870-1, a different system was adopted ; the vote was
charged as paid and no balance appeared in the Public Accounts. That was the
system that prevailed before Confederation.

3. Was the unexpended balance which remained over after the Administration
of the late Government came to a close handed over to their successors ?-It was
left in the bank. I do not know whether any action was taken about it.

4. How were the payments made ?- By virtue of an Order in Council passed
before Confederation ? -They were made on Orders in Council.

5. In accordance with entries in the Public Accounts ?- Yes.
By Mr. Blake :

6. You stated that the balance remaining over from the year 1866, was trans-
ferred to a special account of the Secret Service Fund. In what year was this
done ?-It was in 1868-9 that the transfer first came into the Public Accounts.

7. Do you mean the fiscal year 1868-9, or the year 1869 in ordinary parlance?
- It was the fiscal year 1868-9.

8. You are not able to say at what precise period of the year this transfer was
made ?- I cannot.

9. But you can supply that information ?-.Yes.
10. Before that vote appears to have been expended it was kept as a separate

account ? Are you aware of the fact that it was kept separate from any other
aceount ?-Yes.

12. It was kept separate from the Secret Service Account?-It was a special
account. By an Order in Council it was made a special account in the name of the
Receiver-General, subject to the cheques of the Ministers of Justice, Militia, Finance
and Inland Revenue.

13. I am speaking of the particular vote of $50,000 which first passed through the
Secret Service Fund. It seems that in the Bank of Montreal this account, with
reference to the vote of 1867-68 was kept as a separate account ?-I have no doubt
that it was kept as a separate account, and I think that it was quite correct to treat
it on a different principle than it was treated in the Public Accounts.

14. Why ? -Because year after year there was an entry-warrant te show how
mach had been spent and how much remained. This had nothing whatever to do
with the previons year, and nothing whatever with the subsequent one.

15. Then the principle of dealing with the Secret Service money, applied to the
vote of 1868, differed from that which was previously applied and subsequently
applied to this fund ? What was the reason made in dealing with the fund ?-The
vote of 1867 was paid over to Andrew- Drummond, Manager of the Bank of
Montreal in Ottawa, and the other vote was paid over to the Receiver-Genral's
special aceount in the Bank of Montreal

16. We will now discums the vote of 1868 ?-In 1868 the vote was paid over to
thé special account of the Receiver-General in the Bank of Montreal, and the Bnk
treated it differently from the manneri in which it had treated the vote of the
pr"ig* year, which was paid over nerely to the Manager of the Bank of Montreal.



17. The account is headed " The Bank of Montreal in Account with the Minister
,of Justice and others," and, in brackets, appear the names of Sir John A. Macdonald,
Minister of Justice; Sir Geo. E. Cartier, Minister of 3Militia; Sir John Rose, Minister
of Finance, and Hon. W. P. Howland, Minister of Inland Revenue. I interpret that
this was an account with the Ministers ?--These Ministers were authorized to give

*cheques upon it. It was called the special account with the Receiver-General by an
Order in Council.

18. The Bank of Montreal seems to have treated it as an account of the four
Ministers ?-It was separate from their other accounts.

19. The Bank of Montreal treated it as an account with the four Ministers as you
nanderstood ? as an account with the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Finance,
the Minister of Militia and the Minister of Inland Revenue. As I heard your statement,
I think you said it was generally closed up by warrant and that you are not aware
how the Bank treated the account ? -Yes. It was done by warrant. It was the
Beceiver-General's special account, subject to the cheques of the Ministers.

20. As to the account of the Bank of Montreal with Sir John A. Macdonald et al.,
including Sir Alexander Galt and Sir Francis Hincks. W'ere any different instructions
given to the Bank from your office or the Receiver-General's office with reference to,
their case? -I am not aware of any special instructions having been given, but the
warrant would distinctly name the Minister on whose authority it was made out, in
accordance with the Order in Council.

21. Are these warrants produced among the papers brought down ?- I have not
the warrants with me, but I have the Orders in Council.

The Orders in Council were then handed in and are as follows: -

(5.)
Cory of a Report of a Committee of the Honourable the Privy Council, approved by Hie

Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 5th June, 1868.
The Committee of Council respectfully recommend that the sum of fifty thousand

dollars be appropriated of the vote for Secret and Detective service for 1868, and that
a warrant do issue in favour of the Receiver-General with directions to place the
same on special account with the Bank of Montreal, in the names of the Minister of
Justice, the Minister of Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the Minister of Internat
Revenue, whose certificate that the same or any part thereof has been disbursed for
the service of the country shall be a sufficient discharge and voucher for the payment
of the same.

Certified.
(Signed) W. A. HIMSWORTH,

Clerk, Privy Council

(6.)

+CoPY of a Report of a Committee of the Honourable the Privy Council, approve,1 by Ris
Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 1st July, 1870.
The Committee of Council respectfully recommend that the sum of thirty

thousand dollars be appropriated of the vote for secret service for 1870-71, and that a
warrant do issue in favour of A. Drummond, Esq., Manager of the Ottawa Branch of
the Bank of Montreal, with directions to place the same on special account with ther
Bank of Montreal in the names of the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Mihtia, the
Minister of Finance and the Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certificate that the
same or any part thereof has been disbursed for the service of the country shall be a

;sufficient discharge and voucher for the payment for the same.
Certified.

(Signed) W. A. HIMSWORTH,
Clerk, Privy CounciL
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(7.)
COur of a Report of a Comnittee of the Eonourable the Privy Council, approved by His

Excellency the Governor General in ÉCouncil, on the 6th December, 1870.
The Committee of Council respectfully recommend that a further sum of teni

lhousand dollars be appropriated of the vote for secret service for 1870-71, and that a
warrant do issue in favour of A. Drummond, Esq., Manager of the Ottawa 'Branch of
the Bank of Montreal, with directions to place the same on special account with the
Bank of Montreal in the names of the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Finance,
and the Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certificate that the same, or any part
thereof, bas been disbursed for the service of the country, shall be a sufficient
discharge and voucher for the payment of the same.

Certified.
(Signed) W. A. HIMSWORTH,

Clerk, Privy Council.

(8.)
CepY of a Report of a Committee of the Ronourable the Privy Council, approved by Eis

Ecellency, the Governor General in Council, on the 27th June, 1871.
On a memorandum dated 26th June, 1871, from the Hon. the Minister of Justice-

reporting that it appears from the certificate of the Auditor that there remains
unexpended of the vote for Secret Service the sum of $35,000. That as there was
mo vote taken for Secret Service last session, and inasmuch as there is sufficient
evidence ihat the public interests may requiie that the unexpended balance should
~be used, he recommends that the same be carried to the credit of the Sub-Committee
of Council on Secret Service matters.

The Committee submit the above recommendation for Your Excellency's ap-
jproval.

Certified.
(Signed) W. A HIMSWORTH,

Clerk, Privy Council.

(9.)
The undersigned bas the honour to report that it appears from the certificate of"

the Auditor, that there remains unexpended of the vote for Secret Service the sum
of thirty-five thousand dollars.

As there was no vote taken for Secret Service last session, and inasmuch as
tLere is sufficient evidence to show that the publie interests May require that the
unexpended balance should be used, ihe undersigned recommend, that the same be
earried to the credit of the Sub-Committee of Council on Secret Service matters.

June 26th, 1871. (Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

Mr. .Blake:-
I think the Committee would like to have the warrants or copies of them.
Witness-The first warrant by me certified is as follows :-"I certify that a warrant

inay issue in favour of the Receiver-General for $50,000, in accordance with the
Order in Council." This is dated June 5th. Of course, the warrant was then drawn
in favour of the Receiver-General's special account. The next warrant is as follows:
-"I eertifyr that a warrant for $30,000 may issue in favour of the Bankof Montreal's
seount for Secret Service"-this being a special account. There was that difference
in the two warrants and it was natural enough that the Bank of Montreal sbould
treat it differently in their accounts.



22. low came the difference in the wording of the warrants ; why was the-
-wording made different ?- Because the Order in Council stated that the sums were
to be paid to Mr. Drummond and not to the Receiver General. The form was--
" That a warrant do issue in favour of A. Drumnond, Manager of the Ottawa Branch
of the Bank of Montreal."

23. Which order is that ?-That was for the order for the 630,000.
24. What is the date, pray ?-The first warrant related to the second appropri-

ation; and the one I have read was the warrant issued in favour of A. Drummond,
Esq., Manager.

25. What is the date?- lst July, 1870. The next warrant was drawn in favour
of A. Drummond, Esq., Manager of Bank of Montreal.

26. What is the amount ? -$10,000.
27. And the date ?- December, 1870.
28. The subsequent warrants were all alike ?- No doubt they were, but the

Order in Council is rather different. It recognized the carrying out of the sum to
the credit of the Sub-Committee on Secret Service moneys. I will see how the
warrant is drawn.

29. Have we transcripts of the other warrants ?- My certificate is the same in
all cases. The first one with reference to the $75,000 vote is one drawn in July,
1870, certifying a warrant for $30,000 in favour of the Bank of Montreal on account.
The second certifies that a warrant may issue in favor of A. Drummond, Manager of
the Bank of Montreal, as is also the third. But previous warrants were certified in
favour of the Roceiver-General, and it was kept as a special account.

30. It is stated in the account of the Bank of Montreal brought forward, that in
1868, when the warrants were dealt with differently, the account was closed, but the
expenditure runs from June 10th, 1868, to October 18th, 1869, outrunning therefore
that financial year, as I understood it ?-Yes.

31. That money was voted for the fiscal year; which fiscal year was it? -The
$50,000 was voted in 1868.

32. For the service of what year ?-For 1868.
33. The fiscal year 1867-8, or 1868-9 ? -For the fiscal year 1867-8.

By Mr. T. N. Gibbs:-

34. This vote was passed in 1868. It was not for 1867-8, but for 1868-9-
Witness. It was passed 5th June, 1868.

By Mr. Blake:-
35. For what year was the appropriation made ? -According to the vote it was

inade for the year 1867-8.
36. The appropriation was for the financial year 1867-8, but the Order in Council

in reference to it issued within a few days of the expiration of that year. This was
on the 6th of June, and the financial year expired on the 30th of that month. The
expenditure for that financial year seens to be included in four cheques made out in
June, and amounting to about $21,000. The whole of the residue expenditure seems
to have taken place in the financial year 1868-9 ? -The sum of $15,000 was spent in
1867-8

37. Only $15,000 ?- Yes.
38. The cheques on the Bank of Montreal show the following payments in June,.

1868: loth, $4,000; 12th, $100; 13th, $15,000, and 29th, $2,891 41. The account is
continued through July. August, September, October, November (1868),February,
March, April, May, August and October, 1869. Of two cheques in October-one of
the 7th is apparently a eheque drawn for the balance of the atnount on deposit,
xnaking the $50,000. The question is, how much of the expenditure on this account
took place during the financial year for which the sum was voted ? -We had no
possibility of knowing when Lhey issued cheques or paid them, but we were informed
that this amount of $15,086.41 was charged to that year, and accordingly it was-
entered in the Public Accounts.
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39. You had no information of the amounts actually choqued out; but you wore
informed that $15,086.41 had been chequod out and had been applied ?-Yes.

40. Who gave you that information ? -I did not receive any written informa-
tion; it was verbal. It may be as well to inform the Committee that not only
formerly, but now as well, too many verbal instructions were, and are, given,
throwing too much responsibility on officers of the Departments.

41. I did not ask whether your instructions were verbal or in writing; but who
,gave you those instructions ?- I have no record of it, but I was infortned that it was
-to be charged for that year.

42. Who gave you the information?- I cannot trust my mem-ry on that point.
-1 do not flnd any written record of it.

43. You cannot tell or recollect, and your search fails to disclose any written
-voucher or authority for that entry ?-Yes.

44. Was there any authority for it on your own part, or on the part of the Deputy
Receiver-General ? -Yes. There was authority for it on my part.

45. But your own authority is the only official authority on record ?- Yes.
46. And that was based on some verbal instruction conveyed by somebody, you

'know not whom ?-Yes. The whole amount was charged in our books. The $50,000
was charged to a special account, and the entry warrant was passed on my signature.
A balance was left in the special account, and it was carried over into the Public
Accounts.

47. What was the entry warrant; it seems that $15,000 was charged, does it not ?
-When the Reciver-General was in Europe, I was authorized and required to place
the sum of $34,913.59 to the credit of the Secret Service Fund for the year 1867-8,
.and debit the new accðunt with the speciat deposit for Secret Service, that being the
amount unexpended on the 30th June, 1868.

48. The9 you were aut1orized to open a fresh account ?- Yes.
49. That was a different system from that previously pursued ?- Yes; but the

whole amount of moiiey was charged and we never heard anything else about it.
50. It was charged as if spent; no information was, in previous years, conveyed

to you until the close of the year, as to how much had been spent, but, under the
,different system introduced in this year of Grace, you were told so much liad been
espent and that appeared in the Public Accounts ?-Yes.

52. Was that the course pursued in carrying forward unexpended balances ?-
The 834,000 was treated as an unexpended balance. The present rule of unexpended
tbalances lapsing is more modern. A great number of old balances used to be carried
forward. They had been absolutely taken out of cash.

52. The rule of unexpended balances lapsing was adopted su~bsequent to 1868 ? Yes.
53. Was it not adopted during the existence of the old Province of Canada ?-I

think not.
54 I think the law is of earlier date ?-I know it was adopted upon a special

report-of mine that it was very desirable that it should be introduced. When I first
entered the office, balances were carried forward continuously for half a dozen years.

55. I know that, but I think it bas been reformed ? -It was altered on my
report.

56. Is it not the faet that fnterior to Confederation the general system of balances
.lapsing was adopted by law?-I suppose that was the case, bu& it was not the
practice.

57. Then you regarded this as a special case, and it was carried to a special
-account; but, notwithstanding this fact, you issued a warrant authorizing it to be
regarded as an unexpended balance to be carried forward ?-Suppose they had asked
for $20,000 for one year, during the next year any balance existing would be

ýconbidered as lapsed, and if I was then asked for money from that vote I would say
" the balance has lapsed." But instead of following that course they took the whole
ef the money and put it into a special account. As far as our books were encerned
this money was absolutaly spout

Bat it was brought fak again ?-No; the whole 50,0M00 -etotered, but
10
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charged to the Receiver-General's special account; and at the end of the year I
received information that the balance of the account in the IReceiver-General's hands
was only $34,000, because $15,000 had been spent.

59. You kept on entering in the Public Accounts subsequent expenditures of this
money ? -Certain ly.

60. From year to year ?- Certainly.
61. The charges could not be made more than once ? -The money was paid over to

the special account of the Receiver-General, and against it these items were charged.
62. Then you say that this system was altered later ?-The last vote in 1870-1

was paid over to the Bank of Montreal on an Order in Council.
63. That was the only vote regarding which the variation took place with

respect to the Order in Council ? -That was ail that was paid on Orders in Council.
64. I observe that on the llth February, 1871, $15,584 is said to have been

deposited, the warrants of which you have given us communication are drawn for
$30,000, $10,000 and $35,000, making in all $75,000 ; but on the 11th February,
1871, I fnd the additional item of $15,584 deposited to the credit of the special
account No. 1 ? -I knew nothing at ail about it until I saw it in the statement
produced this morning.

65. You did not know anything at all about that deposit ?-Nothing whatever.
66. And you can give no explanation about it ?-None whatever.
67. It did not come from the Treasury at that time ? -We had nothing at ail to

do with it. I was in perfect ignorance of it until this morning.
68. But you saw this morning this deposit mentioned under date of February

llth, 1871. I want to know whether it came from the Treasury? -It did not. Only
three payments were made from the Treasury, and the amounts were $30,000,

,$10,000 and $35,000.
69. When were you first made aware of the fact that there was an unexpended

balance after the late Administration had resigned ?- Just before the late Adminis-
tration resigned Sir John Macdonald spoke to me about the balance, and proposed to
pay it in at once. I did not hear of it again until some time afterwards.

70. Just before the late Administration resigned Sir John Macdonald informed
you that there was such a balance ?- He said there was a balance, and asked what
was the best way of dealing with it. I told him I thought the best way would be to
pay to the account of the -Receiver-General whatever balance there was, and I under-
stood him to say that he would do so.

71. That was the first intimation you had of the existence of an unexpended
balance ?-I had no possible means of knowing it otherwise.

72. What was the next intimation you received on this subject ?- That was
Learly a couple of years afterward3. Sir John Macdonald told me then that he had
lot paid in the balance, and I recommended him at the time to do so.

73. The next intimation you had from Sir John Macdonald on this subject was
about the time when the account was closed ?-Yes. He then intimated that he had
lot yet paid it in.

74. Of course you knew it then and you recommended him again to pay it in ?
-Yes.

75. At that time was any statemcnt made to you as to any portion of that
balance ?- My recollection is that Sir John Macdonald assigned as his reason for the
delay that a claim was made upon it which he could. not get settled as he had wished
to do before he resigned. This claim, he said, had hung on and hung op, and it was
only then that he had been able to s'quare it up.

76. Waa there one claim, or more than one claim ?- I do not know whether
lie said that there was one or more than one.

77. There was either one, or more than one claim which he was unable to settle
-you do not remember which ? -I do not remember. He said that this was the
eause of this delay.

78. Did anything more pass as to the nature of this unsuttled elaim, or of these
-unsettlod claims ?- I do not think so. I cannot recollect that anything else passed.

11



79. It seems by the account that two cheques were drawn, or two documents at
any rate bearing the same date-one for $6,600, the other for $25,579.04, the latter
being the balance paid into the hands of the Receiver-General. Did anything pass
with regard to this unsettled claim between you and Sir John Macdonald ? -No.
I really cannot trust my memory on the point.

80. It was an unsettled claim which he intimated he proposed to settle out of
this money ?- O yes. I distinctly recollect that.

81. The cause of the delay was that he had never been able to close that un-
settled claim, but now that he was going to close that claim and deposit the balance,

did he tell you the amount ?-I have no distinct recollection of it, but I think he
did.

82. le said something about the amount and told you he was going to pay the-
claim and deposit the balance ? -Yes.

83. Did you ever see any of the cheques ?- Never.
84. Nor do you know the names, or the amounts:except fron the papers ?-No

except from the Orders in Council.
85. Under what form was the balance deposited ? Was it under a cheque of

Sir John Mlacdonald's, or under your own authority ?- I think I made the deposit,
I dare say Mr. Drummond wili recollect if the cheque was drawn in bis own favour or
not.

86. On the same day was there any other cheque drawn for $6,600 ?-No.
87. The balance left from Ihis transaction was surrendered into the Consolidated

Fund ? -Yes. It appears in it under the head of casual revenue.
88. You have said that you could not at the moment say whether $8,398.83 of

the fnnd of old Canada had been credited to the Province ? -I think it must have been
included in the unexpended balances, f'or which they had credit, and if not it certainly
ougbt to have been so included.

89. When was credit given for the unexpended balances ?-In the year 1867-8,.
in a statement for the Province of old Canada.

93: You did not know of the existing balance of tie Secret Service Fund in
1867-8, and consequently you could not know thatit was credited to the old Province ?,
-I will look into the matter. It is quite clear that if it was not credited to the old
Province, it ought to have been.

91. That sum, as far as I can judge, seems to have been tahen in after the vote
of 1868 was expended or appropriated ?-It was evidently donc when the vote of
1867-8 was running low.

92. That balance was taken over to enlarge the fund at the disposal of the Gov-
ernment ?- Yes. That would be then placed to the same account.

93. To what account ?- To the Receiver-General's special deposit account.
94. With the Bank of Montreal ?-Yes.
95. I suppose it was always deposited there ?- In the previous account the money

was paid into the Bank of Montreal ; and after Confederation a special deposit ac-
count was opened with the Receiver-General, when this balance was carried to his
acount.

96. To the $50,000 account ?-Yes.
97. You are quite sure about that ?-This is my certificate. An entry warrant

-was passed certifying that a transfer entry warrant may issue, charging the special
deposit for Secret Service and crediting the Secret Service Fund of 1868 with
$8,398.83, the balance unexpended in the year 1866-7.

98. Was there a date to that warrant ?- That is the one which bas no date.
99. You think that ought to go into the special aceount of $50,000 opened on.

6th June, 1 68 ?-It did go into that account.
i 00. Will you look into the account as presented and shew us where it is ?-I

know that in our books it was so entered. but I do not know how it was entered in,
the books of the Bank of Montreal. The expenditure of 1866, up to June will, if
added up, I have no doubt, come to the same amount-that was the balance then left..

101. I understood you to say it wasouite correct for the Bank of Montreal to.
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keep two distinct accounts-one for the vote of $50,000. and the other for the other
service, because they were managed under a different system; and I understood you
to say that under Orders in Couicil this $8.398.83 ought to have gone into the
account opened for $50,000. I want you to look at the account and see if this is the
case ?- I see an entry for $50,000.

102. It has not gone into that account thon ?--Yes.
103. This $50,000 intervenes as a special account, and the $8,398.83 only appears

.as being charged against the original deposit of $50,000 in 1866 ?-Yes.

By Mr. Cartwright :--
104. Look at the entry of $50,000 for secret and detective service in schedule " A"

for the service of 1867-8, and say whether that sum was the first 850,000 ?-That is
the amount.

105. Then that sum was properly said to be for the service of the year ending
June 30th, 1868 ?-Yes, on the 5th of June of that year it was placed in a special
aeccount.

By -Mr. Riolton:-
106. You have stated that Sir John Macdonald indicated this fact, that there was

a balance of this account remaining at his credit and in his bands, to you before he
resigned ?-Y es; it was either just before or just after; it was about that period at
any rate.

107. -Did' you communicate that information to the new Minister of Finance
immediately after his assumption of office ?-I do not recollect that I did; I do not
suppose that I did; I do not recollect saying anything about it.

108. Did you communicate the second intimation you received from Sir John
Macdonald about it two years later ?-My chiet was thon in England, I communicated
it, however, to Mr. Mackenzie.

109. But about the previous communication, there had been no intimation made
to any member of the present Government ?-No; I knew nothing about the amount,
I think Sir John Macdonald merely asked " what shall I do with this balance," and I
said " you had botter deposit it." He thon stated there were unsettled accounta
-which he was trying to square up, and that was the last I heard of it.

By Mr. Blain

110. Was it during the conversation that passed between you and Sir John A.
Macdonald on this subject before he resigned, that you first heard any mention made
of this fund ?-Without saying anything about the amount, he told me there was a
balance. I asked, " what are you going to do with it? " And he replied, that after
such"unsettled claims as he was trying to close up were arranged he would deposit
to.the credit of the Receiver-General.

111. This was before he resigned ?-It was about that period. I think it was
before he resigned.

By Mr. Wood:-
112. On that fact coming to your knowledge, was it not your duty to communicate

it to the Minister of Finance ?-I had no knowledge of the account and Sir John
Macdonald said that he had to arrange an unsettled claim. For all I know he might
have had to pay it all away to settle that claim.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick :
13. Does not a sum equal to the balance of $8,398.83 appear in the account;

Will you take the Bank of Montreal account and add up the expenditure for June,
and July, 1867, and tell us what the balance is ?-That amount does appear, but not
La the same way as in our books. It is there, however.

114. This money has been properly expendéd according to the account
Question not answered:
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115. WilI you add it up ?-It is the same.
116. To the 1st of July, 1867 ?-It wilt make the same amount.
117. Then the account shows that the amount was carried on ?-Of course. The

only dif'rence is, that it was kept in our books in the other account.
118. Then it was not abstracted but dulv accounted for ?-Yes.
119. Are there Orders in Coincil and warrants in existence with regard to

this fund since 1867 ?-Yes.
120. Then Mr. Charlton, who seems to think that these expenditures were made

on the authority of an Order in Council of 1866, is in error ?-The Order in Council
of 1866 provided fbr the management of the Secret Service Fund by a certain Com-
mittee of the Council; and since that Order in Council is referred to on subsequent
occasions, and I suppose it meant that the Public Accounts were to be treated in the
hame maanner as if that Order in Council issued each year.

121. I understand that the total amount of moneys expended since Confederation
for Secret Service appears to have been $125,000, plus the balance carried forward
some 88,000. The total amount is $133,000, less what is refunded ?-Yes ; less what
is refunded.

122. What amount was refunded ?-$25,5'79.04.

By Mr. T. N. Gibbs :-

123. The total amount expended since the first of July, 1867, on Secret Service
account was $107,019. li9. Is that correct ?-I was not attending to the question.

124. After the issue of these warrants you ceased to have anything to do with
it?-1 had nothing further to do with the matter. It was entered in the Publie
Accounts as so much money paid.

125. You did not know anything about the unexpended balance ?-No.

By Mr. Blain

126. Can you tell me whether the Order in Council authorizing this Committee
to deal with that fund, authorized its members to deal with it jointly or separatelv,or iad the power of chequing out ?-The Order in Council is there. The last Orderin Council was rather different from the others, because the Minister of Militia wasin England at the time.

127. Does it appear from any source how the money was chequed out?Mr. Blake : Mr. Drummond is here. He will tell us presently.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:

128. Do you know whether any considerable sum of this money was sent toJudge Coursol ?-I do not know anything at all about that-absolutely nothing.
By Mr. hariton:

129. I wish to establish an entry with reference to the vote of $75,000. I statedthat it appeared from the entries in the Publie Accounts that thse appropriationswere made by virtue of the Order in Council of 1866. This is the entry:-" For theamounts Of appropriation for secret Se - prvdb usEciee h
Governor Gener n c c tery ce, approved by Hlis Excellency theGovrno Geeral in aceordance with the O rder in Coneil dated August 7th, 1866,for $75,000." That is the form in which all these entries are made ?-If that was

aupposed to mean that the money was paid on virtue of that Order in Council, theP ble Accounts are altogether wrong. I have no doubt as to what was meant. Thiswas Sec]ret Service nlneY to be0 Managed in the way decided upon by that Order iniCouncil. But individual payments were made on separate Orders in Coub t ril.

By Mr. T. N. Gibbs -
130. And which manner the bank aceount will show ?-To cewer was made to.Mis ehequiry.
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Mr. DRUMMOND, Manager of the Ottawa Branch of the Bank of Montreal, was,
then called and examined

By Mr. Blake :-
131. Mr. Drummond, you have sent to the Committee two accounts, in con-

formity with the order of the Committee. May I ask are these transcripts from the
books of the bank ?-They are transcripts from the books.

132. They represent the account as it is in the books ?-Yes.
133. Another paper seems to indicate that the item of February 11th, 181, was

deposited in two sums ?-Yes. I may say in explanation of this entry that the state-
ment referred to by you-(This was objected to by Mr. Kirkpatrick on the ground
that the statement was not fyled and the answer was nót finished).

By Mr. Blake :-
134. Is that entry correct; Was the deposit all made on the 11th February ?

-It was all made as it stands-on the 11th of February.
135. It was all made on the 11th February ?-It was all made on the 1lth of

February.
136. As it appears there ?---As it appears here.
137. Would you look at that paper ?--I see it.
138. In whose handwriting is it made out ?---In the Accountant's handwriting.
1 9. In whose handwriting is the other paper made out ?-In my own. This is

the one fyled to-day.
140. But that paper was prepared by the Accountant ?-It was prepared by the

Accountant.
141. It shows the item of the 11th of February-how q?-In two sums-$3,784

and $11,800.
142. Under what dates ?-Febi uary 11th and July 15th.
143. Hlow does that happen ?---Allow me to explain. On the 1lth of February

I was directed by Sir Francis Hincks to deposit that amount to the Secret Service
Fund and charge it to himself. In the Secret Service Fund reference is made to Sir
Francis Hincks' special account, and when drawing this paper up, the Accountant,
finding that this was covered by two sums, he supposed these two sums were referred
to and put them in the account. In copying the account myself, I found that the
$15,584 was a sum put to the Secret Service account on that date.

144. Is this paper a correct transcript of your books ?-it is, Sir.
145. And the other is not ?-The Accountant simply took the two items referring

to the Special Account and put them here.
146. The other is not a correct transcript?-It is not; but it embodies the two

sUmns covered by the sum of $15,584.
147. Is there any information on the subject of any of the sums mentioned in

that account which has been placed before the Committee, in your possession ?
-No, Sir.

148. You say there is no other information you can give on that subject ?-None.
149. Why was this sum divided up into two sums ?--It was covered by it.
150. Iow did the accountant come to divide it up ?- -It was covered in our books

by these two sums.
151. Then there is an entry in two sums in the books ?-Yes-in another

account; the special account of Sir Francis Hincks.
152. Then there is anothei account connected with the Secret Service Fund inthe books of the bank ?.--It was charged to Sir Francis Hincks.
153. There is a special account taken up with Secret Service money ?-No, Sir.
154. What connection has it with the Secret Service Fund ?-My impression

'OW is that Sir Francis Hincks wished to refund some sums which had not been
exponded.

155. Were they refunded in one sum ?-Yes; and Sir Francis Hincks' account is
afterwards covered by these two sums.
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156. These two sums were the sums received ?--Hfe received them afterwards.
He directed the amount to be charged against himself and credited to the Fund.

157. His first direction was to credit the Secret Service Fund with this $15,584
andjto charge him with it ?--- Yes.

158. And then he was reimbursed by these two sums drawn from it ?---I cannotl
sly just now; I think there are warrants for them.

159. Were they drawn from the Secret Service Fund ?--No. This exhibit which
I have rendered to-day shows precisely the statement contained in our books.

160. Then, as I understand it, the Secret Service Fund was added to by this
$15,584, which, in the first instance, was charged to Sir Francis lincks' private account
with you ?---Yes.

161. And in respect of which charge he was subsequently reimbursed by two
cheques, drawn for an amount corresponding to that sum-the dates and sums
being February 1lth, $3,784, and July 15th, $11,800 ?---Quite so, Sir.

162. Were there warrants for these two sums ?--I think so.
163. That would apparently represent the augmentation of the Secret Service

Fund by the aggregate of these two sums ?--It does so.
164. But from what public service that $15,584 came you cannot tell ?-I think

there were wairants for it. The warrants are public, of course, and they will show
that.

165. Were accounts rendered from time to time with reference to this special
account ?-Yes ; on several occasions, and a statement of the exhibit of the books
and the vouchers were surrendered to Sir John Macdonald.

167. Accounts were rendered on several occasions-at regular intervals ?--No.
they were rendered just when they were asked for.

166. From time to time ?--Yes.
168. Was the account ever closed and the balance carried iforward, or did it

stand just as it appears here ?-It stood just as it appears there. The balance was
carried forward in the books after each transaction according to the usual banking
fashion. That is the only difference.

169. But you never balanced the account ?-No.
170. But from time to time you rendered accounts to the Minister of Justice?

-Yes.
171. These accounts, however, were not accompanied by the vouchers ?-No.
172. On two occasions, your letter says, you rendered vouchers ?-Yes; on the

5th of March, 1873, if my recollection serves me rigbt, and again about August of
the same year. There was only one voucher after that.

173. You rendered all the vouchers up to March, 1873 ?---Yes. I sent all the
vouchers to Sir John Macdonald---every voucher and order connected with the matter,
and every document that related to it.

174. Was there anything more than the cheques ?--Sometimes letters accom-
panied them for special purposes. I will mention when it was that letters so accom-
panied them. Sometimes during the summer, Ministers were not here, and only one
was sometimes here, and the exigencies of the Service required the issue of a cheque
when two signatures could not be obtained. And, under such circumstanee, an order
sometimes came for the disbursement of money on a single signature, until such
time as another could be got.

175. The Government disbursed money on a cheque signed by one Minister,
when it was accompanied by a letter stating that it was required for the public
Service, and that another signature would be obtained ?-Yes.

176. That signature would be subsequently secured ?-Yes.
177. Was it the system to replace it by another cheque ?- Sometimes it was

replaced by another cheque or another Minister signed it. Of course I got a letter
to shew that it was requisite.

178. When you speak of other papers these were the accounQa or papers you
mention?-Yes. The letters were to show my authority for disbursing the
-noney.



179. Were there many such circumstances?- Not very many. They occurred
sometimes in summer when only one Minister was in the capital.

180. Does the account show the heading as it is in your books. The heading in
one case is "Sir John A. Macdonald et al. ? "-The memorandum of the original
account is in the names of the Ministers referred to.

181. Is this a transcript of the heading ?- The first heading "Sir John A. Mac-
donald et al." was never kept on. It was understood.

182. Here is No. 2 Special Account, which commences in June, 1868, and I find
at the head of it, " Bank of Montreal in Account with the Minister of Justice et al."
and this, added in brackets, " Sir John Macdonald, Attorney-General ; Sir John Rose,
Finance Minister; Sir George E. Cartier, Minister of Militia, and Hon. W. P. How-
land, Minister of Inland ievenue." Is that the heading ?-That was the heading on
the first opening of the account. The cheques were signed by any two of these
Ministers.

183. That is not the heading of the account in the books ?-It was just carried on
in the books "Sir John A. Macdonald, Minister of Justice, et al."

184. Is this heading at the opening of the account ?-Yes, Sir, that is the heading.
185. The whole of what I have read ?-Not the memorandum. This memor-

andum was put on the side of the account.
186. Wh at is the heading thon ?-I think it is just " Sir John A. Macdonald,

MiLister of Justice, et ai."
187. What I want to know is nothing else. at this moment, than the hoading of

the account as it appears in the books, and no further explanation. Yon will confine
vour answer to the explanation of what is the heading in the books of this No. 2
Special Account, opened in June, 1868 ?-My recollection, if it serves me aright, is
that the heading is " Sir John A. Macdonald, Minister of Justice, et al," but under
that-

188. Is that all ?-Under that is placed the naines of such members of the Govera-
ment any two of whom were likely to sign the choques.

189. The whole of that would be the heading of the account ? -I presume so.
Allow me to say that it is carried forward in the ledger-

I am spaking of the heading of the opening of the account ?-I think it is.
190, au think that the whole of this was the heading of the opening of the

account ?--Yes.
191. It is not exactly as you state here, " The Bank of Montreal in account with

the Minister of Justice, et ai." is mentioned here ?-Yes.
193. You state that it is the " Minister of Justice, et al? "-I think it is " Sir

John A. Macdonald."
194. That is, merely the "IMinister of Justice?"-I think it is "Sir John A.

Lacdonald."
195. Perhaps you will supply us with the exact heading of the account ?-

I will.
195. Can you speak as to the heading of No. 1 Special Account---the other ac-

'count-more positively than to .No. 2?-I think the heading is "Sir John A.
Macdonald, et al."

196. Perhaps you will also supply the precise heading of that account?-
I will.

197. I understand, however, that both aceounts through the varions ledgers have
no new headings ?-My inpression is they have.

198. You have said something about two Ministers signing cheques-was there
any written authority on the subject ?-I think it was a verbal authority I got.

199. From whom did you receive it ?,-I think it was from Mr. King himaself, the
former General Manager of the Bank.

200. He told you to pay the choques when any two of the Ministers whose names
were at the head of the account aigned them ?-Yes.

201. There was no written authority on the subject ? -Not that I am aware of;
fnot that I have any recollection of.

2-2 17
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Dy Mr. Smith. (&ikirk):

»2. 'Did that noUtppear aloog vith the on of these gemtleîban ou the signa-
tures of any two of whom money was to be paid ?--Of any two of thein that i« in the
headig.

B3y.Mr. Blake :--°-
2083. la that in-ttie heading of the account ?-Yes.
20 Ten there is a great deal more there than appears heue ?- Yes; it is in the

melioui*num.;
205. It will be important te have that memorandum. Yon will give a transcripi

of itlromathe books ?-will try to do so.
206. Was the authority apon whiceh the memorandum was made a verbal diree-

tion from Mr. King ?- I think so. I have no other recollection about it.
207. I observe that in this No. 1 Special A2ccount there are several names men-

tioned--" Sir 'John A. Macdonald,'Sir George . Cartier. Hlon. 'Mr. McÙougall, Sir
Alexander Galt Sir Francia ineks," five names in all ?-That was because some
sueceeded to others who retired.

208. When a Minister who filled one of the olffees named vas succeoded by
another, you put in the name of bis successor ?-I put in the names in their official
capacity.

209. So you knew at any time what two of the four Ministers were entitled to
draw money ?-Quite so.

210. and, of course, when one of these persons ceased to be a Minister, he ceased
to have authority to draw ?-Quite so.

211. For example, I observe that Mr. McDougall's name is entered and app-
rently scored out ?-No. A pen was just drawn through it, and it was filled up after-
wards.

212. Mr. McDougall would no longer be recognized after ho ceased to be a Miû-
ister ?-«,I do not think that ho ever signed any of the cheques.

213. That is immaterial. Somebody else was to be found instead of Mr.
McDougalli, and he ceased to be recognized when he was no longer a Minister?
--Quito so.

214. Your understanding was that these cheques were to be drawn by those gen-
tlemen who happened to be Ministers filling these offices, or any two of them ?-Or
any two of them ; as I said before, money was sometimes paid out when -only one of
these Ministers was present in the capital.

215. This was not done unipss in .case of emergency, and you took the responsi-
bility of paying the, money en receiving a letter from one of them ?-Yes.

216. You never acted without the signatureof one of the Minsters ?-No.
217. Or without the signature of one of the Ministers in charge of the fund ?

-Yes.
218. How did it happen that you acted upon the signature of Sir John A.

Macdonald, in 1875, with respect to the payment of the $6,400, when he was no longer
a Minister ? -I got instructions fron Mr. Langton on the subject.

219. Who told you to recognize Sir John Macdonald's cheque ?-Mr. Langtou
that is my recollection of bis letter.

220. It was from a latter was it ?-Ye1. I »unnot fn4 the letter. These were
my instructions: He said Sir John Maedonald had satieed fim that there was ai,
unliquidated claim of 6,00, whieh I might pay to him aud place the balanee to the
credit of eeseiver4ieneral.

U21. You had a letter fron Mr. Laagton on oraibout the date of tiie paynent?
-I roeived it on the 4th of November.

2. And the Itth of November is the date of thepa nt?-Yes.
223. That is, eight days before the paysaent -yea reeeiîVed a letter frem Mr'.

Ueagten, for which you have amrched, and whichyou ere unableo IInd ?-Yes.
224. And to the best of your recollection the contents of the letter. wer th4t

18
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Sir John Macdonald had satisfied him that this claim was unliquidated, and that he
was entitled to receive that amount; and that the balance of the $32,000 was to be
paid to the Receiver-General : so that it was only on that statemeint of this officer
that you recognized Sir John Macdonald's cheque ?- Quite so.

225. Otherwise, you would not have recognized the cheque on the principle,
you bave laid down ?-Yes.

226. And that letter is mislaid ? -1 haven't it, but I daresay Mr. Langton has a
copy of it.

227. You have searched far it ?-I have searched for it, but I have not found the
letter which Mr. Langton wrote me. I find, however, that in a letter written to
him on the 23rd of November, I referred to hie letter. There was nio other transae-
tion in connection with this account since the resignation of the late Ministry. I
informed him, I see by my letter, that there had been none from June, 1873, until
the 12th of November, when it was closed by his instructions in his letter of the
4th of November.

228. It was upon this authority from the Auditor-General that you recognized
Sir John Macdonald's right to draw this money ?-Yes.

229. Which right you would not otherwise have thought existed ?-No.
230. The Special Account No. 2, as well as the Special Account No. 1 is a trans-

eript from the books ?-They are both transcripts.
231. That account was carried straight on until it was closed ?-Yes ; unritil

closed.
232. No. 2 Account was closed in October, 1869 ?-It was closed then.
233. No expenditures out of the $8,395.83, which remained over on the 1st of

July, 1867, out of the *50,000 from the vote of the old Province of Canada, wero
charged to the Special Account No. 2 ?- No.

234. As appears from the account itself, all expenditures seem to have been
vharged against Special Account No. 1 ?-Yes.

235. As far as you are concerned, you had nothing to (1o with placing it to
<credit?-It was always to credit.

236. In point of fact, you continued the old Account of 1866. A sort ofi new
Account was opened in 1868-9, and in 1870 you continued the old Account ?- Yes.

237. How did you come to continue the old Account instead of carrying on
Account No. 2 ?- I think some instructions -were given about it. The one was entered
in the nane of the Minister of Justice and the other was termed the Secret Se-vice
Fund.

238. The old Account related to the iMinisters of the old Province of Canada and
not to Ministers of the Dominion at all ?-Of course we have no distinction in ouri
books between before and after Confederation. We had n, orders to make
any.

239. Meanwhile'yott speak of' the Account of 1866 ? -It was ahvs going un
Simultaneously with the other Account. There were two distinct accourts.

240. There is a jump from July 27th, 1867, to 1870. You say both accounts
vere going on contemporaneously ?-Yes.

241. Was any reason given fbr that course of nerely carrying on both aceounts ?
-- must have had directions for doing so, but 1 have no recollection about it just now
as to whether they were verbal or otherwise.

242. Did you furnish a statement of the balance remaining at the close of each
fiscal year ?-No, we did not. Of course, we rendered balances whenever thev were
Wanted, but I do not recollect that there was any particular period for doing so.

243. As far as your recollection serves you, it was not at that time that balances
were asked for ? -No.

244. You rendered, I suppose, the balances of ail other accounts ?-A1l these
OcOunts are balanced.

245. Then this account came to the 30th June as well as other accounts ?-The
balances of other accounts are rendered every month.

246. Yon have no papers of any description connected with this account ?-None.
2-2j 19
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whatever, except with regard to the closing of the aceount. I have the cheqges
passed in thatconnection.

247. Those you have?--Yes.
248. Have you them here?-I think I have, Sir, choques handed in and fyied,

marked 10and 11.
249. Those you now produce are the two choques whiclr closed the Account ?-

Yes; one is drawn to the credit of the Receiver-General, and the other to the credit
of Sir John Macdonald. You will see the endorsations.

By Mr. -Macdonald (Centre Toronto)
250. You had, I presume, the signatures of each of these Minidters; they

furuished you with their signatures.?- I knew them all, Sir.

By Mr. Blake.:-
251. You had all the signatures in your book ?- I presume they are there, but I

lad thein all, I certainly knew the signatures of them all who drew money.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
252. There is no date to the statement which is in the handwrting of the Accoun-

tant of the Bank-when was it fnrnished ? -It waa furnished about three weeks ago.
253. You say that Sir John Macdonald had no control over this fund after the

resignation of the late Ministry ?--No.
254. And you would not have paid the $6,600 unless you had received the letter

from the Government by the Auditor-General authorizing it ?-Certainly not.
255. Do I understand that yon would not have paid this $6,600 unleus you had

had the authority of the Government as expressed by the A.tditor-General ?-No, Sir.
The following is the statement prepared by the Accountant:

40 Victoria. Appèndir (NP. 2.) A 40FI
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(12.)
Di. BANK 0F MONTEÂ in accoRnt With Hon. JohD A. Maedouuald et ad. CR.

Aug. {DeW~t.................

1870.
dJuly d ... ..................

Dec. do .....................

1871. i
Feb. Il do ...................
July 1 do ..........
do 3 do .... .........

Choques were ,igned
official capacity.

by

JOHN A

I50y O 00 O.ug. 7Oee............. 3800..... ........
Se.t 19 do ...... 5000

..... M.0.et..'.do20000
10,000 00 0"g. do . ... OQ00

do 1 do .. ..... .. 2000

11,80000 Oc. 12 do ........... toCo
,35000 00 .Nov. do ......................... 1000o

d .do ........ 17
1 ay 91 do . ......................... 5000
... e 6 do ........... 5. 00

July 271 do ........ .................... 7000

1869.1
Oct. 181 do .................... 1,130 29
do 20 do ................ ......... 1400000

1870.
Jan. 14 do . ............. 100000
Mach 10 do . ................. 1.000

do 23 do ......... ......... M00
May 19 do ... ......... .. 00.
......... do ................ .. 000

.............do ....... ............. 1,9 00
jJune 27 do......................Il...... ... do .................... 240000

.do ...... ..... 1
July 2 do ......... ........... 2,600

do 4 do......................0
I do 6 do........................840
tAug. 30 do ....................... 2

19 do... ..... .... ...... 23000Oct. 18 do ..................... 20 00!fSet 1 do............ 2500 00.
do 18 do ...................... 60000

Dec. 5 do ................... 2,9M 00
do 5 do ............................

1871.
Jan. 211 do ..................- 749-30
Feb. Il *do ................. 4,60000
Mar. 6 do ............ 18000
June 5 do ...................... 25000
Sept. 1l do .,................ ....... 425 
Dec. 27 do , ...... ...........

1872.
23 do....................2,10000
12 do....................... 5000

Oct. 17 do........... ........ ,0000

1873.
Jane 27 do ........................ 5;000 00

Nov.12 d ...... 600 00

do 121 Tran0fer 00
100579 0

140,584 do... .1,0 00

anytwoýofthefollowiug-named Ministers in thejr

MACDO.NALD, A. T. GALT,
CARTIiF. IIINCKS.

W. McDOUGALL,
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MR. LANoToN 'recallod and further exainined:-

By Mr. Blake
256. You heard the statement of Mr. Dirummond just now with reference tr the

authority under which this charge for 86,600 was honoured by him. Did you write
him a letter on the 4th of November?-I wrote him a letter about that time. I
cannot remember the exact wording of it, but I can bring a copy of it.

256 (a). Just state your recollection of it ?- I distinctly recollect thatI instructed
him to make the deposit, but as to paying the $6,630, I will see about that; I will
bring the letter.

Mr. Langton having produced his letter book, was further examined as follows

By Ar. Bkake:
257. Have you a copy of the letter with you ?-Yes.
258. Will you read it ?-It is as follows:

(13.)
"INovember 4th, 1875.

"Mr DzAa Sm,-I had an interview with Sir John Macdonald before I left
Ottawa, in which he explained to ne that the balance of Secret Service standing in
hie name, was 832,179.04. Of this,$6,600 is pledged for certain expenses incurred
before:the resigriation of the late Ministry, and he wished the balance to be deposited.

" Be good enough, thorefore, to deposit the $25,579.04 to the credit of the
Receiver-General, and send me a duplicateand triplicate of the deposit.

Your obedient servant,
(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,

Auditor.
A. DIauxmxOD. Esq.

259. What is the date of the letter ?-November 4th, 1875.
260. I observe you say " before I left Ottawa." Had you been absent ?-I had

been absent in Montreal, and on return I wrote that letter.
261. When did the interview with Sir John Macdonald take place?- A few days

earlier.
262. In the meantime I underatand you to say you wont to Montreal and

returned after a short visit, and that to this busines the words " before Ileft Ottawa "'
alluded ?-Yes.

263. This is the only letter authorizing this transaction, if it did authorize it?

264. I think you subsequently mentioned this receipt of money to M'. Mackenzie
-Yes, I did.

265. When ?-I think it was somewhere about that time. I can eauily se by
reference to the letter-book.

266. You found by reference to the letter-book, when you had that interview?-
Yes. On the 23rd of November I wrote to Sir John Macdonald, telling him that
had had an interview with Mr. Mackenzie, to whom I had explained the matter.

267. 'How long bofore you wrote the letter did that interview take place ?-1
cannot say. Almost immediately after the deposit of the money I went to 3r.
Mackenzie and told him that wo had received a largedeposit, and that I must explaiD
the circumstances.

268. Almost inmediatoly aftor the deposit you went to Mr. Mackenzie and
explained the circumstances under which the deposit was received ?-Ye.

269. And then Mr. Mackenzie made a certain statement upon which you wrtO
a letter to Sir John Macdonald on the 23rd of November? -Yes.

270. Have you a copy of that letter?-Here it is.
22
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271. WilItyou5gead it I It is as follows

(14.)
"November 23l, 187

"Mr DAi S11 Jon ,-When I mentioned to Mr. Mackenzie the othér day
tho rOeie we had had from you on account of Secret Service money, he-nie te Cau your attention to a resolution of the Oorrmmitteon Publiowich subitted to the Hense, and which you will find at page 173 ofdthe Jrnals
of 187. 1 doubt whether there was any expenditurO for «eeet Seico after that
uts Iearn from the Bank of Montreal that the peptblneea4 reMainedutcChed for uPwards of ayear before the resi ation of yotir 'inia . but Mr.

fadhejout nitimated that ho would exp.ct a st mentt'bw m ef e , eats
that resolu the SB,600 which yon wi oheld as alrdy pledgoç iri ççdIo ith

I remain, yours truly,
(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,

• S J. A. MAcDoNAL1.

«acka ,i id oTis t eet a :rply to tmm lette? 414 aÑ4 it i Mr.

TbsoNro, Norember 30th, 1875.

aX D4R LANGTON,--I have yours of tbo e28rd, which absenee fron. eMO ha
l0Yemoýued fo Cex acknowledging before,

I do 'Rot think that the fund at my dispoWai comes within the resolution y«u referte; but I shal wait on Mr. Mackenzie and explain the matter te him on the first
h PPortunity. , I would have done so had ho been in Ottawa when I was there, but ho
ha gone to the Maritime Provinces.

Yours very truly,
JoRi (Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

AN<oToN, Esq..
&c. &c.

3. Then I understand from these letters, that having written on the 4th of
ovenber to Mr. Drummond the letter of that date, and the transaction having been

'r'Pleted by Mr. Drummond, you saw Mr. Mackenzie and informed him of the
rOcept Of this deposit ?-Yes.

274. And on that information ho made a -suggestion to you which resulted in
r2"wi.t he letter of the 23rd November te Sir John Macdonald ?-Exactly so.

the '5 as r. Mackenzie the first Minister you informed of the matter ?-1e was
ODIY one I informed of it; my chief was absent at the titùe.276. Mr. Maekenzie was the only Minister to whom yòuüeommeùicated it -Yes
277. Then the tr*noaction was completed without the in!erention of any of the
ster of the Crown ?-Yes.

Wh 278. The deposit was received, and the transaction took the shape it did, anden it wnas on, Mr. Maékenzie and the Government were made aware of it ?- Ye..2a . Mr. Drummond says that ho was authorized by you to a*cept Si John
recdon1d s choque for this money ?- authorized him to apcept the choque to
"efIîd it, but I did ihot say anything about the $6,600 which had been pledged.
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280. Did you intend to authorize him ?-I did not Bay anything about it. I did
not conceive it was my business to do so. It was for him to decide how to dispose of
it. It appears to me that-if the money was pledged, Sir John' Macdonald should
withhold it, but as to the money which was not pledged, he should have proceeded to
have deposited it.

281. I was asking you whether you intended to authorize the cheque of Sir John
Maedonald, who was no longer a Minister, on an account, which could only be.drawn
by Ministers ?-It was no business of mine to do so.

282. And you did not inteild tó take that responsibility on yourself ?-No.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
283. Yeu said that Sir John Macdonald told you a few days before the resigna-

tion of bis Ministry, that this money was there ?-He told me that there was a bal-
ance of Secret Service money remaining in hand, but I had no idea as to how much it
was. He said he had some difficulty about some unsettled claims which he did not
know how to deal with.

284. You were satisfied, you also say, that if Sir John Macdonald was liable
for the $6,600, he ought to withhold it ?- It is not exactly for me to say whether this
should be done or not. I thought it was natural enough that if ho had withheld the
money all this time because he could not settle the account, that he should stil with-
hold it and deposit what was in ne way pledged; but as to the way in which the
money was to be paid, that is another matter.

285. You agreed with Sir John Macdonald that he should withhold it ?-I agreed
-that he should deposit what was not pledged.

286. But what was pledged that he should keep ?-That was bis responsibility.
287. You agree that according to the present custom of keeping the Public Ac-

counts, that it was correct?-I agreed to the deposit of what was not pledged. I had
no possible means of knowing what the pledge was; that was his responsibility
and his only ; but, as I said before, if it had been a matter so deeply pledged that he
had kept it for two years, I did not see any great harm lin his keeping it for another
month or so and making a proper settlement. But the deposit I distinctly authorized.
- 288. Sir John Maonald told you what was the exact amount ?- Judging from
his letter, I presume he did so.

289. You stated in your first examination that he told you the exact amount and
made no secret about it ?- Re consulted with me about it.

By Mr. Goudge
290. Did you write or tell Mr. Drummond to pay this $6,600 ?-J do not think

that I did. -There is my letter. I authorized him however, to make the deposit.
291. Mr. Drummond would not have paid it without your authority ?- I have no

recollection of saying anything at the time. I do not think that I authorized any-
thing to be paid having a doubtful source. My own opinion is that I consulted with
some one before it was paid. As to the balance which was not pledged, I thought it
should be paid in at once.

RAILwAY COMMTTEZ Room,
OrrAwA, Tuesday, 20th Mareh, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. YOUNG in the chair.
Mr. DaumIoND, being called, produced the following transcript:

Transcript of Ueadinq of Secret Service Accounts.
No. 1.

HON. J. A. MACDONALD, et al.
Cheques signed.

J. A. MACDONÂLD W. McDoGALL,
G. E. CARTIER, A. T. GALT. Official capacity.
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No. 2.

MiNsimei Op JusTIca et a.
Choques signed.

J. A. MAcDoNALD, J. RosE, -Attorney eneral -Fiance.
G. E. CAtrma, W. P. HoWLAND,-IM iister Militis ~~h4and Revee.

Mr. DEUMMOND was then further examined:

ByMr. Blake:-
292. As these transcripts are now prepared with these marks upon thcm they are

true copies of the headings of the accounté; that marked No. 1. is a truc copy of
No. 1 ?-Yes.

293. That marked No. 2 is a true heading of No. 2?-Ycs.
The following letter was then handed in:

(17.)

BANK OP MTomREA,
OTTAwA, 3rd November; 1876.

My DEAR SiR,-The balance of credit of the Special of Sir Johi A. Macdonald
in this Branch is $32,179.04.

In view of this being closed under the aiTangement you mily. have agreed on
with Sir John, please send me such official instructions as to its disposal as may be
requisite to authorize me to carry ont the sane.

Yours very truly,

(Signed) A. DRUMMOND,
Manager.

JOHN LANGTo$, Esq.,
Auditor-General.

294. Would you look at that letter, Mr. Drummond. Is it your letter?-Yes.
295. Was this written on 3rd November, 1875, the day on which it is dated?

-Yes.
296. Had you any prior communication with anyboly on the subject?-Mr;

Langton.
297. Verbally ?- Yes.

.298. Iow long before ?-I think the day previous.
299. Would you state it ?-It was merely that Mr. Langton mentioned that he

had seen Sir John, and he had satisfactorily explained to him that the #6,60 was
pledged under the late Ministry; .and, as I understood, he was entitled to it, and I
was to pay the balance to the Receiver-Genoral; but for my own record I asked Mr.
Langton for the official letter, that I might retain it.

'300. You were verbally requested in the first instance to carry out the thing by
a deposit of $25,000, and to give the other to Sir Johin Macdonald, and you thought
it btter, before doing so, to write an official letter in order to have an oeffiial
response ?-Yes.

301. What difficulty presented îtself to you which made y ou think it necessary
that there shquld be an ofcial response ?-Only that, that I bad all álong with Sir
John, that in any payments to be made to hm underthe new Ministry, some official
recognition should be given of the amount to be dispnsed tohim.

-02. Therr Sir John Macdonald had been applying to you?-Yes;, he came on
the first Session after his resignation and mentioned that h had some payments yet to
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make, and then he wished to close the account. I mentioned to him that I desired
that any new payments under the new Ministry should be with the recognition of the
new Ministry, and I supposed that he would se. 'Mr. Langton, the Auditor.

303. le came to you at your office ?-No; he merely montioned incidentally
that he intended closing the Spcial Account, but he had some claims that were
unsettled at that timne which he desired settled, and thon he wou4' do it. I then
remarked to him that I thought it proper that any payment8 under the new Ministry
bhould be with their recognition.

304. You would have no objection to depositing the amount to the Receiver-
General. The question of difficulty was the depositing it or paying it over without
the recommendation of the Ministry ?- Yes, sir; and I suggested that he should see
the Auditor.

305. To which ho assented ?-He at once aasnted.
306. That was:during the first Session of the new Parliament ?-Yes; the winter

of 1873-4.
307. Parliament miet in 1874 ?-Yes; it was some time during the first Session

of 1874.
308. Did.you hear anything at all more about it until this interview with Mr.

Langton, which occurred about the 2nd November, 1875 ?-Yes; in that winter he
called and made some statement, and that h. would see Mr. Langton.

309. And1id you-make the same answer ?-Yes; the difficulty arose altogether
in him not seeingMr. Langton, and giving him this official recognition of the pay-
ment ho proposed to make out ofthis fand.

310. Then you had two visits from him ?-Yes.
311. Was there another?-The next vas whon Sir John Macdonald had sold

his house and had removed to Toronto. I gt a. prIvats letter from him, an extract
rom which I submit. . I can submit the whole letter if 4esired, He directed me to

transfer the balance of his private account to him at Toronto, and that extract lad
reference to the special account.

The extract was then put in as follows:-

(18.)

Extract from letter 21st Iday, 18-5, from Sir John A. Macdoniald, at Toronto, having
reference to Secret Service Fund.

I was in such a hurry in leaving, that I did not see the Auditor, s0 that the
Special Account had better remain as it is till my next visit to Ottawa, whieh must
ble ere long.

Yours, &c., &c.,

(Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

ANDREw DaUxMoND, Rsq.,
Montreal Bank.

312. That is an extract from a letter written 21st May, 1815 ?- Yes,
313. What next took place after the personal conwMunicstion ?-The next that

happened was the intimation of Mr. La thatbe had seen b), John.
314. Itid you mnake any enqauiry as whetief any Minister had been consulted

en the subject ?-No; I presumed the diflculty had ben removed.

Mr. Blake thon showed witness the Illowing letter:-
26
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BANK OF MONTREAL,
OTTAwA, 12th November, 1814.

DEAR Sr,-The Special Secret Service Fund Account has been closedîin the
manner authorized by your letter of 4th inst., by the acoountiag te Sir John A.
Macdonald for $6,600, the amount pledged by him as agreed with you, and transfer of
the bajance, $25,579.04, to the credit of Receiver General, as per euclosed receipt
No. 66

Yours truly,

(Signed) A. DRUMMON1
Manager.

JORN LANOTON, Esq.,
Auditor-General

315. And this is the enclosure ?-Yes, sir.

(20.)
(No. 66.)

[Duplicate for Departnent.]

BANK OF MONTRUL.
OTTAwA, November 12th, 1875.

25,579.04. .

Received from Right Hon. Sir J. A. Macdonald, on accoupt of a nce of, Secret
Service money, transferred the sum of twenty-five thopand fie hundred &nd seventy-
nine dollars and four cents, which amount will appear at the Receiver Generals
credit with this Bank.

Signed in triplicate.

(Signed) G. S. IROBERTSON.
Pro Manager.

By Mr. Worknman
316. Whon the account was opeued your instructiorts wore to pay only those

chequea which were siged by two Ministena?-Yes; by two oruaoreofthemi
317. Well then, i choque for $6,600, as I take it, *as not slgned by a -r

at all?-It was not, but I had an official recognition, which I considered was eUva
lent under the circumstantes. Sir John Macdonald was the onlyOne left f the
original parties named.

By Mr. Goudge:
31& I observe that itis stated in Mr. Drummond's letter of the fith March, that a

statemnt-of asoounte wa rondered on the 5th of March, 1873, 10 Sir Joha Macd*OW d
at bis request and again about August of the sae yeaý, and that Mr. Drugseqad
states that thev. ae eensequently no cheques in the possessioun the bank cous4o
withý f amaok pting for the cloing of the accoUnta. M i1 h ft s kQowif
there are any »Y twienUia th Bank books that wouu show the Danam of the pgeiw
paid by these eliqume ?-No; there isano recorda fthe names.

319. Were these choques paid at the bank in this city ?-I cokl not as to
that. They ma havebeen paid at othèr branches of the bank and afterwards have
come in to us. I believe rost of them were paid here.



320. I observe that a number of cheques were paid in March, April and May;
1869. Do you know if any of these choques came from the Province of Nova
Scotia ?-No ; I do not.
- Mr. Blake objected to any question being asked as to the destination of the

money.
By Ar. Kirkpatrick :

ý21. Have you anything by which you can fix it on your memory that Sir John
Macdonald spoke to you about this during the Session of 1874? -Nothing, only that
I have a very distinct recollection of its being some time after the resignation and
during the Session. I cannot fix the month.

322. Did ho come specially on that business; can you remember that? I
could not say, because he had bis own private account, and he may have consulted
me about that. But he came down to our Bank and into my room, and mentioned it.

323. lie told you ho had some outstanding claims which prevented him from
elosing the account ?-Yes.

324. Thon he lett here in May, 1875 ?-Yes; ho went to Toronto at that time.
325. That was the time at which he called special attention to the account ?

-Yes.
326. And the letter of which you have given an extract was written just after

he left for Toronto ?-Yes; ho had sold hie house and was settling about his private
account, and wished a settlement of the other.

By Mr. Blain:-
327. Did he mention, the amount of these disputed claims ?-I- took it that at

that time he did not know himself. Ho did not mention it at all events.
Mr. LANGTON was then called and stated: A question was asked about that entry-

warrant transferring the balance of the old account before Confederation, and in the
copy of the certificate which I sent to the Committee there was no date. The reason
of this was that there were two warrants for the same day, and my certificate being
on the same shoot of paper, of course the date was only at the· bottom. Both were
passed on the same day.

By Mr. Blake:-
328. What is thé date ?-The 18th of October, 1869.
329- You produce the original entry warrants ?--Yes.
330. Of these, only one is applicable, as I understand it ?-Both are. The first

certificate "that a transfer entry warrant may issue charging Special Deposit àecret
Service, and crediting Services of 1868 with $8,398.83," the unexpended balance in
the year 1866-67. The other, as I have already stated, was on the same paper, and
charges " Miscellaneous," and credits the Special Deposit with $33,103-88, the
amount expended in the year 1868-69. I only brought these two in order to show
how the date was missing.

331. The date of these is October 18th, 1869. I think you wero asked to
ascertain wrhether they came into the accounts of the old Provincees-I stated that
I could show that the late Province had credit for it. I have since looked into it and
find that the late Province did get credit for it.

332. State where that is to bo found. 1s it to be found in the Public Accounts ?-
In the statement of affairs for 1867 i# will appear that the banking accounts amounted
te (amongst the liabilities) $3,209,163.85. Included in that were the Crown Lands
expense account, 8112,748.63, of which the Provinceg agreed to assume their share,
se i-t was left out of the account of.the public debt. If yeu deduct that 8112,748.63
from the total of the banking account it will leave a balance of $3,096,415.22, which
yeu will see by the accounts of 1868, Part III., page 7, was oharged against the
Province as part of its debt.

333. As an adverse bank balance ?-Yes----charged against the Province as part
of its debt. One of the items in the amount charged to them was Service, of 1868,
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350,211.95. That amoun" onsists of several itsAs, ome on one siâeg aud some onu
the other, and amongst those deducted from that anount was ethis Seieret Service
money, $8,398.83.

334. Does that appear i the prited accounta ?--Ouly that balance of$5l11.95
which ws charged gainet the Province is shown in the Publie Âcoonata. Ini
looking into the matter, as to what thoy consisted of, I found some $62,Q on tie
one aide and three amaar entries on the- other; amongst the rest the 48,39848; so
that amount was dedented from the banking account charged against te Province.

335. Have you the transcript of that ?-Yes.
Transcript put in as follows:-

(21.)

EXTRACT FROM LQ)GER.

SERVICES of' 1868 for the late Province of Canada.

Secret Serrice .... .......................... 8,398 83 ùCustoms Expenditure,.......... ........... I 1,006o
Peitentiar. ............... ........... 668 04 Militia............... ................... I 3 ,057 7i

Education ........................ 2,758 13 Civil Government....................... 13,992 a1

Balanee...................................... 50211 95 Education................ 71806 64

] 62,036 95 $62,03s 95

336. And can give the roforence to the portion& of the Public Accounta whioh
are necessary to explain it ?- It will be seen by the statement of affâirs of 1867, at
page 2, Part 1, that the balance of the banking account was 83,209,163.85, and if
rom that is deducted the Crown Lands balance account, which was not ineladed in

the public debt, the balance will be found to be $3,096,415.22 againsthelate Province
of Canada, as appears in the Public Accounts of 1868, Part 3, page 20. Then again,if you refer to the accounts for 1867, you will find amongst the items consisting of
bank accounts, on page 2, Part 1, one of $50,211.95, as i have already etated.

337. How is this properly headed ?-Extract frcm Public Accounts.
338. No; but the other ?-That is an. extract from our ledger.
339. But what account ?-Services of 1868.
340. Services of the late Province ?-Yes; the other statement which I put in

shows that that amount was afterwards carried forward and so deducted from the
other things charged against the Province.

341. Then the practical result was that Canada, the Dominion, paid during the
first year of the existence of the two Provinces, certain sums for the services »f the
two Provinces ?-Yes, during the last few days of the years, some things are brought
in under the head of Services of 1867 and 1868.

342. The Dominion having paid for the Province, money for the other services,
of course the Province was charged with that amount, ande against, that t -was
credited with the several items, Secret Service, Penitenijaries and Edueationwhicb
reduces the amount chargeable to $50,211.95, with the balance ,in the stateaet?-
Yes; in fact, -the late Proy inee may be said to have pad that amount for Peniten-
tiaries and that amount for Secret Service.

343. Then the practical result was that the publie cash of the Dominion had been
expended in producing this more favourable balance to the Province of $50.211.95 ?
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-o I ïean at the end of the yeàr if'r 4*s 14W *én< ma over h> lbe
Douiion T.aeury ad the Pioriddte eni tédft foi. .

344. Whiè amount ?-The 88,000.
m4. This amont was jdid owier, tMek hIste Breaee got eedit,end it-

remained in the hands of tAle Re efrGenetui eaWha bYe that ie how it
ws tfalted

846.Iknow that, bntew are epeking of it befbre it **M utilued as a Secret
Se-vite Fund?-It wa paid *ver in 1867 to themobin6 tise us a 'aiaccount,
and there was remaining ofit at the end of the fear y h«erw* at, whii iènaibed in
the control of the Dominion, and therefore the Provinoee eredit for It.

347. It remained with the Dominion as a Provincial blance ?-It remained in the
Dominion Exchequer and the Dominion gave the Province credit for it and there
was an end of it so far as the Province was concerned.

348. Because the Domiîien gave èMdittor tWúeh cash ?-Yes, as so much
cash; then the Dominion added it to the Secret Service Fund of the Dominion some
years afterwards.

349. Then there was smeinthing usk4d about tivo x16%Ûits In the Bank of
Montreal ?-They both of them were from the se i r on aceount of the
insurrection losses in Manitoba. The money had been paid in advance before the-
thing was finally settled; and, therefore, *hen the thing was settled these amounts
were refunded to the Secret Service. These are the Orders in Council:-

(22.)

Corr of a Report of a Comnittee of the IHonourable the Privy Council, approved by lis
Excellency Me Governor General in Council, on the 14th February, 1871.

On a nemorandum dated 14th February, 1871, from the hon. the Minister of
Finance, reporting that the Manager of the Bank of Montreal has advanced under
his directions the sum of three thousand seven hundred and eighty-four do1lars
($3,784.00) to pay the expenses of various delegates employed at the request
Of this Government in connection with the difficulties in the Red River
Settlement in 1869-1870, and recommending that a warrant issue in favour of A.
Drummond, Esq., Manager of the Bank of Montreal in Ottawa, for the amount stated,
the same to be charged against the vote for the opening up 0f communication witih
the North-West.

The Committee advise that a warrant issue aecordingly.
Certified.

(Signe<f)
Jos. O. CoTt,

Assistant Cerk, P. 1

(23)

OoPr of a Report of a Committee of the -Honourable the Privy Counoil, approved by Ris
Excellency the GovernorGeneral in Council, on the 10th July, 1871.

On a Memorandum dated 6th July, 1871, from the Hon. the Minister of Finance,
requesting that a warrant may issue hi favour of Andrew Drummond, Esq., Manager
of the Bank of Montreal, to cover advances made by his direction for the following
services, viz:

Dr. Schultz................................................................
Dr. Schultz for Xending Refugees from Manitoba. .................. 500
Dr. Lynch ..... ,............................................................. 300

$11,800



whel xîbbart tM Wd tiiè vottof hist dain of Poular' a hent for
pay1t)wsus idd bdr' s in 'fanitob*.

itte afsè e t issue of- a arrant ih *ýor of Âdirew Brtnoad,
Esq.,'for ;88sidnrede.

Certi6ed.
- (Signed)

To the AUITO.

350. Then nus I uldersd yvour explanation, these tio sums were origitaly
drawn throegI SêirP snela ch firpin the SetétSer*icefund ud1rere subsquent-yrefunded froiti that fiid lnd -ërgea to another appropiation whieh1e srade by
Parliathejt ?-IMe Bahk of Môntrial reTunded the amoùit.

351, You were not aware that it was âdvanced ont of the Seert· Service Fund
before; yeu thought it -was advanedd by the Bank at the request Of a Kihister in a
case of erdergency-?-Yes.

352. Woiild you refer to thé Public Accounts of 1872 ad find the accounte that
cover those amounts. One i*as in February, 1871, and 'another was in July, 1871 , se
that they will probably appear in different years?-Yes, but in the meantime, not t*
detain the Committee, Ian go on with anything olse.

353. It seems, from the statements put in, that so far as thé others are c-neerned,
this transaction ot the re-deposit was opened by a letter frem Mr. Drmmnond to yon
on the third of November, in which he points out that thelialance sat the eredit of
this special of Sir John ià so much, and he says "in view of this being closed,
please send me such ofcial instruétions as may be requisite." Hiad yon had any verbal
communication with Mr. Drummond prior to this ?-Yes, I had a conversation with
him.

354. More than one ?-I cannot recollect. I know I had a conversation with
him.

355. Long prior to this letter ?-No. I only recoll&t it just on that occasion.
356. Will you state what that oonversation waà ?-LI cannot recollect exabtly

what it was, but my impression was that if this money had been- really pledged bythe Government, I thought Sir John had a right to retain that money on hand-o
that it might be available in a proper way. As to how it was to be got that was.
was nothing to me; but I thought that in thé meantime the balance ought to be
refuinded if there was no claim upon it.

357. Had you any conversation with Mr. Drummond before the writing ef this
letter, suggesting to him to allow Sir John Macdonald to cheque out a certain Pertio*
of that money and deposit the balance ?-I am sure I could not have recommended
him to do that, for it did not appear to me that that would be the correct thing to do
without further information.

358. You thought it would be all right to pay in whatever eoutld be got in?
-Yes; I thought so.

359. Was it your idea that Sir John Macdonald, or the other late Ministers could
choque out this noney ?-I don't think they conld.

360. Was it your idea thon ?-I don't think it could have been; but it is aýdiM-
cult thing for me to recollect conversations which took place so long ago. I reolect
a conversation with Sir John, and that he thought of confulting Mr.Mackasie on
the subject.

361. Was it your idea at any time, from the first timàe that it Wxs mentioned, that
this account to the eredit of the Ministers in their offieial capaoity could b chequed
out by one of them ?-No; I don't think it was.

362. And yon do not think so to-day ?-No; but I thought if the late Ministrywere in any way plodged, it Inight be right te let it romain in that specialfand and
not pay it out.

4-



40 Viøtoria. pgAtg1% ß S8W

363. If Sir John Macdoiald, as an ex-Minister, coald not cheque this out, would
it not ho because he had no control ovor it? It was the Minîistr of Justice, and, ùnt
the individual who could cheque it out I expect; I could choque it out n apt hé.
Did you think he would choque it out ?-No, I did not, I have a recoeion of his
#aying that he would consult Mr. Mackenzie on the subject.

364. You therefore suggested to Mr. Drummond that -Sir John could choque it
out ?-Mr. Drummond must have misunderstood me as to that.

365. WeIl, I understand you that you instructed him on the 4th not to accept Si:
John Macdonald's choque, but to deposit the $25,000 to the credit of the Beceiver-
General ?-I instructed him to deposit the balance to the credit of the IWeceiver-
General, but I don't think I said anything about the choque.

366. That was upon the theory that that $25,000 was under the control of the
G-overnment?-Yes, that it was Government money, and ought to be paid in.

367. You did not intend thon th*t Mr. Drummond should honour Sir John
Macdonald's choque for any portion of the fund to be paid out ?-No. I did not
give any instructions about that.

368. On the 12th November it seems that Mr. Drummond wrote you a letter;
which,has been read this morining, in which he says that the Special Fund has been

- olosed by the handing to Sir John Macdonald of $6,600, and the transferring of the
balance to the credit of the Receiver-General. Mr. Drummond intimates that he
.accounted t Sir John Macdonald for this $6,600. Did you remonstrate with him for
doing so?-I do not recollect; in all pobability I took the deposit which was inside
a Lwithotit making any enquiry about the rest.

369. You did not make any enquiry about the accounting with Sir John Mac-
.donald for this $6,600 ?--No.

370. You did not intend that he should account for this $6,600 ?-No.
371. And you do not think it would be a right thing for him to do ?-No; and

I took an early opportunity of communicating with Mr. Mackenzie as to the cir-
-cumstances.

By Mr. Smith (Selkirk)
372. Did you suggest to Mr. Drummond·any, othercourse. by which the amount

of 86,600 could be appropriately paid over to the Dominion ?-I did not suggest any
other course. My own feeling was that Sir John Macdonald could communicate with
Mr. Mackenzie in the meantime.

Ty Mr. Blake -
373. Your idea was that the money should be left to the credit of the fund until

the Ministers had been consulted before anything should be done and you had evidence
*f te money being appropriated ?-No.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick :
374. Do you know bow the account stood in the Bank ?-No.
375. Then you did not know who had the right to choque out the money ?-Yes;

I knew the money had been paid in to the credit of the late Ministry.
376. I asked you as to how the account stood in the Bank and as to who had tho

right to cheque ont the money ?-The late Ministry had the power up to the tine of
their resignation; and when their resignation came, it became a question what was
to be done. My own opinion was that they had no right without consulting their
auccessors.

377. Did you think that Sir John Macdonald had the right to choque out the
U5,000 to the credit of the Receiver-Generalr?-Isaid to Mr. Drummond that he might
accept Sir John's choque to pay back the money to the Dominion.

378. If you could accept his choque in that one case, why could you not do so in
the other ?-There was a material differonce in the two cases. In the one, lie was
paying away money belonging to the Dominion, and in the other, he waa paying to
the Dominion money belonging to itself.
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379, Wereyou asked fer instructions by Mr. I)rnmmond ?-I cannot exactly say.
le may have asked me for instructions, but I cannot pretend to recolleot I a n ee-

tain that I did not give him instructions to acéept Sir John Madonalds chegue..
380. Did yon forbid him ?-I would not say that I did, but I cannot plèdge my-

self to remember exaotly whether I did or not.
381. Wore you'informed by Mr. Drummond that ho had given this money to Sir

John Macdonald?-I knew almost immediately afterwards, and took the earliest op-
portunity of informing Mr. Mackenzie of the position of affaire. There is a letter
here showing my conversation with Mr. Mackenzie,and the subject of the message ho
sent to Bir Johnu and my letter to Sir John, saying that I thought he was bouind to
account for what he had been doing.

382. You did not notify Mr. Drummond that he had paid away the, money of the
Dominion without instructions ?-No.

383. If you had thought that he had done so, wvoud you not have con-
sidered it to be your duty to notify him of that fact ?-There might be a difference of
opinion upon that. I don't tliink I notified Mr. Drum ond.

384. If yon knew ho was paying away the money of the Dominion without
authority, would you not have protested agàinst it;- would you not, as a publie
official, have considered it te be your duty to protest against it ?-Allow me to say
that this money was in an entirely different position from the ordinary cash in the
Bank of Montreal.

385. The question is this: if you knew that Mr. Druminmond wias giving away
the moneys of the Dominion without authority, would you not have protested against
it ?-I was just about to answer that question by saying that this money
was in quite a different position from the ordinary cash in the Bank. If
I had found him paying the ordinary cash in the Bank of Montreal, I should most
decidedly have remonstrated; but this was a special account, with regard to which
there might be difference of opinion as to how it should,-be dealt with; so, instead
of remonstrating with him, I took the earliest opportunity of informing Mr.
Mackenzie.

386. Then this was not the ordinary money to the credit of the Dominion ?
-No; it was a special account.

387. And it was apparently to the crodit of Sir John Macdonald ?- No; it was
to the credit of Sir John Macdonald, Minister of Justice, and others.

By Mr. Snith (Selkirk):-
388. Was it in Mr. Drummond's office, in the office of the Bank of Montreal, or

in your office, that this conversation took place ?-There was hardly a day that I did
not sec him, and I cannot tell where it occurred.

389. Had you the particulars of this account before you when this conversation
took place ?-No; I knew nothing of the account on the ocasion of that conversation.
I think I did ask what was the whole balance, but otherwise 1 did nof know what.
the account was.

By Mr. Gibbs (South Ontario):-

390. Why did you say to Mr. Drummond, that ho should receive $25,000 ?. Why
didn't you say that he should give a cheque for the whole amount ?-I have already
stated two or three times that I thought Sir John was justified in wishing a sum to
be reserved to meet certain claims which his Government had been plodged to, but
was not justified in keeping anything more than was necessary to meet those claims,
and I therefore recommended him to pay in all the balances after paying these
claims. My instructions to Mr. Drummond were that there could be no difficulty in
taking in the amount, exclusive of what was necessary to meet theso chiims.

By Mr. Wood;-
391. It was necessary for Sir John to give a cheque iiî order'to transfer that

amount ?-No.
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392. It would have gone to the credit of the Receiver-General without his inter-
vention ?-Yes.

By Mr. GibIs (South Ontario):--

395. Was it necessary that the Bank should require a choque ?-No.

By Mr. Workàhm

394. Did it not appear to you that it would be botter to communicate with some
of the heads of Depaitments and inform them of that fact before giving instructions
as to the disposal o the money ?-My own Minister was absent in England or Iwould
have communicated with him.

395. 1 suppose there is some gentleman acting for him in his absence ?-I think
Mr. Scott represented him.

396. Did it not appear to you, as an old public officer understandingyour business
thoroughly, that the proper course would have been to communicate with the Govern-
ment ?-I think I was quite justified in saying pay in the balance that is not-wanted.

397. But you had a communication with Sir John Macdonald negotiating a
certain amount, in which he mentioned that there was a certain amount that had to
be rserved ; you ought cortainly to have communicated that fact to therGovernment ?
-Perhaps so, but my own Minister was away

By Mr. Blain :

398. Why did not this sum appear in the Public Accounts until this year?
Because it was not paid until 1875-6. It was not paid in time to appear in previous
ones. Yes; but-you were aware of this sum, and it did not appear in the Public
Accounts before ?-The conversation between Sir John and me and my conversation
with Mr. Drummond, that has been alluded to, took place in October, and the money
was paid in November of last year. I knew nothing about thé amount. I simply
knew there were unsettled claims before Sir John resigned, and some balance, but, so
far as I knew, it might all have been paid away before they resigned. I had no
control of the Secret Service moneys.

By Mr. Vorknan

399. But surely before Sir John's resignation ho informed you that there wore
certain amounts of this nloney to the credit of the Government in the Bank of
Montreal?-Before his Government resigned he spoke to me about the Secret Service
money. I said ho ought to pay over the balance, and he then told me that there
were uncertain outstanding claims that le did not exactly know how to deal with.

400. After that communication, when you learned there was ,a balance at the
.bank, did you communicate with your chief or whoever was in chargé of yourdepart-
ment ?-1o o; I don't suppose I did.

By Dr. Tupper:-

40.1. At what date did the first one take place ?-Just before the resignation, or
about that time.

402. Did you communicate with Mr. Drummend at that period in relation to
that amount of money ?-I had nothing to say to Mr. Drummond about it then.

Mr. DRtMMoND re-called, and further examined

By Dr. Tupper

403. What was the first communication between Mr. Langton and yourself with
reference to this matter ?--i communicated with Mr. Langton as soon as Sir John
spoke to me on the subject.

404. At tiat time ?-It was during the firet session after the resignation, 1874.
34
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By Mr.'Blake:.--

405. Yeu mentioned the other day that you returned the vouchers on two
distinct occasions. One tine on the 5th of Xarchy and the other time sois tissi
August. Were they returned by letter ?-Ye8, to Sir John by lètteria the fret case,
but not in the last case. On the Iast occasion Sir John called personally.

406. A copy of the letter-can be produced ?-Yes, air.
407. It does not disclose anything as to the destination of the funds ?-o, air.
408. As to the second occasion, that was not by letter ?-No, Sir.
409. Can you specify the date more accurately ?--I, could not at this monient.
410. You name August ?-Yes.
411. Why ?-.That was my impression.
412. Was there any receipt for the vouchers ?-No.
41a. There was rather an exciting time in August; was it befora or ater that?

1 don't remember.
414. You do not remember whether it was befôre the 13th of that month?-I

do not.

By Mr. Smith (Selkirk):-

415. When Sir John first spoke to you about this claim did you mention that it
would be necessary to have the authority of the present Government ?-Yes; I
remarked that to him.

416. 1ave you any recollection of where 'the conversation took place, which
resulted in Mr. Langton giving you a letter authorizing the deposit of the money.
It was your understanding of that letter, was it not, that it was to cover the $6,600
as well as the $25,000 ?-Most distinctly, that was as I understood it. As to where
the conversation took place, my impression is that Mr. Langton called on me at my
office., I had also-a conversation with him in his office, and I asked him for the -
letter specially then, in order that I might retain it as a record of what happened,
thouch I was under the impression that everything was arranged satisfactorily, and
that I was at full liberty to pay it even without the letter.

By Mr. Blain:-

417. How did you come to understand from this letter that you were authorized
to pay over the 86,600; that is not apparently the scope of the letter ?-I thonght I
was authorized even outside of that letter, though I asked for the letter afterwards.

418. But how did yon come to put that construction on this letter?-It was
fully understood verbally before, by me, at all events. It was understood that the
two sums were to be paid,-one to Sir John and the other to the Receiver-General.

419. It doesn't authorize you to pay it over, but to deposit it to the credit of the
Receiver-General; it doesn't authorize the payment to Sir John Macdonald ?-Sir
John brought the cheques just as though they were his own, on the understanding he
had with Mr. Langton.

By Mr. Wood:

420. Did you think it necessary to have Sir John's cheque, in order to tranWfer
the 825,000 ?-Sir Jehn brought it, at all events. He was the mediuin from begin-
ning to end.

421. Did you believe his cheque to be necessary ?-No, but he brought it, and
endorsed it on the back, " pay to the order of the Receiver-General."

422. You acted on this cheque ?-Yes.

.By Mr. Blake:-

423. But you didn't think it necessary in order to effect the deposit?-No; I
would have obeyed the instructions of the Government, and deposited it *ny time.
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By Mr. Macdonald (Centre Toronto)
424. In your examination on Saturday you stated that Mr. Langton had

explained to you that Sir John had satisfied him that there was a claim on this
$6;600. Was that the result of a verbal communication, or was it an 'inference
drawn from the letter ?-It wa the result of a verbal communication prior to that.

By Mr. Ross (Prince Edward)
425. During your time in the Bank do you recollect Sir John ever calling for

vouchers before that August?-I think no vouchers were taken before that time.
Statements of account were called for and rendered from time to time, and the
vouchers submitted to the Minister of Justice. I think I have given them through
Mr. Langton to be submitted.

426. Did Sir John ever call for them himself before Marcb, 1873 ?--No; that
was the only time..

In reply to Mr. BLAKE,
Mr. lNGToN said that-one warrant, that for $11,800, was charged in the Public

Accounts of 1872, Part II., page 358. The other warrant for $3.784.00, was charged
in the Public Accounts of 1871, Part J., page ?98.

By Mr. Plumb:-
427. I would like to ask you a question. I thought, in the course of your

examination, when you wore speaking of the old Province accounts that there might
be a misapprehension, and I would like to see whether it is correct or not. The
sum of $8,300 brought over was the only sum which went into the Secret Service
Fund ?-Oh, certainly.

RAILWAY COMMITTEE ROoM,
OTTAWA, Thursday, 22nd March, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. YoUNG in the chair.
The copy of the letter from Mr. Drummond to Sir John Macdonald of 5th March.

1873, called for at the last meeting, was submitted as follows:

(24.)
BANK OF MONTREAL,

5th March, 1873.
My DEAR SIR,-I enclose herewith, as requested, a statement of the special

accounts of yourself and colleagues opened with this branch in August, 1866, and
embracing the transactions from the commencement to the present time, showing
balance at credit of $37,179.04. It includes, you will observe, four cheques amiount-
ing to $10,000 drawn at Toronto branch against the credit directed by yon to be
opened there for that amount, as per separate account received from Toronto branch.
The statement No. 2 of the grant, per warrant, $50,000, was directed to be opened in
a separate account, and is accordingly so exhibited. The cheques drawing out same,
Nos. 1 to 18, inclusive, and the cheques Nos. 1 to 45, inclusive, drawn against the
account No. 1, together with the cheques at Toronto, are all sent herewith, with the
exception of No. 44, $2,100, paid 23rd January, 1872, the choque for which has been
mislaid, but which, it is trusted, will not cause any inconvenience.

I remain,
Yours very truly,

(Signed) AND. DRUMMOND,
Manager.

Lt lon. Sir J. A. MACDONALD, K.C.B.

40 «Victoria.
A 18W



Appedx (No. 2.)

After which, Mr. LANGTONwas re-called aud questioned

By Mr. Blake:
428. I see by the report of the evidence that it was not very distinetL1y stated

whether there was an Order in Council for the tran'fer of the $18,00 odd dollar.
I sjiould like to ascertain if there was an Order in Council?-I conceive there could
not have been, or it would have been quoted in my certificate. I will look over the
Orders in Council and ascertain whether there was or not.

429. Can you tell on whose authority you directed the transfer ?-No, I cannot.
430. There is no writtel authority ?-No.
431. Mere verbal instructions ?-Yes; but whose I know not.

Sir JoHN MACDONALD appeared before the Committee.

By Mr. Blake :-

432. There are several points arising out of the present evidence to which the
Committee will, I think, desire to direct Sir John's attention. The first that occura
to me is with reference to Mr. Langton's statement. The Auditor-General bas stated
that a verbal intimation was given to him during several years, of the amiounts ex-
pended for secret service during those years, without, however,· their having been
entered in the Public Accounts. Mr. Langton was unable to say who had given him
that intimation-what Minister. I would like to know whether it was Sir John who
gave that intimation ?-No intimation was given by me. I presume it a en by
the Finance Minister of the day; but I don't know.

433. There appears in one of the accounts which appear to have been opened
(one opened and the other kept open) with the Bank of Montreal, I niean 'peciul
account No. 1 under the date of December 27th, 1871, a charge for a choque of $1,OO0.
Now, without infringing upon what is understood to be the sense of the Committee,
that -we should not enquire into the destination of the money, it would not perhaps be
inconvenient to you to identify that particular sum. The date on which that sum is
charged is the date of the letter produced in the North-West Committee from Sir
John Macdonald to Archbishop Taché, enclosing a draft for $1,000 for the purpose
stated in the Committee, and which, in the evidence of Sir John, he stated to have bqen
paid out of the Secret Service Funds. I was desirous of knowing whether that is the
amount that represents that payment ?-Well, I really cannot state that from recollee-
tion for I have no recollection in the matter.

434. The next previous item is September 11th, $425, January 23rd, $2,100, and
on the date of the letter there is the choque for the $1,000. J draw the inference it
was the same money ?-Well, I would draw the same inferer.ce, though I have no
personal recollection of it.

434a. It also appears from the evidence of Mr. Drummond that two sums were
drawn out of the Secret Service money aggregating $15,584, which were replaced by
a deposit on February 1lth, 1871. They were drawn to pay certain claims and
expenses arising out of the Manitoba affair. They were drawn it seems by Sir
Francis Ilincks. Were you aware of these drafts ?-Any choques drawn upon that
fund from May 6th, 1870, until very late in that vear I know nothing of, having been
ili and absent.

435. From May 6th, 1870, to some period ?-I returned in the end of
September, but was not capable of attending to much work, and did nothing in fact
until the ensuing Session.

436. We have not at present the date of the drafts. I presume it was during the
period of your illness ?-I presume so.

437. It appears that the sum of $8,300 odd, whicb was the remainder of the Secret
Service fund of the late Legislature of Canada, was on the l8th of October, 1869,
transferred to, or made part of, the fund of the Dominion. Were you aware ?-I dare
say I was at the time, but I had forgotten all about it until I saw it in the evidence
the other day. I suppose it was a matter arranged by the Finance Minister.
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438. The fp cial account which is' produced shovs that on the 26th June, 1871,
the balance undr wn of what was already deposited was $15,754. From the recom-
mendation of this made on the 26th June, I think an additional sum, in fact, the
remainder of the whole vote, 835,000, was ordered to be deposited, making a total in
deposit at the close of the fmancial year of $80,754. The recommendation dated 26th
June, on which this $35,000 was added to the 815,000 balance remaining, states " there
remains unexpended of the vote for Secret Service the sum of $35,000. That as there
was ro vote taken for Secret Service last Session, and inasmuch as there is sufficient
evidence that the public interests may require that the unexpended balance should be
used, ho recommends that the same be carried to the credit of the Sub-Committee of
Council on Secret Service matters." There was at that time of the amount actually
deposited over $15,000, so that the total amount with this addition thus transferred,
was over $50,000 ?-Yes.

439. It would rather appear from the magnitude of the transfer and the language
of the recommendation that it vas with the idea that some exigency might' arise
requiring the farther use of Secret Service money that this additional transfer took
place ?-I think I remember the circumstances. In Council the attention of the
Council was called by the Finance Minister to the fact that there was this balane,
and that there was no intention of applying for a new vote, and that it might lapse
unless it was used. Well, there were large outstanding claims, some of them very
unjust, o• rather very excessive, which required to be settled in some way at some
time, but it was suggested that I should make a report, which I did on the spot, and
hils was the report.

440. The idea was this, that this vote should not be utilized for any purpose
except to meet claims which had accrued prior to the 30th June ?-No; I do not at
al mean to say so.

441. The idea was that it, or some portion of it, might be requisite for old
claims, and that public exigency might require the use of it for new purposes ?-If
the claims preferred had been paid in full, they would have more than exhausted the
whole sum; but I was satisfied many of the claims were excessive. Both objects
were in contemplation according to the best of my recollection, first to pay outstand-
ing claims, and secondly, to have the means of using the fund in the future for publie
services.

442. It appears by the evidence of Mr. Drummond that on the 5th of March,
1873, you received all the vouchers in his possession up to that date in connection
with the fund ?--I see by Mr. Drummond's evidence that he says he was " requested
by the Minister of Justice." I suppose that is correct in one sense. I never made
verbal application for these papers, but I presume from his evidence, though I don't
remember it, that there was a demand in my name as Minister of Justice.

443. À nd were they received as per letter produced ?-I have no doubt they were.
444. Have you them still ?-I have not.
445. Have they been destroyed ?-I presume they have been, though not by me.

I don't know anything about them. I presume they ought to have been destroyed
for fear they might compromise third parties, but vhether they were I cannot say.

446. You have no means of telling ?-I don't know.
447. Not having recollected the fact of having made this application, you of

course could not tell why it was made on that day-the day of the opening of Par-
liament ?-I don't know really. It may have been by the instructions of the Gov-
ernment, or my own. I really forget.

448, It seems that the vouchers for the intervening period between March and
August were returned in August ?-That stands exactly in t1he same way, by re-
quisition of the Department or on account of the Sub-Committee in my name, mine
beg the first name.

449. Your answer as to the first lot applies mutatis mutandis to the second ?-
Yes, they are just in the same position.

450. Did you keep any record of any of these payments ?-I kept no record.-
451. Or account ?-No; I kept no record.
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452. Was any kept ?-I suppose the running account by the Finance Minister
or-thse concerned in cash matters. I kept no aeount.

453. You are not ware of any aceount ?-I have no doubt there was a running
draft or blotter of some kind. I paid no attention to the accounting part of it.

454. Who did ?-I presume the successive Finance Ministers who were members
of the Sub-Committee.

455. You are not aware of-any book or record ?-I don't know of any.
456. Either before or after the resolution of the Public Accounts Committee

reported on the 29th May, 1872 ?-Either before or after:
457. That resolution, then, was not, so far as you know, observed ?-Which ?
458. The resolution of the Public Accounta Committee ?-I think it was.
459. That resolution is: " That inasmnuch as such large sums as $75,000 have

beon voted for ' Secret Service Money,' of which there is no audit, as in the case of
other, expenditure, this Committee is of opinion that an account of all sums hereafter
spet in 'Secret Service' should be kept as in England, in a book specially prepared
for the purpose, and that this book should annually be inspected by a confidential
Comnittee, of whom two shall be members of the Opposition of the day." There
were large sums spent after the date of this resolution ?-I remember the resolution
well and the circumstances. The resolution was introduced, I think, by Mr. Young.
I was not present at the Committee on Public Accounts; Sir Francis Hincks was
present. The resolution was presented and was under discussion. I think he sent
for me, and I came to the Committee. I protested against giving any examination
into the details of the Secret Service, but as I learned from some conversation
bet*een Sir Francis and the Committee he assented or appeared to assent to the reso-
lution. I said for the future I would have no objection that that should be the practice,
but as to the past applications I certainly would not agree, and I gave my reasons.

460. I was speaking ofthe resolution itself, which does say that an account of ail
sums should be kept in a book ?-I considered that the same rule should apply as in
England, that the money when handed over to the Committee was in fact spent.

461. You considered that the same rule should apply, and that the sum of847,000,
which was at one time handed over, was s pent ?--Yes; I considered that the sum,
at all events as regards obligations previously made, was spent.

462. As to obligations not' previously contracted ?-Well, no; I should think
not in the spirit of the resolution.

463. As to new matters you considered that an account should be kept ?--I didn't
at the time consider much about it. I simply stated that as to future matters 1 should
have no objections, but as to past ones, I would not give the details.

464. And you construed the resolution as meaning sums hereafter spent for new
obligations ? -That was what I intended by my observations at the time, and I acted
in that spirit.

465. I observe that the accounts were opened in the names of several Ministers
in their official capacity. What was the custom [of drawing on this account ?-It
varied according to my recollection of it. When the fund was first formed before
Confederation it was considered such a delicate matter in the peculiar cii cumstances
of the country, that the fund, or rather the knowledge of its application
should be confined to as few as possible, and four were therefore appointed. It was
first discussed whether it would not be better for the Sub-Committee to draw what
money was wanted, and keep a cash box, and pay it so that by no possibility could it be
traced to the hands of the parties receiving it. This was considered so inconvenient
that the Ministers of the day thought it could be managed more conveniently by
having a separate account, which would be altogether distinct from Secret Service
Account, and wþich would stand in the name of the four members forming the Sub-
Committee of Council. That was the origin of the system. I may say that I seo it
stated in Mr. Drummond's evidence that the rule was that two of the Committee
were to sign. I don't recollect that there was any suoh rule. Practically, however,
I suppose all choques were signed by two or more. That was a matter of arrange-
ment by the Committee. When I was absent, Sir George Cartier actod f>r me as
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Minister o Justice, as well as in his own department, and bad full authority to sign
my name for chequee. I had for him.

466. Though you don't remember any such rule, you recolleet that the practicç
was to have two or more signatures to the choque ?-I cannot go so far as that. I
cannot say it was so. I would cortainly havebeen surprised if 1, as amomber of the
Committee, should have had my choque refused.

467. Mr. Drummond says that when only one name was attached he received a
letter afterwards explaining that it was an emergency, and that those letters wore
returned ?-1 don't remember that.

468. The heading of the account shows that when Ministers came in, thoir names
were added to the account. I presume old Ministers had no authority-Mr. Mc-
Dougall for example ?-No; I think not.

469. Even for old claims contracted during his term of office? No; I think
not.

470. Did you mention to any one, about the period of the resignation of the late
Ministry the fact that there was, or explain, the balance to the credit of this special
account ?-I see that Mr. Langton says that I mentioned it to him. It is likely I
did; in fact there is probably nu doubt about it, since ho says so. 1 don't remember
the conversation, but it is likely I did mention it to my colleagues.

471. Yon mentioned it to your colleagues, but you don't remember the circum-
stances of Mr. Langton's statoments ?-Just so.

472. Did you mention it, to the best of your recollection to Mr. Langton at
any subsequent period until November, 1875 ?-No; I don't remember.

473. Did you mention to Mr. Drummond at any time at or about the resignation
or subsequently. His statement is that it was mentioned about the time of the
resignation, during the session of 1874, and during the session of 1875 ?-I don't
remember all the conversations. I often went into Mr. Drummond's Bank on my
own matters, and I may have spoken to him about it. J remember on one occasion
he stated to me something like this, so far as I remember. He said "about that
account ?" I said there is an unsettled account which I want to settle first. I think it
was a conversation of that kind. Afterwards when I came down to Ottawa and
desired to settle the matter finally, I said to Mr. Drummond

474. Perhaps, Sir John, before we proceed to thht, you will say if that is the
only detail you can remember as to prior conversations with Mr. Drummond ?-Yes;
I think so.

475. Though you don't entertain any doubt as to his correetness in giving the
paticulars ?-Well, his memory may be as defective as my own. I have no recol-
lection of any conversation but the first and the only one.

476. You cannot, therefore, say that this conversation occurred to which ho
deposes?-I cannot, but I have no reason to doubt his general accuracy of statement.

477. You do remember that you were at Ottawa, and that the subject was taken
up about the time the affair was settled, about the end of October or the beginning
of November ?-Yes.

478. Whom did you see ?-I went to Mr. Drummond and told him I wished to
have it settled, that I knew the claims against the fund were sufficiently adjusted, and
that I wanted to pay it over. He made some such remark as this to me, according
to my recollection: " Take care I don't get into trouble with the Government." I
said: " You will not; I am going to the Auditor-General." J went to Mr. Langton
and told him the fact that that sum had been lying and was still lying at the bank;
that there was $6,600 of claims justly against it. I asked him what was the mode of
paying the balance. He told me the mode.

479. Describe the- mode, please ?-We took down a memorangium of the whole
anount, as well as the $6,600, which I thought the late Government was responsible
for. I wanted to pay the balance. I told him to deposit to the creditof the Receiver-
General.

480. Did ho tell you to choque out the $6,600 ?-No; I can't say ho did. I don't
think -the thing came up in Mr. Langtons niind. He took it for granted that I was
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to choque out this money and pay the claim, and that the balance should go to the
Receiver-General.

481. It was not understood that you were to choque out the 86,600-Ther was
no understanding that I remember. I told him of the fact and ho made no objection.
I presume it was for-that ,reason ho thought I had the authority.

482. Did you think you had authority ?-Yes.
483» On the principle on which Mr. MoDougall would not have had authority ?

There was a personal engagement. I submitted it to my colleagues before I resigned.
I considered I had a rigt to pay thp claim, especially, as Mr. Campbell had made
himself responsible for $6,000.

484. You conceived that you or any other of the ex-Minsters would have autho-
rity to chaque ont ?-I acted as I thought I had that authority.

485. You thought you had authority ?-Yes' I told Mr. Campbell of it when I
went to Toronto, perhaps not immediately, but when ho said, "I don't want to get
into any trouble about it," Gnd about that I got a note from Mr. Langton, and I
mentioned it to Mr. Mackenzie.

486. Your view thon was in point of law and constitutional doctrine, that any of
the ex-ministers could choque out this money ?-I thought under the circumstances
that I had a ri eht to keep and apply the money and to draw the choque.

4 7. Mr. Nrummond says he referred you once or twice to the Government with
reference to any disposal of the fund, and in your letter to him, which is prodiced,
you say to him that you had not time to see Mr. Langton ?-I saw Mr. Langton.

488. Yes, but this was anterior. It is dated after the session. Was this in refer-
ence to Mr. Drummond's doubt as to whether ho could properly pa' over the money ?
-I really could not say.

489. The letter is in May, I think, some time ?-Yes, that brings to my recollec-
tion that we must have had some conversation about it. I was called to Toronto sud-
denly and did not see the Auditor.

490. Was this in reference to Mr. Drummond's difficulty in dealing with-the
matter withoutthe authority of the Government of the day ?-The dealing with it ?

491. Yes. Your desire was that a certain sum should be issued to you, and the
balance deposited. Mr. Drummond says that he didn't see his way to chequeing it
without having that authority of the Government, and suggested to you to get the
authority of the Governmont. I ask whether this interview spoken of, with Mr.
Langton, was in roference to that question? I fancy from this that in the conversa-
tion we had, we spoke about the mode of closing the account, and that I said I would
speak to the Auditor as to the mode, and that I didn't do so.

492. Mr. Langton also states that he suggested to you the propriety of commu-
nicating with some of the Ministers of the day ?-Ie wrote to me a note, that
was the only communication we had on the subject.

493. That note has been produced ?-Yes; I suppose so.
494. le says that it was on a prior occasion ?-I am satisfied he is in error there.
495. It never occurred to you to communicate ail to the Minister on the subject?

-No.
496. The choque drawn is dated the 4th of November. From what was stated

in the louse the other day it would appear that of this money ($6000) had been paid
by Mr. Campbell at one time. You say he was responsible for it. When was this
$6000 paid over to Mr. Campbell ?-After I saw 1Mr. Mackenzie and explained the
circumstances.

497. How long after ?-It was in April, shortly after the session.
498. The session of 1876?-Yes; after having a conversation with Mr. fMac-

kenzie and going te Toronto, I told Mr. Campbell the conversation, and thereupon
gave him the choque, the money having been lying in the Bank of Montreal té ny
credit until that time.

499. It was paid over to Mr. Campbell, shortly after the session of 1876-Yes.
500. The item of $600-when was it paid ?-Well, I believe, as a matter of fact,

it has not been paid yet. It was paid by a gentleman-the cash advanced by
41
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501. You stated that it wà the member for Compton, Mr. Pope?-Yes.
502. You have not yet paid that sum?-No.
503. Was that an old or a new claim ?-An old one.
504. low old ?-I cannot exactly say without reference to Mr. Pope.
505. It is stated in the editorial correspondence of the Gazette, under the head

of the 16th February, that it was a claim that arose in the spring or summer of 1873 ?
-I don't remember. It was paid by Mr. Pope at my request. I wrote him to make
this advance.

506. But was it a claim that arose in the spring or summer of 1873 ?-Well, I
cannot tell exactly; I cannt remember the dates; 1 know the services it was for.

507. No doubt you could procure the information whieh would enable you to
answer that question ?-I will ascertain.

508. In conformity with the spirit of the Committee I do not ask the object,
though it is stated in this paper. I merely ask the date ?-I forget.

509. But you can ascertain ?-Yes, I intimatod to Mr. Mackenzie the particular
purpose.

'510. You cannot now remember whether that occurred after the session of 1873?
-I cannot remember. I remember the service but I am a bad hand at dates. I can
easily verify that.

511. Had Mr. Campbell authority to ealwith the Secret Service ?-No; but I
requested him,

512. This particular matter was one in which his responsibility was engaged at
your instance ?-At my instance, and so with Mr. Pope.

513. You say you did not pay any attention to the accounting part of the
business ?-No; I left that to others.

514. Were you aware that by the Public Accounts the vote of 1870-71 appears
as entirely expended and wiped out within that financial year ?-I cannot say. I
paid no attention to it. I left it entirely to the financial gentlemen. I applied my
attention to the proper application and expenditure of the morey.

RAILWAY COMMITTEE RooM,
OTTAWA, Tuesday, 27th March, 1877.

Commrittee met-Mr. YoUNG in the chair.
The statement of the Special Account of $10,000 at the Toronto Branch of the

Bank of Montreal, called for at the last meeting, was handed in, as follows:-
(25.)

Right Honourable Sir JoÊN A. MACDONALD, in account with TheBank of Montreal,
Toronto, being a Special Transfer of $10,000 from Ottawa Branch.

1872. $ cts. 1872. $ cts

Nov.- 13.... To cheque....................... 2,000 00 Nov. 11.... By transfer from Ottawa... 10,000 00

do 15.... do ................... 3,000 00

do 15.... do ........................ 3,000 00
do 19.... do ................... 2,000 00

$10, o00 w $10&000 00

The four cheques mentioned above were duly sent to Ottawa after payment, on
25th November, 1872.

I hereby certify the above is a true copy of the Special Accourft, amounting to
$10,000, as specified.

(Signed) CEOiRGE W. YARKER,
TORNTO 23rd March, 1877. .lManagor.
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After which, Mr. DRUXNOND was recalled and further examined:

By Mr. Blake:
515. The account which was sent by your letter shows, November 11th, 1872,

by transfer from Ottawa, $10,000. Will you indicate whieh of the items in the
account-which you have laid before the Committee that $10,000 represents?-The
one entered as October 17th. The alteration of the date was'by a clerical error. It
was actually on the 11th of November.

516. There was no item under the heading of 17th October ?-No; It arose from
this cause; a cheque had been posted into that account which belonged to the
Attorney-General's Department, and, in transcribing, it was placed under the -same
date.

517. So that November 11th is the date which we have to fix instead of the 17th
October in No. 1 Special Account ?-Yes.

Sir JOHN MACDONALD was then further questioned

By Mr. Blake:-
518. With regard to the date of the Services ?-I cannot give the precise date ;

I asked Mr. Pope, and 'he cannot remember further than that it was in the summer
of 18,73.

519. You stated, Sir John, that you had on a former occasion an interview with
Mr. Mackenzie subsequently to the transactions which have been the subject of
nvestigation-the paying over of tilis balance and th o drawing of this choque.
When did that interview take place ?-It must have taken place immediately after
the prorogation of last session.

520. There was one before last session I think. In your letter to Mr. Langton,
written after the receipt of his letter in which he mentioned Mr. Mackenzie's views
as to its coming within the resolution of the Committee, you informed him that you
would take an early opportunity of seeing him. That was written on the 23rd of
November ?-Yes.

521. Was the first interview with Mr. Mackenzie after the session of 1876 ?-It
was the first interview ; we had some conversation about it during the session. I,
forget now how it arose, but I told him I would call upon him and explain the matter
to him. I don't know whether Mr. Mackenzie remembers the time. I was laid up
for a time at the end of the session, but at all events the conversation was some four
or five days before the close of the session. Mr. Mackenzie and I had just about three
words, and I said I would see him in a day or two. I did see him before I went after
the session.

522. Your memory doesn't serve you as to having a conversation with him before
the session ?-No; I have no remembrance of having any convçrsation with him
before the session.

523. During the session, then, you had two ,short conversations, one of which
simply amounted to your saying that you would have a conversation with him at a
later period ?-Yes.

524. Before the date at which you had the first discussion. The first interview
in which it was discussed was three or four days after the prorogation of 1876 ?-
Yes; before I went west.

525. Will you state what took place ?-I went to his office, and told bim I had
come to talk about the matter. I said there were two claims, one of $6,000 and the
other of $600. That the former was one in which Mr. Campbell bad made himself
personally responsible, and that the $600 was one which ,Ir. Pope had paid. I men-
tioned to him the purpose for which he paid that money. Mr. Mackenzie said to me,
if I remember aright: "You remember the resolution of 1871? " I said: "I[ re-
member it perfectly, but I don't think that this 86,000-J didn't mention the $600
item, I think-comes within the resolution of the Committee, as it applies to obliga-
tions or engagements which had been incurred before the rule was passed." I said
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that _Mr. Campbell had made himself Jiable, for it personally, and had not yet paid it;
that lie did not want to bave any after-claps about it, and, in fact, wanted to know
whether there would be ary objection to his receiving the money or not. Mr. Mac-
kenzie asked me if I could give the names of the parties receiving the money. I said:

No. we cannot; we are under a personal pledge not to reveal the names of the
parties." That is as nearly as I can remember the conversation.

526. Did Mr. Mackenzie intimate to you that ho assented to the payment in any
wayv ?--I thought so.

527. You say so ?-Yes; I told Mr. Campbell so when I went to Toronto.
528. What did Mr. Mackenzie say ?-I told him I wanted to understand the

matter, as Mr. Campbell wished to know if there was any objection to paying it, anl
I understood Mr. Mackenzie to say iat there was not.

529. Did Mr. Mackenzie agree that this was not subject to the resolution of tho
Committee ?-He did not say so.

530. -Did he adhere to his view that it was subject to the resolution ?-I didn't
think hc said either one thing or the other.

531. Ie called attention to it ?-Yes; I explained my views, and according to
the best of my recollection, ho neither acceded nor objected expressly to them. You
must remember that previous to this I had received Mr. Langton's letter desiring an
explanation of this $13,600.

532. And also referring to the resolution ?-Yes.
533. You were not on this occasion wanting from Mr. Mackenzie an authority to

draw the money, or a recognition of the propriety of having drawn it, for you were
satisfied that was all right ?-I had no doubt myself that I had a right, aid the object
of my making that statement was in consequence of what Mr. C0 mpbell, said to
me, as I uiderstood from him that ho would rather pay the money out of his ownî
pocket rather than have any after-claps about it.

534. Did you present to Mr. Mackenzie any question as your authority to draw
the money ?---Not that I remember.

535. No r gave him any intimation as to the process made on which the money
had been held before it was drawn ?-No; I don't remember; the money had been
Jying in the Bank, andthere wasan end of it.

53G. Did you suggest to Mr. Mackenzie that a few words from h in to the Public
Accounts Committee would set the matter at rest ?-I don't think I did.

537. You don't remember that. You don't remember his saying that iL would
Le impossible for him to adopt the suggestion ?-le certainly didn't say that.

538. Can you say when the money was paid over to Mr. Campbell ?-Well, nO.
My impression at the present is, as I stated before, that it was shortly after my returl
to Toronto, but I cannot say positively; I could ascertain that from Mr. Campbell.
i would wish to make a statement to the Committee, with respect to the practice of
drawing cheques. My memory vas very defective, but I have since spoken to MI.
Campbell, who, acted for mie as my locum tenens for six months, and he says the
practice was for the member of the Sub-Committee under whorn the particular subject
happened to be, to give the cheque, and that there was no practice of more than onc
sining that statement.

Mr. MAcKENziE thon appeared before the Committee and made the followinlg
statement:-Late in the fall of 1875, Mr. Langton came to me and said that a very
unexpected thing had turned up, or woras to that effect. le thon told me that Sir
John Macdonald had had about $25,000 of Secret Service money in his possessiofn
which he refunded. I expressed my amazement that I had never heard of this
before, and askedI Mr. Langton how it was that this should have been the case with-
out our knoving it. He shook his head and said ho really didn't know,-had no
conception of the thing until Sir John told him. He then told me that an amount

was retained still by Sir John, in his own bands, of $6,600, wherewith to pay sone
outstanding claims. I immediately said, "Sir John cannot pay any amouit for
outstanding claims. It must be paid in the regular way, because it comes under the
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resoition of the House in 1872. You had better advise Sir John act once of this
objection that I make." He told me he would. Ie afterwards showed me a reply
from Sir John to his letter, in which ho stated that ho Would see me when he came
to Ottawa. When Sir John came to the meeting of the House l went over to nim,
I think on the second or third day of the session, and mentioned the matter to him.
I told him that the whole matter must be stated to the Hlouse, and should be stated,
in my opinion at an early day and that I was quite impossible that we should sanc-
tion that mode of disbursing the money. He stated to me that ho would see me in
the course of a few days about the matter, and mentioned, in proof, what had passed
between Mr. Langton and himself, of which, of course, I was aware. In the course
of two or three weeks after thati as néarly as I can remember (for I kept no written
memoranda, therefore I am not quite certain), I think in the third week of the
session, I again spoke to Sir John about it. Re was then, I think, quite ill; ho was
not much in the House, and had not been there for a day or two before I spoke to
him. I said to him that as soon as he got a little botter we could arrange a way in
which my view of bringing the matter efore the House could be carried into effect.
The interview I then spoke of did not take place, and 1 think about four or five days
before the session closed, I again went to him and said that the session was so near
its close that it seemed to me imperative that the matter should be mentioned by me
in the House, and that having been in possession of the knowledge of the flacts for
months, it seemed to me to be quite improper that I should continue longer to be the
sole custodian of those facts. I said that for my own sake I felt it necessary to
make a statement of the facts to the House. He suggested that lie would call and
see me at my office, and that it was probably too late to say or do anything in the
House, as many of the members had gone. He did come to my office. My impres-
sion was, until he spoke to-day, that it was either the day of the prorogation, the day
before, or it might have been the day after; it was one of these three days at al
events. He explained to me that Mr. Senator Campbell was the party who had dealt,
with the claimants for this $6,000; that the claim was originally for a much larger
amount, but had ultimately been reduced to that figure. I think ho stated that'Mr.
Campbell was personally liable for the amount, or had made himself personally
liable for this amount. The $600 was for another purpose. I should say, however,
that what he stated about that had escaped my memory, until it was refreshed by
what had taken place in the Committee. I have no doubt that ho said this $600 was
for detective service in Montreal. Matters had occurred at a subsequent period,-

Mr. BLAKE remarked that so far the Committee had not made any enquiry as to
the purposes for which the money had been spent.

Mr. MAcKENZIE continued :-I think lie merely mentioned the circumstances. I am
not aware that I made any particular comment, in fact I cannot recollect precisely what
occurred. I recollect very distinctly stating to him that it was a matter that must
of necessity come before the Public Accounts Committee. I recollect quite as dis-
tinctly as I recollect the interview itself, his saying that I could very easily make
an explanation of the circumstances to the Public Accounts Committee, that would
be satisfactory. My reply was that it' would be quite impossible to make any ex-
planation. Before the conversation occurred, it must be remembered that the
impression on my mind was that this money was in the actual personal p ion of
Sir John Macdonald, not as an ex-Minister or a former member of the dômmittee of
Privy Council, and that the payment was being made by himself individually, not
in his capacity as trustee of this fund; and that in whatever capacity, I stated that
th' money could only be paid in accordance with the resolution of the House which
covered these particular services affer the date of the adoption of the report by the
House of Commons. That is substantially all that Irememberat1,he moment ofwhat
transpired between Mr. Langton and myself and between Sir John and myself. Of
course, if Mr. Langton had made me aware of what I observe from the report of the
evidence that ho ivas aware of, that this money had been there for years, I should
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have taken another course, both in my convqrsation with him and in dealihg with
the subject. He did not make me aware of that,, but expremsed his surpise and
astonishment that the Secret Service money shauld have been dlalt with in this way.

By Mr. Blake:-
539. Did you, in any way assent to the disposition of themoney by Sir John?

-No; I took particular care not to assent to any disposition of the money. I have
already statod so in the House.

540. It would have been mentioned in the House but for the circumstances to
which you allude ?-Yes, that was my impression. I knew that the mention of it
was inevitable some time'or other, and I thought it better that Parliament should be
made acquainted at once with the circuimstances that bad arisen.

By Sir John Macdonald:-
541. Didn't I say that Mr. Campbell didn't wish to have any after-claps about it,

-I think that was the exact expression-and that he wanted to know how the matter
was to be disposed of ?-I think it was quite likely you did. I don't remember the
precise expression, but that is in accordance with the spirit of your remarks. I
ahould say that I understood at this time that the money had been actually given for
the purposes.

542. I certainly didn't convey that idea ?-Probably not, but that was my
npression.

543. The idea conveyed was that Mr. Campbell made himself personally respon-
bible,-that, as he said, he didn't want to have any after-claps, and wished to have
the matter settled.

By Mr. Blake:-
544. Did you say anything about the money boing paid to or by Mr. Campbell ?

-- No; certainly not.
545. Did you, in the course of the conversation, state what your view was as to

the mode in which it should be dealt with ?-I stated that both to Mr. Langton and
in conversation with Sir John.

546. Did you say anythin'g' as to who were the proper disbursers of the fund
after the resignation of the Ministry ?-I rather think I didn't, so far as I can
recollect, as my conversation was directed entirely to another point. I supposed
that the money had all practically been disbursed. I don't think I understood any-
thing about that branch of the question.

547. fr. Langton didn't inform you that on the 4th of November it was stand-
ing to the credit of the Sub-Committee of Council ?-No; he stated that it was to Sir
John's personal credit in the Bank of Montreal.

Mr. LANGTON wàw then re-called and further examined :

By Mr. Tupper :-
548. Mr. Mackenzie says that yon told him in the fall of 1875, when you had

the first conversation with him, that somothing very unexpected had occurred; that
you had just ascertained the position in which this amount of Secret Service money
was. That statement seems to be irreconcilable with your statement that Sir John
communicated with him in relation to the whole matter before the change of Gov-
ernment ?-About the period of the resignation of the late Ministry I had a conver-
sation with Sir John, in which he stated that there was a balance of Secret Service
money remaining, and that there were unsettled claims which prevented him from
putting it in order. That was the last thing I heard of it; I thought nothing pnore
about it; I thonght he might have paid iri those claims, and when the money was
paid in, I said to Mr. Mackenzie that we had received an unexpected addition to the
revenue, not as though I was much astonished, because I had heard previously .there
was a balance, though I cdidn't :know the amount. When I got the certificate of
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deposit I took an opportunity of communicating with Mr. Mackenzie, saying that
we had received the amount, and also the ciroumstance that there was a4 unsettled
claim.

549. Yon didn't meau to cpnvey the impression to Mr. Mackenzie that this was
the llst yon had heard of it ?-I was aware that there had been a balance, though I
didnt, know the amount.

550. Did you state that to him ?--I intended to do so, and I think I recollect it.
I feel quite certain I did, and that I had no means of knowing at that time whether
it had all been -paid in or whether it hadn't. That is my recolleetion, but at so long
a distance- it is quite impossible to be perfectly certain about anything.

Mr. MACKENZI z: It is not very long. I can only say that not a word of that
was ever stated to me.

Mr. LANGTON: I certainly did not mean to leave the impression tha t wa
something I had heard foi the first time.

Mr. MAENxNziz: That was entirely the impression you did convey. Your.
words could not carry any other.

Sir JoHN MACDONALD: I stated in my evidence before, but it does not ap r te
be sufficiently clear, that just before the late Government résigned I mentioned to my
colleagues in Council the fact of a balance remaining; that there were two sums for
which the fund was indebted to my colleagues Messrs. Campbell and Pope; I could
then have obtained an Order in Council for the payment of these two sums, and for
the return of the balance of the special account to the Treasury. I didn't do so
because the claim for which Mr. Campbell was responsible had not then been
adjusted, and it was much larger than the claim as finally settled. For the purpose
of saving as much money as possible I delayed the winding up of the account. The
original claim was more than twice the amount at which they were finally
adjusted. They were most peculiar claims, and people had the most exaggerated
ideas of the value of their services to the country.

By Mr. Blake:-

551. Did I understand you to say that you thought the proper course was to
bave obtained an Order in Council ?-As things have turned ont it would have been
the better course. It would have put an end to it, and there would net have been
this discussion before the Committee on Public Accounts. One of my colleagues has
just called to my recollection that my colleagues authorized me to settile those.
claims.

552. Was this occasion that you mention a verbal authorization ?-Yes.
553. Could you say how long that was before the resignation ?-Only two or

three days. The exact date I cannot remember, but of course it was when we were
winding up our affairs.

By M r. Mackenzie:
554. It was a verbal, informal authorization ?-Quite so.

By Mr. Blake :
555. Was that the usual course ? Did you usually take authority from Council

to settle these claims ?-As regards the Secret Service money handed ove- te the
Sub-Committee, no.

556. Was it usualto take a discussion in Council ?-No.
557. Or obtain authority te settle claims ?-No; it was under the peculiar cir-

cumstances of the case, as we anticipated immediately resigning office.
558. Then it was in contemplation of the resignation that this special stop was

taken ?--Certainly.
559. Of obtaining authority from the resigning Ministry ?--Yes; from the

Ministry being about to resign. It was simply brought up by me as a matter of
caution, as we were then setting our house in order.
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OrrTwa, Wedneday, 4th Aprit, 1877.

Committee met--Mr. YoUNG in the chair.

The following Order in Council washanded in by Mr. Langton:-

(26.)

Corr of a report of a Committec of the Honourable the Eective C<uacil approved by His
Excellency the Governor General iû Council, on the 6th August, 1866.

The Committee ýof Council respectfully recommend that the stm of fifty thousand
dollars be appropriated from the vote for Secret Service, and that a warrant do issue
in favour of the Receiver-General, with directions to plaee the same on special
account with the Bank of Montreal, in the Names of the AttôrniesGeneral for Upper
md Lower Canada, the Minister of Finance and the Provincial Secretary, whose
certificate that the same or any part thereof has been disbursed fbr the Service of the
Province, shall be a sufficient discharge and voucher for the payment of the same.

Certified.
{Signed) W. A. HIMSWORTH,

Clerk, Priv.y Counci.

RMALWAY COMMITTEE ROOM,
OTTAwA, Monday, 9th April, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. YOUNG in the chair.

Sir JOHN MACDONALD was, with leave of the Comnittee, asked the following
question: -

By Mr. Kirkpatrick
560. Were the moneys disbursed out of the Secret Service fund by the Sub-Com-

mittee since 29th May, 1872, for services rendered before that date ?---With the
exception of $600 retained to meet money paid by Hon. Mr. Pope, all the moneys
disbursed since the resolution cf 29th May, 1872, were for claims against the fund for
services rendered before that date.
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MINUTES OF THE PROCEED1NGS

0? TE

COMMITTEE ONT PUBLIC ACCOUJNTS
i REBFEENCE TO

SECRET SERVICE EXPENDITURE.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,

RArWAÂY COIMNTTEE ROOM,
OTTAwA, 15th March, 1877..

Scrol of Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

Committee met.
mEMBERs PREsENT :

JAxEs YOUNG, Esq., Chairman.

Mesieurs

Archibald,
Bertram,
Blain,
Blake,
Bourassa,
Bowell,
Burpee (St. John),
Burpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charlton,
Davies,
Desjardins,
DeVeber,
Domville,
Dymond,

Fiset,
Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,
Goudge,
Hlolton,
Jones (Halifax),
Kirkpatrick,
Landerkin,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
McCraney,
McNab,
Metcalfe,
Mitchell,

Pettes,
Plumb,
Pope (Queen's, P.E.L),
Power,
Ross (Prince Edward),.
Rymal,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Snider,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Ha1dimand,
Vail,
Wood,
Workman and
Wright (Ottawa).

Mr. Langton, Auditor-General, was in attendance.
Mr. Charlton enquired whether the Secret Service items had been referred to

the Committee.
The Chairman replied they had been referred,,and read the order of referenc.

as follows:

"MoNDAY, 5th Marcb 1877.
"Ordered, That the following items of expenditure of SecretService funds, vi:

The item of $15,86.41 for the year 1868; the item of 3,103.88 for the year 1869 -
the item of 10,208.54 for the year 1870; *nd the item of *75,000 fhr the year 187,
b. referred to the said Committee."
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After which it was moved b Kr. Charlton-
That the Comnittee do call for copies of Orders in Council relatmg to the

ependiture of any portion of votes of money for Secret Service since July st, 186,
mu also of the recommendations on which such orders were based.

Statement from the Auditor of the varinas sums plaesd to any special acocount
for the Secret erice purposes since Juy st, 167, and te miame of the bank or
banks where such special accounts were kept, together with a statement from the
Auditor of all entries in any of the books of account since July lst, 1867, relating in
any manner to Secret Service moneys, and all vouchers, warrants, and other papera
connected therewith.

Statement from the Ottawa Branch of the Bank of Montreal of all accounts -of
moneys deposited on special account for Secret(Service purposes, and all payments on
such special accounts, with dates and aIl particulars concerning the saine, and aU
papers in the possession of the bank relating thereto.

The personal attendance of John Langton, Esq., Auditor.
The personal attendance of Mr. Drummond, Manager of the Bankof iMontreal in

Ottawa.-Carried.
Mr. Charlton also moved that the enquiry be proceeded with on Saturday, the

17th instant, at Il o'clock, a.m.-Carried.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,

RAILWAY CoMnTTEZ RooM,
OTT AwÂ, lth March, 1877.

Scroll of Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

Committee met.

MEBRs PR8EaNT:

JmEs YoUNG, Esq., M7airman.

Messieurs

Archibald,
Bertram,
Blain,
Blake,
Brouse,
Burpee (St. John).
Burpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charltoin,
Cimon,
Davies
Desjardins,
DeVeber,
Domville,
Dy mond,

Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,
Goudge,
Holton,
Jones (Halifax),
Kirkpatrick,
Little,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Masson,
McCraney,
McNab,
Metcalfe
Mills,
MitchellF

Mousseau,
Pettes,
Plumb,
Pope (Queen's, P.E.1.),
Power.
Robitaille,
Rouleau,,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Snider,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Haldimand),
Vail,
Wood,
Worknan, and
Wright (Pontiac).

Mr. Langton, Auditor-General, and Mr. Drummond, Manager of the Ottawa
Braneh of the Bank of Montreal, attended iniobedience to the orderof the Committee

Mr. Drummond submitted the following letter:-
2



~awÂ, 16th March, 1877.
S,-In oOefør»i#' with the regnest of the Committee on Publio Accounts,

-Souvqyed -,âo.gm imyeur letter of yesterday, I have the honour to sub 't here-
with statements of tie amounts for Secret Service purposes deposited in, and the
disbursements made, through this Branch, from August, l86, until closed on 12th
JNovember, 1875.

A statement of the account, accompanied Ly All the vouchers, wn reud.réd ou
5th March, 1873, to Sir John A. Macdonald, at his request, and again about August
of sanie year, there are consequently ne chenues in the possession of the
oonnected with the transactions, excepting for Te losing of the accounts.

I remain Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) ANIDREW DRUMMOND,
Manager.

DwAiu, P. HAaTNEY, Esq.,
Clerk of Committee, House of Commons.

(The said letters and statements are marked 1, 2 and 3 respectively.)
Mr. Langton thon submitted a statement (marked 4), showing the dates and

amounts of warrants for Secret Service.
Mr. Wood moved: That a short-hand writer be engaged to take the evidence.-

Carried.
Mr. Langton was thon called and examined by Mr. Charlton and others (hià

evidence being taken down by the short-hand writer.)
Mr. Himsworth, Clerk of the Privy Council, was present with the Orders in

<Council called for at the last meeting, which were laid on the table (marked 5, 6, 7,
8 and 9.)

Ordered,-That copies of the warrants be prodnced at the next meeting.
Mr. Drummond was thon called and examined (his evidence also being taken

by the short-hand writer.)
Mr. Drummond was requested to bring at the next meeting exact copies from.

the books of the Bank, of the headings of No. 1 and No. 2 Special Accounts. Mr.
Drummond was also requested to search for the letter authorizing the payment of
46,600.

M>r. Drummond handed in two choques (marked 10 and 11), which were filed,
No. 10 being for $6,600 and No. 11 for $25,579.04.

Mr. Blake handed in a statement (marked 12.)
After Mr. Drummond's evidence had been taken, Mr. Langton was recalled and

fturther examined.
Mr. Langton being requested to produce copies of letters written by him to Sir

John Macdonald and Mr. Drummond, went over to his office for them.
Mr. Langton having returned with copies of the letters required, read the same

to the Committee. (These letters are marked 13 and 14.) Mr. Langton also
submitted a letter received by him from Sir John Macdonald, in answer to his of
23rd November, 1875, (marked 15.) Mr. Langton was thon further examined, after
which the Chairman enquired if the evidence was to be printed, which was Ordered.

Mr. Drummond and Mr. Langton were requested to attend on Tuesday
10.30 o'clock a.m.

The Committee thon adjourned until Tuesday at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

3
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UOE OF COMMONS.

RÂLWÀT ComITTr z Boox,
OTTAwA, 20th March, 1877.

&rol of Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

Committee met.
KERBS PREmBE

JAmms YouNoEsq., Chairmn.

4Wessieurs

Blain,
Blake,
Bourassa,
Brouse,
Burpee (St. John),]
Burpee (Sunbury),j
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charlton,
Cimon,
Colby,
Davies,
Domville,
Dymond,
Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),

Gibson,
Goudge,
Harwood,
Jones (Halifax),
Kirkpatrick,
Laurier,
Little,'
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Masson,
McCraney,
McLeod,
McNab,
Metcalfe,
Mitchell,
Pettes,

Plumb,
Pope (Queen's, P.E.I.),
Power,
Robitaille,
Ross (Prince Edward),
Rouleau,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Snider,
Thompson (Cariboo).
Thompson (fHaldimand),
Tupper,
Vail,
Wood, and
Workman.

Messrs. Drummond and Langton were again in attendance.
Mr. Drummond being called on, produced the transcript of the heading of the-

Special Accounts Nos. 1 and 2, which was filed, (marked 16); also a letter to cMr.
Langton (marked 17). ie was then further examined by Mr. Blake and others, (the
evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.) During Mr. Drummond's exami-
.nation he produced an extract of a letter to himself from Sir John Macdonald, marked
18; also a letter written by himself to Mr. Langton, enclosing a transfer receipt, (ther
letter being marked 19 and the receipt 20.)

Mr. Langton, was then called, and further examined by Mr. Blake and others.
Mr. Langton produced the original warrants asked for at the last meeting,

which were not filed,. as copies had been put in at the last meeting; he also laid
before the Committee an abstract from Ledger, Services of 1868 for the late Provincer
of Canada, (marked 21,) and two Orders in Council, (marked 22 and 23).

Mr. Drummond was then re-called and asked to produce at the next meeting a
copy of the letter returning vouchers to Sir John Macdonald; he (Mr. Drummond)
was also further examined by Mr. Smith (Selkirk) and others.

Mr. Charlton moves-That Sir John A. Macdonald, a member of this Com-
:mittee, be requested to attend at its next meeting.-Carried.

' Mr. Langton was further questioned, after which the Committee adjourned untI
''hursday at 10:30 o'clock a.m.



S F OOMMNS,

RAÂLwAY Coxxrrz Room,
OTTAwÂ, 22nd March 1871l.

Scroll of Select Standing Committee on Public counts.
Committee met.

M11MBmR PREIENT

JAmEs YouNG, Eq., Chairnan.

Messieurs

l3lain,
J3lake,
JBrouse,
-Caron,
ýCartwright,
-Charlton,
Cimon,
-Colby,
Davies,
Delorme,
DeVeber,
Domville,
Dymond,
Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ont., S.),
-Goudge,
Harwood,

Holton, •

Jones (Halifax),,
Little,
Sir J. A. Macdonald,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdongall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
McCraney,
MeGregor,
McLeod,
McNab,
Metcalfe,
Mille,
Mitchell,
Mousseau,
Pettes,

Plumb,
Pope (Queen's, P. I. L),
Power,
Robitaille,
Rose (Prince Edward),
Rouleau,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Suider,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Haldimand),
Tupper,
Vail,
Wood,
Workman and
Wright (Ottawa),

Mr. Langton, Auditor General, was in attendance.
The Chairman read a letter (marked 234) from Mr. Drummond, enclosi the

letter called for by the Committee at its last meetingwhich was filed (and mark 24.)
Mr. Langton was then further questioned.
Sir John Macdonald was present, in accordance with the request of the CoU-

inittee, and his attention was drawn to certain portions of the evidence taken at the
former meetings of the Committee, to which he replied; and was requested to furnish
the Committee with the date of the payment to Mr. Campbell of $6,000.

Mr. Drummond was present in accordance with the request of the Committ%
and was requested to furnish a copy of the Special account of $10,000, kept at the
"Toronto Branch of the Bank; the said copy not to show to whom the money wa
paid.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday at 11 o'clock, A. M.



HOUSE OF COMMONS,

RÂIWAY COMMITTEZ RooM,
OTTAWA, 27th March, 1877..

Scroll of Select Standing Committee on .Public Accounts.

Committee met.
XEMBERS PRISENT:

JAxEs YoUNG, Esq., Ohairman.

Messieurs

3lain,
]Blake,
Burpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charlton,
Colby,
»avies,
~Delorme,
Domville,
Dymond,
IFiset,
Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,

Gcudge,
Harwood,
Holton,
Jones (Halifax),
Little,
Sir J. A. Macdonald,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
Masson,
McCraney,
McGregor,
McLeod,
McNab,

Metcalfe,
Mitchell,
Pettes,
Plumb,
Pope (Queen's, P.E.I.),
Power,
Robitaille,
Ross (Prince Edward),
Rouleau,
Scriver,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Tupper,
Wood, and
Workman.

Messrs. Drummond and Langton were in attendance.
The Chairman laid on the Table a letter (marked 24j) he had received from Mr.

Drummond enclosing the statement (marked 25) of the special account at the Toronto.
Branch of the Bank of Montreal, which was read.

Mr. Drummond was then called and further examined by Mr. Blake.
Sir John Macdonald, who was present, stated that he could not give the exact date

of the payment of $6,000 to Mr. Campbell, but that it was some time in the summer of
1873.

Sir John Macdonald was then further questioned by Mr. Blake.
Hon. Mr. Mackenzie then made a statement of what he knew in respect of the

mnatter under consideration-and was questioned by Sir John Macdonald and Mr.
Blake.

Mr. Langton was then called and further examined by Dr. Tupper and Mr.
Mackenzie.

Sir John Macdonald was then further questioned byMr. Blake and Mr. Mackenzie.
After which,
The Committee adjourned to the Call of the Chair.
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A. 1 I.»

Blain,
Blake,
IBourassa,
Bowell,
Boyer,
Brouse,
Burpee (St. John),
Barpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Gharlton,
Cimon,
Colby,
Davies,
Delorme,
Besjar (ins,
DeVeber,
Dymond,

Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,
Goudge,
Harwood,
Holton,
Kirkpatrick,
Landerkin,
Little,
Sir J. A. Macdonald,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
Masson,
McCraney,
McGregor,
McLeod,
McNab,

Metcalfe,
Mills,
Mitchell.
Pettes,
Plumb,
Robitaille,
Ross (Prince Edward),
Rouleau,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Ialdimand)
Thompson (Welland),
Tupper,
Naïl,
Wood, and
Workman.

Mr. Langton was in attendance in answer to the request'of the Committee.
Mr. Lanigton sabmitted the Order in Couneil of 6th August, 1866, respeotirg

Secret Service (marked 26.)
Mr. CharlIton moves that the following be the report of this Committee on Seet*

Service mai ters:--

ou

HOIJSB 0F OMMOKS

R4urÂT CoXKImTaE Booi

Omrw, 4th Aprile 18.

Seroli of Select Standing Committee on Public Accoats.

Committee met.
XEwN~EE P'SsBUW:

Jaum YoUNG, EAq, Chaùiiw"E.

Messiems
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REPORT.

THE SELECT STANDING CoMMrrTm on Publie Aecounts, to- whom was refered the
following items of expenditure of Secret Service Fund'. viz.: The item of
$15,086.41, for the year 1868; the item of $33,103.88, for the year 1869; the
item of $10,208.54, for the year 1870; and the item of $75,000, for the year 1871,
have had the same under consideration; and upon the order of reference and
matters connected therewith, including the refund of $25,579.04 to the Receiver-
General on 12th November, 1875, and the withdrawal of $6,600 from the same
fund upon the same day, the Committee beg to present as their

THIRD REPORT:

That they have examined several witnesses, a copy of whose evidence together with
the motions, proceedings and votes of the Committee in this reference, is
appended, and u n the facts established before the Committee they beg leave
to submit the folowing:-

In the session of 1867-68 Parliament appropriated for Secret and Detective Service
for the fiscal year, 1867-68, the sum of $50,000.

On the 5th June, 1868, within four weeks of the close of the fiscal year, an order
was made in Council directing $50,000 of the vote for Secret and Detective Service
for 1868 to be placed on special account with the Bank of Montreal, in the names of
the Minister of Justice, the 3Minister of Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the
Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certificate that the money or any part thereof
had been disbursed for the service of the country should be a sufcient discharge and
voucher for the payment of the same. On the 6th of June this sum was deposited
accordingly.

Between the 10th and the 29th of June there was drawn, as appears by the Bank
account produced by the Agent of the Bank, $21,991.41, leaving a balance unex-
pended at the close of the fiscal year of $28,008.59. By the Public Accounts the
sum of $15,081.41 only is entered as expended during the fiscal year. This entry
was made by the Auditor General under verbal instructions fron some Minister, but
whom he does not remember. No certificate of any Minister for the disbursement of
this or any other sum expended for this service has ever been given.

In the session of 1869 the sun of $75,000 was voted for this service for the fiscal
year 1868-69, but this vote was written off.

During the fiscal year 1868-69 the sum of $24 ,128.88 was, as appears by the Bank
account, drawn from the special account already referred to, leaving a balance at the
close of the year of $3,879.71. By the Public Accounts the sum of $33,103.88 is en-
tered as expended during this fiscal year. This entry was made by the Auditor-
General on authority similar to that of the preceding year.

The balance unexpended by the Public Accounts thus appears to havc been
81,809.71.

During the fiscal year 1869-70, the Auditor, on the 18th October, 1869, tertified:
" That a transfer entry warrant may issue charging speial deposit Secret Ser-

"vice, and crediting services of 1868 with 88,398.83, being the balance unexpended
"in the year 1866-67."



The history of thi sum i as followu :-Pior lo confderation the Lgiaialare ef
the late Province of Canada had appropriated a smm for Secret Servite, out of whink
by an Order in Council, dated Augnt 6th, 1866, #5000-was ordered to be pc4 in a
avecial acoount with the 1nk of Montreal, -in- e names of the Attornies neradIb*

and Lower-Canada, the Minister of Finance, and the Provinial Secretr
as so placed on the following day, -AugustIth. On the 80h June, 1867, ther

remained unexpended of this amount the. mum of 8,398..
Thi sum was a banker's balance within the meaning of the 107th elam. of the

'British North America Act, 1867, which provides that:-
" All stocks, cash, banker's balances, and mecurities for money beliongm to each

" Province at the time of the Union, except as in this Act mentioned, mmli be the

"property of Canada, and shall be taken in redaction of the amount of the respectiva
"debts of the Provinces at the Unli4a."

Certain moneys paid by the Dominion immediately after the Union for certaia
services of the late Province of Canada were charged against the late Province na
the Public Accounts of 1867-68, and in reduction thereof credit was given to the late
Province for this balance as Bo much cash, thus elosing this item of the accounts b-
-tween the late Province and the Dominion. The balance which- was thus te. proprty
of Canada remained untouched from 27th July, 1867, until 18th October, 1869. Wheu
under the authority of a transfer warrant issued by virtue of the Auditor's ertificat
:above quoted; and without any Order in Council, it was transferred in the Publie
Accounts to the Secret Service account, and being added to the balance $1,809.714£
the vote of $50,000 for 1867-68, makes the sum of 810,208.54, appearing in the Publie
Accounts for the year 1868-69, as an asset.

The Auditor states that this transfer was made because the fund was getting
low.

By this transaction the sum in question was, in fact, diverted from the general
funds of Canada and appropriated to Secret Service without authority from or
indemnity by Parliament.

By the Bank account the expenditur e during the fiscal year 1869-70 was 813,960.
In the Public Accounts the sum of #10,208.54 is entered as expended for this year.
This entry was made by the Auditor under similar circumstances to the preceding
entries of similar expenditures.

During the session of 1870 the snm of $75,000 was appropriated for this servim8
for the fiscal year 1870-71.

On the 1st July, 1870, an Order in Council was made directing that $30,000 b>
appropriated of the vote for 1870-71, and that a warrant should issue ia favor Of the

)Ianager of the Bank of Montreal, with directions " to place it in special account with
" the Bank of Montreal in the names of the Minister of Justice, the Meiister Of
1 Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certifi-

" cate that the same or any part thereof has been disbursed for the service of th
" country shall be a sumicient discharge and voucher for the payment of the aMe,"
and on the 6th July this sum was passed to the credit of the old special account of
-the late Province which had been opened on August 7th, 1866, and was thus added

to the balance already referred to as standing to the credit of that aceount. The
3ank account shows that from this account was drawn $32,299.20 between lst July
and 6th Becember, 1870, at which date an Order in Council in terms simidar tothe

one of July lst, authorized the deposit of $10,000 more. Between that date and

February 11th, 1871, there was drawn $749.30, and on February 11th there was
deposited to the credit of the account the sum of $15,584, which had been previously
drawn by the then Minister of Finance for the payment of certain claims in, conne-
tion with the difficulties in the Red River Settlement.

This deposit is stated to have been made out of funds provided under Ordem in
Council of 141h February and lth July, 1871.

Between the 11th February and the close of the fiscal year 1870-71, there wa

<irawn 85,030, making the total drawn during that year for Secret Servie, '(and exclu-
sive of the sum of $15,584 drawn and re-deposited as already mentioned), $22,494.50.

9



The batame appearing liyi1"Bk neeoutatthe eredit fihIa acmoont om30th
3 ;Añ874, iet163754i64,, :

On t4 26t Jurne, 18q1Sifr JtM A. Macdonakd Minister ÔP Jtcee, reported t&
Ooni.cul "Thma gipears froam -h ioeni*flSe of the Auditor that there remain
'apeipended ofthe vbte for SeretSrvice the sum of thirty-fle thousadd dollars.

A" there was no vote taken for SecretBervice let sesion, and isamuch as
« there is suncient evidenae to show:thatthe public intersta may require that th&
"iuexpuded balance should be uwed, the undersigned recommends that the same be.
"carried to the credit of the-Subsoemmittee of Oountil on Secret Service matters."

And un the fottowing day an Order in Oouncil was made, carrying ont this
recommendation. lu Iarmanee of this Order the sum of $35;000 was, on the 3rd
July, 1%L, -carried to the credit of the account.

By this course the whole of the vote of $75,000 was taken, although there
xemained uexpeinded at the close of the fiscal year 1870-71 the two sums of *15,754.04,
and $35000, making in al 850,754404. In the Public Accounts for this fiscal year
the whole sum of $76,000 is entered as actually expended. This entry was made by
the Auditor under verbal instructions. The Publie Accounts contain no indicationw
that ay alteration was being made in the system of entry or aceounting.

Sir John A. Macdonald states that he recommended the issue of $35,000 onk
June 26th, 1871, partly- because there were old claims, the payment of which might,
require a considerable sum, and partiy because the publie exigencies might require
farther expenditure.

The Bank account shows that between the 3dth June, 1871, and 29th May, 1872,
there was drawn $3,575, which includes the sum of $1,00 paid on the 27th December,
1872, to Archbishop Taché for Louis «Riel, and referred to in the report of the Select
Comnittee on the North-West Troubles.

:(nf the 29th May, 1872, the Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts-
eported to the tiousA as follows:-

" That inasmuch as such large sums as $75,000 have been voted for Secret Service
"Imoney, of which there is no audit as in the case of other expenditure, this Com-
"mittee is of opinion that an account of all sums hereafter spent for Secret Service
"hbould be kept as in England, in a book specially prepared for the purpose, and.
"that this book should annually be inspected by a confidential Committee, of whonk
"two shall be members of the Opposition of the day."

No further sum was drawn during the fiscal year 1871-72, and the balance at the
eose of that year remained at $47,179.40.

On November 11th, 1872, $10,000 was transferred to the credit of Sir John A.
Macdonald in the Bank of Montreal, Toronto, from which Bank it was drawn as
follows: November 13, $2,000; November 15, $3,000; November 15, $3,000;
-November 19, $2,000.

On the 5tb March, 1873, being the day of the opening of Parliament, Mr.
Drummond, at the request of Sir John A. Macdonald, sent hin all the cheques and
other vouchers in connection with the various Secret Service accounts to that date,.
and Sir John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these papers are or what has
become of them.

On the 27th June, 1873, the further sum of $5,000 was drawn, making a total
during the fiscal year 187243, and subsequent to the above quoted-resolution of ther
Committee on Public Accounts, of $15,000, and leaving a balance at the close of that-
year of $82,179.04.

In Augut, 1873, Mr. Drunimond, at Sir John A. Maedonald's request, sent him,
the cheques and other vouchers in connection with the payments subsequent to-
March 5th, and Sir John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these. papers are or
iht has become of them.

To summarize for convenience, the expenditures and unexpended balance of'
enhi-dead year, as appears by the Bank aceoant, exclusive of the amount of $15,584
as.deposited February 11th, 1871, and not crediting the unexpended balance o
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Bzpead iure for y.. 7r............~...
Balance at close of the year....................
Expnditure for year 186869... .. 24.1. .8

aneaclose of the year ........
Expenditure lor year 1869-70................................. 13960 00
Expenditure for the year 1870-1.........................2294 50
Balaince at close of the- year........................... 15,754 04

]iCxeInsive of $35,000 not deposted tIl1 JUI7y W*.

Expendftnre for -72ar ........................... ,7 )
Balance et close of the year.........a.......... 4,190

13,96 00

Expenditure fbr year 187123.......................... 8,179 04
Bafance at close of the year..................................32,179

On the 7th of November, 1873, the Ministry of Sir John A. Maedonalck

intimation was given by the out-going to the in-coming Ministers of the-
existence of the balance of $32,179.04, nor was any proposai then made to clear the
aoooit.

Just before the time ofhis resignation, Sir John A. Macdonald intimated to MIre

Langton, the Auditor-General, that, there was a balance whieh was subject to som-
outstanding claims; but that fact wasnot communicated by Mr. Langton to the nevr
Ministers.

More than once between the, resignation and November, 1875, Sir John A.
Macdonald intimated to Mr. Druimmond, Manager of the Bank of Montreal, his desire-
to withdraw from the special deposit a sum in respect of some alleged outstanding
claims, but Mr. Drummond stated that he considered the authority of the Govern-
ment would be requisite for such a transaction, on which Sir John intimated that he,
would communicate with Mr. Langton on the subject.

Matters so remained till November, 1875, when Sir John A. Macdonald visited
Ottawa, and saw Mr. Langton upon the business. Thereupon Mr. Langton had a

conversation with Mr. Drummond, who subsequently wrote Mr. Langton the:
following letter:-

"BANKc Or MONTREAL,
" OrnAw, 3rd November, 1875.

" My DEAR Si,-The balance of credit of the special Of Sir John A. Macdon&Uk
"in this branch is $32,179.04.

" In view of this being closed under the arrangements you may have agreed ont
" with Sir John, please send me such officiai instructions as to its disposal as may be
" requisite to authorize me to carry out the same."

On November 4th, Mr. Drumiond received the following reply:

"November 4th, 1875.

" My DyAR SIE,-I had an interview with Sir John Macdonald before I Ieft-
" Ottawa, in which he explained to me that the balance of Secret Service standing it
" his name was $32,179.04. Of this $6,600 is pledged for cerin expenses incurred
" before the resignation of the late Ministry, and he wishes the balance to be

Sdeposited.-
' Be good enough, therefore, t deposit the $25,579.04 to the credit of the

"feceiver-General, and send me a duplicate and triplicate of the deposit.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON.
11
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hnte,12th Novembeor, 87, ir ohj A Maoddald drew a choque ýen the
aSeount in question in hie own favour for *6,600, and another choque in faveur Of the
Reeeiver-General for the balance of $25,579.04. The latter was de ited to the credit
1f the Receiver-General; the former was transferred :t 8fr Joh A. Macdonalds
private account at Toronto.

On 12th November, Mr. Drummond wrote the following letter to Mr. Langton:

"BANK oi MONTRmL,
"OrAwA, 12th November, 1875.

"DmAR Sim,-The special Secret Service Fund account has been closed in the
"imanner authorized by your letter of the 4th inst., by le accounting to Sir John A.

Macdonald for $6,600, the amount pledged by him as agreed with you, and transfer
of the balance $25,579.04 to the credit of the teceiver-General as per enclosed receipt

"No. 66.

(Signed) A. DRUMMOND,
Manager."

None of the parties made any communication of these transactions to any Min-
ister till after they had been closed, when Mr. Langton informed the Prime Minister,
1r. Mackenzie, of the receipt of revenue under the head of Secret Service, and
also of. the retention b Sir John A. Macdonald of the sum of 86,600. It
was not intimated to Mr. Mackenzie that this sum had been standing to the credit of a
«Committee of Council, and his impression was that it had been in the hands of Sir John
A. Macdonald individually, and that he had disbursed it.

In this view, Mr. Mackenzie discused the subject with Mr. Langton, who, on
23rd November, wrote Sir John A. Macdonald the following letter:-

"November 23rd, 1875.

"My DEiAR Sm JoHN,-When I mentioned to Mr. Mackenzie the other day, the
-' receipt we had had from you on account of Secret Service money, he requested me
" to call your attention to a resolution of the Committee upon public accounts which
"was submitted to the louse, and which you will find at page 173 of the Journals of

'' 1872. I doubt whether there was any expenditure for Secret Service after that
date, as I learn from the Bank of Montreal that the present balance had remained

-' untouched for upwards of a year before the resignation of your Ministry, but Mr.
4 Mackenzie intimated that he would expect a statement to be made of the payments
-1made out of the $6,600 which you withhold as already pledged, in accordance with
" that resolution.

(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,
" Auditor."

To this, Sir John A. Macdonald replied as follows:-

"ToRoNTo, November 30th, 1875.

" MY DAR L&NGTON,-I have yours of the 23rd, which absence from home han
prevented me from aeknowledging'before.

" I do not think that the fund at my disposal comes within the resolution you
"refer to; but I shal wait on Mr. Mackenzie, and explain the matter to him on the
"first opportunity. I would have done so had he been in Ottawa when I was there,
" but he had gone to the Maritime Provinces.

" (Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD."
12



Sir John A. Maedonald retained the su=.of $660;, and dring the ein Of
.117 *u ifoermed by Mr. Maekenzle, ed tre several emss;ýiffat ti* 4eè4
aubject must be communicated to Pariamîet. H reqested delay, however
owing to linees, promising to see. Mr. Iskeni e in reat'on to the matter. d
not see Mr. Mackenzie to give the promised explanations until about 'tbe time of
prorogation, when a conversation was had which did not result in any ement.

Shortly afterwards Sir John A. Macdonald paid $6,000 to the Hon. ake
43ampbell; $600 he still retains for the purpose hereinafter mentioned.

Sir John A. Macdonald states that all the mones spent sineë the 29th May,
1872, save the $600 che ued out for payment to the Hon. J. H. Pope, were forolaims
contracted before 29th May, 1872.

The Committee abstaining, in view of the resolution of the 29th'Ky, 1872,from
any public enquiry into the destination of the sums expended, have not investigated
the specifie dates at which all those claims arese which were satisfied by payment
subsequent to the resolution of 1872; but it has been made to appear, with reference
to the sum of $600 retained te meet a payment made by the Hon. J. H. Pope, the
member for-Compton, that this claim arose in the summer of the year 1873, and
consequently subsequent to the date of the resolution.

The English law and practice applicable to Secret Service moneys, 80 far as
material to the present enquiry, seems to boas follows:-

(1.) When money is issued from the pay office to the Secretary of State as
Secret Service money, the Secretary of State gives a receipt under bis own hand for
the money which is issuod to him.

(2.) By 22 Geo. HlI.,c. 82, it is provided by section 24, asfollows:-" and from
venting as much as may be all abuses in the disposal of moneys issued under the head of
Secret Service money,or money for special service, be it enacted by the authorîty aft1e
said, that it shall not be lawful to issue or imprest from the Exchequeror orderto bepaid
by a Treasury Warrant, or under sign manual or otherwise, to any Secretary or Secre-
taries of the Treasury, or to any other person or persons whatsoever, from the Civil
List revenues, for the purpose of Secret Servich within this Kingdom, any sum or
sums of money which in the whole shall exceed the sum of ten thousand pounds in
any one year." And it is also provided that when the Treasury issues or direet
the payment of money from the civil ist revenues for foreign Secret Service,
the same is issued and paid to one of Ris Majesty's principal Secretaries of State, or to
the first Commissioner of the Admiralty, who shall for his discharge at thte
Exchequer, within three years from the issue, produce the receipt of Ris Majesty's
Minister, Commissioner, or Consul in foreign parts, or of any Commander in Chief or
other commander of His Majesty's Navy or land forces to whom the said moneyshaH
have been sent or given; that the same hath been received for the purpose for which
the same hath been issued; which said receipt shall be filed in the Exchequer in
order to charge the said foreign Minister or other officer with the same, and the said
receipt shall be sufficient to acquit or discharge the said Secretary or Secretaries, or
ßrst Commissioner of the Admiralty in the said account at the Exchequer.

And any foreign Minister or other officer who shall stand charged at the-
Exchequer for or by reason of any Secret Service money by him received, shall stand
discharged and acquitted thereof, if within one year after his arrival in Great Britain
he shall either return the said money ito the Exchequer or make oath befbre the-
Barons of the Exchequer, or one of them, in form following:

I, A. B., do swear that I have disbursed the money entrusted to me for foreign
Secret Service faithfully, according to the intent and purpose for which it was given;
according to the best of my judgment, for Ris Majesty's service. So helpme God.

And also, whenever it shall be necessary for the principal Secretary offtate, or
firstCommissioner of the Admiralty, te make payment of any money isued for foreign
Secret Service, or for Secret Service, in detectg, preventing, or defeatingtreasonable
conspiracies against the State in any place within the Kingdom, thon it shal bë-
sufficient to acquit and discharge the said Secretary or other Minister for bim or the -
Under Secretary of State in the offioe in which suh Secret Service 1money bath ben.



erof the 8refb *ll1mal, t ne st be« tg thIie BaroFis of the
spe mf m,,rboor. »o trsitMry om ino drafeowieg: ;.

do swesurthat the moaey paid to meerfeign and Seeret, ervice,-or fOr Seret
ervice, in detaotig, preventing, or dOfemtieg tesasonable or other dangerous own,

npiracies igainet the State, (patatia utandi as the case may be), as een bond fid
applied to the said purpose or purpos*e, and to no other; and that it hath not
appared to me oonvenint to state th»t the ame should be paid abroad.

(3.) The practice ejoined by tis Statate ie acted ou with reference to the
Parliamentary appropriation made from year to year for Secret Service.

(4.) Each out-going Secretary of State imnmediately renders ai account, and
transfers the money in his hands to the new Secretary of State, who startis with a
freah account, carrying on as the firat item on the debit side the Secret Service
money which has been transferred to him by the previous Secretary of State.

(5.) Since 1870, the amount expended during the fiscal year is entered in the
Public Accounts for the year as expended for Secret Service.

(6.) Since 1870 the balance unexpended at the end of the fiscal year is surren-
-dered to the Treasury in like manner ase other balances of public funds.

The Canadian law contains no special provision for Secret Service expenditures,
and consequently some of the special safeguards provided for by the English law are
absent.

Under the Canadian law and Orders in Council and the resolution of the Public
Accounts Çommittee of May 29th, 1872, the practice should have been as follows:-

(1.) The Miniters in whose names the fund was placed, should have certified
that the money paid therefrom had been disbursed for the service of the country.

(2.) The amount disbursed during the fiscal year should have been entered in
the Public Accounts for the year, as expended for Secret Service.

(3.) The amount unexpended at the end of the fiscal year, remaining at the
credit of the special account of the Sub-Committee of Council on Secret Service,
should have been treated as a lapsed balance, under the Act 31 Vic., cap. 5, sect. 28,
which, without making any exception whatever, provided that: "All balances of
"appropriations which remain unexpended at the end of the financial year, shall
"lapse and be written off."

(4.) Any moneys standing to the credit of any Sub-Committee of Council on
.Secret Service, should have been treated as remaining at the credit of the Sub-
Committee, notwithstanding any change in the persons of the Ministers composing
the Sub-Committee, and thus, in case any of such persons ceased to hold office, his
interest in or control over the moneys would thereon end, and his successor in office
would succeed to his rights and responsibilities in this as in other respects. The
same rule would, of course, apply in the case of the resignation of all the members
of the Sub-Committee.

(5.) If, however, it were supposed that owing to the form of the deposit or other-
wise, any member of the Sub-Committee retained after his resignation control over
the fund, or in case any portion of the fund had been before his resignation placed in
the individual control of any member of the Sub Committee for expenditure, but had
pot been actually disbursed, such individual could not after his resignation, have any
right to disburse the fund, but would be boand to hand it over to those who had
succeeded to his responsibilities.

lu this connection reference may be made to the 42nd clause of the Act respect-
ing the liability of Public Accougta, 31 Vic, cap. 5, which provides that:

" If any officer or person has reeived public money for the purpose of applying
"it to any specifli purpose, and has not so applied it within the time or in the manner
"provided by law, or if any person having beld any public office and having ceased
"to hold the same, bas uin hiadany pablic money, received by hm as such officer,
"for the purpose of being applied.to any specific purpose to which he has not so
"applied it, sueh olcer or person ebal be deemed to have received such money for
' theCrown, for the public uses of the Dominion, and may be notified by the Minister
of Finance to pay such sum back to the Receiver-General, and the same may be



»jtGT 4~*!~ A,)

Srcovered rm hlm aa a debt to Ahe C'rown inany m~annra i :whi debs Ap tJo
"Crown may be recovered, and an qal sum may, in the meaptiss4'ke 9g *ell4ag0
Sthe& purpoMe to whiek.such M aug t toe:bes. appli4("

(l). A.Acout should have ben. kept »fa Wsqpem Awt b tIde, aae, -
auy, after the resolution of the Public Aceaqt# Condite 0f May th, 1I7 .,

These provisions appear to ha&vie been 4&gag4ed. For x.a«ape:
(1) No certificate or voucher of the disbursing Ministers w.vglva.
(2) The entries made (withowt.aay mucla ertißoate) f t: lød in the

earlier fscal years aCter Confederation were, se oapsrd with e bank woannt,
,varied therefrom.

(3) The unexpended balances were not surrendered.
(4) With reference to the expenditure of the vote for 1867-68, a sum was entered

in the Public Accounts as actually expended in the fiscal year, and an
ýassumed balance was carried forward as an asset. This practice was repeated for the
two following years, and thereby Parliament was practically told that the amount
.entered as expended in each fiscal year had been actually expended in that year, and
that the balance was being carried forward for expenditure in future years.

This course was, however, without any communication of the c ange, departed
from in the case of the large vote of $75,000 for the service of the fiscal year 1870-71,
the whole of which sum was entered as actually expended in that fiscal year, although
at the close of the year $50,754.04, or more than two-thirds of the amount remained
unexpended, $35,000 of which was actually not placed to the credit of the Sub-
Committee until three days after the close of the fiscal year.

The result of this alteration of system without communication to Parliament,
was to lead Parliament to believe that the Secret Service Fund voted for 1870-71,
-was exhausted, when in fact there remained thereof unexpended, over $50,000.

(5) A considerable part of this balance, which should have been written off, was
spent in subsequent years.

(6) No entry of the existence, or of any subsequent actual expenditure of this
balance was even made in the Public Accounts, and its existence and the dealin
therewith would have remained unknown but for the events which have led to e
present enquiry.

(7) No account of the sums spent for Secret Service was kept, after the
resolution of the 29th May, 1872, which expressly stated that such an account should
be kept for the purpose of a confidential audit.

It has been suggested that this resolution does not apply to moneys spent subee-
quent to its date in discharge of prior claims, but the Committee cannot concur in
this view. The clear and conclusive language of the resolution embraces al suma
spent subsequent to its date.

(8) The sum of $8,398.83 of the public moneys of Canada was, without the
.authority of Parliament, appropriated to, and expended for Secret Service.

(9.) Two sums, amounting in the aggregate to $15,584, were drawn from the
Secret Service Special Account and applied to other unauthorized purposes, though
subsequently made good to the fund.

(10.) The out-going Ministers did not inform their successors of the balance to
the credit of the Sub-Committee of Council or deal with them in respect thereof.

(11.) Over two years after his resignation, when another person was filling the>
office of Minister of Justice, and after Sir John A. Macdonald had ceased to have any
legal or constitutional control over the fund, for the disbursement of which his
successors were responsible, he drew therefrom the sum of $6,600 before mentioned.

The Committee are of opinion as follows:-
(1.) That the course pursued, and hereinbefore specified with regard to the

Secret Service moneys, was highly irregular and a breach of the duty ofthose con-
*erned therein.

(2.) That stops should be taken for the recovery into the public chest of the sai
um of $6,600.

(3.) That no accounts having been kep4 and the cheques or papers having been
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lot or detyed, a entisfactory audit of the Secret Service expenditure bas been
enderei o

(4.) That it was the* duty of the Auditor General to have informed the new
Ministers of the fact that there was a balance at the credit of the Sub-Committee of
Conneil, and to bave obtained the authority of the Ministers before giving Mr.
Drummond the directions about the disposai of the money contained in bis letter of
Kovember 4th, 1875.

(5.) That, in case Secret Service moneys should at any time hereafter be voted
by Parliament, it would be prper to provide further statutory safeguards agamst
abuses in the application thereo.

Appe"x ýNO-I 2-)
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Committee met.
MEMBERs PRESENT:

JAMES YOUNG, Esq., Clairman.

Messieurs

Blake,
Bouramsa,
Brouse,
Burpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charlton,
Cimon,
Colby,
Davies,
Delorme,
Desjardins,
DeVeber,
Domville,
Dymond,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,
Goudge,
Harwood,

lolton,
Kirkpatrick,
Landerkin,
Langevin,
Laurier,
Little,
Sir J. A. Macdonald,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
Masson,
McCraney,
McGregor,
McLeod,
McNab,
Metcalfe,
Mille,
Mitchell,
Ouimet,

Pettes,
Plumb,
Power,
Robitaille,
Ross (Prince Edward),
Rouleau,
Rymal,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Snider,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Haldimand),
Thompson (Welland),
Tupper,
Vail,
Wood,
Workman,
Wright (Ottawa) and
Wright (Pontiac).

The Committee proceeded to the consideration of the Report proposed to be-

made to the Iouse on Secret Service expenditure.

Mr. Kirkpatrick, with leave of the Committee, put the following question to Sir

John Macdonald -
Q. Were the mone s disbursed out of the Secret Service Fund, by the Sub-

Committee, since 29th May, 1872, for services rendered before that date?

Sir John Macdonald replied as follows: With the exception of $600, retained

to meet money paid by Hon. Mr. Pope, all the moneys disbursed since the resolution

of 29th May, 1872, were for claims against the fund for services rendered before that

date.
Âfter whie1e
Sir John Macdonald suggested the following alterations in the Report, which

were made:-The word aut " struck out, and "just before " substituted in the

third paragraph of page 11; and in the fourth Raragraph of same page strike out

"at va'rious times," and insert " more than once.
Mr. Kirkpatrick suggested the following alterations, which were made: After

'$600 he stili retains," insert "for the purpoe hereinafter mentioned," in the-

îecond paragraph of page 13, and then insert te following new paragraph
2-5-

Â18t

On motion of Mt. Kirkpatriek the consideration of the said posed report was

,Xdponed until the saame had been piinted and distributed toe zmmbers of Al

tjgumittee, with a copy of the evidence annexed to it.

HOIUSE 0F COMMONS
tÂnwit CoboerrTEE BOOM,

OTTAWA, eth April, 1877.

Scroll of Select Standing Committeeon Public Accouta.
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"8ir John Màdonald states that all the monies emi iWnoo .Z9Ut Kay, 1872,
M atâe e ch und ou ayaieit 1. die Uoa. Phaa. re foea s -
"frated before 29t May, 1872.

And in the 3rd lin of the next paragraph insert " specific " before " d4tes," andM
n the hecond sub-section of the next .pgràgrrph insert after " it, is provided by

"Section 24 " as fbllows: "And from prevtng as much as may b aIl abuses in
" the disposa of moneys issued under the head of Secret Service, be it enacted by the
"authority aforesaid, that it shall not be lawfNil to issue or imprest from the
"Exchequer, or order to be paid by' a Treasury warrant, or under sign manual or
"otherwise, to aïsy becretary or secrotaries of the Treasury or to any other person or
" persons whatsoever, from the civil list revenues for the purpose of Secret Servie.
"within this Kingdom, any sum or saums of money which in the whole shall exceed

the sun of ten thousand pounds in any one year; and it às also provided."
After which further consideration of the proposed Report was postponed until

to-morrow at 10.30 o'clock.
The Committee then adjourned.

HOUSE OF COMMONS,

RArLWA COMUMTTEe Room,
OTTAWA, 10th April, 1877.

Scroll of Select Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

Committee met.
XMa8n PUBsENT:

JAxms YoUNG, Esq., Chairman.

Messieurs

Blake, Harwood, Plumb,
Bourassa, Iolton, Power,
Brouse, Joues (Hlifax), Robitaille,
Burpee (St. John), irkpatric Ross (Prince Edwad),
Burpee (Sunbury), angevin, Rouleau,
Caron,Cartwright, Litte, Rymal,CatwigtMacdonald (Toronto), Scriver,
Charlton, Macdongall (Elgin), Smith (Solkirk),
Colby, Mackenzie, Snider,
Davies,liem, Masson, Thompo CI bou)Delorme,MCraney, Thompon H'diman
DomvileLeod Thomson (Wlland),
Dymond, McNab, Tupper,
Galbraith, Meteefe, Veil)
Gibbs (Ontari;aSouth), Mitchell, Wood, and
Gibson, Mouaseau Workman.

Jouos(, Hlette ia
Tho Committee proceeded to the further consideration of the >~port proposed toi

ho made to the IlouBe on Secret Service Expediture.
Ur. Charlton ouggested that the. ords4 no portion of the civil Eist being auy

longer -applIed toSecret Serviceunder the Btatutto" be left ont of tho Repor% whi
suggestion was adopted.

ouinitteeKdeipbartted.
Mr. Pluibb moves in amondnient that theoholowing be reportad to the Hou$e-soithe Report on Secret Serviced Bxp(uditro:-

Macougll Elgn)



PItOPOSED AMENDED REPORT.

TnE SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE on Publie Accoants, to whom was referred the
following items of expenditure of Secret Service Funds, viz.: The item of
$15,086.41 for the year 1868 ; the item of $33,103.88, for the year 1869; the item
of $10,208.54, for the year 1870; and the item of 875,000, for the year 1871,
have had the same under consideration; and upon the order of -reference and
matters connected therewith, including the refund of $25,579.04 to the Receiver-
General on the 12th November, 1875, and the withdrawal of $6,600 from the
same fund upon the same day, the Committee beg to preseht as their

REPORT:

That they have examined several witnesses, a copy of whose evidenee is appended,
and upon the facts established before the Committee, they beg leave to submit
the following:-

In the session of 1867-68 Parliament appropriated for Secret and Detective
Service for the fiscal year 1867-68 the sum of $50,000.

On the 5th June, 1868, within four weeks of the close of the fiscal year, an Order
was made in Council directing $50,000 of the vote for Secret and Detective Service
for 1868 to be placed on special account with the Bank of Montreal, in the names of
the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Militia, the Minister of Finance, and the
Minister of Tnland Revenue, whose certificate that the money or any part thereof had
buù disbused fr the service of the country should be a sufficient discharge and
voucher for the payment of the same. On the 6th of June this sum was deposited
accordingly.

Between the 10th and the 29th of June there was drawn, as appears by the Bank
account produced by the Agent of the Bank, $21,991.4 1, leaving a balance unexpended
at the close of the fiscal year of $28,308.59. By the Public Accounts the sum of
$15,081.41 only is entered as expended during the fiscal year. This entry was made
by the Auditor-General under verbal instructions from some Minister, but whom ho
does not remember.

In the session of 1869 the sum of $75,000 was voted for this service for the fiscal
year 1868-69, but this vote was written off.

During the fiscal year 1868-69 the sum of $24,128.88 was, as appears by the
Bank account, drawn from the special account already referred to, leaving a balance
at the close of the year of $3,879.71. By the Public Accounts the sum of $33,103.8 8
is entered as expended during this fiscal year. This entry was made by the Auditor-
General on authority similar to that of the preceding year.

The balance unexpended by the Public Accoints thus appears to have been
$1,809.71.

During the fiseal year 1869-70, the Aulitor,.on the 18th of October, 1869, cer-
tified:-

" That a transfer entry warrant may issue, charging special deposit, Secret
Service, and crediting services of 1868 with 88,398.83, being the balance unexpoded
in the year 1866-7."

The.history of this sum is as follows:- Prior to Confederation the Legislature of
the late Province of Canada had appropriated a sum for Secret Servece, out of which,
by an Oeder in Council, dated August 6th, 1866, 450,000 was ordered. t be placed in

2-2j 1%-21
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a special account with the Bank of Montreal, in the names of the Attornies-General
for Upper and Lower Canada, the Minister of Finance, and the Provincial Secretary;
and was so placed on the following day, August 7th. On the 30th June, 1867, there
remained unexpended of this amount the sum of $8,398.83.

This sum was regulatrly credited to the late Province of Canada in the accounts
of the Dominion Treasury.

By the Bank account the expenditure during the fiscal year 1869-70 was $13,960.
in the Public Accounts the sum of $10,208.54 is entered as expended for this years
This entry was made by the Auditor under similar circumstances to the preoeding
entries of similar expenditures.

During.the session of 1870 the sum of $75,000waa appropriated for this service
for the fiscal year 1870-71.

On the first July, 1870, an Order in Council was made directing that $30,000 be
appropriated of the vote for 1870-71, and that a warrant should issue in favour of the
Manager of the Montreal Bank, with directions " to place it in special account with
the Bank of Mntreal, in the names of the Minister of Justice, the Minister of Militia,
the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Inland Revenue, whose certificate that
the sum or any part thereof bas been disbursed for the service of the country shall
be a sufficient discharge and voucher for the payment of the same;" and on the 6th
July this sum was passed to the credit of the old special account of the late Pro-
vince, which had been opened on August 7th, 1866, and was thus added to the balance
already referred to as standing to the credit of that account. The Bank acoount
shows that from this account was drawn $3:,299.20 between 1st July and 6th Decem-
ber, 1870, at which date an Order in Council, in terms similar to the one of July 1st,
authorized the deposit of $10,000 more. Between that date and February lth, 1871,
there was drawn $749.30, and on February 11th there was deposited to the credit of
the account the sum of $15,584, which had been previously drawn by the then Min-
ister of Finance for the payment of certain claims in connection with the difliculties
in the _Red River Settlement.

This deposit is stated to have been made out of funds'provided under Orders in
Council of 14th February and 10th July, 1871.

Between the 1lth of February and the close of the fiscal year 1870-71 there was
drawn $5,030, making the total drawn during that year for Secret Service (and
exclusive of the sum of $15,584 drawn and re-deposited as already mentioned)
$22,494.50.

The balance appearing by the Bank account at the credit of this account on 30th
June, 1871, is $15,754.04.

On the 26th June, 1871, Sir John A. Macdonald, Minister of Justice, reported to
Council " That it appears 'from the certificate of the Auditor that there remains
unexpended of the vote for Secret Service the sum of $35,000.'

" As tbere was no vote taken for Secret Service last session, and inasmuch as
there is sufficient evidence to show that the public interests may require that the
unexpended balance should be used, the undersigned recommends that the same be
car,ried to the credit of the Sub- Committee of Council on Secret Service matters."

And on the following day an Order in Council was made carrying out this
recommendation. In pursuance of this Order, the sum of $35,000 was, on the 3rd
July, 1871, carried to the credit of-the account

By this course the whole of the vote of $75,000 was taken, although there
remained unexpended at the close of the fiscal years 1870-71 the two sums of $15,754.04
and $35,000, making in ail $50,754.04. In the Public Accounts for this fiscal year the
whole sum of $75,000 is entered as actually expended. This entry was made by the
Auditor under verbal instructions. The Public Accounts contain no indication that
any alteration was being made in the system of entry or accounting.

Sir John A. Macdonald states that he recommended the issue of $35,000 on June
26th, 1871, partly because there were old claims, the payment of which might require
a considerable sum, and partly because the public exigencies might require further

expenditure.



The Bank account shows that between the 30th Jude, 1871, and the 29th May,
182, there was drawn 03,575, which includes the sum of $1,000 paid on the 219th
December, 1871, to Archbishop Taché for Louis Riel, and referred to in the report
of the-Select Committee on the North-West Troubles.

On the 29th May, 1872, the Select Standing (ommittee on Public - Accounts
reported to the Flouse as follows:

"That inasmuch as large sums as $75,000 have been voted for Secret Servie
money, of which there is no audit as in the case of other expenditure, this Committee
is of opinion that an account of all sums hereafter spent for Secret Service should be
kept as in England, in a book specially prepared for the purpose, and that this book
should annually be inspected by a Contidential Committee, of whom two shall be
members of the Opposition of the day."

No further sum was drawn during the fiscal year 1871-72, and the balance at the
close of that year remained at $47,179.40.

On November 11th, 1872, $10,000 was transferred to the credit of Sir John A.
Macdonald, in the Bank of Montreal, Toionto, from which Bank it was drawn as fol-
lows:-November 13, $2,030; November 15, $3,00; November 15, $3,000; Novem-
ber 19, $2,000.

On the 5th March, 1873, being the day of the opening of Parliament, Mr. Drum-
mond, at the request of Sir John A. Macdonald, sent him all the cheques and other
vouchers in connection with the various Secret Service accounts to that date, and Sir
John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these papers are or what bas become of
them.

The Committee think this of no import, as if they were in existence this ýCom-
mittee ought not to require them to be produced. But Sir John A. Macdonald pre-
sumes they were destroyed, or ought to have been, for fear of compromising parties
employed for Secret Service.

On the 27th June, 1873, the further sum of 85,000 was drawn, making a total
during the fiscal year of 1872-73, and subsequent to the above-quoted resolution of
the Committee on Public Accounts, of $15,000, and leaving a balance at the close of
that year of $32,179.04.

In August, 1873, Mr. Drummond, at Sir John A. Macdonald's request, sent him
the cheques and other vouchers in connection with the payments subsequent to
March 5th, and Sir John A. Macdonald is unable to say where these papers are or
what bas become of them. In regard to these vouchers lie makes the same remark
that he did as to the vouchers previously mentioned.

To summarise for convenience the expenditures and unexpended balances for
each fiscal year, as appears by the Bank account, exclusive of the amount of $15,584
re-deposited February 11th, 1871, and not crediting the unexpended balance of
$8,398.83, until it was transferred October 8th, 1869, they are shown to be as
follows:-

Expenditure for year 1867-68....................... ......... $21,991 41
Balance at close of the year ................................... 28,008 59
Expenditure for the year 1868-69.................. ......... 24,128 88
Balance at close of year........................................ 3,879 71
Expenditure for year 1869-70................................. 13,960 00
Expenditure for the year 1870-71................. .......... 22,495 50
Balance at close of the year........ .......................... 15,754 04

Exclusive of $35,000 not deposited till July 3rd.
Expenditure for year 1871-72............................... 3,575 00
Balance at close of year....................................... 47,179 04
Expenditure for year 1872-73................................ 15,000 00
Balance at close of the year.................................... 32,179 04

It will thereforp be seen that all the sums voted and belonging to the said fand
were paid out and expended during the term of office of the late Ministry, exceptthe



balance of $32,179.04, which forms the princinpi subject of the present enquiry, and
which remained undisturbed in deposit in the Bank of Montreal until November
12th, 18Y5. -

On that day, Sir John Macdonald, by arrangement with the Auditor, transferred
to the credit of the Receiver-General $25,579.04 of this balance, and the remaining
$6,600 was transferred under such arrangement to his account at Toronto, to meet
obligations incurred on Secret Service account by his former colleagues, the Hon.
Messrs. Campbell and Pope; -that of the Hon. Mr. Campbell being $6,000, having
been incurred prior to May, 1872; and that of $600 to the Hon. Mr. Pope, having
been paid by him in the summer of 1873.

On the 7th November, 1873, the Ministry of Sir John A. Macdonald resigned.
No intimation was given by the outgoing to the incoming Ministers of the

existence of the balance of $32,179.04, nor was any proposal then made to clear the
account.

Just before his resignation, Sir John A. Macdonald informed Mr. Langton, the
Auditor-General, that there was a balance which was subject to some outstanding
claims; but that fact does not appear to have been communicated by Mr. Langton to
the new Ministers.

At various times 'between the resignation and November, 1875, Sir John A.
Macdonald discussed this special fund with Mr. Drummond, Manager of the Bank of
Montreal, and the position of the outstanding claims upon it. Mr. Drummond stated
that he considered the authority of the Government would be requisite for dealing
with it, on which Sir John stated that he would communicate with Mr. Langton on
the subject.

In November, 1875, Sir John A Macdonald visited Ottawa, and saw Mr. Langton
upon the business. Thereupon Mr. Langton had a 'conversation with Mr. Drum-
mond, who subsequently wrote Mr. Langton the following letter:-

"BANK oir MoNTRzAL,
" OTTAWA, 3rd Nov., 1875.

"My DEAR Sm,-The balance of oredit of the special of Sir John A. Macdonald
in this branch is $32,179.04.

" In view of this being closed under the arrangements you may have agreed
on with Sir John, please send me such official instructions as to its disposal as may
be requisite to authorize me to carry out the same."

On November 4th, Mr. Drummond received the following reply:-

" November 4th, 1875.

"My DEAR Si,-I had an interview with Sir John Macdonald before I left
Ottawa, in which he explained to me that the balance of Secret Service standing in
his name was $32,179 04. Of this $6,600 is pledged for certain expenses incurred
before the resignation of the late Ministry, and he wishes the balance to be
deposited.

" Be good enough, therefore, to deposit the $25,579.04 to the credit of the
Receiver-General, and send me a duplicate and triplicate of the deposit.

"(Signed) JOHN LANGTON."

On the 12th November, 1875, Sir John A. Macdonald drew a cheque on the
account in question in his own favour for $6,600, and another cheque in favour of
the Receiver-Genoral for the balance of $25,579.04. The latter was deposited to the
credit of the Receiver-General; the former was transferred to Sir John A. Macdon-
ald's private account at Toronto. (?)



On the 12th November, Mr. Drummond wrote the following letter to Mr.
Langton:

" BANK OF MONTREAL,
" OTTAWA, 12th November, 1875.

"DEAR SR,-The special Secret Service Fund account has been closed in the
manner authorized by your letter of the 4th inst., by the accounting to Sir John A.
Macdonald for $6,600, the amount pledged by him as agreed with you, and transfer
of the balance $25,579.04 to the credit of the Receiver-Generail as per enclosed receipt
No. 66.

"(Signed) A. DRUMMOND,
" Manager."

After these transactions had been closed, Mr. Langton informed the Prime
Minister, Mr. Mackenzie, of the receipt of $25,579.04 revenue under the bead of
Secret Service, and also of the retention by Sir John A. Macdonald of the sum of
$6,600. It was not intimated to Mr. Mackenzie that this sum had been standing to
the credit of a Committee of Council, and his impression was that it had been in the
hands of Sir John A. Macdonald individually, and that lie hlad disbursed it.

In this view, Mr. Mackenzie discussed the subject with Mr. Langton, who, 011
23rd November, wrote Sir John A. Macdonald the following letter:-

" November 23rd, 1875.
My DEAR SIR JoHN,-When I mentioned to Mr. Mackenzie the other day the

receipt we had had from you on account of Secret Service money, lie requested me
to call your attention to a resolution of the Committee upon Public Accounts, which
was submitted to the House, and which you will find at page 173 of the Journals of
1872. I doubt whether there was any expenditure for Secret Service after that date,
as I learn from the Bank of Montreal that the present balance had remained
untouched for upwards of a year before the, resignation of your Minist. y, but Mr.
Mackenzie intimated that lie would expect a statement to be made of the payments
made out of the $6,600 which you withhold, as already pledged, in accordance with
that resolution.

"(Signed) JOHN LANGTON,
" Auditor."

To this Sir John A. Macdonald replied as follows:-
" TORONTo, 30th November, 1875.

"MY DEÂR LANGTON,-I have yours of the 23rd, which absence from home has
prevented me, from acknowledging before.

" I do not think that the fund at my disposal comes within the resolution you
refer to ; but I shall wait on Mr. Mackenzie and explain the matter to him on the
first Opportunity. I would have done so had lie been in Ottawa when I was there,
but ho had gone to the Maritime Provinces.

(Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALI).

Sir John A. Macdonald retained the sum of $6,600, and during the session of
1876 was informed by Mr. Mackenzie, on three separate occasions, that the whole
Subject must be communicated to Parliament. He requested delay, however, partly
Oing to illness, promising to see Mr. Mackenzie in relation to the matter. He did
rot see Mr. Mackenzie to give the promised explanations until about the time of pro-
rogation, when a conversation was had which did not result in any arrangement.

Shortly afterwards Sir John A. Macdonald paid $6,000 to the Hon. Senator
Campbell; $600 he stil] retains for Mr. Pope.

The Committee abstaining, in view of the resolution of 29th May, 1872, from
anY public enquiry into the destination of the sums expended, have not investigated
the specific dates at which all those claims arose, which were satisfied by payment
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subsequent to the resolution of 1872; but it has been made to appear, with reference
to the sum of $600 retained to meet a payment made by the lon. J. H. Pope, the
member for Compton, that this claim<arose in the summer of 1873, and consequently
subsequent to the date of the resolution.

The English law and practice applicable to Secret Service moneys, so far as
material to the present enquiry, seems to be as follows:-

(1.) When money is issued from the pay office to the Secretary of State as Secret
Service money, the Secretary of State gives a receipt under his own hand for the
money, which issued to him.

(2.) By 22 Geo. III., c. 82, it is provided that when the Treasury issues or directs
the payment of money from the Civil list revenues for foreign Secret Service, the
sum is issued and paid to one of His Majesty's principal Secretaries of State, or to
the First Commissioner of the Admiralty, wio shall, for his discharge at the
Exchequer, within three years from the issue, produce the receipts of Her Majesty's
Minister, Commissioner, or Consul in foreign parts, or of any Commander-in-Chief or
other commander of His Majesty's Navy or land forces to whom the said money
shall have been sent or given, that the same bas been received for the purpose for
which the same hath been issued; which saidreceipt shall be filed in the Exchequer in
order to charge the said Foreign Minister or other officer with the same, aud the said
receipt shall be sufficient to acquit or discharge the said Secretary or Secretaries, or
First Commissioner of the Admiralty in the said account at the Exchequer.

And any Foreign Minister or other officer who shall stand charged at the Ex-
chequer for or by reason of any Secret Service money by him received; shall stand
discharged and acquitted thereof if, within oneyear after his arrival ic Great Britain,
he shall either return the said money into the Exchequer or make oath before the
Barons of the Exchequer, or one of them, in form following:

" I, A. B., do swear that I have disbursed the money entrusted to me for foreign.
Secret Service faithfully, according to the intent and purpose for which it was given;
according to the best of my judgment, for His Majesty's service. So help me God."

And also, whenever it shall be necessary for the principal Secretary of State, or
First Commissioner of the Admiralty, to make payment of any money issued for Foreign
Secret Service, or for Secret Service, in detecting, preventing or defeati ng treasonable
conspiracies against the State in any place within the Kingdom, then it shall be suffi-
cient to acquit and discharge the said Secretary, or other Minister for him, or the
Under Secretary of State in the office in which such Secret Service money hath been
paid, or the Secretary of the Admiralty, to make out before the Barons of the
Exchequer, or one of them, or before the Cursitory Baron, in form following:

" 1, A. B., do swear that the money paid to me for foreign Secret Service,
or for Secret Service, in detecting, preventing and defeating treasonable or other
dangerous conspiracies against the State (mutatis mutandis, as the case may be), bas
been bond ide applied to the said purpose or purposes, and to no other; and that it
hath not appeared to me convenient to state that the same should be paid abroad."

(3.) The practice enjoined by this Statute is acted on with reference to the
parliamentaiy appropriation made from year to year for Secret Service, no portion
of the civil list being any longer applied to Secret Service under the Statute.

(4.) Each out-going Secretary of State immediately renders an account, and
transfers the money in hie hande to the new Secretary of State, who stafts with a
fresh account, carrying on as the first item on the debit side the Secret Service money
which has been transferred to him by the previous Secretary of State.

(~.) Since 1870, the amount expended during the fiscal year is entered in the
Public Aceounts for the year as expended for Secret Service.

(6.) Since 1870 the balance unexpended at the end of the fiscal year is surrendered
to the Treasury in like manner as other balances of public funds.

The Canadian law contains no special provision for Secret Service expenditures,and
consequently some of the special safeguardsprovided for by the English law are absent.

But it may be stated that, under the English practice, as it actually obtains at
the present day, no audit is permitted of the purposes to which the Secret Service
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money hasbeen app1ied, nor are the names yver dieclosed of th. ocipen suoh
audit having been decided to be ,inexpedint; ad it is alan the rle thatthe
money voted for Secret Service each year is treated as atuallyý expen&d Wh"i 1id
to the Secretary of State, who holds in England;thesaiem position with respostte*Mh
fund as the Sub-Committee appears to have held in Canada.

Under the Canadian law and Orders in CouncÎi and the: resolution of the Public
Accounts Committee of May 29th, 1872, the practice should have beer e. fal-
lows:

(1.) The Ministers in whose names the fund was placed should have: ortified
that the money paid therefrom had been diebursed for the service of the oountry

(2.) Any moneys standing to the credit of any Sub-Coummittee of Council, on
Secret Service should have been treated as remaining at the credit of the Sub-Com-
mittee, notwithstanding any change in the persons of the Ministers composingthe
Sub-Committee, and thus, in case any of such persons ceased to hold office, his intsrest
in or control over the moneys would thereon end, and his suecessor in offletwould
succeed to his rights and responsibilities in this as in other respects. The same rule
would, of course, apply in the case of the resignation of al the members of the Sub-
CJommittee.

(3.) If, however, it were supposed that, owing to the form of deposit or other-
wise, any member of the Sub-Committee retained, after his resignation, control over
the fund, or in case any of the fund had been, before his resignation, placed in the
individual control of any member of the Sub-Committee for expenditure, but had not
been actually disbursed, such individual ,could not, after his resignation, have auny
right to disburse the fund without the consent of the Government, but would be
bound to hand it over to those who had succeeded to his responsibilities.

(4.) An account should have been kept of all sums spent after the resolation of
the Public Accounts Committee of May 29th, 1872.

These provisions appear to have been disregarded. For example:
(1.) No certificate or voucher of the disbursing Ministers was given.
(2.) The entries made (without any such certificate) of amounts expended in

the earlier fiscal years after Confederation, were, as compared with the bank account,
varied therefrom.

(3.) The unexpended balances were not surrendered.
(4.) With reference to the expenditure of the vote for 1867-68, a sum was entered

in the Public Accounts as actually expended in the fiscal year, and an assumed
balance was carried forward as an asset. This practice was repeated for the two
following years, and thereby Parliament was practically told that the amount
entered as expended in each fiscal year had been actually expended in that year,
and that the balance was being carried forward for expenditure in future years.

This course was, however, without any communication of the change departed
from in the case of the large vote of $75,000 for the service of the fiscal year 1870-71,
the whole of which sum was entered as actually expended in that fiscal year, although
at the close of the year $50,764.04, or more than two-thirds of the amount, remained
unexpended, $35,000 of which was actually not placed to the credit of the Sub-Com-
mittee until tbree days after the close of the fiscal year.

(5.) No account of the sums spent for the Secret Service was kept after the
resolution of the 29th May, 1872, which expressly stated that such an account should
be kept for the purpose of a confidential audit.

. It has been suggested that this resolution does not apply to moneys spent subse-
quent to its date in discharge of prior claims, and it is the contention of Sir John
Macdonald that all the moneys had been, in effect, spent prior to that date, except
the sum of $600 by Mr. Pope.

(6.) Two sums, amounting in the aggregate to $15,584, were drawn from the
Secret Service Special Aecount, having n expended for purposes connected with
the Red River troubles, were returned to the fund.

(7.) The outgoing Ministers did not inform their successors of the balance to the
credit of the Sub-Committee of Council, or deal with them in respect thereof.
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(8.) Over two years after his resignation, when another person was filling the
office of Minister of Justice, and after Sir John A. Macdonald had ceased to have any
legal or constitutional control over the fund, for the disbursement of which his suc-
cessors were responsible, ho drew therefrom the sum of $6,600 before mentioned.

The Committee are of opinion as follows:-
(1.) That the course pursued, and hereinbefore specified, with regard to the

Secret Service moneys was irregular, but worked no practical injury to the public
interests.

(2.) That no accounts having been kept, and the cheques or papers having been
lost or destroyed, an audit of the Secret Service expenditures has been rendered
impossible, and would have been improper if it had been possible.

(3.) That it was the duty of the Auditor-General to have informed the new
Ministers of the fact that there was a balance at the credit of the Sub-Committee of
Council, and to have obtained the authority of the Ministers before giving Mr. Drumii-
mond the directions about the disposal of the money contained in his letter of November
4th, 1875.

(4.) That in case Secret Service moneys should at any time hereafter be voted by
Parliament, it would be proper to provide further statutory safeguards against abuses
in the application thereof.

'TVhe Committee are of opinion that it would be highly improper, and greatly to
the detriment of the public interest, to require that a statement of the manner in
which the Secret Service .money has been expended should be laid before the Com-
mittee, and having limited the inquiry in that direction in the case now before them
to the manner of the disposal of the unexpended balance which remained at the
time of the resignation of the late Ministry, they do not think it advisable to allude
to the disbursement prior to that time, further than to say,-

That it appears by the evidence and statements of Sir John Macdonald that all
the engagements for expending the Secret Service money, except for the $600 paid
by Mr. Pope, were made prior to the passage of the recommendation of the Committee
on Public Accounts in 1872. These expenditures were made by a Committee of the
Privy Council, of which Sir Alex. Galt, Sir John Rose, Sir Francis Hincks, Sir John
Macdonald, the Hon. W. P. Howland, the Hon. Mr. Tilley and the Hon. Wm.
McDougall were members, and your Committee do not think that anything has
appeared in the course of this investigation to justify suspicion that the fund has not
been properly expended.

It appears that there have been some irregularities in the method of opening and
keepi ng the accounts, but your Committee are of opinion that they are cleric al merely,
and do not affect any principle connected with the disbursements of money under the
Service.

The frank admission of Sir John Macdonald strengthens the opinion of the Con-
mittee that the retention of the unexpended balance was irregular, and that it should
have been handed over to the incorning Ministry, but the Committee are of opinion
that Sir John Macdonald, in permitting the balance of $32,179.04 to romain in the
Bank of Montreal in Ottawa, which appears to have been untouched until it was
finally disposed of in November, 1875, was actuated by a desire to reduce the amount
claimed against it. and that ho acted throughout in good faith and with a single eye
to the public interest. The Committee also reports that it appears in evidence that
ail the sums expended from the Secret Service moneys, except the sum of $600 before
mentioned, were contracted and virtually expended prior to May 29th, 1872,.and
that they therefore did not come within the rule adopted by the Publie Accounts
Committee at that date, and that there is nothing in tho evidence before us to justify
the Government in attempting to recover by law the sum of $6,600, alleged to have
been retained by Sir John Macdonald out of the unexpended balance, but shown to
,have been fairly expended for the objects for which it was granted by Parliament.
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Mr. Blake suggested that the poapoed nnded report bepated nd MdaMt'imte&
», the Xamhers of the Comuuttee b eeoc iation whic eggeso waôpte

MOUSE OF~ VOMMOlMS,

RAMWAT CoxxrrE Boom,,
OmTw, 12th Ajç 1, 1

serol of &lect Standing Committee on Piublie Aournts.

Committee met.

lmiEs PEE8ENT

JAms YoUNG, Esq., Chairman.

Messieurs

Archibald,
Blake,
Bourassa,
Boyer,
Burpee (Sunbury),
Caron,
Cartwright,
Charlton,
Colby,
Delorme,
DeVeber,
Domville,
Dymond,
Fiset,
Fréchette,
Galbraith,
Gibbs (Ontario South),
Gibson,
Goudge,

Harwood,
lolton, -
Jones (Halifax),
Kirkpatrick,
Landerkin,
Langevin,
Little,
Macdonald (Toronto),
Macdougall (Elgin),
Mackenzie,
McCraney,
McLeod,
McNab,
Metcalfe,
Milis,
Mitchell,
Mousseau,
Ouimet,

Pettes,
Plumb,
Power,
Robitaille
Ross (Prince Edward),.
Rouleau,
Rymal,
Scriver,
Smith (Selkirk),
Snider,
Thompson (Cariboo),
Thompson (Haldimand),
Thomson (Welland),
Tupper,
Vail,
Wood>
Workman and
Wright (Ottawa).

The Committee proceeded to the consideration of Mr. Plumb's amendment in:
amendment to Mr. Charlton's proposed Report.

Mr. Plumb suggested as an amendment to Suib-Section 6 on page 27, that the.words "apparently not expended " be struck out, and the words "expended forpurposes connected with the Red River troubles " inserted in lieu thereof, whichsuggestion was adopted.
Committee deliberated.
The Committee divided on Mr. Plumb's amendment, and the names being calledfor, were taken down as follow
Yeas: Messrs. Caron, Colby, Gibbs (Ontario), Harwood, Kirkpatrick, Ian evinLittle, Plumb, Robitaille, Rouleau, Tupper, Thompson (Cariboo), and right(Ottawa.)- 13.

Nays: Messrs. Archibald, Blake, Bourassa, Burpee (Sunbury), CartwrightCharlton, Delorme, DeVeber, Dymond, Fiset, Fréchette, Galbraith, Gibson, Goudge,Jones (Halifax), Landerkin, Macdougall (Elgin), Mackenzie, McCraney, McLeod, Me-,Nab, Metcalfe, Mille, Pettes, Power, Ross (Prince Edward), Rymal, Scriver, Smith(Selkirk), Snider; Thompson (Haldimand), Thomson (Welland), Vail, Wood and.Workman.-35.
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The Chairman declared the amendment lest.
The motion for the adoption of Mr. Chaton's proposed report on Secret Service

funds was then put and carried on the iblIowiîg division
Yeaa: Messrs. Archibald, Blake, Bouraessa, Barpee (Sunbury), Cartwright,

Charlton, Delorme, DeVeber, D ond, Fiset, Fréchette, Galbraith, Gibson, Goudge,
Jones (Ralifax), Landerkin, Maodougall (Hgin), Mackenzie, MeCraney, MeLeod,
McNab, Metcalfe, Mills, Pettes, Power, Foss (Prince Edward), Rymal, Scriver, Smith
Selkirk), Saider, Thompson (Haldimand), Thomson (Welland), Vail, Wood and
Workman.-35.

Rays: Mesrs. Caron, Oolby, Gibbs (Ontario South), Harwood, Kirkpatrick,
éangevin, Little, Plumb, Robitaille, Rouleau,, Thompson (Cariboo), Tapper and

t (Ottawa.)-13.
iii,. Charlton moved that the motions, proceedings and votes of the Committe

on this reference be reported to the House.-Carried.
The Committee then adjourned to the call of the Chair.

(Attest),

EDWARD P. IRARTNEY,
Clerk of Committee.



44~ Viotozia Âppeadi (No. t)

FOTUTH BEPOBT

or TmE

SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS;

RELATING TO WORK PERFORMED ON

GEORGIAN BAY BRANCH.

vrited bg *rder of paruiament.

OTTAWA:

PRINT19D BY MAOLEAN, ROGER & CO., WELLINGTON STEIME

1877.

Appeudi (No. .)4m Aitn.





The Select Standing Committee on Public Accoants beg leave to present as their

FOURH REPORT

The evidence taken in reference to the expenditure for work perftrned undor
contract ou the "Georgian Bay Branch," as shewn on page 24; part I,f the Publie
Accounts under the head of "Railways "; toge"er with severaW if the documents
aubmitted to them and appended thereto (marked 7, il, 12, 13, 14, 16 and 16), which
they respectfully submit for the information of your honourable House.

JAMES YOUNG,

COMNITTEZ BOOM,
Monday, 23rd April, 1877.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

RAILWAY COMMTrTEE RooM.
OTTAWA, Wednesday 4th April, 1877.

,Committee met.-ME. YOUNG in the Chair.

SANDFORD FLEMING, Esq., being in attendance, submitted the following letters-
which were read:-

(1.)

CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAT,
Oricz or THE ENGINRa-IN-CHIEr,

OTTAWA, 28th September, 1875.

S1n,-In accordance with instructions, I have ascertained the weight and
approximate value of the rails delivered up to this time, near Renfrew, on the
Canada Central Railway by the Honorable A. B. Foster, and said to be delivered on
account of the Canada Central Railway, subsidized by the Government.

The invoice of these rails gives the weight 648J tons. This, I have no doubt, is-
correct, as the number and length of the rails has been checked on the ground.

648j tons, valued at $48 per ton, amounts to............. $31,128 00

75 per cent. of which is........................................ 23,346 00

I am, &c., &c.,
(Signed) SANDFORD FLEMING,

Engineer-in-Ohief.
Hon. A. MACKENZIE,

Minister of Public Works,
&c., &c., &c.



(2.)

OTTAwA, 27th October, 1875.

Sia,-Enelosed will be found a reture off Rails delivered by the lIon. A. B.
Poster near Renfrew Stationîreenteo ser#sstral Railway, and said by that

entleman to be an account of that portion of the railway subsidized by the
ivoermunant.

TherotLwpjght eco ug to Uie at4rn rat'rped gås
tons.....................................1,065

Deduet weight of raiLsrferred to in my letter of-Sept.
t ....... 48 5

To balance tons................... 1,258

Valued at the same rate $49 per ton...................... $60,384 00

75 per cent. of which is........................................ $45289 00

- am,Ac.,&c.,

(S.igned) SANDFORD FLEMING,
Engineer in Charge.

Ilon. A. MACKENZIE,

Minister of Publie Works,

OTTAWA, 27th Oct., 1875.

Memorandum of iron rails delivered at the Renfrew Station of the Canada
Central Railway by thel Hon. A. B. Poster, and said to be delivered on account of the
portion of the Canada Central Railway subsidized by the Government.

Iron railsg;60 lbs per yard, previously returned, tons...... 648-5
Iron- rails of 56 lbs per yard,

5;826 rails; 24 feet long,
530 rails, 21 feet long........................................ l, 58

Total tons.............................. 1,906.5
D>educt previousretrn...,................... G48.5

Tops.................... ...... .. 258

(Signed) THOMAS RIDOUT,
Engineer in Charge.

SANDFORD FLEING, Esq.,
- Engineer in Charge.



only certificates.
2. Were these given Ï4' connection withwork done upon thqesmiit poertion

of the, Canada Central
3. You reedld' 1%e' 1ishiMe whom - My' ê tmodWtei the
rin' Council in par't; dri vedal f1t ii~tIOne %omn N4* 'er Nbuio

Works, to whom mr. 'Foster made application for payment for the rallIMetyeig!

By M3r. .Mackentzie.:
4. You probably mean- the Deputy Minister ?-The Deparfoent f TPablio

Works.
Mr. M.crmma-I would say that the, ruilein the epar t is thatwhen

contracts are entered into, probably the potical hed of the fepartmn*t never sesê
any account at alh The chiefengineerof each ment makes out the estimates
according to the authority he has, and it is onily w en some questionarises as to-the
Iegalit of any payment that the matter comes before me. For insanoe, I do not
think have seen a single estimate of the Welland Canal for a year. They never
tome before me. In passing through the Department, of coume, they are certified,
by the chief engineer of the Department, and the sum applied in accordance with
the contract.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
.4 Then, Mr. Fleming, you are rponsible fbr the payment of this money to Mr.

Foster ?-I am responsible for my certificate.
6. Dô you know that that is in abcordane• with the Order in Connoil'?-I

think so.
1. Wa it in accordance with the Order in Council of 4th November, 1874, which

says that payment of the subsidy may be made on rails delivered at any point of
the line to be constructed, to the extent of seventY-five per cent. of the value
thereof; what part of the lne was about to be constructed ?-From Renfrew west.

8. The Order in Council says the road was to be built upon a line from the
vieinity of the village- of Douglas ?-Well, I considerthat thoralis were substantially
delivered at or near the place where the road was to be constructed.

9. Are they delivered at any point of the line to be constructed, as direeted by
this Order in Council ?-They are practically on the line.

10. Do you know how far they are fron thevillageof Douglas ?-I dont know;
I never was there.

11. Did you take any steps to find out ?-Yes; I sont up two persons to aseertain
as to the delivery of the rails and the quantity.

11. And as to the place where they were delivered ?-I took it for granted bey
were delivered at the proper points.

1I On whose wôrd did yeo take that ?.,Ont the wordi of Fàdout, our engineer,
whom I sent up.

14. Did they certify to you that they*were delivered on the line tobe constreeted ?
-I am not sure that this was entered on theoertifeate. The certificate ayu "nmemo
i1andut of rails said to be delivered on the line of nada Central Railway."

le. Said, by whom ?-By Mr. Fostel-.
16. thé contrietor?-Yes.
11. Yon took hia statement that these rails were delivcred ?-Yes; he ehimed

thut they Were deliverod ou thé extension of the Canada Oentrat and hé eame&1at
they shoufd be paid fôt unoder the Order in Council.

1; Yon dôn't kn* fro*' far Renfrsw às fromi Douglas?-I think aboat te

19. Did you kiow that at that time ?-I think I did; Ihave doUbt 1did
20. How did you ascertain the value of the rails ?-I probably to* the vane et
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rails delivered at Montreal at tha tiMe, aid theA made allowanes to cover oot of
taking them to where they were deposited.

21. What did you allow for the value of the rails at Matreal t--'an' tell you
ow. I hav no doubt I asertained thei:lgiere ai th o of deliveringhem

at Renfrew.
22. The value at that date ?.-I tink so.
2. That is to say in September, 18756?-dIn otobe, 1875.
24. You think the value of rails deliveedsi Be anbew was how much ?r-I took

the means of as ertaining au approxnation to th value of rails delivered at Ren-
frew at .that time.

25. How did you take means ?-I can't recollect the way in which I ascertained
the value just now.

26. Was'it Mr. Foster's own statement to y'u?-No, it was not I may have
been governed to some extent by his own statement, but I did not take that alone.

27. Did yeu inqure frort any person in the business, or in the trade, as te the
value of iron rails ?-Ic&nnot tel you now.

28.-Did you take advice from any person at Ottawa as to the price ?-I don't
know, I am sure; I cannot tell you at this moment.

By Dr. Tupper:--
29. I understand you to say that instructions to ascertain as to the quantity and

character of these rails were given by yo ?-The instructions were given by me.
30. I understood you to say that it was in consequence of verbal instructions given

by the Minister of Public Works that this examination was made ?-The instructions
were conveyed to me by some one else.

31. Who conveyed the instructions ?-Ithink it was Mr. Trudeau, the Deputy
Minister.

32. Then your attention was called by the Public Works Departnent to make a
survey, and report as to the rails that were delivered under this Order in Council?-
Yes; my instructions were to ascertain as to the delivery of the rails, their quantity
and value.

33. Yon have heard the Minister of Public Works say that he considers yoix
responsible for the payments made; you say that you are responsible for the
payments ?-I am responsible for the letter I wrote.

34. I want to know if your attention was drawn to the Order in Council under
which these payments were made ?-Yes.

35. It was drawn ?-Yes.
36. Are you aware that the Order in Council provides that in order to be entitled

to any payments, the Company shall furnish evidence to the Government that they
have provided sufficient means to secure the completion of the line on or before the
first day of January, 1877, and also that the Company shall, from the date of such
contracts, make continuously such progress as will justify the hope of the completion
of the line within the time mentioned ; are you aware that this was the provision
of the Order in Council ?-No doubt I was aware.

37. las the line for the construction of this road from Douglas to Burnt Lake
been located ?-It has not been finally located.

38. las there been any railway work constructed in the shape of building the
railway at al ?-I don't know that there h'as been any.

39. So that on the 1st October, 1875, when you were called to certify with
rel'tion to these rails, you were aware that underthe Order in Council which required
that the line should b. completed on the first day of January, 1877, and also that
the company should, from the date of the contracts, make oontinuously such progresa
as woui justify the hope of the completion of the lin. within the time mentioned,-
I want to ask yon if you supposed it possible on the It October, 1875, that this
requirement of the. Order in Council could be complied with ?-I don't think, I was
cal ed upon to dictate to the contractor what work he should do first.

40. But yon say you were responsible. The Minister of Public Works has said
you were responsible; and I want to know whether, with this Order in Council in
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your hand, you did not consider it your daty to ascertain that the works were going
-on, on aocomt of wih tiwe paym.nts ve to be made-whether, in fisot, there was
.,s reonable 4 f e of the DompIetion of te line withia the time,

m---,-The best arer ý-een giva to t is the delivery Oh erails. ThT
ashows that the contraetor wa in earnest.

41. I am not aaking you whether the coatcactor as in arnest. No doubth1I
-wa in earnest in desiring to get a large sumof moneyintohis pocket. But what 1
-want to know is whether the Chief Engineer felt that such.progrea was being iuade
emnder the contract aw to justify the payment of one dollar under the, cotraot ?--
1 think he was.

42. You tell me that a year after the consact was made, not one blow had bema
:struck by the contractor ?-A good deal had been done. The contractor had spent a
good deal of money in making surveys.

43. He had spent money in making surveys, but no work was done. 1 aum
,speaking of the actual work of building the railway. You have stated that thelin e
-was not finally located. No practical work of construction could be performed until
the location of the line ?-I look upon the making of surveys as work as well as the
-delivery of rails.

44. Don't you draw any distinction between the preliminary surveys for the.
location of the line and the actual work of construction ?-They are different classes
of work. We don't begin grading till the surveys are completed.

45. Of course the preliminary surveys are necessary; they are as necessary as
the rails to the building of a railway. But I want to ask you whether, in October,
1875, you believed or bad any hope that the line of railway from Douglas to Burnt
Lake would be completed by the lst January, 1877 ?--I had every hope that the work
-would be undertaken and completed with reasonable detspatch. I do not ay that I
had any expectation that the work would be completed within' the time mentioned
in the contract. It is not usual for work of that kind to be completed within the
time mentioned.

46. Would you state, from your experience as an engineer, the time that yoq
-would consider a reasonable time to have the read in operation, from the time that
the first blow was struck and the first sod turned ?-I could not tell yon off-hand. It
,would require some time.

47. Could you tell me within six months what you consider a reasonable time ?
-Yes, I could tell you in a week.

48. T mean, could you tell me what -would be a reasonable time, within six
rnonths, for the completion of the railway ?-I am not prepared at this moment te
*give an opinion on that question, but I could give you an opinion in a few days.

49. Would you be good enough to prepare au opinion in answer to my question
as to the time that would be necessary for Mr. Foster to finish the lin. and have it i

-operation, from the time that h. commenced the practical construction; would yoiu
be good enough to inform me,-you say that a large sum of money had been speut by
Mr. Foster on Surveys, -would you state what force Mr. oster ever had employed, or
what a&mount of money he has ever paid for surveys between Douglas village and Burnt
Lake ?-I have not acces to Mr. loster's books, and I cannot answer that question.
- know that h. had surveying parties put there for some time

50. Between Douglas and Burnt Lake ?-Between Douglas and Burnt Lake.
51. To whom was the money paid, are you aware ?-I could not tell you. I

imagine it was to Mr. Foster, but I don't know.
52. Are you aware that, by the 5th section of this Order in Council, the payment,

of the subsidy was only to be made on completion of the railway in sections of not
-less than twenty miles, each payment to be made on the certificate of an eugineer
that a section or sections had been completod, "payment may, however, he made of
-an amount equal to the subsidy on twenty miles, on work extended over a large
distance, which, in value, will be equivalent to not les than twenty-dlve miles cf
finished roadway; payment will also be mide on rails delivered at any point of the
line to be constructed, to the extent of seventy-five per cent. of the value tereof sac
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ifas to become the ofrdi -t veraineit EFOVetildøf dd buM 4h0few dfef
use.a Would yotot t psyment fer tr deapi dow rtmamnimes hemL
the proposed fine, without r e oany week tusUy in gWs ?-'Yeç4 dii
it would. It is impossible to deliver the rails at aÉy i* portion of the li-e; thew
epet of chrr'ng themi waggons wndbe-e oe. Td-ath
eàd of the narest rail or vater communication. I take it that R. w was the
misarest base of Tailw ommunieation.

By Mr. Mackenzié:--'
53. You remember, Mr.-Fleming, that we counted the length of the Georgianý

Bay Branch at from 85 to 90 milea?-fs.
54. And that the Order in Couneil covered 120 miles, or thereabout, from that

point,?-Yes.
55. Very well; do you recollect that we eatimnated that the 120 miles would comer

aomewhere between Douglàs and Renfrew ?-Yes; I think I do.
56. And the connection was to be made at Renfrew; that was perfectly under-

stood ?-Yes.
By Dr. Tupper

57. That is in ite vicinity of J)ouglas ?-Renfrew is in the vicinity of Douglas.
58. There may be a différence of opinion as to what vicinity means; are you awarer

that the distances so far estimated and submitted to Parliament, that those laid upon
the table as far as veritied have exceeded and not lessened; that is to say, that the-
Geor an Bay Branch is considerably longer than at first calculated ?-I am not pre-
par to say.

59. In making an estimate of this kind it is in general the case that the lino-
when it comes to be surveyed and located is shorter than the estimated distance ?-
Sometimes it is; sometimes it is not.

60. So that the 120 miles from Burnt Lake may terminate considerably to the-
west of that settlement ?-Possibly.

• 61. So that your rails may be further from the point of commencement of the
120 miles than you suppose ?-Or they may be nearer.

62. You doi't take into consideration that it was your duty at all to take into-
consideration the question whether the contractor shall be making such progress as
shal lead to the fulfilment of the contract ?-I certified for no works except the
delivery of rails.

63. That is not an answer to the question; I ask you whether you considered it
the duty of the Chief Engineer, when certliying foi' large sums of money, to draw the,
attention of the Department of Public Works to the fact that no work was going on?
-I was aware that the contractor was making extensive surveys and had delivered
rails; I knew that he meant business.

64. You say that you were aware that the contractor was making vigorous
efforts for the survey of the line; will you be good enough to state whether you
thoght it possible to complete the contract from 4th November, 1874, to lst January,
1877, when, afler the most vigorous efforts that the contractor could make he had not
the line located or a blow struck a year and a fialf afterwards ?-The time was cer-
tainly very short, and inadequate to allow the work to be done in the time; but
of course'he was better aware of his own resources than I was.

65. Were you consulted as Chief Engineer, after the Order in Couneil was
passed, as to whether it was practicable to accomplish the work in the time nen-
tioned in the contract ?-I do not remember.

66. And you did not consider it any part of your duty to re rto the Govern-
axent that no work was being done; I have one more q14estion- e consider that
t was t judicious application of the money of the contdactor to Ény!hase these rails
before be lid succeeded in gètting a line located-I don't think I had anything to
do with th it; it w' not for me to dictate anything about it.

y Mr. Kirkpatriek:
67. Did yon state whether the instrjnctions that were given to you were in,

writing ?-- I think they were not; I am almost certain they were not.
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68 What were ,the itogi
Order ln Coundil ré w ir moti yur "int àe t gi a tas "th qinii
rails delivered by Mr. Foster at RenfretW - r.ThjW '
to his offiee, and said that Mr: Ftei haddelivered a, tdi of tafls aht Iied to.
M1e paid for them' Mr. Trwdeau wished me" to aIe ' Whether the rals w
delivered and to,report to the Deparým.ent.

69. lour instructions were simpY te air , ùe w tbék- thë ralws had been
delivered at Renfrew ?

Mrô , o give a certi e r dr

By M. Kirkpatick
l0. Can you fix in your memory thàt he toMdyen th ee tmUè ande
Order in Cçpundil ?-I do not remeber .the emtm wbt bis inétric-

tions were te report to th e Departr,áent as to thé dèivry oftM rf.
71. Wheu you sent Ilr. Rtidouit up there, was itb or the first: letter or after-

'wards ?-Ridout, who was placed in chaíe Of the subsidi:ed pkrtion of t1ï Geor a
Bay Branch, was npt available when the frrst applictir iwa nnade, and I sent-ur..
Burpee to se. whether the -rails were delivered or net,é é xaiÈftf the invoe, and
elseek the number and the length of the rails, and to ascertain if the weight given ii
the invoice was right.

72. Rave you that invoice with you?-I have net. I don't know that I ever·
saw it. I sent up te satisfy myself as to the weight of the rails. I may state that
on the second application Rident was cn hand, and I sent him up to see how many
rails were delivered there and to report te me. I have his report now in my handé.

73. Did yen sec if any transfer of these rails was taken by the Goverriment;
any writing or other transfer ?-The payment made on the proIety was the transf.
The Order in Council did not prescribe any form of transfer. Wo accepted the rails.

74. Where are the rails ?-They were placed in charge of Mr. Ridot.
75. On whose property ?-On the property of the Canada Central, I think.
76. Would you be surprised te learn that the quantity of rails that you certified

to are not there now ?-I would be surprised.
77. Yeu don't know what quantity of rails are there now ?-I am aware that

sone of the rails were borrowed, but I would be surprised to learn that they were
not returned.

78. Who borrowed them ?-The Canada Central, or some one engaged on that
line.

79. Who applied for them ?-I tbink it was Mr. Chaffee; he is the agent either-
of Mr. Foster or of the Canada Central. I am merely aware of that.

80. When did you become aware of it ?-Within the last two months.
81. Who told you ?-I learned it from Mr. Trudeau.
82. Who did he apply to ?-To Mi. Trudeau.
83. What quantity bas been borrowed ?-One hundred tons.
84. When were they borrowed ?-I can't answer that question. Some monthe-

ago; I think in the fall of the year.
85. Was there any Order in Council allowing him to have the rails ?-I don't

know; there was some security deposited te cover the value of them till they were
returned.

86. With whom ?-With fr. Trudeau or the Fublic\Works Department.
87. What kind of security ?-I don't know.
88. What value was put upon them ?-I don't know.
89. Do you know what materiat or brand thesè rails are ?-I don't know.
90. )'on know that under Mr. Postérs contract with the Canada Central he wase

to Supply everything of the best material. Are you aware if these rails are of the
best material ? --I am net aware.

91 You don't know wbat brand they are?- I don't know the brand
92 Does net a difrencoe of brand make a difference in the raiki ?-The Order in

Council does net prescribe any brand.

40 Ykébri&
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98. How did you ascertain the value of the rails if you did not ascertain the
brand ?-The value wa asertained4pproimatel

94. Did you ot aswertain thevalue from Ir. Pster ?-I did t. I have no
doubt he told me, but I was not guiided by that.

95. What did he value them at ?-I cannot tell you.
96. Did you know what the value of iron rails was at Montreal in Novembex

1874 ?-I cannot say at this moment.
97. Do you remember that there was a purchase of steel rails in 1874 ?-I cannot

say.
98. Do know that it wa about $55 per ton delivered at Montreal ?-1 have no

<doubt it was, but I cannot rémember.
99. Do you know that there was a considerable decline in the value of rails

-during that yar ?-Yes, there was a decline during that year.
100. Do yon think flat a year after that, rails were worth anything like $48 a

ton ?-Yes; I think they were. They might have been had cheaper, but $48 per ton
was not far from thoir value, that is, where these rails were delivered.

101. What would be the freight on these rails from Montreal to Renfrew ?-It is
impossible for me to answer that at this time.

102. Will you please, before next meeting of the Committee, find out the data on
'which you arrived at this value. Are you aware that there was a lot of rails sold at
Belleville in September, 1875, at $33.50 per ton ?-If they were sold at that price, it
-would not affect the value of rails generally.

103. Do you know the value of the rails to-day ?-[ do not.
104. I notice that these rails were of two weights, 60 pounds and 56 pounds ?-

Yes.
105. Is that a good mode of buying rails; did you recommend that? -I was

mot consulted as to the weight of the rails; I was guided solely by the Order in
'Council.

106. Would you recommend having rails of various weights? -I would recom-
mend having rails of one length and one pattern, not so much one weight as one
ýpattern.

By Dr. Tupper:
107. You estimated that the distance was 120 miles, and that as there was one

fixed point at Burnt Lake, it might overlap Renfrew and come nearer to the village
of Douglas ?-Yes.

108. Suppose you made a contract from Ottawa to the vicinity of Toronto, when
would you consider that yon were within the terms of the contract ?-I don't quit.
understand.

109. The term used in the Order in Council is " vicinity." Would you consider
within eight or ten miles to be in the vicinity of Toronto ?-1 should think so.

110. This Order in Council provides for the construction of a railway from the
-vicinity of Douglas to Burnt Lake. Would you not be within the contract if you
were in the outskirts of )ouglas, on the other side ?-Allow me to suggest that that
is not the whole Order in Council. The Order shows that connection is to be made
with the Canada Central. The name itself is the Canada CentrLl.

111. Would not Mr. Foster be within the terms when they touched the vicinity
of Douglas on the west side ?- I think not. The object of the Order in Council was
to extend the Canada Central to Burnt Lake, 120 miles.

112. There is no 120 miles referred to; the Order in Council says nothing about
distance. The subsidy is $12,000 per mile on a road ascending the valley of the
Bonrechere, from the vicinity of the village of Douglas westward, to the eastern end
of the branch railway proposed to be built from Georgian Bay by the Government.
'The 120 miles was the estimated distance. Now, in the express terms of the Minute
of Council, would not Mr. Foster, commencing his road on the western side of
Douglas, fulfil the requirements of the contract ?-I think not; it was contemplated
.that the Canada Central should reach Douglas first.

113. I am not speaking of what is contemplated; I am speaking of the terms of
10



, written agreeent. The contret is in the termsof a Minute of Council, which doe
not oblige h Government to pay ay subsidy, #asept S*-id fkoM he Vliciity of
Douaglas westward to Burnt Lake.• ->-,, !

Mr. Macramars--The Order in Conneil mentions "about one hundsed' aÀ4

Dr. Turpra--That is an estimate .
Ry Mr. Xîrkpatrik

114. Are you aware that Mr. Poster aaked the Govemumtt*dange this OnŠer
in Council so as to make the subsidized portion of the Onada Oentral omaenee
.at Benfrew instead of Dougla?-I cannat remembr whetr-that a is. he et.

By M r. Mackenzie:-
115. Dr. Tupper asked you about the time it would take to oenatrk that roak

-Re also asked you whether the mileage upon a close survey wald inot be ahiou
.certain to exceed the mileage originally eone tepl.d. Di you. re.membe the
anileage originally contemplated from Thunder Bay Red River-I don't
xemember.

116. Do you know what the mileage is now?-Yes 410 mRes.
117. Do yon remember that the least mileage we could give was about 418 to 4M

iiles?-The mileage has been reduced, I know. The actual mileage now upon thah
part is about 409J miles. It is considerably les than was originally estimated.

By Dr. Tupper:
118. Was that due to the change from Rat Portage to Bed River?-No, it is due

imore to the nature of the intervening country.
119. But which is the shortest ?--To Selkirk is the shortest
120. Then ,you have shorteuted the lino by changing the location ?-No, the

distance is less from Fort William than we estimated it a year or two ago.
By Mr. Mackenzie :

121. Dr. Tupper asked you whether you were consulted hy the Government
about the possibilhty of finishing this lino by the lt January, 1877. Were yo
consulted by the late Governument as to the possibility of completing the line from
Lake Nipissing to the Pacifie in ton years ?--es, I was.

123. You said it could not be done ?-1 said it could not be done.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick

123. Did you enter into a contract binding yourself to do it in ten years ?--Idid
ujot.

• 124. Were yon not one of the contractors?-No, I was not. Sir John Maedonald
could tell you all about that.

125. Now, coming to the Georgian Bay Branch, have you got the papers show-
ing to whom the money was paid ?-The Hon. A. B. Foster is the party to whom the
payment was made.

By Mr. Tupper:--
126. lad you heard that the Hon. Mr. Poster was in great diffieulties with Mr.

Bolc#ow, the principal contractor on the Canada Central ?-I had not at the time
these papers were prepared.

127. You did not consider it necessary therefore to take means to assure yourself
that this property was in a position to be transferred by Mr. Foster to the Govern-
ment ?-I did not consider it my duty at alL Here was a contractor who claimed
to be paid for the rails delivered under the Order in Council.

128. You had no means of assuring yourself whether these rails were in a
position to be taken over from him ?

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
129. Have you the account of the Georgian Bay Braneh of the moneys paid for

the survey ?-I think so ; yes hre they are.
(Account put in marked 3.)
130. Can you tell the Committee why this cetract was eanoeled ?-There iss

Order in Couneil recently issued with regard to it. I cannot layany hand on it just
mow. The work was not being proceeded with with uetiient rapidity.

11
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l1u It em met Q0 4c"t th lpMs noth1bain& 0ur .l
132. Did you give any c. toi& t that n 1ourai et rot bèfounífherée

133. Are you aware that Mr. Shanly gave some report et at4 dàiî ti.es Of
the route were very gret ?-Yes; but I don't ag.ee witþi Mr. Shnly.

134. Eas there been a survey during the past summer np« there -±hei.ehas.
beein a su y oti thaê4eogin Ay Brane4 laat ejjtnmer.

II. »id they f0dart alwouroble lino ?-They found a favourbl lini frenm
the Georginn Bayto the pOiat eal4 the Ea$rn terminus.

136. From what point on the Georgian Bay ?-From Ffrencb River, fîOantii's:.
Bfy on French River.

13L Ther i» -no digty frn that point to the mouth ?-No.
:138. Then ther b.as been a feasible route found along the lino which ,r. Foster-

bad contracted to build?
139. Along or.»#r ?-Mr. Poster had contrated to build from the mouth of the

Kimeeh River. The line surveyed was from Cautin's Bay, some distance up French
~River.

140. How far ap ?-About twenty miles up French River, I think.
By Mr. Plumb :

141. Is the navigation of the river good ?-The navigation is not complete now,
but it is not worse than any other navigable river except atone point near the mouth,
it can be rendered navigable.

142. What was the object then of encounteritig that twenty miles of difficult
navigation Y--It is not finally settled upon yot; it is sinply under consideration.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick :-
143. What amou.nt of money has been- paid to Mr. Poster on account of the,

smrvey of this Georgian Bay Branch ?-According to the statement I hold in my hand,
*41,000 has been paid.

144. Did he produca vouchers for all that sum ?-Vouchers have been produced,
I think.

145. Have vouchers been produced for all that amount ?-I am informed by the
àccountant that vouchers have been produced for nearly the whole amoient.

146. Are there not $1,200 there that have not been paid to Mr. Foster yet ? Are,
there not accounts there that have not been paid to him?

(Mr. Palmer, accountant, said the vouchers are not quite complete; some amall
accounts are not quite complete.)

147. There is an item there; you took over some camp equipage and. storea
delivered by Mr. Poster ?-I cannot answer this question.

By Dr. Tupper:-
148. You say yon have not seen the voacbers for the payment o' the $41,000 ?-

I have not seen them except the outside.
1494. Are you aware that the Order in Council requires that the payments3shal

be made on the certificate of the engineer, and do you >old yourself respon'siblé tr
the payment of the *41,000 ?-No; I have not certified at all for the paymet of the
$41,000.

150. You have not soen the vouchers, and have not certified the payments ?-Ë6.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-

151. There are certain works that you paid Mr. Poster for, about the mouth of
the French River, a wharf and what else ?-Yes; a wharf and some buildings.

152. Where ?-At the mouth of the French River.
15à. Will they be of any use to us now, when the railway is not going within 20

1miles of the mouth of the French River ?-Yes; I hope so, for ve.ssels will continue
to pfss the wharves at the mouth of the river.

By Mr. .Mackenzie :
154. Was net that made our depôt last season'?-Yes; these buildings were used.
Mr. MAcKENzIEà:-I would just state .that the Order in Council provided that

12



*uph portions of the wharves, stations, as be m ue of for the arvey

Mr. såða9+The wetti 1aireth'i îWteh eOfprei«veir and theiR Iway
-WI be 20 piiles -froth the Mn"t.

)fr. (&Eermas1-Ir.'# sami-lit w a ,attr ftr dr hether
it shouid go there or not. Th inihelhH beepr ake thi&iht
the mouth of the Freheh Elvér e t go to €entlb ay. fp6 Os
shouId be continued, and everytEini'is as-aedrabe w. - r.*aos e istro
theywill be, we shallbe able to get i ets o taotiie &y tftha setklaf
Nipissing River. The bildingt are of esseinIe ' eiviè tb i3 a as.

By Dr. Tupper
155. rould li to ask you, Mr. ,Fleming, if you were eenwalted as Chier

Engineer relative to-the road from Burnt Laike t to the noui cf frkelee RfrOLI
a-ws consulted with regard to the speéifieati 6 ns ;drew Unii. spe<lisd :

156. You are aware that Mr. Poster has been relieved of th9-e<à nb "iade n
-the fall of 1874?-I am aware.

157., Do I understand you to state that having surveyed the line thi8 Imssu-ne
Mer, you found at there were not the diffieàltes that he reported tthalovrn-
ment ?-I fQund no insuperable obstacles.

158. So that the 841,000 is paid to Mr. Foster without the. Chief Bngineer's
certificate, withQut any vouchers being seen by him, and Mr. Foster ia rheved frëMm
is contract?

'b MEÃcKENzÎE objected to leading questions of this nature,

Mr. PÂLMER was then called and examined:

JBy MJr. 4 aMckenzie:
159. Were not vouchers furnished for all these paymenta ?-.-Yes.
Dr. TUPPER :-The law requires that thé paylnets ehall be Muad. on the 48tifi-

eate of the Chief Engineer. It is in evidence that he had given to'er eàteJli the
payment of $41,000; and that the line whièh-Mr. Foster was allpwed'to.tiow up,
has been ascertained by the Chief Engineer to be perfectly practieable.

IMîr. Fause's-examination resumed:

By Mr. Mackenzie:-

160. Mr. Fleming, you are aware that under the contract for building the Geor-
gian Bay branch, the contractors had to do the surveying themselves?-Ye.

161. Supposò the Government had done the surveying of that: 95 miles, would it
have cost tis as much ai it has cost up tW the present:time. What haê beeitlhe
average cost elsewhere ?-I could not day; butI imagine that it has eost abot the
same. -I said just now that I had not seen the vòuchers, but I meant tat'I had not
ininutely examined them. They were exalrined'by another party.

Mr. MAQKENzIE-If you take the averaÈé mileage spent on-these surveys, yoR
-will find the arnount expended on continulig the contractors survq s ia much les
thañùhe cost of surveys on the whole line.

.By '.rs Pluarb:
162.'I would ask the ChiefEngineer whether the snrveys have been as complete

as elsewhere ?-I think so.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:

1ß3. Do you know whether any of this money charged toMi% Foster and pid
to him was ýspent on the survey of the Canada Central I' ont knwhaLher any
part of *itwas pmd to him. I understand that the expenditare ioÔfred b. the
4,000 was confined to the Georgian Bây Branch.

164. Iow do you understand that ?-From Mr. Palmer.
165. You don't know it from your own knowledge ?-Not from my own know-

ledge. The surveys were madeforr F er byparties who had b.èk with a
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staff and- I know that they had bve. ym much iw the=== way as they
wouw have been un4srymwn a aad p o ithequadî£ei y.

1.66. Mr. MAÂKEzI-I wish to ask Mr. Pabaor a question. Of course we-
require the -eêi a»e f he ie wtooSducted the surveys and my umder-
sutading was that we would not only bave Murdoch, who wus the contractor's chie
engineer, but that we shoul4 have bis oertiuIate as to the amonat expended on the
Georgian iBay.Jran. I wish to ask Mr. Palmer what certificates ho got as vouchers
fer the amount which awlssag' spent on the Georgian Bay, Brch.

- Mr. Paeniw--We got.Mr. Xurdoch's certifiate and Mr. Shanly's.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-

167. I would like to ask Mr. Fleming a question with regard to Fort Francis.
HÂve you been ap to Fort Francis ?-I have passed through that way.

168. Do you know that there is a lock there ?-I know that there is a lock being
constructed there.

169. Have you recommended the construction of that lock ?-I don't know that
I have.

170. Have you recommended the construction of the look either verbally or in
writing ?-I do not remember having specially recommended the lock.

171. Have you specially or in any other way recommended it ?-I don't know;
I can't tell you.

172. You say you cannot tell me whether you recommended the construction of
a lock on a work in connection with the Pacific lailway ?-I cannot say that i
specially recommended the construction of that lock.

173. Have you in any way recommended it ?-I don't know that I have.
174. Have you approved ofthe construction ?-I may incidentally have suggested

the construction of the lock in this way : I may have suggested it in connection
with the improvement of the whole of the Dawson route, otherwise the Red River
water communication ; I may have suggested in this'connection the construction of
a look at Fort Francis.

175. Have you ever recommended the construction of the Lock as a single
work ?-As asingle work I think not.

By Mr. Mackenzie :-
176. You will remember of course that we had many long consultations about

the most expeditious mode of reaching the extreme west end of Lake of the Woods
by rail and water communication ?-Yes.

By Mr. Kirkpatrwk :-
177. I understand that you have never recommended this work as a part of the

Pacific Railway ?-I don't remember, I have a poor memory ; I would be glad to be
asked leading questions ; I don't wish to keep back anything, I wish to give the
fullest possible information.

178. How far does the line of Pacific Railway, as now located between Fort Wil-
liam and Selkirk, go from Fort Francis ?-I could not say, not having measuredjit,
but I think it is 70 or 80 miles, more or les, in an east line.

179. Are you aware that to communicate and make the lock at Fort Francisaof
use, several other works have to be undertaken for the improvement of the waters
there ?-To renderthe connection of the Pacific Railway complote, between Thunder
Bay and Lake of the Woods, other works would have to be undertaken, and con-
siderable works.

180. And we should need other works to render the water communication com-
plete from Port Savanne ?-Yes.

181. 1 a askin about the connection between Port Savanne and Fort Francisr-
-A greatmany war would be wanted ; the lock at Fort .Fracis is one of them.

182. Do you know how many portages there are between Port Savanne[and&Fort
Francis ?-I don't remember.

.B Dr Tvpper:-
183. otracts have been lot on the Canadian Pacific Railway from'Thunder

Bay to Port Savanne ?-Yes.
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184. And they have aleobsen made on Red River to Rat Portagey?-Ysj85. Do you consider that the onstraOtiou ofthe look at Po1 Pd mis end the
mprovement of the communication between Port tavaune and Fort PrMncis isikely to facilitate the ontruction afde Pacido eiIwa-Ti. u

186. In what way ?-I cannotvery Wel explain.
187. Io there any.connection at Rnglish Rver? There is A, ontraotifrom Fort-William to English River. Between English River and Rat portage thoer bra -18

miles to be constructed. The country i very inhospitable. It i intrtdeds-streams; canoe navigation with short portages between. They all or arlya
lead to Rainy Lake. In that way the improvement in progrus at Fort Francia'wlbbe of some service in getting in supplies.

188. I understood you to say that a large quantity of other work would bé-required ?-To make it an independent line; but to get in supplies the look wouldb. of service.
189. Would you expect to get in your supplies over the road that l now under-contract from Red River on one side and Thunder Bay on the other; or to take thiemround ?-In both ways. The works will be supplied from the west es well as fromrtihe east.
190. Would you propose to go over this line with a number of portages for the-transport of rails to Red 'River ?-I think not.
191. Would you carry them over your road as you build it ?-I thinkr we would,carry them in as we go on.
192. Then you have not recommended this lock at Fort Franci as part of the•Canadian Pacific Railway, and with a view to its construction ?-Wel, the matterhas been considered over and over again in connection with the Pacifie Railway.193. But you have not suggested it ?-I think I have; but not made any specialrecommendatiôn.
194. Are the payments made for the work at Fort Francis made on -

certificate as Chief Engineer of Pacific Railway ?-They are not.195. Then you don't consider them part of the Pacifie Railway?-The expndi--ture is made part of the Pacific Railway expenditure now.
196. Are you aware that your certificate is required by law for work on the -Pacifie Railway ?-Not for days' labour; this is going on by days' labour.By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
197. What other works would be necessary to make the lock at Fort Francisuseful for bringing and furnishing supplies for the Pacific Railway ?-From theWest ?
198. From the west and from the east also ?-It is a little difficuit for me tosay. On the canoe navi ation that I speak of, possibly some:additional expenditurewill be wanted at several portages.
199. There would be works required ?-Yes.
200. How long would it take to make these works ?-Probably a few months.It depends upon the extent of the works and the progress made. Not much is knownabout the whole of that country. It is perfectly unsettled; there is not a single soulin it except Indians.
201. Would not considerable outlay, beyond the cost of the lock, be ranniredabove and below Fort Francis, in deepening the channel and overcoming thelîf?.No doubt, to make the navigation complete, considerable outlays would be required.But for the purpose of getting supplies, these rapide could be overcome in a veryaimple way .
202. The supplies would be takea up the stream?-Yes.
203. There is rapid water above and below ?-There are rapide between Fort,-Francis and Lake of the Woods. Some improvements will be seeaed at these points.-
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RÂILwAY COXNaTTRZ Roox

CoA rmittee moet

SÀNDÉOID ftzmw eall.d idfurther extumined:

AÇ34. 1..ype ~oi4li ta, on yhch _,ou arriyqdat the value of those rails ?-

.ave you. loked for them ?-I have thoughtabout it sincq 1 was here the
eth'r ,d ay.ad my il ression 's'I tgok no s peIal imeans of asèeetaiingthe exact

alue oftobe ráis. e suin of foty-eight11 lirswas diseussed, ánd t was agreed
I sh>uld make out the ices at that rate.

206. Xbiscussed Wwhom XWith the Department-either Mr., Trudeau or Mr.
Mackenzxe.

207. Do you know the value Mr. Foster put upon those rails ?-No, I had no
gversfflion with Mr, Foster on thé subject thatI am aware of.

0 e you ase.rtained whether your instructions to ascertain the quantity
ýof rails tre were in writing or hot ?-My instructions were not in writing.,- I
remember something was said about the Price of rails delivered for the Government
in lNova Scotà at thát tiie, and the price offorty-eight dollars was considered not
unreasonable. It was considered about the right thing, taking into account the price
of rails foi the Annapolis Railway in Nova Scotia.

209. Iron or steel ?-Iron.
Ifon. Mr. MAoKEnzIE.-They were tendered for and the lowest tender was $41,

delivered on the wharf atf alifax.
210. Dò ,yon know whát weight those rails were ?-The same weight I mentioned.

Rail usùa'lly range from 63 pounds. The weight does not affect the price very much.
211..The quality of the rails makes a difference, does it not ?-It does.
212. IILã you any information before you as to the quality of those rails, or the

brad? had not.
213. o you know, or have you any reason to know whether those rails were

actually at iRenfrew at that time, or whether they were at Montreal, or on their way
-5 Renfrew ?-The rails, when I got the letters read here the other day, were deliv-
ered at the place mentioned in the letters.

214. They were actually delivered then ?-Yes; actually delivered.
215. I think you said the other day that you would not recommend the purchase

of rails of differenat weights, or brands, for the same railway ?-I would very much
prefer ,them ail of one weight, one pattern.

2.L observe you did not give any certificate these rails were in accordance
with the contract entered into. Did you gt any specific instructions about that ?-
All I did was to get the letters before you. There was nothing else but what you
have.

By Mr. >Iackenzie:
217. In ôrder that there may be no mistake, I wish to ask did you ever have

instructions to write any particular kind of letter ?-Not at al. I was instructed to,
ascertain the delivery of rails under the Order in Counoil.

218. As a matter of fact you had that Order in Council on which payments were
to be made ?-ertainly.

219. And you made the payments under the Order in Council; you had the
Order in Council before you as your guide ?--I had that before me as my guide.

By Mr. Kirkpatrik :
220RIad you also' before you the contract entered into between the Canada

Central Railway t'ndUr. Éoster for the construction of this portion of the Canada
-Central, under that Order in Council ?-1 do not know that I had. I instructed Mr.
Ridout to keep an account of the rails and report to me if they were used for any
other purpose than this particular one.

'ÂIWIY
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22, You took no other delivery of these rails for the Goveronent than simply
the certificate of Mr. Ridout; you did not get any legal transfer ?--here were no
papers passed that I know of.

222. You do not know anything about the loaning oUthese.rails er a»y portion
of them ?.-I know very little. I was not in the country at the time they were
loaned. Mr. Trudeau can speak of that.

By Mr. Mackenzie
223. You are aware that the rails, by the fhct of making a payment, became the

property of the Government under the order in Council, are y'oî not ?--Only for the'
time being; when the rails were laid they were part of the Canada Central.

By Mr. Kikpatrick :
224. That is a question of law I presume. -o you know whether any person

had a warehouse receipt for those rails, or whether they were hypothecated to any
person ?---I am not aware. I took it they iwere the property of the Government
when the payment was made on them.

225. But if they had been hypothecated before that would any person have a
lien on them ?---That is a legal question. I would look upon the rails as any other
material required for the construction of the Railway. It was, to a certain extent,
the property of the party paying for it until the completion of the line.

226. It woald be, I think, if you got them into your own possession; you left
them on the propertýy of the person to whom you paid the money ?--There was no
fear of the rails running away.

227. No ; but there is fear if they are in the possession of a person getting into
trouble ?-These rails were delivered by the Canada Central Company.

228. They were left in their possession ?-I had no great fears of the rails
being taken away. However, if they were taken away at amy time, there was an
officer instructed to report the fact.

229. But supposing the Canada Central-Railway Company, or Mr. Poster, had
never paid the person from whom they bought those rails ?-That is a matter between
Mr. Foster and the person from whom he bought them.

230. They were deposited on Canada Central property ?-I understood they
were deposited on the side of the railway nearest to the point where they were to be
used. I did not enquire particularly whose property they were deposited on.

231. You did not enquire on whose property they had beendeposited ?-I under-
stood it was on the Canada Central Railway's property,

232. That is your impression ?--Yes.
233. And you do not know how far that was from the subsidized portion of the

Canada Central Railway ?-I cannot tell you the exact distance. .
234. Are you aware it is about ten miles ?--I could not tell you.
235. You cannot tell whether it is more -or less ?-No; I understood they were

deposited on the nearest point on the Canada Central to the place where the rails
were required to be laid.

By Mr. Mackenzie:
236. And that point was not precisely known ?-It was not.

Mr. TRUDEAU called and examined

By Mr. Kirkpatrick
237. Do you know anything about those iron rails delivered at Renfrew by the

Canada Central Railway Company, in pursuance of an Order in, Council ?-I have
nèver seen them but I have heard of them.

238. Do you know they were pqid for ?-Yes.
239. Do you know whether those rails are aH there now ?-No.
240. Do you know they have been taken away from there ?-I suppose you want

me to say some of them have been loaned.
173
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241. I don't want you to say anything but to answer my question. I want té
know if any of them have been taken away from there ?-I know some of them have
been loaned.

242. To whom ?-To Hon. Mr. Poster
243. That is, some of the rails that were paid for by the Government have been

loaned to Mr. Foster ?-Yes.
244. When were they loaned to Mr. Poster ?-In July, 1876.
245. Who applied for the loan ?-Mr. Chaffee.
246. At what date did ho apply for them ?-In July some time.
247. Did he apply by letter ?-No, he first applied verbally, 'and thon ho

confirmed it by letter.
248. Have you got the letter-there ?-I now produce it. (Marked "No. 4.")
249. Had you any communication with Mr. Foster or Mr. Chaffee before you

received these telegrams ?-Yes.
250. What is the effect of it ?-It is to the effect ho wanted some rails.
251. Who is Mr. C affee ?-Mr. Chaffee was Mr. Foster's Agent or Secretary.
252. Then ho had beon speaking with you; or with whom to borrow those rails?

-Well, he had been speaking with parties in the Department, I really forget who he
was speaking to, but he had been in and out a great deal.

253. Do you know how many rails ho borrowed at this time ?-I think ho had
100 tons.

254. You think--have you any knowledge of how many he took; did yon
send any officer of the Department to see what rails he took ?---I have no personal
knowledge.

255. Did you allow him to help himself?--He first of ail took the rails, I
believe.

256. And then ho asked for them ?---I did not sny that. He first of all took the
rails, and we aseertained what ho had taken.

257. Well, who did you send up to see what he had taken ?--I don't recollect
who that was.

Z58. Do you know that any person was sent up ?--: M y impression is some person
was sent up.

259. Have yon in the Department any report or communication from that
officer ?--I cannot statq that from memory.

260. Will you please take a note of that and see if you can find any in the
Department ?-Yes. -

261. These rails being under the custody of your Department, have you any
Order in Council or any authority authorizing those rails to be loaned ?-There is no
Order in Council.

262. There is no authority from Mr. Scott, or any person here, to give
those rails ?-Yes, it was understood by the Members of the Government present in
Ottawa then, that it was being done.

263. Did you get any written authority to allow it ?-I don't think we, have.
264. With whom did Mr. Poster deposit those bonds ?-With the Accountant

the Department.
265. Rad you any instructions as to what kind of security you were to take?

-Nlo.
266. Were the rails taken before the security was deposited ?-I don't know; he

had no permission to take them before the bonds were deposited.
267. He had no permission to take them; do you know as a matter of fact

whether ho did take them ?-No.
268. Do you know whether the bcnds were deposited before this' receipt for

the rails of the 30th June-before or after that ?-They were deposited at that time.
269. Not before the date of this letter ?-They were deposited at the time the

loan was made. -
27ô. Are you aware that any of these rails have been taken since this date ?-I

am not.
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271. Are you aware that more than one,4hundred tons of them were borrowed at
thattime?-No.

272. Do you know whether these rails have been returned within the thre.
months, as greed upon ?-My im ion is they have not been returned.

273. Do you know whether t intereet coupons of those bonds have boen pid ?
-1 do nlot.

274. Do you know the value of those bonds ?-No.
275. Have you any instructions as to taking those bonds; who instracted yot

to take these bonds as security ?-Well, it was-known to the several members of the
Goverument who were here at the time. There was no p calar order to take pre-
eisely these bonds, but it was known he was depositing em.

276. Did you take them wiýhout some authority ?-Authority was conveyed in
the knowledge the members of the GoverMment had that they were received.

277. Who handed the bonds to you?-Mr. Chaffee.
278. He-came to your office with them?-Yes.

- 279. Some of the Ministers must have told you he was going to deposit those
bonds; how do you know the Ministers knew it ?-I suppose they must have saideo.

By Mr. Mackenzie:
280. Your understanding was the loan would only be given on security being

deposited with you, I presume ?-Yes.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-

281. Did you authorize or give any authority for the payment of those rails,
any certificate for the whole of the rails delivered ?-Yes.

282. Whose certificate?-The certificate of the Department to pay a certain
amount of money.

283. On whose order did you do that; who told you to give a certificate for the
money?-Payments are not always made by direct order; a contract is entered into,
and when there is a certificate from the engineer to pay something it is paid under
the general routine of the office.

284. Yes, but this certificate is curiously worded; it merely says Mr. Foster has
delivered some rails on account of the road; it does not say they were ail deliverod,
nor does it state that they were delivered at the place indicated in the Order in
Council; that certificate would hardlyjustify the payment of money; was there any
<other certificate ?-Yes; I now produce it. (Marked No. 5.")

By Dr. Tupper
285. Would you be kind endugh to state the amount of bonds deposited with you

as security ?-Five thousand pounds sterling.
286. What was the value of the rails taken ?-Four thousand eight hundred

4ollars I believe.
287. I understood Mr. Mackenzie to say to you just now that you were instructed

to have security before the rails were delivered ?-It was understood certain security
should be deposited.

288. Did you consider you were respensible for seeing that security was sufficient
to cover the value of the rails loaned to r. Foster ?-It was not put in that way.

289. Had you any knowledge of the value of those bonds ?-I had none per-
sonally.

290. Did you know they were worth anything at aIl ?-I did not know their
value.

291. Would you be surprised to learn they would not bring twenty-five cents on
the dollar ?-I would.

292. Why would you be surprised if you had no knowledge whatever of their
value ?-L cannot define that exactly.

293. Within your knowledge, no means were taken to verify the value of these
bonds that were accepted as security?-It is, of course, difficalt for me to recolleet
conversations that occurred at the time. 1 recollect some discussion was had at the
time about the value of these bonds, but I cannot recollect the terms of the conversa-
tion.

40Victoria.



By Mr. Mackenizie :
294. Supposing they were worth twenty-five cents on the dollar, how muche

would that be as compared with the value of the rails ?-Five or six thousand dollars-
tbey would be worth.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:
296. Is it the practice of the Public Works Department to carry on large opera-

tions of that kind-to loan large amounts of property upon mere verbal conversation
witbout any written authority ?-Loaning property is a very unusual thing. It is-
the first thing of the kind that bas occured since I was in the Department.

296. You consider the tact that some of the Ministers being aware Mr. Poster
was to receive these rails relieved you of any responsibility as to ascertaining the
value ?-Wel, I did so consider it.

297. This memorandum in the. corner of Mr. Fleming's certificate of the 28th
of September, 1875, was your authority for the payment ?-Yes.

298. Have you any authority for the payment of the next lot ?-I don't think I
bave any authority of that direct description.

299. Whatever your authority was let me have it.-I now produce it. (Marked
"INo. 6.")

300, This is simþly Mr. Fleming's certificate ?-Yes.
301. Had you any further authority ?-I had no further authority.
302. Do you know what quantity of rails remain there now ?-No.

By Dr. Tupper :
303. Has yonr Department charge of this large amount of property for which

so large a sum of money bas been paid ?---I think it would have charge of it.
304. Who have you looking after this ?-There is no special officer.
305. Who is there to prevent Mr. Foster helping himself in the future as he had

done in the past when he wants rails ?-Mr. Fleming, of course, bas charge of all
these railways, and I understand Mr. Ridout, one of bis officers, has been appointed
to look after those rails.

306. If Mr. Fleming bas charge of these rails, how is it you undertook to allow a
person to take away one hundred tons of them when he wanted them, without any
communication with Mr. Fleming? -If Mr. Fleming had been here he would have
been consulted, certainly.

307. Then in his absence you appear to have charge ?-There were other officers
belonging to Mr. Fleming's staff.

308. You are not able, however, to name any officer that has charge of this pro-
perty, and whose business it is to see it is not abstracted ?-Mr. Ridout's name bas,
been given; I don't kiow that the Department has any officer there watching the
rails all the time.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick :-
309. Could you ascertain for the Committee the quantity of rails there; have

you an officer that could be sent up to find out the quantity of rails ?-I think so
somebody can be sent up.

310. Have you heard as to the quality of these rails ?-No.
311. You know nothing about the quality ?-I do not.
312. You have not heard the brand ?-No.

Mr. SANDFoRD FLEMING re-called and examined:
By Mr. McNab:-

313. Are you aware if, in the contract between the Government and Mr. Foster,
all the surveys had to be carried on at the expense of the contractor, Mr. Foster ?-
I think he had to d1o the surveying.

a 14. You are aware that the sum of $41,000 las been paid for rails and surveys
that have been doue by that contractor up to the time the contraet was cancelled ?-
I have heard it so stated.

315. I want to ask you if in your opinion the country has had full value fbr that
$41,000 in the surveys done ?-It was intended the country should.

- 20
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Mît. C. O. PALura called and examined

316. You are the accountant of the Pacifie Railway?-Yee, under Mr. Floaing;
317. You had the settiement of aceounts with Mr. Foster?-Yes.
318. You have the vouchers that he produced?-Yes.
319. How muchi wais paîd him altogether on acount of the. Georgian Bay Braiichf

-About $4,000
320. Ilow much more for the buildings at French River?-Nine tbousd odd

-dollars.
321. Does that include the wharf?-Yes.
3 Y2. Does that $31,000 iclude the survey for tih. extension of the Canada Centra

Railway ?-1 do flot know, I amn sure.. I do flot understand -what, part lias been
surveyed.-

323. You don't know whetber that payment of 31,000 inludes th cot of sur-
the extension?--l understand it is for the survey of tih Gnrgian Bay

eranchu. This statement before me (marked 3) is headed "lGeor Ian Bay ]3ranchBx-pr o uo a rd it has been examined and certifench byier. N n thonahd
2certificate ts has been expended for that purpose and for tat purpose atone.

324. You don't know whether it inludes the survey of the Canada Central
-extension ?-I don't know; but to the best of my belief it does nbt.

325. The mere headin of these accounts does not appear d be conclusive tht
the money was paid for the survey of the Georgian Bay Brandi alone. Will you
please state whatMr. hanly's certificate was for. dd h. certify those accounts
were, correct ?-Ilere is a letter in reference to the. aCCOUnts. I now produce it.
(Marked c No. 7.") Lt states that this amount as been epdfairly incurred for the

-expenses named."
326. Do you know how many miles long the ueorgian .Bay Branch Railway is ?-

e cannot answer that.
327. r. Foster hertified here that tus 31,o00 was incurred for surveying 197

ti1es. Do you know that 197 miles incldes both the Georgian Bay Brancl and tou
Canada Centrai extension ?- understand it in this way-the direct lin. is not s.
long as that, but there are several offsets and explorations made; there was not one
direct ne oiy surveyed.

32. Have you ail the vouchers for the payment of tBese moncys, or are any of
them incoMplet. to this date ?-A few of them are incomplete to this date.

ni329. The amounts have been paid though, tW tr. Foster ?-I dont know that.
There is about one thousand dollars voucher incomslete-that is, tie amounts are
not probably certifed by t Engineer, but otherwise tere are complete vouchers for
the whole $41,o00.

By 2r.Mackenzie
329. (a.) Will you state from that account the total amount fr. Shanly crtified

to as payable to hr. Foster ?-50,966.27.
330. And the total abount paid ?-$41,000.
331. You have also vouchers from i er. Murdoc, the actual angineer i r charge?

-Ys.%
.332. This is a mer. summary from lis ?--Yes; I pursued the. same system with

tiese that we are in the habit of doing with our own engineers' accounts.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:

333. Have you got the account for thes $31,000 ?-Th y did not present f
account.

334. Have you got any account ?-Yes; it was paid from time to time.
335. Have you got the vouchers for tMus r8,828; have you got the detailed

account for ti works at Frnch River ?- - Yes.
336. Let us see it ?-You will fied the wshol of the details on the second or third

page ofthe general statement. t is separated there from time survey.
'21



337. I want to get the account fur the supplies taken over-the camp equipage
taken over ?-There is only a valuation of it.

338. I want to get that valuation: where is it?--I now produce the valuation of
a portion of the supplies. Marked "No. 8.")

.339. Mr. Ridout's certifiate states a certain percentage was added to cover the
cost of transportation; that was allowed ?-No; it wa not paid them. It was not

ide ino te acout, he overnmn ha paid for those things and would not allow
for them over again. You see all those items are already included in the amounts
for which Mr. Foster is given credit.

340. I want to know if you allowed him twice over ?-No.
,341. They were deducted ?-No; they were simply handed over-what remained

of the goods purchased-to Mr. Ridout's charge. You will not find it in the accounts
at ail.

342. Have you got the detailed statement of the works at French River ?-The
eost of them is represented in the statement. The first two pages of the account
represent the buildings and wharf. The accounts are kept distinct from the rest.

343. Then, you say you did not allow this additional percentage to cover the
cost'of transportation according to Mr. Ridout's certificate ?-I think you do not
quite understand the matter. That is simply a statement of what was left. It was
-not brought into the account; neither the cost of the provisions nor the cost of
transport.

344. But you have allowed him the cost of camp equipage ?-No.
345. There is two thousand odd dollars for camp equipage ?---That is only the

original cost; not what was returned. As I understand •you, you are under the
impression he was allowed twice over; he is merely allowed the cost price.

346. I want to know bas this percentage been added ?-It bas been added in a
roundabout way; he has put in the bills for transporting.

347. And they have been allowed ?-Certainly.
348. Then it has been allowed in a roundabout way. It has been allowed him

by paying the different bills for taking the things up there ?-What I state is this:
he has been allowed to put iin bills for the suppfies as purchased-probably in
Toronto, most of them. The cost of carrying them up and probably the cost of
carrying himself and the engineers up was put in as a further bill, but when these
things were handed over to Mr. Ridout they were not again credited to him,.

349. Mr. Ridout certifies in his valuation that he adds a percentage-I want to
know whether it was allowed in that form or merely the amount of transportation ?-
Merely the amount of transportation. I think the Order in Council states he was to
be refunded what further expense he incurred for what would be of use to the
Government in finishing the survey.

Hon. ALEXANDER MAcKENZIE called and examined

By Dr. Tupper
350. Would you be kind enough to state what amount of security Mr. Foster

deposited with the Government for the fulfilment of his contract on the Georgian Bay
Branch ?-My impression is, it was 885,000.

351. What did that security consist of ?-Cash.
352. What sort of cash ?-He brought us a certificate of some Banks for the

amount.
353. Under the law, when Mr. Foster was unable to carry out his contract, to

whom did that property belong ?-What property ?
354. The security that Mr. Foster had deposited with the Government for the

fulfilment of his contract ?-I am not here to answer a legal question.
355. Do you consider the security you take from a contractor, as Minister of

Public Works, for the fulfilment of a contract is forfeited if he fails to earry out the
contract ?-It is not always forfeited.

40,victoria Appendixr (No. 2.)
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356. You are not dispose<d to answer the questian ?-I am quite disposed to,
answer any questions put to me.

357Iunderstand you to say you regard it as a legal question ?-Yes, but that
did not indicate that I was not disposed to answer the question.

358. Would you be good enough to say to whom, in your jadgment, when Mr.
Foster was unable to carry out his contract, that property should go; wasit the pro-
perty of the Governmentof Canada or not ?-That depende entirelyon circumstances.

359. Under the existing circumstances ?-There are very few years, probably
very few months, we bave not to deal with contractors in the way of annulling con-
tracts and disposing of securities.

350. I understood you to state, in another place, this Government had adopted
the plan of taking securities for the fulfilment of contracts. which-security became
the property of the Government if the contract was not fulfilled, but you are
not prepared to say in this case you thought it,*as the property of the Government?
---We have taken security for all contracts, eit»er in money or mortgages on ral-
estate, which we consider equivalent to money, but we have always endeavoured in
dealing with those securities to favour the contractors as much as possible; for
instance, if a contractor has a contract for 8400,000, ho deposits $20,000 in cash, or
bankable security. When he executed one-third of it, we return him one-third of hie
security, or if one-half, we return him one-half of his security, and sometimes in
extraordinary circumstances we return him very nearly the whole, if the en ineer is
able to say the work is in such a position as to secure its completion. We hve one
under consideration now, the dam on the Ottawa, and works in connection with it
We are very much puzzled to know what to do with it. In this case we consider the
public interestwould be fairly met by annalling the contract, paying what the engineer
would certify to as being useful for our own survey we intend to complete, and return
the money. In that case the public lose nomoney, as the su-rveys would be made in
any case and we secured the services of thq contractor's engineers, and these services
were certified to as being valuable for that purpose. We considered it was best to
annul the contract and restore the security, very mach as the former Government
returned a million dollars securities in connection with the Pacific Railway.

361. I would like to know what banks Mr. Foster brough t certificates of deposited
money from ?-Mr. Trudeau or Mr. Braun told' me it was the bank of Ontario. I
never saw it myself. It was deposited with the Receiver-General.

362. Would you be good enough to infoi m the Committee what evidence you
obtained as to Mr. Foster's ability to complote this contract; that is to Say, as to bis
position-as to his having capital amounting to four thousand dollars per nMile-
previous to entering into the contract?-I think the evidence that he inade that
deposit was one part. The evidence that he was known as a very successful con-
tractor and railway builder was another part. That was a matter of public notoriety.

363. Were you aware at the tine Mr. Foster entered into this contract that it
was a matter of equal notoriety ho was in very great difficulty with the Canada
Central Railway ?--I had not the slightest knowledge that ho had any difflculty of
the kind.

364. What means did yon take to ascertain that ho had a capital of four thousand
dollars per mile to carry on that c3utract ?-I don't think I took any special nueans
to ascertain that. As I say, ho was reported to be a wealthy man, and certainly-
known to be a very successful railway confractor.

365. In the terms of the law ho did not give satisfactory proof that he possessed
a capital of four thousand dollars per mile ?-I think ho stated- to me--however, I
am not quite certain of the precise terms--that the capital he had invested in other
enterprises would be available.

36t. Yod would not consider it satisfactory evidence, in the terms of the law, to
accept the statement of the party contracting ?-Well ; I might.

367. Would yon consider the deposit'of twenty-five per cent. of an amount of
money evidence that he possessed the other seventy-five per -cent ?-I think it was
pletty good evidence.
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368. That is, the pýssessiôn of twentyfive per cent. is evidence tàe party has
the pne hundred per cent?--I don't say that.

369. I say the principal evidence you relied on was the deposit he gave ?-No, I
do not rely on that; but it was an indication he had considerable means.

370. And the further evidence you took was Mr. Foster's atatement to you ?-
I.knew, t ough I could not tell the source ot my information, he was interested in a

e num r of railways, and the possessor of a good deal of money.
371. When was that deposit given up ?-I presume when the contract was

annullèd; I think the order in Council will show that.
372. Was any authority taken from Parliament to relinquish that money

forfeited by Mr. Foster?-I.think Mr. Tupper knows as well as I do what took place
in ?arliament. I have no recollection of any.

373. You have heaid Mr. Trudeau state that he aecepted South-Eastern Railway
bonds because sonie of the Ministers were aware that was to be the case. Are you
one of the Ministers ?--I think I was out of town when it\vas agreed to let the rails
he loaned, but I was made aware of it. immediately after -my return. That is my
impression at present.

374. Was anyone acting as Minister of Public Works in your absence ?--No: I
think there was no special appointment. i do not usually appoint one for two or
three days; it is only when I am longer away I do.

375. Did you take any means to ascertain the value of those South-Eastern
IRailway bonds ?-,No.

376. Have you since?-No.
377. World you be surprised to learn that they cannot be sold for anything ---

I have no reason to be surprised or pleased, for I know nothing about them.
378. I see Mr. Shanly's name is employed here as having certified to certain

demands made by the contractor. Wes Mr. Shanly employed by the Government?
----No.

379. Was he employed by the contractor ?--He told me he was employed as
Consulting Engineer. Hle had freqent intervievs with me, and gave satisfactory
explanations to me personally. But as I said, formally, I left it to be dealt with by
the officers of the Department. I may say this with regard to Mr. Shanly: I have
known hm for between thirty and lrty years and I consider there is no man in
Canada whose statements I would take sooner, and whose opinion I value more in a
matter of this kind. I wish to indicate that apart from his being an offcer of the
Government, his opinion would have great weight with me.

SANDFoRD FLEMINe recalled, and further examined:

By Mir. Mackenzie :
380 How many miles of exploratory survey have you made between Lake

Nipissing and the Pacific, sas nearly as you can remember ?-In connection with the
Pacific Railway, we have made fully eleven thousand miles of instrumental surveys.

381. That is about four times the actual distance ?-Nearly four times.
382. How many miles of exploratory survey without instrumental ?-We have

made over forty thousand miJes of exploratory surveys-I mean as explorations.
'83. Applying the same principle to the Georgian Bay Branch, and applying

tho relative cost of that from Nipissing Vo the Pacific, how muelc would you consider
the survey should cost of the ninety miles of the Georgian Bay Branch ?-I could not
tell you off-hand.

384. I merelv wish an approximate estimate ?-I do not considqr the claim with
respect to thé surveying of that branch in any way excessive.

385. -You consider then, the amount paid to Mr. Foster for his surveys, made by
his engi'neers, not in excess of what might personally be expected in that quarter ?-
I do not think it excessive.

386. In ,,tber words, the country got full'value for it ?-If we had done it our-
selves it would probably have cost as mach or more.



387. I asked you the other day if you were of the opiion he Paciße Raiway
could be built in ten years, and you said it could not; what -time do you auppose ft
would tako to build that raitway ?-I should think nearly double that timne woiUd, be
spent on it.

388. You were asked by Mr. Kirkpatriek if you were not a member of the com-
pany who undertook to build it in ten yeare, amd your reply was " I think Sir John
could tell all about that," I would like yon to tell me youreolf how yeu reconcile your
statement to me with the fact that you became a member of a company that under-
took to build the rod in ton years ?-Well, it was perfectly understood that if the
attempt was made to bauild it in ton years, I would not be a party to it, I would stop
ont.

389. That was a distinct agreement?-Yes.
By Mr: Kirkpatrick-

390. Was that agreement in writing ?-There was no regular agreement, but
there were letters to that effect written by mnyself more than once.

391. With regard to the number of miles, surveyed on the Pacific Railway, how
many years have you been on it ?-Six.

392. Can you tell ne how many were surveyed the first year ?-I cannot at this
moment.

393. It makes a good deal of difference whether the work was all done in 6ne
year or in six ?-A large amnount was surveyed every year of the six.

By Dr. Tupper:
394. You have stated you were of opinion the Canadian Pacifie Railway could

not be built in ten years. Do I understand you to say the road could nôt be built in ton
years, or to build it in ton years would make the cost so excessive that no one would
be justified in pùshing it so fast ?-I mean to say it ought not to be built in ton years.

395. 1 want you to say whether the road could be built in ton years if you had
the money to do it ?-We do not use the word impossible in any undertaking if you
give us money enough.

396. Would you be good enough to state how the line from Burnt Lake to French
River, taking into account its accessibility and its inaccessibility, compares with an
average of the total Pacific Railway ?-It would be about a fair average.

397. Would you be good enough to tell me whether, having the money, yon
could not then build the Canadian Pacifie Railway in something like the same amount
of time it would require to build the lino from French River to Burnt Lake ?-The
circumstances are entirely different. The one is near at hand; the other is far
away.

398. But you have stated that it compares' with the average of the Canadian
Paeific Railway ?-Well, it is very difficult to say. There are hundreds of miles on
the Canadian Pacifie Railway very easy, and hundreds of miles very difficut, and it
is very difficult to strike a correct average, but it may possibly be not far from an
average.

399. Are you aware that a contract was made for that portion of the road which
bound the contractor under a penalty of $1,000 per week for every week he over-
steppod the time, and left him a year and a half to build the 185 miles from French
River to Burnt Lake ?-I have no doubt what you say is qui te correct, but I have not
the papers before me at this moment.

400. Do you consider the time Mr. Foster was bound under a heavy penalty to
complete the road from Burnt Lake to French River more reasonable or more feasible
than the construction of' the Canadian Pacifie Railway in ton years ?-I think the
time was rather short.

401. I would like you to answer my -question ?-I am not always prepared to
give an opinion off-hand; I am not so rapid in my thoughts as yourself, and I would
require time to prepare an answer.

402. There is so large a margin I think you could, with afew moments' reflection,
-give an answer; I don't disagree with you as to the answer you gave the Premier as
to building the Pacifie Railway in ton years, but I ask whether the undertaking of
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binding Mr. Poster uinder a heavy penalty to fiunish the line from Burnt Lake in a
year and a half from the time the contract was -made out, was more reasonable than
to undertake to build the Canadian Pacifie Railway in ton years ?-I think it was, for
the reason I gave you a moment ago.

404. You think it was more feasible for 1r. Poster to construct a line as difficult
as the Canadian Pacifie Railway in a year and a half?-It was as difficult in one way
and not in another; the average quantity of rock and earth excavations may be the
same in one as the other'; but one is more accessible than another; you can reach the
Georgian Bay Branch in a few hours from Collingwood; the other is inaccessible
throughout its entire length.

404. Are you aware of the time that was occupied in the United States in the
construction of the Union Pacific Railway ?-About 25 years, I. think.

405. I speak of the construction ?-It was 25 years from the beginning.
406. I am not talking of the inception ; I am speaking of the construction?-

I look upon the surveys as part of the construction.
407. Are you aware that the Pacifie IRailway from Omaha to San Francisco was

built in less than ton years ?--l think it was.
408. How does that compare in point of difficulty of construction with the

average construction of the Canadian Pacifie Railway ?--I don't think it is much
easier, but it is only half the distance.

409. I don't think the distance touches it. You can build 1,000 miles of railway
just as quickly as you can build 500 that is equally accessible, if you have the money ?
-If you can find the men to build it.

By Mr. Mackenzie:-
410. Could you have completed the surveys any more rapidly than you have

done up to this time ?-I don't think we could.
411. You had, of course, carte blanchê in the matter to proceed as fast as possible ?

-We could have spent more money, but if we spent it foolishly we would not have
done inuch good with it.

412. How long is it since you commenced the surveys ?--It is six years this
spring.

413. So you would only have four years left to finish the railway within the ten
years--to do all the construction work ?--Well we have commen(ed construction at
the eastern end, we have had men under contract for three years. I think the
Pembina Branch was started some three years ago.

414. You have about 300 miles altogether under contract ?-Yes.
By Mr. Plumb :--

415. It would not be necessary to complete the whole of the surveys before com-
mencing the work of construction ?--If we knew where we were going to, it would not.

By Dr. Tupper
416. You have stated the difficulties are about equal on the Canadian Pacifie and

Georgian Bay Branch ?--No, I have not; the difficulties of construction, the work of
excavation, &c., å4re, but the circumstances are different.

417. Are'you aware that 1,700 or 1,800 miles of the Union Pacifie railway was
completed in four years from the time they commenced construction -?--They
managed to get the rails laid, but they had (to re-construct a great deal of it
afterwards. They did it so rapidly that the rails passed each other-so I am told,
I do not know it of my own knowledge.

418. They wére, however, running over it i4 less than four years from the time
they commenced construction ?-I cannot say as to that; I know they built it with
great rapidity.

By Mr. Cartwright:
419. You have statedjust now to the Committee that, in your judgment, the

Pacifie Railway could not be built within tei years. You stated afterwards that you
were not prepared to say that it was absolutely impossible. You referred to the
moral impossibility, not the physical imposibility. Are you able to give the com-
mittee any idea, say within ton or twentj millions of dollars, of what would have



been, in your judgment, the probable coSt of constructing the Pacide Railway had il
been constructed within the ten years from the date of the union with lritish
Columbia ?-I really don t kno*. I should think it would eost'a very great dea
more than if we had taken fifty per cent. more time.

420. Would it have cost, in your judgment, double the amount ?-It would have
cost fifty per cent. more, at ail events.

421. Whatever the cost rpight be, fifty per cent. would have to be added to it ?-
1es.

RILWAY CorMMITTK ROOM,
OTTAWA, Ffriday, 13th April, 187(.

Committee met.-Mr. YoUNo in the Chair.

THOMAS RIDOUT, called and examined

By Mr. Kirkpatick
422. Have you lately examined a quantity of rails at Renfrew ?-Yes.
423. When ?-On Tuesday last.
424. Will you give us the result of that examination ?-I found on the ground

1,679 tons of rails.
425. What weight per yard ?-There was 1,068 tons of fifty-six pounds per yard,

and 611 tons at sixty pounds per yard.
By Mr. Domville:

*426. Are they punched for fish-plates or for chairs ?-Fish-plates.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:

427, Have you had charge of those rails since you went up to measure them in
1875 ?-I had instructions from Mr. Fleming in the fall of 1875, to go to Renfrew
and measure those rails, and in his letter he said those rails would be placed under
my charge.

428. How many rails did you find there at that time ?-I found then 1,906J tons.
429. What was the deficiency ?-227J tons.
430. Then, you have really got 1,679 tons there now ?-Yes, 1,679 tons.
431. Where have the missing rails gone to ?-Well, I presume, they have bees

taken by Mr. Foster.
432. They were under your charge-did you allow him to take them ?-No, I

did not know he had taken then. I was absent ail the summer making a preliminary
survey on the north shore of Lake Huron.

433. You had no authority to let him take them ?-No.
434. Can you tell what brand those rails were -the name of the mîýkers?-

Bolckow, Vaughen & Co.

CHARLES S. MUSsoN, called and examined:

By 1Mr. Kirkpatrick:
435. What are you ?- A civil engineer.
436. Are you employed on any road now ?-Not at present.
437. What road have you been employed on ?-The Canada Central.
4',8. What part of it ?-I was in charge of the Pembroke end of the extension.
439. Do you know where they got the rails they laid there last summer-the

last part of them that you psed ?-They simply came from IRenfrew as we wanted
them.

440. Do you know that any of them were Government rails? -No. In fact, I do
not know where they came from. They just sent them as we wanted them.

441. Wasn't there some trouble about getting rails for the laIst part of that
extension ?-I only remember one day. What the reason is I don't know. We
waited one day. I never heard the exact reason.
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442. Were the rails laid on the last part of the road the same quality as the rails
laid all the way from Renfrew westward ? -Yes ; the same iron was laid froin Ren-
frew to Pembroke. I only had charge of the last part constructed-the upper part
of the road-but my opinion is they were the same kind as below.

443. What is the quality of those rails ?-It is not the best iron; I have seen
better iron rails.

444. Have you ever seen worse iron rails ?-No, I don't think I have.
445. Will you give me a report of what those rails are; what is the character of

them as to quality ?-I consider the quality poor.
446. Did any of them break ?- Yes, in some cases.
447. How did they break; dropping them ?-I remember one breaking on drop-

ping it; and some were broken by the excessive heat, last summer, not having been
laid properly.

448. Is it a correct description of them to say they are nothing but thin crusts
of iron and inside is all rubbish and slag ?-I do not know that I would go that far.
There is certainty a clearly defined crust on them, and when they laminated in one
or two instances I remember you could see some distance under it.

449. Is this apparent on using them ?-I have noticed in one or two cases where
the rails have had excessive use, but that might not characterize the whole quantity.

Biy Mr. Domville:-
450. Were they made with muck bars ?-I don't know.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-
451. Had you to make a report upon them to your employers ?-No.
452. Are they working well on the road now ?-Yes; reasonably well, of course

-they are not used very heavily; they are just running one train a day over that part
of the road.

453. They are, not worn out yet ?-No; not all worn out.
By Mr. Mackenzie:-

454. Not all worn out! Do you mean to say some are worn out ?-Some were
worn out while we were ballasting the road; but you can hardly call this ordinary
use; they were replaced; I cannot say they have been worn out since.

By Mfr Kirkpatrick
455. Do you know anything of the value of rails-the market price of rails about

that time, or any time; do you keep posted as to the value ?-I just have a general
knowledge of it.

456. Do you know what was the value of rails about September 1875 ?-I should
-say they were worth between thirty and thirty-five dollars per ton in Montreal
that is a matter of recollection and opinion.

By Mr. Mackenzie :-
457. On what do you form that opinion ?-I don't recollect.
458. Is it your recollection of some sale ?-I knew of one sale.
459. Who to ? -It was to a road; I don't remember the road ; I was told of the

.sale.
460. Who told you of the sale ?-1 don't know who it was.
461. You don't remember who it was made the sale ?-No.
462. You don't remember who it was bought the rails ?--I was told that it was

a road down in Lower Canada.
463. You don't know who the buyer or the seller was ?---No.
464. Do you know anything at all yourself about the value of rails ?--Simply

from hearing quotations.
465. Where did you see them ?--In the papers from time to time.
466. Did you see that quotation in the papers--thirty to thirty-five dollars? - I

Alon't remember.
467. ýDo you believe you did see it in the papers ?-I remember that was about

the price of iron at that time.
468. The fact is you knew nothing about it ?--I knew about it at the time, but

I do not consider the opinion worth anything; it is simply recollection.
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By Mr. Domville
469. About that date do you know what the quotation was in England fdr rails;

did you notice at that time ?-Yes; I notice it as it goeS along.
470. Do you know the sterling price ?-No; 1 don't remember what it was.
471. What would be the freight from Montreal to Renfrew ?-I don't know of

my own knowledge.
472. Were those rails all of the same, pattern ?-There were two seçtions, at

least, of those that were lying at IRenfrew.
473. Were the flanges nicked for spikes ?-The slots were not in some of them,

I believe; I know we had to make some.
474. Iow do they run in lengths ?-From 18 to 24 I-4hink.
475. All lengths ?-Yes; dilIerent lengths.
476. Did *you join the same sections together or put two different sections

together ?-All we laid were the same section.
477. When you broke those rails, what did you see inside; were they crystal-

-large crystals or smal erystal, or small fibre, or what?--What I think is they were
not good iron, whéther it was in the rolling or quality I cannot say.

478. Yeu bave seen a piece of pig-iron broken ?---Yes.
479. You know how it looks when it is broken?-Yes.
480. Did the rail look anything like that ?-I should say it did.
481. Would it be a greyish colour ?-It is rather bard for me to recollect what

the break looked like.
By Mr. Mfackenzie:

482. I suppose you have no technical knowledge of the manufacture ?-No; no
practical knowledge.

483. That is what I mean----have you any knowledge of the foundry business?-
No.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-
484. Have you counted those rails at Renfrew, or do you know what quantity

of rails is there ?-Not exactly; I never countedthem.
By Mr. Mackenzie:-

485. Do you know if there was a mixture of 56 and 60 pound rails between Ren-
frew and Pembroke ?-No; all are small sections between Renfrew and Pembroke,
except some sidings.

486. You are not aware that 37 tons of 60 pound rails were laid there ?-No

TuomAs RIDOUT, re-called and examined:

By Mr Mackenie.:-
487. You say 227 tons have apparently been taken away ? -Yes.
488. Will you say how much of them was 60 pound rails and how much 56

pound rails ?-There was 37J tons of 60 pound rails and 190 tons of 56 pound rails.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:

489. How do you come at that ?-By counting the rails.
490. lHow many 60 pound rails were there 3-648J tons were there originally.
491. low many visits did you make to Renfrew to count those rails ?-In 187fr

I was there very frequently; from October until January, 1876.
492. Were you there in September ?-No; I had not returnod from French

River in September when the first lot was counted.
493. You were not there when the first lot was counted ?-No; but I subsequently

examined them and checked them over.
494. You did not check the first lot on the ground ?-Oh, yes I did, in October.
495. But not in September ?-No; I was not here, but I subsequently checked it

through when I was counting the other.
496. Were you instructed to see as to7the quality ?--No.
497. Simply as to the quantity ?-Yes.
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R&rLwAy COMMITTM Roox,
Monday, Aprils23rd, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. YoUNG in the Chair.

SANDFORD FLEMING called and further examined:

By Mr. Mackenzie.:
49 . You were asked when you were here before what means you took to ascertain

what the price of iron rails was at that time, you stated you could not recollect at the
moment; can you now make any statement'to the Committee on that point ?.-Some
.enquiries were made as to the price of rails before the time referred to ; I have here
in my hand data furnished by Mr. Sandberg, who is well known in connection with
the purchase and inspection of rails, and from that I had a fair idea of the value of
rails previous to the time referred to. From that it would appear that the price of
rails when thèse were probably purchased the previous fall was £7 10s.

499. In England ?-Yes, in England.
By Dr. Tupper

500. At what date would they be £7 10s in England ?-The fall of the previous
year.

501. What year ?-The fall of 1874; to that sum, being nearly $38.50, I add the
.cost of insurance, carriage from England to Montreal, thence to Renfrew, and all the
handling by the way in round numbers $10, making in all $48.50, ai the price per ton
.at Renfrew.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick
502. What is the date of that ?-This was obtained at the time; these are

published by him every year.
503. Are they sent to you every year ?-They are sent to me very frequently;

probably oftener than once a year, I have had them sent to me very often, but I can-
not say I have had them every year.

504. Have you the one for the fall of 1875 ?-Yes; I have the prices up to the
.end of 1875.

505. What does he give the prices at up to the end of 1875 ?-The price is very
,nuch less; in the fall of 1875, the price is £6 10s.

By Mr. Wood:-
506. Por steel rails ?-No; iron rails.
507. Where was that price quoted ?-At the iron works in England.
508. Delivered where ?-Delivered F. O. B.
509. In Liverpool ?--4t an English port.
510. Is that the price of any maker ?---That is the average price of rails made

In England.during each year since 1845. It is a printed diagram with the additional
.*verages since 1874, added by hand.

511. Do you know who is the maker of the rails now before the Committee ?-
Bolckow, Vaughan & Co.; they are marked " B., V. & Co."

By Mr. Dymond:-
512. Are they one of the drat firms engaged in the- manufacture of iron rails in

England ?-They are a well-known firm. 1 have in my hand invoices of .rails
inade at Middlesbro' by the same makers. One invoice is datede May 26th; the
.others are dated June 30th, 1875.

By Mr. Krkpatrick :-
513. Addressed to whom ?-To C. J. Brydges, for the delivery of rails at Halifax.

I referred to t4Ie price of these rails the other day as guiding me to a certain extent
in placing the price of the rails at Renfrew at $48 per ton.

By Dr. Tupper:
514. What is the price mentioned in those invoices to C. J. Brydges ?-The first

two are for shipments in 1875. I will read Mr. Brydges' letter.

(See Letter No. 11, appended)
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515. Were those obtained by publie tender ?-I imagine seo.
By Mr.; Kirkpatrick :

516. What was the invoice price in 1876 ?-£7 5s delivered at Halifax.
By Mr. Macdougall (E n)

517. What were those rails for in 1876 ?-
loln. Mr. Mackende:-It was for the renewat of a branch of the Intercolonial

Mailway. It had got into such a state that we were liable te an accident at any
lime unless it was put in order.

518. Were they steel or iron ?--Iron. They cost about $41, insurance and all,
-delivered at Halifax.

By Mr. Mackenzie :
519. Did you make any enquiry about the price of the steel rails got last

.year ?-No.
THONAS REYNOLDS called and examined:

By Dr. Tupper:-
520. You have been asked to attend the Committee for the purpose of giving

-evidence as to the value of steel rails the past season: would you be kind enough to
state if you have made any purchase of rails of any description-steel or iron, or
Ïboth-and the quality and the prices af which you obtained them ?-We have par-
.chased two lots of six hundred tons each; steel rails. The order was given in
November, to our purchasing agent, in London.

521. November, 1876 ?-Yes; last November. The rails are now being put iato
the track, and there are four or five miles of them in already The first lot were
invoiced at £7 15s per ton, including insurance and freight to Prescott.

522. What is the rate of freight and insurance ?-[ have no information as to
that, but I assume it cannot be less than fifteen shillings per ton, including freight
.and insurance.

523. How much would the freight be to Prescott, do you say ?-- -I don't think it
would be less than fifteen rhillings, including -insurance.

524. How did they come from Montreal to Prescott ?--By railway from Port-
land to Prescott.

525. Are you able to say what the cost would be of carrying rails from Portland
to Prescott ?--They were delivered in Grand Trunk Railway cars at
Prescott, but I cannot tell that. The ordinary rate of the Grand Trunk Railway
-would be more than fifteen shillings per ton, alone, for the rails; but I have no doubt
there was a special arrangement made by the people in England.

By Mr. Wood :-
526. Are you aware that freight is taken to London, Ontario, at that rate ?--

I am not aware of it.
By Mr. Mackenzie:-

527. Who did you buy from ?-The first 600 tons were bought from the Shemeld
Bessemer Steel Co.

By Dr. Tupper:
528. Who did you say that the rails were purchased from?-The first 600 tons

from the Sheffield Bessemer Steel Co., and the second from the-Mersey Steel Co.
529. Is the Bessemer Steel Co. a first-class company for the manufacture of

rails?--Yes; as I am informed.
530. Wbat time was the order given for the second lot ?-About the middle of

December, I think.
531. At the tinMe that you ordered the first lot of 600 tons, could you have pur.

.chased any quantity you wanted at that rate ?-I think so. My agent explained to
me by cable why he could not do any better as to the second lot. He said there was
a stiffening in the price of iron and also of freights.

532. You have purchased only steel rails ?-That is all.
533. Are you able to state to the Committee what you could have obtained good

iron -rails for at the time you purchased steel rails for £7 10s ?-Not from actual
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experience, but I shoald say there was adigence of £2 per ton at 1east. That is
merely an opinion. I have not made any purchase, and therefore I do not give you
anything but my opinion.

534. Would you be able to stkte, having had the ex'perience of bringing these rails
vid Portland, whether it would have been botter or cheaper to have had them shipped
to Montroal ?-Of course they could not have been shippod to Montreal the time we
bought and wanted them; they came ont in winter.

' 535, I understand that, but would the freight have been less for shipping to
Montreal-freight and insurance ?-It is almóst impossible to answer that question;.
I. think this rate of freight bas been an entirely exceptional state of things. It must
have been exceptionally low, taking into account tbat the Grand Trunk Railway
Company bad to haul then all the way from Portland to Prescott.

536. W bat do you suppose wourd have been the additional cost of freight if they
had been shipped to Renfrew instead of to Prescott ?-There would have been
another transhipment. The Brockville and Ottawa lino bas not the same gauge as
the Grand Trunk Railway, and there would have to be an additional charge per mile
which, on a short local line, would be large; I think ton shillings a ton more,
including transhipment--perhaps more; it is really very difficult to say.

By Mr. Dymond:-
53t. That is, the rate you imagine to have been charged for these rails is no

guide at all to what it would be on a local lino, under the circumstances ?-No ; I
fancy the rates were exceptionally low. I have never got anything from England
yet at such low rates.

By Mr. Ifackenzie:-
538. That is on account of the compeiition between the railways ?-Partly.
539. You are aware they carry freights fron St. Louis and from Chicago at the

same rate ?-Yes ; the competition of American lines comes in there, which would
not affect us.

By Mr. Holton:
540. It is an exceptional state of things ?-Yes.

By Dr. Tupper:
541. I have had no communication with you until we met this morning ?-Not

at alL. I have been absent in New York until the last two days.
By Mr. Wood:-

542. Who purchased those rails ?-My son, in England. He looks after my
interests very closely.

543. I)o you know anything of the specification of the rails ?-No.
By Alr Mackenzie:-

544. Do you know the lengths ?-Thirty feet long.
By Mr. Wood

545. They were not made to your order ?-Yes, rolled to our order.
646. Inspected as they were rolled ?-Yes, inspected at the time of rolling.

By Mr. Macdougall (Elgin):
547. You say those rates to Prescott are exceptionally low. What do you sup-

pose would be the general freight from Liverpool to Prescott ?-I should think from
twenty-five to thirty shillings per ton.

By Mr. Mackenzie -
548. I see the rails run from twenty to twenty-eight feet, and twenty-eight ·is

the maximum ?-Unfortunately the Customs authorities have the original invoices,
and these are not the whole of them. I did not suppose tyou wanted evidence as to-
the length of them. The larger number in those invoices are 28 feet long; a very
emall number are less. We do not object to have some short rails.

By lfr. Blain:
549. 1 understand you to say those purchases by you are so exceptional they

would not form a guide as to the price of rails geuerally ?-No, I did not say that; I
say the rates of freight are exceptionally low. My son expressed his regiret at the
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time he bought the first lot that lie had not known we wanted more; he could have
got any quantity at that rate.

By Mr. Macdougall (Elgin) -
550. You stated not long after you purchased the first lot the market stiffened,

and you had to pay more ?-There was a sudden increase in iron ship-building in
Glasgow which stiffened up the market, but I believe it fell bac!k again.

By Mr. Blain:----
551. It was fluctuating ?-Yes.

By .Mr. Mackenzie:--
552. Please look at the invoices you have produced and say what the maximum

and the minimum length of the rails is in them?-The threo invoices before me,
representing 702 tons, show that the bulk of the rails are twenty-eight feet long.

553. And the shortest?---There are seven rails 18 feet long ; nineteen, 21; thirty-
two, 24; one hundred and seventy nine, 26; and the balance 2,560, 28 feet long.

554. Then the minimum is 18 feet and the maximum 28 ?----Yes.
By Mr. Wood :-

555. What is the weight of those rails ?---Fifty-six pounds a yard, made to ouir
own templet.

By Dr. Tupper:-
556. Were these fish-plate rails?---Yes; punched for ffish-plate; of course the

fish-plates were not included in the price of the rails.
By. Mr. Wood:--

557. I suppose you have not a copy of the specifications you seat ?-No.
By Mr. Mackenzie:-

558. Can you get a copy?-Not without writing to England for it.
By Mr. Wood -

559. You know the specifications the Great Western used ?-No; I don't know
what their present specification is; I knew what it was when they had iron rails.

By Mr. Macken:ie:-
560. What are the ordinary freight charges from Liverpool to Prescott ?-We

hardly ever have any.
561. Do you have any to Ottawa ?---No; two or three years ago the Grand

Trunk Railway Company made arrangements with the Allan Lino for rates to all
points, but the steamship company at that time had so much to do they took nearly
the whole rate to Montreal or Portland, as the case might be, and wo have had no
business of that kind for some time as it did not pay.

562. Do you know the ordinary rates from Brockville to Renfrew ?--I cannot say.
By Dr. Tupper:-

563. About how much ?-I cannot quote the figures; we have no connection
with Renfrew, and therefore we do not pay much attention to it.

564. What would be the ordinary rate on the Grand Trunk Railway per ton,
per mile, for rails ?-That is not the way in which the Grand Trunk Railway
Company deal with matters. You sometimes find freight coming from Montreal to
Prescott at $10 per car; at other times, when business is brisk, the rate is three
times that or nearly so. It is merely a matter of fight all the time.

.By Mr. Mackenzie
565. You sometimes charge that ?-We never charge more than tariff rates,

except when we can get them.
566. What is the rate per car ?-There are four classes of freight. For instance,

furniture is very dangerous to carry. We charge $20 a car for it or nmore.
567. You charged me $30 ?-We cannot get that now.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick :-
568. You and the Brockville and Ottawa have the same rates now ?--Yes as

between Brockville and Ottawa and Prescott and Ottawa.
569. What is the rate from Brockville to Ottawa on rails ?---The rate would be

about $12 per car.
570. It would be about the same to Renfrew ?--No. There is competition here.
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They have to compete for Ottawa bisiness, but to Renfrew they can charge what they
like. They can charge their full tariff rates, more than twice that.. It is a queetion
of "as much as you can get." That is the principle that railway companies have to
act upon. What with water competition and Government railway competition, and
additional competition being prepared for us, I fear we shall have to shut up by
and bye.

By Mr. Mackenzie :
571. What would you tranship for ?-We could not handle for less than a dollar

per-car.
572. Doyou mean to say ton men would unload ten cars a day ?-The way it

would be done is this, it fatls to the freight department, and they generally turn to
this when they have nothing else to do. We are obliged tò economize in every way.

By Mr. Macdougatt, (Elgin)
573. Do you consider ten dollars a ton for freight from Liverpool to iRenfrew,

including insurance, port charges, handljng, &c., at the time they were delivered in
1875 a fair rate ?-I could not say anythig as to the rates and charges at that time.
Things have changed so much it would only mislead the CommiWee. Without guing
into t he state of things existing thon, I cold not give an opinion.

574. Rates of freight were very low in 1876 ?-Yes, but they fluctuated.
By Dr. Tupper:-

575. They were very low in 1875 ?-Yes.
b76. Lower, on the whole, than in 1876 ?-Well, I cannot ôay that they were.

By Mr. Bowell:-
577. Were the rates in 1875, for freights from Liverpool, as low as in 1876 ?-

Yes; occasionally the ocean rates were not.
By Dr. Tupper::-

578. Freights were lower in 1876 than in 1875 ?-Yes, part of the time. A
portion of the time, when we were getting out materials for our store department it
was so, but they varied.

By Mr. Workman:
579. Weren't they more than double as high in 1875 as in 1876 ?-I would have

to look up every month's rates to ascertain.
By Mr. Wood :

580. Do you know what those steel rails you iinported could be purchased for
to-day ?-Abont £8 10s., I should think, supposing freight rates to be the same; wC
would get them at the same price as the last lot.

Mr. Taos. WoRKMAN called and examined:
By Mr. MAackenzie:-

581. Can you tel] us the comparative freight rates of the years 1875 and 1876 ?-
During the Winter of 1875-76, I think the rate for freight was more than doutble that
of 1$76-77, principally on account of the competition existing between Hlalifax and
Portland, also between New York linos and Portland. Our firm in IMontreal thought
we got iron at a low rate through the winter at 30 shillings; that did not include
primage which is ton per cent., which would make it 33s. to Montreal.

ByDr. Tupper:-
582. At what time was that ?-During the winters of 1873-4and 1874-5; the

rate of 1876 was exceptionally low, it was less than one-half what we used to pay.
The rate to Hamilton, London, Toronto and St. Catharines was 15s. sterling per ton,
while they were charging to Montreal people 30s. and 35s. We remonstrated as
strongly as possible against this and brouglit it before the Board of Trado, and, ulti-
mately, the rate was reduced to the same price exactly. They charged as much to
carry a hundred tons of bar iron to Montroal as they did to London, which,
I believe, is 550 miles further-they carried it from Montreal to London for nothing.
Even at fifteen shillings per ton the rate was less than one-half what we used to pay.
We have paid eighty shillings per ton to Montreal in former years; and five per cent,

rimage, which made it eighty-four shillings sterling.



By Mr. Domville
.583. low many years ago was that ?-Fifteen or sixteen years.

By Dr. T1upper o
584. Are you able to state to the Committee what wa the freight per ton of

dead weight, from Liverpool to Montreal, in the summer of 1875 ?-In the sam.rmer
of 1875 it was low. The lowest price I am aware of by steamer was 89. 9d. to 10., sand
by sailing vessels, at 7s. 6d.-I mean bar iron. Rails are charged higher owing to
the difficulty of loading and unloading.

385. What is the difference per ton ?-About two shillings and six pence,
sterling.

586. In 1876 what was the freight from Liverpool to Montreal ?-The rates
were apparently 12s. 6d., but discounts were given secretly. I auppose they would be
the same in 1875 as in 1876. The three steamboat 'lines entered into an arrange-
ment to carry freight at a certain rate, but they secretly broke through these rates
and rebates were given; 11s. Lo 12s. 6d. was the rate, and 10 per cent. primage.

587. Therefore the rat uo were bigher in 1876 than in 1875 in the summer?-
No; that was the rate, but they broke through it.

588. t want to know whether the rates were not higher last summer than in the
summer of 1875 ?-I think they were nearly the same.

589. Are you aware that the year 1876 was a better year for shipowners than
18 à5 ?-Tae homeward freights wore better, but I think the outward freights were
about the same. In the winter of 1874-5 I tried to make a contract and was asked
very high rates.

590. I want to ask you what would be the insurance upon a ton of rails from
Liverpool to Montreal ?-In the summer season it is half the price of the spring and
fail. In summer, 40 cents would be about the rate, supposing the value of the rails
to be $40 per ton.

By 2|ir. Domville
591. How much for sailing vessels ?-One per cent. during the summer months.

In the spring, owing to the danger, it is higher. I might mention the rate of freight
from Montreal to Pembroke is exceptionally high, as compared with the rate from
Montreal to Ottawa by rail or water.

By Dr. Tupper :
592. What would be the cost of rails from Montreal to Prescott ?-The rate is

greatly different in winter and summer.
593. In winter ?-From Montroal to Prescott it would probably be ton shillings

a ton.
594. What would it be last summer ?-Less than five shillings, because they had

to compete with the water routes; for a large amount you could make much better
terms with the Grand Trunk Railway.

595. When the navigation is open it would be one-half ?-Yes, when they have
to compete with the river.

By Mr. Kirkpatrik:
596. What would be e rate from Montreal to Renfrew during the summer?-

I should think at least twenty shillings per ton.
By Mr. Mackenzie:

597. You could not take them up any other way than by railway ?-Ves; you
could send g.oods to Ottawa, then carry them to Aylmer, and then take them up that
way; before the railway was built they had to take them by Aylmer.

By Mr. Wood:-
598. That would not be cheaper ?-No.

.By Dr. Tupper:-
599. You mean to say that the rate to Renfrew would be four or five dollars ?-

I should think from Montreal to RJenfcew would be six dollars; there is no competi-
tion there; since the ceompetition with the American lines is so great we can make
better contracts with the Grand Trunk Railway, and sometimes they will take goods
for half the.price they would formerly.



By Mr. Wood:-
600. Would you pay jast as much for rails fromi Liverpool te Pieseott as from

Liverpool to Montreal ?-I don't know ; I never had anything shipped to Preseott.
401. But would you, in consequence of those through rates being lower?-Last

year was exceptional.

Xr.'TauDEAU called and examined:

By Mr. Mackenzie
402. State to the Committee the cost of steel rails bought last summer for the

Pzinee Bdward Island Railway-bought by tender in England ?-Delivered at
uriaisribptwn, £8 1Os. per ton.

By Dr. Tupper :
603. What date was that ?-This must have been in July, 1876, as the following

letter-from:C. J. Brydges shows.
(See letter No. 16 appended.)

604. Does the fact of their being flfty pounds per yard weight instead of fifty
six pounds increase or decrease their value ?--This letter does not state.

605. Do you know ?-1 do not.
By Mr. Domville :-

606. Is not fifty pounds, as far as you know, not an ordinLry size of steel rails ?-
It is a light rail.

607. Is not the ordinary weight of steel rails more than fifty pounds per yard ?
-Ffty-six pounds is a general weight.

608. Consequently if an order was sent for fifty pounds rails, and the rolling
mill was not fitted for manufacturing such rails, and the various other gear not there
for making special sizes like that, would they not charge more ?-I have been told
that the weight of the rail does not affect it very much in the price per ton.

609. I am not speaking of that; I want to know does the special size make a
difference in price ?-I am not a rail-maker, and cannot telil.

610. I want to know if you have any special information on the subject ?-The
weight of the rails does not affect the price.

611. Does it affect the price any ?-My information does not go that far.

Mr. SANDFoRb FLEMING, re-called and further examined:

B Mr. Mackenzie :-
612. You were asked the other day whether you considered $31,000 of the

amount expended on the surveys of the Georgian Bay braneh could be made avail-
able for future surveys on that li ne.' You stated you did not recollect having'given
any certificaroto that effect. There is a letter of the 28th of April, I think, where
you stated you thought it would be available in your opinion ; can you send that to
the Committee ?-'Certainly.

(The foll&wing are the documents referred to in the Report.)

(7.)
OTTAWA, 29th April, 1876.

Georgian Bay Branch Survey.

Sia,-I have the honour to certify that I have examined the accounts submitted
by Mr. A. B. Poster, contractor, for his outlay and liabilities in connection with
*bove, en4 amounting in all to $50,966. 27.



The Erst item in schedule of acconuht dubmitted is for construction of buildings)
wharf, &c., at mouth of the, Frenh River, $9,494.83.

Of this I have no persônal knowledge, the work having been done before Mr
Poster had engaged me as hie consulting engineer; nor have I since visited Lhe;plaw

For surveys, amonnt expended, $31,838.15, the accounts for 'which T havit
examined, and can certify to the whole having been fairly incurred for the;purpi
claimed. In some of the details the charges are, perhap, open to criticism a somne-
what high; but taking the whole number of miles of -' e surveyed, 197, the total
expenditure is by no means extravagant or unreasonable.

The remainder of the account is made up of the following items:-
Head ofiâce and Aocountant's expenes, & .................. 2,500 00
Consulting Engineer, for services .................. 2,500 00
Ten per cent. upon whole account... ............... 4,633 29

The last of which only calls for special explanation and is intended .to meet the
" sundry and varions " expenses incident to preparing for carrying out a large con-
tract, and which, though they cannot always be formulated into specific accounts and
vouchers, nevertheless constitute a fair and just charge agai est the-wnrl.

Taking the whole outlay, exclusive of that at mouth of French River (whih,
not having come under my cognizance, I am unable to testify to), I consider it as fair
and reasonable for the work performed.

Mr. Ridout, the Government Engineer, can speak .as to the structures and ex-
penditure at French River.

I have the honour to be,.Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) W. SH A-NLY,
Consulting Engineer for Contractor

T. TRUDEAu, Esq.,
Deputy Commissioner Public Works.

(11.)
RwAILwY DEPARTMENT,

MoNCToN, N.B., llth April, 1877.

Sm,-I beg to enclose you three invoices of iron rails for the Intercolonial Rail-
way, during the years 1875-6.

The first two are for a shipment in 1875, comprising two thousand tons of iron
rails purchased through G. P. Sandberg from Bolckow, Vaughan & Co., at the price of
£8 per ton delivered at Halifax.

The third is for tweve hundred (1,200) tons purchased also through C. P.
Sanberg from Guest & Co , in 1876, delivered at Halifax at £7 5s. per ton.

I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) C. J. BRYDGES,
General Superintendent Government Raiways.

F. BRAUN, Esq., Secretary,
Department of Public Works,

Ottawa,
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(12.)

DDTLE8RRo' ON Tas, 26th May, 1875.

O. J. BEYDGEB, Esq., Montreal.

Bought of BoLCKow, VAUGBAN &o., (Limited)

Per ' Mercurus " to Halifax.
1875.

May 26th. To ........ 3,115 24 0 Rails.........
151 22 0 " .........

42 29 0 " ........
24 18 0 " .........

3,332 Rails.
804 bundies Fish Plates

Con'itaining 8,040 pieces, 32

67 cato Lah Bolts and Nuts.
Containing î x 3î 15 tous,

T. cwt. q. ibs.
667 10 0 0

29 13 0 24'
7 10 0 0
3 17 0 16

708 10 1 112 £8

tOns, 8 cwt. 0 £9 15S.

1 cwt., 2 £20

£5,668 2 10

315 18 0

301 19 0

£6,285 10 0

Delivered ex Ship Halifax.

(13.)

MIDDLESBRO' oN TEEs, 30th June, 1875.

C. J. BRYDGEs, Esq., Montreal.

Bought of BOLCKOW, VAUGHAN & Co., (Limited.)

Per I Granville Bell," Halifax.

1875.

June 30, to......... 5,635 24 0
306 22 0

94 20 0
45 18 0

6,080 Rails.

T. ewt. q. Ibs.
Rails......... 1,207 10 0 0

c ......... 60 2 0 16
......... 16 5 2 24

7 4 2 16

1,291 12 2 0 £8 £10,333

1,182 bundles containing
11,820 Fish Plates, ............ 47 12 0 0 £9 15s. 464

0 0

2 0

111 cases containing
x × 3¾ x Fish Bolts and Nuts, 24 tons, 18 cwt.

2 qrs. £20.......................

Delivered ex-Ship, Halifax.

498 10 0

£11,295 12 0
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(14.)

13 Kings Arme Yard, 3.C.
LONDON, March 30, 1876.

C. J. BRYDGo, Esq.,
To GuEST & Co.

Iron Rails and Fastenings shipped per "Chelydra" to Halifax, N.S.

5,154 24 0 1,093 18 1 15
163 L3 0 33 6 0 5
209 22 0 40 14 1 21

83 21 0 15 10 ' l18
67 20 0 11 18 2 6
20 19 0 3 7 2 10
56 18 0 8 18 2 2

£ s, d. £ s.d.
5,752 Rails. bdIs. 1,207 13 3 16 7 5 0 9,103 12 8

11,900 Fish Plates (1190) 47 19 2 8)
23,180 Bolte and Nuts, 122 14 8 0 10 15 15 0 2,6 17 5

1,270 1 2 6 £9,330 10 1

(15.)

RAILwAY DEPARTMENT,
ST. JoHN, N.B., 29th July, 1876,

MY DEAR Si,--t have now received from Mr. Sandberg, to whom 1 wrote
particulars about the prices offered for a thousand tons of steel iails, fifty pou nde to
the yard, for the Island Railway.

The offers ho received were as follows:-
Charles Campbell & Co., Sheffield, £9 6s. 4d. per ton, delivered at Charlottetown;

iDroufiold Steel Works, £9 10s. per ton, delivered at Charlottetown; Guest & Co.,
£8 10s. per ton, delivered at Charlottetown.

He applied to several other makers, but they stated they were unable to offer,
as their books were full of orders. He further stated that nearly all the steel-makors
in England are full of work, whilst the non-makers are rapidly closing their shops.

The consumption for steel seems to be rapidly superseding iron for rail purposes.
The smallest quantity of rails that can be had, to enable the Island Railway

to run safely next winter, will be 500 tons; and I hope you will give me authority to
order, at least that quantity. It would be better to have 1,000 tons, because the
balance of 500 tons would be ready for use in the early spring, if necessity for so
doing became apparent during the winter.

Will you be good enough to let me have as early a reply as you can, so that if
an order can be given, I may cable it to England.

Unless we do this, there will be a delay in getting the rails.
The rails will be as I have told you fifty pounds to the yard.

Yours faithfully,

(Signed) C. J, BRYDGES.
Honorable AEx. MACKENZIu,

Ottawa.



ianauas PÂVWme RAILWÂT,
OFFICE OF THE ENGINEER-IN-OHIE,

- OTTWA, 28th April, 1876.

Si,--With respect to that part, in the Order in Couneil of 8th March, touching
the value of the works of exploration, survey and construction performed by the
Hon. A. B. Foster.

I have -rade every enquiry into the subject, and I feel assured that in the event of
the Georgian Bay Branch being proceeded with, -the expenditure incurred will
generally be available in the prosecution of the work.

I find that of the accounts furnished by Mr. Poster there are only receipts for
about $20,000. Accordingly I would advise that he be called upon to furnish com-
plete vouchers, and that the whole be-placed in the Audit Department for examination.

I am, &c., &c.,

(Signed) SANDFORD FLEMING.

P. BauN, Esq.

Seeretary Public Works Department.

Certified copy
(Signed) THOMAS R. BURPÉ,

Secretary.
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EVIDEYCE
TAKEN before the Committee appointed to enquire as to the Administration of Justice

in the District of Richelieu, and to which was referred the petition of F. X. .

BIRON, Notary, et al., complaining of the conduct of the Hon. Judge LoRANGR,

Judge of the Superior Court.

(Translation.)

EVIDENCE ON BEHALF OF THE PETITIONER.

A. N. GoUIN, Prothonotary of the District of Richelieu, being duly sworn,
deposeth and saith:

Question. What is your Christian name ?-Antoine Nemeze.
Q. You reside at Sorel ?-Yes.
Q. Are you Prothonotary of the Superior Court for the District of Richelieu,

and Clerk of the Circuit Court ?-Yes-
Q. How long have you been so ?-Since 1858.
Q. You heve been the custodian of the records of the said Courts since that

date.-Yes ?
Q. You are also the custodian of the roll of cases inscribed for enquête and

hearing ?-l am, and I produce it.
Q. The records both of the Superior Court and of the Circuit Court are in your

custody, are they not ?-Yes.
Q. Have you with you the roll fixing the time for cases inscribed for mnquéte and

hearing on the merits, for the year 1873 ?-Yes.
Q. Is it the only one which you have ?-Yes; it is at the same time the roll

of enquêtes in law.
Q. For the Superior Court ?-Yes.
Q. Is it the only one which you have ?-Yes.
Q. That roll is in the possession of the Clerkl?-Yes.
Q. It is placed in the possession of the Judge for the calling of cases, is it not ?

-Yes.
Q. After Court, where does that roll remain ?-It remains in the office,

constantly in my possession.
Q. Always in your possession ?-I place it before the Judge only when the,

Court is open.
Q. Have you with you the record No. 1322, Superior Court, Mathieu vs. Brous-

seau ?-Yes.
Q. Will you produce it ?-Yes. (Witness produces the record in question.)
Q. Now, have you with you the record No. 1332, same plaintiff and same-

defendant, same Court ?-Yes, here it is. (Witness produces the record ia
question.)

Q. Have you also another record-etili the Superior Court--of Pope et aL., vs..
Truesdell et al., No. 708 ?-Yes, I now produce it.

3-1
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Q. Have you the record No. 1070, Superior Court, Belanger vs. Bourque? -It
was not asked for in the subpæna which was sent to me. I, however, brought it
upon a requisition which was made to me.

Q. phen you have it here in your possession ?-Yes.
Q. I shall request you to produce it?-Here it is. (Witness produces the

record in question.)
Q. Have you with you the record No. 1214, Eulalie Fortin vs. Cyprien Charbon-

neau ?-Yes, and I now produce it.
Q. Have you with you the record No. 1178, P. X. Beauparlant, insolvent, and

A. Germain, assignee, opposant, and Olivier Chauvin, petitioner ?-Yes, I now
produce it.

Q. Have you with you a record of the Superior Court, District of Richelieu, in
which the names of the parti'es are Mondoux vs. Letendre ?-I have not; I could net
find it among the archives.

Q. Did you áscertain whether such a case existed ?--Yes, I ascertained that there
was a like record.

Q. Did you observe that that record bore the number 5693, and the same name,
that is to say, Mondoux s. Letendre ?-Yes.

Q. 'Ihd you ascertain whether judgment was rendered in that case ?-That is
more than I can say. I did not remark specially.

Q. Did you make a search for that record ?-Yes, I searched in the pigeon-
holes, where all the records are, but I could not find it. I told Mr. Germain that I
had not got it,-that it was not in the pigeon-holes.

Q. Did you make a thorough or a superficial search to find that record ?-Wheu
I recived my subpæna I looked in the pigeon-holes where, by its number, the record
ought to be, without finding it. I searched as we usually search when advocates
ask us for a record. I did not search in the book of receipts which the advocates
give. It may have left the office a long time ago, but I do not know.

Q. Will you open the register of cases inscribed for enquête and hearing at the
places where the entries are, relative to the two cases, Mathieu vs. Brousseau ?-
ilere it is: 3rd October, 1873.

Q. Is that the first entry which is made of those cases ?-I think so.'
Q. Be pleased, then, to refer to the 17th May previous ?-Yes; here I flnd two

.entries.
Q. What are they ?-For the case No. 1322, the plaintif declares his enquéte

closed,-to the 19th, for the enquête of the defendant.
Q. And for the case No. 1332 ?-For the case No. 1332, of Mathieu vs. Brous-

seau, I see The plaintif declares his enquête closed. i
Q. Is there a day fixed for the enquête of the defondant in that case ?-No.
Q. Now, Mr. Gouin, will you turn to the 19th May, and see what is done in the

case No. 1322 ?-In the case No. 1322, here, To nea t term.
Q. And iii that No 1332 ?-'/o next term also.
<. Will you say how it happens that the ca-e No. 1332, for which there was no

potponement to a fixed day, on the 17th, is entered for the 19th; could it have been
entered for an intermediate day. for the 1Sth for instance ?--I cannot say * * *
I think that * * * I see here a do. which may apply to the preceding
entry. I think that that ditto signifies what is stated by the preceding entry.

Q. Now will you turn to the nonth of October, at the first mention nale of
those two cases in the register which you have in your hands ?-Here.

Q. It is the following term, ie it not?-Yes.
Q. What day ?-3rd October.
Q. Are those two eases entered ? -Yes.
Q. What entries were mude ?-For No. 1322 I see P.O.C.A. V. Those letters

a. e struck out. Below there is the defendant declares his enquête closed, P.O.G A. V.
Q. And tor No. 1332, now ?.-There are also the letters P.O.C.A. V. which are

strack out, and underneath, lower down, there is written fafne entry.
Q. Please tell us, now, what entry was made by the Judge on the Bench, on the



-'3e October, 1873 ?-I canpot tell you. I did not examine the booku subsequently,
after the Court.

Q. Were you present in Court ?-Yes.
Q. Were you cognizant of the calling of those two cases ?-Yes, I think so_'
Q. Did the defendant declare his enquête closed ?-I cannot say. I do not know

whether he said his enquête was closed, or whether he said ho had >othing to sy.
The adverse party argued his case and *

Q. You have not any recollection of the matter ?-No.
Q. In whose bands was the book ?-In the bands of the Judge.
Q. In whose handwriting are those entries?-They are in the handwriting of the

Judge.
Q. You said just now, Mr. Gouin, that you did not examine the Register at once

. after the adjournment of the Court; had yon occasion to examine the said Register
say eight or ten days afterwards?- * * *

Q. I will recall circumstances to your recollection; did not one of the advocates,
.Mr. Mathieu, go to your office to look at those entries ?-I have not any knowledge
of that. It was, perhaps, to my deputy that Mr. Mathieu addresed himself.

Q. Was it to your cognizance that the defendant in one of those two cases in-
scribed the judgment for review ?-Yes.

Q. Within the ordinary delay ?-Yes.
Q. Do you not remember that Mr. Mathieu came, after that inscription, to examine

the records and the registers ?-I cannot say; I do not think ho applied to me for
that; it was perhaps to my deputy that he addressed himself.

Q. Is it not within your recollection that Mr. Mathieu complained to you of the
-entries which appear on the roll ?-(Witness): Mr. Mathieu?

Q. Yes, Mr. Mathieu ?-I do not know; I think not.
Q. Who was your deputy ?-Mr. de Grandpré.
Q. Is heso still ? Yes.
Q. Did Mr. Mathieu ask you either before or after the inscription in review to

rectify the entries in the Register ?-I cannot say; 1 think not.
Q. Did he ever speak to you about it ?-I do not remember it.
Q. Did your deputy never inform you of such an application for rectification,

which was made to him by Mr. Mathieu ?-I think not.
Q. Is it to your knowledge that the Judge had that roll after the October termi

-That is more than I can say; ho might send for it or corne to see it at the office.
Q. Now, Mr. Gouin, in this record Pope et al. vs. Truesdell et al., will you take

two paper writings, that is to say, two motions, and a document, if such there be,
representing the judgment rendered on those two motions ?-Here; I see bore a
motion of the defendant, Daniel Truesdell et al., and a motion of the defendant,
William Anderson.

Q. Those are the only motions which there are in the records ?-No; here is
another on behalfof the plaintiffs, J. O. Pope and others. These motions were produced
in the District of Joliette. The two motions above-mentioned were heard at Sôrel,
on the 9th February, 1874.

Q. Who were the advocates on either side ?-The advocates were Messrs. Godin
& Desrochers for the plaintiffs.

Q. And fo# the defendants ?--Messrs. Baby & MeConville for the defendant
Anderson; for the defendant Truesdell, Mr. I. N. A. McConville.

Q. Was there judgment on those motions ?-Yes ; upon each motion.
Q. When were those judgments rendered ?-The next day-the 10th February.
Q. Have you a copy of those judgments--any document whatever relating to

those judgments ?-There is a slip or band of paper on which the debbéré is written.
Q. Is it the custom in the Courts in the District of ]Richelieu Io make mention

ri that way of the judgments rendered-?-Yes.
Q. That often happens ?-Yes.
Q. li hat done always-invariably?-Almost always for motions; on the
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inerits it is always done, unless the Judge takes the record before him at once; themi
there is not time to mark anything.

Q. When the slip has been prepared by the Judge is it returned with the
record ?-It is I who prepare the slip and the Judge puts his note at the bottom.

. Q. If I understand you, you'hand the Judge this little paper, this slip, for the,
purposes of the delibérê; then the Judge returns you the said slip with a note of the
judgment ?-Sometimes the Judge writes bis judgment elsewhere than on that slip-
on a separate papel.

0. Thon that note comprises, in that case, mention of judgment rendered ?-
Sometimes it is not explained; sometimeq ho will say judgment for the plaintiff or for
the defendant; sometimes he will write on sheets of paper.

Q. Are there other marks of judgýment in those two cases ?-There is no other
indication than that; but sometimes I prepare a draft of judgment.

Q. Yes, but from that note ?-Yes; a draft of judgment is prepared to be shown
to the Judge subsequently.

Q. Well, in that case was there anything other than the slip which was returnecI
to you by the Judge ?-There is this in the record ; there is a draft of a judgment on
those motions in the record; it was not I who prepared it; it was my deputy.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that that draft of judgment was prepared when that
slip was returned to you by the Judge ?-That is more than I can say.

Q. What is the custom as to the drafting of those judgments; when are they-
prepared ?-It is after they are given, unless they relate to matters tabout which
there is no difficulty,-matters of routine; thon the judgment is prepared and se ut t<
the Judge.

Q. And in the opposite case Mr. Gouin, when the matters are important, is there-
another custom ?-ln considerable cases ; cases heard on the merits ; the Judge then
prepares bis judgment himself.

Q. In both cases is the draft of judgment usually propared, prepared according
to the slip in question, and upon the written note of judgment sent by the Judge?-
Jsually the draft of judgment is prepared according to the slip, thon my deputy

goes to see the Judge and asks him in what manner the judgement is to be made.
Q. Thus if I understand you, the return of the slip to the clerk always precedes

the drafting of the judgment ?-Geneially.
Q. When the Judge roturns, or did return at the time, the record and the slip in

question from the bench to the clerk,was there any other thing with them? Did the
Judge add any other thing than tho slip and the record ?-( Witness): Li this special case
do you mean?

Q. Yes ?-A.-I am not able to say.
Q. And other times, in other cases ?-When the Judge returns the slip alone (on

the bench) there is no need to prepare the judgment, and then the judgment is made
out, and if there is any difficulty we go to the Judge to get information.

Q. Between the return of the slip by the Judge to the cierk, and the preparation
by you of these judgments there are sometimes, are there not, a couple of days, and
even three or four days ; the Judge takes the slip, puts bis note at the bottom, you the
clerk, you take the slip and you make out your judgment. Well, is that done imme-
diately or within the two or three days which follow ?-That depends oi the judgment;-
if they are important matters they are made out afterwards, if they are small matters
of little importance, matters of routine, we do not wait.

Q. Do you wait till after the adjournment of the Court for that ?-Yes.
Q. And when the matters are iiportant?-We prepare that at once the next day.
Q. In all cases you always await the adjournment of the Court ?-Yos; some-

times the judgment is made out before the Court adjourns.
Q. I romark here Mr. Gouin on the slip in the Pope matter, that certain words

have been struck out and others added afterwards; what knowledge have you of that ?'
I have no knowledge of that; it may bo corrected on the slip even before it is pre-
zented to us.

Q. It may also be corrected afterwards ?-I cannot say.
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Q. Have you a personal knowledge of what was done subsequently ?-I cannot
well describe the matter percisely; I do not know if one of the parties did not observe
to the Judge upon the motion which had been made that the party had not received

.,notice of it, and I think that on the slip the Court rejected he motion of the plaintift
for want of notice, and that it was observed, so far as I can ecollect, that notice of the
imotion had been given, then the Judge maintained the motion; but I am not positive

*of what I have just said. The motion of the plaintiff was to compel the defendant tp
*reply to interrogatories upon articulated facts.

Q. In whose writing are the notes entered at the bottom of the slip ?-In the
'writing of the Judge.Q. On the subject of those cases of Mathieu & Brousseau, did you meet Mg.

:Brousseau in the autumn, in October or November 1873, when lie was going to Mon-
treal about the said cases; did you not meet him on board the steamboat ?-I do
-not remember to have met him on board the steamboat.

Q. Do you remember having had a conversation with him on the subject of thos.
two cases ?-I only know that Mr. Brousseau complained that the entries had been

-changed immediately upon, or sometime after, the inscription of the said cases for
review of the judgments.

Q. You do not remember 'your having both met, on board the steamboat, in
the autumn of 1873 ?-No.
- Q. There is nothing in your memory which recalls to you those entries made on
the 3rd October ?-No; in fact I did not pay attention to it.

Cross-examined
Q. I desire to cause the witness to state precisely what is the custom in relation

to the entries made by the Judge on the slips.
Now, Mir. Gouin, is that entry made on the slip a final judgment of the Court, or

inerely an order to the clerk to make out the judgment ?-It is a note which is taken
_s a basis in order to make out the judgment.

Q. Thon on that note you make out any judgment whatever?-Yes.
Q. Is not that judgment which you so make out submitted to the Judge to be

examined by him ?-Ys; before it is entered into the registers, the Judge examines
it and initiais it.

Q. Then the Judge revises the judgment which you have prepared, and changes
in the said judgment that which should be changed ?-Yes.

Q. Thon when the Judge has examined the judgment, and has made the changes
which he considers he ought to make, he initiais it ?-Yes.

Q. And returns it to you ?-It is thon registered as it is.
Q. Do you consider there is a judgment of the Court before the judgment wlfeh

you have made ont, is initialed by the Judge ?-I do not think there is judgment in
the case before it is initialed by the Judge.

Q. Now, Mr. Gouin, please tell us whether in any of those judgments in the
cases of Mathieu vs. Brousseau and Pope vs. Truesdell, any of the petitioners were
interested ?-The petitioners had no interest whatever * * * I do not see that
they had any interest * * * 'x

Q. Do you state positively that they had no interest ?-Yes.
Q. In the case of Pope and Truesdell did you ever hear any of the defending

parties state that any one of the defendants complained of the judgment ?-Never.Q. Is it to your knowledge that they complained to others ?-No.
Q. Now to return to those entries in the cases Mathieu vs. Brousseau; the

inscription roll is kept by you is it not ?-Yes.
Q. Is there another roll fjr ne cases inscribed Li znquéte . nearmn .aera

another roll for the Judge ?-No.
Q. In the cases which are inscribed separately for enquête and hearing, do you

not make a cahier or small special book for the Judge ?-There has been another
Atook since 1874, for cases inscribed for hearing and points of law only.

Q. In this case is it not the fact that, regularly, it is not you who should make

.«Vicoi.
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the entries ?-I do not know whether it is I who should make the entries ; the last
ime Judge Caron came, he would not make the entries himself; he camued me tf>-

maiake them.
Q. Have you another book in which you enter the proceedings had in the cases 'r

-W. have a minute book (plumitzf) in which we enter all the documents produced.
Q. When you make the transcript of a case, do you not usually and in order,

enter all the proceedings had in that case ?-We enter them in order in those different
books.

Q. When it is necessary to relate the proceedings had at the enquête, from whence -
do you take those proceedings ?-From that book, that is to say, from the roll of
inscription.

Q. Now, if you ascertain by your books that there is a variance between two
entries, would you not be obliged to state the proceedings as they were had, to
choose between the two variances the true proceeding, that is to say, as it was had ?
-Yes, if I know it.

Q. Is it not to your knowledge that the entries iade by the Judge on the roll of
inscription are frequently changed in Court ?-Yes, upon remarks made by the
parties.Q. For instance, does it not happen that after having continued a case for a day,
the parties change their determination and continue it to another day ; and does the -
Judge not then change the first entry, which he has made in accordance with the first
ideas of the parties, in order to express the latter ?-That happens very often.

Q. Mr. Gouin, what do you think is the effect of the statement of the party
who, when called upon by the other to plead his case, says, "I have nothing to say; "
in cases respecting promissory notes, where no proof has been adduced, is not that to-
the etlect that the defendant admits that judgment should be given for the plaintiff .
and then is not the order of the Court to make out judgment ?-It is very difficult
to reply to that. I think that * * * the party may have something in.
view in not speaking. Il truth, I should be inclined to believe that he abandoned
the case, and that judgment ought to be given against him.

Q. Is it not the practice that in those cases the Judge orders judgment to be
inade out in favour of the plaintitf, when the defendant states that he has nothing to-
say ?-The practice is that the Judge says : Judgnent for the plaintiff.

Q. Do you not consider that the declaration of a party who submits his case, or
who decIares ihat he has. nothing to say, inclu es a tacit admission that he has
finished hils enquête, or that he has no enquête to proceed with ?-Yes.

Q. When the case is inscribed fbr hearing on the merits, and the plaintiff pleads
his case or wishes to plead his case, is not q hat the tirme for the defendant to avail
himself of informalities which may have occurred in the proceedings at the enquête ?

(Question objected to as being illegal. Question withdrawn.)
Q. Is it not the practice to make, at the time of the argument on the merits, and

before being heard, objections in relation to informalities of the enquête ?-1 think
that is generally the practice.

(Examination of witness adjourned until to-morrow at ten o'clock.)

This 2nd day of Marcb, the deposition of IMIr. Gouin is continued:
Question. You said yesterday that the Judge sometimes struck out entries made by

bim in the register or on the roll ?-Yes, the Judge sometimes makes erasures on the
roll, upon the representation of the parties; an advocate arrives after the entry is
-nade, and requires that the entry should be changed.

Q. Will you look at the part of the roll which relates to the cases inscribed for
the 7th February, 1877, and tell us whether you remark an erasure in the case of
Jean Baptiste MNartineau vs. Sévère Laparière?

Qdestion objected to by the advocate for the petitioners.
Objection set aside.
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Amswer. On the 8th February, in a ease of Martineau vs. Lap,'rière, the erasure
which I see is this, " to next term." Those words are struck out. Lower down there
is " to next term " entered a second time.

Q. Will you look at the roll of the month of October, 1875, and say whether in
a case, Lefevre s. Leferriere, there is not another erasure made by the Judge ?-
Yes; in that case of Lefbevre vs. Laferriere, No. 1683, there is:-the dejendant called
to proceed with his enquête, does not appear; that is struck out, and then there is,
the plainti declares Ais enquête closed; enquête of the defend"at fixed for the
30th, subject to objection.

Q. Please look at the page of cases of the moith of May, 1872, at the case of
Fortier vs. Charbonneau; please tell us if the Judge made any and what erasare ?-
Yes; in that case I see an erasure which I will read to you:- the plaintiffs being called
and summoned to proceed with their enquête do not proceed; enquête of plaint ifs
declared closed at the demand of the dfendant; continued to the 17th peremptorily, the
dejendant declares Ais enquête closed.

Q. Well, what is struck out ?-All is struck out except &his, the plaintif declaret
Ais enquête closed. The words : continueti until the 17th peremtporily, are not struck ont
either.

Q. Was the Judge the only person who made the entry of proceodings at the
enquête; Have you not made them yourself sometimes ?-I think that upon the
order of the Judge I have made some sometimes. I see here an erasure in à case No.
1,332, Bellefeuille vs. Bachelder. The words: to the 6th October, are struck out.

Q. In whose writing are they ?-I think they are in mine. I see another entry
in my writing in a case, No. 1,501, Johnson vs. Martin. Nothing is struck out of
that entry.

Q. You state that you have written certain entries upon the order of the Judge;
has it not happened, or might it not happen that you have written or should write,
yourself, without the order of the Judge, the declarations of the parties or the con-
tinuations of cases at the instance of the parties?-It may sonetimes happen that
the parties occasionally ask that I should make such or such an entry, and I have
made it * * * when asked for when the Court was sitting.

Q. In the case of Pope vs. Truesdell were there not two judgments made out on
the respective motions o.f the plaintiffs and of the defendants ?-Yes; there were two
drafts ot judgment made out.

Q. Will you state whether those drafts of judgment were signed, initialled or
approved by Judge Loranger ?-I do not sec the initials of the Judge in those two.
judgments; I see only that the Judge himself made erasures upon one of the two.

Q. Please state if it is not a common occurrence that in contested cases in the
Superior Court and the Circuit Court, in addition to the note of the Judge, the clerk
makes out upon that note, or upon the instructions of the Judge, a judgment which.
is called a draft of judgment ?-Generally, in contested cases which present con-
eiderable difficulty, the Judge makes out the reasons of bis judgment; but very often
I make out the drafts of judgment, even in contested cases, and those drafts are sub-
mitted to him.

Q. Are those drafts of judgment, submitted to the Judge, cor.sidered as the judg-
inents of the Court, before they have been approved and initialled by the Judge ?-No.

Q. Now please examine the record in that case of Pope vs. Truesdell, and tell
us whether any other proceedings have been had since the date entered on the back
of those two drafts of judgment, that is to say, since the 10th February, 1874 ?-
Yes; I see a great number of documents of proceedings which have been had since
that date.

Q Is that case still pending ?-Yes.
Q. Do you remeinber whether the advocates of the parties, themselves, were,

present at the time of the giving of the judgment ?-I cannot remember positively
whether the advocates were there.

Q. For how long a time bas Judge Loranger been the presiding Judge of the
Court in the District of Richelieu ?-I cannot tell you exactly ; since 1864 I think.

A.1 lm
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You were the clerk of the Court during that period, that is to say from 1864
the present time ?-Yes ; I was the clerk.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that several judgments were given against Mr. Barthe
in cases in which ho was personally concerned ?

(Question objected to as not resulting from the examination in chief.
Objection maintainôd.)

Re-examined:
Question. In the District of Richelieu, since you have been clerk there, have the

judgmnents been delivered on the Bench in open Court or in Chambers ?-They are
delivered vivd voce on the Bench, unless they- relate to cases pleaded in Chambers,
and jdgment bas been delivered in Chambers.

.Q. And it is after that that the draft of judgment is prepared upon the notes of
the Judge?-Yes.

Q. Prom whence did you take the entry in the transcript for review of the
judgment of the 3rd October, 1873, in the cases of Matthieu vs. Brousseau ?--Fromthe
minute book (plumitif), this roll, and the register of judgments.

Q. Have you the transcript in question ?-1 see here an entry: The defendant
in open Court declares his enquete closed, 3rd October, 1873.

Q. What is the date of the transcript ? Is there a date showing the time at
which it was prepared for the Court of Review ?-I see that it is the 25th October,
1873.

Q. You stated, I think, that you took that entry from the roll of entries or from
the minute book ?-I took it from the roll of entries.

Q. Was it you who prepared it ?-It was my deputy.
Q. Who signed it ? It was I.
Q. Could you take that entry from anything else than the roll, or were there

other documents in the record which could supply you with the necessary infor-
mation ?--I think thore were no other documents which could give me the
information which I required.

Q. You have spoken of changes made in the entries on the roll, and certain cases
have been pointed out to you in which the entries have been struck out; are those
alterations made only when the parties are present in open Court ?-I think so, unles
the parties go before the Judge in Chambers.

Q. Please Pt oduce the record No. 70, François Xavier Beauparlant, insolvent,
and Adolphe Germain, assignee, ;and Olivier Chauvin, petitioner; also the record
No. 1,17ý, Olivier Chauvin, plaintiff, vs François Xavier Beauparlant, defendant, and
Adolphe Germain, in lis official capacity, opposant ?-1 produce them.

(This 3rd March, 1877, before the witness' deposition is closed, the hon. Judge
Loranger requests ofthe Committee be permitted to put some further questions to the
witness, which permission is granted him.)

1Re-cross-examined:-
Question. I shall ask the witness whether ho has had a written requisition

from Mr. Germain for the production of certain records ?-I received a subpona
yesterday to that effect; I produce that requisition.

Q. J request the Chairman to be pleased to ask the witness to lay before the
Committee the record of a case of Loranger vs. Biron and others.

(The Chairman states that there is no objection to such production.
The witnoss produces the record in question.)
Question. (Put by Mr. Fontaine.) At whose request did you bring that record?

-At the verbal request of Judge Loranger.
And further the witness saith not, and this deposition having been read to him

he persisteth therein, declaring that it containeth the truth, and hath signed.

A. N. GOUIN.
Ottawa, 5th March, 1877.
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JOHN LANGTON, Auditor of Public Accounts, beingdulysworn,deposeth and saith:
Q. You are the auditor of the Publie Accounts ?-Yea.
Q. Did you hold that position from the 1st July 1867 to the lst May, 18747-

Tes.
Q. Have you, in your official capaeity, in your possession the statements of

:,account and the receipts of Judge Loranger ?-I have the accounts which were paid
-to him for his travelling expenses during the period which you have mentioned.

Q. Please produce them ?-I produce them.
Q. Are therp. receipts with those accounts ?-Yes; those are the documents upon

which the warrants for payment were issued.
Q. Were all the amounts mentioned in those accounts paid to Judge Loranger?

Tes. All those amounts wure paid to him.
Q. Do you know Judge Loranger's signature ?-I do not know it.

No cross-examination.
And the witness further saith not and this deposition being read to him h. per-

:sisteth therein declaring that it contains the truth and hath signed.

JOHN LANGTON.

EnoUARD JosEPH LANGEVIN, Under-Secretary of State, being duly sworn
deposeth and saith:

I produce the originals of the documents which have already been produced
before the louse, and which the Committee called for this day by subpæna.

And the witness further saith not and this deposition being read to him he per-
£isteth therein, declaring that it contains the truth and hath signed.

E. J. LANGEVIN.

JEAN BAPTISTE BRoUssEAU, advocate, residing at Sorel, being duly sworn, deposeth
and saith :-

(Mr. Justice Loranger objects to the present witness being heard as being the
inciter of the prosecution against him.

Objection set aside.)
Question.-Mr. Brousseau, what is your Christian name? -My name is Jean

1Baptiste Brousseau ; I am an advocate and I reside at Sorel.
Q. You have been an advocate for several years ?-I have been an advocate of

-the Province of Quebec since 1863, and at Sorel, in the District of Richelieu, for
aboutseven years, during which seven years the Courts have been presided over by
the Hon. Judge Loranger.

Q. Were you the defendant in the cases Mathiew vs. Brousseau, Nos. 1,322 and
1,332, the records of which were yesterday produced before the Committe ?-Yes. I
am the Defendant in the two cases, Mathiew vs. Brousseau, Nos. 1,322 aud 1,332, in
the Superior Court in the District of Richelieu, mentioned in the roll of enquête, and
bearing of the said Court of the 3rd October, 1873, as well as on the same roll of the
19th May, 1873, and the 17th May, 1873.

Q. Were you your own advocate of record or were you represented by some
.other advocate ?-In the first case, which was inscribed under No. 1,322, 1 myself ap-
peared as advocate for the defendant; in the second case, No. 1,332, I caused to
!ppear for me, with my authorization, Mr. Rainville, advocate of Montreal, now a
Judge.

- Q. What did you plead to those two actions ?-In each of those two actions I
.produced a plea in considerable detail which now forma part of the two records pro-

9
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luced before the Comarittee. Members of the Committee may, byreferring to them,
ibsorve that I pleaded several faets necessitating proof on my behalf, although those
actions were brought against me based upon promissory notes.

Q. When was the inscription for enquête made or served ?-In the two cases I
received at my office where thore was an election of domicile for my ad»ocate, Mr.
'Rainville, as well for myself as for him, a served copy of the inscription in the two
eases for the enquête and the hearing on the morits, at the same time, on the 14th May,.
1873.

That inscription which should form part of the record now before the Committee,
fixes the enguête and the hearing in the two cases simultaneously for the 17th May
instant, that is to say of the same month, leaving betweenf the day of such servicee
and the day for which such inscription was given, only two clear days, the 15th and
16th May.

Q. Were you reminded, or did you yourself bear in mind, that the delays between
the serving of the inscription and the day fixed for hearing the merits of the evidence
was insufficient, according to the rules of practice in the Province of Quebec ?-On
receiving those two inscriptions I at once reforred to the Code of Civil Procedure, and
I noted that according to the article of that Code, an article, the number of which I
do not now reniember, it was necessary to give the adverse party, in the case of every
inscription for enquête, at least eight clear days' notice, between the day of the serving
of such inscription and the day when the case is to be heard.

I also referred to an old rule of practice of the Superior Courts of the Province
of Quebec long previous to the said article of the said Code. That rule of practice
only requires two days' notice for ail inscriptions where the inscriptions Ire made
and notified to the adverse party during the continuance of a term of the Court, and I
think also that on referring to certain precedents, I ascertained at the time that that
delay of two days was insufficient, although fixed by that rule, and in the case of
there being inscription for enquête, eight days' notice had to be given to the adverse
party.

Independently of that, I came to the conclusion, and was personally convinced that
since the code, which was later than hat rule of practice, and which formally requires
eight days' notice, there could be no difficulty but that the delay in relation to those
inscriptions was insufficient, and that consequently I was not legally and duly called
upon to appear for my enquête in the two cases, on account of insufficiency of delay.

Q. Was it during term that the inscription was served ?-To the best of my
knowledge those two inscriptions were given during the continuance of the term.
However, I did not think of verifying the matter by the record or by the judicial
calendar.

As to my conviction in relation to the insufficiency of delay in respect of the
notice of those inscriptions, in order to be more sure that I was not in error, i went to
consult one of my colleagues, Mr. Germain, of Sorel, to whom I communicated my
views as to the irregularity of the inscriptions.

I asked him his opinion as to what ho thought it would be most advantageous for
me to do in the interest of my cases.

Mr. Germain, after having caused me to explain the details which I have just
given, expressed to me the same opinion which I myself held in relation to the
insuffieiency of that delay, and in relation to the absolute nullity of those inscrip-
tions or summonses to enquête, and he advised me, as he did not consider that I was
obliged to appear on those insufficient summonses, to make default when called upon at
the enquête.

1 see by referring to the roll of enquêtes and hearings of the Superior Court in.
the District of Richelieu, which roll was produced by Mr Gouin, the witness who-
preceded me,-I see on the roll of the 17th of May, 1873, those two cases entered
upon it.

I am not absolutely sure whether I was present in Court or not when those two-
eas6s were called. But I observe by the roll that no proceeding or declaration by mer
or by my advocate in the latter case was entered; and I observe only that the plain,
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îif declared bis enqwte closed, and that the two cases were adjourned to the 19th of"
the same month; similarly for the enquête of the defendant in both cases.

On referring to the same roll for the 19th May, 1873, I again find those two
cases entered at the head of the list ; and further on, the only entry which I observe,-
is this-to next term, in the two cases, without mention being made whether that is
for the enquête of the defendant or for another proceeding.

I find by the said roll that the Superior Court was then adjourned to the 5th
June, 1873, and that again, on the 5th June, it was adjourned to the 20th June.

There are on the roll cases continued inscribed for that day, on whîh roll I do-
not fnd the entry of either of my two cases above mentioned.

The next list or roll is that which was prepared and entered in this Register
for the 3rd October, 1873; on this roll of the 3rd October, I find that my two cases
are again entered with indication that they were both set down for defendant's enquête-
and for hearing.

On the 3rd October, 1873, I was present in Court because I had another case-
there immediately preceding those two, which was inscribed foi- proof and hoaring.
It was number 1368, a case of Elzear Derouin, plaintiff, vs. Mr. Urgèle Archambault,
defendant. I remember that before Court day I had again spoken to my colleagne,
Mr. Germain, about my two cases, and remember that he then advised me that it
would be better, in the interest of my two cases, and inasmuch as I had resolved to-
make default, that I snould not attend that sitting of the Court; nevertheless, on my
remarking that I had another case to wateh, that same day, Mr. Germain ended by
saying, that at all events, lie did not see anything to prejudice my default as defend-
ant in the two cases, in the fact of my being present in Court on their being called
for enquête and hearing, provided I did not take any proceeding; and that was also-
my conviction after reflection, and after we had spoken together about the two cases
in question and about the irregularities I have spoken of above.

I remember that when the two cases, Nos. 1322 and 1332, were called in open
Court by Judge Loranger, who was thon sitting, and who had in his hands or on the-
Bench before him, the roll of enquête and law, of which I have just spoken and which
was produced by Mr. Gouin, a witness examined before me; on the first case being-
called, I refused to take any proceeding, as I desired to remain in default, in view of
the adjournment I had received and which I considered insufficient and irregular;.
saving my right to avail myself of such informality later, if judgment was rendered
against me.

Thereupon Mr. Mathieu, who was himself his own advocate in the two cases, and
who was thon prescnt in Court, claimed judgment from the Court.

I saw from my plaêe that the Judge then made an entry on the roll, an entry-
whieh I could not see from my place.

But inasmuch as Mr. Mathieu's proceeding had seemed to me extraordinary-
and abnormal, inasmuch as he did not rise to ask the Court to declare the defendant
debarred, in view of his default, from proceeding to or appearing for bis enquête, I
was naturally anxious to ascertain and sec, immediately after Court, what entries the
Judge had made; for I considered that the only regular proceeding in like case for
the plaintiff, was to ask the Court to close my enquête, or to issue an order to proceed,
in view of my having failed to appear or proceed; and the manner in which that is
done isas follows:-after a like motion vivd voce on the part of the adverse party,.
the Court orders that the party in default be called by the crier 0f the Court, who is
appointed exprcssly for the purpose, and if after two consecutive calls, the party in
default does not appear, the Judge must thon accede to the demand of the party
desirous of forcing the other to proceed, and make entry in the Register t iat: In
view of defauït by the party, after having been duly called upon Io proceed to his enquête,.
the Court declares his enquête closed. Such, in detail, is the proceeding I anticipated on
the part of Mr. Mathiew and of the Court, in these two cases; and having beoa
astonished that that proceeding had not been had and noted at the same time that
Judge Loranger had made an entry on the roll, 1 was anxious, imxm-ediately after the
adjournment, to see what entry the Court had made; and immediately after the
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_adjournment, I went down to the office of the Prothonotary, Mr., Gouin, who had
taken away the roll with him to his o4ce.

I referred to the roll of the 3rd October, 1873, the same which is produced, and
-which is the only official and public one of the proceedings of the said Court when
t sits, and I found that the only entry which had been made of each of those two
asees, was the following: P. O. C. A. V., in the columu appropriated to such entries.

These five letters are the initials of the five words signifying "parties ouies, curia
.advisare vult," and is the abreviation ordinarily used by the Judge to signify that the
parties had been heard on their cases, and that the Court had taken the said cases

_en délibéré; and that is what that entry means, and nothing else.
After that-I do not know precisely whether it-was the same day, but I think it

-was at once on the same day-I went to Mr. Germain, and told him of the entries
which had been made on the roll, and we then spoke together about the consequences
which those two entries might have on my future rights of review or appeal, in case
I should be condemned despite the insufficiency of my adjournments at the enquête;

* and he was quite of my opinion that the entries could not in any way prejudice me,
ýand that if judgment was given against me, I had certainly a right to comnplain,
because that judgment would have been rendered without my having been legally

.adjourned to appear at the enquête.
Adjourned to 3rd March, instant.

3rd March, examination resumed.
Question. Continue your recital of the facts. -
At the Sitting of the Court on the 9th October, 1873, judgment was rendered

against me by Judge Loranger, in the two cases in question, that is to say, Mathiew
Vs. Brousseau.

In the first, No. 1322, judgment for 8500 with interest and costs, and in the
s.eecond, No. 1332, for $344, interest and costs.

After the rendering of those judgments, I again consulted Mr. Germain, and
spoke to him about the two cases in question, intimating to him my desire to enter
the said two judgments before the Court of Review.

I remember that Mr. Germain then manifested to me the desire to see, himself,
the two entries which 1 had previously told him had been made in the roll, and
which I had gone to verify after the adjourn ment of the Court, on the 3rd October,
1873.

The recollection I have of this matter is that, immediately after the adjournment
of the Court-October term---(whethîer Mr. (xermain went down with me to the
Prothonotary's office or reached it after me), Mr. Germain examined the roll himself
while I had it in my hands and was also examining it; and I again found, on that day,
that the roll was in the same state as I had seen it immediately after the adjourn-
ment of the 3rd October; that is to say, that there was in face of each of the two

-cases in question the following entry: "P. O. C. A. V.," and nothing else.
Mr. Germain became more strongly convinced of my right to enter the judg-

ments rendered in those cases before the Court of Review, basing his opinion
on the irregularities of my adjournm#nt to enquête in the two cases, as I said before.

Within the delay prescribed for entering cases in review, that is to say, within
eight days after the rendering of the judgment, I took the necessary stops to enter my
cases in review; and Mr. Germain authorized me to use his name as ny advoeate in
review. In fact I think lie had promised to assist me in review, inasmuch as he had
other cases which would probably be pleaded at the same term for Which mine were
set down.

After having prepared theinscriptions in review-originals and copies-for the
two cases, I went, in the forenoon as well as I can remember, to the Prothonotary's
office. I think I met there, or on my way there, the bailiff to whom I had to

,-entrust the same for service on the adverse party. Nevertheless, before entrasting
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to him the inscriptions in question, I again asked, at the Prothonotary's office, to see
once more and for the last time, the roll in which the entries before mentioned had
been made. I again looked at the page of the cases, at the date of the 3rd October,
18'73, and I again found there and then that the entries were still in the same state
,s I had seen them, that is to say, that the same entry was there " P. O. C. A. V."

Thereupon I left the inscriptions, originals and copies, with the bailiff, with
instructions to go and serve them on the adverse party.

I think, however, that inasmueh the hour of noon had come before the bailif
came back with the return of the service I had sent him to make, and inasmuch as the
Prothonotary's office closes at noon, I think I was not able to proceed regularly with
the inscription of my two cases until two o'clock or about two o'clock, that is to gay,
a short time after the openfbg of the office.

When handing in the two inscriptions, I also made the deposits required,; in
one case forty dollars, I think, and in the other twenty dollars or something near it.

After that, I took no further steps in those cases, except when it became neces-
sary to go to Montreal to plead in review.

The October term of the Court of Review passed without that case being entered
on the roll for pleading.

At all events, it was only in the month of November that I went up to Montreal
to plead them.

I think I remember that I had also other cases to plead in review for that same
term, and I went up a couple of days, perhaps three days, before the Ërst day of
term of the Court of Review, in order to examine the records and ptepare for
pleading. And as in my two cases of Mathiew vs. Brousseau the question te be dis-
cussed was very simple, I waited until the last day before the term to see the records..
lu the afternoon of the day before the first day of the term of November, 1873, I
went to the office of the Prothonotary at Montreal. I took up the two records of my
cases and examined them.

My object in examining them was to take notes as to dates of the inscription, inu
a word, as to what constituted the basis of my defence, in order to set it forth in my
factum.

On examining the transcript,-which is a summary or brief analysis of proceed-
ings had in the case,-under date of 3rd October, 1873, J discovered to my great
surprise, the following entry in the two cases:-" The plaintiff in open Court declares
his enquête closed." On seeing that, I was greatly astonished, for two reasons: the-
first, because I had neverlmade such declaration; the second, because I had ascertained
myself, personally, with my own eyes, that such entry had not been made before the-
inscription of my cases in review.

I understood immediately and at once the consequences whi ch these two false
entries must have for me. In my opinion their effect must be to make me fail in
review ; because, in my opinion, the fact that I should have made such a declaration,
by condoning the irregularities in the writ of summons to enquête, was equivalent to
a renunciation of the right to plead them (those irregularities) as a ground for a
review of the judgments rendered against me.

Net being able to explain how such a thing could have been done, I resolved to-
g o down immediately, the same evening, to Sorel, and to return the same night to-
Montreal, in order to be present in Court to plead my cases on the following day. I
did so.

On landing from the* boat at Sorel about ten o'clock, and befor going to my
bouse, I proceeded at once to the boarding house of Mr. Alfred de Grandpré, then and
still )epu'ly-Prothonotary, who was in the office when the entries were made.

On arriving I informed him of the object of my journey, and asked him for
explanations, in ordor to know how the thing could have been done.

At first he showed some hesitation as to informing me of the matter.
However, I must say that after I had told him how prejudicial the thing was to me,
and that I had a right to be informed, he consented to give me information which,.
appeared to me sincere at the time.
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ne said to me-
(Objection raised to the witness stating the converdation he had with Mr. de

de Grandpré, inasmuch as Mr. Grandpré might be caied as a witness.
Objection maintained.)
Q. Did you examine the roll again on that occasion ?-I was unable to examine

it that evening, seeing that the office was closed.
The explanations of Mr. de Grandpré satisfied me that there had been &u!

alteration of the roll. I could not, moreover, wait îantil the following day to see the
roll, since I had to go up again to Montreal that same night in order to be present the
next morning at the Court of Review.

I now state what occurred at the Court of Review. 'In the first of these cases,
which had been instituted for five hundred dollars, with irterest from the day of the
maturity of the note on which it was based,-which maturity had occurred on the
day next before the day of the institution of ithe suit,-Mr. Mathiew, the plaintiff,
Respondent in Review, moved to have my inscription to enquête in that case. (No.
1,322) declared irregular and illegal under a law then in force, and since repealed,
which prohibited the inscription lor review of all cases invo!ving an amount of over
five hundred dollars; and on that motion, which was, I think, admitted on the first
day of term, the Court of Review decided that the days of interest fron the maturity
of the note up to the day of the suit having swelled the amount of tie claim to a sura
exceeding five hundred dollars, the Court had not jurisdiction to reviev the judgment
rendered if that case.

As to the second case, as that question was not raised, there were other proceed-
ings in review, as follows : on the first day of term of the Court of Review, that is
to say, on the day following that on which I saw Mr. Grandpré at Sorel, I gave
notice to my opponen t of a motion, supported by an affidavit, for the third day of term,
but I think the argument on the motion took place on the next day.

In that affidavit I stated the facts of the alteration, without implicating any
person by name, and I asked, by my.motion, that the record might be returned to the
Court in which the suit was first instituted in order that it might be restored to its
integrity, and to the same state in which it was at the time of the inscription for
review.

That motion was rejected by the Court of Review, Mr. Justice Mondelet, dis-
senting. The reason which the Court gave was that there was a regular certificate
of the entry of which I complainod, in the transcript, signed by the Prothonotary of
the Superior Court for the District of Richelieu, and that the proceedings for which I
had applied by my motion could not be permitted on the affidavits of parties. I was
compelled to plead at once on the merits.

I produced my factum,-which is to form part of the record laid before the mem-
bers of this Committee--,in which I complained of the disadvantage which that must
of necessity cause me in the result of the review.

The dlr8t judgment was confirmed, and 1 remember that the Judges based their
decision in the reasons given, which were very brief, on the fact that, by my alleged
declaration entered in the transcript of the third day of October, 1873, I had declared
my enquête closed, which did not give me the rigut to avait myself of the irregulari-
ties of my adjournment to enquête.

But I think that judgmen was not rendered until the following term of the Court
of Review, as indeed is the custom.

Immediately after the term in Review, at Montreal, I want down to Sorel, where
1 eside, and the first thing I did was to go and sec the roll, in order to ascertain with
my own eyes how that entry had been made. I there saw the roll again, and then
fer the firt time .1 saw the entry which was below the letters "IP. O. C. A. V.:"
Defendant declares his eAquête elsed ; " )?. O. C. A. V.;" and in the case No. 1,332,
immediately below the first of these two cases, I found that the letters " P.O.C.A.V."
had been struck out as in the preceding case and that the words Same entry" had
ýbeenadded.

Q. In whose handwriting ?-The words " P. O. C. A.V." Defendant decares is
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quéte closed," and these words: "&ame entry," in the case imnmediately fol lowing
en the roll, are in the handwriting of Mr.lustice Loranger himself.

By that examination I became convinced that the roll had been altered after the
inscri ption, by the hand of Mr. Justice Loranger himself.

I think that is all I remember in relation to the alterations in those two csses.
Q. Did you on the 13th of October, 1873, or on any day of that term, or in the

term of June or May previous, in court, deelare your enquête closed in those two
cases ?-I think I have stated above that I had never made any declaration in that
sense, or of that nature ; if t have not already said it, I say it now.

Q. Did you, out of term, out of Court, between the beginning of May and the
rendering of the judgment in Chambers, in the presence of the Judge, or out of the
Judge's Chambers, consent to such entry being made on the roll and on the record?-
-No; I never had a thought of doing so.

Q. Y( u were your own advocate in those cases, were you not ?-In the first case
I was the advocate for the defendant, that is to say, my own advocate, and in the
becond it was Mr. Rainville, of Montreal, who was the Advocate of Record.

Q. Did Mr. Rainville attend in Court in May, June, or October, 1873 ? -No;
never.

Q. Be good enough to explain the use of "slips " as known to you during the
wbole tin you have been in practice as an advocate at Sorel ?-Ever since I have
been in practice at Sorel those "slips" have been used, with blanks, precisely like
that which forns part of the record, Pope vs. Truesdell. It bas been Judge
Loranger's custom to make use of those slips in rendering his judgments, and this il
the way he proceeds in doing so : after the hearing of the case, the clerk prepares
the record, puts all the papers in order, and attaches thereto a " slip " in blank for
the use of the Judge. The Judge, in the course of his delibéré, or afterwards, makes
on the slip notes containing the substance of the judgment he intends to render from'
the Bench, and the substance of the grounds of that judgment.

In most instances, when it is a final judgment in the case, the Judge writes on
the back of the slip, and sometimes, indeed, I remember to have seen an additionai
strip of paper, of the same width as the " slip " in question, attached thereto; on that
strip the grounds of judgment were continued. The Judge signs his initials at-the
foot of the grounds of judgment precisely as I see has been done in the case of Pope
vs. Truesdall. When the Judge pronounces judgment from the Bench, he generally
pronounces it with this " slip " before him, adding such developments as he thinks
proper to add, and I know that often in important cases, the Judge delivers highly
elaborate judgments, of which lie has private notes which he afterwards communi-
cates to the clerk; but those private notes never form part of the official judgment,
or of the official notes of the judgment of the court.

Immediately after having rendered judgmnent; the Judge restores the " slip " to
the record, and hands it tothe clerk who sits in front of him, and those notes on the
" slip " are the only written notes which are delivered by the Judge to the clerk, of
the judgment he has just pronounced fi om the Bench; and it is from those notes on
the "slip " that the clerk afterwards makes out a draft of the judgment which is to
be submitted to the Judge for his examinatioli; and I understand that when there is
in the draft of the judgment as prepared anything which the Judge does not con-
sider conformable to the judgment rendered by him from the Bench, ho maies
changes therein before authorising the clork to enter the judgment in the registers of
the court.

But I am not aware that the Judge ever changes the substane of the jadgment
he has rendered in open Court.

Often, and I might say, almost as a general thing, soen days ela before
judgment rendered in open Court is prepared by the clerk and approvdby the Judge.
During that interval, the only note 'n writing which exists in. the- office, of the judg-
ment rendered in open Court, is that to ho found on the slip initialed by the Judge,

-and it is the only record to which the parties can refer in order to verify the C
monts which have been rendered, before they are entered in the register.
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Q. Have you attended the Cireuit Oourts in the Counties of Berthier and
Yamaska ? If so, state during what time ?-Since I have been practising in the Dis-
trict of Richelieu, I have had occasion, at different times, to plead cases in those two-
Counties at the Circuit Court held thereat certain periods; still I have not attended
that Court regularly.

Q. When did you begin to follow those Circuits ?-I do not remember precisely
at what period I began to follow those terms; I think it was shortly after my arrival
at Soiel.

Q. When the Honorable Judge held those Courts-take for instance Berthier-
,when and how did he go there ?-To the best of my knowledge he went there on the
morning of the first day of term. He crossed, sometimes, in the boat which leaves
Sorel about six o'clock; at other times, to my knowledge, he had himself put across
by private ferry at the very hour of the Court.

Q. And when did he return to Sorel ?-In the evening of the same day; in short-
he went backwards and forwards each day of term, even on consecutive days, in order
to sleep at home. He did this until about 1874. Since that time I have often noticed
that he had come there the day before ; that he slept there and that he often returned
on the day following the last day of the Court, which I had never seen him do before
lhat time.

Q. What is the distance between Sorel and Berthier?-A couple of leagues by
boat; and in winter a direct crossing of about four miles.

Q. How long does it take to go the distance by boat, during summer, and how
long in winter vehicles ?-In win ter it takes, according to the state of the roads,
half an hour or three quarters of an hour ; and by boat the trip takes, I think, three
quarters of an hour.

Q. Now as to the District of St. Francis; how did the Judge attend, from 1867
to 1874, at the chef lieu of the County of Yamaska ? Did he attend there on the dity
itself or before ?-On the few occasions when I attended the Court held at St. Fran-
cis, I found that the Judge reached there on the morning of the first day; and in as
much as, to my knowledge, the term at St. Francis never lasted more than one day,
the Judge returned the same evening to Sorel; that was the Judge's invariable cus-
tom during the period from 1867 to 1874. On other occasions, that is to say, when
I did not go to St. Francis for term days, when I had no cases to plead there, I
have seen Judge Loranger pass, on his way there, on the Court day itself, and return-
ing afterwards the same evening.

Q. Since 1874-since the charges made against Judge Loranger, has it been
otherwise ? (Question objected to by Counsel for the defence. Objection main-
tained.)

Q. What is the distance between Sorel and St. Francis ?--It is about six leagues
by the summer roads, and about five by the winter roads.

(Questions by Mr. Taschereau). Apart from the roll of enquête and of law, and
the minute book, is there another roll containing the proceedings of the Court ?-
I do not know any other roll but this; I never saw any other, and to my knowledge
it is the only official and public roll which shows the entries and proceedings had in
Court.

Q. When acase is inscribed, whether for enquête onlyor enquête and hearingcon the
merits, is it at once entered in this register, or is there another for such inscription ?
-It is eitered at once in that one and only book, which is to be laid before the
Court, and the Judge uses it in calling the cases.

Q. [oes that book remain before the Judge during the whole time the Court
sits ?-The custom is as follows: the clerk lays that book before the Judge, and the
practice has always been for the Judge to make the entries; after Court the Judge
rotu-rns the said roll to the clerk, who keeps it.

Q. After Court it remains with the clerk, at the disposai of the parties, does it
not ?-Y.,-; it is the only one we consult in order to ascertain the entries made in,
Court.

Q. A re ail cases entered for enquête and hearing, or have you a special day-
16
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reserved for cases inscribed for aqtête only ?-For some time we bhd terms for
enguEtes only, which were appóoited by Mr. Justice Loranger; but now we hive no
speial terùms; the eaguate mnd hearing proceed simultaneously. Nevertheless, we
sometimes inscribe a case lbr enquête only. Such cases are, also, to the best of my
knowledgeentered on the same roll.

QDo. the minute book itSlf contain the declarations made by the parties at
the enquête in open-Oourt, or at the hearing ?-l am not certain that Iever sawthat;
my impression -a that the declarations of the parties are not usually entered in the
minute book. When I have had occasion to see the minute-book I never saw any-
thing else but the entry of the pleas. I do not remember having seen any declara-
tions of arties in the minute-book.

Q. he minute-book, then, contains merely the list of records fdled ?-As far as
I know, that is what I had occasion to see therein when I consalted it.

Q. When the cierk prepares a case for review, he must make use of the minute-
book and the roll, in order to ascertain all the proceedings had ?-Yes, I think that
is how he acts.

Q. Examine the roll of enquête and of law, laid before the Committee by the
Prothonotary of the District of Richelieu, and see if there are other entries in the
last column than those made by the Judge ?

(Witness examines the said roll.)
A. Examining the roll rapidly, I see that there are in this column entries which

are in another handwriting than that of the Judge.
Q. Say which entries?-(l). In the roll of the 3rd October, 1872, 1 find an entry,

the word: " struck ont," which I believe to be a different handwriting from that of
JudgeLoranger.

(2.) At foot of the roll of the 17th May, 1873, I sce another entry: -1 9th May,
1873, Nneteenth May, eighteen hundred and seventy-three," also in a different hand-
writing from that of the Judge;

(3.) On the 2nd March, 1874, I find the following entry: "I On the 3rd March,
Plaintiff declares his ENQUÊTE closed; on the 4th the enquête of Defendant." These wordà
are in the hand writing of Mr. Gouin, the Clerk.

(4.) On the 2nd October, 1874, I find the following words: "6th October, 1874,
the parties declare their enquête closed," which are in the handwriting of the Clerk and
initialled by the Judge;

(5.) On the 1st February, 1875, I see an entry in pencil, which I cannot under-
stand.; it seems to me to be three initials and underneath : "Eleventh February,1875."

Q. In whose handwriting is that ?-In an unknown handwriting; it is in pencil
and might be the Judge's writing, or that of some one else.

(6.) On the 4th February, 1875, here is another entry in the clerk's writing:
"Eleventh February, 1875, the pqrties declare their enquête closed.

('.) On the 2nd March, 1875, I sece the following words: "To next Term, 6th
March, 1875," also in the clerk's writing.

(8.) On the 25th October, 1875, in three cases, I find the word: "Judgment,"
written in abreviated form,-" Jugt.", in pencil. I am unable to tell yon whose hand
writing that is.

(9.) On the 19th February, 1876, all the entries made on that day are in the
Clerk's handwriting. There are four of them.

(10.) On the 22nd February, 1876, there are two entries, one by Mr. Alfred d
Grandpré, deputy elerk, and the other by Mr. Gouin.

(11.) On the9th March,1876, I see two entries in the clerk's writ4ng.
(12.) On the 5th April, 1876, also two entries, both in the elerk's writiug.
(13.) On the 6th A p -1816, in like manner two entries in the eleiU% wrfn
(14.) On the 12th pr*l, in the same year, I find two entries in the clerk's writ-

ing, and two others in the hand writing of Mr. Justice Loranger.
(15. On the 29th May, 1876, there is an entry in the hand writing of the clerk.
(16.) On the 21st June, 1876, an entry in the clerk's hand writing.
(17. On the 6th September, 1876, one entry in the clerk's writing.
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(18.) On the Ith November, 1876, iie entry in the cloes writipg.
(19) On the l0th February, 1877, one eatry in the clerka writing.

. partfrom the entries you have juat mnwtiaeid, all the other entries ini the
last column are in the handwriting of the ludge, are they not ?-Yea.

(Question by Mr.Baby.) Hore is a case which' is completely struek out-Are
there not in the roll manv cases strue out without any indication opposite them to
show by whom those cases were struck ont ?-Yes; and the very. one now pointed
out to ne is the full entry of the case, wich entry has been copiplotely atruck ont.
It is case No. 1943, 6th November, 1873; there are in. the roll some others also
struck out in the same manner.

(-Question by Mr. Taschereau.) Who calls the cases in Court ?-Mr. Justice
Loranger himself.

Q. By naming the advocates who act in each of the cases, and in calling the
cases he follows the roll which is before him, does ho not ?-Yes, certainly.

CroseExamined.

Q. Arp you not the instigator, or one of the instigators of the charges brought
against Judge Loranger ?-I shall state in a few words the origin of those charges.
lu 1874 there existed in the District of Richelieu manifest dissatisfaction on the
part of many suitors of the district in question and of the majority of the Bar, against
the administration of justice by Mr. Justice Loranger. Towards the fall of that year,
as well as I can remember, being at the office of Mr. Gill, aun advocate and a member
of this Hduse, with Mr. Germain, we had occasion to speak about the matter ; there
we decided together to take steps to have Mr. Justice Loranger arraigned. We had
before us at the time reports of difforent clerks of the circuits where ho had ad-
ministered justice. We had also, I bolieve, reports of the payments of his accounts
by the Government of the Dominion, and on comparing them, we were of opinion
that there was strong prima facie proof of over-charges on the part of the Judge.
And it was thereupon that we all three decided on the step of adopting the necessary
proceedings in order to arraign Mr. Justice Loranger. The question of asking other
members of the Bar than we three was ,raised at the time. We were agreed that
there iwas no probability that Messrs. Barthe and Brassard would concur in our
decision, because it was admitted that it was notorious at the time, that those gentle-
men were favoured by the Judge. Nevertheless we decided that if none but those
gentlemen held back, the members of the Bar would probably sign, and Mr. Gill un-
dertook thon immediately to see Mr. Mathieu, who was in partnership with Mr.
Gagnon, in order to ask his concurrence. Personally, I have no knowledge whatever
as to what passed between those gentlemen in thé matter; but some time afterwards,
perhaps a few weeks, we met again all three at Mr. Gill's office, to ascertain from
the latter the result of the steps he had taken. Hle informed us that he had ýpoken
several times to Mr. Mathieu about

(Judge Loranger objects to the witness repeating the conversation Mr. Gill may
have had with Mr. Mathieu.)

(Objection maintained.)
Ilaving been unable to secure the concurrence of Mr. Mathieu, and in view of

the two exceptions, the office of Mr. Marthe, and-the office of Mr. Mathieu, we
decided that it was botter that the Bar should not sign the charges intended to be
brought against Mr. Justice Loranger, because it would have been calciulated to
place the signers in an unfavourable position relatively to those who should not have
signed.

Afterwards petitions which were not communicated to me personally, were sent
to the GoVernment without my personal co.operation, embodying some of the same
sôousations with which we are now dealing, and itl was only last session that it was.
decided to lay those accusations before Parliament, since those addressed 4o. the
Gove-nment had had so little effect, and it was then that 1 took an active part in the
matte.



Q. When did you again take an active partin the mattr; whet is thedate of
the first step by whiceh you again took an active part in the amattr?-1 do nt
remember precisely the date; bat it muet be jost before or at the begi*aing of las
session.

Q. You speak of'the session Of Parliament in 187 ?-Yes.
Q. With whose co-operation did you do that fret act; was it with the eo.opea-

tion of Mr. Gill and ofMr. Germain ?-That time, I donotremenber,having applied to
Mr. GUi to co-operate with me, but Mr. Germain took part in it at the sauea time
with me.

Q. Then it was with the co-operation of Mr. Germain alone that you ommenced
these accusations, was it not ?-I c#n not say whether it was with the ca.operation of
Mr. Germain alone, because, without remembering all the details of the hets which
<ecurred from 1874 to'1876, I think, nevertheless, I cau recollect from thos. Acts
as a whole, that some of the petitioners on those previous petitions constantly uraed
the matter both upon us and upon the Government, in order that it might go barre
Parliament, since there was no other means of getting a hearing.

Q. Who are the petitioner or petitioners who urged the matter upon you?-I
cannot remember that positively; I know that Mr. Latour, the notary, oC Lanoraie,
made several trips to Sorel; he chiefly addressed himself to Mr. Germain.

Q. When did he meet you yourself and ask you to lay these aceusations ?-I do
not remember on what particular occasion; it was chiefiy through Mr. Germain that
the communications took place; but I know that at different times he spoke tO me
about it, or had spoken to me about it, during that interval of time.

Q. State how many times, where and when, notary Latour spoke to you about
the matter.-I cannot answer that, because I do not remember it, as I have just told
.you a moment ago.

Q. Can you swear that ho over spoke to you about this matter; and mention a
special instance of such a conversation ?-I can swear that he did speak to me about
it; but I cannot mention any particular circumstance, because I do not remember any.

Q. What stop did he ask you to take ?-As well as.I can remember, he did not ask
me to take any particular stop when he spoke to me about it; we only deliberated
together as to the best means, without indicating one in particular, and on the whole
everything pointed to the laying the matter before Parliament.

Q. Will you state what this whole is which pointed to laying the matter before
Parliament ?-I mean the whole of the conversations we may have had together at
different times.

Q. What is the whole drift of the conversatons you may have had at different
times with Mr. Latour ?-I cannot give a more precise account of matters than I have
just riven.

Q. In what vear had you those conversations, the whole drift of which was ta
lay before Parliament the accusation which were made against me ?-It must be in
the years which preceded 1876.

Q. Many years preceded 1876-many thousands; tell us which of those years ?
-I meant to say (when I spoke of the years preceding 1876) I meant to say, as I
said above, from 1874 to 1876.

Q .During which of the two years, 1874 and 1875, did those conversations take
place ?-I think it was at diferent times during those two years.

Q. You do not answer my question; I ask you during which of the two years in
question you had those conversations with notary Latour ?-I think I answer it by
saying, I think it wasat different times daring those two years.

Q. In what months of those two years did those conversatioús take place ?-That
is a thing I do not at all remember.

Q. Do you think you ca remember in what sesson ?-No; becase the seasons
had no partieular connection with that; and it *mattered little whether it wa in
witer, in summer, or in autumn; that made nodifference in the matter.

Q. Do you know whether in January, 1876, Judge Lorsanger was ick,?-I am
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not personally aware of it, because I did not se him myself; but i know he was sick,
because I heard it atated.

Q. In what month, about ?-- cannot specify the month; i think it was just
before or in the first part of the Parliament of 1876.

Q. Did yon write him a letter in relation to his illness ?-Yes ;I wrote him a
letter.

Q. Will you look at this letter and state if il .ie the letter you wrote ito Judge

itness examines the letter shown to him by Judge Loranger.)
A. Yes; it is my writing and my signature.
(The letter in question is filed by Judge Loranger).
Q. With that letter, you sent to the Judge a statement, be good enough to say

whether the statement now shown to yon, and the result of which is that Judgeo
Loranger was accused of having extorted fifteen Aundred andfifty-four dollars from the
Go*ernment, is that which you sent to the Judge ?-Yes, it is a similar one.

Q. Io it not that one, think you?-I have no particular mark by which to
identify it, but it was a similar one, if not that one.

(The .ndge files the statement, which forms part of the record in Loranger vs
Biron et ai.)

Q. State whether the envelope marked " Private and in haste ;" "KHon. Judge T. J.
J. Loranger, Sorel," is that which contained your letter and the statement in question ?

(Witness examines the envelope shewn him by Judge Loranger.)
A. I think so, for I do not remember having written on any other occasions to

the Judge
(This envelope is set down as No. 4 in the case just mentioned, Loranger vs.

Biron.)
Q. Did you, a few days later, send to the Judge the " Votes and Proceedings"

of the House of Commons of the 15th February, 1876, containing notice of a ques-
tion to be put by Mr. Cheval on the following Monday, asking " Whether any Judge
"of the Superior Court for the Province of Quebec has, since the lst December,
"1875, asked to be allowed to retire? If yes, what is, or what are the names of
"such Judge or Judges, for what reasons and on what conditions, and reckoning fron
"what day, has such leave to retire been asked for ? " Also, another notice of
enquiry to be made by the same party on the following Thursday, asking " Whether
"since January, 1874, inclusive, any complaints or accusations have been made to
"the Government against any of the Judges of the Superior Court in the Province
"of Quebec? If yes, what is the substance of such complaints or accusations, and
"what are the naines of such Judges ? What does the Government intend doing with
"respect to such complaints and accusations ?" Was not that part of the " Votes and
Proceedings " marked round about by you with a note in red pencil ?-I think I sent a
number of the Journal, Votes and Proceedings of this Hiouse, to Mr. Justice Loranger,
about that time. Not having kept a special note of it, I cannot remember what
number it was. It was, perhaps, a report of some proceedings of the louse in
relation to this matter.

Q. You say, " in relation to this matter; " do you mean in relation to the questions
asked by Mr. Cheval ?-I do not remember whether it was a motion made by Mr.
Cheval or by Mr. Béehard; at all events, it muet have been a motion referring to
that.

Q. Will you take the Votes and Proceedings of the 15th February, 1876, filed as
exhibit No. 7 of plaintiff, in Loranger vs. Biron et. a., and examine that part of the
Votes and Proceedings pencilled in rad, and say whether you sent it to Judge
Loranger ? - (Witness examines the document in question.)-A. As I stated above, 1
do not remember positively whether it was really that number of the Votes and Pro-
ceedigul sent to Mr. Justice Loranger. It may be that it was that one; I think I
remember having pencilled, I know not whether in red or in blue, the part whieh
was to engage his attention. -

Q. Did you say to any person,-" We are going to blow-up Judge Loranger
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'because he-éhas extorted fiften huudred ýdolle fom, the. Goerment ¡weeis
"something under that, for Germain will be azpointed Judim and T shall have his

(Question objected to by counsel fer petitionors. Objection set aside.)
A. I do not remember having said mch a thing.
Q. Did you say it to J. A. Chennevert, foreman of the Gazette de BreL?-L

often spoko with Chennevert as one of our friends, and, as a man who manifested
much satisfaction himself at the possibility of ridding the district of Judge Loranger;
and I have often, perhape, spoken to him words implying on my partt assurance
of achieving that result, by the proof which we had before us. But I do-not think I
could ever have said to him words expressed in the manner in which they are
expressed in the question, because those words would indicite, on my part, that the
moving cause of my action in this matter, was simply te take part in the aceusations
made against Judge Loranger, through a motive of personal interest; whereas, ad I
not been satisfied by my own experienee in the course of practice, because I had
seen, before having examined the documents now submitted to the cm mittee,-if, I
say, I had not been satisfied, that Judge Loranger had been culpable in the adminis-
tration of justice, I would never have meddled in this. matter; and at tbe beginning
of the matter, the question as to who was to succeed the Judge, was n over mooted ;
it was only mooted when we thought the Ilon. Judge was on the point of resigning,
because the matter would be decided shortly afterwards by Parliament.

Q. Did you say to Mr. Chennevert any word tending to shew that one of your
motives, or your desire, was that Judge Loranger should resign, that Mr. Germain
would be made a Judge and that you would succeed him in his practice?-I may
have said something to him of a nature to lead him to understand that on Mr. Justice
Loranger retiring, or after his impeachment, such a thing might happen, but I nover
said a word which could lead him to understand that it was through that motive I
was acting as I acted ; if he understood that, I swear that ho has misundorst ood me.

Q. Did you not journey to Montreal with Mr. Chennevert, about that tim e, in the
month of February, 1876 ?-I travelled with Mr. Chennevert, last winter, fto m Sore
to Montreal, but I do not remember in what month.

Q. Is it not truc that, during that trip, you addressed to him the expression s I have
spoken to you of above, or expressions of the same kind ?-I remember neit heriwhat
passed on that occasion, nor the expressions in question.

Q. When you sent to Judge Loranger the letter and the statement pr cduced in
this enquiry, did you know that Judge Loranger was said to be dangero usly ill?-
From ail the circumstances at that time my opinion was that the Judge was sham-
ming sickness, at home, for the pur e of retarding the proceedings wh ich he had
heard we were to take against him before Parliament, last session. That is what I
thought, without knowing exactly whether the thing was true or false, the public
believed that the Judge was sick.

(Monday, 6th March. Witness states that his memory failed him when ho l
above answer ; ho desires to make the following correction: I knew that 1
had been dangerously ill; I thought ho was botter when I sent my lett ei ; i wa
only afterwards I thought ho had shammed sickness.>

Q. Was it thought ho was sick enough to ho confined te hie bed,-to b e tnder th
4care of two doctors ?-That is a thing I do not know; it was publicly stat <d.

Q. Then why did yon say in the letter you sent to Judge Loranger th at he was
within the conditions required by law to obtain a retiring aRowance, w hen those
conditions are : a service of fifteen years as a Judge, or a permanout i nfir mity ?-
That did not mean that I believed the Judge to be dangerously il1; an d froim my
reading of the law I did not think it was necessary that the Judge shou d i e unde
the care of two doctors in order to ho entitled to so retire; but I was ein, ely o
opinion that the Judge, if hie sicknes was not feigned, came within the i u.iicn o
the said law, entitling him to retire, for ho had already, previously, obta i d * othe
times leave of absence, and on other occasions failed to hold ourt by res vn crillnen
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or indisposition; and I knew that the cneeqeance of aIl that was prejudicial to the
administration of justiee.

Q. Where did you get the statement, (Letter K, record No. 3, of plaintiff),
which you sent to the Judge at the same time with your letter?-I do not remember
from whom I got that which I sent to the Judge-whether I got it from Mr. Germain
or some one else. We had both, I think, had similar copies for some time before.

Q. Who caused that statement to be prepared and printed ?-I cannot swear
positively to the name of the person who had that statement prepared and printed, but
Imay say that the firet copy,-which I got long after the matter of theSe overcharges
had come up, from a comparison baving been made of the return of the terme with the-
Public Accounts,-came to me from Mr. Piché, Clerk Assistant of the House of
Commons.

I am asked, 1st, Who prepared that statement? The first enquiry, to the best
of my knowledge, was made by Mr. Germain and myself in his office, at Sorel, where
we; for the first time, compared the accounts which he had received, with the Table
of Terme; but we did not there make a special statement, though we took notes and
made qalculations of figures together; and it was perhaps a year--perhaps more-
about two years afterwards, that I saw that Table in print for the first time.

Q. It was not you who drew up that table ?-No.
Q. Nor Mr. Germain ?-I do not know.
Q. Can you not name any one as the author of that table ?-No.
Q. To the best of your knowledge, whom do you think to be the author of that

table?-I cannot say who prepared that statement; I have said that I saw it for the
firttime in the hands of Mr. Piché, who informed me when giving it to me that the
statement had been sent to the Minister of Justice by Mr. Latour, in support of tho
petitions which had previously been sent to him.

Q. Do you swear that you do not know that it was Mr. Piché who prepared the
statement and who got it printed ?-He never told me so, but I might perhaps infer
from the tenor of several conversations I had with him, that it was lie himself who
prepared it, but I cannot swear to what I now say.

Q. Was it you prepared :the first petition presented against Judge Loranger
in the House on the 23rd March, 1876, and rejected by it ?-I helped to prepare it;
with regard to the paragraphe relating to overcharges in the accounts of the Judge,
and to the negligence with which the terme were held, it is only a repetition of what
is contained in the petitions previously presented by Mr. Latour to the Dominion
Government.

Q. And with regard to the last part, the remaining charges ?-The charge
relating to alterations ia the cases in which I am concerned, were prepared by myself.
That which relates to the cases of Pope et aL., and that of Hus & Miller was prepared
by Mr. Germain himself, he having been the counsel in those cases and knowing the
facto.

Q. Now, who prepared the charge which relates to intemperance ?-It was pre-
pared by both of us together ; one of us dictated and the other wrote.

Q. And the charge of partiality ?-I think it was prepared by both of us, Mr:
Germain and myself, jointly.

Q. In short, do you say, that apart from the portion taken from the first petition,
the rest was prepared by you ?-I think the rest was prepared by us; yet, I think,
there are other general allegations, which came from the first petition.

Q. From whom did you get that first petition ?-I cannot tell you; we had had
one or two copies for a long time.

Q. Who had procured them for you ?-I do not remember.
Q. Is it not true that it was not at the request of the petitioners that you pre-

pared that petition ?--It wae not at the formal and direct request of the petitioners;
but when the session was begun we had already long known the intentions of most
of the potitionere in the matter, and weresolved to put those accusations into the form
-of a petition, and then to lay it before them and see if it met their views; that was
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*bat was done; and those who signed, did 0o beeanse wbat was shown to them did,
in &ct, umeet their views&

Q. Name the petitioners whose views the petition met, in relation to the charges
agint Judge Loranger ?-I shall mention more partienlarly Mr. Biron, Mr. Vadnais,
&. Cotu, Mr. leapré, Mr. Kelly; as regards 1r. Kelly, ho had never soken to

me about a petition, but I knew that, in general, he shared in thedissatisction which
existed as re rds the Judge. As to the others: Portier, Pepin and Letendre, I was
informed by r. Germain, who waa their trusted adviser, that they shared our senti-
ments in that respect. As to Mr. Daguay, I learnt fron his own lips, or else ho had
written to me, that he concurred in the steps we were taking to impeach the
Judge.

Q. Was it you who got the first petition signed,-that which was rejected by the
House ?-Yes.

Q. Was it read to the petitionersbefore making them sign?-If Iremember well
I read it to all the petitioners except Mr. Kelly; I offered to read it to him, but, I
think, he said it was too long; at all events, I told him the substance of it, and he
signed it without difficulty.

Q. Did you read it to Mr. Pépin ?-I cannot swear that I read it to Mr. Pépin;
I went to his office with Mr. Portier, to whom I had read it, and it may be that I did
not rend it to him; at any rate, if I did not read that petition to him, ho was infbrmed
of the substance of it by Mr. Portier and by me.

Q. Did you read it to Mr. Letendre ?-1 think I did.
Q. Did you read it to Mr. Beaupré ?-I think so, as well as I can remember.
(Adjourned to Monday, 5th March, instant.)

MONDAY, 5th March.
Examination of witness continued:-
Q. Were the facto contained in the petition of " Biron and others," within the

personal knowledge of the said Biron and his co-signers ?-No; and 1 think, in-fhet,
that that was set ont in a special allegation. I cannot say precisely which lare the
facts which were within the personal knowledge of the petitioners.

On my way to La Baie to get the said petition signed, I stopped at the house of
Mr. Rascony, merchant, a client of Mr. Germain, and from what Mr. Germain had
told me, I had reason to think he would sign it.

Q. Did you solicit Mr. Rascony to sign that petition, alleging that Judge
Loranger was a drunkard, that he had committed forgery, and that he had robbed
the Government of fifteen hundred dollars; or did you make use of words conveying
that meaning, in order to obtain lis signature ?-I do not think I made use of words
like those. I imparted to Mr. Rascony the contents of the petition already signed by
some other persons; I showed him the table annexed to it, giving him alil the expla-
-nations he asked for.

Among other things, he asked me if I was sure the accusations which the petition
contained could be proved; on that point he hesitated greatly; he said to me that he
would consult one of his partners, and begged me to come back and see him; that he
would give me an answer.

An hour afterwards I came back to the place, and then he answered me, that for
hie own part he would readily sign, but that the reason which hindered hie doing so
was the fear that we should not succeed, and that then he should find himself in a
sorry position as regarded the cases he had in hand and those he .should have in
the future.

Froni the general tenor of the conversation which we had, I understood that he
believed the Judge guilty of what the petition accused him of, but that he feared we
should not succeed.

I likewise went to the house of Mr. Louis Manceau, a merchant at the Bay, for
the same purpose whieh took me to Mr. Rascony's, and I gave him almost the same
explanations which I did to the latter.



Mr. Manceau did not sign; and I understood that he did noL aign for the same
reasons which prevented Mr. Rascony from signing. l even informed me of cer-
tin facts,the nature of which made me presume that he believed the Honourable Mr.
Justice Loranger to be guilty.

I cannot say whether I made use of the same expressions to all those to whoi I
addressed myself. What I can affirm is, that I told them in substance everything as
I thought it really was. I gave them those minute and candid explanations.

Q. The drift, then, of the eKplanations which you gave them was to the effect of
confirming in their minds the truth of the accusations made against Judge Loranger,
and the possibility of securing evidence of the same; and it was after those explana-
tions that they signed, and after the said petition was read over by several of them?
-Yes. I do not recollect any other persons whom I asked to sign the petition
beside the petitioners; there may perhaps have been some others.

I did not myself send the petition to the lonourable member of the House who
was to bring it under the notice of the said House; I sent it, I believe, in an envelope
to some member either of the Senate or the House of Commons, but I cannot now
remember-the circumstance bas escaped my memory. Last session I came bore in
the interests of the petitioners, as I have come this session.

I have no objection to admit that as a suitor amenable to justice, and as an advo-
cate practising in the District of Richelieu, I am likewise interested in the result of
this petition which concerns the administration of justice.

I do not know that I have any other particular interest in the resignation of the
lonourable Mr. Justice Loranger, except to have him replaced by a Judge in whom I

should have confidence and who would administer justice with impartiality.
I had for some time another more special interest, and I shall proceed to

explain it:-Some time before the session of eighteen hundred and seventy-six there
had been some talk about the charges already laid before the Government, and which
we only wished to bring before the House, after having warned the Honourable Mr.
Justice Loranger of our determination to make the matter public and to take pro-
ceedings. From all the indications and information, either true or false,
which we had at that time, I came to the conviction, or had the impression,
that the Honourable Judge would resign, and that, in fact, the only reason preventing
his resignation, was that he liad not yet reached the stated time for asking
for his superannuation-that is to say, fifteen years' of practice as a Judge; and it was
with the view of assisting him in the attainment of that superannuation, that I made
the petition, signed by me, in which the superannuation of the Judge is requested, on
account of weakness or ill-health

When the idea came to me of the possibility of seeing the Judge resign on
account of his health, I admit that I also came to think for the first time, about a
successor to his office. The first time that I spoke about it was to Mr. Germain. I
asked him whether he thought Mr. Piché would suit us as a Judge in place of the
Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger. Mr. Germain then replied affirnatively, saying
that if the vadancy which we foresaw should take place, he did not sec that they
could make a better choice than Mr. Piché, who was an old member of Parligment,
and a distinguished advocate of the Bar of the District of Richelieu.

Several days afterwards I met Mr. Piché in the Advocates' Library at Montreal;
there, for the first time, I made him acquainted with what had passed between Mr.
Germain and myseolf. At the sane time I offered him my services, if he thought
they would be of use to him, in the matter about which we had just*been speaking.

This was his answer: " If mny politicalfriends desire to have me appointed a Judge
they can do so every bit as well by appointing me elsewhere than to the District of Riche-
lieu. There are other vacancies or others may offer, and, as f or myself, I should prefer to
be appointed elsewhere than to Sorel."

Some time after I saw Mr. Germain again. I informed him of the conversation
I had had with Mr. Piché, and then, for the first time, I spoke to him of the possi-
bility there might be. perhaps, of having him appointed Judge, in case of a vacancy
in that office taking place.
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Mr. Germain answered that I must be well awarê that as for himeif he could
do nothing in that direction.

Some time after I had some correspondence with Mr. Barthe, member for
Richelieu, of which I shall g*ve the following extracts, which are of a character te
explain perfectly the special nature of the interest which I might have in the resig-
nation of Judge Loanger.

[Objected to by the Committee inasmuch as all which has roference to that cor-
respondence. should be ineluded in the de ition. The attorney for petitioners main-
tains that the witness should have every latitude to answer at length upon a question
which he considers to be very important, and as forming a part of his answer for bis
personal justification. The Committee authorizes tho witness to continue, but con.
fiting bis answer to the facts themselves, without citing in support theroof oxtracts
from the correspondence above mentioned.]

When I wrote to Mr. Barthe on that subject, I told him that I did so under the im-
pression that the superannuation of the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger was inevit-
able and imminent. I did not suggest any narae to him; I left to himself the
initiative on that point. What I insisted u n was that if a vacancy occurred it was
only right that it should be filled by a mem r of the Bar of our district, and it was
upon that I based the two or three letters which I wrote to Mr. Barthe, always
allowing him the initiative in the choice-putting the matter aside, in order that we
might speak? about it at the next meeting we shoüld have, and hoping also that we
should agree, in order that we might direct our influence so as to obtain an appoint-
ment in harmony with the ends of justice and the interests of the district.

Itold him also that, besides the public welfare, this would give us and all the
members of the Bar of Sorel an advantage, namely, that we might expect to profit.by
the clients of him who might be appointed, if he was taken from out of the .Distriet,
but I only spoke to him on, that question of clients, in a general manner; and it was
in that way that I had an interest in the saperannuation of the Judge.

Some days afterwards I had an interview with Mr. Barthe at Sorel, and ho asked
me to give him my opinion as to the man whom I believed, among us, worthy to be
appointed Judge. I suggested to him the name of Mr. Germain, asking him what he
thought of him.

He answered me that ho would have no objection that they should appoint Mr.
Germain Judge, provided that it shonld not be to a district where ho had practised
so long as an advocate; he told me also that they might, when appointing, Mr.
Germain, Judge, effect an exchange with a Judge of another district, which was far
preferable, and that he would be ready to work to that end. Nor did lie see.any objection
to that appointment, on condition that we should wait until a vacancy took place
before thinking of filling it ; in which I also acquiesced.

I remarked to him, however, that the reasons for which I spoko to him about a
successor to the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger were, that I feared that the resigna-
tion of the Honorable Judge might reach Ottawa at any moment without our
knowing it, and that some one, a strangor to the district, would get the start of us.

Since that time, in July last, I think, in consequence of professional difficulties, I
came to a complete rupture with Mr. Germain. I also broke off all relations with
Mr. Barthe from that time; so that I entertain no idea nor have I any intention of
taking any steps towards having Mr. Germain, or any other person, appointed Judge,
in the event of a vacancy taking place in the district. I now therofore acknowledge
no other interest but that of the district of Richelieu itself.

Q. You stated that you have no confidence in Judge Loranger. Will you state
whether there ever was a time when you had confidence in him ?-Certainly there
was a time when I had confidence in Judge Loranger; and that confidence lasted up
to the time when, so far as I can ascertain, he did things which caused me to loe
that confidence. I cannot give precisely any date.

Q. Does that loss of confidence date from a time near the year 1874 ?-I cannot
fix a precise date,
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Qi In 1872 had you coidenee in Judge Loranger ?-L eanno4 ay if my confi-
dence began to be shaken about that time, or before, or after.

Q. Are you a signer of a petition which i now show you, which is marked -L ?"
-Yes.

Q. After the rejection of the first petition by the House, did yon return at
once-to the district of Richelieu, and did yon again have a new petition signed, simi-
lar to the first, with the exception of a few changes, by the petitioners, less Coutu and
Pépin ?-Yes, only there were a few of the petitioners, who did not sign, such as Mr.
Pépin, who appeared to be under the inftuece of great terror. Mr. Coutu, who also
did not sign, was not at home, I believe, when I went there for the purpose of getting
him to sign.

Q. Did you sign the petition, a copy of which is shown yon, which is now filedi
as exhibit " M " ?-As my letter of the 4th of February to Judge Loranger shows, I
was under the impression that he desired to obtain his superannuation, but that the
difficulty was, to obtain it before the fifteen years that he ought to serve as Judge had
elapsed; and my principal object in making that request was to favour his superannua-
tion, in his own personal interest, as well as in that of the administration of justice
in the district of Richelieu, and aliso to avoid the scandal of an investigation before
Parliament in case the Honourable Judge would not resign.

Q. Did yon likewise sign the paper-now filed as exhibit " N "?-Yes, I signed it,
and had it signed by a great number of petitioners.

Q. Did yon say to Mr. Tellier, Clerk of the Circuit Court at Berthier, one of the
witnesses summoned for this enquiry, and now present in the Committee room, that
that petition was made with the consent of Judge Loranger, and that all the advo-
cates signed with the exception of Mr. Mathieu ?-I do not recollect that I said
anything to Mr. Tellier but what I said in general to all the other petitioners, as well
as to several other persons who refused to sign; and the substance of what I said was
as follows: that I made that petition sincerely believing it to be in the interest of
the IHonourable Mr. Justice Loranger, and with the object of favouring his superannua-
tion. I further remarked to those to whom I spoke about it that I believed that ho
would be eager to take it, if the Minister of Justice offered it to him. I aiso added-
and I was under that impression at the time,-that I heard it stated that a member
of the Judge's family-one of his brothers, I believe, had advised him to resign ; but
I do not remember who informed me of that. Perhaps I added other explanations,
the details of which I do not recollect. If Mr. Tellier understood anything else but
that from my words, it was either that ho misunderstood me or that I expressed
myself badly.

Q. Did you say that it was with my consent that you had that petition signed ?
-For myself personally I am very certain that I could not have said that.

Q. Did you say to Mr. F. X. Lafond, notary, and signer of the petition, that that
proceeding on your part corresponded with my wishes ?-I might, perhaps, have
said to hlm that for my part I believed that it met the wishes of the Honourable Mr.
Justice Loranger; if ho understood it in any other way, he misunderstood me.

Q. Did you say to C. E. Emond, when you made him sign, that Judge Loranger
had a chronie, an incurable disease ?-I told him that I believed it, and I accounted
for my belief from the number of his absences, and from his former illnesses.

Q. Did you say the same thing, or something of the same import to Germain
Pelletier, and to C. Labelle, of Sorel, signers?-I spoke to all the persons who signed
as well as to those who did not sign, and whom I saw for that object, in the manner
and with the meaning which I have set forth above.

Q. That is to say, giving them to understand that it was in my ipterest that you'
were acting ?-Certainly; I do not conceal it.

Q. You said the same to Dr. Ladoncour ?-I do not recollect more particularly
what I said to one rather than to another.

Q. 'You said to all the petitioners, among other things, that that met with my
approval ?-It may have been that to some of them with whom I was on more inti-
mateterms, I might have spoken of the accusations which hung over the Honourable
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Mr. Justie Lortager: tME 1 beHio -that tat «ndbceedI iWhreing hini sned in
hise ignation, would perhaps have the e.ot f preve tihse aoeusatiosi from
becoming the object of an equiry; I do not rocoleet thi. fr, mer aMy-'
thing apecial which I might have naid more partientliy to one rather than b another
of the petitioners.

Q. You said that you followed the Berthier and Ysmaska Circuit& How many
times did you go to Berthier to plead in cases there ?-I did not say that I followed
regularly the Berthier Circuit. I went there only sometimes, but T esnnot sate the
number of times.

Q. Is it the same thing with reference to the St. Francis Circuit ?-I cannot
recollect the number of times that I went to St. Francis.

Q. Was it more than twice ?-Yes.
Q. Was it ten times ?-Perhaps I went there a certain number of times without

having any case to plead; but during the Terme, I may very possibly have gone
there some ten times.

Q. You stated that I left in the morning of the day for holding those Circuits,
and that I returned in the evening. Can you mention any day whataoever, to your
personal knowledge, on which I left in the morning and returned in the evening;
state how many times you saw me leave in the morning and return in the evening ?-
I can specially recollect but one case in which that happened, a day in the St Francis
Term. The other cases I only remember generally. I mean to state hy generally
that I had a personal knowledge of the circumstances under which that happened
without being able to state precisely the day or date. What I recollect is having seen
him on certain occasions leave Sorel, and I supposed, that inasmuch as it was in the
Term time, and moreover in the morning of thé days of Term, he was going there.
On other occasions I saw him return in the evening, and I naturally concluded that he
was returning thence, seeing that this happened on Term day. Other times again,
going myself to Berthier on business, I observed that he went there in the mornmg.

Q. I have the right, I think, to know how many times you saw me setout tohold
My circuits, leaving in the morning and returning in the evening. Please tell me
then, as closely as possible, how many times ?-It is very difficult to put down in
figures how many times.

Q. When a person states that a man has generally done something during a
period of fifteen years, he ought to be able to state pretty closely how many times ?
-I cannot state precisely the number of times; perhaps ten times at eaeh place,
perhaps less, perhaps, also, more than ten times.

Q. On the third of October, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-three, at
the time of the calling of cases for hearing on the merits, to wit: Mathieu vs. Brous-
seau,-is it not true'that in answer to the Judge asking what you had to say, and
after Mr. Mathieu had prayed judgment, that you replied, "I submit the case,"-or-
perhaps-" I have nothing to say," or something with that meaning and to the same
effect?-After Mr. Mathieu had prayed judgment I said nothing, for it was after the
calling of the case, if I had to appear, that I should reply. I said something before
but not after Mr. Mathieu had prayed judgment.

Q. And- what did you say beforc ?-In the fewest possible words, this is what
took place: the Ionourable Mr. Justice Loranger had the list before his eyes and
calied the cases. Coming to the first of my cases, that bearing the number 1322, he
called it, naming the attorneys, and stating the names of the es. At that
calling I said nothing at all; I made it appear as if I had noith ;I did not wish
to ay anythingIbecause such were the instructions of my attorney. The Hononrable
Mr. Justice Loranger appearing surprised that I did not answer, as he saw mepresent
in court, addressed me, saying, as nearly as I mau recollect, "Mr. Broussea#,,tis is
your case that I am caUing." Thereupon I answered him, "i have ithing to say."
And it was after that, from my seat, that I saw the lonourable Judge make an entry
on the roll.

The other case, that of number 1332, which followed immediately on the roll,.
was then called in the same manner by the Judge. At the calling by him I again
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would not say anything., The Ieiorable Mr-. Justice lranger again turned te my
side; I do not recollect whether ho questioned me on the second occasion, but L Con-
ceived that his look meant a eall for a reply. Perhaps he put me a question of the
same nature as the forier; I cannot say whether he spoke or not; în substance I
must have said to him that I had nothing to say; thereupon I saw him maire another
entry on the roll, It was after that-that Mr. Mathieu rose and prayed for judgment.

Q. You know that the calling of the cases took place in consequence of your
cases being fixed for enqute?-Yes, just so.

Q. Yôu made, in the Court of Review,,a motion to have the record sent back, in
,order that the entries might be altered, did you not ?-Yes, in order that the entries
might be made correct.

Q. You gave your affidavit in support of that motion, and Mr. Mathieu gave his ?
-Yes.

Q. The majority of the Judges rejected your motion ?-Yes.
Q. Did not the Judges, in rendering judgment, state that te declaration which

you had made by saying that you had nothing to say, was an equivaient to the
closing of*the enquéte.

(Objected to by the attorney for the petitioners. Objection maintained.)
Q. Who made the Bill of Particulars which has been lately filed here ?-WC all

three made it, Mr. Fontaine, attorney for the petitioners, Mr. Germain and myself.
Al three together.

Q. Who retained the services of Mr. Fontaine as attorney in this procceding ?
Was it you or the petitioners ?-It was the petitioners through me.

Q. Did all the petitioners instruct yon to retain the services of Mr. Fontaine ?-
Almost all.

Q. Please name those of the petitioners who requested you to retain the services
of an attorney ?-I could name Mr. Fortier, Mr. Biron, Mr. Pépin, Mr. Letendre,
perhaps there were others of them ; and they asked me to follow the case, to watch
their interests and to engage an attorney.

Q. You swear that they asked you to engage an attorney ?--Yes ; and I continued
to gii e instructions to the attorney whom I had retained for the petitioners, and I
did that in order to conduct the matter properly.

Q. You said that you wished to take advantage of the too short delay of the in-
scription for enquéte-that your intention was to avail yourself of that ? -I said in my
examination-in-chief that I considered my summons to enquête as insufficient, that I had
a right to make default, as I did. That, at the time, I did not know whether the Hon-
ourable Judge in his délibéré would neglect to examine the proceedings, and to see
whether the delays were regular or not, but that I was firmly decided if judgment
was readored against me in spite of the insufficiency of the delay, to take advantage
of it in Review.

I was sued upon promissory notes, but I had a special defence which is not usually
met with in the case of ordinary suits upon promissory notes, and my case required
an equête.

Re-exanined
Q. There was a reference made to Mr. Piché in the first part of the cross-eram-

ination which you have been subjected to, is Mr Piché subject to the jurisdiction of
.the Court of the district of ]Richelieu, as well as at the same time an advocate in the
.said district, and did ho attend sthe Courts from eighteen hundred and sixty-seven to
'eighteen hundred and seventy-four ?-As far as I know, and since I have practised at
,Sorel, Mr. Piché has always been an advocate, practising more or less in the district of
Richelieu ; ho attended principally the Circuits at Berthier, and sometimes at Sorel,
-that is to say, he attend ed tho Courts, mQre or Ios,

J. B. BROUSSEAU.
OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877.
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A uxÂDKa Aacir8AauLT, residing at L'Assemption, huving been duly sworn,
deposethand saith:

Q. You practise as an Advocate ?-Yes.
Q. You practised fromoen thousand eight hundred and sixty-even iptoegteen

hundred and seventy-four, at L'Assomption, where you reside ?-Yes.
Q. During that period did you attend each of the Terms which were holden

there ?-Yes; I believe so.
Q. I mean to speak of the Court presided over by the Honourable Mr. Justice

Loranger.; did you attend each of the Terms?-I believe so.
Q. When did the Judge come, and when did he leave ?-The clerk will be able to,

tell you that. All the books have 'been brought here.
Q You do not require that. To your personal knowledge when did the Judge-

leave and when did he arrive ?-I have no personal knowledge of hie arrivai or
departure. Perhaps I saw him a couple of times arrive in the morning and leave in,
the evening.

Q. Did it sometimes happen that the Court adjourned when there was still busi-
noss unfinished ?-I think so; I cannot swear positively; I have triod to remember
the fact, but have not been able to do so.

Q. So you cannot remember any case precisely, or any date p-No; I believe that
I recollect the circumstance when the Honourable Judge arrived and did not put up-
his horse. It was, I believe, to render a judgment in a case in which Henault was
plaintiff against the corporation of Epiphanie, in the water-works matter, but I can-
not remember the date of the circumstance.

Q. Is that the only case in particular which you can recollect ?-Yes; it is the
only one.

Q. You have stated, that in your recollection there often remained cases on the-
_roil when the Judge adjourned the Court ?-To the best of my knowledge that hap,
pened, but I cannot swear to it positively.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that suitors complained of that ?-I might myselr
have said that the hasty departure of the Judge was injurious to the L'Apsomption
Circuit, but I never complainod of it in an official manner.

Q. You spoke about it privately ?-I believe that I spoke about it to Mr. Martel
and to Mr. Guilbot, a pracitsing advocate; perhaps to other persons; they did not
complain.

Did you hear it stated that other people complained ? Did any of your clients
complain ?-No; but since that time, I have remarked that many persons took their
cases to the district of Joliette, because at L'Assomption justice was too tardy. That
was told me some days ago.

Cross-examined:-
Q. It is, you say, but lately that you heard that?-I was told: "It is an unfortu-

nate thing that we have to take our cases elsewhere, but it is because for several years past
justice has been too tardy at L'Asom*ption."

Q. How long since has Judge Lranger ceased to go there and to act as Judge ?-
Since the appointment of Judge Olivier. Since one thouaand eight hundred and
seventv-four, I believe.

Q. Do you recollect any case in particular when the Judge left L'Assomption be-
fore the roll was gone through with, and notwithstanding that the parties were ready
to proceed ?-I do not recollect at the present moment, t I belleve that the Hon.
Mr. Justice Loranger cleared off from the roll the cases inscribed for the fgret day,.
and that he left unheard some of those inscribed for the second and thhd day,, wheu
he left on the firet day. The books would prove that.

Q. How many times did that happen ?-Sometimes.
Q. Once or twice ?-Twice, perhape oftener.
Q. You know the distance between Sorel and L'Assomption ?-They reckont it to

be nine leagues.
Q. Then yon know that there is the river to cross ?-Yes.
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Q. On the day on which I arrived i the morning aUd eft in the evening ,tho
8th of July, 1872, do you not know that-I came from the Court .at Jeliettee nd -&at I
returned there the same evening ?-I believe that the Criminai 0ourt was being held
that month,; 1,believe that it was on -the 7th or &h of July that you came and left in
the evening.

Q. I had only two judgments to render ?-Yes, I believe so.
Q. And I left after delivering those two judgments ?-Yes.
Q. Now, do you not know that besides your eircuit, I had a great number of

circuits to hold; that I had Montcalm, L'Assomption, Berthier, Joliette, St. Francis
and Sorel ?-Yes.

Q. Do you know what the number of terms in each locality is?-No, I do not
know.

Q. Do you know that, I attended the Court of Appeals besides those circuits,
from 1867 to July, 1871 ?-I have heard it so stated, and I have seen-it by the re-
ports in the newspapers.

Re-examined :-
Q. Is it to your knowledge that the Judge in opening the Court at L'Assomption

etated for how long a time he would romain there ?-It seems to me that he some-
times stated that ho had only one day or one day and one-half to romain there.

This deposition having been read over to the witness, ho persists therein,
declaring that it contains the truth and hath signed.

ALEX. ARCHAMBAULT.
OTTAWA, 7th March, 1877.

FRANois BENJAMIN GoDIN, Advocate, having been duly sworn, deposoth and
eaith:-

Q. Yon have been an advocate at Joliette for a long time, have yon not ?-I have
been an advocate at Joliette for twenty-five years. 1 practised for three years at
Montreal; that makes in all twenty-eight years that i have practised.

Q. Were you attorney for any one of the parties in a case No. 708, J. O. Pope
et al, versus Truesdell et al ?-I was the attorney for the plaintiffs.

Q. Did that case originate in the district of Joliette ?-Yes, at the time the
Honourable Judge presided over the Court in the district. But Judge Olivier having
been appointed for the district of Joliette, as ho had been engaged as attorney in
that case, ho declared himself incompetent to judge it, and he referred the case to
Sorel.

Q. Did you present at the date mentioned upon it the motion which is now
shown to you ?-Yes, I presented at the date mentioned thereon, that is to say on the
sixteenth day of October, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-threo, at Joliette,
the motion which is now shown to me; that motion is marked paper No. 31) of the
record, I believe.

Q. Now you had an opponent in that case who resisted that motion ?-Yes,
Messrs. Baby and McConville.

Q, That motion was presented atJoliette ?-I ought to state that it was presented
before Judge Olivier, on the day when it should have been. Judge Olivier, as I
mentionod above, referred that motion to Serel, because the argument could not
take placebelore him. The argument took place on the ninth (9th) of February,
one thouand eight hundred and seventy-four, at Sorel.

Q. Who repreented the firm of Baby and McConville at the time of that argu-
ment ?-It was Mr. McConville.

Q. You went yourself, with Mr. XoCouville, te Sorel for that business?-Yos.
Mr. McConvillo had also two motions to present.

Q. Did the Judge reserve his decision on that motion ?-He took the case en
d6libéré until the following day.
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. You then left --s for me, I left; I do not know whther fr. McCouvillo
left, rwh.the he remaind

Q, Did yoU commision anyone to obtain the resuit of the judgment whih v
to be rendêred the next day ?-I ad commissnd Mr. Germain, ofSomal t. infMr
me of the result of the matter.

Q. Were you informed of it some time afterwards ?-I do net remember, and I can
not say how long after. I cannot say whether it was not the next day e• on the
-same day that Mr. Germain informed me that judgment had been rendered and ho
gave me to un4erstand that the motions of the defendant were granted, and that mine
was rejected. I do not know whether I was informed of that when at Sorel or when
at Joliette; I cannot say whether it was a day after the judgment or on the very
day of the judgment.

Q. Did yeu go to S9rel about that judgment, and will you state when ?-I cannot
fix exactly what day I went to Sorel about that; it was after having been informed
that that judgment had been rendered; then I went to the clerk's office.

Q. Was that several days afterwards ?-It was in the same month ?
Q. Please tell us what took place at that time ?-I went to the clerk's odice and

found on the slip which I found with the record an entry to the following
effeet: " Judgment on the tenth of February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-f.ur,
granting the motions of the defendants to have certain depositions rejected, and rejeçting
the motions of the plaintiffs for want of evidence of notice to the opposite party." That is
what Mr. Gerrpain reported the judgment to me to be.

Q. Was Mr. Germain at the clerk's office with you when yon went to make that
verification from the slip ?-Yes, Mr. Germain accompanied me there.

Q. You saw that slip upon the record; please look at it?
[The attorney for the petitioners shows to the witness the slip which is found

on the record Pope et al.
A. I believe it was that one: I cannot identify it, because I did not put any

mark upon it in order to recognize it.

Question put by the Chairman:-
Q. But you have no reason for doubting but that that was the very one which

you saw when you went to the Clerk's office ?-I have no reason for doubting it.
Q. Was it in term or out of term that you went to the Clerk's office ?-I can

not affirm whether the term was over or whether it was not.
Q. Did you see the Judge on that day?-Yes.
Q. After your visit to the clerk's office ?-Yes.
Q. Where did you find the Judge when you went to see him ?-Hle was in his

room.
Q. In the Court Flouse ?-Yes.
Q. Did you take the record with you ? -Yes; both the record and the slip., The

reasons for the judgments had surprised me, because I was certain that there had
been due notice given of the motion.

Q. You went up to the Judge's room with the record and the slip ?-Yes.
Q. There, you found the Judgealone ?-Yes.
Q. What took place then ?-I represented to him that there had been a mistake

made; that the entry of the judgment made on the slip was an erroneous judgnent.
I ehowed him a certificate of service of the notice, which was on the back of the
motion; 1 told him that I thought that it was by errer that he had rendered that
judgment. After having examined the matter the Judge was convinced that there
was a mistake; he took the slip and scored out the words and rejecting tat of the
plaintifs. I see that the word euidence bas been scored out by the Judge's hand
likewise, I believe; and he has added the following: and that of the plaintis, above
the words which he had struck out; which made the note read as foelows: Judg-
ment on the tenth of February, granting the motion of the defendants to have certain
depositions rejected, and that of the plaintifs. Thon there remained the words which
had not been struck out, plaintiffs, note,-,&.
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Q. Granting thereby your motion rjected by the previous judgment ?-Yes.
Q. What did the Judge say before s0 striking out those words, while striking-

them ont, or after having struck them out ?-When I showed him that there had
been a regular notice given of the motion,'he told me that ho had not noticed it, and
he made the erasures without making any other remark.

Q. Were the attorneys of the opposite party in that ease informed of that pro-
ceeding ?-No, they were not I merely went to the Judge's room to show hlm the-
error a e nentioned.

Q. You were alone with the Judge during the whole of that time ?-Yes, I was
glone with him.

(Cross-exanined:

Q. The object of your visit was to point out to me the mistake committed ?-I
went to see you in order to show you that there had been a .mistake made, but I
had no intention of asking you to make any change. But after what I had showns
you, you at once saw the mistake and made the change in question.

Q. But did you not believe that upon showing him the error, ho would put it
right?-I understood that the Judge considered that the object of my visit was to,
have the error which had crept into his judgment in the motion, corrected ?

Q. Well, Mr. Godin, you have known me for many years just as I have known
you for a long time, did you believe that when I made the correction now in question
I intended to commit a forgery ?

(Objection taken to the question by the petitioners' attorney. dbjection main-
tained.)

Q. Under the circumstances in question, have you not remained under the im-

pression that the Judge did the thing in go>d faith, and without the intention of com-
mitting a forgery ?

(Objection taken to this question by the attorney for the prosecution. Objection
maintained.)

Q. Have you known of any interest that the Judge might have in making an
erroneous entry, or one in bad faith ?-No.

Q. Is it not to your knowledge that Mr. Germain had been likewise commissioned
by Mr. McConville to watch the result of the judgment upon the motions presented by
you and him, and to apprise him of it ?-I cannot state so positivoly, but such is
my impression.

Q. You thon procoeded after the judgment in question ?-Yes.
Q. Have you ever heard Mr. MeConville or his partner, or any one of the defen-

dants, cumplain of that judgment ?-No.
Q. Now I am going to question you upon a point of practice. This is a prelini-

inary judgment is it not; in the practice bofore the Courts of the Province of Lower
Canada, aro not those judgments revocable up to the hearing on the merits ?

(Objection taken to this question by the attorney for the petitioners. Objection
set aside.)

A. It could not be so in this case, because the question in point was to declare per-
tinent or not pertinent the interrogatories on articulated facts upon which objection
had been taken by the parties, and the judgment could no longer be objected to, after
the parties were compelled to answer to the interrogatories.

Q. I do not ask you whether in this case specially the judgment was revocable.
I speak to you about a general rule-are not preliminary judgments revocable ?-
A. As a general rule, yes, for what might be called preliminary judgments ; but not
for interlocutory judgments which are executory.

Q. This case of Pope versus Truesdell is still pending ?-Yes.
Q. No proceeding has been taken against that judgment ?-No.

By Mr. Taschereau :-
Q. After having seen the Judge make the correction of which you have spokeni

on the slip which you had brought to him, did you leave the record as -weil as the.
slip before him ?-No; I took it with me and put it back in the clerk's office.
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Q. Did you point out to the clerk the correction which had just been made ?-
I do Dot remember having pointed it out to him, but I recollect having informed
Mr. Germain of it.

Q. At that time was there an entry in the minute book recording the first judg-
ment ?-I do not know.

Q. Are those interlocutory judgments about which a question has just been
raised made out at once or a long time after the first judgment, at Sorel ?-I do
not know what is the practice in the district of Richelieu. I do not belong to it.

By the Chairman:
Q. Did you inform Mr. Baby or Mr. McConville of the correction which the

Judge had made ?-No.
No re-examination.

This deposition having been read over to the witness, he persists therein declar-
ing the same to contain the truth, and hath signed

F. B. GODIN.

ADOLPHE GERMAIN, advocate, of Sorel, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith:
Q. You are an advocate ?-Yes.
Q. You have practised at Sorel some years ?-Since eighteen hundred and

sixty.
Q. About May, eighteen hundred and seventy-three, were you engaged by Mr.

Brousseau to assist him in the conduct of certain cases, and especially the cases bear-
ing the nambers 1,322 and 1,332, in which Mathieu was plaintiff versus Brousseau
defendant ?-I was not retained at that time. I believe that it was in October,
eighteen hundred and seventy-three, some days before or on the eve of the October
Term, that Mr. Brousseau roquested me to assist him in the two cases in question.
HRe had already spoken to me about that matter, but then ho fully explained to me
the point at issue, which was a dificulty concerning the insufficiency of the notice for
inscription. I gave him as my opinion that the inscription was irregular, for want
of sufficient notice. We examined the practice on that point, and, besides the formal
article of the Code, I looked over with him two judgments which had been rendered
on the point. I told him at that time that, in order to avail himself of that
irregularity of inscription, it was necessary that ho sbould make default when the
cases in question were called. I even advised him to ab3ent himself. I will add
that I examined his defence, which appeared to be, primd facie, a good defence. Mr.
Brousseau told me that he could not absent himself-that he had other cases which
would oblige him to romain and attend in Court the very day on which his cases
would be called, but that he would make default. It was well understood betweený
us that he would allow himself to be called and foreclosed, and that he would say
nothing on the calling of bis cases. On the 3rd of October the Court oponed. I was.
present when the two cases were called-I was in my seat within the bar. The first
case, No. 1,322, having been called, Mr. Mathieu rose to pray for judgment. The
Judge thon addressed Mr. Brousseau, telling him that this was lis case that he had
just called. Mr. Brousseau rose and said " that he had nothing lo say." Upon this,
Mr. Mathieu rose again and prayed judgment; and then I saw the Honourable Judge.
write something on the roll which ho had before him.

Q. The same thing took place in the second case ?-The other case baving been
called, some one said-same entry; but I do not know by whom thoge two words were'
spoken. I paid special attention to that matter, and 1 wishod to see wbether Mr.
Brousseau exocuted well the orders which I had given him as bis adviser. I shall
say in this connection that Mr. Brousseau had told me that those were important
cases for him, and that he wished to take advantage of the irregularities in the-
inscription, and that I thereupon told him that it was better that he should make,
default and that he certainly would suwceed in appeal. I told him at the time tha"
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if lie did not make defailt be would lose the benefit of the pSition which he would
have before the Court of Review, by the mere faet of those irrogularities in- the
inseiption.

intor Court, perhaps on the very day, ]Kr. Brousseau aked me whether he had
made default in the manner that i had recommended, and whether he had acted con-
formably to bis instructions; I told him yes, and he left in order to examine the
book,-(I believe that it was I myself, without being certain of it, who told him to
go and examine the book ;) he examined it, he told me, and added that the entry
was what I arn going to tell you: "P. O. C. A. V." in the two cases.

He asked me to see the book, or I manifested a desire to see the book ; I did
so; I do not know how many days before the inscription 1 saw the roll, but in any
case it was before the inscription of the cases for review; and, at all events, I am
certain that I saw it. I ascertained, in the column opposite those two cases, Mathieu
vs. Brousseau, that there was in the first " P. O. C. A. V.," and likewise " P. O. C. A.
V." opposite the second.

Then the inscription for review was made by Mr. Brousseau, who went up to,
Montreal on the evening before the day fixed for the pleadings. I was myself in
Montreal at the same time that he was, on the first day of the Court. I had business
there; he asked me whether I would plead his cases for him, but I told him my
business would prevent my doing so, and advised him to plead in person.

On the evening of the day on which he went up, Mr. Brousseau arrived at Sorel
by the boat, about ten o'clock; I was on the wharf ; I asked him what news he had
-he had an exasperated look; hie told me what he had found in the transcript,
respecting the entry which had been made after the inscription of the cases for
review. I told him that he ought, the next day, in Court, to give bis affidavit relating
the circumstances, and asking' that the record be sent down to the court below to be
there put in the same state in which it was before the inscription. He asked me to
go up with him to Montreal in the same steamboat, which I did on the morning of
the next day, which was the first day of Court, so far as I can remember; and there
I ascertained that the transcript showed that the defendant had declared bis enquête
closed.

We both went to find Mr. Rainville, the advocate, to ask him bis opinion about
the proceedings to take.

Mr. Rainville advised the same course as I did, that is to say, to have the record
sent back to the Court below.

I had business and could not attend in Court, notwithstanding Mr. Brousseau's
wish.

He told me afterwards that the Judges had rejected his application, the Hion.
Mr. Justice Mondelet dissenting.

I then went to look at the rolls. I cannot say whether it was in company with
Mr. Brousseau, but I went to the clerk's office and found that the first entry which I
had seen in it, that is to say, the leti ers "P. O. C. A. V." was struck out by a transverse
line drawn through it, and #elow were written the words: The " defendant d«clareshis
enquéte closed," with the initials of the J udge I believe; it looked to me like his initials,
at any rate it was in bis handwriting.

I found ut the clerk's office the roll just as I find it here. The second case had
also in it, P.O.O.A. V. and beneath, "same entry." The letters, P. O. C. A. V. were
struck ont as in the preceding case, by the Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger's own hand
That change was made after the inscription for review, and at that time, because I
had examined the roll before the inscription, and had always seen omly the entries
~which I have already mentioned.

Q. in any case the alteration was made several days after the first entries were
placed on the book ?-Yes, several days after, perhaps on the very day of the i nscrip-
tion, or on the evening before, but I know nothing about it accurately. The entries
made on the role are not generally speaking carried into the minute boek. They are
often the official record of the suit, and often also of the avowals of the partics taken
in open Court. In general those entries form part of the transcript, and are not



-entered in the minute book, in which are only entered the cases, their I&umSibers, and
-the namewof the parties; in aword, it is a list of the records.

sometimes the enquête is efosed upon any paper writing whateve., wh*k il
Lied as apaper in the records, and this itthen entered ln the minute book.

Q. You are well acqnainted with Judge Loranger's handwriting ?-Yes.
Q. The entries of which we have just spoken are made by hi hand ?-Yes.
The hearing of the witness is adjourned until to-morrow, 6th of Marob, instat.

This 6th day of March the examination of the witness is continued:
Mr. Germain, please examine the record Pope versus Truesdell, and tell us whether

-you have any knowledge whether Mr. Godin, attorney for the plaintif, argued one or
:several motions in the Superior Court, presided over by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Loranger at Sorel, on the (9) ninth of February, one thousand eight hundred and
.seventy-four ?-Mr. Godin, in the case in question, and likewise Mr. MeConville, for
the defendants, argued three motions. One by Mr. Godin, on the part of the
plaintirrs, respecting articulated tacts; and the two others by Mr. McConville,
for the defendants, in order to have certain depositions rejected. Those motions,
.after having been argued, were taken on en délibéré by his Honour Mr. Justice Loranger,
wto presided. Mr. Godin and Mr. McConville left Sorel the same day, begging me
to intorm them of the judgment whieh should be rendered on their motions. The
next day, the tenth of February, judgment was rendered on the motions in open
Court.

I know that some motions were rejected and some were granted; but as I was
not acquainted with the record I took the trouble to look at the judgment in order to
be able to inform Messieurs Godin and MeConville of its purport. The judgment
-was written upon the strip of paper or slip, which is the leaf of the délibéré already
produced, and was to the iollowing effect: The " tenth of February, one thousand eight
lundred and seventy-four, granting the motion of the defendants to have certain depositions
rejected, and rejecting that of the plaint ifs for want of notice to the opposite party."

Between the words "rejecting that of the " and the word "plaintifs " there was the
word " defendant," which was struck out; and between the words " for want of " and
- notice," there was the word "proof," which was struck out,

The words struck out attracted my attention, inasmuch as it was strange to put
the word " proot" on a record.

I then wrote to Mr. Godin telling him of the tenor of that judgment, and giving
him the reasons for the dismissat of his motion.

Some days after, I cannot accurately state how many--perhaps four, perhaps five
-days after the Court rose, Mr. Godin came to my office and asked me whether it waa
really true that the Judge had dismissed bis motion for want of notice. I told him
that it was so, and that furthermore he might convince himself of the fact by going
to the clerk's office. He invited me to accompany him to the clerk's offce,
which I did. le asked for the record, and together we ascertained that what I had
.already told him was correct.

Before leaving my office to go to the elerk's office lie told me that his intention
was to go and find the Judge in his Chamber, in order to remonstrate with him, and
tell him in what a position he had placed him.

After we had examined the record together, Mr. Godin went up to the Judge's
Chamber, whom he found alone; he remained some minutes with him-not a long
time--and he returned with the record. So far as I am able to recollect, the slip was
fastened on top; it may be that the slip was inside the record and not on top, foi" 1:
do not remember that exactly. Al that I do know is that I saw the slip in question,
that the words "rejecting those of the " were struck out; above, between the lines were
added these words : " and that of the plaintif9." At that time the draft of the jud ment
which I see here was not drawn out-at least it was not in the record. Mr. xodin,
on his retura, told me that he had obtained satisfaction.
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Q. At the time of the rendering of the judgment, on the tenth of
February one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four, was any one of the parties
present ?-They were reprosented by me † the two parties had asked me to'-
inform them of the judgment which miaht be rendored on their motions.

Q. Did you inform Mr. MeConville of the result of his motions ?--l think so, or
I begged Mr. Godin to do so.

Q. When you saw the slip in question containing the judgment, and when you
wrote to Mr. Godin, did that judgment bear the initials of the Judge ?----It was
just as it is now. The initials were there, and the initials are written with the very
same ink and with the very same pen that they were then written with. While th&
erasure and the words interlined are in another handwriting and other ink.

Q. The initials which are there tIt the foot are the initials of the Judge ?-I
declare that I have no doubt of that. The Judge has a sufficiently characteristic
handwriting, aud I can determine from it that these are certainly his initials which
are bore at the foot.

Q. Now, during the period of time--one thousand eight hundred and sixty-eight
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine, one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
up to the close of one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four, what was the usage
respecting the slip, in the District of Richelieu, during the whole time that Judge
Loranger presided over the Courts in tbat District ?--The judgment is without denial
the sentence which is pronounced in open Ccurt. Now it is requisite that that judg-
ment should be written. The Judge almost always, if not always, writes out his
judgments, and he writes them out almost always on this sheet of paper or slip,
which is a part of the records, and this is how it is done: The lonourable
Mr. Justice Loranger, some years back, introduced the practice in the district of
Richelieu, of making the clerk put such a piece of paper or form for any kind of
délibéré with the record when it is placed before him, the Judtge. This slip in question,
partly printed, is what I should call the sheet of the délibéré. This slip contains
the number of the case, the names of the parties, the date of the day of the terin
during which it was taken en délibérê; that is to say, the date of the hearing, and a
statement on the point of which there was a délibéré. There is, besides, the date of
the judgment and the name of the Judge.

Generally speaking, the Judge, as I have stated, comes into Court and pronounces
his judgments, with this sheet, upon which the whole judgment is wri tten in his hand.

I have sometimes seen that when the judgment was too long to be put upon the
slip, there was another strip of paper joined on to the said slip to continue the
snaking out of the judgment. It sometimes happcned also that he drew up bis judg-
iment upon ordinary foolscap paper; this was very rarely the case. At other times when
lie rendered a judgment written upon the slip, it would happen that he would proceed
vivâ voce to give the detailed reasons for his judgment; sometimes, also, he wrote out
at full length the grounds of his judgment.

That writing is never put in the record, but the journal of the déliberé or the
judgment written by the hand of the judge is placed in the record and forms
part of it.

When the judgments are only interlocutory judgments, they are made out
briefly, as this one in this case, Pope versus Truesdell.

When it is a final judgment, and one which requires reasons, it is made out with
the reasons and the decision.

After the judgment is rendered, and the draft of the judgment is placed in the,
record, it is customaiy for the deputy clerk, Mr. de Grandpré, to make a fair copy of
thejudgment, in the form that it should have in order to be registered. This is done
because almost always the Judge only writes the reasons and the decision, and the
preamble is put in the fair copy made by the deputy clerk.

It is the practice to show this draft of judgment to the Judge, who sometimesE
makes corrections in the words or sentences, .of little importance, which can not
essentially change it in any way; these are only corrections in its preparation.

36

40 Victoria. Appendir- (No. 3) A. 181,



~40 Yictoria. Appendix (No. B.) A.187t

Prom what I know and understand, interlocutory judgments are decisive judg-
ments-executory judgments like all other judgments.

Our practice is borrowed, in a great measure, from the French practice and to a,
small extent from the English practice. The two practices have ben modifid ni
6uch a way as to suit us, so that at the present time we have a procedure which is
Our own.

We have not what they eall in France a preliminary judgment, unless yon ean
-cal1 a prelin-inary jtdgment the appointing of an enquête or of any proeeeding
,whatsoever.

Interlocutory judgments are decisory and executory judgments, and can only h
quashed in appeal, but never by the Judge who has rendered them, unlôss with the
consent of the parties.

They are called interlocutory judgments in order to distinguish them from fmai
judgments, because an interlocutory judgment is rendered upon an incinent in the
.case, and the final judgment on the merits.

Q. Between the pronouncing >f the judgment by the Judge on the Bench, aI
the drawing out of the slip, is there any other inscription, either in the record or in
the register, of that judgment?-That is the only document that there is; I have
sometimes happened to see a mention of a judgment on a motion.

Q. During the time that I have indicated above, namely, from one thousand.
meight hundred and sixty-seven to the end of one thousand eight hundred and
seventy-four, was it the practice in the District of Richelieu to alter in Chambers
interlocutory judgments ?

(Objection taken to this question by the attorney for the defendants. Objectiou
xnaintained.)

Q. You have a roll in enquête and hearing for the district of Richelieu. Win
you tell us whether that roll is an official roll or a private record kept for the
Judge ?-It is the roll of the Court.

Q. Forming part of the records of the district ?-Yes.
Q. You followed the Berthier and Yamaska Circuits?-Yes.
Q. Did you follow them regularly, from the lst July, one thousand eigIt

hundred and sixty-seven, to the end of the year one thousand eight hundred and
,seventy-four ?-I did not follow the Bert hier Circuit very regularly, but I went thee
almost every Term; I had sometimes one or two matters there. As to the St.
Francis Circuit, I abWays followed it very regularly during the period you have
mentioned; so far as I can recollect, I only failed to go there twice. I believe that
I went oni of those times to beg Mr. Brousseau to take my place on the St
Francis Circuit.

Q. Well, as regards the Bertbier Circuit. During the time that I have just
,mentioned, when did the Judge set out in order to go there to hold his Court ?-On
the morning of the day for holding the Court; sometime, in the afternoon; Pome-
times, even, it happened that he crossed at three o'clock in the afternoon; and in fine
weather, in summer I mean, it happened that ho very often made the crossing
in a canoe.

Almost every tine he returned in the afternoon, at the same time that I did, by
the ferry steamboat which leaves Berthier at four o'clock; he returned to Sorel to
sleep, so as to leave again the next day.

Q. On the last day of the Term, did the Judge return the same evening or the
next day ?-He returned the same day, and this took place down to one thousand
eight hundred and seventy-four.

Q. During the same period, when did the Judge set out for St. Francis ?-During
the period in question there was never more than one day of Court; and it was not
even a day, it was an hour, two hours, or three hours. There were even Terms
when there was no Court held. On arriving at St. Francis I learned that a telegram.
'ihad been received, announcing that the Judge was not coming there.

The Judge invariably left his house in the morning, about eight o'elock or half-
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pst eight, to go and hold the Court at St. Francis; he always returned about lMe,.
six, or seven o'cloek in the evening.

The distance between St. Francis and Sorel is five leagues in winter and six
jn summer.

In winter it takes, at most, two hours to go there, and in summer it takes two-
Ibours and a half; it takes a little longer in summer.

I went myself three times in the same vehicle with the Judge; we left about
balf-past eight in the morning, and we were back, at the latest, at seven o'clock in.
the- evening.

Oros-examined ;-
Q. Is it not true that during the interval between one thousand eight bundredt

and sixtf-seven and one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four you only went
once to St. Francis with the Judge, in the saine vehicle, during the November term?
-I went there three times.

Q. Naine them.-I cannot fix accurately the times when, but I shall state-
aceurately the facts; the first time that I conveyed the Honourable Mr. Justice(
loranger to St. Francis, I had a red mare, and I am certain that it was during that,
period.

Q. The first time, then, of which you speak, was in the March terrn, one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-five,-it was the first year that I was at Sorel ?-No.

Q. Is it not true that it was in the winter of one thousand eight hundred and
sixty-five, the first year that I was at Sorel ?-It was in one thousand eight hundred
and si xty-eight, or about that year.

Q. Were you not one of the inciters of the charges brought against Judge
liorainger ?-I was not the originator of the complaints brought against Judge
Ioranger, but I have very often complained. It was not I who set going the first
4omplaint; it was Mr. Latour, Mr. Biron and Mr. Marion. They came to my office
as wel 1 as to that of Mr. Gill; they requested my co-operation, and asked that of Mr.
Gill, as well as that of the other members of the Bar.

On or about the third of June, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four, we
inet at the house of Mr. Gill. It was there decided to sign a petition complaining
strongly of the Judge's conduct.

The question was to know whether that petition should be submitted to those
-within the jurisdiction, as well as to the other members of the Bar, and we agreed
enly to submit it to the members of the Gar, leaving out Messieurs Barthe and
Jrassard, whoin we considered as unduly favoured by the Judge.

We made advances towards the members of the Bar, and after much parleying
-we were not able to succeed in having that petition signed by them in a body, because
they feared the Judge's retaliation in case we did not succeed.

I myself spoke to other members of the Bar, who refused me because they found
the success of the matter almost impossible.

I ouight to say that since one thousand eight hundred and sixty-eight and one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine there had been great discontent among the
Bar on account of the favouritisn shown by the Judge towards Messieurs Barthe and
]Brassard. I know that an influential member of the Bar, at my solicitation, or of his
own accord, promised me to approach the Executive in order to ,effect a change of
Judges in the shape of promotion.

By Mr. Desjardins :-
Q. Who was that member ?-It was Mr. Mathieu.
I myself before the spring of one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four, came

lere to Ottawa in order to see the Minister of Justice, and.to take steps in order to have
-the Judge changed. But the signing of the complaints was only contemplated in
the summer of the saie year, in July. Then Mr. Latour came to ask our co-
operation; I hesitated for a long time to grant my assistance, because, along withW
mnany others, I found the scheme an excessively difficult one to carry out.
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But at last, in one thousand eight hunidrd and seventy-five, I decided topre e
a petition (the first that was presented) in company with Mr. Brousseau, and la
ubmit it to a certain numberof the morst substantial suitors within the juriediîon.

That petition was drawn out and sabmitted to the suitors. I know tht they
signed it, fbr all those who signed it spoke to me about it aftorwards.

Q Do you mean to say tat the subseribing petitioners to that petition are the
most subatautial suitors of the district of Richelieu ? -I asserted that thev were of
the most substantial of the suitors. You will notice that two of them were members
of Parliament; one of them was a member for twdlve years.

Q. You said that you wished for a change of Judges, and that the suitors might
be removed from the jurisdiction of the maid Judge by means of his promotion ?
-Because I believed that that was thu only way to etr<ct a change of Judges.

Q. Is it not true that on the twenty-seventh of September, one thousand eight
hundred and seventy-three, you went to the Judge in bis Chambers, that there
you offered hin the support of your influence in order to ha- e him appointeda Judgo
of the Court of Appeals, i equesting his assistance to have you appointed in his p lace?
-Decidedly not; and I consider the question as a gratuitous insult. I may add that
the Judge, for a certain period, relaxed his harshness towards me in Court. I under-
stood by that that he was endeavouring to secure my influence to go into the Court
of Appeal. Had I any need of Judge Loranger to have myself appointed Tudge ?

Q. Did you not say to Mr. Mousseau, advocate, during the Appeal term of one
thousand eight hundred and severity-four, thiat the Judge would do botter to resign ;
that he might obtain his superannuation, even although he had not completed
his fifteen years; that it was necessary to work Jor that, and that you hoped
that your friends would not forget you when it came to appointing a Judge Y -I
did what I could to avoid the impeachment of the Judge; I saw his friends, I
saw his brother; I made his friends speak to him urging him to resign.

In the case in question, which I recollect very well, I remarked to Mr.
Mousseau what is contained in the first part of the question, that is to say, that
Judge Loranger would do botter to resign, and I asked him what was the way to
make him resign; becanse I knew that Mr. Mousseau was one of the Judge's
friends; but I positively deny having said to Mr. Mousseau that my friends should
think of me. Really, I must have been a fool to address myseif to Mr. Mousseau
in order to have myself appointed a Judge, for every one knows that he was not
the man to have helped me in such a case. It is not possible that I could have said
that to him.

Q. After last session, did you not reproach Mr. Barthe for not having sustained
you in the petition presented to the Government, or for not having joined those who
accused Judge Loranger ?-That is a private affair.

Q. Did you not especially reproach him for having been the cause that you had
not been appointed Judge, because he did not join you, or because ho had supported
Judge Loranger ?-I will not answer that question; or, I will ask Mr. Baýthe tw come
here and himself relate what was said between us. I believe Mr. Barthe to be too
honourable a man to make a statement like that. I deny having said that, and I con-
sider the question to be an insult.

On the contrary, I reproached Mr. Barthe with having spread certain reports;
and I had a witness at the time, whom I had made to conceal himself, because I
wished to have an explanation about those reports. I asked Kr. Baithe whether I
had ever spoken to him about having me appointed Judge; I asked him the reason
why he had said to others that I had, asked him to have me appointed; and I took
that opportunity on account of the witness, who was present although concealed, be-
eause the publie might believe that I had solicited it, which was not the case.

In the conversation which I thon had with him, I asked him, "Rave 1 ever said
to you, that I longed for the offire of a Judge ? " Mr. Barthe declared to me positively
that I had never asked him. If Mr. Bartbe does not say so, I shall bring the wituesa
of that conversation.
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Q. After last session, or during last session, did you go to the office of Mr.
Bévére Rivard, advocate, at Montreal, and did you speak to him about the charges
brought against the Judge? -It was not at his office that I saw him; I met Mr.
Rivard iii the book shop of Mr. Rolland;' it was during the same trip that I spoke to
Mr. Mousseau. so far as I can recollect.

Mr. Rivard was one of my great friends, and also o..e of the Judge's friends, or
of one of his brothers. At that time. I worked with all my power to prevent the
accusations from being brought before Parliament, and I found that opportune meet-
ing with Mr. Rivard a good one to speak to him about it. lu fact, I spoke to him in
R>lland's shop. He admitted to me himself that the Judge would do muchl better to
resign.

I showed him that the petition was to be presonted in Parliament, and that it
was ver'y painful to ù obligeî to go thiat length; I bsgged him t- see the Judge's.
brother or the Judge himself, to sec and make him resign.

Atter the petition had been presented, about three weeks after the conversation
which I have jnst related, I went to Mr. Rivard's office, with whom I was on very
good terms, and Mr». Rivard got red with anger at the first word, abused me, and
showed me the dooir, without any other explanation. In the meantime I had written
to Mr. Ri Vard a letter which can be produced, praying him to make haste and have
the matter arranged-that Parliamentwas going on. Mr. Rivard answered me by a
letter which I can prjoruce, which I have not'with me here, but which I can produce,
begging me to w.ait a little-that that was going to be done.

By Mr. Taschereau:-

Q. Was this exchange of letters a long time before the second interview ?-It was
about fifteen days before.

By Judge Loranger

Q. At the time of the second interview did you not say, " Well, we are pushing
on bravely this matter of the Judge ? "-No; the only words that I had occasion to use
were these: " Well, my dear Rivard, do you not think that it would have been better that
the Judge should have resigned ? " Upon this, he said to me in great anger, "I wilL
not helpyou, and I will take the Judge's part."

Q. Upon this, did not Mr. Rivard say, " Yes, you have sueceeded in a manner to
clothe yourselves with shame" ?-He said more than that to me.

Q. Thereupon did you not reply, " At all events, we have succeeded in disgracing
him, and he must of necessity resign " ?-No, most positively, no. I told him " that the
petition presented to Parliament was of such a nature as always to cast discredit on the
Judge's name, and that for that reason Judge Loranger, of whose guilt I was convinced,
would have done better to have resigned."

Q. Did not the refusal of the Judge to resign very greatly irritate you-to such an
extent that, on the Ist of April last, on his return from Ottawa, you met him on the
street before Mr. Barthe's house and thrust him aside with your elbow ?-It was not
the refusal of the Judge which irritated me, but it was the infamous insults which
he had hurled forth in the Minerve, accusing us of conspiracy, vhilst as British sub-
jects we were only taking advantage of our rights. In that article he threatened to
prosecute us criminally. Notwithstanding that I was not named in that article, I
flt that it was directed against me; and I do not fear to state that I would have
horsewhipped the Judge if I had met him at the time.

lHowever it may be, when I met him at Sorel, when the circumstance occurred
which is related in the question, it was a question whether he or I should turn aside
in order not to pass through a quantity of water; and as in the highway I am the
equal of His Honor, and as 'furthermore, above all, I had been insulted as I stated
above, I owed him no politeness and I passed on my way going straight ahead.
Now, I may have jostled the Judge while passing, because I did not wish to
pass through the water.



Q. On the sixteenth of May, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-six, at
-Berthier,did you not,about seven o'clock in the evening, publicly insult Judge Loranger
by cuitting him off from the entrance door'of Gagnon's hotel?-No; I recolloet
-perfectly the circumstance. I was conversing witi a friend on the stops of Gagnon's
hotel. It had avery large door with two great leaves; I took up nearly half of the

aoor, and there remained sufficient space for any one to pass. I was paying no
attention to the Judge, when I heard him say something to the effect that I was a
blackguard. I cannot state positiN ely that those were the words that he used, but
it was something nearly to that effect. BesidesI. always understood that the Judge
was seeking to have himself insulted by me in order to be able to prosecute me; and
it was agreed between Mr. Brousseau and myself to show him all possible respect, in
order not to give him that opportunity.

At this juncture, the Judge added that he should be allowed to enter the door.
1 answered, "Pags by, there is room for you."

Q. You said that the district lost its confidence in the Judge from one thousand
*eight hundred and sixty-eight to one thousand eight hundred anc sixty-nine; will you
take communication ofthe document marked "L," and say whether it was not written
and signed by you ? --I recognize the document, and it was I who drew it up. The
Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger was on the brink of the grave in March, one thousand
-eg ht hundred and seventy-one. I ought to remark here that I never had any feeling

>f hatred against the Judge; I had always been one of the admirers ot his talents,
but not of his character. The Hon. Judge became convale-cent, and went to Euro>e,
where he received marks of esteem from Pope Pius IX.

When he passed through Sorel on his way to Europe, the members of the Bar
.said: we are going to present an address to the Judge, on bis way, as a mark of
.politeness. To that I made no objection. It may be that I signed that address, but
i did not attend at the presentation of it.

When the Judge returned in April, one thousand eight bundred and seventy-two,
,he had been absent for seven or eight months, which was quite sufficient to make us
forget the past; inasmuch as he returned to us in order to resume his functions, we
-could put aside everything in order to do him an act of politeness, by giving him a
'welcome, and under the circumstances 1 do not regret it.

I will add that I did all in my power to prevent the charges from coming here,
where they are at the present moment. It wili not be believed that it is for ourown
pleasure that we come before this committee but I will say that it is necessity that
forced us.

Q. It was Mr. Brousseau came, I believe, lst session to cond uct the
natter ?-Yes.

Q. Is it not true that you conducted the matter with him, and that correspon-
dence passed between you when he was at Ottawa ?-We carried on the business
,together in common, and day by day I communicated with him by letter.

Q. So that you contributed to the continuation of this matter, that is to say, to
the charges brought against Judge Loranger, since their commencement ?-I an
-willing to assume the responsibility of what I have done, but I do not wish to carry
another's burthen. I said that I did all that laid in my power to assist, and in the
interest of the petitioners I did all that I could to attain the object of the petition,
impelled by the sole object of co-operating towards the good administration of
justice in the district, and in the interests of the public which include my own.

I will likewise state that it was I who paid all the expenses of Mr. Brousseau,
both for travelling and in other ways, with respect to this prosecution. Mr. Brousseau
mot having the advantage of being rich, and giving his time.

This year I notified the petitioners that I had done my part and that it wM
necessary that they should do theirs, and at the present time each one contributes
towards the cost of this prosecution. I will remark that some of the petitioners have
not done so, because they said that they were not in a position to do so.

Q. And since this enquiry was agitated, that is to say, since the Committee went
into operation, you have always, in conjunction with Mr. Brousseau and perhaps also
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with others, conducted this matter ?-There are some of the petitioners who have
given their names, and others who have concealed them for personal reasons, that ià to
say, their names cannot appear, but they proceed with the others

I have been commissioned specially by the.greater number of the petitioners to-
'wateh over their interests here and to keep them informed of what is done in the
Oomimittee; which I have done.

Q. Did you not contribute towards the drawing up the Bill of Particulars ?-
Slightly. I was present when the Bill of Particulars was drawn up by the petitionera'
attorney and by Mr. Broussean, and I assisted therein.

Q. In general have you not assisted in the prosecution of these charges since the
Committee has been sitting ?-I help, and I give .my assistance and co-operation,,
earnestly desiring that it may come to an end.

Q. You haveadvised the defendant in the cases Mathieu versus Brousseau ; you
have also stated that you had advised him not to take advantage in Court of the in-
sufficiency of the delay given, on the day on which the said cases would be called ? -
Yes, to make default.

Q. Is not the usual time for taking advantage of the insufficiency of the delay
at the enquête and hearing on the merits, at the time of the opening of the enquête
and the hearing ?-A pleader is not obliged to state what are bis grounds of defence;
he takes advantage of everything which can favour bis case. I have very often sqpn
no advantage taken of flaws like that one but when in appeal. And in this case the
reason of that reservation was that we feared the favouritism shown by the Judge
for Mr. Mathieu, as had already happened in cases in which we set forth ourgrounds
of defence, of which the Judge took advantage i n order to suggest the mode of proce-
dure to those who pleaded against us.

Q. Am I to understand that the sun of the advice whieh you had given to Mr.
Brousseau was, not to draw the attention of the Court to the insuffieiency of the delays
for enquête, and to invalidate the juIgment notwithstanding that insufficicney if it was
given against the defendant ?-I advised him to make a complete defiuilt, which im-
plied perfect silence on his part when the case was called.

We believed thon that the adverse party woul., according to law, have Mr.
iBrousseau called, and would put him in default if he did not proceed ; but the Judge
uiade haste to render judgment, and they did not even take the precatut.ion to follow
the law.

I repeat what I have said in my examination in chief, that it 'was in order to be
able to go into Appeal that I had thus advised Mr. Brausseau, in order that he might
take advantage of the irregularities which we had pointed out.

Q. Can you relate what was the exact tenor of the jadgment pronounced vivd
voce by the Judge on the tenth of February, one thousand eight hundred and
seventy-four ?-The exact tenor was the granting of the motion of the defendants and
the dismissal of that of the plaintiffs. At the moment I did not well understand
whom this affected, and it was on that acoeunt that I went to look at the record, and
it was in that way I made the verifications.

Q. Can you swear that to your knowledge the Judge always went in the morning
to the St. Francis Circuit, and always returned from it in the eveing, and this, too,
from the first of July, one thousand oight hundred and sixty-seven, up to the first of
May, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four ?-Yes. Now it may be th'at
sometimes I did not see him leave or arrive thence in the evening; but it was his.
invariable rule to go in the morning, and as I went there myseif I always had
knowledge of the fact; and when I did not see him return I saw him at Sorel itself
en the evening of the Term.

Q. Thon yon swear that you saw the Judge going to St. Francis and returning
the same day, during that period ?-As I had to wait on the Court rather than it
should wait on me, i always werit the first, and in good enough tine. We both of
us boarded at the same hotel, the Judge and 1; I always saw him arrive, and as forý
departure, it happened that I was the first to leare, but the Judge, at that time, was-
ordering his vehicle; in fact we were ail p-eparing to leave.

'12
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Q. In fine, you swear then, that yon have a personal knowledge of the fact
which you have advanced, to wit: that Judge fLoranger leftr in the morning abd
returned the same evening of the Term ?-Yes. If there are exceptions not within
iny recollection, they can be only one or two during the riod in guestion; it may
be that it did not happen in that way when I did not go ere ; I failed to attend that
Circuit twice.

Q. Do you make the same statement with reference to the Terms of the Court at
Blerthier ?-Yes. I did not go with the Judge, but we also boarded at the same
hotel. When I arrived they used to say to me, " we are expeting the Judge," or 'tAeý
Judge hs just arrived," or " he is going to cross in the canoe," and very often I crosaed
with him. We often, also, returned together.

Q. How many times, to your personal knowledge, did Judge Loranger leave in
the morning and return in the evening, for the Berthier Circuit ?-It will be under-
stood that this is a question to which it is impossible to reply categorically; I shaft
only say that it was the greater part of the time, and even almost each time that I
went there; we left together and we returned together.

A. GERMAIN.
OrrAwA, 9th Marcb, 1877.

Louis FRANçoIs MARCHAND, residing at Montreal, having been duly sworuz
deposeth and saith:-

Q. You are Clerk of the Court of Appeal, at Montreal, and an Advocate ?-Yes.
Q. Since what time ?-I have performed the duties of Clerk of Appeal since one-

thousand eight hundred and fifty-nine, but I have only borne the title since the year
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-eight. Before that time I aeted as Deputy
Clerk.

(Objection taken to the hearing of the present witness by the defence. Objection
maintained.)

1, the undersigned, stenographer, certify that the foregoing is reprodueed fromi
my stenographic rotes.

PATJL WIALLARD.

G. A. CHAMPAGNE, rosiding at Joliette, having been duly sworn, deposeth and:
saith

Q. You are an Advocate ?-Yes.
Q. Did you practise at Joliette from July, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-

Seven, up to the end of the year one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four ?-Yes.
Q. Did you follow the Montealm Circuits ?-Sometimes.
Q. Did you go to the Montcalm Circuit in November, one thousand eight hundred

and sixty-nine ?-I cannot say.
Q. Were you acquainted with Mr. De Caussin, clerk, at that time ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know that he left, and that it was necessary to replace him ?-

Tes.
Q. Have you any knowledge that you went to the Montcalm Circuit the first of

the Terms following the appointment of his successor ?-I cannot state precisely
whether I went there or not. Please remind me of some circumstance.

Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Beauchamp, Mr. De Caussin's successor ?-Yes.
Q. Is it to your knowledge that there was a Term in which.the Judge did not go

to hold the Court ?-It did happen that I went to Ste. Julienne for the Circuit, and-
that there was no Judge there. .

Q. Was that between one thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven, and one thon-
mand eight hundred and seventy-four ?-I could not swear to it.
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Q. From one thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven, to one thousand eight hun-
.dred and seventy-four, when you went to Ste, Julienne, was the Court generally held
for longer than one hour-when it was presided over by Judge Loranger, I mean ?-
'The Term generally only lasted one day; I know that it may have been prolonged
one day more.

Q. Was the roll cleared each time ?-I cannot say. As regarded what con-
.cerned me, I endeavoured to clear off my portion.

Q. Have you any knowledge that your roll in your own cases was not cleared;
,and indicate the term or occasion on which such a fact did occur, from one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven to one thousand eight hundred and seventy-
four ?-I cannot state exactly a single occurrence of the kind.

Q. It is of importance for me to know this ; please bring it to your recollection?
-I do not recollect any. As I have told you already, when I pleaded my cases I
Ieft immediately afterwards.

Cro&-examined:-
Q. On the ninth of September one thousand eight hundred and sev.'nty-4wo, did

net the Judge go to Ste. Julienne to preside over an enquête in the case of Payton
,versus Cornellier, which enquête did not take place because the parties were not ready
to proceed ?-Yes; I cannot say whether the two parties were not ready, but I, as
attorney for Mr. Payton, was not ready.

Q. There was no enquête ?-No.
By Mr. Baby:-

Q. Who was the other party ; who were the attorneys for Mr. Cornellier ?-
-Messrs. Baby and Olivier.

. Cross-examined upon an incidental fact
Q. Was your adversarv there ?-He was not present at the opening of the Court.

I went up to the Court; this was at half-past ten o'clock. In going up I met the
-Judge, to whom I was to bave presented a petition for a mandamus ; the Judge
informed me that the Court had adjourned. I begged him to return to Court in
-order to receive that petition, and he returned with me. It was in the case of
Beaupré versus the Corporation of the county of Montcalm.

Q. Did that take any time ?-No, only the time to make the entry of the petition.
Q. When was the Judge ready to leave ?-Between eleven o'clock and noon.
Q. Did he leave on that day ?-I cannot say.

G. A. CHAMPAGNE.
OTTAWA, 9th March, 1877.

OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877.
GEORGE HENRY BRAMLEY, residing at Sorel, having been duly sworn, deposeth

zand saith:-
Q. You live at Sorel ?-Yes.
Q. What is your occupation ?-I am a steamboat agent.
Q. You were Harbour Master at Sorel for several years ?-During three or four

_years.
Q. You are the American Consul ?-Yes.
Q. When did you cease to be Harbour Master ?-Two years ago; after the new

Have you kept a note for a great many years past of the breaking up of the St.
Lawrence ?-I have taken notes since eighteen hundred and sixty up to last year, of
the breaking up of the St. Lawrence and the Richelieu.

Q. Have you in your possession those notes or a copy of those notes ?-Yes.
Q. Be se good as to produce them?-I produce them. This copy of my notes

upon the breakings up is marked paper writing "I U"; it embraces the breakings up
from one thousand eight hundred and sixty, to one thousand eight hundred and
seventy-six.
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Q. This verification of the breakings up was made at Sorel ?-Yes, and entered
-in a book.

Q. It was upon the breakings up observed at Sorel that you prepared that-
£tatement ?-Yes.

Q. On the St. Lawrence, from your observations, especially since one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-seven, and up to one thousand eight hundred and seventy-
four inclusive, have the roads in winter been practicable up to within a few da
before the breaking up ?-Generally there are three br four (3 or 4) days before tue-
breaking up on which one cannot cross upon the river, but often they cross just one-
day before the breaking up.

Q. Is the crossing between Sorel and Berthier practicable on the ice several
days before the breaking up ?-There are some years in which it is good; in others
there is water and snow, which render the roads difficult to pass. Tho ice is still
good beneath, but the roads are bad.

Q. During those years when did they stop crossing before the breaking up ?--
Three or four days before, not more.

Q. What is the distance between Sorel and Three 'Rivers ?-In the winter it is-
not more than thirteen leagues by crossing the lake, which shortens the distance-
considerably; and in summer, by land, it is fourteen leagues.

Q. Is one day sufficient to go from Sorel to Three Rivers ?-The roads must be
very bal to prevent its being dane in a day.

Cross-examined :-
Q. With good roads one can go there in a day ?-And also with middling roads'

and a good horse one could reach it in one day.
Q. By leaving in the morning ?-Yes, for in leaving in the afternoon it is very-

different; one cannot get there on the same day.
Q. Supposing there was a storm, would you make no exception ?-Yeî, there are

storms which last two days.
Q. You kept no record about the storms ?-Sometimes, but not in an exact man--

ner.
Q. What you call the breaking-up is when the ice leaves before Sorel ?-Yes.
Q. You call the breaking-up, also, the jam ?-Yes.
Q. The dates which you have taken and marked, are the dates on which the

jam gives away ?-Yes.
Q. Does it not happen, sometimes, that the jam only passes Sorel two or three-

days after the ice has commenced to move ?-The jam stopped in the Verchères
Islands for one day last year.

Q. Then the ice,-the shove,-does not pass on the same day that it commences
to move ?-No.

Q. Then there are instances in which the jam was a couple of days before it
passed Sorel ?-That happens very seldom.

Q. las there been any time on which it took seven or eight days to pass, after
the first movement of the ice ?-No,-only last year the jam stopped in Verchères
Islands for a day and passed down the next day.

Q. On the average, does not the ice take two or three days to leave ?-Usually
it commences to break up at Longueil three or four days before arriving at Sorel;.
and one can cross at Sorel when the jam is sometimes still holding at Verchères, or
half-way there.

Q. Has it not occurred during the past ten years, that the crossing from Ber-
thier became bad more than eight days before the ice moved ?-That has not hap-
pened- The landings are sometimes bad seven or eight days before the ice moves;
but the people make landings,-that is a sort of passage across.

Q. When it is very dark, can one with a carter pass easily over those passages?
-No, not easily.

G. H. BRAMIEY.
Ottawa, 8th March, 1877.
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)ATEs of the breaking up of the Ice in the Rivers Richelieu and St. Lawroene, ut
Sorel, P.Q., in the fol owing years:

Richelieu River.

Day of Month.

St. Lawrence River.

Day of Month.

1860...... 28th
1861...... 6th
1862...... 18th
1863...... glst
1864...... 5th
1865...... 31st
1866...... 8th
1867...... 9th
1868......'29th
1869...... 18th
1870...... 1lth
1871. 17th

1872...... 26th
1873...... 16th
18'f4...... 15th
1875...... 15th
1876...... 14th

March................................ 12th April.
April.................................. 23rd do

do ................................. 20th do
do ............................... 26th do
do ........ ........................ ltth do

March................................ 9th do
April.......................... ....... 20th do

do ................................. 24th do
March................................ 19th do
April................................. 27th do

do ................................. 18th do
March..... . .............. Not entered; about twenty days later

than Richelieu River.
April... . ................. st May.

do ................................. 25th April.
do ...... .......................... 29th do
do ................................. 1lst May.
do .............. 129th April.

OTTAWA, 7th March, 1877.
ALEXIs AUREZ LAFERIERE, residing at Berthier, having been duly sworn,

.deposeth and saith :
I have been au advocate at Berthier for the last eleven years.
Q. Between the 1st July, 1867, and the 3 1st Docember, 1874, at what hour di&

the Judge present himself in order to open the Court at each term ?-Generaily
about 10 or 11 o'clock, except when ho came by steamboat, then he used to arrive
-sooner in the morning.

Q. On the same morning ?-Yes.
Q. When did he leave atter the close of the term ?-Always after the close of

the Court, not later. Sometimes the sitting was prolonged, in that case he used to
send the crier to ask the captain of the ferryboat to wait for him a little.

Q. Was it the Judge's invariable habit to leave in the evoning after the Court
and to arrive in the morning ?-I am aware of but one occasion when I met him in
the evening at Berthier; there had been a great deal of business at the Court ; the
advocates had not done speaking when the hour for the boat to start came on; the
boat, after waiting, went off before the Judge was ready to cross. During Term time
itaelf, the Judge used to go home to sleep, with a few exceptions ; but in winter it
was his invariable practice to go home to Sorel to sleep ; in sammer he sometimes
remained.

Q. Are you aware of the changes of Term which took place for Berthier -
There were three changes-one in January, 1868, that is to say, the Term was fixed
for the 20th January, by proclamation, a thing which surprised us. Previously we
had the Term from the 20th to the 24th February, inclusively.

Years.
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Q. What hap ned on the 20th Jansary, 168 ?
(Objected to by Judge Loranger. Answer admitted by Committee.)
None of us knew there was to be a Term; we were not prepared. When Judg.

Loranger reached Gagnon's hotel, he sent for the elrk, and had the advocaten
,votified that he wished to see them; to come to his ho>tel. There we met the Judge.
He told us that there was a Term fixed for the 20th by proclamation in the Officiat
Gazette; that if we were ready to proceed, he was ready to bear as. Owing. to the
fact that we were not forewarned, we were not ready, at all events we could only b.
ready at the end of the Term, but we preferred to have another Term; andthen the
Judge granted us another term for the 6th of February following. The Judge thon
-.aid: I need not come back to hold the Court, since there will be no cases to plead.
le then ordered the clerk to adjourn from day to day, and on reaching the last day
to adjourn to the 6th February following.

Q. Ali this oceurred at Gagnon's hotel, did it not ?-Yes. Then the Judge
.entered his vehicle and left. No person went to the court-house, not even the eierk.

Q. The elerk was there at Gagnon's hotel, was he not ?-Yes.
Q. It was there he received the instructions of the Judge, was it not ?-Yes.
Q. You saw the Judge start, did you not ?-Yes.
Q. On the 80th, 21st, 22nd, 23rd and 24th January, 1868, was the Court opened

iinder Judge Loranger ?-No.
Q. If on any ot those days in Jannary the Judge had come himself to open the

Court, would you bave known of it ?-I must have known of it ; the Judge would
have had to come secretly, a thing I cannot believe.

Q. In whose writing is the entry of the 20th January, 1868-entry of cases Nos.
2,634 and 2,635, Register P. ?-In the handwriting of Mr. Emond, late elerk of the
Circuit Court for the county of Berthier.

Q. As to the subsequent entries, cases Nos. 2,635, 2,636, 2,637, 2,638, 2,639, up to
:2,644. inclusive, in whose writing are they ?--In that of Mr. Emond.

Q. Did you attend the adjournments of the Court by the Clerk ?-No; no pereos
went there.

Q. I see your name mentioned here as advocate in four cases, numbers 2,635,
2,636, 2,637 and 2,638, and for cases 2,642 and 2,643; does the clerk mention in his
register the date of the deferring of these cases ?-Yes, always. Itwas his invariable
habit.

Q. In the order in which they followed ?-Yes.
Q. What is the distance from Gagnon's hotel to the Court House ?-Six or seven

.arpents.
Q. Is it in the same street ? No, but it is quite near.
Q. Have you said that the Judge had stated that he would not come back because

it was useless for him to return ?-Yes.
Q. Did you say that you had obtained a Term on the sixth of February ?-Yes,

that Term was held.

Cross-esamined:
Q. Did you not sign the petition marked M, against the Judge ?-Yes, but it was

fnot a petition against Judge Loranger, there was nothing in that petition that could
injure te Judge, it was to ask for bis retirenent.

Q. His resignation you mean ?-No, I did not take it in that sense.
Q. Since accusations have been made, or since the time of that petition, have ye

not taken part in the prosecution of those accusations jointly with Mr. Broasseatt
-and Mr. Germain ?-No, I have not taken part in it, but I should have been gladif
the Judge had been allowed to retire.

Q. On the 16th May, or just before the 16th May, 1868, did you not attend a
meeting held on board the steamer at Berthier, at which were present Messrs.
,Germain, Brousseau, Piché, Nadnais and Biron ?-No, I remember having met those
gentlemen there; there was a meeting, but I had gone there (on board) to se ti
persons who were coming from Montreal and to see the newspapers.
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Q. Did you see those persons there whom I have just named ?-Yes, some of them-
I eannot say whether it was on the day you have mentioned to me.

Q. And was the question of the accusations against Judge Loranger discussed
there ?-The Judge was spoken of without any details being given me.

- Q. On the day following the first day of term, was there not an address pre-
aented to Judge Loranger by the citizens of Berthier and a certain number of those
of Sorel, regretting the accusations which had been made against him ? Was it not
read in Court, and did not the public, through courtesy, stand up, except Mr. Brousseau
and you ?

(Objected to on behalf of the petitioners. Question permitted by the Committee.)
A. When that address was presented by certain citizens of Berthier-but as to

Borel I do not know-it was read by an advocate before the opening of the Court,
but I cannot say whether it was at that Term. I was seated, and Mr. Brousseau beside
me, reading the newspaper; no one stood up; then Judge Loranger stood up when
the address was read to him, and the public stood up with the other members of the
Bar, except Mr. Brousseau and myself.

Q. Did you, on any occasion whatsoever, hold communication with Messrs.
Brousseau and Germain in relation to the accusations and the action now being taken
against Judge Loranger ?-I have already said that many persons had spoken to me
about the matter, and that I had spoken about it to many; it is the general topic of
conversation of men acquainted with the matter in the district of Richelieu; some
are in favour of it and some are op)p sed to it. I spoke about it with Mr. Brousseau,
and Mr. Germain as I did with others.

Q. Have you, prior to this day, informed Mr. Brousseau, Mr. Germain, or Mr.
Fontaine, the advocate for the petitioners, of the nature of your evidence ?-They-
asked me whether I could prove such a thing or such another. I answered, yes or
no. Mr. Fontaine did not speak to me about it.

Q. On the 20th January, 1868, was there no one but you present with -the clerk
when you say Judge Loranger gave those orders in relation to adjournments of the
Court ?-The whole Bar was there, except Mr. Olivier.

Q. Name those who were there ?-Mr. Demers, Mr. Tranchenontagne, the clerk
and myself, and, of course, the Judge also.

Q. Do you swear that on the 21st, the 22nd, the 23rd and the 24th of January-
Judge Loranger did not go to Berthier ?-Yes ; and I have said that if you did,
come, you came secretly.

Q. What do you call "secretly " ?-I call "secretly," withou t the knowledge of
the Bar, since he (the Judge) had said that ho would not come.

Q. Could the Judge have gone there without your having seen him ?-Yes.
Q. I stop at Gagnon's hotel, do I not ?-Yes.
Q. Do you spend the whole of your days at the hotel ?-No, I often go there, in

fact very often; but I do not spend my days there.
Q. Do you swear that the Judge never went to Berthier on the day before-

Term?-I have stated an instance when the Judge crossed over with me. I have al-
ready said that, if the Judge had come the day before, I should have known it.

Q. Could the Judge have gone there the day before Term, without your having
been aware of it ?-Hardly.

Q. Is itpossible that the Judge may have crossed in the evening, and gone to the-
hotel, without your knowledge ?-Ho might have come, but ho must have gone back,
because ho was seen to arrive on the morning of the Court.

Q. Are 'you aware that the ferry-boat leaves Sorel, for Berthier, at five in the
morning ?-On two days it leaves at half-past five, and on the other days it leaves at
six.

Q. Were you on the wharf on the arrival of the boat, eaeh morning of Term ?-
_No, but I used to ask whether the Judge had come; and if he was come, I hurried to-
the Court; if mot, I did not hurry. It was in that way I knew ho came in the.
lnorning.
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Q.Cgn Yeu swear that lübJbe oime of t4 peiod »ffl*14 Jadgo Lom»ig.r dý,4 not
often eep at the hotel ?-In reerm I have kuwn it to happe, but 1 do
frguently; however, I cannot awear that he neveralept thare

Q. You go often-very often-in the day to Ga3gnon',4 iotel, do you not ?--Every
4y, during Term, in the moring; sometimes at noon, apd in the fvening always.

4. ,4. LAFEIUTERE.

OTTAw, 'Ith March, 1817.

ALFRtD CoUTU, residing at Berthier, having been duly sworn, deposeth and
saith :

I reside at Berthier; I have been twenty years a bailiif, and ceased to act one
year ago.

Q. What do you do now?--I am an inspector of weights and measures, and have
been for the last three years a member of the town council.

Q. From July, 1867, te the 31st December, 1874, did yen reside in the town of
Berthier, and act as a bailiff ?-I have always resided at Berthier since I was born.

Q. Do you live near the Court louse ?--At five or six arpents from it.
Q. On Term days, did you hold yourself at the disposal of the advocates, in your

capacity of a bailiff? Did you follow the Court ?-Regularly. because I was a
collecting agent, and had, in consequence, many collections to make, suits to get
instituted, and judgments to get out.

Q. During the period indicated, did you remark that the Judge used to arrive at
Berthier and leave it again, on the same day of the Terms of the Court ?-To the best
of my knowledge I saw that the Judge always arrived on the morning of the Court;
there were, perhaps, some exceptions, but generally he arrived in the morning and
left in the evening, to go and sleep in Sorel, whether he crossed with the boat in
summer, or came with his vehicle in winter. In summer he sometimes came with a
skiff, and sometimes he arrived at eleven o'clock.

Q. Is it within your knowledge that during that period, from 1867 to:1874, the
Judge arrived the day before Term and wen t away again on the day' after Term, after
the adjournment ?-It may have happened that he did arrive on the day before and
leave on the day after, the closing of the Court, but it did net come te my knowledge.
As I have stated, I think he came a couple of times on the day before; I have a
particular fact which makes me say that he came from Sorel with us one evening,
in the steamboat.

Q. Apart from those two instances, he came in the morning and left in the
evening to sleep at Sorel, did he not ?-Nearly every evening.

Q. Did you know of the change in the Terms of the Circuit Court for the Berthier
Circuit, by a proclamation dated 18th January, 1868 ?-Yes, I remember it.

Q. Did you know of the change which was made by that proclamation ? -Yes, I
think the Term was changed to the month of February; I am not very positive; I
think it was to begin on the 20th or 21st January, and I think there was a change
there.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Was the Term advarced or retarded ?-I cannot say.
Q. Did you see that proclamation yourself ?-No.
Q. You do not know whether the proclamation fixed the Term for February, or

left it in January ?-I cannot say whether it retarded or advanced the Term in the
month of January.

Q. Now, the proclamation in the Oficial Gazette, fixed the Sorel Tern from the
20th to the 24th of January and May in each year, and from the 21st to the 25th of
September; do you know anything about the Term which was to be held under that
preclamation from the 20th to the 24th January ?-To the best of my knowledge,
there was no Court.
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Q. What occurred on the morning of term ?-I do not know what happned
smongst the members of the Bar ; I met Mr. Emond, when I was going to the urt ;
he told me there was nO Court; I did -not go any further towards the Court;
I went to the hotel where the Judge had put-up; and, on the following day and the
day after that, I'have no knowledge of any Court being held; on the two following
days I went to the Court House having business at the Registry Office, and I saw
Mr. Fmond, who told me he was going to adjourn the Court.

Q. Did you go on each one of those days: the 2nd, 3rd and 4th of February, to
the Court?

(Objected to by Judge Loranger. Question allowed by the Committee.)
A. I went there and I did not see the Judge.
Q. Had the Judge remained in the village ?--He may have been there, but I did

not see him. When the Judge is in the village it is known; it is a subject of general
remark.

Q. Were you at the opening of the Court ?-I was there; the clerk was adjourn-
ing the Court to the following day.

Q. Judge Loranger was not there, was he ?-Once, on the second day after, I
went up to the Court-room on leaving the Registry Office, and I saw Mr. Emond,
who was adjourning the Court to the following day.

By Mr. Jetté :-
Q. Then you were present only on one day ?-On the first day I was informed

by Mr. Emond, whom I met when going there, and on the third day 1 was there.

Gross-examined :-
Q. Are you not one of the signers ofthe first petition, which was rejected ?-Yes.
Q. You have stated that Mr. Emond had told you that I had arrived ?-Pardon

me, I said that I had been told that, at the hotel where you were in the habit of
stopping.

Q. You did not know the period of the Terms before the proclamation ?-I knew
they had been changed, but without knowing to what date it was.

Q. Can you swear that on the 20th, 21st, 22nd, and 23rd, the Judge was not at the
Court ?-I swear positively that, on the day on which I went to the Court, the Judge
was not there.

Q. Can you swear that, on the first day, the Judge did not go to Berthier ?-It
may be that the Judge may have been there, and that I did not see him, but it would
be surprising.

Q. And on the other days ; can you swear that on the 22nd, the 23rd, the 24th,
I was not there ?-I cannot swear that.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Who was the crier ?-Jear Baptist Giroux.
Q. I he still at Berthier ?-Yes.

Re-examined.

Q. Was Giroux there when you saw the clerk adjourn the Court ?-I did not see
him, I did not take notice.

By the Chairman :
Q. Did Mr. Emond tell you the reason why there was no Court ?-He told me

the advocates were not ready, and there was some doubt about the proclamation.

8th March.
JRe-cross-examined.

Q. You are one of the defondants in the case of Loranger vs. Biron et al, are you
not ?-Yes.

À. 181-



Q It was you who went to ask 1fr. Tellier for a reprt of the days of Court
held by Judge Loranger, which report is produoed before the Committee, was it not?
-Another had undertaken, before me, to see r. Tellier about that report.

Q. Who was that? -Mr. Demers, an advocate; I received a letter also from
Montreal, from Mr. Piché, asking why Mr. Demers did not send the report. I went.
to see him, and asked him for the report. He told me he had asked Mr. Tellier's
deputy for it, and the latter told him he would prepare it. I went there and saw the
deputy, who told me that Mr. Tellier had opposed his giving the table as it was; -that
he preferred seeing himself whether the table was correct. Then I asked Mr. Teller
to give it to me, with his certificate at foot. He ansvyered me that he would charge
something for the work; I asked him how much, and he said ten cents per hundred
words. Thereupon I told him to prepare it.

Q. Was that al] that took place ?-Yes.
Q. Who paid the clerk's fee ?-I thought I had paid it, but Mr. Tellier has told

me that I did not pay it. It was I who was responsible for the payment.
Q. What object had you in procuring that table ?-In order to obtain for us the

days on which Judge Loranger sat.
Q. At what time was that ?-It was last winter, I think, at the beginuing of the

session, or a little before the session; I cannot say precisely at what time; it had
been spoken of at a meeting long before.

Q. Of whom was that meeting composed ?-It was composed of all the persons
already named who attended the meeting on board the steamboat.

Q. At what time did that meeting on the steamboat take place?-In the
autumn of 1875.

Q. Was it not rather on the 16th of May last ?-No; I do not remember that it
was at that date.

Q. Who were the persons who were there ?-Messrs. Biron, Vadnais, Germain,
Brousseau, Demers, and myself. There was, perhaps, some one else there, but J do
not remember.

Q. Was Mr. Piché there ?-I am not positive in saying that he was there or that
he was not.

Q. What was the object of that meeting ?-The object was to come to an under-
standing as to the manner in which we should proceed against the Judge.

Q. Had you signed the petition at that time ?-I do not remember.
Q. Was there not a meeting of the same persons held on the sixteenth of May

iast, the evening before the Berthier Circuit, on board the steamboat ?-In May, one
thousand eight hundred and seventy-six,-not to my knowledge.

Q. Did you attend a meeting at which Mr. Laferrière was present ?-Mr.
Laferrière came afterwards; it was I myself who went to look for him for
other business.

Q. You signed the petition which was brought to you ?-Yes.
Q. Where did they make you sign it ?-They got me to sign it at my own house..Q. Who was it who brought that petition to you to sign ?
(Objection taken to this question by the Attorney for the petitioners. Objection

maintained by the Committee.)
ALFRED COUTU.

OTTAWA, 10th March, 1877.

OTTAWA, 7th March, 1877.
PIERRE TELLIER, residing at Berthier, having been duly sworx, deposeth and

saith:
Q. What is your profession ?-.Clerk of the Circuit Court of Berthier and Notary.
Q. How long have you been Clerk ?-Since the month of May, one thousand

eight hundred and seventy-five.
Q. Whom. did you replace ?-Mr. Charles Emond, deceased.
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Q. a Clerk of that Court you are th- guardian of the archives of the Circuit
Court of the County of Berthe?-Ysi I produce ail the books, registers, rols of
cases, and I bave made a statement to &e best of m knowledge of all the Coirt
days held by theI Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger, from July, one thonsand eight hundred
and sixty-seven, up to May one thousand eight handred and seventy-four, inclusiv.

I likewise produce this statement, marked exhibit i O."
Toprepare that statement I based it upon the entry booke, rolls of cases iad

registers of the judgmenta of the Circuit Court. I have verified it Term by Teioi;s-
weIl special Terms as adjourned Terms, to ascertain the Court days held by X[r.
Justice Loranger.

The registers which I produe are the only ones which are made use of for the-
Court in our district. I have examined all these registers in order to verify the,
statement which I produce this day, exhibit " O."

From one thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven to one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-four there were two rolls, one of which was used for the non-appealabie
cases fixed for enquéte and hearing, and the other for the appealable cases.

In looking over the roll of cases du-ing that period, I find some of the adjourn.
ments of the Court entered in the entry book, and others in the roll of cases.

The holding of the Term of the twentieth of January is recorded in the book of
entries, intitnled I Entry Book of Appealable and non-Appealable cases."

Q. Here are Nos. 2,634 and 2,635: have you any knowledge of that Term ?-No;
this book is the only entry book of cases which existed at that date, there were others
before it and others after it. This one is volume No. 2; I am acquainted with the
handwriting of my predecessor, Mr. Emond.

Q. Are all the entries in the cases No. 2,634 and 2,635 in the handwriting of Mr.
Emond ?-To the best of my knowledge these entries are in the handwriting of Mr.
Emond. I produce volume No. 2, which is marked exhibit " P." I also produce all
the volumes, registers and entry books in my possession as Clerk of the Cireuit Court
of Berthier. (The list of these registers is marked, Paper writing-No number.)

The examination of the witness is adjourned until to-morrow, eighth of March.

8th March, 1877.
The examination of the witness is resumed:
Q. I show you afac simile of the entries made in the entry book of the Superior

Court for the twentieth of January, one thousand eight bundred and sixty-eight,
please qxamine it?-Yes; I remark that there was a writ issued on the 2tst January,
and returnable on the 24th January.

Q. What is the distance between Berthier and Joliette ?-Six leagues, or six
leagues and a half, from what I havelheard.

Cross-examined :-
Q. Are you the bearer of a record laid before the Circuit Court, to wit : Turcotte

versus Baron dit. Lafraniere ?-Yes.
Q. Please look at the fourth and fifth of February and tell us if there is anything

which gives evidence of the presence of the Judge at Berthier on those days ?-By
the roli of cases and the books there is nothing which mentions that the Judge was
present on the fourth and fifth of February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
ut by this record it appears that he beld an enquête term specially for that case on

those two days, and likewise on the ninetcenth of May.
Q. Please go through the whole record and call out the reports of evidence in the

order in which they are placed ?-In the year one thousand eight hundred and
seventy; present the Honourable Mr. Justice (it does not state what Judge) this
fourth day of February, appeared Pierre Vadenais.

The deposition is closed and sworn to in open Court. It is sigried, T. J. J.
loranger i here is another in which the evidence was received and acknowledged
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before a Commissioner. The dçeposition oom.mesfinits way: Present: The Hon-
elrable Mr. justice T. J. J. Loraner, in the yer oe thousand eight hundred amd
seventy, the fourth day of february, the witeess:Jaaa OCfvert. ?bis depomition
states that it was closed,sworn to, taken ad ackowledged, the month, day ud year
above mentioned, before me, Coinmisionier for the Superior Côurt, or rather swemn
to and acknowledged only on this the sixth day of February, one thousùrd 6igMt
hundred and seventy-one, at Berthier. Signed, François Xavier Lafond. The eanqWe
had been commenced on, the fourth and closed on the sixth.

Also, the year one thousand eight hundred and seventy; present the Resourable
Mr. Justice Loranger, the fourth of February; witness, Antoine Chesevert. Sworn in
open Court the day, month and year aforesaid. T. J. J. Loranger, Superior Court.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger, the year one thousand eight hun-
dred and seventy, the fourth day of February. Joseph Dubois, sworn, taken and ac-
knowledged before me, the day, month and year aforesaid. Signed, T. J. J. Loranger,
J. S. C.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger, the year one thousand eight hun-
dred and seventy, the fourth day of February. André Turcott, witnews, sworn, taken
.and acknowledged before me, the day, month and year aforesaid. Signed, T. J. J.
Loranger.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger. Etiènne Charbonneau, fifth Feb-
ruary, 1871, sworn, taken and acknowledged before me. Signed, T. J. J. Loranger.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger, the year of Our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and seventy, the fifth day of February. The witness, Denis Fafar,4
sworn at Berthier, before me, Commissioner for the Superior Court (or rather) sworn
and acknowledged only on this day, sixth of February, one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-one. Signed, Lafond. Filed the fifth of February, one thousand eight
hundred and seventy.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger; nineteenth of May, one thousand
eight hundred and seventy. Witness, Narcisse Dubois, sworn, taken and
acknowledged this twentieth day of February, one thousand eight hundred and
seventy, at Berthier, before me, Commissioner of the Superior Court, wsith
the consent of the parties in the case, (or rather) sworn and acknowledged before
me, the undersigned Commissioner, by the said Dubois, on this sixth day of Feb-
ruary, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Signed, Lafond.

In the year one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one, No. 2,063, Pierre
Turcott versus Amable Baron Lafrenière; note of evidence, plaintiff's proof: Amable
Baron Lafrenière, gentleman, of the Parish of St. Justine, in the District of Three
Rivers, witness, sworn; taken and acknowledged in open Court the fourth ofFebruary,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy. T. J. J. Loranger, J. S C.

The heading of the foregoing deposition is writtén by Judge Loranger himself
and the remainder by the Writing Clerk.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice T. J. J. Loranger; the year one thousand
eight hundred and seventy, the nineteenth day of May, Jean Baptiste LavalMe,
witness; sworn, taken and acknowledged the twentieth day of May, at Berthier,
befbre me Commissioner for the Court, or rather sworn and acknowledged only this
day, the sixth day of February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy one. F. X.
Lafond, Commissioner of the Superior Court.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger, the third day of February, one
thousand, eight hundred and seventy one, Rémi Charbonneau, witness.-There is no
recognizance of his written deposition.

Present: The Honourable T. J. J. Loranger, J. S. C., the third day of February, in
the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness: Pierre
Teller sworn; taken and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of the Superior
Court, with the consent of the parties at Berthier, this third day of February, one
thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Signed, F. X. Lafond, Commissioner above
mentioned.
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Present: The Honourable T. J. 1. Loranger, J. 8. C., this twenty-fifth day of
Jannary, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness: Josph Frappi.r,
sworn, taken and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of the Superior Court, with
the consent of the plaintif and defendant, at Berthier, this twenty-fifth day of
January, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. F. X. Lafond.

Present: The Honourable Justice Loranger, J. S. C., this twenty-fifth day of
January, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one.
Witness: François Xavier Desroches, mason; sworn, taken and acknowledged before
me,.Commissioner of the Superior Court, by the consent of the plaintiff and defendant,
at Berthier, this twenty-fifth day of January, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-
one; or rathor sworn only on the second day of February, in the year above-
mentioned. F. X. Lafond.

Present: The Honourable (no name), J.S.C., the twenty-fifth day of January, one
thousand eight hundred and seventy-one ; appeared Théophile Chenevert; sworn, taken
and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of the Superior Court, by the consent of
the plaintiff and defendant, at Berthier, this twenty-fifth day of January, one thou-
sand eight hundred and seventy-one, or rather sworn and acknowledged before me,
as aforesaid, this sixth day of the month of February, one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-one. F. X. Lafond.

Present: The Ilonourable (no name), J. S. C., the twenty-fifth day of January,
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness,
Louis Cornellier dit Grand Champ, sworn, taken and acknowledged before me, Com-
missioner of the Superior Court, by the consent of the plaintiff and defendant, at
Berthier, this twenty-fifth day of January, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-
one, or rather sworn and acknowledged before me, only on this sixth day of February,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one.

Present: The Honourable (no name), J. S. C., the twenty-sixth day of January,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness, Joseph Fournier, sworn; taken
and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of the Superior Court, by the consent of
the parties, at Berthier, this twenty-sixth day of January, in the. year one thousand
eight hundred and seventy-one. F. X. Lafond, Commissioner above mentioned.

Present: The Honourable (no name), J. S. C., the twenty-sixth day of January,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness, Norbert Montfils, gentleman,
of the town of Berthier, sworn, taken and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of
the Superior Court, by the consent of the plaintiff and defendant, at Berthier, this
twenty-sixth day of January, in the year one thousand eight hundred and seventy-
one. F. X. Lafond.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice T. J. J. Loranger, J. S. C., the first day of
February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness, Cyrille Chaput,
farmer; sworn, taken and acknowledged before me, Commissioner of the Superior
Court, by the consent of the plaintiff and defendant, at Berthier, the first day of
February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. F. X. Lafond.

Present: The Honourable Mr. Justice T. J. J. Loranger, J. S. C., this first day of
February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Witness, Louis Frappier,
joiner; sworn, taken and acknowledged before me, a Commissioner of the Superior
Court, by the consent of the plaintiff and defendant, lat Berthier, this first day of
February, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. Lafond.

Q. In whose handwriting are the greater number of those depositions ?-I think
that they are in the handwritingof Mr. Alphonse Farland. The deposition ofAntoine
Chenevert is, I think, in the handwriting of Mr. Emond.

Q. At all events, tiey are filed in the case and initialled by the clerk Emond ?-
Yes.

Q. Mr. Tellier, you cannot certfy that 'these books are exact and complete as
regards that portion with which Mr. Emond had to do ?-I cannot certify to that; I
took them as they were, and I cannot certify that there is no error.

Q. Do you find in the registers any orders fixing all the special terms which you
have mentioned in your statement ?-No, there are special terms mentioned in my



statement, and by my registers I find nothing appoing the; I can Ve an
account of them sometimes by means of my entry books,rol of cases and of
Judgment; itis for that reason that I brought them aIl with me.

Q. Does it not sometimes happen that it does not appear from the records that
the Judge has held a special Term ?-Yesterday they seat me a record from which T
saw that the Judge sat on two or three days which did not appear by the books, and
which appear on this record which I now have before me.

Q. Have you any personat knowledge of that Term; did the Judge sit ?-Yes,
he sat; I saw him sit; it was iu the case of Baron Lafreniâre; it was on the irst and
second days of the enquête that I saw him sit.

Q. You had already furnished a statement which was produced in the corres-
pondence of Mr. Latour, which is now before the Committee?-Yes, in the autumn
of one thousand eight hundred and seventy-five, at the request of Mr. Alfred Coutu,
a ritness heard before the Committee.

Q. What motive did Mr. Coutu give when asking for that return ?
(Objected to by the attorney for the petitioners. Objection maintained, reserving

the right to hear Mr. Coutu on the point, and then to examine this witness on the
same point.)

Re-examined:

Q. You stated that you have personal knowledge of the presence of Judge
Loranger when the depositions were taken in the case of Turcott versus Baron
Lafreniére, on the fourth and fifth of February, one thousand eight hundred and
seventy ?-Yes.

Q. Did you see him on the two days, the fourth and the fifth ?-Yes.
Q. Was he on the Bench ?-He was in the Hall or Judge's Chamber, next to the

Registry Office in the Court Ilouse.
Q. Did you see the Judge on the 19th of May ?-No.
Q. Which are the depositions which cause you to believe that the Judge was

there on the 19th of May ?-I told you that I did not know whether the Judge was
there on the 19th of May.

Q. You have spoken of depositions which were taken on the 19th of May; will
you show them to us ?-Here ; witness, J. B. Lavallee.

Q. By whom was that deposition sworn ?-By Mr. F. X. Lafond, the Commis-
sioner of the Superior Court.

Q. Is there at that date, the 19th of May, any deposition which asserts that the
swearing was taken before Judge Loranger ?-I must go through the whole of the
record.

Q. Well, take your time and show us a single one which was sworn before the
Judge. Let it be well understood that I speak of the witnesses who were examined
on the 19th May ?

(The witness examines the Record.)
A. I do not see any. I believe that upon the roll of cases one can see that there

was a day fixed for enquête and final hearing, the 19th of May.
Q. Now, please examine, and tell us which are the depositions in the

record Turcott versus Baron Lafrenière, which make mention of the presence of the
Judge, and which were sworn by others than by him ?

(The witness examines the Record.)
A. Jean Chenevert, Denis Fafard, Narcisse Dubois, Jean Baptiste Lavallee, Marcel

Deschene, Pierre Tellier, Joseph Frappier, F. X. Desroches, Theophile Chenevert,
Louis Cornellier dit Grand-Champ, Joseph Fournier, Norbert Montfils, Cyrille Chaput,
Louis Frappier.

Q. Will you give the names of the witnesses whose depositions were taken before
the Judge on the fourth and fifth of February, one thousand eight hundred and
seventy?

(The witness examines the Record.)

40 Victoria. Appendix (NO. .) A-.18117
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A. Pierre Vadenits on tbe foutžiý; Ântoine Chenever, on lhe fourth; oaph
DTbois où the fonrth; Andjr4arròtte on the fourth; Etienne Charbonneau on he
4fth, and Amable Bat teNetifè, ok thefoûwh.

Q. Is theté ir that e&oérd any cóeo Mût by the attorneys to proceed to e' ut
<f tetxh Ôr oiherWise 1tý-4he1è iJ a consent of the parties -dated siîth of ebrt
Mie thousand eight liandred and sdventy-one, for certain witnessee biought forward
by the defendant and mentioùed ih the said consent.

Q. Does it happen at any time thatLwhen the, parties consent to proceed out of
the teris of the Co rt, and do poceed, the depositions are placed before the Judge
when he sits in term, in order that he may sign theni ?-Not sine I have been o11r1.

Q There are forms at te clerk's oMoe which bear the heading of the Judge; I
*teán to say, printed fornis; at other times also the heading is written odt at
)ngth ?-There are heàdigs Which have in themI "the Honourabi Mr. Justice," and
the name is filled in afterwards; but there are depositions which are entirely written
with the pen, the heading and the body of the deposition, and I have remarked in
tis record some of that kind.

Q. Have you been atle to ascertain whether there are other records than this
one which show the same thing, that is to say, the holding of Terms or adjournment
of Court not mentioned in the register and in the rolls of the Court?

(Objected to by Judge Loranger. Question allowed.)
A. I have not looked; it may be that there are some, but I do not know them.
Q. Yon said that the books, as well the entry books as the judgment books, do

tiot always record all the special Terras which have been held, nor the adjournments ?
-Yes ; sometimes they are ascertained by the register of judgments.

Q. Can you ascertain the adjournments when they are not mentioned in your
register ?-Yes; if they proceeded to enquéte; but if the Court did not sit, and there
*ere only judgments to render, it would be very difficult to establish the presence of
the Judge.

P. TELLIER.
OTTAWA, 12th Marchi, 1877.
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Table forming part of the evidence of Mr. Tellier, to which he refera by the
letter " O,"

I, the undersigned, Pierre Tellier, Clerk of the. Circuit Court for the
County of Berthier, certify that in accordance with all the.egisters of the said Court,
of whichI am the custodian, the only days of Court held by Judge Loranger from
July, 1867, up to May, 1874, inclusive, are the following:

1867. October Term:
The 24, 25, 26, 28, 31...... ............. 5 days.

1868. January Term:
The 20, 21, 22, 23, 24........................... 5 "

The Court was not held, but there are adjournments from day to day in the entry
book of cases. Those adjournments are in the handwriting of the late Charles
Emond, then clerk of the said Circuit Court.

And the Court was adjourned to the 6th February, 1868.
1868. February adjourned Term :

The 6, 7, 8........................... ................ 3 days.
" Another extra Term in February :

The 26, 27............................................ 2 "
" May Term :

The 20, 22, 23....................................... 3 "
" September Term :

The 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 ......................... 6
" Adjourned Term of October:

The 8 (rendering of judgments)................1 "
1869. January Term:

The 20, 21, 22, 23, 25............................ 5
Adjourned Term of February:

The 8 (rendering of judgment).......... ....... 1
" May Term:

The 20, 21, 22........,............................. 3
" September Term :

The 21, 22, 23, 25................................. 4
1870. January Term:

The 20, 21, 22, 24, 25......... ................. 5
May Term:

The 20, 21............................................ 2
June Term (adjournment) :

The 10, il............................ "

" September Term:
The 21, 22, 23, 24.......... ........... 4 "

" October Tern (adjournment) :
The 7 (for judgments)......... ........... 1 "

1871. January Term :
The 20, 21, 23, 24............ ........ 4

59



1871. February Term (adjournmoeii
The 6, 7............................................ 2 days.

Another adjournment in February:
Tho 27............ .................. 1 

1872. May Term :
The 20,21, 22, 23 .................................... 4

Another Term in May (adjournment) :
The 31................... ............ ................. 1

September Term:
The 21, 23, 24........................................ 3

Another Te-m (adjournment) :
The 28...... ......................... "

1873 January Term :
The 20, 21, 22, 23, 25....... .......... 5

" May Term :
The 20, 21, 23............................ .......... 3

" July Term (adjournment) :
The 9................................................. 1

September Tern:
The 22, 23, 24........ ............................. 3

Another Term in September (adjournment) :
The 27................................................. 1

October Terrn (adjournment):
The 25 (rendering of judgments)............. . 1

1874. February Terni :
The 17, 19................ ........... 2

" May Tern :
The 18, 19................ 2

85 days.
OTTAWA, 7th March, 1877.

OTTAwA, 7th March, 1877.

Mr. JosEPH BEAUcHAMP of Ste. Julienne, having been duly sworn, deposeth and
saith: I reside at Ste. Julienne, I am a Notary, and Clerk of the Circuit Court of the
County Montcalm.

Q. Since when ?-Since November, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine.
but I cannot state precisely what is the exact date of my appointment. I believe that
the Order in Council issued in October, but I was only appointed in November, one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine. J received a confidential note about the
twenty-eighth or thirtieth of October, informing me that the Executive had granted
the request which J had made, to be appointed clerk. It was a letter from one of the
Ministers which announced that to me.

Q. Were you acquainted with your predecessor, Mr. de Caussin ?--Ionly methim
once at L'Assomption. 'I had just come over from the United States when I was
appointed clerk.



40 Viofria. 4~piX7~E a4>

Q. Had he left Ste. Julienne b.fore y»womapp itn ?-Yes, ho had gmeieef by
stealth about the begiuning of September.

Q. As soon as you received information of your appeintment yon pt yourself

in possession of the clerk's office ?-I put mySifn poseion of al lthat I nould find
at the time, in a room next to the Registry Ofce

Q. Was it there that the office was kept ?-Usually the books remained at the
rvate residence of the olerk. I took possession of the book,--of those whieI found.
was not in possession of the whole until about the month of February, on* thosanid

oight hundred and seventy, because the books of the aecretary of the county, ad
those of the clerk were kept in the same room, and the secretary of the county had
taken possession of several books thinking that they belonged to him; subsequently

h gave to me those which belonged to the clerk's office.

Q. Abut the end of October had you the entry book, the last one ?-Yes.

Q. Had you the records ?-I cannot say whether I had them aIl.

Q. At any rate you had the entry book for that time ?-Yes.
Q. Had you the entry book of cases, and the roll for fixing the cases for enquête-

and hearing at ýhat time ? Were you in possession of them ?-I see that a roll for
inscription had never been kept, and that the entry book was used as a roll of cases-

Q. Please produce that which was in use and of which you took possession ?-I
produce it ; it is marked exhibit No. 4, entry book of cases.

Q. Now, was there a Term ap'ointed and held at Ste. Julienne from the first to-

the fifth November, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine ?-Yes.

Q. Was that term presided over by the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger ?-I do-

not recollect having seen any Judge preside over the Court on that day; I was not

clerk, or at least, had no right to act as such ; there is no circumstance which recalls-

to me that there was such a Term; from the books it would appear that there was-

such a Term, but such is not my belief; I can not swear that there was no Judge in

the village; it is possible that one might have come, and that I did notsee him.

Q. Did you see Judge Loranger on any day of that Term ?-I did not see him.

Q. Were you ready to hold the Court, Mr. Beauchamp ?-No.

Q. Were you informed that the Judge would or would not come ?-I was never

informed of it officially, some person may have told me so, but I was not informed of-

it by the Judge.
Q. Had you any communication with Judge Loranger in the matter of your ap-

pointment, or of the holding of that November Term ?-By no means.

Q. Where were the Circuit sessions held ?-At the Court House.

Q. Did you keep your office there at the end of October ?-Yes, at that time I

was Deputy-Registrar. I kept my office as Notary and as Deputy-Registrar in the

lRegistry office. The clerk's office was next to the Registry office ; the Registrar kept
the key.

Q. Was it known in the village that you were clerk ?-I think that only the-

Registrar and my partner, Mr. Dufresne, knew it, because I had never communicated
to any body the confidential letter which the Minister had written to me.

Q. Please state in whose handwriting is the heading: November Term, one

thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine, in Book No. 4, filed this day as an exhibit ?-In

that of M. de Caussin, my predecessor.
Q. Is the case the same i or all that follows ?-With the exception of what is in

the margin, where there is also sone of my writing-there is the Judge's writing,
M. de Caussin's and mine.

By 3fr. Jetté:-

Q. When you Say margin, you mean to say the last column ?-Yes. The entry

made by the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger below one thousand eight hundred and

sixty-nine. June twenty-first,-was certainly not made in the November Term, one

thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine.
Q. When was it made ?-In the term of the February followîng.

Q. In whose handwriting ?-In that of Judge Loranger. Mr. de Caussin had
61
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established the custom in the clerk's office, from the time of his predecessor, of pre-
paring in advance the rolle for the Terme in which the cases for such space of time
were entered; a custom which has been followed ever since.

Q. On the day before the 1st November, or on the 1st, the 2nd or 3rd, did you
learn that a Judge had arrived in the village ?-I did not hear of it, it was not spoken
of.

Q. Now, did you prepare a statement from the books, and from memory showing
the num ber of days Judge Loranger held Court in your district ?-I think I gave a
statenient about the 28th May, 18»74, to Mr. Latour. As to that statement, it is not
necessary that the original be shown to me in order to say that it may contain errors ;
the thing was drawn up hastily in the space of a quarter of an hour. I will produce if
I am permitted to affix my signature to it, the statement marked E of the documents
produced by the Under-Secretary of State, declaring that it differs from the original
from which it appears to have been copied. That copy is the only one which is exact, I
now produce it as exhibit T, and I declare, after having examined it, that it appears
to me conformable to the documents produced under the letter E, the table of the
Terms of the Court presided over by Judge Loranger, from the lst July, 1867, to the
21st December, 1874, which statement is the one I prepared yesterday from my books,
registers, rolls of cases, &c.

Q. Ie that Statement exact, yes or no ?-It is conformable to the other statement
which is exact.

Q. You made, I think an addition, which you, afterwards struck out ?-Yes;
because it was Judge Torrence who sat.

Q. You had furnished a statement of those days of Court held by Judge Loranger,
previously, had you not ?-Yes.

Q. Did you find many errors in that statement; how many errors did you find ?
-I found that on the 1st February, 1869, I had declared the absence of Judge
Loranger, whereas by the register of non-appealable cases, I found that he was
present.

Q. Is that the only error you found ? -Yes.
(Adjourned to 8th March, 1877.)

OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877.
Examination continued.
Q. What is the distance from Joliette to St. Julienne ?-Six leagues.

Cross-examined:-
Q. Can you affirm the correctness of the registers kept before your tenure of

office by your predecessor ?-No; I cannot.
Q. Thus, might there not be more days of Court than there are mentioned in

that register ?-The thing is more than possible, because in almost every case it is
only the Term days that are marked in the books; in fact, I think that the judgments
are also entered in the book at the date of the Term, though rendered sometimes at
another date, out of Terni.

Q. Did you not notice that the books were in a very disorderly condition,
especially during the time of Mr. Dérivères Beaubien, about 1867 or 1868 ?-Yes.

Q. Do you not remember that in the month of February, 1873, which is the last
winter Term I held at St. Julienne, that there were two days of Term instead of oDe ?
-I remember a circumstance in relation to a case. I remember that there were
two days of Term, and that the Judge remained three days at St. Julienne-Saturday,
Bunday and Monday-in order to complete the enquête in a case of Dufresne against
Dalpée.

Q. What is the distance from St. Julienne to Sorel passing firet by Joliette and
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then by L'Assomption; and what is the distance to be travelled by way of Montreal,
i case it should be necessary to go there ?-I am unable to state what is the distance

between Montreal and Sorel, except by way of L'Assomption, which would be-
from St. Julienne to Montreal, by L'Assomption, fourteen leagues and a half; return-
ing from Montreal to L'Assomption, eight leagues. I never went but once from
L'Assomption to Sorel. I think the distance is fine leagues besides the crossing,
which is perhaps one league.

Q. Now by way of Joliette ? -From Sorel to Joliette is about seven leagues,
counting the crossing.

Q. Do you consider that a person taking two days to travel from Sorel to St.
Julienne, and two days to return fron St. Julienne to Sorel, would be too long, con-
sidering the roads and the number of leagues to be travelled ?-For the November
Tern two days is certainly not too much; in February it might very often happen
that it would be impossible to travel it in one day, unless by travelling part of the
night; but in summer, in June, it can be done in one day, provided one is not de-
layed by the ferries.

Q. Can the journey be made in one day by starting at noon ?-It is not possible;
or else one must have somewhat extraordinary horses.

Q. Is not the period of the February Circuit generally a stormy period ?-It is
generally the period of the heaviest snow-falls.

Q. Whom do you consider bound to make the entry of cases in the registers; ie
it the clerk or the Judge ?-It should be the clerk.

Q. When the Judge makes them himself, does he not do it for the clerk ?-That
is my opinion; sometimes, in fact, the Judge has kept the enquête roll for the clerk,
and made the entries for the clerk, because the clerk was a novice at making such
entries.

Q. You were asked for a report of the days of Tern on which the Judge sat from
1867 to 1874; who asked you for that report ?-It was Mr. Timothy D. Latour, of
Lanoraie.

Q. You know him to be the signer of the first petition, do you not ?-I cannot
say.

Q. At what time did Mr. Latour ask you for that statement ?-I think it was in
1874, in July; at all events, I dated the statement.

Re-examined :-
Q. You had found a mistake in your return; did you find any others since in

your statement ?-None other but that one.
Q. Am I to understand that, in relation to the distance for which you have men-

tioned two days of travel, it was two days for going and two days for returning ?-
Two days for going and two for returning by Joliette and L'Assomption; I said,
according to the weather, in autumn particularly. I saw the Judge come when the
roads were exceedingly difficult to travel, and his horses were greatly fatigued.

Q. What is the distance between St. Julienne and Joliette ?-Six leagues.
Q. Between St. Julienne and Sorel?-About seven leagues.
Q. Have you yourself ever travelled between St. Julienne and Joliette ?-No.
Q. Between L'Assomption and Sorel ?-Yes, once. I went there to take out my

-certificate of study. We left L'Assomption at four in the morning, and when we
reached Sorel it was dark. It was in winter, in the month of January; the roads
were bad.

Q. You said that in your opinion it is the c to make the entry in the:
roll ?-Yes, it is my opinion.

Q. Is it because you do so yourself or because you have seen it done in other
Courts ?-I judge from the fact that Judge Olivier makes no entries, and never looks
at the Roll. Judge Loranger used to do the same thing, but not generally.

T. BEAUHAMPS.
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Table filed by the last witness showing days upon which Judge Loranger held
the Circuit Court of the County of Montcalm.

From July, 1867, to December, 1874, inclusively, the Terms were appointed by
roclamation from the Tht to the 5th of the month of February, from the 6th to the
lth of June, and from the Tst to the 5th of November, in eaeh year.

The Term of June, 1813, was the last held by Judge Loranger. Judge Olivier
tht cr iaced him.

1867-From the lst July to 31st December: No Term.
1868-February Term :

The Tht, 1 day.................................................... $6 00
June Term:

The 6th, day.......... ..... ............... 6 00
November Term:

The 2nd, 1 day................................................. 6 00
1869-February Term :

The 1st, 1 day................................................... 6 00
1870-February Term:

The st, i day ................ .............. 6 00
" June Term:

The 6th, 1 day.................................................. 6 0
November Term:

The 2nd, 1 day............................... . . . . ............. 6 00
1871-February Term :

The 3rd, 1 day .......... ........................................ 6 00
1872-June Term :

The 6th, 1 day....................................... .......... 6 00
November Term :

The 2nd, 1 day........................ . ......... ............. 6 00
1873-February Term :

The lst, 1 day................... ..... . . ...................... 6 00
June Term :

The 6th and 7th, 2 days..................................... 12 00

JOSEPH ZEBEDEE MARTEL, residing at L'Assomption, being duly sworn, deposeth
and saith:-

Q. You are Clerk of the Circuit Court at L'Assomption ?-Yes.
Q. Iow many years have you been Clerk ?-Since the year one thousand eight

hundred and fifty eight. I have with me the Rolls and Registers ofthat Court fixing
the cases for hearing for the years from one thousand eight hundred and sixty-
seven to one thousand eight hundred and seventy-four.

I produce it under number.
I have prepared a statement showing the number of days on which Judge

Loranger held Court in the Circuit of L'Assomption. But I desire to make some
64



corrections in the original statement which I had prepared at the time; when I was
directed to make ont that statement, I was told that it was for the purpose of makiug
improvements in the Court Houses, and I was asked to make ont the statement ibr
that very day. It was made out hurriedly, and I dsire to make corrections.

I have now before me that original statement: it is marked D.
Q. Be good enongh to examine whether this statement is correct?
(The Advocate for the petitioners, presents to the witneus a new statement, pre-

pared from the books, and marked S.)
A. In this statement I desire to add: The 27th January, and The 27th October,

1869,-which I forgot in my first statement.
In 1871, on the 26th of May, in place of Judge Loranger, it should be Judge

Sicotte.
Now on the 26th October: No Judge.
On the 27th October, in the same year (1871), Judge Sicotte, in place of, Judge

Loranger.
For the year 1872, 27th January: Judge Beaudry.
Eighth July: Extra term held by JudgesLoranger,-which also is not mentioned

in my statement.
With these corrections, I can certify that my report is correct, and in accordance

with my books, except as to an extra term held by Judge Olivier, in 1874, at which
there were three terrn days,-the Lnd, the 3rd, and the 4th February; but it appears
by my roll of enquéte, that he only sat on the 2nd February, whereas he did sit on the
three days, which sh'ws that it may be that in my report there are other Court days
on which Judge Loranger may have presided, and which I cannot point out.

I now produce the statement corrected and marked S, which is the table of all
the days on which Judge Loranger presided, from the lst of July, 1867, up to the
26th May, 1873.

I have searched, in order to prepare this statement, the books containing the en-
tries of cases. the books of inscription, and registers of judgments.

It was on the basis of those three series of books, that I prepared that statement.
which is correct.

I have the books of inscription of pon-appealable cases.
We were not in the habit of entering the adjournments in the books.
I made a roll, day by day, for the cases fixed for enquéte and hearing in term, as well

for appealable cases as for non-appealable cases.
I can cite instances: thus, that which I cited a while ago, in relation to Judge

Olivier,-the extra term in which there were three term days, while there is but one
day entered on my roll.

I am unable to quote another instance.
Q. If I have well understood you,it is the only occasion on which you did not pro-

pare a roll;- on which you put off to the following day, on the same list, cases fixed
fIr the first day ?-It is the only one I can now point out; it is possible there may be
others, but 1 am unable to point then out.

Q. Do you believe there are any others ?-It may be that there are others.
Q. Have you any reason to believe that there are others ?-I have the reason I in-

dicated just now; at all events, I believe that it would be an exception, for I always
make out a roll.

Q. For the case of Judge Olivier, you have said that it.was about a special term ?
-Yes.

Q. What was the -matter to be dealt with ?--It was the case of Edouard Leblanc vs.
the Curé Bédard ; it is a case which lasted nearly two years.

Q. Was there only that case to be heard at that term ?-Yes; I had fixed a day for
hearing the enquête.

Q. Be good enough to point out in your book the place where that case is
entered ?-lere it is: 2nd Febriiary, 1874.

Q. Are you sure that on the following day and on the day thereafter the Judge

Appandfr (No. 8) A 181
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was present ? Are you sure that thie parties did not proceed amicably out of the
presence of the Judge ?-No; they did not proceed out of the presence of the Judge.

Q. Are.you certain that the J was there ?-Yes; the depositions were not
taken at length; it was Quly notes by the Judge..

By Mr. Baby:
Q. Examine that last case entered on the roll; who wrote the words " P. O. C.

A. V. ? "-Judge Olivier, I think.
Q. Here i an entry on the 7th September; who erased that ? "Was it you ?-I

think it must be the Judge who erased that-Judge Olivier.
Q. There is another of the 7th June struek ont also ; by whom ?-1 do not know.
Q. That makes three ?-Yes.
Q. Have the Advocates access to those books ?-Yes.
Q. Rave they access to them out of your presence or in your presence ?-Ordi-

narily in my presence.
Q. Generally it is you and the Judge who have those books in your possession ?-

Yes.

By Mr. Fontaine, Advocate for the Petitioners:-
Q. Do you know by whom those alterations or erasures were made-by whom

those words wore struck out ?-I have just told you I do not know.
Adjourned to to-morrow, 8th March, inst.

March 8th.

Deposition of witness resumed: Examination in chief continued.
Q. What is the distance betweèn L'Asomption and Joliette ?-Six leagues.
Q. From L'Assomption to St. Julienne ?-Seven leagues or seven leagues and a

half.
Q. From L'Assomption to Montreal ?-Eight leagues.
Q. From L'Assomption to Berthier, do you know the distance ?-No; I think it

is nine leagues.

Cross-examined :
Q. Can you say whether, when Judge Loranger held Court at L'Assomption, the

roll was always got through with before his departure, or whether he left on the roll
cases in which the parties were ready to proceed ?-Nothing was ever left over to
my knowledge, because we worked often very late in the evening, and the Judge
also, to complete the business.

Q. Well, can it be asserted with truth that the District has suffered because the
Judge did not hold Court long enough ?-I do not see anything in the shqpe of a
wrong to the District, nor that it has suffered. I do not think that the fact of working
at night would lead one to think that the District has suffered.

Q. Your books show the cases pleaded on the merits and inscribed for enquête;
but have you a book which would show that the enquête in cases not inscribed may
have been received by the Judge, as well as motions or incidents ?-There is no book
to show that.

Q. Thns, Judge Loranger might have received and heard the parties on such
incidents, received motions, or held an enquête during a day or days not mentioned in
your statement or in the rolls and Pegister ?-It is possible.

Re-examined:-
Q. Ras it happened to your knowledge ? Can you mention instances ?-I do

not remember any at this moment.
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Re-Oross-Examined:

Q. Could that have happened without your g it in view of the long
lapse of time ?-Certainly, it might have happe8ed, and that should Iuave forgotten
it.

J. Z. MARTEL
C.C..

Table produded by the preceding witness, Martel. "8."
I the undersigned clerk of the Cireuit Court in and for the county of L'Assomp-

tion, certify that according to all the Registers of the said Court of which I amn thïe
custodian, Judge Loran r held the Circuit Court at L'Assomption on the following
days, according to the books of the said Court, from July, 1867, to December, 1874,
inclusively:

1867-September Term :
The 26th................................... ................. 1 day

1868-January Term:
The 27th.......................................................

" May Term:-
The 26th, 27th, 28th, 29th............................... 4

October Term :
The 26th, 27th............................................. 2

" November Term (adjourned for judfments):
The 3rd......................................................... 1 «

1869-January Term:
The 26th, 27th................................ 2

" May Term:
The 26th....................................................... 1

" October Term:
The 26th, 27th.............................................. 2

1870-January Term:
The 26th, 27th.............................................. 2

" May Term:

The 27th...................................................
". October Term:

The 26th, 27th.............................. 2
1871-January Term :

The 26th..................................................... "
1872-May Tern:

The 27th, 28th.................................... ........... 2
" July Term (adjourned from May):

The 8th...................................................... 1 A
" October Term:

The 26th...................................................... 1 "
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1873-January Term:
The 27th,,and May 26th .................... 2 days.

Judge Olivier has since replaced Judge Loranger.

J. Z. MARTEL,
C. C. .

OTTAWA, 7th March, 1877.

OTTAWA, March 7th, 1877.

Josiru OcTÂvE Dt.sLETs, being duly sworn, deposeth and saith:-
Q. You are Prothonotary of the Superior Court, and Clerk of the Circuit Court of

the County of Joliette, and Clerk of the Crown and of the Peace for the same district ?
-Yes.

Q. Since when ?-Since the twenty-ninth of July, 1871.
Q. Please produce before the Committee all the registers, rolls of cases and

sheets of hearings of the Superior Court, of the Criminal Court and of the Circuit
Court of the District of Joliette, for the period from July, 1867, to the month of May,
1874 ?-I produce them.

(Adjourned the hearing of witness to to-morrow, 8th March, 1876.)

9th March, 1877.

The examination of the witness is resumed as follows:-
Q. You have since the adjournment of your testimony, that is to say since the

day before yesterday, the 7th of March, prepared a table of the days of t he sittings of
the Court held by Judge Loranger at Joliette from the lst July, 1867, to the month
of May, 1874?-Yes.

Q. Please produce it ?-I produce it; it is marked letter Y. It comprise the
terms of the Criminal Court, of the Superior Court, and of the Circuit Court. I have
prepared that statement according to the book of judgments, the book or roll of
enquête and of law, in fact according to the different books of the different courts
which could give me information on that subject.

I must add that that statement may not show all the days Judge Loranger was
present at Joliette. It may have happened that some other days were employed
either at enquête or at some other thing, by Judge Loranger, and that there is no
entry of that.

Q. Explain to us how it happens that there may have been days of sittings of
the Court, which aie not to be found on the registers ?-Generally we made entry
of cases inscribed on the roll of enquête each day ; but it has happened sometimes that
a case commenced in the evening, in which we knew the number of witnesses whose
examination was deferred to the next day, and we made no entry for that day, in
order to avoid the transcription of cases which immediately followed those upon
which we were then proceeding.

Q. I would ask if you know of any cases--if you can cite such a case ?-It is
very difficult after ton years.

Q. Try to remember a similar fact to the one you have mentioned-the name
of a case, and the time ?-I cannot remember any at the present moment.

Q. You cannot remember any case in which proceedings were had without any
entry appearing in the register ?-Not at this moment. If I had been warned; if I
had my tax books of witnesses. I could see immediately what you ask me to tell you
from memory. That book bas not been asked of me; I have not brought it.
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Q. What is that book you speak of ?-The tax book of witnesses, a book which
I kee spcally for that.

Q. Ou y0our roll of eaute, yoa do not enter that such or Such a witnesa hm been
examined ?-Not at Joliette. The roll of entry1s made for cases postponed.

Q. Appealable or non-appeable ?-For all.
Q. There iR no continuation for non-appealable cases ?-It has happened more

frequently for non-apealable cases than for others.
lu filing that ta e which I have made to the best of my knowledge, I muet say

that 1 may have omitted some days on which the Judge sat; thug, since yesterday I
have discovered four errors,-which goes to show that I may have made still more
omissions.

Q. As it now stands, can you say that it is correct to the best of your know-
ledge ?-To the best of my knowledge.

Q. According to your registers ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know any case,-which may not appear in your reg' ters,-as having

been proceeded with on any particular day, and say what day ?-In a case, No. 684,
Superior Court of Joliette, Joseph Edouard Beaupré, petitioner, against the Corpora-
tion of the County of Montcalm; it appears that on the 9th September, 1872, a
petition was presented to Judge Loranger, which he received that day; his initials
even appear on the back of the petition and mn the list exhibit 1, on the petition, and
nothing of that appears in the books.

Q. It was on official business that the Judge went to Joliette ?--Yes.
Q. Had the Judge been called upon to go there ?-1 cannot say; I know that he

was at Joliette, and that the petition was presented to him.
Q. Is it not true that it is the custom to present those petitions, to deposit them

in the Prothonotary's office, and when the Judge comes afterwards, that they are pre-
sented to him, but that, notwithstanding, they bear the date of the day on which they
were presented and left in the Prothonotary's office ?--No, never.

Q. Is it not the custom in the rural districts wheré there is no resident Judge, to
present a petition like the one you have just spoken of, and of which notice is given to
the adverse party,-to present it at the office of the Prothonotary, and to argue or not,
and to have it admitted only when the Judge is present afterwards, and that neverthe-
less the filing of the petition is initialled on the day on which it was presented to the
clerk ?--No. never.

Q. Are you able to say what was done in relation to that petition ?-It was
presented in the ordinary manner, a proceeding resulted from it; there were excep-
tions, declinatory and others.

Q. It was at the same time and same date as the case of Payton and Cornellier ?
-If it was not at the same time, it was the day after, that the case of Payton and
Cornellier was fixed for enquête.

Q. At all events, it was at the same time-that both matters took place-the pre-
sentation of the petition and the case of Payton and Cornellier ?-Yes, it was the same
journey.

Q. The petition was presented, and proceedings were had on that petition ?-
Yes.

Q. Have yon. not mentioned those days in the statement you have given ?-It is
possible, but I think not.

Q. In the statement which you gave to the Judge, did yon not mention it ?-I
cannot say; it is possible.

Q. The Judge arrived in the morning, received the petition, and returned in the
afternoon ?-I do not recollect what he did.

Q. There was no proceeding upon the petition ?-No; there were exceptions, and
the appearance was filed the following day at the office of the Prothonotary. The
Judge was not there the next day; I do not wish to say that the Judge was not at
Joliette; I nmean to say that he was not at the Prothonotary's office when the
appearance was filed.

Q. You say that it may havQchappened that the Judge may have been present
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two or three times without any entry having been made in the registers ?-I said
sometimes.

Q. By the general rule you cannot establish the presence of the Judge on those
days?-There might bve been exceptions, and there were some.

Q. WilI you tell us what are those exceptions ?-I should be compelled to search
the books and all the records.

Q. Was it not Judge Loranger who showed you that record, Payton and Cornel-
lier ?-I knew it beforehand, because Mr. Champagne had informed me that he
remembered that Judge Loranger had come te Joliette in a certain instance, and
especially at the time.of the presentation of that petition; and it is by that I remember
the case.

Q. Do you not recollect other cases when the Judge came and which are not
mentioned in the books ?-I cannot tell you that from memory. I could have made,
researehes in my office.

Q. Did Judge Loranger, before your evidence, ask you if you had that record,
Payton and Cornellier?-The Judge did not ask me if I had the record in question.
I may state that Judge Olivier informed me of the fact of which I have spoken in
relation to the case of Payton andCornellier. Ie asked me if I.remembered the case;
he even asked me for the record.

• Q. Did Judge Loranger go to Joliette to the office to obtain a table "of the days
of Court which he had held ?-Yes, in July last.

Q. Is it not true that if you knew of other instances in which the Judge sat, you
would remember them ?-Besides those mentioned in the registers, I have told you
that it might be that there, were others and that I did not remember them.

Q. Thus, then, apart from the case mentioned above, you do not remember any
other circumstance ?-No, I cannot now specify any.

Q. You do not remember ?--Not at present. I wish to state to the Committee
that, in giving the table, the figures speak for themselves; however, it may appear a
little strange witnout explanation that there are days which do not follow each other,
but I can explain with my calendar what are the Sundays or holidays which cause an
interval between the days wbich I have marked upon my table.

Q. Explain how it occurs that intervals of several days appear by your table
during the Terms wbich appear to have been held or appear by the table, especially
the intervals which appear in the Terms of June and July of each year ?--I am to
commence with the first Term, doubtless.

Q. Commence with the June Term ?-There is St. John Baptist Day, no Court;
it adjourns on the day before, or on the morning itself; St. John Baptist Day does
not appear on my table; there is St. Peter's Day, on the 29th, a legal holiday; like-
wise the first of July; then there is a Sunday in the last days of June.

Q. In the Term of June and July almost invariably, was the Court not held from
the first or the second day before St. Peter's Day to the first or the second day after
Dominion Day ? -I think I cannot say generally; sometimes it happened that it
was not held on the 30th June; the 29th was St. Peter's Day; the first of July was a
legal holiday; then the.Court adjourned from the 28th to the 2nd July * * *
sometimes.

Q. Have you any knowledge that Judge Loranger went to Sorel on St. John the
Baptist's Day in one thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine and one thousand eight
hundred and seventy ?-I can state the Jud'ge went as often to Sorel as he remained
at Joliette during the years when le came. I cannot state precisely as regards the
two years you have mentioned.

Q. Is it not true that during June Term, when St. John the Baptist's Day fell on
Saturday, that the Judge went to Sorel not to return until the day after Dominion
Day ?-As for that I must see an almanac in order to know.

Q. Is it not true, yes or no, that Judge Loranger wenst to Sorel on the eve of
St. Peter's Day, not to return until the day after Dominion Day ?-Sometimes, but
not generally. (The witness here examines the Judicial Almanac.) In one thou-
sand eight hundred and sixty-nine the twenty-sixth was a Saturday, the twenty-
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eighth a Monday; the thirtieth a Wednesday, and all the intermediate days woee
it due non."

Q. I find by your table that in the year one thousand ht hundred and
sixty-nine the Court adjourned on the 2&th June, and reopened on third of July ?.
-I see that the Court was held on the twenty-eighth and thirtieth of June, and un
the second and third of July.

Q. It was adjourned from the thirtieth of June to the second of July ?-Yes.
Q. You have stated that there might be Court days mentioned in your table

which were not in your books; might it be possible that a Terrm might be adjourned
from one day to another day, and that you should not be able to find it out from
your books ?-That is possible, and even at that tinie I recollect a case which
has already been spoken of, Payton versus Cornellier, which was fixed for enguOte
without the books showing that it was so.

Q. Is it possible that a special Terni might be fixed by the Judge from May to
.Tuly, and that the day fixed in July might not be mentioned in your books in order
to show that special Terni ?-If the Terni was fixed for the rendering ofjudgments it
ought to appear on the books.

Q. And if it is a Term fixed for hearing ?-It might happen that it would dot
appear from the books. It has sometimes happened that a special Term was flxed,
and that on the proper day the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger came, and the
members of the Bar were not ready to procecd; and that from that fact alone the
case was continued to the following Tern.

Q. In that case had you not prepared your tables or your rolls, and were you or
were you not ready to proceed; and can you not ascertain from your rolls that the
Court was to be held on that day ?-In the cases in which the attorneys were not
ready to proceed I could not ascèrtain it from my books, for the reason that having
been informed some days before the Term by the attorneys who were to proceed
in those cases that they were not ready to do so, then I did not prepare my r oll; and
it used to happen that I only made a roll for appealable cases in the Superior
Court and in the Circuit Court, in which cases the depositions were taken down at
length.

Q. Can you state or recollect a single case of that nature ?-I can sec nothing in
my books, but I have the case of Payton and Cornellier, and furthermore, it is
possible I might find some other cases by turning over the papers in my office.

Q. Can you recollect any other cases than that case, Payton versus Cornellier, in
which the parties were not ready to proceed on the day appointed as a special Term ?

(Objection taken to the question by the Committee.)
Q. Do you recollect that in 1867, on the 15th of July. there was a Terrn held

which was an adjournment of the Term of May previous ?-I am not ready to answer
the question at once, I cannot recollect.

Q. Have you not ascertained that from your Registers; nothing is more simple
than that ?-I ascertained the Term days from my register only, and nevertheless this
morning I fbund four errors. My registers were not always well kept before My
time, so as to shew that with any degree of certainty.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that in 1867, in July, or in any year, Judge Loranger
went to Joliette during the vacation to hold the Court ?-I cannot say whether he
came or whether he did not come. I know that one year he was there on the 11th
of July ; he was, I think, there on Court business-for Criminal Court business.

Q. In any case there was no Court held there on the 15th July, 1867 ?-I could
only give a satisfactory answer after referring to my registers ?

Q. You were there in the clerk's office in 1867 ?-I have been there since
1858.

Q. It was you who'conducted the office under Mr. Groulx :-Yes. I have never
failed except that I took a few days holidays, and it may be that I was absent on
the 15th of July.

Q. To the best of your knowledge and from your registers, so far as you have
been able to sq.,is that table correct ?-To the best of my knowledge.
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By Mr. Baby.:
.Po you remember a cas in, the Circuit Court, non-appelable, the Corporation

of St. Alexis versus Aunont, Dpuis and Dupuis, and in whic the proof occupied the
whole day ? And do you recollect that it was Judge Loranger who presided over
the Court ?-Yes. I believe that the mnquéte lasted three or four days, at any rate
during the Term.

Q. Do you recollect another time five cases being joined together ? Arpin versus
Fouché, and it took the whole Term presided over by the Honourable Mr. Justice
loranger ?-Yes, it was a timber case in the Circuit Court-a non-appealable case.

By the Chairman
Q. Do you recollect the date of those cases ?-No.
Q. Please look in your books, between this and to-morrow, the 10th March in-

stant, and tell us the date of those cases ?-Those days are included in the table which
I have produced.

The examination of the present witness is adjourned until to-morrow the 10th
March instant.

10th March.
Examination of witness resumed:-

Cross-examined
(The objection being reserved arising from the fact that the Judge has not been

accused in the petition of over-charge in his travelling expenses as regards the Supe-
rior, Circuit and Criminal Courts of Joliette.)

By Mr. Baby :-
Q. Please look at the diary of appealable cases of the 23rd of October, 1876 ?

Do you find the case of Martel versus Godin ?-Yes.
Q. Do you see that there has been an entry struck out ?-Here it is in a case of

Mooney versus Cannon, it is an entry made in the handwriting of Judge Olivier. It
appears in the list of cases continued to the 23rd of October, 1876,-In a case, No.
970, I see an entry made by Judge Olivier, containing the following words:-"' The
defendant when called did not appear," the plaintif9 declares his enqluête closed, the defen-
dant not appearing to proceed, his enquête is declared closed. The plaintiff prays judgment.
" C. A. V." The whole of this entry is struck out by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Olivier. Below it are written the following words: " Cause continued to the 2nd of
Aovember, 1876." The whole in the handwriting of Mr. Justice Olivier.

By Mr. Taschereau:-
Q. Was it struck out in your presence ?-I cànnotswear Io it; the Judge struck

that out in open Court; I was in my seat.

By the Chairman:-
Q. At the request of the parties ?-I believe that the entry was first made by

the Judge, and then, at the request of the parties, or rather of the plaintiff 's attorney,
it was struck out.

By Mr. Taschereau
Q. Was the other attorney present ?-No, the plaintiff's attorney had that done

in order not to take advantage of the absence of the other attorney.
Q. Do you know that the Judge also made erasures the next day ?-That hap-

pened quite frequently.
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. If those entries were authentie would it be in r with the practie
to adopt the mode of altering or modifying them-merely to erase -or strike thea
out; ought they not, on the contrary, to be the subject of a different eutry in
writing.

[Ob etion taken to this question on the part of the petitioners. Question
allowed.L

A. Ertainly if those entries were authentic, there would necessarîly be required
a distinct instrument, which would allow us to see the reason for which those
entries were made, because I consider that the entries made in the margin are the
work of the clerk, and if by chance there should happen to be any mistakes, he
ought to have them corrected by the Judge or correct them himself.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Do you consider that an entry made in this way by the Judge, could be

altered without the consent of the parties ?-à do not think so.
Q. If that entry was only the correction of an entry made by mistake, and that

the prothonotary charged with the preparing of the transcript, should draw the
attention of the Judge to an apparent error, or should ask him what was the trNe
state of affairs relative to that entry, do you believe that the Judge should make it
(the correction) ?-I think su; and I should do it myseif, when placing the cases on
the list of the day.

Q. Suppose, for example, that a case had been continued to the 23rd of any
month, that the Judge had indicated it ashaving been continued to the 24th, that
you should be called upon to prepare your list for the 23rd, and that you should draw
the attention of the Judge to that mistake; do you think that he ought to change his
entry to make it agree with the proceedings which were taken? -I think so;
and this has been put into practice several times, in non-appealable cases especially,
because it has happened several times that the Judge's notes on the roll of cases
respecting the fixing of the cases for proof or hearing did not agree with the notes
which I took or indicated myself on the record of the case; when I issued subpoenas
for a day which I knew to be fixed by the parties, I passed over the entry made by
the Judge, and I returned the case as fixed on the proper day.

Q. Do you consider it is the duty of the Judge to keep the entries made on the
roll of cases for enquêtes and hearing, or rather that it is, properly speaking, the duty
of the Clerk ?-I consider that it is really the duty of the clerk, and that the Judge
who makes them does so only through complaisance.

Q. Please state what took place in your district respecting the keeping of those
entries by the Judge, and what took place previous to his administration of justice
in your district; before Judge Loranger's time, were not those entries made by the
clerk; why was that change made ?-It is to my knowledge that during the first
years, Mr Groulx.being clerk, made the entries sometimes himself; and as some-
times he was, perhaps, a little negligent, and difficulties arose .between the Bar and
himself respecting those entries, which one side alleged ought to have been made in
one manner, the other party in another, then the Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger, to
remove those grievances, undertook to make those entries himself, which cut short
all those difficulties, although, however, the clerk sometimes made them.

Q. Do "you consider that the keeping of those entries by the Judge was, among
other reasons, to guide the clerk when he needed to refer to the proceedings ?-Yes,
certainly; one is guided by those entries to make the entries of the following day,
and also the entries in the minute book.

Q. Did it not often happen, while Judge Loranger was holding the Court in your
district, that you allowed some days to pass without renewing the roll, either
because the whole roll was not gone through or some one of the cases was not pro-
ceeded with, and that during several days of the Term the case inscribed for the first
or second day remained on the roll without being adjourned from one day to another?
-That happened often enough.

Q. In this way, from the non-appearance on your roll of the cases inscribed or
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oentinued to a particular day, would it follow, in your opinion, that the Judge had
not held the Court on those days during which thé ease was continued ?-No, that
would not follow.

Q. That happened several times ?--Yes.
Q. Look at te roll for July, 1873, and tell me how many days it would appear

from your roll that the Court had been held ?-(The witness examines the roll, in
question.)-A. Three days only; the 28th of June, the 2nd and 3rd of July; while
the Term was actually held on the 28th and 30th of June, the 2nd, 3rd, 5th, 7th and
9th of July.

Q. Did it happen that Judge Loranger went upon the Bench during the days of
Term and found that there was nothing to do; or, rather, that proceedings were had
of which no entry was made in any book ?-That happened-quite frequently, without
my being able to fix the dates accurately, either because the Bar were not ready to
proceed, or that only motions or proceedings which would not appear on the books
were gone through with.

Q. In general, would incidentai proceedings, such as petitions and motions,
appear upon your books or only on the records ?-They would only appear on the
zgords; at Joliette there was never a roll kept for motions and petitions.

Q. Did not the Judge hold the Terms during their whole continuance ?-Yes,
generally, with but few exceptions.

Q. Can you point out an exception ?-I cannot name the year; but I know that
one year--during the February Term,-I think the Judge did not come for one of the
first days ot the Term on account of a snow-storm. Once or twice it happened in
that way. At all events, there was a Term in which Judge, advocates and protho-
notories were obliged to go to the Court House on snow-shoes, on account of a very
violent snow-storm.

Q. Was that not in 1869 ?-It was in 1868 or 1869, one of those two years.
There was a great deal of snow during those two years.

Q. For two months ?-Yes, February and March. I know that people drove about
in sleighs, and that they passed along at the height of the second stories of the
houses; the houses could not be seen from one side of the road to the other. Another
time, in June or July-I cannot say in what year-the Judge absented himself for
one day in order to return to Sorel.

Q. Was not that after having warned the Bar that it was for a matter connected
with his office ?-Yes; but I do not know why it was. I know that it was after
having warned the Bar. Perhaps once also-I no longer remember accurately; I
think on the thirtieth June-the Court adjourned from the twenty-eighth of June to
the second of July on accourit of public holidays.

Q. Do you know whether Judge Loranger was absent or present during the
interval ?-l cannot recollect during that interval. I know that the Judge held the
Terms appointed by proclamation, and pretty often more Terms than those so fixed
by proclamation.

Q. Are those the only exceptions that you know of ?-To the best of my know-
ledge, as I mentioned yesterday, without reckoning St. John the Baptist's Day.

Q. Do you think it would be possible for the Judge to 1eave his house in the
morning and reach Joliette in time to hold the Court the same day ?-I do not believe
it, unless by rising very early, and then there is a crossing to make, and it is six
leagues from Joliette to Berthier; the roads must be in very good condition, and one
must leave in the early morning.

Q. Do you know of any occasion on which the Judge left his house in the mora-
ing ?-I know that sometimes the Judge arrived in the morning by the train, but ho
came from Lanoraie. I presumed that he slept at his brother's bouse, who iives there
near the railway terminus.

Ist Question by Mr. Taschereau:

Q. What distance is it from L'Assomption to Joliette ?-Six leagues.
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Q. Prom Joliette to Lanoraie?-Four leagnes byrailway, and ive by the ordinary

2nd Question

Q. Have you any knowledge that the Tdge was sick during certain Terms, and
that ho came into court in a state of great suffering ?-I know that the Honourable
Judge sometimes arrived being indisposed; that I cannot state precisely when

Q. Do you not know that the Judge was even in the hand of Dr. Leprohon ?-I
cannot say exactly. I know that I sometimes went to the hotel, and it may be that 1
saw there Dr. Leprohon; but I could not swear to it. I know that sometimes the,
judge despatched business in the shortest possible time and returned to the hotel,
because ho was sick. I myself went to see him about entries of judgments.

Q. As a general rule did not the Judge draw up the judgments with you after
the Term ?-Most often the Honourable Judge rendered bis judgments in open Court,
and only took notes of thom, and after Court I went to his room and I drew up the
judgments from his dictation ?

Q. Did you say that there is no written trace of certain Terms of adjournment
or special Terms to ho found in the books ?-No trace.

Q. Do you make a distinction between a Special Term and an adjourned Term ?-
There is no difference so far as I can see between the two. (The witness
desires to rectify an auswer whiéh ho has previously given:) During the first years
Mr. Groulx made me make the entries in the inside of the cover of a register by
simple note : " The Court is adjourned to such a day." But since 1864 or 1865 this
has no longer been done.

Q. I think that you did not always enter in the books what were the adjourn-
monts ?-Not only were they not always entered, but further, they were never entered.
The only entry which could appear was in the margin in the last column.

Q. Will you look at your statement and say whether on the lth and 1lth Septem-
ber, 1868, there was held a Special Term of the Circuit and Superior Courts ?-Yes,
of the two Courts.

Q. Is there in your books any entry of that Term ?-In the roll of appealable
cases I see an entry. Previous to that date there is nothing, no entry showing that
the Court had adjourned to the 10th.

Q. So that if on the .two days the Court was not held and the Judge did not arrive
there would be no trace of his presence at the county town (chef-lieu) ?-No, by the
rolls of the Court, perhaps from those of the Superior Court one might ascertain it-
there might have been judgments rendered on the 10th.

Q. Please look in your books ?-Yes. It appears that on the 10th several judg-
ments were rendered.

Q. The fixing of the Term does not appear from your books ?-No.
Q. Please teil us whether in your statement on the 9th September, 1872, or some-

where near it there is a Term mentioned ?-No, nothing appears.
Q. That was the day on which the Judge went there (to Joliette) for the case of

Payton and Cornelliere, and that ho signed the petition for the mandamus ?-Yes.

Re-examined:-

Q. You say that in June, 1873, there were held more Court days than appear by
the register ; those Court days which you allege to have been held, and not to
appear in the registers, are they shewn in the table which you have produced ?-I did
not say that the days mentioned on that table in the June and July Terms, 1873, did
not appear in the registers, but that the Court days held over and above those ordered
by the proclamation fixing the Terms are the 5th, 6th and 9th of July.

Q. Did you mention the same fact as having happened at another time than in
1873 ?- do not think that I mentioned the year.

Q. Did you mention the fact as having happened in that way without stating the
precise year ?-les, without stating the exact year, I mentioned the following : that
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the Honourable Judge had held the Court longer than was appointed by the pro-
.clamation.

Well, do those days, on which the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger held the
Court in excess of its duration, appear in your table, although they do not specially
.appear in the rolls ?-They appear on my table.

Q. Was the Honorable Judge in the habit of granting special and adjourned
-Terms when he had no further business to transact in the regular Term ?-No.

Q. Then when he adjourned a special Terma it was because he could not fmish
,wbat he had on the roll ?-It has happened that the Judge fixed days for rendering
judgments.Q. Then, if I understand you perfectly, there were no special Terms fixed when
there were judgments to render in the cases which had been argued during the
regular Term. They were only held for business which was not finished ?-Yes, it
has occurred that the Advocates asked for a day in order to proceed in certain cases.

Q. You stated that there was no special entry on the roll nor in the registers
-with reference to those cases ?-No.

Q. How- do you recollect it, thon ?-It is very easy to recollect it ; the Court
adjourned for three weeks or a month.

Q. You kept it in your memory ?-Yes.
Q. You do not forget it ?-No.

By e|1. Bechard:-'
Q. For what reason was not that entered in the registers ?-From custom.
Q. Beforo the day appointed for the special Terms of the Court, as there was

.always some business to be transacted, did you not prepare a special roll of cases
which were to be gone through with on those days ?-A roll was generally prepared
in the morning or the day before, because if happened that quite often ,he Bar asked
for a special Term, and, nevertheless they, the members, were not ready to proceed;
thon sone days in advance they told us; we ourselves used to ask them, " are you not
preparing the subpænas for suck or such a case?" and they replied, " no, we are not
ready."

Re-cross examined :-
Q. Do you say that it was only in the circumstances in which there remained

cases on the roll that the need of that special Terni was felt; might it not happen
-that without a " remanet " there might be need of a special Term ?-I believe that I
said that the advocates sometimes asked for a special Term in order to proceed in
cases which were not entered on the roll of the regular Term in which such request
was made.

Q. If there was no inscription made for that special Terma, there would be no
trace of the presence of the Judge ?-Yes.

J. O. DESILETS.
·OTTAWA, 12th March, 1877.

Exhibit " Y " producod by the foreg9ingwitness, J. O. Désilets.
Table of daye of the Circuit Court held at Joliette by Judge Loranger from 1st

of July, 1867, to the 1st May, 1874.
1867-October Teri :

The 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 19................................. 6 days
1868-February Term:

The 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22...... 11
June and July Teras :

The 22, 23, 25, 26, 27, 30 June; 2, 4, 9 July.... 9
Adjourned to 10th September.
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1868-September adjourned T
Tho 10, 11 ...... ........ ...... ........ 2 day.

" October Term:
The 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22...... il

Continued to the 20th of November.
November continued Term:

The 20...................................... ............... 1
1869-February Term:

The 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24, 25...... 11
June and July Term:

The 22, 23, 25, 26 June; 3 July................... 5
October Term:

The 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 19................ 7
Adjourned to the 15th November.
November Term:

The 15, 19 ............................. 2
1870-February Term:

The 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 21,22............. 8
" June and July Term:

The 22, 23, 25, 27 June; 4, 9 July................ 6
October Term:

The 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 19, 22.............. 9 "
" Continued to the 15th November.
" November adjourned Term:

The 15 .................................................... 1 "
1871-February Term:

The 10, 11, 13,15, 20.................................. 5
1872-June and July Term:

The 22, 25, 26, 27 June; 2. 3, 9 July............. 7 "
" October Term:

The 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 22 . ................ 7
Adjourned to 18th November.
November adjourned Term:

The 18, 20 ............................................... 2 "

1873-February Term:
The 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 17,21....................... 7

" June and July Term:
The 23, 25, 27, 28, 30 June ; 2, 5, 7, 8, 9 July.. 10 "

Continued to 6th September.
" September adjourned Terni:

The 6................ ................ 1

OTTAwA, 9th March, 1877.
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Table of days of the Superior Court held hy Judge laranger, in the district of
joliette from the lst of July, 1867, until May, 1874.

1867-October Termn:
The 14, 16, 16, 17, 18, 19............................ 6 days

1868-February Terna:
The 18, 19, 20, 21, 22....... ..................... 5

" June and July Term:
The 30 June; 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 9 July.................. 7

" August Terra:

The 26 (one official matter) ........ ................ i "

September Term (adjournment):
The 10, il ..................................... .......... 2

" October Termn:

The 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22....... ...................... 6

Continued to the 18th November.
November Term (adjournment):

The 18, 20 ................................................ 2
1869-February Terni:

The 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 24, 25, 26................9 «
" June and July Terni:

The 28, 30 June; 2, 3 July.......................... 4"
" October Term:

The 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22 ............................. 6

Adjourned to the 19th November to render judgments.
" November Term (adjournment).

The 19..................................................... 1
1870-February Term;

The 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22............................... 6

" June-July Term: •

The 28 June; 2, 4, 5, 9 July...... ............ 5
" October Terni:

The 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22............................... 6
Adjourned to 15th November.

" November Term (adjournment):
The 15, 16, 17............... ............................. 3 4

1871-February Terni:
The 16, 17, 20.............................. ............... 3

1872-June-July Term:
The 28 June ; 2, 3, 9 July........ ........ 4

" October Term:

The 16, 18, 19, 21, 22 .................. .. 5 "



Continued to the 15th November, to render judgments.
1872--November Term (»dparnàent):

The 15 (judgments.)...... ............................. 1 day.

1873-Pebruary Term:
The 17, 18, 19, 20, 21..................... 5

" June-July Term:
The 28, 30 June; 2, 3, 5, 7, 9 July................... 7

Adjourned to the 6th September for judgments.
September Term:

The 6th (judgments)................................ 1
October Torm:

The 21........................................ .............

J. O. D.
OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877.

TABLE of the days of Court of the Court of Queen's Bench (Crown side), held by
Judge Loranger in the District of Joliette, from 1st July, 1867 to lut
May, 1874:-
1867-October Term:

The 21,22........................................... ...... 2 days
1868-July Term:

The 6, 7, 8, 9........................... ................... 4 "
" November Term:

The 16, 17, 18, 19, 20................................... 5 "

Adjourned to the 2nd February, 1869.
1869-February Term (adjournment):

The 2, 3, 4............... ..................... 3
" July Term:

The 5......................................................... 1
Adjourned to the 13th September, 1869.

September Term (adjournment):
The 13, 14, 15................................... ......... 3 "

" November Term:

The 15, 16, 17, 18, 19....................... 5
1871-July Term:

The 5, 7, 8, 9, 11......................................... 5
" November Term:

The 15, 16, 17.............................. ............... 3
1872-JuIy Term:

The 5, 6, (full term 8100)............................. 2
" November Term:

The 15, 18, 18, 19, 20, 21, (fil termi, 100)...... 6 "
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1873-July Term:
The 5, 7, 8, 9, (full term, $100)............ .. 4 days.

.O. D.
OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877,

OTTAWA, 8th March, 1877.

Louis E. M. BLONDIN,. residing at St. François, having been duly sworn,
deposeth and saith :

I am Clerk of the Circuit Court of the County of Yamaska, of which the county
town (chef lieu) is St. François.

Q. Have you brought with you all the books, registers and rolls, &c., which
were required of you by the subpxe na which you received ?-Yes.

Q. Please produce them ?-I--rproduce them.
Examination of witness adjourned until to-morrow, the 9th instant.
This 9th day of March examination of witness resumed as follows:
Q. Since what date have you been Clerk of the county of Yamaska ?-Since ithe

end of June, 1873.
Q. Have you prepared a statement of the days on which the Judge sat at St.

François ?-Yes, I have prepared it with Mr. Cote, my predecessor; I now produce
it; it is marked " Z."

Q. Was that statement prepared from the registers, rolls of cases, in fact from
the different books belonging to the clerk's office of St. François, which you have
brought here ?-Yes.

Q. To the best of your knowledge, is this statement correct and in conformity
with the books; does it contain all the days on which the Judge held the Court in
your district ?-[t is in conformity with the registers.

Q. Does it contain the appealable and non-appealable cases ?-Yes.
Q. Have you already given a statement or statements like this one ? -I have

given one.
Q. Have you not given another to Judge Loranger ?-I subsequently gave him

a statement of the omissions which I believed I had made in the first statement.
Q. Did you point out several omissions ?-In the statement which I had given

to Mr. Germain there was one day which had not been marked.
Q. On referring to the rolls of appealable and non-appealable cases of the second

June, one thousand eight hundred and sixty seven, did you find any adjournment of
the Court, and to what date ?-My examination of the Register shows me that it was
the third June continued to the twenty-fifth July, one thousand eight hundred and
sixty-seven.

Q. Is it verified by the two rolls of appealable and non-appealable cases ?-Yes,
here it is.

(Adjourned till to-morrow, the tenth March, instant.)

10th March.
Examination of witness resumed as follows:-

Cross-exanined:
Q. Since you have been clerk, up to the year one thousand eight hundred and

seventy-four, has it happened several times that the Court at St. Francis lasted longer
than one day ?-From one thousand eight hundred and seventy-three to one thousand
eight hundred and seventy-four, I think that there was one term in which the Court
was held for two days, which does not ap ear in the table which I have produced.
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By Mr. Taschereau:
Q. Why did you not mention that in vour table?-Becauise it didi not appear in

-the registers.
. Q. That time yon mention, there were two days of Court held ?-Yes; there

was only one entered.
Q. The ehtries which you made were thus indicated: "Term of the montlh,"

-during which it was held ?-Yes, I kept it in that way; I believei that it was my
predecessor's way, and we put " February Term,' or " May Term," &o., &c., without
uentioning that the Court ha adjourned to the subsequent Term, without making a

roll, because the Court was appointed for a subsequent day.
Q. Is it not to your knowledge that since you have been clerk the Judge has

rBlept several times at St. Francis?
(Objection taken to this question on the part of the petitioners. Objection

imaintaiiied.)
Q. Do you consider that it is the duty of the Judge or of the clerk to keep the

roll during the Court ?-I believe that is my duty; I have not had much experience
in the natter.

Re-examined:
Q. Can you tell us what is the date of that day of Court held in addition, althougyh

not appearing in the table ?-I think it was the 27th February, one thousand eight
hundred and seventy-four.

Q. That day does not appear in your table ?-No.
Q. IHow do you recollect that; from what circumstance ?-It is on acepunt of

exceptions to forms which were rejected in a certain number of cases brought by
Pascal Dauplaise against divers parties in connection with an exception to the form
*dismissed the last day of the Term. I remember that one of the attorneys in those
cases expressed to me, in the evening, his delight at having gained his case.

Q. And how do you make out that there was a Court :held the next day ?-
]Because I remember it.

Q. You do not know it from any other circumstance ?-No.
Q. Can you swear positively that it was in February, 1874 ?-I see'that'the ex-

eptions to the form were dismissed about that time, that appears trom my registers
-nd causes me to recollect that the term lasted for two days.

Q. You say that the entries of the terms only include mention of the day of th&
lst term ; am I to understand that they do not even include the date of th' Term
iield ?-They contain the date of the lst day of the Term.

L. M. BLONDIN.
OTTAWA, 12th March, 1877.

10th March, instant.
The witness is re-called in order to be examined'anew iby Judge Loranger.

<Authorized by the Committee):
bMr Q. A statement of the holding of the Terms at St. Francis was required of you;
when was that ?-I believe it was in 1874.

Q. Who asked yon for that statement ?-Mr. Germain, of Sorel.
Q. Did you send in the statement which he asked you for ?-Yes, but I delayed

in sending it to him.
Q. Did you tell him that the report which you sent him was correct ?-I told him

that some inaccuracies might have crept into my report, because the rolls, as it
.appeared to me, might easily not be correct; I sent him the statement with thos.
remarks, telling him that I thought that hehad not in it the correct number of the daya
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of Court held by the Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger, but that nevertheless I sent it to hin
just as it was, and that I was not positive that the statement was not correct.

L. M. BLONDIN.

EXHIBIT "Z."
Filed by the preceding witness, Mr. Blondin.
Circuit of St. Francis du lac, Chef-lieu of the county of Yamaska.
Table of the days of Court held by Judge Loranger in the said Circuit, from the

lot July, 1867, up to May, 1874, or the days on which he was present at the Chef-lieu
above mentioned for the purpose of exercising his functions as Judge:

1867. July Term (a special adjourned:)
The 25.................................................... 1 day.

"i October Term (special :)
The 1................................................... 1

" November Term:
The 4.................................................... 1 "

1868. February Term:
The 24................................................. 1 "

" June Term:
The 1.................................................. 1 "
(Adjourned to the 12th June.)

"e June Term (special:)
The 12......................................... ......... 1

November Term :
lthe 4................................................... 1 "
The 7................................................... 1

1869. June Term:
T he 1..................................................... 1

1869. November Term:
The 4 .................................................... 1

1870. February Term:
The 24................................................... 1

June Term:
The 1................................................... 1

November Term:
The 4.................................................. 1

1871. February Term:
The 24................................................... 1

1872. June Term:
The 1................................................... 1

June Term (special):
The 8. ............ ................................. 1
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1872. December Term (special):
The 16..... ............................................ 1 day.

1873. February Term:
The 24 .................................................... 1

June Term:
The 21................................................... 1

November Term:
The 4 ................................ 1

1874. February Term:
The 26................................................... 1

OTTAwA, 9th March, 1877.
JOSEPH MICHEL COTÉ, residing at Hochelaga, having been duly swOrn, deposeth

and saith: For several years I was Clerk of the Circuit Court of the county
of Yamaska.

Q. For bow many years ?-From June, 1859, up to April, 1873.
Q. During the period between 1867 and 1873, do you know on what day the

Hlon. Judge went to St. Francis, and on what day he left ?-He arrived in the morn-
ing and left the same evening.

Q. According to you, was this his invariable custom, to the beet of your-
knowledge ?-Yes.

Q. By the table which you have prepared along with Mr. Blondin, your
successor, it appears that the Hon. Mr. Justice Loranger never sat longer than one
day ?-Yes.

Q. You do not remember a single case in which the Judge slept there ?-I have
never had any knowledge of it.

Q. Is it not true that at St. Francis, the Court House and the hotel are next
door to one another ?-Yes.

Q. You were in a position to see when the Judge arrived and when he-
left ?-Yes.

Q. Have you knowledge of any circumstance in which the Judge arrived at St.
François du Lac and that he was not able to hold hie Court, from the fault of one or
another; for example, because the parties were not ready to proceed ?-I do not.
recollect; that might be in the case of a Term fixed for the 25th July; I am certain
that the Judge was present at St. François on the 25th July, but I cannot say in
what year.

Q. Are you certain that Judge Loranger was not able to hold the Court through
the fault of the advocates ?-I know that the Judge came and that he was not able
to hold his Court; but I did not say that this was owing to the fault of the
advocates.

Q. Generally speaking, does that Term of the Court last several hours ?-Four or
live hours; it commences a little after ten o'clock and generally finishes about,
three o'clock.

Q. There is but little business and the proceedings therein are not lengthy ?-
Vos.

Q. Is it not true that sometimes, even, the .Tudge did not adjourn the Court, and
that dinner had to be postponed till afterwards, and the with the object of expediting
business and finishing sooner ?-I recollect that that happe4.

Q. Do you recollect a circumstance in which the IiedgQ had fixed a Term in
vacation, when he told you it was through errer, and he oild not go?-I recollect
that that term had, in fact, been fixed; but I received a telegram from 09 ige.
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telling me that ho could not fmd a vehicle, that his horses were sick, that he could
not come. Hle requested me to adjourn the Court to the 25th July.

Q. That day of Court which he thus telegraphed you to adjourn was not held T-

Q. According to your memory was it not in July that the Judge thus telegraphed
to you, and that you in consequence adjourned the Court ?-No. I recollect that it
waa in the beginning of June and the day on whieh I received the telegram must
have been the lst day of the Term.

Q. Is it not your custom, when there are special Terms appointed, to prepare
a roll in advance ?-Yes.

Q. Were you able to fid any trace of a roll prepared for the 25th July, 1867,
when you prepared the table ?-Yes, but I do not recollect the year.

Q. On that roll is the presence of Judge Loranger mentioned ?-Yes.
Q. Then the Court only lasted a few minutes ?- -The Judge opened the Court and

all the cases were called.
Q. The Court did not last more than one hour ?-It only lasted a few minutes.
Q. The Judge left immediately after Court ?-To the best of my knowledge the

Judge generally left immediately after Court.
Q. From the manner in which you keep your rolls, is it possible that a Terma,

either special or regular, might be kept without its appearing on your registers ?-
-No, where there were any cases for enquête and hearing there was always a roll.

(The hearing of the witness is adjourned to to-morrow the 10th March instant.)

10th of March
The examination is resumed:

Cross-examined :-
Q. Do you consider that it is the duty of the Judge, or that of the clerk, to keep

the entry books; and was not that practice introduced at the time of the establish-
inent of new districts and on account of the inexperience of the clerks ?-I thought
it was the duty of the clerk, but the firrt Term I put the roll before the Judge in order
that he might put down bis notes opposite each case, thon that served as a guide to
me, and so it has always continued. For my part I kept notes on the record and I
compared them with those of the Judge.

Q. Doyou think if the Judge in comparing his notes with yours had perceived
any error which he might have committed, that in order to make the two books agree,
he ought to"have rectified lis own, as on your side you ought to have altered yours ?-
As regards myself I should have taken the opinion of the Judge before making the
change.

Q. Do you think that he should have rectified his entry himself ?-IIe would have
done so, or would have told me to do it.

J. M. COTE.
OTTAWA, 12th March, 1877.

MAxIME BzrAuPa being duly sworn, deposeth and saith:
(Examined by Judge Loranger on the voire dire.)
I signed the two petitions which were presented to the House.

Questions by Mr. Brousseau, Advocate for the petitioners :-
Q. By whom was the first petition presented to you ?-I think it wasby Kr.

£rou~sseau.
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Q. When Mr. Brouseau presented that petition to you for signature, did he read
it to you, or did he explain te you the substance of what it eontained.

(Objected to by Judge Loranger. Objection maintained.)
I, the undersigned stenographer, certify that the foregoing is a faithful repro-

duction of my short-hand notes.

PAUL WIALLARD.

OTTAwA, 8th March, 1877.
PHiLiPPE ELIS E PANNETON, residing at Three Rivers, being duly sworn,

deposeth and saith:-
I am an Advocate, Deputy Prothonotary of the Superior Court of the District of

Three Rivers, and Deputy Clerk of the Crown.
Q. Produce the books, rolls of cases, registers, books of entry, documents, &c.,

which were called for by the subpena you received ?-I produce them.
(Examination adjourned to to-morrow, 9th inst.)
9th March, inst.-Examination of witness resumed, as follows:-
Q. Have you prepared a statement of the days of Court held by Judge Loranger,

from the 1st February, 1873, to the lst October of the same year ?-Yes.
Q. Produce it ?-Here it is.
Q. In that staternent you have the following entry: " Other Term of June, 1873,

adjourned from the 1lth of the same month to the 16th, 17th, 18th, 19th, 20th and 21st."
Beneath that entry you have written, "th, rendered several judgments, one day."
Does that mean that Judge Loranger sat on the 16tb, the 17th, the 18th, the 19th,
the 20th and the 21st; or does it not mean that, by the registers, it appears that he
sat only on the 18th, for the judgments he rendered under date of that day, and
which are recorded thereon ?-It means that it appears by the registers that he sat
on the 18th and rendered several judgments.

Q. Do von remembor that after the adjournment of the 11th June, the Judge
left Three Rivers ?-I am under the impression that on the 12th or 13th the Judge
made a trip to Quebec.

Q. Do you not remember that at that time Judge Loranger was at Three Rivers
in order to take the place of Judge Polette ?-Judge Loranger came to assist Judge
Polette, who was to go and sit in the Court of Appeal.

Q. Do you remember whether there were many cases ?-As many as we generally
have, that is to say, a good many.

Q. Do you remember that any member of the Bar manifested some dissapoint-
nent that Judge Loranger had left without holding the days of Court appointed
fro-m the 1lth to the 18th ?-From the 1lth te the 16th there was an adjournment.

Q. I ask you whether, to your knowledge, the Bar manifested any dissatisfaction
because the Judge did not afford the Bar a few days more ?-I have no recollection of
that, but I think I remember that on the day of the adjournment the Judge was
absent,-he must have been absent one day,-and I remember that I was questioned
about it; I answered that he was absent.

Q. You swear that one of the members of the Bar did net manifest dissatisfac-
tion at the absence of the Judge ?-I do remember that a member of the Bar asked
me that, and that I answered what I have just told you, that he was absent.

Q. Do you remember that any of the members of the Bar complained, in your
presence, of the fact that Judge Loranger had been obliged to leave the District ?
-Not to my knowledge.

Q. So that by your table it appears that in the period above mentioned the Judge
held in all eleven days of Court, whether in the Circuit or Superior Court, at Three
Rivers ?-From the entries in the registers and minute book I find but those eleven

days.



Q Is it not true that your registers and your books are kept with great
accuracy ?-I discharge my duty to the best of my ability.

Q. Has that table been produced ?-I produced it you asked me for it at the
beginning.

(It is endorsed Exhibit Z, 2.)
Q. Now, be pleased to tell us the hours of the steamboat between Three Rivers

and Sorel ?-The boat from Quebec for Sorel leaves Three Rivers between ten o'clock
and midnight. It happens, sometimes, that the boat leaves after midnight, but
generally it is between ton and eleven o'clock.

Q. How long does it take to go from Three Rivers to Sorel by the boat ?-About
three hours or three hours and a half.

Q. Every day except Sunday ?-Yes.
Q. Now, to go from Sorel to Three Rivers ?-You leave Sorel about ten or half

past ten, and you arrive about half past twelve or one o'clock in the morning.
(Adjourned to to-morrow.)

10th March.
Examination of witness resumed:-

Cross-examined:-

Q. Do you remember that on the 10th June, 1873, the first day on which I held
te Court was the day on which the funeral procession of Sir George Cartier passed
Three Rivers ?-Yes.

Q. Do you remember that the Judge held the Court on that day as well as un
the day after the 11th ?-I have stated se in my certificate.

Q. Do you remember that the 12th was a holiday, Ascension Day ?-It was a
holiday or Sanday, for the the reason that the Court was to sit on the 11th, and the
Court was not held two days running, because the 12th was not fixed as a Court day.

Q. Do you know that the Judge was at Three Rivers ?-I know it; and there is
one fact which brings it to my recollection. It is that I went out in a carriage with
the Judge.

Q. Do yeu recollect that lhat Term which lie Judge was going te preside over
had been at first fixed for the 10th, I1th,* 13th and 14th by Judge Polotte ?-There
were three days appointed, the 10th, 11th and 13th.

Q. Do you recollect that the advocates of Three Rivers went to the funeral of
Sir George Cartier, which took place on Friday, the 13th, at Montreal; and that that
was the reason for which we adjourned to a subsequent day ?-I recollect that the
bâtonnier and several advocates, as well as representati-7es from the Corporation,
went up to Montreal to attend the funeral of Sir George Cartier; and that there was
an understanding between the Judge and the Bar to suspend the Term and to adjouru
it to the 16tb, 17th, 18th, 19th, 20th and 21st, as I have stated in my certificate.

Q. Do you know that on the evening of the holiday I left to go to Quebec ?-I
cannot say whether it was the 12th or the 13th, but I know that it was one of those
two days.

Q. Do you know that during that term th case of Larivière vs. Bussière, an
appealable redhibitory action, was pleaded ?-Yes.

-Q. Do yon recollect that in pleading the case one of the advocates cited a judg-
ment rendered at Quebec, and which had not been reported anywhere ?-I cannot
say; I know that the case was a very important one, and that there were many au-
thorities cited; 1 do not recollect whether the judgment you refer to was cited.

Q. Do you recollect that on one of the days of the week following I went to the
Clerk's office to ascertain whether there was any business for which to hold the
Court, and I was told that there was none ?-Yes.

Q. Do you recollect whether that was previous to the day on which I rendored
judgments ?-I think so, but I cannot state exactly whether it was before or after.
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Q. Please state who asked yo for a statement of the days of Court which Judge
loranger had held in your district ?-I have handed in a certificate signed, and
-produced before this Cpmmittee.

Apart from that Mr. Germain came to esk me for a statement, when he came I
lhad not the tine to give him the details which he asked for. le returned to Sorel,
and wrote me, a8king whether that statement had been made out. I gave orders to
-my clerk to draw it up ; I did not believe that I was warranted in doing it, and I
thought that it was only the Government who had the right to ask for such a r dr-
I told him ail that in a letter which I wrote to him. I did not sign that table whiol
Le got, and it was not I who made the searches for the said table.

Re-examined:
Q. You have just said you cannot swear positively, whether it was on one of tro

days which preceded the 18th June, that Judge Loranger presented himelf at e
.clerk's office to ask you whether there was any business ?--I cannot swear to it
positively.

Q. It might be eithei- before or after ?-I believe it was before, but I cannn6
Awear to it.

P. E. PAN 1eTON.
OTTAWA, 12th March. 1877.

EXHEBIT "Z " 2.

Table of the days of the Superior and Circuit Courts held by the Hon. Mr. Justice
Loranger at Three Rivers, from the 1st February, 1873, to the lt October, 1873.

1873-March and April Term:
The 26, 27, 28, 29, 31 March, and the 1, 2, April... 7 days

" June Term (special) :
Fixed by adjournment from the month of April.

The 10, 11............................... 2
" June Terni, adjourned from the 11 th of the same.month

to the 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21.
The 18 (several judgments rendered) ................. "

" September Term:
The 10 (judgments rendered)........................... "

The petitioners, in order to hasten matters and avoid costs, waive the right tu
make proof of the facts alleged in the 6th and 12th paragraphs of their petition, being
the 5th and 9th heads of charges there set forth, and declare their enquête closed,
reserving to themselves the right to make and produce hereafter aid in rebuttal, all
confirmative evidence, and evidence which the enquéte with which the Hon. Mr.
Justice Loranger may proceed, might necessitate.

And the said petitioners respectfully piay that the earliest possible day be fixed
for the enquéte of the said Hon. Judge, an that a list of the witnesses and evideni
which the said Hon. Judge intends to bring forward in his enquête be furnished tothe
said petitioners between this day and the 12th day of March, instant, at teli o'clook
.n the forenoon.

J. B. BROUSSEAU,
Attorney for Petitioners.

OtTAwA, 10th March, 1877.
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STATEMENT
Or ACCOUNTS filed by John Langton., Esq., Auditor of the Dominion of Canada,

as mentioned in his evidence, given before this Committee.

.(True Copy.)

TRE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LoRANGER, DR.

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENSES.
1867.

From lst of July to 12th, 12 days absence to hold the Superior and
Circuit Courts in the District of Arthabaska,' and the Circuit
Court of Inverness, at $6.00 per day ................................. $72 00

From 13th to 15th, 3 days to attend an adjourned Term in Joliette ... 18 00
From 24th to 26th, three days to attend an adjourned Term in St.

François ...................................................................... 18 0 ,

$108 0»

I certify the corectness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J S. C.

OTTAWA, 4th Sept e nber, 1867.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUnJGE LoRANGER, DR.

1867.
From lst to 1 Oth September-To attendance at the Court of

Appeals, in Montreal, as Judge ad hoc, during the whole Term $100 00
From 12th to 20th Septenber-Do. at the Court of Appeals, in

Quebec, as Judge ad hoc, during the whole Term................ 100 00

$200 0

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. C.

MONTREAL, 28th Sept., 1867.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LORANGER, DR.

1867.
From 21st September to 24th, both days inclusive, 4 days' absence,

concerning cases in which I sat in Revision Court, in Mon-
treal ............................................... ........................... $24 00,
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1867.
Prom 25th to 29th of same month, five days' absence, to attend Circuit

Court, in L'Asomption .............................................. 30 O
From 30th of same mont to 2nd of October, three days' absence, con-

cerning cases in the Revision Court in Montreal .................. 18 00
From the 5th of October to the 23rd, to nineteen days' absence, to

attend Circuit, Superior and Criminal Courts (Court of Queen's
Bench), in Joliette ......................................................... 114 0ê

From 24th to 30th October, five days' absence, to hold Circuit Court,
in Berthier................................................................... 30 00

From 2nd to 4th of November, three days' absence, to hold Circuit
Court, at St. Francois du Lac........................... 18 00

$234 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. C.

SOREL, lst November, 1867.

(True Copy.)
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JUDGE LoB.&NGER, D.
1867.
Dec.-To attendance at the Court of Appeals as Judge ad hoc, from the lst

to the 10th December, being the whole Term, $100 being the
fee according to Order in Council...... ............................. $100 00-

To attendance at the same Court in Quebec as Judge ad hoc, from
the 12th to the 20th of same month, being also the whole
Term .......................................................................... 100 00

$200 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. C.

SOREL, 27th December, 1876.

(True Copy.)
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JUDGE LORANGER, DR.

TRAVELLING EXPENSES.
1868.
Jan.--From 20th to 24th, five days' absence to attend Berthier Circuit Court,

in consequence of a new proclamation baving assigned different
days for the holding of that Court, at $6 per day................. $ 30 00-

26th to 29th of January, four days' absence to attend L'Assomp-
tion Circuit Court.......................................................... 24 00-
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Feb.-From 31st of January to 4th of February, five days' absence to attend
St. Julienne Circuit Court. ................... 30 00

5th to 8th of February, four days, to attend a special Term in
Berthier . .... . .•....................................................... 24 00

9th to 22nd of February, fourteen days, to attend Circuit and
Superior Courts in Joliette............................ .. 84. 00

23rd to 25th February, three days, to attend St. François Circuit
Court.......................................................................... 18 00

On the 26th February, one day, to pronounce judgment and hear
cases in Berthier, such attendance being necessary on account
of cases having been inscribed for that day previous to pro-
clamation changing Terms............................................... 6 00

From 27th to 29th February, three days' absence to attend Court of
Appeals in Montreal on the 29th of February, being a day
specially fixed to render judgments................................... 18 00

$234 00

I certify the correctness of the tbove account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. 0

SOREL, 6th March, 1868.

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LORANGER, DE.

To fee for attendance during the whole Term of the Court of Appeals
held in Quebec, from the 12th to the 19th day of March, 1868. $100 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed.) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. Co

:SoREL, 24th March, 1868.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LoRANGER, DR.

TRAVELLING EXPENSES.
1868.
March-To attendance during the term of the Court of Appeals in Montreal

as Judge ad hoc, as per order in Council.............................. $100 00
-June-To attendance at the same Court, June term in Montreal............... 100 Q

To attendance at the sane Court, in Quebec, June Term........... 100 00
May 20, 22, 23-To attendance at Berthier to hold Circuit Court at $6 per

day, (per diemn) three days............................................. 18 00
From 24th to 29th, both days ineluded, six day' absence to hold

L'Assomption Circuit Court................ .. ... .. ....... 36 00
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1868.
June 10th, 11th-To attendance at St. Françeois Circuit Court, two days'

absence .......................................................... 12 00
JuIy-From 21st June to 10th July, both days inclusive, to 'attend Joliette

Circuit Superior and Queen's Bench, 20 days...................... 120 00

$486 00
I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGE,
LOR0EL, 13th July, 1868. L, A .Gi .

(True Copy.)
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JUDGE LoRANGER, Dr.

1868-To attendance during the September term of the Court of Appeal in
Montreal as Judge ad hoc................................................. $100 W0

do do do in Quebec ............................................. 100 00

$200.00
I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
$OREL, 25th September, 1868. J S. C.

(True Copy.)

TUE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JuDGE LORANGER, Di.

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENsES.
1868.
August 25, 26, 27-To three days' absence at Joliette, on Ministerial business

necessitating the Judge's presence, at t6 per day............... $ 18 0
Sept. 10 and 11-To two days absence at Joliette to hold Superior and

Circuit Courts-Special Term.......................................... 12 0
From 21st to 26th, both days inclusive, to six days' absence to hold

Berthier Circuit Court.................................................... 36 00
()ct. 9-To one day's absence to render judgments at Berthier .............-.. 6 00

From 1lth to 24th, both days' inclusive, to 14 days to hold Superior
and Circuit Courts-Regular Term-at Joliette................... 84 00

From 25th to 29th, both days inclusive, five days to hold L'Assomp-
tion Circuit Court.................................................. 30 0M

iNov.-From lst to 3rd, both days inclusive, three days to hold St. Julienne
Circuit Court................................................................ 18 0M

4th, 5th, 7th, three days' absence to hold St. François Circuit Court... 18 0M
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Iov.-From 15th to 21st, to seven days' absence, to hold Joliette Criminal
Tern .......................................................................... 42 00

44 ays in all............... . . .................... $264 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. .

SOREL, 27th November, 1868.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LoRANGER., DR.

1868.
Dec.-To attendance as Judge ad hoc of the Court of Queen's Bench-Ap-

peal side--during the whole December Term, in Montreal..... $100 00
do do do in Quebec......... 100 O0

200 00

I certify the corrctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,J. S. C.
SOREL, 24th December, 1868.

(True Copy.)
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JUDGE LORANGER, DR.

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENSES.
1869.
From January 20th to March 1st., To 39 days' absence to hold the Circuit

Courts Berthier, (RegularTerm); L'Assomption Circuit Court;
Court of Queen's Bench, Joliette, (Special Term). The Circuit
Court at Berthier for the rendering of judgments, and Circuit
and Superior Courts, at Joliette, at $6 per day..................... $234 0M

I certify to the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. C.

MONTREAL, March 2nd, 1869.
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(True copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JuDGE LOuANGER, De

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENSES.
1869.
May-To 8 days' absence to hold Berthier and L'Assumption Circuit Courts

at $6 per diem......................................$ 48 00
June-To 13- days to hold Joliette Circuit Court and part of Superior

Court ..................................... .... 78 00
July-To 7 days to hold remaining part of Superior Court and Criminal

Courts ..................................................... ,..................... 42 00
Sept.-To 8 days to hold an adjourned term of Criminal Court, at Joliette

and Berthier Circuit Courts.,.......................................... 48 00

In al, 36 days......................................................... $216 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LO1RANGER,
J. S. C.

SOREL, 26th September, 1869.
Warrrant certified, 28th September, 1869.-J. S.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT
To JUDGE LoRANGER, DR.

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENSES-COURT OF QUEEN's BENCH, CRIMINAL sIDE, SUPERIOR AND
CIRCUIT COURTS.

1869.
Oct. 8.-One day's absence to render judgments at Berthier Circuit Court... $ 6 00

From 9th to 23rd-15 days to attend Joliette Superior and Circuit
Courts........................................................................ 90 00

From 25th to 28th-4 days to attend L'Assomption Circuit Court... 24 00
-Nov. lst to 3rd-3 days to attend Ste. Julienne Circuit Court.................. 18 00

From 4th to 7th-3 days to attend St. François Circuit Court.......... 18 00
From 14th to 20th-7 days to attend Court ofQueen's Bench, erimin-

al side, at Joliette .......................................................... 42 00

In all 33 days......... . ....................... $198 00

I certify the correctness of t'le above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. B. O

SOREL, 28th Dec., 1869.
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(Tue Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT
To JTDGE LOBANGER, DR.

FOR TRAVELLING EXPENSES-COURT OF QUEEN's BENCH--APPEAL SIDE, FOR
THE YEAn 1869.

1869.
lst of March to 9th-Appeal-To attendance during the whole term of

March, at Montreal, as Judge, ad hoc................................. $100 0Qe
10th to 15-Appeal-6 days' absence to attend March term at Quebec, same

court, at $6.................................................................. 36 0 ,
May-From 24th to 31st-Appeal-To attendance during the whole special

Term of same court in Montreal ........................ 100 00
June 1st to 9th-Appeal-To attendance during the whole regular Term in

May, Montreal................ ..................... 100 00
June 12th to 20th-Appeal-To attendance during the whole Term at Quebec 100 00
Sept. lst to 9th-Apeal-To attendance during the whole Term at Montreal 100 00
Sept. 12th to 20th-Appeal-To attendance during the whole Term in Quebec 100 00
Dec.alst to 9th-Appeal-To attendance during the whole Term in Montreal 100 O'

$736 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed), T. J. J. LORANGER,J. S. C.

(True Copy.)
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

To JUDGE LoRANGER, Da.
1870.
January and February-To 35 days' absence to attend Berthier, L'Assomp-

tion, Ste. Julienne and St. François Circuit Courts, and Joliette
Circuit and Superior Courts, at $6 per day........................... $210 0,

March-From lst to 9th -To attendance as Judge adhoc, during the Term of
the Court of Queen's Bench at Montreal-Appeal side.......... 100 00

March-12th to 20th-To attendance as Judge ad hoc, during the Term of the
Court of Queen's Bench at Quebec, March Term .................. 100 00

June 1st to 10th-To attendance as Judge ad hoc, during the Term of the
Court of Queen's Bench at Montreal, June Term.................. 100 00

June 12th to 20th-To attendance as Judge ad hoc, during the Term of the
Court of Queen's Bench at Queen's, June Term ................... 100 00

$610 00

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed), T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. C.

BOREL, 21st June, 1870.
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(True Copy.)
THE PEDERAL GOVERNMENT

To JuDGz LoRANGER, Da.

FOR TRAVELLING IXPENSES.
1870.
From May 3rd to May 6th-4 days absence to attend Court of Revision in

Quebec, at $6 per day............................... $ 24 000
Fxom 20th to 3lst May-10 days to attend Berthier and L'Assomp-

tion Circuit Courts and Court of Appeals in Montreal, special
Term ........................................................................... 60 O0

June 1Oth and 1lth-2 days to attend Berthier Circuit Court, special Term . 12 00
From 21st of June to 11th of July-21 days to attend Joliette Circuit and

Superior Courts and Court of Queen's Benclh, criminal side.... ,126 00

$222 of-

I certify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. c.

SOREL, 20th July, 1870.

(True Copy.)
TE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,

To JTUDGE LoRANGER, D.
1870.
September.-To attendance Court of Appoals, Montreal, during the whole

Term .................. ................................................................. $100 00.
To do. in Quebec............................................................ 100 00

Fromoq 1st to 27th.-To five days' attendance at Berthier Circuit Court, for
holding regular Term, at $6 per day........................................... 30 00

Oct. 8th.-To attendance one day, at Berthier, for rendering of judgments. 6 00
From 9th of October, to 7th of November.-Twenty-eight days' absence, to

attend Joliette Superior and Circuit Courts; L'Assomption Circuit
Court; Ste. Julienne Circuit Court and Ste. François du Lac Circuit
Court................................................................... .............. 168 00

From November 14th to 18th.-To five days' absence, to hold Joliette Crim-
inal Term .............................................................................. 30 00

Prom December 1st to 10th.-To attendance Court of Appeals, at Montreal,
December Term .................................................................... 100 0

$534 0

I certify the correctness of the above account,

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
. S. C.

SOREL, 24th December, 1870.
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<True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LoRAkGa, DR.

1rom 21st January to 28th February.-To thirty-four days' absence, at
different intervals, to hold Superior Court, at Joliette, and Circuit
Court at same place, of Joliette, Berthier, L'Assomption, Ste. Julienne
and St. François du Lac, at $6 per day ....................................... $204 00

I certify the correctness of the above account,

(Signe ,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
J. S. c.

(True Copy.)

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT,
To JUDGE LORANGER, Dr.

'To attendance as Judge ad hoc, during the Appeal Term of the Court of
Queen's Bench, in March last (1871) .......... ............... $100 0w

I certify the correctness of the above account,

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGEIt,
J. S. C.

MoNTREAL, 24th June, 1871.
Does not say whether Quebec or Montreal.-A. C.

(True Copy.)

THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,
To the Hon. Mr. Justice LoRA&NGERz,

Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

To attendance at the following Courts other than at his place of. residence:
=872-May to July.

Berthier Circuit, 4 days at $6 per day......................................... S 24 00
St. François Circuit, 6 days at $6 per day.................................... 36 00
L'Assomption Circuit, 7 days at $6 per day .............. ,.................. 42 00
St. Julienne Circuit, 4 days at $6 per day......................... ........... 24 00
Joliette Circuit and Superior, 14 days.......................................... 84 00
Joliette Criminal Court, JulyTerm............................................. 100 00

310 00

I crtify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Ckurt, Province of Quebec.

October 1st 1872.



A 18*» setoria

October lst, 1872.
Judge Loranger bege to remark that besides4he Tem fer St. François

sud L'Assomption he has held a special Terrà for 8&, .r . ,i and delivered judg-
ments at L'Assomption out of the regalar Tem, neessitatingthree days' absence.

(Signed,) T. J. J. L.

(True Copy.)
THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

To the Hon. Mr. Justice Lowmuer,
Superior Court, Province of Quebee.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

To attendance at the following Courts other than at his place of residence:
1872.-
September-From 20th to 28th, Berthier Circuit Court, 5 days at $6 per

day ........................................................................ .......... $ 30 00
Froith Sept. to 23rd Oct., Joliette Circuit and Superior Courts, 18 days at

46 per day........................................................ . . ............ 108 00
From 25th Oct. to 3rd Nov., L'Assomption and St. Julienne Circuit Courts,

9 days at 86 per day............. .......... .................................. 54 00
November-From 15th-Joliette Queen's3 Bench, Criminal side, one Term... 100 00

$292 00

I certify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

(Truc Copy.)
THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

To the Hon. Mr. Justice LoRANGE,
SuperiorCourt, Province of Quebe.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

To attendance -at the following Courts:
1872.-
From December 15th to February 24th, 1873, Circuit Courts, L'Assomption,

Berthier, St. Julienne, St. François, Joliette, 28 days at $6 per day.... $168 00
1873.-
Superior Court, Joliette, 8 days at $6 per day....... ............................... .48 00

$216 00

I certify that I arn entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
days charged in the preceding account,

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Juage Superior Court, Province of Québec.

SoR-, 5th February, 1872.
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(True Copy.)
TiE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

To the Hon. Mr. Justice LoIANGER,
Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

TRAVELLING ALLoWANCES.

To attendance at the following Courts, other than at his place of residence:
From March 24th to April 5th.

Three Rivers Superior and Circuit Courts, 22 1ays at $6 per day.... $132 00
From May 20th to June 21st.

Berthier, l'Assomption, Ste. Julienne Circuits, 13 days at 86 per day.. 78 00
From June 22nd to July 10th.

St. Francis and Joliette Superior and Circuit, 22 days at $6 per day.. 132 00
To Attendance at the Criminal Court at Joliette, July Term during the

whole Term, being the July Term of the ,Court of Queen's
Bench, Criminal side................................................ ....... i100 00

$442 00

I certify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number
of'days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

(True Copy.)

THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

To the Hon. Mr. Justice LORANGER,
Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

To attendance at the following Courts other than at his place of residence:-
Septemnber, 1873.

Joliette Superior Court, 8 days at $6 per day............................... $48 00
September, 1873, and February, 1874.

Berthier Circuit Court, 10 days at $6 per day............................... 60 .00
November 1873 and February, 1874.

St. François Circuit Court, 8 days at $6 per day...........................48 00
.September, 1873.

Three Rivers Superior Court, 4 days at $6 per day ...................... 24 00

$180 00

I certify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for th'e number
of days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

SOREL, 9th April, 1874.
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THERGOVERNILENT OF CANADA,

To the Iýon. '. Jstice Lo"ANGEE'
Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

TRAVEL LING AL LoWANcEB.

To attendance at the following Courts, other than at hie place of residence:-
To additional salary as Assistant Judge of the Court of Queen's Bench,

from the 15th of December, 1873, to lat of January, 1814, being
17 days at $2.74 per day, proportion on $1,000, being the exceas
of salary of a Judge of Queen's Bench over a Judge of Superior
Court .......................... ......... 4 58

To do .from the 5th of March to ist of May, 1874, being 57.days
at $2.74 per day............................................................. 18

To attendance at the Court of Queen's Bench, Appeal aide, at Montreal,
during the whole of the December Term, 1873...... ............. 00

To do at Qiebec, during the whole of the March Term, 1874.......100 0
To do at Montreal, during the whole of the March Term, 1874....... 100 00

502 76
Deduct ........................... 202 6

$300 00

I certify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number
of days charged in the preceding account, and the extra salary charged therein.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER.
Jiudge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

(True Copy.)
THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

To the Hon. Mr. Justice LORANGzR,
Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCEs.

To attendance at the following Courts, other than at hie place of residence
Berthier Circuit Court, May and September, seven days at 86 per day,......... $42 00
St. François do do do.......... 42 00
To attendance at the Court of Queen's Bench, appeal side, at Montreal

during the whole of the June Term, 1874, at $100... ................. .100 00
To attendance at the Court of Queen's Bench, appeal side, at Montreal

for the part of a Term, or for the" purpose of disposing of cases
alreàdy heard (three days at least being allowed) in September
Term, threc days at $6 per day. ..... ....... ....................... 18 00

$202 00

I certify that I am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
lays charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.
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(Truc copy.)
THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

the lion. Mr. Justice LoRANlER,
Sûperior Court, Province of Queboce

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

To attendauce at the follgwing Courta other than at his place of residence

1874.
Nov .- 4 days

?c.3dy -Berthier, fourteen days ut e6- pe.r day............'5
March-ldy

Ma 3 dois
June-3 disya J

>e.-3 days

Fgb.-3 days
My-4 days J

e-Riviredu Loup, 3 days at $6 per day.......................................
1874.
Dec. 6-To attendance at the Court of Queen's Bench, appeal side, at
March 5 Montreal for the part of a term, fourteen days at $6 per day,
Juil 3

$84 00

66 00

18 00

84 00

8252 00
14

I certify that I an entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER.,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,
To the Hon. Mr. Justice LORANGER,

Superior Court, Province of Quebec.

1875. TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES.

July-To attendance at the following Courts other than at his place of resi-
dence:-

Berthier Circuit Court, three days at 86 per day...................
St. François, regular and continued term, five days at $6 per day....

Sept.-To attendance at the Court of Queen's Bench, appeal side, at Mon-
treal, for the part of a term, or for the purpose of disposing
of ases alreadv heard (three days at least beinr allowed)

18 00
30 00

three days at 86,per day........ ............... . ...................... 18 00

$66 00

I certify that 1 am entitled to claim the travelling allowances for the number of
days charged in the preceding account.

(Signed,) T. J. J. LORANGER,
Judge Superior Court, Province of Quebec
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(Trarnslation.)
THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA,

TO JUDGE LOBANGER, 1R.
SOD.EL, Q.

TRAVELLING ALLoWANCES.
1875.
Noyember-
Dedember-

Septembe

3 days' absence to hold the Circuit Court at Berthier, at $6......
S * ." to hold the reor ééd ircuit <ourts at Thrme

Rivers..... .......... .... ............................. .
3 days' absence'to hold the Circuit Court at St. François du Lac

-5 days' absence to hold the Circuit Court at Berthier...............
-4 to hÔld the OiteditOoudatgSt:l1eçois du Lae

4 at Berthier, Circuit Court ............................
r-4 to hold the CircuitCoùratBerthier.......

$ "to höld the Clrécuft Coutí d St. $(.1%çois dti I e

I cortify the correctness of the above account.

(Signed,)

Sonat, 3rd October, 1876.

T. J. J. LORANGER,
.t&.

$18 00

30 00
18 00

3 00

24 00sr4 001800
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EVIDENCE

ON BEHAÂLF OF THE HONOURABLFs M. JUSTICE THOMAS JEAN
JACQUES LORANGER.

(Translation.)

McaIL_ MATmIEU, Adyocate, Sorel, being duly sworn deposeth and saith:

You are an advocate ?-Yes.
Iow many years have you been so?-Since 1865, but I have not practised

ail Ihe time; I was appointed Sherif in 1866, and I did not recommence practising
until 1872.

Q. Tou were plaintif in the two cases against Mr. J. B. Brousseau, cases No.
1,322 and No. 1,332 ?-Yes.

Q. Please tell the Committee what were the proceedings which took place
reìpecting those cases before the enquéte, at the enquête, and after judgment?-I
suppose the Committee have no objection to my referring to the records.

(Chairman's reply.) Quite the contrary. (The witness examines the records).
-Those two cases were inscribed for enquéte, and for hearing on the merits at the
same time.

Q. Upon what were they based ?-On promiissory notes.
Q. Was there any contestation ?-Yes ; at the time of the appeal of those cases,

seeing that I thought the contestation was not serious, I confined myself to praying
for judgment.

Q. Please tell us what took place at the time of the insciiption for enquête?
Your case was inscribed, your enquête closed, that of the defendant fixed ? Prase
look at the roll (the witness examines the roll, which is submitted to him by the
Honorable Mr. Justice Loranger); you had previously declared your enquête closed ?
-Yes, I think so, and the cases were put over to the following term.

Q. (Put by the Chairman) On what day was your enquête declared to be closed r
-The 17th May, 1873.

Q. And the cases were continued to the following term for the defendant's
enquête ?-Yes.

Q. The following term was in October, 1873 ?---It is so long ago that I do not
accurately recollect the dates; but I see that the roll shows that it was in October,
and I think it is correct.

- Q. What took place on that day ?--On that day the cases were called; I was in
court, as was likewise the defendant; I rose to pray judgment, and inasmuch as the
cases were upon promissory notes I made no argument. When the cases were called
the Judge addressed himself to the defendant, who was in his seat and habited. Then
the defendant rose, making a sign that he was going to let the case go, and stating
he had nothing to say. I do not recollect whether he said anything else, but I do
recollect perfectly that on rising he said, "I have nothing to say."

I gave my afdavit in review, in which I swore as follows :-That I recollected
having distinctly beard Mr. Brousseau declare in substance that he had no proof to
make, and to have heard him distinctly pronounce the words, " I submit the case."
All this is recorded in the affidavit which I gave in review.

Q. You refer to that affidavit as being the expression of your remembrance at
the time ?-I know that Irecollected perfectly the facts at the time. That took place
in the month of November following, and was strongly imprinted on my memory.

Q. Then that affidavit was true ?-Yes.
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. Âltbough the defendant had an advocate, ho conducted hie own cases him-
self ?-Yes. I think the plees were to the best of my knowledge written lu hie own
handwriting. The appea ce is in hie handwriting, the signature of Mr. Rainville
is also in hie handwriting (in the handwriting of the defendant) ; the defense was
net in his writing; the inscription in review was also in hie writing. Re conducted
hie cases himsel.

By the Chairman
Q. Yon appeared in person in the two cases.?-Yes, I was in partnership with

Mr. Gill at that time, but it was I personally who conducted the two cases.
Q. Please tell us what next took place ?-Judgment was rendered; the defen-

dant inscribed his cases for review. In review he made a motion of which I recollect
the substance ; it was in order that the record might be sent back to the Prothono-
tary's office; he alleged that the record had been altered since the inscription of his
cases for review, and he requested that it should be sent back to the court below,
there to be restored to its original condition; that was the purport of his motion. I
thon gave the counter-affidavit which I have just referred to, and the Court cf Review
rejected the motion of the defendant. I cannotrecolleet exactly the remarka of the
learnedjudges, but the purport........

(Objected on behalf of the petitioners, as regards the witneSs continuing his
answer concerning what the Judges said, when rejecting the motion of the defendant,
in the cases Mathieu vs. Brousseau. Objection maintained.)Q. The motion was, however, rejected ?-Yes.

Q. Please tell us what took place to your knowledge in connection with thoso
entries-in connection with that erasure of entries ut the enquête ?-I had no know-
edge of that

Q. Please state whether you did at any time speak to Judge Loranger about
those entries; if you ever asked him to strike .out anything ?-We never talked
together about it, except that we spoke about it after the petition which was pre-
ented to the Government was made.

Q. And before that petition ?-I am positive that wo never spoke about it before
I had learned that that erasure had been mentioned in the petition.

Q. So you have no knowledge of the change which took place in the
register ?-No.

Q. Now, Mr. Mathieu, you practise as an advocate ; you know the practice with
respect to those books, and with respect to the roll of enquête, and, to the entries
which the Judge made ? Is it not true that the Judge keeps that book for the
accommodation of the parties, who refer rather to the Judge than to the Clerk for the
entries that are made there ?-I have always understood that that roll was kept by
the Judge for the Clerk; it is not a-s in certain districts where there are two roll$, one
of which is kept by the Clerk and the other by the Judge; but in the District of
Richelieu, the Judge takes the roll and enters therein the proceedings which he

should put there.
Q. For what purpose do you think the Judge puts his notes in it; is it for the

guidance of the Clerk or otherwise?-lt is in order to guide the clerk, when there is
a délibéré or a judgment, in the transcript which ho bas afterwards to make of the
judgment.

Q. Is that roll the journal (procès verbal) of what passes in the Court ?-I under-
stand that the rolls are to help the memory-to assist in aseertaining what was doue
in Court.

Q. Is it not from this roll that the Clerk transcribes the proceedings which took
place ?-I think so.

Q. Do you consider that those notes are the authentic notes of the proceedings, or
that they are only notes to help the Clerk ?-(Objection taken to the question on
behalf of the petitioners. Objection set aside.) The notes of the roll cannot be con-
sidered as forming an authentic document, inasmuch as they are often changed. I
have already seen Judges alter the entries which had been made the evening before.
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Q. Now, with respect io the- pracUce, is it not to your kom>ledge th#. tlose
entries made by tho Judge areoften chaaged wheatey are ene ae-gsv- yoe
not often seen that whenthe Judg. disooersauerr, that ar ise<etd -- Y.

Q. In diétricts where there are two rolla as-M Montreal-for empIe, wbjre the
Clerk keeps one and the Judge keps the other,-you have seen tbat oemur-?-lJow
that it is so in the Court of Reniew, and I think in the Superior Court, in Montreal;
the Judge has his list of cases, his roll, and the Clerk has his.

Q. (Put by the Chairman.) It is the sheet of hearing (la fetdlle d'audience) the
Judges have before them,-it is not the authentic rol?-L know that at Mjonteal
there are two rolls, that is all I can say.

Q. Ton are not, perhapssamoieuntly well ausinted witk the pmetic. ut .on-
treal, to know whether any changes are made in oe ro>lls'by the 3udfo.-J a maw,
during the term befSre last, or one of the lat temi; Judge McKay, I ink, aorw an
entry which he had mad in the morning. I think-that it was ia the afterona that
that ch was made, se fr as I au roollect

Q. (t by Gte hairman.) Were the advoctes at ?-I thinkit was pen
a renaark made by tfie advocates; I cannot state y whien it wra. mado; I &ink
that it was in the afternoon, or some hours after; one of the advoSetes having made
a remark,-I think that it was Mr. Keller, Advocate,--.he Judge made a oksne in
the entry which he had made in the morning.

Q.Now with respect to the "slps." o yeu cousider the note whiich the e
writes on the back of those slips to be a judgment? Or, is it not rather a si ele
memorandum to guide the Clerk in the drawing up of the jadgment wi he aubse-
quently prepares ?-I dnd otten that those slips difer from the judgmenta; I should
then consider that they are notes which the Judge puts down to asist the Cleuk in
the preparation of the judgment; I know that those slips often differ from thwjudg-
ment, not only at Sorel, but also at Montreal.

Q. The entry of proeedings at enquête and hearing, made on the roll by the
Judge, being the sole entry in writing, iftheJudge disoovers an error therein, aUdjoes
not correct it in that same book, do yon see how it euld b. correeled in ay ether
way?-(Objection taken to the question on behalf of the petitioners. Objection
set aside ) I think that the Judge should correct it in that book.

Q. le it not requisite that the entry should be corrocted in the book if any mis-
take has been made in it, if it is desired that the Clerk should send a faithffl tran-
script of the proceedings in Appeal or in Review ?-Yes, I see nothing else but that
book to guide the Clerk.

Q. In those two eases do you know of any imaginable interest which Judge
Loranger might have, which could have disposed him to do an act which he did not
believe to be strictly legitimate and obligatory ?-No ; I think, on the contrary,,that
he was bound not to allow one of the parties to sufer from au entry which might
not have been regularly made.

Q. Sup osethat the transcript only contained the entry of these letters "P.
O. C'. Y.,' that the enquête hd been declared duly closed, and that the plaintiff
should fear that the failure to mention that closing of enquête by the defendant
would be injurious to him,-do you think, or do you net think, that it was his
right as plaintif to insist that the transoript should make mention of the closing of
enquête, and that without-that he would have suffered in his rights ?-I do not think
that in a case inscribed for enquête and hearing on the merits, it is necessary that
there should be a formal closing of enquéte; that is not doue in every case. think
that the Judges allow and understand that the instant the parties plead their case,
they by that very fact close their enquête. But i think that the Judge should make
all the entries correct, which. if they were not so made, might put in jeopardy the
rigits of the parties.

Q In case one of the parties thought that an entry imperftctly made in
the roll might prejudice his rights, do you not think that it would be his right to
require its correction ?-Cortainly.

Q. De you not think that the declaration made by one of the parties in a case
104
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for enqlte adbearing on merits," l that M has othig.to say" or " tat he aduits Ais
ca«e' oeains in prinqiple, or by indactioa, dlaation of closing of qaguîte

jpetd to on bhaf of the petîoers. Objection a sid)-Yes.
Q. You have aknowledg of the petitions. which hayo been preferred against

Judge Loranger ? Yog know that there are two of the onef which was rjectd,
and the other wbich is now before thp House ?-I know it from having read it in
the newspapers and from ha heard it spoken of.

Q, Do you know Maxim ' one of the petitioDera ?-Yos.
Q. Did he spee4t-ygfterêrejeotion of th firt petitio and before the

signing of the second, telling you that ho had signed A Gfrat ?-Yes
Q. PIease tell1u what he.said to you,?
(Objection takon to the question on behalf of the petitioners. Objection set

aside.)
I think that it waa on t e same day that he Signed the second- petition, before

signing it. We talked togetiher about the matter mi my o00e. W4 had oêwa that
the fist petition hA been ted y the Uouse, aid on the question -put to hia,
I think, to know why ho medied with the matter, >ho told me that he did not like
Judge Loranger, and that he had signed the petition in order to plaaeMr. Gemain,
and that ho did not wish to Sign the second one.

Q. Did he tell you that ho had knowlodge of the facts alied in the peition?-
We spoke of the different dluegations in t. petition; he d me that be new
nothing, or almost nothing, about them. We mentioned some of these áeaone,
and wo spoke abogt the acte of drunkennes ; he then remembored thot ho had seen
theJgdge intoicatod one day the aer went through Yamaska. the ot hUr
facts, ie told me that he knew notling abut them, that he had signed in e0 to
please Mr. Germain.

Q. After he had sigaed the second.peition, what did he tell you ?-He game
himlself to my office, and said to me, "I have signed the second petition, I cod do
nothing eise."

Q. Did ho tell you anything else-did he tell you that it was Mr. Germain who
had made him sign that ptition ?-Yes, and that he was not able to refusehii».

Q. ne had previousy stated to you that ho would not sign the second potition ?
Yes.

Q. You have been an advocate since 1865 ; you have been acquainted with Judge
Loranger for many years ; a witness bas bore stated that he admired tho talent of
the Judge, but that ho did not admire hie charac-ter; do you know aught againit the
character of the Judge ?

(Objection taken to the question on behalf of the petitioners. Objection

Cross-examined:-

Q. You stated in your examination-in-chief that you nover spoke to the ýdge
about the entries which are on the roll of the 3rd of October, 18q3, respectig the
two cases in which yon were pi4tiLff, and J. B. Broussesu, defendant ; please tel us
whether you spoko about them to the Clerk or Deputy Clerk; whether you did not
complain to one of them, or even to bôtb, that those eritries were incorrect, wnd
wheter youdid not ask them to rectify tbem ?-I had no knowledge of that ueAii I
saw your motion in review, which you based upon certain irroegularities in theo pro-
ceedinge. I then asked the Clerkto see that the entries were correct before the secord
should go into review; that is what I recollect.

Q. If I understand you well, it was after the inscription for review that yqu thus
addrosspd yourself to the Clerk ?-I think it was on the very day of the inspcipton
for review; I think that Mr. Germain had notified me of that, and that it Waa af!tQr
that I went to see the Clerk.

Q. Was it not in the afternoon of the day of inscription for review- ?-I cannot
say exactly.



GQ.Afer the inscription for review, when you went to the Clerk's oice, did you
not in the presence of t e Clerk and Deputy <lerk, yourself examine the reords as
wel as the rol nov produéed befre this ommittee, and before such examination did
you ot then and there complain to one or bothof f them of the incorreetàess of the
entries which had been inade ?-I do not reellect having examinel the roll before
to-day; Ionly aseertained the facts fronxthe affdavit and the motion of the defen-
dant, Mr. Brousseau.

Q After the inscription for enquête, did you not g to the Clerk's office, and did
you not examine the records of the two cases, Nos. 1,32 aud 1,332 ?-It-is quite
probable that I examined them.

Q. Did you not ask one of those two offiers, the Clerk or Deputy Clerk, what
entries had been made respecting your cases; did yon lot ee them yourself ?-I do
not remember.

Q. Do you swear that you were not disquieted at all by the entries which had
been mad, on the 3rd-of Oetober, 1873?-So far as I can recolleet, 1 asked the Clerk
to have al the entries made correct, because I had heard it said that Mr. Brousseau
had inscribed bis cases for review. As to having seen those entries, I am almost
positive that I never saw them before to-day.

Q. Did the Clerk or Deputy Clerk speak to you about them ?-I do not think that
they spoke to me about them at the time; but I think that sinc * * *

Q. I speak to you about that Lime ?-I do not recollect that they spoke7 to me
about them at that time.

Q. Do yon know any other rolls but that produced before this Committee con-
taining the written account of the proceedings er acknowledgments of the parties
made iu open Court, at the time of the calling or of the hearing of cases in the district
of Richelieu?-I know of no other.

Q. You have stated that you have knowledge of an alteration in an entry made
the day after the day on which the entry was made ?-I think that I said that it was
on the same day, that such alteration was made.

Q. Was that alteration made in open Court in the presence of the parties or with
their consent ?-J cannot say that both of them had consented to it, for I know that
they were not all agreed; what I know is that the Judge changed the entry which he
had made; I think the advocate who caused the change to be made, was Mr. Keller;
the Judge- was Judge McKay I think.

Q. In all those cases was that done in open Court ?-Yes.
Q. And to the knowledge of the parties ?-I know that it was to the knowledge

* * I do not recollect whether it was to the knowledge of the two attorneys, or
of only one, they had argued at considerable length in the morning, and later on one of
the attorneys, I think, returned * * I am tolerably certain that the two were
present, and that they caused the entry to be rectified which had been previously
made by the Judge.

Q. Who were the attorneys do you say ?--So far as I can recollect they were
Messrs. Keller and J. Doutre. I am far from being able to state exactly how those
facta occurred, but I know that the entry was changed, and it would be easy to find it
again on the roll, since on that very day I had a case before the Court.

Q. Was that alteration of which yon speak made at the same sitting in which the
entry had been madeor was there an ntermediate sitting before such alteration was
made ?-I cannot state whether an adjournment took place between the time of entry
and that of the alteration.

Q. Will yeu state at what date that occurred ?-I do not recollect exactly, it wa.s
however in winter.

Q. You have said that the judgment entered on the slips often differed, to your
knowledge, from the judgments thereupon drawn out and subsequently registered ;
will you state in what that difference consists, in the substance of the judgment itself,
or its decisory part, or only in the setting forth of the recitals or other things which
were not essential to the decision ?-I think that the slip or sheet of paper of the
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dlibéré contains'the substance of the judgment, but that the Clerk subsequently drawa
up the jdgmnent conformably to the Deteos a the slip.

Q. Can you cite any partieular came in which oneh changes were made ?-WelL
* * * Ishâli cite a cex-parte Toussaint Chénette ,which I mad it mY bsiess
to see yesterday..

Q. What was the alteration which yon discovered ?-There isa judgment mUch
longer than that which is in the slip.

Q. That is done in numberless cases ?-I thought that that was your question;
what I know is that the judgment is not in general an exact copy of the slip. In the
ex-parte case of Chénette there is the slip and a judgment which was eomnmenced by
the Prothonotary and continued by Jud e McKay.Q. Are there between the slip and the drawn-up and written out judgment,
material differences in the decisory part?-I do not think so, but there are môre-
details.

Q. Do you know of othçr cases in whieh there wee differenes between the-
drawn-up judgment and the slip ?-I cannot cite any; I have made no specialatady
in relation to that.

Q. In the District of Richelieu, when a juçigment is rendered by the
Judge in open Court-by the Honorable Mr. Justice Loranger in paticular-
orally, the slip which contains the substance and the decision of the jdgment, and
which is initialled by the Judge, is banded over by him to the Clork; well, does
there exist any other written trace of that judgment, until its preparation in definite
form ?-I cannot state exactly how it is doue, because I do not take part in the draw-
ing up of the judgments, but I thiu. that the Judge puts the notes on the slip ; that
he passes. it to the Prothonotary after having pronounced judgment, and that the

'Prothonotary draws up the judgment, basing it on the slip. I do not think that
there exists any other written trace of thejudgment pronounced on the bench, than the
notes which the Judge hands over to Clerk, except there may be other notes distinct
from the slip.

Q. You have expressed the opinion that the Judge can and even ought to
correct the erroneous entries made by him on the roll. By what proceoding do you
think that rectification can be effected ?-I do not think that it would be necessary
to make use of any special proceeding; I know that many advocates think as I do;.
that if the Judge perceives an error, even after he has pronounced the judgmaent from
the Beneh, so long as the judgment is not initialled, he ought to correct it.

Q. Then you persist in stating and remaining of opinion that the Judge can-
at the requisition or to the knowledge of only one of the parties, and out of Court
-make any alteration or rectification of the roll which might be injurious to the
other party ?-I do not think that he could make alterations prejudicial to one
of the parties, but I think that he can make a iectification of an error which he
may have commîtted, and that he can make an entry which he may have omitted to
make.

Q. Even if that rectificadon is prejudicial to the other party ?-Provided that
it is to make an entry correct, not only can he do so, but what is more ho ought to
do so, and the other party cannot suffer from it, seeing that it is a correct entry ;
that is the way in which I see it.

Q. You have made allusion to a conversation which you had with one of the
petitioners, Mr. Beaupré, in which he told you that he did not like Judge Loranger;
did he not tell you, or give you to understand, that he had no confidence in him

(Question objected to by Judge Loranger. Objection set aside.)
When I stated that he told me he did not like the Judge, I gave the sense o1

the conversation which I had with Mr. Beaupré, but I do not recollect the vEry
expressions which he made use of. I cannot state precisely whether ho tcld me that
he had no confidence in him. -

Q. Do you not know by the general burthen of the conversations which you may
have had with Mr. Beaupré, that he had no confidence in Judge Loranger ?

(Objected to by the Judge. Objection maintained.)
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By Mr. Taschereau:

Q. Yox were plaintiff in the two ea es-Mathien versus Brousead, 82 aànd
1,332 ?-Yes.

(e wituess adds, in orderto complète one of bis answers pre*iousy gveD, that .
MIr. . inville, advocate, of Montreal, appeared as attorney in one of thocases for Mr.
Brousseau,'but that Mr. Igrousseau condueted in person both of them.)

By the Chafrman:

Q. You stated just now that the notes entered on the rolls cannot b. considered
as authentic,-then if those notes are not anthentic, where is to be foud th auhentic
journal, "proce-verbal" of what goeon in Court ?--Those notes t beonsidered
as authentio so long as the case ia not finished, and I think that the Judge cea always
rectify a mistake w4ich he may have made.

Q. If I perfectly auderstand your theory, you allege that nothing of what is
doue in Court is authentice, so long as a case is not finished; that no one of the entrios
is authentic ?-The errors made in those entries can always be correct9d.

Q. Do you consider that so long as the case is not finished ', one of the en-
tries is authentic ?-Yes, that is. niy opinion as to the entries made by the Judge,
whieh gr# sil>jSet to correctiop.

By Mfr.Bay:-

Q. With the exception of the entries made on the irol1 by the clerk ?-Even
if the clerk bas made an entry on the roll and it sontains an errar, it ought certainly
to b. rectified.

Q. If an entry is made and one of the parties declares his enquête closed, is not
that mentioned ?-I think that the notes of tde Judge ought to show it, and I even
think that if he perceives that there is an orror in bis notes he can change them.

.By the Chairman;
Q. I will ask you whother when one party declares his enquéte closed, or any

other proceeding is had, the notes of the Judge are not evidence ?-They nust be
evidence.

By r. Desjardins
Q. If one party declares his enquête closed, and the Judge puts down, by error, that

the enquête is postponed to the following Terna, ought ho, or ought ho not to rectify
that error ? -Yes, he is boand to do it. I hâve stated that the entry made by the
Judge ought to be evidence so long as it is upon the roll, but I do not consider it tobe
authentie.

By Mr. Taschereau -

Q. Do you consider that what people call the "slip,"-authentic or not,-is not in
your opinion really authentic when it is handed over by the Judge to the clerk ?-I
an of opinion that the "slip " is not authentic.

Q. According to that the judgmiententered in the registers may be diforent from
that pronounced on the Bench'-I have stated that the "slip" was not authenùe. I
wish to speak abPüt this according to the usual practice. I know that in the district
of Richelieu the Judge puts on the "slip " the notes of the judgment, which is subse-
quently drawn up in the ordinary form by the clerk, who then gives it to the Judge
fbr him to initial. So strictly la this obserted that several days after the judgments
are pronounced, when we ask for copies of those jndgmenits, we canot have them so
long as the judgment dra*n up by Ie clerk has not .been initialed by the Judge. I
think this is likewise the practice at Montreal. I know also that ertain judgments
drawn up by the clerk differ more Dr less froin the "slip," but I think thatin general
the judgments drawn up by the-clerk contain what is expressed in he slips.

108



Ry Mr. Baby :
Hppose thatin teI "Aisp? the j4gzsaAie given in one anee så that by

mri.t4k* the~ clerk soda¢q fAudheI register quiteê ano4hr ense tha txte one
wiMeh is fi that is admta i4 ; is it the "uiifig "fi it aést lise in

die.4iy r is iîo -jg wicl. asn th. ..
Cee 4ês thatiwueeßts. I wl1 reask that th~e "ip "-1s t the enTy 4cdment,

[f the '4sIip" is drawn 1p sa toinute of .te. sdmet, it onal4 hi sdraitted s
evieinprefs othrgistar; but if ieside that "ôip,"s a apn ii the
Rieliien district, there is a minute of the judgment, i it te snd* whfch is to
be admitted as enieSa. 1 refer to Article No. 474 of the-Cod of civil procedure.

Q. Ls cOt th.iejudgment pronoudéed on theBenoh, the judgment, whether weÇl or
ill ?-It is thu jdmnt, only it should be eimbodied io * forø.

Q. W~iehis t true trce, the only trace of the judgment ?-It is the slip.

By Mfr. Baby
Q. What me the daties of the Prothonotary when ti Court n your diser t ?-

In our district the Prothonotary comes into court bringifg th» ril witk'him; he
pute it before the Judge, who makes the entries himself; and after Court the Judge
hands back the roll to the clerk.

Q. [n the interval, what does the Prothonotary do ?-Nothing.

Re-examined:
Q. Do you consider that the Judge, after having rendered his Jiidgment, can

rectify an error of calculation, out of Court, when drawing up his judgment ?
(Question objected to on behalf of the Ipetitioners. Question allowed by Com-

mittee.)-l think so.
Q. Can the Judge correct an error of date?-I also think he cai.
Q. Can he change the substance when that substance is affected by an error of

date or calculation ?-4 think tht he ean rectify an error of datecr·f calculation
even in a case wbere that rectification would affect the substance of the judgment.

M. MATRTIEU.

(Translation.)

ANTOINE ALFRED DE GR.tNDPRÊ, residing at Sorel, having been duly sworn,
deposeth and saith :

Q. You have b¶en Deputy Prothonotary since 1871 ?-Yes, I was appointed in
the autumn of 1871

It is yon who are particularly entrusted with the drawing up of the judgments
and all proceedings ?-Yes. I have charge of ail proceedings which originate from
the Jndge in Court.

Q.Do you or do you not consider that it is the duty of the clerk to keep the
roll of enquéte and hearing on the merits; and when the Judge keeps it does he, or
does he not, do so in order to facilitate the desp h of business, in the place of the
clerk, and in order to guide him when transeribîng the proceedings?-I think that it
is the personal duty of the clerk to keep the roll of enuêt and laws and I sha base
my res.ons for speaking in this way, upon article 237 of the Code ot procedure, and
the 42nd rule of practice of the Superior Court. I know, also, that in the Richelieu
district, the Ronourahle Justices Caron and Plamondon compelled the Protho-
notary to keep the notes of the rolls of enquéte and law, and that they would not keep
those notes themsolves.

Q. Please answer the latter part of my question respecting the despateh of
business ?-I believe that if the Judge himself makes the entries on the roll,
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it is in order to facilitate the despatch of business, and to guide tho olerk in the
trasm*tin of the. judgment.
ra vo oteummerth entmumde bythe Jdge aikg note, that hemay

-C ne, r iify and Oelete 'eder*1 ai judgMt, d e after it,- ad beibre
thé r tioand th..e oèudndg xdta reelat e Wikianar, ix the* e of
,err or m or 1i ei y Y-I think k written by1the Jdge onie
roi ni thé place of è1-Protheetaty, thba»teerteto guide thele"rk ia thè anseri
tidn.of the. proeedings had in Oart,---tther tobe pet into the transežpt when e
case i* sent up for-review -er appel, or in' the manute book, which ia the Sapeior
-Court is reqredto bek

Q s it notfrom the notes that you take the trsmcript of the peoeeed-
i ngs; and from the minute book, when yon have entered them therein, that you takethe transcript of cases when you send them up for review or appeal 1-Tes, we first
take the notes entered in the roll of eaqute and law, in order to enter thein in the
minute book, when such a proceeding is necessary, or we not take them from the
minute book, in order to enter them in the transcripts whieh are afterwards sent up
in review or appeal.

Q. Is it not true if an erroneous entry made by the Judge cannot be rectified on
the roll, thât by taking your entries on the roll to make your transcrips, yon will
send faise or erroneous transcripts of the proceedings to review or appeal ?-Cer-
tainly, for by basing the entry which we mae in the minute book, on an incorrect
entry made on the roll of ienquéte, we should by that very act make an erroneous
entry, and one contrary to the truth, and hence the traneeript would set out falsely
an entry of the facts which occurred at enguéte.

Q. Suppose a case where, being called upon to prepare a transcript, in order to
'end a proceeding to a superior tribunal, you have reasons for supposing that such an
entry ib erroneous: is it not your duty in that case to address yourself to the Judge,
and ask him for explanations ?-In case my attention were directed to an errer made
on the roll or elsewhere, whether the error was one of the Judge or of the Prothonotary,
I think that it would be my duty to submit the entry to the Judge or Prothonotary,
and to draw their attention to the error committed.

9. In that case would it not be your duty to accept the decision of the Jadge and
to make in your transcript the entry which he would tell you tomake ?-I think that
I am bound to follow the orders of the Judve.

Q. Suppose a similar case. If the Judge, does not himself correct the entry in
Jis roll, and the entry which he dictates to you differs from that entered on the roll,
would not the result be a variance between the transcript and the roll ?-From the
moment I should know, say from having attended Court, that the entry made by the
Judge was erroneous, and having to make the transcript of a case in which an error
might have occurred, that I should make the entry correctly as the facts actually occur-
red in the case; it would necessarily follow that there would be a variance between
the roll and the transcript.

Q. In the case of a variance, one party asking to have the traiscript sent back
to the Court below, and the trapscript coming to you by order of the superior tribunal
ordering you to complete or rectify the record, would you not then be obliged to
make an addition or rectification on the original entry made by the Judge ?-Cer-
tainly, and I think I- recollect that a transcript was sent back, I believe from the
Court of Appeals, in order to be finished and complted,-in order to have added to it
what had been omitted. It was a judgment which had not been enterod in the
registers, which I hiid omitted te enter, and which, nevertheles, was found in the
record.

By the Chairman:
Q. That is to say, your transcript would not be found to agree with the register ?

-Yes.
Q. It follows that if the Judge bas not the right to rectify the entry in

his book, the transcript will be- necessarily false, and will remain so ?-The
transcript will not be in conformity with the facts in the case.
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By the Chairman
Q. But it will be in conformity with the book ?-Yes.
Q. Then, in that case, there would be no means of rectifying the error in the

book ?-I do not think myself sufficiently versed in procedure for my opinion to
have any great value, but I know of no other means of rectifying the error in the
hook than that which I have mentioned above.

Q. If you were keeping the roll yourself, and yeu perceived that a mistake had
oeen made in an entry, would you not consider that it was not only. your right but
also your duty to rectify it ?-I think that I should be bound to make the correction.

Q. Pleuse state what passed respecting the cases Mathieu versus Brousseau, and
the entries on the roll of enquête and hearing, which were made in the two cases in
question. Give us the history of the facts ?-About the 3rd of October, 1873, or after
-some days after perhaps-Mr. Brousseau himself came often to the clerk's office
to examine the roll and see what entries were made with respect to his cases. He
pointed out to me the letters "P.O.C.A.V.," entered in the last columns of the cases
Nos. 1,922 and 1,332, in which Mr. Mathieu was plaintiff and he himself, Mr.
Brousseau, defendant.. He told me on one of those .occasions that, in Court, he had
not declared his enquéte closed; that he had only said , 1 submnit the ease." At the
same time, Mr. Mathieu, the plaintiff, (so far. as Ican recollect, it was when the cases
had been inscribed for review), asked the clerk if there had been a closing of enquête
in the case; ho alleged that Mr. Brousseau had closed his enquête. Upon that, being
about preparing the transuript of cases for the Court of Review-1 do not recollect,
whether I submitted the matter to the Prothonotary, or whether, by his orders, I
then referred it to the Judge-but I kiow that 1 myself carried the roil to the Judge's
chamber, and there examining the entry made, "P.O.C.A.V.," which was the only
one existing, the Judge immediately said: " I recollect well that Mr. Brousseau closed
hi3 enquête ;" and thereupon -he made the entry: " The defendant declares his enquête
closed," and he signed; and I prepared the transcript in conformity with that entry.

Q. Did you draw the attention of the Judge as to the fact whether there had
been a closing of enquête or not?--Yes.

Q. So that in fact, was not the only material change made in the entry in ques-
tion, the insertion of the words: " The defendant declares his enquête closed," inasmuch
as after having struck out the letters "P.O.C.A.V.," the Judge restored them?-
From what I can sec there, on the roll, the letters, " P.O.C.A.V." have been affixed
anew. I made an error in stating that that entry was signed by the Judge. It is
certainly the writing of the Judge, but his initials are not there. I thought that I
had seen them just now.

Q. Does it not appear to you that the letters " P.O.C.A.V." were struck out in
order to write below: "the defendant declares his enquête closed," because there was no
room in the columns above the letters "P.O.C.A. V." to insert the correction ?-I
think that was the reason that it was doue in that way.

Q. Did you remark in the conduct of the Judge anything which revealed a
doubt as te his right or his duty to make the correction ?-1 did not remark it; the
Judge did it at the first impulse.

Q. ".Proprio motu," as the impulse of a man who does a duty ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know that the Judge had any imaginable interest besides that of

duty to make such a correction ?-I do not know that ho had any, except to render
justice to the two parties before him and to rectify the facts.

Q. You understood, without any doubt, that the Judge was satisfi&l that the
object of your proceeding was to ascertain the truth of the facts respecting the
closing of the enquête of the defendant in the two cases in question and to ask for
Ls correction ?-t think so.

Q. Did you tell him that' there was an inscription of those cases for review ?-I
do not think that I at the time mentioned to him that there was an inscription for
review of those two cases, for it seldom happens that I mention to him that there is a
review or appeal of the judgments by him rendered ; if that sometimes happened, it
vas only in conversation,-incidentally.
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Q. Does not your duty oblige Vou to mention to him thum-fre is sn appeal or
review of a judgment by him pronoea4e?-4o, thst4e 1#ew noâidn fê noting so.

Q. 13 it not true, that the loiMpKana fer regidw i nd, itoit the knowledge
of the Jndge?--Oertainly, ad if tie: e kuoiiI abd. It, it den enly be -because
it has been mentioned to hlm; blt gmioly the inée ' .l review and appeal
are effected without the knowledge ofthe Judge whot eId tb judgment.

Q.- Is it not true, that in yoar opinion the slip is lotWet. Of -the judgment ?-I
think that the ellps are only mma whichasrve oglddhe clerk in the draw-
ing up of thejudgmets whieh he has to prepare • da . - -

.Q. I it not truethat, even on the BeMe, *ily, ddes not read his slip,
but feves it on the record withoutreading it ?-ybêJdg,--and this s the
practice in the Bioblieu distrlet,-isrgivingtti doto tllk, reads the reasons
of thejadgment which are in substance reocorddd on the Welpip#d the jdeni'ct i
absequently prepared by the clerk, who subMitte Itto the iudge in order that he may
exmine and initial it.

Q. -Bo long as the draft of the judgment is not *vïttén on Ibo back of the slip, is
it not true that it is a simple memorandam whieh lie gvWesyou M'ith instructions to
prepare the judgment in one way, and not in anôther? -I think so.

Q. Is it not true that the Judge initials his judgment drawn up by you apart from
the slip ?-Almost alwaye.

Q. Is it not true that as to judgments containing reasons, they are always
written in your handwriting ?-I prepare almost all the judgments, and the reasons
which are given me in the form of notes by the Jndge, and I enter them myself in the
drafts of-the judgments.

. Q. Do you consider that there i. any executory judgment whatever without
that judgment being initialed by the Judge, and entered in the registers ?-I think
that we should refuse the execution, so long as the judgment was not initialed, was
notapproved.

*Q. .Does it not often happen, that whether the judgment be drawn up with his
reasons on the slip, or that it be drawn up by the Judge apart from that slip; does
it not happen, I say, that the Judge almost alwa makes alterations in the judgment
before initialing it ?-To the best of my knowloge, the Judge often makeschanges,
either in the phraseology of the Judgment or in order to render more intelligible the
reasons which may be inserted in it; but I do not think that changes have been made
effecting an alteration in the substance itself of the judgment.

Q. With reference to the calling of.parties and to proceedings, are the parties not
called when the parties are before the Judge, and is not the calling done by the
Judge; is it not only in case the party is absent that he bas him calIed by the
crier ?-
The practice is not to have the-parties who are present called.

Q. They are actually in default by the fact that they are present ?-Yes.
learing of witness adjourned until to morrow, 22nd March instant.

g

22nd March, 1877, the examination of witness is resumed.

Q. Is it not true that, besides the slip, the Judge generally brings on the Ben ch
a judgment prepared in advance, on a printed form ?-Quite often in the Richelieu
district, the Jude brings with him on the Bench, a statement of the judgment or
draft of the judgment, which lie hands over to me subsequently,- in order that I may
prepare the draft of the judgment after examination.

Q. Is not that judgment, with reasons assigned, written upon a printed form ?-
Often.

Q. When thiat judgment, with reasons assigned, is not written on a printed form,
is it not sometimes written on the back of the slip ?-It is most ofteni written on the
back of the slip in cases where the rëasons are not very long.
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So long as the draft of the jadgment has not been approred by the Jadge, de
jou consider that there is a judgment, or wo'Uld you conaider yoarelf justiflod in

.eausing it to be executed ?-So long as the judgment has not been approvea by the
Judge, we do not give any copies; and I do not think that ther Prothonotary woutd
grant execution.

Q. Do you consider that there is a judgment in the case?-I consider thatth
judgment is not yet complete.

Q. Please tell us what took place in the case of Pope and Truesdell ?-I wa»
present in Court at the time of the rendering of the judgments on certain motions
presented,-the one by the plaintiffs, to interrogate William Anderson, on articulated
facts, served upon him, and especially, I think, to obtain an answer to the second
-question of the said articulated facts, which had been previously served upon him,
.and in the case ofdefault therein by the said defendants, that thfe said defendants mig ht
be constituted in default for refusing to answer; the two other motions on beha of
the said defendants, tending to cause certain depositions to be rejected from the
record. To my knowledge, on the 10th of February, 1874, the Honourable Judge,
while on the Bench, granted the motion of the plaintiffs, and rejected that of the
,defendants for want of notice; and in open Court, one of the advocates representing
the attoiney for the defendants, I think, remarked that there was a notice of service
-at the time of the motion.

So far as I can recollect, the Honourable Judge maintained the two motions of
the defendants. I did not see the Honourable Judge make a correction while on the
Bench; but I saw that he took his pen, and I thought that he made a correction.
Later on, not understanding the note placed on the slip to draw up the judgments on
the motions of the defendants, I think I recollect having asked for new explanations.
I thought I heard, when in Court, that the motions had been maintained; so far as I
-can recollect, the Honorable Mr. Justice Loranger told me that he had granted those
motions ; and what made me doubt was, that there was in the note as corrected by
the Judge the following: " granting the motions of the defendants to have certain depo-
sitions rejected," and I think that the word " defendant " was repeated in a contracte&L
form, and I think that that correction was made subsequently; it was a lapsus of the
pen, the word " defendant " had been written instead of the word "plaintiff."Q. You are very positive that want of notice of service was mentioned on the
Bench ?-Yes.

Q And that upon the remark that there had been a notice of service, the Judge
gave a judgment which he hesitated to render before ?-About that fact I cannot
speak very positively, I know that the question of notice was raised ; so far as I eau
recollect I think that the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger renderedjudgment grant-
ing the motions of the plaintiffs.

Q. The Judge took his pen but you do not know what he wrote ?-I am not able
to say what he wrote.

Q. Nor for how long he wrote ?-No, to the best of my knowledge the Judge
verified the service of the notice.

Q. You think that it was the motion of the plaintiffs which was granted after
verification ?-Yes.

Q. It was given vivá voce 1-So far as I can recollect, but I cannot swear posi-
tively, it is so long ago.

Q. Later on you drew up judgments on those motions ?-Yes, later on I
drew up a judgment respecting the motion of the plaintiffs, and another judguent
on the two motions of the defendants.

Q. Those judgments were examined by the Judge ?-Both were examined, the
one was corrected without being initialed, the other remained as it was drawn up.

Q. Will you now read the judgment as it reads, not taking account of the wordo
which are struck out ?-" Judgment on the 10th of February, 1874, granting the motions of
the defendants to have certain depositions rejected, and that of the plaintifs' plaintifs&."

Q. Twice ?-Yes, "for want of notice to the opposite party."
Q. Have you ever had occasion to register in the books, the slip, or verbatim, the
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judgment as it stands on the slip ?-We have never entered in the registers what
the slip contains in brief, and we have never given copies of those slips.

Q. When you send the cases to appeal or review, d: you send th*e slip as part.
of the record ?-We leave it in the record and keep it as a note, and we keep ther
envelope of the record; nevertheless some of them have been sent but those are&
exceptional cases; but I do not recollect having sent them myself.

Q. Which do you consider to be the minute of the judgment, is it the slip or-
draft of the judgment ?-I consider that it is the draft of the judgment drawn up-
from the slip, approved by the Judge and which is entered in the register.

Clross-examined :
Q. las the entry made on the roll of the 3rd of October, 1873, in the two cases-

Mathieu versus Brousseàu-ever been transcribed into the minute book ?-I tbink
that I transcribed it.

Q. Can you swear that you transcribed it ?-I must see the minute book again to-
say so.

Q. Did you verify the minute book before coming here ?-No, I did not expect
to be questioned upon it. I think that that entry was made in the minute book.

Q. You think so, but you cannot swear to it ?-No.
Q. You stated, I think, that when you were preparing the transcript, it wasa

to the entry made on the roll that you referred ?-I referred to the entry made on
the roll in, order to place the proceeding under its proper date in the minute book.

Q. In'your examination in chief you did not speak of the minute book, yon
simply stated that you had referred to the roll before making your transcript ?-I
think that I spoke of the minute-book, at least in the general explanations which I
gave about the transcript of the records when we sent them to appeal 'or review. I
think that I said that I transcribed the proceedings most generally from the roll to
the minute book. In some instances that was not done, inasmuch as the minute book
was only completed in some cases when they were finished.

Q. You say you think that you made those entries in the minute-book; then
how do you think you made them in the minute book; was it conformably to the
original entries, or conformably to the altered entries?-It was conformably to the
entry existing on the roll, as it now exists, that is to say: " 3rd of October, 1873,
the defendant in open Court declares his enquête closed, C. A. V.," in case 1322. In
case 1332, " The 3rd October, in open Court, the defendant declares bis enquête closed,
C. A. V.;" and it is in that way that the entries ought to be made in the minute
book.

Q. About what time do you think you made those entries in the minute.book ?
-About the 25th October, 1873. We only complete our minute books when the
cases are finished, the proceedings of the advocates being generally had at various
dates, either anti-dated or post-dated.

Q. Then you think that that entry in the minute book was made after the altera-
tion of the entries made on the roll ?-I am certain of it.

Q. In consequence, from the 3rd October, 1873, to the date of the alteration of
the roll, there was then no other entry registered than that originally made on the
3rd of October ?-Certainly; that is to say, there was only P. O. C. A. V.

Q. The roll which was produced before this Committee is the sole register in
which sucli entries of proceedings in open Court are entered ?-Yes.

Q. It is the only one which records the declarations and the admissions of the-
parties made in open Court ?-It is the only one which we have in the district of
Richelieu for the Superiour Court. There is also one for the Circuit Court.

Q. But for cases such as this it is the only roll ?-Yes.
Q. Do you recollect an interview which you had with the defendant in the two

cases in question, in November, 1873, about the day before the Term for IReview ?-
I cannot specify the dates, but I recollezt having seen the defendant several times at
the clerk's office about that time.

Q. The interview about which 1 wish to speak is that which took place one
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evening at the time above mentioned at your boarding house, on the arrivail Of the
defendant by the boat; do you recolleet that interview ?-It eems to me that he
came to see me at my boarding-house, but I do net recollect what we said.

Q. Did not Mr. brousseau arrive on that evening, telling you that he was on his
return from Montreal, where ho went to attend hie cases, and that to his great sur-
prise he had seen that the entries made in open Court at the time of the calling of
the cases, had been changed, and that he had discovered that, by the transcript of the
esses ; did he not thon ask you for explanations, which you gave him, on the subject?
-I do not recollect that; I do not recollect what explanations I may have given
him.

Q. Do you recollect that Mr. Brousseau went to your boarding house one evening f
-It seems to me that it was so, but I do not recollect that ho spoke to me about those
entries in particular; ho spoke to me, on different occasions and since the cases were
in review.

Q. Do you swear that you recollect nothing as to the subject of that interview ?
-No, I do not recollect.

Q. Do you recollect having given on any occasion some explanations to the
defendant with respect to those alterations ?-I think that I gave him some.

Q. Did he not tell you that on the very day, or on the day after, the inscription
for review, Mr. Mathieu, the plaintif in the two cases in question, had come to the
clerk's office and after having examined the records on the roll, had complained
that the entries made in open Court were not correct,-did ho not complain of that,
either to you or to Mr. Gouin ?-I do not think that I gave to the defendant any
explanations in the form you have just mentioned; I think that I told hiin that Mr.
Mathieu alleged that there was no closing of enquête entered on the roll; I do not
think that he saw the roll at the clerk's office; I don't know from what quarter her
learnt that there was no closing of enquête; he maintained that Mr. Brousseau had
closed his enquête, and that that entry should be made correctly; I think that there-
upon I referred the matter to the Prothonotory,-to the best of my acknowledge,-
and then that I referred it to the Honourable Mr. Justice Loranger, in order to do.
justice to the two parties, and to make the entry such as it ought to have been made
in Court, in fact to place matters in their true position.

Q. When Mr. Mathieu complained about those entries was it in your presence; and
in what terme did he complain about them ?-I think ho said that he knew well to-
whom he should apply in order to get those entries made correctly.

Q. On arriving at the office, were those the first words ho spoke ?-I think he
had asked me before whether there was a closing of enquête in his cases, and that I
answered him that there was not.

Q. In order to answer him you must have referred to the roll ?-I knew the
entry already.

Q. And in making that answer you relied on the original entry, P.O.C.A.V.?
-Yes.

Q. It was on that information that ho complained ?-He complained of it before,
ho ascertained first verbally before complaining of it, as well as I can remember,......
...... 1 think I was then alone in the office.

Q. Did you not say once to Mr. Brousseau, that Mr. Mathieu had, on one of
those occasions, asked or required Mr. Gouin to rectify those entries and that Mr.
tiouin had refused to do it, saying that ho could not ?-I do not remember that.

Q. Do you not remember that ho really did make that request of Mr. Gouin ?-
I do not remember.

Q. Did ho make it of you yourself?-Of me, yes, in the terms I have just stated
to you.

Q. Was it in the presence of Mr. Gouin and in the office itself ?-I have just said,.
I think Mr. Gouin was not present.

Q. Was it immediately after those complainte of the defendant, that yon referred 1
the roll to the Judge as yon stated above ?-I cannot say precisely that it was onr
that very day, it may have been one or two days afterwards.
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Q. In any case it was while you were working at the transcript that you se re-
ferred the roll to the Judge ?-It was before commencing the transcript.

Q. But with a view to preparing it ?-Yes.
Q. [lad not the inscriptions for review then been entered on the records, for the

two cases ?-I think they had been.
Q. The two records were still in the office of the district of Richelieu ?-

Certainly.
Q. When in addition to the " slip" the Judge brings with him to the Bench for

the purpose of rendering his judgments, another paper, partly printed or otherwise,
as you stated above, which contains the substance and the decision of the judgment,
is that paper or document written in another handwriting than that of the Judge ?-
It is always in the handwriting of the Judge.

Q. Is it the custom, on motions, for the Judge to, prepare his judgments otherwise
than on the " slip " before rendering them in open Court ?-The Hon. Judge does not
prepare the judgments he has to render otherwise than on " slips; " the minute of
judgment is drawn up by me afterwards.

Q. Were not the two drafts of judgment drawn up by you, and which are in the
record in the case of Pope vs. Truesdell, prepared several days after the date of the
judgments on the motions ?-I do not think I made delay in drawing up those drafts of
judgments. I think one of the attorneys wanted a copy in order to get it served. I
cannot say precisely how many days after the judgments I prepared those drafts.

Q. At all events you are sure that it was some days after, and not the same day?
I do not think it was the same day.

Q. Between the day of the delivery of the judgments and that of the drawing up
of the two drafts of judgments, were there in the record or in the office, other written
traces of the judgments rendered in open Court, than the note initialed on the " slip"
in question ?-No others existed to my knowledge.

Q. Do you swear positively that it was you yourself, and not Mr. Gouin, who were
present in Court on the 10th February, 1874, at the rendering of thosejudgments ?-
I swear, positively, that Mr. Gouin and I were present.

Q. Is it usual, generally, for you to be in Court simultaneously, you and Mr.
Gouin? When one of you Lwo is in Court, must not the other remain in the office?-
Usually, but when judgments are rendered, I like to be in Court in order to hear the
rendering of those judgments and to prepare them better afterwards, and in this con-
nection, I may say that I was for a long time but little familiar with the Judge's
writing, and when I had heard him deliver a judgment I understood better the notes
written by him.

Q. When you are in Court in that way, with Mr. Gouin, do you turn your back to
the Judge or do you face him ? - Sometimes I turn round to see him.

Q. The Judge sits on the Bench, facing the audience ?-Yes.
Q. So that in your normal position yoir turn your back to the Judge ?-Yes.
Q. Well, is it truc that in order to see what the Judge is doing on the Bench, in

order to see whether he is writing and takes up his pen, you are obliged not only to
turn your head but also to stand up ?

(Question objected to by Judge Loranger. Objection maintained by the Com-
mittee.)

Q. You have stated that, subsequently, having seen the "slip " as it now is, you
asked the Judge for explanations ; how long after the rendering of the judgment was
it, to the best of your knowledge?-To the best of my knowledge, it may have been
four or five days afterwards.

Q. Might it not have been more than four or five days afterwards ?-It is possible.
Q. When you so referred tiat "slip " to the Judge, was it in the same state

that it is now ?-I do not remember whether a new word may have been put in
place of the word "defendant " repeated. I think I said in my examination-in-chief,
that the-word " defendant " had been struck out, and the word "plaintif" added, but
I cannot swear that positively.

Q. Are you positive in saying that tl' Judge examined on the Bench, whether
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there was or not a return of service or of notice, to the other party, of the motion
rejected, or do you say that merely*to the best of your knowlIe ?-I think I saw
the Judge turn the motion when the advocate drew his attention to a return of service
of such motion, and I thought he verified it.

Q. Still you are not positive ?-It is difficult to swear that positively.
Q. You bave said that yon do not send the "slips " to the Court of Review or

Appeal, with the records; but, do you not rather send an exact copy of the judgment
as drawn up with its developments ?-Yes.

Q. And as entered in the register ?-Yes.
Q. Thon it is in no way necessary to send the " slips" ?-We send the extract

fromn the register. We look upon the "lips " as being merely notes.
Q. Were those two judgments on motion, ever entered in the register; if so, hpw

were they entered ?-Those motions are entered in volume 4, page 660, of the
registers of the Superior Court; that entry is made in accordance with the judgment
drawn up by me, and corrected by Judge Loranger, after examination; they are not
initialled. Pretty often at that time, we did not get the judgments on motions
initialled; it was only final judgments that we used to get initialled.

Q. Is either of the two initialled by the Judge?-Neither; but one of them is
corrected by the Judge's hand, without initial or signature.

Q. Were they ever initialled or signed by the Judge in the minute book ?-No.
Q. Are you not on terms of great friendship with the Judge, and have you not,

in fact, reasons for being grateful towards him or towards one of the members of bis
family: towards the -Reverend Curé Loranger ?-All in that f-ir:i ly are my friends,
and I have no special reasons for direct gratitude. lowever, I must say that I
entertain gratitude towards them.

Q. Have they not rendered you services? (Question objected to by Judge
Loranger. Objection maintained by the Committee.)

Q. Did not Judge Loranger help to get you the place of Deputy Piothonotaryt
-I do not know whether he helpod or not; I believe that the Judge said to Mr.
Gouin that, in case he should need a Deputy Prothonotary, he might get me.

Q. Before that, were you not favoured as a notary in the parish of Lanoraie, by the
Reverend Curé Loranger? (Question objected to by the Committee.)

Q. Did you not promote the adoption by the Grand Jury of the district of
Richelieu, at the Term of the Queen's Bench, Crown side, in July 1876, of the pre-
sentment or address which is now produced befoi-e the Committee?

(Witness declines to answer. and pleads that he is bouni.d to keep secret the
proceedings of Grand Juries.)

(The advocate produces the presentment; it is marked " Document, A 4 " of
the Petitioners.)

Q. Now state on what you base the opinion you have expressed in the course of
your evidence, in relation to the right or duty of the Judge and of the Prothonotary
or clerk, to niake the changes, alterations or corrections of which you have spoken,
either in the register or in the notes of the judgments?--I base them on this roason :
In some case it appears that a note is entered by error-an error which is, properly
a.peaking, only a clerical error-I consider that it should be changed, provided that
it does not affect the substance or decision of a judgment.

Q. You are not an advocate ?-No.
Q. Have you studied the question by consulting any authors or proceedings?-

Not specially; however, I have studied the law and seen the procedure in the office.
Q. Will you mention an article of the law on which you base any of the opinions

you have expressed ?-I cannot cite any immediately; if I were to study the question
I could probably do so.

Q. Before giving your evidence, had you not one or several interviews with
Judge Loranger, and in the course of those interviews did he not express to you his
views on the subject ?-No; without explaining to me his views, he made known to
me the drift of the questions he was going to put to me; on my part, after having
refleeted, I made known to him the drift of my answers.
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Q. Did he then make any demonstration, or use any argument with you, te
strengthen you in the opinion you had ?-No, not on those questions of opinion; -on
eertain questions of fact, Judge Loranger did not remember, and I myself thought I

remembered, certain facts, just as I have mentioned them, and chiefly in relation to
the matter of Pope vs. Truesdell, in which the Judge did not remember the facts.

Be-examined:
Q. Did not Judge Loranger often say to you that, strange to say, he did not

remember what had taken place relative to those entries in the case of Mathieu vs.
Brousseau and in that of Pope vs. Truesdell, having done those things as a matter of
routine ?-I remember that Judge Loranger told me, lately, that he was entirely
unaware of what had passed touching the matter of Pope vs. Truesdell; thereupon I
told him how I thonght I remembered the thing had occurred, as I stated above. As
to the cases of Mr. rousseau, I do not remember.

Q. You have been made to say that the slip had been initialled by the Judge ; do
you remember the date on which it was initialled ?-No; I produce the roll of non-
appealable cases of the Circuit Court of the district of Richelieu, in order to show
that there are entries in the handwriting of the different Judges who hold Court in
that district. Perhaps there are also some in the handwriting of Mr. Gouin.

By the Chairman:-
Q. When you went to the Judge, with the register, in relation to the inatter of

Mathieu vs. Brousseau, do yon remember what you said to him?-I think I asked
him: " Is there a closing of enquête in that case," or a question in that sense.

Q. Were you present when those cases were heard ?-No.
Q. For what p se did you go to ask the Judge whether there had been a

closing of enquête ?-Ïlcause it was necessary to have it established. Sometimes
cases were submitted by the advocates without a closing of enquête having been had,
either in Court or affected in writing, and we thon ask those gentlemen to file by
consent a closing of enquête. I think that has also happened after judgment was
rendered.

AL. A. DEGRANDPRÉ.

GEORGE LH. KERNICK, residing at Montreal, being duly sworn deposeth and saith:
I have been an employee at the Prothonotary's office for the last forty years.

Q. You have been for many years past engaged in keeping the registers, rolls
and minute books of the Prothonotary's office at Montreal?-I have been so engaged
for some years past.

Q. You have a general knowledge of the keeping of those books?-Yes.
Q. Let us tirst speak of the practice- at Montreal in relation to " slips: " What is

it that is called a " slip " at Montreal, and what authenticity do you attach to those
"slips;" what degree of faith does custom attach to those "slips" ?-They have
always been looked upon as notes or grounds of the judgments, which are to be com-
municated to the clerk by the Judge, in order to the drawing up of the final draft.

Q. Does it not often happen that that note is changed by the Judge ?-After it
has been returned to the office ?

Q. Yes ?-After, I cannot tell you, it is not I who take charge of that; but I
have seen many slips bearing'erasures.

Q. It is not you who draw up the judgments ?-No.
Q. Do you consider the slip as the minute of the judgment ?-The slip as it exista

to-day, did not exist at the time, it has only existed some twenty years.
Q. Then, how did you at that time draw up the judgments ?-From a simple

note which the Judge passed to the clerk on rendering judgment on the Bench; that
piece of paper was there; ho gave it to the clerk; it remained or did not remain with
the record; no importance was attached to it.
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Q. Since that time you Mal " lip "a trip of paper whch is fastned on to the
record, on whieh is printed the names of theparties, the nane of the Judge, th mature et
the incident, the date of the rendering of the judgment, and the incident on which the

judgment is rendered ?-The present slip originates with the clerk, it in put before the
Judge, and it forme part of lhè record to show the Judge on what incident the cas
is in délibér. Then as a consequence, the Judge when rendering his judgment, when
it is not too long, writes ont the reasons of it thereunder, and gives the note»of it tothe
.olerk.

Q. What takes place next ?-Some of those notes always remain with the record,
-that is to say, if the Judge signs them, they are entered in the minute book as 
judgment.

Q. In general, do yon not draw up a judgment ?-Ordinarily yes, if it is
hmecessary; but if the Judge ha. given that as his judgment, we do nôt touch it again.

Q. Is it not true that in most of the cases, besides that slip you draw up a judg-
ent which is submitted to the Judge, signed and initialled by him ?-Yes; when ho

las reasons to insert.
Q. Does it not happen that in contested cases there are reasons to be set out ?

Tes.
Q. In those cases do you not draw up a judgement, or draft of judgment, apart

from the slip, *hich the Judge examines, corrects if necessary, approves and initials?
-1 am aware of it, but indirectly, seeing that it is not my department.

Q. Then you have no experience in the drawing up of judgments ?-No; it is not
may business, but it is I who prepare the délibérés.

Q. Let us now come to the registers or rolls of enquête; whose duty is it to keep
,the entries at enquête and hearing on the merits ?-It is the d uty of the clerk.

Q. Is there not generally a book kept for the use of the clerk, and another book,
or a copy of the other book, put before the Judge for his use ?-Not for enquête and
.Iearing on the merits.

Q. Do you consider that a clerk who may have committed an error in an entry
ý,made at the enquête and hearing on the merits, ought to rectify that error if he
perceived it ?-I think so.

Q. It is you, I think, who keep the minute book ?-Yes.
Q. And who prepare the entries of cases that go into appeal or otherwise ?-Yes.
Q. Is it not true that the entering of proceedings takes place ordinarily after the

Judgment is reniered ?-No; in our minute books all is entered before the case goes
for délibéré.

Q. (by the chairman.) Day by day, as far as possible ?-Yes.
Q. Has it not happened to you to correct entries which you had made in your

rcgisters for the enrolment of proceedings ?-When we noticed an error we
corrected it, but not when it affected the substance or the matter. If an erroneous
entry has been made, for instance: " such a peson examinedfor theplaintif," in placS
of "defendant,"-if such an error is noticed it should be corrected.

Q. If, for example, you have put the name of the defendant instead of that of
the plaintiff; for instance, that such a person had been examined as a witness for the
-plaintiff, while he had been examined for the defendant, would you strike out the
erroneous words in order to substitute the true words ?-Yes, without hesitation.

Q. If you perceived that an entry had been omitted in the enrolment of pro-
ceedings, would you scruple; or would you not, on the contrary, think yourself bound
to repair the omission ?-I am bound to give a true transcript of all the proceedings;
I therefore verify everything.

Q. Do you correct everything ?-When I make a mistake, it is my duty lb
,correct.

Q. Consequently, if yon perceived that in the enrolment of your proceedingo,
you did not make mention of the closing of an enquête which had been really closed,
would it be your duty to make entry of such closing of enquête ?-In those instanoes
I have done it when the cases went into appeal, and I made entry that the Court

.declared the enquête closed; but that was in order to complete the procedure. I wish
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to rèmark that at the Court of simple enqute,-for enquêtes written out in full-thet
parties are bound to declare in writing their enquête closed.

Q. In the enquete before the Judge, or enquête and hearing on the merits, is the,
rule the same ?-The parties being all present in Court, the plaintif in terminating-
Ais enquête, prays that his enquête may be declared closed ; the defendant being called
aon, often does not declare bis enquête closed; in that case the Court writes,

In a case in the Superior Court-Montreal Credit Company vs. Sauvê dit Laplante-
-defendant being called upon, made default; the entry made by Judge McKay is as,
follows :--Prepare the judgment subject to verification.

In a case of Raymond against Leroux, one witness was called,--he was not
examined ; this is to show you that in many of those cases the Judge does not formally
declare the enquête closed.

Q. Have you several other cases to mention ?-Yes, several. In a case Walker-
versus Muller, the defendant being called does not appear, but bis advocate appears.
and alleges that the inscription is not regular. The plaintiff is heard and prays
judgment, alid the Court orders the judgment to be prepared in the case; there was
mo formal closing of enquête.

Q. Then how do you make the entry in the transcript in that case ?-The-
instructions to the man who prepares the transcript in that case are, to declare the
enquête closed, but he does not usually do it, because he does not seem willing to
believe that that is of consequence.

Q. At all events if you were called upon to make the transcript, you
would put down that the enquête is declared closed-in a similar case I mean ?-I have~
usually always considered that, the parties having been heard on the merits of ther
case, the erqiête was closed.

Cross-examined :
Q. You state that in that case you would enter that the enquête was declared

closed; will vou state in what terms you would make that entry ?-I would maker
this entry: " The Court has declared the enquête closed." It is the Court that
declares the enquête closed for cabes of enquêtes and hearing on merits, whilst it is the
parties who make that declaration for enquêtes laken at length.

Q. In the cases which you cited, were there any declarations of the parties that
their enquête was closed ?-That does not appear by the notes taken in Court.

Q. When the parties, or ore of them, makes d-fault at the calling of the case,
in what terms would you enter the closing of their enquête ?-That question I cannot
Answer, iiiasmuch as it is not I who renain in Court.

Q. How is it done in the clerk's office,. when one of the parties makes default;
What proceedings take place ?-J have stated that the Court generally renders judg-
-ment without declaring the enquête closed.

Q. If' the case goes to review, or to appeal, what entry would you make ?-In
the cases in which a party refuses to proceed, or does not appear, we take simply the
entry as it is made in Court.

Q. Do you know any case in which it may have happened, that after an inscrip-
tion in appeal or review, the entry made in the registers or on the rolls hias been
changed ?-That does not occur with us.

Q. Have you knowledge of any case in which it was declared that the party who
inade default at bis enquête declared it closed ?-If the Court ordered it.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that that has been done ?-When the parties do not
wish to proceed, the Judge orders them to proceed; and if they refuse to proceed, the
Court declares the enquête closed.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that in any of those cases the Court made the entry
that it was the party himself who declared ,bis enquête closed ?-I do not know a
similar case.

Q. Please examine the roll of enquête and hearing which is fyled in this matter
.On the page of the October Term,1873, the 3rd of October. Do the rolls for hearing,
aquête and law, ut Montreal, resemble this one ?-We put down the names of the

120



Yieitoria. Åá di(+ )1 W

parties, and that is the only roll which there is at Montreal for enquête and l ing
on the merits.

Q. Do you enter on it the cases for each day ?-Yes.
Q. That roll is laid before the clerk, who always keeps it in Court ?-It is the

clerk who calls the cases and makes the entries.
Q. Do you consider that roll the register ordered by law ?
(Question objected to by Judge Loranger. Question allowed.)
A. It is the register of the Court.
Q. Does the law prescribe the keeping of a register ?-I do not know whether

the law prescribes it, or whether it is oily for the use of the clerk, in order that all
the proceedings may be entered therein.

Q. Are you ignorant of the fact that the law prescribes that the clerk should
keep a book or register containing the statement of the proceedings in Court ?

(Objected to by Judge Loranger. Objection maintained.)
Q. Have you knowledge of any case in which a judgment, of which the note or

minute was transmitted on an initialed slip of the nature of that in the record of Pope
vs. Truesdell, was ever ehanged by a Judge, several days after baving been
rendered in open Court, that is to say, confirming the judgment with reference to its
executory provisions, and its recitals ?-I cannot answer that question, it is not my
business.

GEORGE Ir. KERNICK.

RNÉt AUGUsTE R. HUBERT, rosiding at Montreal,, having been duly sworn,
deposeth and saith:-

I have been joint Prothonotary a7t Montreal for twelve years.
Q. You were an advocate for thirty years before bemg Prothonotary ?-Yes, for

thirty years.
Q. So that you are well versed in the practice of the Courts ?-Yes.
Q. Please tell us what is the difference between the slip and the minute of

judgnient ?-The slip is a note drawn up by the Judge; it is sent to the clerk's office
in order that the judgment may be prepared. The judgment is then prepared by an
officer whose duty it is, and is then handed to the Judge, who, after having examined
it, initialis it; then that document is the minute of judgment, and that is the judgment
which is entered in the register.

Q. Do you consider thatbefore the draft of judgment bas been approved of and
initialed by the Judge, there really exists an official judgment ?-Not at all. In
ceontested cases, the Judge pronounces verbally the judgment, but bases it on a
book of notes, in whieh all the reasons of that judgment are entered. The slip is
only an abridgnent sent to the Prothonotary to draw up thejudgment.

Q. Do you consider the slip to be anything else but a note or order given to the
Prothnotary to draw up the Judgment ?-Yes it is an order to prepare the judgment;
so much, so that that note frequently disappears from the record ; I never considered
it to be anything else but a note for the clerk. 1 even believe that in certain cases
the slip does not come back.

Q. Are those slips sent into appeal or review ?-They are not sent, because they
do not form any portion of the return; the transcript is a return of all the documerts
of the procedure, but the slip is n )t included, because it fornis no portion of the pro-
ceedings.

Q. Do you consider the slip to be a note which the Judge may change, before the
judgment is drawn up and ini! ialed, without committing forgery ?-Certainly, and
that is done very often, the Judges take back their notes and make alterations. They
make them even when the judgment is drawn up by the Prothonotary, on that judg-
ment, before initialing it.

Q. Do you think that the administration of justice would be possible in any dis-
trict whatever, especially in a district where there is a great deal of business, if the-
Judge bad not the right of correcting the errors made on his slip ?
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(Question objected to on behalf of ihe petitioners. Objection set a"ide.)
A. Certainly not, especially in the district of Montreal, and besides, in the other

districts the Judges have always enough to do, so that it may happen that they make
mistakes, and if they had not the right of correcting them the public would suifer.

Q. To return to the rolls of enquête and hearing, the declaration of closing of
-enquête is always made in the book ?-I have very regularly kept the Court of

nquéte and hearingat Montreal since it was established, up to ayear ago. In cases in
-which the two parties appear, and when the enquête has taken place on both sides,
then we put, after the hearing, "<P.O.C.A.V.;" that is the only entry we put. W
4o not declare the enquête closed; and furthermore I do not consider it necessary that
there should be such a declaration, for of necesity when the hearing has taken place
the enquête has taken place. In cases in which one of the parties does not appear,--
-the defendant for example-then the plaintif, declares his enquête closed; the defendant
is called, and the defendant not appearing, the entry is: to prepare thejudgment. In
another case where one of the parties refuses to proceedin the same manner, the party
is called, and the Judge in that case orders the enquête to be closed and judgment
prepared; the entries are made in accordance with the case.

By Mr. Baby :
When one of the parties is present and says, " I have nothing to say," what do

you put ?-Then we put " P.O.C.A.V."
Q. Do you consider that the declaration of one of the parties that he has nothing

to say, implies a closing of enquête ?-Certainly, and I do not see the necessity of en-
tering it, because the declaration of the advocate implies aihearing; if instead of plead-
ing the case he states that he has nothing to say, that implies that he has been
heard; in a manner somewhat short it is true, but that he has been heard.

Q. In that case you do not consider it necessary to declare the enquête closed ?-
No.

Q. Would you consider, if you declared the enquête closed, that you were commit-
ting forgery ?-To commit a forgery one must have the intention of committing a
forgery, but the making of an entry which is not necessary cannot be a forgery.

By Mr. Baby :-
Q. Especially if it be injurious to no one ?-Yes.
Q. Do you not consider that,-the submission of the case, or the declaration of the

party that he has nothing to say, implying a closing of enquête,-the clerk or the
Judge who enters that declaration, although according to you it is not necessary,
would not put on record anything but the declaration of a true fact ?-Certainly he
would do nothing else, and that cannot be considered as a forgery.

Q. Then that can only be considered, at the utmost, as a useless entry ?-Yes.
By Mr. Baby:-

Q. If the Judge had made a "lapsus plumo " by putting the word " plaintiff " for
defendant," or vice versa, could he not before the entry on the registers,

-correct that mistake ?-That has been done several times to my knowledge.
By the Chairman:

Q. When a party declares that he has nothing to say-a defend<mt, for example
-what entry would you make ?-We put the letters "P.O.C.A.V.," nothing
more. I kept that book for ten years, and during those ten years I have always
been the one who made the entries.

Q. You say that in Lower Canada the judgments are rendered on the Bench ?-
Yes.

Q. Do you think that the Judges can change the executory portions of their
judgments ?-I do not think that they can dismiss an action after having rendered
judgment for the plaintiff, but as for the phraseology, it can be changed, if it changes
the substance. In a case which I can cite ,on a capias, after Judge Mondelet had
dismissed it, the defendant's attorney stated that there was a document which he,
the Judge, had not seen, and in fact the Judge did see the document about which he

"was spoken to, and discharged the dêibêé.
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By Mr. Taschereau:
Q. Immediately ?-Yes.
Q. When the Judge renders judgment on the Beach, are there any other traces

of the judgment than that on the elp which the Judge hands to the clerk ?-Nc,
except the memorandumbook of the Judge, or the notes which ho may have.

Cross-examined :
Q. In your district I understand that it is not customary to sign and initial th4

motes which are on the slips?-Never.
Q. Then in your opinion, so long as there is no document comprising the

substance of thé judgment, signed and initialled, there is no judgment in the case?-
'There is the judgment pronounced on the Bench, but not a written one.

Q. Then in your opinion thero existe no minute of the judgment but when there
is also in the bands of the Prothonotary a Writing, a written document signed by the
Judge ?-Yes, drawn up by us, and initialled by the Judge.

Q. In saying " by us," do you mean to say that the Judge has not the right to
draw up a judgment himself?-At Montreal, Judge Mondelet himself drew up all bis
judgments; I do not mean to say that the Judge bas not the right to draw them up.

Q. When the Judge himself draws up his judgment in the form which suits him,
which ho initials and which he hands over to the clerk in open Court, do you con-
.sider that that document is really the minute of the judgment ?-As to that there is
'o difficulty.

Q. Then, strictly speaking, it is the Judge's initials whih give the character of
:a minute of judgment to the document which contains the substance of it ?-Cer-
ctainly.

Q. Do you consider that when there once exists such a document, or a writing
eontaining the very substance of the judgment, placed on the record and signed by
the Judge, that that document can be by him or by another, changed as to its sub-
stance or its executory provisions?-Once initialed by the Judge, it is not to my
knowledge that any change of that kind has taken place, except in a case in which
the Judge had changed the date of his judgment.

Q. Does it not often happen in your office, that the judgments are only made out
,or prepared by you or your officers several days after they have been pronounced on
the Bench?-That sometimes happens; we have so great a number of judgments at
once, that it often happens that we can ouly draw out the drafts of the judgments
several days after they have been pronounced on the Bench ; it is impossible for us to
have them prepared before five or six days.

Q. Do you consider that a minute of a judgment initialed by the Judge, as
explained above, containing the exact substance of a judgment rendered in open Court,
can be subsequently altered as to its substance or its executory provisions, without that
constituting a forgery ?-I am not ready to give an opinion on that question, inas-
much as in the case to which I just now alluded, an advocate alleged that the Judge
had altered the date of the judgment. An improbation (inscription de faux) was
entered, and Judge Mondelet dismissed the action, and did not grant the improbation.
Bo that it would be impossible for me to give an opinion on the matter.

Q. Do you consider that such a minute, containing the rejection of a motion in
op en Court, could be altered in such a way as to make it state falsely the granting of
that same motion, in open Court, without the commission, by that act, of aforgery ?-
I consider that there is no forgery, if the Judge, on the Bench, immediately, seeing
that there is a mistake, changes his judgment.

Q. If, instead of making that alter ation at once in open Court, he made it several
<days afterwards, out of Court, in the absence of one of the parties, do you consider
that that would not constitute a forgery ?-I am not prepared to say that that would
constitute a forgery; for it appears to me that a certain latitude should be allowed
to the Judge, provided the parties do not suffier by the correction which ho makes,
and that he makes that correction in the interests of justice.

Q. In case one of the parties should suffer from it, whether for the costs or ila
relation to the decision itself ?-I would still not give a decision; I would leave it ta
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the tribunal to decide whether there is forgery. Private opinions as to forgery are
not worth much.

Q. Can you cite a single case in whieh on the calling of a case at enquête, the
defendant being present and having declared that ho had n6thing to say, an entry was8
made in the registry or roll to the effect that he had declared his enquête closed ?-It
Las never been done to my knowledge, and I have regularly followed the"Court of
emquête and hearing on the meiits, during several years.

Q. On what do you base the opinions you expressed in your examination-in-chief
in relation to the dutv of the Judge and of the Prothonotory to make the changes of
which you spoke ?-On the very simple reason that it would be impossible to make
the proceedings always correct in a district like that of Montreal, where we are,
overwhelmed with records, documents, suites of every kind; it is hardly possible, I say,.
that a man should not make mistakes when he bas so much business to supervise.

Q. Then, we are to understand that you do not base that on any authority, or any-
text of law ?-I base it on the practice which bas always obtained; as well as I can
remember, that bas always been done without complaint having been made, and the
only caseof improbation I know of for Montreal is that I mentioned to you just now.

Q. Do you not know of any precedents contrary to the opinions you have
expressed ?- Not personally.

Q. You have never made a special study of that question as a matter of law and
of jurisprudence ?--No.

Re-Examined :
Q. In your answers you have bçen made to go farther than you thought to go.

You were spoken to about the case of a "slip" which might be initialled by a
Judge ? -Yes.

Q. In general the "slips " are never initialled by the Judge ?-Never.
Q. Let us suppose that the Judge were to put his initials at foot of a "slip," in

order to identify it, or for any other reason, and that subsequentlyanother judgment
should be drawn up as if the initialling had not taken place; do you consider that in
that case the "slip " would have changed its character, that it woull be the judg-
ment, and that the draft of judgment drawn up by the clerk and initialled subse-
quently by the Judge, would not remain the minute of the judgment ?-The " slip "
would never be anything but a simple note of the judgment, and the lraft initialled
by the Judge would be the true judgment, because the "slip " does not itself com-
prise ajud-gment; it could not serve as ajudgment, and we could not enter it as a.
judgment, since it bas not the form of one.

(Mr. Justice Loranger produces two drafts of judgment, on occasions in whieh he
sat in review.)

Re-cross-examined :-
Q. If the note of the judgment entered on the "slip " comprises the substance,

the reasons and the de cisions of a judgment delivered in open Court, and the
Judge bas added at foot of those notes his initials, for what reason would you persist
in saying that they would not be the minute of the judgment ?-That would not be a
" slip," but would be the judgment delivered by the Judge, and there would not be
any other.

Q. Then it would not make any difference that that should be entered on a
"slip," or on another paper, provided the substance be such as is above mentioned ?-
Provided it contains ajudgment and the initials of the Judge.

R. A. RIRUBERT.

Judge JoHNsoN, being sworn, was examined by Judge LoRANGEa as followd.-
Q. You bave been a Judge in the Superior Court since 1865 ?----Yes.
Q. You have held Co irt both in Montreal and the rural districts ?-Yes.
Q. Se you are aquainted with the practice in different places ?--I think I am.
Q. Who do you think, regularly 'pcaiking. shol I hold the book for enquête, or

mnerit, is it the clerk or the Judge?--The beory of the law is that the book is kept
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ty the Court, through the instrumentality of its offiç&ers of oarse. But it is a book
-of the Court.

Q. But whoever keeps the roll, do you think the entries made in the margin of
the roll are authentic entries, but are they not mere memoranda to guide the entry

>f the proceedings ?-Essentially temporary, and subject to be corrected every d*y,
and are so in practice.

Q. Do you think that a party having submitted his case, or in go mrany words; or
by stating that he had nothing to say, is by the fact debarred afterwards to invoke
informalities of inscription at enquête and merits by the other party ?-If the party
£ays he has nothing to say, I understand that to mean what it says. If it afterwards
turns ont that he said it with a mental reservation, and intended to say something,
I lhould say it was what is commonly called " pettifogging "-bad faith.

Q. Then would you call it pettifogging, or an act of bad faith on the part of a lawyer
to take council with another party to let the Judge ignore the fact of an informality;
-the lawyer not to take advantage of it at enquête, but to let judgment go against him,
with the intent afterwards of appealing from the judgment by invoking that infor-
mality and throwing the costs upon the other party ?-That would be plainly a trick,
nothing else, punishable, I suppose, by the rules of the bar, in countries where those
mules go for something, but not in Lower Canada I am sorry to say.

Q. Then you would think that the Judge who made plain the entry of declaration
-of the end of enquête, in order to make the facts appear clearly, would be doing
nothing else, virtually, but defeating that trick and rendering justice to all parties ?
-The Judge is there to do right, not to do wrong, much less to perpetuate a wrong
when he sees it has been done by inadvertence. The book is to record the truth and
not to record errors; errors are to be corrected by the Judge; he is there for that
purpose.

Q. Then you think it is not only the right of the Judge, but also hie duty to
correst entries when they are found to be wrong, in order to make them in accordance
with the facts ?-Well, that is putting it very generally. Judges are generally
extremely reluctant to do anything of that sort until they are quite convinced it ms
their duty to do eo.

Q. In this supposed case where the clerk of the Court, having to make up a
record, finding there is no formal entry in the book of declaration of closing of
enquête, and thinking this declaration to be essential or useful, goes to the Judge and
enquires as to the fact. The Judge, finding that the party has closed his enquête by
the very fact that he had submitted the case, would he not only be justified, but
would not it be his duty to make a declaration that the party had closed hie
enquête ?--The party, by saying that he had nothing to say, as I understand to be
the case here, says in effect that he bas no enquête to make; but if he has an enquête
to make, he applies for a day. Therefore, when he says nothing, or says he has
miothing to say, he says really that. e hlas closed the enquête, and nothing else. If
the Judge is there for any purpose at all except for a mere ornament, I should think
he would be obliged to say to that effect.

By Mr. Irving:-
Q. Under the circumstances, ought not the Judge to put down "enquête

losed " ?-Certainly, not to let any obscurity prevail when none is intended; not to
let an advantage be taken of a mere form of words.

By Mr. Baby:-
Q. You consider in that case the record is right ?--Most undoubtedly. Errora

are to be rectified before they become the truth.
By Judge Loranger:-

Q. Could you tell us to your knowledge what has been the practice of the Court
with respect to patent or manifest errors found on the slips after the pronouncing of
judgment in Court and before it is registered finally? -The entering of a judgment
finally is not on a slip or memorandum. The memorandum is merely for the pur-
pose of conducing to the correct registering of the judgment, and the memorandum
nust be rectified if it is wrong. I ha a n 1ie it scores of times, and have had it dona
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for me. There is one case in point before me. I had rendered a judgment in error,
the case being for $40. The error was obvious, but, as the case had been finally-
entered up, there was no remedy, and I paid -the money myself.

Q. But if you had found out the error before you rendered judgment ?- Cer-
,tainly I would have kept the money.

Q. Supposing this case: Two motions are made-one by defendant and one by
plaintif. Defendant moves to reject the depositions. Plaintiff moves to have inter-
rogatories, to be taken pro confessia, or a motion similar to that. In deliberating, the-
Judge puts on lis slip, " Defendant's motion granted, plaintiffs motion rejected for
want of notice." The parties are represented by the same advocate, their proper
advocates being lawyers, strangers to the district. At the bar it is insisted upon by
somebody that there has been notice of motion. The Judge says, or is understood-
to say, that the only objection to granting the motion is the want of notice. The
lawyer representing both parties informs the plaintiffs own advocate that the slip
contains a rejection of his motion. The advocate goes to the Court, shows the Judge-
the notice and asks him, or gives him to understand that he wants the judgment to be
rectified according to fact, to meet the facts. The Judge without any bad faith, and
the judgment is not yet registered, nor bas lie any interest in the matter whatever,
takes lis pen and strikes out the words "I Rejects plaintiffs motion," and says instead
"Grants plaintiff's motion." Do you think, under these circumstances, any blame
can be attached to the Judge ?-I think in that case the judgment would be one-
rendered upon verification of facts which the Judge had reserved to himself the right
Io verify; and it was bis duty to render judgment according to the verification either
for plaintif or defendant. If the notice turned out to have been given, it would be
judgment for the plaintif; but if I found no notice I would adhere to the original
judgment.

Q. Have you inthe course of your practice as a lawyer, or as a Judge, noticed or
taken cognizance of charges made in consequence of manifest errors of judgments
before their registration ?-I have known of sncb cases; there is a case in appeal,
Palsgrave vs. Ross, where it was held and always has been that the judgment is to be-
found in the register of the Court, and not in the slip or guide.

Q. What do you say concerning these slips; do you think they can be, under any
circumstances, considered as minutes of judgment ?-Certainly not, they are con-
stantly corrected in practise-every day in Montreal, as Mr. Jetté can tell you ; the-
administration of justice would be impossible otherwise. It would lead to endless con-
fusion unless we corrected errors on the spot, because errors will creep in.

Q. Do you mean on the Bench ?-Sometimes then or days afterwards, whenever
the matter happens to be brought up by the Prothonotary, who is nearly as hard
-worked as we are. In the country you can verify them in a day after, but we in.
Montreal can't do it until a great many days after the slips are furnished; whenever
we see errors in the slips we don't sign the judgments until they are rectified.

Q. Now, don't you think the administration of justice would be greatly imperilled
if errors were to be adhered to, and were not to be rectified before the entering of the
judgment ?-Of course; the Judge is there to do justice and not to do injustice. If
le has inadvertently done injustice he as got to correct it if he is still in time before
the registration of the judgment; but if afterwards, it must be taken up on appeal and
corrected there.

Q. Do you think, as a matter of public law, that strangers to records have any
interest in or any positive right to take advantage of the irregularities committed by
Judges in the rendering of their judgments or procedure ?

The OCAmmU : I think we will not add any more remarks upon that.
Q. Would you be good enough to take cognizance of the Order in Council ?-This

Order in Council was not passed until I had been on t he Bench for three years. I
never made an account or kept an account in my life, but I have a very faithful friend
named Schiller, who attends to these matters for me; and when this Order in Council
was passed he informed me that I was entitled at least t three days' allowance for
absence from my residence, which I regularly received until about three months ago,
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-when having been at the Circuit Court at Soulanges, absent only one day, leaving-
early in the morning by train and returning late at night, Mr. Schiller sent in my
bill as usual for three days. I got a note from a gentlemaí who is now in the Depart-
ment of Justice, I think his name is Lash, referring me to the last statute, and as I
did not want to biggle about $12, I said " all right," and received $6 instead of $18.
Afterwards, having a moment's leisure to look into the law, I found ho was wrong and
that I was honestly entitled, even by the law, to the $18, because the proviso in the
statute of 1869 evidently applies to the case, that was mentioned in the Order ini
Council, and that Mr. Lash applied it in error. The matter is perfectly obvious to~
anyone acquainted with it; by reading Chief Justice Meredith's letter, the inference ise
irresistible,-who himself was the autor of the amendment, and it was prepared by
the previous Government; and I could claim the ,$12 which I have been done out of
most assuredly.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick
Q. Is there a more recent statute ?-That of 1872 refers merely to the criminal

side of the Court of Queen's Bench. It merely gave the Judges a right to receive-
$100 when they happened to be on the criminal side of the Court of Queen's Bench.

By Judge Loranger :-
Q. Don't you consider that the only effect of the changes of the statute of 1869

and 1872 have been to grant the Judges of the Superior Court £25 when they attended
the Court of Appeals; and, secondly, the sum of £25 when they attended the Criminal
Term, and to have the right, under the Order in Council, to claim three days, at all
events ?-It was the practice of the Department of Justice invariably to pay for three
days; and when the Government put that construction on their own contract with
the Judges, and the Judges assented to it, I don't think there is any room for doubt.
At the same time, I must say, if I bad to take up the Act of 1872 alone and looked
at the more letter of the law, there might be a doubt.

Q. But since you take them all together, that of 1869 and 1872 and the Order in
Council, as a matter of interpretation, don't you believe that the three days are due-
under the last Act as well as under the first? I don't think it possible to separate-
the Act from the practice of the Department of Justice and the Order in Council.

Q. To your knowledge have not all the Judges claimed the three days under all
circumstances ?-I believe so; I have never known of any exception. I never had,
any opinion on the subject until that letter was received from Mr. Lash.

Q. Judges Berthelot, McKay, Dorion, and all the Judges in Montreal, have
claimed the three days, when they were only one day absent ?-They told me so.

Q. Is it not customary, and, in fact, is it not the letter of the law, that the Judge'
bas a right to $6 a day from the time ho leaves his house to the moment he returns,
without inculding fractions of a day from the afternoon or niorning ? -Undoubtedly'
ho las.

Q. Supposing a Judge arrives at his place of residence at half-past twelve or at
one o'clock in the morning, would not he have an equal right to charge $6 for that
fraction of a day, as if he had arrived at half-past eleven in the morning ?-There
cannot be any doubt about it-that is, as regards the rights of the Judge; but the-
public are not always as reasonable in urging thoir rights as the Judges are. You may
find the public and the press kicking up a row through ignorance. It is undoubtedly
the law in Lower Canada that there is no such thing as a fraction of a day; all parts
of days are days.

Q. As to the verification of accounts, I think it is the practice of the Judges to-
certify to their accounts; but do you know any direct and positive evidence, or the
way ho can bring direct and positive evidence of ,the number of days he has been
absent from home; is he not considered the sole judge of that question ?-I believe
any Judge would find great difficulty in bringing conclusive evidence of the number
of days of his absence in any given case, unless his word were taken for it, which I
hope it would be in any part of the British dominions; because if the word of a Judge-
is not to be taken, he certainly ought not to be a Judge-that is, if the English view
of the office of a Judge is to be taken. Ie should be above suspicion, and his word.
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,should be above suspicion. There is no room for doubting that a Judge who would
tell a lie is not fit for his place.

Q. In travelling on circuit business is not a Judge to follow the ordinary rules
of comfort and personal convenience ?--Well, 1 think he would be right in pursuing
his comfort as much as possible, but as far as these words apply to Lower Canada,
whether he would attain it or not, I don't know. But it is quite certain the allowance
is perfectly insufficient. I have been called to St. Jerome, and have paid $20 for
carriage hire besides hostelry bill, and have incurred an expense of at least $28,
while even at the rate I am contending for, I shall only be entitled to $18. Then I
lived upon salt pork and slept upon a straw bed.

Q. I don't speak of comfort as far as the Judge can attain it. I know I did not
get much myself for the last few months, but I mean as to the time of day and hour
of starting either from his circuit, or getting to his circuit, whether he is bound to
get up earlier or start in rougher times than he would if travelling for himself ?--Of
-course he is the proper judge of that; no one else can be the judge for him, according
to his health and feelings. Ie is not required to-be an absolute slave, I take it.

Q. Which he would be, if he has numerous and distant circuits to follow ?--Of
course. When I had two districts, Bedford and Beauharnois, and also occasionally
Sherbrooke, I found it as much as I could do by the travelling. I was broken down
from travelling, and not from the Judge's labours.

Q. Don't you know it bas been the sanie thing with me ?---Certainly.
Q. And besides that I used to follow the Courts of Appeal?-Yes.

By Mr. Irving :-
Q. But in any case in which the Judge has made a determination in a step in

the cause, and upon which time or opportunity bas been offered for the party in
intereEt to move or act upon the question of the adjudication ; has the Judge, in your
view, a right to materially change or reverse the same without all parties being
before him ?-I think not, as the question is there put. But I have repeatedly
relied on the good faith of the parties. If they had these little slips, I left it to them
to complain, being quite ready to justify myself for anything I had done. Judges
must do that, or justice will come to a standstill in Lower Canada.
- Q. Would not that involve them giving notice of the change ?--I would under
such circumstances; I would say, "I am going to alter it, take an appeal if you like."

By Judge Loranger:-
Q. Would you not consider that the parties proceeding on that rectification and

not drawing the attention of the Judge to it, or not complaining of it when he bad a
good occasion to do, would act as if he acquiesced ?-Clearly.

Q. And don't you think that the acquiescence of the parties to the rectification
of the judgment made in their absence even, would be a confirmation of the alteration?
-Clearly.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In Lower Canada all judgments are delivered in open Court. Do I understand

you to say the Judge can alter the judgment and make it different from the judgment
entered in open Court?--Not in principle. If I render a judgment maintaining a
certain principle, I may not alter that principle afterwards.

Q. Let me suppose another case: If you have rendered a judgment in open
Court, under the impression that you have overlooked a piece of procedure that
would be necessary to come to a conclusion, you afterwards find you have com-
mitted an error; do you consider you can alter the judgment in the register from
what it was in open Court ?-Not without further exception in public. I would order
the officer to give notice that I wanted to explain it. I would stand by the conse-
quences if I thought I was right.

By Judge Loranger:-
Q. You would stand by the consequences if even the parties thought you were

wrong ?-Undoubtedly.
Oross-examination waived.

F. G. JOHNSON.
Committee adjourned.
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Judge RAMsAY was sworn, and examined by Judge LORaNGEi as follows-
Q. low long were you an Associate Judge of the Superior Court? -- Rather more

than two years; two years and some days.
Q. How long have you been in the Court of Appeals ?-Since the end of October,

1873.
Q. Suppose the following facts to be admitted as true: A defepdant is sued on

promissory notes, he pleads to the case, the plaintiffs enquête is fixed for a certain lagù,
say the 19th May; on that day he closes his case; the defendant's enquête is fixed for
five months afterwards, say the 3rd October; on that day, the 'case being called, the
plaintiff prays for judgment; the presiding Judge addresses the defendant and asks
him whether he bas any enquête to make, or whether he as anything to say; the
defendant answers that he has nothing to say and submits his case, upon which the
Judge writes these Jetters in the roll of enquêtes and merits: "P.O.C.A.V. Judgment
is rendered against the defendant." The clerk of the Court, having to enroll the
proceedings and to make a transcript of the case, asks the Judge whether the defend-
ant's enquête has been closed; upon that the Judge strikes out the letters P.O.C.A.V.,
and for the guidance of the clerk writes these words: " The defendant declares his
enquête closed," and underneath re-establishes the letters P.O.C.A.V. Do you consider
that in submitting his case and saying that ie bas nothing to say the defendant has
virtually closed bis equête?

(Question objected to by Mr. BRoUssEAU Objection overruled after discussion.)
A. I think ie has absolutely closed his enquête.
Q. Do you consider that in inserting in the roll-book or entry-book that the

defendant bas declared his enquête closed that any blame is to be attached to the
Judge; or whether ie has not only done what he was' bound to do, viz., to complete
the entry ?-I think that the Judge who makes the entry has clearly the right in good
faith to complete his entry, so that the parties may not be injured by a mere omission
on the part of the Judge. In explanation of my answer and to avoid misconstruction
upon a matter of the highest importance, that is, the integrity of records, I make a
distinction between an entry in a memorandum book kept merely to preserve the
course of the proceedings and a record regularly closed. If a Judge closes a record
any alteration of that record after it was closed would be a faux, and I believe can
be inscribed against as afaux. There was a decision in lower Canada opposed to this
opinion, to the effect that an inscription en faux, or to use the new English word "impro-
bation," cannot be brought to attack a judgment. I think differently. But I make this
distinction that the case represented to me is not that of a record closed or judgment
entered up, but merely a memorandum in order that the clerk of the Court may
terminate the proceedings in a formal manner.

Q. Then you consider that the entries made by the Judge at enquête are notes or
memoranda for the guidance of the clerk; and has not that been the practice followed
by yourself and the other judges of the Superior Court of Lower Canada ?--A memo-
randum book is necessarily a memorandum book; it could not be given any form but
that. The appearance of entries in the book produced shows that they are totally infor-
mal. They are full of blanks. They are not continuous, nor is there anything to give
them the appearance of formal records. I really don't know what we did in these matters
some years ago. I never imagined that a question of this sort could arise. As to
what the practice was, I really do not remember. It differed in different circuits and
in different districts. A great deal depends upon the ability of the clerk. When I
had business to despatch and found the clerk not well up to his work, as they are
sometimes to be found in country places, I have made the entries myself. I put them
down in good faith and as I understood them to be. I do not remember that I ever
looked upon a book of this kind as anything but a mere memorandum book. I think the
book speaksfor itself. Of course you will understand that when I speak of a change
of this sort, it is a change in accordance with the fact.

Q. What would you consider this book (produced) ?-Having looked at a book
produced before the committee and inscribed as a " Role d'enquête et de droit," I say
this is such a book as I should consider a sort of memorandum book. It is in the
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form of a memorandum book and the white column left here is evidently for memo-
randa and the notes of the Judge, when he writes them himself, or of the clerk.

Q. Would you be good enough to look at the entry book of the Circuit Court of
Sorel, wbich you held in 1871, and say whether some entries similar to those have
not been made by yourself ?-I see my handwriting in several places in this book. It
appears that on the 8th January, 1872, I entered in the case of Barthe vs. Millette the
words " Parties heard del." There is also another entry in my handwriting, " 69---
A. u. Jan.," for January I suppose.

Q. Do you look upon those entries as being anything but memoranda or notes
written for the guidance of the clerk ?--They are evidently memoranda, many of the
words are only written in abbreviation.

Q. Memoranda for the guidance of the clerk ?--For the guidance of the clerk;
it is not the judgment of the Court.

Q. Do you consider that in closing bis enquête and submitting bis case without
reservation the party waives lis right to plead short or insufficient notice of the in-
scription of bis case by the adverse5 party ?-I can best answer that byciting what hap-
pened to me in my own practice ; being a little addicted in the early days of my prac-
tice to raising all kinds of objections, a habit which is not uncommon among young
members of the profession; I once raised an objection of this sort before a very
learned bench then existing in Montreal, of which Mr. Justice Day was presiding
judge, which was declared to be a formidable one. I was afterwards told, however, in
spite of this, that my motion could not be allowed, because trifling matters of procedure
which were established in favor of the opposite party are waived by any proceeding
taken subsequently. I believe that was known to a great many people then, but I did
not know it as well as I do now.

Q. But as a J udge ?-If you ask me in that capacity, I will say that a simple irre-
gularity in procedure is covered by a subsequent valid procedure.

Q. Do you consider that after judgment that a party who bas submitted bis case
could in revision or in appeal, obtain a reversal of the judgment merely because there
would be no formal declaration of closing of evidence, when the entry book did show
that he had in fact submitted bis case ?--There cnn be no doubt that if he had closed his
case he could not go back upon the mere want of a regular foreclosure. A great many
records do -not show the closing of the enquête. It is a very common thing not to
show the closing ; it is an omission, butnot an uncommon one.

Q. You call foreclosure of the enquête the same thing as the closing ?--I mean the
regular closing; there are two closings-one declaring against the party forcibly, and
the other when the defendant declares the enquête closed. If there was acquiescence
in the foreclosure afterwards this acquiescence clears away the difficulty. This is on
the same principle that acquiesence in judgment prevents an appeal.

By Mr. Jetté:-
Q. Would arguing the case immediately afterwards be acquiesence ?----Yes.

By Judge Loranger:-
Q. Is not submitting the case the same thing as arguing the case as far as

acquiesence is concerned ?----Clearly.
Q. I presume you are acquainted with the practice called slips. Do you look

upon the slips in any other light than that of a note or memorandum, or direction
given by the Judge to the Clerk to draw the judgment ?----ln answer to that I may
say that I never have performed the duties of Judge of the Superior Court in
Montreal ; and although I am aware that slips do exist and thirigs are entered upon
those slips, I may say that during my practice at the bar I never looked upon then
in the peculiar point of view of this investigation, and I am not prepared to say
what interpretation might be put upon the entries of the Judge on them. I have
never looked at the thing in that way. I take it, however, that the slips are
memoranda. I do not know but they might take the place of that book (the roll
of enquête) to some extent, but I cannot say. They may be sometimes signed and
take a more formal character. I am not prepared to say.
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Judge Loranger here produced an Order in Council of 27th October, 1868, firing
the travelling expenses of the Judges of the Superior Court.

Q. Will you be good enough to say what is the practice with regard to the-
remuneration of Judges for travelling expenses, and that coupled with the Order in
Council, 29th October, 1868, and the provisions of the statutes 32 and 33 Vic., chap.
38, and 35 Vie. chap. i1 ?--The Order in Council had ceased to be in force as being
the law by which Judges charged their travelling expenses before I was on the
Bench, and I never saw the Order in Council in my life. When I was put on the
Bench I was totally ignorant of the existence on the Statute-book of the statute which
took the place of the Order in Council. Traditionally I was under the impression
thut the Order in Council still governed the thing. At first I had no knowledge of
how these travelling expenses were charged. We charged $6 a day in consequence
of my hearing that this was generally charged. In some cases this was to my loss,
because there were places to which I went but for a single day, and finding
little or no business I would close the Court, I went on charging at
this rate, the same for one as more days, till my attention was called
to the fact that I had a right to charge three days as a minimum. My
attention was then drawn to this statute. After that, when I sat for only one
day I charged three days for it, and I was always paid at the rate of $6 a day. I now
come to the second branch of the question, as to the mode in which I interpret this
law. I really did not observe the difficulty until my attention was drawn to it very
recently-I think it was only yesterday. And then I saw what everybody must see,
that according to the strict words of the statute the three days' rule only applied to
" the two last cases." If you read t7e Statute you will there see under the proviso
beginning with the words-" But this provision does not apply to the attendance of a
Judge of the Superior Court and the Court of Queen's Bench, or for the purpose of
disposing of cases already heard," it might be possible to interpret it so that this three
days' rule applied only to this part of the section. But if the Committee will examine
it according to the reason of the law, they will see that could not be the interpretations
because there are not two cases at all; there is only one case. It is only the case
where the Judge shall appear for part of the term and for the purpose of disposing of
cases already heard,-that is when the Judge appears by the day and not by the
term. That is the whole object of the proviso. According to the rules of interpreta-
tion where the reason of the law does not favour the interpretation, a cause of this
description does not refer to the proviso but to the whole section. It must be observed
that the two cases, which it must have been intended to refer to, were the two cases
where the Judge is a Judge of the Superior Court or of the Court of Queen's Bench, and
is absent from his residence. That is a reasonable reading of the law. It would be
manifestly absurd to say that one Judge who was absent from his residence for one
day to do a particular thing, should be paid at the rate of $6 a day, for three days ;
and another Judge when he was absent performing precisely a similar duty could not
charge for the three days. So that unless the interpretration of laws ex ratione is to
be excluded, it is perfectly plain that the interpretation which we have always given,
applies to all cases in which a Judge of the Superior Court, or the Court of Queen's
Bench, is absent from his residence for the purpose of his judicial functions. If it
does not mean that then all I can say is that I am afraid the whole Bench will be-
open to the censure of this Committee, and certainly I am.

Q. That impression agrees with the Order in Council ?-It was evidently intended
to incorporate the Order in Council in the Statutc.

Q. Is the provision in the Order in Council in the Statute ?-There was no
intention to change it. It was to give us the allowance as a right, instead of leaving
us at the will of the Government. We come to another change of the law which
took place in 35 Vic., that is 1832. I believe this change took place without any 'idea
of changmng that portion of the law at all. EveÈybody knew of the three days' rule.
The Government never called it in question; they paid it, and acknowledged it as a
right. There was no difficulty about it. They knew it in the Minister of Justice's
office just as well as we did, and they sanctioned it. As far as that is concerned, I
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do not think I am required to enter into any defence of myself 1 charged it, afd I
think I had the right to charge it. While I was in the Superior Court a distinction
had been made under 32 and 33 Vie., between the Judges of the Superior Court
holding a Criminal Term, which is the Term of the Court of Queen's Bench, and
the Judges of the Court of Queen's Bench, holding a like Term. This distinction was
brought under the notice of Chief Justice Meredith. I drew his attention to the
fact that this intepretation was bad, and gave rise to an invidious distinction injurious
to the position of the Judges of the Suporior Court. I told him I considered the
section did not properly bear the interpretation that was put upon it; that it
created an invidious distinction between one class of judges as to another, doing
identically the same work. I mentioned it to Chief Justice Meredith, and he agreed
to some extent in my criticism.

Mr. BROUssEAU: I object to evidence by hearsay.
Witness, by permission, proceeded: Having talked with him on the subject, and

he objeting to take any part in it, I said it was my intention to bring it to the
notice of the Minister of Justice, so that this distinction should cease to exist. I
determined to do it in a formal manner. I did it thus :--Interpreting the Statute
according to my view, I charged $100 for one whole ternm of the Court of Queen's
Bench, where I had only been a few days. Of course the thing was criticised. The
Deputy Minister of Justice wrote me to say I was not entitled under the Statute to

charge $100. I wrote back to the Deputy Minister of Justice explaining the inter-
pretation I put upon the law. We could not agree, and I declined to accept
travelling allowance for a number of days, whereupon my bill was cut off altogether,
which I expected. I refused to take less remuneration for the future than the
Judges of the Court oi Queen's Bench, and I resolved not to send in any bill for the
Court of Queen's Bench, for I did not consider mine an illegal interpretation of the
law, and I thought tbe lesser remuneration was injurious to the Court of which I had
the honor of being a member. This law (the last one) was passed, and we were
actually paid some Terms in arrear; I forget what, but certain arrears to cover, I
think, a year's holding of these Ternis, or the difference charging by days, not by
Tern. My impression is that 35 Vie. was only altered with the view of naking
that change. That is my recollection of the law now. The three days' rule was
continued- as in the former Statute, and as it had been paid under the Order in
Council.

Judge Loranger here handed to the Committee a written opinion of Judge
Meredith on the point.

Q. Are you aware that in a number of cases before the Courts of Quebec, judg-
ments written on slips of paper, or pronounced on the Bench have been altered by
the Judge in consequence of manifest errors discovered since judgment, and before it
is registered in the books ?--I cannot say that I know of any particular case of that
sort. But I have always understood, and I believe it to be lawful to alter, as I have
already said, in good faith, a memorandum, or a slip of paper, or any blotter book
until the judgment is entered up.

By Mr. Irving:---
When ?--While the case is still under our control. When the case is regularly

entered up it is different. Of course there must be finality. It is not at the
moment you render the judgment that you can reduce it to w-riting. There must be
a space of time, and it may be a violent abuse of principle or the most ordinary thing
in the world; it depends upon your good faith. Of course this is while the matler is
quite fresh in the Judge's memory, and must be in perfect accordance with the fact.
I have heard that slips have been altered in this way. There have never been any
suspicions as to Judges improperly altering slips in Montreal during my practice, and
my atwntion bas not been drawn to it. It has been the cause of remark, but not of
such remark as to impugn the honesty of the judge in doing it.

By Judge Loranger :-
Q. l it not considered as a general notion in the Province of Quebec, that as long as

the judgment of the Court is not registered it does not cease to be under the control
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of the Court or the Judge ?-Certainly it is not beyond his control; and as I have
said it is almost necessary that this should be so. Frequently judgments are not re-
duced to writing before they are pronounced in Court.

By Mr. Jetté :-
Q. Do you consider any alteration would be lawful?-Not the substance, after

being formally pronounced.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Suppose this case: A motion is rejected; this is put on the slip, and the
judgment is delivered on the Bench; would the Judge be justifiod, if in a few days he
finds he has committed an error, from a false impression, in coinpletely altering hii
judgment and in graating the motion ?-You may distinguish in this way: SupposO à
motion passes upon the supposition, we will say, that there has been notice. But in
the verification it appears there was no notice; manifestly the Judge would commit
a fraud upon the parties il he entered up that judgment, and most disastrous con-
sequences might follow.

By Mr. Brooks:
Q. Although he had granted it on the Bench ?-There are matters of form

and matters of discipline. As we deal with the Bar we expect the Bar to deal with
us. If I decide on the merits of the case and I make an error, I clearly have no
right to " go back " on that decision, because that would render the administration
of justice uncertain. But suppose I have been led astray by bad faith (which I
have never met with), or through a misunderstanding a lawyer obtains a judgment,
and it be not entered up, a Judge would have the right certainly to revoke it while
the thing was stili open.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Ilow do you understand a judgment being open ?-Not being entered up,

and the Judge would explain to the lawyer: " You have led me into an error, and I
shall not enter the judgment I rendered."

By Mr. Irving:--
Q. After an inscription for review has been filed, would you consider your

control over the case in force then ?---If the judgment was entered up, yes. A case
came up on appeal the other day. The minutes came up to us imperfectly set forth;
the parties consented to go back and we sent it back, as the minutes were manifestly
incorrect ; the Court below altered and corrected the record. That is done under the
code. There is a distinction where it is a matter of discipline; when a Judge decides
upon the merits of a case, and lie declares for a party openly in Court, and there
was no error of procedure, then the judgment is a valid one, but if the judgment was
rendered merely by the Judge being misled, then the Judge would be justified in
altering the judgment; I should not hesitate to do so myself.

By Mr. Baby:--
Q. It is argued that the judgment has not been given. The Judge rejects the

motion on the point that he was misled as to notice being given, say, by the plaintif
to the defendant. But the lawyer for the latter shows two or three days afterwards
that notice was given and is in the record. Could not the Judge thon, in the interests
of justice, change " defendant " to " plaintiff?"-I don't think he should do it in that
case if I quite understand you.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Then you would order the Clerk not to enter the ju4gment against the party?

-Yes.
Q. Supposing the motion is dismissed on the ground that there was no notice,

then the plaintiffs' attorney comes in Chambers and shows that you were in error;
then would not the JuAge grant the motion ?-[ don't think I should enter up a
judgment for the other party in Chambers.

By Judge Loranger
Q. Sutposing two motions are made-one by the defendant to have certain

depositions rejected; the other by the plaintiff to have certain interrogations taken
pro confessis. The case is argued before the Judge. In deliberating he is of the
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opinion to grant defendant's motion, and also to grant plaintiff's motion, as being
motions of course, or nearly such. But not finding notice of motion given by plaintiff
to defendant, he puts on his slip that plaintiff's motion is rejected for want of notice.
He comes up on the Bouch. Interested lawyers being strangers to the place are not
present in Court, but are there represented by somo lawyer bolonging to that Bar.
In giving judgment the Judge says: " I grant defendant's motion and I don't grant
plaintiff's motion, because there is no notice of it." A remark is made to him in
presence of the lawyer representing both parties that he is under a mistake-that
there is notice in fact. Then he gives them to understand that in that case, if there
was notice plaintitf's motion must be granted. Subsequently the lawyer representing
both parties writes to the plaintiff's attorney that on the slip of paper his motion is
rejected. That lawyer comes to Court with the lawyer representing both parties.
They go to the office and sees that the slip of paper rejects plaintiff's motion. The
plaintif's attorney comes to the Judge's chamber and shows him that he has given
notice of his motion and desires the Judge, or gives the Judge to understand that he
wishes him to give judgment according to the facts. Upon that the Judge in perfect
good faith, having no interest in the world to act wrongfully, changes his slip and
maintains plaintiff's motion. Do you think that on that account any blame is to be
attached to him?

The Chairman: I will remark this is not exactly according to the facts.
Judge Loranqer : At all events I should like an answer upon the facts as I state

them, and as I see them; and I don't want to discuss that point.
Judge Loranger's question is put as an hypothetical question. As he has put it,

it would clearly be within the Judge's right to alter the slip. The question is alluded
to on the Bench, and it is perfectly understood. It is a judgment a verifier.

By the Chairman:-
Q. If no remark had been made on the Bench ?-
Witness: You mean to say if he dismissed the motion he thon entered it in the

other way ?
Chairman: Yes.
A. I cannot say that he would be justified.

By M1fr. Kirkpatrick:-
Q. If he sent for the lawyers on both sides ?--Oh, certainly. The Committee will

understand the governing point in such matters in good Lith.
Cross-Examined by Mr. Brousseau:-

Q. Ín your opinion, Mr. Judge, in the Superior Courts, or by some rule of practice
having the effect of law, is it binding on the clerks to keep a book or register for the
inscription of cases, and for the entry of the sittings of Courts and the proceedings
of the parties in Court ?-All Courts of Record have records and registers for the
regular pr< servation of their proceedings. These registers are written out from
memoranda taken at the time, more or less full, according to circumstances. In Courts
of Criminal Jurisdiction the memoranda are as a rule written out while the Court
Bits, but sometimes afterwards. The clerk asks the Judge what the decision is and
he is given the memorandum. I could not tell you, without enquiry, the origin of the
registers in Canada. ,

Q. Are you of opinion that the clerk of any Court of Record,such as the Superior
Court, is bound to keep a book or register for the hearing of cases in Court, either
enquête or merits ?-le is bound to do it. He is bound to have such a register.

Q. Besides this special register, is the clerk bound, in your opinion, also to keep
nother register, called "Plumitiffs," in which he also registers the proceedings of

parties ?-Yes, but the "Plumitif" is " B " the formal register of the Court, in which
form the memoranda and the regular judgments are entered. These are made up in
the office and not in open Court at all.

Q. Which of these two registers is the register for all the proceedings or
declarations of the parties, while the Court is in sitting ?

Witness: 1 don't know what you mean.
Mr. Brousseau: I refer to both books.
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A. I have already said that of course the Court keeps regular registers. They
are not entered upon the spot. The time for entering would perhaps vary in different
districts, as also the manner of doing so. But the general plan is to enter them from
the memoranda of the Judge or clerk. There is a difference between appealable cases
and non-appealable cases, and there is difference of practice in the various Courts.

Q. From the above are we to understand that the register book for the inscrip-
tion of cases, enquête or merit, is not what you call a regular book ?-From the above
you will draw the deductions you please. The distinction I make is between the
memorandum book-whether it is ordered by law to be kept or is only done so from
usage-.and the writing out the requisite in extenso. I take it the plumitiff is the
register in extenso.

Q. Are yoi of opinion that entries made in those bo.oks, the Court sitting, with
the approbation of the Judge, by the Prothonotary or by the Judge himself, in the
presence of both parties, are authentic, and should be referred to in making transcripts
of the proceedings to cover the record in repeal or review ?-Generally, yes.

Q. Where the case is merely called out by the pronouncing of the name of the
party by the Judge on the Bench at enquête or merit, and that party says nothing, or
his attention being called to the case by the Judge, the party still says nothing, or
says, " I have nothing to say," in your opinion what proceeding or what entry should
be made by the Judge or clerk in the book ?-It might be entered in so many different
ways that it really depends upon the literary taste of the party. The fact would be
that the gentleman who stated he had nothing to say had declared he submitted the
case to the Court. It cannot possibly mean anything else.

Q. Do you think it fair to a party who says he has nothing to say, or that he would
not say anything, for the Judge to enter that he had declared or said that he had
closed his enquête ?-If that was the impression he conveyed, it certainly was.

Q. But if the Judge, instead of making that entry, had made no such entry, the
Court then sitting, do you think it would be fair to that party that tight days after
judgement had been given in the case, or after inscription had been filed by the same
party for review, that the Judge, or anybody else, should alter the entry in the book
by erasing the primitive entry and substituting the words : " The defendant declares
bis enquête closed " ?-Yes; I think he would be quite justified, even after inscription
in review. If the matter was made to appear in review, so that there could be no
doubt that the entry was not made according to the real facts, even thon it could be
corrected. We did it in the appeal not very long ago. We sent back the record to
be corrected, and the Judge objected to it for some time, he saying that he did not
want to be involved in the matter at all. We insisted upon its being done and it was
done. There is an article in the code under which it can be done, but I forget its
number. The inscription in review would not alter the matter at all.

Q. Do you think it would be fair for the party that such an alteration, under
such circumstances, should be made without his knowledge?

Witness:-Do you mean to say without his leave being asked for?
Mr. Brousseau :-Yes.
A. If it was an open thing in Court, I don't think his presence was necessary.

Ie is supposed to know the record is imperfect.
Q. Suppose a party had inscribed for review, in consequence of the insufficiency

of delay in the notice of the inscription at enquête or merit, and had never taken any
proceedings whatever since such inscription was filed; and having inscribed the case
in Review with the hope of getting the judgment reversed, merely on that point (the
insufficiency of notice) would you think such alteration of the book fair to that party
without giving him knowledge of it ?-It would be unfair both before and after
inscription, whether the party got knowledge or not, because the case now put is the
correction of the book against the fact, and not in accordance with the fact. It
would evidently be in bad faith to correct the book against the fact. The case pre-
sented to me now is totally different from that presented before; and therefore my
answer is perfectly consistent. It differs in this, that the parties take no valid pro-
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eoedinge to cover the former irregularities, while, as in the other case, it is said the
party absolutely consented to submit the case.

T. K. RAMSAY.

(Translation.)
The Honourable the Chief Justice of the Court of Appeals of the Province of

Quebec, having been duly sworn, deposeth and saith:
Q. You were called to the Bar in 1842?-Yes, I think it was in the beginning of

that year.
Q. You practised until the month of May, 1874, that is to say, up to the time

when you were appointed to the office of Chief Justice ?-I uninterruptedly practised
my profession at Montreal until I was appointed Judge.

Q. Will you state what is your opinion as to the duties of the clerk and of the
Judge, with respect to the keepiing of rolls of enquête and of law; please state
whether it is the duty of the Judge or the clerk to keep that register ?-The practice
is for the clerk to keep the register, and he ought to keep it conformably to the
orders of the Judge; and it is the duty of the Judge to see that all the entries are
made as they ought to be made.

Q. As to the entries which are made by the Judge on the roll of enquête and
of law, do you consider that when it is the Judge who makes them, those entries
are made for the guidance of the clerk ?-The practice in the District of Montreal is
for the Clerk to keep the register of enquête and of law as a memorandum; I cannot
say exactly what the practice may be in the rural districts.

Q. Are those not only hotes to guide the Clerk ?-Those are only notes which
the clerk takes at the hearing, and which afterwards can be verified by the Judge, if
any difficulties arise; the Judge may correct them or have them corrected; that is the
practice.

Q. Then it being competent for the Judge to correct the entries, or have them
corrected when they are incorrect, if he does it in the place of the clerk, this .should
naturally be within his' power ?-Supposing that the Judge himself keeps the minutes
of judgment; if he perceives that there is an error, he ought to be able to make the
correction according to circumstances; I do not say a long time afterwards.

Q. But within a reasonable time, under circumstances of necessity, and in order
to render justice to the parties ?-As I have just told you, that would depend upon
circumstances.

Q. Well, sir, do you consider that a party whose case is inscribed for enquête, the
defendant for example, and the plaintiff having closed his enquête, the case being called,
and the said defendant declaring that he has nothing to say; do you consider that by
that very fact he declares that he has no enquête to make, and submits his case on the
nerits ?-If the case is inscribed for enquête, and it is ready to be beard, and the par-
ties are in Court; if one party declared that his enquête was closed, the Judge can
enter that the parties were heard, by reason of the very fact that the other party
declared that he had nothing to say. I am sure that in one half the cases which
come into appeal there is no entry at the closing of enquête; but it is well known
that nòne of the parties can take advantage of that in appeal, nor cause a re-opening
of enquête on the pretext that his enquête was not closed, or at least recorded as having
been closed. I may add that during my practice as advocate, very often there was
no closing of enquête. The two advocates in the case met and stated whether the
enquête was or was not finished, they did not take the trouble of entering that in the
register, they simply inscribed the case. In my opinion the declaration as to
closing of enquête is not necessary.

Q. So that the declaration of the closing of enquête, when the parties have been
heard, would be a superfluous declaration ?-I conceive that that declaration is not
necessary, and that if a party wishes to take advantage of the fact that the closing of
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enquête has not taken place, he ought to do so at the time of the hearing if he is
prosent. If the hearing had taken place in his absence it would perhaps be some-
what different, but if he is present he has no grounds for complaining later.

Q. Do you consider that a party who submits his case for hearing on the merite
by that act covers any informalities in the inscription for enquête and merits,--for
example: insufficiency in the notice for inscription ?-As a general rule all informa-
lities of procedure are covered by subsequent proceedings of the party whor
complains of the irregularity, if he has not taken advantage of those informalities.

Q. Would a case coming into appeal with the memorandum only that the parties
were heard, P.O.C.A.V., when in fact the case was submitted, be subject to reversion
in review because there was not a declaration of closing of enquête ?---I have already
answered that one half of the cases which go into appeal have not the declaration of
closing of enquête in the records. and the fact that the parties were heard covers the
want of mention of it.

Q. Having supposed the fact that a defendant had submitted his case on the
merits in Court, and virtually closed his enquête, the clerk, having to make the
transcript, and asking the Judge if there really had been a closing of enquête, the Judge
then writing in the register that the party had closed his enquête, believing
that by doing so he recorded the facts as they really occurred,-is it your opinion
that the Judge is blameable and would do an injury to the defendant ?-The entry of
the declaration of the closing of enquête being in my opinion useless, when the parties
have been heard on the merits of the case, there would be no injury done to any one
of the parties by making that declaration ; and it appears to me a matter of perfect
indifferlence whether that entry was or was not made after the sitting of the Court.

Q. I think that at Montreal, when you were in practice, the use of slips was
introduced ?--I know that formerly the Judges gave their judgments on sheets of
paper, which afterwards served as notes by which the clerks put that into shape.
Judgments are not in Lower Canada what they are elsewhere; it is necessary'
to give the grounds, matters of fact and points of law with the decision, which is the
sondemnation. Now that preparation requires more care, and the Judge (of the
Superior Court I mean) in the press of business puts his notes on a quarter of a sheet
of paper which he gives to the @lerk, who thereupon draws out the judgments in
detinite form. I do not speak of what has been done in recent times,--I have had
nothing to do with practice fur several years; but during twenty-five years I always
saw it donc in that way.

Q. So that the slip is only a note for the Clerk ?-Yes, a note or a memorandum.
Q. Whieh is not the minute ofjudgment ?-No.
Q. The grounds, so and so; such and such a fact; judgment for such an amount;

and thon the clerk puts the judgment into definite shape ?-It is submitted to the
Judge when once drawn out, who examines and puts his initials on it.

Q. Then the minute of judgment is the judgment drawn out by the clerk, and not
the slip ?-The evidence in the registers is the minute which is drawn up by the clerk
in accordance with the written notes, and which is then approved by the Judge, who
puts his initials on the back. That judgment is entered in the registers and romains in
the record, but it is not the slip which is the judgment, the judgment is the minute
drawn up by the clerk.

Q. There cannot exist a judgment properly so called unless it includes and
expresses a condemnation ; that is to say, an executionary provision and grounds there-
for in case the Judge thinks that he should give them ?-The more mention of the words
on the slip " Judgment for the plaintiff," "action dismissed," "motion granted,"
" motion rejected," cannot constitute ajudgment in a legal furm. The code requires,
as I just stated, that the Judges should draw up their judgments, mentioning therein
the principal points of law, the grounds in brief, and that they add a decision. Never-
thesees, in matters of little importance, and on motions, Judges will put-" motion
rejected" or " granted with costs ;" sometimes they will record thereon other proseed-
ings. But in more important matters ajudgment is subsequently drawn up, as I have
said above, based on those matters. Nevertheless, ajudgment is not always drawn up,
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and then the entry is made in-the register in accordance with the notes taken by the
..clerk in Court, and sometimes the Judge himself gives the notes, as, for example, in
.contested cases where the judgments always contain certain grounds with more detail.

Q. But at all events the judgment, to have force as such, should contain a state-
-ment,-the fol lowing or an equivalent statement: " The Court grants or rejects the
motion," "grants or rejects the prayer," in such way that a copy by itself in the
register mpkes it evident that there exists an executory judgnent ?- It is the
register which contains the judgments; the granting or rejection of a motion is
-entered in the registers with all the formalities, the name of the parties, the day of the
ýCourt, the name of the Judge who presided over the Court; after that, one of the
parties having been heard, the other makes default. the Court grants such a motion,
ýetc., etc. In that way it is the register which records what was the motion and what
was the judgment on the motion, and that entry is made by the clerk, who takes
-down on the back of the motion the decision of the Court.

Q. Do you consider that there really exists an authentic judgment or a legal
proof of the judgment, before the Judge has examined, approved or initialed the draft
-of the judgment or minute which remains in the record ?---In the Court of 'Appeals
there does not always remain in the record a minute of the judgments rendered ; it is
the register that contains thejudgments and that is the judgment of the Court.

Q. In the Superior Court does not the draft of the judgment remain in the record?
-In the Superior Court I think the practice is to leave in the record the draft of the
judgment as approved by the Judge; I mean by the draft of judgment the wiiting
prepared by the clerk from the notes ot the Judge and containing all the essential for-
malities which constitute the judgment itself ; I have stated that in the Court of
Appeals the draft of the judgment does not remain in the record; I am not certain
that that neçer occurs ; I know that they have often been returned to me; Ithink that
the clerk makes two copies and it is for that reason that my originals were returned
4o me.

Q. Is it not truc that in order to meet the exigencies of practice and to render
justice to the parties, the Judges are sometimes obliged to make in their judgments,
before they are entered in the register, alterations or changes, the result of evident
mistakes, and of the discovery of some matters of existing facts, and that too after
the delivery of judgments ?--As I have stated, in the Court of Appeals the greater part
of the judgments are drawn up before they are pronounced ; the Court pronounces
them and the said judgments are delivered to the clerk with instructions to complete
them, as respects the form let it be understood, in a word to fill up the judgments. He
bas furthermore precise instructions to complete carefully all that refers to dates, and
sums of money, and if there is anything which is not correct, to show it to the Judge
in order that the involuntary error may be corrected before the entry is made iï the
register. It is part of the instructions of Mr. Marchaud to look after, and to have
corrected, all that does not appear to him to be correet. Accidents of that kind some-
times happen and judgments have been corrected before being entered in the registers
at Montreal, that is to say, the judgments entered in the registers after such
alterations have not always been the bame as the judgments which were prepared
beforehand, or at tne time of the delivery.

Q. Can you cite any case of that nature?---I can cite a case which I remember.
A motion was made in Court to have an appeal rejected because the record had
not been sent up on the day-on which the writ was returnable. The motion was
made in Court, the appellant did'not appear, he was called and default was recorded;
the motion was granted from the Bench. Thinking that notice had been given, the
defendant was called, as I have just said, and his default recorded. Thereupon, Mr.
Marchand perceiving that there had been no notice given, came to me and told me
that the motion bad been granted without notice given. •I at once said to Mr.
Marchand not to enter judgment, and to notify Mr. Prévost himnself, who was the
advocate who had made the motion. Mr. Prévost came and told me that he had
followed the practice of the Superior Court. I explained to him that in the Court of
Appeals things were conducted diffrently,-that by the jurisprudence of the Court
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the appeâl could not be dismissed unless the appellant had been summoned to hear
himself deelared in default,-that the judgment could not be entered and bis motion
must be rejeeted. If that judgment bad been entered it would bave been an injustice,
since the writ had been returned on the very day or the evening before that interview
with Mr. Prévost, and the judgment would never have been pronounced if the Court
had not been under the impression that a regular notice had been given to the opposite
party.

Q. Was it not on the day after that on which the error was discovered Ïthat you
procuredthe entry of a judgment which dismissed the motion ?-Yes, I think Bo; at
all events, it was only after Mr. Préyost had been seen, but I cannot say precisely
when that took place. I had said t/Mir. Marchand: do not enter the judgment, the
motion must not be granted.

I must say that I have since been more particular in asking in Court, before
rendering judgment on motions, whether justice had been given to the parties; and
I directed Mr. Marchand to see to that in a special manner, and if the notice was not
regular, not to enter a judgment rendered without a veritication having been had on
that point. It would, without doubt, be better to verify that beforehand; but as there
are sometimes a considerable number of motions, if it was necessary to verify before-
hand it would be a work which would occupy much time, and cause confusion by
interrupting the proceedings of the Court; and if a motion is granted, we verify after-
wards, in order to make sure that the notice was regular. Those judgments are
deemed to be rendered subject to, verification and are only entered in case all the pro-
ceedings are regulur.

There are, sometimes, also entries made by error, because the Judge bas
not been heard or understood by the clerk; there is sometimes noise in the Court,
and it happens that an error of that kind may be committed. The other day
petitions for the admissions as Bailiff were presented. On the next day, or the
second next day, those petitions not having been laid before us, I asked the clerk
why th:at admission had been made. He answered me that he had understood that
those petitions had been granted. I told him they had not, and requested him to lay
them before me in order to sce, with the other Judges, whether they ought to be
granted or not. There are errors which are perfectly clear and which must be
rectified.

I remember another case; the advocates were, on the one side, Messrs. Andrews,
Caron and Andrews; and on the other, Mr. McKay, I think. The case was more
important than that which I have just cited to you.

It was in relation to a judgment rendered in the Superior Court without coasts.
That judgment was carried into review and there reversed. rhe case was taken into
appeal. The Court of Appeal reversed thejudgment of the Court of Review and
confirmed that of the Superior Court. Through a misunderstanding, through My
fault, perhaps, I wrote down, or there was written down, " Judgement with costs of
the three Courts for the party appealing." Some days afterwards, I received a letter
from Mi. Andrews in which he told me that he thought the judgment of the Superior
Court had been confirmed. that is to say, without costs.

I took it upon myseIf to write immediately to Mr. Dorval, directing him if the
judgment was not entered in the register, to correct it and to restore it as it had been
pronounced, and if it was entered, to send for the advocates and to make the changes
with their consent.

On the tollowing day, I think, Mr. Dorval wrote to me that he had sent for the
advocates, and that the correction had been made in accordance with the facts.

If Mr. McKav had not been willing to consent to its being corrected, it would
probably have been necessary to make a motion in Court in order that the entry in
the registers might be changed. I saw no ditficulty whatever in making that change,
since the judgment had been rendered in that sense.

Q. But still you ordered a correction of the j'dgment which had been' drawn
up ?-Yes, inasmuclh as through inadvertence it had been drawn up containing an
error.
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By Mr. Taschereau
Q. By whom had that judgment been drawn up ?-I cannot say whether it was

by me, but I draw up most of the judgmente; the other Judges in special cases draw
up certain judgments. Sometimes at th'e end or at the beginning, the clerk fills up
bMrks, which I leave it to him to fill up; and I consider that so long as those judg-
ments are not entered in the register, I have the right to correct them or to have
them corrected. As it was drawn up, the judgment of which I have just spoken was
not the j'udgment of the Court, since it comprised an error of one of the Judges or of
the clerk. -

I saw, the other day, a correction of a figure in a judgment which I had given,
and in which I cited Article 1,152. The clerk had put: Article 1,132. Evidently
he had taken my five for a three. Mr. Marchand, with his usual attention, saw by
verifying the code, that Article 1,132 did not at all agree with my citation. He
came to me, and I told him to have the figure corrected since it rendered the reason
of the judgment incomprehensible.

Q. At all events, in the last case but one, concerning Mr. Andrews, you caused
the judgment to be eorrected-that is to say, you caused additions to be made to it ?
-The effect of the judgment was to grant to the appellant only the costs in review
and in appeal, and to deprive him of the costs of the Court below, while by an error
in drawing up the judgment, either the Judge or the clerk had put: With costs of
the several Courts.

Mr. McKay fully admitted that the judgment delivered on the Bench was
different from that entered in the register. The judgment of the Court below had,
I think, been delivered by Judge Tessier. I do not remember well what case it was
......... think it was in a case of Toussaint against Wurtele.

I shall state again that so long as the judgment was not entered in the registers,
I had the right to correct it, or have it corrected, in conformity with the facts.

Q. At all events the judgment, as it had been drawn up, previous to its delivery,
and as approved, contained a condemnation of the appellant to the costs of the
Superior Court where the case originated, and it is that provision of the judgment
which you had changed in such a manner as not to grant him the costs granted by
mistake ?--I do not know exactly whether the judgment had been drawn up before
being pronounced, but this much is certain, that it was so before my departure from
Quebec, because I do not lea, e Quebec until all the judgments are drawn up. It was
after having left Quebec and when the judgment was entered in the register, that I
was informed by Mr. Andrews that the judgment did not agree with that pronounced
on the Bench. I addressed, as I told you, a very precise letter to the clerk, telling
him, if the judgment was not entered, to correct it, as I thought I had the right
to do.

Q. And did not your letter convey to him that if the judgment was not entered
in the register, the clork should give notice to the opposite party before correcting
the mistake ?--The facts are as I have just related them, my letter was very precise,
I was a little uneasy on the subject, " Correct withoutgiving notice," I had written;
"if it is entered, obtain the consent of the advocate, and if he does not consent write
to me." Two days after, I think, Mr. Dorval wrote me that he had sent for the
parties, and that by consent the correction had been made. I makea great distinction
between the book which the clerk keeps, and in which be enters what is done in
Court, and the register itself. The book which the clerk keeps at the sittings is only
a book of notes, which he subsequently transfers to the register, and those notes may
be corrected if there really is an error.

By Mr. Taschereau:--
Q. You speak in this case of the Court of Appeals ?--Yes. The fact is that the

book of which I speak is a mere blotting book which is kept by the clerk.
Q. I think that although you maynot have a personal knowledge of what I am

going to ask you, you nevertheless know that the administration of justice in the
different districts which I had under my jurisdiction, together with the part I took
in the Court of Appeals, either as Judge "ad hoc " or as being appointed by a com-
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mission issuing from the Executive, obliged me to take numerous and len;giy
.journeys-?-l know in fact that ou several occasionsthe Judge was obliged to tiavel
often and- to make long journeys, especially when justice was administered by the
same Judge in the two districts of Joliette and Richelieu. Several circuits lie ut a
great distance from the county-town (chef-lies) where the Honourable Mr. Justie.
Loranger resides. Besides, I can state that for several years, two or three I think;
Judge Loranger attended almost all the Terms of the Court of Appeals at Montreal,
which is about forty-five miles distant from the place where the Judge resides. la
addition to that the Judge frequently attended as Assistant Judge, as occsions
required, the Court of Appeals likewise, at different times, and that required fre-
quent journeys.

Q. Did not Judge Loranger sit in the Court of Appeals as Assistant Judge by
virtue of a Commission ?-I do not know exactly when that took place, but I know
that Judge Loranger attended the Court of Appeals in place of Judge Monk, who
had obtained leave of absence.

Cross-e,amined:-
Q. In the Court usually termed the enquête Court, is there not a register in which

are entered the decisions of the Judge presiding over the said Court, as to the closing
.of enquêtes and other proceedings ?-I believe that in Montreal such a register is
kept. I ought to state that the continuation of enquêtes is very rarely entered in the
register,--at least that was the practice in my time.

Q. When a party on the day fixed for bis enquête, makes default and does not
proceed, is not the proceeding to close his enquête the following:-upon the application
of the adverse party the order of the Court is to have the other party called upon to
proceed, and if the other party does not proceed is not the following entry made:
The plaintiff, or defendant, having been duly called and not proceeding, with his
enquéte, the enquête is declared closed ;-is not that entry made instanter or at least
during the same sitting of the Court ?-In cases inscribed for enquête only, when
the parties do not proceed by consent, the usual way of foreclosing the opposite party
is to go before the Judge on the day fixed for enquête, and to ask that the other party
be called on to proceed or be foreclosed. If the party who ought to procecd with his
enquête, gives no reason for not proceeding, the Judge usually declares his enquête closed
and the entry is made on the enquête roll.

Q. Is the enquête roll a detached sheet of paper or is it a register ?-That roll
is a very voluminous register, which, at Montreal, contains four or five hundred
pages.

Q. Do you consider that that is a register which it is the duty of the clerk to
keep ?-It is a register which the clerk keeps, in which he is bound to make the
entries of all the orders given by the Court, respecting the closing of enquête and
other orders. I believe that the decisions of the Judge on objections, are not entered
in that book, but that the order given by the Court,either for closing the enquête or
continuing the enquête, are entered there.

Q. Ought not all decisions at enquête to be rendered publicly, in open Court,
in the same manner as other decisions or judgments which cannot be rendered or
pronounced out of Court ?-I think that the decisions should be rendered in open
Court if the parties require it. But often in practice those decisions are rendered in
chambers. The parties go before the Judge, and then go to have the decision given
by the Judge enterod by the clerk. Strictly speaking, I really think that if the
parties required it, the decision of the Judge should be given in open Court, that is
to say, at the hearing of the enquête; but in many cases the practice is different, and
the advocates -agree to go to the Judge in chambers.

Q. In those cases is not the Judge then considered as sitting, although not really
in the Court Room ?-Yes.

Q. In all cases those decisions should be rendered when the parties are present
or duly called ?-Yes; and if an application is made to close an enquête the Judge
has the party in default called, in order afterwards to give the order after having
.ascertained the default.
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Q. Would the Judge have a right to make in chambers, and without the know-
ledge of the interested party, any alteration in the entries thus made in the register
of enquêtes, the day after, or some days after hearing, and especially after Inscrip-
tion for Review of a final judgment, or after the proceedings adopted to carry the
case into appeal ?-The Judge cannot make any alteration which does not agree
with the decisions or orders which he has given. But, if after an entry is made by
the clerk in the register of entquête, which is a book not very regularly kept, he
perceives that that entry does not agree with the truth, he would have a right to
change it himself, otherwise it would be in the power of the clerk to enter a decision,
which the Judge bas not given. The Judge ought to be very certain that there is
an error, before makinz a correction; and if there really is an error, it is his duty
to correct it. The inscription in review in no wise changes the duty or the power
of the Judge ; the whole question is to know whether the entry is correctly made,
or not. If it does not agree with the facts, tho Judge ought to see that it is entered
correctly.

Q. So that no alteration can be made in any of these entries when they agree
with what the Judge ham ordered in open Court ?-Properly speaking no alteration
should be made in the entries made in the register, unless those entries do not agree
with the orders given by the Judge, except in certain cases, as the one I have lftely
cited, in which the appeal was rejected by the Court, which had never the intention
of giving judgment against a party who never had notice to appear. Beyond these
cases, the register ought never to be corrected, if the entry agrees with the judgment
pronounced.

Q. lu the case you have just mentioned you stated that you had informed the
advocate of the party, in whose favour that decision had been rendered, and that it
was not until after having seen him that you ordered such alteration. Under other
circumstances, that is to say, without notice to the Advocate, would you have
considered yourseif justified in ordering such alteration ?-As regards the case which
I have just mentioned, I do not think I said that I ordered not to enter judgment, after
having givennotice to Mr. Prévost. What took place, was, that so soon as the clerk
had told me that judgment had been rendered on the motion in question, without the
opposite party having received notice to appear, I gave orders not to enter the
judgment, and to tell Mr. Prévost that he would not have the judgment he expected
to have. Mr. Prévost agreed ; but in any case I thought myself perfectly justified in
rejecting the motion, even without consulting my colleagues.

Q. What I wish to ask you is whether you would have thought yourselfjustified
in that case, in changing out of Court the substance of the judgment rendered in open
Court after hearing, and without notice to the party in whose favour such judgment
had been rendered ?-I cannot say what I should have done, if I had been confronted
by a very energetic protestation on the part of Mr. Prévost, not consenting to the
correction being made ; but certainly I should not have had the judgment entered in
his favour uiless he had himself brought the question anew before the Court ; and I
have no don bt but that the Court would have declared that the judgment could not be
entered as prayed for. I may add that if an advocate, in any position ,whatever,
had attempted to take advantage of a similar error, he would have difficulty in
appearing again before the Court, for it might be concluded that he wished to take
the Judge by surprise. I will say further that there are many entries which are
made on the good faith which attaches to the word of an advocate. Mr. Prévost
came in from the country; he thought that at Montreal the practioe was the same in
the Superior Court and in the Court of Appeals, and I explained to him the difference
which existed,-that in the Superior Court the party himself returns hs writ, and if
he does not do so on the day appointed, the opposite party has the right to have
default entered against him without any notice. In the Court of Appeals, it is the clerk
who returns the record, and if the appellant had no notice given him, he might on
that account be deprived of his appeal, without any fault on his part-it is for that
reason that in appeal we require that notice should be given him.
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By Mr. Taschereau:
Q. If I am not mistaken the writ of appeal may be entered afterwards ?-Yes,

so long as the party has not been declared to have forfeited his appeal by a judg-
ment of the Court.

By Mr. Brousseau:
Q. You have stated that you would have prevented the entry on the register

of the judgment as rendered in the case you have Inentioned; but would you have,
had it entered in the register, otherwise than as it was rendered from the Bench,
without notice given to the party ?-The fact that the judgment granting, the-
motion had not been entered, was sufficient to show that it was rejected.
There are a great number of motions on which there is never any judgment
entered, the parties very often withdrawing their motions when they perceive,
that the judgment is going to be adverse. The fact that the motion is not
granted, is sufficient to prevent the party from taking advantage of it. In the case
I have cited, I cannot say whether I would cause it to be entered that the motion,
had been rejected.

Q. If in that case the judgment of the Court had been initialed and handed over
to the clerk, in open Court, in the presence of the party in whose favour it *as ren-
dered, could the same thing have taken place, that is to say, would you have given
the same instructions to the clerk ?-The entry of the clerk on the motion and what
might have been said in Court, would have made no difference, and even when
initialed the judgment would have had no more value than it had.

Q. But if that judgment had agreed with that really prepared in chambers, and
pronounced on the Bench, might the same thing have happened, and could that
judgment have been subsequently changed in chamberd without notice given to the
party ?--There is no doubt that a judgment rendered with full knowledge of the
case cannot be changed after it has been pronounced, except under exceptional cases
in which the Court might have, been taken by surprise. I will add
that in the case which I have cited, if I had not wished to take it upon myself to
prevent the entry being made in the reg:ster, the absent party might have com-
plained in Court of the entry made in the register, and it would have been the duty
of the Court to have had the correction made. There is no doubt that it was the
right of the party injuired to have had the correction made, or to have prevented the
judgment being entered.

Q. Where the Judge, after having deliberated on a case, subsequently renders,
judgment in open Court in favour of a party, can he, several days afterwards, behind
the back of and without having given notice to the party in whose favour such judgment
was rendered, after bis judgment, even if that judgment was rendered by him in
consequence of negligence or some unforeseen circumstance which left him in ignor-
ance of some proceeding or of any part whatever of the record ?--The rule is that the-
Judge neither can nor ought to alter the judgment which he bas rendered with entire
knowledge of the case, even if he afterwards perceives that there is a mistake either
of judgment or otherwise. When he knowingly and voluntarily has given judgment,
the rule is that he ought not to make any alteration.

By Mr. Desjardins:
Q. Allow me to ask a question respecting procedure: - The Judge,

not perceiving that notice has been given to a party, dismisses a motion;
immediately after, he discovers that the'notice was such as the law requires; in that
case would he be justified in making an alteration in lis judgment ?-It is very diffi-
cult to express an opinion thereupon. There are cases in which the thing could be
done in good faith, in which the Judge might make an alteration in a judgment
rendered on a motion of the nature of that mentioned in the question. There are
other cases in which that might be hurtful to the parties. In all cases the Judge
should be very circumspect.

Q. If the alteration does not injure the parties ?-The general rule in that case
is to make the correction.

Q. Are not the entries made in the registers or enquête rolls the true minutes of
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the decisions or judgmonts rendered in the Court of enquête, and ae not those same
entries carried into the minute book only copies of them, and is it not to the register
.or enquête roll that one rnust have recourse to be assured of the fidelity of the copy
or reproduction in the minute book, if such fidelity is questioned ?-As an invariable
rule, it is the register of the Court which records the proceedings and decisions, and
if the fidelity of that register is questioned, it might be ascertained by the documents
in the record and the book of enquétea, if there really is a mistake. Those documents
and that book would be the primá facie proof of the true entry. My impression is
that it is the register in which all proceedings are entered, which makes conclusive
r oof thereof, unless the truth of the entries made in the register is contested

that case, there should be ascertained, by all the possible meane, what
is the true entry which should have been made, and necessarily the book kept at
enquête should have great weight in determining that.

Q. That is to say that in case of a disagreement between the minute book and
register, or enquête roll, the latter, primâ facie, would be believed in preference to the
former, as being the exact minute of the proceedings at enquête, especially when that
register is kept by the Judge hinself, presiding at enguête ?-In case of a conflict
.between the register and the book kept at enquête, if there were no inscription in
improbation against the register, or other proceeding tending to impugn the truth
ýof the entries therein, it is the entry therein which furnishes proof, but in a contes-
tation one of the means of proof would certainly be the production of the enquête book.
If not contested, it is the register which furnishes evidenee rather than the enquête
.book, which is only a subsidiary book.

Q. Is it not true that the register called the enquête roll is kept in open Court,
and under the supervision and immediate control of the Judge presiding at enquête,
while the register and minute book are kept in the Prothonotary's office, and are
hardly ever submitted for the examination or approval of the Judge ; in a word, that
usually they only contain a copyor transcript of the entries made in open Court
-on the enquête roll ?-The enquête roll is kept by the clerk, and the entries are usually
made in open Court, in accordance with the orders given by the Judge who presides
ut enquêtes. Entries are often made with the consent of the parties, and the clerk
,enters them. The entries made on the roll of enquête are afterwards, I think, carried
into a book called the plumitif (minute book), and from the minute book the clerk
carries to the register the entries which are found there (in the minute book.) For
a great number of years past I have not meddled with the procedure, but, so far as 1
-can recollect, it is in that way that the entries are made. Neither the minute book
nor the roll are submitted to the Judge, unless there is an entry of which one of the
advocates complains; but usually they are not submitted to him. The Judge gives his
.ordA-s, and, unless there is a mistake, the clerk at the sitting executes the orders of
the Court, that is to say, makes the entries which ought to be made. As to that
there never has been any doubt. But all the registers are under the control of the
Judge ; and if a party complains, the Judge in that case would take cognizance
of the registers and correct them if the entry had been made which had given rise
to the complaint brought before him. I spoke of the minute book and enquêe loll a
moment ago; J did not wish to allude to the register, which can only be altered in a
case where the mistake is very glaring.

Q. Should not a party who was declared by the Court unduly and erroneously
foreclosed from proceeding at his enquête, not having been placed in default as to pro-
ceeding by a notice to proceed to his enquête, or enquête and hearing, should not that
party, in review or in appeal, get a rescinding of the judgment which rejected the
conclusions of his daims or of his defence for want of prGof, as well as the rejection
and rescinding of the foreclosure recorded against him in the Court of enquête e-A
jdment rendered under the circumnstances mentioned in that question would very
pob.ably be reversed in appeal or in review, unless the irregularity which the party

to complain of had been covered by subsequent proceedings in which he had
,taken part.

Thiat irregularity may be covered in different ways, for instance, by subsequent
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maotions made by the party withot complaining of that irregularity; or, again, a
hearing Without such complaint.

It depende greatly on the circumstances; the Court of APpel or of Review can
reverse a judgment if it really sees that the party had suffert.

In case the irregularity was not covered, it is evident that the party would be
in the right and that the judgment ought to be reversed.

Q. Is not the effect of the following declaration: " Te plaintif or defentfat
declares his enquête closed," entered in the said register or roll of 'euquête with the
sanction and by order of the Judge holding the enqute, to deprive the party making
such declaration of any recourse against the insuffieiency, the nullity or the irregu-

*arity of the notices of the inscription, or againet any irregularity of the inseription
itsef?-If the party proceeds to hs enquête, or consents to his enquête being closedb
there is no doubt but such a declaration would cover an irregularity in the
inscription for enquête.

Q. If such a declaration is entered, to wit: " The pbrinti' or dtfendant declares
Ais enquête closed," would that entry have that effect ?-There is no doubt but sueh m
entry would have the effect of debarring the party from complaining of 4he
irregularity of the inscription for enquête.

Q. Is there any reason or principle for saying that decisions rendered in the
Court of enquête, or by the Judge holding it, after their entry in the register or roil
of enquête, as well as the said declarations therein entered under the sanction or ordei
of the Court or of the presiding Judge, are less valid than the decisions of the, Court
or of the presiding Juge, entered on the deposition of one of the witnesses, main-
taining or rejecting an objection made during one of the sittings of the said Court?-
There is no difference between decisions of the Judge presiding at enquête, whether
they relate to the continuation or to the closing of an enquête or to some objection.
Each decision is a judgment of the Court and must be entered conformably to that
decision.

Q. Since the introduction of the practice of inscribing cases at the same time
for enquête and final hearing, does not the registor or roll kept for that purpose serve
at one and the same time as the register or roll of enquête above described, and as the
register or roll of cases inscribed only for hearing on merits ?-I am not very compe-
tent to answer that question; I have had but little practice under that system.
Iowever, my impression is that that roll of enquête and hearing on the merits, is
about the same;' but I should be unwilling to asert it in a positive manner.

Q. Is it your impression that it holds the place of the two ?-My impression is,
as I have just told you, that I am not positive. Since the introduction o that new
system, I have attended but very little the Courts where it was practised; my-depart-
ment was different in the office, and I had very little to do with the Superior Court.
That is to say for cases inscribed for enquête and hearing on the merità at the same
time.

Q. When a case inscribed for proof and hearing is called to be proceeded with,
can the Judge enter on the register or roll a declaration different from that really
made by a party ?--It is not difficult to answer that question; it is clear that the
Judge should not make an entry contrary to the facts and to the proceedings which
have taken place.

Q. Is it to your knowledge that in the different rural districts united, for purposes
of appeal to the district of Montreal, the duration of the Terms of the Court of Queen's
Bench, Crown side, since 1867 and up to this day, has been sometimes one single
day, often about two or three days, and quite rarely from eight to ten days ?-I have
no knowledge whatever of what is asked in that question; I have never praétised in
the rural districts, and I am not in a position to furnish any information whatever
on the subject.

Q. In your opinion, which is really the judgment, whether interlocutory or flai,
in a case; is it the ordinance or decree delivered by the Judge in open Court, or is
it the document afterwards written, to which the Judgeadds his initials ?-The re-
gigtr >of a Court is considered to be kept in order to contain the proceedinge hMd in a
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C6urt according as they take place. Butin practi'ethat cannot bedone the register
can receive the entry of the proceedings only after the Court. In my opinion, that
register, alone, is evidence oF the proceedings of the Court. The document from
which the judgments are entered in the registers is but a simple draft and is. not the,
judgmpnt.

Q. The judgment is rendered in Court and the register is only the evidence ?-
Yes. The clerk ought to enter the judgments at once, instantaneously, if it were
possible; that is what would be the evidence; and all that is in the record, in a case
of contestation, would serve, in my opinion, to shew what are the proceedings and
the orders of the Court. That Register is open to exception for forgery or error;
then, the other papers and documents, as well as the book of enquête might come in
as evidence. But so long as there is no contestation, that register stands as evidence.

Q. That is to say that the register ié evidence of a judgment, butsthe judgment
is the ordinance or decree pronounced bv the Judge ?-Yes; the judgment of the-
Court is that which is pronounced and which should be, if it were possible, written
out instantaneously and definitively on the register,-it should, so to speak, be
photographed.

Q. Does the register which contains the judgments bear the initials of the Judge
at foot of each judgment therein recorded ?-The register does not bear the initials at
foot of thejudgment; and I say, moreover, that judgments in the Court of Appeal
are not initialed either. I draw up most of the judgments and I hand them to the
Clerk, telling him to ascertain whether they are drawn up in accordance with the
facts, and generally to have them copied by a clerk. The judgment is examined,
copied and entered in the register. I do not think I ever initialled any; if I have
done so it was an exception.

I think that when I practised in the Superior Court, the Judge was in the habit
of putting his initials on the little note which lie gave to the clerk, or on the back
of the Judgment.

Q. When a Judge of the Superior Court in rendering judgment, brings into
Court a paper or document of any kind containing the reasons and the decision of a
judgment or decree which he pronounces orally on the Bench, and that document is
authenticated by his initials and he hands that writing or document to the Clerk in
in open Court, immediately after the delivery of the judgment;-if later there is
discovered some substantial difference in relation to the decision of that judgment,
between that writing or document initialled by the Judge and the entry made in the
register, and in case of contestation or improbation, which, in your opinion, should
prevail, the register or the writing initialled by the Judge, to establish the true judg-
ment rendered in open Court ?-I think I have already stated above that in case
of the contestation of the truth of the entries made in the register, either the register
kept in the Court itself or the memorandum of the clerk in open Court, and still more
the notes initialled by the Judge, would *b a most powerful means of getting the
entry in the register set aside. Still, it is very possible that the Judge may himself
have caused a correction to be made, before the entry is made in the register, of
errors such as those I mentioned a while ago. I desire to be well understood, that it
is the register which is the judgement of the Court, and, that all the rest can only be
considered as a draft of judgment. The register is not infallible; but then it may be
contested if it has been falsified.

Q. Is itabsolutely necessary under the law that that which is conventionally called
the. minute of judgment should be embodied in a special and sacramental formula;
and would you lot be of opinion that any document or writing to the effect that the
case was taken en d&libéré, and that the délibéré was had; and that, in open Court, a
Judge present and acting offieially therein, .has rendered an ordinance,which ordi-
nance is expressed in its reasons and in its substance or deeision; and the said
document béing initialled by the Judge and handed to the cderk in open Court on.the
delivery of the judgement; would that document, I say, contain substantial and
sufficient matter to constitute the minute of such judgment or ordinance ?-I know
»o law which requires a particular form, in which judgments rendered must be drawn
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up. We have constant usage which regulates the form, of judgmeuts; and a docu-
ment such as that mentioned in the question would show the order of the Court from
which the judgment should be drawn up, to be subsequently entered in
the register. That judgment is ontered in the register in the ordi.
nary form; at least such is the established usage. There are, for instance,
a number of proceedings had in chambers, on petitions, at foot of which the Judge
writes only " Be it so done," and hands it to the clerk; and, nevertheless, when that
document is entered on the register, the entry made is " The Court orders " snch or
such a thing.

Q. And is that order on the petition or on the motion, the only minute of the
judgment which existe on the record in that case ?-It is the draft from which the
judgment is entered afterwards in the record.

By -Mr. Taschereau:
Q. Suppose the following case: In a case inscribed for enquête and final hearing

at the same time, the notice of inscription boing irregular or insufficient, in open
Court, after the plaintiff bas declared his enquête closed, the defendant, who is both
attorney and party in the case, being called by the Judge, merely answers: l I have
nothing to say ;" do you consider that that answer would constitute on his part a
declaration that he has no enquéte to make and at the same time a proceeding of a
nature to cover the irregularity of the default of notice for inscription ?-In the
particular case, I think that when the party is thus called upon by the Judge, the
party ought, if he has any good reason to urge, to give it to the Judge, and ask that
his enquête be adjourned. If he does not do it, if the case is taken en délibéré, ho loses
the right of complaining afterwards of the insufflciency of the delay. It is difficult
to decide in a particular case without knowing all the details otherwise than by
hearing them in.a question like that which has just been put to me; but whaL I
maintain is, that the party being present, the case being called,the other party having
been heard, it is his duty to say whether he has an enquéte to make, and if he has
some valid reason let him ask that that enquête be deferred; he must have it noted at
once that by his declaration that he has nothing to say, he thereby submits hie case
and leaves it to justice; the case has not been regularly inscribed or fixed; and if he
does not do it he covered the irregularity that has, occurred in the inscription.

Q. Supposing, in the case submitted in the preceding question, the followmg'
modification: The defendant, who is an advocate, is present in Court in orderto watch
other cases, and another advocate is entered on the roll as his attorney of record, and
that advocate is not present, that is to say, makes default; would you still be of the
same opinion ?-The cases which occur are so various that it is sometimes difficult to
answer very positively. The Judge who presides in Court is in a mach botter
position to see what decision he should give, guiding himself by the circumstances.
Th e irregularity would not be covered if the defendant or party had said nothing;
but if in the absence of his attorney the said party seemed to represent himself as
conducting his own case, his declarations have as much effect as if his advocate had
been presont; all that, as I have just said, depends on the circumstances.

If the party, being in Court, and called upon by the Judge had said: I wilI do
nothing in the case; my attorney is absent, the Judge could iiot have taken that for a
consent. If the party says he has nothing to say, it is evident that the party has
taken his case in hands, and has by his answer covered the irregularity, if ther be
one.

If, above all, the defendant is an advoeate, the Court will easily presume that ho
desired to watch bis case.

Q. Thon if the case is called in its turn, according to the roll, by the Judge
naming the parties, and to that call the party makes no answer or declaration, and
if on such silence of- the party the Judge, believing probably that he did not hearthe
Call, addressing the party says to him: " It is your case Iam calltng," and if there-
upon the party, rather through. eourtesy towarde the Judge than from a desire te
take any proceeding, replies: " Ihaenothing to say," or " IWin aa notMng," ahould
you be of opinion, from the circumstances as a who1e, that there is on the part 4f
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the party a proceeding sufficient to authorize the Judge to enter on the roll that
th'at party has declared his enquête clesed in open Court ?-It is difàeult to answer
that question. It is certain that advocates have duties to fulil towards Judges, and
the tirest of those duties is not to lead them into error. If an advocate, in order to
take advantage of an error which he knows to exist, allows to be made or causes to
be made an entry which is not regular, the Judge is perfectly justified in making the
.entry conformable to the truth.

And for my part, if an advocate were to say to me in a case. that he had nothing
to say, I would enter the case en délibéré as if he had been heard. But that depends
much on the circumstances, and each case has its particular circumstances.

Q. Should you not have been inclined to think from all the circumstances described
in the preceding question that the party would not have had the intention of deceiving
the Judge, but that he simply wished to abstain from any proceeding and tQ make
default, and that by answering the extra judIcial calling of the Judge, after the
ordinary call of the case, to which call le answered nothing, that answer to the eall
of the Judge was rather an act of courtesy to the Court than a proceeding ?

(Question objected to by the Committee.)
Q. But does not the declaration of the party that bie has nothing to say convey

as much a refusal to proceed or a default, as any other interpretation ?
(Question objected to by the Committee, as being similar in substance to the pre-

.ceding. The advocate for the petitioners urges it upon the Cqmmittee to allow the
question to be put. Question permitted.)

The answer made to the Judge bythe party called upon, is certainly equivocal,
and may lead the Judge to think that he submits his case, since he has nothing to
say, and that would authorize the Judge to take the case en délibéré. It may be that
in the intention of the party, the answer did not bear that sense.

(Signed) A. A. DORION.

Transcript of evidence taken before the Committee on Administration of Justice
in the District of Richelieu, Saturday, March 24th. Reported by J. W. Rostgate &
J. Boyle.

The lon. WILLIAM BADGLEY was sworn and examined by Judge LoRANGER as
follows :-

Q. For how many years have you been practising law both as an advocate and
as a Judge ?-I was called to the bar in 1823. I was a delegate to England in 1838
for the Union of the Canadas, and resumed practice in 1839. In 1840 I was
appointed Commissioner of Bankruptcy, and kept the office about four years. In
1844 I was appointed a Circuit Judge, and I remained a Circuit Court Judge until
1847, when I was appointed Attorney General for Lower Canada and Executive
Councillor for Canada. I was in Parliament then, and continued in Parliament up to
the end of 1855. I was then appointed Superior Court Ju'dge, and continued as
Superior Court Judge until 1866, eleven years. During that interval I sat on the
Queen's Bench for one yeear, during the absence óf one of the Judges. In 1867 I was
appointed to the Queen's Bench as permanent Judge, and continued there until 1874,
when i stired. That is my judicial history. I have had more than 25 years of

judicial life.
Q. Yon have had occasion as a Judge to have before you those books which are

called rolls of enquête and merits ?-Yes.
Q. Of what nature do you consider the entries made in those books-as authentic

aeutries or simply notes or memoranda for the guidance of the clerk ?-Any entries
made in those books 1 considered simply as notes of the proceedings in the cases-
nothing else. I did not look upon them as judgments, the property of the parties,
but simply notes for guidance to the Judges of what might be proceeding. I might
have made entries ot the proceedings for my own knowledge. I generally kept a
ziote book, and seldom made entries in the books.
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Q. For the guidance of the clerk uhio in making his entries ?-Of course. I
usod to tell the clerk to do se sometimes; h. also made entries on them.

Q. If yon ever found those notes to be incorrect, through mistake or some other
cause, would you have any scruple in correcting them ?- 'rtainly not; I always
endeavoured to put the thing as it was, and ought to be. It frequently happened; in
the hurry of the proceedings, that an incorrect entry was made, but when it was
brought to my notice I always had it put right. I thought that was a matter of
procedure.

Q. Would you have any hesitation when the clerk called upon you for informa-
tion to make his transcript, to write in the entry book a correct entry or to complete
one for his guidance ?-There were occasions in the Superior Court when the elerk
has asked me whether so-and-so were proper entries, and if they were not I corected
them. The Courts were very loose in that kind of procedure. Everything was
done in haste. There would be thirty or forty cases going on at the same time, and
it was almost impossible to keep the mind sufficiently fixed to a particular case to
show how it was giing on. Sometimes -I used to look at the book-bfore leaving the
Court -House to see if it was all right.

Q. Do you consider that the proper time to take advantage of any informality
in the inscription of a case on the roll of enquête and merite is before arg.uing the
case, and that a man who argues or submits his case, foregoes his right to invoke
informalities ?-I cannot speak as to any particular case.

Q. As a general rule ?-As a general rule those informalities should be taken
notice of before the argument is submitted, otherwise, there might be no end to the
case.

Q. Suppose that a defendant is sued on a promissory note, and the enquête is fixed
for a particular day. The plaintiff asks for hisjudgment, and the defendant being
asked whether he has anything to say, replies : " I have nothing to say." Do you
consider that he closes his case by the fact itself and that is asubmission of the case?
-Of course. When the defendant says that, it is submitting the case. It leaves
nothing open at all. As a matter of course the Judge cannot do otherwise than
accept it as the acquiescence of the party. The Judge cannot compel the defendant
to go into the evidence or adduce evidence and to argue his case. The defendant
says, "I have nothing to say," and that closes the case. It has been done very often
in my own recollection and practice. A man, makes his case out. I turu to the
defendant and h. says, "I have nothing to say." The case is manifestly then sub.
mitted as an acquiescence. In England, the common practice, I believe, is at once to
draw the judgement, or lake a verdict at once for the plaintiff. The Judge must
necossarily suppose that a man who guides his case knows what ho is about.

Q. You don't presume any mental reservation ?-No, we cannot. We suppose
that the lawyers before us are gentlemen and that what they say they mean.

Q. What would you say, morally or legally speaking, of a defendant, being a
lawyer, who, being sued upon a promissory note, after having made the plea to the
case that the delays of inscription are too short, goes to a confrere of his, advises
with him, and thon concocts this plan: To say nothing as to the inscription being
too short, not to inform the Judge of it, but to Iet the judgment go against him,
and afterwards appeals the case.

(Question objected to and withdrawn.)
Q. Legally speaking, do you think that a party who had acted so would be

entitled to a reversal of judgment ?-I would not reverse the judgment, for this
reason: If a lawyer, when applied to, says, " I have nothing to say," and this is
stronger in French, "je n'ai rien à dire," that covers the effecta of procedure in the
case. If there were defects in the case that he could take advantage of, I think his
acquiescence in saying that would cover all those defects.

Q. Do you think that a formal declaration of closing the enquête is necessary;
on the contrary, don't you think that these words put in the roll of enquête and
merits, "i P. O. C. A. V." is sufficient as sbowing that the parties have been heard and
submitted the case ?-I should say so. I would not hesitate one moment in regarding



it in that way; because if nothing is said, what are you to do ? When a party says
he has nothing to say, he submits his case to the Judge or Court and there is an end
to it, until judgment.

Q. In that case, then, do you think that the Judge who, after having written in
his book " P.O.C.A.V." should write " the defendant declares his enquête closed," would
do a wrong to that party ?-Not a bit. Because it is merely assuming the conse-
quences of the information given by the lawyer himself. That is the result ot it.
lt covers that.

Q. We shall speak of the slips now. You have practised under the usage of slips,
I presume ?-Yes.

Q. Do you look upon those slips, on which you write " judgment for plaintiff,"
"judgment for defendant," "judgment granting motion," "judgment dismissing
motion," etc., as the judgment of the Court or as memoranda ?-Those slips that are
sent to the Judge are merely to save him the trouble of tearing of pieces of paper on
which to put his own notes. They are sometimes printed, and sometimes mistakes
occur upon them. I remember particularly, two cases which were sent up to an
eminent Judge. In one he announced his judgment in favour of the plaintiff ; in the
other ho pronounced a judgment of dismissal of the action. When the slips were
sent up with the record, they were by mistake misplaced on the records, and without
looking on the back of the record cover, under the slips, the Judge wrote against the
dismissed action, " judgment for plaintiff," and "judgment dismissing action " on the
other. The slips went with the two different records, and unfortunately the records
were sent down in a hurry and the judgments were registered as they appeared on the
slips of paper upon each. It was necessary to get rid of them by appeal under the
circumstances, because they were registered judgments and could not be taken to
pieces in any other way; and even the winning parties had to spend a large sum of
money in order to get the records in a proper shape. Those slips are not the record
or any part of it. They are merely the notes of the Judge. Butthe Prothonatory is
a botter judge of this matter than myself; I am inerely stating my own knowledge.
I have seen slips on records with Judge's notes erased all through. In some there have
been two or three different noted judgments on the same slip, and the Judge has had
occasion afterwar-ds to correct his first impressions and to finally change them upon
the slip; and at last he bas sent down his final judgment on a piece of paper, not
a slip.

Q. After having pronounced the judgment ?-Oh, yes; in some cases.
Q. Then do you look upon those slips of paper as essentially changeable to meet

the truth and correct orrors ?-Those slips of paper are nothing more; and they have
always been so considered by my colleagues and myself, as nothing than more votes;
and as I have said just now, I have seen them changed two or three times. If they
are to forn part of the record, the Judge is the master of the record; and he holds his
record until he sends down his judgments signed or initialed by him, to the office for
registry. Until he does that, he may correct his note or slip so called.

Q. That is your opinion ?-That is the jurisprudence. All the old laws and
practice writers and authors say so. One authority says the Judge is the master of
his judgment until ho sends it down, signed by himself, to the clerk's office -to be
registered. Pigean says: "The judgment is not complote until the fenille soit cor-
retêe. The note is finally completed by the signature of the Judge." LeBrun says:
" Jusqu'à ce que le juge ait remis son jugement au greffe il en est le maître et il le
peut changer, ainsi jugé par arrê du 5 juillet 1712." The Judge is the master of the
judgment until he hasformally remitted it to the clerk for registry.

Q. Then you mean his judgment in a legal form, not the slip; the judgment lm
a proper form, which is entered word for word in the register ?-Yes; the reason of
it is obVious. The Judges are bound to give their reasons, the motives for their
judgments. When I was first a Judge we were not bound to do that, and we never
did it. We gave our judgment for plaintiff or defendant. but we never gave a motive
for it. But now the Judges are oblige4 to give the motives of their judgments, and
we cannot put motives on a slip of paper half the size of this. We are obliged to ex-
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tend our judgments. Those pieces of paper are the headings and conclusions for the,
Judge to complote and extend. The judgment'itseolf is written out by the Judge. If
it is short, he may write it on a slip or a sheet of paper; but some judgments require
very long notes.

Q. But the minute of the judgment is an example of the judgment such as je
registered in the book?-Yes; when signed or initiaied.

Q. How would you look upon a Judge acting in good faith under the foelowing
circumstances: Two motions are made-one by the defendani to reject certain de-
positions; the other by the plaintiff to have certain interrogatories taken pro confessia;
the Judge cornes to'the Bonch and says, "l Here is the judgment in this case; I
maintain defendant's motion, and dismiss plaintiff's for want of notice." Ris atten-
tion is not drawn to the question whether there is notice or not. The day after, or a
few days after, it matters not, the lawyer who had represented both parties in the
absence of their own lawyer, having informed the plaintiff's lawyer that on the ajli
it appeared that his motion was dismissed for want of notice, goes to the Judge s
chamber and shows him that the dismissal of bis motion for want of notice is owing
to a flagrant mistake, an oversight, and shows him a notice proving the other party
notified; and the Judge changes the judgrment, dismissing plaintiff's motion on the
slip; do you think any blamne would attach to the Judge ?-Of course not. Those
are all matters of procedure, and it is in the hands and under the control of the Judge
to see thac the record was, as it were, a fac-simile of the real procedure of the case.
I could refer to many cases in which this has occurred. I remember two cases par-
ticularly. After taking three or four days to make up the records, they were sub-
mitted to the Judge. There was a great mass of papers and evidence to be looired at.
I came upon the Bench and pronounced judgnent on the records as they were; in the
one case dismissing the action, end in. the other maintaining it. After I had pro-
nounced my judgment, one of the gentlemen on the other side said, " You have over
looked a very material paper in the record." I saw that the paper was not in the
record, but I said, "I will hold the record until you make it complote." I had pro-
nounced the judgment, but I took back the record. The paper was supplied, and I
was obliged to change my judgment. I could not do otherwise. The paper com-
pelled me to change my judgment, and I came into Court and did so. That. how-
ever, was an extreme case. But in the case put to me, it is merely correcting the
procedure, and there would be nothing wrong on that. It was the duty of the Judge
to see that his record was right.

Q. Don't you think that a Judge who would proceed otherwise and adhere to
mistakes of that kind instead df forwarding the interests of justice would retard
them and do harm to the innocent party who suffered from his error and mistake?-
I do not see that there is anything wrong about it, because, as I have already said,
the Judge is master of his record until he renders bis judgment. It is his duty to se.
that it is all right. I knew a case of great importance when I was sitting in the
Court of Appeals. It was a case of burnage. There had been three or four opera-
tions in the case, and the last one, which carriel the judgment in the Superior Court
of Quebec, provided two lines-one that was favourable to the one party and the
.other that was favourable to the other. Of course the lines were indicated by letters
at the extremities. The case was brought up in appeal, and all the Judges were
unanimously of opinion that a particular line indicated by two particular letters was
the one that ought to be supported, and that decision sustained the judgment of
the Court below. As it happened, it fell to my lot to extend the judgment. It was a
very long-motived judgment. It took two sheets of paper to go over the operations.
In drawing the judgment, by mistake, I took the letters of the other line and not the
line of the Court adjudication. We read it over and found it all right, as we supposed,
and the case was immediately returned to the Superior Court in Quebee. The parties
were in our Court, the Court of Appeal, when the judgment was pronounced and heard
which was actually the line selected. To our surprise, within a weèk afterwards, a

tition was sent in to the Court stating that there was a mistake in the g
indicating the lino with the improper letters and asking for juetiee. We
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that we would issue a certwrari, which issued from the Court of Queen's Beuch to the
19perior Court, and had the record brought back, although it was registered; and
we oorrected it and affirmed the judgment as we pronounced it. We sent it back to,
the Superior Court in Quebec and never heard anything more about it. The object
was to correct the record accordin.g to what was fair and just upon the actual pro-
nouncing of the judgment. We had pronounced our judgment, and surely there was
nothing wrong in the Court correcting its record by inserting the letters which
indicated tbe actual lines agreed upon snd adjudged.

Q. Don't you remember the case of Gravelle versus Belanger, in a similar case of
burnage, where a similar error occurred and when you corrected the judgment of your
own Court, but it was berore being entered in the book ?-That was one of the cases I
spoke of ; I know another case which happened to a Judge who certainly stood high
in his profession ; he is no longer a Jude, but no one was a botter Judge or under-
stood the law better than he ; he pronounced his judgment in a case, the papers were
taken down to have the judgment extended, in extending it ho found that he was
wrong; he changed the judgment next day and pronounced it as lie thought was
right; he had held the record all the time and it had never gone into the possession
of the parties ; it was never the property of the parties as a recorded judgment, but
it was only when the Judge was signing his extended judgment that he found he had
made a mistake ; hein his case and I in mine acted upon the old practice stated by
LeBrun that in France "l'usage est que les juges ont 24 heures pour changer leurs
" jugements prononcés, pourvu que la sentence ne soit pas remise au Greffe." In
France it was customary for Judges to have twenty-fours hours to correct their spokenu
judgments, provided they were not registered in the clerk's office. There was another-
case in 1849, which I recollect perfectly because I had occasion to look into it. In
this case the Circuit Court clerk had made an entry on the roll book which he was
not authorized to do. Application was made to the Court Judge, at Kamouraska,
to have the record corrected by striking out that entry and putting in the
proper one. The Circuit Court at Kamouraska did so, changed the recorded entry.

he case was thon bronight up by appeal to the Superior Court at Quebec, and the
Bench there unanimously maintained the act of the Circuit Court to be correct, that
the same Court that made the error and was in possession of the record had the right
to correct its own record. We nover could impute anything improper to a Judge for
anything of that kind. He was in the performance of his duty and what interest
would it be to him. His only interest was to see that the record was right.

Q. Is not good or bad faith on the part of the Judge the criterion of his conduct?
I cannot say anything about that. The presumption is that a Judge acts in good,
faith towards everybody.

Q. And especially if in correcting a mistake ho does no wrong to theother party,
and if the party agaiust whom the mistake is corrected acquiesces to the Judge what
would yon say in that case ?-The judgment is merely the act of the Court. If the
parties come together and say we shall do so-and-so, and change their original act,
they both acquiesce and there is nothing to be said about it. Who is to find fault ? The
public have nothing to do with it. Until the judgment is recorded or becomes the
property of the parties, the Court or Judge has the right, as master of the record, to
see that everythiug is done right according to the actual facts of the case. There can
be no imputation in a matter of that kind. -

Q. Then, according to your Qpinion of the thing,. the parties are not in posses-
sion of the record until it is signed ?-Yes, and placed in the register. The Protho-
notary has no right to come sud take the record from my table. But when I have
given it to him and said that it was my judgment,'then it goes down and becomes
the property of the parties; but until I have declared it so, it is my property.

Q. Now about those slips. Do yon think it makes any difforence if, in.writing
a note on a shp, te Judge puts hie initials to it in order to identify it or otherwise;
do you think that wold change the character of the slip. If, r having written
his note on the slip, he puth his initia1ý to it, dops it change the revokable character
of the slip 1-Not a bit. That is what I have been saying all along. I knew a Judge
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-ie is dead now-who signed a slip three diferent times witi three different judg-
inente. It is nothing more than a note for himself.

Q. It never gqes to appeal ?-No; they form no part of the record at ail. Judge.
are not infallible. It is quite unreasonable to expet thoy should be infamdg&
Sometimes in the Circuit Courts there is a Judge wo wrants to get through hi. list,
He bas probably 150 éases before him in a day, and has to sit until late in the even.
ingtogetthrough. ewill probably give 70, 0 or 100 ju mnte out of that lit.
It has so happened that there Might be a mistake hore and tere-some little errqrs
which have always beèn corrected at once. 'The only wonder is, in the way in whic
the business is got through in our Courts of Justice, that there are not more mistakes.
But I want to make one observation, which may save a great deal of trouble. ,
definitive judgment cannot be changed by the dourt or the Judge who renders the
judgment. e only question is, what is a definitive judgment ? A definitive judg
ment is a judgment written out on a slip or sheet of paper and signed by the Judge,
and put inthe clerk's office. That is a definitive judgment. You cannot changetha
judgment w;hether you find you have by your concluaion done wrong or right. It
must romain where it is. But in the Courts all through France, Ehigland, and ail
thrcugh our country bore, errors which will not change the effect of the judgient,
but errors of form, may always be corrected. In gland they have corrected a
record, in which the judgment was entered that Wi iam should recover, twenty
years after the judgment was rendered, to Thomas should recover, bocause Thomas
was the man who was actually to recover. It was merely correcting the name-
what English lawyers call a misprision, in French méprise, of the clerk. In our law,
and in old France, there was never any difficulty in this respect, but you cannot
change the actual judgment itself. You may change the words and correct the
informalities. ' Where improper or wrong motives have been, by error, given, you may
change the motives or change the form, but you must let the actual judgment, for
plaintiff or for defendant, stand where it is. You cannot alter the material judgment.
Since the motives are given for judgment here, you may add to them or diminish
them; you may correct clerks' errors or anything of that kind ; but if you have
given your definitive judgment for A, B or C for $100, it must remain, and if you
dismiss the action it must'remain. But the motions of the judgment, the forms of the
judgment-these are all correctable things.

Q. You have been on circuit many times, and on many circuits; wore you
not always entitled to three days' absence; if you were absent less than three days,
did yeu not charge three days' absence always ?-There has been a groat deal of
change in the circuit allowance for the Judges. When I was firet a Judge we were
allowed a certain fixed sum for each circuit we took. It did not signify how inauy
days we were employed, we had a certain fixed allowance; but that was found to be
inconvenient, and thought to be rather too mucbl at times. In the circuits below,
out of the cities, it was found that a Judge would go from one circuit to another, soo
that he would have a continuity of circuits, and he would charge the whole round
sum for each circuit. The Government thought that was extravagant, aud
the system of allowing the Judges a daily fee of $6 was introduced. We always had
the allowance for the day coming and the day going. If we were two days coming
and two days going, it was always allowed by the Govçrnment. We were obliged to
send a certificate when we left. home and when we got back, and they showed how
many days we were away from home. It took me three days once, from the diffieulty
of travelling and accidents on the road, going from Montreal to St. Francie du Lac, in
the district of Three Rivers, and I was allowed for the time. I always understood
that the days from home and return were counted, and the days of work were alwayS
counted, as a matter of course.

Q. Did you never administer Justice in the Superior Court since 1867 ?-No, I
was on the Queen's Bench in 1867.

Q. Have you any experience cnncerning travelling expenses of late years?-I
4lways thought that the new law was based upon the practice of the Oid law.
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Q. You never practised under this Order of Council ?-No, sir; but I did under
your Order in Council.

Q. You have been t> St. Julien beyond Berthier and L'Assomption ?-Yes, twice.
I have gone there and back through L'Assomption.

Q. Would you think it extraordinary if in going to St. Julien and coming back
to Sorel the Judge should take two days ?-I should not say that there was any great
marvel about that. I think that once when coming from St. Julien I stopped at
l'Assomption and came in the next day. It was spring time, and the roads were
-very bad.

Q. To revert to the ordeal about slips. Your opinion is that as long as the judg-
ment is not extended and approved by the Judge, it remains his property, and he
inay change it as he likes, to suit the facts of the case ?-It cannot be otherwise.

Q. In the case of Gravelle vs. Belanger, don't you remember that the judgment
not having been entered, you changed the Une, owing to a mistake of the Court in
the judgment, without taking a certiorari ?-There was no certiorari in that case at
all. I thought that as I was the holder of the record, that until it left my posses
sion I had a right to correct it.

Mr. BRousszAu waived cross-examination.
Corrected and approved as above.

W. BADGLEY.

WILLIAM H. KERE was sworn and examined by Judge LoRANGER as follows:-
Q. How nany years have you been practising law ?-Since 1847.
Q. And you are Batonnier of the Montreal bar ? -Yes, and Batttonier General of

-the Province of Quebec.
Q. Will you be kind enough to tell us in what light the slips, one of which I hold

in my hands and produce, are looked upon by the bar-whether as the minute of the
judgment or simply as a note which may be changed by the Judge until his judgment
is registered, if he flnds that it contains any mistake or flagrant error ?-Thoso slips
.are looked upon merely as memoranda of the judgments which are pronounced.
According to my idea they can be altered up to the time the judgment is registered.

Q. In -what sense ?-I remember one case perfectly. Judge Badgley gave judg-
ment in my favour. The slip was there also. I fancied that I had won the case.
'Three days afterwards, much to my astonishment, I found that the Judge had with-
.drawn the slip and given judgment against me. According to the best of my recol-
lection, I raised the point in the Court of Queen's Bonch, and was told that until the

judgment was in the register the Judge had perfect command of the record, and might
*alter it as he chose.

Q. Then you look upon that as the standing decision in practice ?-That is
according to my experience.

Q. What was the case ?-Lochead against Grant.
By Mr. Uolton:-

Q. Was judgment delivered from the Bench ?-Yes.
Q. And changed ?-Yes, without indicating it to me at all.
Q. Is that considered good practice ?-I did not think it was the thing at the

time, but I found that the current of opinion was against me,
By Judge Loranger:

Q. Is not the current of opinion that as long as the judgment is not registered it
1belongs to the Judge, und he may change it ?-My idea has been since that case that
the registering of the judgment finishes it.

By the Chaluirman:
Q. In that case of Lockhead vs. Grant, the judgment from the Bench was in your

iAvour ?-Yes.
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Q. 4nd you found afterwards that the judgment was reversed from wihat you
expected ?-The Jidge .had gone to the Bench again and reversed his previous judg.
ment.

By Judge Loranger:
Q. But stili he reversed it ?-Yes.

By Mr. Jettê:-
A. I raised the point in Appeal, but it never came up. They told me that as this

judgment was not yogistered, they considered the Judge of the Court below had
a perfect right to change it. This was twelve years ago.

By the Charman:-
Q. Have you changed your mind yet?-From the fact that I was unable to do

anything I came to the conclusion that it was legal. I remember a case in whieh
His Honour Justice McKay rendered a judgment against me on the Bencb. Mr.
Lafiamme was on the other side. The Judge's slip was perfect; he had written it
ont. After the judgment was rendered 1 said to him: "I think you are wrong in one
point. The point was raised by yourself and not by the parties. I think you should
bave given me an- opportunity of being heard." The Judge then withdrew hii
judgment after the slip had been filled out.

By Mr. Jetté :-
Q. That was on the Bench ?-Yes. After that we re-argued the case and he

reversed lis former opinion.
Q. Was the other person also present in Court then ?-I think he was.

By Judge Loranger:
A. My impression is that he was in Court.
Q. You persist and repeat that these slips are merely notes and memoranda, and

not the minutes of judgment ?-In nearly every case the clerk, after he receives
these slips, makes out the judgment and then sends it up to the Judge in order to be
corrected.

Q. Supposing the case where a Judge on the Bench, maintaining defendant's
motion, dismissed the plaintiff's motion for want of notice, when the parties were
represented by one and the same lawyer, who was said to be entrusted by the other
foreign lpv ers to represent their interest; then the Judge says: "I disniss that
motion for want of notice;" and without entering this in the minutes of evidence, the
thing is mentioned to him. The next day the plaintiffs lawyer comes to him and
shows him that there was in fact a notice of motion. As the question turned uon
the want of a notice of motion, the Judge then changes lis judgment, and instead of
rejecting bis motion grants it. Do you think that in that case the Judge was going
beyond the limits of what is known in all practice to be in the discretion of the
Judge ?-I should think the Judge was perfectly right in doing so. Otherwie it
would be a denial of justice.

Q. Go a step beyond that: Supposing in that case the other party who seemed
to have been a loser, namely, the defendant-because plaintiff's motion had been
rejected and afterwards granted-says nothing; he is perfectly satisfied with the
judgment and looks upon it as a good judgment; he acquiesces in it. Do you think
in that casè there can be a shadow of a doubt as to the correctness of the Judge's
conduct ?-Certainly not.

Q. Would you not think that in that case the party's conduct would amount ta
acquiescence or confirmation of judgment ?-So long as the party himself did not
complain, I don't think any other person ought.

Q. About the cases inscribed for enquête and merits, is it not customary to submit
the case without formal declaration of the closing of enuête ? -All cases inscribed
for hearing and merits are looked upon as jury trials; that is there is the same
procedure, you go on to the end when once yon have commenced. There isno entry
made according to my recollection. I don't think the practice is to enter at all the
closing of enquête; and,secondly, if the case was hearA the inference would be that
it was closed on both sides.

Q. Would you not look upon the conduet of a defendant whose enquête is ixod,



on a promissorynote, say, and when complainant asks for judgment, defendant stt
'I have nothing to say," would you not look upon his words as a declaration that
he had no enqste to make ? -Decidedly

Cross-examination waived.
WILLIAM i. KERR,

Lois WILFRED MARCHAND, being sworu, was examined by Judge LoRNGER aa
olows:-

Q. You khave been Clerk of the Court of Appeals for how many year s?-
Eighteen years.

Q. And before that time you were a practising lawyer in Montreal for how many
years ?-I was admitted to the Bar in 1854.

Q. Would you tell us, Mr. Mai chand, in what light you look upon the entries made
by the Judge, if he makes the entries himself on a roll of enquête or merits-if you
look upon them as authentic documents, or, on the contrary, if you don't look upon
them as notes and memoranda for the guidance of the clerk, for the continuation of
the record entire ?-I look upon them as mere notes and memoranda for the guidance
of the clerk.

Q. In your own Court you keep the register of the Court, that is the minute
book of the Court yourself ?-I do.

Q. Are not these entries made by you essentially changeable and revokable for
causes of error and mistakes ?-I have altered them many times. Almost every Term
I have to alter them on account of mistakes, or because I have not understood well
what the -advocates have said at the Bar, or on account of incorrect statements made
by the parties, and many times i am directed so to do by the Judge. I correct the
mistakes, sometimes in the presence of the parties and sometimes not, when I
compare the statements I have made with the facts of the case and the documents
filed.

Q. Please look at document " A 9 "?-On the 11 th September last a motion was
made on behalf of the respondent in the case of the Corporation of the town of
Hull, appellants, and Tétreau, respondent, to have the plea dismissed for want of
production or return of the writ and record on the daf fixed. I c'ailled the appellant,
he did not answer, and I recorded his default. I wrote in my book: "I Default
recorded, motion granted, judgment of non pros or of dismissal of appeal granted."
On the day following Mr. Prévost, attorney for the respondent, came to the office and
asked for a copy of the judgment. I had to draw it, and when I examined the
proceedings, I saw that there was no notice at all given to the attorney for the
appellants. I told him I could not give him the judgment, that in fact there was no
judgment, The Chief Justice happened to be in Chambers' Room, and we went
together aud explained the matter. The Chief said at once " The entry is wrong,
and your motion is dismissed, but without costs; " and a new entry was made under
his directions. " Dismissed, without costs, for want of notice given to the other
parties." The Chief directed me to erase the entry in the book.

Q. Was that done with Mr. Prévost's consent or in spite of his opposition ?-
In spite of his objection. He was under the impression that he had no notice to
give to the other party.

Q. Did not you keep a schedule of records in appeal?-I keep a schedule of
records in appeal.

Q. Is it official ?-It is one that I am bound to keep under the rales of the Court.
It is offieial.

Q. This appeal being dismissed, did you not strike that case from the schedule ?
-I did. Before it. was struck off, an èntry was made in the column headed by the
word " Judgment," to show that the appeal had been dismissed that day by the Court.

Q. The judgment dismissed, the appeal having been changed, and motion for
dismissal being rejected, had you not to re-establish your schedule, and put back that
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very case and make a record in appeal ?-Yes; the record eas returned on the 23rd
Beptem ber, and the responded appeared, and the casee s til pending before the Court.

Q. Have you got a copy or afaeimile of the schedule ? (Copy produced.)
Q. Are the eraiurea of the case indicated by the red Une struck across?-They

are.
Q. Do you consider the Court of Appeal, of which you are the clerk, tobe a Court

of Record,-the same as the Superior Court ?-It is a Court of Record, but not exactly
the sanie as the Superior-Court. There is no evidence taken before and no Writ of
Execution issues from the Court of Appeal, and the record in appeal i8 the réeord of
the inferior Court. It is a Court of tecord only as to such proceedings that are
original in the Court of Appeal-as to its own proceedings.

Q. Well, according to law, it is called a Court of Record ?-It is a Court of
Record according to law ; I refer to the lst section of the Act establishing the Court
of Queen's Bench-chapter seventy-seven of the Consolidated Statutes of Lower
Canada-" There is and shall be established in and for Lower Canada a Court of
Record to be called ' The Court of Queen's (or King's) Bench.' " I keep a register as
I am bound to do by law.

Q. In a Court of Appeal there cannot be any register or roll of enquête or inscrip-
tion of cases from any similar proceedings in the Superior Court?-I do not keep any
roll of enquête, because there are none in the Court of Appeal. But there is a roll of
inscriptions and I am bound to keep it.

Q. Have you, in registering the appeal, to enter the declarations of parties'
proceedings before the Court ?--Yes, certainly. I keep a register of the declarations
of parties before the Court on motions, rules, etc.

Q. What kind of declarations do you enter upon that book ?-Declarations of the
parties, orders of Court.

Q. Give some example ?-I think I have already give an example; for instance,
that motion which I have already mentioned, and the proceedings thereon on the 1lth
September. I made a note of it and of the judgment.

Q. This is not the declaration of any party, it is the order of the Court ?-The
party did not fyle any declaration; but I have mentioned the act of the party fyling
a motion beforé the Court, and the default of the other party.

By Mr. Jetté:-
Q. This is a motion for leare to appeal to the Privy Council, if it is not consented

to by the other party ?-If the object of this question is to ask whether, upon a
motion for appeal to Her Majesty, to which the adverse party consents, I enter in said
book or docket his declaration that he so consents-my answer is, yes.

By Mr. Brousseau :-
Q. Are these entries made in a book or on a sheet of paper, which you preserve

in your office ?-They are made in a book or docket, and afterwards transcribed into
the minutes of the Court.

Examination of this witness closed.
L. W. MARCHAND.

GEoRGE PYKE was sworn, and examined by Judge LoRANGER, as follows: -

Q. I think you keep a book for registering judgments ?-I draw them. I do not
draw them now in the Superior Court, since the Insolvent Court was established.
I only draw up judgments in the Insolvent Court.

Q. You are Deputy-Clerk of the Superior Court, and have been for a number of
yeaí-s?-For thirty-three years.

Q. For how many years have you drawn judgments ?-For forty years.
Q. Tell us what is your opinion concerning the nature of slips, on which the

Judges write their judgments ?-They are mere instructions of the Judges to draw
the judgments. The Judge has frequently told me not to let the slip out of my
hands until the judgment was drawn, and he was to see whether it was conformable
to his idea.

Q. Do the Judges alter the slips ?-They do occasionally.
157

A. 187



40 Yicti:ia. Appendix (No S.) AN. O18

. They do not look upon them as permanent and authentic, but would make
them suit the exigencies of' facts ?-Yes; the Judge .hgs frequently sent up notes
with the slips when the case did not appear to justify such-and-such a conclusion.
Hie has said, " I will draw the judgment according to the conclusions. We have said
this"and-that, and so-and-so; " and then the Judge would strike it out.

Q. And make another entry ?-Yes.
Q. Then he would materially change his first slip ?-Well, he would materially

change the conclusions.
Q. After granting the whole he would restrict it ?-Yes.
Q. The slips are merely communications between the Judge, and not for the

public proper ?-Yes. In fact, we never give them out unless we can help it. But, of
course, lawyers will see them as soon as they can.

(Exhibit A. 10 produced and shown witness.)
Q. Say, whether, in open Court, Judge Beaudry did not order the clerk to make-

certain entries, and whether out of Court he did not change them himself ?-It was
sometime in 1874, I remember, that Mr. Justice Beaudry did make this entry
"judgment dismissed." Mr. Honey, his clerk, made the entry. Judge Beaudry then
rendered one or two judgments, and the gentlemen in the case, if I remember rightly,
said they would call the attention of the Judge to it. They drew his attention to
some circumstance, and the Judge said, " give me the slip," and he then said " That
is not the judgment," and made out another judgment.

Q. Was the other party notified ?-I do not think so.
By a Member of the Committee

Q. It was in open Court ?-Yes.
By Judge Loranger:-

Q. And the other party was not there ?-I do not think so, bocause it made a
little noise afterwards.

By Mr. lolton
Q. It made a noise afterwards ?-The other party complained.

By Mr. Jetté:-
Q. But he had to submit ?-Yes.
Q. Is it from that slip that the judgment was drawn ?-Yes.

By Judge Loranger:-
Q. Do you think there is a judgment actually rendered, or that there is any legal

evidence of the judgment being rendered.until the judgment is extended and reduced
to its proper form, and signed and approved of by the Judge ?-Not until it is
engrossed by the clerk and signed by the Judge, and entered in the register. The
Judges always told me that without those formalities it was not considered to be a
judgment at all. The Judge would alter it as he pleased.

Q. It was his own property until then ?-Yes.

GEORGE PYKE.
The Committee adjourned to Monday.

(Tran8lation.)
4th April, 1877,

L. F. G. BABY, Esq., Member of Parliament, being duly sworn, deposeth and
saith:

By the Judge:-
Q. Do you remember that I went to St. Julienne, in 1869, to hold the Court,

and that I was unable to do it, inasmuch as there was no clerk there ?-I remember
to have met at St. Julienne, district of Joliette, in the autumn of 1869, I think, the
Zon. Mr. Justice Loranger, who had come to hold the Circuit Court there; that

158



40 Victoria. Appendix (No. 8) 1811

Court could not be held, howover, Inasmuch as the late Clerk, Mr."De Caussin, had
Ieft the country, and his successor had not yet enteíred upon the discharge of his
duties.

Cross-examined
It was on the 2nd November, I think. It was my partner, Mr. Richard, I believer

who informed me of the fact; but Mr. Beauchamp, the present clerk, was not yet.
appointed or sworn in.

I did not go to the Court, as well as I can remember. I saw the Judge at St.
Julienne. I cannot say whether I had learned at L'Assomption, that the Court was
not to sit at St. Julienne, for want of a clerk.

G. BABY.

Lu
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REPORT.

The Select Committee to whom was referred the Petition of ienry Mitceb6, ad
others, with instructions to inquire into the allegations as to the state of the coidt*id
contained therein, and into the best means of promoting Inter-Provincial Ti-ad, wtth
power to send for persons, papers, and records, beg leave to report:-

Your Committee, pursuant to the instructions of Your Ronorable ou@, hàve
taken evidence from numerous persons directly interosted in the coal industry of the
Dominion, in the importation of coal, and in Inter-Provincial Trade generl"Il, as
well as others connected with the shipping interest and manufacture- oon-iMng 0
in large quantities. Several propositions have been suggested to the Co tta. t 1
a view of promoting the objects of the Petitioners, including the following:

I. The imposition of a duty on coal and other products and minufacta-isic
into Canada, equal to those levied by the United States Government où itapo s
into that country.

II. The granting by the Government of Canada of a bointy on od' 4
to the States equal in amount per ton to the American import duty on the dfié .

III. The imposition of a duty of fifty cents per ton on all coal impote iut dt
Dominion.

IV. The imposition of a duty on bituminous coal, combined with a re-djf t
of the tariff generally in the direction of increased protection to home idusWi4ê.

V. The granting of a bounty by the Government of Canada on tghad.iÀ Wt
shipped from the Maritime Provinces to the United States or to Canàdiin Port4 wêt
of Montreal.

VI. The granting of a subsidy to a line of vessels plying betwefn the eòa pets
in the Maritime Provinces and Toronto or Hamilton.

VII. The exemption from duty of dutiable articles used in the productio btO .
A division of opinion exists among your Committee as to th e nc or

acceding to any one of the foregoing suggestions, and they are relieved frä le
duty of pronouncing an opinion thereon by the fact that they respectively oinóe
propositions affecting the revenue of the country, but they submit the evdence so
that such action may be taken thereon as may seem fit.

Your Committee believe that the object for which they were appointe1 d ill t.
best attained by presenting your Honorable House in a succinct form with á revi.r
of some of the most material points in the evidence taken by them.

Tho royalty of ten cents per ton on all coal sales by the coal owners to the
Scotia Government is regarde as a grievance or burden by many. It is in thi 4 1
of a rental or fee paid for the mining rights, and while there can ho no donbtf- t
the sum frequently represents either the profit or loss on the ceal raiaed, yoni -
mittee do not feel justified in making any comment upon the polic of .th4 6
Government of Nova Scotia. They may remark, too, that the royalty te& if ot
confined to Nova Scotia. In the United States they have evidence, ôhe ro iy or
rent paid frequently amounts to 25 cents and in some to 35 cents per tob.

The inquiries of your Committee may be classed under thefotllowimg Edd
1. The character and extent of the coal industry, the incidencè e v col

tion, employment of labour in conncction therewith, and priceà a.d uri té ôf
Canadian coal.

2. Present condition of the Canadian coal trade and causes of alte depÑasion.
3. Cost of freights to home or foreign markets.
4. Prices, quality and location of American coai, and distance of il's film

objective points.
4-1
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5. Freights charged by American companies for the conveyanee of coal.
6. Relations of coal industry of Neoa Scotia to the trade of other provinces.
7. Extent and character of inter-provincial trade.
8. Means of increasing inter-provincial trade.
Your Committee, although they have received some interesting information re-

specting the coal mining industry of British Columbia, have mainly directed thoir
attention to the coal fields of the Maritime Provinces.

These are to be fotind in Cape Breton in the counties of Pictou and Cumberland,
in Nova Scotia, and the counties of Queen's and Sunbury, in New Brunswick. The
New Brunswick coal is however of an inferior quality known as "blacksmith's coal,"
and the output is insignificant in quantity.

The coal area of Nova Seotia including Cape Breton is estimated at 18,000 square
miles, inclusive of the submarine deposits. Many of the seams are of great thickness
and the mines are with few exceptions most favorably situated for shipping the coal
with little labour or cost for noving or handling.

The mines have been in operation to a greater or less extent since 1785, in which
Tsar the yield was 1,668 tons; in 1800 it was 8,401 tons, in 1820 it was 9,980 tons,
m 1840 itiras 148,298 tons, and in 1854, the year preceding the Reciprocity Treaty
with the United States, it was 234,312 tons. Although by the abrogation of the Re-
ciprocity Treaty a severe blow;was struck at the export of coal from Nova Sceotia to
the United States, the increased demand for coal in the older Provinces of Canada
supplied the deficiency thus created, until in 1873 the sales of Nova Scotia coal
amounted to 881,106 tons. Of that quantity 337,983 tons were sold to other British
North American Provinces than Nova Scotia, and 264,760 tons to the United States.
In 1875 the sales of coal to other Provinces were 381,711 tons, and to the United
States only 89,746 tons; the total sales in 1875-amounting to 706,795 tons, against
471,185 tons, the total sales in 1867, the year succeeding the abrogation of the Re-
ciprocity Treaty, but 174,311 tons less than in 1873. The sales of 1876 show a
further decrease amounting in that year to 634,207 tons.

A large capital has been invested in the mines amounting, it is estimated, to
searly $12,000,000.

This fact has to b borne in mind in considering the causes that may influence
those who seek relief from the present depressed condition of this great and impor-
tant industry which has to be regarded, not simply as an isolated branch of com-
merce, but as a most important factor in relation to national progress and pros-
perit .

illustration of this view, attention may be called to the fact that the carrying
trade of GTeat Britain is enormously benefitted by the existence of exhaustless coal
fields, which enaBle her shipping to resort to all parts of the world with a commodity
of universal consumption capable of being used in place of ballast, and the initial
coSt of which is trifling.

The iron trade, again, is directly dependent on the proximity of coal to the place
of production, and tends to the consumption on a very large scale of that product.
The relation of the coal to the iron industry may be illustrated by mentioning that
in the city of Cleveland, the seat of a large iron trade, the quantity of coal used
amounts to 1,100,000 tons annually, or within 300,000 tons of the whole consumption
of the Dominion.

The proximity of most of the Canadian mines to the seaboard is a most advan-
tageous circumstance, and rendors the best steam coal to be placed free on board at
a price varying from $1.59 to $2 per ton, while expectations are held out that with
an increased output the price may even be somewhat lower. The Nova Scotia ton,
it may here be mentioned, is the English ton of 2,240 lbs, while the American ton is,
for bit mious coaI, 2,000 lbs.

Tbe Uines In Nova Scotia employ, when in fair work, some 5,000 souls, repre-
e1U a total population ofnearly 30,000.

This industrial community is largely dependent for the staple necessaries of life
upon importations from the older Provinces of Canada and the United States. The
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effect of coal production upon the shipping industry of the Dominion is too apparent
to noed special comment.

The evil from which the coal industry of Canada suffers is a restricted market.
The consumption of coal on a large scale in Canada is of comparatively recent
development. The manufactures of the Dominion are of modern growth, and the
forest wealth of the country has proved and still proves a powerful competitor to the
producta of the mine.

The total quantity of coal consumed in .the Dominion was estimated in 1876,
exclusive of the consumption at the mines and in British Columbia, at 1,252,143
tons, of which 793,880 tons were imported from Great Britain and the United States.

Of the imported coal it is probable that somewhat less than one-half was an-
thracite, although the returns did not until lately make a distinction between the two
varieties.

It may here be remarked that bituminous coal is used fbr gas, steam and domos-
tic purposes, as well as in other departments of industry, while anthracite is chiefly
employed for domestie use and in iron foundries.

For the former of these purposes, the demand for anthracite cal appears to be
steai iy increasing. This coal is exclusively of foreign production, the English and
Canadian coal being only of the bituminous class.

The causes of the gradual extinction of the American demand for Nova Scotia
coal are chiefiy:

1. The imposition, by the United States, of a duty of 75 cents per ton on all
imported coal; and

2. The large reductions made by American companies on coal rates in order
to enable mines on their respective lines ofroad to compete successfully with other
mines in the United States or those of Canada. This syetem is carried to its furthest
length in the transportation of coal to the North-Eastern States, where Canadian coal
would, on even terms, prove a very powerful rival.

The evidence adduced before your Committee goes to show that the quality of
many of the Nova Scotia and Cape Breton seams is equal to that of the best descrip-
tion of United States or English coal, with perhaps one or two exceptions.

In the Province of Quebec the bituminous coal of Nova Scotia has literally
nothing to fear from United States competition. The facilities for its transport arc
such that as far west as the city of Ottawa the native product controls the market.
Its competitor in this section of the'Dominion is British coal exclusively; and the
competition is intensified by the fact that the imported coal brought out from British
ports as ballast, the shipowners being content, as they save the ordinary oost -of
ballasting, to make a very small profit, or even to sell the coal at cost prie. The
importations of British coal to the Province of Quebec average from 160,000 to
180,000 tons per annum, but the supply is fitful and unreliable, being subject to ail
the variations and uncortainties incidental to the circumstances under which it is
exported.

From the Ottawa River westward, United States coal bas hitherto been used
exclusively, with the exception of a few experimental cargoes sent to Toronto and
Hamilton. In some instances the reputation of the coal ha suffered from want of
care in the selection of the sample, but in others the merchants speak of the
quality of the coal in high terms; and there appears to be no reason, 'assuming that
the price is not higher at the place of its destination than that of the United States
coal, why Nova Scotia coal should not be sold largely in Ontario.

Situated almost close to its port of shipment, it has, although the initial cost be
somewhat higher, a considerable advantage at the outset over the coal of the United
States, which has usually to be carried distances of from 100 to 180 miles to the-nearest
port available for water carriage to fits destination. But, on the other hiand, the
carriage of Nova Scotia coal for 1,200 miles by water, and the want Of veIss
suitable for the combined Gulf and lako trade, especially pending the deepening of
the canals, have hitherto proved powerful, if not insuperable, obstacles to the Westertn
Ontario market being supplied with coal from Nova Scotia.

A. 1il



Your Committee have bestowed mach attention on the comparative cost of Nova
Scotia and American coal at Toronto and Hamilton, and a large amount of evidenco
has been taken on this point. While, on the one hand, the representatives of the
Nova Scotia coal interests have no data at prosent existing whereon to base their
actual experience, the importers of United States coal can of course quote exact
figures averaged on the transactions of many years.

Witnesses interested in the extension of the Nova Scotia coal trade are sanguine
that, if arrangements can be made for obtaining retarn freights for the Maritime
Provinces, they can place steam coal or domestic coal of the first class on the wharf
at either of the cities above-named for $4 per ton of 2,240 Ibs., equal to about $3.55
for the short ton of 2,000 lbs. This is as low a price as, under ordinary circum-
stances, ean be quoted for the United States coal of secondary quality, while Briar
Hill and the higher classes of American coal stand at a much higher figure.

An exact comparison is extremely difficult, owing to the great variety in quality
of all descriptions of coal, and their adaptability or otherwise to different purposes.
A recent contract made by the Grand Trunk for a supply of steam coal for its loco-
motives may afford some criterion whereby to judge of the cost 9t which, without
regard to any special arrangements for downward freights, may be laid down in bulk
at Montreal and Toronto respectively. The tenders accepted for Montreal by the
Grand Trunk were, for Nova Scotia coal, at $3.96 per long ton on the wharf, or,
adding 27 cents for cartage, $4.23 in the yard. At Toronto, the tender for American
coal was accepted at $3.40 per short ton in the yard, or equal to $3.78 on the long
ton, a difference in price between the two tenders of 45 cents in favor of the United
States coal at Toronto. If to this b added $1 per ton, the lowest rate at which it
has been suggested coal can be borne from Montreal to Toronto, and the difference
may bu stated in round figures at $1.50 per ton against Nova Scotia. This supposes
the absence of any such special arrangements for round trip freights as are referred
to elsewhere.

For the best gas coal the prices paid in Toronto and Hamilton, whero American
coalis used, are $4.80 and $4.75 respectively for short ton, while at Montreal the
price paid by the Gas Company for Nova Scotia coal is $5,50 per long ton-a differ-
ence in favor of United States of only 17 cents, to which would have to be added the
cost of transport if Nova Scotia coal were used in the western cities; but there is
evidence to show that the price above quoted is the maximum cost of Nova Scotia
gas coal at Montreal.

While the evidence tends to show that United States gas coal is more free from
sulphur than the coal of Nova Scotia, the latter produces a very large proportion of
coke of fine quality, and the perseverance shown by the gas companies of Montreal
and Ottawa in overcoming initial difficulties, in order to adopt Nova Scotia coul per-
manently as the material for their manufacture, is very strong inferential testimony
in favor of the native product.

The great importance of encouraging the closest commercial relations between
the provinces of the Dominion, induces the strongest hope in the minds of your
Committee that the efforts of those at present engaged in endeavoring to promote
inter-provincial trade, may be successful. Your Committee have given the fullest
opportunity to the parties interested, to place their views and proposals before the
country; and trust the result may b to ovoke a spirit of generous co-operation on
the part of capitalists who may be prepared to embark in such enterprises. The
testimony of those who have made the subject their study, is very strong, as to the
commercial benefits that have accrued to the older provinces from Confederation, and
the large volume of inter-provincial trade created, since the political union of the
Maritime Provinces with Ontario and Quebec. While the existing rail and water
routes from Western Canada to the Nova Scotia seaboard, and the close commercial
relations existing between some portions of the Maritime Provinces and the United
States, necessarily tend to limit the bulk of eastward freights obtainable for local con-
sumption by any new competitors, it has been saggested, that the favorable position
of Sydney, Cape Breton, and other Nova Scotia ports, for developing a foreign trade,
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may, if a direct means of cheap transportation be established, provide an outlet for
the products and manufactures of Western Canada to an unlimited extent. The
details of such arrangements are too nâmerous and complicated for recapitulation;
but the evidence bearing thereupon, will, your Committee believe, deserve attentive
perusal.

Your Committee have abstained, as far as possible, from importing into their
investigations, or the report founded thereon, matters of a political or controversial
character. They only desire to add their hope that, in spite of many difficulties
surrounding the question remitted to them, their labours may result in a clearer
appreciation of these difficulties by Parliament- and the country; and also, of the
means by which, wholly or in part, they may be overcome.

Your Committee also report, annexed hereto, a minute of their proceedings this
day.

All which is respectfully submitted.
T. L. gAcKAY,

Chairman.
COMMITTEE ROOM,

27th April, 1877.

EXTRACT fr0m Minutes of Select Goin0nittee on "C'oat and Inter-Provincial Trade."

COMMITTEE RoOM,
27th April, 1877.

Comittee met nt 11 o'clock, a.m., pursuant to adjoiurnment.

PRESENT:

Mir. N. L. MACKAT, Chairman.

Messieurs

Dymond, Workman,
Sinclair, Goudge and
Power, Macdonald (Toronto).- 8.
Flynn,

A Draft Report having been read by the Chairman was adopted, and ordered to
be presented to the House with the evidence taken before the Committee, and also
the proceedings of this day.

Mr. Macdonald (Toronto) moved " That the Report embody a recommendation
"in favor of granting a bonus of 50 cents per 1,000 tons, from any one company, on
"coal delivered at Kingston and ports west thereof," which motion was declared
lost on division.

Adjourned.
Attest,

P. A. STEWART,
Clerk of Comnittee.
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MINUTES 0F DN

FRnamr, March 23rd, 1877.

MR. JoHN R uzFoRD, called and examnined.

By the Cairman:
Q. You reside at Halifax ?-Yes.
Q. HEow long have you been associated with a coal mining company?-?iv

years with the General Mining Association.
Q. Is that a large body ?-Yes. It' bas the largest coal operatioin in the

Province.
Q. Have they much capital invested ?-I cannot say exactly. It is a very large

amount.
Q. Can you approximate ?-About £200,000 or £300,000.
Q. Were you associated in the same line of business with any company before ?-

No. I was inspector of mines for six years prior to my connection with the General
Mining Association.

- Q. Did that give you an insight into the practical working of the collieries in,
Nova Scotia ?-Yes; it afforded means of meeting with the different managers.

Q. Were you connected with coal mining before then ?-Yes; have been
connected with coal mining, there and in England, for nearly thirty years.

Q. You have then a practical knowledge of the properties of the coal in Nova
Seotia ?-Yes.

Q. What can you say with reference to the quantities ?-That is one point on.
which I have not the information with me. I will be able to supply you at a future
meeting.

Q. Are the coals in Nova Scotia proper of the same qalities as Cape Breton ?
-Very similar. Most of the Cape Breton coals are very like the coals in England,
with a difference of qualities as in England.

Q. What I mean is, are the coals in Nova Scotia proper of the same quality as
in the island of Cape Breton ?-Yes; they are bituminous.

Q. But are they of the same quality ?-No. The coal in Cape Breton je a softer
coal-more of a gas coal, with the exception of the Sidney mines.

Q. I gather that they are, to a certain extent, different ?-Yes, in quality; that is,
speaking of the Pictou coal. The Springhill coal is not so much like Pictou coaf; -
it is more like the Cape Breton coal.

Q. Then all-the coal fields in Nova Scotia proper, are not similar in character ?
-No.

Q. Are some of them peculiarly adàpted for certain purposes ?-Yes.
Q. What purposes ?-Nova Scotia proper, or rather Pictou coal, is adapted for

steam purposes. It is not used, or is used very slightly, as a gas coaL It is used
chiefly for steam and stove purposes.

Q. And the Springhill coal ?-It is also used for steam purposes. I don't think it
has been tried much for gas, but for stoves and open grate burning and steam pur-
poses.

Q. Then are the coals of all the Pictou coal fields of % similar nature ?-Yes they
are ail of a similar class ; some better and some worse.

Q. Of what character do the Cape Breton coals parcake?-They are exoellent for
gas; in fact of a very high characier for that purpose.

Q. Can you mention the illuminating power ?-From 9,000 to 10,000 cubic feet
per ton of coal.

4-1
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Q. How will that comprewith the illainating plwer of Englieh coa ?-Very
fairly. 10,000 feet is considered fary igh
- Q. That is per groa ton of 2tM) Ibs ?-Yes.

Q. For what purposes are Cape Breton coals a:lapted ?-They are very largely
used for household purposes.

Q. Are they peculiarly adapteA for that --eny of them ?-The Sidney coal is per-
haps the favoured ebal in that respect. It is agld almost exclusively for household
purposes; it is used for steam too.

Q. Are these good steam coal in Cape Breton ?-Yes.
Q. Have -they been tried, can you say, by any of the imperial standards ?-They

have; they have been taken every year more or less on board French and Engliah
steamers.

Q. They are used by French and English men-of-war ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know if they are accepted as giving satisfaction ?-I believe they are

well pleased with them for that purpose.
Q. You say there is one class of coal for household, another for steam and

another for gas purposes ir Cape Breton ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know anything about the American bituminous coals ?-Yes; I have

seo. them.
Q. Do you know how they compare with our bituminous coals ?-We think ours

compare very favourably with them; certain classes are very much superior to some
American coal I have seen-I mean for general purposes; if I were asked to define
it more clearly I would say that much of the American coal I saw at the different
places between here and Toronto, and at Toronto, was inferior to the Nova Scotia
and Cape Breton coal.

Q. From what you sàw, did you consider that we have as good steam coal as in
the United States ?-Yes.

Q. Have you as good gas coal?-I think so.
Q. And household coal of a bituminous nature ?-Yes.
Q. When you speak of a ton of coal in Nova Scotia, what weight do you mean ?-

It is the long ton--2,240 Ibs..
Q. Do you know how it is sold in the United States ?-By the short ton.
Q. tnvariably ?-So far as I know.
Q. There is no anthracite coal in the Maritime Provinces ?-No.
Q. Can you mention tho quantity of coal sent to the United States last year; I

suppose you have the figures ?-71,634 tons was the quantity sent to the United
States in 1876.

Q. Does that include slack coal ?-Yes; the total sales; I got these figures
from the official report; I might state in this connection, that our sales in 1873 were
264,760 tons.

Q. When was your largest export sale ?-465,194 tons in 1865.
By Mr. Dynond:

Q. That was during the Treaty ?-Yes.,
By the Chairman:

Q. What was that coal particularly used for in the United States ?-Principally
for steam and gas purposes.

Q. Can you tell where that has been supplied from since ?-I think from their
own mines.

Q. What is the rate of duty on bituminous coal going into the United States ?-
Seventy-five cents per ton.

Q. Do yon know the quantity of slack ?--I cannot tell now, but 1 will be abli
to get you the information.

Q. What is the duty on slack ?-Forty cents per ton.
By Mr. Dymond :-

Q. You think the duty-on alack je forty cents ?-I think it is at present.
Q. Yon state that this market is supplied by the United States people them-

seiver ?-Yes.
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De yoa kw, whiether thoere is any farther obstale besde t e duty to oar
4exporting edais to the Unitpd State ; have they pursaed any system that involves
iuch a drawback ?-There is the priee of their own coal, and the eosidratioe
they reeeived from the railway companies.

Q. What do you mean by saying the price of their own coal ? -I mean theptio.
-they are selling their coal at, in connection with the allowance made by th- railways.
The allowance enables them to put in the coal at the lowest price.

By the Chairman
Q. What coal fields do you refer to ?-Pennsylvania, West Virginia and

Maryland.
Q. These shipments from Nova Scotia, which you have spoken of, were prinei-

pally to the eastern ports ?-They were New York, Boston and other castern ports.
By Mr. Dymond:

Q. You say they are now supplied with United States coal ?-Yes.
By the Chairman:

Q. Can you say how it is sent ; from what point; is it froin Baltimore ?-
I think it is from Baltimore.

Q. You say it comes from West Virginia to Baltimore ?-Yes.
Q. Now could they successfulty compete with our exporta in the eastern ports

without this drawback or bounty you speak of; perhaps you will explain by figures
what you mean by this drawback ?-Do you mean as to the price of American coal?

Q. Yes. We want to understand the advantage you spoke of in favour of the
American coal?-The price of the best Cumberland coal last year was $4.90 in
Boston by the short ton.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Were does that coal come from ?-Maryland, I think.
Q. Can you state what the coal cost at the place of production ?-No, I cannot.
Q. Can you explain how it is that they can lay down in New York or Boston a

ton of bituminous coal for $4.90, coming all the way from West Virginia ?-In the
tirst place the cost of production is moderate, and then there is the allowance by the
railway companies.

Q. You speak of an allowance by the railway companies; of what nature is it?'
-It is a rebate of $1.25 per ton.

Q. In order to convey coal cheaper than other freight ?-Yes.
Q. Do you understand the working of it entirely ?-1 don't know very mack

about that.
Q. You know simply the fact that there is a reduction or rebate ?-Yes.

By Mr. McGregor :
Q. What brings about the rebate ?-Well, it is for coal that is shipped.
Q. Who pays it ?-The railway companies allow it for the carrying of coal from

the mines.
By Mr. Tupper

Q. It is not then a difference as between coal and other fieight, but as between
-coal for local consumption and that for shipment ?-Yes, that is it.

Q., It is tantamount to their paying more for their coal in Baltimore, than, say,
ïu Boston ?-Yes, I believe that is the way it works.

By Mr. Macdonald (Centre Toronto):
Q. l this rebat. an established usage, or a temporary arrangement ?-I think it

is an established usage.
Q. Can you assert so positively ?-No, I cannot.

By Mr. McGregor:
Q. It la usual with railway companies, is it not, to say to the company having a

Certain amount of coal, " We will carry 100,000 tons of coal upon certaiin rates, les
forty cents off. If you ship up to 200,000 tons we will give you 60 conta off and se on"
That is anordinary way ofdoing it. My impression has been that it hs been inuse
for some time and:that there was no limitation with regard to quantity.

Q. When you ship 100,000 tons,'you pay, say, $2 per ton until yoz got up to tii.
4-lÎ 3
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1QO00, and then they repay you forty cents; thon the usual rate will be paid up to.
2#,000 and then sixty cente will be repaid, and so on ?-I think that is the way.

By the Chairman ;a-
Q. I understood you to say that this rebate was allowed ofoalstranshi eron

BAntilore to the northern ports, but not allowed so far as you know on locsales or-
consumption ?-No, it is not. It ears to be done for the purpose of getting int>

direct competition with our coal in he eatern markets. -
Q. What authority have you for arriving at that conclusion ?-Well, I implied it

from the fact of them taking that coal under these circumstances, and considering also-
the extent they used to take it before. They used to be perfectly satisfied with our
coal, but they now take other coal in preference.

By Mr. McGregor
Q. Don't you know that the general freight is down one-half to two-thirds on the

suCal rate ?-Yes, I know that.
Q. Coal is much cheaper at Baltimore than it was two years ago ?-Yes, I think

it is.
By the Chairman

Q. What is the effect of this on the Nova Scotia coal trade, in so far as the north-
eastern ports of the United States are concerned ?-To exclnde our sales.

Q. Would a duty of seventy-five cents per ton of itself exclude our sales if this-
system was not adopted ?-I think it would, partially.

Q. To the same extent as now ?-No, I don't think so.
Q. Where is the natural market for Nova Scotia coal ?-That portion of the

TUnited States.
By Mr. Worknan

Q. As far south as Baltimore ?-No, between New York and Boston,-the New
England States.

Q. Is coal more cheaply mined in the United States than in Nova Scotia ?-Yes,
I think it is. I think they are differently circumstanced, but I cannot speak from
personal knowledge,' only from general information. They may have trouble with
water for instance, but not to the same extent that we have. We have to sink deep
shafts. The circumstances are certainly in their favour.

Q. What natural advantages have we over them ?-Al our mines are close to
the seaboard.

Q. Did you not ship larger quantities when the duty was $1.25 than now ?-Yes.
By Mr. Tupper

Q. The reason for that is the largely decreased cost of production in the United
States, owing to the fall in the price of labour ?-Yes, that is the reason.

By Mr. Ma.donald, (Centre Toronto)
Q. Does it arise from the decreased cost of production in the United States;

doesn't it occur from the increased cost of production in Nova Scotia ?-No, I don't
think it does.

Q. What I want to get at is this: is the cost of production greater now than
then; of course, by cost of production, I mean salaries, entire management, con-
struction, account and all that kind of thing-the whole cost of production ?-I believe
the cost ofproduction is less than it was.

By Mr. TupRer :
oQ. Is not the decrease in the cost of production in the United States promoted

by the increased demand; is not coal one of those things, the cost of which increases
ns you get below the capacity of the' mines, and decreases as you get up to their
capacity of production ?-Certainly that is the case.

Byr rs cGregor :
Q. A1e you not aware that one of the great reasons for the low price of coal is-

th9 ßfn4hg of new m4nes in W"etern Virginia, Ohio, and a portion of Pen lana
Mew sections of country, and the building of rallways- ta them ?-That probably may

hago some effect.
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Q. By your as#wr to ny last question do you uean that ankthîng that will
nereaee &ie sale of Nova Scotia coal will decrease theost etwhieh cane -- profit-

ably mined ?-Very materially.
Q. If a mine had a capacity for an out-put of 100)000 tons ýand 'the dodsoA was

ly 0,0- ppo they could -only effect the sale of that quantity at àày *2.00,
-what could they put it out for if the demand was up to their espacityof 100,l0 toast
-I should say $1.50.

By Mr. Woran.,
Q. How do you prove that?-We have to keep up a certain establishment in tia

<ease of 50,000 tons'; and where we inerease the quantity, the establislhuient iWMoxb
proportionately increased by any means. We have certain standing charges, and if
we can divide the charges by double the amount of production, it would make thii
-difference I have stated.

Q. The standing charge in that case muet amount to $25,000. Of what doý they
consist ?-In keeping the mines open, whether working or not. We have to heqM
Amechanics and labourers, in fact a staff necessary to keep everything in proper work-
ing order.

Q. You think then the addition would be equal to $25,000 ?-The addition Cf
what ?

Q. You eay that 100,000 tons could be produced at $1.50 per ton, whereas 50,00b
'could only be produced at $2.00 per ton, therefore the extra expense in the staff
labour and so on, will amount to $25,000 ?-Yes, that is an illustration of how it woulJ
work.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto):-
Q. This Mining Association yen spoke of has a capituI of aboút one mIlliga

dollars ?-Yes.
Q. How many tons will they turn out in the year ?-The ont-put has been fromu

150,000 to 160,000 tons. I mean the one concern-the Sidney and Lingan mines.
Q. What is the value per ton; the selling price ?-About $2.26.
Q. At the pit's mouth ?-No; free on board.
Q. Per long ton ?-Yes.
Q. low many hands are employed in that mine?

By the Chairman:-
Q. These two mines belong to the one concern do they not; I. think if Kr.

]utherford would speak of them as one, it wonld simplify the examination; they
both belong to the one association ?-I speak of both mines.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto) :
Q. Then the 150,000 to 160,000 tons produced are from the two mines ?-Yes.
Q. How many hands do you employ ?-Between 500 and 600.
Q. What are the average daily wages ?-There are different classes of miners,

and they receive different wages.
Q. Take an average ?-Well, that would be difficult to do, as they are not paid

by the day but by the ton.
Q. You will have some idea; what do you pay them on the ton ?-Well, I think;,

With all deference to the committee, that it is scarcely fair that I should state in
detail the actual cost of production. I give you what may be about it.

Q. I am not asking you the cost of production. You have 600 employés; have
they steady work ?-No; certainly not.

Q. Have they half work ?-No. Well we have more than half work at tà
Sidney mine. %

Q. Will they average half work throughout the year? Yes; 1 should think
they would.

Q. Can you give us the average daily pay of one of these men; J sean th*
'nen engaged in the mines ?-The miner's average is 81.50 per day-

Q. I suppose, it would be a fair and reasonable estimate to take 300 men.:-you say



you have 600 men-at $1.50 per day; that is only allowing thom hidf pay ail the&
epar round ?-Idon't see any objection to the average yon are taking.

Q Wel, takiay 00 at $1.60. What are the managers' salaries?-They vary-
eonsiderably.

Q. Take these two mines?-£500 sterling a year.Q. Then with regard to office expenses; how many clerks have you ?-I am
pmable to give you these details.

By Mfr. .Dymond:
Q. Do you mean that you object to give the details, or have you not the infor-

ination ?-I prefer to deal with it generaly as to the cost of production, without
the details, for I think it is scarcely fair to go into all the details.

By ifr. Macdonald, (Toronto):
Q. Oan you, in so many words, say what the expense account is for a year ?-I

don't think I can give you that.
Q. Is there a semi-annual dividend ?-T am sorry to say there has not been since,

1873.
Q. Can you tell me what amount this company has invested in buildings ?-No;

I cannot tell.
Q. Do you know what amount they have invested in railways and railway

stock ?-I don't think I could give you an answer at present.
Q. Can you state what amount is invested in wharves ?-No; I cannot.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. You have been, you say, thirty years engaged in, or connected with, coaI

2nining, and are familiar with every branch of the business ?-Yes.
Q. You have been eleven years in Nova Scotia-six as Government Inspector of

of all the mines, and five as manager of the largest ?-Yes.
Q. I want you to state the lowest price at which you think, in the present statoe

of the country, assuming that there was an increased demand for Nova Scotia coal,
that it could be put free on board. 1 mean under the assumption that by any meAns
the pi oduction could be largely increased ?-Of course there is a great difference.
Some mines are better situated, in all respects, than others, and tberefore work the,
coal more cheaply. In answer to your question I would say that the average might
probably be under $1.25.

Q. What do you think the effect would be of giving you a bounty of seventy-fiv&
eents per ton on all coal shipped from the Province of Nova Scotia to the United
Blates; what would be the effect upon the production ?--It would increase the pro-
duction at once. I believe that would almost entirely give us the market again.

Q. Would the imposition of a duty of fifty cents a ton on coal carried into the
Dominion largely increase the proauction of coal in Nova Scotia ? -Yes ; I think it
would.

Q. What is the lowest price at which it can be produced now in Nova Scotia ?-
1he average is about $1.50.

Q. And you think the effect of imposing a duty of fifty cents per ton would be
to so largely increase the production in Nova Scotia as to materially reduce that
most ?-Yes. -

Q. How much; to the extent of 50 cents per ton ?-In some cases, it would
reduce it to lb extent of enabling the mines to work pretty nearly up to their
eapacity. I think it would reduce it on the average to below 1.25.

Q. Then the effect of giving a bounty of 75 cents per ton on coal shipped to the-
ýUnited States, or the imposition -of a duty of 50 cents per ton on imported coal, would
be to reduce the coat of production in both cases to something like $1.25 ?-Yes.

Q.Freeon board ?-I don't mean the selling price. I thought you were speak-
ing of the cost of production.

Q. Of cpurse the price of putting the coal free on board is the cost of production ?

-No; we want some profit.
Q. Wel, it is relatively the 8ame thing.

o
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Hie yon caliiateil the royaly-Yes

Q. What profit would you have on a ton of cosi laid down at *1.50 t would
Vary. Some can produce ocal st a lower ate than others.

By the Oairma:-
Q. Io it a fact that one colliery may ship coals at $1.50 nad make a âir prQft,

when another colliery alongside, or in the sane district, could motdave themae
amount of profit by selling at $2 or $2.25?-Yes.

Q. For the same quality of coal ?-Yes.
By Air. Tupper:

Q. What I want the Committee to understand is the point at whieh itcan be
put free on board, 'assuming that there was a large increasê in the demand for Nova
Beotia coal; 1 wapt to know the lowest average price at which it cani be put free on
board ?-Less than $1.50.

Q. Iow much less ?-1 should say it would vary according to the position of the
mines and their circumstances, from $1.30 to $1.50 probably.

Q. You spoke of the quality of Nova Scotian coals as being superior to many of
the American coals for gas' and steam purposes. You did not speak of the manu-
facture of iron. Have you coals in Nova Scotia well adapted for that ?-I don't think
if has beon'tested, but I believe we have coal in Nova Scotia whieh is similar to the'
Scotch and other coals used for that purpose.

Q. Ras not Sir William Logan given bis testimony that the 'Springfield coal is
admirably adapted for the manfacture of iron ?-~Yes; I believe he has.

Q. From your knowledge of coal you believe you have coal of that kind ?-Yos.
Q. How do you account for the fact that the large quantity of coal that was sent

to the United States in 1873 -264,760 tons--dropped down to 71,004?-Fram the
increased competition in the United States, and from the altered circumstaunces as To
the cost of production.

Q. To the bounty which the railway companies* practically gave to the mines
-Yes.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Was this reduiction or drawback in existence in 1873'?-I cannot bay.

Iy Mr. Tupper:-
- Q. What dutiable articles are consumed in the mines ?-l can onlyname some of

them to-day. There are iron, steel, gunpowder, gauges, nails, shovels, wire ropes,
tubing, fire-brick, and so on.

The Committee then adjourned until Saturday at Il o'clock.

SATURDAY, March 24.
Mr. RUTHERFoRD was re-called.

By the Chairman:
Q. Can you give us a statement of the qu intity of Nova Scotia coal exported

last year to Quebec ?-Yes. I have it for 1873, 1874, 1875 and 1876. In 173 it was
187,059 tons; in 1874, 162>269; in 1875, 189,754; in 1876, 117,303. These figures are
obtained from the reports of -the Nova Scotia Inspector of Mines.

Q. Can you tell the quantity imported from England ?- have, it for the fisal
years 1874-5 and 1875-6. For the year ending June, 187à, the quantity was 1.39,60e>
tons; for the year ending June, 1876, 168,642 tons.

Q. Have you any figures to show the quantity of coal imported froin the United
States into Quebec?-I think Mr. Litbgow bas the exact figures.

Mr.' Lraoow was calied.
Q. Can you give-us the quqntity of coal imported fi om the -United States into

the Provitùee of Quebee ?-For the year ending June, 1876, the amount was 122,fSf
tons; for 1875, 106,332. I have not the figures for 1874.
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Mr. RìUTHERP1ORD was re.ealled.
Q. Can you say as to whether the tade bWtwres Qwbec Ind Nova Septia in

Soals has decreased to any great extent ?-I have .the figwurs a far baok as 1873.
ý»7 vrøre. in 1873, 187,000 tons,; lat,year thqy were1,0 .s

Q. Can you say whether rhe trdi was as.extensive any teu years ago as now?-
No. I cannot speak as to that.

Q. Can youppeak..as to the freights on coal between the Novs Scotia coal porta
and Mon treal.-Ys.I can give you some information on tlat point. From the
Pictou district it has been carried at from 81.75 to $2.12 to lifntreaL Thbat is per
long ton.

Q. I suppose you are not acquainted with the freight from thero up t Toronto?
- have not ascertained the freight for this year. Last year Tstated to the

pression Committee that it' was $1.50. That was the information I received at
Monkeal, but when I went afterwards to Toronto I saw two or three parties who
were willing to contract for $1.00 to Toronto.

By Mr. McGregor:
Q. That would be $2.75 from Picton ?-Yos.

By the . Chairman
Q. Can you state as to what amount of duty it would be necessary to impose

fcr the purpose of onabling the proprietors of coal mines in Nova Scotia to place coal
it Toronto to compete with the Amer;can markets ?-That depends upon the price
of American coal at present at Toronto.

Q. Not being able to speak as to the price of American coal in Toronto, you
cannot say?-No.

Q. ls there any export duty in the Province of Nova Scotia upon coals, and if so
to what extent2-There is-a royalty payable to the Local Government of ten cents
per ton, which we term an export duty, for it does amonut to that. The annual
amount of the royalty for the last eleven years has been between $50,000 and $60,000.
It was $83,000 in one year-1873, I think

Q. Was the royalty paid from all the mines ?-Yes.
Q. Was it not as high as $100,000 at one time ?-I think not. The royalty is

upon the sales; perhaps you refer to the entire production.
Q. Is there a royaltyon slack ?-No, on large coal.

By Mr. .Macdonald (Toronto) :-
Q. Can you give me the information I sought for yesterday respecting the

amount that particular mine has invested in buildings ?-No, I cannot. I would wish
to add to my answers in connection wfth that mine, that it is exceptional in thia
sense, that the Sidney mine is perhaps less interested than any other so far as
extension of trade in this direction is concerned. It is an entirely local mine, and is
an expensive one to work. I want to be understood as speaking of mines generally.

Q. In reference to the coaI from that mine, you are not of opinion that anything
that could be done would help you ?-[ have no doubt that we would participate in
anything that might be done. I don't mean to say they would confine the trade te
the local demand.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Would other outlying mines compete with you for household coal; it would

lassist you in that way ?-They would certainly interfere and extend the thing
wherever they could.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto)
Q. Is it not true in reference to some three of the mines-you will be abie to

know the ones-that they have three distinct lines of railway, and three distinct
wharves, when one railway and one wharf would he quite suificient to carry ail the
coals that these produce; is not this a barrier against any kind of remuneration
beilg had fr9m these mines ?-I don't think so. They have their railwaye and4arves Icause they are situated some distance froin the public railway. They find
L botter to have their own ohipping places entirely dispinçt.
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Q. Yeslthis seema to me o lbe a vital point Ib it not true that one of
these rairoads and One of these wharves w"ed tm the whole of the eoal that is
produced' at these .three mines ?-Yes, that could be doue. When the mines were
opened there were not the required railway facilitia, and they were obliged to get

4p the shipping places Mbest they could. It was a necessary part of the establiph-
-ment to build them.

By Mr. Goudge
Q. Where are they ?-I think at Pictou county.

Bi Mr. Macdonald (Toronto)
Q. When you spoke about the Mana& er's salary being -2,500, dos that inchdt

expenses,, a house and other things of that kind ?-He is allowed a house and coaal
that is ail.

By the Chairman
Q. You have reference now to the salary or remuneration of the Mnagarof

,one of the largest-if not the largest colliery in the place ?-Yes.
Q. Do you think that other Managers receive that amount ?-I think that i

anuch about the average.
By Mr. McGregor

Q. What effect would the fall of gold have upon your prices; there is a great
<lifference between the price-of gold this year and last; do you get paid in gold ?-
We get paid in ordinary currency.

Q. You deliver coal at New York and Boston ?-We are an exception to the
ordinary mines. We have never sold coal delivered but at the mines, through agents.
They pay us no gold.

Q. When youspeak of $4.90 then, you mean that amount in gold ?-Yes.
By Mr. Tupper :

Q. Would you please state the amount of duties paid by all the mines ?-I have
mot got all that information yet.

Q. What I want is a statement of the duties paid annually by aIl the mines. I
<don't mean the royalty, but the duty on the articles they consume at the mines ?-
I can give you those ol one mine. The value of dutiable goods per annum wa$7,195.

Q. That doesn't give the amount of duty paid; have you not a statement of that
kind ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do I understand you to say that that represents the value of the datiable

goods, or the duties ?-That is not very clear in the report. given to me. It is " the
value of the dutiable goods used per annum.at the mines."

By -Mr. Macdonald (Toronto)
Q. That must mean the value of the goods. What colliery is that ?-The

Acadia Colliery.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. I understand by what you have said that you mean the materials used in
working the mines ?-Yes. I will b. able to produce at another meeting of the
{Committee a statement of the amount paid in duties. You were speaking yesterday
-of the materials on which duties are paid. I fwd there are only three articles en
liEst I have made on w hich the lowest rate of duty is paid, viz., hemp, rOpes, iron;
end I will name some of the articles on the 17J list:-Steam gauges, nails, iddles,
miners' lampe, screws, harness fittings, latches, glass, paint, brushes, foundry
blacking, lamp-gauze, oat-bags, lampwick, leather-cloth, tubes for measures, candles,
chains, .washers, nuts, wire ropes, leather, powder, shovels, iron tubes, stationeky,
and oil.

By Mr. Tupper :-
Q. Do you consume oil ?-Yes. I did not name it on the liat because we hadn't

Ït on that invoice.
By Mr. Dymond

The mine is a proprietary nndertaking'?-Yes.
Q. Are the proprietors resident, or mostly in England ?-Mostly in England.



Q. Now long bas it been in their hands A good many yes. It is one of-
the earliest mines that bas been worked.

Q. Then are the whole of the mines of Cape Breton in the iands of non-resident
prop*etrst-Not. now. That arragement terminated, I forget in what year; I
tbink in 1858 , and the Company now boldm certain areas whieh they were allowed
to select at that time. All the res;t of the coal area is in the hands.of the local Gov-
*rnmeont.

Q. The local Government own the. mines, and the mines are worked by Con-
panies ?-Yes.

Q. And are those Companies represented by resident proprietors, or mostly by
-persons abroad ?-There are exceptions. Some have resident proprietors, the owners
of others are in the United States.

Q. ln that case the management is in the hande of officials ?-Yes.
Q. Besides the manager, what ofmcers have you actually engaged in the work of the

mines ?-We have a financial agent in Halifax, Mr. Morrow, (of the firm of Cunard
M Morrow). They have had the agency for many years.

Q ilave you. a Board of Directors resident ?-No.
Q. About what number of persons are actually engaged in the production of'

coal ?-Between three and four hundred.
Q. Men, women and children ?-Only men and boys.

By Mr. Tupper :
Q. You stated 600 yesterday ?-I am now speaking of the Association mine. We-

have about 260 or 270 coal cutters at the two places. The rest is made up with.
engineerm, shippers, and labourers.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. All actually in the work of producing and shipping coal ?-Yes.
Q. What amount annually do you pa r in wages to these persons ?-Our pay

bills, have been sonething like $13,000 or $14,000 per month.
Q. In producing about the quantity of coal, in tons, which you have named ?-

Yes.
Q. You stated that the market rate of coal in Boston. last year, was $4.90 ?-

Yes.
Q. Did you engage in any transactions at that rate ?-No.
Q. Do you know of others who did ?-I cannot speak of all the mines. $4.90»

was the price of American coal.
Q. That was the market rate of coal in Boston ?-Yes.
Q. Are yon aware of Nova Scotia coal being shipped to B:>ston at that rate ?-

No, I am not.
Q. What you meant was that the price of American coal was $4.90 ?-Yes.
Q. Currency or gold ?-Currency.
Q. You stated that, in your experience, Nova Scotia and Cape Breton coal com-

pares favourably with the coal sold at the Boston market ?-Yes.
Q. On the whole, would you consider it rather better ?-I think, from the fact

of their having, for so many years, taken the Cape Breton and Nova Scotia coal, it
may be inferred that they liked it.

Q. What was the freight, last year, for coal from your ports to Boston ?-Frona
$1.75 to $2.00.

Q. Now, for a cargo of coal of the quality we speak of, what would be the lowest
rate the Nova Seotia coal proprieiors could afford to take ?-I believe there was coait
eold for 81.50 free on board.

Q. Would you, by means with which yon are acqua i nted, be prepared to take-
contracte at $1.50 for Boston ?-Contracts to the extent to enable us to work to the,
capacity of our mince ?

Q. 50,000 or'60,000 tons ?-Yes.
Q. Thon, if you add to the $1.50, (the price of the coal) the $2 rate of ship-

ment and 75 cents duty, that woukl bring ceal to $4.25 in Boston ?-Yes.
Q. Some information we had respoecting the price of American coal, last year,
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gives the avoeage of Nova Seotia coa 1în Boston at $4.75. coording to what you
say, you could lay down a cargo of coal in Boston at 44.25 eost?-Yes.

Q. That is the cost there, allowlng no profit to the Boston merchant, leaving-
%im fifty cents on the enrrent rate of *4.75 ?-Yes, but we don't sel in that way, wer
seIl it at the mine through un agent.

Q. I ask Yù-, from yqur general knowledge, what it can be put on board for at
your ports aud what it can be carried to Boston for, and pay the duty. That, it is-
stated, makes it $4.25 in Boston; you say the price $4.75 is the average price ?a-Yes..

Q. So that, if, in addition to the $4.25, we were to give you a bounty of seventy
fve cents -per ton, that would bè so much more profit in your pockets ?-It woild
enable us to extend our sales.

Q. It would be so much additional profit ?-No, I think it would b. required to-
pay the increase of freights. Freights have been moderate for the last few years,
and I don't think they can be maintained at that.

Q. I have taken the highest freight. If we were to pay yon seventy-five conta
per ton bounty, that would be so much clear profit, assuming the transaction to take
place at the present time ?-Yes.

Q. Are you aware of any offers for cargoes at less than $2 having been refused ?
-No, I have not.

Q. You mentioned that the price was $2.25 ?-That is Sidney coal.
Q. We are speaking now of first class coals. What would you give as the aver-

age price of Nova Scotia and Cape Breton coal for ordinary transactions in large-
quantities ?-I think it might be got from $1.50 to $1.75.

Q. Do you know of any transactions that have taken place under $2 ?-Not
from my own knowledge.

Q. You are here as an expert. JIave yon heard of any ?-Yes, I have heard
that sales have been made. I have reason to believe that coal was sold at a less
rate.

Q. Is there an association or combination among the coal miners of Nova Scoti&
for regulating their trade ?-No.

Q. Have you no society ut all ?-There is an association at Pictou, but it is con-
finod to ordinary matters pertaining to the mining operations.

Q. Do they come to any arrangements with regard to prices ?-No.
Q. It is perfectly free ?-Yes.
Q. Do you ever combine for the purpose of getting any advantages from the-

steamboat owners ?-We have not.
Q. Does any arrangement of that kind exist? I believe one of the kind does

exist at Pictou.
Q. Do you know that American companies have greatly reduced freight rates-

by such joint arrangements ?-I have heard that they have.
Q. You have not made personal enquiry into the character of these arrange-

ments ?-No.
Q. Have you taken any steps yourself, or do you know of others who have, to-

obtain a now foreign market for coal, independent of the United States ?-We sent-
à little to the West Indies; last year we sent a cargo or two, and the year before.-

Q. Were the results satisfactory ?-No.
Q. Why ?-Because of the cheap rate at which tbey can get the Englishcoal.
Q. Does that arise from their having return freights ?-Yes.
Q. Have you any difficulty with regard te shipping to the West Indies-any--

thing which places you in an unfavourable position ?-Yes; the requirements are,.
at a period of the year, so far as Cape Breton is concerned, when we cannot ship-
owing to the ice. The time is from January to April, and we cannot ship thei.

Q. Does that apply to Pictou ?-Yes.
Q Practically, thon, there are elimatic difficulties in the way of carrying on a-

West Indian trade ?-Yes.
Q. Would that apply to any other countries ?-It applies to any requiring ship-

monts at that time.
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Q Would coals require to be shipped at that time, say-or the Soath Ameriean
narket ?-No, I don't think sa.

Q. Have you shipped to Australia ?-No.
Q. Practically, then, there has beenano large offrt made to obtain -a foreiga

market other than the United States ?-No,.there has not.
Q, And you do not see any opening in that direction ?-No, we do not.
Q. Was not coal very dear in England in 1871 ?-In 1873 I believe it was very

ligh.
Q. But it did not become dear all at once. Was not there a gradual increase?

-1873 was the year, I think, in which tlere was really a great increase.
Q. What was the price of English coal at that period ?-It was enormously

high; thirty to forty shillings a ton ia some cases.
Q. That would be in our currency, about $7 to $10 ?-Yes. I ehould say at

one period it was even more than that.
Q. Did that interfere largely with the English export of coal ?-No. We had a

tetter demand too. There seemed to be a demand of their own at that time. Our
,sales were good that year.

Q. What was your price for coal in that year ?-$2.75 was, I think, the outaide
price.

Q. Were your expenses at that time largely increased ?-Yes, by having to in-
.crease the miners' wages.

Q. What percentage of increase was that ?-From 12J to 15 or 20 per cent.,
varying with different grades.

Q. What would have been the average increase of the total wo king expenses of.
the mine at that period ?-That I cannot say.

Q. Approximately ?-I think it would be 15 per cent. at least.
What was your production at that time ?-About 160,000 tons.

Q. The same as at present ?-Yes, about the samte.
Q. Was the price you refer to, the ordinary price of Nova Scotia coal at that

period ? -1 believe there was coal sold at a less price.
Q. Give us an idea of the average price of Nova Scotia and Cape Breton coal in

that year ?-I don't remember what our mines were selling it at so as to arrive at
-an average.

Q. Would it be safe to say $2.50 ?-I think that would be an extreme figure.
Q. What was the total production in that year, I mean in 1873 ?-881,106 tons

-was the amount of the sales.
Q. The price at that time was considerably higher than you would quote it

now ?--Yes.
If by such an arrangement as was suggested yesterday, you could now obtain a

similar production to that of 1873, could you produce coal at the rate you mentioned,
-about $1.50 ?-I don't think the Sydney coal could be reduced.

Q. You spoke before of the price now being about $1.50, but that you were not
working up to the extent to make a profit, and you mentioned yesterday that what you
needed was a larger production in order to economise the general production. Sup-
posing that production were raised to nearly a million tons per annum, would you
regard the working as profitable at the rate of 41.50 ?-Some mines might be; others
would not.

Q. I am speaking of such mines as are supposed to be in a healthy condition,
and worked at their average rate?-There are some that can be more cheaply worked
than others. If they were in full operation they could.

Q. In 1873 you had rather good times ?-Yes.
Q. Paid good dividends ?- Yes.
Q. 'You expressed an opinion in answer to Dr. Tupper yesterday, that a bounty

on foreigo exports of seventy-five cents per ton or a duty of fifty cents on American
coal would enable you largely to increase the production ?-Yes.

Q. Have yon formed any estimate as to the extent of such probable produc-
tion ?-No, I have not.
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Q. This matter has been largely discussed among you lately?-Yes.
Q, Are you one ofthoSee who petitioned lately for a duty oa bounty?-Yes.
Q. Was-no estimate laid before you as to the robable læsulta of such à duty ?-

Not any further than that it would increase our sa es largely.
Q. What would you assume, having regard for the present demand, *ould be

added to your market by such an arrangement ?-I think it would likely increase our
sales by one half.

Q. What are the avarage Sales at the present time-their marketable produc-
tion ?-The productions of coal last year was 709,646 tons.

Q. For all the mines in Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
Q. That would be the quantity shipped to market ?-The actual sales were

d44,000.
Q. You speak of their actual sales as distinguished from the production. What

intervenes ?-The slack coal which is taken out in preparing the eoal for market
Q. That would be 65,000 tons of slack ?-Yes, slack and impurities.
Q. You have a market for that ?-No, we have not. Well, witbin the last year

or two we have sent a good deal to the States-some 12,000 or 14,000 tons lastyear.
In one locality, too, it is utilized for the making of coke.

Q. But it is largely waste ?-Yes.
Q. And need not enter very much into our calculations of financial or fiscal

arrangements ?-No.
Q. You say that, in your opinion, if you were protected by a duty, you might

increase your sales by 50 per cent ?-That is on the first year's operations.
Q. I am speaking of our present demand for coal in Canada and elsewhere ?-

Our production would be much greater. We could produce a much larger quantity,
and the probability is that our sales would be increased to that extent.

Q. What do you suppose, amongst yourselves, would be the result financially to
you of a duty being imposed; you-say it would increase your sales 50 per cent ?

-Yes.
Q. That would raise the out-put of coal for commercial purposes to something

like 900,000 or 1,000,000 tons, or about what you were producing in 1873 ?-Yes.
Q. If you had that production do you think you wouid be able to sell coai at an

average of $1.50 on large sales of first-class quality ?-Yes; I fancy we could.
Q. But when you had that production in 1873, prices ranged from 82.25 to

$2-75 ?-Yes.
Q. Do you think if you had at that time sold coal at from $1.50 to $2.00, you

would have been able to retain the American market ?--Probably there was some
little indiscretion and putting prices too high, but I don't think that affected our
prices and the American market. The prices were reduced the next year to 82.25,
and for gas coals down to $1.75 and $2.

Q. But was not the period I speak of one when prices were high and production
large, and one in which you began to feel most intensely the American competition ?
-No; we did not feel it then. There was a very general demaud for cal -in that
year.

Q. But did not the Americans begin to bring a larger quantity of coal into the
eastern markets ?-Yes ; they did at that time.

Q. Did they undersell-yon there ?-The position was, I think, much the same as
now, relatively. All coal was dear at that time.

Q. What were the prices at that period ?--Between $5 and $6 I think. That
was in 1874.

Q. What would be the cost of shipping at that time ?--About $2.25 or 82.50.
Q. Were not the shipping rates very much higher than in 1873?-Yes, in 187-

they-were more; I thought you were speaking of 1874.
Q. Do you understand that the0rates were very high in 187S?-YesI blievê

they were,
Q. WIhat were they ?-I think they were $4 and upwards.
Q. The duty was seventy-five cents ?-Yes.
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By Mr. Poer:-
Q. Was the rate $4 per ton from Sidney to the Un ited States ?-Yes.

Byl r. Flynn:
Q. To New York or Boston ?-Bobton.

By Mr. Dymond.-
Q.'The effect, thon, of the increased demand for coal that year which resulted

partially, at loast, from English competition being excluded, was that there was a
considerable raise in priues ?-Yes.

Q. In speaking of the duty of fifty cents, do you refer to the duty on all coal
imported into Canada?-Yes.

Q. Is not the importation of English 'coal a considerable advantage to shippers?
-- I do not see how the advantage could be derived particularly.

Q. Don't they bring out the coal at a low rate as ballast ?-Yes.
Q. If they don't bring coal they would be obliged to bring other ballast ?-<es.
Q. You take into account in your calculations of the increased production

in consequence of the duty, that you would obtain command of the Canadian market.
What portion of that market do you assume that you would obtain by that means ?-
The idea is, all east of Toronto.

Q. Have you made any calculations since you were before the Committee yester-
day as to the rates at which coal could be laid down at Toronto, from Sidney or
Pictou ?-Yes.

Q. Can you state the one to us ?-I would like, at the same time, to refer to what
1 said before the Committee on the Depression of Trade last year. I thon named $6
as the amount. I took the price of the coal at $2, freight to Montreal $1.50 and
from Montreal to Toronto, $1.50. Taking into account insurance and other charges,
I reckoned the amount to be $6. I have revised that calculation and brought the
-amount down to $4.83.

Q. Can you give us the estimate showing how that is made up ?-I believe that,
, contracts for the carriage of coal from the mines to Toronto ca-f now be had at froi
42.50 to $3.00 per ton.

Q. Is that an unusually low rate in consequence of the depressed state of the
.-arrying trade ?-Well, it is dealing with matters as they stand at present. I should
think it a reasonable rate.

Q. Does that include insurance ?-That would be a little to add, but it does not
amount to much.

Q. Would $3.00 cover the whole charge ?-Yes.
Q. What would be the insurance per ton ?-About two cents.
Q. Do you know of contracts baving been actually taken ?-No, I do not.
Q. They have been offered ?-Yes.
Q. Speaking as a man of business, and giving an independent opinion, do you

think they have been offered by persons who would be able to carry out engagementa
for a considerable eriod ?-Yes.

Q. Have freih ts been offered for a long period ?-For the ensuing season.
Q. By substantial persons who could be held to their bargain ?-Yes.
Q. And first class coal could be put on board for $1.50 ?-Yes.
Q. Have you had any communication with agents or buyers in Toronto to lead

you to judge what prices could be commanded there ?-No.
Q. You were there last year ?-Yes.
Q. What opinion did you form from interviews you had ?-The opinion I got was

that they would take it at the price I have quoted.
Q. I observe that at the Board of Trade meeting in Toronto, there were some

remarks made detrimental to the character of your coal. Did you find from conver-
sation with dealers in Toronto that there was an objection to Nova Scotia coal?-No,
they rather preferred it.

Q. There were several shipments in 1869?-There were a few, I believe.
Q. Mr. Chisholm brought it in a vessel called " Her Majesty ?"-Yes, I thisak so,

but Mr. Noonan can givè yon some information on that. The feeling in Toronto, a



I leaured by conversation with4hose direetly dealing in the 4ade was that they
-would like to have Nova Bootia ceai.

Q, You did not find from past experience.that there was a prejudice against it?-

Q. Did you read what was said the other day in the Board of Trade?-Yes.
Q. Can you give any explanation that would be an answer to that allegation ?-

Yes. I supposé the coal taken up was from a mine newly opened, and the operntions
were not extensive, and the coal was not taken from very far from the surface.-
,may say this. You enter the seams by a slope and for some distance the surface of
the coal is afected by the percolation of water and clayey matters, which injures the,

-coal. I believe also that the purchaser made a special request that a cheap clams of
.coal might be sent. I suppose they might bave supplied better coal had he wanted
it, but~ he wished for a low-priced article and an inferior quality of coal was given him.

Q. Then your explanation is that the sample sent was not a fair sarriple of Picton
coal?-Yes. It was not by any means a fair sample.

Q. Do you know what was charged ?-No.
Q. You know where it came from ?-No; Nr. Noonan could speak as to that.
Q. Do you know of any shipments of coal since 1870 ?-I have no knowledge

>f any.
Q. The imposition of a duty in 1870 did not, so far as you are aware, lead to any

-coal being shipped to Toronto ?-No. I amnot aware that it did.
Q. Do you think any effort was made by the owners of mires in Nova Scotia and

-Cape Breton, in that year, to obtain 4 Canadian market for their coal ?-t am not
.aware of apy particular effort being made in that direction.

Q. You have heard the resolution forwardéd to us by the Hamilton Board of
Trade, and, probably, you have read a similar one by the Toronto Board of Trade.
They suggest a duty on bituminous or home-raised coal, coupled with a duty on
breadstuffs and all manufactured articles. --

Mr. Tupper -remarked that it would be better to read the resolutions. The
Chairman read the resolutions as follows:

From the Hamilton Board of Trade:

"That this Board objects to a customs duty upon the importation of coal simply
by itself; but in a revision of the tariff in the interest of the general industries of
the country this Board would approve of a customs duty upon such coal as is pro-
duced in the Dominion."

From the Toronto Board of Trade,:

" That this Board objects to a customs impost upon the importation of col
simply by itself; but in a revision of the tarif in the interest of the general industries
of the country, this Board would approve of a customs duty upon such kinds of coala
as are produced in the Dominion."

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Would you, from your knowledge of the opinions of persons interested in the

coal industry, be satisfied with that arrangement ?-No; I don't think -that would
meet our requirements.

. Q. That is to say, if there were a twenty-five per cent. instead of a 17Î per cent.
tarif on the unenumerated list, and a small duty on breadstuos and home products.,
and a dty of fifty cets on bituminous coal, it would not be satisfacto.7 ?-No, I
think not; we have to compete with the anthracite; therefore, we should like a duty
on anthraite too.

Q. Are you aware of the extent to which anthracite coal is used in Canada
generally ?-I know it is largely used.

"Q. By a return lately brought down of the authracit4eoal used, it appears the
amount is 294,394 tons against 324,176 of bituminous, that is for six monthi; I think

15



4u Victoria.

thé*whole importations of coal for 1875-6 were 793,136 tong. That would sho*, I
presnme, that our shipments of coal are mostly reeived in western (Canada during-
the last six months in the year?-I do nbt quite understand you, Do you mean that
your importations froin the «United States have been 793,000 ?

Q. No; that is the total importations into Canàda; but I find for the six months.
ending 31st December, 1876, ~the importationsa was, as stated, about 600,000 ; that
would indicate that the bulk of the coal is imported during the last six months of the-
year ?-Yes.

- Q. So that if we take the six months of 1875-6 we will get an approximate esti-
mate of the year's importationd ?-Yes; I sbould say so.

Q. And of that 294,000 odd is anthracite, or nearly half ?-Yes.
Q. That would give to Ontario a consumption of about 250,000 tous of bituminous-

coal?-Yes.
Q. Of that 250,000 tons, then, yon think it possible to command a market with

fifty cents duty, as far West as Toronto ?-Yes.
Q. In other words, about two-thirds of the whole amount ?-Yes.
Q. You are of opinion that nothing 1,ess than a duty of fifty cents on all the

coal imported would give you command of the Ontario market ?-I think so.
Q. But if there were to be an increase of 7½ þer cent., say, on the tariff of 17½ per-

cent., and a tariff of five per cent. imposed on other goods, would you consider that
arrangement an advantage or a disadvantage ?

Mr. TUPPER objected to the question. After some discussion,
The CiIRMAN ruled that the question could be put.
Mr. DYMOND said he would waive his right to ask the question.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. I would like to ask if I correctly understood you to say that the imposition of

a duty on all the bituminous coal brought into this country would be of no value
unless one were imposed on anthracite coal ?-It would not be of itself.

Q. Even with the large tonnage imported into this country during the six
months of the year; would that be of no value ?-Of course it would be, so far as
the importation of bituminous coal is concerned. It would assist us in this locality.

Q. Would it be for the interest of the coal interest of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
By Mr. Power:-

Q. Would it enable you to send the coal away; would it increase the quantity ?
-Yes. I think it would.

By Mr. Tupper :-
Q. Then, I understand you to say that though it would not be of great value

alone, it would be an advantage to the coal interest of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
Q. Was not this drawback in relation to the competition that took place in

Boston confined to the bituminous coal that came into competition with ours ?-
Entirely, in the case of that coal.

Q. In 1873, while the average of freight to Boston was $3.17, in 1874 it fell to-
only $1.50. I suppose that is the reason ?-Yes.

Q. In 1873, the average cost of all coal for the year was $4.84 at Baltimore.
The cost- of transporting freight to Boston was $3.17, and the average price, delivered
in Boston, $8 Èer ton; you having been able to compete; while in 1874 the average
price was $4.50, freight fell froin 83.17 to $1.50, and the price, delivered in Boston,
was $6 ?-Yes.

Q. Was there not, immediately after the imposition of a duty on coal, a largely
inereased production of coal in Nova Scotia. It was put on in 1870. t would take-
a year to show any result. Was not there a large increase in the export of Nova
Scotia coal to the old Piovinc of Canada in 1871 ?-1 believe there was, but I have
not the figures.

Q. You statëd that there were about 600 men engaged in 'the coal mines with
which you are connected. State approximately what-.number of souls that wouhl
represent, including he families of, and those dependeht upon, these 60ê mnn?-
The 600 inelh4es men and boys.
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Q. How many persons woald be embiaced in the families coane -tod with those
400 people ?-I think between 2,000 and 3,000.

By fr. Dymond:-
Q. You say that in 1874 freights fell heavily between Baltimore and Boston ?-

Yes.
Q. You stated that it was owing to the allowance of a drawb1ck in ihvoaie et

.coal from Baltimore to Boston?-Yes.
Q. Do yon know of your own knowledge that it was owing to that cause ?-No,

I- do not, but that is my idea.
Q. sYou have no knowledge of the fact ?-That is the opinion I have foxmed

from reading the American papers. I have no direct personal acquaintancewith tie
matter.

Q. When was the drawback allowed ?-I think it has existed for the last two or
three years.

Q. Do you know if it existed in 1874?-No. I cannot speak positively as te
-that.

Q. You cannot say positively, even from second-hand information, from papers
ýor otherwise, that it existed in 1874 ?-No.

Q. Was there not a great fall in freight generally in the United States in 1874?
-Yes.

Q. You say there was a large increase in the exportation of coal to the old
]Province of Canada in 1871 ?-Yes.

Q. There was no duty, I think, in 1871 ?-No.
By Mr. Tupper:-

Q. Was not there an increase in 1870 as well as in 1871 ?-Well, I don't recol-
lect.

Q. The contracts for the delivery of coal would probably be made, would they
zot, before the time; the duty was taken off in the season of 1871; the contracta
for that summer would be taken before that ?-Yes.' It is usual to make the contraéta
-early in the year -February or March.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Do you know of any contracts having been made in 1870 for shipments to

the older Provinces under these circumstances ?-No, I do not.
Q. Then, what you stated was purely hypothetical. Contracts undoubtedly

would be made in advance of the shipments, but do you know of any shipments having
been made ?-No, I do not; but I believe there were sone.

Q. In 1871 the price began to rise considerably in England, did it not ?-Yes.
Q. Then, in fact, you were relieved to a certain extent from English competition

in that year by the rise in the price of English coal ?-Yes, to some extent.
Q. Is it not in.Quebec that your competition with English coal is most severe ?--

Yes.
Q. We have no English coal to any extent in Ontario ?-No, I believe not.
Q. So, that large increase in 1871 may have been attributable to the increased

price of English coal. The increased consumption of Nova Scotia coal in Quebec
mnight have been owing to that, might it not ?-It might have been affected by that.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Are you aware of the fact that during the year 1870 while the duty of fifty

cents per tou was in operation that the price of coal was unusually low in Montreal
-and Quebec; that although there was a much larger exportation of Nova Scotia m»'-al
to Quebec and Montreal the price was not increased ?-No, I do not know. £ was
not directly connected with mining operations at that time.

By the Chairman:-
Q. The imposition of a duty of fifty cents on foreign coal would, you say, greatly

benefit the coal mines of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
Q. Would that benefit accrue to some extent to the Province of Ontario, that is

would not the trade in coals with the Province of Ontario be an advantage to the
latter ?-Yes, by the steady employment that would be given to workmen in conneo-
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tion with the Mines, the number would be Iareyinereseod, ad4here 1ould conse-
quently be an increase in the artiýlofs consumed by them.

Q. You say that the imposition of a duty of 50 cents-per ton would enable Nova
BSootia to senure alat-ge portion of the coal trade of Ontario. Thateoal wouldrequire
to be sent by steamers and sailing vessels. Those vessels would require a return
reight, and the increase in the coal trade would require a much larger amount of

manufactures and agricultural products to be consumed ?-Yes.
Q. And inasmuch as the vesseN would bring up the coal of Nova Scotia, they

would require to bring back something as return freight ?-Yes.
Q. Would the trpde, therefore, be of any service to the Province of Ontario ?-

I should certainly think it would.
Q. In what way ?---If our prices were increased and the mines fully employed

at work, there would be a large increase in the population, and, of course, the wants:
of the people would also be increased. Ontario would certainly participate largely
in the supply of those wants, and in that way the extension of the coal trade would
be a benefit to that Province.

By Mr. Power :
Q. Would a drawback of 75 cents per ton or a duty of 50 cents be of most

benefit to the coal interests ?--A duty of 50 cents on all coal would benefit us most.
A duty on al] coal would enable us to come in here as well as the United States. It
would help us in that way.

By Mr. lacdoiald (Toronto)
Q. You have stated that the price of freight to Toronto and insurance would be

$3. low much in addition would the prices of tolls be ?-The tolls are taken off, I
think. The figures I have named would include every charge.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Are you aware of any contracts having been invited for Ottawa by the

Government for Nova Scotian coal ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know what the amount of the tender was for th.e lcoal laid down ?-

$5 and some cents I believe. We only know from the Premier himself with whom
we had an interview this morning. ie named the exact figure but I have
forgottèn it.

By Mr. Sinclair:-
Q. You stated that the price was $4.90 at Boston; was that the short ton ?-

That, I believe was the long ton.
Q. Did they sell by the long ton in Boston ?-I understand that certain districts

sell by one; others by the other.

MONDAY, March 26.
Mr. ROBT. BELLONI called and examined.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You are a citizen of the United States ?-Yes.
Q. You are interested in the Cow Bay, C.B., coal mining property ?-Yes.
Q Is it a large colliery ?-Yes.
Q. You are part owner ?-Yes.
Q. And manager ?-Yes.
Q. Yon have been so for how many years ?-For seventeen years.
Q. Are you pretty well acquainted with the coal trade of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
Q. And are familiar also with the coal trade of the United States ?-Yes.
Q. What are your coals peculiarly adapted for ?-Our coals are peculiarly

adapted for gas purposes, but are largely used for steam and other purposes
Q. Still they have a high reputation as a gas coal?-Yes.
Q. Which of the coal fields of the United States are you acquainted with ?-

With ll of thbm, moreor lem, and with those of England ,as well. I might say that
I am more familiar with the ceai lperations Of the United States, from having been
e*gaged in the anthracite coai trade before going to Nova Scotia.

18
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Q The ooal fields of the Province of Nova Seotia are qf diffeent qalities ?-
-esgthey are of different qualities, though all possess more or Ises tih. same general

characteristics.
Q. Batare iay speeialiyadapted for particlarpurposes ?-Yes.
Q. Thatis, some of them are adapted for particular uses ?-Yes.
Q. How do they ompane with the bituminous coals of the United States,?.-

They are equally as good.
Q. Are they in some instances superior ?-No, I think not.
Q. Rave they, or have they not, some grades or qualities in the United States-

I mean of bituminous coal-inferior to those of Nova Scotia ?-Yes; I think %"y
have ; I speak now of first-class coals.

Q. But still there are grades of coal in the United States which are inferior
in quality to the better class coals of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.

Q. Does the duty of seventy-five cents per ton hamper your operations in the
United States ?-Very seriously.

Q. What were your shipments last year ?-About 34,000 tons.
Q. That is from your mine ?-Yes.
Q. In case the duty was removed, what would you calculate your shipments to

be ?-They would run up to 100,000 tons, which they were before the abrogation of
the treaty.

Q. Have your coal operations for the last few years been paying you large divi-
dends ?--No dividends whatever.

Q. Then I presume you are simply holding on waiting for better times?-Yes.
Q. Do you know anything about the drawback, or rebate, that is given on coals

that are shipped from Baltimore to the Eastern States ?-Yes, there is a drawback
allowed on coal shipped to the Eastern market. It is shipped by the Pennsylvania
Railway.

Q. Is there any rebate or allowance there ?-Yes.
Q. What is its nature ?-In all contracts made by the Pennsylvania Railway

Company-the shipments made by the Pennsylvania and Westmoreland Coal Com-
pany from Pittsburgh-the practice has been to allow them to go to New York and
the Eastern markets, and then the cost of transportation by rail is made by the rail-
road companies afterwards. This is done in order to give them contro of these
markets.

Q. As against'whom ?-Against the Nova Scotian operators. It bas been stated
by the President of the Company, Mr. Scott, that it was in his power to ruin coal
operations in Nova Seotia. The rebate of seventyive cents per ton was allowed on
all coals shipped east of New Haven, Connecticut, thereby placing the Eastern
markets at a lower cost on coals than that of New York. That system had the
effect of wiping out the shipments made last year to the Eastern States from Nova
Seotia.

Q. You mean assisted by the seventy-five cents ?-Yes. The only shipments.
made to the Eastern States were owing to personal influence, the amount of tonnage
was not more than 10,000 tons. I am speaking of the shipments eastward last yoar.

Q. That is to the port of Boston ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know anything of the operations of the system between Baltimore

and the Eastern ports ?-The Baltimore and Ohio Railway Company didn't charge
the cost of transportation to enable those companies shipping over the road to com-
pete.

By Mr. Dymond;-
Q. There is a rebate of-?-There is a rebate made on certain classe of

coal.
Q. That is bituminous coal?-Yes.
Q. What is the object of that rebate ?-To compete with other markets in the

world, more especially those of Nova Seotia, because that is -rally the only »&Utry-
ht into competition.

And Great Britain also,?-Yes, but especially Nova Scotia.
4-2j 19
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By the. (Cairman ;
Q. Wuat special advantages have the eollieries of Nova SSotia over those of the

-United States ?-Their close proximity to tide-water.
Wbat remedywouldyousuggestorwhatremedy would youhavein your niundwith

>pet to the improvement of the coal trade of Nova Scotia ?-I would suggest the

bilding up of the coal trade of Nova Scotia by a duty equal to that of the United
States, thus placing the Nova Scotia trade in the same position as coal shipped from

Baltimore and other ports and places.
Q. The effect of that you say would be to raise the shipments some 300 per cent ?

-Yes.
By Mr. Dymond

Q. You give that merely as your opinion ?-Yes. I feel convinced that any

system of that kind would throw open the markets, and enable the coal trade of Nova

Scotia to increase very materially.

By the Chairman .-
Q. Can you say as to whether it would not have any effect upon the existing

duty upon coals exported fron Nova Scotia to the United States. Would not it be

likely to have an effect upon that policy ?-It would.
Q. In what respect ?-It would have the effect of increasing the shipments of

.coal from Nova Scotia, and consequently of increasing the profits of the Company.
Q. That is not wbat I moan. Do you know what influences, if any, were brought

to bear to procure the imposition of the duty of 75 cents per ton on imported coals in

the United States ?-Influences from Pennsylvania, Judge Kelly of Pennsylvania,
-and others that represent that interest.

Q. You mean the influence of the Pennsylvania coal mining proprietors ?-Yes,
together with those of Maryland.

Q. That influence was such as to induce the imposition of a duty ?-Yes.

Q. Do you think that the imposition of a similar duty on coals coming from
]Pennsylvania and other portions of the United States into the Dominion would in any

way affect the views or efforts of the Pennsylvania coal mining proprietors in that
direction ?-Yes. The effect would be that the United States overnment would
remove their duty.

Q. Have you any special reason for thinking so ?-Yes, because it would interfere

very materially with the shipments made at Cleveland and that vicinity, as well as

the shipments of anthracite coal into the Canadian market.
Q. Hllave you any other reason for coming to that conclusion-any conversations

with those interested ?-Yes, the reason that there is a great depression in the anthra-
cite coal trade of the United States, and the tonnage of the Delaware, Lackawana
and Western Railway Coal Company, and the Delaware and Hudson and Pennsyl-
vania Company. It would open up the Canadian market to the introduction of

American coals. I know it is the intention of these two companies to place a large
amount of anthracite coal on the Halifax m4rket, if they can do so at such a rate as

to save themselves from absolute loss.
- Q. Does the tarriff as it stands affect the coal mining interests in any exceptional

way ?-Yes, so far as the tax upon the articles they use in mning operations is
concerned.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. What is the average percentage oftaxation on those articles ?-The average

would be probably 12J per cent. The average would be a matter of calculation; you
would have to equate the different rates. I should think it would be an average of
about 124 per cent.

Q. The coal trade in Nova Scotia labours under an export duty of 10 cents per
ton ?-Yes, it is seriously affected by that. It waa an arrangement made by the

Nova Scotia Government before Confederation. As at present imposed it is a tax, as
it is just the difference botween a loss and a slight profit on present operations.

Q. What I gather is this: You ship, you say, 30,000 tons ; that would be $3,000
20
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royalty. If yen had that amount it would be just s0 muh profit ?-It weald lave us
from being put to actual loss.

Q. Your expenditure is about equal to the um you receive, and if you had that
amoun t it would b r ao much to your prfit ?-Yes.

Q. Was not the eteet of the demand for coal in 1873 that a large influx of
mining pópulation took place into Cape Breton ?-No, I think not.

Q. Are you conversant with Mr. Poole's report for 1875 ?-Yes.
Q. He makes a statement to that effect. He says: " The continual decline in

the production of coal in this country has been a source of mueh saffering to the
mining population, and it is greatly to be feared that, unless a eb>nge for the.
botter soon takes place in the trade, numbers of the men usually eng about the
mines will have to seek elsewhere for work, -and in new occupations nd employ.
ment." I should infer from this that there had been a great influx of miners.
you agree with that ?-Yes; but you put a different question.

Q. I asked if it led to an influx of population ?-Yes, it may have brought some
to the immediate vicinity, but not to any great extent.

Q. Well, I will put the question in this shape: Did the additional demand for
labour in 18ï3 cause an increase ?-Yes, a very slight increase only.

Q. Thon the prosent depression is not greatly onhanced by that fact ?-Yes, so
far as those immediately identified with the mining interests are concerned.

Q. And they are not very numerous ?-Well, the effect was to make the
depression a still greater hardship. Last year, the men in the collieries were almot
starving ; so much so that the Nova Scotian Government had to corne to their relief
to the extent of $4,000 or $5,000. I am speaking of some of the Cape Breton collieries.

Q. The point I want to ascertain is: whether or not the preseit distress wa&
enhanced by the effects of the increased influx in 1873 ?-I don't think it was.

Q. The West Indian trade has fallen off to as well as that of the United States ?-
We never controlled that trade to any extent. It has not fallen .off, but it was
increased in 1873, owing to the high prices in England.

Q. Is it not a fact that the trade with the West Indies fell off as much as 48,000
tons on a business of 138,000 ?-It may be, but it was ail owing to the decline after
the high prices that existed in England, in 1873.

Q. But the West Indian trade in Nova Scotia coal would not fali off in
consequence of English coal being dear ?-No, it would increase.

Q. Then you mean that there had previously been a considerable increase, and
that a reaction followed ?-Yes. The trade with the West Indies only increased by
the increased cost of coal from Engiand. Whon English c.al fell, the shipmenta
from Nova Scotia fell off, as the English dealers were unable to'compete.

Q. Has your trade been unfavourably affected by carelessness in the shipping of
the coal ?--No.

Q. i find that in the Inspector's Report the following staternents are made:
"The coal producer should not forget that in the preparation of his raw produet for
the markets abroad, ho has still left him much more for improvement. That coal
be shipped large and dry is essential to the good condition of a cargo on arrival after a.
lOng voyage. The dropping it down twenty or thirty feet into vessels, shipping it
il all weathers, and frequent shovellings are not conducive to the good quality of
ordinary coal. The deterioration of smtll and wet coal from heating in the confine-
menlt of a heap, or in a semi-closed vessel is very much greiter than is generally
'uagined by miners and shippers. Gas manufacturera, however, know it to their
cost ?"-The same state of affairs existed in England.

Q. The question is hardly whether it existed in England, but do you sree with
th necessity for this caution on the part of the inspector ?-No, I don't; speakof

mies I have been.
Q- is it not a fact that, notwithstanding the increased competition of American

d , YOur trade in the British North American Provinces has been largely increased
n1g the past few years ?-So far as Quebec and Montreal are concerned there baa

u ianBlig, 
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OQ eenrse there are Prince Bdwar IMa.nd nud Ow*tmdtad?-That matke
las always been controlled by Nova Scotia shipments.

Q In 1871 the shipments to the British North American Provinces are stated to
have been 168,577 tons; and in 1875, 3817711 ?-Probably those are the figares
representing the actual consumption of coal in those Provinces.

Q. le it not a fact that when the duty was $1.25 the exportation of eal to the
United States was actaally larger than since the ireduction to seventy-five cents ?--
Ys.

Q. Can you explain that fact ?-I explain it by the system adopted by many of
the companies in the United States, together with Mr. Scott keeping the Pennsylvania
Railway. Their whole policy for the last five years had been to control the markets
by their system of drawbacks and rebates. Our trade with these markets has been
wiped away by this system.

Q. There has been an enormous development of the coal mining and railway
interests there durn that time ?-Yes.

Q. Do you attribute this to the largely increased competition there ?-No, but
to the system of drawbacks on the railways.

Q. But bas not this system of drawbacks and rebates been cansed by the com-
petition among themselves ?-No; they were determined to take these markets and
they could only get hold of them by a system of this kind, as at present they hold
coal higher in Philadelphia than in New York and the Eastern markets. Their
object is to control the- markets of the Eastern States. Coal was seventy-five cents
higher in Philadelphia than in the Eastern States.

Q. Can you tell us the distance the coal is carried by their railways ?-Pittsburg
is 300 and odd miles from Philadelphia, and Philadelphia is 80 odd miles from New
York; the total distance is over 400 miles.

Q. What is the distance to Boston ?-That is by water. Shipments are made
by Elizabeth Pgrt.

Q. What is the distance from your mines to Boston, by water ?-About 50W
miles.

Q. I see it has been stated by authorities quoted in Poole's Report that American
coal has been preferred in Boston to Nova Scotia coal for gas purposes ?-It has not
been preferred, and I speak from what I know. The Pennsylvania and Ohio coal is
10,00 cubie feet to the ton; ours is about the same. The illuminating power of
theirs is about 16 candles gas; Cape Breton coal is 16. There is a little increase of
sulphur in the best coal from Cape Breton over that from Pennsylvania. The coke
of the Nova Scotia coal is much stronger, and a larger yield than the Pennsylvania
coal. Cape Breton coal is 43 butshels to the ton, while that of Pennsylvania is 38.
The reason why the Cape Breton coal is preferred is because the coke is much
stronger, though of course there is the slight drawback that it contains more
sulphur.

Q. There is a little impurity, you say, in the shape of sulphur, but that is co-
pensated for by its being a better coke-producing quality of coal ; that is what you
imply ?-Yes; there are always more or less slight differences.

Q. I ses Mr. Poole estimates that some sales made in New York in 1875 would
not realize $1.75 American currency on the coal at the Pictou or Cape Breton Mines?
-That was a scale made; $1.75 free on board.

Q. Was tha‡ a paying rate ?-No; it was too small a contract to make it pay.
Q. You heard Mr. Rutherford's evidence on Saturday; what is your opinion as

to the rate at which you can supply Nova Scotia coal, first-cluas quality, in blk?-
That would depend on the tonnage. If we had a large tonnage at $1.75 we could
make some profit, and at $2.25 that profit would, of course, be considerably increased.
Of course a small colliery could not make the same pro rata profit as a large one.

Q. What would be the price at which you could make a fair profit, assuming that
your colliery were making a fair average yield ?-At a yield say of 150,000 tons, $2
on board would be a fair compensation.

Q. You could not hold out a prospect even at the production yoahave named, of
22



sel1iag yoUr e*aa fora less prie o loard than $2 ?-L M.entioned before that the
pisof #1X71 fr'ee on board was not a pretfable one.

Q, Did ndt the Nova Sootia eoal owners attempt to combine .for the general
inte'ests of the trade in September, 187b ?-No, I never knew of any saueh oom
binationi.

Q. Didn't they hold a meeting at Stellarton ?-Not for the purpose oftombhi' ng,
but morely to consider what was best to be done for the improvement of thet
either the.imposition of a duty on coal or a drawback.

Q. Perhaps if I used the term co-operatioa you would understand me betert-
Yes ; that is a more appropriate name.

Q. What were the prices of coal at the time of this meeting ?-Much the maMb
as they are to-day.

Q. $1.75 to $2 for large shipments ?-Well, $1.75 to $2.25 for large shipmenam
Q. Did the coal owners come to a decision on the subject ?-No.
Q. Didn't they decide to use political inunence so far as possible on their owa

behalf?-Not that I heard of.
Q. Do you know that Mr. Poole states as much in his report?-Then, I don't

think ho is correct.
Q. You don't know of an association existing for the purpose of regulating prioes

.and obtaining a change in the tariff ?-There is an association composed of coal ownere
nominally, but there is no organization, and whatever of the kind does exist, is to try
,and get an increased duty on coal, or a relief of some kind or other.

Q.. Will you describe the form that relief might tike as suggested by them ?-
Nothing has been done to carry out the matter.

4. Thon you speak rather of the sentiment or feeling prevailing than of any
active steps that have been taken ?-Yes. I know of no decision having been come t.

Q. You speak often cents per ton being a heavy tax upon coal owners ?-Yes.
Q. It is a royalty, is it not ?-Yes.
Q. In other words a rental ?-It may be so considered.
Q. The lands are held in fee simple by the Crown, are they not?-No. The

lands are beld by proprietors, and the mining rights by the Crown. The Crown
right is to the mine, not to the soil.

Q. Thon the present proprietors had to purchase the fand from private in-
dividuals ?-Only so far as a sufficient amount to erect buildings, &c., is concerned.

Q. In whom is the land vested ?-In fee simple by particular owners.
Q. Does the charge for the lands required amount to any serious burden on the

capital ?-It does sometimes.
Q. Can yoa give us an illustration; this is a public matter, is it not ?-It is

provided in the Mining Act that in case there is any disagreement as to terme,
arbitrators may be called in, and if they.cannot decide, it is brought before one of the
Supreme Court Judges.

Q. You are not thon at the mercy of the land speculators ?-No.
Q. Can you give us an instance to illustrate the prices-the Cow Bay mine or

some other ?-Our land amounts to about 200 acres, andcost probably $15,000.
Q. Tnat was not a serions burden oncapital ?-No.
Q. Thon this royalty may be regarded as a rental on the mining rights?-It is

a charge on the shipments of coal.
Q. It, in effect, represents- the timber licenses or stumpage charged .in the

Western Province ?-Yes.
Q. I suppose from what you have said that the coal proprietors did not agree fo

adopt a general system of management by which the eipenses could be reduced?
--We did in Pictou and Cape Breton.

Q. Do you consider an arrangement of that kind "practicable ?-The result has
proved that it is pot.

Q. Is it a fact that from local jealousy and competition there has been au
Eunnecessary expenditure of capital, and that the expenses have been altogether di-
iroportionate te the requirements of the mines ?-I think not.
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Q. It is so stated in Mr. Pooles report. He says: "T*OOkig beek at the.
IMtory of previous mining operations, we see the wtat of much aooerd in theo

aexpenditure of capital. The waste being dictated by a jealous spirit
that hoped, yet without any ground for belief, to try by exclusion to prevent competi-
tion. We "ee it in the railways seven miles long, running side by side to the middle>
iver o Picton, in the two branches from Westville to the main line at Stellarton,

three and a half miles long, in the two railways running together for ten miles, from
tii ont-mines to Sydney harbour, in the two artifical harbours at Glace Bay, and in
the two breakwaters at Cow Bay-an unnecessary expenditure of at leait a million
and a quarter dollars "?-With regard to Cow Bay, there are not two breakwaters,
go those statements, therefore, are not correct.

Q. There is only one ?-Yes.
Q. Are you acquainted with the other districts ?-Yes.
Q. Are those statements correct as to them ?-No; I dou't think they are.

These parties, in building the railways, did it to save themselves. I know that they-
could not make arrangements with the railways.

Q. Whatever may have been the motive, the fact is that these works have been
a burden on the capital of those companies ?-No more than in the coal operations
of other countries. You see the same thing in the United States.

Q. Are there not, so far as these mines are concerned, greater appliances than are-
mecessary to carry on that business ?-No, I think not. I endeavoured some years
ago to form a combination among Nova Scopia coal dealers to ship;over one road, but
we couldn't come together. Of course there are differences of opinion with regard to-
the locations and shipping points.

Q. It was not on economic grounds that you were unable to make these arrange-
inents but becanuse you could not come together ?-Yes, they acted to the best of their-
judgment at the time.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. I suppose some points of shipment would be convenient to both parties,?-Yes.

,By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Are there climatic difficulties with regard to your coal trade with the West

Indies, difficulties that do not exist with regard to the United States trade ?-No.
Q. Can you ship to the United States from any port at all seasons ?-No.
Q. So that when coal is brought over the United States Railways to New York

they would have an advantage, not being able to deliver it all the year round ?-Yes,
but it is a very slight one. We are shipping to-day.

Q. But this is an unusually mild winter. How many seasons are your ports
closed ?-We can generally ship for ten months. They could not from Sidney or

Q. Then your ports are closed for two or three months in the year ?--Yos.
Q. Have any steps been taken by you to obtain an open port of shipment for

the West Indies or elsewhere ?-Yes; the line of railway to Onisburg is nearly built,
and when it i completed they hope to be able to ship for twelve months in the year
from that port, but the question is one yet te be decided.

Q. That would be for the Cape Breton ltrade ?-Yes; to serve the companies
there.

Q. Would the Pictou companies be able to avail themselves of Halifax ?-Yes;,
but there is a large increase in the cost of transportation.

"Q. But not more than the American companies have for bringing coal to Balti-
more, from West Virginia. The distance you say is 300 miles. How far is it fron
Pictou to Halifax ?--110 miles.

Qs The railway being under the contract of the Government between Pictou and
'~Halifax--part of the Intercolonial system-it would be possible by favourable arrange-
ments with the Government to overcome that difficulty ?-If the cost of transporta-
tion was reduced, of course they would have so much advantage.

Q. What is the present cost of transportation ?-I canngt say at present.
24



<N~.44 A i?/IT

Ry M. GouJge >
Q. The general rate is one cent per ton per mile, is it nott--That is the general

rate I believe.
By r. Dymond :--

Q. You say you are acquainted with the American Companies. Wht woil<
you say from your own experience was the price of bituminons coal at te pit's
mouth, to those companies ?-From ninety cents to one dollar per ton placed in the
cars. In some cases it -may be less.

Q. Then you start with the disadvantage that American coaleosts one-halfthe
price of Nova Scotia?-No; I say that they can do it at these figures, but there is nO
inoney in it.

Q. Yon named Ï1.75 as your rate ?-Well, to make it a profitable operation we-
should have $2.00, unless on very large operations.

Q. What is the cause of American companies producing, the coal at so much
lower a rate than you are able to produce yours ?-Because they turn out so much-
larger a quantity of coal.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Are their facilities greater ?-Yes, they are.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. So far as the mechanical difficulties are concerned they have the advantage-

over you ?-Yes.
Q. Will you mention the yield of some particular mine in the United States ?-

The Penn and Westmoreland 300,000 to 400,000 tons 'each; they have two diferent
mines. One is about 300,000 and the other about 400,000.

Q. That would be three times the amount which you regard as the full yield of
your mines ?-Yes.

Q. Do you know the werking expenses of the American mines ?-Yes.
Q. What are the average wages per month of working one of these mines, or-

both ?-I should suppose that the average rate of the wages of miners would be
$1.75. In some places it would be more.

Q. Do you mean the'wages of a coal cutter ?-No, a collier.
Q. Do you know what they are actually paying per month wages ?-No. I do

not.
Q. Can you tell us approximately ?-The earnings of a colliery in Pennsyl-

vania ?
Q. Will you tell us,* please, how many men they, employl?-Some may employ

about 200 colliers.
Q. I am desirous of ascertaining!if you have personal knowledge of any particular

mine ?-No; I only speak generally.
Q. Do you know what one of these men is supposed to produce in a day ?-

With us from 3j to 4 tons per day.
Q. What do you pay per day to a collier ?-About $1.40.
Q. What rates of freight have you been able to obtain to Boston and New York ?'

-Last year it was $ 1.75; in some cases it was $1.50, but that was unusual. These-
figures are for freight to Boston; to New York they are from $3 to $3.50.

Q. Have you made calculations as to the effect of a 75 cent duty on the delivery-
of coal in the Ontario market?-I think it would enable the coal miners of Nova
Scotia to place their coal as far west as Toronto-not west of Toronto.

Q. Can you give us the figures showing your calculations ?--We could put the
coal on board at $1.75 ; rate of freight to Toronto is, eay $2.50 to $3 ; then I would.
take off 12J per cent., being the difference between the long and the short ton.

Q. When you have been speaking of the price of coal hitherto you speak of the-
long ton ?-Yes; 2,240 pounds.

Q. Have you freight contracts at the rate of $2.50 ?--No; but I have heardthat
Parties were willing to make them.

Q. What are the rates to Montreal ?-1.90 to $2 per ton.
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Q. Do you thinkit possible to bring coal for les than Bv kata pag Bleton or
£idney to Toronto ?-I cannot say as to that.

Q. And you think the imposition of a duty on coal would help youYA ùty
placed on coal should be equal to the United States duty.

Q. Do ymn propose that it should be put on all coai ?-If I understand it, the
policy of the Government must be to put it on all coal if they put it on any.

.No Government can put a duty on any one article ?-I would state this fact,
that if a duty was imposed on all coal, it would open up certain Rhannels for
bitaminous that now use anthracite; so I think it would be better to place it on ait

Q. It was suggested that a duty should be placed on bituminous alone. There
is a difference in price, is there not ?-Anthracite coal to-day in the New York
market is lower than bituminous.

Q. But that is an abnormal condition of things, is it not ?--Yes.
Q. Do you know what anthracite coal is selling at in Ontario or Montreal ?-

lio, I cannot say. Ithink the anthracite would be much lower than the bituminous.
Q. Is it not a fact that for a large number of manufactures and other purposes,

-anthracite is a powerful competition on economic grounds with bituminous ?--Yes.
Q. If we were to place a duty on bituminous and not on anthracite, would not

that disadvantage bituminous coal by inducing a larger resort to anthracite ?-It
might have such an effect, but each kind of coal is used lor certain purposes that

would not be served by the other.
Q. Your suggestion was to put a duty on the whole of it ?---I am now speaking

-of the benefits arisingfrom it. I suggest this as a means of relief.
By Mr. Tupper :-

Q. Would you prefer to see a duty on the whole of it ?--Yes.
By Mr. Dymond :-

But practically would not that be placing bituminous coal at a disadvantage ?-
No, I think not.

Q. From the evidence before us, the whole addition to the Nova Scotia coal
trade, I mean of bituminous coal, would be 150,000 to 175,000 tons as between east-

-ern and western Canada. Therefore any large importation of anthracite would
reduce that to a small amount ?--Yes.

Q. You heard the resolution read from the Hamilton Board of Trade, which sng-
gested a readjustment of the tariff, which we understand to mean increased protection
to our own manufactures as well as protection to coal ?-Yes.

Q. Are you of opinion that if those two operations were included in one
.scheme, you would derive an advantage ?-Yes, I think we would. q

Q. Il a duty were laid on breadstuffs and other necessaries oflife ?-No, I do not
say that. My idea of the whole question of the tariff is that this Government
should shape it as much as possible in accordance with the tariff of the United
.States, that is protecting these interests here. That is merely a questioa of judg-
ment.

Q. That is to say imposing duties on imported manufactures similar to those
imposed by the United States ?-Yes. Of course 1 am speaking generally. With
regard tothis question of coal, the present arrangement gives the United States an
immense leverage power over the coal operations of Nova Scotia. They have added
to that power by combinations and arrangements with the railway companies in the
United States.

By the Chairman:
Q. I see by Mr. Poole's report that lie states there has been an unnecessary ex-

penditure of a large amount of money, which bas been caused by injudicious compe-
tition in the way of building railways, running alongside of each other, when only
-one was needed. £te refers to it as being in connection with Sidney Harbour. Do
you know what railways are referred to ?-I suppose the Cape Breton Railway versus
4he International.

Q. Do you consider those two could have- blended into one ?-They might bave
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.doed se ; to some extent thatis-.an ,ope* question to-day, though they might have
rntwgamated into one.

Are not the shipping places something like a mile part ?-More than a mile.
Q. Is it not in eoneetion with four or fve colieries ?~-Yes.
Q Do you consider that one line of railway would be sufcient to nable a large

-colliery like the International, and those companies like the Cape Breton Compay,
to ship over one lino ?-No, because the intention of the Cape Breton Company an
tbuilding one road was to bring in other companies to ship over that road.

Q. Do you consider it a mistake on the part of the International Coal and ail-
-way Company to build for themselves a lino, and for the Emery and Reserve, ad
Cape Breton and Schooner Pond, te combine as one body, or ahould they all hae
gone in together ?-Those operations were carried ont at different times.

Q. But were their facilities sufficient ?-No.
Q. If they had combined together and constructed one line of railway woukl

there have been sufficient facihties ?-No.
Q. Then that is the reason why they should bauild two lines of railway ?-Y>es

that is one reason.
Q. I it not a fact also that the two collieries are some two miles apart, 80 that

,they would have had to construct two miles of lino for the purpose of meeting ?-
Yes.

By Mr. Workman:
Q. How mueh coal was shipped over these two lines during the year ?-A very

âmall amount owing to the great depression, and I may state one reason they did not
make a great shipment was that they are both in a bankrupt condition. The bond-
holders of the International are now, 1believe, about foreclosing. Both are engaged
in litigation.

Q. Could one have done the work of both last year ?-Yes.
By the Chairman:

Q. Could they have done so, even this year, if they had been working to their
,ordinary extent ?-No.

By Mr. Workman:-
Q. I understood you to say that one mine in the United States, producing

300,000 or 400,000 tons, was run by one railway; why could not one route have
answered in Cape Breton ?-There is no comparison ; the Pennsylvania railway repre-
.Lents $250,000,000 capital; the other is a mere local railway.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. In other words, the one in Cape Breton is mere mining plant r-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. There is one company shipping over their line; is there not ?-Yes.
Q. Was it satisfactory ?-I don't think so.
Q. There is also mention made of two artificial harbours at Little Glace Bay. Is

that a fact ?-No, they are entirely distinct harbours.
Q. Are there two ?-No, there is only one at this plate, but there is one at Big

Glace Bay.
Q. How far apart are they ?-Three or four miles.
Q. Do you think then that this statement is justified by the facts, that there ha

been unnecessary expense in the construction of these harbours3 ?-No, for one COM-
pany tried to make other arrangements and they coula not.

By Mr. Tupper : -
Q. The International Company's Railway was built first ?-Yes.
Q The railway built by the Cape Breton Coal Mining Company is intended to

<le, not only their own work, but work for several other mines expected to be openeé
that could not have been otherwise accommodated ?-Yes

Q. Yau have stated to Mr. Dymend that you think that the imposition of a duty
-on ceal, aihough accompanied by such a general readjustment of the tarif as to
faster the genieral interests of the country, would foster the coal trade ?-Yes.

Q. I wi.h to ask you whether, in your opinion, the -eal mining industry would-



mt b. benefitted by the imposition of a daty on coal even if aeowmpanied bya dau
o breadstuis, prbvided the efect was to furnish cargoes both way, and thus establi
ansinter-Provincia. trado that otherwise would not exist? -Yes. The> exchange of
commodities maat benofit both places to the extent of thefr shipments.

Q. The amali duty would be compensated by the increased trade between the two-
1 ovinees?-Yes, I think so.

Q. What do you state was the amount of the drawhack on the Pennsylvani&.
Pklway last year ?-75 cents on aIl coal shipped east of New Haven, Connectieut.

Q. Was the rate ever 41.30 per ton ?-Yes, I believe it was. I am speaking now
of what I have read.

Q. You spoke of a combination among the coal owners. You say there is no-
combination among them as to the price of producing coal ?-No.

Q. It ~is simply a co.operation among those situated in the trade to inducer
Parliament to give such a duty on coal as would afford you increased protection from
imported coal-such an amount. of duty as would enable you to increase your
production ?-Yes, but even that organization has not taken any tangible shape.

Mr. TUPPER put in the following table, showing the volume of gas obtained from
a ton of different kinds of coal, from page six of " The Coal Trade," written by
Frederick E. Saward, editor of the Coal Trade journal :

Cubie Feet.
Boghead Cannel................................................... 13,334
W igan Cannel.......................................................... 15,42#;
Cannel.................... .............................. 1500
Cape Breton............................................................. 9,500
Cunberland .................. .......................................... 10,000
English (mean)........................................................ 11,000
N ewcastle .............................................................. 10,000
K ilkenny................................................................ 12,500
Oil and Grease........................................................ 23.000
Picton and Sydney................................8,000
Pine W ood........ ........................ .......................... 11,000
Pittsburg Goal................................................ ......... 9,520
Resin...................................................................... 15,600
Scotch Goal.....................................15)000
V irginia Coal........................................................... 8,963
Wallsend. ...................................... ,12000
By.AMr. Power:-

Q.With reference to the duty on flour. iDo not the flour consumers in Nova
Bootia get their supplies principally from, Canada ?-Yes, pri ncipally. There are.
biprnents from the United- States, but I don't know the proportion.

Q. So that the imposition ot a duty on flour would increase the importation very-
littie ?-I cannot say to what extont.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. Would not the sending of coals- to Ontario have the effeet of coanterbalancing

lhe duty on flour by the deereased prices owing- to greater f acilities ?-Yes.
By Mr. McGregor

Q.What ameunt of coai wouid you be prepared to, send te Toronto, suppesing-
yen had a duty ?-I arn not prepared te, say. It would, of course, be a trade that
would have to be buit Up.

Q.What is coal worth at Cleveland ?-I suppose it is put on the cars at the-
nansat from ;3Oc. to $t1.

Q.J5ow much to the Lake ? - I cannot say.
Q.Or the ceat of these eaie at Toronto ?-No.
Q.Do yen think yen couid establish a trade furtiier west than Toronto?-No.
Q.So tiat the. imposition ofa duty on ceai would only giveyou as far as Iroronto>

îs addition to what yon have now ?-Yett.
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Q. The people west afToronto wuld bave to pay the duty on the coal thcy
Smght ?-Well, that is a question for eonsideration.

Q. Would a duty placed on flour for the whole of Nova Seotia and Cape Breton
be a heavy tax upon them for the amount of coal they would export ?-No, I think
not. It would be compensated by the amount of their coal trade.

Q. And that increase only reaching as far west as Toronto ?-Well, the adjust-
ment cannot fall equally all over.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. Your theory is that it would be a political operation, thus putting à duity on

-eoal-a retaliatory policy ?-Yes, and I think the pressure brought by the coal
operators on the UJnited States would be such as to compel the removal of their

-duty.
By Mr. Tupper

Q. If they found that the imposition of a duty was not shutting us out from the
market, they would take it off ?-Yes, it would bring such influence to bear upon the
-Government that they would be obliged to takejît off. Friends of mine in Pennsyl-
vania tell Mo so.

By Mr. McGregor:
Q. Has not coal greatly fallen in price, owing to the opening of new mines and

the construction of new railways in the United States, which will in the future keep
it at a moderate price ?--That has had an effect, but the great cause of the falling
off in the United States has been the depression i all interests.

Q. Have not many of the old mines closed, or partially closed ?-Yes.
Q. Those that used to employ 200 hands are now working with thirty and fortyf

-Yes.
Q. The general depression, you think, is the cause of this ?-Yes.

By Mr. Workman
Q. Are you aware that the Grand Trunk Railway has lately advertized for tenders

for coal ?-Yes.
Q. Is it within your knowledge that the Nova Scotia coal owners are going to

tender ?-They could do so.
Q. I think there are about 150,000 tons wanted ?-Yes.
Q. There are 30,000 wanted at Montreal?-We could reach that point.
Q. 30,000 at Brockville 7-We could reach that too.
Q. 26,000 at Toronto ?-Yes.
Q. And 75,000 at the International Bridge ?-No, we could not touch that.
Q. I suppose if you were to take the price at which this coal will be delivered

in Toronto by the American eompanies, and the price at which the Nova Scotian
dealers could afford to put it there, the difference would represent the duty that
would be necessary ?-When I spoke of seventy-five cents per ton, I did not know
how they would come into competition.

Q. Suppose the Americans could deliver in Toronto at $3.50, and your tender
was $5, that would show that you would require $1.50 in duty ?-That would depend
on what you estimate the freight at. I think the duty would place us on an equal
footing.

Q. Don't you think this would be a fair test as to the amount of duty yon require?
-Yes; so far as Toronto is concerned.

Q. And Brockville ?-Yes; the figures would show that.
By .Mr. Tupper:

Q. Is not that answer subject to this qualification: that there is at present an
extreme depression in the American coal trade, and that when this passes away they
will not be able to supply it at as low a rate as now ?--Certainly. I am taking the
,prices that would pay.

B Mr. Dymond:-
Q. &1.75 ?-Yes.
Q. I understand you to say that would not pay ?-It would not on a smail
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1tenage z it would on large quantities. A *ade would o ourseeave to b.eieated.
Ton could not spring into a large tonnagein a day.

By 1fr.MGeo:Q. Would a bonus or bounty be botter than a duty ?-Anything of that kind
would be a benefit to the interest. l we could get nothing more than the royalty it
would be ofsome benefit.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. The petition we have before us mentions the granting of a bounty on all coal

shipped to the United States. Suppose that prayer were granted and that a bounty-
of seventy-five cents per ton on American shipments were granted, would that give-
us part of the market at New York and Boston and other places ?-Yes, it w.ould in
these places.

Q. It would enable us to compote in those places and more or less regain that.
market. Would it not defeat the combination by which they now shut us out, and
Iead to their taking off the duty on coal as producing no result ?--Yes.

By Mr. Sinclair :-
Q. Would it be a benefit 'n preventing the Americans from coming into the

Canadian market ?-Yes, certainly it would benefit some collieries more than others.
Those shipping to the United States would be most benefitted.

By Mr. Tupper :
Q. Our natural market is the Eastern States ?-Yes.

By Mr. MVcGregor :
Q. For Ontario, it is Ohio and Penhsylvania ?-Yes.

By Mr. Tupper .-
Q. You are familiar with the trade or business of this country. Would you

attach much importance to the effect on the country of keeping within the country
the three millions of gold which we have to send out to pay for coal in the United
States ?-Yes I think anything that would tend to keep the metallic basis in the
country would be a benefit.

Q. And that basis represents three times their circulating medium ?-Yes.
Q. Assuming that one and a half millions of gold is kept in the country,

representing three times that amount of circulating medium, would not that greatly
benefit the trade of the country ?-Yes; I should think so. That very fact is
illustrated by the United States, in the enormous increase of its exports.

Q. Assuming that a duty was placed on all coal, would not the amount.
contributed to the revenue by the duties imposed on coal that would be brought into
the country greatly relieve the taxation of the people on the other articles on whiclk
they now pay taxes to that extent, and thus make the profit on the whole by revenue
that much less on the other industries of the country ?-Yes.

Q. Whatever was collected would be so much revenue, which would leave us so
rauch on other articles ?-Yes.

By .Mr. .Dymond:-
Q. Coal is a raw material in a large number of our manufacturing industries ?-

Well, when you speak of raw material, the gross cost is in the cost of labour.
Q. But coal is of necessity a large item of cost in a large proportion of our

manufactures ?-No- I should think not. Take a person making boots and shoes for
instance, that would be a sample.

Q. But, in the manufactures involving iron work ?-Yes ; It would be there.
Q. Thon in proportion as you laid on the duty you would enhance the value of

the manufactured article ?-Yes.
SBy .Mr. Goudge:

Q. I observe that Quebec took in 1875, 381;000 tons; in 1876, 317,000 tons of
coaI; how do you aceount for the decrease ?-I suppose it is owing to the low coût of*
coal in England, whieh is brought out at a cheaper rate to a forei market. Th.
consumption of the Messrs. Allan is from 70,000 to 80,00 tousof r ish coal.Q. You stated that the Pennsylvania and Westmoreland Campan*rput coal on>
board-at8O or 90 cents., ia:this done rat a prot ora loss?-1o0 to1eestspefit.

30
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Q. Whatis the cmt per ton per mile for the transportaion from the Pennsyl.
vais and Westmoreland mine to Philade1phia ? ý4 annot gîVe yon the figures as
to that

By .r. S clairvtQ. Ja you compote favourably with the Amaericans îu Montral sund -Qtibae;
enn you put coal in as oheaply as they can ?-Yes; we have a certain proportion of
that tradte now.Q. 1Could not you take the whole withont-a duty ?-No, we could nt; a- I Êaid
before, Sir Hugh Allan's contract takes from 70,000 to 80,000 tons of English oal.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Would you put seventy-five cents a ton on the 70,000 or 80,000 tons sir Hàgh

Allan brings out; that would be the effect, would it not ?-Yes, I suppose it would.
By Mr. Goudge

Q. Do the owners or coal proprietors of the Pennsylvania and Westmoreland mine
own the railways ?-No.

Mr. DYMoND read the following letter:

ToRoNTO, March 24th, 1877.
DEAR Si,-Replying to your favour of yesterday's date, the statement I made,

that I bought coals at the mines at 50 cents per ton was correct, and the quality
mentioned in the contract is for "good merchantable well-screened nut coal." I
may say that our engineer prefers the nut coal for steam purposes, at the same price
as lump coal.

I have further to state that since I made that statement, I have contracted for a
further lot at 35 cents per ton, same quality.

Our consumption averages about 8,000,tons per annum.
I am yours,

A. H. DYMOND, Es., (Signed) JAS. G. WORTS.

Ottawa.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. Io merchantable, well-screened nut coal an article of consumption with you'?

-o.
Q. At what prico could it be sold at your mine ?-Fifty cents, free on board.
Q. Is that what yon call slack ?-No, it is what is run through an half-iÏach

screen.
Q. It has been stated that your coal does not produce a clean nut, as is the case-

with American coal ?-Yes, it does ; thére is no distinction.
By the Chairman.:

Is good, merchantable, well-screened nut coal a first-class ceal ?-Yes, for the-
purpose for which it is used.

By Mr. Dytond :
Q. Assuming that you obtained freights at 83.00, you could deliver this coal in

Toronto at $3.50 to 83.65 ?-Yes.

TUESDAY, March '27.
Mr. J. R. NooNAN called and examined.

Byl the Chairman
Q. What position do you occupy in rehtion to"the cos trade- amlanager

of the Albion mines at Pictou.
Q.Are yon weil acquainted with the coal trade? -Yem SE Ibr ns Pictou iaconcerned;¾Ul my life.
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Q. How many collieries are there in Pietou county ?-ive : bion, Acadia,
Jntercolonia, Nova Scotia, and Val.

Q. Are the coals of this district all of one quality ?-No, they differ. TheAl"bion
çoal is a good eteam, gas, manufacturing and domestie coal ;- the, other four are good
for steam and domest.c purposes.

Q. What is the thickness of the largest seam ?-Thirty-five feet; others are from
lfteen to twenty-five feot.

Q. Is not this an extraordinary thickness?-Pictou is noted for the thickness of
its seams. As a proof of the excellence of Albion coai I may mention that I shipped
from 1858 to 1874 to the Boston Gas Light Company 413,545 tons, or something Ies
.than half their consamption. Albion coal was also shipped to Boston, Pembroke,
Providence and Portland for iron manufacturing purpoees. The Gas Company has a
high opinion of the Albion coal for the coke it yielded. The same coal is used very
-extensively in the Londonderry, N.S., iron and steel works.

Q. What were the sales of the Pictou mines last year ?-217,530 coarse; 58,088
slack. The slack is coal that goes through a half-inch screen and is called black-
8miths' coal.

Q. Do you know anything of some cargoes of coal sent to Toronto some years
.ago ?-I do. I was agent for T. C. Chisholm, who had a propeller, Her Majesty, in
1869-70, two seasons. The first cargo or two went from the Albion mines; tLh bal-
ance from the Intercolonial. The latter mine was just opened, and the surface coal
is never so good as that found deeper, so that the sample was not a fair one.

Q. Was this sold as a first class coal ?-I think it was sold more cheaply than
the Albion coal.

Q. How do the shipments of coal from Nova Scotia to the United States com-
pare with those of previons years?-They have very materially decreased.

Q. What were the rates of freight in 1875-6, excessive or otherwise ?-They were
much reduced. I could give the rate from Pictou to Boston, which is our chief port.
'They are about $1.75 to $2, United States currency, per ton. That was the lowest
rate we ever had from Pictou; it didn't pay the vessels. Our rates to Montreal are
.41.75 to $2 gold.

By .Mr. Sinclair:-
Q. Is it cheaper to carry to Montreal or to Boston ?-The navigation is more

extensive to Montreal. The rates to Quebec are $1 to $1.50.
Q. With those rates, could you manage to compete with the United States in

:their. market?-No, we could not, having that seventy-five cents to meet us. Last
year, out of the 17,000 or 18,000 tons we sent to the United States, 11,000 was for
the Grand Trunk Railway, which had no connection with the United States con-
.umption at all.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. To what point was it sent ?-To Portland..
Q. It was subject to the duty ?-Yes ; so that in fact we only sold 7,000 or 8,000

tons to American consumers.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Can you give us the number of men employed in the different collieries of
the Province ?-In the Albion, there were 615; in the Acadia, 192; in the Inter-
fcolonial, 214; in the Nova Scotia, 85, and in the Vale 170, making 1,276 in all.
This is about 300 men less than last year.

Q. What was the largest number you had employed in any one year, and in
what year ?-I should think the years from 1860 to 1865 were the heaviest years,
that is, at the Albion mine. I fancy since all the mines have been working, they
would be pretty uniform.

Q. How many persons are there who are directly or indirectly dependent on
these mon ?--I should say over 3,000 persons.

ByMr. Sinclair
Q. flIow many of them are married ?-About two-thirds of the number.
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By the Chairman
Q Have there been any large expenditures in connection with the operating

of these mines?-Yes.
Q. Could yon give us the amount of capital invested in these mines ?-No, I

could not.
Q. Can you approximate?-No, I could not.
Q. Or the sums invested in the plant, material, &c. ?-Well, it must be a large

figure, but I would not like to attempt to give them for fear I should be astray.
Anyone can see by looking at the mines that the amount must have been enormous.

Q. Do you know the amount in the Albion ?-No.
Q. You were going to make an answer just now about the amount of expen-

diture on construction ?-Yes; in 1875 there was expended on the whole mines
$88,663, I mean in Picton. In 1876, $11,391. Of course, that is keoping every-
thing down to the lowest figure.

Q. Would 1875 show the largest yearly expenditure ?-Yes, for some years.
Q. Was there any year in which it was greater than that ?--Certainly; those in

which there were new mines opening.
Q. Can you give the Committee any idea of the quantities of dutiable goods con-

sumed in the mines ?-Taking the Albion mine as a criterion, the amount paid last
year was $1,239. The mine did not import very much last--just what sufficed to
carry on the works.

By Mr. Dymond:--
Q. I presume that in connection with the first works, there would be the largest

amount of dutiable goods consumed ?-Yes, certainly.
Q. Would that be much in excess of the figures you have:named ?- -Yes, largely

in excess.
By -Mr. Tupper:---

Q. What did you say was the value of the dutiable goods ?---I said $1,239 for
duties.

By -Mr. Dymond:-
Q. I understood you to say that that was the amount of dutiable materials ?--No,

that represents the duty.
Q. That represents the duty that was paid. -Can you tell us the amount of the

dutiable goods consumed ?---There was about $23,000 of dutiable goods consumied ut
the mine. In 1876 the amount of duties paid on those were about $4,500.

Q. What was the consumption of dutiable goods at the Pictou mine last year ?-
$23,000, the duties being about $4,000 or 4,500.

By -Mr. T'upper:--
Q. Iow can you get so large an amount of duty on that amount of goods ?-

That would be about the amount at 17J per cent., though I don't give it as the real
figure. I can only speak positively as to the Albion mine.

Q. Does that represent all the dutiable goods-those consumed by the miners
and those used in the mines ?-No, the mine alone. You will find it in Poole's Report
for 1875.

Q. Do you know what was the amount of duties paid by all the mines in the
Province ?-I should estimate that it would amount to from $15,000 to 820,000 in al]
the mines in Cape Breton and Nova Scotia. I base that on some knowledge of the
facta.

Q. That is*as near as you can approximate ?--Yes.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Would there be any advantage to your coal shipment if a duty was plaued on
eOa ?-I think so. I think there is no doubt about it. It would help us, at al events,"i exports to Quebec and Ontario to compete with the American coal there.

Q. Would it help you in the United States ?-Certainly, to that extent that it
WOuld enable us to meet the seventy-five cents imposed there.
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By Mfr. Sinclair:-
Q, How would it help you in the United Stats ?-Bôcause aduty onall iprted

coal would help us to send our coal to Quebec and Ontario, and by that means it
would, probably lead to getting their duty off.

Q. It might indrectly help you, but I cannot see how it would directly ?-I tink
it would.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. By increasing the production of coal, you could raise it at a much smaller

cost ?-Certainly.
Q. And doing so, you could put it into the United States market much more

cheaply than now ?-Yes, there is no question about that.
By the Chairman:-

Q. What effect would a bounty have ?--I think it would operate against the
export of coal to Ontario and Quebec. It would help the coal to the -United States
and not to the western Provinces, because people would not take coal when they
thought they were boing taxed for them.

By 1fr. Tupper:---
Q. Do you think that the purchasers would take into consideration much except

the cost they have to pay for it ?----Yes, I think they would.
Q. You think tþat in buying goods sentiment has-much to do with it ?--I think,

on this question of coal, there is such an objection to placing a duty, that if a bounty
is placed on it, they would be opposed to taking coal under the bounty. They would
more readily pay a duty. What I mean is that I think the duty would do the coal
interest more good than the bounty. I think the bounty would not work so well.

Q. If you had a bounty of seventy-five cents per ton on coal shipped to the United
States, would it not meet the seventy-five cents by which you are met ?--Certainly.

Q. It would give you the United States market back again ?--I have no doubt
of it.

Q. About the quality of Nova Scotia .coal---are you aware of its being used in
manufacturing iron in the United States ?--It is extensively.

By Mr Dymond:--
Q. You say, in answer to Dr. Tupper, that a bounty of seventy-five cents would

give you the United States market ?---I think so.
Q. Have you lately ascertained the prices of coal in Boston or New York ?----No,

I have used the prices as they are quoted here.
Q. You are not able to say what are the prices at the present time ?--No, not of

my own knowledge.
Q. At what rate could you ship coal, at the present time, to Boston, free on

board ?-I gave you, I think, the price of our coal--$2 per ton at the Albion mine.
Q. Suppose you had a contract for 20,000 or 30,000 tons for the United States ?---

It might be less, but I cannot answer that exactly. But for a small amount of 4,000
or 5,000 tons about $2 per long ton would be the pri ce.

Q. Is it the long ton or the short that is used in the United States ?- -The short
ton, I think, but we sell ours by the long ton.

Q. That would be about $1.75 for the short ton ?-Yes.
Q. You think you could make considerable shipments, putting it on board at

that rato ?-No, we could not ship so low as that.
Q. Not for the short ton ?-No, I think not,
Q. What are your freights at the present time to Boston ?-81.75 to $2.00 cur-

rency.
Q. Perhaps $2.00 currency would cover the insurance ?-Yes, but that is a low

rate of freight, we never had so low a rate as that.
Q. Yes, but coal freights are very low in the United States ?-Yes.
Q. You cannot tell us the price of coal tn the Boston market ?-No.
Q. Have you seen quotations lately ?-I have, but I do not exactly remember,

at present, well enou to quote the current rate.
Q. Wby you say t at seventy-five cents would give you control ofthe American
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marký6Ç that is a hypothetical opinion ; yon are not able to say paéitively from your
own knowledge of the figures ?-Wel, I had a kncwledgW of the figres, but they
have goneout of my memory at present

Q. You stated you could pot tell us the amount of capital invested in this Pietou
mines ; can yon state the annual epense of working one mine, say thêÂbion;what
is the annual expenditure ?-I cannot give you the correct figures.

Q. Approximately ?-I should not like to give a figure, but their pay sheet, to
-ny own knowledge is, on an average, between 88,000 and $10,000 per month.

Q. Say $100,000 a year in round numbers ?-It would be that.
Q. You say there is, in addition, the expenditure of large sums for material,

works of construction and so on; what would be the average for that at the -Albio=
mine ?-Well, if coal was extensively moved and exported I should say, judging from
former years, it would be probably $30,000 or $40,000 a year.

Q. Do you mean works and materials used, such as ropes, chains, and so forth ?-
Yos.

Q. What staff have you on that mine in addition to the miners ; have yon a staff
of clerks ?-Yes.

Q. How many ?-I cannot say, some three or four at all events; and there are a
manager and other subordinate officers.

Q. Your position is that -of agent ?-Sub-agent in Pictou for the purpose of
attending the shipping business, entering goods, and so on.

Q.Can you give us any idea of the salaries of this staff ?-No, I cannot.
Q. $10,000 or $15,000 a ycar ?-I could not answer with certainty.
Q. You would not like to put the total out-goings for wages and expenditure on

materials, and so on, at less than $150,000 ?-I would not like to attempt to give the
figures.

Q. I am taking $100,000 for expenditures on wages on actual labour; $35,000 is
the probable expense for materials and works of construction on that mine when at
full work. You say there is, in addition, a staff of clerks, managers and, I suppose,
there are other expenses; would not it be safe to put them at 815,000 per year ?--
That would be a high figure.

Q. Say $10,000 for manager and agent, and three or four clerks ?---I don't know,
I think about $2,000.

Q. Well, probably $140,000 per year would be the annual expenditure of the
mine ?--Yes.

Q. What would you consider the out-put'at the full working of the mine ?-
20,000 tons per month or 240,000 tons per year.

Q. Al saleable coal ?--Well, that is large and small coal, you may eall it all
saleable, as it can be utilized.

Q. Have you done anything in the coke trade on a large scale ?-Yes, we have.
Q. Have you found a market for it ?-We have.
Q. Where ?-At the Londonderry, (N.S.) and Acadia Iron Works.
Q. Is the manufacture of coke profitable ?-Certainly, because the slack is

Qtilized.
Q. Have you any association among the Pictou miners for ordinary business

Purposes ?---Not that I am aware of.
Q. Is it not a fact that some complaints have arisen among shippers as to the

treatment they have received; do you give any proferenco at Picton to steamers
over sailing vessels ?--We do.

Q. If a steamer comes in you give her the preference in loading ?--She takes
ber place immediately.

Q. Does that disadvantage the owners of salling vessels from ebin;ing into our
Port ?-It did, only we got a number of different places for leading so that there
'would be no detention.

Q. Did not it effect a permanent injury on the trade ?-No, I think it was only'
temp ve you made an effort during the last two or three years to obtain a
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Mnarket West of Montreal ?-I presume that the fiunancial agent, together with other
agents in foreign.placea have been doing all 4hey could.

Q. But it is not within your own knowledge ?--No. There wa ne thingstated
about the ex enditure by having too many shipping places which I woùld like to>
explain. #6n we had only one shipping place atthe Albion inine we shipped to
the extont of 187,000 tons some years and out-bound vessels were detained from six
to seven weeks waiting their turn to load. Consequently, when all those other mines
got their wharves, it did away with that, it brought vessels back that used to be at
our port. It was considered that one oi two loading places 8bould be sufficient for
them al, but it could not be done, because connection with the railway could not b.
profitably made. For that reason we had to have different shipping places to prevent
the detention of steamers.

By the Chairman :
Q. Thon you don't agree with Mr. Poole ?-No, I do not agiee with him at all.

The trade could not be carried on at all if it was as ho represents.
Q. Does the coal trade employ a large quantity of shipping ?-It does. When

the trade was brisk we used to have 200 vessels in our ports.
By. Mr. McGregor :-

Q. Don't you think the depression in the United States has had agreat effect ?-
I have no doubt it has. Sundry influences have operated against us.

Q. And the opening of new mines and railways in the United States ?-Yes.
Mr. MoRRisoN was then called and examined.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Where do you reside ?-In Halifax.
Q. Your occupation ?-General produco business.
Q. Are you acquainted with the shipping interests of the Province ?--Yes, to a

certain extent.
Q. And the general export and import trade ?-Yes. I should state, however,

that I labour under a disadvantage in replying to your question, inasmuch as there are
no statisties kept of the trade between the various Povinces, and the statistics and
other informatian which I may give you have been gathered with considerable labour
in a very short time.

Q. From the statistics of the different Boards of Trade ?--No. Even they do
not keep them. They are obtained from our own reading rooms principally.

Q. The information you possess is derived fron the most authentic sources at
your command ?-Yes.

Q. What branch of trade are you particularly interested in ?---All the produce
of Canada nearly.

Q. In the importations, or produce of the Upper Provinces ?----Yes, produce,
breadstuffs and grain.

Q. What is the nature of the importations from the Upper Provinces into Nova
Scotia ?-I can give you a statement of the imports from Canada previous to Confed-
eration. I will take the financial year of 1865-66. The imports into Nova Seotia
were $508,935. The exports from Nova Scotia to Canada that year were $438,191.
I flrd that in 1876 the imports were approximately $3,500,000 from Ontario and
Quebee. ýThough I cannot give the exports from my own personal knowledge, I don't
think they exceeded those of 1865-66. We have sent very little to the westeru
Provinces.

By Mr. ' upper
Q. Do you include coal ?-I am not speaking of coal. It was included in th#

figures for 1865-66
Q. The $438,191 includes coal ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. You think the exports now are similar to what they were in 1865-6 ?-Yes,

I don't think they have exceeded the figures for that year. The exporte of coal
would, however, be larger in 1876 than in 1866.

Q. Then you consider that the exports, with the exception of coal, are about
3a5
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-the sMIm4 s that the diferenco between the shipments of coal then and now wouki
have to be added ?-Yes.

Q. Whatover increase there may be, you consider, is teiniereaseof coals
between 4hat time aud the present ?-Yos.

Q. Have you gone to the trouble of compiling the Infosmation conaained ittthis
statement ?-I have. I cau give you the annual average of the inward iand ouward
freights on the line between Portland and Halilax in connection wihth o theQrand
'Trunk. Thoir ostimate is 50,000 tons of freight annually.

By -Mr. TupperQ. That is the estimate of outward and inward freights,?-Yes;4the outward
freights are very small.

Q. That is supposed to be Canadian produce ?-Yes.
Q. What bearing has that upon the present inquiry ?-It confirme what I have

said as to the amount of traffic.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Your figures are intendod to show the very large amount of trade dene by
Nova Scotia with the Upper Provinces ?-Yes, they never had those steamers
running until after Confodoration, and those figures show the large amount of tonnage
going through from Canada.

By the Chairnan:
Q. 50,000 tons a year ?-Yes.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. Then that is part of the three millions you mentioned ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. Is that tons of goods ?-Yes. I would like to make a statement of freight

over the Intercolonial since it was in operation, from July, 1876, to March 18th of
the present year, so that these figures might be in juxtaposition to those 1 have just
given.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Do you mean both ways ?-No, inwards to Nova Scotia. The traffic on the

Intercolonial did not amount to much at its inception. It was towards the latter
part of the nine months that traffic really began to set in. The amount was 1,449
cars of goods. This will give you some idea of the extent of the present traffic over
that line. 1,300 cars of through freight came to Halifax, leaving 149 cars of way
freight delivered along the line. This shows that the Intercolonial is going to be a
great success as regards importation.

Q. Can you give the tonnage ?-20,000 pounds to each car is about the average
By the Chairman:

Q. Can you mention the general nature of the imports?-Almost everything
that Ontario produces, we import a little of. You take the article of flour; we
imported into Halifax 185,356 barrels in 1876. Approximating the amount to the
ports of Yarmouth, Windsor, Cape Breton and Pictou, I should say about 100,000
more came to the country.

By the Chairman:
Q. What other articles were there ?--Oatmeal, 5,815 barrels into7Halifax; corn-

maeal, we do not import much of from Canada, as we cannot get it as cheaply as from
the United States; even if there was a duty of fifty cents on cornmeat we could
import it more cheaply from the United States; we had only 265 barrels of corn-
meal, and that was from Montreal.

Q. Will you state the leading articles ?-Flour, iatmeal, batter, baeon, hams,
dressed hogs, tobacco, leather, pot barley, boots and shees, hides, cheese, kerosen.
ou, seeds, ale and porter, vinegar, soap, starch---oats are beginning te be a idrge item
-beans, peas, malt, fresh beef, mutton, agrioultural lniplements, 'hardware and
Woollen goods. Those were the chief articles. Some prejudice exists in Kva Scotia
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against the flour and oats of Canada; before Confederation we usd Amerioan dour;
we could not persuade the people to use the Canadian article, but after a time when
they bega to use it it was very generally used and -universally liked; in refqrence
also to oats, we got two cars of 1,200 bushels, but we could not get the people to buy
them at al, they were so prejudiced against them; we had to put them in store and
lost a good deal of money on them; but now they are beginning to be generally used;
It just shows the prejudice of the people against using these articles.

By Mr. Power:-
Q. The prejudice was not against them 'as Canadian oats, but because they were

white oats ?-Yes, but it shows that the prejudice existed.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Is the whole amount of imports 83,000,000 ; did you say so ?---Yes.
Q. Does that include the goods coming in at the outports? -Yes, the whole Pro-

vince, with regard to four; if we do not have some arrangement about a duty on
coal, on our miners' work, this trade will largely decrease; and having a direct
connection with the United States we get many of those articles that are free becanse
we do not export anything to the western Provinces; our country is being gradually
dratned by this; we can send our fish to the United States and get return cargoes;
freights are so much cheaper; vessels from the West Indies are taking cargoes to the
ports of the United States, and bringing down freights----some for ballast, and some
at the low rate of 18 cents per barrel.

Q. Do you contemplate purchasing there ?--Yes, I am now on the way to make
arrangements.

By Mr. Power:---
Q. That has been the case for two or three years ?--Well, the flour imported from

the United States is very limited.
Q. The average freirht from Boston is 10e to 12jc. is it not ?---Yes, and now they

sometimes get it free on account of the ballast.
By the Chairman:

Q. What bas Nova Scotia to export to the other Provinces ?---Fish and coal.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Since the Intercolonial has been opened has not it afforded you greater
facilities for getting flour from the Upper Provinces ?--No ; because we have four
different ways: by New York, Boston, the Intercolonial, and Grand Trunk by way
of Portland.

Q. Do you gain anything from the Intercolonial in the way of inward freights?
-To a certain extent.

Q. In what way ?-Owing to the rivalry between the companies and the
increased competition.

Q. Are you aware that very large freights have come westward over the Inter-
colonial ?-Yes; they have probably gone to Chicago, they are not, however, very
large, but rather limited.

Q. Does not that indicate an increased trade ?-Yes; I think it does.
Q. You say that unless we should take your coal, trade would fall off. Do you

know that the tradé between Nova Scotia and the Province of Quebec has been in-
creasing for some time ?-Yes.

Q. Then so far as trade is concerned you are not worse off than formerly ?-Yes,
we are, because we have not the exportation we used to have.

Q. To where? -To* the United States; we had a large export to the United
States, and the export to Canada was very insignificant.

Q. Thon in the absence of the export to the United States, you are not able to
get return freights so easily as if you had that export ?-No.

Q. Then the additional export to the United States is cut off, and the export to
Montreal increased, and the advantage is rather in favour of Montreal than the United
States ?-To a certain extent it is.
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s the general nature of the exports to the United 8tates ?-Fish, coal

Q. What did Nova Seotia export to the United States lut y -Nov* Swotia
exported the United States for the year ending June 30th, 876eas folows

Product of the M in e s......... ........
e ........................................ . 87 ,693

Forest........................... 104,431
Animais and their products................... ............. 22,12
Agricultuial products................... ................ 10,20
Manufactures.................................. 143,297
Sundries............................................... ............ 13,450

Total...... ............. $1,463,325

By.Mr. D mond:--
Q What would be the effect if Nova Scotia was enabled to supply Ontario with

one-haif the coal now supplied from the United States ?-A great increase in
mining; a great many people who have left the Province would return, and we
would also have a great increase of capital.

Q. Do vou think it likely or probable that there would-be return freights from
Ontario ?--Yes.

Q. To any great extent?-.--Yes; to a largo extent; because these mines, which
are our chief industry, would consqme a much larger proportion of the producte of
Ontario---oats, flour, butter, cheese, in fact nearly everything that Ontario produces.

Q. It would lessen the down freight if there was one upwards ?-Yos.
By Mr. 3McGregor:--

Q. What duty would it require to make Ontario use one-half of your coal ?-I
think about 50 cents.

Q. They would take it how far west ?,---I am not suffiliently acquainted with
the coal trade to answer that.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. You are largely engaged in shipping ; your firm is one of the largOst ship-

owning firms in the Province ?-It does a considerable shipping business. 1
Q. What would be the effect upon the shipping if the coal trade was' largely

increased ?---It would give employment to our ships nearer home, and wold not
compel them to go on long voyages. Our vessels, too, would in that case get their
supplies at home, as we have a large floating population and it would thus be the
means of circulating a large amount of money in the country that now goes abroad.

Q. The destruction of the Nova Scotia coal trade would have a disastrous effect
upon the shipping of the country and consequently upon its trade ?--Yes, certainly.

By -Mr. Dymond:
Q. When ydu speak of the shipping trade being kept at home, do you mean as

between the Lower Provinces and Montreal, or between the Lower Provinces and
the States ?.-Either; the whole industry of the country lies in that of our muines,
and if it is stimulated, everything else feels the effect; lumber, freights and evliy-
thing.

Q. What quantity of coal does an ordinary vossel carry in one trip, say to
Montreal or Boston?-I don't give that department my particular attention at all,
but I should think some 200, 300 or 400 tons; long voyages require larger vessels,
and shorter voyages smaller ones.

Q. The same class of vessels would not be required for the inter-provincial trade
as for the deep sea trade ?--Yes ; to some extent, if they could get up your canals.

Q. Have you taken any steps by communication with gentlemen in the Upper
Province, or otherwise, to establish an inter.-provincial trade ?-I think we are doing
our very best, in fact it is so far all one-sided.

Q. You mean you are doing your best by being large purchasers ?-Yes. I
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think it is very app arent what we are doing in the way of negotiation aMd trying to
secure an increase duty

Q. But I mean as to commercial arrangements among youreelves t-Yes.
Q. Rave yon entered into calculations amongst yoeselves as to the possibiity

of an inter-provincial trade being done irrespective of daties.?-Yes.
Q. Are yon of opinion that your coal can be laid down say at Toronto so as to

compete with American coal?-Yes, if we have a duty.
Q. You have read the resolutions of the Boards of Trade of Hamilton and

Toronto, -in which they suggest a readjustment of the tariff. One portion of that
readjustment would be the imposition of a duty of 50 cents per ton on coat What
would your opinion be of what might be termed equivalent duties on breadstuffs,
say equal to that of the States ?-We -would not object to a duty of 25 cents on flour.

Q. What is the duty on flour imported into the United States ?-I don't know.
Q. It is copsiderably more than 25 cents ?-Yes.
Q. Would you object to a duty of fifty cents a barrel on flour ?-No, I don't think

I would if we had a duty of fifty cents on coal, for the reason that we getnearly all
our flour from Canada now, and of course if there was a duty on flour, the consnmp-
tion of importations from Ontario would be very much greater.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You say we get nearly all our flour from Canada ?----Well, we get some 90,000

barrels from the United States. We get certain classes of flour from the United
States.

By MAr. McGregor
Q. Isit a purer grade, Ontario flour ?---Well, we think so.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Has Ontarioe flour improved of late years or deteriorated ?-Well, they have

changed the grading so that certain brands have deteriorated. The old brand of
"No. 1" flour was about equal to the present " extra." It is just a change of name.

Q. You think a duty of fifty cents a barrel on flour might be borne, if you had a
duty of fifty cents per ton on coal; that would be a charge of $500,000 on the whole,
accord ing to the returns ?--I think the trade returns mix up the flour and the meal.

Q. Flour of wheat and rye are given as distinct ?-Perhaps $500,000 would be
the amount; I cannot say as to that.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You say we import our flour principally from Ontario ?-Yes.
Q. Are yon aware that of wheat and rye flour we imported $739,368 worth; and

of flour and meal of other kinds $291,211, making in the aggregate $1,030,579 worth ?
-Yes; we have imported from the United States, including meal, 223,891 barrels.

Q. What proportion does that bear to the imports from Ontario ?-There were
285,356 barrels from Ontario to Halifax alone.

.By Mr. Dymond
Q. I thought the usual calculation was about one barrel per head of the popu-

lation ?-Yes; but we have a large floating population.
Q. But they take the flour from you, don't they ?-Yes ; a great deal is taken by

foregn vessels.
What is the consumption of flour in the Maritime Provinces?-There are

285,000 barrels of Canadian, and 133,304 of American. That is for Nova Scotia.
It is impossible to give the Maritime Provinces, as we have no statistics of the
Canadian flour consumed by New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island.

Q. I suppose we may assume that the consùmption of the whole of the Maritime
Provinces is about 800,000 barrels ?-Yes.

Q. At fifty centh per barrel that would be a tax of 8400,000 on the people of all
the Provinces ?-Yes; I suppose it would.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. Would the creation of this inter:provincial trade, and the facilities for putting

«coal in the Upper Provinces and flour in the Lower, counteract the effects of the duty
and keep the taxation from materially increasing ?-Yeg.
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Q. That would require a fifty cent duty on 800,000 tons ?-No.
1# -Mr. Tupper -

Q What yon mean l that the interehange of those articles, the trade rested,
and the facilities for freight, would neutralize, to a large extent, the imposition Of a
duty Y-Yes.

Q. Would not the prices of four be principally governed by the .English market?
-Yes; to a very great extent.

Q. Consequently the imposition of a duty would not materially increase the
price ?-No; I don't think it would.

By Mr. Dymond :
Q. What is the rate of freight per barrel offlonr over the Intercolonial Railway?

-Eighty cents.
Q. By steamer too ?-Yes, about eighty-five cents, and they were reducing

freights.
Q. as it not been carried as low as sixty-five cents ?-Yes, those were aummer

freights.
Q. What period of the year do you receive the most importations of Rour?-In

April and May.
Q. Thon sixty-five cents being the summer freights you tell Dr. Tupper that a

reduction of freight, owing to increased facilities would merely counteract the duty of
fifty cents ?-Yes.

Q. Do you think that flour would be carried for fifteen cents from any port of
Ontario ?-We have had offers at twenty cents from Montreal.

Q. And Toronto ?-We do not buy in Toronto in summer, but Montreal.
Q. Under what circumstances were you offered freight at twenty cents ?-That

was a common thing last summer.
Q. Was the flour to be laid down in Halifax ?-Yes.
Q. By steamer ?-Yes.

By Mr. Power :-
Q. What is the present summer rate of freight to Montreal by the Intercolonial ?

-Well, we had no summer rates by the Intercolonial. About fifty cents to fifty-five
cents by Portland and the Grand Trunk. I think the lowest was about fifty cents.

Q. Were not these twenty cents froights unusually low ?-Yes.
Q. Have you had such rates in former years ?-No.
Q. It was quite accidental then ?-Well, vessels coming down and taking coal

to Montreal have offered freights as low as fifteen cents.
By Mr. Tupper :-

Q. If the coal trade was increasing you could roly on that rate ?-Yes.
By the Chairman:-

Q. If there was a trade between Nova Scotia on the one hand, and Ontario on
the other, would it assist our West Indian exports ?-Certainly.

WEDNESDAY, Marcb 28.
Mr'. J. R. LITnaow called and examined.

By the Chaiman:-
Q. Are you a resident of Halifax? -Yes.
Q. A Director of Glace Bay Mining Company in Cape Breton ?,-Ye".
Q. That Company has a coal area; is it extensive ?-Yes; it is: pretty extensive.
Q. How many xùillion tons of coal are there available in this area?-Mr. Brown,in his book on the coal mines of Nova Scotia, estimates five seams at 43,900,000 tons,

in 1871
Q. That does not include the snbmarine seams ?--No.
Q. What is the character of your coal ; is i adapted for domestie purposes?-

The first seam the company worked, called the " Hub "'sam, was partieularly a gaa
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coal. It was also a good steam coaL Two years ago that spam'was abandoned in
consequence of the little demand. for gas coal, and we now work I Harbour " seam.
It is a good domestic coal, and a very good gas coal. It is also used for steam pur-
pepes.

Q. What are you selling at ?--Our price for the last year or two has been $1.75
per ton of 2,240 pounds. That is the price by the cargo. To large purchasers of
over 1,000 tons we maki a discount of ton cents; of 2,500, flfteen cents; and of 5,000
twenty cents.

By Mr. Dymond':--
Q. Would.you regard those as paying rates, oir as merely what may be termed

depression rates ?-I cannot regard them as paying rates, except we were shipping a
great deal more than we have been doing. I would explain that by a paying rate I
mean one that would give interest on the investment.

By the Chairman :--
Q. What is the amount of your capital invested in the mine ?---The capital

stock is $600,000.
Q. 1s that nominal capital ?-That is the capital of the company.
Q. That is the value, or actual amount of paid-up stock, is it ?---It was not actually

paid up, but it was all invested in the mine.
Q. You have made an- artificial harbour ?--Yes. The company constructed a

harbour; originally there was a small lake.
Q. You have short railways, too ?--Yes.
Q. Have you had any dividends declared of late ?-~Yes.
Q. When was your last ?-We had a small dividend last year, one and a half per

cent.; the year before, one per cent.; the year before that there was nothing.
Q. For how many years past have you been making no more than one or two

per cent. ?-For thc last eleven years the dividends have not averaged quite two per
cent.

Q. What were the sales of last year ?--28,686 tons.
Q. What is the largest number of tons you have shipped in any one year ?-A

little over 84,000; that was in 1865, the last year of free trade with the United States.
Q. How does that 28,686 tons compare with the last eightor ten years; is it

increasing or decreasing?-For the previous year it was 25,269; in 1874 it was
about 40,000; in 1873 66,000.

Q. Do you send any coals to the West Indies ?-Very little; last year only
three cargoes .

Q. What is the season for sending it ?-In winter.
Q. Have you facilities for shipping in winter ?-We1 we could ship if the ice

on the coast would permit, and vessels could be induced to go. There was a vessel
from Barbadoes laid up off Newfoundland ; that was in January. She was nearly
frozen in and had to go with only part of her cargo.

Q. Do you ship during all the months of the year, or are there any in which
you do not ship ?-As a general thing we do not ship much between January and
April or May. We havo shipped in every month in the year, but it is exceptional.

Q. Do you know the cause in the falling off in your shipments; did you-eend
much coal to the United States at any time ?-In 1865 nearly all our out-put went to
the United States; for several years it was our principal market.

Q. What was the cause of the falling off ?-Of course it was the imposition of
the $1.25 duty in 1866; for the last four or five years the duty has been seventy-five
cents. But, the special causes are the arrangements made by the American railways
whereby coal shipped from Baltimore or Philadelphia is placed in New York, Boston,
and other ports at a cheaper rate than it sells for in Baltimore and Philadelphia.

Q. Are those engaged in on about the colheries liberal consumers of agricultural
produce and users of manufactured goods as well; they produce nothing except
coal ?-Of course I can only speak from general information never having been but
once at the mine. I know they are large consumers of breadstuffs.

Q. They don't produce anything except coal ?-Scarcely anything.
42



Q. What do they produce ?-Wen the coai is a little duR they sometimes do,
fishing.

(The following listof dutiablogoodoused at Ittle Glace Bay in 187g was put in):-
Powder, dynamite, fuses, detonators, shovels, riddles, wire rope, castings, boiler

and engine fittinge, globes, valves, iron pipes, nails, felt, tar paper, rabb0, packing,,
pit cloth, babbit metal, engines and boilers, gauge glasses, mners' lamps,-olive oil,
tallow, railway grease, iron, white lead, manilla rope, Cameron and Plunger pumps,
locomotives, lime and leather.

Mp. Thos. LITTLEALLS called and examined.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. You are Engineer of the Hamilten GM Works ?-Yes.
Q. Are you familiar with all the details of gas manufacture ?-Yes.
Q. Where do you obtain your supplies of coal ?-From P'ittsburgb and that

neighbourhood.
Q. Can you tell us the contract rates at the present time ?-Last year it cost us

$3.25 American currency, free on board at Cleveland.
Q. The rate of shipment to Hamilton was - ?-The rates including wharfago,

storage, and teaming into our works was $1.75 gold.
Q. That brought it about $4.75 gold in Hamilton, delivered in the yard ?-Yes.
Q. Io that the long or the short ton ?-2,000 pounds.
Q. Is the American coal the best for gas purposes ?-Unquestionably it is.
Q. Does American coal vary largely in gas-producing qualities ?-Yes, to aiarge

extent-as much as $3.00 per ton in gas-making value, although its actual price
might not vary 25 cents.

Q. Can you give us the precise gas-producing quality of your own and other
coal ?-Our average in Hamilton is probably about 9,500 cubic feet per short .ton,
fourteen candle gas. When we get it in fresh it is considerably larger than that.
When it is stored for twelve months we don't get as good results. What I have
given is a fair average for the year.

Q. Do I understand you to say that it is advantageous to get the coal quickly
into use after production in the mines ?-Yes, it makes a vast difference. By storage
in large quantities it will deterorate 10 or 15 per cent. in a year.

Q. Have you made any contracts for this year ?-No.
Q. Is it higher or lower than last year ?-About the same-perhaps a shade

lower.
Q. Have you made attempts to get the coal through by rail ?-We did get about

twenty cars, but it was very unsatisfactory in this respect, that the weights ran out;
we had an idea of getting our supplies in that way, but we were so dissatisfied with
the way the weights turned out, that we abandoned it.

Q. Still there is no reason, as far as frerghts are concerned, why yon should not
get your coal by rail ?-We always get it cheaper by water, and the coal could be got
very fresh.

Q. What is the rate of gas in Hamilton ?-82.25 net; *3.00 gross.
. What was it twelve months ago ?-$3.00.

Q. Then you have reduced seventy-five cents per thousand in twelve months ?-
On the first of May, 1874, we reduced to $2.50 from $3.00, in 1877, from $2.50 te $2.25.

Q. Was that because you could make coal contracte more cheaply ?-It wau
partially on account of that, but there are a number of reasons. First, we have been
getting very much better results out of our works, making several improvements, and
thus saving a large amount of leakage of one kind and another; it is due generally
to our improved system of management.

Q. But partially on account of the cost of coal?-Yes.
Q. How do the prices of coal for the last two years compare with those for the

Previous three or four years ?-Very much les; laet year was the most favourable
we have had, so far as coal or freight is concerned; we may possibly this year get
freights as low, but we don't calculate on maintaining the same low rates.
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Q.,,ave yoe mde erperiments with Nova eotia eostatsany4ime Y-Welave
not, thogh I am pretty familiar with the results in other works.

Q. Ye hae b no, ezperienfe in Nova eotioal personially 2-No.
By the Charms:-

Q. Yon say the coal gives 9,500 cubie feet ?-Yes.
Q. And has an illuminating power of fourteen candles ?-Yes.
Q. As a matter of course an article of bituminous coal that would give 10,000

feet, sixteen-candle illuminating power, would be superior ?--Yes, but you have to
take different things into consideration. We could get 10,000 feet and over in one
year, but the figures I gave are the average result of a year's working.

Q. Do you sometimes get it very much less than the amount you have named ?-
Towards the end of the year, when it has been screeued for a long time, it will run
down te 9,000, and when quite fresh it will run over 10,000.

Q. You are speaking of the best quality of gas coal ?-Yes, the best averages.
Q. Is it round coal or small ?-The slack is taken out and there is a good deal of

nut size. It is taken from a mine and run through a screen that takes out the finest.
There are some large lumps in it and some small.

Q. Do you call it round coal?-No, it is lump coal. The finest slack is taken
ont.

Q. How high have you paid for coal of that class ?--The highest is $4.30 on
board at Cleveland, and $2.50 freight and delivery into ouir yard. That was in the
summer of 1873.

Q. 84.30 American money ?-Yes.
Q. At that time .that would not be equal to more than $3.20 ?---I would correct

what I have said; it would be $3 from Cleveland to our stores.
Q. What did you pay in 1874 ?-We paid $4.25 on board at Cleveland, and I

think it was $L75 freight into our stores.
By Mr. Tupper:-

Q. What did it cost you then in your stores ?---About $5.58, or in that neighbour-
hood.

Q. What do you pay this year ?--We have not made contracts for this ycar, but
last year it cost $4.75 delivered.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What about 1875 ?-The coal was, I think, about the same price and the

freights were lower, that is coal for use in the summer of 1876.
Q. What is the class of coke you obtain from this coal ?-It is a very good class,

we get from 36 to 38 bushels per ton from it.
Q. What quantity do you use ?-3,000 tons; the total quantity consumed in On-

tario Gas Works is 25,000.
Mr. CATHELS was called and examined.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Are you manager of the Montreal Gas Company ?--Yes.
Q. Conversant with all the practical details of the work ?--Yes.
Q. What is the price of the coal used by you at the present time ?-Last year it

was about $5.50 delivered in the stores.
Q. Where do you obtain your supplies ? -- From Nova Sceotia.
Q. What mines ?-The largest proportion has been from the International mine;

we had also some from the Caledonia, Blackhouse and Glace Bay, C.B., mines.
Q. Was it obtained by tender ?-Well, it was a special arrangement made between

the proprietors of the mine and us for a certain quantity.
Q. Did you issue advertisements for tenders ?--No.
Q. Did you test the prices of Nova Scotia coal as against English and American

toal ?-Until four years ago English coal was sold exclusively with us; last year we
again tried it to the extent of 5,000 tons.

Q. What quantity do you annually use ?-About 24,000. I may state that I
have devoted a good deal of attention to testing Nova Seotia coal. I have made
hundreds of tests with the object of ascertaining the best eoal for the purpose, and so
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far s its vaue for gas-imaking purposes te eoncerned the beut gradais about on a par
with Newcaetle gas cOaL

Q. Aro you able to obtain coal from Nova Sctia eheaper thaù Englah coal ?-
No, we could get English coai laid down at twenty shillings sterling.Q. That is about $5 ?-Yes.

By Mr. Goudge :
Q. Have yon had offers ?-Yes.

By Mr. Dymond:--
Q. Yon have had offers of English coal at about $5 ?-Yes.
Q. What is the reason then that you have preferred Nova Scotia coal at *5.50 te

iEnglish coal at 85 ?--It is exceedingly difficult to get the bot class of English ceai;
there is such a demand for it. - Another reason is that our Board prefers, if it tan b.
done without detriment to the Company's interest, to use Nova Scotia coal.

Q. Do you find that the supplies of coal from England are fitful rather thax
regular ? -- Yes.

Q. Do yon obtain particular advantages by coal being brought out as ballast from
England ?--Well, that is really one reason why we can obtain ceal so cheaply.

Q. Practically, then, yon can hardly take English rates as markot prices ?-No.
Q. Have you made experiments with American bituminous coal ?- I have had

no personal experience with American coal, though I know well what tne results of
such experiments have been. There is no comparison as to quality. Omte great
drawback of Nova Scotia coal-and I may explain it because our Com y spent
something like $100,000 to overcome that difficulty.-is that it is so frîghtMly full off
pyrites and sulphur. Wo have special contrivances for purification, which cost
$100,000 for lime alone.

Q. That difficulty does not exist in English coal ?-No.
Q. Nor American ?-The sulphur in the American coal is about on a par with

the English.
Q. That is so far as purity goes your preference is for American or English

coal ?-If we could insure our getting the class of English coal that I used in Iondon
when there, we would have that in preference to Nova Scotia coal. With American
coal the price is against us.

Q. What is the rate of American coal of the same quality as that now producing?
-I cannot give you the figures.

Q. Can you approximate for the last twelve months ?-American coal would cost
from $1.50 to $2.00 more.

Q. Is that owing to the higher cost of freight to Montreal ?-Yes.
Q. You are not so favourably situated in Montreal as we are in western Canada,

with regard to the bituminous coal of the United States ?-No.
Q. So that so far as you are concerned the imposition of a duty on American

coal of fifty cents would not have the slightest results ?-Not the slightest.
Q. Does Nova Scotia coal produce superior coke ?-No, not at all. The Penn-

sylvania coal used in American and Canadian gas works is quite equal, if not superior
to Nova Sceotia coal.

Q. What is the price of gas in Montreal ?-82.50.
Q. What is the product of gas from the coal you consume ?--We get about 8,500

per long ton of 2,240 Ibs.
Q. You heard Mr. Littlehall's evidence as to what he obtains from America»

ceal. Do you consider that the figures he gave were excessive ?-No,not at all; on
the contrary, the general estimate of that class of ceal is an average of 10,000 feet;
Nova Scotia coal is more valuable for gas-making purposes whenfreshly miined.
During the summer we can get 9,000, or perhaps a little more, but Igive you the
average, for the year.

Q. Your coal is all brought by water ?-- Yes.
Q Is coa! usually delivered in good condition ?-Yes.
Q. There have been statements made that coal is someomea seat from Nova

Scotia in a careless and reckless manner,?-We had great cause to complain in that
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respect. For ganaking purposes fresh coal is a great dodderatru,,but we fbid
that in making ugcontracts, they put fresh and old coal in together. We o kéep
an agent at the mmes to see that the coal is sent of fresh.

Q. Has the price of gas in Montreal fallen during the last year or two ?-Yes.
Q. What dividend did your company pay ?-Teu per cent.
Q. Limited to ten per cent ?.-No, no imitation.
Q. With some of the drawbacks which you have mentioned, yon are satisfied

with your arrangement for the use of Nova Seotia coal ?-Yes, one great disad-
-vantage of Nova Scotia coal is this, that it heats when it is stored en bloc, as we are
obliged to store it. Three years ago we had 7,000 tons that fred in store. It was
nearly all destroyed, and the roof bnrned off the storehouse. On a late'occasion the
same thing happened. Now we have extensive sheds, and the coals are not more
than eight feet deep. Since we have done that, we have had no difficulty.

Q. Have your proprietary an interest in any Nova Scotia mines ?-No.
Q. Having no interest in using it, but having balanced the advantages and

disadvantages, you find the result to be on the whole favourable ?--Yes.

By the Chairman
Q. What percentage is there of sulphur in your Nova Scotia coal ?-That I am

unable to deteimine, but I may tell you what occurred a few weeks ago. We had
last year about 5,000 tons of English coal. In passing the coal through the purifier
we found we could purify with one oxide purifier 13J million feet of gas, while the
Nova Sceotia coal gave something under six millions. That practical test shows
pretty correctly that there is about 100 per cent. more sulphur in the one than the
other.

Q. Which of the collieries have you taken coal from ?-Chiefly from the Inter-
national; also some from the Caledonian Blockhouse, and others.

Q. is the International coal the best for gas purposes ?-The grades are so
much alike it is difficult to say. We have found on the whole that the International
is the most advantageous, not so much on account of its boing a better quality of
caoal, as that there is a botter harbour there, and ships coming from England with
cargoes drop in there.

Q. Then you don't prefer the International coal because it is a better coal, but
because it is more accessible ?-Yes.

Q. Yeu have only tried some two or three of the coal seams ?-Practically or
experimentally I have tried, more or les s, every one of the mines.

-Q. Did they give any percentage in excess-a larger number of cubic feet to the
ton than the International ?-No, they are much about the same.

Q. You say you had some difficuty at the International mine about getting fresh
eoal ?-Yes.

Q. Is not that mine an exceptional circuemstance ; is not the proprietary lease
hold ?-Yes, there was a difficulty between the proprietors and the lessee.

Q. The lessee was not so much interested in giving a good character of coal as
in disposing of a large quantity ?-I may say that generally it is an advantage to
load with bank coal, if it can be done. In summer there is a great demand, and in
apring there is none. They get a quantity and bank it. If the requirement is for
steam one is as good as another, but not for gas.

Q. But is not this mine exceptionally situated in so far as its proprietorship is
concerned ; are there not; extra inducements offered by the persons who have it in
.order to dispose of large quantities, they not caring so mach as to the character
they establish for their coal?--We found the same difficulty with other mines.

Q. Did you say you got almost all your supplies there ?-We got the largost
portion; not all of it.

Q. Were there other kinds of coal with which yon experionced this difflculty of
heating and taking fire?-No, we had no other.

Q. Yon say that on the occasion on whieh the coal got heated you had no other
-Nova Scotia cail on the heaps ?-No other.



Q. Do you take round eo#ls?-.-They are just as mined, except that they are
passed through a smati sreen.

Q. Can yon tell what the coal costs free on board ?--No, that la not my depart.
ment, but the Secretary's.

Q. What doos it cost to the harbour at Montreal ?-It costs, I suppose, soething
like twenty cents les than the figures I have given you.

Q. You do not know how the $5.50 is made up ?--No.
Q. Would it surprise you to know that it costs $2 free on board and something

under $2 freight to Montreal ?-I cannot tell you how that is ^made up, only that i4
about our prices.

Q. Have you used any coal fronm the Albion mine ?--A little.
Q. How did you like it ?-We did not think the production was as good as from

other mines.
Q. How did the coke turn out; did you find that the coal had high coke-pro-

ducing qualities ?-I think it was about a fair average.
By Mr. Tupper :Q. With referenco to the question of sulphur, do you find that what you have

said applies to the Pictou coal ?--What coal do yon refer to at Pictou ?
Q. The Albion ?-Yes.
Q. Was not it free from sulphur ?--I cannot remember that.
Q. Have you tried the Springhill coal ?--No.
Q. Are you aware that Sir William Logan, after an elaborate analysis, has

pronounced it as free from sulphur as the best Newcastle ?--I have no knowledge ut
it mysclf.

Q. On the occasion on wþich your coal took fire it was in a large block ?-Yos.
Q. Since you have reduced it you have not met with ihat difficulty ?--No.
Q. Yo say when coal is fresh you get about 9,000 feet ?--Yes.
Q. After being in store you get about 8,500 ?---Yes.
Mr. LITHGOW was re-called and examined.

By fr. Sinclair:--
Q. Do the miners consume a great many dutiable goods in proportion to their

number ?---Well, yes, they use, of course, a good deal of spirits, tobacco, as well as
eatables.

Q. Is the principal part of what they use dutiable ?--Yes.
Q. The coal trade is now in a state of depression ?--Yes, in a state of great

depression.
Q. What do you suggest as a remedy ?-I think the most legitimate remedy

would be the imposition of a duty, we ask for 50 cents per ton or 17J per cent., either
one or the other.

Q. What effect would that have upon your trade ?-I think it would give us the
market in Canada.

Q. If your coal shipments were doubled or quadrupled, could you sell at les
than $1.75 ?-Yes, we could.

Q. At a much less sum ?-Our price is pretty low, at present, but Ihave calculated
that if, for instance, we sold 60,000 tons, we could make four per cent. on the capital
stock if we sold at $1.50. As compared with 30,000 tons it would make a difference
of about 20 cents per ton.

Q. Then in fact you could sell 60,000 tons for 20 cents per ton cheaper than you
could sell 30,000 tons ?-Yes.

By Mr. Tupper :
Q. What is the capacity of your mine ?--We usod to ship much more than we

do now.
Q. But if you had a demand what could you ship ?-I don't think we could

exceed 60,000 tons, but if we could ship 60,000 tons this year it would prepare us to
ship perhaps double that quantity next year.

Q. What advantage do you consider Ontario would derive by your boing able te
send coal, say as far west as Toronto ?---If we cotrd increase our market either with
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the Upper or the Lower Province, very naturally it would give them an ineresed
market for flour and other goods. It would probably bel Ontario by bringing the
American coal and ours into competition. I think, problay, it would havea ten-
dency to keep down the prices of American coal. They would do their utmost to
eommand the Ontario market and we would do our best to meet them.

Q. You think the consumer would not pay mueh more than now ?-In certain
localities ho would perhaps. He would for instance, in this city. I believe now we
could compote with American coal in Ottawa without any duty. From what I have
heàrd I think so.

Q. Do you consider the coal mines of service to Nova Seotia in the way of bring-
ing trade ?-Yes; It enables the Grand Trunk line of steamers touching at Halifax
and other ports, to obtain their supplies much cheapar than if the coal had to be
imported. By these steamers obtaining their supplies offered at a cheap rate they
would be enabled to carry their freights at a mnch lower rate than if they had to
pay more for their coal.

By the Chairnan:-
Q. Can you tell the aggregate amount paid by the collieries for the last six, eight,

or ton years for wages ?-In 1865 the expenditure by Little Glace BayQ. I mean for all the collieries; can you tell the amount of capital in all the
collieries ?---I have seen it estimated at twelve millions.

Q. Is that a close estimate do you think ?-It is impossible for me to say as te
the amount.

Q. Is it based on good authority ?-I consider it good authority; Mr. White and
Mr. Rutherford present a statement to that effect.

Q. What is the amount of wages paid out per month annually in past years ?--
In 1876 the Glace Bay Company's pay-rolls amounted to $21,000; it cost seventy-
four cents per ton for mining the coal.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Then if we were to take the gross production of coal at 75 cents, we would

approximate to the wages pretty closely ?-It would amount to $1 per ton on the
average in all the mines ;I think in one year Nova Scotia raised about one million
tons ; the amount of wages in that year would be about one million dollars.

By the Chairman:
Q. Are these wages paid in cash ?---Yes ; always---or, at all events, it is excep-

tional when it is not the case; we have never paid them otherwise.
Q. There is mention made in Poole's Report of somethng over one million

dollars having been unnecessarily expended, and one instance is cited-.-the construe-
tion of two harbours at Big and Little Glace Bay. Do you consider that one would
have been sufficient ?-I believe it would now when so small a coal trade is being done.

Q. But when it iwas constructed, and shortly after, was there room in the
harbour for any other business than yours ?--My opinion is that there was.

Q. Was there room sufficient to accommodate the business of the Caledonian in
addition to your own ?--That is a question.

Q. Poole says there was ?--I am not prepared to say whether there was or not.
Some thought there was not, and that they would interfere with each other, and
they came to the conclusion that it would not answer.

Q. Is not Little Glace Bay a small narrow bay ; is it not filled with vesselt
during a brisk season ?-It has been.

Q. How thon can there be a doubt on your mind as to its being large enough ?-
It could bo enlarged. The President of the company was always opposed to the
Caledonian shipping there for fear therc would not-be accommodation for both mines.

By Mr. McGregor :-
Q. And that thore would be a little rivalry between the two ?-Possibly there

-might be something of the kind.
By Mr. Dymond

Q' You stated that the capital invested in the mine was $600,000 ?--That is tht
eapital stock.



Q aa yea tel lM ubsw tbat iazsposented ?--t is reprsend by theostimated
value of t ming leses, harbowr, rel estate, and stok on huad.

Q.. When did ,this uine çore into the poessioA f -the prsnt opnam or
lesee The orinal pzoprietor ef the mine is now twe ower of neàry oe.tbird
of it.

Q. Whenwas the presnt company formed ?-It was in 186, I tJ4nk,
'Q. At that time was the business promising and somewhat profitable; Was the

mine wll <.dveloped ?-No; the original proprietor sold on-Jalf of it to -some
American gentlemen; thon the harbour was opened and the mine defelkpod.
Previous to lthat he had done little.

. Was that when your eompany became posseased of the mine; in 1861 there
was compratively little expended on it ?-Very little.

Q. What did the company give the original proprietor for his share ?-He sold
one-half for 875,000.

Q. Is that the only premium paid on the mine itself on of the $600ß0Ou ?-
They subsequently paid up $60,000 more.

Q. Any since ?-None since, but the proceeds of the sales of coal in 1872 an4
1873 we used in developing the mines.

By Mr. Goudge:--
Q. You mean the profits ?-Yes.

By .Mr. Dymond
Q. Can you state how much of that $600,000 representa premium or good will

and how much actual plant or property ?--I should say, probably about one-half.
Q. What were you charging for your coal when selling 84,000 tous in 1865 ?--

$2.40 gold, net.
Q. low did your working expenses in 1865 compare with your expenses now ?-

I judge from the fact that there was only $75,000 made out of the 80,000 tons of ceal
that the expenses must have been greater. About $1.50 per ton must have been
expended, leaving 90 cents profit, and, therefore, as coal was sold at $2.40, it must
have cost about $1.50, that is, including ton cents royalty.

Q. I see in a letter you recently wrote to the press you say that in 1865 a divi-
dend was paid of $75,000.--Yes.

Q. Was that on 84,000 tons of coal ?-Yes.
Q. You paid over ton per cent ?-We paid 12J per cent.
Q. Equal to 25 per cent. on the $300,000 actually invested in plant and working

material ?--Yes.
Q. Did you make any efforts then or subsequently te retain or obtain a fresh

foreign trade by reducing price to something like the present?-.Our prices were
redueed subsequently, but that coal was almost exclusively a gas coal, and for that
kind of coal it is difficult to obtain other markets than the tnited States. We
rednced prices very rapidly. In 1865 the price was $2.40, and in the followingyear
it was about $1.70.

Q. Quite as low as now ?-About the same; afte- that we reduced it as low as
81.34.

Q. Since you have obtained such small dividends have yen gone minutely juto
the cost of working the mine ?-Yes.

Q. Have yen been able te economize in the rate of production ?-We conomize
by expending nothing more than we possibly can. It is pretty lew and we require a
year or two of good business to build it up.

Q. Are you cognizant of communications passing between the difrerent, nanagors
df the mines with a view te a more general economical system of work ?-No.

Q. You have net met for that purpose ?-No.
Q. Or any other purpose ?-Only for the purpose of agitating fothis addiional

duty on coal.
Q.1 think you have stated in one of your letters t at you regar0 d present

tariff as unjust ?-Yes.
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Q. Have you any compleint to mal. agelast the royalty chare by th Nova
Scotian Governient7

Q. Xd not yoi complain in one of these Itters tha- ftsninftioe ?.I
,think not. I think the Province is well entitled to it, and would be very fooliMh to
give it up without compensation.

Mr. Dhxoo then read the following extract from a letter writtn by Mr.
Lithgo* to the Acadian Recorder

" Everybody with a conscience feels that it is net just that the home-produced
article should pay ton cents, per ton into the Provincial chest and I7* per cent. on the
locomotives, engimes, wire, r e, shovels, picks, riddles, powder, dynamite, olive oil,
packing, rubber, &c., &c., usod at the mines, and yet the foreign article be admitted
free of duty, and that to the exhibit of nearly 800,000 tons (coal and coke ineluded)
in a single year."

Q. As an element in this injustice, do you allude to the ten cent royalty?-
INo, it does not bear that construction.

Q. It is simply in fact a rental?-Yes; the local revenue is now suffering On
account of the depression in the coal trade.

Q. Have you read the resolution of the Hamilton Board of Trade, which has
been referred to by the Committee, proposing a readjustment of the tariff ?-J have
heard it read.

Q. Are you favourable or unfavourable to increasing the duty on manufactured
goods, assuming that a duty is placed on coal ?- M y impression has been that 17
per cent. on coal would not answer unless the 17J per cent. generally-Q. I7 per cent. is about 50 cents ?--Yes; about that on an average. It bas
been my impression that the duty we ask for on coal would not answer without
an increase of the 17J per cent. generally. I thought, however, that if it were found
that a duty on coal would press heavily on the industries using coal, the duty on coal
might be used to incï-ease the duty on the articles produced by those industries.

Q. Your complaint was, however, of the existence of the 17î per cent. duty on
all those articles used in your trado ?-I complain because we come into competition
with free coal. I would not complain if we had protection to our coal. For us to
pay 10 cents to the Province

Q. But you do not complain of that ; that is only a rental ?----We do not com-
plain of it; but to pay ton cents to our Province, and 17* on articles we use in
mining, and to be subjected to an unjust competition with.the coals froin England and
the United States, we do complain.

Q. Are you aware that American mines in many cases pay royalty?-I believe
they pay what is equivalont to the royalty.

Q. Are you alse aware that all manufactured goods in America, whether used
in .mines or not, are heavily taxed ?-There is a heavy duty; but they are manu-
factured in the country, and manufactured cheaply.

Q. Are not many goods you use manufactured in that country ?-Yes.
Q. Cannot you buy shovels, picks and other articles of Canadian manufacture as

cheaply as from the United States ?-The shovels we use are imported from England.
We have never bought Canadian or Amèrican manufactures.

Q. Don't you know that these various materials are manufactured in Canada, or
the bulk of them ?-I cannot say that I know it.

Q. Ropes, chains &c ?-Wire ropes are not, I don't know that chains are.
Q. Do yon import any of these materials from the States ?-S~ome of them;

dynamite, fuses, &c..
Q. The larger amount comes from England ?-Yes.
Q. Thon you have no reason to believe' that the miners of the United States

procure their materials more cheaply than you do here ?-I don't think there is much
difference. In IEngland there is a great difference.

Q. When you speak of foreign or imported coal, is it English coal that yon feel
comes into injurions tompetition with you ?-I refer to both, though the English
mines have a very great advantage over us, because the miners get nearly evory-
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â hi e yi& aut a.e driç frk of4tyaY, as.we the "1ana tivaad a11 the
mat"ria l Vary cheap rate.

Q Thot it is sI aroepet glis imaat yer nckeymingàint ?
.o; it te bol.a flt-oo.ls enter into titp.ti with outs.

Q. What about the duty on materials --We don't,.e=plai of the 4aty 'on
materials if imported conl were not free. If we had 1TY per cent. on, or esI we
would be satisfied.

Q. Then you don't comaplain of the royalty, or of the existing duty on matorials,
provided you had 50 cents duty on coal?-That's iL.

Q. On what ground then, taking the whole proposition that you have aid down
here, do yon think the 7 per cent. duty presses heavily on yon ?-On the ground
that imported coal comes in free.

Q. And on the ground that you could not carry on your trade without the 174
per cent. goods that form part of your materials ?--Wo cannot carry on our trade
without them4

Q. Is not coal a very important element in the production of nearly all our
manufactures, and consequently the manufacturer taxed for his eoal wi be in -the
same-poSition as the coal miner taxed for his material?-Yes.

Q. Would you propose that that dut should be placed on all coal coming into
the country; the resolution of the Hamilton Board of Trade, which has been
referred to, points to a duty not only on manufactured goods and coal, but on bread
stuffs ; would you be prepared to pay a duty of 50 cents per barre on flour ?-I
think Nova Scotia would not object to that. I would go for it cheerfully. If we had
a duty of 50 cents per ton on coal I don't think it would add much te the prico of the
bulk of flour thut is consumed.

Q. Now, assuming that we were to put a duty on manufactures we should reduce
our importation of these goods, would we not ; your view would be to increase the
manufactures at home; that is your view in making the suggestion ?-Yes.

Q. I observe that in a postscript to your letter you make some remarks on the
character of our tarif as compared with the British tarif. You especiallyadmire the
simplicity of the British tarif, which reduces the customs dues to a very few articles?
--I do.

Q. What is your idea as to a re-arrangement of the tarif to meet your views ?-
I would increase the 17J per cent. on silks, satins, velfets, and such articles, and
make a roduction say on sugar, molasses and coal oil.

Q. That on coal oil bas been reduced ?-I would reduce it still further.
Q. You would place a heavy duty on silks, satins, velvets, and goods of that kind

on the ground that they are luxuries ?-Yes.
Q. Your proposal is founded on the idea that these are luxuries ?--Yos. On

looking over the 17 per cent. list I see many articles on which the duty might be
largely decreased, and others on which an additional duty might be imposed

Q. When the duty is increased on luxuries, wouldn't the result be a considerably
diminished importation ?---That might be a consequence.

Q. And that would lead to a diminished revenue ?-I don't think that follows.
Q. Is your proposai to place increased duties on all these goods to the extent of

the American duty, in order to retaliate upon the Americans for their policy ?-No,
I have no idea of that sort.

Q. You don't advocate that policy ?-.Not specially; I have no speoial referencq to
umtating the Americans in that respect.

Q. The result of your proposal would be to reduce the income of the State from
sugar, and to reduce the income also on silks, satins and so on ?-No; it would be te
increase the inoome from many of those articles that now pay 17~per dent. I don't
see that the imposition of a duty on these articles would reduce the revenne.

Q. Is not silk plush used in many articles of manufacture ?-Yes.
Q. Would not a small increase of duty on articles of that kind seriously affect

the manufacture of certain goods ?-If it did I would say put a larger duty on the
manufactared article.

51
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~.Then~ in the fret pl6,you wread put a duty 0n.whar inightI 4s 'tsieh lt
raw material and then a higher duty on the manufacture&article?-Yéé

A d -o enhanethe prie. to the on äaýmer!-That *as not *y ides. Yy
ides was that silks stins and vdvets are mâie up iùto dre s whikh are worn by

eÔpiwþo cm affod to wear them.
Q. The question is whether your theory of putting a duty on the raw inatorial

and then on the manufactured article would not immediately raisethe prie of the
manufhètured article to the consumer ?--I do not regard silks, satins and velvets as
raw material ; not as a general thing.

Q. Yen would tax the whole coal, aftthracite as well as bituminous, coming into
Ontario fifty cents a ton ?--Yes.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Do you regard the coal mining industry as one of the most important in

Nova Scotia ?-Yes; as the most important.
Q. Looking at the future there is nothing thiat would tend to the development or

the general trade of the country and the general prosperity of the country sa mueh
as an improvement in the condition of the coal trade ?---Nothing.

Q. Would it have, in addition to the general effect upon trade, a large and
valuable influence upon the shipping industry of the countrv?-It would most
certainly.

Q. It would require a large tonnage and would cost an increased demand for
shipping ?-Yes.

Q. You believe that a duty of fifty cents per ton on importod coal, or seventy-
five cents bounty on coal shipped to the United States would have the effect of
stimulating that industry ?-I have much more confidence in a daty than in a bounty.

By Mr. Goudge:-
Q. Why ?--The bounty would only enable us to gain a market on the American

side, while a duty would eventually enable us to gain a very large market in the
Dominion of Canada.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Do you consider that it is of still greater importance to produce in our con-

diti'on alarge inter-provincial trade by the exchange of the products of the east
and wesb than anything else ?-Yes; and I think a duty would lead to a large inter-
provincial trade, that would tend to improve the condition of the Dominion as a
whole. It would open up a trade between Canada and the Lower Provinces.

Q. -You think the effect of the duty would be largely counterbalanced by the fact
that vessels would be enabled to have freight both ways?-I have no doubt that a
duty would help freights both ways. The increased out-put of coal would give an
increased market for Canadian produce. That would give us down freights and there
would be coal freights in return.

Q. What was the export of Nova Scotia coal to the other Provinces in 1869 ;--
The export from Nova Scotia to the neighbouring Provinces was 129,097 tons.

Q. What was it in 1870 ?-162,977
Q. Do you attribute the large increase to any extent to the duty of 50 cents per

ton imposed ip 1870 ?-It seems natural to suppose that the inerease was owing tO
the duty.

Q. -What was the amount in 1872 ?-168,577.
Q. Could you tell me what amount of coal was shipped to the Upper Provinces

-Quebec I include as one of them-in 1869 from the Gowrie mine ?-I have ascer-
tained that it shipped to the Province of Quebec 3,700 tons, and 9,000 in 1870.

Q. .ayon attribute that large increase of trade between Nova Scotia andQuebec to
the imposition of a duty ?-The proprietors of the Gowrie mine inform me that the
effect of that duty in 1870 was that trade was generally stimulated by the duty, and
thate lb.trade with Canada was trebled in consequence.

Q. Tou have stated that you believe that the people of Nova Scotia would not
-object to an increase of duty on Canadian industries, if it was accompanied by th,
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same principle being applied to the coal imported into the Dominion ?-I do not think
i stated that.

Q. The Hamilton and Toranto Boards of Trade have passed resoltions declaring
that they would not object to a'duty of fifty cents per ton on-bituminous coal, if
attended with the application of the same-piipnele to the agricultaral and maanufao-
tared prodaets of Canada. Would yeu prefer that policy being adopted tl1ntters
being left as they are ?--i would certainly prefer that being adopted.

Q. Yo complain of it as an injustice to Nova Scotia, that the great oal-mining
indastry of that country should be left open to the competition of coai eoming in
here from abroad; while, at the. same time, Nova Scotia is obliged to y on the
petroleuma industry of Ontario ?-Yes, I do think it is an injustice. I tink Nova
Scotia coal should be entitred to as much consideration as Ontario coal oil.

Q, The duty on petroleum is about 33i ?-Yes.
Q. The duty is about six cents; the price of the raw material is about twelve

coats; so that, in faet, the potroleum industry of Ontario had a protection of about
fifty per cent. ?--I have not considered it to be so much.

Q. Do you consider that the petroleum industry of this country is of as much'
importance as the coal interest ?-By no means.

Q. Do you regard it as unfair that the petroleum interest should have a large
protection while the coal interest has none ?-No; I consider it as something out-
rageous.

Q. You consider that the revenue of this country would be largely increased by
the increased stimulus which the imposition of a duty would give to the coal trade ?-
I do.

Q. The consumption of the dutiable articles, such as tea, sugar, tobacco, spirits,
on which the duty is very high, would be largely increased by a large production of
coal ?-Yes; including molasses.

Q. You represent the Glace Bay coal mine ?--Yes.
Q. That coal is superior for steam, gas and domestic purposes generally ?-Yes.
Q. Is it true that you have published advertisements offering to furnish thateoal

free on board, for the Toronto market, at $1.50 per ton ?---Yes, for the Ontario
market, indeed I may say for Canada.

Q. Do you know what is the average per capita of customs dues paid by the
Provinces of Ontario-and Quebec ?-I took it from the Trade Return for 1876. The
average per capita of customs ducs paid by Ontario and Quebec for the nine years
beginning in 1868 and ending in 1876 is put down at $30.96.

Q. What is the average amount per capita paid, during the same period, by the
Province of Nova Scotia?-For Nova Scotia and New Brunswick it is #33.06.

Q. That is, they have paid $2.10 per head more than the people of Ontario and
Quebec ?--Yes.

Q. Is that an additional reason why a great industry, so important to the whole
Province, should recoive as great consideration as an Ontario industry?-Nova Scotia
and New Brunswiek have paid, during the past nine years, $2.10-more thWn Ontario
and Quebec. The population of Ontario andQuebec is sonething like threeM ilions,
and if they had paid in the same proportion as the other two Provinces of cuatoma
das they would have paid between six and seven millions more estoma dues than
they have. The avera e of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick is $756,000 moes than
the average of the two Upper Provinces.

Q. Sme the Union of these Provinces, has there not been A very large increase
in the aemount of the importa into Nova Scotia and New Brunswick from the Upper
Provinces ?-Unquestionably.

Q. It was stated at from $300,000 to $500,000 ?-I am not poSted »n that point.
Q. You are generally aware of the fac.t ?-Yes.
Q. You heard Mr. Morrison's testimony, that it had ipcreased from one-half a

Million to throe and one-half millions ?-I believe that to be about correct.
Q. Do you consider that the fact that the Lower Provinces hav4 furnished an
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increased market for Ontario 4nd Quebec, gives, the former a strong claim for tbe
considerato» of the great coal mui industry ?-Y es; eortainly it does.

~By Mfr. Godge :
Q. What aoun t of Nova Scotia shipping is employed in the carrying of coal to

ho United States ?-Laut yoar the shipments were only 71,000 tons, and consequently
he amount of shipping to the Inited States was small.

Q. Was that prneipally Nova Scotia ships, or, were thèy American bottoms ?--
There were very few American veels last year.

BW Mr. Tupper
Q. You stated;that in 1873 more than a million tons Were raised in Nova Scotia;

how many tons of shipping would that employ ?-About one and one-third tons of
coal to the registered ton of shipping, or about 350,000 .tons of shipping to 600,000
tons of coal.

Q. That would be nearly 700,000 tons of shipping to convey one million tons of
coal ?-Yes; if it had all been shipped, but it was not.

Q. In 1873 ?-The shipments would probably be from 700,000 to 800,000 tons.
Q. How many tons of shipping would that take?-350,000 tons carries about

600,000 tons of coal. It would take from 450,000 to 500,000 tons of shipping.
Q. You- spoke about certain industries being helped by a 17J per cent. duty;

name some of them ?-Industries that largely consume coal, such as iron manufacture.
Q. What you complain of is this: You say there is a 17 per cent. duty on almost

all articles which enter into operations in connection with coal mines. This was met
in this way: that it was true that that might be so, but these same articles are largely
consumed in our manufacturing industries. Your reply to that is: that these very
manufacturing industries have a protection of 17*per cent. Mention what industries
have this proteetion. What industries have you in your mine ?-Foundries pay 17
per cent. on imported castings, pig iron is free. Broom factories im port broom corn
free, and brooms pay 17* per cent. Furniture factories import w s free, but there
is 171 per cent. on imported furniture. Nail factories pay five per cent. on iron, and
there is a duty of 17J per cent. on nails, only leaving 12* per cent. I think the pro-
tection of iron should be more than this. In the case of a duty on coal, I think they
are entitled to much more protection.

Q. You have named certain manufacturing industries that receive protection of
17* per cent. Do you recollect others ?-There is the manufacture of locomotive
engues, boilers. They import such parts of these as they cannot manufacture.
Oertain parts are free, and locomotives and engines pay 17* per pent.

Q. Tobacco ?--That is protected by the difference between the customs and
excise duty.

By Mr. McGregor:
Q. -Do you know the amount of coal shipped to Canada nine or ten years ago

fin your Province ?-I do not. Returns were not kept previous to 1873. I can
give yen those for British North America, in 1869, 179,000 ; in 1870, 162,000; ia
1871, 168,000; in 1874, 338,754; in 1875, 381,711.

Q. Would Newfoundland consume 70,000 to 80,000 tons ?-No, not so much.
Q. On the whole there bas been a steady increase ?--The ceal shipments have

fallen off in 1876 ; they were less than in 1875.
Q. You account for that by the general depression; they were not using so much

coal ?--I should Asyit was owing to the increased imports from the United States.
Q. Was not the coal trade in 1870 stimulated by the high prices in England ?-

No, I don't think so.
By Mr. Goudge

Q. We must have competed irith English coal rather than American ?---The
importa of American coal have largely increased.

By Mr. McGregor :
Q. How much inore coal would you be able to sell to the Dominion than now if

you had a duty ; how many more markets would it open ?-It would be a work of
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tim;but thre woud be a ery argeincrease in our es I thinkinayearor two.
We would increase our sales in Canada by 20,00 or 300,000 tons.

Q. Do you think you could go furthier west thau Toronto-I wold lnot be
prepared to say at present.

Q. Would it, in your opinio be for the interésts of the'miners to have'a duty
both on hard and soI co.al -I so. Hard coal comes into competition with
soft coal. The coals of Picton would take the place of hard oals to a great extent
if there was a duty.

Q. Would not but a small portion »of Ontario pay that duty ?---Probably so.
Q. Because they could not have the competition ?-Yes, I suppose that would be

the case with the western parts of Canada.
By Mr. Sinclair.

Q. You say that in 1873 you raised about one million tons in Nova Scotia.
What did you raise last year ?-Over 700,000 tons.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Yon have already stated that your exports into Old Canada -fromà Nova

Scotia, of coal have very largely increased until last year sinee 1870 ?---Yes, until
last year, when there was a decrease.

Q. Well, even taking the reduced demand of last year the sales of Canada would
be double what they were in 1870. You gave them 162,000 tons in 1870, and 338,000
in 1876 ?--No, it was 338,000 in 1874; that is double of what they were in 1870.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. Do you know what difference there is between the importation of coals from

abroad into the Dominion-luring the year that the duty of fifty cents existed ?-I am
not aware, I have not been able to make ont satisfactorily, but the increased export
of coal into Quebec was 341,000 tons.

Ry Mr. Dymond :-
Q. You have already stated that there was a considerable increase inthe year in

which the duty was imposed, and you also stated that the sales to Canada had con-
tinued largely to increase since the duty was taken off ?-Yes.

Q. In fact they have been enormously in excess, when there was no duty of
what they were when there was a duty ?-The increase of 1871 over 1870 was about
5,600 tons.

Q. But the sales continued to increase ?-'Yes.
Q. Is it not a fact that trade 'generally commenced to revive about 1869 and

1870 ?-I cannot speak definitely about that.
Q. Have -ï ou a general knowledge that such was the fact ?--I don't know that

I have.
Q. Do you know if any coal from Nova Scotia was sold in Ontario in 1870 ?--

Only by report.
Q. Do you know that there was no sale in 1870 ?--By repof't.
Q. In 1870 ?-- I have understood so.
Q. Do you know of any coal being sent to Toronto in 1870 ?-I do not.
Q. Did yon hear a gentleman state this mo-ning that American soft coal did

not corme into competition with Nova Scotia soft coal in Montreal, and that a duty of
seventy-five cents would have no effect ?-i did.

Q. Are yon prepared to say that the fifty cents duty had'.any cfe et on American
umportations into Quebec ?-I am not.

Q. Had it on your shipments of coal from Nova Scotia to Quebec in 1870 ?.-. I
h'ave it on the authority of Mr. Archibald that they sold more in 1870 than in 1869,
and the say it was the effect of the duty.

Q. ou say that the increase in the trade of eoal would have a large offeet upon
the shipping trade. In what direction does your remark point ?--In the direction of
Canada principally.

Q. You have that trade npow so that it would be simply an increase-over present
sales to Canada ?--Yes.
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Q. Do yoa say that it woáld have the efdet of producing a considerabl- addi-
tional inter-provincial trad ?-Yes, it -would have that effeot.

Q. Are you aware that a large amount of the goods sold by the Upper Province
are of a costly and perishable nature ?-I cannot say as to the amounts of each kind.

Q. Is not the i-ailway freight preferred to a large extent over water freight for
these kinds of goods?-For some classes of goods; yes.

Q. Have you any idea as to the weight of goods forwarded to Nova Scotia from
Montreal and Ontario--the tonnage ?-I have not.

Q. Then you cannot say as to how far the shipment by water from U pr Canada
and Montroal would be equivalent to the shipments of Nova Scotian coal -I should
judge that the bulk of the articles from Upper Canada would be less than the bulk of
coal which we would send up.Q. Would a large proportion of that þulk be likely to core by Intercolonial Rail-
way ?-Bulky articles, such as flour, would come by water.

Q. Is not flour one of those articles which it is preferable to send by rail ?-No,
I think importers prefer it sent by water.

Q. The increase in freights inwards to you would be only partially represented
by the increased outward freights of coals, from those causes, the character of the
goods and the railw3y competition ?-Yes.

Q. You say that a trade with the United States in coal would largely increase
the usual shipping of your ports; would that extend beyond the more tonnage of the
coal carried ?-Doyou mean, would it extend our trade ?

Q. Yes. You say it would -extend your shipping trade ;- do you expect any
advantages from your coal trade to America beyond the tonnage of the coal carried?
-- There would be the advantage of having our vessels employed at home.

Q. If these vessels took coal to the United States, what would they being back,
American produce ?-Of late years most of the American vessels have taken freights
there for the foreign market. Freiglits have been low, and they have calculated on
calling on their way from England and getting a cargo for the United States.

Q. Then the freights from Nova Sootia would have to be low to be an advantage
to the shipping ?-Well, they require to be low now in order to enable us to compete.

Q. You mean that if they didn't carry coal they would carry nothing ?-Yes. I
may say that I was surprised at Mr. Cathel's statement with respect to the prices of
Nova Scotia coal delivered to the Montreal Gas Company. We have offered to deliver
the same coal he speaks of-the International-at $3.50 per ton at Montreal to the
Gas Company, that is exclusive of any expense but the cost of the coal free on board.
How it should cost them so much more, I am unable to make out. We authorized
our agents to offer it at $1.50, or delivered in Montreal $3.50, exclusiv'e of insurance.

By fr. AcGregor:-
Q. Isn't that less than you have offered it at other times 7-No, we sold to

American parties at that rate.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Don't you think if you had offered coal at $1.50 per ton four or five years
ago, you would have retained a market which yon have lost ?-Five or six years ago
-previous to 1873, we sold at a lower average than $1.40

Q. Do you ever send shi menta on account ?--Yes, to Montreal.
Q. Not to Toronto

By Mr. Goudge.
Q. Youdon'tfear competition in Montreal even with the duty ?-No, not in the least.

Mr; [onaarsoN, recalled.

By the Chairman:
Q. You mentioned the importation of flour from Ontario into thé Province of

Nova Scotia. Can you give a statement of the importations of' Ilor and other
similar articles from the United States ?-About 103,304 barrels. There, iS along
with the importations of gour, 90,525 barrels of meal,

Q. Do yon consider that in case there was a trade in coals beitween Nova Séotil
56;
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and Ontario, that a portion large sr ama of that trade would be takea from the
ijnited States and come from the Province of Ontario ?-Yes, and there are other
commodities upon which there would be the same efec&

Q. Yeu are satisfed of that ?-Yes.
Q. What other articles are now imported from :t4e United Statea ?-Pork and

beef are large items. Keroseneoil, lardgand cheese are the leading articles.
Q. If we were able to pay for them in coa we could get them from Ontaro ?-

Yes, they would come'to nearly one and one and a-half millions.
By Mr. Dymond:

Q. Are you aware that there is a duty on many of those articles which yon
would obtain from Canada duty free ?-Yes.

By the Chairmaa :
Q. You spoke about inter-provincial trade ithe other day, what are your views

about the West Indian trade, how it would effeet the Province of Ontario ?-I thiek
the Province of Ontario might do a large West Indian tradp. In looking over the
trade returns of the United States for 1876, I find no les than six or sevea leading
articles which they exported to the British West Indian Islands, to the amount of
$14,000,000. These are all products of Ontario, namely, pork, beef, four, oats, lard,
butter and cheese. Though the flour of Canada is not suitable for the West Indisa
trade, it could be made so by the millers.

Q. What is necessary to make ft suitable ?-I had orders froin the Imperial
Government to send, ont some Canadian flour if it would stand the climate. I-sent
out some of what I thought was the very best Canadian four, but I found it would
not stand the climate.

By Mr. Dymond:--
Q. Do you know what must be donc to enable it to stand the climnate ?-No, I

don't.
Q. There is no difficulty in the American millers grinding Mississippi wheatand

sending the flour there ?-No.
Q. Then if we have free trade with the United States in wheat, we douki grind

their wheat for export ?-Yes, I suppose so.
Q. You cannot say of your own knowledge that only American wheat will stand

the climate of the West Indies ?-No, I cannot.
Q. Do you think our wheat could be put through sutch a procoss as would enable

it to stand the climate ?-Yes, I should think it could.
By Mr. Goudge:---

Do you know if the reason why our flour cannot stand the West Indian
climate lies in the flour itself or in the preparation ?-In the preparation, I believe.

Q. It is not in the growth of the wheat ?-It may be so in soine distriots.
Q. Do you export nany articles from the Province of Nova & oia the West

Indies ?-Principally fish.
Q. Do you geLt return cargoes ?-We get sugar and molasses, but we aend them.

chiefly to the United States.
Q. They are only partial ones ?-Yes.
Q. If sugar was rofined in this country there would be return cargoes of the

raw material ?-Yes.
Q. Sufficient to engage all the shipping yoursolves ?-Yes, snd more ta,

sufficient
Q. Can you say if American flour could be ahipped in bond ?-Yes t.eould.

There is another important trade which I think the Province of NovaSotia MI
have with Canada, and that is fresh fish. There la a company being formJin
Halifax with 1600,000 capital o prosecute deep sea fishing and send the tish all ovw
the Dominion paoked in ice.

8y Afr. Dymond.
Q. la that the fret effort of the kind that has been> made ?-Yes, so farawi km,
Q. Hitherto you have proceeded in rather a slow aud old fashioead methodl'é4

think we keep Up with all the improvements in fishing.
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Y our object mn eombiaing is te bring together a large amountf capitat, use
iaproved vossels and other applianos ?-Yes

Q. Yon would @end the fish over the Intereolonial Railway ?-Yes.
Q. Thon we would have some, freighte oven without CeaR in return for our

produce ?-Yes; bat if o had coal the trade weIld be very much lrger.
Q. Are yon pre to ado t a retaliatory tarif with the United States ?-Yes.
Q. You wou l prepare to put a duty of 81.20 to $125 on lour ?-Yes; I

believe it would be in the interestà of the Dominion to have the same tarif as the
United States.

By Mr. Goudge:
Q. What would the people of the western portion of Nova Scotia think of that ?-

Wel, the number is so small I don't think it would make mach difference.
Q. Take ‡he counties of Lunenburg, Digby, Yarmouth, Annapolis, Shelbourne,

Queen's, King's, and Hants ?-When you g oup them in that way they are important.
The very western part of the Province produces little or nothing but potatoes.

Q. Can you tell me how much of the four which you mentioned as.coming from
ti. United States-200,000 barrels-was imported into Halifax ?-I cannot say, but
I should think the western part of the Province gets the most of its flour from
Canada, the upper 'portion would get its supplies chiefy from the United States; I
suppose no more than 20,000 barrels.

Q. And Lunenburg ?-tunenburg draws its supplies chiefly from Halifax,
though the leading merchants are also importers from Canada.

Q. West of that, don't they get their supplies principally fromi the United States?
-The leading towns, such as Yarmouth, get their llour cheafiy from Canada.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. And these people, who have only potatoes to sell, would pay some $25,000 per

year to carry out the policy you have in view ?--Well, they would have their share
arising from developing the industries of the country.

Q. Yes; but they don't raise coal ?-They can build up manufactures.
Q. But I think you stated they raised nothing but potatoes ?-..That is thoir chief

item.
Q. And they could build up manufactures, you say ?--Yes.
Q. To encourage the building of manufactures, you would tax their breadstuffs

and coal ?-Yes; in reply to Mr. Goudge, I may say that perbaps he is not aware a
large trade is now being doue by boats going to and from the West Indies; goods are
sent down by train from Halifax, and then shipped to the West Indies.

By the Chairma:-
Q. Those counties which you speak of as raising potatoes chiefly, also produc3e

apples and other fruits, do they not ?-Yes; I believe they do, I may say that the
opening of the Intercolonial Railway will tend more and more to change entirely the
direction of our importation of breadstuffs. Canada will have a better chance now
than ever for that trade.

Q. Thon why is American flour imported ?-The amount i* getting less overy
year.

By Mr. McGregor:-
Q. Do yon think that the Intercolonial will greatly assist in the exchange of fish

and your other commodities for our flour and the other products we have to seli; wi! it
not croate a large business in that way ?-Yes; the whole exportation of Canada in
the year previous to Confederation was not more than 2½ millions, now I calculate
thesn to be froin 7 to 8 millions; the former figure represents the exporta of the whole
British North American Provinces to Nova Scotia, the latter the Provinces of old
Canada

Mr. NooNAN was re-called and made the following statement :-With regard to
the statements made as to the quantity of sulphar in the Pictou coal, I would like the
coMMitteeote prove the matter by Prof. Howes analysis of that ceal. He shows that
the quantity is very trifing. About the expenditure of $100,000 per annum on the
Albion mine. That is simply an estimate and I think I am below the amount.
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XiW. 8amuEL EoGexs, Of TorDDio, was calIed anid ØKaiied I

By Mr. Dymond:
. Are yòu a Canadian ?-Yes.

Q. What is your occupation?-Coal merchant, as a member of the rm of
S. &. E. Rogers & Co., of Toronto.

Q. In what branch of the trade does your business chieffy lie ?-Both in bitu-
minous and anthracite coal, the produce of mines in the 'United States.

Q. Are you agente or dealers on your own account ?--Bituminous coal for grate
purposes we purchase in the open market; for anthracite we act as agents to the
Butler Company, whose mines are situated at Pittston, Pa. The gas coal is from our
own mine, the Reynoldsville.

Q. At what distance from Toronto is your supplies obtained ?-The hard coal
300 milpes and the gas coal about the same distance. The Briar Hil and Straitsville
are brought a distance respectively of 270 and 380 miles.

Q. At what price can the best soft coal be delivered in Toronto.-eay Briar Èill
-Briar Hill coal is about $4; that would be making an average. Sometimes it i.
less and sometimes it is more.

Q. Io Briar Hill coal the most expensive ?--It is considered the best grate cenf
in the city, and I believe it costs more there.

Q. Is it chiefiy used for domestic purposes ?--Yes; it is largely used for sucb
purposes.

Q. Do. you know the thickness of the vein in the Briar Hill mine ?--About
four feet.

Q. What does it cost to mine it ?--Sixty cents per ton.
Q. How far is Straitsville mine from Cleveland ?-A hundred and eighty-five

miles.
Q. What is the thickness of the vein ?-Twelve fet.
Q. What is the price on board the cars ?-Ninety cents.
Q. Freight to Cleveland ?--$1.75.
Q. With an additional dollar to Toronto ?--It would be the same as the Briar

Hill coal.
Q. That would nake it $3.65 at the wharf?-That would be about the price.

Sometimes it would be cheaper, but it depends a little on the dealer. That is taking
the outside figure. It has been delivered, I believe, sometimes to the consumer at
$3.65.

Q. Are you acquainted with the working of American mines ?-Sotnowhat.
Q. Rave you ever worked a mine ?--No.
Q. Have you frequently visited mining districts ?--Yes; I was engaged in one

district on a work that took me through most of the localities.
Q. You are interested in the Reynoldsville mine with your brother and another

person ?-Yet.
Q. Where is it situated ?-On the Low Grade road. It is a new road from the

Alleghany valley road to the Buffalo and Philadelphia-road. It is an entirely new
coal region.

Q. What is the railway called ?-I think it is the Alleghany làow Grade road.
Q. Have a large number of mines been opened within the last few ye in the

Pennsylvitnia and Ohio districts ?-Yes; in those new sections there have been a
number of mines opened; I cannot say as to the number of fresh mines opened in
Ohio; many have been opened of which we have ne note. Coal erope ont of th.e
surface, and they are opened without much outlay or expense.

Q. The railways have been constructed çoncurrently with the increaeed kumbér
of mines ?-Yes.

Q. What is the average yield of one of these American bituminons tines f-It
'varies very much ; it depends altogether on the market. They couid ship almet
any amount from the mines if they had a chance to dispose of it-from j2000 te
50,000 tons, to perhaps 300,000 tons, I should say.
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Q Catyoa give a1s approximately the oost of working these mines ?-Mapy of
them are workei very cheaply; we pay 82,500 for the management of our mie

Q. What would you say woald be the coast of working an ordinary mine yielding
say 100,000 tons per annam?-That depends on the amoant paid-to the, minera,
which varies very much; takng our own, we pay for 'anagement-that inclades
shipping the coal, clerks and so on-$2,500, and then for the mJning of the coal fifty
cents per ton.

Q. 100-000 tons would costyou for mining $50,000 ?--Yes.
Q. Then yoit have, in addition, managerial expenses, costs of works, works of

construction, materials, and so on ?-We are.not shipping 100,000 tons; the manage-
ment costs us $2,500.

Q. la the amount of capital usually sunk in these# mines large ?-As far as my
experience and observation go, it is not very large; many of therm are opened by just
running into the slope of the kill, as the coal crops out to the edge; many of them are
opened on a very cheap scale. Take our own mine, it is perhaps as extensive as
most of those Ohio minés; it includes the railway, and switches to run the coal up
to the railway, buildings, houses for the miners, and other improvements, which, if we
had a market for the coal, would enable us to ship thirty or forty cars per day, that
would be 300 tons and over, and the wh>le cost, including miner's switches, houses,
railway, &c., with the iron the company supplies, wouild come in the neighbourhood of
$20,000.

Q.' That would be the whole of the fixed charge ?---That would cover the
expense.

Q. la a royalty paid in many cases ?--Yos.
Q. Do you know the amount ?--In some cases as 'high as thirty cents, and in

ethers twenty-five cents.
Q. In many cases the proprietors purchase the fee-simple of the land ?---I believe

there are such cases.
Q. Many small mines are opened at a less cost than yours ?--Yes.
Q. The geographical peculiarities of the country are favourable to the opening of

mines choaply ?-Yes.
Q. You work on the face of the hill ?--Generally.
Q. And, by the gravitation, you are able to economize in the handling of the

eoal ?-'Yes.
Q. What is the rate of your contract with the Toronto Gas Company ?---$4.80,

delivered.
Q. What is the quantity ?--500 tons per month.
Q. They are how much ?-10,000 to 12,000 tons per year.
Q. Have you bituminous coal used for steam purposes as nut coal ?--Yes.
Q. What can you lay it down for ?--We have laid it down as low as $3.65, but

that was exceptional; $3.75 is the zegular rate.
Q. Does that come from the same place of shipment ?--It comes from Reynolds-

yille.
Q. What is the price of anthracite at Pottston ?-We have been selling it at

$5.30 for stove, $5.05 for nut, and $4.80 for egg. We now sell it at about the same
price·on dock. Hard coal has been sold to dealers in Toronto, from stocks on hand,
as low as $4,60 to $4.65 for nut, aad 84.75 for stove.

- Q. Do you know whether any bituminous coal lias beon sold at a very low rate
in Toronto the last winter ?-Not of my own knowledge.

. oyou find any speciai advantages resulting to the coal by carrying it by
railway instead of by lake ?-We do.

Q. What are they ?--One great advantage to gas coal is that it produces more
gas when sent by rail; another advantage which we find with coal by bringing it on
the cars is that it does not get brôken up or slack. This is especially the case in
refr.sace.to hard coal.

Q. What percentage do you save in sereening by bringing it by rail ?.-Last
sammerw w made a comparison, and found we could save about three per ce-ut.
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Q. Are you ablo, by' uiug ther to hId irnacî lighter stocks than bylake 7:-Te; it doem not requir un6h beavy staake.
Q. YOn say that a-thra ite coal competbs closely wth bitinamious ¢ot. Sup-

iág that the dt were put on bitaminòus coal, *would that tend to promote th.
inereaned consump on f athàracite ?-I think it would.

Q. What are the chief uses of anthracite coal in Ontario ?-The Lahigh lamp coal
is used largely for foundiîes ad' places of that kind. Anthracite, such as i used for
domestic purposes, is used fbr cooking and hall stoves, ainall -frn es boated by botair, and uses of that kind.

Q. Has not the greatly increased production of anthracite coaI within the last
few years greatly tended to reduce the price ?-Yes.

Q. Is the tendency in favour of anthracite coal.?---L think it is rather on theincrease.
Q. You say that you sen'd coal to towns west of Toronto; are .aùr rates ofshipping to these pointa reduced by competition between lake and raifreights ?--

Yes; the railway companies ask us at what rates of shipment we wiIl be abli to lay
down coal at certain points so as to compete with coal sent by water.

Q. They are then gomng on the same principle as the railways of the UnitedStates ?-Yes; it is the same principle.
Q. Have you sent coal east of Toronto ?-A fow car loads..Q. In reference to a letter from Messrs. Gooderham & Worte, are you acquairted

with the quality of the coal referred to as having been-sold to them at 50 cents perton at the pit's mouth ?-I have examined the ckl, and I think I know its quality.
It is good nut coal, screened; that firm would not have any other kind.Q. The price is not extra low for that description of coal ?-No, I don't think itis; I may say that we would be glad to sell all the screened nt coal we have at fiftycents per ton at the mine.

THURSDAY, March 29.
The following letter from the London (Ont.) Chamber of Commerce was read:-

LoNDON, March 27, 1877.
SIR,-I am directed by the London Chamber of Commerce to forward you aresolution unanimously passed at a general meeting of the Chamber, held last night,the resointion being as follows:
" That with reference to the proceedings now pending before the Committee ofthe House of Commons, on the coal question, this Chamber desires to record itsopinion that it is not desirable to impose any impost duty on coal, either bituminousor anthracite."

I have the honour to be,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed) H. B. NILLES,
To the hairmanSecretary London Claarabr of Commerre.To the Chairman

of the Coal Committee,
House of Commons, Ottawa.

Mr. Rozas, of Toronto re-called and-examined.
By the Chairman:-

Q. ls Saward's -Coal.Journal an authority on the question of the pries. of- oal ?-.Ian not prepared to say, I don't know it.



SYoui apokeof Abh ries ofqt at the mines, and,.thoir copM at Toronto when
shipped by rail is it laid down to .very dealer at t6 opeleesy oetioed7-As I

the prices.vary coMsid b..
Q ut doany ofItbe 'other ofa ira Procure thoir !pplies foM the mines in

which you are interested; are the purehases made thrQgh yo2 ?-For that speeial

'Q.sI. of ordinarv bituminous as in contradistinction to the best kinds of
gas-coal ?---Gas ,cals are ituminous the same as others; but there wight be bitu-
minous coals that would not be good gas coals.

Q. I think you stated that what is caled the Briar Hi coal could be purchased
at 2 pr ton at the mine ?-That is the regular price at the mine.

Q. Would you be astonished to hear that a journal which ie specially devoted to
the coal interets quotes it at $3.70 for this month ?-I think there must be -some
maistake; probably that is the price at Cleveland.

Q. Yes, it is ?-I may say that in purchasing coal you cannot always safely take
the circular prices; it is well known to western dealers that they can often get coal
'more cheaply than it is quoted.

Q. The reverse may sometimes happen ?-Yes.
Q. What is the cost by rail to Cleveland ?-41 per ton is the regular rate.
Q.e$1 from $3.70 would leave $2.70 ?-I don't know anything about that ques-

tion : I can only explain it if the printed price is $270.
By Mr. Dymond

Q. The distance is 85 miles Îrom Briar Hill to Cleveland ? -I think it is about 70.
Q. What is the difference in value between the Briar Hil 1 and Straitsville coal ?

-The Briar Hill coal has a greater reputation; it is an older coal than the Straits-
ville, but the latter is used by numbers of people who regard it for all practical
purposes as quite as good as the Briar Hill.

Q. What is the difference in price ?-The Straitsville is about 25 cents per ton
lower when delivered; I gave you Toronto prices, as we were selling, though I
,stated that coal could be laid alongside cheaper than *the prices I gave; I gave the
wholesale prices to dealers.

By Mr. McGregor
Q. $4 70 for Straitsville ?-Yes, for contracts of 50 or 100 tons; we retail at $6.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You say the freight from Cleveland is $1 ?-Which coal do you mean ?
Q. Doos it make a difference?-Yes, in regard to the distance coal bas to come.
Q. I say from Cleveland to Toronto ?-It varies: last year we brought some for

VO cents and some at a higher rate.
Q. Did yon ever know of its boing brought from Cleveland before for 90 cents;

was that the general price for last year ?-At a certain time it was.
Q. Were large quantities bought at that price ?-I cannot say how great quan-

tities-considerable quantities I should say.
Q. Did you ever know of its being so low before ?--I have not been as long in

41w coal trade as other dealers in Toronto.
Q. How long have you beon in Toronto ?--Since last fall; so I cannot speak

from my own kaowledge.
Q. Do you know if $1.25 was given last year ?-Yes, I believe sometime during

the season.
Q. From your own knowledge and what you have heard of coal, coal freights

between Cleveland and Toronto, is it not a fact that $1.25 is looked upon as a low
ftigare ?-Not at the present time. It might be at sometimes, as freights vary very
much.

Q. What is the highest rate at which freights have been between Cleveland and

'Toronto ?-I am not prepared to say.
Q. I understand you to say that you bad an impression that freight would be

lower this year than lst ?-I don't remember saying that, but I heard before 1,aviD g
Toronto that offers had been made to'carr freights across the lake for thirty cents



perOng *om O tgo -e Toroto, whiak would be ensidenQd a prwtty lwrate. That 19 hi*d coal.
Q. But that does not affoot these coal. ?-Teo4 e#ersia ment, for if freights

are low the vessels may just as well go to Cleveklud and4ring freights.
Q. What fect weoid that have ?-ThatpouId bring itto nearly the=e ro-

portion as last year and the year before. A great deal of hard coal was brought last
year at thirty cents per ton.

By*Mr. Dond :-
Q. That would be about ninety cents to one dollar from Cleveland ?..-Yes.

-By the Gawiraan:-
Q. What is the average pay of miners per day ?-They work by the ton.Q. How mdch can they manage to make ? -The amount varies; some take out

eight or nine tons; some a little more.
Q. Iow many tons will they take out on an average ?-That varies; iometake

out more than others; seven or eight tons might perhaps be au average, but"it
depends on the locat'on.

Q. What do the miners get ?-Sixty cents per ton.
Q. Noue of that goes to the proprietor ?-No.
Q. Would seven tons per day be a large quantity ?-Plenty of them would take

out that quantity.
Q. Would five be a fair average ?--No, they would take more than that.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Do you mean that one man couald take seven tons out of the mine ?-No, they

don't take it out of the mine.
Q. Sixty cents represents the sim ple picking out of the coal?-Yes.
Q. You mentioned about the cost of a mine of th'e character of yours-you saii

sonething like $20,000 ?-Yes 1 had reference to the mine in which we are intsreited
earsolves.

Q. Does that include the original purchase money ?--There is a royalty on the
ooal.; there is no purchase of the fee-simple at all.

Q. Do I understand you to say that your buildings, your managers and the
different clerks you employ only cost some $20,000 a year ?--That is for.the outlay oi
plant.

Q. That $20,000 would include the outlay and one year's services of the
Manager ?-No, not at all; that is the cost of plant and permanent improvements,
works of construction in opening the mine.

Q. In addition to that you pay ?. -We pay $2,500 for the management of
the mine.

Q. Does that include everything ?-All except the hired help such as would be
required in actual labour. It includes management, keeping books, weighing coal,and assistance generally.

Q. $20,000 represents the capital sunk ?- Yes, you must- remember there is no
engine or anything of that kind ; it is just a gradual incline; it was handy to the
railway so that a switch could be brought in, the PRailway Company furnishing the
iron, ail we had to do was to run the cars along a gentle slope, dig down a little, and
strike the vein and strike the coal.

Q. No pump ?--No.
By Mr. Power:

Q. $20,000 was the outlay?-Yes, the first outlay, and what has bean laid out
$ince in improvements, or perhaps a smali fraction more. We expeet the Manager
to take hold and work when required.

By the Chairman:
Q. That makes the cost of your coal and mining $4 in Toronto?"-No, I dàtnatstate that. I say we are delivering the coal from this mine; 1 don't wish it confounded

with other coal. We are delivering ceal out of this mine in Toronto at $4.80.
UQ. Al that you stated In regard to the cost of mining applies to this partil ar-

ne ?-Yes I stated that we were anxious to seli ail the nut coal at the mine fr3o
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*»tà Per tun, ad that we would b. glad4. putany amonut nbord tmcarat et
riane well screened out, giving them a lump or a large nut coa for r125.

Q. What is theost oM mnining4 " of 4oal at ths mainM is Afty cents at Our
mine; sixty cents at some of the others.

Q. What do yeu lay this eal doera at Toronto fo ?-AsI stated before, $4.80.
We sell m-t coal in large contracte, such as that of the Graat Western-as low as
$3.65.

Q. How does that compare with the price of other coa-,t is higher than what
steam or nut coal is sold at in Toronto.

Q. Can yon tell me the retail price of Briar Hill cali-8ix dollars.
Q. Is it sometimes higher than that ?-- -Net since I have been in the trade.
Q. What is the retail price of the botter elass ?--When the price is stated at six

dollars, it means for that kind of coal.
Q. Straitsvillo is $4.75 for large contracte. D you know of large contracte for

delivery in Torouto at $4.75 ?-No. Goal in the summerseason has been delivered at
that. Of course coal could be laid down cheaper than that if contracte were made,
and this coal imported for a special purpose.

By Mr. McGregor:
Q. You say the Straitsville coal is 90 cants at the mine ?---That is the rogular

price.
Q. $1.50 for freight ?---No, 81.75 is the regular rate.
Q. The usual freight is $1.50 to Cleveland, is it not ?--I think not.
Q. And 81 to Toronto, that would m. ke $3.65; that is roally the e>st of the coal

alongside the dock, if you make no speciaà cuts ?---Yes, unless special cuts are made.
I try to give you the outside figures, so a i to be on the safe side.

By the Chairman
Q. You say you are not making a large profit at the mine at these figures ?---

Very little at the mine.
Q. Then the profit is made at this end ?-That is about the only profit.
Q. I think I understood you to say that there is 35 cents royalty, 60 cents to the

miners, and the selling price at the mines, 90 cents ?.--No; 90 cents is the price of
the Straiteville coal; ours is 50 cents.

Q. Is the royalty the sanie ? -I cannot tell about that ; it varies according to
the location of the coal and the cost of getting it to market.

Q. I suppose you don't contemplate for any length of time selling at the low
rate you are now selling, and without makiug a profit ?-We hope the times will be
botter.

Q. Will not freights go up thon ?-That is a question I can hardly answer I
would like to see freights and everything else advance, as it would make better times.

Mr. P. D. CONGER was called and examined.
By Mr. McGregor:-

Q. You are a coal dealer in Toronto ?-Yes.
Q. How long have you been in the coal trade ?-I have been seven years in

Toronto.
Q. What kind of coal do you deal in ?--Bituminous and anthracite-ail the kinds

that are used
Q. Where do you generally purchase ?-I purchase soft or bituminous coal prin-

cipally froi the Ohio coal mines , and the anthracite from Pennsylvania.
Q. What is the cost of steam coal laid alongside the dock, Straitsville eay ?-The

Toronto market, I think, for the last three years, has consumed about 100,000 tons
of soft coals of difforent kinds. lu 1873, it was brought by water altogether; in 1874
they commenced bringing it by rail; so that up to 1876 the importations by water
was in the vicinity of 60,000 tons, the balance being by rails,

Q. What was the coSt of delivering that coal, alongsido the dock, in those vessel
ti 186 -?-A large quantity of steam coal was delivered in 1876. Masilon, which is
ho beet steain lump coal, was $3.40 alongside the dock. I may say that it 1s à

- 64



matter of opinion as to whether this or the Briar Hi eQa is th best fir steam pur-
poses, but 1 think the lowest preed coal gave as good &atisketion s the other.

Q. Brir Hil coal cot- ?-The beathiar RH is aboit 1 ents more.
Q. That would be #4,15 ?-Yes.
Q, About gas coals ?-The Youghoigheny standard gam ceai would be about 44»

alongside the dock.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. That is equal to about $4.-0 in the yard ?-Yes, about thirty cents for delivery.
By Mr. McGregr:-

Q. What would be the price of a different kind of hard coal; we are tryin 'to
find out how one compares with another ?-I have some figures in my mind a t
another class of steam coal. There are the Tuscarora and Columbiana, which are
considered as lower grades of coals. They are about 20 cents per ton less, or about
$3.20.

Q. That is considered an excellent coal for steam purposes ?-.Yes.
Q. Used on the railways and lakes ?-Yes,
Q. Which coal is mostly used for domestic purposes ?-The Briar Hill and Mar-

silon. All these are lump coals for private houses.
Q. And nut coal ?-There were thousands of tons sold in Toronto, alongside the

dock, screened nut coal for $2.90.
Q. That is considered a good coal for mills ?-Well it is the same coal only it is

small.
Q. Now about the usual cost of the best kinds of coal for hall stoves and so on ?

-- I think nearly all the dealers we get buy their coal from the mining companies at
prices delivered on the line between the United States and Canada. it is to go by
lake they deliver it on board the vessels on Lake Erie or Lake Ontario. They issue
a manufacturers' circular which is supplied to show the prices at which anthracite
coal is sold. These are the wholesale prices to dealers in Chicago, Montreal and
western places. It comes out principally to Oswego, Rochester, Fairhaven and
Buffalo. By rail it strikes Canada at Suspension Bridg6 and the International Bridge.
The prices are uniform at these dividing lines.

Q. Are those combinations in existence now ?--Well they were broken up in
August laat, and it is hard to say whether they exist now.

Q. What is the price of anthracite coal free on board at the bridge ?-There are
three sizes of house coal, nut, stove and egg; there is twenty-five cents difference
between those prices. I will give you the middle one, nut. The circular prices of
the Anthracite Coal Association which governs the rates-

Q. Is that the association which you spoke of, and whose existence at present
you say is doubtful ?--Yes; it is an association of the principle mining interesta of
Pennyslvania, who own the railways and canals by which the coal is brought to the
port. Before the breaking up of the combination last August the price of nut coal
Was $5.60 American money; or $5.04 in gold. After the fall of the combination it
was $3.78. If you add 30 cents to that you get the price alongside the dock in

oronto.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. That is 85.34 to $4.08 ?-Yes.

By Mr. McGregor
Q. $4.08 would be about the price you expect to pay for oa. along-eide the dock,m the spring?-Yes, I am giving you the figures that are ikely tA be published, th.

Probabilities for hard coal.
By Mr. Tupper

Q. What was stove coal last year ?-22J cents higher than ut. »
Q. And egg coal ?-224 cents lower than nut.
Q. Then stove, nut, egg is the order in which they come, according toquality ?-
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.Hy .Mr. MOG'reg.or
Q. What is your impression as to the coming rates of eoal ?-Softcoal willbe

about the prices of last year. It is a littie lower in the market; the fall in gold will
make the aifference. All the coal will be as low as it was in August after the break.
I mean the opening spring prioes, but they generally advanee during the sason.
The prices I am giving you are all for short tons.

Q. Do you bring any coal by rail ?-The coal brought by the Grand Trunk
Ràailway, is sold to them as I explained at the International Bridge.

Q. About the figures named ?-The Grand Trunk paid $3.55 for 35,000 tons labt
year at the International Bridge; and $3.00 for another coal in the American market
within 120 miles of Buffalo.

Q. Have you ever bought coals at the mine ?-I buy principally of the rnining
companies ; they delivering the coal at certain points for certain prices. They
sometimes prepay the freight and if they don't we pay less prices.

Q. le there mueh difference in taking it in by water or by rail ?-Yes; there is
a good deal of difference. The circular prices of anthracite coal all along the dividing
line is the same whether by rail or free on board a vessel. Lake freights from the
shipping ports along Lake Ontario were about thirty cents last summer. The route
from the bridge to Toronto has varied from 75 cents to $1.00.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. What is the distance ?-Eighty three miles by the Great Western.
Q. That js about one cent. per ton per mile 9-- Yes.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto) -
Q. You speak of circular prices; is there a discount ?-Yes; fifty cents per ton

last year before the fall of the combination. After the fall it was hard to get a
-discount and very hard to get more than fifteen days to pay for coal.

Q. Is the circular price a net price, to buyers in quantities ?-They having first
sold all coal at the International Bridge. I get a discount from the company below
that circular price.

Q. I presume coal is like everything else, large purchasers have a consideration
.on circular prices; we will only be in the dark, unless we know what we are talking
.about ?-I make my profits on the prices I get as a dealer in coal.

Q. On circular prices ?-Yes.
By Mr. McGregor:-

Q. When yon speak of these prices, profit is included ?-Yes ; that is the price
which coal can be sold; my profit as a dealer is included.

Q. Those who handle a great deal of coal are generally allowed a reduction
by railway even at the mine ?-Of course large dealers can get rates more advanta-
geous than small ones. I believe a drawback is given on the railways to purchasers
in large quantities. A man getting 50,000 tons will have a lower rate than one
shipping 20,000 or 10,000.

Q. He gets a rebate ?-Yes; that is done universally by the railways in the
United States.

Q. Do you know anything of the mode of mining or the cheapness of producing
-coal at the pit's mouth ?-1 know nothing further than what I learned by visiting a
mine and seeing the operations.

Q. You don't know anything about running a mine ?-No; I know that the
actual cost of putting the coal in the cars varies from thirty-five to sixty cents.

Q. Do you know the cost per ton for the actual labour on the mine ?.--The
Pittson Coal Mining Oompany's lump coal, of which about 130,000 tons is sold per
annum, sells at about $1.00 at the mine.

Q. Rave yen had any experience with Nova Scotia coal ?-No, I never had any.
Q. Do you know anything of its qualities for domestic or gas gurposes ?-NO,

only what I have been told.
, Q. You don't know its relative strength for gas purposes ?-I have heard the

statements of gas engineers, that is al.
Q. Have you any ides op what it would cost for freight from Nova Scotia to



Toronto ?-I don't think I could give practical information, because there has
been no freight list,I could only draw conclusions fron other ts.

Q. Has coal not fallen greatly within a short time-.within the lastyear or so-?
-In 1873 we made a contract for 50,000 tons in CLeveland of Xassilon, at $4.25, free
on board, American currency.

By Mr. Workman:-
Q. What was that in gold ?-I would not be certain. I give that to show the

decline at that time. Last year I bought the same coal for *2.60, free on board the
vessel at Cleveland.

By Mr. Tupper:--
Q. You have been giving us the prices in dock at Toronto. Couldn't you gi*e us

these rates in the same way, so that we could make a comparison ?-reight in 1813
ran from $1.75 to $2.75 gold; our average was $2.20 gold.

Q. What was the price of Massilon coal in 1873 ?-$4.25 American curreney.
Q. What was the price in gold ?-I don't recollect, but I think the discount was

about fifteen per cent.
Q. Take off fifteen percent ?--That would be about 60 cents off or $3.65 gold.
Q. Then Massilon coal in the dock in Toronto would be $5.85 in 1873 ?-Yee.

Well, I would correct that, for we paid 25 cents for unloading, which would bring it
down to about $5.60.

Q. Did Briar Hill range at that time about 75 cents more ?-Yes, I think it did;
perhaps $1 would be nearer.

Q. Then $6.60 would be about the average price of Briar Hill, and $5.60 of Mas
eilon ?-Yes.

By Mr. MeGregor:--
Q. What is the prospe@t for low prices in 1877 ?-About the same as last year.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. What does stove coal retail at in Toronto ?-About $5.25 to *6 is the outside

price.
Q. What is nut coal selling at in Toronto ?-45.75.
Q. And egg coal ?-$5.50.
Q. Briar Hill ?-$6.
Q. That is delivered at the houses ?---Yes. I might say that these are the out-

side retail prices. 50 cents is taken off to large consumers.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Please tell me the prices of Briar Hill, retail, in 1873 ?-About $7.50 in the
early season, up to $8 in winter.

Q. You say there were thousands of tons of nut coal laid down in Toronto during
the past year at $2.90 ?---Yes.

Q. Was that a good article of nut coal ?--The best in the market.
Q. Does that mean laid down at the wharf?--In the vessel at the dock. It

doesn't include the expense of taking it out.
Q. Do you know Gooderham & Worts ?- -Yes.
Q. Would they be likely to purchase coal this season as cheaply as any one in

Toronto ?-I think they would buy as closely as any one.
Q. Would you be astonished to hear that they give $3.65 for theirs?-That was

>»nly t- keep them going to the opening of navigation. They were short this year.
Q. You say that thousands of tons have been sold for $2.90 per ton of the same

class thut Messrs. Gooderham & Worts stated they are now giving $3.65 for, and they
being able to purchase for cash in the cheapest market ?-Simply because navigation
1s closed.

Q. Did I understand you to say that the railways are competing favourably with
the vessels ?-No. Quite the reverse.

Q. You say the best steam lump coal is put on board for $3.40 ?-Yes.
Q. Can you tell what they can send it to Montreal for ?--No, I cannot. I should

think it would be a difference of $1.50 per ton, freight, judging by the freights for
grain, they would be in addition to the cost at Toronto.
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Q. Are you aware:that any Montreal coal coSts $5.50 ?-1 believe that Iýg
quantities were delivered in Montreal last year by contract for j4.50-Nova Scoýa,

By .3r. Dymcqad:
Q. When you speak of 84.50 being the price in Montreal, do you mean first-

class gas coal ?--I mean steam coal. I don't know anything about gas coal in
Montreal.

Mr. M. DwAs called and examined:

By Mr. AfcGregor:-
Q. Yon are a coal dealer in Toronto ?-Yes.
Q. Iow long have you been in business ?-Seven years.
Q. General coal business ?-Yes.
Q. Do you geuerally agree with the statements of Mr. Cunger ?--With the-

exception of what he said as to the price of Massilon coal. I think it is a littie lower
than he put it. Mine costs $2.76 in Cleveland; freight, $1; that would be 83.76 in
in gold at the dock.

Q. Is that the only point on which you, differ from him ?-Yes; I speak now
of good quality, Massilon or Straightsville. Of course, an inferior quality could

bought for less.
Q. IHave you any experience in Nova Scotia coal?-Yes; I handled about

five cars in 1871.
Q. Iow does it compare with the Massilon or Straightsville, of which you have

just quoted the prices ?-We have always sold Nova Scotia at a higher price than
either.

Q. Were the parties who purchased it satisfied that it was worth more ?-With
the exception of two cases, they were all satisfied.

Q. It was considered better than the American ?-Yes; in fact, we could have
sold 10,000 tons the following year if we had had it, they liked it so well.

Q. At about how much more than American coal did you sell it ?-About fifty
cents per ton more.

Q. Have you any idea of the cost of getting Nova Scotia coal to Toronto ?-I
paid the same as American coal at that time.

Q. Can you give us a comparison of the cost and freight from the two places, if
you wished to get Nova Scotia coal at the present time ?-Well, I don't think you
could geLt freight at anything like the same price as from Cleveland. I made a good
deal of inquiry from the masters of vessels, and they tell me it would cost consider-
able to bring coal up unless they had downward freights. The vessels that brought
the coal I purchased had downward freights.

Q. Have you any idea of the freights for 1877 ?-I understand that vessels
have been offering at $2.50.

Q. The cost at the mines would be ?-About $1 50. It is advertised at that figure.
Q. That would make the coal cost $4?-Yes.
Q. That is, alongside the dock ?-Yes.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. Is that the long ton ?-Yes.
Q. When you speak of the American coal you speak of the short ton ?-Yes.
Q. Are the prices of hard coal just about the same as those given by Mr.

Conger ?-Yes.
Q. You don't buy more cheaply than he, or pay higher ?-No.
Q. They come into competition with soft coal ?-les.
Q. If they were muoh cheaper they would affect the soft coal trade ?-Yes;

very materialiy.
Q. What would be the emeot of the imposition of a duty of fifty cents per top,

on coais coming into Canada fioin abroad, upon the coal trade between Nova Scotia
and Toronto for instance?-I don't think it wold aff»et it much, unless freights
could be obtained for vessels going downa to Nova Scotia.
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g. Would not the fet of coula beig brogEt 'up Iead to an increased trade in
the industries of Ontario ?-I think it migit.

Q. A large additional export wotild take place to Nova S1otia?-Yes; I think
there would.

Q. The effect would be that the cost of coals would not be materially enhanoed
to the consumer in Toronto?-I think not.

By Mr. Goudge:
Q. What articles would come down ?-Well, I an net particlarly posted so far

as that goes.
By M)r. Tupper :

Q. The vessels that brought you these coïls in 1871 had down freighte ?--Yese
Q. They were able to bring it more cheaply ?-Yes; I think they had fout

<down.
By Mr. MGregor

Q. Would it be possible to load as many vessels down as would bring flour up?
-I canmrot say as to that.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. At what price would that coal, which yon say could be laid alongside the

wharf at $4 per ton, from Nova Scotia, be sold in the Toronto market at the preseit
time ?- -I think it would fetch at least 50 cents over the best American soft coal.

Q. What is the price of the best American soft coal ?-$6.
Q. That would be $6.50 ?--Yes.
Q. Nova Scotia would hardly require a duty of 50 cents to induce yon to buy

it ?-Well, I would pay as much for Nova Scotia coal as the best American soft coal.
Q. Yours is the long ton ?--That would be reduced to the short ton.
Q. Then yon would sell the short ton for $6.50 ?-Yes.
Q. And buy the long ton for $4 admitting the expense intervening ?-Yes.
Mr. WILLIAm BowmAN called and examined.

By -Mr. Frazer:-
Q. You are a coal dealer?-Yes.
Q. For how long ?----lI have been connected with coal for ten or twelve years,

more or less, intimately for two or three years.
Q. You are also connected with the gas works at London ?-I am Prosident of

the Company.
Q. You are also a manufacturer of chemicals ?-Yes; sulphurie acid.
Q. Where do yon get your supplies of coal ?---We get soft coal from Cleveland.
Q. At what price ?-There are a variety of grades; there is coal from the Ohio

and Pennsylvania Companies, coal called the Columbiana, and the Briar Hill. At
Port Stanley, our port of entry, Columbiana coal is sold alongside the dock at $2.85;
Straitsville at $3.13; the best grade of Massilon, $3.10; Briar Hill, 83.54; Youghoi-
gheny at $3 94. That is the best gas coal. These are lump coals.

Q. That is at Port Stanley ?-Yes, afloat at Port Stanley.
By Mr. Gowge:

Q. Which is gas coal ?-Youghoigheny is the only one; Briar Iff11 conld be used
for gas, but it does not produce the same quantity of gas; nor doe i make as good
coke. The yield of coke of the Yonghoigheny is large.

Q. What wou)d be the cost at London?--$1.15. There are harbour tolls, twenty4
cents; unloading from the vessel, fifteen cents; rail, eightce nk. iast year it cost
thirty cents less than that, as the Grand Trunk and Great WeÈtýtwere cutting rateS
low, and we got a reduction of -thirty cents. These are the rats.

Q. What would be the effect of fifty cents a ton duty?-Au &inrese of fifty
en6ts extra. We could not import a ton from Nova Scotis.

Q. What quantity is imported to London 4,4e0 tons Iaàt yeà. independent of
the Great Western.

Q. That was for London propet -Yes, ied#pendeht of whe ta used by the Great
Western.



Q. an yon say howmuch theyused?-They maust bring at loast 30,O00 tons
to London.

Q. Where do you get your coals ?-Some by Port Stanley, some by Windsor,
and some by the Bridge.

Q. That is soft ceai ?-Yes.
Q. And hard coal ?-We get about 9,000 tons into London.
Q. That would be 20,000 outside of the Great Western ?-Yes.
Q. Does Nova Scotia coal compete at London ?-I do not know.
Q. Have you had any experience in Nova Scotia at all ?-Nothing further than

seeing it at Montreal ; I notice that it would corpare with our Massilon in appear-
ance ; it was a soft coal, but it broke up in handling ; it would not do to be handled
and re-handled like Briar Hill; I think it would have to be eut and screened, and
again there would be large loss.

By the Cairman:-
Q. What is the distance between Toronto and Port Stanley ?-It depends entirely

whether you mean a straight line by railway or by water.
Q. 1 mean, speaking of the Nova Scotia coal trade; supposing a vessel was bound

for Port Stanley, how far, coming from the eastward on Lake Ontario, would she
have to go past Toronto ?-About eighty or ninety miles, and she would have to go
through the Welland Canal.

Q. What would be the whole distance ?-About 110 miles.
s Q. Past Toronto to Port Stanley ?- Yes, they would have to pass through the

Welland Canal and pay the tolls.
Q. Are these tolls in coming from the West ?-I do not remember.
Q. Do you know that on a long voyage of several hundred miles an extra hun-

dred does not add to the freight ?-Well that extra would be equivalent to five times
the cost of the other, with the cost of detention in the Welland Canal, and the fact
that they could not get return freights from Port Stanley.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. How far is it between Port Stanley and London by rail ?-Twenty-two miles;

perhaps I might give the committee some idea of the difference of prices between
Cleveland and Port Stanley, and from Cleveland to Toronto; our rate from Cleveland
ranged from thirty-five to tifty cents, American currency.

Q. What is the distance between Toronto and London by rail ?-Between 110 and
120 miles.

Q. What is the cost per mile for coals ?-They charge $1.50 from Hamilton
which is thirty miles nearer us than Toronto is.

Q. What would that make it at Toronto ?-Well for an equivalent rate, it would
be about 81.70.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Are there any coals sent from Toronto to London by rail ?-No.
Q. From Hamilton ?-Very little, there have been a few loads-mere cases of

necessity; no person would import it in that way.
By Mr. Dymond:--

Q. What amount of coal do you use in your own manufacture ?-In the gas com-
pany about 2,400 tons, and other chemical works, from 1,200 to 1,300 tons, and for
domestic purposes some 3,000 tons.

By Mr. Tupper :-
Q. What is the consumption of coals in London ?-About 20,000 tons indepen-

dently of the Great Western.
Q. Of soft coal ?-9,000 tons.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Have you any other manufactures in London in hand on which you 11s

large quantities ?-Yes; our brewers and malsters.
Q. What quantity does an establishment like Carling's brewery use ?-He usO

principally har coal; I cannot say, but I think perhaps 150 tons.
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Q You have large furnitur. worka?-They don't use much eoals, we get wood at
S3.50 per cord, beech and maple.

By the Chairmaa
Q. The pricos you have given us are those for the past year? -Yes.
Q. They have ben higher ?-Yes; about $1.00 per ton taking the lake fr*lght,

and the prices of coal at Cleveland as well.
Q. They have been higher to the extent of $1.00 per ton ?-Yes.

By Mr. McGregor :
Q. Are the prospects for 1877 as low in prices for.1876?-Yes; they have matde

offers to us. I don't see how lake freights can be higher, for the vessels have no other
occupation than the carrying of coal.

Q. The growth of the consumption is steadily increasing ?-Yes.
By Mr. Workman :-

Q. Do you think the imposition of a duty of $1 per ton on coal imported into the,
country would enable the Nova Scotia dealers to deliver. through _e country ?-
Well, you can draw your conclusions; I have given you prices.

Q. What is your opinion ?-My opinion is, that we could not touch Nova Scotia
coal.

WEDNE5DAY, April 4th, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. MAcKir in the Chair.

Mr. NAPIER ROBINsoN called and examined :

By the Chairman:-
Q. You live in Sydney, C.B., and are manager of, and interested in a coal mine

there ?-Yes.
Q. What is the name of the mine ?-The Toronto Coal Mining Company.
Q. Is it located near the Sydney mine ?-Yes, very close to it.
Q. Fronting on the Bras D'Or ?-Yes.
Q. Are you acquainted with the working of the mines ?-Yes.
Q. Thoroughly conversant with them ?-Yes.
Q. Are you conversant with the working under and over ground ?-Both.
Q. Are you acquainted with any of the coal mines in the United States ?-Yes; a

good number of them, in Ohio, Illinois and Missouri.
Q. What is the character of the coal in which you are engaged ?-Bituminous

coal entirely.
Q. Is it peculiarly adapted for any particular purpose ?-It is adapted for

domestic and steam purposes.
Q. What can you manage to sell it at, free on board ?-41.50 per long ton of

2,240 Ibe.
Q. Is that giving you a profit ?-Yes ; that is a profitable price.
Q. Sydney mine coal is selling at over $2?-Yes, 62.25. It is a colliery along-

side ours.
Q. That is caused by their having a steady home market, which they have con-

trolled for many years ?-Yes; it is on the same principle that an old tailor gets
better prices for his goods than the man who is quite as good a tradesman, but not 80
well known.

Q. What sort of coal is that in which yon are working yourself?-It is as good
as any on the island.

Q. It compares favorably with that fron the Sydney mine ?-Yes; with any of
them.

Q. How iq it that you can manage to sell for $1.50 at a profit, while the Sydney
mine selle at $2.25, and is barely making a profit ?,-Our capital account is much les;
and our pit mouth is just 300 feet from the shore, and we reqire no railway.
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Q. What do you mean hy the ,hore ?-The loading ground. We bave no ralway,
and very small overground force. We have also a very anwal repair account, ad a
lighter plant in comparison with others. Our undergroand works are also les
expensive, and net so far away as those of the others.

Q. What is the thiknesa of the seam ?-From five to six feet.
Q. Is it a bard or a soft coal ?-It is what is ealled a hard bituminous coal.
Q. What is the eapital of your Company ?-4200,00.
Q. bo you mean that that amount has been expended?-No; not the whole of

it; that is the nominal eapital.
Q. Is your mine in working order?-Yes; it is to a rueat extent, though we are

continually spending more money. This $200,000 is being gradually paid in in
improvements.

Q. Did you ship any coal last season ?-Yes; some 8,000 tons.
Q. Was last year your first year ?-Well; it was not our firat year, bùt the

oprations of the previons season were very small.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Is it a new mine ?--Practically, it is. It was worked a grea many years
ago, but this is a new company, and they are opening the old works and putting in
additionai plant for more extensive operations.

By the Chairman:
Q. How does the coal compare with the coal from the United States ?-It is a

better coal, in a good many respects, than any Ohio coal I have ever seen. The
only coal that I would at all compare with it is the Briar Hill, and in point of heat-
ing quality and durability our coal is superior to the Briar Hill.

Q. Have you placed any of it in the Toronto market ?-None.
Q. Do you contemplate doing so ?-Yes; this season.
Q. Have you made engagements or arrangements with any person ?-Yes.
Q. What are they ?-They are to bring the coal up for $2.50, delivered at

Tcronto.
By Mr. Power:-

Q. Delivered in Toronto ?-Yes; I might remark in connection with the freights
given from Ohio that they do nt include unloading the vessel.

By 1fr. Dynond:-
Q. When you say delivered at Toronto you mean delivered on the wharf ?-Yes.
Q. There is a difference of 15c. or 20e. for unloading ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What kind of a vessel is used to carry your coal ?-A propeller.
Q. Where does she belong to ?-I think she is owned in some of the Lake

Pcrts, at all events.
Q. Can you mention what cargoes she will bring back ?-She is to carry about

5OO tons.
Q. Is that $2.50 for the long ton ?-No; the short ton.
Q. What does she take down ?-Flour and meal-some goods that the merchants

down therc are going to purchase to start the trade.
By Mr. Dymond:

Q. That would be between Sydney and Toronto ?-Yes,'and Hamilton, or any
other of those ports.

By the Chairman
Q. Is it a verbal or written agreement ?-A written one.
Q. Will she have a full cargo going down ?-Very nearly a full cargo. She does

not stipulate that she is to get a full one, but sufficient to go through the canal with-
out transhipment.

Q. Do you see difficulties in the way of continuing that trade ?-No; I should
say there were none.

Q. Do I understand you to say that a steamer, or a number of steamers, eold
get full cargoes down and1 unes back ?-Once the trade is started, I have no doubt
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they will. When the tradeid strted, it,*ill lead to the shipment of a great many
thing*- The êherne le a new one, but I have had a good mfany inquiries.

Q.Once it is established yo think it will go on ?-Yes ; I think so.
Q. What eessels would be employed-lake or maritime ?-Lake.
Q. What would be the principaL exports trom Ontario ?"-Flour, pork, beef, ureil,

wooden ware, and things of that kind. We have had inqauries as to the freight on
oil and lumber, to be transhipped at Sydney, into the ocean vessls for Earope.

Q. Any inquiries about grain ?-Nothing practical has come to my knowledge.
Q. What other articles would enter into consumption in Nova Scotia?- do not

know of any others. There are manufaetured goods of various kinds that would go
down: such as wall-paper, and other small goods. The fleur, meal, beef, and pork,
would be the bulk.

Q. Castings ?---No; I do not think they would go.
Q. Why ?-There might be a trade in some kinds of maehinery. We are order-

ing some styles now in Toronto.
By Mr. Power:-

Q. Bread-stulis would chiefly form the down trade ?-Yes; they would be the
bulk.

By the Chairman:
Q. Boots and shoes, and other manufactured goods ?-Well, there is a manufac-

tory of boots and shoes at Halifax. 1 do not know sufficient of that trade to say.
By Mr. Power :--

Q. Can you import pork more cheaply frovm Ontario than you can get it at
Ialifax ?-Yes, so they say. They consider, too, that it is a better quality. There
is a great deal of inquiry about pork, but it is all a matter of price. There is a good
deal of pork goes from Sydney to the ships. I do not think it is consumed to a large
extent on the Island.

By the Chairman:
Q. What is your opinion regarding the imposition of a duty on imported coals ?

-I think it would lead to a very largely extended market.
Q. In what direction ?-Both West, and iD Montreal, Quebec and New Bruna.-

wick.
Q. What is your opinion respecting Ontario ?-I think it would lead to a market

As far west as London, perhaps a little past London-Stratford and those places.
I mean the higher grades of coal. English coal we have to compete largely with.
It is one of the great difficulties.

Q. What are your views as to the imposition of aduty on flour ?-I think a duty
on flour would lead to the exclusive consumption in Nova Sceotia of Canadian flour.
It would keep out the American flour. I also think it would have no effeet in the
price, because there is an established competition. The competition is too keen to
admit of its going up in price, and the benefit would not be an increase of price, but
by putting our producers on a footing with the Americans and giving them a larger
market. There is a duty on American flour and it is not more expensive there
than bere.

Q. Do you consider the duty would raise or materiaily affect the price of coal
im Ontario?-On the higher grades I don't think it would affect the prico at all. I
ara sure it would not.

By Mr. McGregor
Q. What do you mean by the higher grades?-The hfgher qualities of bitumin-

Ous gas coal, and the best domestic coal, such as the Briar Hill and Massilon. As far
West as London, I don't think-it would affect the price of these at ali. Past London
I an inclined to believe it wo ald. The duty of course would go to the Canadiaan
silipper. It would be put in the price of the coal to him.

Q. The Canadian shipper would derive the advantage of the duty, in the freights,
Which would enable him to get hia money out of it. It would not go to the miner ?-
XOb we could fnot increaee the price, but we would enlarge the market.

Q. Do you ship coal on speculation ?-Oesswioally.
18



40 Vitoria.

Q. How isit that you havenot had the Onta-o mari*et betbref?-Bcase it is
essential that we should hav. a lake tonnage, for the gulfvessels we built exclustvely
for ocean navigation can not pass the canals. We must have vesels from the lakes.

Q. Io it essential te the building up of a trade in coals between Nova Scotia and
Ontario that you should have those freights ?-We look upon that as essential.

Q. If a duty were imposed would, it be of service to you in the Province of
Quebec ?-Largely. The price of Nova Scotia and English coal in Quebec is about
the same, and a duty would tend to keep English coal out. I think they imported
180,000 tons there last year, which we could get if we had a duty.

Q. There was a duty of fifty cents per ton on coal in 1875 ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know whether that effected the trade ?-Yes; it increased the ship-

ments of Nova Scotia coal from 129,097 in 1869 to 162,977 tons in 1870, and censid-
erably increased the importation of coal to the extent of 97,717 tons.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. That is including British and American coal ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You are speaking of coals from the United States ?-I am speaking of both

English and American; the total decrease was 97,717, or 83,023 tons in Quebec and
14,694 tons in Ontario.

Q. Was the raise in the price of English coal of any service to the Nova Scotia
coal trade ?-Only trifling ; from what other gentlemen have stated to the Committee
it might be inferred that it was of vast benefit: the conditions are such that it will
rise with us as it rises in England; but these vessels coming out bring coal in prefer-
once to other ballast.

By Mr. Mcgregor:-
Q. Does much coal come to the Province of Nova Scotia as ballast ?-I don't

think there is any; a considerable quantity goes to New Brunswick and a great deal
to Newfoundland.

By the Chairman:-
Q. It has been stated that if the prices had been kept down in 1873, the mines

would have been benefitted and would not have lost the United States market ?-Not
at all. The mines in Nova Scotia in 1873 worked up to their full extent and capacity
-ail the men employed at full time. Thev could not have shipped more coal,
and many of them had orders they could not fill.

i Q. Would it be possible for you to place coals profitably free on board for $1.50,
if you had always trade ?-We could with a large trade.

Q. What can you sell slack for ?-Forty to fifty cents per ton.
Q. Is that as good for steam purposes as the slack procured from the United

States ?-In stationary engines it is coming largely into use for steam purposes. It
is also burnt in stoves down there in preference to the large coal, on account of its
farmshing a more uniform heat.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. What kind of stoves ?-Close stoves, base burners and cook stoves.

By the Chairman:-
Q. How far west do you think you could compete with American coal if you had

a reasonable down freight?-As far west as London.
Q. You heard Mr. Bowman's evidence ?-Yes.
Q. Can you explain why you consider that it would be possible for you to go as

far west as London ?-The cost of the best gas coal laid down in London is $5.09. We
could put it in Hamilton at $3.85; tranship it for 20c and allowing à1 for freight, and
alo making allowance for insurance we could put it in London for about $5.

By Mr. MGregor:-
Q. Then you would only compete against the gas coal ?-Gas and Briar Hill.
Q. But not the cheap coal? Mr. Bowman stated that he bought it for $2.50 at

leveland, and paid 30 cents for bringing it ar' ?-That would be $2.80. I don't
think we could compete in the lower priced ceal, but our coals are a good deal bett'
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thau these lower prio-coals. Weenold not compete'wit a ea which they could
lay down at n en for 43. Wecould lay nut coal down in loudon.

B# the Chairma:-
Q. But there is only 50 cents diference?-75 cents at the mine fornut coal, long

ton.
Q. What is the price of slack ?-40 to 50 cents.
Q. That is unsereened?-No;that is screened througb a 1 inch screen.
Q. You have stated that the price at the mine would not be increased by a duty?

-No; we would only receive the benefit of the increased trade.
Q. Inasmuch as you could lay down coal at London for $5 per ton, you say you

must have a duty ?-You must not lose sight of the Lower Provinces in considering
Ontario. If we had English coal kept ont of Quebec and New Brunswick, the duty>
would enable us to carry coal still farther west than the parts I have mentioned, and
enable us in addition to compete with the cheaper coals.

Q. Is it not a fact that a duty of 75 cents per ton would enable you to give a.
higher freight and enable you to take a less quantity ofdown freight ?-Yes; certainly.

Q. It would assist you in this way: that you would not require on everj
occasion to have a full freight ?-No; not if we could get better freight going up.
anticipate no difflculty in obtaining an ample tonnage for ail the trade.

Q. That is in case a duty is imposed ?-Yes.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. I understood you when you first made your calculations not on the effect of~
a duty, but on a trade on a natural basis ?-A duty on flour would assist the trade,

Q. But the arrangements you spoke of as being under contract are not contin-
gent on the duty ?-No; they are not contingent on anything; they have no refer-
ence to the duty.

By the Chairman
Q. But as matters exist now-without a duty-do you consider that it is reason-

ably possible to extend that trade to any great extent ?-No; not largely.
Q. Your great diefieulty, from your point of view, I assume, is that the vessels-

would not have a full freight down ?-As I stated before, if the trade was started and
fully under way, we would anticipate no difficulty in getting sufficient trade down.

Q. You are speaking now of the state of things as they would be after a duty was
imposed ?-Yes; after the trade is encouraged and started.

Q. You are speaking on the supposition that a 7à cent duty would be imposed ?
Yes; but I say the arrangements we have made are independent of the duty. You
ask me if I think we could get sufficient tonnage down, I say we can ; but if we bad
a duty on coal we would be able to get better freights.

Q. By a duty being placed on coals, you think you would be able to get better
freights coming up; and that better freights would enable the vessels to go down
with a less cargo than otherwise ?-Yes; certainly.

Q. Do you consider the price of coal in the Province of Quebec would be raised
by a duty ?-Not at ail, simply because Nova Scotia and English coal are now about.
the same price; and it is to cut English coal out, and give no control of prices that,
we desire a duty.

Q. Is the competition keen ?-Yes, too keen to admit of prices going up. We
would gain nothing in the way of increasing our prices, but we think it better to
get a large sale at a small price than a small sale at a large price.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. Do our coals compare favourably with those of Cleveland for domestic pur-

Poses ?-Yes. Our coal for domestic purposes is superior to any other coal I have
ever seen; and, as a steam coal, equal to any of them.

Q. Have you spoken as to the comparative values of Nova Seotia coals to-
Oleveland coals-their comparative usefulness ?-I consider our bouse coals better
because they are hotter, cleaner and more durable.

Q. Are you acquainted with the gas coals in Toronto ?-Yes; those of the
Toronto Gas Works.
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Q. Are you awarE of the yield of gas pe t6n ?-9,300 cubie feet per ton of
2,000 lbs. ; illuminating power 15 candles; coke 30 bushels.

Q. What coal is that ?-The Youghoigheny and Reynoldsville ; pride $5.
By Mr Dymna:

Whn you say "I our " coal, what coal do you mean ?-Lingan, Blockhouse,
Little Glace Bay and International.

TKMmsDÂ, April 5, 1877.

Committee met.-Mr. M&cKir in the chair.

Mr. RoBINsoN recalled and further examined.

By the Chairman : -
Q; You were speaking about the down freights knd return cargoes. Do you

contemplate or expect that in case of a trade being established with Ontario it would
be necessary to consume everything that came down, or is there a port of
transhipment ?-Decidedly we should tranship.

Q. Of what nature would your transhipment be, and to where would they be
sent ?-There is in the first place a very large port demand ; that is ships calling in
at the port of Sydney and taking away an immense quantity of flour, provisions and
other articles, and then I think Sydney could be made a port of transhipment for oil
and lumber, and to a certain extent, grain for the European markets.

Q. Is Sydney much frequented by vessels ?-Yes it is one of the largest ports of
call on the Continent. I have frequently seen 20 to 30 vessels arrive there in one
day and 200 and 300 in port at one time.

Q. Why do they come to Sydney ?-They come seeking freights.
Q. On account of its situation ?-Yes; principally on that account.
Q. You heard it mentioned that the Gas Company of Montreal found it necessary

to send a person to the International Mine to protect their interests in connection
with the proper shipment of coal. Can you explain that? Does it apply to all
collieries ?-No; it was a very exceptional instance. The mine from which they were
taking coal was under lease to a Mr. McDonald for a term of years; the lease expired
last spring. Whilst holding it, it was naturally his object to get out as much coal as
possible and sell it regardless of its condition or quality. I know the year before the
checker was put on, it was shipped from bank-that is from where it was stored in the
winter and shipped to Montreal. That is to say injurions to the coal, which ought to
be fresh.

Q. You were present when the statement was made that in the United States a
cutter could eut, I think it was said, ten or twelve tons of coal per day ?-Yes.

Q. From your knowledge of practical coal mining do you think that is the inside
or outside figure ?-I don't think it is possible to be done. That was introduced as
showing the cheapness of the coal. It is impossible; I have no hesitation in saying
so.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. How long have you been connected with the coal trade ?-Three years.
Q. Of that period how long have you been in Cape Breton ?-I mean that I have

been three years at Cape Breton.
Q. Does that time cover the whole period during whiéh you have been interested

in Nova Scotia or American coal ?-It covers it with the exception that I lived in the
coal districts of Ohio for seven years previously.

Q. What staff do you employ'at the mine upon which you are engaged ?--What
do you mean by our staff ?

Q. I mean indeplendently of those actually working the mine ?-The staff con-
àoits of myself. We have a foreman who superintends the underground works.

76



Q Do you depend upon agents for the sale çf coaI or do you se1 dirgt ?-We
sell bòth diretly and by agents.

. Von stated that your ospital was some 100,000 ?-Y.
Q. Iow is that represented in works of value ?-Youmaaa he nuh have wu

expended ?Q. Yes; and in what way has it been expended, in the purchase of rights or
improvements ?-I would not like to give the cost of the coal mie iteelf, but we
have expended $50,0O on improvementi, machinery and that sort of thing, over-
ground.

Q. Wheu you say that you would not like to tell the cost, do you mean in hei
sense that it would reveal private transactions ?--Yes.

Q. $50,000 you have expended in works or improvements?-Yes ; between
$40,000 and $50,000.

Q. And you are still expending ?-Yes.
Q. Against the balance of the $200,000 ?-Yes; we will not call the whole-

of it in.
Q. In a general way, was a considerable sum paid as premium or purchase

money for the right?-No; 'it is an. inconsiderable sum in comparison with those,
which some companies have paid for their mining rights.

Q. Inconsiderable in proportion to your whole capital ?-Yes.
Q. Yoa say it is an old mine ?-Yes; it has been worked before.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. What mine is it ?-The Toronto Ooal Mining Company's Mine.

By Mr Dymond:-
Q. Was the work abandoned when yon took the mine ?-Yes.
Q. From what cause ?-Want of capital on the part of the original owner.
Q. What are the depths of the works ?-Vertical depth 136 feet, but we don't-

work a vertical shaft, but by means of a tunnel from the top to the coal, which i&
1,100 feet, but we are oxtending it to 1,800 feet.

Q. From your acquaintance with Nova Scotian coal mines, is the labour of pro-
ducing coal much greater than in the American mines ?-Speaking of our own mine,
the only expense we would be put to over and above the Ohio mines, I am acquainted
with, would be in the cost of mining machinery.

By Mr. Tupper
Q. How do you get rid of the water ?-Part of the machinery is needed for that,

purpose.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Have you much trouble with the water ?-No; to a limited extent.
By &r. Tupper:-

Q. Are not many of the American mines so situated that the miners can go in
at the side of a hill, and the mine drains itself ?-Yes.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. low does the expense of working the Ohio and Illinois mines compare with

yours ? Have you any statistics ?-No; although I have seen a large number of these
mines. lu Illinois they have vertical shafts, and can produce the coal much more
cheaply than we. In Ohio it is simply the cost of running the machinery more
cheaply than ours.

Q. Illinois coal does not come into competition with Nova Scotia coal ?-No.
By Mr. Tupper:-

Q. Is it as difficult to mine the Ohio coal as the coal in Cape Breton ?-Tber.
are just the same conditions.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. We have had it explained that the coal is often takep ont of AhehiUsifiii

the Aýmericai mines, and that all that is required is to raise the coal, and it is then,
cOnveyed by grs-vitatioi to the main railway ?-Our coal fields dip inwards into the
earth;our oniy cost is in h6istin.



Q. That would be a considerable addition to the cost of raising coal ?-No it is
not In our case. It is about 15 cents per ton.

Q. Your mine has only been woréking recently; the quantity of coal raised so
far is small ?-A few thousand tons.

Q. Yon don't regard yourselves as being in full working order ?-We will be
this spring.

Q. That is the only mine yon have been personally connected with ?-Yes.
Q. What you know besides is from general observation ?-Yes.
Q, When you speak of selhng coal at $1.50 free on board, do you regard the

p resent production as being profitable, and as the average production of the mine ?--
The ordinary sale.

Q. What is a fair average of that mine ?-It varies; last year it was 35,000 tons.
Q. Could you sell at $1.50 if you were only raising 35,000 ?-Yes; decidedly

we could.
Q. And if you raised 100,000 tons ?-We could sell at less.
Q. Could your mine produce 100,000 tons per annum ?-Next year-yes.
Q. It is simply a question of improved machinery ?-Yes; just as we increase

.our producing capacity.
Q. To cokme back to the other question: At what rate could you sell that coal if

you were producing 100,000 ?- think we would be willtng to take $1.30 to $1.40.
Q. The coal you raise is steam or grate coal ?-Yes; and stove coal.
Q. Do you know anything personally of the strength or purity of Nova Scotia

gas coal as compared with United States ooal; from your own knowledge, I mean?-
Ionly know from the analysis which has beon published.

Q. You are not acquainted with the practical experience of any persons in the
United States or elsewhere who have used those coals; you have not investigated
that question ?-i only know from the managers of the gas companies.

Q. What managers ?-Of the Toronto G4s Works.
Q. Any others ?-The Manager of the St. John, N.B., Works.
Q. At the Toronto Gas Works have they used Nova Scotia coal for gas purposes ?

-No; I believe not.
Q. Does a prejudice exist in the United States against Nova Scotia coal for gas

purposes ?-I should say decidedly not.
Q. You stated yesterday that you could send coal to London, Ont. ?-Yes.
Q. One hundred miles west of Toronto ?-Yes.

- Q. Do you think you could send it there with a 50 cent duty ?-Decidedly.
Q It was in view of the 50 cent duty that you made the suggestion ?-We can

put the higher grades of coal in London now at prices about equivalent to Briar H1ill
and Youghoigheny; on the lower grades we would require a duty to do so.

Q. o you mean that you would require no duty on the higher grades -Not
for Western Canada as far as London, provided we could get down freights; it is con-
tingent on down freights.

Q. And on the lower grades ?-We would require a duty.
Q. That is to say .you would pay one dollar per ton more for shipping the coal

from Hamilton to London.-Yes.
Q. If by paying one dollar more per ton for freight on coal from Hamilton to

London you could seli coal in London to compete with American coal, that is, with
a fifty cent duty, you could sell the same ewal without a duty in Toronto?-We can
sell the higher grades in Toronto now as cheaply as American coal is sold there.

Q. Cannot you sell the lower grades ?--No.
Q. Then you are not speaking of sending the lower grades to London ?-No; I

was not speaking of the lower grades.
Q. You can send the higher grades of coal to London now without a duty ?-

Yes, with a down freight.
Q. It is the down freight that enables you to get a reasonable up freight ?---Y6S.
Q. Then at the rate you have quoted you consigned first-clsas coal to,,Lolndon

without a duty ?-Yes.



Q. Did you hear 3r. Dwan's evidene ?-Ye.
Q. It related to firet-class coal sold in Toronto ?-Ibeiev.aoo

By Mr. Maedonald (XTrento)
Q. You say you could if you had a down freight, but you could not run the risk

of having a down freight ?-We must have a down freight, and in our contract at
the present time we have a down froight.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Do I understand you to say that you can put first-class coal in Toronto at

four dollars ?--Yes..
Q. At the present time ?--Yes.
Q. You know that the prices in Toronto, as Mr Dwan stated, run according to

quality from five to six dollars, retail ?-Yes.
Q. Then there would be a margin of profit at those prices ?-Yes; to the retailer.

We can put it in Toronto at prices equivalent to the Briar Hill.
Q. About four dollars ?-Yes.
Q. If you obtain that price you are satisfied ?-Yes.
Q. You ascribed the increased sales of 1870 to the duty imposed in that year ?-

I did not know that I ascribed it to that cause. I wasasked what the sales were in
1870.

Q. Do you ascribe the increased sales to that cause ?-Yes.
Q. Are you not aware that subsequently to 1871 there was no duty; in 1871

the duty was taken off ?-Yes; I believe so.
Q. Have not the sales largely increased since that time ?-In order to tell yon

that, I would require to have the mining report. The sales have lately fallen off;
but as a general thing they have increased as a matter of course.

Q. You increased with the duty; you increased more without the duty. 'Hw
then do you arrive at the conclusion that the increase was caused by the duty ?-In
1870, when the duty was put on, the importations fell off to the value of 97,000 tons;
and you will find that when the duty was removed the importations steadily increased.

Q. Did the sales of Nova Scotia coal increase at the same time ?-They have
steadily increased since 1873.

Q. The trade in Nova Scotia coal with the British North American Provinces
was, in 1871, 168,000 tons, it having been in 1870, 122,000 or thereabouts; in 1872,
it was 285,000 ; in 1873, 337,000; in 1874, it was 338,000; and in 1875, 381,000 ?-
That is the exportation of coal to what places?

Q. To the British North American Provinces ?-What I mean is the entire
exportation.

Q. The duty only affected the British North American Provinces, exclusive of
Newfoundland ?-Yes.

Q. The increase was some 40,000 tons, 1870 and 1871, or so the previous year?
-Yes.

Q. But in subsequent years it rose to 285,000, 337,000, 338,000 and 391,000
without the duty ?-Yes.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. Was not the effect of the duty to give a largely inereased development to the

Mline of Nova Scotia ?-Yes.
Q. Was it not followed by the introduction of a good deal of capital from the

Provinces of Old Canada ?-Yes; and England.
Q. What I want to know is, whether the imposition of a duty was not fellowed

by a large number of persons in Quebec and Ontario becoming interested as capital-
ists in the Nova Scotia mines; was that the case ?-Yes.

Q. Did not that tend to increase bLÉe amount of the sales of coal from the interest
%hich parties in Old Canada would have in the mines ?-Yes; certainly.

By Mr. McGtregor :
Q Were youat the mines in.1870 or 1871?-No.
Q. You were only speaking, then, from hearsay?--..speak from having made the

Jnt one of enquiry, and from what I have Iearned of it.
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Q. But you were not there to know the effmte of theduty ?-4 know oie f the
efects of the duty was l.iad us to invSet money in a Noa 8eotia mine.

Q. And when you got it in you couldn't get it oet ?-We have no desire to.
By Mr. Dymond

Q. You say thatQae»ec felt moSt the importation of British coal?-Yes.
Q. What is the price of British coal, say in Liverpool ?-I suppose there are forty

different prices.
Q. What is the price of the cal which comes into competition with yours ?-

There ii the best quality of Scotch, Welsh and Newcastle, which would be $8.50 and
upwards.

Q. That is in Quebec Province ?-Yes, chiefly in Montreal.
Q. Cargoes have been sold for $3.50 ?--They have been. The normal price is

about #3.75.
Q. At what price is that obtained in Great Britain ?-I have seen it stated in the

London Mining Journal at from 10 shillings to 16 shillings per ton. Coal is sold in
Montreai more cheaply than at the mines and England. It costs £80 sterling
to ballast a good ship with the ordinary ballast. Instead of putting in that ballast,
they put in coal, so that they can even save money if they sell it at cost or less than
cost.

Q. Assuming that they sell itiat the same, or at a reduced rate, in Montreal, the
saving of the shipper is very considerable on tbf voyage ?--It is an economy to hilm
if he sells it at the same or at a reduced price. It remunerates him.

By Mr. Goudge:
Q. Coal brought in this way is bought on shipment account ?-Yes. They

bring it in large quantities, and sell it for what they can get.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Bringing out the coal as ballast is an economical arrangement for the shipý
owner ?-Yes.

Q. Your object is to exclude that coal from Quebec ?--Yes; I think we ought.
Q. And so far as you exclude that coal, you would deprive the shipowner of any

advantage he derives from it ?-Yes; the foreign shipowner : but that would not deprive
the home consumer of any money.

Q. Are none of these vessels owned on this aide ?-Some of them are.
Q. It is an advantage for shipowners to resort to our ports whether they are

foreign orbome ?-When I say that it would be an advantage to the ship owner to
buy as ballast, I mean that it would be no disadvantage to the consumer that the ship-
owner should be deprived of it.

Q. I am asking about the shipowner. I say that in so far as you exclude the
British coal you prevent him using that coal as ballast and so disadvantage him ? -
Just exactly.

Q. You asserted, I think, that the exclusion of British coal would not affect the
price at which your coal is sold in this country ?-In the Lower Provinces it would not.

Q. Wouldn't your prices be regulated by the competition in all cases ?-To a
great extent it is competition between ourselves. For instance, if we got a duty of
50 cents per ton, we would derive no benefit if we raised our prices under that duty,
bocause it we did we would have no increased sales in Montreal or Quebec.

Q. Why ?-It would simply put us on a par with British coal.
Q. But the consumer would pay the 50 cents ?--Yes, in that case ; but there

would be no increase in price.
Q. Confining your attention for the moment to trade between the Provinces,

have you made any calculations as to the amount of return freight that would be
equivalent to an inward trade of 250,000 tons of coal ?-I have in a general way.

Q. Can you give ns your fgures ?-Laat year we had an offer to carry down
twelve million feet of lumber to Sydney, provided. a return freight could be
arranged.

Q. If you did not take it te Sydney, where would it have gone to ?-To New
'York or Albany.



Q. Not to Quebec ?-No; it wa from an Ameriean ah firm in Michigan.
. That bests, not upon the quesiaOf a, provisol ~10 on taWforeign

trede wEdhkyoa hope to create at8 ydney -Yoes; that is it exactly: but it is in an
interprovincal way, because it takes lumber down and brings oot ba6k.

Q. I want te know, in the frst instance, whether you h&ad gion into calentations
and igures as to the anunt of interprovincial trade exclusively that could b. done
in the shape of outward freigbts, if we would take your coal to the extent I have
mentioned. I don't think I can give you 0gures as to that,' fr I have made no exact
calculations. I know that 3U0, O or 400,00 0 barrels of tour are our down fr ight.Q. Have yon made no caleulations and figure 7-No; except lii that way: that
that is the amount of four which would be required for so many vessels.

Q. You know there are rival lines of road, the Intercolonial andtheGrand Trunk,
competing with the steamers ?-Yes.

Q. Don't you know that they are largely proferred by importers fr•om Canada to
the Lower Provinces ?-In the matter of flour the steamships are preferred to the
railways.

Q. Why ?-Becanse flour will heat on the railways.
Q. How long does it take to go down by steamer ?-Seven days from Toronto.
Q. And by rail ?-Four or five.
Q. With far less risk of delay than by steamer ?-There is not much risk of

delay. The Gulf steamers run on time.
Q. Would a steamer, or any vessel adapted for those canals be suited to navigato

the Gulf in ail weathers ?-Yes; certainly. We have steamers navigating between
Sydney and Halifax much smaller than these propellors.

Q. You have not calculated as to the proportion of traffic carried by the railways
and that carried by steamers ?-We could not make calculations, as we have had none
carried by steamers so far. As to the quantity of trade, the Cape Breton Custom
louse officer tells me that there were 70,000 barrels of flour coming in, and I could
almost guarantee that it would come almost exclusively from Upper Canada.

Q. A large proportion-about three-fourths-doos come now ?-Ycs; about that.
Q. By the ordinary means of communication ?--Yes; by rail and steam together.

It cannot go by rail to Cape Breton as there is no railway.
Q. Would vessels used for coal be able to take grain as a return freight ?-Yes.
Q. It was stated in evidence before a Committee on whichl served last year,

that owing to the dirty nature of the coal it would be impossible to carry grain on the
down trip ?-I think that is a mistake, for vessels are often chartered to carry coal to
Montreal and grain to Europe.

Q. Then thero is nothing to prevent your carrying grain freights to ourports at
the present time ?-Yes.

Q. And desires no limit to the quantity of grain to be carried ?-I do not quite
understand you.

Q. I wish to know whether the supply. of grain freights from the west is practi-
cally unlimited ?-Yes; but a largo quantity of the grain now shipped from Montreal
would go by Sydney.

Q. That is to say, you would divert what now goes to other ports, to Sydney?-
Yes.

Q. So that the problem of obtaining return froights is largely solved, you thiùk, in
thatway ?-Wel1,I have not entered into the question of grain. I was speaking of oil,
lumber, flour, pork, beef, and produce generally.

By Mr. Goudge:
Q. And principally with the view of transhipping at Sydney 1-YeM
Q. You think that the cost of transportation btween Ramilton und Toronto ad

Sydneywould be considerablyless than by Montreal ?-I don't think tlit; but know
it would b less from Sydney.

Q. Ccnsequently freights from Sydney to England would be less than frmnm eat-
real to England ?-Yes.
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.By Mfr. Dnenò:-
Q. To what rkieto do yon look chiefiy, as supplied from Sydneyi-AIl the

Baroanmarkets.
Q. Th.e South Amerean and Australian markets also ?-Yes; every market ini

the world.
Q. ,f a line ofstegmers were plying reguIarly between Sydney and Toronto you

think you could make Sydney an out port for tho whole of tho foroîgU markets of the
workd?-Yes ; an ont port for Canada to all the snarkets of the wrl.

Q. And the articles you-referred to as forming the staples of that market would
be lumber, grain, oil, pork, and beef?-Yes; pork and bef for home consumption,
but manufactures going from Upper Canada would go from Sydney.

Q. But you regard these articles as the main staples ?-Yes.
Q. If you can open up that trade the problem of return freights is solved ?--Yes.
Q. And coal can come up at the prices you have named ?-Yes.
Q. And be sold ata profit ?--Yes.
Q. I think you stated that you are now engaged in commercial efforts in that

direction?-Yes; we have already arranged for cargoes from tipper Canada.
By .Mr. Goudge:-

Q. To what extent have you so arranged ?-For three cargoes. I was asked if
the pork from Canada was consumed in Nova Scotia. I see that one and one-half
million pounds were exported from the United States to Nova Scotia last year.

By the Chairman:
Q. What quantity of flour was imported ?--I cannot say.
Mr. G. W. DoBsoN called and examined:

By Mr. Tupper :
Q. Where do you reside ?-In Sydney, Cape Breton
Q. Wore you sent as a delegate to the Dominion Board of Trade ?-Yes.
Q. By whom ?-By the Cape Breton Board of Trade.
Q. Have yon been spending some considerable time in endeavouring to ascer-

tain how far trade can be promoted between the tpper Provinces and Nova Scotia ?--
Yes; for one year.

Q. You have devoted your attention principally to that ?---Yes.
Q. Are you engaged in that way now ?-Yes.
Q. What is the annual consumption of coal in Canada?-Last year it was 1,415,516

tons, of which 352,414 tons was hard coal, I think. There is a littledifference in our im-
ports being made up to the 30th of June and the production by the mines return,
being made up to the 31st December.

Q. Can you give a statement of the home production and the foreign importa ?--
The home production is 870,733 tons; that includes British Columbia. Nova Scotia
alone was 709,146 tons, New Brunswick, 21,000; and British Columbia, 140,087 tons.

Q. What were the foreign imports ?-793,950 tons, valued at 83,320,300.
Q. What is the productive capacity of the Cape Breton mines ?-The productive

capacity of the Cape Breton and Pictou mines is estimated at from one and one-half
to two millions tons, which can be increased should demand require it.

Q. How are the Nova Scotia coals situated for supplying the North American
market ?-Very convenient. They may be said to be on the highway of shipping
from the old world to the new, and vessels westward seeking freights can touch at
Sydney without going any distance out of their track. Our coal mines extend ont in
the Atlantic at a point where the convenience wotild appear to require ceal.

Q. Where is the natural market of the Nova Scotia coai?-Wherever we can get
a return cargo from, or get a vessel bound to a loading port. It has been stated here,

previous witnesses, that the natural market for Nova Scotia coal, is the New
gland States; but so far as I can see, we have no particular natural market.

England sonds coal all over the world, and wherever there is a demand, and we eau
get vesels for, is our natural market. I have been engaged in the trade for eight
yeara, and I should say that Montreal and Quebec are as convenient markets for us
as the United States.
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Q. Wold the. .ecuring of the-Caniadian marks 4oedt th& coal owners anad

woeuld give our coal producen the suppi got e Canadian
markets; and would alboge" f e Oanadan pdm4ue: f th iM im
Provinces. I might state that, lastyear the Maritiime Prow01s, lusivê of Tew-
foundland, imported 403,58 barrels of dour; we imnpred %,»44= poundaof meat
from the United States.

Q. Why do yon include Newfoundland ?-Besae with anatoepiavinoial trade,
Newfoutàlindaduld be a 4til larger consumer of tb OntarieoMy opinion
ie, that a steamer with a ear of flor and Mkeat, going downf theWest-to New-
foundland, would bring coal Mk from Sydney as the Montreal tnmes do new.

Q. lu what year was the coal trade most prosperous ?-In 1873.
Q. Howmany tons was producedthatyear ?-1,081,467 tons
Q. How many men were employed ?-5,000 men and boys, representing a popu-

lation of 30,000.
Q. Iow many days' work did they do in the aggregate ?-955,7224ays' work.
Q. How many vemsols were there employed in carrying the coal, and what was

their tonnage ?-3,604 vessels, of which 428 were steamers, representing a grows
tonnage of 820,144 tons.

Q. How many seamen did they employ ?-About 22,000.
Q. What amount of capital was there in circulation, direetly and lndreetly

caused by the coal production ?-The best estimate I can get places the amount at
$4,913,381.

Q. Iow do you propose to send coal to Ontario ?-By soeuring the markets of
the Maritime Provinces for Ontario products, and the Ontario markets forour coal we
now import largely from the United States; last year our imports from the United
Sta es aggregated 87,622,712.

Q. Tbose products yon say, could be largely obtained from Old Canada if an inter.
change could be made wetween them and Nova Scotia coal ?-Yes, very largely; I
find that the coal importa into Canada are estimated at $3,220,300.

By Mr. Goudge :-
Q. Where do you got your information as to the inter-provincial trade between

Canada and the Lower Provinces ?-L am speaking now of what we import from the
United States.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q. Wiat duty on coal would you consider would be suleient to secure the supply-

ing of Canada from the Nova Scotia miners, and the creation of thiti idter-provincial
trade ?-I tiink a 50 cent duty would give us a large trade with Ontario and the
Quebec market.

Q. How are the Nova Scotia coal mines situated with regard to supplying the
Canadian market ?-Very conveniently. We are halfway between the grain-roducing
centres of the West and the market of the Old World-halfway between -hicago ind
Liverpool. The lake vessels might torminate their voyage at Sydney, aud their
cargoes be their transhipped into the ocean vessels. Imay ay that Atlanticfreights
are less by 30 per cent. from Sydney than from New York, Baltimore and other
Aimerican ports; and, besides, the port charges at Sydney are $100, against froi
$800 to $1,000 at Montreal and the American porte.

Q. Does England supply distant markets with coal, as near to them as the
American mines are to Ontario ?-Yes. For instance, she supplies Cuba, that ias
American coal quite near, and San Francisco, with British Columbia eai aear. Coals
are shipped. 15,000 miles to India, which is quite near to the Ohinansd Australian
coal, felds.

Q. How far west could Nova Scotia coal be sent, in your opinion MAs farvest
as return cargoes could be obtained. We cm ship coal toe hicago orFort Wil"hu at
the head of Lake Superior, if downward freighta b. got> or to any intermeediate port.

Q. What quantity of flour and mealIj consumed in the Maritime hovinies ?-
I find, by returns, that last year there were286,83 barrels of fder and meal shipped
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gr th.& Iawzeen. -Ebe G ind ak atiasatre abot 30,00, aid the Inter-,
colonial 50,000. The Grand Trunk and Intercolonial are an

Q~. Hovr h.a all, canadian and~ is -1,I3910% 0 * alfrels was the con-

Q. -Wstat~IwIêi a dhe aU ut of Csdianpwoedaoe 4ht is coanoued in
the Naritim 1 e ?-4ast year the amoua was 5e,55m barrels of ftoar fron
Canada.

Q. How MaM& beef?-I comid lot btain ti ,,îgares for the consn5ption of
Canadia beof aad por h Lb.aritin.ePvinces tahe year Nwetoudadimported
38,000 bawsof pork, only 5,000 of ihioh we- from Oanada-h. riest from the
Unibed Stateswhich shows that our:markets re largely supplied by 1he Americans.

Q. What is thezxtent of the Newfouadland trade ?-- t year he Americans
supplied Newfoundland with *1,600,000 wort of products. The exports and imports
ofINewfbandland aggregate 812,000,000.

Q. What is the duty on four, meal and coal going into Newfoundland ?-Flour
is 20 cents; meal, 20 per cent.; coal, 25 cents per ton.

Q. What would abet tend to stimulate interprovincial trade ?-I think the
imposition of a duty on foreign coal. It is also thought necessary by steamer owners
to give a subsidy to two steamboats for the first year. This would give Ontario,
producers the entire supplying of the Maritime Provinces., Ontario people are quite
mistaken i supposing that they can command the Maritime markets by the Inter-
colonial Railway. There are Prince EdwardIslad, Newfoundland, Cape Breton and
Liverpool, N.S., Yarmouth and Annapolis which import directly from the United
States. They can do it much more cheaply than by Halifax and the Intercolonial.

Q. low did the duty in 1870 affect the coal trade of Canada ?-.-In 1869 the
imports were 389,485 tons; in 1870, 272,595 ; in 1871, 481,826. The year that the
duty was on, we imported about 100,000 less than the previous year.

Q. Did Nova Scotia take more four from Canada that year than in 1869--71 ?-
In 1869 we imported 91,511 barrels from old Canada; in 1870, 109,950 barrels, while
in 1871 our importa declined 100,096 barrels.

Q. So that the imports of flour were much larger in the year of the duty ?---Yes.
Q. Did the duty increase the price of flour in the Maritime Provinces; or the

price of coal in the Upper Provinces ?-1 find by Mr. Patterson's report that th e
price of flour in Montreal, in 1869, No. 1 quality, was $4 ; in 1870, $3.95; in 1871,
84.91.

Q. So that it was actually lower when the duty was on ?-Yes, lower than the
previons yea- or the yearafter .Coal wasalso chcaper. In 1869 it was 85 toS8 during
the season, in Montreal. In 1870 it was $4.50 ; in 1871 it went up from $5 to $10.

Q. So that practically coal was cheaper in Montreal when there was a duty
than before or after ?--Yes.

Q. How has the Ameriean duty on foreign coal affected the coal trade of the
United States ?-It has secured -the American market lor the American producer. In
1864, before the duty was imposed, coal was $8 in Boston; in 1865 it was a littie
below that; Since that it has gone down gradually to the present prices.

Q. So that since the imposition of that duty of $1.25, and more recently of 75c.
the prices te couamera have been steadily decreasing ?-Yes, and it also secured to
the producer the American market.

Q. las the production of coal in the United States increased since the imposition
of the duty, and if so, to what extent ?-In 1870 it was 32,000,000 tons; in 1871,
41,000,000; in 1872, 45,000,000; in 1873, 50,000,000, and the present production in
the United States is 50,000,000 and some odd tons.

Q. What quantity of Nova Scotia coal could be marketed in the New England
States under a reciprocal tariff?-From 800,000 to 1,000,000 tons. That is the
estiuate of Prkirs&4 Job, oBston, who are the agents for a number of the Cape

Q, Then materially the New York, iBoston and the Eastern States would draw
their supplies from the Nova Scotiaanines ?-Yes; to avery large extent.

14
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Q. W*atiS,4ba .tet of the Wet Indian ted in co8 ?~-r have been, paying
agoodi ofatenti~on to the tsopi.l t.ado. tadby iéta it he imperts of
the whole of the West India Islands ae $000,0»,0 ad te exports ,0O,000.
That i the British and Foe*g West Indie.

Q. What are the chief articles of their imports ?-Hats, espø , brooms,
pails, lamber plain and grooved, clocks, sewing machînes, bée4 ped*, Iouir kerosene
oil, butter, cheese, lard, coai and fish. These arc amang the heaiest ittites of
imnport.

Q. Where do they got their coal frora?-Frta mnga4 -itafly. Ta yea
the British West Indian Islands importest frosa somnel e,00Mos;
and from the United Statos in vicinity of 70 tune

Q. How does Nova Scotia, coal compare witk BogIish coal in qualty and in
price, free on board?-In regard to quality, Profesor tlowe, the Geologit, place
the Sydney coal on a par witi Newcaste coai for seemm and domeift ie-Pe ; so
do McFarl#ne and Dawson. English coal free on board reaga frout rshdlings to
12 shillings and sixpence. I may say, also, that the Frenek Navy importe& a.cargo
of Sydney coal to Brest. It was examiaed and pronouneed te 60 much thes as
the Newcastle coal.

The following information on our deposits may be of interest ;_
James MoFarlane, AM., on the coal rogions of Ameriea1 makes the following

remarka on the Cape Breton coal measures
"We speak from personal knowledge, having spent two sadcessive sasons i

an instramental reconnoissance of the best portions, those situated on Great and
Little Glace, Cow and Mire Bays.

"The coal beds are here of handsome size and higheat quity, fully 'qa 0 a al
respects to oar own Westmoreland gas eoal beds in portability, purity, an adhnes
of material, and in thickness and uniformity of deposit."

Prederick E. Saword's compendium of the coal trade for 1M giaes the
following analysis of English, American and Canadian coaI:-

Cubic ft. Candles. QiiIity specifie
Coke. gravity,

Newcastle ........................... 10,000
Camberland, N.S........... 10...
Pittsburgh, "................. 9520
Virginia ............. ........ ...... 8,63
Lingan, Cape Breton.............9,700
Glace Bay " ...... 10,000 16 GO
Caledonia ............. M00 16 Avrge
Gowrie " ........... 9000 15 Good
Bioekhonso ".........10,500 14 do

Dr. ]>awsos, of McGill Colloge, Moutreal, in a, letter of late dte,ý oSt4mtes tha
the Nova Scotia ceai measures cover an arcs of 3,000 square, riles, varitng in
thickness.

Q.What quantity of sugar is consumed iun ad ?1450U1pUnde.
37,1t8e58 Ibs. of which cornes frein England and 40,154;3fl lb.fit tii Jite
States.

Q. 1 k lw might ur tzade with the. West, Indies b. inorSwmd ?-1 think itmiéht
bc ýineaaed by the tariff allowing the. raw sugar te comarne Cum Oind *r zreflnmg
puptisi exehange for out can sd other products, Ixte is ýr. rksbiwe~tt that

Enadexportii ceai te the West Indies, takes back the, itaw sug1Wr, mn umtie it
and sonds it te Canada.

0y Mr. Go16gt
Q0-&n what do ynbas. your sitrottf hSon~f~~t rm, »,pdwy are

.30 percent. lower th thoïse frrn là«. more .tuUtory pot.?-On âà1 fiot t&a$we
have bej tendered vonel by ehipcw*era Wa Smw Dz¶ma mok a.d SO.U « & iatý 30
per cent. lms froin: Sydney than frim the oitho portL.

9M 00 1
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Q. Why do you et them for 30 par cent les ?-4The reoen is that we are 800
miles naareXp oeln New York and other American ports, and the 1pr$harges
are very mank less. Yoaasked me about the recéipts of sugar; Ifind that our im-
porte last ere about 37,000,000 pounds from Great Britain and 40,000,000 pounds
fom the ni $ae

By Mr.kyuònd
Q. Where does the balance of saugar come from?-Btween twenty and twenty-

two million pounds come from the West Indies direct, I may state that what we
import from thé United States and England is refned, while that whlch cones from
the West Indies direct iU raw and used sm. Our consumption is about 50,00 tons. It
requires a ton of ceal to refine a ton of sugar, so that that amount would require
50,000 tons of coai. In addition it would give employment to 6,000 operatives,
representing their wives and ihmilies, 30,000 ople. To barrel a tonof sugar it
requires 7 barrels; 50,000 tons would use 350,L0(barrels.

By Mr Goudg:-
Q. Have you any information giving an idea of the amount and value of the

inter-provincial trade--I mean the trade 'between Old Canada and the Lower Pro-
inces-at the present time ?-There are no statistis ,giving the extent of trade
between the Upper and Lower Provinces, except Newfoundland. It appears from
statements made to the Dominion Parliament by the Hon. the Minister of Finance,
that the value of Canadian exporte to Maritime Provinces amounted in 1865-66 to
$1,571,116; in 1866-67 to $3,418,589; showing an increase in 1867, the year of Con-
federation, of exporte to the Lower Provinces of $1,847,473 or 117.59 per cent., while
the exports from the Lower Provinces to Old Canada remained about the sanie. The
entire trade between Old Canada and the Maritime Provinces in 1865-66 amounted to
$5,299,518; in 1866-67 to 86,591,003. The total exporte and importe of the Maritime
Provinces (N. S., N. B., P. E. I. and Newfoundland) in 1865 were $49,854,564, in
1866, $53,526,612, and in 1876 $42,075,217, which shows a decrease of exporte and
importe over 1866 of 811,450,860. This apparent decrease of trade in the Maritime
Provinces since I8f6, I think, is partly owing to an increase in trade with Old
Canada, of which we have no returns since Confederation. I should say, by the
statistics I have of the St. Lawrence trade and my generai knowledge of Canadian
commerce that the Maritime Provinces and Newfoundland imported last year from
$10,000,000 to $11,000,000 worth from Old Canada, and exported from $1,500,000 to
$2,000,000 worth of coal, fish, oil, gypsum and other maritime products to Old
Canada. The Lower Provinces now import largely from Old Canada of tweeds,
ready made clothing, bats and caps, boots and shoes, manufactured wooden ware,
kerosene oil, as well as agricultural products.

Q. How much do you estimate that you export to Ontario ?-I cannot give you
anything definite, but think it would be between $300,000 and $400,000.

Q. Would it amodnt to $1,000,000 in all?-No; I don't think so. Ontario im-
ported from the United States last year 4,146,841 pounds of fish, 472,716 tons of
eoal, which are among our largest staples of export. If we had inter-provincial

trade established we could supply this market as well as Quebec.
By M-. Dymond:-

Q. la it not necessary for fresh fish to be carried by rail ?-Yes; but fresh fish
wôuld form but a very small proportion of the Ontario importe.

Q. Your chief confidence seems to be in the establishment of a foreign trade to
which Sydney shall be the outport ?-Yes; the St. Lawrence at present only handles
about 9 per cent, of the lake trade; the rest goes to Europe through the United
States, and my idea le to increase the St. Lawrence trade and thereby add to the
tolls of our canals.

Q. For both the products of the Western States and our own ?-Yes.
Q. When youp ofthe largely increàsed consumption of our Canadian pro-

duce that might tkplace in-the Lower Provinces, had you in your mind any
impediment to that eonsumption existing at the present lime? In other words, is
there now any reason for preferring >ted Btates to Canadian flour, or American
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prodneta ot any kind- to our own ?-No; only the gpresent transit facilities are Moro
conv»en to and from the United Btatestnn Ontario.

Q That is, our natural market would be in the United 4te assuming there
were no territorial barrierr botween us?-Wallfor the want of ineasetd transit
facilities we import largely from the United States; whereas, if w, ad thios facili-
ties, the same classes of goods would be importod from Canda.

Q. Do not Nova Scotia vessels carry ËM to the West Indies, and carry sugar
back to the United States, and thus increase thi facilities for transiipping fiýer from
the United States ports back to Nova Scotia ?-Yes.

Q. You have no facilities, in your opinion, for the transhi nt of a f>e m
the West ?-We import by Montreal; steamboats ply between , , Montreal;
but the cost of transhipment at Montreal, and the cost of the mi in handling
the iour is su great, that we can buy tuore cheaply in the UnitedSi"ts.

Q. It has been stated that American four is sold higher in the United States than
in the Maritime Provinces ?-I cannot say as to that.

Q. I think you stated, that georaphically, the Eatern States wold be the
natural outiet for Nova Scotia coal ?-No; I did not state that. Er. Tupper asked me
where was the natural market for our coal; and I stated that lt iwas herever we
could get a cheap tonnage. The shipments from England supply half the world, and
she cannot be said to have any natural market.

Q. The fact that England exports coal at a nominal rate gives her a great
advantage in the way of large importations? -That is the case to a large extent

Q. Have you examined into te causes-irrespective of the duty-ofthe decreased
prices of four in 1870, as compared with those of 1869 ?-It was owing to the prices
in England.

Q. Then the duty you think was not an importantfeature in the change of price?
No; I don't say that, but it gave Upper Canada an increased nearer market. Mr.
Howland, of Toronto, told me the other day that they could turn over their goods to
much better advantago in a near market than in a distant one ?--Can yougive us any
figures as to the prices and importa of four in the years 1869 and 1870 respectively ?
-Our increase in 1870 over 1869 and 1871 shows twenty thousand odd barrels.

Q. There was a general increase of imports up to that tima and then a decrease ?
-By the Grand Trunk Railway and St. Lawrence returns I think there is a faling
off since 1870.

Q. You say that the duty on coal secured the American market for the American
dealers. Do you know that we sold more coal when the duty was 61.25, than when
it was 75 cents?-One particular year.

Q. Has not there been an enormous development of the coal trade in the United
States during the last five or six years ?-Yes.

Q. From 32 to over 50 million tons ?-Yes.
Q. Has not that increased production induced a keen competition between the

American Companies, leading to co-operative arrangements with the railway com-
panies and a cheapening of freights ?-Yes.

Q. Then, in fact, during the last four or five years, the American coal trade with
a duty has been subjected to a more severe competition than Canadian coal iwithout
a duty ?-No; I think not. Mr. Lithgow stated that he sold as cheap1y befor. 1873
as since. When freights are high from Cape Breton to the United StateS ports, they
are also h h coastwise in the United States. The American producer contends with
the same obstacles in that respect as we do. High coastwise freihta injare the
American producer as well as our producer.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Is there coal in Newfoundland ?-No.
Q. Where does Newfoundland get its coal ?-Mostly from Nova Sootia.
Q. What le the distance between NovaSctia and Newfoundlan4 ?-The western

shows fron 80 to 100 miles; the eastern about 500 miles. The nearest point is about
50 to 70 miles.

Q. Newfoundland pays our import duty on coai ?-Yes.
8V
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Q. What would a vesse-say of 600 toa-g*in by taking g a ¾oftboaud et
Sydney instead of Montroal, increase in the way of harbour dues, pilob.g and-eter
fes oft tbt kind ?-4li port charges going to Montreal are-bMtween1 and P1200.

Q. That is, the harbour, pilotage and other dues of a vessal going by way of the
St. Lawrence and Montreai would average about *1,000 ?-Ye.

Q. What would those expenses be by way of Sydney ?-Pr a vessel of 600 tons
they would be about 410, cargo in and cargo ont.

Q. Dos Newfbundland take oflur from the United States ?- Yes.
Q. In case a large coal trade existed between Ontario and INova BSotia, could

Ontarie sup y the Newfbandland market?-Canada could supply the Newfoundland
market witu fgour and with coal west from Nova Scotia. Mr. Robinson in his
evidence alluded to the vessels going out from England and bringing coal as ballast.
I think thereare ony five porte in E land from which vessels take coal. It does not
pay thevessels to change ports and ing out coal as ballast, nor can the E1ngIish
coal producer supply coal as ballast where they have te ship it to ports where vessels
are lying. I hofd that Montreal and Quebec would get more tonnage by taking coal
from Sydney, than if they were dependent on English coal as ballast. Sydney is
becoming thb North American port of call, and vessels bound west seeking freights
call there now almost entirely. On arrival they enquire for Montreal, St. John,
New York, Baltimore and Philadelphia freight markets, and often Montreal quotes
higher than any of the other ports; and could we get coal freights at a low rate to
Montreal, Montreal would command more ocean tonnage.

Q. That is if yon prevented vessels from bringing ont coal as ballast ?-We could
furnish coal as cheaply as the English coal and could give Montreal and Quebec more
tonnage.

Q. Your theory is that the number of vessels bringing out coal is very limited ?
-Yes; and they bring more than ballast-parts of cargoes.

By Mr. McGregor :-
Q. What secprity have you that the American markets will not keep dropping

as they have done. Has not the general depression in trade caused a depression in
coal, and are not the miners there in as bad a shape as our own ?-I am not aware of
that; in fact, I have information to the contrary. I have a statement from the
Inspector of Mines for Ohio, which shows that their production is increasing. That
gentleman, who is a vaIuable and efficient officer, states that several of their mines
have declared dividende, while none of ours have declared dividende.

Q. Are not those mines that have just opened, and are taking the trade from the
old ones ?-No; I think no.

Q. Have not new lines of railways been built, and are they not cutting down
prices ?-The leading coal companies in the United States pay their men on asliding
scale basis, the wages going down in proportion to the price of coal, so that other
cempanies are not at tie saine los as ours are. We cannot eut down the prices
without our men striking.

Q, But we have evidence that the coal is only worth 85 cents at the mine ?-
Well, I am taking the leading mines of the L nited States.

Q. How far west could you come with coal, provided yon had a duty ?-I think
we could come as farwest as Sarniawe could come as far as wecould get down freights.

Q. At what price could yon put the coal at Sarnia ?-At the same price as ut
Kingston, provided the canal tolls are removed. It would only be the coSt of a ton
more coal to drop in at Sarnia on the way.

Q. But Sarnia is 200 miles further away ?-It makes but very little difference,
provided we get down freights.

By Mr Dymod:-
Q. Yon think that if you could get down freights it would pay you, because you

could bring up coals as they dé frin E land-as little more than ballast ?-It
would work like this: Sylvester Bros., who are agents for the Armenian have
chartered her to make $3,500 on the round trip. Of this amount the coai goiug
down will pay about $1,000, and the down carges $2,500.
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Q. What are the present rates of the Grand 1trunk from hiocago to Montrei,
say for grain ?-I cannot give you the Grand Trunk in partieAaâr, but I ean give the
railway and sailing vessels.

Q. Then you cannot get us the rates to Sarnia?-N >
Q. Don't you know that the through rates to ocean ports are much less than the

way rates-those to intervening pointa -I don't wish you to misunderstand me. I
don't speak on the supposition that the npgoisg vessel weuhé le"d«Mn sk Sarnia, but
that ahe would go up as far as Toledo and other western grain ports.

Q. Do you propose that the final destination of the vessel should b. Sarnia or
the American ports?-In answer to that I'may say that the V ng that has pre-
vented us signlng a contrapt to carry 6,000,000 feet of Michili* shipinent
at Sidney this summer, is the arrangement of its destinatiof r% d.

Q. Your idea is, then, that the return freights-would enab1e jrk ixd bring up the
coal much more cheaply than you could otherwise do ?-Yes.

Q. And that the coal could compete fairly at present rates with American coal ?
-Yes; in my opinion they could.

Mr. Dobson was thon allowed to put in the following statements:-

COAL PRODUCED AND CONSUMED IN THis DoMNmoN 1I 1876.

Ontario.

TotaI Proportion of
Congumption. ffard Goal.

From Groat Britain ................... . 5
United States..................... 472,716

-- 472,721 200,000

Quebec.

From Great Britain..................... 159,055
United States .................... 122,673
Nova Scotia........................ 117,303

399,031 122,673

Nova Scotia.

From United States..................... 5,096
Other Countries.................. 35
Great Britain.................... 1,715

Produced.................... 709,646

716,492
Less shipments to Canadian

and foreign ports.. ...... 408,549
30943 5,096

JNew Brunswick.

Emm Great Britain...........,......... 7,782
United States ..................... 24,059
Nova Scotia ...................... 101,890

Produced .................. 21,000

154,731
Les exports .................. 54

4> 2405
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Prom

Prom

United States...... .... 63
Home production ......... 140,087

140,256
Less exports to> I Franisco 101,672

Prince Edward Island
ljnited States.a ............ 30
Newfoudland ........... 80
Nova Scotia ............. 46,908

Manitoba.

38,663

47,292

prom United State.................................. 282

Total quantity coal consumed....... 1,415,516

Total Imports ................
" Production.............

304

282

352,414

793,950 value $3,320,300
870,733

1,664,683
Exports, foreign con-

sumption ........... 249,167

1,415,516 tons.
lard coal....................... 352,414

Soft coal used.................. 1,063,102

GENERAL SUMMARY OP NOVA SCOTIA MINERALS.

PRODUCTION. QU&NTITIES.

MINER&LS. 1873. 1874. 1875. 1876.

Coal ...................................... tons. 1,051,467 872,720 781,165 709,646
Gld*...................................ounces.1 11,852 9,141 11,208 12,039
Iron Ore ................................. tons 3,485 2,469 4,467 15,274
Manganese............................. 131 7 16
Copper ....... ........................... " ............. 45
L ead ..................................... " ........ :...... ............... ............... 6
Gypsum..............................." 120,693 t 104,140 95,159 80,920
Freestone, &o................. ........ " 2,820 i 8,829 5,778 5,905
Limestone .............................. ............ 448 4,860 1,094
Moulding Sand ................ 130 300 100 227
Barytes.......................... " .... . 208 175

lUnemelted Goldvalued for Royalty at $18 per ounce. The averagereal vlue of emelted
Nova Sco"a gold is very high, 19.22 per ounce.
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Oor Iaport -froem Nova Sootia to Qu"ebe for the follewing years

1873............................................ 187,069 tons.
1874 8........ 1689,34 "
1875 ................................. ............ "81 U d
18. ....................... 117e303

ConU Exportel from Nova Scotia to the United States during the
1876, inclusive.

years 1850 tg

CoAL Produced in British Columbia.

Grand Total for 1876.................................... 140,087 Tons
do do 1875.................................. 113,000 "
do do 1874................................... 81,397

The large decrease in the shipments from the Wellington Colliery was caused by
the strike and the fire in themine.-Pree Press.

The following passed over the Grand Trunk Railway from Old Canada to the
Maritime Provinces vid Portland

To Nova Scotia: To Neo Brunswick:
152,200 barrels flour, 120,300 barrels four,

5,500 " oatmeal, 4,400 i oatmeal,
990 " beans, 17200 c beans,'
350 " pot barley, 280 pot barley,
100 " cornmeal, 100 corumeal
730 tons feed, 100 ost,
220 malt 4 c oU,

40 " barley, 862 barre eundries.
60 " oats,
40 " wheat,
34 cars oil,

,1,715 tons sundries.
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Committee met.-Xr. ,acKAr in the Chair.
Mr. F. W. HEznH re.of Montreai, called and oxaminod:

By the Chairnm -
Q. You were appointed to attend the Oommittee by the Montreal Board of

Trade ?-Yes.
Q. Are yon acquainted with the coal trade ?-I am.
Q, ]?articularly with that of the City et Montreal ?-Yes.
Q. Can you speak as to the character of the Nova Scotia ceai ?-Ys; for steamu

purposes, and that is the chief purpose for which ceal is wanted in Montreal. We
have several qualities of Nova Scotia coal quite equal to the generality of coal from
England orthe United- tates.

Q. How about gas coals ?-Cape Breton coal, I believe, is quite equal to any coal
for gas purposes, perhaps with the exception of Newcastle coal, and a very moderate
amount of that is imported, owing to its very great expense.

Q. What is it that tends to prevent Nova Scotia from supplying Quebec entirely
with coal ?-Chiefiy -on account of the immense quantity ofI low-priced coal that
oomes in from Great Britain, brought out more as ballast than anything else. That
is always an obstruction to the interests of Nova Scotia, to a certain extent.

Q. You are acquainted, I presume, with the fact that there is a large amount of
capital invested in the Nova Scotia mines ?-Yes.

Q. We have, from previous witnesses, a statement in detail respecting that;. the
monthly payments, &ce Can you say what the freights were for 1875 ?-I have most
of the information-I can present to the Committee, committed to writing, and, if you
have no objection, I shall just read it.

Mr. Henshaw then read the fbllowing statement:-
The coal fields of Picton County. Cape Breton and Springhill, Nova Scotia,

comprise the principal 'deposits east of the Saskatchewan. The amount of capital
invested in these fields is estimated at $12,000,000, and which under a sound national
policy, might, and no doubt would, prove of inestimable advantage to the State in the
first place; and yield a fair return for their enterprise to the investors in the second.
The mines of Nova Scotia in a fair working season employ a force of something like
5,000 persons, and affords the means of subsistence to about 20,000 souls, the amount
paid in wages, monthly, reaches an aggregate of $120,000; these figures I have arrived
at froin numerous conversations with managers of the mines and from the published
statements ôf writers on the subject of the coal industryof N. S. The question before
the Commons of Canada in this matter I hold to be one of great moment, involving
as it does, one of life or death to coal mining interests, and starvation or emigration
to a population of 20,000 hardy inhabitants of the soil. The bare suggestion of such
a probability is certainly of sufficient moment to arrest the attention of every
statesman and patriot in the country. The enterprise and industry of our peopte are
equal to those of any other country, but they cannot achieve impossibilities. The

Reciprocity Treaty of 1856 inaugurated a.new era in the coal trade of Nova Sceotia;
previously to this treaty the total production of coal did very greatly exceod the
capacity of a single mine at present. During the continuance of that treaty the
actual sales had reached five times in amount those of the ton years preceding it.
A free market was open to the United States, and to that country Nova Scotia
exported the greater portion of the production of her mines, the last year of the treaty
nearly half a million tous were exported.

Since that por'od, and down to the present time, the United States imposed, at
first, a duty of $1.25, and afterwards one of 75 cents gold per ton; this duty has all but
closed that market against us, the returne of last year shewing only 71,t tons as the
total export to that country from Nova Sceotia.

Canada has, in a spirit of far too great liberality, surrendered te the United States
most çf the valuable privileges she was powsessed of, without securing any compen-
sating advantages in return. While this country bas scrupulously regarded notonly
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thé spirit of its4r St bitons, but the verylette«sla the United States, on
otgior hand, has not been .lowto take advnige ofmy oineton <tereby the present
reaty aight le evaded. J bolieve ire hiave reasôna ~l for demaing of the

United States Government ibe fre.admisuion ò odr. , a . uo*grant the same
to them; and failing which, a duty equal to what'ia argM4 on ours be imposd on
theirs. With a duty of 50to 7l cents per ton on bitaminous coal imprtedinto
Canada, Nova Scotia would be enkbled to compote with the ceai from the United
States and Great Britain brought ont as ballut-whiik it le impossible to do
successfully at present. Consumers of coal in this country enra*Iy, ad the large
consumers especially, should by all means eherish the iming intereta of Nova
Scotia, as the great balance wheel so to speak of prices.

The capacity of our mines is vastly eater than su£cient to spply the wants
of this country. Our people need not wapprehensve Abat, by tang a sMall
Measure of protection to this branch of industry they will hae = roals, forso
long as the timber trade of the Ottawa lasts, so long may they be certain to get
cheap coal; timber ships returning to the St. Lawrence will bring out col as ballast
at a Inere nominal rate of freight, cr will load up on ship'saccount. But once permit
Nova Scotia coal to be crushed out of market by prohibition from the tTnited .States
on one side, and ballast-freighted coal on the other, the people of this country will,
when too late, regret that, by withholding a simple act of justice to a struggling
enterprise, they have destroyed their only protection against unjust and excessive
prices. Another fact of importance is, that the greater the encouragement given to
production the cheaper can coal be produced; 100,000 tons can be produced at 30 to
40 per cent. less in proportion per ton than could 50,000 tons; the tendency is, there-
fore, towards lower rather than higher prices. In 1875 the mines of Nova Sootia
sent to Montreal direct 118,110 tons of coal, giving employment to 109 steamers and
81 sailing vessels, of an aggregate registered tonnage of 87,605 tons. In 1876
Montreal received from Nova Scotia 137,808 tons of coal, carried by 62 steamers and
79 sailing craft, of a total tonnage of -58,997. From Ports in Great Britain there
were imported into Montreal in 1875, 36,449 tons of coal, of the value of $124,166.
and in 1876, 70,503 tons. valued at $209 032. Freights from Nova Scotia in 1875
ranged from $2.25 to $2.50 per ton ; in 1876 the average rate was $2. Several of the
Gulf Ports lino of steamers being chartered that season at 82.12 per ton. Offers of
$1.85 were in some cases accepted for sailing vessels, Nova Scota shipowners in other
cases refusing charters at this rate. I had not means at hand in time for this inves-
tigation to ascertain the quantity of coal landed at Quebec during the last and previous
years, but the amount must have been large. A great quantity of this coal was
sold at Quebec at $4, $4.25 and $4.50 per chaldron, or in other words. at 82.67, $2.85
and $3 per ton, showing that this ballast-freighted coal could be placed on the market
at a figure very little above the actual cost of freight from Nova Scotia to Montreal.
With heavy odds like this against them, it is clear that some protection should be
afforded or the Nova Scotia mines must cease working. I am, I think, quite within
bounds in stating that for some years past the mines of Nova Seotia as à whole, have
not paid more than the actual cost of the coul, realizing no dividends whatever on the
immense capital invested. In addition to this already heavily weighted industry, the
Provincial Government exacts a royalty of ten cents per ton, which iu itself proves
an intolerable burden, which should be removed at once. Policy alone should dictate
this stop, for it is clear that if coal mining, for the reasons set forth in my remarks,
muet come to an end, the revenue, which is but a small item in the account, will, of
necessity cease also, and the loss to the State of a large working population will be
of vastly greater importance. If the necessities of the JNove *otia Governmient
require the amount realized from this royalty on coal, the Dominion Government can
recoup the amount, and at the same time benefit its own treasury by granting the
small boon so earnestly asked for on behalf of this really suffering interest.

By Mr Tupper:-
Q You were sent by the MontrealBoard of Trade ?-Yes
Q. Were the Board of Trade aware that yon intended to advocate a daty of 50
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or 76 eents per ton on coal?-ý-he fa e the e When fe'Ietter frm the com-
mittee was read to the Coneil th&y took action immediately, andl -ws naimintètd
and elected. I said thbt I1ccepted the pbsition I wiséhd it distinctly understood
that I was going to Advoiato protection of the cail interest, and that if that course
didn't suiti themthey côuld send somie one els.

Q. They wer. quite àware then Of your views?-Yes.
By Mr Dymond:-

Q. Your appointment was by the Council of the Board of Trade, and not by the
Board of Trade in full meeting ?-Yes; they are the executive body.

Q. Of how many members dos the Council consist ?-Ffteen,
Q. How many were present when you were appointed ?-I could not tell.
Q. Wa there a majority of the whole number ?-Yes. I am perfectly free to

'confess that. As a matter'of course, 1 cannot be expected to represent the views of the
whole mercantile community of Montreal.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. Are you in the coal trade ?-I am- the agent of one of the Nova Scotia coal

compamies.
Mr. Dymond moved that the paper read by the witnesa be put in as evidence.
Mr. Tupper seconded the motion.
The motion was carried.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. At what rate is the coal which comes from iEngland as ballast sold in Mon-

treal ?-As a rule, whenlthese timber ships cross to the other side they have thoir alter-
native of buying stone as ballast, for which they pay from two to three shillings per
ton or load up with coals. They frequently load up on ship's account and take it
out at a nominal rate as freight.

Q. Are yon aware that it is sometimes obtained as low at Cardiff as seven
ishillings per ton ?-Not-the best quality of coal, but a great deal was brought out last
year, free on board at seven shillings. That is the cost of the coal.

Q. And the ship saved in addition the cost of two or three shillings per ton as
ballast ?-Yes.

Q. What amount of tonnage would be represented by the coal or ballast required
under these circumstances ?-It depends a good deal on the shipmaster. If it is left
to him, and ho can obtain a fair price in Quebec, he will load entirely with it.

Q. The average:tonnage of these vessels is, approximately--?-Sometimes ho will
take just enough for ballast; at others he will load entirely with it. The quantity
of coal ranges from 300 to 1,200 tons.

Q. What mine do you represent ?-The Nova Scotia or Black Diamond mine in
Pictou.

Q. Are you the agent for any other collieries ?-No.
Q. You confine yourself exclusively to the one you have named ?-Yes.
Q, That is a steam coal ?-Yes.
Q. How does it compare with the American coal of the same price ?-I think

that my customers like it as well as any other coal.
Q. Is bituminous coal imported to any extent from the United States to

Montreal ?-No.
Q. Virtually you have no rivalry to complain of from American coal ?-~If we

had a protection against the introduction of coal into Upper Canada, if we had the
amount of protection we ask for, I think we could supply Upper Canada just about
as cheaply as they can get it from the United States.

Q. I am speaking of Lower Canada ?-We don't complain of Ainerican compe-
tition in bituminous coaL.

Q. You regard anthracite coal as legitimately a competitor, required for special
purposos ?-I think we might, with the protection we ask for, have induced our
people te use a great deal more Nova Scotia oal than they de now. They iight do
sway with the use of anthracite ceal to a great extent.



QAt what priee, c yn lay Now Seotià *M ir ther Q ?Ething depends on the frei ets.
Q. na oets are as courred .ith wbat tbey have been

in time past; gîve us an -veg à $€ fil xontreat.
Q. Andin Quebec bably about 50 cents le. Any velsels, intending teload at Quebec would go for 50 cents less; if ber destination was Montreal * a cargoshe would not discharge at Quebec any cheaper.
Q. You speak of the long ton ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:--
Q. You Bay you ean manage te lay down coal at Montreaif fo $per ton?-

Yes.
Q. What is that free on board at the shipping places?-Xf estinate the cost offreight at $2, which would leave $2 for the coal; out of that there Î$ to Oomeinsurance, wharfage and commission.
Q. You placed it down at the rate of 82 for the coal and $2 for the fright ?-

Yes.
By -Mr. .Dymond;-

Q. That simply brings it to the dock ?-No; it lande it.Q. That is not gas coal ?-No.
Q. We have it in evidence that the Gas Company in Montreal pay $5.50 ?-f

they get Newcastle coal they could get it for $5.50.
Q. But Nova Scotia coal, from the Albion Mines ?-I think they are payingpretty well for it if they pay that figure. It was a high figure last year.
Q. Have you any experience in the freight rates for coal between Montreal

and Toronto ?-No; i have not gone into that question.
Q. You have not gone into calculations as te the rate at which yon could laydown your coal in Toronto ?-No.
Q. Have you gone into calculations as to the possibility of obtaining return

freights from Upper Canada or the Western States, se as te establish a systematie
excharge between Sydney or Pictou and Toronto or Montreal ?-Up to the present
time thousands of coal men have been entirely divergent from that question, becase
they never could see into the probability or the possibility of a trade of that kind, butif it were once known in Upper Canada, that our coal could be laid down there ascheaply as from the United States a regular trade would be established. I think ifthis subject were ventilated a little there would be eventually a regular steady trade.
in flour and grain down and coal up.

Q. Do you meanu for foreign shipments from Nova Scotia ports, or for local con-
sumption ?-I mean for local consumption.

Q. They have already a large local consumption. The difference between what
they consume in Canada, and what they import from foreign countries of our heavier
products, would not represent a very large addition te the present amountef coal im-
ported ?-You import half a million of barrels of flour from the United Sttes-I
speak of the Lower Provinces.

Q. You are also acquainted with the fact that the railways are powerful com-
petitors with water communication for freights ?-Yes.

Q. Of course your freights are only available by water for about seven months
of the year ?-Yes.

Q. Don't you consider that the increased railway communication will rather
tend te direct the freight of flour and other products by land instead of by
water?-I doubt if any railway can carry as cheaply as by water-borne freight.Q. But having regard te the greater expedition by rail ?-No doubt a large
quantity would go in that wa.

Q. Yon spoke of the reyaty as a grevious burden ?-Yes.
Q. Are not you aware that it is simply a rental for the use of the mine?-

It is a matter of indifference how it is levied, or for what purpose. It is a tax on.the industry.
Q. So is a man's rental, is it not ?-Yes.
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- Q. If you paroka.ed th.e for asane, sand had to &Y a lar, sum, the
interest on that would Àao be a n?-Of course.

Q. Many of _the mie in the 1United States payfrom 25 to 35 cent. ,per ton
royalty ?~~h~ they an affrd to do it.

Q. Has not Nova Beotia coal been sold lower than 44 per ton in Montreal ?-
Last year was an exceptional year. A good deal ofcoal has been sold at lessthan $4.

By Mr. BJymond:
Q. What did you selL at last year ?-I never sold any for less than 84, but I know

of some being sold at $3.80.
Q. Do you know of any dissatisfaction having existed among bayera, with the

mode in which Nova Scotia coal has been handled or supplied ?-No.
By Mr. Workman:

Q. In regard to those ships you mentioned which bring out coal as ballast, does
not that enable them to take return freights at a lower rate, in consequence of get-
ting certain prices for their coal?--Well, they have to come back to the St. Law-
rence where -they hail from.

Q. Why ?-Because it is their home. Ships that hail from Quebec and go over
with lumber and timber have to come back, and they must take some ballast.

By Air. Dymond:-
Q. And any freight they can got on the way back is so mach assistance to then

on theround trip ?-Yes.
By Mr. Workman:

Q. This coal which they bring out enables them to earn so much money on the
return voyage, that they can carry lumber at a cheaper rate to the English market
than if they had to take other ballast ?-That may be a circumstance in their favour,
but I don't know that it enters into the calculations of the shipowner, because he
doesn't know that when he brings the coal out lie will find a market for it.

Q. Did you ever know of a cargo being sent back ?-No; but I have known some
that didn't pay the freight.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. At what ports in the United States could these vessels obtain cargoes of

timber if they didn't come to Quebec ?-At Savannah.
Q. They cannot carry coal to that port owing to the 75 cent. duty ?-Yes; I

suppose the duty is the same from Great Britain as from Canada.
Q. It is rather an advantage then to come to Quebec where there is no duty ?-

There is no duty there.
Q. It would be an advantage to come to Quebec rather than Savannah,

becanse they can bring ·their coal there free of duty ?-That depends on the rates
from Savannah. Other things being equal they would rather come to Quebec than
Savannah, because they bring coal out.

By Mr. Workman:-
Q. Do not vessels going to the American ports discharge their cargoes, and come

around to Quebec and load timber ?-Well, when I answered the question as to the
American ports, I simply presumed that the freight was for the point I named, that
is Savannah, and that it paid them or they would not go there. A ship would not
start with a cargo of coal from England to Savannah unless they knew it would pay.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. From what point do they ship Michigan lumber for Europe ?-Sometimes it

has been brought down to Montreal.
Q. Is Boston or New York its natural outlet ?-I think that they have found

that from Canada is the most direct.
By Mr. Goudg:

Q. I understand that you have a clasa of vessels in the Province of Quebec that
trade entirely with England, and are for the purpose of carryibg lumber exclusively.
Io that the case ?-Yes.



Q. What is the amount of that tonnage ?-It is verylarge. I am not prep:wd
tp4ay the amount.

Q.'As a general thing, they do not go to other ports for freight. but satisfy them-
*eelvS by trading between the porte in the Province of Quebec and Great Britain ?-
.4Geuerally that is the ease.

Q. Do you think that in arranging as to their profits, and as to what rates the ahip
van carry cargoes for, the freight of coal from Great Britain to this country entera
into their calculations ?-It enters into them in so far as thia: that they have either to
come back with coal or stone. If they use stone, it will eost five or six shillings; but
if they bring coal, and sell it for over seven shillings, which it costs, they make so much
-on the freighL

By Mr. Workman
Q. And the vessel has so much more money f- -Yes.

By Mr. Goudge:
Q. Is it not a faet that there are many vessels of other countries-Nova Seotia,

New Brunswick, and British ships-that enter iiito competition with that class tf
vessels ?-Yes; if there is sufficient number to employ them.

Q. Do not they come out very often with ballast, simply for the purpose of taking
home this lumber ?-Frequently they do.

Q. Do you think that the fact of the ships you speak of getting coal freights from
England to the Province of Quebec, lessens the rate at which lumber tcan be carried
back ?-I do not think it does; for if the market rate is, say eighty-five shillings, they
are not likely to take eighty shillings, simply because they can make something ont of
the coal.

Q. Is it not the case, that the profits from carrying coal in this way, are very
precarious ?-Yes.

By Mr. Workman
Q. You say, if they can get eighty-five shillings, they will not take eighty; what

enables them to get eighty-five shillings ?-That is their freight rate.
Q. If there was small freight, they would take higher prices; and if large, they

would take so much less ?-Of course.
Q. If the vessels can carry a cargo of coal out to Quebec, and get five ahillingý

freight for the difference of the cost, will they not come out to Quebec more readi y
than going to a port and ballasting with stone, for which they pay two shillings anti
six pence ?-It just amounts to this, that if they save money by ballasting with coal,
they are not going to reduce their rate simply because they may have made money.
It will not influence them to let their ships go for less than others, for a return freight
of lumber.

Q. Does the rate of freight depend on the quantity of tonnage at the port at
which the shipents are to be made?-Yes.

Q. What brings that tonnage out to Montreal or Quebec ?-They come out
seeking freights.

Q. You say the ships come with cargoes of coal ?-Simply because they are going
home.

Q. Many of them are English ships, Nova Scotian, Norwegian, German, and
-others ?-Yes.

Q. If these vessels can earn five shillings per ton on coal, carrying it from as
English port to Quebec, are they not more likely to come to Quebec than if theý-pY
two shillings and sixpence per ton for ballast ?-Certainly.

Q. Therefore that increases the tondhge at Quebec ?-As a rule they do not send.
one of their vessels until they know what is co(ming back.

Q. The question is this: if these vessels earn seven shillings and sixpence per ton
on their cargoes from an English port, are not they more likely to come to Quebeo
than if tbey earned nothing but had to pay two shillings and sixpence per ton for
ballast ?-I have answered that already; certainly they would.
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Q. Io it a fact that vessels bringing out coal earn seven shillings and sixpence oM
every ton of coal they briing out ?-No; I dop't believe they do.

Q. Is it a fact that most of the coal brought out from the English market iîs
brought in lieu of ballast and sold in the Province of Quebec at about its cost value ?
-Yes ; as nearly as possible that is the case.

By Mr. Workman
Q. You say that coal was put free on board at Cardiff last year for seven shillings

and sixpence. Are you aware of cargoes baving been sold at Quebec for seven.
shillings and sixpence per ton; you say the ship makes nothing ?-No; not nothing.
I don't say that the ship could offer to sell coal at seven and sixpence; but I do Say
that coal has been sold at Quebec for from $2.50 to $2.67 per ton :; $2.67 is about ten-
shillings and sixpence.

By the Chairman
Q. What proportion of the vessels engaged in this lumber trade come out in.

ballast ?- I could not answer that.
Q. Do you think the majority of the vessels coming out to Quebec and Montreat,

bring out coals?-I think the majority of the vessels coming out for lumber do-
sometimes just enough for ballast.

Q. More than one half of them ?-I think so, but I would not assert it positively.
By Mr. .Dymond:

Q. Some bring out salt and pig iron ?-Yes.
By the Chairman :

Q. Does that bear the same proportion as far west as Montreal ?--Vessels going
to Montreal as a rule bring out a general cargo.

Q. There must be considerably under one half of the vessels coming to Quebec
that bring out coals ?---Yes.

Q. What proportion do you think ?--I cannot say.
Q. Iow many ports are there in England from which coals are generally taken

from ?-There are five or six.
Q. Can you name them ?-Swansea, Cardiff, Glasgow, Liverpool, Newport, and

Greenock.
Q. Where does most of the lumberishipped from'Quebec go to ?-To nearly every

port in the United Kingdom.
Q. Which are the principal ports?-A large quantity goes by Bristol, Glasgow,-

Liverpool, and London.
Q. Are a large proportion of these coal ports ?-I cannot answer that.
Q. What is your belief or impression ?-I have no belief or impression about it.
Q. Do you think it would pay a vessel, which is chartered, to carry timber or

lumber to any port in the tnited Kingdom to disecharge ber cargo and 'go to any
other port and take on coal as ballast ?-It depends on circumstances.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto):
Q. I understand you to say that Nova Scotia coal competes successfully with

United States coal at Montreal to-day ?-No; United States bituminous coal comes to
Montreal.

Q. Well, English coal?-No; I don't think so, or we would not ask a duty to be
put on.

Q. You sell large quantities ?-Çontracts were made for it to be delivered.
Q. How far west of Montreal do you think Nova Scotia coal could come ?-We

have never placed it farther west than Brockville. My impression is that we could
place it at iamilton if we had fair play.



Mr. Rosco, M. P., called and examined:
By Mr. Dymond:

Q You are interested in British Columbia oal mines ?-I am a Director of the
Bayne Sound Coal Company.

Q. What description of coal is produced ?-There are four compames now in
British Cohgibia and Vancouver Island working coal. There are three companies
posaessing five mines at Nanaimo. The Company of whioh I am Director owns the
Vémox Mine, 50 miles north of Nanaimo.

Q. What is the capital of those companies ?-The first company that was started
was called the Vancouver Coal Company-an English company. The mine which
they bought was originally worked by a British Columbia company, who sold out to
the present Comox Company for a large sum. The capital is something like
£100,000 sterling.

Q. Can you give us approximately the amount of capital invested in coal in
Vancouver Island ? -That would be difficult to tell. The capital of our present
company at Nanaimo has been raised out of new operations. They have been putting
into it all the time.

Q. What is the class of coal produced by these mines ?-Bituminous. Anthracite
coal has been found on Queen Charlotte's Island, and a company spent a good deal of
money in attempting to work it, but ultimately they were obliged to abandon it.

Q. The major part of the coal is bituminous; suitable for steam and domestic
purposes ?-Yes.

Q. Is it valuable as a gas coal ?-Comox coal is better than Nanaimo. The latter
contains about 55.5 per cent. carbon; 35 per cent. volatile matter, and 9.5 per cent.
ash. The Bayne Sound coal contains 64.7 per cent. carbon ; 29.55 per cent. volatile
matter, and 5.75 per cent. ash. Richardson gives tho average of Vancouver coal as,.
carbon, 60 per cent.; volatile matter, 31, and ash 9.

Q. What is the gas-producing power of any of that coal ?-It is pretty high. It
is sold for gas purposes at Portland and San Francisco.

Q. Is your trade chiefiy with the interior ?-Almost entirely with San Francisco.
There is no actual coal found in the American territories, though lignite is found ln
some of them.

Q. Then the whole Pacifie coast would require to be supplied by you ?-Yes.
Q. What quantity of coal do you export annually ?-Last year 140,000 tons were

exported to San Francisco.
Q. At what price ?-The price has been about 65.00 or $5.50 per ton, put on

board at Nanaimo.
Q. That is Canadian currency ?-Yes; gold. Last year, in consequence of

heavy importations to San Francisco, by ships bringing out coal as ballast from
England, it went down to a very low price; $3.60 was the lowest price.

Q. Your answer is that you have sold it at $5.50, but the lowest price has been
$3.60 ?-Yes.

Q. That is the long ton ?-Yes.
Q. And that has been a satisfactory paying rate ?-About 63.00 profit. It would

not cost over $2.00 to put it down.

By Mr. Macdonald (Toronto):
Q. What dividends were paid? -Vancouver mines paid about 10 per cent.

Other companies must have made large profits, because we have been laying out a
good deal of money making railways, etc.

Q. How are the mines held ?-They are freehold.
By Mr. Dymond:--

Q.- Are the mining lands the property of the Local Goverument ?-The coat
Lands were reserved for building the Esquimalt and Nanaimo Railway. How they
stand now I don't know. That has been an obstacle in the way of developing the.
eoal.

Q. Then so far as you are concerned, your only competitors on the Pacifie
4-7 99



Coast are--?-England and Australia. A good deal comes from New South Wales.
Vessels bring out coal and carry back wheat.

Q. So that so far as a duty is concerned, it affects you al] alike ?-Yes.
Q. It does not affect any home industry ?-No. There is a little English coal

brought for blacksmith purposes.
Q. But you have no American coal to compote with ?-We can hardly call it

ffempetition, because the only American cail coming thef-e is anthracite.
4. Does coal come from the eastern ports of the United States as it does fro m

England--as ballast ?--No.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Are there no bituminous mines in Oregon ?-None in Oregon. There is
lignite in Washington Territory.

Q. What is the thickness of your seame ?-Six or seven feet; others are thicker.
By Mr. Dymond:

Q. Is the coal near the surface ?-Yes.
Q. So that the labour of raising the coal is very slight ?-Yes; very slight.
Q. Are the mines close to the shore ?-Yes, ours is 3â miles.
Q. Then with regard to the character of the coal, the facilities for raising and

shipping it, you are perhaps as well situated as any other country in the world?
-Yes.

By Mr. Goudge:-
Q. low far are your mines from the coast ?-Ours is between three and four

miles.
By Mr. Workman

Q. How does the quality of your coal compare with that of Nova Scotia?-It is
just about as good, as you will see from the analysis which I gave.

By the'Chairman:-
Q. Does it bring as good a price as English coal in San Francisco ?-Not quite.
Q. A duty placed on coal coming from England or the United States into the

Dominion of Canada would not affect you ?-No. We want the duty taken off in
,San Francisco.

By Mr. Workman:-
Q. Would it increase the price if the duty were taken off ?-Yes, it would give

us an advantage.
By the Chairman:-

Q. What is the depth of your seams ?-They. vary very much; miners coming
from other parts of the world fid their experience very much at fault with us.

Q. Is the angle very acute ?-No; ours is very gradual.
Q. Is it one in ten ?-Hardly as much, I think. I may say that the extent of our

coal fields can hardly be estimated. Richardson estimates the Comox mine at 300
square miles, and reckons the yield at close on eight millions of tons per square mile.

Q. What is the thickness of the seam ?-There are two or three scams. In the
Union mine, above that, it is double what J have mentioned.

By Mr. Dymond :-
Q. You bave iron and limestone close to the coal mines ?-Yes; on ours we have

both. On another they have wonderfully large deposits of very rich iron ore
combined.

Q. So that you have all the facilities that Great Britain bas for large manufac-
tures ?-Y--es.

By the Chairman:
Q. Are not some of the deposits of iron on the Pacifie Couat in United States

territory?-I have not heard of any.
By &fr. Goudge.:

Q. Do I understand you to say that you shippd to San Francisco 140,000 tons of
coal, or is tbat the amount yon raiséd ?-No; tht was shipped to San Franciaco;
there must have been close to 200,000 last year.

Q. The San Franciaco Janaul of Commetce in giving the different quotations
100

40 Wictoria la 16%Apkx (%. 4.)



Appenuiz (Ne. 4. A. 187

imputed since 1862, states that 101,572 tons is the quantity, and the British Columbi-
Kerald says that British Columbia produeed altogether 40,000 tons ?-In that case I
muet be in error. I have probably taken the whole production for the export to San
Francisco.

MoZnAqY, April 9th, 18717.
Committee met.-Mr. MAcKAY in the Chair.
Mr. F. MCILWRAITH, of Hamilton, called and examined:

By .Mr. Dymond:-
Q. You have been in the coal trade many years ?-Five years on my own

account and eighteen as manager of the Hamilton Gas Works, during which time of
service I bought coal for the company.

Q. Where did you obtain your supplies of bituminous coal?-Mostly from
Cleveland.

Q. And anthracite coal ?-From Oswego.
Q. What are the mines in Ohio from which your coal is chiefly obtained ?-The

best description of steam coal is Briar Hill.
Q. And gas coal ?--Youghoighena is considered the best.
Q. Is the anthracite coal you buy from Ohio or Pennsylvania ?---Pennsylvania.
Q. Is it your practice to purchase at outport prices Ôr delivered ?-We purchase

at the outports.
Q. The prices you give then would be free on board at Cleveland and Oswego,

respectively ?--Yes.
Q. Are your coals brought to Hamilton in Canadian vessels ?-Mostly in Cana-

dian; occasionally in American ones.
Q. What is the quantity brought to Hamilton annually from these ports?-Of

al kinds, about 50,000 tons.
Q. Ilow much of that is bituminous ?-Scarcely one-half; about 22,000 or

23,000 tons.
Q. About 28,000 anthracite ?-Yes.
Q. Is the whole supply of coal.brought to Hamilton in the way you have men-

tioned ?-About this season of the year when stocks run low there is a little of both
kinds by rail, but it costs more than by, water, and they endeavour to avoid carrying
itso, as much as possible.

Q. Your whole consumption is of American coal ?-Yes.
Q. For what purpose is the anthracite coal chiefly used ?-Mostly for domestic

purposes, heaing and cooking.
Q. And in what manufactures ?-In foundries. For smelting iron they use the,

Lehigh.
Q. Bituminous is used for steam and gas purposes ?-Steam, gas, and glass manu-

facture.
Q. What has been the average prices of bituminous coal during the period in

which you have been acquainted with the trade ?-On the wharf,'$4.50 per ton, for
the average quality of bituminous coal.

Q. Briar Hill is regarded as the best ?-Yes.
Q. What would be the average price for it ?-About $1 more.
Q. And the lowest price of average coal-I am not speaking of slack or small

nut--for steam purposes?- Cheap steam coal could be laid down during that period
for $3.50.

Q. That has been an extraordinary low rate for that period ?-No.
By Mr. Sinclair:-

Q. What kind of coal is that?-That is secondary steam quality.
By Mr. Dymond:--

Q. Was the price last year considerably lower than the average ?-It was below
the average.
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Q What were you giving for Briar Hill coal at Cleveland last year ?-43.60.
Q. In cureney ?-Yes.
Q. That is about $3.30 gold ?-Yes.
Q. And freights cost about- ?-81.25. It varied of course.
Q. Then the average price of your coal would be $4.55? -Yes.
Q Was that laid on the wharf-covering the landing charges ?-Yes.
Q. And what was the lowest rate for average steam coal, as distinguished from

Briar Hill, or superior coal in Hamilton, in 1876 ?.-The average'rate for an inferior
.quality of steam coal in 187$, was $3.50.

SQ. The price of anthracite-has varied very much during the five years you have
been in the general trade ?-Not much until last year, when the whole trade was
thrown into confusion by the breaking up of existing arrangements.

Q. What was. the average price of anthracite on the wharf during these five
years ?-$6.50 would, I think, be the average price.

Q. Not more than that ?-No.
Q. Not so much as $6.75 during those years ?-$6.50 would be low, [ thiuk.

Prices vary considerably.
Q. Did the price of anthracite fluctuate much last year ?-Very much.
Q. What was about the average rate on the wharf, last year ?-It depended very

much on the freights. At the opening of the season the price was high; and then the
arrangements carried on by the producers broke, and there was a drop of $1.40 per
ton. Those who got stocks at that time would have a low average. From a month
after, to the close of navigation, prices increased; so it is difficult to fix an average.

Q. What.was the lowest price at which anthracite coal, of good quality, was
bought last year ?-I laid down a quantity on the wharf, at Hamilton, at $4.50.

Q. What was the price when the season opened and before the disturbance in
the trade took place ?-It was close to $6.

Q. Do you find the demand tor anthracite coal Iargely increased ?---Very much:
both as the city increases, and as the appliances for the use of it are improved. We
have now an excellent description of stoves for heating and cooking by coal, which
leads to an increase of coal very much for these purposes.

Q. Are you aware of any of those appliances for using up the slack of bituminous
ceal ?-That is all used for the lower description of steam purposes.

Q. I speak of domestic purposes ?-I am not aware of any.
Q. Does the diminution in the supply of wood affect the demand for anthracite

coal?-Yes; of course, that has an effect.
Q. Then, do you suppose that in five or ten years the demand for anthracite coal

will, from that cause be very much enhanced ?-Yes; very much.
Q. What is the quantity of coal used in manufactories by persons you are

acquainted with. or with whom you do business ?--The gas works use 3,000 tons
of bituminous coal.

Q. And there are the large glass factories ?--Between them they use about 5,500
tons.

Q. Any other large factory you could mention ?-Stewart' sfoundry uses 400 tons
of Lehigh for smelting iron.

Q. And Guerney's ?---I don't supply them this season.
Q. Have you made any speculations with Nova Scotia coal?-No; I have not.
Q. Did you ever see any that was brought to Hiamilton ?-I think a cargo was

brought about 1869 by steamer.
Q. What was the character of that sample ?-It was not woll received by the

people. They had a better coal from the United States. I saw a portion of the cargo.
Q. You examined it ?--Yes; I examined it with a view of purchasing. It was not

considered to be a good sample of Nova Scotia coal.
Q. It was badly selected ?-Yes; much better coal could have been brought.

By -Mr. Tupper:
Q. Do you know from what mine it came ?-No; the impression was that a better

coal could have been brought.
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By Mr. Dymond:-
Q Do you knowthe price it fetched ?-I did not buy any, and 1 think it wa- zuI

fer what it would bring.
Q. It did not enter into commercial calculation ?-No.
Q. As a gas manufacturer do you find American coals very satisfactory ?-Yes,

-they are superior to any coals I have met for that purpose. I was engaged in gas
maunufacture in Scotland where they used Newcastle coal.

By Mr. Tupper:-
Q. Is Anierican coal equal to Newcastle ?-It is superior.

By Mr. Dymond:
Q. Where were you engaged in the manufacture of gas ?-In the town of Ayr.
Q. What are the average rates of froight for coal from Cleveland to Hamilton ?-

,,One dollar and fifty cents would be about the average during the years in which I
was engaged in the trade.

Q. And from Oswego ?-About '5 cents.
Q. What were the rates last year ?-Less than that, owing to the depression in

many branches of business.
Q. What would be the lowest rates last year for freights from those places?-

From Cleveland $1.25 ; from Oswego 60 cents.
Q. Are these vessels engaged in any other trade than coal?-Very many of theni

only take coal as a last resort, when other branches are slack. Large timber vessela
bring down coal.

Q. Is that tiniber local or American ?-I think there are both, though I have
not handled it. I understand they bring it both from Michigan and from the Lake
Erie shore, as well as from Georgian Bay.

Q. What is the general size of these vessels ?-They would carry about 500 tona
of coal- as much as they can bring through the Welland canal.

Q. Are the vessels from Oswego and Cleveland to Hamilton of that size ?-Thosm
from Oswego are a small size that do not pay to go through the Welland canal, and.
they bring down loads of grain to Oswego from Hamilton and other ports.

Q. The fact that the lumber trade is depressed enables you to get cheap freights
for coal?-Yes.

Q. And those vessels unable to carry lumber are largely engaged in the coal
trade ?-Yes.

Q. They bring anthracite coal from Oswego, and have return freights fronm
Hamilton ?-Yes, that is the usual way.

Q. Do they go to any Canadian port with grain? Are they engaged at any
other time in carrying grain from Oswego to Montreal or other ports ?-No; I think
not.

Q. Would they be adapted for a Gulf trade if they were disengaged from the
American trade ?-They are too small to be profitable, I'm afraid. It does not pay
them even to go to Cleveland, they are so small.

Q. Have you had much experience -of the comparative advantages of carrying
by railway and by water ?-I have imported more or less-by rail, but water commu-
nication is much the cheaper.

Q. The railway is more economical as far as handling goes ?-A little more
'There is less waste in handling.

Q. But not sufficiently so to make you desire to give up the water for the rail-
way ?-No.

By the Chairman;-
Q. What is the retail price of the best bituminous coal in Hamilton at the

present time ?-85.50 for picked bituminous coal, free from slack.
Q. Is that delivered ?-Yes.
Q. What does the delivery represent ?-About SO cents per ton.

By 'Mr. Dymond:
Q. Are those cash prices ?-They profess to ho, but we don't always get the,

casb.
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By the (Jhairman
Q. That is the best Briar fill-Yes.
Q. Flow high have you known Briar Hill to be sold retail in Haihilton ?-46

per ton.
Q. You bave never known it to exceed that?-Well, I have not sold it for more.
Q. Do you know if it has exceeded that prioe ?-I could not say.
Q. What is the highest price at which you have known anthracite to be sold ?-

In former times, before we had means of supplementing our stocks by rail, of course
the prices went up in proportion to the stocks in hand, and it has been as high as
per ton.

Q. What does it sell at this winter ?-It varies very much ; it bas been as low as,
$5.50; it is now selr' g at $6.50

Q. You say tl4 $4.50 per ton is the cost of bituminous éoal of average quality ;
is that laid dow4k on the wharf at Hamilton ?-Yes; that is the average price-
extending over a number of years, andfor an average quality of coal.

Q. What sort of coal would that be-lump, or slack, or what ?-Large lump;
nearly all lump, except what is made in handling.

Q. Do you mean that is the best kînd of that character of coal ?-The best for
the money, but it is not Briar Hill which is considered the best.

Q. This coal that is laid down at $4.50, is that the best quality of coal that eau
be had, other than Briar Hi1l ?-Yes ; for general steam purposes. Gas coal is
different.

Q. Is it what you call nut coal?---No ; it is a large block coal.
Q. Then it is the largest of that kind?-Yes; of that average quality, except

Briar IL11.
Q. But there is no better quality of that class of coal?-We class Brigr Hill andi

those others as bituminous coal. This is the average quality of bituminous coal.
Q. You spoke of a gas coal which you say is laid down at a price, for the last few

years, of $4.50. What is the price of a better gas coal ?-That is the Youghoighena
which is referred to.

Q. That is the cost of gas coal on the wharf at Hamilton ?-I think it* costs a
little less, but I haven't bought it since I left the gas works, five years ago.

Q. Thea you are not in a position to state the cost of a gas coal placed on the
wharf at Ilanilton ?-No.

Q. Would it be much over $4.50 per ton ?-No; I think not.
Q. It would be more ?-Twenty cents more, I think.
Q. At least that ?-Yes; 20 to 25 cents as nearly as I can judge as to the differ-

ence between the two kinds.
Q. You speak also of $3.50 a ton for coal laid down at Hamilton. Is that nut

coal ?-No; it is pretty small but it is not a nut coal.
Q. You say the, price is $4.50 for average quality; you also name $3.50 as a

price. Is it the same class of coal ?-I hardly understand what meaning you attach
to "class." It is a bituminous coal of inferior quality.

Q. $3.50 is for round coal ?-No.
Q. But it is an inferior coal ?-Yes.
Q. Used for what purpose ?-The lower class of steam purposes, where they

don't require a very high power and wish to work economically.
Q. How high have you known the average quality of steam coal to be laid down

at Hamilton for? Yon say $4.50 is the average, what is the highest you have known
it ?-It has not varied very much. Prices went up during the war, but we had an
equivalent in the price of gas.

Q. Since that bow high have you known it ?-I think the highest was in 1872,
when it was as high as $6.

Q. Is not $3.50 rather a low price at an outport for Briar Hill ?-Yes.
Q. How high have you known it to be at Cleveland ?-It has been 81 per ton

iiigher than that.
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Q, How high have you known freight to be? Youtated that it is ,1.25.-I
have known it to be nearly double that-2A.40.

Q. Have you made these calculations from háving the2prices for each year and
avieraging them ?-Yes.

Q. From your own experience ?-Yes.
Q. How far back have you gone ?-Twenty-three years as regards bituminousw

coal
Q. And anthracite ?-Five years.

9TH APRIL, 2 o'clock, p.m.
Mr. JoHN W. MURToN called and examined:

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. You are a coal merchant in Hamilton ?-Yes.
Q. You heard the evidence of Mr. McIlwraith with regard to the prices of coal»

at Hfamilton? Do you agree generally with what he has stated ?-Generally speak-
ing, without going into the differences of opinjon.

Q. Is there any point in which you differ from him ?-There is a difference in
the way of clamses or grades of coal.

Q. I& there anything in his evidence with regard to the prices of coal that you
would desire to correct from your own experience ?-I don't remember exactly what
were the figures.

Q. What is your opinion as to the lowest rate at which steam coal was delivered.
at Hamilton last year ?-Thatis the lowest grade?

Q. Lowest price of steam coal?-About $4.
Q. What was the class of coal to which you refer ?-Lump coal.
Q. Were any classes of steam coal other than lump coal sold at lower rates than

$4 ?-Soft nut coal.
Q. That is used for steam purposes ?-Yes; when they don't require 'l arge-

power.
Q. That is nut coal ?-Yes; the same grade as the other, only including nut.
Q. At what price did it sell delivered at Hamilton ?-About $3.50.
Q. Do the prices you quote include delivery at the wharf?-Yes.
Q. Soft Briar Hill coal has been spoken of. Does that refer to one class of coal

of several varieties ?-The word " Briar Hill " is now used as distinguishing a class
of coal, not coming frora any one mine, but from various mines producing the sane-
grade, or distinct quality, or variety of coal. Formerly took its name from Briar
Hill Bank, which ran out many years ago. All coals from the Chenango and
Mahoining Valleys of that partieular class-block coal-are now known as Briar
Hill of different qualities. In Cleveland it is all called Briar Hill under various
grades.

Q. Is it not called block coal ?-Yes.
Q. What is the peculiarity of that coal ?-It has a splint fracture.
Q. Can you name another sample of coal which has a different fracture ?-

There is another coal which nearly covers every other kind under the general name
of Massachussetts, which breaks with a cubical fracture.

Q. Is it a soft coal ?-Yes; bituminous.
Q. Then Briar Hill is a hard, bituminous coal, and this a soft bituminous coal?

-Yes.
Q. You are engaged in shipping as well as in the coal trade ?-Yes; we own

Vessels.
Q. What is your estimate of the ordinary rate of freight between Oswego and'

Iamilton, or botween Cleveland and Hamilton ?-The ordinary average rate between
Oswego and Hamilton for a number of years has been 60 cents; last year it was 45
cents; that includes the cost of putting the coal on the wharf.
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Q. When you purchase at Oswego is it free on board ?-Yes.
Q. What are the rates from Cleveland ?-Last year was the lowest we experi-

-enced; it was about $1.15 to $ 1.20 and 81.25.
Q. How far was that below the ordinary average ?-We would consider the ordi-

mary rate $1.45 to #1.50.
Q. Are your vessels engaged in any other business than carrying coal?-No.
Q. When you go to Oswego do you take no freight down ?-We never go to

Oswego ourselves; we have only one vessel and we keep it between Cleveland and
Hamilton.

Q. Then you are not engaged in the general shippigg trade ?-Well, we some-
times carry general merchandise on board our vessel.

Q. And with regard to other vessels than your own ?-No; we do not engage in
other trade.

Q. Have you made any experiments in bringing coal from Nova Scotia ?-
Three or four years ago a friend of my own was acting as agent for a Nova Scotia
mine, and solicited by him, I was desirous of trying a cargo, and 1 agreed to do so
provided they could obtain a vessel to carry it. We advertised in the Globe and
endeavoured personally to obtain a vessel and get a cargo down, but after trying for
some time we could only obtain half a cargo, so we bad to abandon the idea.

Q. Of what did the partial cargo consist ?-So many barrels of ftour made up
from different firms.

Q.' You allude to sailing vessels ?-Yes.
Q. Would the vessels with which you are acquainted be adapted for bringing

-coal, provided freights down could be obtained ?-f presune some of them would;
that navigation is somewhat of an ocean navigation, and I hardly think you could
-get many of them to go there.

Q. They are a class of vessels particularl y i t (( for the lake trade ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know what tonnage they represent ?-The vessels that bring soft coal

from Cleveland and other parts on Lake Erie average about 450 tons. Vessels of 550
tons can go through the Welland Canal, but the average is, perhaps, about 400.

By the Chairman:
Q. Is that the carrying capacity?-Yes; the registered tonnage would be a little

-over one-half. Vessels from Oswego are smaller.
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. Do you supply any large establishments in Hamilton with coal, other than
those Mr. McIlwraith has mentioned ?-We have supplied both of the glassworks, and
I am supplying one of them at present. It uses 3,500 tons a year. There are also
-two large factories in Dundas. The Dundas Cotton Mills use nearly 2,000 tons a
year.

Q. Bituminous coal ?-At first they used bituminous, but afterwards they com-
anenced to use hard coal. They have now returned to bituminous.

Q. Is it for steam purposes ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know of anthracite coal being extensively used for steam purposes?

-It has been tried and found economical in some cases, but it injures the boilers.
Q. Does it not depend on the construction of the grates ?-Yes; if they arrange

the fire-dogs to suit.
By the Chairman:

Q. Does anthiacite coal affect the boilers injuriously ?-It has been stated that
it does. I supplied a felt hat factory in Hamilton for a year or so. They thought it
economical with regard to prices, but they were obliged to abandon it entirely.

Q. They used it for steam purposes ?-Yes ; but they gave it up again for soit coal.
Q. Why ?-On account of the injury to the boiler.

By Mr. Dymond :
Q. Your idea of the increase in the use of anthracite is confined to the demand

for domestic purposes ?-Yes; and smelting.
Q. You have large factories in Hamilton ?-Yes; many of therm, especially of

stoves.
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Q. Do you supply Gurnef's ?-Yes; with Lehigh last year.
Q. How much do they use ?-300 or 400 tons, sometimes 500.

By Mr. McGregor :-
Q. What idea have you of how a duty on coal would affect your trade ?-The

.only effect would be to make the people pay for it. A daty wa put on by Sir
Fran-cis Hincks some years ago, and then the duty was removed before the seaon
was over, and left us with our stocks on hand and the duty paid. Hamilton dealera
could not bond their coal, and Toronto dealers were allowed to bond theirs, so that
they escaped free of the duty.

By -Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Did the duty on coal cause any Nova Seotia coal to be purchased to your

knowledge in Upper Canada ?-No.
By Mr. McGregor:-

Q. Would a duty of fifty cents per ton enable you to use Nova Scotia coal ?-No.
Q. 'ou know something of the shipping from there ?-Yes; I have my opinion,

-and it is that it wouild preclude any such idea as using Nova Scotia coal.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you know what coal costs free on board at the Nova Scotia mines?-

'Three or four years ago it was from $1.75 to $2.50 ?
Q. Do you think they could compete at Hamilton at those figures?-No; I eau-

not see how'they eau; because it will take vessels six times as long to make the
-trip. The minimum freight is $1 to $1.20 between Cleveland and Hamilton. I can-
uot see how they eau make the freight to pay from Nova Sotia.

Q. You speak of Nova Scotia coal and base it on the opinion that coal could be
eold from $1.75 to $2.50 ?-I believe from the information I possess that is the rate.

Q. Do you know what freights would be upwards ?--I cannot tell what they are
at the present time There was an offer made to me by the late Mr. Chisholm to,
bring up coal for $3.75 at that time.

Q. That, with the maximum of $2.50, would be $6.25 ?--Yes; I don't believe a
vessel once making the trip would care to do it again.

Q. What is the price of Briar Hill coal laid down in Hamilton ?-Four dollars
and fifty ceùts last year.

Q. And this would be $6.25 at those figures ?-Yes.
Q. And you consider as a matter of course that 'Nova Scotia coal eould not com-

pete at those prices with the United States ?--I don't believe it could. I don't bo-
ieve it could be freighted f or any such figure. A man might make an offer without

knowing the details of the trip, but I don't think he would do it again.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. Supposing a down f.eight of wheat o- lumber for Nova Scotia were obtained

do you think that coal could then be broaght at less thi1 $3.75 ?-No; for thoos
figures were based on that idea.

Q. The vessel you spoke of in connection with the late Mr. Chisholm was a
propellor ?-Yes, the propellor "I Her Majesty."

By the Chairman:--
Q. What amount of duty do you consider would be necessary to enable Nova

Scotia to compote with the United States in the Hamilton market?-It would be
$1.75, presuming the freight could be obtained at the rates that have been named.
I presume that the best grade of coal in Nova Scotia is equal to the best grade in the
United States. I don't believe the freights could be sustained at those figures, fur
less than $6 per ton.

Q. Say $2.50 at Nova Scotia, and $3.75 freight, that would be $8.25. The best
Briar Lil would be $4.50, leaving a difference of $1.75. As a matter of course it
would take that much to put them on-an equal basis? -Yes; if those rates of freight
could be obtained.
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By Mr. DByond:-
Would it be possible to arry on a trade with schooners if not by team ves--

mis, at lower rates ?-I am not enough of a navigator to know, but we expect sailing
veSsels to be lower.

Q. What time does ittake a sailing vessel to make a trip between your port and
Sydney, or Pictou ?-Ten weeks.

Q. A vessel could not make more than three trips a year ?-She could not make
8o many.

Q. How long does it take between Cleveland and Hamilton ?-Fourteen days at
the outside. My vessel made it last year in seven ; the average is twelve.

Q. How long by steamer ?-Two or three days. We never carry coal by-
steam.

Q. You don't supply any steamers in that trade ?-No.
By the Chairman

Q. You are not aware that coal is very much lower than $2.50 ?-T don't knowr
as to that.

Q. Do you know the present freight rates ?-No.
By Mr. McGregor :

Q. Do you know anything of the comparative qualities of American and Nova.
Scotian coal ?-Only from hearsay. I believe they have excellent coal in Nov&
Scotia, but I don't think they have anything of the Briar Hill type, though it is,
snother question whether they have another quality equal to it.

TUEsDY, April 10.
Committee met.-Mr. MAcKAY in the Chair.
Captain EDwARD ZEALAND called and examined:

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. You are a shipmaster and owner ?-Yes; a master-mariner and owner.
Q. How long have you been engaged in the trade ?-As master-mariner some

'31 years; and as ship owner, 25.
Q. Of what does your fleet consist ?-Two sailing vessels and one propeller.
Q. What is the tonnage ?-The propeller is 284 tons, new register.
Q. And the schooners ?-One is 222 tons, and the other 210 tons, I think.
Q. Between what ports does the propeller mostly ply ?-She trades principally

between the Arnerican ports-Chicago and Toledo-and Montreal.
Q. And the schooners ?-Principally between Cleveland, Toronto, Hamilton

and Kingston. They take a good deal of grain from Toronto and Hamilton to
Kingston.

Q. The propeller does not carry coal ?-No; I do not know of any propellers
that do.

Q. The sailing vessels ply between the lake ports and lamilton ?-Yes.
Q. Cleveland and Oswego ?-And Sandusky. We have no particular places-

wherever a cargo is offered, either on the American or Canadian side.
Q. Is their business chiefly carrying of coal ?-Yes; in the summer. In the fall

cbiefly grain.
Q. The grain would be a return freight ?-No; it is all down freight.
Q. Are they employed in carrying grain from our side to any Amorican or

Canadian port ?-Sometimes we load in Toronto or Hamilton, but as a general thing
we go to Toledo, Detioit and Chicago.

Q. You load with grain then and bring it through to Montreal ?-Yes.
Q. You are not in the habit of making the round trip-coal one way and grain

the other ?-Sometitnes we bring back coal from Oswego, having a cargo from
Toronto aud Hamilton.
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Q. Then they may be said to dérive their reveme as a rule, froth the coi C
-Yes.

Q. When you bring coal from Cleveland, do you pay the toli on the Welland
canal?-Yes ; on the canal downwajrds, but not upwards.

Q. As against Nova Scotia coal there is that small toll or duty ?-;-Yes.
Q. What is the armount per ton ?-Not less than fifteen cents; I am not sure but

it is twenty.
Q. Is that on a ton of coal ?-Yes; that is canal toll. There is also a charge of

two cents per ton on the vessel.
Q. In, carrying freight, does the vessel pay the tolls, ur the freight ?-The vessoe

pays the tolls on the Welland canal and the others, except that the liarbour dues are
*collected from the consignee.

Q. The harbour dues are chargeable to the consignee ?-Yes.
Q. Are there any coals brought by the St. Lawrence ?-No; there are noue.
Q. What are the working expenses of a propeller of 400 or 500 tons burden, per

day ?--$100 to $125 per day.
Q. Iow many days would a vessel be in bringing a cargo of coal, say from

ýSydney to Hlamilton ?-The last trip I made was in 1872. We were two months and
ten days to Halifax.

Q. I am speaking of the propellers ?-I have not béen down with the propellere,
I think it would take at least one month.

Q. On the round trip ?-Yes.
Q. Would there be anything to prevent your steam vessels on the lakes from

running to Sydney for supplies of coal if you could obtain down freights ?-There are
very few propellors that have not injured themselves in that trade, for the want of
inachinery adapted for the purpose. They require surface condensers and other
machinery which loads thom down so that they are not safe for canal trade.

Q. Would it be easy to adapt the machinery for salt water purposes?-About
41,000 would put the machinery in, but it would make them so much more dan-
gerous.

Q. You mean that the machinery would load them down ?- Yes.
Q. You are affected by the size of your vessels, and their draft of water, so far as

the canals and a portion of the St. Lawrence is concerned.?-Yes.
Q. Would your opinion, as a practical man, be that it would be very difficult ta

-carry coal between Hamilton and Toronto and Sydney or Pictou ?-My experience
is that it would not pay.

Q. Have you entered into any calculations to show what the cost would be, as
*ngainst the possibility of realizing a freight ?-I have often tried, along with others,
to get a freight up, for the purpose of opening that commerce; but we could never
aee our way clear, except in one case in 1872, when I went down for Mr. Chisholm,
-and then we lost money. We had $2,650 for the round trip.

Q. Was that in a sailing vessel ?-Yes.
Q. Of what tonnage ?-266, 1 think.
Q. What amount of coal did ahe carry ?-We took in about 500 tons at Pictou.
Q. Did you get a down freight ?-Yes; it was under the inducement of the

down freight that we went.
Q. Of what did it consist ?-Flour, Indian corn, butter and sewing machines and

other manufactured goods.
Q. Then, it was a miscellaneous freight ?-Yes.
Q. You realized $2,650 on the round trip ?-Yes.
Q. What did you pay for coal ?-It was the consignees bought the coal, and I

could not positively say what they paid ; it is too long since. I think it was some-
where near $1, but I could not say positively.

Q. Then, you lost money by that trip ?-Yes.
Q. And you have not tried it aince ?-No.
Q. Do you remember where you got your coal?-From theltercoloniami

.1 think.
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Q. What was the quality of the coal ?-It was supposed to be a good quality.
They detained us for a few days, so that we might get freshly mined coal.

Q. You are a judge of coal ?-Yes; I have carried and bought some.
Q. Do you know whether it was regarded as a fair sample ?-I think it was con-

sidered a good sample.
Qi Did you hear the result of a trial of it ?-It burnt very nicely, but there was

a great deal of slack in it.
By .Mr. Power:-

Q. You say there was a large amount of slack in it ?-Yes ; it was softer than
American coal. It broke in handling and in going down the shoots.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q, I suppose there would be no difficulty in obtaining large American down

freights, if you were once to establish a trade between Hamilton and Sydney ?-I
think not. They are always anxious to get the cheapest route.

Q. You would not have to depend on mixed cargoes for propellers running.
regularly between Hamilton and Sydney ?-If they had a proper class of propellers
for that trade. But there will be a difficulty, for the reason that the boats adapted
for the lakes draw so much less water than those for the Gulf.

Q. Your reasoning then brings you to something like this result: That a pro-
pellor could not be constructed to carry coal profitably with the present draft of
water between Hamilton and Sydney, and the voyage by sailing vessels would be too
tedious ?-Yes; I always find when freights are <ull a sailing vessel can make more
znoney than a propellor, because the expenses are so much less.

Q. Has the American coal trade been of much assistance during the dil times?
-Yes; quite a help.

Q. llas the low price of coal in the Jnited States facilitated your business ?-I
don't think it made any difference; they import only as they want it.

By Mr. Power:-
Q. If freights were obtained both ways wouldn't the trade pay ?-If they were,

certainly; but it is a very expensive route, the most so of any part of the world.
Q. You think it would not pay propellors at all at a reasonable rate ?-No.

By Mr. Dynond :-
Q. How many trips a year do you make between Hamilton and Oswego or-

Cleveland ?-About three trips a month.
Q. I think you stated that it would take ten weeks to make the trip between

lamilton and Sydney with a sailing vessel?-Yes.
Q. So a vessel could only make at the most three trips in a season, providing

there were no unusual delays ?-Yes.
Q. And if laid up for repairs only two ?--Yes; and it is a very dangerous route

on account of the fogs and shoals.
By Mr. Sinclair:-

Q. What is the rate of freight between Hamilton and Oswego ?-60 cents.
Q. And you can make the trip in ten days ?-Yes; in less than a week. From

Cleveland it is three trips a month. We often make the trip to Oswego in three or
four days.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q. You could make six or seven trips per month to Oswego ?-Yes.
Q. What is the rate from Cleveland to Hamilton ?-About $1.50.
Q. Has it been much lower lately?-About $1.20 last season.
Q. Is this season likely to be about the sane rate ?-It may be a little better;

we hope it will.
Q. I think you stated that the tolls are collected on the tonnage of the freight ?

-Yes; on the net ton of the freight.
Q. What is the average time of one of your vessels between Toronto and Toledo

or Chicago ?-We can make the trip from Montreal to Chicago in about two weeks-
with the propellôr.
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Q. And with the sailing vessels ?-They seldom come further than Kingam,
They average about a trip a month the year round.

Q. And your opinion as a man of siness is unfavorable to the creation of a
trade between our ports and Sydney?-I would like to see it established, but I don't
see how it could pay.

By Mr. Sinclair
Q. How much would you require per ton from Hamilton to Sydney to make the

same profit as you do from Hamilton to Oswego ?-I could not tell you that, but it
would be quite six or seven times as much as from Hamilton to Cleveland.

Q. Sixty cents you said was the rate from Oswego ?-Yes.
Q. At that rate it would be about nine dollars'?-Yes.
Q. And if you had no handling or discharging you could do it for lesu ?-I

would not go for less if we had to go expressly for coal, without a cargo both ways.
Q. If you had a cargo both ways, for how much could you take coal from

Sydney to Toronto ?-In 1872 Mr. Black, agent of the Intercolonial, offered me
$3.26 to Montreal, and it is worth $2 per ton to carry coal from Montreal to Hamilton.

By Mr. Dymond:-
Q, But are not freights lower now than in 1872?-Yes; but we made no money

at that time.
Q. Why ?-From the length of time required and the expense of the trip.
Q. Are these vessels that you own engaged in the timber trade ?-No; not in

the square timber trade; but we carry lumber from Georgian Bay, Chatham and
Manitoulin Island.

O. Where do they sail to ?-To different places on the American side-.princi-
pally Oswego, but soinetimes Cleveland and Buffalo.

Q. Do they sometimes bring coal back ?-Yes; when they go to Oswego and
Cleveland.

By Mr. Sinclair:-
Q. I would like you to express an opinion as to what you believe it would

require for freight between Sydney and Hamilton. to make it as profitable as from
Hamilton to Oswego and Cleveland ?-I hardly know how to answer, for I have not
calculated upon that question in any way.

Q. You stated that you could make six trips from Hamilton to Oswego while
making one to Sydney ?-I would rather make six trips from Belleville to Toronto
than one to Pictou and back. k-g

Mr. HERBERT WALLIS, of Montreal, called and examined:
By Mr. Dymond:-

Q. What is your position on the Grand Trunk ?-I am superintendent of the
locomotive and car department.

Q. The purchase of coal comes under your management ?-Partially so; I know
all about it from practical experience.

Q. Does the Grand Trunk use coal alimost exclusively ?-We use about 160,000
or 170,000 tons in the year-perhaps about one-half of our fuel supply.

Q. The rest is wood ?-Yes.
Q. Is the demand for coal increasing ?-Yes.
Q. The tendency is to use coal exclusively ?-Yes, on the greater portion of the

road.
Q. You use bituminous coal altogether ?-Yes.
Q. Can you give us the distribution of the coal over districts or Iplaces?-We

-should receive, say at Brockville 30,000 tons; Belleville 30,000 tous; Toronto about
35,000; Montreal about 20,000 ; Stratford about 25,000; andI suppose the balance we
should probably take to the International Bridge on the Canada side.

Q. And 20,000 at the Bridge ?-Yes.
Q. From what quarter do you obtain supplies ?-At the present time we take our

supplies for Brockville from the United States. Eastward we are supplied from the
ower Provinces and partially from England.

Q. Having an opportunity of comparig the two coals, NovaSotian and English,
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i-an you tell us how they compare in quality and economy ?-Takiag the American
coal as a whole it is superior in steam qualitfies to that froin the ILcwer Provinces>
though some of the latter is'very good.

Q. From what mines do you obtain Nova Scotia coal ?-From the Intercolonia
Black Diamond, and Aldboro'.

Q. Where do you obtain your American coal ?-From the Catfish and Alleghany
Valley and the Buffalo Coal Company's mine. Then thore are some mines on the Brie
Road.

Q. What name is given to the American coal which you get ?-Thero is the
Catfish coal; I don't know what naine they give to the coal from the Buffalo Coal
Company. I don't think it bas any particular name.

Q. Have you lately asked for tenders for the supply of coal ? -Yes ; we settled
them yesterday.

Q. Would you kindly state the terms on which you obtained your coal ?-The
price at Montreal is $3.96 in gold; that would be free on the wharf. That is Nova
,Scotia coal. We have not quite determined about the English coal, but I think it is
-about 17 shillings sterling.

Q. That is the offer you have ?-Yes; but in addition to that we pay wharfage,
which would be five or ten cents.

Q. When you say you have determined, you mean that you have not accepted
the tender ?-We have most of them; only for a small quantity of English coal.
Probably we shall not get more than 5,000 or 6,000 tons of English coal.

Q. Did you have no American tenders to supply coal at Montreal ?-No; that is
out of their market.

Q. Then the only coal in competition there with Nova Scotia coal is English
coal ?-Yes.

Q. What are the other prices ?-The cost of the coal delivered in the yard at
Brockville is $3.90 ; at Belleville $4.00, in gold, under the same conditions. -

Q. What are the extra charges to put the coal in your yard at Montreal ?-It was
about 27 cents last year.

Q. That is to put it in the same position relatively as the coal at Brockville or
Belleville ?-Yes.

Q. Had, you no tender from Nova Scotia to Brockville ?-No; they only tender
at Montreal.

Q. The fact is, that the freight between Brockville and Montreal is a matter of
your own arrangement ?-Yes.

Q. The price of Nova Scotia coal at Montreai, in your yard, was about $3.96,
and 25 cents additional, would be about $4.20; the price of American coal at Brock-
ville is 83.90 ?-Yes.

Q. What is the distance between these two places ?-125 miles.
Q. You can buy American coal, east, cheaper than Nova Scotia coal in Mon-

treal?-Yes; there is a little difference in the weight. American coal is sold by the
ton of 2,000 lbs., and Nova Scotia coal by the ton of 2,240 ibs.

Q. What is the price at Toronto ?-83.40, gold, delivered in the yard, under the
same circumstances as that at Belleville and Brockville.

By Mr. Sinclair:-
Q. Is American equal in quality to Nova Scotia ?-Yes ; quite equal.
Q. What price do you pay for your supply at Stratford ?-We don't get any

tenders there; we obtain our supplies at the Burg.
Q. What is the price at the Burg ?-About *3.07 per net ton, though we have not

deflnitely decided to accept the tender at that figure.
Q.How do these prices range as compared with your previous experience ?-I

think they are lower by from 35 to 50 cents than last year.
Q. Are ctrcta made in the spring ?-Yes; geneIally a little earlier than this.

Q. Why did not you get tenders for Nova Scotia coal delivered in Toronto ?-
We should be happy to accept them. if we zot them at lower prices than the others.
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Q. No tenders were réoed ?-No.
The Oommittee then adjourned untl two o'elook,

Upon resuming, Capt. ZAaL.n was recalled and further examined:
By the Chairman

When he engaged in the venture he had referred to, ho went direct to Ualar
and thou to Pictou. He would have dono botter, posuibly, had he gone direot to
Pictou, as going to Halifax involved extra pilotage. Ho and his partners lst money
by the trip. The trade with the Maritime Provinces had since then inreased tam
Montreal and the Gulf Ports. Did not think the enlargement of tnoe onais woudb
greatly facilitate the trade with Western Canada as vessels were at present con-
structed, but larger vessels might be built. Where vessels now had tlio gtn cargo
at Montroal, they would then be able to come through with fbll freight. To adapt a
lake prope1lor for Gulf service would involve a cost of $1,000 on a vesel of 284
tons with a carrying capacity of 600 to 700 tons and 11 to 12 feet draught. At
present there were places where the depth of water did not exceed 7 fet to 8 foot at
certain seasons, and 8 feet to 8j feet at other poriods. Going down they could run
some of the rapids and could thon draw nine feet. Could use fresh water till about
30 miles below Quebec. There would be no benefit from deepening the canals unloss
the river was also deepened. He was of opinion that the traushipment of fr.ight
from large Gulf vessels into river barges and other small praft that usually go up
light would be more profitable than the through trip. Last summer, foighte were
carried up at very low rates; in that way the charges being scarcely more than paid
for the handling. That was from Montreal to Toronto or «amilton. He knew no
steamer on the lakes with a surface condenser. TheI "Armenia" ha& & steam
condenser, not a surface condenser. The " Armenia" was, he understood, engaged
to ply for two trips between Sydney and Toronto. The loss by the trip in 1872 was
considerable.

Mr. WALLis re-called and further examined:
By the Chairman :-

The Nova Scotia coal supplies of the Grand Trunk were from the Intercolonial,
Albion, Nova Scotia and Black Diamond mines. The coal was of the bot las.
Some seams were botter adapted than others for steam purposes. The Cape Breton
coals, so far as tried, had not proved so good, as thcy were friable, esily broken, and
more liable to heat.

By Mr. Workman
The Nova Scotia mines did not tender to supply the Grand Trunk beyond

Montreal; the coal was brought by vessels-; there was a regular line of steamers.
The American coal supplied at Toronto was brought by car from the International
Bridge. There was less lost from waste from keeping heavy stocks, as they would
have to do if the coal were brought from Nova Scotia. The difference by iois
from those causes would be equal to from 10 to 15 per cent. If the coal were kept
under cover, the loss would be less.

By the Chairman:
The American coal they were using was from the Shawnee Valley. It was a

largo coal, and well screened. Coal would be carried from the International Bridge
to Toronto at half a cent per ton per mile, taking into account return freights.

By Mr. Dymond:
The present prices were some 30 cents a ton below the average.

y Mr. Wotkman:-
Did not think a duty of 50 cents a ton would help Nova Scoia coal at Toronto,

nor evon a duty of a dollar a ton. Was not aware of contracta for Nova Scotia coal
being made at Toronto; did not believe it could be done at a profit at $#4 a en; knew
nothing of water rates, and based his caleulations on railiway rates.

Mr. 3ucÂr McTAÂoiar, Fuel Agent, Grand Trunk Railway; was, aled, and
corroborated the evidence given by Mr. WaUfe.
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WapoaspA 11th April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. MÂcKÀx in the Ohair.
Mr. J. IL 'Vwror, Merchant, Montreal, was called, and made the following

statement-
With your permission I shall present what information I may be able to furnish

the Committee with, under the three following heads3:-(1) The area of the coal fields,
the annual production, the imo rts and exporte, and the qùality of the coal through-
out the civilized world. (2) aI the primary agent of national progress and power,
and (3) The ceal fields of Nova Scotia, the ways and means of development and
transportation by water and rail. I shall first give you the area of coal in 1845 from
the most reliable sources:

Countries quare Miles
United Kingdom ................................... ......... ........ 12
United State...................................133.132
France ........... .............................. 4,729
Belgium ................................................................... 529
Canada .......... ............................. 18,000
Spain .............................. ........................... 8 ......... , 08

I may remark in reference to the area of the coal fields of Canada that the
figures I have given represent the estimated area, but the coal deposits of the
Dominion, when the vast territory of our North-West is explored, will, no doubt, show
thousands of square miles of coal not included in the above estimate.

The annual productions of coal in 1845, and at a later period, respectively, from
the most reliable sources, at the respective dates were as follows:-

fI
Country )ate Tons Date Tons

United Kingdom................. 1845 31,500,000 1873 127,016,747
United States.................." i 4, 4004000134
Germany........................... "g 3,817,190 1872 42,324,469
France......................... . . " 4,141,617 1873 16,500,00
Belgium............. ........ ...... 4,960,977 1872
Austria............... ...... ......... 659,34Q 1M465898
iRussia.. ............................... 097,832
Australia......................... * ............... 94..,510
Nova Scotia................1845 150,674 1876 634207
Spain ....................... ......... ............ .. . ......... . .. 1873 570,000
India ..... ........................... ..... ...... 1868 547971
Chili, Japan, &c., (Estimated) 4 10002000

Total ........ ... ..... ....... 49,1629,7982615,2Chil, .apa, &., Estmtd)............ ..................... ....

This shows an increase of production of 434 per cent. in 28 years.
By the CinaiDT

Q. flow have you. acquired your knowledge of the coal trude ?-By practical1
experience ini transportation for more than a quarter of a century.

Q. fletween whaL points ?-Between the. United, Sta.tes, Canada and Europe.
Q. Yen are praetically acquainted with the coal trade ?-Yes.
Q. Froim the Province of Nova Scotia ?-Yea.
The. Wi tnoes continued:. The. production of the. United Kingdom increaaed 332

per cent in the. period I have named; the United Statos, 909 per'cent. ; Germany,

183' 17,1,4



1,013 per cent.; France, 275 per cnt.; Belgium, 215 per cet.; Austria, 1,470 per
oest; Nlova Scotia, 322 per on. ATI an mmin ia 8 nt7 e UnitedXingdom,
in -tw plaoe of produc4on, ampufited to 113,8,0 steling; 8otland produced
17,000,000 tons; Wales, 12,000,000; lreland, only103,435 tons. There were
12,617,566 tons exported, valued at £13,18%511 stering. The eFport in 1847 only
amouAted to 2,483,161 tons, valued at£1,087,122. Thi number of persoaemployed
in the ceal mines in 1872 was 893,344, and the average produce of coa1 of eah was
nearly 314 tons. In 1873 the manufacture of iron consumed 35,119,709 tons; steam
power in manufactories, 27,550,000 tons; domestic consumption, 20,040,000 tons.
Tie amount of coal consumed by lhe manuhtuiring industries of the country, rail-
ways and navigation, may be set down at 100,000,000 tons. In 1854, the production
in round numbers was 64,000,000 tons, and at 1873, a period of nineteen years, it
had reached 123,000,000, the production having nearly doubled in that time. The
ceal production of the United States was in 1840, 1,849,317 tons; in 1853, 5,195,151
tons; in 1865, 24,400,000, and in 1870, 36,622,131, an increase in 30 years of nearly
1,900 per cent. In 1870 there were 7,694,368 tons of coal used in the manufacture
of iron. lu 1864 the production of coal, in round numbers was 22,500,000 tons, and
in 1873, a period of twenty years, 35,400,000, the product having nearly doubled in
that time. The value of coal imported into the United States, in 1874, was 81,950,425,
of which $à39,664 worth was from New South Wales. In 1875 the value was
$1,798,689. The imports of coal for 1874 amounted to $3,823,750, and in 1875 to
$2,620,569. The production of coal in Germany has been nearly doubled since 1862,and in Prussia there has been an increase of 152 per cent. in ten years. 85 per cent
of the coal raised is retained for home consumption, and 15 per cent exported. Coal
is the most important natural production of Belgium. In 1871 the total production
was 13,733,176 tons, valued at £6,152,120 sterling, and in 1872 it rose to 15,658,948
tons. The number of hands employed in the coal mines, in 1871, was 94,186, and
the average daily pay of the workmen 2¾ francs. I need not refer to the other
countries whose production of coal appears in the table I have read, further than to
remark that the statistics of Sweden, Norway, Spain, Japan, China, &c., are very
imperfect in regard to the outport, and have been estimated, most probably, below
their actual production, at one million tons. The coal fields of Canada, being second
in magnitude and the leaset in outport, require more than a passing glance. The coal
fields of Nova Scotia have been worked since 1785, at which time it appears from
the Report of the Department of Mines, that there were sales of 1,667 tons; in 1800,
8,401 tons; in 1820, 9,980 tons; in 1840, 148,298 tons; in 1851, 153,499 tons; in
1854, the year before reciprocity with the United States, 234,312 tons; or an increase
of nearly 53 per cent. in three years. The sales of hova Scotia coal from 1861 to
1876, inclusive, were as follows:-

Date. Tons.
1861..................................................................... 326,429
1862..................................................................... 395p637
1863................. ................................................... 429,351
1864.......................... ............... 576e935
1866 .................................................................... 635,58
1866 .................................................. .................. 558 2
1867 ..................................................................... 471,185
1868 ............................................................ ........ 453,62
1869........................................................... ......... 511 795
1870 .......................... ............................................ 568,277
1871......... ........................................ .96.418
1872........................................85)914
1873.................................................. ,............ . .881,106
1874............, ..... ........................................ 74 1
1875 ...... ................ ....

1876........... ........................... ........ .... 63,0
111I



Bg Xr. ~oude-
Q. Where deY'ô gaflie11init yreu have jnst inrer M FroÉ a m.

reports of 4he *dnem, aid früm, th reòids of the Unif.d8%a4éds 1oot u*atem,
I found a good de of dierepaney, but I believe ,h «gures 1 have given yöa re
as coreet as can b eobtained.

TheïWitno ontinued: The sales to theProvinob of Quebee were 189,74 mtoné,
in 1874; and 117,303 tons, in 1875, afllg-of thirty ght per cent; and the
sales te the United States were 89,746 tons, in 1874; Z 71,34, in' 1875, or a
decrease ot twenty per cent. The report of the poreign aMd Domestic Commerme of
the United States, made up in 1863, by the 8eretary of State, gives the importation
of coal from Nova Scotia, from 1855 to 1863, inclusive. They appear in the folow-
ing table, the other dates having been taken from the United States and Nova Scotia
reports:

Date.

1850
1853
1854
1856
1860
1863
1865

Tons.

98,173
120,764
139,125
120,446
149,279
282,767
465,194

Date. Tons.

1866
1870
1872
1873
1874
1875
1876

404,252
168,180
154,092
264,760
138,335
89,746
71,634

In 1853, the duty was twenty-four per cent., ad valorem; from 1854 to 1865, in-
clusive, coal was, of course, duty free, under the Reciprocity Treaty. From 1866 to 1872,
the duty was $1.25-per ton; since 1872,75 cents pr ton. The export of coal, in 1854,
was greater than in 1874; and in 1850, it was tiirty-seven per cent. greater than in
1876. It appears that the duty charged by tho United States has had very little
effect upon the coal trade with Nova Sceotia, and- the decrease in shipments cannot be
solely attributed to the duty of 75 cents per ton. The importation of coal and coke
into the Province of Ontario, all being from the United States, is as follows:-

Date. Quantity in Tons. Value. Average Price.

$ s ets.
1872 230,491 1,001,103 434-
1873 333,365 1,444,686 433
1874 525,625 2,372,250 453
1875 384,178 1,879,168 4 89
1876 472,716 2,055,299 4 35

Total............. 1,944,275 2,752,5,6 $450

The receiptsof 1876 were more than double those of 1872. This increase is owing
to the extensive use of coai on railways, and from an incresse in manuùWtîres or in
domestic use. -The importa into Ontario, Quebec and Manitoba were, according to
United States TeturnB:-
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1874. 1875.

BituiinOus (tA.)............. 66 361,490
Anthracite do--- ... 7AM -

Total................. 581,640 763,440

lu 1874 the importation of bituminous was 42 per cent, &nd that of anthrai 58
r cent; and 1875 bituminous was 47 per cent of the whole and anthracite 53. The

?ollowing table shows the imports of coal and coke into the Province of Quebec

From United States. Total importe,

Year.
Quantity Value.Quantity. value.

Tons. Tons.
1872 57,780 269,734 218,133 853,36
1873 108,240 426,373 208,760 966)350
1874 120,470 573,670 243,238 1,21,58
1875 106,332 532,990 23639 1,0.,475
1876 122,673 618,930 281e728 1t0189165

Total.f 515,495 j 2,421,697 1,189,498 5156517

The average price of coal imported from. the United States for five yeare. ws

$4.70 per ton; from Great Britain, $4.05.
TIue amount of the importa in 1876 exeeeded that of 1872 by 28 per cent; but

the importe frein the United States increased dnring the same time 112 per cent.
By the 2hairman

Q. le the eoxnparison you have made of average prices of importa froin the

United States and froi Great Britain (viz. $4.70 and $4.05) a comparision between

the same ton, i.e., the long or the short ton as the case may be ?-No; Great Britain
uses the long ton and the United States the short ton.

The Witnese continued: The following table gives the importa of coal and coke

into the Provinces of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, from the nited States



App!it (N0. 4.) ,

Thus it will be seen that Nova Scotia importe from the United States anaverage
of 7,437 tons, valued at $89,474, or #5.30 per ton, sud that New BrunswIek importe
annually 25,718 tons, valued at $124,399, or an average of $4.83 per ton. The next
table gives the total importa of coal and coke into the Dominion of Canada during
the respective years named, and also the amount imported from the United States

From United States. Total Importa.

Years.

Quantity. Value. Quantity. Value.

Tons. Tons. I
1872 311,091 1,375,384 484,824 1 2,015,247
1873 463,858 1,963,978 574,308 2,558,723
1874 671,224 3,081,341 804,827 3,805,53
1875 ,512,835 , 2,254,771 652,435 3,076,088
1876 625,203 2,824,975 '793,880 ' 3,320,060

Totals..... 2,584,211 11,770,449 3,310,276 14,775,471

Average . 516,852 J 2,355,089 662,055 2,955,094

The average cost of coal from the United States was $4 .5 5J per net ton, which
would be equal to $5 per long ton; whilst the imports from the United Kingdom
cost only $4.15 per ton. The following are the exports of coal from Nova Scotia
and New Brunswick during the years named:-

Years. Nova Scotia. New Brunswick.

Tous. Tons.
1868.........................J 252,760 12,576
1872................................. 292e741 2469
1873................................. 364,899 6,013
1874................................. 360184 6>62,
1875 ..................... 222,856 5,616
1876................................. 170e517 5)147

Total T...........o 1663963 38.447
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It thus appears that the export from Nova Scotia in 1876 was 48 pr cent. is
than in 1868, and 114 per eut. less than iu 1873. The following table shows the
consnmption of coal, foreign and domestie, in the Dominion. exclusive of the amount
used in the mines, and exclusive alse of the coal consumed in British Columbia:

Total Imports. Native Production.

Tons. Tons.
1872 484,826 1 490,698
1873 574,308 510,194
1874 804,827 382,716
1875 652,435 478,323
1876 793.880 458,433

Total........ 3,310,276 2,320,364

Total Consumption.

Tons.

975,524
1,084,502
1,187,543
1,130,758
1,252,313

5,630,640

Nearly 59 per cent. of all the coal consumed is imported, and 41 per cent. is
,of native production. The following tables shows the relative value of different
coals for making gas. The first gives the number of cubic feet of gas produced by
,each kind of coal :-

Wigan Cannel..........................................................
Scotch (average)....................................... ..............
Newcastle do ................................. .....................
Pittsburg...............................................,................
Cape Breton (Cow Bay)........................................
Virginia..... . ....................................................

do Western.......................................................
Pictou and Sydney,................................

Harswell gives the evaporative power of different coals:-
Specifie gravity. Steam:

Newcastle...............................1257
Pictou (O nard)........................1,318
Pittsburgh...............................1,258
Scotch.................................. . .1,519
Liverpool .......................
Lehigh .................................... 1,590

(ubie feet.
15,426
12,650
9,750
9,5260'
9,500
8,960
9,500
9,000

from water,
at 212° by 1 Mb. coal.

8.66
8-48
8.20
7.08
7.84
8.93

Overman gives the percentage of carbon in the various kinds of coai, as
.follows:

Per cent.
Cumberland .......................................... . . .............. 74-29
Pictou ................................................................... 65.98
Pittsburgh..................................... 54.97
Liverpool......... .................................................. 54.90
Scotch................................. .......... 48-81

It appears then from these authorities that Nova Scotia coal holdea high standard
'as a gas and smelting coal. It is superior to Pittsburg coal, and alseo to a very large
majority of United States and Scotch coale.
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The second of the heads under which Iproposed to nuake my observations to
the Committee, is: Coal-the pria agent of national progres and oer. This
is the iro age. People who work n partake of its strength im d nature.
Great Britali and Spain give a striking illustration in this connection. Spai, which
once held the commerce of two hemispheres, spent her national energies in filling the
coffers of her people with the precious metals from Mexico and Peru; Engand, on
the other hand, developed her mines of coal and iron, and pushed her manufactories by
all the appliances of science and art. While Spain squandered her gold and lost her
commerce; while the flag of Britain to-day covers three-fifths of the mercantile
tonnage of the world. Niational progress may be traced directly to the production
of coal and iron, a fact which is fully demonstrated by figures, which, I shall give
the Committee. They have been taken from the most reliable sources.

First, I will give the production of pig iron by the various nations of the-
world:-

Tons.

Great Britain, 1873............................................... 6566451
United States, 1873.............................2)560,962
Germany, 1872.................................................... 1,664,802
France, 1873 ....................................................... 1,381,000
Belgium, 1872...................................................... 652,565
Austria and Hungary, 1871................................... 424,606
Russia, 1871......................................................... 354,000
Sweden, 1872...................................................... 32200
Lunenburg, 1872.................................................300,000
Italy, 1872...................................................... . . 73e709
Spain, 1870.......................................................... 54,007
Norway.............................................................. 20,000
South America...................................................... 1500
Canada, 1871....................................................... 10000
Japan, 1871.......................................................... 9370
Switzerland, 1872................................................. 7,500
A sia............................................................. .... 40,000
Africa ........ ....................................................... 20,000
Australia ................................ .................. 10)000

Total .................................... 14e485972

In 1856 the annual prod6{tion of the world was about 7,000,000 tons.. The
following table shows the production of pig iron in the UJnited Kingdom and in the-
Ujnited States during the years named :

United Kingdom,
(Tons.)

1860................................................... 3,826,752
1864 ................................................... 4,767,901
1870 ................................... .... .......... 5,963,515
1873 ................................................... 6,566,451

United States,
(Tons.)

919,770
1,135,996
1,865,000
2,868,278

The production in the United Kingdom increased in 13 years l1 per cent, and in
the United States 212 per cent. The American duty upon pig iron lu 1850 was 24
per cent ad valorem ; in 1860, $6 per ton; in 1864, $9 per ton; in 1870, $7 per ton;
and in 1874, $7 per ton. The total production of pig iron by the United Kingdom
in 1871 was 6,627,179 tons, and in 1872, 6,741,929 tons, showing a decrease in 1873,
compared with 1872, of 3 per cent, while the United States inereased 54.3 per cent.
The production of pig iron in Germany in 1868 was, 1,160,692 tons; and in 1872,
1,606,34 tons, an increase of 38.4 per cent, and the production of coal has been
doubled since 1862. The increase in pig lion in the United States corresponds with,
the increase in the consumption of coal, as the following table will show
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* Pis lion (tons.)

186. . ........188........ 1 ......... .... ..
186 ... ............... .. . ......
1870 ........ ....................................

1871..... ............................. .......
1870.1,885,000
1 8 7 1 . 1.912,608

18 7 2...2,854,58
1873 ,.......................,...................... 2,868,278

Coal (tous.)
24,400,000
28,5,18
28,361,847
31,479,114
33,761,010
36,622,131
37,861,415
42,749,248
45,410,400

The iron interests of the United States in 1870 are worthy of conaideration, as .
represented by the following figures

Capital invested..................................................$193,971,*791
Wages per annum........ . ........................ 71,316,671
Value of products................................................ 315,437,583
Value of fudel used. ............... . . ..................... 3 ,183,811
Coal used (ton4)................................................. 7,694,368
Charcoal (tons).................................................. 632408
Iands employed................................................ 132,444

There were 4,494,758 tons of ore used, which cost $26,510,080, or about $6 peir
ton. One-sixth of all the coal produced was consumed in the manufacture of iron,
and the average rate was $4.33 per ton. New England pays from *6.25 to $8 for her
coal. These figures, I may say, are from the report ofthe Railway Commissioners of
the State of Massachusetts. In 1873, 27J per cent of the coal prodnets of the United
Kingdom was consumed in th;e manufacture of iron. There were 15,577,499 tons of
iron ore mined, and 1,000,000 tons imported. Comparing the iron and coal interests
of Canada with those of the United States, we find a production of 10,000 tons of pig
iron and 634,000 tons of coal, against 2,868,278 tons of pig iron, and 45,413,000 tons
of coal. The relative rates, according to population, to be equal to the United
States, should be 4,541,000 tons of coal, and 286,800 tons of pig siron. The follow-
ing table will show the progress of the United States manufactures during the last
three decades :

1850.
Population................... 23,191,876
Capital invested ....... $553,245,351
Wages paid............. $236,765,464
Products ................ $1,019,106,616
Hands employed ...... 957,059
Wages per capita..... $236 94
Products per capita... $43 94

1860.
31,443,321

$1,009,855,715
$378,878,966

$1,885,861,676
1,311,246
$289 00

$60 00

1870.
38,558,371

82,118,208,769
'$775,589,343

84,232,325,442
2,053,996
$377 80
$109 76

The following table will show the manufacturing interests of Canada in 1871:-

Capital ................. .................. 877,964,020
Wages .............................................................. 40,851,009
Products .................................. ........................ 6221,617,773
lands employed................... ............................. 187,942

Wages, per capita................................................ $217 40
Produets, per capita ............................................. *83 59

The next table gives the consumption of cal in some of the Oeie of the Western
States, in 1869 and 1873, respectively, as stated by Prof. M anied tate Geologist of
Ohio:-
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OletelandA. .... e....1869.18.
'cin ...................... 1,020,0>0 tons. 1,482,000 tÏons.

O hi a g o 790000 ci, 1,39;024 '

Mil...... 87,960 210,191
Vlev land 922e757 " 1,100,000

Toledo ..... . ..................... 868
Sandusky...........................10,000 100,000
Detroit (estimated)...............200,000
lYistributed from Columbus 53,600 " 804819

Totals................ .3105,774 585037402

This is an increase of 80 per cen't. iii four years in these cities. The consumption
of coul in the Dominion in 1873 was 31,084,000 tons. So that the city of Cleveland,
'Ohio, actuelly consumes more coal than the whole Dominion.

By Mr. Tupper:
Q.flow do you account for the largely increased consumption of coal in Cleve-

land ?-It is on account of the largo rolling inilis there.
Witness continued m
It was considered by many eminent railway men that one cent per ton per mile

was the lowest figure possible which through freight could be rarried, but now haif
a cent per ton for through freight would be considered exorbitant. I hold, how-
ever, a well managed road properly equipped with improved rolling stock can carry
throngh freight'at one third of a cent per ton per mile, and pay 8 per cent. on
capital invested, providing the traffl, is over 500,000 tons. The cost of transportation
,depends in a great measure upon quantity aind regularity of supply se that the rolling
stock, etc., may be constantly employed.

If a regular trade, be carried on between our Maritime Provinces and Ontario,
the 50,000 tons of cereals, whi1h now go vid New York and Boston would be moved
by rail or steamer, and coul could be carried back as return freight, delivered in
'Toronto at $4.50 long ton. Goal fresh from the mine and delivered by rail is worth
50 cents per ton more than coul that undergees the dumping process and exposed to
the weather in the yards.

The development of our coul fieldis are of the utmost importance to the country
ut large, and Ontario is as much interested in this matter as any other Province of
the Dominion. But there is no reasonable hope to be indulged in until our iron
interests are developed. The iron ores of Canada comprise hematite, limonite, mag-
nitite, &c., &c., equal te any in the world for purity and rfchness. The magnetic
,oxide deposits on the Moisie have no superier in the world.

It muy be estimated that 4,000,000 of tons of coul would be consumed annually
in the Dominlon;- and under a fair development cf' home industry, about 300,000
tons of pig. iron would ho demanded annually. To muke this would require the
labour of 13,000 men, and the mining of the cea 20,000 mon. Thus it is seen that
by encouraging these two branches of industry, the labour of 33,000 mon are required

Tsnnully, and whiceh would represent a population of 120,000.
The transportation of this co l and iron alone would double the tonnage of our

'ports and treble the troffre on our railways, and place us in a position to commund
-the trade of the West and our great North-West which, seek other channels te tide-
water.

Let the Governmont extend its fostering care over our national industries, end
there isno difficulty f the way of supplying Ontario with Nova cotia col for her

Wtnufuetories nd domestie onsumption as cheaply, if not cheaper, than she -OW
obtains it from the ynited State nd muh cheaper than the New England Stutes
pay for thoir supply frog Virginia and Pennsylvania. New Englnd pays freo 86
teo 8 per fhort ton for the coul, und yet she suo mitp graefully te a y. per ton duty
because ier other industries are amply protected against foreign competition.
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Lot the Government place us on -u equal iesting with the United States, h
charging ther 75 cents duty per shoet ton, and w. will give Ontario as cheap coal as
she now remves, and we wiHi be enabled thereby teomwand our own market, an:i
the $3,320,000 spent annually for coal fron other countries will remain at homo.

The average cost for frve years of the coal imported into Ontario was 4.50 the
short ton, or $5 the long ton. Thon an arrangement in progros by which Toronto
will receive coal at $4.50 the long ton, or about $4 the short ton.

When this coal trade to the West is fully established it will enable railways te
carry the products òf, our Western Provinces to market lower than waa ever contem-
plated by any railway man.

There is another point which operates very materially against the coal interests
of Nova Scotia. I refer to the tax of ten cents per ton levied by Nova Scotia as
a royalty for the right te dig under the earth.

I do not pretend to say that I an qualified to give an opinion as to the constitu-
tional right of one Province levying a tax upon the products of another, and yet this
royalty is nothing more nor les than an export tax upon a necessary of life which
the other Provinces are obliged to use. Ontario would certainly have the same right
to tax petroleum as Nova Scotia has to tax coal.

Suppose our coal and iron interests should increase during the next decade, as
before stated, and 4,000,000 tons of coal was used, the tax would amount to 8400,000
annually, and which would be an indirect tax upon the consumers in the other Pro-
vinces, which, in my opinion, Nova Scotia has no right to do.

As an illustration of the close relations of the coal trade to the general industry
of the country, especially the iron trade, the following calculations may be interest-
ing:

The Canadian Pacific Railway, from Thunder Bay to the terminus on the Pacific,
may be estimated at 2,000 miles. It will require 300,000 tons of pig-iron to make
rails, fastenings and bridges, and about 80,000 tons for rolling stock, &e.

To produce this quantity of pig-iron will require about 800,000 tons of ore, and
1,200,000 tons of coal. To move this ore and coal, &c., for the purpose of manu-
facture, will take about 120,000 tons of coal.

The total consumption of coal in making rails, fastenings, iron for bridges, and
rolling stock and for transportation of the same to points of use, &c., cannot fall short
of 1,500,000 tons. This quantity could absorb the output of two ordinary mines
for ten years, and increase the coal trade of Nova Scotia 150,000 tons for ton years.

It would take two rolling mills ten years to produce the rails and iron; and the
labor required for mining, manufacturing iron, rails, bridges and rolling stock and
transportation to and fro of all the various articles specified, will be over 3,000 nen,
representing a population of 15,000 people who would be directly fed and clothed for
ten years, by simply developing these sources of wealth as indicated.

MONDAY, 10th April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. MACKAY in the Chair.
Mr. FRANcIs CLEMow, CJal Merchant and Director of the Ottawa Gas Company,

called and examined :
By Mr. Dymond:-

Ras been a Director of the Gas Company for ten years. Trades in both bitu-
minous and anthracite coal. Obtains supplies of bituminous coal from Nova Scotia
and the United States. Formerly purchased in Great Britain, but has discontinued
since 1873, owing te the advance in price. Buys chiefly from the Caledonia Block
louse, Intercolonial and International Mines. Uses 3,000 tons of gas cal per
annum. That is the highest quality of coal, and cost last year $5.75 per ton of 2,20
pounds. The cost was made up as follows: Initial eost, $2; freight to Montreal, $2;
harbour dues, 10 cents per net ton; insurance, 3 cents per ton; freight to Ottawa,
$1.60-total, $5.75. This year was offered coal at the mines above named for 81.50;
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feight.to Montreal, 42; harbour duoes,e c, 13eeents ; freight te Ottawa $1.0-total,
4545 per gross ton. ,ias bought the Willow Bank, United States, cai, last year, at

5 jernet ten ad the Youghoighona atà,5.90 ; in, both cases the charges included
dehvry -n thewharf t Ottawa. At the above rate American coal would come to
$5.2- for Willow Bank and 8664 for Youghoighena. The latter yields a large per
centage of gas, and gives a greater illuminating power than Nova Seotia coal; it is
also free from sulphur. Youghoigh.na will yield 10,000 cubie feet of gas per ton.
The yield of Nova scotia coal is gradually ineressing; a few years ago it was 6,500
cubic fedt; at presenthe could get from 7,500 to 8,000 cubic foet per ton. The reason
of the improvement was, he believed, that the deep coal was much better for gas
purposes than that near the surface. He now made it a condition that the coal should
bofreshlymined and not taken from bank. Nova Seotia coal was rapidly gaining in
favour, owing to the greater care in supplying it; bat still there was a difference of
25 per cent. in favour of the Youghoighena coal. The latter was a large lump coal,
wJhle Nova Scotia coal was soft, friable and liable to combustion. He fodnd, how-
ever, that a mixture of the two coals proved satisfactory and economical. The sulphur
was the great drawback to Nova Scotia coal, t ut that was being gradually overcome.
Ris reason for using the Nova Scotia coal under the disadantages he bad named was
that he wished to encourage that trade as much as possible. The prices he had men-
tioned, too, were exceptionally high. He had purchased coal in Great Britain prior
to 1873, and prices had now about resumed their former level ; Newcastle coal could
be bought, delivered at Montreal, for 17 shillings sterling, or about $4.25; perhaps
it co1d be bought for les at present. Freight was $1.50 from Montreal to Ottawa;
it would cost about $5.50 per long ton in Ottawa. Newcastle coul was the best they
could get for gas purposes, the yield was greater and the gas superior. He believed
a good deal of Newcastle coal was br9ught out as ballast and sold very cheaply on
that account. The great drawback to a trade with the Lower Provinces was that the
Grenville Canal was not of sufficient depth to allow the boats to come right through.
If the canals were deepened they could deliver Nova Sceotia coal in Ottawa at $4.50
per gross ton. For steam' and domestic purposes the coal they used was from the
Albion, Intercolonial and other mines. There was very little difference in the cost
of gas coal and that for steam and domestic purposes, bat as the louse coal had to be
screened and the screenings were of no use, they charged more for the bouse coal
than for the other; they have been able to get from $7 50 to $8 per short ton for it.
The consumption of coal was increasing very considerabIy in Ottawa. They had
no manufactures that consumed bituminous coal largely. There were about 14,000
tons of coal brought to Ottawa annually, about 5,000 tons of which was soft and
9,000 hard. The hard coal was sold exclusively for domestie purposes. The hard
coal came by way of the Champlain Canal to Montreal. Hard coal cost last year as
high as $6.85 per long ton ; the retail price varied from $6.50 to $7 and $7.50. There
was a great reduction in the prices this year owing to a change in the combination
which existed in the United States. lie could deliver hard eoalnext season at $5.50.
The condition of the Grenville Canal did not affect the freights of American coal,
which came by Kingston and the Rideau Canal. The Grenville Canal was twelve
miles long and had six locks; what was needed was that the canal should be so
deepened that barges carrying 400 or 500 tons could be brought through from
Montreal. These vessels could carry back lumber. The Willow Bank coal has a good
deal of slack in it, but it was one of the best coals of the kind for gas purposes. It
cost about $5.50 per net ton. It was of larger size than Nova Scotia coal and less liable
to breakage. He believed there were mines in Nova Scotia peculiarly adapted for
gas purposes. There was a very wide difference in Nova Scotia coals. Lingan coal
had # great deal of sulphur, and did not give a very large yield of gas. Vessels
breng.t hard coal from New York to Ottawa for $2.25 per ton, by way of the Hud-
son, ii. Champlain Canal and Montreal. They could do it, bcause they came here
for lumber and used the coal as ballast. They could not bring it more cheaply if our
canals were enlarged, unless their own canals-the Whitehall, for instance-iwere
also deepened.
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Thé fonlowing letter from R. L. M<regor, EsW, masrdt of thé Western
Transportation and Coal CouIpy" of Datroit, Michigan, U., waaeceived by Wîn.
McGregor, Esq., M.P., and ored by the (Committee to be put in as evidence

DETariT* MrmuanN,
21st February, 1877.

Si,-Yours roceived, asking the cost of mining royalty, pocket charges and
Railway freights.

The system of buying coal and railway freights were changed last year. Royal-
ty was added to coal and pocket charges were taken off.

Coal we buy at the mines delivered on board cars for.........$ O 85
Railroad charges delivered on board vessel at Sandusky......1 -5
Freight to Detroit, Windsor or Amherstburgh............ 0 30

American currency.........$ 2 65

Freight to Sarnia, 40 cents. Amorican currency............8 2 75
Goderich, Kincardine or Southaânpton, 50 cents.

American eurrency................ ... 2 85
Port Stanley, 50 cents American currency....... 2 85
Port Colborne, 70 cents " . ....... 3 05
Toronto, $1 05 Gold...........................3 50.
Hamilton, 1 05 " ..................................... 3 50

Those outside figures would be the cost delivered alongside of dock at places
named.

You will see that I have allowed 10 cents premium on the $1.05 gold freight to
Toronto and Hamilton.

Yours truly,

(Sgined) R. l. MOGREGOR.

The following statement of articles imported into Nova Scotia from the United
States, which might come from Canada, was referred to by Mr. E. Morrison in his
evidence:-

Flour.......................................... 133,304 barrels.
Grain ..... ................................. 2,374 bushels.
Lard........................................... 229,555 pounds.
Beef and Pork........................ 1,305,522
Cheese ....................................... 8,978
Hops.........................4... 8,166
Kerosene Ou ............................... 161,532 gallons.
Starch........................................ 84,866 pounds.
Soap .......................................... 23,731
Leather, value.............................. $1,877 00
Glaseware, value........................... $30,879 00

Total importa from Foreign countries..... 88,596,303

This does not include value of importations from Ontario, Quebsec, Nw Bruns-
wick and Prince Edward Island, as no réeord is kept in the Cnstom Haoke of Inter-
Provincial trade.



i PiORa TO PROi AT T4 O

IMPORTÂTION8 FR011 CANADAÂ INT THE PORT 0F IÂALIFÂX1, 18<16.

(Iported into the Counties of Yarmonth,
Flour my bout.........................

Oatmeal. .........................
C ormea...................*a...............

Wtea ....................................Ea ly . ....................... ,...........
Corn .....................................Brlee.......................................

Burr ........................................
T ard ..........................................
Rams and B acon.......

Bee .........................................

T oba cco .....................................
Dresed Hogsc... ........... .............

r..........................
S r se .....................................

ethr...........................

P t B e ..................................

Bootse ...a ........................
o ....................................
ot.n P er...........................
os.................................

Pre ................... ................

Heoene. Oi........................Sheese........ .... ........................
le asne e ............................
e ..... ...........................

Soean..............................

Stnar .............................SOapts ......................................

s .......................................

Beans....................................
Peas .....................................
Quarters Beef...............................
Carcases Mutton..........................

ricultural Im lements..............
.ware...............................

Woollen Good............................

Windsor, Picton, and Cape Breton.)
185,356 barreis.
100,000 "

5815 "
265
630 bags.
733 "i

1002 "
416

15,240 "
27,180 pournds.
61,300

126 tierces.
83 cases.
16 tierces.

789 barrels.
102 hhds.

1,509 boxes.
600 half boxes
983 caddies.
852 packages.

20 barrels.
1,705 carcases.
558 barrels.

21 packages.
21 puncheons.

117 barrels.
120 packages.
572 rolls and bundles.
562 barrels.

1,233 cases.
152 barrels.

10,000 reams.
130 bales.

,171 boxes.
33,900 pounds.

1,142 barrels.
850 bags.
216 hhds.
31 half hhds.

200 barrels.
150 "

2,819 boxes.
1,837 "

24,838 bushels.
130 bundles.
790 barrels.
800 "
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REPORT.
The Select Committee, appointed to enquire into and report upon t1 allegations

in the report and evidence of the Commission on the Northern Railway Compariya
to the application of moneys payable to the Government; and also to wake a
searching enquiry into the accounts of the Northern Railway and Northern Bxen-
sion Railway, so as to complete the enquiry begun and left unflnished by uhe Og-
mission, have the honour to

REPORT:

That as far as the time at our disposal would admit, we have examined the
books and accounts of the Northern Railway and the Northern Extension Railway,
and have examined a number of witnesses upon certain entries in the said accouat,
whose evidence is herewith reported.

Before proceeding to report upon any entries in the said accounts, your Com-
mittee think it proper to give a brief history of the debt due to the Governmont by
the Northern Railway.

In 1853 and 1854, the Government made advances to the Northern Railway, to
the extent of £475,000 sterling, which advances stood in the position of a first lien
upon the roat. No portion of either principal or interest was paid until 1860, when
a reorganization of the Company took place, and by an Order in Council, passed in
1859, and confirmed by the Act of 1860, the bonded debt of the Company was granted
priority both in payment of interest and security, over the Government lien, except.
ing only about £9,000 of mortgage bornds. By this Act also the Government becane
the possessor of a £50,000 second preference bond in part payment of interest, thon
due on the Government lien.

The debt of the Company then ranked as follows:-

First preference bonds................................ £250,000 sterling.
Second do do ...... ...................... .. 283,900 do
Government lien............... ....................... 475,000 do

And remained in this state until 1868, whon, owing to the representation thlat
the largely increased traffin of the road had overcome its carrying power,an Act.was
passed authorizing an issue of third preference b'onds to the extent of £160,90
sterling, which was also granted priority over the Government lien. Of this nonit
£50,000 denominated Class A was to be expended i n the construction of elevtors
and the increase and extension of the rolling s tock and other equipment works and
appliances of the railway. Of the remaining £100,000 of bonds denominated Clss B,
£50,000 was to be paid over to the Receiver-General on account of arrears -finterest
then due, and the remaining £50,000 sterling was to be ,issued to the holders of
arrears of interest debentures of the Company, which had been iesued for unpaid
interest on the original bonds of the road.

The Class A bonds were disposed of by the Company at 60 per cent., with the
exception of a small amount which brought 65 per cent. The £50,000 was issuad to
the holders of arrears of interest debentures. but so far as your Committee can leain,
no bonds were ever handed over to the Receiver General for arrears of interest on
the Govern ment lien, nor has any interest ever been paid thereon, notwithstanding
the fact that the interest has been regularly paid upon the Class A. bonds, and aise
upon £50,000 of Class B bonds, issued to arre trs of interest debenture holders.

The practiôal effect of this arrangement wai, that te enable the railway tg obtain
about £30,000 of cash, a permanent annua charge of £6,000 sterling was pl.aeed
ahead of the Goverument lien.



This arrangement left the revenue of the Company, after the" payment of work-
ing expenses, applicable to the payment of interest on the

1st.-Pirst preference bonds.
2nd.-Second preference bonds.
3rd.-Third preference bondslClass A.
4th.-Third preference bonds, Class B.
And afterwards any surplus was to be applied to the payment of the Governmen

lien.
Since 1865 the interest bas been paid upon ail the bonds, with the exception of

the third preference B bonds, which should have been handed to the Receiver-
General; any surplus revenues which may have existed belonged to the Government
as applicable first to the payment of interest on the said B bonds, and afterwards to
the lien.

The debt remained in this state until 1872, when the Northern Railway leased
the Northern Extension Railway, which lease was confirmed by an Act of the
Dominion Parliament in 1872. An examination of this lease discloses the fact that
arrangements were made whereby the interest on debentures to be issued by the
Northern Extension was to be paid by the Northern Railway, and charged "in the
nature of a rental upon the earnings of the line of railwaAof the lessees, and to be
recognized and included in the working expenses thereof." As it appears that
£17,600 of debentures and improvement mortgage bonds were issued, the effect of
this Act was to place the interest on this amount, being about £10,000 sterling per
annum ahead not only of the Government lien, but also of all of the Northeri4Rail-
way preference bonds, inasmuch as the;interest on these debentures and bonds was to
be chargeable to working expenses, which were a first charge upon the revenues of
the Company by the Act of 1868, but it does not appear in evidence that this
arrangement resulted prejudicially to the Government claim. This was the state of
the debt until late in 1876, when the Government lien was extinguished by the pay-
ment of £100,000 sterling, together with over £2,000 sterling of interest thereon,
and also £13,50j .terling, being arrears of interest on second preference bonds.
This leaves the Government still the owner of £50,000 sterling of second preference
bonds, and also entitled to £50,000 sterling of third preference B Bonds, and the
interest thereon.

Our examination of the aceounts and the evidence taken thereon, shows:-
1. That on the 12th November, 1869, a draft on Mr. F. W. Cumberland for

$500, made by Sir John A. Macdonald, was accepted by Mr. Cumberland, and on
maturity paid out of railwày funds; and that on the, 18th November, 1869, another
draft for $500 also upon Mr. Cumberland, and made by Sir John A. Macdonald, was
accepted by Mr. Cumberland, and subsequently paid out of the funds of the Northern
Railway Company, and that these drafts were drawn for, and their proceeds used
towards defraying the election expenses of Sir Francis Hincks, then a member of
the Government, and a candidate for the representation of North Renfrew in the
Bouse of Commons, and that the said sums were charged in the books of the Railway
Company to Parliamentary expenses, and that the whole of the said sum of $1,000
Zas improperly paid out of moneys which were applicable' in payment of the
Government claims.

2. We find that duringithe tlatter part of 1870, or beginning of 1871, Mr.
F. W. Cumberland, Hon. John Ross, and Hon. John B. Robinson, Directors of the
Northern Railway Company, by previous arrangement between themselves, and
without the consent or knowledge of the other Directors, subscribed to a testimonial
fund to the Right Hon. Sir John A. Macdonald, the two former $1,000 each, And the
latter $500, and that on the 14thJanuary, 1871, a cheque of the Northern Railway
Company for $2,500 was paid to the Hon. D. L. Macpherson, Treasurer of the Fund,
(who called at the office of the Company therefor) which cheque was jin settlement
of the above-mentioned subscriptions; that tbis amount was charged to the Hon.
D. L. Macpherson, and appeared in the books of the Company aïs an asset until the
amalgamation of the said Company with 1 he Northern Extension Railway, when it
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was, on the 30th June, 1875, charged to municipal bonuses andGovernment subsidies.
Subsequently that amount was recharged to the Hon. D. L. Maepherson, and mo
stands at present, and that these entrics were made without the knowledge of the
Hon. D. L. Macpherson.

The Right Hon. Sir John A. Macdonald states that he was not aware of the faet
that any moneys were paid out of the funds of the Northern Railway as a subscrip
tionto the said testimonial fund, and bis statement is sustained by that of the Hon.
1). L. Macpherson. We find that the said sdm of money was împroperly paid out of
moneys, which were applicable to the payment of the Government claims.

3. We further find that there was paid out of the funds of the Northern Rail-
way the sum of $1,000, being the amount of stock in the Mail Printing and Publish-
ing Company subscribed for by, and now standing in the name of F. W. Cumberland,
on the books of the said Company, and that the arnount was, by Mr. Cumberland's
direction, charged in the books of the Northern Railway Company to the accounts of
legal and Parliamentary expenses, but no value therefor was in any way given, and
that the said amount was improperly paid out of moneys which were applicable to
payment of the Government claims.

4. We also hnd tbat in April and Ni ay, 1872, two payments of $250 each were
made on account of $1,000 of stock which Mr. Angus Morrison, then a Director of
the Northern Railway Company, had taken in the Mail Printing and Publishing
Company, and that subsequently in October 1874, two accounts against the company
by the Mail Printing and Publishing Company, one for $250 and one for 8270 w ere
presented and paid, and that the said two accounts, prepared at the suggestion of Mr.
Barlow Cumberland, although purporting to be for editorials and notices, were in
fact for the balance due on Mr. Morrison's stock in the said Mail printing and
Publishing Company, but that no value in any way was given for the said moneys
which was thus, to the whole amount of$ 1,000, with $20 for interest, improperly paid
out of moneys which were applicable in payment of the Government claims.

5. We find that in 1872 several sums amounting altogether to $5,440.68 were
paid out of the funds of the Northern Railway Company to defray the election
expenses of the Hon. J. B. Robinson, then President of the Railway, in bis contest
at the general election held that year for a seat in the House of Commons for the
Electoral District of Algoma, and that by direction of Mr. Cumberland this amount
was charged in the books of the Company, one-third to contingencies, one-third to
parliamentary expenses, and one-third to legal expenses, in instalments of one-twenty-
fourth per month to each account, and that the said amount of money was inproperly
paid out of moneys which were applicable in payment of the Government claims.

6. We also find that on the 9th and 13th df August, 1872, two cheques for $500
éach were given to Mr. C. J. Campbell as a contribution towards the election ftund of
the supporters of the Government of that day, at the general election of that year,
which amounts wel e paid out of the funds of the Northern Railway, and in the first in-
stance charged to Mr. Cumberland's private account in the books of the Company, and
subsequently he was credited with the amount of these cheques, and it was charged
to parliamentary expenses, and that the said amount was improperly paid out of
moneys which were applicable in payment of the Government claims.

7. We further find that on the 30th June, 1l89, Mr. Cumberland's private
account with the Northern Railway was overdrawn to the amount of $2,181.29. Ie
then made his note for that amount to the Company. Large sums charged to his
private account appear to have been drawn by Mr. Cumberland at or soon al ter his
election for Algoma in 1867, which caused an overdraft in bis account. This over-
draft increased until it amounted on 30th June, 1869, to the sum for which lie gave
the note above mentioned.

We further find that on the 15th April, 1873, Mr. Cumberland's private account
was again overdrawn to the further amount of $10,411.92 caused, as to $6,245.02, by
a payment on account of his purchase of the steamer " Chicora," and as to the balance,
viz., 84,166.90, by the payment of his election expenditure as a candidate for Parlia-
ment for Algoma and awell. The amounts represented by these notes a ere



drawn out of the Company's funds, and the notes were made without the sanction
of the Board of Directors. There was no security given for the payment of these
notes. On the 30th June, 1875, by direction of Mr. Cumberland, the amount of the
notes, $12,593.21, was, with two other amounts, transferred from the books of the
Northern Railway, where they appeared as assets, to those of the Northern Exten-
sion Railway, when they became expeuditures or Losses, being charged there to
municipal bonuses and Government subsidies expenses. The effect of this transfer
was to extinguish these claims on the Company's ooks.

Subsequently, in March, 1876, when the attention of Mr. Thomson, the presert
President of the Northern iRailway Company was called by the late Secretary, Mr.
Hamilton, to this matter, entries were made in the Company's books, the effect of
which was to restore the amount of $12,593.21 to the position of an asset of the
Company, in which position it now properly stands.

Your Committee further find that in February, 1873, Mr. Cumberland drew
upon the Railway Company for the sum of $8,000, and that this draft was paid out of
railway funds. The amount was, by Mr. Cumberland's orders, charged to Parlia-
mentary expenses, and so continued until March, 1876, when, at the instance of
Mr. Thomson, it was charged to Mr. Cumberland on special account. Of this $8,000
the sum of $7,600 appears to have been paid by Mr. Cumberland on account of the
purchase money due by him upon the steamer " Chicora." The purchase of a share
in this steamer was made in his own name and behalf, and without the knowledge
of the Board of Directors, and the earlier payments on the purchase were made by
Mr. Cumberland, and have not apparently been charged to or taken out of the Rail-
way Comnpany's funds.

Your Committee find that the amounts represented by the two notes, and the
amount of the draft for $8,000, in all, $20,593.21, were improperly paid out of
moneys which were applicable in payment of the Government claims.

8. We further find that the Hon. J. B. .Robinson whilst President of the said
Company overdrew his account. In July last the balance appearing against him in the
Company's books was about $4,900 since reduced by crediting his fees as a Director to
$4,606 which he still appears to owe. This balance is arrived at after crediting him
from time to time with the salary pertaining to bis office. There is, however, a sum
of $1,000, which Mr. Robinson received but which he contends he expended for
some purpose of the Company, and another sum which he also received but claims to
have spent in travelling expenses to New York on the Company's business; deducting
these there is still a balance of over $3,000 against Mr. Robinson which your Com-
mittee find wap improperly paid out of moneys which were applicable in payment of
the Government claims.

9. We find that Mir. Moberly, formerly Chief Engineer of the Northern Railway
overdrew bis account, and afterwards a bonus of $2,000 was granted to him and
placed to bis credit to balance bis account, and that the said amount was improperly
paid out of moneys which were applicable in payment of the Government claims.

10. During the Session of the Dominion Parliament in 1873, the Northern Rail-
way Company applied for certain legislation affecting their road and also a proposal
was made by the Government in pursuance of an understanding with the Company
for the extinction of the entire amount due the Government, both bonds and lien,
together with the interest thereon for the sum of $500,000. During that Session
drafts were made on 13th March for $1000; on 17th April, for $750, and on 23rd
May, for $2,000, by Hon. John B. Robinson, at that time a member of the House of
Commons, upon F. W. Cumberland, Managing Director of the Northern Railway,
with his consent, two of whieh, viz.: the $1,000 draft and the $2,000 draft were
payable to the order of' Mr. Angus Morrison, also a member of the House of Commons,
and by him endorsed. These drafts were in due course paid out of the funds of the
Northern Railway Company. Two other drafts upon the Northern Railway were
made about this time, one by Mr. Cumberland, Managing Director. for $200, and one
by Mr. Boulton, solicitor of the Company, for $500. Ilt Ias been satisfactorily
explained that the anount of t1ese two drafts was expended in paying the expenses



of a delegation from Toronto, brought here for the purpose of advocating the proposod
legislation, and in paying printing, travelling and their necessary expenses. As to
the expenditure of the first three drafts, Mr. Robinson alleges that the total amount
was divided equally between himself and Mr. Morrison. Mr. Morrison states that he
received a part of the first draft for 81,000 only. A considerable sm appears to have
been spent in dispensing hospitalities to memxbers of Parritment and others, an expen-
diture which your Committee cannot approve; but for the greater portion of the
amount no account has been given. Mr. Robinson states no amount was paid to any
member of Parliament.

Your Committee therefore find that the expenditure of $3,750 was improper, and
was improperly paid out of moneyes which were applicable in payment of the Gov-
ernment claims,

11. Your Committee find that, prior to amalgamation, the Northern Railway
advanced to the Lake Couchiching Kotel Company, a joint stock company having a
subscribed capital of $19,500, of which 819,000 was paid up, a large amount of money.
That, subsequently, several amounts, aggregating over $17,000, were charged to the
Northern Extension Company, and by that Company paid out of the proceeds of cer-
tain bonds of the Northern Extension sold in England, the interest on which was to
be paid by the Northern Railway Company. That the Northern Extension Road
advanced a very large sum of money to the Lake Couchiching Hotel Company, for
$10,000 of which a mortgage was taken and afterwards transferred to the NTorthern
Railway Company. That at the time of amalgamation, in June, 1875, 845,235
appeared upon the books of the Northern Extension Company as due from the Hotel
Company. That this debt of amalgamation appeared as an asset on the balance sheet
thon prepared, and the balance an asset of the Northern Railway. That in 1876 the
hotel was burned, and the insurance money collected, amounting to $31,721.63; after
the payment of certain liabilities amounting to $19,704.13, was divided pro rata
among the stockholders of the hotel, who were, in the main, the same persons who
held the stock of the Northern Extension Railway, while nothing was ever paid to
the Northern Railway Company, either on account of the mortgage which they held
or of the debt transferred to them at the time of amalgamation by the Northern
Extension Railway. This mortgage, your Committee considers, represents so much
money which was applicable in payment of the Government claims.

12. We find that ii July, 1868, an account was rendered by Mr. Hewitt Bernard,
then Depaty Minister of Justice, for $500, for fees as a parliamentary agent in prose-
cuting the Act of 1868.

13. We further find that previous to the amalgamation of the Northern Exten-
sion with the Northern Railway Company several advances were made by the latter
to the former, as follows:-

Northern Railway, Advance capital account......... 36,087 19
do .Advance dividend account........... 50,549 84
do Current account ........................ 20,755 62

Total........................................ $107,392 65

These advances, your Committee consider, were made without proper authority
14. We find that, previous to the year 1875, a syndicate had bedu formed, composed

of eight gentlemen, for buying up at par all the stock of the two roads which, in 1872 had
been ramalgamated under the name of the Northern Extension Railroad. This they
succeeded in doing. The Act of 1875, which provided for the amalgamation of the
Northern Extension Road with the Northern Road, stipulated that in no event should
the shareholders of the Northern Extension receive more than the amount of their
paid-up capital, together with interest at the rate of 10 per cent., and a premium of
13 per cent. thereon. Upon these terms the stook was extinguished by the Northern
at the date of amalgamation, on the lst of June, 1875. About the 3 st May, 1875,
the following amoants were graated at a special general meeting of the shareholders,
as compensation for services before unpaid and extending over severalyears ;-



To Mr. Frank Smith, President .................. ........... 4,000
Mr. N. Barnhart, Vice-President................... 1,250
Board of Directors....... ........................... ........... 8,000

These amounts appear to have been thrown into one fund and equally divided
a i,,t.: ilhe iDirectors. On the same day the Board of Directors of the Northern

j.ou passed a resolution granting to:

F. W. Cumberland, Consulting Manager........................ $10,000
Owen Jones, Chief Engineer........................................ 1,200
John Turner, Chairman Executive Committee................ 1,000
J. D. Edgar, Parliamentary Counsel.............................. 3,050
John E. Foreman, Secretary........................................ 400
Frank Smith, personal expenses.................................... 1,000

The amount to Mr. Cumberland was granted for his services as Consulting Man-
ager, extending over a period of five years, which services had not been paid for in
any other way. The amounts to Messrs Jones and Foreman were given as a bonus
to the -e gentlemen on the close of their services as officers of the Northern Extension.
The a.nount to Mr. Turner was for services extending over four years as Chairman
of the Executive and Finance Committees. The amount to Mr. J. D. Edgar, as is
stated by him, was given to cover a three-months' trip to England in connection with
the negotiation of the Company's bonds, his services in promoting the Amalgamation
Bili betre Parliament, and also his solicitor's account for eight months preceding
amalgamation; and, in addition to the above, other services given in aiding the
Dircetors, extending over a period of five years and not previously paid for.

During our investigation we have considered and used the evidence taken before
the Ro)yal Commission.

We submit herewith the minutes of the proceedings of the Committee and
exhibits mentioned therein.

We recommend that the following papers or exhibits, which were obtained for
the convenience of the Committee, be not printed, viz.:-Those marked A M., A L,
A K L., E., F., G-., H., I., M., J., K., P., O., A C., A A., A D., A E.

AIl which is respectfully submitted.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

HuflSE OP COMMONS,
Sz&'urday, 21st April, 1877.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE,
FRIDAY, March 16, 1877.

The Committee met.-Mr. ARCHIRALD in the Chair.

Mr. FREDERICK WILLIAM CUMBERLAND, sworn, deposed as follows

By .Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. You are the Managing Director of the Northern Railway Company ?-

General Manager.
Q. How long have you been General Manager, Mr. Cumberland ?-I have been

in charge as Manager of the Railway, since 1858 or 1859-as Managing Director,
when I had a seat on the Board; and as General Manager, when I had not a seat on
the Board. It is a mere change of official titles.

Q. Have your duties been the same whether you have been called General Mana-
ger or Managing fDirector ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Bowell
Q. Did you say you were Manager since 1859 ? -I anif not quite sure; I have

been, however, from the time of the re-organization of the Company.

By 1r. Guthrie :
Q. Is it since you have been Manager that the Acts of Parliament affecting the

liea have been passed ? There was one, I think, in 1859 and one in 1868 ?-Yes.
Q. And another in 1875 ?--Yes.
Q. When you became Manager what was the amount of the indebtedness to the

Government; and what was the position of the debt with regard to priority ?-With
regard to priority the Gevernment held the first lien on the original amount of
£475,000 sterling.

Q. Was there anything further at that tinie ?-I think not.
Q. There were subsequently and there are now, but there were net at*that

time ?-Not at that time.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. That was the whole indebtedness to the Government ?-Yes.
By 1fr. Guthrie :-

Q. You are speaking of the time prior te tho Act of 1859-1860 ?--Yes.
Q. What claim, at that time, had priority to the Government claim?-At

that time none except working expenses; it stood in exactly the same relation to the
Company that the advances to the Grand Trunk Railway Company stood to that
Company.

Q. Well, when was the change made, Mr. Cumberland ?-I had botter give you
as full information as I can on that point. By the Act of 1859-(I hope I am
quoting the act right, I think I am) an Order in Council-

Q. The Order in Council was based on the Act of Parliament ?-Yes, but that
was confirmed by a further Act.

Q. The authority of the Order in Council was the Act of 1859 ?-Yes, we having
given effect to the Order in Council, it was considered desirable that the Order in
Council should become an enactment.

Q. In 1860 it was legalized ? That's it. After the Order in Council it was
thought desirable, for the safety of parties, that it should be embodied in, an Act of
Parliament, and that was the Act of 1859-60.

5-1
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Q. U4nder that Act (or-Order in Council confirmed) there were certain preference
bonde issue.d; first and second, I think ?-Before the Order in Council the
ranks of the capital were these :-first, the Government lien amounting to £475,000;
secondly the issue of Company's bonds amournting to £233,00 sterling, and after the
stock, I speak from memory ; I think I am correct.

Q. What was the effect, as far as the Government lien was concerned, of the
legislation of 1859-60 ?-The necessity for the legislation arose in this wise.

Q. I just want the effect of it ?-I am coming to the effect of it so that you may
'understand it.

Q. But, was the effect to postpone the Government lien ?-Oh, certainly'
Q. Then the next Act was in 1868, with reference to the £233,000 ?-I think it

would be well for me to explain about it.
Q. That is pretty well understood ?-Because we have another bond debt.
Q. That was, however, issued under the Act of 1868 ?-No. Under the Act of

1859; that is the reason I desired to explain, because at that time the holding of the
Government was created.

Mr. Guthrie-I understand, but I just want to get before the Committee the
position the Government lien occupied from time to time ?-To make it complete
you must begin at the £50,000.

Q. You gave evidence before the Royal Commission ?-Yes, sir.
Q. It was published subsequently in pamphlet form as this blue book; (producing

the report of the Commission appointed for investigating the books, accounts and
vouchers of the Northern Railway of Canada and the disbursements and expenditures
of the said Company). Have you read it over ?-I have not. I have not had time
since my return to take more than a very casual glance at it.

Q. Because it would save a good deal of time if you had read it over, as we could
just ask you if you adhere to it ?-I have iiot the slightest hesitation in saying " Yes."'

Q. I would like you to read it first ?-Do you want me to read it now?
Q. I only wished to know whether you had read it. Well, the first matter

mentioned in the eviderfee is that relating to a subscription of $2,500 to a testimonial
got up for Sir John Macdonald. Have you got the books with you containing the
entries with regard to that item ?-Yes.

Q. Will you produce them ?-Yes.
Q. The evidence before the Royal Commission was tolerably thorough, but the

books and vouchers were not there ?-You are in error, they were all produced. All
the papers connected with every item which was examined into before the Royal
Commission were produced.

Q. Perhaps they were ultimately, but not at first ?-From the commnencement you
will see (referring to the Report of the Royal Commission) that all the vonichers and
references of all the items examined into before the Commission were produced.

Q. For my part I would like to see the vouchers with regard to this item ?-]
produce the Cash Book, wherein it is entered or, the 14th of January.

"iD. L. Macpherson per special cheque and per voucher No. 8357... $2,500."
Q. What year was that ?-In 1871.
Q. Where is the original voucher and the choque ?-We brought the Cash Book,

but not the fyled Cheque Book.
Q. You sec the original evidence says " the cheque is not here."-Mr. Miall came

to our office. It had been decided that of any account before the Commission the
accounts and vouéhers could be examined; and, to facilitate work Mr. Miall visited
our office and the books were produced to bim. And, in some cases, the books were
taken to the commission. In this partieular case he went up and saw the cheques
connected with this expenditure.

Q. Did you say you had not the original cheque with you ?-Yes,'sir.
Q. I suppose it is under your control ?-Oh certainly.
Q. We should like to see it ?

The voucher wrs then produced as follows:-
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No. 8351.
NORTHERN RAILWAY OP CANADA.

MANAGING DIRECTOR'S OFFICE
ToRONTO, 14th January, 1871.

DEÂR Sî,-Please give cheque on special account to Hon. D. L. Mcpherson or
order for $2,500, and hold in suspense until further orders.

Yours truly,

(Signed) F. W. CUMBERLAND,

THOMAS HAMILTON, Secretary. Managing Director.

Q. How is that entry followed up in your book ?-The original entry is "ID. L.
Macpherson, per special cheque and per voucher No. 8,357, 82,500."

Q. Who was that charged to in your books ?-Mr. Macpherson.
Q. Have you got the entry ?-Yes, it is charged against Mr. Macpherson here in

the Cash Book.
. By Mr. Boivell:

Q. Does it stand that way in the book now ?-Yes.
By Mr. Casgrain:-

Q. Had Mr. Macpherson any dealings with the Company at that time ?-No.
Q. Or since ?-No.
Q. Who came to ask for the money in the first place ?-For the subscription?
Q. Yes, for the money on the order. Who spoke to you first of this transaction,?

-I was canvassed and informed of this testimonial and invited to subscribe to it.
Q. I want to know who first spoke of this matter to you ?-1 could not fix my

memory as to who was the first party to talk to me about it; my impression is that
it was Mr. Macpherson.

By M. Bowell:
Q. Who asked you for the moncy ?--Mr. Macpherson. He was treasurer of the fund

and to him all the subscriptions were paid.
Q. Did any one else ask you to subscribe to the fund; I think that is what Mr.

Casgrain wants to get at ?-I consulted with some of my colleagues on the Board.
Q. No. I don't mean that; did any one else besides Mr. Macpherson ask you to

subscribe ?-I do not remember that anybody but Mr. Macpherson asked me.
Q. lad you any conversations with reference to the subscription with any per-

sons besides those with whom you are associated ?-I consulted with some of my col-
leagues on the directorate as to whether the subscription should be made.

Q. Anyone outside ?-No.
Q. Were you solicited by anyone outside other than Mr. Macpherson ?-1 have

no recollection of any conversation with anyone about the subject other than the
Directors.

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. This cheque was paid out of the earnings of the road ?-Yes.
Q. Although charged Io Mr. Macpherson there was no intention whatever of

asking him to refund it ?-No, it was paid to him as the treasurer of the fund and I
assumed that lie would apply it to the fund.

By4Mr. DeYeber:-
Q. Why was it charged to Mr. Macpherson ?-It was charged to him because lic

received it.
(The witness here produced the account books containing the entry.)

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. I sec nothing in the books to indicate the purpose for which this money was

paid ?-No, it is not entered.
Q. It is treated as a personal payment to Mr. Macpherson in the books ?-It was

kept there until it should be dealt with.
3
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Q. In the entry made in the ledger Mr. Macpherson was charged with this
money; what account was credited; or was any account credited; or was a cross
entry made ?-It remained, as you see it in the ledger, until 30th June 1875.

Q. I am aware that that statement was given before, but I wish, for my own
satisfaction, to sec the books ?-They are hore. (Books produced.)

Q. Who were members of the board, Mr. Cumberland, at the time of the sub-
scription ?-I will send for copies of the report, and see.

Q. Have you the minutes of the Board meetings ?-I have not; only the
reports and the list of Directors elected.

By Mr. Bowell ;-
Q. Tell us who you remember ?-Hon. J. B. Robinson was one.
Q. Was lie President at the time ?-Yes, ho was President, I was a Director

ihyself. The late Hon. John Ross was also one and Mr. William Elliott was one.
By Mfr. Guthrie:

Q. I would suggest that Mr. Cumberland read over his evidence in the report of
the Royal Commission and say whether it is correct, so that it may be tken as
evidence before us with any explanation any member of the committee may desire,
and, any explanation Mr. Cumberland may desire to give.

_1r. Cumberland-In looking over the report I sec at once there is a mistake
here. The question is asked : " Was there a subscription book ?" The answer is that
I never saw one. I had apparently forgotten whether I had seen one or not.

By 3fr. Guthrie :-
Q. Well, and you sec one?-I am told that 1 saw one; I am told that I signed

one, so I must have seen it; but, I do not remember it.
(Mr. Guthrie here suggested that it would facilitate the labors of the committee

if Mr. Cumberland would read over the evidence and be prepared to say how far
ho still adheres to it; and if ho would prepare a memorandum of any expenditure
analogous to the expenditures referred to in the evidence taken under the Royal
Commission.

Mr. Bowell-That would include items. Were there any other subscriptions
paid out of the funds of the Cumpany for any other purposes ?

_/U. Gutherie- Yes, any charges that may be considered not legitimate so far as
the Act of Parliament with regard to the funds of the railway was concerned.)

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. I would like to see a list of the Directors ?-(Reading from the report) The

Directors that were in office at the date of that payment were Hon. J. B. Robinson,
Hon. John Ross, F. W. Cumberland and William Elliott. These were the four in Toronto.
The three in England were Messrs. Wheeler, Chowne and Jackson. The last mon-
tioned is the present Sir Henry Jackson.

Q. Seeing the list of names can you recollect who it was you spoke to about this
subscription ?-Yes. Messrs. Robinson and Ross and myself.

Q. You consulted Messrs. Robinson and Ross ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. Where was Mr. Elliott at the time ?-I could not say that I consulted him ;
I could not say that I remember doing so.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. You remember consulting Mr. Ross and Mr. Robinson. Well there is no

reason why you cannot say whether you consulted Mr. Elliott ?-There may be no
reason, but my memory fails me.

Q. Will you say that you did or did not sec him ?-No, Mr. Elliott can speak
for himself.

Q. Was it at a Board meeting that you consulted with Messrs. Robinson and
Ross ?-No, it was at my office.

Q. Were they together whon you consulted them ?-I cannot say that they
were. It was the su bject of conversation between us for some little time and on
several occasions.
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Q. Did Mr. Robinson and Mr. Ross approve of appropriating the $2,500 in -
that pugose ?-They did; and I concurred.

Q.Did Mr. Macpherson apply to the others as well as to you, or was it through
you that the matter was brought to their notice ?-I certainly brought it before
their notice; whether Mr. Macpherson did so, or not, I cannot say.

Q. You use the word " canvassed " in referring to the matter; did ho canvass
more than you?-Perhaps it would be botter to use the word invited.

Q. Well, whatever word you choose to ue; it was your own word ?-I know it was.
Q. Was he present when you mentioned the matter to Mr. Robinson and Mr.

Ross ?-I do not remomber that he was. My impression is that ho was present once,
when it was the subject of conversation with Mr. Robinson.

Q. When did you first make up your mind, as to the amount you would give.
Iow long before you gave the order ?-I could not say at this distance of time.

Q. Was it as to the amount that you consulted thoso gentlemen first ?-First, as
to whether it should be given, and thon as to the amount.

Q. Thon these gentlemen were aware of the amount and sanctioned the appro-
priation of the money in that way ?-No doubt they approved.

Q. If you had their sanction why did you not bring it before them formally at
a Board meeting ?--Well, the administration of the Company really was at that time
largely personal.

Personal to whom ?-To myself.
Q. What do you mean by that ?-I mean to say that there vas no " stock-

holding " or " stock " representation at this time.
Q. You were thon, in fact, not only Manager, but you fulfilled the duties usually

devolving on boards of Directors ?-I should not lilke to say that I used the power of
boards of Directors.

Q. I should like to know what you mean by saying the management was largely
personal ?-I will illustrate it. You will know botter what I mean if I illustrate my
position by the position of Mr. Broughton on the Great Western Railway, and the
position Mr. Brydges held for many years on the Grani Trunk Railway. These are
systems of personal government beyond all question, and that is what I mean by.
the expression.

Q. I do not know what their position is with reference to local powers. Doyou
mean to say, in fact, that the local directors were merely figure heads,-do you mean
to say that the real power was in your hands ?-I mean to say that the local directors
at that time did not charge themselves with the details of the work.

Q. What do you call the details ? Was the payment of $2,500 for such a purpose
a detail; a mere trifle? This is not an ordinary payment as you are aware. I want
to know what you mean when you say that the Board did not charge itself with mer e
details and because of that you did not bring this before them. What are details ?-
I call details, for instance, the passing of subordinate departmental accounts and
that sort of thing. This is undoubtedly one of them; there is no use of mincing any
matters about it. It was personal government at tha.t time to a large extent, and the
Board, until a somewhat recent date, did not charge itself with the details. '

Q. The Board charges itself now, to a greater extent, with the control?-Yos, I
should say so; I get more assistance now in the details than I ever did.

Q. IHow often did the Board meet in those days ?-ILrregularly. Sometimes once
a month; and sometimes not so frequently. -Not, however, in the average, more
often than once in three weeks or a month.

Q. Who managed the affairs of the Company in the intervals between meetings ?--
I did.

Q. Entirely ?-Yes, though sometimes, there was consultation with the directors.
They would from time to timo drop in, and I would talk matters over with them.

Q. Do you remember now whether the choque was payable to Mr. Macpherson
as treasurer of the fund; or individual-ly ?-I do not remember, I should say it was
not; that does not appear on the voueher on the cash book; I take it for granted it
will appear on the cheque.
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By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Thon it was given to him personaàlly ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Thon .there is nothing in any voucher or book of the Northern Railway

Company that shows the real purpose for which that payment was made ?-No.
Q. I see by your evidence (before the Royal Commission) that this was trans-

ferred some four years and a half afterwards to the Northern Extension iRailway
account ?-Yes.

Q. What had that account to do with it ?-That was only a branch account; it
is just as much a Northern Railway account as any account we had. That was
subsequent to the amalgamation when the Extension account and Extension property
reverted to us.

Q. Yes, but that does not satisfy me that there was any reason for doing so.
Even supposing it was a branch of the Northern, what reason was there for transfer-
ring this item to that branch ?-Well, the Northern, Extension account was a capital
account. There was an open capital at that time, subsequent to amalgamation, for
which provision would have to be made on capital account.

Q. Thon you had no capital account before ?-I had no expenditure account to
which I could carry that, so I charged it as capital account.

Q. The first time you had a capital account you moved it there. Well, pray,
why did you charge it to capital account ?-Because I could not charge it to the
revenue. I must charge it to some one.

Q. I see in the printed report it is charged to Municipal Bonuses and Government
Subsidies expenses account. Under which of these do you put the payment to Mr.
Macpherson ?-That is a class of accounts so entitled.

Q. Is it a Government subsidy ?-No. If you had an account for boots and shoes
you might put in slippers, that is all. It would include slippers. The account is not
intended to specify the nature of every item referred to it.

Q. You kept no class of account-no proper account-for such items, to which
you could refer them ?-No, 'none.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. When you speak of the railway being more of a personal management than

anything else, do I understand you to mean that, like many other companies whose
Directors are very often appointed for the sake of complying with the law and in
order to constitute a board, the whole management and control of the company is in
the hands of the Manager and President with the understanding that if anything
comes up ho shall consult with the local board ?-I was just going to say with regard
to the expression " personal " that the Board was more of a consultative than an
executive body.

Q. It was understood at the general meeting when the Manager was elected that
ho was to have personal control ?-I cannot do botter than point to the Midland ; that
has personal government.

Q. Yes, that is a very good illustration ?-And yet it has a Board of Directors;
and I may say this, a railway can never fight its way unless it has a chief. I think
you can take the Welland Railway, that is the same.

Q. Have you any reason to suppose, or do yo.u know with regard to this sub-
scription which you made to the testimonial fund that Sir John A. Macdonald had any
knowiedge either directly or indirectly of the matter, before or since ?.-Never from
me, either directly or indirectly. It was never the subject of any reference in any
conversation with him, until after the Royal Commission.

Q. Nor any one on his behalf, other than Mr. Macpherson, so far as your recol-
lection serves you ?-With no one else. I am convinced that Sir John Macdonald
knew nothing whatever about it until it came out before the Commission.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Did you subscribe to this testimonial yourself ?-My impression is that I

signed the subscription list, in common with the other Directors whom I have named,
6
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to the aggregate amount of the sum that was paid to Mr. Macpherson. That is to
say, that the majority of the local board signed for the Company.

Q. What I want to ask is, did you, individually, contribute over and above the
$2,500 ?-No.

By Mlr. Bert;an
Q. What was the position of your road before 1859 ? What was the capital?-.
Mr. Guthrie-That is recited in the Act of 1875.
A. I think between £163,000 and £164,000 sterling. (Statutes produced)

The chartered capital of the Company, amounted to £203,803, currency.
The Chairnan-That will make it about equal to what Mr. Cumberland states.

By M r. Bertram:-
Q. Then the bondholders were entitled to a rate of interest on their bonds.

What vas that rate ?--Up to 1859 ---six per cent, but they never got a shilling.
Q. They never got anything at all ?-Up to 1859 ; up to the reorganization.
Q. They got it after that ?-That was the object of the bill ; that was the cause

of the whole thing. No interest had been paid upon the debentures from the time of
their issue down to the date of that Act, and a large floating debt had accumulated,
and the property had fallen into dilapidation. That is to say, that the road cost
more to work than it earned, and there was a deficit year by year,Q. Thon the Government postponed its claim in order that the bondholders might
get their interest ?--New capital had to be raised to pay off the floating debt and to
repair the road. The Government would not pay off the debt nor repair the road. Some
other method had to be devised for this purpose, and the bargain that was struck at
that time between the bondholders and the Government was to this effect :-If you,
the bondholders, will fin-d the new money necessary to this purpose; we, the Govern-
ment, will allow you to go in front of our lien. The answer of the bondholders to that
was :-We will find the new monoy (another £250,000) provided, as you say, we are
put in front, and provided we are allowed to participate in the franchise and
control and the government of the road.

Q. Which they did ?-Which they did. The Government charged £50,000 for
that concession, which £50,000 now stands in the rank of a second preference bond.

By 1r.' Guthrie :-
Q. Did not that represent arrears of interest ?-It was not so regarded.
Q. But you had not paid any interest on the lien ?-We had not paid the work-

ing expenses. The unfortunate workmen were eleven months behind.
Q. How does that £50,000 stafid now ?--The £250,000 of first preference is the

new money to which I referred ; the £283,000 of second preference includes the
£50,000 to the Government; and then, until 1868, came the lien in the third rank.

Q. Up to 1868, or in fact from 1859. From the re-organization in 1859 did you
pay any interest to the G-overnment on the lien ?--None. The President reminds me
that in 1868 it was necessary to get new capital, and the Governient again made a
bargain with us. That was the second £50,000.

Q. What I meant to ask was whether you paid any thing in ioney ?-On the
lieu ? No.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. When you raised this £250,000 did you use the money to pay off your

liabilities ; you say you were eleven months behind---and for repairing the road ?-
Yes, for repairing the road; filling in the tressie work, and re-constructing the bridges.
The bridges were re-constructed under the supervision of the Government engineer.

Q. When you paid the six per cent. annually to the bondholders, who was the
next creditor who was entitled to payment provided you had more than the amount
that went to the English bondholders ?---The first preference. If the net revenue of
the road were insuffisent to pay every body, thon, they stand in the order of their
rank. The first and second, until 1868, stood in front of the lion, or, until 1868 the
lien came in third.

Q. I do not understand this first and second. I understand you to say that the
original bondholders agreed to pay up £250,000 more, to put the road in good repair,

e yietorila.
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and I understand you to say that after that you paid yearly the six per cent ? On
the new money.

Q. Not on the original ?-No, not on the original.
Q. When did you begin to pay that on the original ? - We began to pay

that, I think, after the second or third year of the new expenditure. We gave them
one and a half per cent, the next year two per cent, and I think I brought the road up
so as to pay the dividends of the first and second within five years of the re-orga-
nization. We brought them up to the six per cent.

Q. That would be about 1865, I suppose ?-Yes, I suppose so.
By Mr Bertram :-

Q. When the railroad was in a position to pay the bondholders, who were the
next creditors ?-The Government lien.

Q. On that you paid nothing ?-Nothing.
Q. J want to ask you a sort of general question ; I only ask it, of course, for

information. Supposing you had had an additional £250,000, could you not have
paid the same rate of six per cent ?-Supposing we had that amount of private capital
could we have paid interest on it instead of having the lien ? You must allow me to
give my explanation of that, I can tell you what you want to know better in my
own form. In 1852, and still· later, in 1857 when the railway was bankrupt, the
line of country which it traversed was all bush north of Bradford. That is, we only
had forty miles of settled country. After 1857, when we had the Company in credit
and had the ability to open out, when we had abandoned the through traffic as
unprofitable and devoted ourselves wholly to the local, the whole country gave a
leap and our traffic as you will find suddenly and largely increased. So much so,
that it was a simple impossibility for us to do the trade of the country unless we
added to the facilities'for doing it. You cannot carry two loads of hay upon one
waggon, and we found ourselves in the position of either not getting the produce of
the country to market or of adding to our equipment so as to secure it. Thus it came
that we Lad to provide new money from somewhere. If you will look into the reports
of the Company you will fin'd that from that time the increase in our rolling stock
and in all our facilities became most rapid. We had no capital whatever.

Q. Well, your rolling stock was capital ?-No, no, I say we had to provide rolling
stock; and we were on this horn of the dilemma: we had either to raise new capital
in front of the lien and so postpone it, or to supply the surplus revenue for capital
purposes. That is the whole policy of the Company for fifteen years with, of course,
the tacit consent of the Government. Here is a memorandum of the number of our
cars: in 1857 there were 311; in' 1873 there were 872. That illustrates what I mean.

Q. What J would like to get at is this, and I think you can give it to me having
the books here. If you would be good enough to make a memorandum dating from
1857 to the time the road took the leap forward, giving the earnings of the roa:
during that time, the amount of rolling stock on the road each year, the amount of
money expended on bridges from year to year, and the amount expended on new and
additional works, charged to working expenses.

Mr. Cumberland promised to prepare the information asked for.
In reply to Mr. Guthrie, Mr. Cumberland promised to prepare a memorandum,

from an examination of the books as well as from memory, of all expenditures in ad-
dition to and analogous to the expenditures referred to in the evidence before the
Royal Commission, in regard to the Northern Railway and the Northern Extension
Railway since 1867.

TUESDAY, March 20, 1877.

Colonel F. W. CUMBERLAND, recalled and examined.
By fr. Guthrie :

Q. Have you got the list, or have you made out any list of expenditures of a
like character to those referred to in the evidence before the Royal Commission ?--
As far as time would admit I have looked through the books that are here-the

8
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books of the Company-chiefly with the aid of my memory, because it has been qu: ;
impossible for me to go .hrough all the books'since last Friday-in fact Saturday-
and I have made memoranda of some items that ma be regarde as analogous.Q From what date have you looked through the books in respect to this item ?
-Some of the items go back to 1872-go back to June 1868.

Q. Have you looked fol- such items in the books from the lst of July,1867, that
is the time of the Confederation of the Provinces, and the time we mentioned you
should do it in the first instance ?-Yes; I have not limited myself. I have gone
behind that.

Q. Are you prepared to say then from an examination óf the books that they
contain no items of expenditure of a character analogous to those under investigation,
prior to 1868 ?-Yes ; I think I can say that.

Q. You do say that ?-I do say that as far as my knowledge extends. As I tell
you it is utterly impossible for me to go through all the books-each item and all
the accounts since 1857, 1858, or without such an examination to say.

Q. It would not be so difficult to go back to the 1st of July, 1867, the time of the
Confederation of the Provinces ?-No, not all.

Q. Well, have you made a thorough examination of the books from 1867 down ?
-No; I cannot say that I have. I have examined as far as the time at my disposal
bas made it possible.

Q. The question that I put you was whether you had made a thorough
examination of the books from the lst of July, 1867 down ?-No; I cannot say that
I have made a thorough examination of the books. I have said I made as much
examination as possible in the time at my command.

Q. And to make a thorough examination would require further time ?-It is a
physical impossibility to say you will make a thorough-and in fact no one else can
do it as quickly as I can, because I am much assisted by memory.

Q. In a partial eaxmination what items did you find ?-I found items relating to
other linos oflRailway.

Q. ilave you got a memorandum of the items whieh you can produce to the
committee ?-I can give them to you.

Q. What are the items ?-Grey and Simcoe Railway.
Q. That is now called the Northern Extension ?-No, Sir. The charter is defunct.

It was a line that was projected from Angus to Durham, in opposition to the.
Wellington, Grey and Bruce, and in opposition to the Toronto, Grey and Bruce. It
was a railway fight at that time.

By 11r. Bertram :
Q. Where were the termini ?-Our proposition vas to run a line of railway

from Angus on the Northern Railway to Durham in the County of Grev, and thence
onward possibly to the shores of Lake Huron.

Q. What is the amount there ?-The amount of that campaign, including serviees
and all the expenses, engineering estimates.

By 3r. MlcCarthy :
Q. It had no stock of its own ?-No; It was entirely dependent upon us.

Although it was an independent company we were in flact the godfathers, and their
charter expenses, survey expenses, and their fights with the Wellington, Grey and
-Bruce and the Toronto Grey and Bruce were in the sum which I report of $3,941.86.

By the Chairnan:-
Q. What time is this ?-It goes back as far as the 20th March, 1865, to J une, 1868.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. What other item have you ?-We had the South Simiicoe Junction Riailway.

By Mr. Bowelt .-
Q. That was for the same purpose, I suppose ?-That was for the same purpose

of defending our own interest. The second item is the South Simeoe Junction
Railway, and it dates back to May, 1872, that is, it was aboutlhen the first expendi-
tures began. That amounted to $8,259.80.
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By Mr. Bertram:
Q. Where was that line to run ?-That -road was located from Angus to King.

It would form a loop lino and shorten the through distance of the route from Lake
Huron to Lake Ontario nearly twenty miles.

Q. They are both stations on that lino ?-They are both stations on that line.
That lino was devised for sevoral reasons ; the first of all.

(M. Guthrie throught the witness had better first complote the list, and thon the
committe could examine into the dotails afterward.

Mr. Bowell thought he might as well go on as ho was doing.)
Mr. Guthrie-What is the next item ?-The third line we call the Pacifie J4nction

Railway. That was a lino running to the northward to connect with the Georgian
Bay Branch, and was promoted in defence of the traffic of our Railway and the
business of Toronto as against all the rival lines which had received charters to
approach Sault Ste. Marie. That was the policy of that concern, and the expendi-
ture amounted to $3,472.33 and dated back to 1872.

Q. What is the next ?-Those are the only ones that I have got. I do not know
whether you would regard the annuity given to Mr. Capr-eol as analogous, but I

Ihought I would mention it. We have given an annuity to MIr. Capreol for £300
a year.

Q. Was that a pension ?-An annuity.
Q. From what date ?-I could give you the date by referring to our reports.

By 3fr. Bowell:-
Q. Is that sterling ?-No, currency. We have been paying it for about two

years. I can Oive you the exact date and the ground on which it was made. The
grant is for life, for his own life.

Q. By w-hat authority was that given ?-It was brought up at an annual meeting
of our proprietors and passed by them.

Q. That would be bondholders and stockholders, I suppose ?-Yes; both.
By M1r. Palmer:-

Q. Have the bondholders a right to vote at the annual meeting ?-Yes; the
bondholders have the franchise, as 1 explained.

By 3fr. Guthrie :-
Q. Were there any other payments ?-There is an annual subscription which we

have paid for many years of a hundred dollars a year to the Mechaànics Institute of
Toronto; and there are various subscriptions that we have made froi time to time
too nmerous to abstract and difficult to get at, still possible, to get up regattas and
those sort of things. We always subscribed to the Collingwood regatta every year,
to the Barrie regatta every year, to the Orillia regatta, and so on.

Q. What would such subscriptions anount to in the aggregate in the year ?-I
should not think more than two or three hundred dollars a year.

By fr. Palmer:
Q. That is including the Mechanics' Institute ?-No; in addition to that.

By 3fr. Guthrie :-
Q. I mean to regattas and races?-Two or three hundred dollars a year, not

Lo're, I think.
Q. I have no doubt they gave a little to races ?-I do not think we have ever

done that; but instead of giving a suîbscription we reduce our fares and that sort of
thing, it is all in view of traffic.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. I suppose this annual subscription to the Mechanies' Institute was to provide

a place for obtaining knowledge and for the recreation of your employés ?-Yes, but
chiefly for our apprentices who are fiee members, in consequence, of that institute
and ail its classes and privileges.

By 3r. Casgrain :
Q. How far back ?-I should think fifteen years back, perhaps more.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Have you mentioned all the items you have on your paper ?-No; I have
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one other item; but it is a very distressing thing lo me that I should bo called upon
to expose all the confidential transactions of our Company, which are of a nature
which anybudy may see as far as we are concerned; but our relations with other
railway companies, other corporations, are 6f a delicato character, and of course it
weakens my corporation dreadfully to have all its affairs brcught up. If every bank
had to show all its expenditures in the protection of its property, and in its hostility
to other institutions, its affairs would be weakened very much. We have had litiga-
tien in several eases in which the expenditure was what, I suppose, would be called
in the IHouse secret service money; but I think it is a very unfair thing te my
clients and constituents that their property should be damaged in this way. If you
wish I will speak of the different suits we have undertaken-litigation in defence of
our property. We are asking Parliament te give us a financial scheme which means
the issue of £800,000 on the London market; and if we are damaged only to the
extent of five per cent, that is £840,000 loss to us.

Q. Would you state without stating how it was paid what the aggregate amount
was, it may be small ?-It is an important sum. I should say that the litigations
in the cases to which I refer would amount to over $2000, probably I understate the
aiount in saying $2000 ; it might be $3000.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Over how many years would this be spread ?-Two te three years.
Q. Up te what period ?-It is almost open now.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. It is continually going on, 1 suppose ?-We are on the defensive now.
Q. I understood you to say that this $3000 was expended in what you considered

the interest of the Company----in protecting the property of the Company ?---Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie:--

Q. Is that the only item on your list ?---That is all.
Q. Have you read the evidence taken before the Northern RaiWvay Commis-

sion ?--Yes.
Q. Well, what do you say to it ?----I have no objection to offer to it except this:

Somebody says-I think Mr. Macpherson says it---" I signed the subseription list of
Sir John A. Macdonald; " well, here I say I never saw one.

Q. You explained that on Friday ?--I do not sec anything to which I object.
Q. Then you adhere te the evidence ?-Yes.
Q. Then are you willing that that evidence should be treated, so far as it goes,

as evidence in this enquiry ?-Yes.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. One of your answers is tbis in the evidence taken on Friday, " My impression
is that I signed the subscription list in common with the other Directors whom I have
named te the aggregate amount of the sum that was paid to Mr. Macpherson; " now,
is that correct?-No; because we did not sign for the Company. What I meant was
this, that I protected myself in that execution of the aet of paying the money by
associating with myself two of my brother directors, and thus constituting a majority
of the local board.

Q. Then that does net refer to the subscription list at all ?-That is not intended
to say that we three signed for the Company as a matter of fact. We did not sign;
but we agreed the subscription should be made by the Company.

By Mr. Guthrie : -
Q. Should be made and paid ?-Well, I do not know as to the words. Before the

book was signed it was agreed that the money was to be paid by the Company.
By Mr. Palmer :-

Q. Did net you gentlemen sign the subscription lists individually in your own
names and for separate amounts ?-I can only say this-

i Q. Just answer the question categorically, will you ? Yes or no ?-I have no
personal knowledge that the hon. Mr. Ross or the hon. Mr. Robinson signed any sub-
Scription list at al[; and I have absolutely no memory that I ever signed one myself.
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As I stated before the commissioners, I never saw a subscription list; and 1 have not
the slightest recollection that I did.

Q. After hearing Mr. Macpherson say to-day that you did sign it, have you any
doubt ?-From my confidence in Mr. Macpherson, if he says I signed it, and my name
is there, I believe I signed it.

Q. I ask you whether this answer which you have made here does not apply to
the payment of the money and the agreement for the payment of the money and not
to your signing the subscription list. (Reading from the report of the Commission) ?--I
say it was agreed to amoug us three-

Q. I did not ask you that; will you answer my question, yea or nay ?-I cannot
tell, because I cannot tell when the subscription was made.

Q. I understand you now to say that you do not remember signing any subscrip-
tion list at ail ?-No; i do not.

Q. Then how can this statement you have made here apply to the subscription
list ?-You tell me I repeat myself ; but I cannot help it. I say that neither Mr. Ross,
Mr. Robinson nor myself involved 'ourselves in any promise or agreement to pay
anything until it was previously agreed between us that the Company should sub-
scribe $2,500.

Q. But what lias that to do with the answer here ? Has this answer anything to
do with the subscription list ?--1 did not have anything to do with any subscription
list of whieh I have any know!edge.

WEDNEsDAY, March 21, 1S77.

Committee met.-Mr. ARCIIIBALD in the Chair.
Col. F. W. CUMBERLAND re-called.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Mr. Cumberland, have you completed your investigation of the books yet

from the date spoken of?-Yes.
Q. That is from the lst July, 1867 ?-Yes.
Q. From that examination and from your memory, do you say whether or not

there ýwas any item other than those referred to in the report of the Royal Commis-
sion or mentioned by you yesterday-of the same eharacter ?-From my examination
and knowledge I am able to say that there are no other items than those which are
already before the Committee, analogous to the items dealt with by the Commissioner
in their report.

Q. That is from July, 1867, or from an earlier period ?-An earlier period
certainly to then, and I think I may say the books as a whole.

Q. Do you remember the general election in 1872 ?-I do; that was the election
in which Mr. Robinson ran for Algona wasn't it ?

Q. Yes?-No, I do not think it was, Mr. Guthrie; it was the election in which
he ran for Algoma.

Q. No; you ran in 1867, Mr. Cumberland. Mr. Rlobinson was elected in 1872.-
But I think Mr. Robinson was elected not at the general election, but a little later.

Q. No; at the general election.-Was it ? yes; I remember it.
Q. Did you contribute to the election funds that year ?-Are yo speaking of

me individually or of my Company?
Q. Speaking of either.
(Objected to by Mr. McCarthy on the ground that the committee had no right

to enquire as to whether the witness contributed personally to an election fund or
not.)

Q. Did you contribute to the election fund that year, to the general election or
to any other election fund ?-I did.

Q. Out of the funds of the Company ?-No; not out of the funds of the Company,
excepting in relation to the election for Algoma of Mr. Robinson.

Q. Did you contribute then over and above that election ?
(Objected to by Mr. Palmer.)
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Mr. Guthrie-Mr. -Cumberland's account is overdrawn very seriously, and I
want to know whether it arose from his contributions to elections. Mr. Cumberland,
you say you did contribute-well, I want to know if you paid your contribution out
of the funds of the Northern Railway ?-I did not.

Q. Was your account with the Northern Railway overdrawn at that time-1872
that is your personal account ?-I côuld not say without looking. I could teli yow iln
a moment by looking. [Witness produced and referredto the ledger of the Northern
Railway Company for 1872.] At the end of the firsthalf year of 1872, 29th of June,
there was a balance against me of $1127.80.

Q. Was that in addition to the notes? -No.
By Mr. Palmer:

Q. Do I understand this includes the notes mentioned in your evidence ?-That
has nothing to do with the notes; it is exclusive of the notes.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. That is what I asked, did you owe that to the company in addition to the

notes ?-No; the notes were subsequent to that.
Q. Did you owe that in addition to the amount represented by the notes ?-I

thing you will find that the notes were after that. Yes ; you arc right, this was in
addition to the note-in addition to the 1869 note.

Q. Which was for $2181-39 ?-Yes.
By the Chairman :

Q. You say that that $1127-80 was a balance against you ?-No; it was a balanoe
in my favor. At the end of the vear. .;;lst December, there was a balance against me
of $928-07.

By Mfr. Guthrie
Q. Would that be in addition to the note of 1869 ?-I presurme it was. The note

was running.
By 3r. Bowell .

Q. I suppose your account in every quarter would fluctuate more or less, some-
t:nes overdrawn and sometimes balance due you ?-Yes.

By Mfr. Guthrie :
Q. Did you contribute to the general elections of 1867, or to any particular elec-

tion of that year-the first election after Confederation ?--No, I have no recollection.
Q. Did you contribute to the elections of the City of Toronto that year, or to

any of them ?-No.
Q. I mean the elections of Mr. Harrison and Mr. Wallis in West Toronto ?-No.
Q. You contributed nothing ?-No; I think not. I shall say no.
Q. I understood you to say that you did so neither out of the Company's fanda

nor individually.
(Objected to by Mr. Bowell.)
The Chairman thought this committee had nothing to do with Mr. Camberland's

own private contributions, if ho made any.
Q. Did yon contribute individually to the elections of 1867 ?
The 'hairman-I think that question may -be put and Mr. Cumberland can

arswer it or not as he sees fit.
A. I decline to answer.
Q. Did you pay any contribution to the clections that year by a choque, or out of

the funds of the ]Railway Company, directly or indirectly ?-The, expenses of my
Own election at Algoma were partially paid through my account with the Company.
Beyond that none other.

Q. Did you pay any individual subscription to the elections that year by drawing
a cheque on the Company and charging it to your private account ?-No

Q. Were the proceeds of any of the choques entered in your private account in
the Northern Railvay books applied to the payment of any election subscription in
1867.

(Objected to by Mr. Palmer as coming within the Chairman's last ruling. Objection
Slustained.)
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A. It is impossible for me to discriminate as to the proceeds of choques charged
to my private iccount.

Q. Was your account at that time overdrawn, 1867.7?-I think not; but I can
appeal to the books.

Q. Did any payment by you towards any election expenses croate an over-
draught of your account ?-Are you speaking except the Algoma?

Q. Yes ; of course me know about the Algoma ?-I cannot say. Upon the
ground of my previous answer, I cannot discriminate.

Q. With regard to election expenses, you have already told us about your expen-
diture on your own election for Algoma in your evidence before the Royal Commission,
and you have told us about Mr. Robinson's over-draught and your own. I wish to
know if these over-draughts were with the knowleIge and consent of the board of
Directors, and if so, of which of thé Directors ?-I stated in my evidence before the
Commissioners, I think, that they were not with tlie knowledge ofmy Directors.

Q. Then the notes that you gave, as mentioned in your evidence. were given at
your own instance ?--The pressure of the charges had become so heavy upon my
personal account that it was necessary to relieve them ; but being my own account I
did not choose to take the responsibility of adjusting them other than by a note
which would leave it for the authority of the board, at the prope- time, to adjust
according to their judgment.

Q. Do I understand that these notes were covered; was there any endorser on
them, or security ?-No, sir, my own note.

Q. Were those notes accepted by the board as satisfactory ?-They were deposited
with the Secretary by me.

Q. With the knowledge of the board ?-No.
Q. Well, then, you made an arrangement with yourself to accept your own

note, I suppose, that is the meaning of it ?-The meaning of it is, as I stated before
the Royal Commissioners, that numerous charges had been made to my account
which belonged to the Company; for instance travelling expenses from time to time
and other charges which should not have been charged against me personally, and
which had not been written off by crediting the services to me specially. 1 coulk
not adjadicate on them, and therefore I left it in suspense by making a note and
thus relieve my account without acquitting myself.

Q. Do I understand you, then, that you abandoned your claim by giving the
note ?-On the contrary, it was to maintain the (daim and yet relieve my aeeount
that I gave the note.

Q. Is the note collectable against you now ?-l apprehend I could pay it if it is
urged.

Q. You owe the money then ?--If on investigation the Company says I owe the
money.

Q. Have you ever sought an investigation ?-I have not for this reason, that I
held it over until ouri new Act should come into operation and capital account be
opened.

Q. But what has a capital account being opened to do with your getting a
proper adjustment of your account with the Company ?-Because there are a consi-
derable number of accounts standing in that way. The cheque referred to yesterday
was suspense account on account of capital account.

Q. But what has capital account to do with your getting just claims, if they are
just claims, settled by the Company ?

(Objected to by Mr. McCarthy on the ground that everything bearing on this
point was given in the report of the Royal Commission.

The chairenan ruled that the question might be asked.)
A. Capital account had to do with a general adjustment of suspense aceount.
Q. When you got a new capital account you did not charge it to it ?--We have

mot had a new capital account.
Q. You had a capital account, had you not, when you amalgamated with the

14
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Northern Extension; you opened a capital account ?--But that was a suspense capital
account. We had no actual capital account, and have not now.

Q. But you charged some items now objected to to that capital account but no&
this ?-I did not want to charge my own account. I left it in suspense in the way of
a note for adjustment as being in my humble judgment the most proper course to
take.

Q. Do I understand you to say that unless you get a new capital account you
cannot get that claim allowed by the Company ?-No; I do not say anything of the
sort.

Q. Then why did you.not get it allowed by the Company long ago?-Because I
thought it better to leave the adjustment of all the suspense accounts until under
new powers we were dealing with them.

Q. So you have never sought an adjustment ?-The account is so simple that
I have never sought any adjustment of the account; it remains there as a note.

Q. Is the note under your control ?-It is in the hands of the secretary.
Q. Is it under your control, I ask you ?-Everything is under my control.
Q. Then the note is ?-Yes.
Q. And so the note remains under your own control ?-Yes. It hias been for

many years and has been since it was made. I think I ought toadd that the irritation
of a question like that and the suggestion that it implies, oblige me to add that
although you use the word " control," it is not and never lias been in my custody.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. Is this note any more under your control than the rest of the property of the

company ?-Not all. It has never been in my custody since it vas made, and the
very reason was that I would not exercise the authority I possessed over all other
accounts over my own.

By 3r. Guthrie
Q. Do I understand that with regard to the note which covers the part of the

purchase morey of the Chicora you have never to this day brought that matter before
the Board ?-It was brought before the President and was the subject of conversation
with the Directors and was brouglit before the Commissioners. It was dealt with
before the Commissioners, so that my Board know all about it, and have since the
commission sat.

Q. Have you transferred the Chicora to the Board, or your interest in it to the
Railway Company ?-No.

Q. When you purchased, or agreed to purchase, an interest in the Chicora did you
do it ostensibly for the Railway Company ?-If you tell me what yon mean by
ostensibly-

Q. Did you let Mr. Smith and Mr. Barnhart know that you were taking it on
account of the Railway Company ?-Mr. Smith and Mr. Barnhart knew it was for the
RZailway Company I wanted the steamer, and that as far as one third of the ownership
was concerned I represented my Company.

Q. Mr. Barnhart, you know, in his evidence says this, he was asked the question,
"You did not know his purchase was on behalf of the Northern Railway ?" Mr.
Barnhart says, " No ; the agreement was with Mr. Cumberland personally." Ho
did not know evidently that your purchase was on behalf of the Northern Railway.
Now, what do you say to this ?-I say that if I was to secure the object I had in
hand, it was necessary for me to take the position of purchaser, because the Company
ould not.

By MWr. Bowell:-
Q. That is the Company had no power to hold this kind of property ?-No.

By -Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. At the time of the purchase did you make known to Mr. Barnhart and Mr.

'Smith that you were purchasing on behalf of the Northern ? Mr. Barnhart says no,
and I want to know what yon say ?-I say that at the time of the purchase I knew
that the Company could not legally hold that property, and J stepped in and took
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an interest and induced the other two to take each a third in order to secure the
steamer.

Q. I understand that; you said so before the commission. The point I wish to
get at now is whether you told or made known to Mr. Barnhart and Mfr. Smith that
you were puréhasing on behalf of the Railway ?-No, I do not think I did with regard
to the whole third.

Q. Then so far as these gentlemen knew they were correct, or one of then was
correct in saying he thought it was on your own personal behalf you were acting ?
Now, I will tell you the reason.

Q. But the fact ?-Well, the fact. It was absolutely necssary-
Q. Give me the fact first and thon the reason ?--I said noto the previous question,

Now you ask me another.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. Will you go on and give the reasons you were going to give ?-The reason
was this, that it was necessary that I should have a personal interest in that steamer
in order to satisfy both Mr. Smith and Mr. Barnhart that the operation was one
,which they could venture upon with safety; and thus it was that whilst I took one
third of the steamer-a wholê third because the Company could not take it-I took
and now hold more than half of that third, that is a sixth in the Chicora personally.
I have paid for it out of my own money.

By Mfr. McCarthy :-
Q. But the Chicora, I believe, is in the naine of Mr. Barnhart and Mr. Smith ?

Q. That is, the bill of sale is iii their naine ?-Yos. I have paid more towards
the purchase of the Chicora personally than the Company bas, and I have no botter
security than they have.

By fr. Guthrie:
Q. You have explained that the boat was bought for the benefit of the trade of

the Company ?-Yes. She was about to be taken off that route, and as she was the
best steamer on the Upper Lakes I thought it would be a great blow to the reputation
of our line to take her away.

Q. Did you pay your own money before you drew on the Company ?-It is my
own money, not taken from the Company at all.

Q. What you paid of your own money did you charge to the Company subso-
quently?-No; it still remains.

Q. Have you sought paymont of i t from the Company ?-No.
By Mr. Palmer

Q. If 1 nderstand, it is on your own account and not on account of the Coin-
pany ?----Yes, it is on my own account.

By Mr. Guthrie :- -
Q. With regard to Mr. Robinson's election exponses, for Algoma and his over-

drauLht of his account, have you got the book here containing Mr. Robinsoa's
ac",n ?--Yes.

Q. Would you show it ?--Yes. We have here (referring to the Ledger, page 570,)
the Ledger account of Mr. R'obinson, beginning in July, 1869.

Q. Would you hand in a copy of his account from 1867 down ?--Yes.
Q. With regard to the subscription to the Mail newspaper referred to in the

report of the Royal Commission-I understand, I think, fron your evidence that that
was in your name ?-Yes.

Q. But paid for by the Company's cheques ?--Yes.
Q. Haie you the choques here ?--Yes.
Q. Would you show them to the Committee ?--Yes.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. When you say a subscription, was that a thousand dollars invested in stock ?-- -

It was a subscription to the stock of the Mail Newspaper Company.
By Mr. McCarthy:

Q. Was that before or after the Mail was in existence ?-Before.
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Then you became a stookholder in the Mai (o the extent of a thousanid
dollars ?--Yes.

Q In your own name ?-Yes.
Q And that as appears was paid out of the funds of the Compapy ?-Yes.

By Mr. Palmer :
Q. You were one of the original subscribers to the stock of the .Mail to the

extent of one thousand dollars ?---Yes.
Q. The Mail Printing and Publishing Company ?-Yes.
Q. Do you hold those shares yet ?--I do not know; I presume so.
Q. Have you ever transferred them ?-No ; I have never transferred them.

By Mr. Casgrain:--
Q. Had you any particular object in view when you took that subscription ?-

Yes; we were fighting, as you already know, railway battles in the interest ofour road
and of our City, and I wanted something like freedom of entry for the discussions of
those questions.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. What do you mean by freedom of entry ?--I mean the introduction of argu-

ments and discussions in the interest of my road and of the City of Toronto.
By fr. .Bowell:

Q. And you thought the taking of that stock would give you a certain claim ?-
A certain claim.

Q. Did you obtain any such claim in any other newspaper by that or similar
means, or any other means ?---.No; we never had any stock in any other- newspaper.

By Mr. Palner:-
Q. You considered this would be for the interest ofyour road and afford a means

of putting your affairs before the public ?-That was my object.
Q. Did it cost you money to do that before, in this or any other way ?-We have

paid money.
Q. Was this more expensive than the usual mode of doing it ?-I did not antici-

pate that the stock would be such a financial failure. I thought we should get the
advantage and that the stock would maintain its value. -

Q. Who did you have to pay before ?-Well, I could not particularize.
Q. Did you ever pay anything to the Globe ?-They are our printers. We paid

them each year large sums of money for advertising and printing. They have been
ouí. printers for twenty years.

Q. Let me ask you whether in this patronage you gave to the Globe you were
actuated by about the same motives asyou were in taking the stock from the Mail ?-
No, it was an ordinary printing account.

Q. I want to kiow if the motive was not about the same, this freedom of entry?
-No.

Q. You had no freedom of entry in the Globe then ?-No, not for a good many
years.

By -Mr. Bowell:--
Q. Well, at any time ?--At one time the Globe used to be an advocate of the

Northern Railway.
By Mr. Palmer:

Q. Was that the time yon appointed them your printers ?---No.
Q. Was it before or after you appointed then your printers ?-Before; they

have been our printers from the beginning.
Q. Can you give us any idea of the aggregate amount you paid them ?-No; I

could not.
Q. Is there an account with the Globe in the books ?-Certainly.
Q. Will you be good enough to give us a copy of that too with the others, the

aggregate of each year ?--Yes.
By Mr. Gut hrie:

Q. I suppose in addition to this stock subscription to the Mail you had a running,
account with them for advertising ?-Yes .
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Q. Was the subscription to the Mail any way on behalf of the Company, so far
as the Company was concerned--a far as the Mail Publishing Com any was con-
cerned, did they in any way know that you were subscribing on half of the
Northern ?-I do not know.

Q. I understood you to say that you wanted to get as it were the advantage of
entry to the Mail ?-Well, the good-will, I mean--the good-will that is usually
shown to each shareholder.

Q. That means for the Railway Company ?-Yes; I think they knew; I do not
know whether I told them.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Had they any means of knowing whether this was taken by the Company or

by you ?-I do not think they would much care which it was.
Q. To whom did you make the subscription ? Who had the stock book when

they asked you to subscribe ?-I fôïrget.
.By BMr. Guthrie:

Q. Do you remember how the cheques were drawn for that subscription ?-The
subscription was put in three payments: one hundred dollars on subscription, deposit;
then, I think, a five and a four-I forget the succession; three cheques.

Q. To whom were the cheques payable ?-To the Mail Printing and Publishitig
Company.

Q. And they were ordinary cheques of the Northern Railway Company ?-I am
not sure whether the five and the four were cheques or notes. Sometimes it is
convenient for us to pay in notes; sometimes we give cheques.

Q. Was there anything on the cheques to show that they were in payment of
stock ?--I could not say. We will bring the vouchers to-morrow morning.

By Mr. Bowell :-
Q. This taking of the stock in the Mail was in the manner of what you would

consider an ordinary business transaction, I suppose ?--li exercised my discretion as
to the policy; and I thought it was one that was in the interest of my Company.

IBy Mr. Palmer :-
Q. You did not intend it as a gift to anybody; you thought it would be a good

business transaction for your Company ?--A good business transaction for my
Company.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. Did you have any understanding with anyone connected with the Mail that

they were to render such service on account of your baving this stock ?--No.
By Mr. Guthrie :

Q. You say you considered it a business transaction; do you mean you considered
it an investment for the sake of the dividend of the Mail ?---No.

By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. I understand you thought it advisable that that paper should be published in

Toronto, and that they should look upon your road with favor ?---Yes, the ordinary
influence of belonging to a concern.

THURSDAT, March 22, 1877.

Committee met.--Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.

Col. F. W. CUMBERLAND re-called.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. With regard to Mr. Robinson's account, had you any agreement with him

with regard to his allowance or salary originally when he became President ?-No
agreement.

Q. How was it fixed ?-It was fixed, on consultation with the London Board,
that the President should have double fees.

Q. That is double what an ordinary Director receives ?---Yes.
Q. I see by a copy of Mr. Robinson's account that he was allowed credit, from

month to month, apparently at the rate of £200 sterling a year ?-Yes.

'40 *Vietoria Appenidix (N. 4.)
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Q. Yoiu say it was the London Board that made the allowanco to him of £2i
sterling a y-ear, that is double an ordinary Direetor ?-I do not use that expression.
It was a consultation at the original reorganization of the Company as to what the
fees of Directors should be-and officers.

Q. Was any change made in the fees of Directors ?--Yes; they were increased
some years ago; I think some five or six years ago, or more perhaps.

Q. From what ?-The Directors' fees had, up to that time, been £50 a year;.
and, they were then increased to a hundred.

Q. That is sterling is it ?--Sterling.
Q. The President's salary would be increased, I suppose, at the saihe time to

double that of a Director ?-I think the President's salary was £200 sterling from the
origination.

Q. This accouat goes back to 1867--I believe that is already mentiored ?--Yes.
Q. And it was apparently at the rate of £200 sterling up to 1870 ?--Yes. I have

not looked at the account myself.
Q. Then I will show it to you. (The account was shown to the witness.) I

notice that the increase bçgins July, 1872?----July, 1872; yes.
Q. Did that payment continue to Mr. Robinson as long as he was President ?-

Yes.
Q. Who made the increa te; was it the London Board or yourslf?--It was begun

in consultation with the London Board-and with the Toronto Board too; but I
think it originated in London.

Q. What knowledge had Mr. Robinson of the state of his account with the
Company. Were accounts rendered to him ?--No.

Q. Had he access to the books ?-Yes.
By Mr. Palmer:---

Q. I see by this account that there is an apparent balance against Mr. Robinson
of $4606.71-was that an admitted balance by Mr. Robinson after giving him credit
for all his claims against the Company. (Exhibit "E.") ?--I do not know that Mr.
Robinson ever admitted the balance as a true balance against him.

Q. Did not Mr. Robinson put forward claims against the Company himself?-
Yes.

Q. Did he not claim that the Company owed him ?-He claimed that if he had
been properly paid the Company would be indebted to him instead of he being indebted
to them.

Q. Can you say why Mr. Robinson's account, like your own, was not settled;
I mean by an agreement between yourselves and the Company. What I mean is
this, by both parties getting together and settling your accounts on both sides and
agrecing upon a balance ?-It was left.an open account.

Q. Then let me ask you, whether the reason was or may not have been with
Mr. Robinson the same as with yourself that there really was not anyb.ody to settle
it with, and you had no funds, a, I understand it, out of which to pay the claims?
-There was the Board to settle both with.

Q. Yes. Why was not your own settled ?-For the reasons I gave yesterday,
that we were waiting for legislation.

Q. Well, I ask you, would not the same reason not apply to Mr. Robinson ?-
If he chose, it would. The same reason would operate with me with regard to his
account as with regard to others.

Q. If I understand it aright you had not a capital account. The fact was that
you had not capital; that was the truth, was it not ?-We have a floating debt.

Q. I will call it money-funds ?-We had no available capital.
Q. In other words you had no means to pay it ?-We had a floating debt without

Means to pay it.
Q. And therefore you left these things to be adjusted when yo. got the means

to pay it; that is the English of it, is it not ?-Yes.
Q. What were Mr. Robinson's duties as President ?-To preside at their meetings,

to represent the Company in external policies and actions, whether with other com-
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panies or with the Government or Parliament, and to be in consultation with the
executive officers.

Q. In other words that the duties,-as far as his office was concerned, would be in
the office with the ot her Directors presiding ?-He presides at all our meetings, of
course.

Q. What I mean is, it would be no part of his duties as President to do any
work outside, himself?-In conjunction with the executive officers of the Company,
and in carrying ont the policy of the Board; he is not a mere figure-head.

Q. Supposing it was necessary for some gentleman to be sent in the interest of the
Company to Ottawa or some other place, I want to know would it be a part of his
duty to do that duty ?-What duty ?

Q. Going on the business of the Company, we will say to Ottawa or any other
place ?-Whenever the business of the Company required the presence of the Prosi-
dent, it would be his duty to attend.

Q. Do you mean he would have to do that for the £300 stg. ?-No further pay;
but he would be allowed his expenses.

Q. Was there any rule or by-law of the Company defining what the duty of the
President was ?-We have no such by-law.

Q. It is simply that he is President of the Company ?-President of the Company.
Q. Did Mr. Robinson claim to have furnisbed or given services to the Company

outside of his duty as President or extra duty beyond what he wvas compeiled by his
office to do ?-I am not aware that Mr. Robinson ever performed any duties for the
Company outside of his office as President.

Q. I did not ask you that, but whether he did duties beyond the ordinary duties
of President ?-I am not aware of it.

How long was Mr. Robinson President ?-Speaking from memory, I should say
fourteen or fitteen years.

Q. Whon does the London Board represent ?-Under our Act we are permitted
to have four Directors of the Company resident in England and the balance resident
in Canada.

Q. It is all one thing, is it ?-It is all one thing. The London Board we regard
as consultative, the Toronto Board as executive. That is to say, that the power is in

Toronto.
Q. What I want to get at is, they do not represent different interests; one Board

does not represent the bondholders and the other stockholders ?-Not at all. The
London Board is elected by the same vote as those in Canada.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. low much did you pay Mr. Justice Morrison when lie was President ?-A

thousand pounds currency per annum.
Q. Did Mr. Robinson claim that he was entitled to that salary during the time

that he was President ?-I do not remember that Mr. Robinson ever claimed the
same salary as Mr. Justice Morrison ; but he always contended, that he had never
been paid sufficiently, and he referred to Mr. Morrison's stipend as his successor in
comparison with his.

Q. I sce that you say in your evidence before the Royal Commission that it was
your intention that he should be paid the same as his predecessor. The question is
p ut, " but you were not paying Mr. Robinson the same as Mr. Justice Morrison."
Your answer is, " No; it was my intention that he should be faid the same as his
predecessor." Then the question " On account of that intention you paid him these
amounts ? " A. I won't say that it was an absolute intention; but saw and

recognised his claim, and when the time arrived that I could exercise my influence,
"I yvould see that he was paid. Q.' And therefore you gave him these notes from
"time to time ? A. Yes ; that was the reason." Is that substantially correct ?-
That is substantially correct. I do not say it was an absolute intention. The first
answer requires the explanation of the second, because [ never actually fixed in my
mind that he should have the same as his predecessor.

Q. You say there, "1 it was my intention that he should bo paid ?"-It was my
20
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intention to use my influence in gettig his account so adjusted that what I regard
as the unjust pay of the President-a 1 do stil, and that the presidency in our
Company is atogether underpaid ; and it is a serious difficulty to myseif, because I do
not feel that 1 bave, under the present system, -the right to call upon my President
for the services he ought to render, at the stipend which is attached to the office.Q. Then you think Mr. Robinson should have received more than is at his
credit ?-I do.

By Mr. Casgrain
Q. Mr. Robinson had no other claims besides that, against the Company ?-I am

not aware of any.
Q. .He never filed any ?---Never.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. The salary of Mr. Robinson, wheu ho became President, was flxed by you and

the London Board at £200 stg., a year, you say ?-Yes ; it was settled in London.
Q. Rad you any communication with the London Board at any time as to an

increase of salary to Mr. Robinson ?--Yes ; Mr. Robinson applied to the London Board
complaimimg.

Q. Did they agree to increase his salary ?-They did not; the correspondenca
dropped.

Q. Then any intention you had of increasing Mr. Robinson's salary was against
the wishes of your London Board ?--I do not know that. The duties that ought to
pertain to, and ought to be exercised by the Presidert had been iiicreasing every
year for the last 18 years.

Q. That is not the question that I asked you. About the duties of the Pre-
sident ?---All I mean to say is that I have not the power. What I said just now is
that I would exorcise my influence and give my views, and I intend to do so.

Q. But you state that in the correspondence you had with the London Board
they would not agree to increase the salary ?-The correspondence, if I remember
right, was between Mr. Robinson and our London Board; but I also communicated
personally with regard to it in London, but heard no more about it.

Q. But they did not agree to it ?--They did not agree to it; but Mr. Robinson
always protested and maintained his claim.

Q. At the sane time you were corresponding with the London Board had you
any correspondence, or was it brought up before your Board meeting in Toronto ?--
It was not,

Q. I suppose that before paying the additonal salary to the President you would
require the concurrence of tie Board in London, representing the shareholders ?-
No; the power is with tbe Foronto Board.

Q. Then you woule require the consent of the Toronto Board ?-Yes.
Q. That you never got ?--That we never got. The account is overdrawn for

salary. Increased salary has been paid.
By Mr. Palmer:- •

R. When was that London correspondence ?-I should think about six or seven
years ago.

Q. Hlow long would that be after Mr. Robinson had taken the office of Presi-
dent ?---Six or seven years.

Q. Did Mr. Robinson agree to tkke this less sum as President ?-Mr. REobinson
was aware of the stipend attached to the office of President when he accepted it.

Q. How was it fixed ?--It was fixed at the time of the re-organization of the
Company.

Q. Where ?-In London when all that class of questions were under discussion
and the fees of the Directors having been fixed at fifty pounds a year, the opinion in
London was that the chairman should take double fees, and it 'was settled.

Q. Then the London Board had not power to do as they liked ?-No, they had
lot; but their influence was commanding.

Q. If they had not power, how did they fix it; that is what I want to kAIow ?-
21



'Lzey did not fix it but by undorstanding and instruction to me. They passed no
.order.

Q. That is they instracted you to pay no more than this £200 atg. a year ?-
They instructed me that the Directors were to have fifty pounds a year and that the
chairman was entitled to double fees.

Q. This, if I understand right, Mr. Robinson protested again§t ?-Yes; Mr.
Robinson protested against it.

Q. And there was no order of the Toronto Board upon the subject, was there ?
-The Toronto Board has never passed upon it since Mr. Robinson accepted office.
* Q. I heard it-stated somewhere-I do not know where-that you had given a
letter to Mr. Robinson stating that there was money due him 3-I gave him a letter
:stating that I was aware that he was entitled to compensation for moneys which ho
had expended for the Company.

Q. Did you not also state in that letter that ho was edtitled to such an amount
as the balance of his account ?-I do not think so.

Q. Did that include a partgof this balance ?--I do not think I dealt with figures
in that letter at all.

By Mr. Casgrain:-
Q. Have you got copy of that letter ?-I have not.

By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. Mr. Morrison was the President of the road before Mr. Robinson ?-Yes.
Q. Immediately before him ?-Immediately before him. I think it was on Mr.

Morrison's elevation to the Bench that the vacancy occurred.
Q. And as long as Mr. Morrison was President was he getting this four thousand

dollars a year salary?-L am not sure whether ho did at the beginning.
Q. Do you remember when this re-organization you speak of took place. Was

that prior to Mr. Morrison's leaving the Company ?-Yes; Mr.,Morrison was still
President when the Act of 1858 was passed.

Q. Was his salary reduced; was there any change maie with regard to his salary,
or did it just continue as it had been ?-The books will show that ; I could not say.

Q. Then there was no by-law fixing the stipend in Canada ?-No.
Q. But you had a conversation with the members of your own Board residing in

London as to what the allowance should be for the Directors and the President ?-
Yes.

Q. Since Mr. Morrison became the President of the Company, is it a fact or not
that the Company has been carrying on a warfare against rival linos, or what they
considered rival line- ?-Of recent years we have been almost continuously fighting
against competitive linos.

Q. These wore projected linos of railway ?-Yes.
Q. What did your fighting or your opposition to them consist of ? What did you

do generally ?-It consisted of negociations with Municipal Councils. The holding
of public meetings, and the getting up of propositions of our own.

Q. The propcsitions you have already spoken of in which these moneys were ex-
pended ?-Yes; in order to occupy the ground aimed at by our rivals In meeting
our ôpponents before Parliament, whether here or in Ontario.

Q. Could you tell over what series of years that warfare has eontinued ?-It has
affected us for eight or ton years.

Q. Did Mr. Robinson take part in that warfare in going to attend Municipal
bodies, and in holding public meetings and in attending parliaments either here or
in Toronto ?-He did.

Q. Did ho take an active part in that ?-He did.
Q. Then that was a duty cast upon him, in your judgment, as President?-es.
Q. But it was a great deal more than the ordinary duty of President, I suppose ?

-I do not think so. I think that tho London Board bas always been in error in
regard to the office of President. They do not understand our Canadian and Americau
systom which makes the President a real officer, whereas in London their chair-
manships are of much less relative imporance to the bodies they preside over.
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Q. That is not exactly what I' meant. Comparing Mr. Morrison's services to
theompany or the time ho gave to the Company with those given by Mr. Robinson,
which were the more laborious, which occnpied the more time ?--I am bound to say
that as far as I know Mr. Morrison gave more complote attention to the Company's
affairs than Mr. Robinson did, Mr. Morrison acting largely as an executive ofcarà.

Q. That was sitting in the offce in Toronto and assisting in the management?
-.-Tes.

Q. Had ho such outside duties as Mr. Robinson had-leaving his home, &c ?-
He had duties with reforence to legislation, and ho had duties connected with our
relations with the Government, which were very intimate at the time of constructoi
when the capital was being advanced.

Q, During the time that you were fighting those competitive lines, Mr. Robinson
necessarily had a great deal more to do with outside work than Mr. Morrison had ?-
Mr. Robinson had during that period a great deal more to do of that character.

Q. This balance that appears against Mr. Robinson had been, I seo from the,
account, ever since 1867 a half-yearly balance ?-Yes.

Q. His account always appears to have been overdrawn ?--Yes.
Q. Do you send the account to your board, or a balance shoot to your Directors

in London. What knowledge would they hare of the state ofyour accounts here ?-
The knowledge that thoy have of the state of our accounts here consists in there
being half-yearly accounts forwarded to England.

Q. Do your half-yearly accounts show that Mr. Robinson's account has been
overdrawn ?-I do not think the balance shoot has ever been sent to England.

Q. You just send the sheet to England that yon publish ?-Yes. We send them
all our traffies and expenditures monthly-our traffics weekly and our expenditure
monthly.

Q. But would they know of this over-draught of Mr. Robinson's ?-They would
not.

Q. Did they know of it from communications you made, or from communica-
tions that as far as you know he made to the English Board ?-I am under the
impression that I communicated it to them myself.

Q. Then how long since there has been a claim made by Mr. Robinson on the
Company for additional compensation to that which you are crediting him with ?-,
think he bas been discontented from the time he took office.

Q. And have you entertained the same opinion about it that you express now ?-I
did not entertain that opinion so strongly for some years, because the executive
duties which were performed by Mr. Morrison previously had fallen upon myself;
and the operations of the Company had not then extended so far as to make the posi-
tion one of any very great burden. But year after year our operations have ben
enlarging ; and I consider that it has been a very serions diffculty to myself that, the
President not being properly paid, I have not been able to secure the service that I
ought to get from the President.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. What is Mr. Thomson, the present President, getting ?-He is. getting double

fees, the same amount that has been put to Mr. Robinson's credit.
Q. That is £200 stg ?-£200 stg.
Q. Does he give as much attention as Mr. Robinson to the business ?-More.
Q. You get more assistance from Mr. Thomson than you did froin Mr. Robinson?

-- Yes.
Q. You say that Mr. Robinson has been dissatisfied all along; but you are quite

elear that he accepted the offce of President knowing what fees ho would get?-Yes.
Q. And his dissatisfaction las never led him to resign; ho continued notwith-

standing that ho did not get the increase ?-Ile continued the presidency of the road
till two years ago.

Q. Supposing that ho was to get an increase of salary, that would be charged as
working expenses, wouldn't it ?-It would.
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Q. So that if he were properly entitled to more compensation for his services as
President yop had an account to which you could charge it -- Yes

Q. And as far as having the money is concerned, he has got the money * it wa
niot a want of money, and it was not a want of an aqcount that prevented you making
him an extra allowance. That is so, I suppose ?-It was not the want of money. It
*as not the want of an account.

Q. If he was properly entitled to this money it would come as working expenses ?
-It has been already explained that the account was waiting adjustment.

Q. Mr. Robin son applied for the consent of the London Board and did not get it,
you said ?-Not in that form. I said there was a personal correspondence between
the Prosident and the -Chairman of the London Board upon the subject, but that it
dropped.

Q.dWith regard to what ?-With regard to the stipend attached to the presidency.
Q. I suppose Mr. Robinson applied for the increased stipend ?-No. There is

quite a difference between an official correspondence and a personal communication
between the President and the Chairman. I am not personally aware if he corres-
ponded-that is I never read it-but I know from Mr. Robinson, and I know from
Sir Henry Jackson-our London chairman, that such communications passed.

Q. Was it in the nature of an application from Mr. Robinson for an increase ?
-Yes; and Mr. Robinson subsequently pressed upon me when I was going to England
about five years ago, the duty of submitting to the London Board that the stipend
sbould bo increased, and I did so.

Q. Perhaps it was in consequence of that that they raised it; because in 1872 it
was increased, you know, to $1,500 ?-That was not with special reference to the
office of President; it was with reference to all the Directors.

Q. The others got an increase too ?-Yes.
Q. Why was the reduction made when Mr. Morrison retired and Mr. Robinson

succeeded him; was there a change made in- the duties of President ?-It was part
of that same change which, in 1858-59, reversed our net revenue from a deficit to a
profit. It was part of a system of economy.

Q. And was it also the change in the salary or allowance in consequence of a
change in the duties that would devolve upon the President ?-I do not think that
affected them at that time ; because I had been serving as Vice-President of the
Company for two years, and I had taken upon myself nearly all the burdens
pertaining to the presidency. Indeed all of them say that Mr. Morrison had been
relieved by my services prior to the change.

Q. How did you come to give Mr. Robinson the letter that you refer to ?-
Because he appealed to me on the ground that life was uncertain and that I knew all
the circumstances of the case, and that therefore he would like the letter from me in
the event of my death. I wrote the letter stating generally with reference to his
overdrawn account--as far as I can remembor the letter; for I took no copy of it--
that I was aware that he had claims against the Company, and that that represented
expenditures that ought to be charged to the Company.

Q. I see you say in your evidence before the Royal Commission that sometimes
he himself---Mr. Robinson himself-may have got notes from the secretary without
your knowledge ?--That occurred several times, I think.

Q. Do you remember to what extent that was; I mean the amount--the aggre-
gate ?--I do not. I know that it occurred several times, and that it was done contrary
to my orders by the secretary.

Q. What would be the position of Mr. Robinson's account in the event of the
London Board declining to increase his stipend; then this would be correct would it,
this account in the books ?-The London Board will not deal with the question,
apprehend, at all. It will be left with the Toronto Board.

Q. Was there any agreement between you and Mr. Robinson, any positive
agreement, that he should have a certain allowance, with reference to the amount of
the allowance, or the period for which he was to have the increased allowance ?-None
whatever.

en -fîctOriý.
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By Mr. McCarthy
QIthe fact, s I understand, is this, that while your books show 1fr. Robinson

is a debtor-to the amount of this four thousand and odd dollars, you have given him
a letter to the effect that this is still subject to adjustment ?-I am of the opinion thab
a just recognition of Mr. Robinson's services and a knowledge of the disbursements
which he ha' made as President of our Company would go far towards, if not past,
the balance of bis account.

Q. That is not exactly the question which I asked you. The books of the Com-
pany show that he is a debtor to this amount of four thousand and odd dollars, and
you have given him a letter to signify that aithough that is the state of the boeks
the account is still subject to adjustment ?-That is the effect of it.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. You state.that Mr. Robinson protested against the amount of his stipend-

can you tell me what time after he became President he did that ?-I said he was
discontented from the first.

Q. You say he protested against the amount ?-Hle has been protesting and
complaining for many years.

Q. Was there no special time after he became President that he approached yoi
with a protest of this kind ?-I think from the outset Mr. Robinson regarded the
stipend as entirely insufficient for the office.

Q. You speak of some campaigns in which Mr. Robinson was engaged for your
railway; I suppose his expenses were paid ?-His expenses were paid. His disbuir-
sements were paid for him.

Q. Was there any of that money paid over to bimself ?-I should say none,
That is the reuson I adopted the language of saying his disbursements were paid for
him.

By Mr. Casgrain :-
Q. When you speak of the adjustment of the account of Mr. Robinson, I under-

stand it is a mere matter of option with the Board to make an allowance or not; he
has no legal right, in your opinion, to that ?-I do not think he lias any legal right,
it would be optional with the Board.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. When did Mr. Robinson cease to be President ?-February, 1874.
Q. Did he resign or was he superseded by the Board ?-On the election of the-

new Board for 1874 another gentleman was chosen as President.
Q. I suppose the Board had reasons for that or they would not have done it ?-

I suppose so.
Q. Do you know what they were ?-(Objected to by Mr. Casgrain as goig

beyond the reference of the committee. Objection sustained by the chairman.)
Q. Mr. Guthrie asked you whether Mr. Robinson knew the amount of his salary

at the time he accepted this office, and whether he resigned or not. I think you said
he did not; but let me ask you whether the President is not elected every year by
the Board ?-Every year.

Q. Did not the Board every year elect Mr. Robinson with a thorough knowledge
that he was elaiming more than this thousand dollars a year as his salary as Presi-
dent ?-I can not speak of the other members of the Board; I can say that for myself.

Q. Do I understand you to say that you did not know that the claims that Mr.
Robinson was making were known to the other members of the Board ?-I cannot
speak for other me mnbers; sometimes they were quite new members,

Q. Did not some of them know ?-Some would know.
Q. And yet these gentlemen voted and continued him in the office ?-Évery

year dôwn to 1874.
Q. Did they also know from year to year of these over-draughts that Mr.

Robinson had made or that the Company had made to him ?-It appeared in every
half-yearly balance from the date it occurred, and was presented to the Board every
half year.

A. 1871



Q. Therefore these gentiemeu -not only elected Mr. Robinson knowing that ho
-was making these claims year after year, but they did it in the face of the fact that
hi had actually been paid ?-Yes.,

Q. And it was not settLed by either M. Robinson on the one side or the Board on
the other ?-No.

Q. But was left in suspense for the reasons you have given ?-Yoes.
Q. That is, claims that were made by Mr. Robinson and not paid by the Company

-were not, in your judgment, equitable claims against the Company ?- I think Mr.
Robinson has an equitable claim for the reconsideration of his aceount, and, in my
judgment, if it is equitably dealt with, it will show a balance in his favor.

Q. You said that the London Board'were not aware of the nature of the duties
that were required of a President in this country ? -They are not now.

Q. Then, don't it follow that this stipend that was fixed in London could not have
been fixed in view of the services that Mr. Robinson has rendered, but rather with a
view of his being a figure-head ?-It was so far fixed as-

Q. Did not they fix, or rather advise it as being a sufficient remuneration for the
-duties he performed, as they considered the duties in London ?--Yes.

Q. And not for the duties he actually performed ?---Yes.
Q. Therefore I assume that you supposed that when they ascertained the duties

were different here from what they were in London they would be ready to pay Mr.
Robinson more like what lie thought he was entitled to ?-I express my own opinion.

Q. I ask you whether you thought this would have an influence on the bondon
Board ?-I think my opinion would have a great influence on the London Board;
but I said before that a settlement of his account and others kindred to it must
rest with the Toronto Board.

Q. All these duties were done with the thorough knowledge of the Toronto
Board, or the most of it ?--Of the old members.

Q. I mean members of the Board at the time of the transaction ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. Mr. Robinson knew well enough when ho accepted the position of President
-of the Railway Company year by year that his stipend was fixed at a thousand dollars
.a year ?-Yes.

Q. And accepted the position year by year with that knowledge ?---Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie:----

Q. I understood you to say that on three different occasions, I think it was, Mr.
]Robinson went to Mr. Hamilton and got money or notes out of him contrary to your
.orders ?-.-l do not think I said three; I said several different occasions.

Q. On how many occasions was it ?---I could not say.
Q. Are these amounts charged to him ?-Yes.
Q. Do you remember any one occasion on which the amount was charged ?-I

remember one occasion which led to considerable difficulty between me and the
secretary by reason of my absence and his disobedience of my orders during my
absence.

Q. What was the amount ?--I do not know.
Q. Wasn't it considerable, Mr. Cumberland ?---I think it was.
Q. As much as a thousand dollars ?---No; I do not think there ever was so much.
Q. What was the amount Mr. Robinson got on that occasion contrary to your

orders ?--I could not say.
Q. Did you not go so far as to make an effort when you knew of it to stop the

cheque ?---No; the transaction was quite complete before I had any knowledge of it.
Q. But you were absent from home ?---Yes.
Q. I see that on one occasion he got a note for two thousand dollars, and that

there is one of a thousand and one of $1150; seeing the date could you tell whether
any of these is the one ?-I think I can say that the last note referred to is the one.

Q. The last note is two thousand dollars ?--Well, that must have been the note.
Q. And apparently that was a few months before Mr. Robinson left the Board,
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or during the last three months of his presidency. October 1st, 1873, the note is
charged to him ?-He left office the following February.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. It was during your absence, you say, that this note was drawn or given by

Mr. Hamilton ?---Yes.
Q. And during your absence was Mr. Robinson the executive officer in charge

as the fresident ?-In my absence Mr. Robinson of course would exorcise authority
if he chose.

Q. When you were there you had exercised the management ?-Power was in
myself unless the President overruled me. The President is a superior offieer to myself.

Q. But practically you were the Managing Director and gave orders while you,
were there ? -Yes.

Q. I see in the evidence you gave before the Royal Comrpission you say Mr.
Robinson expended from these moneys he received from the Company on'behalf of
the Company and for the Company ?-I have no doubt he did.

Q. Do you know that any large expenditure was made by Mr. Robinson about
the time this two thousand dollars appears -to have been given him ?-I could not
say.

Q. Mr. Robinson had received notes with your consent before that; I Seo here,
that in addition to the note for the two thousand dollars, there is a note for one thou-
sand and a note for four hundred ?--Are they notes or drafts.

Q. It simply says " bills payable " ?---L think you will find they were drafts.
Q. Well, they were of the sane character, all three, at any rate ?-The differ-

once bctween a draft and a note would be that I should considor myself bound to ac-
cept the draft of my President; but I should exorcise my judgment as to whetherjI
should give him a note.

By Mr. Bowell :
Q. But it would be entered as " bills payable " whether a draft or a note ?-Yes.

By Mr. McCarthy:--
Q. I mean they are of the same character ?-Yes.
Q. Thon sometimes these had been made with your concurrence and sometimes

not ?-Yes.
Q. And sometimes Mr. Robinson had exercised suffitient authority to direct the

secretary to make these notes ?---Yes.
By fr. Guthrie :--

Q. There are one or two iteuis in your own account that I would like tQ ask you
to explain. 1 see from time to time there is charged in the account, " Agency and
commission; " is that part of your remuneration ?---Yes; I can explain it if you
like.

Q. If it is part of your ordinary remuneration, I do not presume to go into that ?
-- I had botter tell you. My arrangement with the Company originally was:-The
Company at that time was in a desperate condition, and there were few people had
any hope of its resurrection. 1 was an exception. I testified my faith in the possi-
bility of restoration by accepting a small salary, supplemented by a good commission
in the event of suceess; and that is the way my stipend bas always been partially
paid by salary and partly by commission. If I failed any year I got a small salary
and a small commission; if I succeeded I got a small salary and a good commis-
Sion.

Q. I see, April, 1874, an item of $3,300.56 ?---I have not seen it ; I have not
looked through that account siuce I have been here; but I think it arises from an
accumulation of charges made to my account which had never been released or writ-
ton off, that is to say, taking travelling expenses--well, I draw, as I did the other
day draw a hundred dollars to come down here. Well, 1 neglected for a very long
period to write those off, and they were continuously charged to me until, at a parti-
cular day, the account was revised and I received credit.

Q. Can you just now give us the explanation of the items that go to make up
this item of " Sundries $3,300," April, 1874, in your own account ?-No.
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Q. It appears to have been composed of five - items. I suppose you cau inform
yourself of them so as to give the'committee an explanatiôn ?-Yes.

Q. Have you means of doing it here ?-Yes; I can do itas soon as the committee
nses.

Q. There is anothèr large item of sundries, February 27th, 1875, $2,574, in yoar
account; can you speak as to that item from memory ?-No; I should not like to
speak from memory. I will get you the particulars.

Q. I have turned to the journal containing the items composing the chrge of
$2,574, February, 1875; you have seen this, have you ?--Yes.

Q. Can you explain them now ?-I can explain them now if you wish it.
Q. The one of May, 1874 ; can you explain that too ?-No; I must look into

that.
Q. I see in your account that perhaps once a half year or once a year there is

an item of sundries amounting to between two and three thousand dollars; are you
aware of that ?---You sayso.

Q. Can you explain of what those items are made up ?-I cannot explain all the
accounts in one. The one upon which you have got your paper, if that is a test one,
I can explain that.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. That is the one in 1875 ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Can you explain the earlier ones ?--I have no doubt I can. I cannot keep a

set of books for twenty years in my memory ; no, nor for five, nor for ten, nor for
one. I told you I would look into those items and explain them to-morrow.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. The item in journal 8, page 429 of $2,574.95, which appears in your account

as your expenses to England, is distributed over stationery and printing account,
legal expenses account, postage and telegraph account, contingencies account,
travelling expenses account, parliamentary expenses account, and head office
supplies ?---Yes.

Q. What was this money expended for ?-The expenses of a visit to England
on Company's business by order of the Directors.

Q. Any special mission you were on to England ?--I have been on a special
mission to England every year for the last five years.

Q. And this amount was spent on that one trip to England ?-Yes.
Q. And what was the ordinary amount that a mission to England cost you ?-

It depends very much upon the length of my stay. I was staying there sometimes
a fortnight, sometimes three months, sometimes longer.

By Mr, Palmer -
Q. And I suppose also on the amount of telegraphing you did, and what lawyers

you paid ?---Yes.

FRIDAY, March 23, 1877.

The Committee met-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.

Mr. CUMBERLAND re-called and examined.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. Are you prepared to-day to give explanations regarding the items of whieh a

memorandum was furnished to you yesterday ?-Yes.
Q. There is an item in your own account of September 30, 1867-Sundries

$2,150 ?----1 find that that was an error ofthe Secretary who should have credited the
Grey and Simcoe Railway instead of myself. The voucher for that amount is a
voucher directing it to be credited to that railway and not to myself; but he, by error,
carried it into my own account direct from the voucher.

Q. What is the effect of that on your account ?--The effect of that would be to
place the sum specified erroneously to my credit. I was credited with the amount by
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errer, the mistake evidently arising by reason of my cheque for $2,200 drawn on the
27th August, 1867--a cheque in my own favour charged against me for diabursements
on the Grey and Simcoe Railway account in opposition to the Wellington, Grey and
Bruce.

Q. Was this cheque monies that you intended to expend?-Monies that had beea
.expended. At that time we were sending large deputations into the County of Grey
and large meetings were held at Walkerton where we were met by two other oom-
panies-the Wellington, Grey and Bruce and the Toronto, Grey and Bruce--and oU
the 27th August, 1867, 1 drew $2,200 for this purpose, and that is the voucher to which
you now refer. September 30, closing the account of the next month, the Secretary
instead of carrying $2,150 to the credit of the Grey and Simeoe Railway carried it
direct.to my account. It makes little difference whether it goes through my account
or through the Grey and Simcoe, but it would have been more accurate if it had been
charged to the latter.

Q. Does this voucher give details of the $2,150 ?-No.
Q. Can you give particulars now ?- cannot give particulars now. But, I

suppose we sent out four or five deputations all over the country to a series of
meetings lasting over seven weeks.

Q. Is this $2,150 included in the amount you mentioned the other day to the
committee as having been expended on account of this railway ?-No.

Q. Then it is additional ?-Yes.
By M1fr. Palmer:-

Q. This railway was one of the extensions that was afterwards incorporated
with your railway? No. It was an extension from Angus through the County of
Grey, in opposition to the Wellington, Grey and Bruce, and the Toronto, Grey and-
Bruce, but it never went into operation. The charter lapsed, and, in fact we were
beaten.

Q. Then it was intended as a continuation or extension ?-Yes.
Q. Who were the gentlemen who were engaged in this work ?--A large num-

ber; I could name some of them.
Q. What were they doing ?--Canvassing, holding meetings, making speeches,

and, what is commonly known as bonus hunting.
Q. I do not quite understand you; was it a Parliamentary affair ?-No, it was

municipal. It was to secure the bonus.
Q. They granted it directly from the Municipality ?-The County of Grey

granted a bonus in aid of the construction of a line, but it was then a question as to
who should get it.

Q. Was this a settled policy of the Municipality or the Legislature ?--Of the
Municipality entirely. Each of the railway companies were asking for it, and te
get it for ourselves was to deprive them.

Q. It was a contest for a bounty that had been offered ?-Each railway company
wanted a bonus, and, of course, the County could not give it to all three, and it was
supposed they would only give it to one,

By Mr. McCarthy:--
Q. Which were the other companies ?---The Wellington, Grey and Bruce, the

Toronto, Grey and Bruce and the Grev and Simcoe.
Q. Am I correct. I understand that the monies expended on this campaign

had been charged to your account ?---Yes. They were at the time charging them te
my account and then crediting then to the Northern.

By Mr. Palner:-
Q. What had the Railway to (o with having representation in Parliament ?--We

were acting according to the example of other companies both in Canada and in
England.

Q. I want to know if these bonuses, facilities or benefits could in auy way b.
Voted by the Legislature ?-Not at ail.

Q. Then this had nothing to do with vour Parliamentary campaign?-Nohig
29
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further than that the legislation enables us to take, and the Municipalities to give
bonuses.

Q I suppose if the Municipalities consented to grant the bonus it would require
legislation ?--No, they have the power already.

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. Why do you think this item is not properly credited to yon ?-I am simply

stating the facts of the case. On referencè to the books'we find that the voucher
that ought to be credited to the Grey and Simcoe Railway was in fact credited to me.
And then I go on to explain that it does not make any practical difference bebause,
it would have been credited to me and thé Grey and Simcoe.

Q. How do you mean ?-Because I had spent the money. $2,200 had been
drawn on my private account for the purposes of that campaign, and I had to be
recouped somewhere and the proper parties to recoup me were the Grey and Simcoe.

Q. If this had been credited to t he Grey and Simcoe would there have been any
corresponding item on the other side of the ledger ?-No, the corresponding item was
the $2, 00 I drew on my private account.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. You say it ought to be charged to the Grey and Simcoe ?---The Grey and

Sincoe practically was Northern.
Q. Then, in reality, the Northern ought to pay ?--Yes, but it makes all the dif-

ference in keeping the accounts. I think it would assist the committee a great deal
if we were to put in .this paper showing the classification (Exh ibit O.) This will
explain how we keep our books and how it is that vouchers and drafts seem to be
charged to different items. There are one hundred and twenty-nine different items,
and as the expenditure is made the proper certifying officer classifies that expendi-
ture under its proper item. Thus it is that you see this voucher charged to Parlia-
mentary expenses, that to legal expenses, the other to new works, and so on.

By Mr. Bowell:--
Q. I understood you to say a short time ago that since you gave your evidence

some gentleman connected with another railway stated that you had spent one-tenth
on that road than his Company had on theirs ?---Yes.

Q. What road was that ?-The Wellington, Grey and Bruce.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. I suppose when you say that some one connected with the Wellington, Grey
and Bruce Railway mentioned that to you, you meant one of the Hamilton Directors ?
-- One of the promoters; I do not know whether he was a Director.

Q. From Hamilton or Guelph ?-Hamilton. It was a gentleman who was in the
room and heard the proceedings of the Committee, and, after it rose, le made that
observation.

Q. It appears from your account you are creditedin 1867 on June 29, with
sundries $2,555. Can you tell us what that item was made up of ?-That was salary
and commission to myself, due on that day.

Q. I see by your account that commission and agency are credited'to you, and
sundries as well, in some instances--I don't mean on this half-year--was this something
special ?-No, it is the.same as the item to which you refer. A portion of my
stipend is in the form of commission and a portion in the form of salary.

Q. It would be well that we should look at the account just to sec that salary
and commission are not charged separately ?-(Producing paper). This is a case
in point. The $2, 55 is composed partly of commission and partly of salary. In the
entry it is sundries, but when it comes to be properly classified it would go : Agency
and Commission to the proper account (item 127) and the other (salary) would be
Toronto Direction and Management.

Q. I notice in your account that commission was charged in some cases and
sundries also ?-I think I am correct in saying that whatever cornes to me is
classified. In this case, this 82,555, a portion of that would go to Toronto Direction
and Management and the balance Agency and Commission.

Q. Could you state what your allowance is ?-Yes T will give you that.
.JO
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Q. Separating the salary from the commission ?-Yes. The commission, I
May tell you at once, is £100 for every one per cent paid on the second and third
preference bonds.

Q. So as to make it to your interest to get the road up ?-That was done as
early as 1857 or 1858, when no one thought there wasanything in the property, and
they said if he will get us our interest we will pay him that commission.

Q. Have you had any other arrangement since ? -- One more recently by
which the previos salary was applied, after amalgamation, in the same proportion
to the new money as to the old.

Q. That would give you a considerable increase ?---That would increase it. The
salary was £800 per year and the increase would be as 72 would be to 95.,

Mr. Guthrie (referring to the journal of 1867, page 299, and corresponding account
in Ledger).--The item included under sundries is probably increased salary ?--It is.
arrears of salary.

Q. Do you remember from what date the increase was granted ?-(Reads froni
journal). Six months salary from lst June to this date, with increase £450 sterling,

Q. Can you explain how it was you were not credited with it montbly ?-I don't
know that the Secretary had been instructed to do so, and he did it in the ordinary
way. By Mr. McCarthy:

Q. When was that increase agreed to ?-I forget the date, but it was by order of
the English Board.

Q. Was there any increase in the commission as well as the salary ?---No; there-
is no increase in the commission, but only in the salary.

Q. From the date of amalgamation ?--No, that was before amalgamation;
amalgamation was June, 1875.

Q. Has there been any other increase ?-.-The increase after amalgamation was
this :--Ail my dealings, having reference to my engagement, have been with the
London Board. The London Board, after the amalgamation, made an agreement
with me, which was afterwards adopted by the Toronto Board, under which I was to
engage for a term of years, and in that agreement the salary- was made to bear the
same relation to the new mileage that it had dne before to the old.

Q. You speak of the London Board making arrangements as to salary. Did they
always make the arrangements with regard to salary with you ?-- The London Board
arranged and the Toronto Board, if it concurs, adopts. My original engagement was
with the London Board.

Q. This, item of $2,555 is composed of two other items; one of them being
salary and the other commission ?---Yes. The Secretary apparently put the two
items under one just to save himself trouble. He adopted the word "sundries"
himself; so as to make one entry instead of two.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. There is an item in your account, " June 30, 1868," suspense account, new

capital $400 ?-Yes. These were disbursements connected with the legislation of
1868, or expenses incurred in regard to that legislation. The Act was to empower us
to take up new capital, and that is the reason the expenses should be charged to new
capital.

Q. Was that the expense of procuring the Act ?-My expenses. There were two
cheques of $200 each.

Q. (Referring to Journal, 1868, page 606). On the 20th March $200; and on
the 21st April $200 ? These were the dates ?-Yes.

Q. In addition to the $400 there seems to have been $875 of expenses connected
with the passing of the bill ?-That is legal expenses in connection with the drafting
of the bill, and carrying it through the House. We employed counsel, just as we are
doing to-day. Some one has to pay it. It was to go into the accounts somewhere.

Q. What was the total cost ?-I could not say without looking at the books.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Who was the legal adviser at that time ?-Mr. John Hillyard Cameron.



By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. I see there is another item of $250 for legal and parliamentary expenses.

»Tow I would like to know how much this bill coet the Company ?-T could not tell
witbout abstracting the items.

Q. I understand the $400 was your own expenses of coming to Ottawa just as
you are to-day ?-Yes, just as we are to-day.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. What did Mr. Cameron get ?-le got fees, and an annual retainer as was the

,eustom.
By Mr. McCarthy: -

Q. But as to these other expenses on page 605 of the Journal of 1868 ?-I doubt
very mach whether they included the fees, because the amount is too small.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. I think it is charged that your account show something due from 3 ou to the

,Company. Is that so ? Are you indebted to the Company ?-I do not consider so.
My account is balanced, but there is a note in suspense for adjustment for sums
which I ought not to bear, but which I could not deal with on my own account.

Q. You are prepared to state on general terms that you consider you do not owe
the Company ?-Certainly.

Q. Wili your statement say what amount the Company owe you ? -My account
is balanced and, I am agreed with regard to the amount of the notes given to cover
the% items improperly charged against me. The President reminds me that my
.account frequently fluctuates. The other day it 'showed a balance in my favour of
between $1,100 and $1,200.

Q. Then the Company is indebted to you ?-Yes. At the time, a few days
,before I left for Ottawa.

Q. Is that in your judgment correct ?-Yes.
By Mr. McCarthy :-

Q. This is subject to the notes in suspense ?-I may say that the committee
may understand that that note is simply there because I do not choose to exercise
xny official authority and deal with my own account.

Q. What if you did deal with it ?-If I did, then the note represents monies
.due to me from the Company.

Q. Then, in other words, you do not owe it ?--Certainly not.
Q. If you had a fair settlement with the Company it would owe you something ?

-Yes. Whsti I desire to say is that if I had exercised my official authority over
my own account, the same as I did over other accounts, this account would not have
been charged to me and the note need not have been made. A few days before we left
Toronto there was money to my credit.

Q. And you say that although you have given a note which represents the
:amount that you have to account for, which you have expended on behalf of the Com-
pany which you were authorized to do ?----Yes.

Q. If your subscription of $1,000 to Sir John Macdonald's testimonial were charged
to you, would there be still a balance in your favour ?---Yes, if that were charged
to me I would be still in credit.

Q. I mean, supposing the Company could recover that amount, there would be-
still a balance against the Company ?--Yes.

Q. Was Hon. John Ross one of your Directors at the time of the subscription ?--
TYes.

Q. low does his account stand ?-It is balanced.
By Mr. Guthrie :~-

Q. With regard te the position of your account with the Company. Yon say
they owed you $1,200 before you came to Ottawa, is that after charging you with
the notes ?--That is on the assumption that my account has been properly relieved
by the notes.

Q. That is, that you should get credit for the amounts for whieh the notes were
32
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wv~e4 wich included your election expenses inAlgoma and Cardwell and the dis-
~ursemente for the O7icora t-Tels. lO adCrwladteds

Q. Have you sought an adjustment with the Directors ?-I have not.
Q. Wel, on page 22 of the Royal Commission Report that the items referred to

were connected with your election for Algoma and Cardwell which you oonsidered
the Company should pay ?-I go on to say that the Company have really paid nons
of my election expenses. I paid them and they have given a note for them.

By Mr. cCarthy:
Q. That is, they are included in this note subject to adjustment ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. You say that the Company would owe you $1,200, and that is on the assump-

tion that you would have thegright to charge them with your election expenses?--Yes.
Q. There is $8,000 charged against your special account in respect to the

Chicora. That is not included in the notes, is it ?--It cannot be. That stands in a
special account in suspense; that is, separate from the note.

By M[r. McCarthy
Q. You say you think the Company ought to pay your election expenses; why

do you think it would be a proper item to charge to the Company ?-Because I
incurred the expenditure in the interests of my Company.

Q. low was it in their interest ?-It was in their interest. I scarcely know
how to express it---to have persons connected with the lino in possession of seats in
Parliament.

Q. Now, what possible interest vas that in the Local Hlouse?--Very mucb,
because, unfortunately, the Local House has powers relating to railways.

Q. Hliad it any control over the Northern Railway ?-Of course it had, because
all the rival lines have had Ontario charters.

Q. In that way, it affected the interest of the line ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell:--

Q. The Local House gives subsidies too ?---Yes.
Q. Therefore you deemed it advisable in the interests of your Company that they

ahould have a representative in the Parliament and, therefore, that they should pay
the expenses of election ?-Yes.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. Was that discussed at your Board meetings ?-No; it was never formally

discussed by the Board.
«By Mr. Bowell :

Q. Then that would be apart of that personal management to which you have
referred ?-Yes; a great deal is done by conference and not by formal action.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. I understood you to say that it was in the interest of the Railway to have a

representative in Parliament ?-Almost every important lino in England is re
ented by its chairman or director. Take Sir Daniel Gooche of the Great Western,
and Sir Edward Watkin of the South Eastern as examples.

Q. But I want to know if it is considered to be to the advantage of the stock-
holders. Is the stock worth more-or less than if the road.was not represented ?-It
is regarded as an advantage to the corporation. -

Q. There was no actual order of the Company to pay this money ?-It will be
perfectly competent to the Company to refuse to pay it.

Q. But in view of the circumstances you think it is equitable that they should
pay it ?-I think they ought to pay it, and I think they will pay it.

Q. Is this lino a local lino ?-Yes, but, the Dominion Parliament has it under its
control.

Q. At all events the original charter is Ontario and the lino is entirely in Ontario?
-Yes, the charter is old Canada.

Q. Could that line be extended beyond the Province, and was there any such
intentiop ?-We never can tell what may happen. It is quite possible that the lina
could be run to the boundary of the Province.
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Q. Wherenoer waaa scheÎ to táke it tothe boundary ?-î ot f the qorthen.
But there was the Fscifie Junçtion Raiway r

âmgeaWijggtieß y7-W enér rpied to othé, bon-
ut þers'áe, pe up our uie and continutel to the bomidary.

Q. You äay that in Euignd the chairmen ofraihrays are in Padinent ?-
Frequently.

Q. But do you say that the companies pay their parliamentary expenses ?-I
don't say so. I dQn't know. If you ask a troacherous sectetary yon may find out.

BM Mr. McCarthy:
Q. ~here is an item, Outobèr31, 1868. ank of Toronto $500. What is it ?-It

is a cedt.
r Guthrie objeted to examining the witness on this item onthe ground that

it Was passedý)
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Have you looked into the items of which I gave you as -memorandum,
Parliamentary expenses of 1873? Can you give me the date of the item $1,000
charged under the head of Parliamentary expenses ?-25th March.

Q. I see it is " Paid J. B. Iobinson's draft on Managing Director, of 13th March,
at three days sight, $1000; " what do yousay to that?-Thatwas a draft of the Preei-
dent on myself as Managing Director, and was paid.

Q. Do you know how Mr. Robinson applied it ?-It would be well if the Com-
mittee would ask Mr. Robinson. I don't know.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Was it a loan to Mr. Robinson ?-I believe the draft was discounted at Ottaw a

and endorsed by Mr. Angus Morrison.
Q. That was during the session of Parliament ?-Yes.
Q. Was Mr. Angus Morrison a Director at that time ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. What was done with the proceeds ?-I have no personal knowledge.
Q. At that time, I see by the debates in the House, the Northern Railway had

a bill before Parliament for the settlement of the Government claim for £100,000 ?-
I believe so. That bill of 1873 did not carry.

Q. I find another draft of April 30, same year, charged to Parliamentary
expenses. Does that relate to the same thing ?-.It is all the same thing.

Q. " April 30, paid J. B. Robinson's draft of April 17, $750." Was that draft
drawn at Ottawa ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. And endorsed in the same way ?---I believe so, speaking from memory.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. On the 14th May of the same year under the sanie head I find " Paid draft

Of F. W. Cumberland of 9th May, $200," was that also from Otta'wa ?-That was one
from Ottawu of my own to meet the expenses of the party that were down here.

Q. Your draft then was applied to the payment of travelling and hotel
expenses ?-Yes, disbursements of that kind.

Q. And all your own ?----Yes.
Q. On 27th May I find under the saie head " Paid draft of G. D. Boulton of

21st May, $500 " ?-That was a similar draft to my own. Mr. Boulton was here with
me as legal adviser and I requested him to draw that to pay our hotel bills, the
expense of printing, and other expenditure.

Q. You had a number of people down to aid you on promoting the bill ?---Yes,
several of our officers and others.

Q. I find on June 25 of the saie year " Paid J. B. Robinson's draft of 23rd May,
$2,000." Is that correct ?-Yes.

Q. Where was that draft drawn froma ?-Ottawa, I presume.
Q. Have you got the drafts ?-No, Sir, but we can get them for you.
Q. Mr. Robinson, therefore, appears to have diawn three drafts amounting to



$3,750 in theN reate from OttawL Do you k w-aWth he4id with the money ?

iii ee@ndhetionidtKeg a btio;of thbe ftHebre qmbat That
is, did you understand it that way ?-You can get aIl that from tke late reuident
himself. Ip r esume,.it was iue nneetien with ?srlianentary epenses.

tidyounderstand ai tuie t that awas eincosnetion with the bill
then being promoted ?-I presumed it must be in connection with Parliamentary
proceedxings pending.

Q. Id you net -nderstad thon why the drafts were made ?-When the
President of my Company draws upon me I always honor the draft.

Q. But you charged them to Parliamentary expenses?-Beetuse he. was here.
Q. And you had a bill-b efore nPadiament ?-Yes.
Q.ndhaasxe heinade:of the- money yon cannot tell?----I can tell nothing

personally, I had no return from him.
Q. Youhad no acccmnt ofthe expenditure of.this$3,750 ?-No.

úRîr .Paner
Q.Will you teil:us what -the scheme you had before Parliament in 1873 wa?-

We had a bill providing for the raising of new capital with a view to the liquidation
of the Governmeat lien.

Q. Then there was an offer to extinguish the Government lien ?-The Govern-
ment had anch a scheme before Parliament.

Q. Then the object you had in view was two.fold; one was to get a discharge of
the Government lien; and the other was to get the bill you describe, promot ?-
Yes.

Q. At that time the Government did bring before Parliament a scheme to extin-
guish the lien ?-If I remember rightly the Government gave notice of resolutions.

Q. Yoi were, of course, canvassing many of the members ?-Yes.
Q. At that time was the Northern Extension amalgamated with your line ?-

No.
Q. Were they interested also in this scheme ?---No, except perhaps indirectly
Q. Well what is of interest to the Northern is of interest to the Extension ?-Yes.
Q. And what injures one injures the other ?-Yes. Indirectly the Extension

Company received a benefit.
Q. Then in point of fact you say that it was the Northern that had promoted

the Northern Extension ?-Yes.
Q. Was Mr. A. P. Cockburn a member of Parliament at that time ?-I think he

was.
Q. Was Mr. Edgar a member of Parliament ?--Yes, I think·he was.
Q. I see that both these gentlemen were stockholders. A. P. Oockburn for$2,O00

and J. D. Edgar for $1,000 in the Northern Extension ?---Yes
Q. I see Mr. Edgar, in the North Grey Railway, was also a subseriber for

$2OO0&?-Yes.
Q. Do you know whether these gentlemen paid their subecriptions, and if so,

when, and how ?-I believe Mr. Edgar paid his subscription, but I do not think Mr.
Cockburn did, I think he was ultimately released.

Q. Will the books show how these payments were made ?-ïes.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. When were these payments made ?-The stock ledger will show.
(Purther examination on this point was objected to by the chairman on the

ground that on the date to which the examination had reference the Comnpanies were

separate and distinct, and that enquiry into the affairs of the Northern Extension
should be taken up at a future time).

Mr. Palmer made objection to individual members of the Committee examining
the books of the Company, except when following up any definite item in evidence
or with the knowledge and order of the whole Committee, after the particular entry
offered in evidence and thus an opportunity afforded to any member of the Committec

objecting to its being looked at.
5-34 35
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Theorder of reference was read.
The Chairman ruled that the books were before the ,omumittee and every menm-

ber had a right to examine themin any way hemight think proper, for the further-
ane. of tIhe enquiry.

M. Palmer appealed against the decision of the Chairman, and
The ruling bexng put to a vote it was sustained by a majority of the Committee.

SATua»Ay, March 24, 1677.
The Committee met, Mr. AncarnL in the Chair.
Mr. F. W. CUMBERLAND re-appeared and submitted the following returne:-
A return of the printing and advertising accounts with the Globe and Mail

Printing Company. (Exhibit P.)
A return with regard to the Extension Line showing the cost of construction,

the publie grants made in aid of the railway, the capital account of the Extension as
taken over, the floating debt at amalgamation, the cost of work at completion. (Ex-
hibit R.)

A return showing the position of Mr. Cumberland's account up to June 30, 1869.
(Exhibit Q.)

ie also produced drafts referred to in yesterday's evidence dated 13th March,
1873, 17th April, 1873, 23rd May, 1873.

The evidence of the previous days was read over and corrected.

TuzsDAY, March 27, 1877.
The Committec met, Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.
Mr. F. W. CUMBERLAND, re-called.

By M. Palmer :-
Q. In speaking of the sum of about $4,450 expended in the spring of 1873, or

during the Session of 1873, you have already said that Messrs. Edgar and A. P. Cock-
hum were subscribers to the stock of the Northern Extension. Werethere any other
members of Parliament interested in the Extension road or the Company ?-I think
not.

Q. Was not Mr. Robinson ?-Yes.
Q. Was not Mr. Angus Morrison ?-Yes.
Q. Were there any more ?-I think not.
Q. You said that Mr. Cockburn had not paid his subscription, and I see by the

statement you have brought in with reference to the stockholders in 1875 that Mr.
Cockburn's name does not appear in that statement at all. Canyou account for that?

Mr. Guthrie objected to the question being put at this stage of the proceedings.
Mr. Palmer--I put this question because I diesire to show who was in Parliament

interested in promoting the subject then before Parliament, for the promotion of
which this money should have been spent, and, preliminary to showing who took
part in spending the money.

Mr. Guthrie.-I object because it has already been shown that Messrs. Cockburn
and Edgar were members of Parliament at that time, and Mr. Cumberland has told
us that he has no personal knowledge of what became of this money.

Mr. Palmer (in reply to Mr. Guthrie)-I am not at'liberty to show what became
of the money unless I aak a preliminary question as to how this gentleman's stock at
one time was unpaid, and at another time he is not a stockholder of the Company
at ail.

The Chairnan--I think the question belongs to a different branch of this enquiry
not yet taken up, but which will be, in due course, taken up by this Committee to
investigate. 1, therefore, think the question should not be put.
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By Mr. Palmer:
Q. You say, Mr. Cumberland, that theose gentlemen were interested in the subjoet

before Parliament. I see some of the smus of money you spent yourself ?
Mr. Oumberland-Whieh sums of money?
Mr. Palmer-Some of that $4,000.
A. So far as relates to my own drafts and Mr. D'Arcy Boulton's drafts, I joined

in the expenditure and was partlyresponsible.
Q. I want to know whether Mr. Edgar and these other gentlemen interested in

the road were acting in concert with you in promotin this legislation ?-They were
assisting us by their friendly offices in promoting this legislation.

Q. Did they take any part in Parliament ?-I think so.
Q. Were they opposed to you or supporting you?-Supporting us.
Q. I suppose in promoting the scheme you were canvassing it ?-We were doing

all we could to carry our own measure.
Q. Mr. Edgar was the Grit whip and Mr. Morrison was the Conservative whip.

You had two whips, and you did not carry it ?-There was no use our carrying the
Company's bill unless the money bill relating to the lien was carried by the Govern-
ment.

Q. But, weren't you canvassing that also ?-Yes.
Q. WelI, in that, did not you see a good many dinners for which this money was

paid ?.-I think I gave some myself.
Q. Do you think that Messrs. Edgar and Robinson were not just as generous as

you were ?-I do not know that Mr. Edgar engaged in any hospitalities on our behalf.
Q. At all events he did not pay for thom ?-I do not think he engaged in them.
Q. Do I understand you that he was not at the dinners ?-I think he was at some

dinners, he ought to have been.
Q. Who paid for these dinners that you gave ?- My expenses and those of my

party were charged as you know by those two drafts to my Company.
Q. In other words the Northern Railway funds paid for the dinners ?-I speak

with referenee to the drafts which Mr. Boulton and I drew.
By Mr. Guthrie :-

Q. What drafts do you speak of?,-The draft of $200 dollars by myself, and the
subsequent draft of $500 made by Mr. Boulton, our solicitor, at my request.

Q. Do I understand you to say that it paid for all the dinners given ?-It paid
for all the dinners in which we, as a party, indulged.

Q. Whether there were any more or not I suppose you do not know ?-I have a
recollection of a dinner at which Mr. Robinson presided and Mr. Augus Morrison
was vice-president in the room below here.

Q. That was while you were at Ottawa ?-Yes.
Q. You did not pay for that I suppose ?-No.
Q. And I suppose you do not know whether that came out of the Northern

Railway funds ?-I should consider that that was a disbursement by Mr. Robinson
as our President.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you know it to be the fact ?-I don't know it of my own knowledge, but I

believe so.
By Mr. Palmer:

Q. You saw the dinner, but how it was paid for, you do not know ?-I do not
know of my personal knowledge, but I take it for granted that Mr. Robinson gave
the dinner.

Q. If I understood you aright these gentlemen-Messrs. Edgar, Cockburn, Morri-
son and Robinson-who were interested in it and were in Parliament on this occasion,
had the same means of knowledge as you had.

M. Oumberlande-Had the same means of what knowledge?
M. Palmer-They had the same means of knowing what was going on with

reference to this canvassing on the promoting of this measure as you did ?--I appre-
37
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hend it was known to all members of the House. I mean to say that the fact that
we were promoting the bill was known to the House.

Q. While these persons who were promoting the bill would have no morê means
of knowing of the dinners than the other members of the House, would notthey have
the means of knowing the object which you had in view by giving the dinners ?--
I have no doubt that everybody would connect the two.

Q. You say you'do not what Mr. Robinson spent this money for, but, I assume
you knew that these dinners would cost something ?-If they were paid for.

Q. That is if they were paid for out of the money that Mr. Robinson drew. Now,
how were they paid ?-I have no doubt they were paid for, and by Mr. Robinson.

Q. And out of the money he drew ?-And out of the money he drew.
By kr. Killam:

Q. You stated just now that you knew that Messrs. Edgar and Cockburn were
canvassing on behalf of the Government bill?-We were indebted to Messrs. Edgar
and Oockburn for assistance and kindly offices in promoting the measure, at that
time, as we were to many other members of Parliament.

By Mr. Palmer :-
Q. What was that assistance; what were the kindly ofces ?-In acquainting

members of the objects and tenor of the bill, in conciliating their support, in giving the
assistance members generally give to bills to which they are friendly.

By .Mr. Guthrie ;
Q. Did Messrs. Edgar or Cockburn get any of this money to your knowledge ?-

No.
Q. They got none of the money drawn by the President which in the aggregate

amounted to $3,750, to your knowledge ?-No.
Q. And to your knowledge did they have anything to do with the expenditure

of a simple farthing of that money ?-Not to my knowledge.
Q. You are aware of one dinner given by Mr. Robinson ?-I recollect it.
Q. Is that all you know of ?-I think that was the. only dinner at whici I was

personally present.
Q. Would that cost $3,750 ?-Clearly not.
Q. Perhaps it was a mere matter of $100 ?-I think it was a large dinner; I

think there were from twenty to twenty-four people present.
Q. It would cost about 85 a head I suppose ?-The cost is aecording to the season

and the tastes of the guests, I think.
Q. What would be the cost' per head ?-I really do not know. As far as my

recollection goes, when I was a member of the House and gave dinners, they varied
at from 86 to $10 a head.

Q. You said in answer to Mr. Palmer that Mr. Edgar did not engage in hospita-
lities on behalf of the Company. Did Mr. Cockburn ?-No.

Q. Neither Mr. Edgar nor Mr. Cockburn ?--No.
By Mr. Bowell -

Q. Do you say that positively ?--I am not aware that Mr. Edgar or Mr. Cock-
barn engaged in hospitalities connected with our measure.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. Did yon ever hear it asserted that Mr. Edgar or Mr. Cockburn got any of

this money ?-I have heard the honour of almost everybody in any way connected
with my railway defamed and assaulted, and there are no exce tiens.

Q. I mean of this particular money ?-I have answered te question.
Q, As toithparticular money did you ever hear it insinuated that they ever

got any of it ?-Ido not think I did, until this morning.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Have you. any knowledge of how that money was disposed of by Mesars.
Robinson and Morrison ?-I have no personal knowledge, as I said before.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. You said that yon did not know that Mr. Edgar engaged in any hospitalities

on behalf of the Company. Do you mean that he did not give dinners, or do you



mean th'at he did not attend any of them ?-I mean that ho gave noue to my
knowledge.

Q. Was not ho present at dinners ?-Certainly.
Q. Did you ever suppose that Mr. Edgar had kept any money himself ?-Never.
Q. Did you suppose that any of them had kept the money, themselves, for their

own purposes ?-I know nothing of the disposition of the money. I know that
neither Mr. Edgar nor Mr. Cockburn ever had money directly from us in reference
to this expenditure of $4,450.

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. Have you got the letters of advice that Mr. Robinson wrote, or did he write

any, advising you of making this draft upon you ?-I have no such letters of advice.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Were you in Ottawa at the time some of these drafts were made ?-I do not
think I was in Ottawa at any tUme that these drafts were made.

Q. Was it the understanding that Mr. Robinson should draw upon the Company
for such sums as ho might deem requisite for the purpose of promoting the i ?-I[
think, at the outset, it was understood that Mr. Robinson should promoté the bill
and, therefore, expend monies according to his judgment.

Q. Which I presume, ho would obtain by drawing on the Company ? That was
the understanAmg I suppose ?-I think in the frst instance 1r. Robinson drew
(without the amounts beng previously named), in concert with the ùuderstnading
that ho was to promote the measure.

Q. Was any refund ever made ?-Not to my knowledge.
Q. Any statement as to how the money was expended ?-Not to my knoilede.
The Committee thon decided to make a further examination of the books of tae

Company.

THuRsDAY, March 29, 181,

The Committee met, Mr. ARCHIALD in the Chair.
Mr. F. W. CUMBERLAND, recalled.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. I fmd au entry in the Cash Book of 12th November, 1869, " Parliamentary

expenses, paid J. A. Macdonald's draft of 8th November, $500," I also find in the
Cash Book under date 29th November,1869, another entry, " Parliamentary oxpenses,
paid draft of J. A. Macdonaid of 10th November, $500." What were thesedrafts
for ?-They were for $>00 each.

Q. Yes, but what was the purpose ?-I presume that they were in promotion of
elections. These drafts, the effect of ther, or anything relating to themh&as entirely
escaped my memory. It was only since I returned to Toronto this last time, that I
was made acquainted of them. My mind with regard to thom, befbre that, was a
perfect blank.

Q. Have you any doubt but that they were for eleptions ?-Np
Q. I fmnd on reference to the journals of the House for 18', thay at thp tie

thos* drats were drawn there was an election-rather a celebrgtád oie ?
J.-. Cuiberlaad-Which wia that?
Mr Gut4rie-Sir Frincis Hinck4 in North Renfrew. Wa it in c neption with

that ?,-Ihave no doubt.
Q. Hve you got the drafts ?--We have sent for them, but ty a Aye t arrived

yet.
Q. You have no doubt that thoy will come ?-I *am sure they wiUl
Q. Have you any letters of advice from Sir John Macdonald" þ y of

drawing theso drafta ?-I have not.
Q Have you any in your office at Toronto?-Not to my knowledge.
Q. I suppose you did not search after the matter being rcal to your

recollection ?-No, I can searcli though on my return to-morrow.
09
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Q. You have vouchers here; have you the corresponience belonging to the
Compan here ?-No, the letter books are in Toronto.

Q. These two drafts appear to have been paid ont of the Railway fundà ?-Yes.
By the Chairman:

Q. Was there any conversation between yourself and Sir John Macdonald
verbally or otherwise that you can recollect of, immediately with regard to these
drafts ?-I have no recolllction of any communication either written or verbal
between myseif and Sir John Macdonald.

Q. Or with any other person on his behalf?-I have some recollection of a
conversation relative to the election in Renfrew.

Q. Do you recollect with whom ?-I coald not say with whom.
Q. Do you recollect the purport of that conversation ?-It was with reference to

the contest in Renfrew. I thmnk it was a conversation that would lead to contri-
butions to the election.

Q. You have no memoranda, or any means of recalling with whomn that
conservation took place ?-No, I cannot remember.

By Mr McCarthy
Q. What is the entry in the Cash Book ?-Parliamentary expenses, paid draft

of J. A. Macdonald of 10th November, $500. That is the entry of 29th November.
Q. Does it say who the draft is on ?-No, it does not.
Q. What is the next one ?-The same language exactly, except the difference in

the dates.
Q. Do you remember whether the drafts were on you or on the Northern Rail-

way Company ?-On me.
Q. You were, I believe, then, a supporter of Sir Francis Hincks, as well as a

warm personal friend, were you not ?-Yes, all through my life, politically and per-
sonally.

Q. Was that on the occasion that Sir Francis Hincks returned to political life in
this country ?-That was the occasion of his first election after he had returned to
Canada.

Q. You do not now remember with whom you had this conversation, whether
it was with Sir Francis Hincks himself, or who it was, as to raising a fund to assist
him in his election campaign ?-I think I may positively say it was not with Sir
Francis.

Q. Was it with Sir John Macdonald ?-No.
Q. It was not with Sir Francis, nor Sir John, but you had a conversation with

some person. Do you remember where it was ? In Toronto or Ottawa ?-In Toronto.
Q. Was it a conversation with the friends of Sir Francis ?-I cannot remember

who it was with, but there is just a recollection in my mind that before the Renfrew
election-before the drafts were drawn-there was a conversation which prepared
me for the drafts. In that conversation J think I assented to contribute.

Q. And having in that way consented to contribute to the election fund, you
were not surprised at these drafts being made on you ?-No.

Q. Did you, in that conversation, or at any time, give any person to understand
that you would pay these drafts out of the Northern Railway funds ?-I think, in
conversation of that character, I was always regarded as a representative man. It
was the Railway man that was speaking, not the individual.

Q. But did you say anything to lead them to believe that you would pay them
out of the Northern Railway funds ?-I could not say, but it is quite within my
knowledge to say that in those matters I was regarded as a representative man, and
as a railway man. People may have misunderstood, they may have attributed to
me great wealth.

Q. You did not say anything about it, and that is the way you regarded it your
self ?-Yes.

Q. But have you any reason to say that any other person regarded it in that way?
-I cannot speak for others.



Q. What you mean is, that yot , in agreeing to make this subscription to the
fund, did it as a representative radway man ?-Yes.

Q. Bat how others understood yov as subscribing you cannot say ?-No.
AQ. nd all you remember about it is that having agreed to contribute to the

fund, these drafts were drawn upon you and you accepted them ?-After the conver-
sation to which I refer I was prepared for the drafts, and they came.

Q. You have not looked to see whether you have any correspondence ?-I
have not.

Q. There possibly may be correspondence. Would you have kept correspondence
of this kind ?- do not think there would be any correspondence with reference to
these drafts. I have my private correspondence, of course, like any other person.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Did you everintimate to any one in any way that the subscriptions you have

made for election or any other purposes were to be charged to the railway fund; or,
in other words, have you. any reason to suppose or to know in regard to these
subseriptions which were made by you for this purpose, that the parties to whoný you
made them had any knowledge that they were to be paid out of the railway funds, or
out of your own private pocket ?-Not as a matter of fact as to the payments, but I
think it was generally understood in such cases that subscriptions of this class were
provided by my Company, and were not personal.

Q. lad they any reason to suppose when you made the subscription that it would
be paid out of the Railway fund ?-I should say they had, or else they must have
supposed me to be a much more wealthy man than I am.

Q. H{ad you ever any conversation with Sir John A. Macdonald in reference to this
subscription ?-I do not rerpember any.

Q. Did you ever imply directly or indirectly to him or through other parties to
him that this subscription was to be paid out of the Railway fund?-I could not say
that any such statement from me ever reached Sir John A. Macdonald directly or
indirectly.

Q. Do you know that he had ever any intimation, impliedly or otherwise, that
these drafts made upon you for the purpose before stated were to be paid out of the
Company's fund ?--I do not know.

Q. Have you any reason to believe that he did ?-I do not know.

By Mr. McCarthy
Al you know, so far as Sir John Macdonald is concerned, about the money,

is that having assented to contribute to this fund, Sir John Macdonald drew upon
you for the fund ?-That is all.

Q. Are you prepared to state that the person with whom you had the conversa-
tion, whoever he might have been, in which you consented to the payment to this
fund, that that person had no reason to believe that you would pay any contribution
you made, out of the funds of the Company ?-I have no doubt.

Q. Of what ?-I have no doubt that he believed that the contribution would be
out of the funds of the Company.

Q. I would like you to recollect who he was, because it is important that we
should have his evidence on that point. Can you not recall him ?-I think it was
Mr. Campbell.

Q. Which Mr. Campbell ?-Mr. C. J. Campbell.
By Mr. Bowell :

Q. That is the brother of the Senator ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bertram:

Q. You say that it is was generally understood in all such matters as the granting
Of Bubscriptions that the funds were provided by the Company. Do you beheve that
Sir John Macdonald in making this draft understood that the money would be pro-
vided by the Company ?-I could not state that.

Q. Because you stated it generally ?-Speaking, generally, in such matters I am
regarded as a representative man.



By Mr. Guthrie
Q. How long had yon known Sir John, Madonald before thi ?- know Sir

John, I think, first, when he was serving in Sir Allan MacNab's Ministry. What year
was that ?

Q. That would be perhaps fourteen or fifteen years before the drafts wero made ?
-It was ut Quebec during Sir Allan MacNab's ministry.

Q. Had you become intimately acquainted with him, and he with you?-Yes.
Q. At that time you were a political supporter of Sir John wore you not? and

his ministry ?-I was not.
Q. in 1869 were you not a supporter of Sir John ?-That is not the time to which

you were referring. f thought you were referring to the occasion on which I first
became acquainted with Sir John.

Q. In 1869 you were a supporter of Sir John Macdonald ?-Yes.
Q. You say that in those subscriptions people generally regarded such subcrip-

tions as railway subscriptions in fact. Is that what you mean to convey to the
committee ?-I believe so.

Q. Have you any reason for believing that Sir John Macdonald was an exception
to that general class of people who so regarded such subscriptions ?-I cannot answer
for Sir John Macdonald.

Q. When you spoke to some gentleman before the drafts were drawn about
giving the contribntion, did you say how much you would give ?-I think not, the
conversation was general.

Q. And the amount was not fixed ?-I think not.
Q. When you accepted and paid the first draft did you expect another at that

time? I could not say what my expectation then was.
Q. Well, you did not fix the amount before hand ?-I do not remember.
Q. Would not you remember ?-I do not think any amount could have been fixed

or it would have been in one draft.
Q. I would wish you just to reflect for a moment to see if you could recollect the

circumstances so as to be able to answer my question as to whether at the time you
paid the first $500 draft you were aware that another ivas coming ?-I could not say.

Q. Were the drafts drawn on you, as drafts generally are, payable by the
Company ?

Mr. McCarthy objected to the question being put until the drafts were produced.
The Chairman thought the drafts should be produced first.

By M. Bertram:-
Q. In speaking of those two drafts, I want to ask if you remember any other

contribution of a similar kind made by the Northern Railway Company at any other
time ?-Yes, I do.

Q. Can you give us the particulars ?-I could not give you the dates now.
Q. Can you give us the amounts, and who they were paid to ?-I think seo. Two

sums of $500 to Mr. C. J. Campbell.
Q. Do you remember the year ?-I ca» give you the date by looking at the

books.
(Booka examined.)
Q. Did yon flnd the entry of the last two items ?-I did.

By Mr. B ell :-
Q. What are the dates ?-The 9th and l3th of August, 1872.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. (Examining the book). It is charged to yourself ?-Yeu.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
thJere wam, one of the 9th, and oe. of the 13th August, 1872, for $500

By. Mr. HcCarJ.-
Q. Charged to yourself ?-Y«.

By Mr. Bertram-
Q. Does this amount appear in your own account ?-Yes.
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Q, Do those two items form part of the amount that you gave the notes for ?-
I did not give any notes, on the same date I issued my cheques.

Q. I mean, do they form part of the $10,000 note, and the 82,000 note that you
gave the-Company ?-Speaking from memory, I think they do.

Q. oes Mr. . J. CJampbell live in Toronto ?-Yeý.
Q. What business does he carry on ?-Banker and broker.
Q. And you paid these two amounts to him?-I issuedmy cheque to him.
Q. Were you aware what they were for ?-They were in connoction with the

elections.
Q. Any special election, or, was it the general election ?-I do not remember.

By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. You do not remember whether it was a contribution to the general election

what election was there in 1872 ?-A Dominion election.
By Mr. Bomel :-

Q. You gave evidence before the Pacifie Scandal Commission ?-Yes.
Q. You there stated that you made subscription to the general election fund. Is

this a part of then ?-Yes.
Q. Was this the entire amount of your subscription in 1872, in this way ?-I

think so.
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. There is another item of the same kind on the 10th August marked " to be
accounted for." 18 that for a similar purpose ?-I could not say without referring to
the voucher (Referring to the Cash Book 1872). It is "to be accounted for re
Algoma Election."

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. I suppose that is a part of the Robinson account of 1872 ?-Yes.
(The voucher was then produced.)

By Mr. Bertram
Q. You have turned up the voucher for these two entries, the 9th and 13th

August ?-Yes.
Q. What sccount is the amount charged to ?-Parliamentary Expenses.
Q. And your own account is credited with it ?-Yes.
Q. So that the amount was not a private subscription of your own, buta payment

out of the funds of the Company ?-Yes.
By'Mr. McCarthy :-

Q. It was in this way that you paid the money: When yow pai4 the money you
charged it to your own account; that is, it was charged against you on the 9th and
13th of August ?-The money was paid through my account and it was subsequently
credited with the amount which was then charged to Parliamentary expenses.

Q. That was on 23rd October following ?-Yes.
Q. Then the contribution was a contribution of your own; it was a contribution

of F. W. Cumberland which was paid by F. W. Cumberland, and afterwards¿. as a
matter of book-keeping, you were credited, and it was eharged to Parliamentary
expenses?-Yes, I was credited, and it was charged to Parliamentary expenses. The
subscription was paid through my own account.

Q. And as your subscription ?-The two cheques I issued to Mr. Canpbell of
$500 each were my cheques.

By _Mr. Bowe:-
Q. I see you stated in your evidence before the Pacifie Railway Commission as

follows.: The question was put-"In that subscription to the election, d4 youiconsider
in any way that you were recompensing the Government for any intemiest , the
Railway ?" (referring to the Pacifie Railway.) Your answer is " ertisiiI I diC not,
I subsoribed and paid as a member of the party." I will give you the msa qwation
with reference to the Northern Railway.. In subscribing to the election dia
consider you wore recompensing the Government for any leniency shown to 4t
Northern Railway, or did you subscribe as a member of the party ?-I did not sub-
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seribe with reference to any Government action whatever, but as a memuber of the
By the Chairman

Q. That question applies to your own private subscription, does it ?-It applies
so far as I was a medium to contribute.

Q. Did you say that you subscribed simply as a member of the party ?--My
personal subscriptions were as a member of the party; and the contributions,, so far
as having been charged to the Company, were not in reference to special con-
siderations by the Government. They also were really party.

Q. That is to say, that the Northern Railway Company was subscribing to the
party ?-It is to say that whatever was done in that way was donc, as I believe, in
the interests of the Company.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Had the Company any knowledge, as a company, of these subscriptions ?-

No, of course they were of a confidential character.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Was Mr. Robinson, as President, aware of those subscriptions ?-I could not
say specifically with regard to any particular items; but he was generally consulted.

Q. As to these two sums of $500 paid to Mr. Campbell in August. Was he
consulted with regard to them ?-I could not say.

Q. Did he become aware of them afterwards ?-I think so.
Q. Did he become aware of the fact that you had charged them to the Company,

by the voucher of October, 1872 ?-I do not know that ho was aware of the particu-
lar voucher, but I think he was aware that I did not carry the burden of these
subscriptions.

Q. You say that you gave your own cheques to Mr. Campbell. Was he troasurer
of an election fand ?-He was a very active person at that time, but I am not aware
about his being treasurer.

Q. Re was active in the interests of the then government, I suppose of the gov-
ernment of Sir John Macdonald ?-Of the party in Toronto.

Q. Well, the party which was supporting Sir John Macdonald ?-Certainly.
Q. You said before that you had no doubt that Mr. Campbell regarded your

subscription, not as personal, but as representing the railway ?-I have no doubt of it.
Q. Did he apply to you for these subscriptions of $500 each in August, 1872 ?-I

believe so.
Q. By the examination before what is called the Pacific Scandal Commission, I

infer that Sir John Macdonald was aware that you had helped at this election in
1872 ?-I presume so.

Q. Do you know whether he vas aware of the amounts of the subscription ?-I
do not.

Q. Did he become aware through you of the fact that there had been $1000 con-
tributed in August 1872?-I do not think I ever had any conversation with Sir John
Macdonald with reference to any subscription. I do not think I had any conversa-
tion with reference to the two drafts that have been under discussion this morning. I
do not remember a single conversation with him referring to the subject of subscrip-
tions to elections.

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Campbell, in addition to being an active member
of Sir John Macdonald's party, is not also an intimate personal friend of Sir John ?-
Yes, he evidently was; a great majority of Sir John's political supporters are his per-
sonal friends.

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Campbell was an intimate personal friend of Sir
John Macdonald ?-I should say, decidedly.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Did yeu contribute any other amounts to Mr. Campbell out of the funds of

the Northern Railway Company for election purposes ?-I think not, I am not aware
of any.

Q. Do you remember any other amounts you paid to anybody else ? I ask you
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the g q"on agin ?-I don>o4 and- should not hav, remembered that, but
that at WM brouglt to ny recollection when I was in Toronto last Saturday.By MEr. Guthrie.

Q. Thero is $1000, if I recolleet right, charged under the head of aundries, May
30, 1874, the partieulars being legal expenses.

(Voucher 1620 of the year 1874 produced.)
Q.Was that connected with elections ?-No, it was not.

Q. I find in the Cash Book, under date of May 25, 1872: -"Paid Angue
Morrison's aceptance- to lfail Printing Company of 23rd May, on account of sb-
soribed stpck, o250,,(Voucber 1759), charged to Contingencies." There are two
vouchers, one relating to the subscription of Mr. Morrison, and one by yourself. The
first is from the Mail Newspaper Office:

Toronto, 16th May, 1872.
To ANGUs MORRJsON, ESQ., M. P.

DzAR SiR.-I beg to inform you that your acceptance for two hundrod and fifty,
dollars ($250) on account of stock in " The Mail Printing and Publishing Company,"
will fall due at the Bank of Toronto, on the 25th May.

I am, dear Sir,
Yours truly,

(Signed) CHARLES W. ROBJOINS,
Cashier.

Then on the back appears to be this memorandum:
"Dear Cumberland,

"When you go up protect me,
"Truly,

" ANGUS."

Thon there is a simlar notice of the same date witb reference to your own
acceptance cf $250, on account of your own stock. Then there is this memorandum:

" Mr. Foreman to get choque from Mr. Hamilton and meet the acceptance at
naturity to be charged to contingencies.

17 1 5 1 72. " (Signed), A. J."

By these acceptances yours and his appear to have been paid on 25th May, 1872,
by the Railway Company and charged to contingencies ?-Yes.

Q. Do you know whether more was paid than $250 by the Railway Company
on account of any acceptance on Mr. Morrison, for that, stock ?-I quite remember
the thing now, I rather think that we shall find that the two $1,000 subscriptions
were paid.

Q. That is the $1,000 of his and the $1,000 of yours ?-I think so.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. That is the Company paid Mr. Morrison's subscription to stock ?-Yes.
Q. Why did the Company pay Mr. Morrison's subscription ? We already under-

stand why your subscription was paid for out of the Company's funds. Why was Mr.
Morrison's paid ?-To relieve him, I suppose.

Q. Were there any other subscriptions of stock by any one else that the Com-
pany paid ?-No, I think not.

Q. Was Mr. Morrison a Director of the Company at that time ?-I think ho was
a Director of our Company.

By Mr. Guthrie: -
Q. These subscriptions were not charged to Mr. Morrison in your books ?-No,

they were charged to contingencies.
Q. Were there cheques of the Company given, for Mr. Morrison's subscription,

or any part of it, to the Mail Newspaper Cmpany, or in what shape was the



eaigtionpaid?-I eni ote sure whether th0yaWr. 1 okeart the Eempany; or
whether they were drafte. If theyweidae esà 11we puidbyh efr.

Q. Drafts by the Mail Company on him?-I presumei i mydf an4 .
Morrison.

By Mr. MCarthy
Q. The subscription, as I understand it, was ai f r.'Morrison to

the stock of the Mail Printing an& Publishing Company 4yur -wn was, as
you explained the other day?-Yes.

Q. And when these drafts were -made .i Merieon for payment, he
acoepted them and you met them at hie requiest be#eveiti. ià.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Was it understood, Mr. Cumberland, before M Itrison subscribed, that

the Company shouldjpy the amount of bis subscription ?-I think it was.
By Mr. Mc arthy

Q. Was it understobd between you and Mr. Morrisod?-Yes, between Mr.
Morrison and myself.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q, Do you know who applied to Mr. Morrison to subscribe? Did you and he

subscribe together, at the same time ?-I think so.
, Q. Who solicited the subscription and procured it of you and Mr. Morrison to

this stock ?-I think, Mr. Sandfield Macdonald did.
Q. Do you know -whether he understood that these subscriptions were to be paid

out of the Northern Railway funds ?-I think he did.
Q. Did you tell him so ?-Well, I have no doubt that was understood; I think

it was expressed.
Q. I see by the books that on the 3rd July, 1871, Mr. Morrison received a pro-

missory note from the Northern Railway Company for 61,000 ?-Yes.
Q. Did the Company pay that note ?-Yes.
Q. Is that the note proposed to be given in your letter of 28th June, 1871 ?-

Yes.
Q. It was given in connection with services Mr. Morrison rendered to the three

railway companies ?-Disbursements.
(Voucher No. 9535 produced and letter read as follows):-

ToRONTo, SIMCoE AND MUSKoKA JUNCTION RAILWAY.
Toronto, 28th June, 1871.

-MY DEAR SIR.-ImportaDt legislation at Ottawa, by which both undertakings
(the Muskoka and North Grey) were enabled by lea§e to the Northern to go into
operation, together with the still more important measure (to the Muskoka and the
Northern) of the Sault Ste. Marie Pacifie Junction Railway bill, involved Mr.
Morrison in considerable outlay. I am of opinion that the three companies, Northern,
Muskoka and North Grey are indebted to Mr. Morrison in the sum of$1,000, and that
each Company should contribute one third of that an1ount.

Will you please consult with Mr. Barnhart, and if your respective companies
concur-our secretary (Mr. Hamilton) will give a note Pt three months to Mr. Mor-
rison which, at maturity, shall be charged in thirds against each of the companies.

Yours truly,

(Signed) FRED. CUMBERLAND.
Approved of,

F. 1%ITH,
N. BARNHART, President, N. G. R.

Q. Was that $1000 all for disbursements ?-On account of disbursements that
were made.

Q. Made where ?-Mr. Morrison at that time was a' Director of ours. lie had
been extremely active in promoting the measures which resulted in the constructionC 46



of those two railways, and this was to re-imbursehim fbr oat1&as ho elimed to have
made in rendering the service.

Have you nny account of the outlays ?-No, I bulked them.
Q. Uow doSyou know how much ho spent ?-It is impossible for me to kow

how mauh ho spent. I could oüly exercise my judgment m eonversation with him
as to-*bat amount ho ought to be reimbursed.

Q. Had ho any account which ho showed you ?-In tonveration ho urged and
explained them.

Q. How nuch did ho urge ho spent ?-I think more than that.
Q.)id ho give-yon any details or particulars?-No.
Q. 'Were these disbürsements made by him at Ottawa ?-Sdme of thèm.
Q What proportion ?-I cannot say.
Q. Did you adbmit this payment to the Board of the Northern %ilway ?-I

think not.
Q. This létter does not say that his outlay exceeded that sum; it says theoutlay

was considerable ?-I did not say it said that.
Q. Did you observe that ?-I did.
Q. It says that you considered the three companies were indebted toMr. Morrison

in the sum of $1,000 ?-That was my language.
Q. For disbursements ?-For disbursements.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. of this $1,000, one third of it was payable by the three companies, the North

Grey, the Muskoka, and your own?-Yes.
Q. Did you obtain from the North Grey and the Muskoka their share of the

amount ?-Yes,!each was charged with one-third.
Q. Were they amalgamated at the time ?-No.
Q. You had an open account with them ?-We had an open account with them.

They were independent companies at that time; we charged them with the amount
and it was repaid.

Q. To what account did yon charge the third that was properly paid by your
Company ?-Parliamentary expenses.

By .Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. I find an entry in the Cash Book, No. 8, June 9, 1869, "Parliamentary

expenses, by Angus 'Morrison of 7th June, $400." As far as I recollect you had no bill
before Parliament that year ?-I think not.

Q. I find there were elections in June 1869. There was an election for South
Renfrew, the writ for which was issued on the 10th June ?-I do not remember
anything about the election. Was that a single election ?

Q. Yes; then there was an election in Lower Canada. Can you explain what
this was for ?-I cannot.

Q. Did you pay any drafts of Mr. Morrison's, or give him money for elections ?-
I think not, I do not remember any.

Q. Do you know why this was charged to Parliamentary expenses ?-I do not.
Q. I suppose you could get us the draft ?-I have no doubt.
Q. We wish to get it ?-I exercised my judgment At the time as to the propriety

of the charge, but I recollect nothing of it now.
Q. I find July 23, 1868, " Suspense account, new capital, Act of 1868, paid H.

Bernard as per account, $500." Who has he ?-Ho was in the Law Department at
Ottawa; Deputy Minister of Justice, I think.

Q. What did you pay him $500 for ?-For legal services in connection with the
drafting of our bill.

Q. The account, I suppose, will show ?-I think so.
Q. Is it customary to employ the Deputy Minister of Justice to draw bills you

want to get through Parliament ?-You can find that out from any one else; I know
nothing about that. We took his advice, and we were very glad to have it.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. It was no part of his duty to draw your bill ?-No.
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(Voucher No. 1476 prodnced
"The Northern Railway Company of Canada,

To H. Bernard, Dr.
1885

July 3rd.-To professional services as Parliamentary agent in
conduct of Act 1868.................................*500

Charge "Suspense Act, Act of 1868."
F. W. C."

Q. That amount was paid on that voucher ?-Yes, Mr. Bernard went before the
Committee and assisted us.

Mr. Cumberland said before the Committee adjourned he wished to draw the
attention of the Committee to a statement which appeared in a paragrapl in the
Globe of Wednesday the 28th inst., that some testimonial to himself had been paid for
out of the funds of the Company. As lie did not know upon what authority the state-
ment was made, he would like to be examined in reference to the item referred to
before the Committee adjourned.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. There is an item, January 4, 1868, reception committee paid J. G. Joseph and

Co., on account of No. 269 (Voucher No. 269 of 1868 produced ? ) The account says
" One presentation plate for F. W. Cumberland, Esq., $380. By cheque, December 30,
$126.50," leaving a balance which was paid a few days afterwards ?-That is in rela-
tion to a presentation made to me on my return from England in 1867, by the officers
and mon of my line.

By Mr. mcCarthy
Q. How does it appear in the books of the Company ?-It appears by that

voucher as if the testimonial had been paid for by the Company, and it has so gone
forth, whereas on examination of the account it will be seen that there was a reception
committee of my officers, and the account was evidently opened by the Secretary as
treasurer of the fund. It is not a Company's account at all, but he chose to bank the
money as he received it, and pass it through the Company's accounts.

By .Mr. Palmer :-
Q. The real point is whether the mon wore charged, or whether the money

Came ont of the Company's funds ?
The following voucher, No. 8819, produced and read:

" Geo. R. Hamilton, Pay Roll Acc., Dr.
To Reception Committee.

"For amount to be roceived from employees, whose names appear on
Pay Roll for month of March .............................................. $448 85

"ToRoNTo, 30th March, 1867.'

A. That is it; the officers and men of the line made a subscription of so many
days' pay, one or two (I really know nothing personally about it), and the most con-
venient way of collecting that apoeared to be by getting the Paymaster to stop the
pay when the monthly pay is due and return it. That is the way all such subscrip-
tiens are collected, and that is the way it was done on this occasion and the account
was carried on. There was a reception and a dinner for 400 with table decorations,
and all that sort of thing. It is a bitter thing to have it asserted in the papers that
an honour done to me by a lot of good, generous fellows such as they are, was donc
by myself and paid for by the Company. It will come to this soon that a Railway
Manager is not to be permitted to have the good-will of his men.
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t TUUmAY, April 3, 1877.
The Committee met.-Mr. ACemBLn in the chair.
be evidence of Thursday last having been read over,

Mam F. W. CUMBERLAND was recalled,.
Mr. <Cumberland said :-I would like to say something with reference to the

evidence I gave on Thursday and which bas just now been road over. I said I thought
& certain conversation had in regard to the subscription of two $500 drafts was with
.Ur. C. J. Campbell. Mr. C. J. Campbell has written to me to say that in that particular
I was in error, and that he remembers no conversation of that character with me in
regard to that matter.

By Mr. .McCarthy:
Q. Have you any statement yourself to make in correction of that ?-I have

nothing further to say than what I stated in my evidence which was to the effect
that I thought the conversation was with Mr. Campbell.

Q. Do you still think so ?-I cannot correct my memory by remembering a
conversation with any other party.

Q. But do you still say it was with Mr. Campbell ? You cannot remember wh
it was with, but do you think it was with Mr. Campbell ?-I thought it was with Mr.
Campbell, and except for his denial I should think so still.

Q. Is there anything that would enable you to say with any definiteness whether
it was or was not Mr. Campbell ? Have you any particular reason to recollect that it
was he ?-I bave had so many conversations with Mr. Campbell on kindred subjects
that my mind naturally reverts to him.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Was he a Director of the road ?-He is now.
Q. Was he then ?-No, he was not.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Was he a stockholder at that time ?-I do not think he was.
Q. Then Mr. Campbell had no interest in the road thatyou [know ?-I do not

-think he then had.
By .Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Have you the two drafts of $500 each with you ?-Yes (drafts produced and
copied, the copies being marked Exhibit X and Y.)

Q. These are the drafts that were charged in November 1869 ?-Yes.
Q. The first reads:-" Ottawa, Novemler 8, 1869, $500; three days after sight,

pay to my order $500, at the offiee ofthe Bank of lQntreal, Toronto, for value received
as advised.

"JoHN A. MACDONALD.
To F. X. Cumberland, Esq.,

Toronto."
"Accepted 12th November 1869,

F. CUMBERLAND."

f Endorsed, " J. A. Macdonald," and also endorsed by the agent of the Bank
Of Montreal, Ottawa.

The next draft is " Ottawa, November 10, 1869, $500; at ten days sight, pay to
my order at the office of the Bank of Montreal the sum of five hundred dollars fir
value received as advimed.

"JOHN A. MACDONALD.
" To P. W. Cumberland, Esq., M.P.P.,

Toronto."

Endorsed < J. A. Macdonald," also endorsed by some one for the Manager of the
Bank of Montreal, Ottawa. It is marked " accepted 18th November, 1889, F. Cum-
berland."

I notice these drafts say " as advised." Did you look to see whether there were
îany letters advising you of drawing the drafts ?-We have no letters of advice.
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Q, Have you got the draft of Mr. Morrison of June, 1869 ?
(Draft produced and copied, the copy being marked Exhibit Z.).
Q. This is the draft charged in June, 1869, to Parliamentary expenses, $400 ?-

Yes.
Q. Are you now able to tell the Committee what this was for ?-I have no doubt

that it was in connection with legislation of 1868-9.
Q. What leads you to that conclusion ?-Because of the date, because of the phra'

seology of the draft, and my memory.
Q. What services had Mx. Morrison rendered in connection with the bill of

1868 ?-Services in the general promotion of the bill.
Q. In the louse, or on the Committee ?-The general promotion of the bill.
Q. Did you ever get any account from him?-I apprehend he either made an

account which I cannot fmd, or, what is more probable, lie explained the nature of
it to me.

Q. Was this all he got in connection with the promotion of that bill ?-I
think so.

Q. Why was the amount not paid to him at the time, or immediately after the
bill was passed? There is about a year's delay ?-I do not think so; it is not a year's
delay ?

Q. I think so ; the bill was in 1868, and this is in 1869 ?-I do not know when
the session rose, but I should infer that this took place at the close of the session.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Do you refer to this louse, or the Local House at Toronto ?-This House.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. The Act was assented to on 22nd May, 1868 ?-Then I am in error.
Q. That would be a year and a month after, and I ask you why the thing had

stood over if that was paid in connection with his services in 1868. What was the
occasion of the deley ?-I cannot say.

Q. The other accounts connected with that bill appear to have been paid in the
summer of 1868. H1. Bernard's account was paid in the beginning of July, 1868, and
the other drafts were drawn in the spring of 1868 ?-Yes.

Q. There is nothing on the draft to lead you to the conclusion that it was in
connection with the legislation of 1868 ?-No, there is nothing on the draft.

Q. And you have no voucher or account from Mr. Morrison ?-I have not.
Q. Do you know how the $400 was arrived at; was it the length of time he had

devoted in connection with the promotion of the bill ?-I think it was arrived at in
conversation and discussion.

Q. On what principle ?-I could not say.
Q. Was Mr. Morrison a Director of your Company in 1869, do you remember ?-

I think he was.
By Mr. Bertram

Q. Was this draft on you ?-Which draft ?
Q. This one of Mr. Morrisou's ?-I do not remember ; is there anything on it to

show ?
Q. It says: "At sight please pay to my order at the Canadian Bank of Commerce,

Toronto " ? -There is nothing to show; there are the bank figures on it.
Q. The draft is not endorsed, it is quite irregular ?-There seem to be bank

figures on it.
Q. You will notice that the draft is quite irregular; it is payable to his order, and

there is no endorsement upon it ?-I have known such cases before.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. lad Mr. Morrison any account of any kind against the Northern Railway
Company ?-He would have one as Director.

Q. Any account for services ?-I do not think he had any current account
except as a Director.

Q. Because this draft says, " Pay $400 currency, and charge same to my account
against Northern Railway Company ? "-Yes.
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4 Might it he for that ?-It could not be for that because at he time I aeepted
I classified it.

Q. Then you really do not know whether it was in connection with Parliamen-
tary services or not?-I say that at the time it was aoeopted I cha -ged it to that
service immediately,-item 116

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. Was Mr. Morrison not engaged in assisting you in opposing those bills of

rival roads you have already spoken of ?-Yes.
Qr Is it not possible that that was for services in connection with that business?

-It is quite possible.
Q. Then you did not mesn to swear that that $400 was paid to him for services

rendered in 1868 in the promotion of this bill ?-Speaking from memory I thought
our bill of 1868 was in the Session of 1868-9.

Q. Then, except from the fact that you charged it to Parliamentary expenses you
have no means of saying what the $400 was paid for ?-I have not.

Q. And that might have been in connection with the bonus hunting, as it was
called, for your own roads, or in opposing other roads which you deemed to be
competitive roads with your own ?-We have been interested almost every Session
in the Ontario Legislature in regard to bills before that House.

Q. That may be, but you do not mean to say it was in connection with services in
this House ; that would be a serious matter ?-I cannot say it was so given.

By Mr. Gutkrie :-
Q. Did you bring down a statement, I think it was asked for by Mr. Bertram,

with regard to the Couchiching hotel expenditure ?-Yes, (Exhibit W.) also a return
of the advances to the Extension Company at date of lease and date of amalgamation
respectively. (Exhibit V)

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. I want to put one or two questions to you with reference to these drafts of

Sir John Macdonald. Are not all the facts relating to the two drafts that you know
of personally as follows: You, being a strong personal and political friend of Sir
Francis Hincks, and he, at that time running an election for Parliament, were desirous
of promoting his election and agreed to assist his election by subscription ?-I have
no doubt.

Q. After you so agreed were not these two drafts drawn upon you personally
for the amount ?-Yes.

Q. And you paid that out of the funds of the Northern Railway Company by your
personal cheque ?-They were ultimately paid out of the funds of the Northern
Railway.

Q. Did you not afterwards give your notes to the Company for this amount, and
for other matters, which notes the Railway has still, subject to settlement ?-No,
these drafts were paid by cheque of the Company, and charged directly to Parlia-
mentary expenses, and did not go through my account at all.

Q. I see Sir John Macdonald's drafts were on you personally and not on the
Company. Can you say that you ever gave him notice that you were going to pay,
or that you had paid it, out of the Company's funds ?-I have already said that I
remember no conversation or written communication with Sir John Macdonald on
the subject.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Had you ever agreed to contribute $1,000 to this election of Sir Francis

llincks, or did youjust pay the drafts as they were drawn on you ?-I do not remember
agreeing with regard to any specific sum; but I remember consenting to contribute
before the election took place.

A conversation arising with reference to witness' account with the Company-
(Exhibit Q) for which notes were given,

Mr. Bertram asked:
Q. What items is your aceount, for which you gave the two notes, composed ot?

-- You will find that iii the evidenoe before the Royal Commission, Report page 22,
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Q. Explain what the Ist item tI thit aceount ie for ?-,-Itwaabalanceof$4,000
whieh I claim as against the Company in connection with the Cardwell election evi.

eaee concerning whichwas givoei 'efre thoeommiaon, (R.port page 22). Yom will
séee it as follows: " Q. *Of what other item did the $1041-1 iiôte consist ?-A.Ser-
vices charged to my account. Q. What were they ?-A. They were connected with
iny elections for Algoma and Cardwell which I considered the Company should pay."

Q. You now say that the item of *4,000 was for the Cardwell election ?-I do.
By -Mr. BoweU:-

Q. You say ofthese that you paid them yourself and gave a note to the Com-
pany for them ?-Yes.

THURsDAY, April 5, 1877.
The Committee met, Mr. ARcHLBALDnin the chair.
Mr. F. W. Cumberland said :-With regard to the draft of $400 of Mr. Morrison,

I desire to say, that on further-consideration, I have no doubt that it was in connec-
tion with legislation before the Ontario Legislature.

Mr. CUMBERLAND was then examined:
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. Mr. Moberley was an engineer of the Northern Railway ?-Chief Engineer.
Q.' What salary did you pay him ?-I could not say from memory.
Q. There are amounts of $133.33 in the accoants credited to him regularly,

probably that would be his salary ?-I think bis salary varied. It increased froin time
to time aecording to the length of bis service. Iy impression is that it was £600
:a year.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Sterling or currency ?-Ourrency.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. This amount of $133.33 was regularly put down as sundries. It would ainount

to $ 1,600 per annum ?-My impression is that his salary was £600 per annum'
Q. You are not certain ?-I am as certain as I can be, speaking from memory,

because when he retired bis successor received that.
Q. There is an item here, March 51, 1873, contingencies $500. I see by the

journal that that was an amount paid to him by order of the Directors ?-Yes.
Q. I notice in this account there is a credit to Mr. Moberley of 83,486.72, and

included in that there is an item of contingencies, a bonus of$2,000 that was paid by
ordeT of the Directors?-Yes.

Q. MIr. Moberley's aceount seems to have been overdrawn on July 1st, 1873, by
the sum of $1,979.43. I suppose this 62,000 covered that item ?-On Mr. Moberley's
retirement from the service a Board's order was passed closing bis account in the
manner you see.

Q. There is a further payment to Mr. Moberley of this kind, of various items put
in as a credit in bis account to the new elevator and the wharf at Collingwood; was
that a commission he got ?-Yes, it was considered, and I think very properly, that a
special work of that sort justified a special payment to the engineer in charge. It
could not be regarded as included in the ordinary duties in which he was engaged, and
Be -was accordingly paid-and paid very much less than we should have paid if we
had employed an outsider and paid his commission.

Q. What was the rate of eommission ? What was the percentage ?-I forget;
I know it was economical to us to employ him in that way rather than to employ,
àeöther rôads have done, elevator engineers.

Q. Mr. Moberley seems to have left the service of the Northern Railway in
1873 ?-Yes.

. Lad he any contracts with your Company after that ?-He had ; after the
amalgamation of the Northern and the Extension.
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Q What contract had ho ?- hà had the contract to construtt the road from
Sevem Bridge to Gravenhurst.

Q. ls that finished ?-Yes, it was lnuished to date.
Q. Hm as now no connection with the Company ?-Nono.

By Mr. Palmer :
Q. low long had Mr. Moberley beei in the employ of the Bailway ?-He

succeeded Mr. Sandfbrd Fleming who wa our-chief engineer; I think he was in our
service eight or ten yeare.

Q. Did he receive more money in this form compensating him for the servioe/
he rendered ?-Mr. Moberley was a most valuable ofloeer, and, I think, if you take
ail his pay from beginning to end, that he was a very economical ofcer to th*-
Com ny.

M. Did you pay more to him than Railway Companies are in the habit ofpaying
engineers who have done the amouat of work, and as well as Mr. Moberley did it ?-'
I should say less.

Q. In that amount, I presume, you included commission and everything else ?-
Every thing. I quite concurred with the Board in the action they took on Mr.
Moberley's retirement.ý A more valuable or faithful officer, one more devoted to his
work, was never employed by any Company, and he merited ail he got.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. I see in the books something of a testimonial to Mr. Moberley. 1 think it

was over $800. What was that ?-I quite remember something of the sort, but W
was a testimonial from the men of the road. I do not think you will flnd that the
Company ever gave hira a testimonial. He was a most popular officer, and when he
retired every officer and man on the road was sorry to lose him, and they gave him
such a testimonial, which I suppose was a wickedness.

Q. I find a large amount paid to Mr. Moberley in 1868 on a contract for the
supply of fuel ?

Mr. Cumberland-What was the entry of the date ho left the service ?
Mr. Guthrie-In 1873 he left the service.
Mr Cumberland-Is it Mr. C. W. Moberley ?
Mr. Guthrie-Yes, in three months of 1868 be got $10,000. In ail ho got $18i969.

From January 10, 1868 to November 20, 1868, he got $18,969. He appears tu
have been enginéer at the time he got ,this contract ?-It seems so, I will make
enquiry into it.

By -. r. Bowell
Q. Was Mr. goberley under salary to the Company at the time you paid him

this commission for work done at the elevator?-Yes.
Q. Did that work interfere in any way with his ordinary duties ?-Not at ail.
Q. Was his time as chief engineer occupied ail the time by the Company ?-Yes.
Q. And yet he could find time to attend to the superintendence of the building

of this elevator for which you paid him an extra commission ?-Yes.
Q. And when he left the service of the Company he had overdrawn his account

and you grantel him a bonus to balance it ?-What I say is, that Mr. Moberley, in
constructing those elevators for the Company, did a special work which, I think, in
all other railways was the subject of the employment of special engmneers.

Q. What I want to know is whether it is the practice where you have a salaried
officer whose time is supposed to be that of his employer, to grant extra commissions
for work he is asked to do ?-It is a matter of opinion. My Board thought, and I
think properly, that he should be paid for his extra services. Ifhe had not been
paid extra he would not have done the work, and we would have had to employ
other parties to do it, and pay hi her for it.

Q. You had no contro over him then ?-No more than as chief engineer whose
duties involved the maintenance or our works and such new works as are connected -

With new railway service. Take the Great Western to-day. They are going te put
up an elevator at Toronto. They do not employ their own engineer, but they ar
going to employ Mr. Ioberley to do it. -



Q. I only wanted to know whether a slaried officer of the Company could do
extra services which I suppose he might have done as an ofeer of the Company?-
The duty of constructing t he elevators was notincluded in his duty as Chief Engineer.

Q. And the attendance he gave to that work did not interfere with his other
dutiets ?-Not at all.

By Mr. Palmer -
Q: So long as he looked after the engineeing of the road and the new works in

connection with the road, he could do what he chose with the rest of his time ?-
Certainly.

Q. And he was not obliged to do this work ?-We had no right under his
engagement to call upon him to build elevators.

Q. And you thought it was to your advantage to employ him ?-Certainly,
greatly. By

Q. You have not told as how much that commission was ?-I cannot remember.
By Mr. Guthrie :-

Q. The following are the items paid: $187.30; $140.30; $13863; $100.61;
$167.53; 858.40; $174.83; $135.06; $150.55; $112.23; $129.25; $100.21; $156.03;
$127.42; 8128.03; $124.80; $155.69; $152.04; $66.79; $119.11; $129.62; $172.86;
$455.05. Total, $3377.35. The first payment was April 30, 1869, and the last was
November 30, 1871; the payments extending over two and a half years. You
paid apparently $3,377 to Mr. Moberley as commission on the construction of these
elevators. What did the elevators cost you? Were there one or two ?-Two, one at
Collingwood, and one at Toronto.

Q. Did any other officer of the road get a commission of a similar character to
this got by Mr. Moberley for what may be called extra or additional services ?-No.

Q Did you yourself?-No. I have telegraphed to Toronto for accurate inform-
ation regarding the fuel account held in Moberley's name ; but I may tell you at once
that I have no doubt-not the slightest doubt-that Mr. Moberley carried the wood
business as agent for the Company.

Q. It is marked " contract " in the books ?-Yes, but you will find that he was
simply utilized as an officer, for charging the wood, instead of buying it outside, just
the same as our wood officer is now.

Q. itill it is entered as if he was the contractor ?-That entry, lr. Guthrie, does
not mean that the contract was made with Mr. Moberley, but he, as our officer, was
making full contracts with other people, that is, getting the supply for us.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. Here is an item (voucher 4th January, 1871,) " Pay S. B. larman, alderman,

$150, and charge the same to contingencies, Central Passenger Depôt." What was
this for ?-That was in connection with a scheme which at that time was being pro-
moted by the Great Western Railway and ourselves with a view to securing a Union
Passenger Station at Toronto, where the Three railways, including the Grand Trunk,
should be combined. The two companies, the Great Western and ourselves, procured
Mr. Ilarman to pronote the necessary legislation for organizing a Joint Stock Com-
pany upon the basis that -a Union Station should be construeted by a separate com-
pany and leased to the three railways-the Grand Trunk, the (Great Western and
the Northern-and it was with a view to that that Mr. Harman was provided with the
means to carry his bill and form his company.

Q. Was it a local bill ?-A local bill.
Q. Was that money paid to him in connection with any services in the City

Council ?--None, whatever.
Q. It describes him as an Alderman ?-He happened to be an alderman at the

time.
Q. But it had nothing to do with his position as Alderman ?-Not at all.
Q. At that time were you seeking any leave or anything else from the Council?

-I do not remember, but I gave you my evidence as to the account. We felt the



proposition to be of great importance, but the Grand Trank tripped us up, built its
own dtation, and excluded us.

Q. LIsuppose that yòur station near the City Hall is on Carporation property ?
.-Yes.

Q. And I think it was built before this, was it not ?-Yes.
Q. Had it anything to do with that ?-Nothing.

By Mr. Palmer
Q. It was paid to him for promoting the bill ?-Yes; he was President of the

Company, and he acted with the Great Western and Northern in promoting the bill
with a view to our getting a Central Passenger Station, we being jealous of the
Grand Trunk doing it, and making the Great Western and ourselves special tenante
of its own.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. Here is an item, 3rd January, 1871, " Pleae ay Alderman Baxter $100, and

charge the same to legal and Parliamentary expenses.' Do you remember what that
was for ?-l could not say specially.

Q. You notice that the items are within a day of each other ?-I do not think
they have the slightest connection.

Q. Here is a voucher, " Please pay to the order of G. P. Shears $110, in fuil
settlement of account against the Hincks' dinner committee." (Signed), T. C. Pat.
terson ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. What was Mr. Paterson? Secretary ?-Secretary of the committee.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. This was paid by your Company ?-Yes, that was when Sir Francis Hincks

returùed to Canada, on his first arrival in Toronto, after an absence of ten years.
And, it was considered, and I think properly considered, that ho should be welcomed
as became the services 'he had rendered and the position he had occupied in the
Imperial service. It was thought, and I think properly thought, that my Company
should contribute to that public welcome to Sir Francis Hincks.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Was that considered in the interests of the railway ?-I considered it in the

interests of the railway, and I know that railway companies are almost univerdally
expected, and I think properly expected, to join in local efforts of that sort, and they
always do.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. What is the date of the voucher ?-April 23, 1870.

By the Chairman:
Q. Was that subsequent to Sir Francis Hincks' election to the House of Commons?

-No, anterior; that was when he first came back.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. He was elected on 13th November, 1869, for North Renfrew ?-There is no
question but that tiatwas a balance on closing the account. Whenever the payment
was made it was for the dinner on Sir Francis Hincks' first arrival in the country, in
Toronto at all events, prior to his re-entering political life.

Q. This, you say, was a balance. Had the Company paid anything previously ?
-No.

Q. It was in full settlement of the claim against the dinner committee ?-Ys,
we undertook to pay the balance due to Mr. Shears as our subscription.

Q. When did you undertake to pay it; about that date ?-Yes, about that date.
Q. It would be about that date ?-I have no doubt. We agreed to contribute to

the dinner. Every railway will do it. They do it in Peterboro; they do it every
where; they do it at Hamilton.

By Mr. Bertram :
Q see there is a charge every six months to Mr. Belford for reporting the,

sefmi-annual meeting, $100 ? That was for some years ?-I do not know how long it
ranged. L know that so long as Mr. Belford was a reporter he was our reporter and
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wp pi him for his servies as oae reporter, he giving us a verbatim report of our
proceedings.

Qd Ione case here he is paid- $200 for Parlramentary expenses ?-I have no
doubt that is for services rendered as a reporter. We have to pay for a report a
well as for everything else.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. I find an item in the Journal ranging from September 30, 1868, to August

31, 1869, in which there is an -amount charged of $66.67 per month for Spence and
Belford, amounting in all to $860, and for which there is no voucher for any account?
-- hat arose out of a contract with Spence for fuel transportation and cutting, and
advances were made to him, I renember, as is usual on account, we taking a bond,
then subsequently when the wood comes to be delivered and cut, the wood agent
measures it and puts in a regular voucher which is carried to the credit of the con-
t•actor. In this case it is palpable that the payment to Spence was made by error
of the Secretary, who instead of carrying the vouchers to the credit of the contractor,
improperly paid the cheques in cash. We dispensing with Spence as an inefficient
person and causing us much embarrassment broke his contract, in fact. Ultimately
it turned out that the certificates had not been carried to his credit and the conse-
quence was that we were losers of $800.

Q. That is the way you have of writing off a bad debt ?-That is the way that
was adopted, most improperly by the late Secretary. It was his own erroe and I
suppose he cloaked it up in that way.

Q. This is a bad debt thon ?-It is a bad debt and should have been carried to
the profit and loss account.

Q, Is this Belford the same person who did your reporting ?-Yes, the same
person.

Q. Then Spence and Belford actually got this $800 ?-Spence was the contractor,
and I did not know Belford in the matter at all.

Q. But tlbey were in partnership ?-I required a second name from Spence
before he could get the contract, and he oifered me Mr, Belford's and I accepted it.

Q. Did you try to collect this ?-I did not know of it, I think, until after the
Statute of Limitations took effeet. I might say that Spence became bankrupt and
ultimately went to Manito6a. We suifer our losses as well as other people.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. Your contr act was with Spence in reality ?-Our contract was withSpence.
Q. And Mr. Belford's name was given as a second name ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know whether Mr. Belford had any pecuniary interest in the matter?

--4 have no knowledge, I could not say. I believe that what he did was a friendly
service to Spence.

Mr. McCarthy-I have Mr. Belford's authority to say that he had no pecuniary
interest at all.

By Mr, Palmer:
Q. Mr. Bertram assumes that tbey were in partnership. Now, do you know

whether any money was paid to Mr. Belford or was it paid to Spence ?-We paid no
money to Belford; all the money was paid to Spence.

By Mr. Bowell :
Q. Do I understand you that the amounts referred to before were for services

rendered by Mr. Belford in reporting the annual meetingspnd other meetings ?-They
were for professional services as a reporter.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. I notice, in looking through the different Ledgers, that there was a very large

amont of money, amounting to many thousands of dollars, spent by your Company
in buying champagne and other liquors. I took no particular memorandum, bat I
cau safely say that there were several thousand dollars spent in that way, and I want
to ask you if, in addition te these excursions-that yon speak of as being usual with
railways, if yon kept a stock of liquors in the Northern Railway offces for other pur-
poses. I ask yon that question because I notice in some of Fulton and Michie's in-
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vjegit is f&r the eellar ?-You will allow me to give you a general answer to your
que#tlOn. 1 am glad you have raised it. The expenditure to which you refer in the
geeiterlli of many thousands of dollars raning over many years represent occa-
8ong; when, according to the judgment of miy Directors and my own, we thought it
in the interests of the Company to extend hospitalities to individuals, corporation-
or associations that might be upon our line, and we think that that expenditure ha
largely assisted in running the credit of the concern up to its present standard. Thus,
we built those two elevators to which you have referred this morning. As each was
completed we invited the Boards of Trade and the Corn Exchanges to go and start
them, and we received tbem hospitably with a fitting luncheon, and we carried tJeimii
free. That represents a portion of the several thousands of which you speak. We
know that whon a private elevator is opened it is preocisely the course the proprietor
takes in order to advertise his establishment as ready for work, and to invite hie
future customers to give him their business. And, we think it a highly profitable
and most proper investment. I venture to trouble you with this general answer
because I have heard so much in the lobbies about this that I think it ought to be
explained. So, also, with regard to distinguished persons from England, who gene.
rally bring introductions to me, and generally with the expression of a hope from
our English constituents that we would show thom the road and the country that it
serves. And thon again with regard to Associations. One of the best advertisementa
that ever we had was when the Press Association on two occasions went over our
road,-once as far as Lake Superior. And we certainly thought, and we stili think,
that to welcome the Press Association is an excellent method of getting our road
advertized, as a more business question. And, you must remember that the two
corporations of Toronto and of the County of Simcoe are shareholders in the under-
taking and, thus once a year, as a general rule, with very few exceptions, the City
Council of Toronto go over ho road. Once, and generally twice a year, the County
Council of Simcoe go over the road, and we think it is a very proper thing, and we
are very glad that they do so. Take, for instance, the Duke of Manchester, who ha*
the very representative position of president of the Colonial Institute, of London. 1
have no doubt that the very fact of our taking His Grace all through the Muskoka
District, and his acquainting himself with the opportunities for settlement there, and
the experience ho gained ofthe great territory tributary to our road has done ue
infinite good. So with Sir Henry Jackson, our London chairman, and Mr. W. H.
Smith, a most prominer.t commercial man and secretary to the Treasury, and a
Director of ours. When he came we would have failed to promote the interests of
our Company if we had not taken him over our lino. Take another distinguished
person, whom we delighted to welcome, the Right Hon. W. E. Foster. It is indeli
cate to mention names, 1 know, but I am forced to it. The Right Hon. W. E. Foster
was a most prominent member of Mr. Gladstone's administration, andi he was accom-
panied by Sir Thomas Buxton, who was most desirous of seeing our lino of country-
most anxiois to soe this Muskoka District, and, moroever, to see what Canadian
Militia service was, and there happened to be a camp at Holland Landing at the
time. The result was that amongst those gentlemen, and I have only nainet a few,
a knowlodge of the condition of the Northern country and the credit of the Northern
Railway have been largely promoted in England until our bonds stand at par, which
can be said of no other Railway in this country.

Q. Thon your opinion is that the spending of that money was to bring the bond.
to par ?---I say it has been purposely done in the best interests of the Company, and
in precisely the same way, and with the same objects, that an individual would pro-
mote his own business. I beg to add that amongst others that travelled with us and
that we ere delighted to receive, and we thought it assisted us greatly, was the
Ontario Government. On two occasions we have carried them, and we would have
carried them much earlier and much more frequently if we could have only got
them into the Muskoka District which we desired to develop.

By Mr. Palmer
Q You don't mean to say that they drnk champagne ?-They did drink cham-
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1agne. -Again, I will add another instance, the Corporation of th> City of Buffalo,
a most important corporation for us, whom we were most anxions to cultivate, and
whom we have cultivated by the means to which you refer. The Buffâlo Corporatiôn
-came for a visit to the City and our fellow citizens suggested that they should be
shown the back country, and we performed what we beheved to be in the interests
.of our City and of the Northern Railway, we took them up. And, I believe, if other
corporations, such as Rochester and others will come, we shall exercise a wise
discretion in doing, in the future, the same as we have done in the past.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. I notice three items in the Summer of 1870, mostly for champagne, of about

.11000, bought of John Baxter. Was he a wine merchant ?-Yes, but I think you
are wrong as to the amount.

(Vouchers 6936 and 7459 produced.)
By M1fr. Guthrie:

Q. There are two payments to the Mail, one of $250, and one of $270, apparently
for editorial writing ?-These I understand to be payments on account of the sub-
.ecription of Mr. Morrison made whilst I was in England. I have never seen the
voucher, but I have hoard of it.

By AMr Bertran :
Q. There 's a sum of $421 for champagne to Mr. Baxter on June 24, 1874 ?-One

ýwas the opening of the Toronto elevator, the other was the opening of the Colling-
wopd elevator.

Q. sOne item was in 1872 ?-Yes. The elevators were not built at the same
time ; one was built considerably after the other.

Q. Ii Mr. Baxter a wine merchant ?-Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie :-

Q. With reference to the sums paid to the Mail, there is one of October 2,
1874. " The Northorn Railway Company, to the Mail Printing and Publishing

Company, to editorials and notices in Daily and Weekly Mail, $250." It was paid by
you apparently ?-No, it was paid in my absence by my son then acting on the
Executive Committee of officers.

Q. Then there is another on October 23,1874, " The Northern Railway Company
to the Mail Printing and Publishing Company, editorials and notices inserted in the
Daily and Weekly Mail $270, charged printing and advertising. F. W. C." These
are your son's initials?

A. Yes, he was acting under the Board'sorder, as chairman of an executive com-
mittee which is always organized in my absence to carry on the work.

Q. You said that these were paid in connection with Mr. Morrison's stock ?-
I know nothing of these vouchers, but I have been told that they represent the pay-
anents for which, at an early date of this Committee, we were searching as regard to
the subscriptions to the Mail. These two, as I understand, go to make up the full
figure of $2,000, being mine and Mr. Morrison's subscription. That is the way these
two vouchers are explained to me.

Q. By whom ?-By the General Freight and Passenger Agent, my son.
Q. Thon as a matter of fact did you agree to pay them these sums actually for

.editorials?-As a matter of fact, no. I have no knowledge of any such understand-
ing.

Q. Thon you know of nothing by which they have a right to these sums unless
it be on the stock ; do you ?-I know of nothing ; you will find that these figures
imake up the stock. That is the way it is explained to me.

Q. Can you get as thon the other vouchers for the rest.of the $2,000 ?-I
-think so.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. The City daily papers are in the habit of charging for advertisements which

they put in their special columu of notices of meetings, are they not ? -They
charge for what you call City items.

4 I do not mean that. I mean, for instance, the report of a Board of Directors
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of any of the large Companies, Insurance Companies, and so on. They are inso
ij their special colau and charged for at a much higher rate than advertisements Y-
Yes.

Q. Are not these charges for items of that kind ?-I could not say, I never saw
the invoices tilt to-day. We have been charged regularly by all the City papers of
Toronto forthe reports of our half-yearly meetings.

jRf mr. Bowell:-
Q. If you had a special excursion and that was noticed in a City item calling

attention to the fact ?-It would probably be paid for.
By Mr. McCarthy:

Q. There is no reason why ýhe Mail should have covered up the item for sub-
seription to its stock in that way, is there ?-I know of none.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Did I understand you to say that the Press Association were guests of the

road ?-Yes.
Q. I see a charge on the books for, I think, refreshments for them at Allandale ?

-Yes.
Q. Was that the extent of your hospitalities to them ?-Speaking from memory

I think we entertained them both on their way up and on their way down on the first
occasion, and on the second occasion, of their going to Lake Superior, I think, on their
way Up.

Q. You mean at Allandale ?-Yes.
Q. I suppose you gave them tea or supper, or whatever the meal was, at the time

the train was passing ?-We gave them a hospitable welcome, and you will find it
difficult to get any person who was present to depreciate our hospitalities.

Q. I see a subscription, 20th June, 1872, paid T. W. Simpson's draft of 15th June
on account of Barrie races $250, contingencies ?-Yes.

Q. I suppose this amount was paid by the Railway Company ?-Yes.
Q. Did you give any money except for the prize lists or premiums, or whatever

they call it ?-This is what is called as subscription to the meeting.
Q. I may tell you that I have heard it rumoured, and I wish to ask whether it is

correct, or not, that in addition to giving a subscriptioi to the annual meetings the
Company helped to lay the race course, or to improve it, at Barrie. Is that correct ?-It
is absolutely untrue.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. In giving that subscription I suppose it was in order to induce passenger

traffic over the road ?-We use our judgment in helping public occasions of that sort
with a view to inducing trafflc, we generally manage to comeout with a considerable
profit.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. It is giving a sprat to catch a mackerel ?-I am sorry to say the Barrie races

are defunct.
By Mr. Palmer

Q. I suppose the expenditure is for a two-fold object: one is to get the good-will
of the people who are to be customers, and another is to create traffic ?-Yes.

Q. This Mr. Simpson is not the Mr. Simpson connected with the Big Park ?-
fr. Simpson is a resident of Barrie.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. There is a debit here in the special ledger of $3032.19 to John Turner; willyou

explain to the committee what that is for ? It is charged April 30, 1876, and stands
as a debit to him; there is no credit to the account ?-l cannot say.

Q. There is another item of the same kind, N. Barnhardt. Would you be able
to give us some information about these items to-morrow ?--I think so.

By Mr. Casgrain
Q. Have these books of the Company been regularly audited yearly ?-Every half

year.
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Q. How are the auditors ippointed ?-By the Oothpany at the annual general

meeting.
Q. eld in Toronto ?-Red in Torinto
Q. Are these audits sent home tÔ the English bondholders ?-No, thé audits

are the basis of our annual and half-yeary reports.

By Mr. GutAWie.:
Q. In the accounts you have given the committee regarding the Couchiching

Hotel Company you make the amount which the Northern Iailway Company had
in that hotel, on Slst December, 1876, $10,479.72 ?-$1Q,479.42. Yes.

Q. And you appear to have a mortgage on the Company's property of$10,000 ?-
We have.

Q. The hotel has been burnt down ?-Yes.
Q. Did the Company get any of the insurance ?-I think not; those matters

occurred during my absence in En'gland and I have not had time to see into them
since I returned.

Q. Have the Northern Extension Company any money in besides the amourit
that, you say, the Northern has ?-The Extension Company assisted in the original
construction of the hotel.

Q. To what extent did they assist ?-I think at one time they had advanced
some $40,000.

Q. Has that been repaid ?-No, there has been no repayment, it was a sort ofjoint
enterprise.

Q. I suppose then as the Northern Extension is now amalgamated with the
Northern, the Northern Company may be said to have advanced the $40,000 ?-That
would be quite erroneous.

Q. What is the position of the matter ?-The position of the matter is that any
advance the Extension Company made were their loss at the time of amalgamation
with ourselvee.

Q. You say the Northern Extension loet them; were they made from the
Northern Railway Company?-Some of these charges were repaid in cash by the
Extension to the Northern.

Q. For instance, in the Ledger you will see that the Northern Railway advanced
$16,191 up to 31st December, 1873, and charged it to the Extension Company ?-That
is right, we charged them with that; it was a debt; and they repaid us that amount
in cash.

Q. The Northern Extension Company did ?-Yes. The proceeds of the sale of
the Northern Extension Debentures were, so far as the Extension was indebted to
ns at that time, applied to neet ourdividend then falling due; soas to save exchange.
We realized on the ExtensioL Bonds in London, and applied so much of the proceeds
as represented their debt to us direct, to the payment of dividends in London, thereby
eecaping exchange.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. What was the date of amalgamation ?-3rd June, 1875.

By Mr. 6uthrie:-
Q. Then this transaction took place before amalgamation ?-We were repaid in

December, 1873.
Q. The item was then simply a matter of book-keeping, as between the two

Companies. You charged the Extension with this account in their account, I sup-
pose ?-It is more than a matter of book-keeping, I think.

Q. You say you did not get any money ?--We did get the money. It did not
signify whether we were paid in London or here. The Extension money happened
tobe in London as the proceeds of their first bonds, and we took so much of that
money in London and appropriated it to our dividend payable there ; thus saving
exchange.

a É*,



By Mr Palmer
Q. You took it to the extent of what they owed ?-Ali they owed us at that

-time we took. We knew we were safe because we had eustody of their bonds and
»ere assisting them by advances in anticipation of the sale.

By Afr. Guthrie
Q. When did your Company take the mortgage on the Hotel property 7-The

nortgage, speaking from memory, was originally made to the Extension (ompany
and was assigned over to us when we came to make advances.

Q. You made advances, however, all along ?-We made advpaces after a"oalga-
nation, which shows an amount now, as I told you, of $ 10,410.

Q. But had not you made advances before which you had not charged to the
Extension Company ?-No; not as far as I know.

Q. Then the mortgage was made to the Extension Company ?-Yes.
Q. And assigned at the time of amalgamation ?-No, it was assigned with special

reference to the advances to the Hotel.
Q. You made advances subsequent to the assignment of the mortgage ?-I think

Bo ; we required an assignment of the mortgage to cover our advances as they were
being made.

Q. Would the mortgage to the Extension Company be about 820,000 ?-The
inortgage to the Company was of this same amount of $10,000 which was assigned
to us.

Q. What security have you for your subsequent advances ?-We have a mortgage
for all the advances the Northern Railway has made.

Q. Have you a mortgage for the advances made the Northern Extension Com-
pany ?-We have nothing to do with that, these advances were made.by that Company
before amalgamation.

Q. Yes, but I understand that that Company, for its advances, took a mortgage ?-
For $10,000.

Q. Only for $10,000 ?-That is all.
Q. Why did not you get the insurance ?-I don't know, that settlement was

made during my absence in England, and I have had no time to enquire since my
return.

Q. Was it a first mortgage ?-Yes.
Q. You have not heard how it was ?-I have heard from conversation that the

mortgage represents a great deal more than its face value, and it is a property which
my Company certainly ought to hold and control, and I think it would be a great
mistake to give up the property and have the mortgage cashed. We expect this
very summer, as we are going to make it into an excursion ground, a very large
,excursion traffic. So, I would lament to see the property go-ont of our control and
the mortgage cashed. If the bargain be that we are to retain the mortgage and
control the property, I consider it a very excellent one.

By Mr. Bowell -
Q. Could not you furnish all the papers connected with the Hotel by to-morrow;

we would want the amount of land purchased, how much it cost, by whom it was
purchased, the list of stockholders, and whether they patd their stock ?-I apprehend
that is by arrangment between the two Companies, and, asl have explained, is worth
.a great deal more to us to hold than to sell ; that is to say, we do not want it paid off,
we prefer to hold it.

Q. That is all you know about it ?-Yes.
Q. Who has the right to claim the advances which the Northern Extension

Company made to the Couchiching Hotel Company ?-No one.

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. Were they. not turned, over to you when you assumed their liabilities ?-I

should say not ; that may be a legal question, but I should say not by intention of the
partis.
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By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Surely the Hotel Company had no right to benefit by your amalgamation,

théy would have to pay either your railway or the Extension Company the $10,000
advances ?-The Northern Extension Railway.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q The balance sheet of the Extension Railway Company shows assets " Lake

Couchiching lotel Company $45,235.01 on the 31st May, 1875 ?-That is the balance
sheet of a Company which is defunet.

Q. Of course these assets would belong to your Company whatever they are
worth; has that been settled for by the Hotel Company ?-No.'

Q. It seems to me that your Company as successors to the Northern Extension
Company should have a claini of $45,000 against the Couchiching ilotel Company,
and of $10,000 on your own account. Was none of the insu.rance money applied
towards the reduction of this $45,000 ?-No, as far as I understand.

Q. How much was the insurance policy ?-I think I heard it was somewhere in
the neighbourbood of $12,000 or $14,000 above the outstanding liabilities.

Q. And the stockholders got that ?-I believe so; I believe the total insurance
was very much more; I think it was $36,000 for the whole property; the outbuildings
were not burnt, and that went in reduction of the amount to be recovered.

Q. Do you know how niuch they recovered ?-Somewhere about $30,000 ; that
leaves $6,000 insured value for the outbuildings still existing. Then, as I understand,
there were liabilities paid off; there was a mortgage to the Building Society and
there were certain outstanding debts for furniture and other things; they were all
paid off and then the balance was divided pro rata among the shareholders.

Q. Was this mortgage to the Building Society a prior mortgage to yours ?-Yes.
Q. What amount was divided amongst the shareholders ?-That I cannot say.

By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. Do you know whether there was any bargain made between your Company

and the Lake Couchiching Hotel Company about this ?-None whatever; the view
taken of it was that the Extension Company, which was to a large extent composed
of persons as the Hotel Company found it to their interest to promote the construction
of the Ilotel.

Q. I don't mean about that; you say that you were second mortgagees and the
balance was paid to the first mortgagees. Of course you ought to have had some of
the noney ?-If you will allow me to answer your question. What I want to say
is, that the view taken is that the property is of infinitely more value to our Com-
pany than the mortgage, and that we would prefer the mortgage not being paid off
and that we should take the property and utilize it.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. But quite independent of your mortgage this Hotel Company owe 846,000 ?-

That is to be taken into consideration with the whole question of amalgamation.
I may say that the Extension Company were promoters of the Hotel on their own
interests and with a view to traffic; just as the Grand Trunk has built a hotel at
Caconua to promote traffic. The Extension Company did the same thing and, they
were in fact part proprietors of the Hotel. They amalgamated at a price infinitely
below their expenditure. Seme $367,000 less than they expended we got their note
for, and if they had not lost that we should have paid so much more.

Q. That does not touch the point; that might be a good reason why you would
take over the Hotel with the Northern Extension, but if I understand it aright you
do not take it over, although the same as in the road, keep their interest as the lotel.
Do they not ?-They keep their interest in the Hotel.

Q. Then if they did so they kept it, subject to the debts of the Hotel ?-Well, it
was not regarded as a debt; it was an advance as subsidy.

Q. Do you mean that it was a present to the Company ?-It was the intention
of the Extension Company to promote the construction of that Hotel.

Q. If so, it would belong to them ?-We have the property for $370,000 les than
itcost.



Q. But you have not got the lotel ?-No, but we shall get it.
Q. You left it in the hands of that Company. That apears to me to bo as con

istent as this :-when there is anything to pay they don't pay it; and when there is
anything to receive they put it into their pockets ?-You do an absolute and gross
injustice to a body of men who have doue more for the development of the country
than ever you did. It irritates nie to hear a body of men depreciated who have been
engaged for years in a work of the most important public character. It is of the-
very pith and marrow of the Northern Railway; it is the reason why we have been
able to pay the Goverpment money; it has opened up 400,000 square miles north of
Toronto, and the motives, honour and honesty of every man who has been engaged in
the work, are impugned.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. It is the Manager of the Company who would have control of their stock list

and could tell us the amount of it, and who have paid up ?-We can get that for you,
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. At the time of amalgamation, did anything take place with regard to the-
$45,000 advanced by the Extension Company to this Lake Couchiching Hotel
Company ?-Nothing. You must remember that the Legislature absolutely interfered
to prevent the Northern Company from paying these persons any more than a
specifie amount ; absolutely interfered with private rights and said you shall not sell
out for more than $20,000 a mile.

By AMr. Palmer:-
Q. I see by the account of 1874 that the vouchers which you thought were Mr.

Morrison's subscription are included in the regular Mail account; you must therefore
be in error with regard to it ? -I said I had no personal knowledge of the subscrip-
tion because I said the amounts were paid while I was in England.

Q. Looking at the gross amount which you have given us as the statement of
the Mail account with these two vouchers which you said you supposed were con-
nected with Mr. Morrison's subscription included, 1 find it is $1712 in 1874 ?-Yes.

Q. Is this of the same description of accounts as the Globe would have of the
same year. You see the Globe account the same year is $29,000 ?-I suppose so,
but I could not say without examination.

By Mr. G'uthrie:-
Q. Do you mean to say then that your information that these two vouchers do

not represent actual work, is incorrect ?-I cannot say whether my information is
correct or incorrect, as I have no personal knowledge.

FRIDAY, April 6, 1877.
The Committee met.-MR. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.
Mr. F. W. CUMBERLAND recalled:

By Mfr. Bertram:-
Q. Have you the explanation of the two amounts in the special Ledger of Messrs.

Turner and Barnhard ?-Those two entries to which you referred yesterday to bills
payable were notes given to those gentlemen under the authority of the Act of 1875,
for the stock that they held in the Extension. We could not give cash, so we gave
notes. The Act of Amalgamation enabled us to take in the stock of the Extension,
making them an allowance for interest and premium, and it was on the adjust-
ment of that stock with each of the stockholders that the notes were given.

Q. You say the Act did not allow you to pay them in cash?-No, but it was con-
venient to us to pay them by note rather than in cash.

Q. What stock did they hold in the Extension ?- The amount oftheir stock under
the Act to which I refer with ten per cent interest and twelve and a half per cent.
premium, brought it to the amount of those notes.

Q. How long did that interest run ?-From the date of the payment of their
stock.



Q. Did you treat the othor stockholders in the sane way ?-A lAU
Q. Did the get notes in the same way as 1ese )artaes ?- of. thm.
Q. RoW does it happen that thQse t-wo speelal notes are aingled ont for being

eharged back on the Ledger to those parties as a-debt ?-I preeume,,e account will
be bannced by thir getting credit when the notes are pai and the tock
extinguished. There was a certain anount of paid up stock in cash to the credit of
each of the stockhôlders. Under the terms of amalgamation arid the limitation set
out in the Act of 1875, which gave' us power to issue new preference stock, they
were to receive payment in regard to the stock actually paid up, with interest at the
rate of ton per cent. per annuin and a premium of twelve and a half per cent., for
suehaiuount, an exchange of preference stock if that stock was issued within six
months. If not issued within six months, it was to be due in cash and the stock
was to be extinguished. These notes represent notes given to these two gentlemen
on this account.

Q. I undeistand about the notes being given. I can easily understand that they
will be in the position of creditors to the Company; but you see the entry on the
book is an entirely diferent thing. They stand there as debtors to the Extension
Company. The entry shoíks that they owe you over $3,000 ?-They have got our
notes for it and the notes are still running. Our object in giving the notes was to
bi-idge over the interval till we got newi capital. When the notes are redeemed they
willb credited to their stock and the aceount will be balanced.

Q. Were the other stockholders treated in the same way ?-All of them.
Q. There is nothing in the books to show that. The notes are not charged to them

the same as to the other parties. How was the settlement corne to differently ?-I
am not sufficiently familiar with the books to say, but I will ascertaip. The accountant
just now informs me that the absence of the other names is because the books have
not been written up. Notes have been given to all the other stockholders in the
same way, but the book bas not been written up.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. With regard to the Couchiching Hotel, do you know the amount of insurance

-money ?-I have telegraphed for a return, but I have not received an answer.
Q. Then you cannot speak further as to that to-day ?-I am able to speak with

reference to the question you put to me yesterday about the contract in the name of
Mr. Moberley. I have looked into it.

Q. That is about the fuel contract ; what was it ?-It arose out of a contract
made with a person of the name of Arkle who failed. The Company then took over
so much of the fuel as he had thon got out and his liabilities to the parties from whom
it had been purchased, and then Mr. Moberley as a Company's officer, continued the
service to the next year.

Q. Did Mr. Moberley make any profit out of it ?-Nothing whatever.
Q. Nor anybody else ?-Nor anybody else. The difficulty yet4erday arose out

of the peculiar nomenclature of the account. I have Arkle's contract and his letter
.asking to be relieved of his contract, and my letter taking it over.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Have you got the return on the memorandum we spoke of yesterday with

regard to the payments made to the Mail of the $2000 of stock. The question arose
as to whether the vouchers represented stock or not, and I asked that we should see
when and how the payments'to stock were made?

(Return of the Mail stock account produced and markod Exhibit AA.)
Q. This return shows #500 paid on Mr. Morrison's account ?-Yes.
Q. You spoke of a thousan4 the other day ?-Yes. I muist have been in error,

the books show $500.
Q. $1000 of your own and $500 of Mr. Morrison's ?-Yes.
Q. What amount did Mr. Morrison subscribe, was it only $500 or was it $1000 ?-

I was under the impression it was a thousand, but it seems that $500 only has been
paid on it, unless those vouchers represent the balance.
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Q. Under what aceounts do you flnd these paymenta entered; charged to con-
tong iepar What ?-I could notaay. I suppose the Mail stock accoimt.

Q.Is thereeuh an account in the books ?-I will ascertain. (After referring
to the books)-There is no such account, either in Cash Book or Ledger, the charge
has been made to contingencies or some such account.

Q. Rave you examined the Ledger and Cash Book yourself, or is this the
work of the book- keeper ?-It is the work bf the book-keeper. He tells me he ha
made a thorough examination of the books and there is nothing more.

Q. -How did you get the impression that $1000 had been paid for Mr. Mor
rison ?-1 was under the impression that the subscription wae a thousatd, and as ja
the other case it had been fully paid, I assumed that Mr. Morrison's had also.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. Then if r. Morrison's subscri ption to the Maib was 81,000, you are quite

satisfied that you have only paid one half of that ?-I am quit3 satisfied that thi.
return shows all the' payments that have been made on that account, so far as I
know.

Q. Have you any recollection of being called upon to pay anything more.by
Mr. Morrison on the Mail ?-I have not.

Q. You have never refused to pay any more ?-Never.
Q. The Mail stock has all been called up, has it not ?-I believe so.
Q. You have paid yours in full ?-Yes.
Q. Then I think you must have been mistaken in saying that there was an

understanding or agreement that you were to pay Mr. Morrison's subscription. Now
it appears that he subscribed $1000 and that lie or some person else has paid the
other $500, or it remains unpaid ?-In such case, if there was no such understanding,
Mr. Morrison will return the $500 that has been paid.

Q. If you were to have paid the $1,000 do you think it is likely that Mr. Morrison
would have paid the $500 himself and not have called upon you to do so ?-I cannot
speak as to probabilities.

Q. I want to see whether the probabilities of the case would bear out your recol-
lection ?-I adhere to my original impression.

Q. That you agreed to pay the amount of Mr. Morrison's subscription ?-Yes.
Q. And if he has paid the other $500 you owe that $500 ?-Certainly not.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. Who, did you say, gave you the information that you spoke of yesterday that

this $520 paid to the Mail was ôn account of stock ?-That was an impression upox
my mind. I thought that the amount of the two payments was $500 and balanced
the $1,000.

By Mr. C'asgrain:-
Q. Would that amount complote the subscription of Mr. Morrison ?-Yes; but

it would be too much.
Q. It would be $20 too much, and that might be for some advertisements ?-I

could not understand that. If it had been the exact sum of $500 I should have sup-
posed that it represented that.

By .Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. The payments of Mail stock were charged to contingencies and to legal and

Parliamentary expenses ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell;-

D. Do yon say that your recollection was that yon should pay this stock
subscribed by Mr. Morrison, and then do yon say that you paid $500 and you are not
responsible for the balance? low do I nderstand that ?-You can understand me in
this way: that recent experience would" tell us that we should not pay that balanee
if it has not been paid.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q I find sums that appear to be large charged for your travelling expenses in

England from time to time, and I think it well that you should state to the Committee
anything you may have to say regarding them. Ifind in Ledger 4, that on one occa-

6-5 65
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ion there ws $4.634 oharged as travelling expensein Englandukapothoroceasion
(journal 7, page 59) $3,521L6ê; on another occeàion, in, October 1 t./5aG Now, I
need net say that these appearto be large. It is for yot. gio âyour evidence
regardlng them ?-I have made very frequent visita totuËgandawqa s expense
of my Company, and on their business, and have always r« th eþeñso icident
to those visits to the Oompy as the expenditures were mae. Uis 'qseston of
opinion altogether as mtoe amount. The expenditure in London or in "Egland
involved travelling expenses in Englind and other disbumements in my caacity as
General Manager with reference to the business I had in hand, either with reforence
to the placing of securities, to the drafting and preparation of bills,legal services and
other disbursements connected with the particular duty I had in hand at the time
Al I can say is that these expenses were incurred-proporly incurred-and charged.
In some cases, of course, the expenses are governed also by the length of time that
was involved in the visit, sometimes it being longer than at otheèr.

Q. What lengths of time have you been absent ?-Three months, sometimes less
than three months, sometimes more.

Q. What would be the longest time and the shortest ? Were there great diffe-
rences in the length of time ?-The shortest I ever made was the first, a good many
years ago. I was only in England ton days. The longest was approaching five
months.

Q. You say that legal expenses in London were included in these amounts
oharged for travelling expenses. Did yon keep any separate account of the legal
expenses thus paid ?-I have got memoranda of the payments, I have no doubt, that
I made. You will observe that all my disbursements during my absence, from the
time I left, to my return, have been charged to my travelling. I did not attempt to
elassify my disbursements.

Q. Could you give the Committee a statement as to how much you had paid for
legal expenees there ?-I do not think I could.

By Mr. Bowell :-
Q. Legal expenses are very high thero, are they not ? If you go to a lawyer

thera, is not the charge very much higher than in this country ?-Very much.
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. There were some other items that I noticed charged under this head of tra-
velling expenses that do not properly belong to it. For instance, I saw in one of
them a testimonial to Dr. Beattie of $600. That may help to swell the amount ?-
That arose out of my boing reqjuested by the Board to take the opportunity to pur-
chase the presentation to Dr. Beattie, now of Philadelphia, ex-Secretary of our
Company.

Q. That was not part of travelling expenses; that may account for the amount
being large ?-That was the way on which it arose.

Q. There may have been other items of that kind ?-No, not of that kind.
Q. It is charged to you as travelling expenses ?-It shows if there was anything

of that character and I made a purchase for the Company it would certainly appear.
By Mr. Guthrie :-

Q. Who was the contractor for the erection of the new elevators ?-Mr. Reekie.
Q. Was he a director ?-He was a director before the erection of those elevatord,

but previous to taking the contract he retired.
Q. How was ho paid, in money or in bonds ?-Both.
Q. How mach in money ?-I think two-thirds in cash and one third labod',

if I remember rightly.
Q. At what rate did ho take the bonds ?-At 60.

By Mr. Guthrie :
. The books, I suppose, corroctly show what was- paid to hii in money and

bonds ?-Yes.
By Mr. Pamer:

Were these the bonds issuedl under the Act of 18f8 ?-Ys.
66
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ti.m madt-byttO. Xad you personally any' interest in this contraot 7-No.
Q. ]frè0t¶y or indirectly ?-None.~

the y whom was the contract with him made ; by the Boar younself ?-By
theJor1

Was e a mùember of the Board at the time, or had he retirtd ?--Re had
retired.

Q. Ws the contract let by tender ?-It was not. An effort was made to plass
those bonds in England for cash, but unsueceedfully, and on the suggestion of the
London Board the contract was made with Mr. Reekie, as being the only' person who
would taitè payinent i bonds.

BMr. PafMer:-
Q. t are these bonds worth now ?-There is no market for them.
Q. I think they were on the Stock Exchange -No, they were never quoted;

they rage from 7 to *5 I suppose, but there is no market.
B Mr. Boweu:2

Q. assthe intorest been paid on them ?-Yest but the amount was so smal that
you cannot make a market for them; they have never been quoted.

Q. Probably Mr. Reekie keeps them himself?-I don't t hink so; I think ho sold
them amongst-ls friends.

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. Ha you any connection with Mr. Reekie in connoction with the clevators?

-No.
Q. Directly or indirectly ?-I do not know what you call indirectly.
Q. Through another ?-Certainly not.
Q. You had no interest whatever as I undertanid you to say? I am astcing

because I had some information that you were interested in his contract ?-It is wrong.
Q. Nor the proceeds in any way ?-No.
Q. I mean the bonds ho got, and the money he got ?-No.
Q. I notice some bonds that you or your son drow interest upon. Did you hold

any yourself ?-Yes, I held some bonds.
Q. I notice on one occasion your son drew interest, $131. They were first

preference bonds?-Yes, I own first preference bonds. My Company gave me, I
think it was; in 1859-60, £2,500 sterling of the first proference bonds.

Q. I may tell you ut once that the rumour I hoard regarding I.r. Reekie and

yourself was that you got some commission out of it. It may bc for negociating bonds
or something else ?-It is quite untrue.

Q. I think it only fuir to you that f should ask you ?-Yes. Mr. Reekie in discus-
aing the question whether he would take contract or not, of course, bad doubts as to
the value of those bonds and ho appealed to mo if ho took the contract to, assist him
in floating them and I did so to a small amount, and I think he puid me upon some
£5,000 or £6,00a that were taken at my suggestion one and a half, or something of
that sort.

Q. That was for negociating the bonds ?-For getting him customers. I do not
know how much he took of them, but amongst our friends in England who are now
the holders of the bonds these were placed.

Q. That would not be much of a commission ?-Not at ail.
Q. That was the utmost extent ?-Yes.
Q. I suppose that has given rise to the rumour ?-Probably. There may have

been a rumour, because I sold some of my firsts having faith inthe thirds, and having
regard to the interest being six per cent, and the price something like 65. I sold
firsts at 96-Mt and bought thirds cheaper, ut 64-65.

Q. Did you buy Mr. Reekie's? -No.
Q. But that lad nothing to do with Mr. Reekie ?-No, except that they were

issued through hiin and bis contract.
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Q. Aithough you bought bonds issued under bis entraoy ou did »M buy them
from him?-No, 1 did it fbr an increase of inoome; I was gettlng ab peri at on the
fists, but I sold the firsts and bought the thirds and, of course, very largolyinerensed
the income from the investment.
, Q. You bought thirds at about the ordinary market priee, which was abçuef65

or 66, but you did not buy them from Mr. Reekie ?-No.
By. Mr. Bertram

Q. Part of your stipend is commission on these bonds; £100 for every one
per cent of interest paid by your road. Do you get that on the firste ?-No, not on
the firsts ; on the seconds and thirds.

Q. You get £100 for every one per cent the road pay on these bounds ?-Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie :

Q. With regard to this small commission yon got on the £5,000 or £600 of
bonds, was it paid to yourself by Reekie direct ?-Yes, I think go.

Q. The other day in speaking about letters of advice regarding the drafts of
Mr. Robinson, Sir John Macdonald and Mr. Morrison, we asked you if you had any
such letters. Yop may have understood that to mean letters on file with the Railway
Companies' papers. I now wish to ask you whether you had any letters that were
private, marked private, and which you did not file with the Railway Company and
therefore may have at home or where you keep your private letters. Did your
answer apply to such letters ?-My answer applied to railway letters.

Q. Yes, but we are entitled, i think it was considered so on a former Committae,
to force the produttion of private letters proper to the enquiry. I wish to ask if you
have any private letters ?-You can make an order if vou like.

Q.'I ask you first the question, if there are such ?-The question is, whether you'&
have a right to examine my private letters.

Q. Not your private letters generally; but letters regarding questions coneerl-
ing which you have given evidence ?-I do not think you have any right to my pri-
vate letters. -

Q. I understand from that answer that you have letters. Have you private
letters touching these drafts ?-I have none.

' By Mr. Casgrain :
Q. Is there any communication between you and Mr. Morrison, or any written

document concerning the subscription to the Mail ?-I think none but what you have
seen.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. You spoke of your salary being £800 at first. Could you tell us when it was

increased ; because I notice by the books an increase ?-I could not from memory. It
is settled now by sealed agreement.

Q. How much is it now ?-I could not tell you without reforence, because it has
been increased by the ratio of the new mileage.

By .Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. I think you have explained that before ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. Could yôu tell by reference to the Ledger what your emoluments were in

1874, for instance ?-I could ; I will do so.
By. 3fr. McCarthy:

Q. Did you -ever purchase, or did the Company purchase from Mr. Gordon
Brown a patent right of any kind, to your knowledge ?-No.

Q. lad you any dealing with him about a patent right ?-I bad interwiews
with him.

Q. You had interviews with reference to one ?-With reference to one.
Q. And what was the result of the interview ?-The result of it was that we

looked into the matter and it was referred to our chief engineer to report on.
Q. And what became of the matter ?-The chief engineer reported upon it and

we bought the right to use it.
Q. Who did you purchase the royalty from ?-From a person n'amed Oakley.

Âèl18l



Q. What was the patent for ?-It was a nut lock,
Q. How much 4ddyu pay for itJ?-We paid *1,000 for it.
Q. Under ~what head ini the acpount .will we d that; construction ?-I quite

forget how it was charged.
Q. Can you give us the date of that ?-It was some years ago.
Q. You cannot tell us nearer than that ?-I cannot say what date.
Q. Your negociations for the purchase of this were with Mr. Gordon Brown;

thouh it was Oakley's patent ?-The matter was the7 sibject of conversation with
r. Gordon Brown and others.

Q. What had Mr. Brown te do with it ? Was he one of'your Directors ?-No.
Q. How do you mean that it was the subject of conversation; was he negociat-

ing for Oakley ?-I think it was a Company.
Q. You think it was a Company; was ho one of the Company ?-I do notknow.
Q. Was he interested in the disposal of it ? -I have no .knowledgè.
Q. You know whether ho was endeavouring to sell it to you ?-Our conversations

were with reference to the patént.
Q. In which he was endeavouring to act as a party interested for the seller?-

Ne was giving me his views and discussing the value of the invention.
Q. You say ho had conversations in which he was puffing the morits. Was fe

puf2ng the merits ?-I said,he was one of the Company interested in this patent..
Q. And he was endeavouring to get your Company to buy it from him ?-Their

object was to get our Company to adopt this patent.
Q. Who '9ere the other members of the Compan ?-The patent was first

introduced to me by Mr. Donald Ridout, patent agent, of Toronto.
Q. Then you acquired the right to use it in connebtion with your Company for

this $1,000 ?-Yes.
Q. Was this all you had to pay ?-That was all.
Q. Is it any use; did you find it of service ?-We have not used it lately..
Q. Did you ever use it ?-Yes, we tried it.
Q. Did it not answer expectations ?-I do not think it did.
Q. You cannot tell me the date any nearer than you bave ?-I could hot from

memory; I think it must be four or five years ago.
Q. Could you find the item ?-I think so.

By Mr. Casgrain :-
Q. Do you know any other person or company besides your Company that

bought the royalty for the patent ?-I understood that other companies either
bought it or intended to buy it.

Q. You bought it in the ordinary course of business ;. you thought it was a good
thing ?-It was roported upon by the Chief Engineer and we received his report and
purchased the Royalty.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. It turned out, as I understand you, of no practical value ?-I don't think the

engineers ultimately liked it. At any rate it has not been used.
Q. And therefore it has not been of any practical value ?-No, it has not.
Q. I understand you to say that your subscription to the Mail and this both

turned out to be bad speculations.
(Question objected to by Mr. Casgrain, and it was ruled out of order by"the

Chairman as not being in the form of a question.)
Q. Which in your judgment was the botter spoculation, the purchase of the patent

right or the stock in the Mail?
(Mr. Casgrain objected to the question as being irrelevant.
The Chairman saw no objection to the question.)
A. X eould no4 say.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q.I ask you, if you in purchasingthis patent right, purchased in good faitlit

bonafide, and believed that it would be of use to your railway ?-I thoug it would
be useful ; and I bought it in good faith.

g. 18NôNýiiieria.
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Q. Have you purchased patent rights in other cases for improvements conneeted
with railways ?-Yes.

Q. On more'than one oucasion beéidea this-I net emabernoe han one.
We, not long ago, bought the right to apply a ventilating syWtem to, onrard That
is to pay-the royalty for applying it; we did not buy the, atent rlght.

Q. Supposing this patent had answered thë purpose or whih i Wwasexrected,
would the price have b3en exorbitant or unreasondble ?-If the appliance h d .lled
the purpose for which is was intended it would not have been at all extravagant.

Q. Are you aware, from your experience as a railway manager, that raiiway
companies frequently or not purchase patent rights -which do not turn dnt to be
valuable ?-I can only give a general answer; railway companies inake miétakes ai
well as anybody else.

Q. You say that Mr. Gordon Brown and others spoke to you aboit it, and Mr.
Ridout first brought it before your notice. Mr. Ridout is a patent agent?-Yes.

By Mr Bertram:
Q. Is this the same Mr. Ridout who has a hardware store on King street ?-

No, it is Mr. Ridout the patent agent.
Mr. McCarthy,-Now of Ridout, Aird & Co ? Yes.

By Mr. Bertram:--
Q. Can you charge your-memory with having purchesed a patent right in'1871

or 1872. I noticed a purchase in the liedger, but cannot flnd it at the moment ?-
Probably this is the very purchase.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q You have told Mr. Guthrie that this purchase was bonafide; *as it any more

bonafide than the subseription to the Mail? Was that alo bona fide ?-One sub-
scription was as bonafide as the other,

,By .Mr. Gutlhrie:
Q. You told us with regard to the subscription to the Mail that your object was

that you might get free entry to the celumna of the paper. Had you any object of
that sort in- purchasing, the patent right in which Mr. Gordon Brown had some
interest? T.at is, did you expect to get free entry to the columus of the Globe ?-
I was glad of an opportunity of serving Mr. Brown.

Q. Was that your objectin making the purchase ?-It considerably influenced me,
Q. Was anything said to Mr. Brown about that?-Nothing.
Q. Nothing was said on the subject ?-Nothing.
Q. Did it produce any effeet on the Globe ? You said the other day that the

fact that the Globe got your printing had been very unfruitful in helping the roèd?-
We said just now that Railway Companies made their mistakes.

Q. I ask you if the purchase affected the position that the Globe had before that
occupied towards the Company ?-I do not know how much worse the Globe might
have been if it had not been for that patent.

Q. I ask you if it did affect it ?-I think you must appeal to the parties them.
selves, I canflot say.

Q. Did it become more friendly to you or did it remain the sameb?-It has
been hostile to us for many years.

Q. And it has remained hostile ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Has not the Globe newspaper been more friendly to the Northern Road within
the last three or four years, than formerly ?-No.

Q. When I say formerly, I mean in 1873 when it issued the article against your
legislation in this House?-I do not think it bas been more friendly.

Q. When you speak of the company with which Mr. Gordon Brown was con-
nected, do you mean a regularly organized and incorporated'eomßany fbr the manu-
facture of these nuts ?-I don't know whether the company was incorporated; I
anderstood it was a company.Q. Would it not be just parties combined together for the purpose of sehing this
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patent ?-Yes. I do not know whether they were properly organized as a Joint
Stock OoI ny or not.

Qnyo enot look Upon Mr. Gordon Brown as the person wlio was selling this
on bebalofthe patentee ?--Yees

Q. And being a man in an influential position wouldlie flt be maore likely to
accomplish a sale to you or your Company than Mr. Oakley,ýwho was a stranger ?-Yes.Q. l ben you would be more likely to purchase from Mr. Gordon Brown, from
the position be hold, this patent, than you would from Oakley a complete stranger te
you ?-Yes.

Q. Who was Oakley? Do you know ?-I nover saw him.
Q Did-a ou expect to influence the course of the Globe newspaper by purchaing

this patent right from Mr. Gordon Brown ?-I did not.
By Air. Palmer;

Q. Had you no.hopes that the Globe might be a little softened by it?-l was
not without hope.

By Air. Guthrie
Q. It seems to me that the two last answers aro opposed to one another ?-It is

excessively difficult. If you asked me to say directly, if I thonght I would influence
the course of the Globe I could not help saying 1 did not. But, if you ask the lat
question, iny only true and honest answer is that I was not without hope that friendly
relations would be established which would be to the benefit of my Company. 1 mean
friendly relations, not a direct influence.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q I have heard it rumoured that alargesum of money was paid bylthe Company

to Mr. Chisholm ?-What Mr. Chisholm?
Q. Mr. Chisholm of Peel, Brampton. I have looked through the Companys

books and cannot find any trace of it, and would like to know whether it is so or not ?
-The only occasion on which payment was made to Mr. Chisholm was 81,000 which
we were invited by parties in Toronto to send to him, with which to make battle
against the Peel by-laW for the bonus for the Hamilton and North Western
Railway.

Q What was that? How does it appear in the books ?-I could not speak from
memory. Mr. Chisholm's name does not appear in connection with that account.
• Q. You say, at all events, it was money fnrnished Mr. Chisholm at the sugges-
tion of some Toronto friends to be used in opposing a by-law ?-Yes.

Q. Who was Mr. Chisholm ? Was he an agent of the Company ?-1 understood
that he was very active in his opposition to the Hamilton and North Western Bail-
way, and it was suggested that ho was the proper person to dispense this money-he
and his friends.

Q. Ras Mr. Chisholm furnished any account of how that money was expended ?
-No, not to me.

Q. Or to the company ?---No.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. What is Mr. Chisholm ?-He is a momber for the Local Hiouse.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. Was not this Peel by-law for the Hamilton and North Weitern Railway
defeated ?-On this occasion it-was carried.

Q. Did you pay the money to Mr. Chisholm direct ?-No.
Q. To whom did yon pay the money?-I believe it will appear that we paid it

to Mr. Thompson.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. The President ?-Yes, our present President.
Bu Mr. Gutkrie:

Q. Was ho Presidont at that time ?-No, it was before he took ofice.
By Mr. Bowell

Q. Was he on the Board ?-No, he was not on the Board I think be was am
Alderman of the City at that time.
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By Mfr. Gu~thrñe:
Q. Dyd Mr. Thompson inform you, or how did you know that Mr. Ohishom got

it ?-I know Mr. Thompsond came to me and we disoussed the matter and ti-fect
of the Peel by-law, and came to the concluson that an appeal whieh I understood to
be made for assistance from Toronto, should be met.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Then Mr. Chisholm had applied for money ?-I understoed that he had told

certain «L his friends in Toronto that with some pecuniary assistance, the by-law
would be defeated.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. This Hamilton and North-Western Railway threatened and threatens still to

be rather a formidable rival to the Northern ?-Yes.
Q. Then this was a contribution to some citizens of Toronto,who were gathering

money to be used on behalf of the City, was it ?-Circumstances were stated to me
just as I have stated them to you.

Q. Mr. Chisholm had no connection with you directly, or your road ?-None.
Q. And it would not be to you that he would report, you having given the Money

to Mr. Thompson?-We either gave the money on a note, I am not sure which.
There was a note on 14th October, 1873 for $765.83 at three moüths and charged
South Simcoe Junction Railway. We were running this Railway against the Hamil-
ton and North Western.

Q. This was a note payable to the order of Mr. Thompson which Mr. Thompson
endorsed ?-Yes. Here is another $1,023 and 78 cents.

Q. That is also to Mr. Thompson ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell:

Q. In 1873 ?-1873. The first note was endorsed-1 don't think it affects it-it
was held by Mr. Thompson but was not discounted.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. I remember some days ago that you told us about certain monies in the

aggregate amounting to thousands of dollars that ha-1 been spentontheSouth Simcoe
Janction Road and in opposing other roads. Would not this thousand dollars be in-
*luded in what you told us on that occasion ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. Do you remember the person who accompanied Mr. Thompson on that occa-

sion when it was represented to you that money was required to give to Mr. Chris-
holm in aid of the defeat of that by-law ?-I do.

Q. Who was it ?-Mr. George Laidlaw.
By Mr. Gutkhrie:

Q. The thousand dollars you spoke of to-day is included in the return for expen-
diture on account of the South Simcoe Junction Iailway ?-Yes.

SATUDAY, April 7, 1877.
Committee met-MR. ARCHIBALD in the chair.
Mr. F. W. CUmBERLAND recalled.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Have you got particulars to enable you to give evidene about the Cou-

chiching Hotel matter ?-Yes. (Exhibit A.B.)
Q. This is the list of shareholders ?-Yes.
Q. Were these original shareholders ?-Yes.
Q. Can you state how much insurance money was divided ?-1 have got a state-

ment here from the Secretary of that Company; the total amount reeeived on insur-
ance was $31,721.63.

Q. What became of that ?-A large amount of outstanding accounts wero paid
amountng to $19,7Q4.13, and the balance of $12,017.50 was divided pro rata upon the
stock, giving the rate of 63j per cent.
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Q. Will you explain how it was that the Railway Company advanced so muchmonefyrthis hotelf?-The construetion of a hotel at that point was regarded by ail
Par"e doùnected with both railways, as a matter of importance, and of trale value
to the lines, and it was upon that ground that both companies have assisted.

Q. Had you any arrangement as to the extent of the assistance to be givon by
the Railway Company to the stockholders of the Hotel Company ?-No.Q. Had you any arrangement by which the Railway Company guaranteed
interest-tpon the stock ?-No; at the original outset of the scheme it was proposed
that the Railway Company should guarantee interest upon the stock.

Q. Which railway ?-The Northern guaranteed interest upon the amoirnt o-
stock, and it was understood at the time the stock for the hotel was subscribed, but
it was found afterwards-we were advised-that a guarantee could not be given.Q. That it would not be legal ?-That it would not be legal.

Q. What did the hotel and grounds cost, do you know ?-I could not say, bùt I
think the total expenditure upon tlie wholo undertaking, including furniture and
everything there, was in the neighbourhood of $70,000 or $75,000.

Q. And of that, there was $19,000 paid up stock ?-Yes.
Q. There was $19,500 subscribed, of which $19,000 was paid up ?-Yes.

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. How many thousand dollars were paid to the creditors of the Company ?-

$19,704.
Q. There was no payment-made to the Northern or Northern Extension ?-The

Extension Company, of course, was defunet; the Northern was a holder of the
mortgage.

Q. You say there was $45,000 indebtedness, practically te the Northern Railway
«ompany. They did not get a dividend ?-No, that amount was not regarded as
an asset of the Company.

Q. In point of fact, somehow or other, that seems to have been wiped off as a
liability of the Couchiching Hotel Company ?-Practically, but if the asset had been'
a good one, it would have reverted to the Extension shareholders.

Q. Do you mean by agreement ?-By the terms of amalgamation. Yes, by
agreement; if they had recovered that asset, it would be the property of the Extension
Railway proprietors.

Q. What is the value of the property the Company hold the mortgage on?
What did it cost, in other words ?-I think the property, as it stands now, with the
buildings upon it, are certaintly worth the mortgage exclusive of the land.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. $10,000 ?-Yes.

By Mr. McCarthy :-
Q. Do you know what the land originally cost ?-I do not? It was purchasod

from Mr. J. Ham Perry, of Whitby; speaking frommemory, I am underthe impression
that the purchase from Mr. Perry was somcwhat about $3,000 or $4,000.

By -Mr. Bowell :-
Q. How much land ?-I think about, 128 acres.
Q. Who purchased this land ?-Mr. J. D. Edgar and myself.
Q. Paid for out of stock that was, subscribed and paid ?-It was afterwards

transferred to the Company at a thousand dollars advance, on. the price paid Mr.
Perry, taken in stock.

Q. Was the thousand dollars of yours paid up in cash ?-Yes.
Q. Was Mr. Edgar's ?-He paid, I think, a thousand dollars in cash, and received

a thousand dollars in stock, on the purchase.
Q. Then $1000 was realized on the sale and Mr. Edgar got it ?-Mr. Edgar got a

thousand dollars paid up stock on the transfer of the land to the Company.
By Mr. Bowell

Q. Do I understand you to say that Mr. Edgar paid a thousand dollars in cash
-Yes.
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By Mr. M<cOarthÈy:-
Q. Was this property pnrchased before the Company was organized ?-Yes.
Q. yt you andi Mr. » sYes.
Q. Joi-ntl ?--Ye,join~y
Q. Hadi e purhase money been pail to Mr. Porry before the Company was

oIganized ?-I think the property was mortgaged, and the money paid to Mr. Perry.
Q. Thon you had mortgaged the property to pay Mr. Perry ?-Yes.
Q. So that you did not pay anything out of your own pockets?--Yes, there was

something.
Q. Some nsmall sum ?-Yes, some money was paid, and- that a considerable propor-

tion of the purchase.
Q. When was this Company organized ?-L could net tell yon.
Q. It was by letters patent ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. The stock is all paid up except $500 of John Beverly Robinson ?-So it ap-

pears.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. Did you get nothing in scrip, or in any other way for that share ?-Nothing.
Q. Had yon any understanding with Mr. Edgar that you were to be interested

in this stock ?-The original arrangement for the transfer of the land to the Company
was that the Company was to take it an advance of $2,000 upon the price paid to Mr.
Perry; that two thousand dollars to be in paid-up stock, but I reliiiquished my
thousand dollars at the time.

Q. That explains it ?-That explains it.
Q. Was there any writing by which you relinquished it, or was it a verbal ins-

truction ?-It was verbally done; I gave up the stock. When it was about to be issued
to me I relinquished it.

Q. Had the hotel been built at the time you relinquished your thousand dollars f
-I cannot say.

Q. Was the deed in youir name or Mr. Edgar's, or in the name of both from Mr.
Perry ?-I could not say, but I think it was in his.

By Mr. McCarthy :
Q. The present position of the stockholders is that they have 63 peir cent ?-Yes.
Q. And have they an equity redemption in the property, that im., they own half

the property subject to the $10,000 mortgage ?-I suppose so. These arrangements
were made while I was in England. I understood the Northern was to take the
property under the mortgage.

Q. But it has not been conveyed to the Northern ?-It bas not been completed.
Q. From what you say tbe property is worth 820,000 ?-I should think, if it

could be made available by the reconstruction of the hotel, it is worth fully that to
us. I may add that the figures I gave you are from retnrns of the Secretary of the
Company and not my own.

Q. , hat was your occupation before yon became manager of the road ?-I was
in private practice as an engineer and also practised architecture.

Q. I would not like to be impertinent, but perhaps it might have some bearing
,on this if I asked what was, your income and your business, (you are not bound to
answer unless you think proper) prior to your taking charge of the'road ?-I could
net speak from memory, but I should think my professional income for four years,
prior to the time I joined the Nortbern-it fluctuated very nuch-I could not say
the average. At any rate, I know that in one year it went as high as $16,000.

Q. It would not average that would it ?-No, I would not average that. That
-was my best year. I should say that it would average somewhere in the neighbor-
hood of 88,000 to $12,000 per annum.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. There is one thing I wished te ask. Yon spoke yeeterday of a thousand

dollars that you understood had been paid to Mr. Chisholm of Brampton ?-Yet.
1 74
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Q ery considerable sums you tell us have been used for similar purposes ?-
Yes. Q. Could you furnish us with a memorandum of the amounta you expended in
bonus-hunting and opposing rival lines ?-I could give you a return of tho
expenditaW, but I thin it would be impossible to give you,-particulars of each
disbursement. In this particular case it is clear, because Mr. Ghisholm was kind
enough to undertake services, which we thought were very much in. our intereste
and in the interests of the Credit Valley.

Q. Yes, but I would like to know who the parties are that got money for similar
purposes, and the amount and dates ?-I do not. think the disbursements in bonus
matters were done in that way, that is to say, the sums of money were not paid to
individuals for secial disburseients in the same manner that it happened to be in
the Peel Case. W were not in Peel; we sent no deputations there, it was off our
ground altogether, and it was because of that that local friends undertook it.

Q. For instance, you expended about $8,000 in the South Simcoe Junction ?-
Yes, but that was not in bonus-hunting, or in bonus money, at least only some of it
was. That included all the expenses of surveys, legal expenses, expense of getting
statute, expenses of deputations and meetings in the county.

Q.f How much of that was expended in bonus-hunting ?-I should think about
$3,000 or 84,000.

Q And included with the amount are the thousand dollars that Mr. Thoimpson
and Mr. Laidlaw got which it ,is said they gave to Mr. Chisholm ?-Yes, that was
sent to Peel through Mr. Thompson and Mr. taidlaw.

Q. Could your book-keeper make out a memorandum from the books such as
suggested, and showing how much was expended in efforts to procure bonuses and to
defeat rival schemes, and showing who got the money ?-I will see if it is possible,
but I doubt it very much.

Q. On the amalgamation of the Northern and Northern Extension Railways, I
find that certain monies were paid you, and to some others certain monies were
divided. I find on May 31, 1875, an entry of this character, " Direction and Mana-
gement to Sandries," for amount voted by the Board of , Directors per minutes of
meeting held lst June, 1875. To F. W. Cumberland, Consulting Manager, 810,000;
to Owen Jones, ChiefEngineer, $1,200; to Jno. Turner, Chairman, "Ex. Committee,"
$1,000; to J. D. Edgar, Parliamentary Counsel, $3,000; to John E. Foreman, Secre-
tary, $400; to Frank Smith, Personal Expenses, $1,000, making a total of $16,650.
These monies were appropriated in accordance with the resolution ?-They were
carried to the credit of the respective parties.

Q. And, I suppose, the effect of it was they got the money ?-I do not think they
have been all paid. It is either at their credit, or-it has been paid.

Q. Then I find further, " Directiod and management Dr. to Suiidries." To lon
Frank Smith, President, $4,000; to Noar Barnhart, Vice-President, $1,250; to Board
of Directors, 88,000, making a total of $13,250. I suppose these have either been
paid, or will be paid ?-They are either to the credit of the parties, or they have been
paid.

Q. What Board of Directors is referred to here ?-The Board of the Extension
Company.

Q. This was immediately before amalgamation ?-Yes.
By Mr. McCarthy

Q. Who were on the Board ?-Hon. Frank Smith, Mr. Noah Barnhart, Vico
President, Mr. Hime, Mr. Wm. Howlaid, and Mr. Turner.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. No more ?-No other.
Q. Pive ?-Five.

By Mr. Guthrie.:
Q: Thore appears to have been a special general meeting of the shareholders ?-

Yes. There was a special general meeting of shareholders, the lst of June, the same-
75
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day as the Directors' méeting. The shareholders are the Èame as ini ehibit A.C.
(Exhibit, AC put in).

By Mr. Bertram
Q. Then those two items in the special ledger, "To Noah BcrnharV' ind " To

John Turner," are the amounts due to them on this account ?-Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie

Q. Will you explain the amonut paid to yourself, $10,000, as consnlting ianager?
-That was to pay me for services ranging over five or six years, for which I had
received no remuneration whatever.

Q. Had you any account of the services or particulars to show how much time
you spent ?-I was consulting manager from the outset.

Q. But had you any thing to show how much ofyour time was occupied ?-I could
not separato the time appropriated to that, and the time appropriated to particular
services as in s lawyer's bill.

Q. You have no account ?-No.
Q. Were you employed by the Board of the Northern Extension as consulting

manager ?-I was.
Q. Had you any particular salary ?-No salary was named.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. It was a payment in the nature of a consultation fee ?-The services were

active, onerous and continuous, and I believe very successful. That grant. would
represent, in the form of a salary, somothing like $1800 per year.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. lad they any other manager but yourself ?-No.
Q. I refer to the period from when the road ame into operation and par.s of

the Railway. They had no other ?-None.
Q. Did you get an increase of salary from the Northern in consequence of the

additional mileage being opened ?-After the properties were fased by amalga.
mation?

Q. I mean before amalgamation ?-No, not before amalgamation.
By .Mr. McCarthy:-

Q. Then you had been acting as consulting manager from the inception of the
undertaking ?-I was consulting manager of the North Grey and the Muskoka, from
the dates of their organization, when they were amalgamated into one as the Northern
Extension, I was consulting manager of that.-

Q. lad you anything to do during the period of construction, as to the construc-
tion of the road ?-I had everything to do with the placing of their securities, and
with th e construction of the road, in fact, I generally conducted the affairs of the
Company.

. Q. Were you paid for these services from time to. time, or is this the only
payment ?-This is the only payment.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. You got nothing on account before this ?-No, nothing.

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. It was on the eve of amalgamation that this $30,000, $10,000 of which to

.ompensate you, and the other $20,000 distributed in the manner mentioned, were
granted ?-That was on the eve of amalgamation.

Q. Mr. Jones got *1,200 as chief engineer ?-Yes.
Q. Had he been paid a salary ?-He had been paid a salary. That was a gratuity

at the close of the work.
Q. Then, Alderman Turner got a $1,000 ?-Ele had been chairman of the Execu

tive and Finance committee, and that was a note to him for these special services.
Q. What were the services ?-Chiefly financial.
Q. Did they occupy much of his time ?-He gave a great deal of attention to it.

It was continuons work.
Q. For what period ?-For four years.
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Q. What 3oard was he on originally, Muskoka or North Gry ?--Mukoka.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Mr. Edgar, *3,050 as Parliamentary Counsel, what was that for ?-That was

for services rendered in that capacity; services rendered through the campigna that
we had sbeen.engaged in, as our counsel.

Q. By campaigns your mean bonus-hunting and opposing rival schemes ?-4Yes.
Q Had you many campaigns ?-Tgey were in existence all the time. We were

never free from them.
Q For many years?-AlI the time the Midland was trying to got te Wauba.

shene, and aIl the time the Hamilton and North Western was trying to get to Barrie.
Q. This covered his expenses as counsel during that period ?-It was considered

that we had no right to the services of a lawyer without payifng for them, if we had
ability to pay them.

Q. Mr. Edgar was in Parliament for a short period. HIad you any legislation
the session Mr. Edgar was at Ottawa ?-I can say generally, that whilst Mr. Edgar
had a seat in Parliament he declined to conduct our Dominion Parliamentary affairs,

Q. Then he did not, while he sat in Parliament, act as Parliamentary Counsel
for either the Extension or Northern Companies?-For none of them.

Q. Mr. Foreman, secretary, $400. Had he acted all along ?-Yes, ho was secre-
tary and accountant and had been paid by the Extension Company, and this was a
gratuity to him on the closing of its accounts.

Q. Mr. Smith. That is Senator Smith I suppose ?-Senator Smith.
Q. Personal expenses, $ 1,000 ?-Mr. Smith went te England on the affairs of the

Muskoka Company on one occasion, and had never been reimbursed his expenditure.
Q. Did he go specially ?-ie went specially it is true, but I believe that ho

transacted his own business, as he told us so at the time. That was the time he was
in England for the purpose, and at the time he negotiated the securities.

Q. There is $4,000 paid to him as President of the road. Will you explain that?
Was it for services ?-He was President of the Muskoka Railway, from its initiation,
and subsequent te the amalgamation with the North Grey. He continued te be
President down to that date, in all upwards of five years, for which ho had roceived
no remuneration whatever, either as director or president.

Q. Mr. Barnhart had $1,250, I suppose as Vice-President ?-Mr. Barnhart was
President of the' North Grey until its amalgamation with the Muskoki, andafter that
ho became Vice-President of the united companies. His position was similar te that
of Mr. Smith; he had had no compensation or recognition at all.

Q. The Board of Directors got $8,000 divided amongst all the directors, includ-
ing the President, Vice-President and Chairman of the Executive Committee ?-
Messrs. Smith & Barnhart declined to accept more than their colleagues, and l.he
rates that were made to them were thrown into one fund and the amount equally
divided7

Q. The whole of this $13,250 was divided amongst the whole Board, including
the President and Vice-President ?-Well, more than the whole Board.

,Q. That is $4,000 voted to the President, and $ 1,250 to the Vice-Presidont, and
88,000 to the Board of Directors, making $13.250. You say Mesrs. Smith &
Rarnhart declined to take more than their colleagues and the whole sum ' was divided
among the members of the Board equally. Is that so?--No, that sum was divided
among those gentlemen and others who formed a syndicate.

Q. This sum was divided between the President, Vice-President, Directors and
some others, the whole forming a syndicate ?-Yes, a syndicate.

Q. Have you the names of the gentlemen forming the syndicate ? In addition to
those five, who else formed it ?-Mr. Edgstr. There were eight shares, of which Mr.
Smith took two; Mir. Hime, one; Mr. Tarner, one; Mr. lowland, one; M. Barnhart,
one and Mr. Edgar, two.

Q. Was anything more paid to the syndirnte than this $13,250 ?-No, not to my
knowiedge.
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Q.Did they also get allowed for t4-1t--The , sac-
tion.

Q. This was all they got to your knowledge in a4d&tion tý stock ?-Tò
By Mr. McCarthy

Q. Yba say there were only six in the syrndicat o y t t at
first when you said eight ?-Eight sharos.

Q. Were there eight indiViduals ?--There were eigt i t ei
Q. Wore thon any othors besides Messrs. Smith, ýtrnor, t'riihart, Ilowland,

and Rime ?-There were two others.
Q. Who wore they ?-ir. Gordon Brown.
Q. And who else ?-Captain Hincks.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Son of Sir Francis ?-Son of Sir Francis.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. Is ho a rosident of Toronto ?-No, Montreal.
Q. They were not stockholders, neither Brown nor Hincks ?-Yes.
Q. It does not appear bore ?-No. The stock was carried by Mr. Smith for

Captain Ilincks.
Q. And who carried the stock for Mr. Gordon Brown ?-Mr. Edgar.
Q. Thon this $13,00 was di.vided into eight parts, as I undorstand ?-Yes.
Q. And was the profit made on the stock dividel in that way too ?-No, the

stock was equally hold.
Q. It was held in trust ?-Yes.
Q. Why did not the names of these gentlemen appear as stockholders of the

Company ?-They took no active pqrt, I do not know of any reason.
Q. Did Mr. Howland take an active part as well as the rest?-He took bis share

of the work.
Q. What did Mr. Gordon Brown do ? Did ho ever assist in the promotion of the

road, or Captain Hincks ?-They took no active part whatever.
Q. Are you sufficiently cognizant with the transactions of the syndicate to state

whether they were admitted to a sharo of the profits of the labor of which they
took no part ?-The syndicate was formed primarily with the particular object of
eliminating a large number of small shareholders and of concentrating the stock in
the City of Toronto so as to control it.

Q. When was this syndicate formed ?-Soon after the amalgamation of the
North Grey and Muskoka Railway Companies.

Q. That is when the Extension came into existence ?-Yes. Having the stock-
holders in the county belonging to the original roads still in it, was found to be a
source of great embarrassment.

Q. Was the charter from the local House ?-Yes.
Q. Do yon know upon what terms the original stockholders were paid up and

the syndicate ?-At par.
Q. Wore they paid interest ?-No, because their stock was transforred; to the

syndicate.
Q. What did the stockholders get for it ?-The original stockholders got their

monoy back. They were paid at par. I am inclined to think there were one or two
instances in which interest was added, but I only know from hoarsay.

Q. With regard to Mr. Edgar, I have heard you say that ho got $3,000 for ser-
vices as Parliamentary counsel in connection with what ?-With these two
roads.

Q. Thon as counsel for these two roads ho had been active in gotting charters.
Had ho been counsel for theCompany when the charters were obtained for the North
Grey and the Muskoka ?-Certainly for the Muskoka, I am not sure, about the
North Grey.

Q. Who was counsel for the North Grey if Mr. Edgar was not ?-I do not reinem-
ber any other connsel. I thidk he-must have been counsel fbr both.

Q. Thon if ho was counsel for the North Grey, he had been connectod with both
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the. N.th Grey and Kíakoka and afte«wada hý e acted aa counsel obtaining tho
jgtemèidocharter 7-Yes.

Can yoitell anything else ho did as Parliamentary e 1unsel ?-What do you

Q Well, he is paid hore 83,000 odd in connection with these two roada. Well,
I understand that a Parliamentary counsel might be required to obtain charters, but
can you tel um any other services he rendred ?-Parliamoutary counsei je a mere
expreSsion lis s8ervicCes were continuous a#counsel.

Q. Were their any other services as Parliamentary, counsel, that you can speak
of ?-He was our Parliamentary counsel, specially in connection, I thirik, with the
Act of 1875.

Q. But ho was paid for that otherwise ?-Yes.
Q. He was Parliamentary counsel for getting amalgarnation ?-I think it was

tie Act of 1t75.
Q. Was not that the Amalgamation Act ?-That must have been it.
Q. Apart from that, do you know of any other services he rendered as Parlia-

inentary counsel ?-I do not think so.
Q. Then what were the other services as standing counsel for the Company ?-I

mean that as legal adviser for the Company lie was always engaged with the char-
ters in conuection with township by-laws and bonuses, and that sort of thing.

Q. That would be the ordinary duty of standing cour.sol or so.icitor ?-Well, I
could not say that it was ordinary, because it was personal services. He always
travelled and went with the deputations.

Q. The date of this Northern Extension Rilway bill is 17th March, 1872. Was
it subsequent to that the syndicate was formed ?--It was subsequent to that.

Q. Mr. Edgar appears to have been paid altogether $5,396.04 in one year. Will
you give us a statement, how much of that was for disbursements ?-I see in 1869
Mr. Edgar figures in the Preliminary Expense book very largely. December 17,
on account of delegation expenses from Orillia to Barrie, $75 ; paid on account of
Orillia office, $150, same day; January 5, 1870, to secured notes, exponses Orillia,
$900; January 5, paid expenses Orillia, $100; January 15, expenses Orillia by
the deputation, $120 ; January 22, paid on account of expenses, $100; February
8, expenses deputation, $70 ; February 25, paid for professional charges, $250 ;
Jane 6, on account of costs, $200; for expenses in Mara, $100 ; on account of Mara
by-law, $400 ; July 6, expenses Orillia, $50. I see legal expenses are put down at
$1,769. Would that be about the amount paid Mr. Edgar for legal expenses ? Was
that before or after the road was chartered, October 3 ?-I think before and after.

Q. Then is not Mr. Edgar paid here for his services in connection with getting
the charter for the Miuskoka Railway ?-I think he was.

Q. He was paid to the amount of that, at ail events ?-I doubt it.- I. thinrk you
will find amounts in that were for disbursements in the Company's service.

Q. There has been no bill rendered by Mr. Edgar for these services ?-I presumo
there must have been an account from time to time.

Q. These were preliminary expenses ?-Yes.
Q. Were there any vouchers for these ?-I cotild not say.
Q. The preliminary expenses in connection with this road, coming to $29,242.63

were all paid out of the Northern Railway Company except #400. (Vouchers of
112 and 407 for 1873 produced).

Q. It appears from the vouchers that Mr. Edgar was under a salary of $1,600 per
year ?-His firm.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Did you say that Mr. Gordon Brown and Captain Hincks got one eighth of

this 813,230 ?-As I understood, whatever was received by any of the parties,
whether President, Vice-President, or Directors, was carried to the credit of the syn-
dicate.

Q. Where is the account of the syndicate ?-I have nothing to do with thOm. I
never got any account of it.
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Qï WLo has ?-It is ýthemseIve i suppose.
Q. Who managed the business of thesyndicate ?-I -tinkit wîtasfnad d ety

by -Mn Turner and Mr. Rime.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. You were not one of the syndicate ?-No.
By Mr. Guthrie

Q. Then have you any knowledge of your own as to who'got the $13,250f-I
understood that it was equally divided in eighths, excepting that there were dedue-
tions from the eighth held by Mr. Brown, on account of interest, whièh belóngod te
him.

Q. On account of interest the syndicate had paid for him I suppose ?-Had paid
for him. I understood that when the outlying debt was purchased.

Q. Was it Captain Hincks or Sir Francis Hincks' ?-It was Captain Hineks
originally, but he went to England and assigned his interest sometime afterwards to
bis father.

Q. And it was Sir Francis lincks who got the share of this ?-It was Sir
Francis Hincks with whom the account was closed. Captain Hineks had gone te
England.

Q. I understand that the syndicate paid par to the original stockholders 2-I
was about to explain my understanding. When the syndicate was formed to tako
up the outlying stock and to concentrate it in Toronto, it was intended that a portion
should be financed on account of the syndicate, and appropriations made to pay of
the stock as I tell you at par. Subsequently the syndicate paid up their proportions
with the exception of, I think, Mr. Brown, and it was therefore that he was
indebted for the interest.

Q. Was the syndicate for any purpose in connection with the proper handling of
the road; or, what was the object in getting in the stock ?-The object was to eon-
centrate the control of these roads in the city of Toronto.

Q. What was the position of the road at the time of the syndicate's formation ?-
It was in course of construction.

Q. It was not running at the timne ?-No.
Q. At the time the syndicate was formed was there any project to amalgamat.

with the Northern ?-No. The amalgamation was only brought about by the inabi-
lity of the Extension's Company to finish that lino, or to carry the burden of a floating
debt. They always intended to hold it as independent property under lease to the
Northern.

Q. You say that it was formed for the purpose ofconcentrating stock in Toronte.
Was it the intention then to extend the lino ?-There was no intention to extend it
further than where the lines have now been counstructed to, excepting the opinion
that the Muskoka line might be possibly extended to Bracebridge.

Q. The city of Toronto gave a bonus to the Northern Extension ?-It gave
4100,000.

Q. Was the syndicate formed before or after the bonus ?-After.
By Mr. McCarthy:-

Q. The bonus was for the Muskoka road ?-Yes.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. Then the North Grey got none ?-Nothing from Toronto.
Q. The bonus had been paid prior to the formation of the syndicate ?-A long

time prior.
Q. You were not a member of the syndicate ?-No.
Q. And you have not the accounts that were kept of the appropriation of this

money ?-I have not.
Q. This money that was voted-the $13,000 for services was really divided in the

way you say, amongst the eight ?-Yes, as I understood.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Can you tell how it was that Captain lHincks, whe, was one of the original
syndicate, and who I understand had done nothing towards the promotion of the road
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Q.I Msuggeeted tthia financial Connections would en"bl thern tonegfotiate
iaoney in order to carry out the scheme ?-I suppose that was oneofthe eno at
it is not an unusual thing that syndicates are formed upon a ba of:friendsiiip.

Q I think youare right there. Some are taken i as pesonal friends, others am-taken in amply from the influence they pomsse, and in some other way, are t.ynot ?-There are varions reasons.
Q. That is the only reason you know Cap tain Hincks was taken in as one of th*zyndicate ?-He was one of the parties unite in the operation.
.Q. I understood you to say that Mr. Gordon Brown had done nothing in con-nection with the promotion of these roads. Could you give any reason whle was udmitted within the circle ?-1 think he was probably admitted oh- the besI spoke of. There was a strong personal friendship between Mr. Edgar and himself.Q. And from influences ho might bring to bear, or simply frotn a personal standpoint ?-From a personal standpoint I should think.
Q. I suppose Mr. Brown had lent his aid to the promotion of these bonuses in the..ordinary way ?-I think not.
Q. You think he did not personally ?-I think not.Q. Did the Globe oppose these bonuses ?-The Globe opposed the bonus to the

_Muskoka Road.
Q. When was that ?-At the very outset.
Q. After that -ho was taken in as one of the syndicate ?-Yes.Q. Did he offer any opposition to that enterprise after that; or don't yon know?

-Yes, we have always felt that the Globe had criticised us harshly.Q. Do I understand from that, that the Globe continued to oppose that enterpriseafter the syndicate was formed ?-I do not believe there has been active opposition,but there has been unfriendly criticism, I am sorry to say, always.
Q. Do I understand that to be before the bonus was obtained and the amalga-

-nation come to ?-I think the unfavorable and unfriendly criticism of the Globe ha
Ieen continuous and unbroken.

Q. You do not know whether they opposed the amalgamation? do you, or do
you not ?-I do not know. My impression is that they did not favor it.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Did Mr. Brown interfere personally in any legislation that the Companies

wanted ?-Not to my knowledge.
Q. Of course this syndicate was a financial operation, you say ?-Yes.Q. Involving some degree of risk, undoubtedly ?-A most serious risk. It might

lave been a profit, and it might have been very much of a loss to be a member of it.
-At one time the liabilities upon the syndicate were I think over $250,000.

By Mr. Bowell -
Q. What liabilities were these ?-The liabilities of the Company of which this

sbyndicate held the controlling power.
Q. But they were not personally responsible ?-They were personally respon-

-'ible for the unpaid up calls.
By Mr. Guthrie :

Q. Did not Mr. Smith and some leading members of that syndicate, in the namo
'Of the whole, take the liability for a large amount of money?-Yes.

Q. In addition to their stock ?-In addition to their stock.
By Mr. Bertra.:

Q. The syndicate was the Company ?-Practically.
By ,Mr. Palmer :

Q. That is to say, they held all the stock of the Company ?-They held by far
the largest proportion:'

SIf understand you aright, this syndicate was formed, and the stock wasUnder their controlalmost immedtely before the application for amalgamation ?-No,
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at the time the syndicate was formed there was not the Élightest intention of

Q..Hlow long did that precede the amalgamation ?-A very considerable tirme.
At the tire you applied for amalgamation the syndicate held the great buk-

of the stock ?-They held the great bulk of the stock.
Q. I think you-said, in reply to Mr. Bowell, that the Globe opposed the amalga-

mation and continued to oppose it. Is that so ?-I amnot elear upon that particular
point, but I think I should remember any case in which-

Q. Did i understand that you said the Globe was continuously hostile ?-That is
what Isaid.

Q. Do you adhere to that ?-I adhere to that.
Q. Now if the Glòbe had been so hostile in wishing to defer your amalgamation,

would not the most effectual way of doing that be by exposing the syndicate ?-There
was nothing in the syndicate to conceal or to be exposed.

Q. Do you mean to tell me that the syndicate was generally known to the-
publie ?-I do not know that it was generally known to the public.

Q. Are you not under the impression, that if that was exposed by some porsons
who wished to oppose the legislation ?-The formation of that syndicate was, in my
opinion, a most wise course.

Q. I do not deny that, but what I want to get at is this :-supposing a person
wanted to defeat your legislation, in your judgment, do you know of a more effective
inanner to do that than by making public?- I think you are mistaken in supposing
that the making public of that syndicate would have injured us. I am not at all sure,
but that it would have given strength to the concern.

Q. You mean that the fact that these gentlemen held stock would have gone a
long way towards assisting legislation ?-If it had been made public, it would have
been found to be composed of very strong men, and the credit of the Company would
have been advanced.

Q. No doubt of that, but what I do doubt is that you could have got the legis-
lation from Parliament if the real state of the case had been stated ?-The stock list
was at Ottawa, and was examined, if I remember rightly, before the bill was passed.
The stock list is practically the syndicate itself.

Q. That is the members ofthe syndicate,but the syndicate itselfis the agreement on
which you took the stock. IfI understand it right, every one of these stockholders was
ýan independent man, but by the syndicate the whole thing was a joint speculation. We
call it a ring in our country. I have an idea that there is a prejudice in the country
against rings. I ask, if in your judgment, if the information had been made publie that
this ring existed, would that fact not have affected the legislation considerably ?-
I do not think so; I know it ought not to have done so.

By Mr. McCarthy:
Q. Do you say this syndicate had any liability beyond their liability. Any one

of them ?-They had some in the course of purchasing the outlying stock.
Q. What do you call the outlying stock ?-The stock that was in numerous

bands, and small amounts.
Q. That of course became theirs, and had they any liability except as stockhol-

ders in connection iyith the road, had any member of the syndicate ?-I do not think
so, except in connection with the purchase of the stock.

Q. From the figures given us, the amount paid will be $13,200, to acquire the
stock. Now, was there any liability assumed by the syndicate. Yon spoke of Mr.
Smith being personally responsible ?-Mr. Smith may have been personally respon-
eible in a ternporary way, but I do not remember any other liability.

Q. If so, it was solely as Mr. Smith, he was responsible a representing the-
esMItate. Did they authorize him to become responsible in that way ?-I do not

ink so.n
Q<.'he transaction was simply this: they paid to the stock at $13,200, on which,

thiy realized something Jike $7,000 altogether ?-Yes.
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Q. In other words, each member of the ayndicate got abo4t between $2,500 and.
82ß00 ?-0ea.

Q. TIea what do you mean by the original liabilities they assumed ?-1 mean
£he opel liabilities of the Company.

By Mr. Palmer
Q. Did they make themselves personally liable ?-If it had not been for theo*

liabilities, I do not think the Northern would have possessed the road.
Q., Did they assume any personal liability for the liabilities of the road ?-ÂA

etoekholderÉ, holding stock not paid up.
Q. DLid they assume any personal liability for the liabilities of the Company ?-

I do not think so.
Q. Do you know what the amount of that liability was ?-465,000.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. What was the amount of the assets against that ?-The assets were the roAd

as far as constructed to that time.
Q. What was the value of the road as far as contructed ?-I could not say.
Q. Could you approximate ?-I should say the road at that time was about one

half constructed.
Q. What would be the approximate value ?-About $24,000 per mile.
Q. ilow many miles ?-24 miles; half of the whole length.
Q. Then they had property worth $376,000 with a liability of $50,000 ?-No,

they had property worth nothing unless it could be finished.
Q. They formed the syndicate for the purpose of utilizing the money that had

been expended, $376,000, by which they became responsible for only $50,000 ?-
Absolutely valueless.

Q. But, still it was worth that to them, or to any Company intending to eomplete
the road ?-It is a warning to everybody never to go into Railway construction again.

Q. They sold it out ?-At vastly les than it was worth and cost.
Q. But they got more than they paid. Practically it comes to this: they got

$21,000, and $13,500 for their connection with the road ?-That is it, and, five years
services.

Q. As to Mr. Edgar, he was paid other ways for his services, $21,000 they got
and the $13,000; then you say they also have in your judgment, their interest in the
late Couchiching Hlotel ?-No, they never regarded that as au asset.

Q. It either belongs to them or the Northern. You Èaid the Northern did not

regard it as an asset ?-Yes, that is a mere matter of book-keeping. If that had been
written off as it ought to have been, it would have been ail correct.

By Mr. Bowel:-
Q. By what process would you extinguish the debt ?-The Company migbt do

it if they chose. I do not know of any other way than by writing it off.
Q. You mean the Northern Extension would meet together and sign the reloeas ?

-I mean they contributed that amount of money in aid of the work, just as if it was
a work of their own.

Q. And why should they discharge the debt to the Hotel Company ?-The
Extension Company promoted the construction of the Rotel in their own interest,
and more than that, they expected to get full value out of thoir inveatment in the
working of the road.

Q. Then why should they discharge it ?-Railway Companies build hotols. The -
Grand Trunk has built hotels in various places; almost every railway in England
builda hotels.

Q. I merely want to know why it is to be written off ?-What I said the other

day is I think alsolutely true, that if the addition made the Hotel company had been
considered a live asset under the contribution, than the Extension Company woud
have been just that amount better off before amalgamation.

Q. Thon by that operation, they would get more than the Act of Parhiament ?-
On the contrary, the Act of Parliament permitted $20 000. a miles as a iaut of the-
purchase, but that includes-
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Q. I am not speakig of fe' i ieátW -kM fParEsini gswrises
temerlgaat. and to receive [2k 'r cent for paid up stoël au4dn$prest'upon
fL If iraddition to that you took e mooey afsihectors i thUcRotR ,ompany
extinguishing their debt to the Northern Extehsion, woldyoe be7ioeivbig what th.
4ct of Parliament authorizedyou to receive ?-If the money ini 'ther hotel ada t
been included as part ofthe coet of the rad,i the uédoubtedly the: d riesaço betwee
4*0ß00 îaad the. cost of the road would have been just so much more, and the
Shareholders would have got it.

Q. I think you said in the course of the examination that you and Mr. dgar
bought this land. Did you hold it ?-Mr. Edgar purehased during -my absence in
England, and on- my return offered me a share in it.

Q. He transferred the share to you ?-No, we had been looking for some land
in that vicinity. He exercised his judgment in purchasing that piece of land and I
joined him as I expected to do on may return from England.

Q. Yes, and he got $1,000 out of it in lotel steek ?-And a very little too, I
think. If anybody else had been transferring the land, they would probably have
looked for four times as much.

Q. I see in the election of a member of Parliament for Monk, Mr. Edgar qualified
upon some such name as Couchiching. Io this the same land he qualified on ? or do
you know ?-I do not know whether he has any other land at Couchiching. I do
not know anything about his qualification. I do not think he has any other land
there.

By Mr. McCarthyl:
Q. I understand you to say, that when Mr. Gordon Brown get his proportion of

this profit there was a deduction made for interest ?-Yes.
Q. Then had not Mr. Brown paid anything originally ?-The original understand-

ing was, I think, that the funds were to be financed and that no one was to contribute,
but on joint credit the necessary moneys were to be raised. The moneys were so
raised and afterwards, later on, the moneys so raised were paid off. Mr. Brown not
baving contributed his proportion at that time was charged interest.

Q. Then, in fact, Mr. Brown never paid a dollar towards this purchase ?-A
portion was paid upon credit up to a certain stage.

Q. Then, at that time the other members paid their proportion, and Mr. Brown
did not pay ?-I believe that is correct.

Q. Then he got this $2,500 or $2,600 without having paid a dollar, and purely
as you understand it on account of Mr. Edgar's personal friendship ?-You are just as
capable of judging of that as I am.

Q. But you said so ?-I said that syndicates are formed upon that basis often.
Q. Oh, I thought you said so with regard to Mr. Brown ?-I presume it was.
Q. Do you know of any other reason why Mr. Brown should become a member

of the syndicate ? Is there no influence he was to exercise ?-He was a personal
friend of Mr. Rime and Mr. Turner,'and I might venture to say of myself.

Q. Then that is the position of it, and you do not know any other reason why
Mr. Brown was taken in except for personal friendship ?-For friendship, and because
he is a man of property, reputation and influence.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Although he had not paid anything, he had become liable for a great deal ?-

The liabilities were very heavy.
Q. And become liable for his share ?-Yes.
Q. You say the original agreement on which th*e syndicate was formed was that

the money necessary was to be financed for and not contributed. Was it expected
when the arrangement was made, they would be called upon to contribute peronally ?
-1t was understood originally that they would not.

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Brown had areason for not contributing his share?
IHad he any objection to a separation of the interests that was involved ?-Ji do not
know from my own knowledge. I heard it was so, but I bad no conversation with him
en that point.
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Q Do you know the actual amoant Mr. Brown received i eah ?-I do not.
Maehle * -& nanaaia jee nmed it was $800)
Dy Mr. McCarthy:-d

You aMy Mr. Brown became respônsibie. How did he become rej»Ssible?
in *bat way ? Does his nam ever ap uin that financial operation ?-The whole
number were responsible; eh in his e'.

Q. For his share in th* *13,200 ?-For his share, whatever was to the good
or bad.

Q. You say he was responsible. Was it a more matter of honor ?-I think-.th
agreement was reduced to writing.

By Mlr. 2oweIl:
Q. I understand you te say, it was arranged between the eight gentlemen who

formed the syndicate with the understanding that Captain in-cks and Mr. Brown
ahonld n<t appear ?-.On the contrary, I believe that all the parties signed the paper.

Q. But they did net appear ostensibly ?-Because they had not originally been
shareholders, and the transfers were taken te the original shareholders.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Was there any agreement that their names should not be madeknown ?-No.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. You say Mr. Edgar made a trip to England ?-He did.
Q. What services did ho perform there ?-He went to England in consequence of

the failure of contract, by parties who had purchased the Carnpany's debontures, the
object being to enforce the contract and recover the monoy.

Q. For that ho was paid $990. Do you remember that ?-Yes.
Q. That was on behalf of the Extension Company ?-Ye.
Q. I see he was paid at a rate of $4U0 per quarter, $1,600 per annum. Of course,

this was over and above his expenses when you and ho wore there togetbor ?-Yes.
Q. Then I see Mr. Edgar has rendored an account to the Company in which ho

charges for Parliamentary services, $ 56.79. Then there is another, $1,204.49, of
which Mr. Boulton was paid $750, bringing Mr. Edgar's share to $450. That, yeu say,
include the fee for drafting the charter for the North Grey, $200. Feo for passing
bill through Railway Committee, drafting and amending clauses, 850. That was i
1870-1, during the session. Then Mr. Edgar was counsel for the Company in gettiag
the amalgamation scheme through, whieli already appears in the report of the
Northern Railway Commission, for which he was paid $2,500 ?-Yes.

Q. I see kere an item, " Paid F. W. Cumberland draft, 26th February," apparently
paid to Mr. Edgar $300, Northern Railway Company. Do you know that was

charged to Parliamentary expenses on the 25th February, 1875 ? Was that in your
favor, or Mr. Edgar's favor ?-My impression is that that was a draft made te our
account, on account of local expenses here, either to Mr. Edgar or myself. I remeiber
the circumstance very well, just as Mr. Boulton drew on one occasion for expenses, so
Mr. Edgar and myself did on that occasion.

Q. There is another like item, lst April, " Amalgamation expenses to Mr. J. D.

Edgar, draft lst April, $150 ? "-These are not fees at al1. They are personal expenses.

Q. It was Mr. Cockburn who drew on you for the amount of Parhiamentary fees.
You remember that $247 ?-Yes.

Q. Mr. Cockburn had charge of that bil ?-Yes, ho paid these diebursements.

By Mr. Bertram :
Q. There is one question I wanted te ask in connection with the hotel matter.

The amount of money advanced by the Northern Extension as shown in the books
was looked upon by the Extension Company and by the Northern as praetically a
contribution te the hotel ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie :- arQ. A considerable amount of the mnies that appear to b charged to Mr. r
Vere disbursements made by him for the purchase of real estate an r o er

Utays ?-Yes.



. That seems to be largely the case·fu regard to ihe pmmiiwiiary *esxkpses
Now, in these preliminary e2penses I Knd Mr. J. . fke teget soeifees ?-Yes.

Q. That is the late member for Lincoln ?-Yes.
Q. He got $100 ; "3rd October, 1869, paid him for 'fee on revision of bill "?-

Q. There is also another here; "l November 7, 1870, paid 3. C. Rykert, St.
Catberine, professional services, $100 ?-Yes, that is of the same kind.

Q. Then I see*Mr. Belford was paid, November 2, 1869, $200, whaàt was that
for ?-For serf ces; reporting.

By Mr. Bertram :--
q. That is the same $200 we had the vouchers for?-No, I do not think so. Mr.

elford went with us and reported our meetings.
By M1r. Gtuthrie :

Q. There is another payment to him of 8200,8th December, 1869 ?-At-this time
Lis services were very continuous and important. HIe used to report at our mootings.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. I suppose he went with you ont into the country ?-Continually.

' By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. In the Preliminary expense book, December 31, 1867; " By Parliamentary

expenses,. paid J. B. R., F. S. or S. S. and Mr. C." what is this ?- thiak that is
meant for Mr. Frank Smith.

Q. The hon. Frank Smith ?-The two presiderts and myself.
Q. Then the honorable John Beverly Robinson, the honorable Frank Smith and

yourself got $2,000 ?-Yes, for disbursements in the same way.
Q. In connection with bonuses ?-Yes.
Q. Have you any details ?-I think not.
Q. Was this during the session of Parliament ?-No, I think not. It certainly

was not in connection with Parliament.
Q. There was $1,000 charged, January 15, 1870; the cheue was drawn 28th

Deeember, but not recorded. It doos not say who got it, nor the purpose for which
it was used ?-It is classified.

Q. Prom the classification can you tell me the purpose ?-I think I can, (after
referring to the books) It is bonus expenses, legislation, suits and arbitration.

Q. ffow much of it was for Parliameâtary expenses ?-500 for bonuses; $250,
suits and arbitration; $250, Parliamentary expenses.

Q. This $2000 charged as paid to Mr. Robinson, Mr. Smith and yourself is classi-
fied, how?-Between bonuses, expenses, and legislation.

Q Parliamentary expenses ?-Parliamentary expenses.
Q. This $1,000 Was ail of that actually expended in legislation ?-I don't think

so. I think, perhaps more properly it would belong to bonuses.
Q. These two payments to Mr. Rykert; for what services were they ?-To draft

the bill.
Q. What was your cheque for $100 for ?-For legal opinions on our bills.
Q. Then before the Local louse ?-No, after they had been passed.
Q. Rad ho ever been employed as counsel for your Railway beforo ?-Yes.
Q. He did ?-I think so.
Q. For what business ?-I cannot remember the time, but I think earlier.
Q. Was there any bill in 1870 ? You got that bill in 1869; was there any aiend-

ment to it ?-I do not think so.
Q. What were the professional services.?-T'.iey were opinions upon on: bills.
Q. Upon bid. you got pasod at our Local fHouse ?-Upon Acts of Earliament.

Questions had auisac;.
Q. Had you applied to him for opinions before ?-I think I had.
Q. What kind. of business had he done before ?-iRailway business.
Q. 'Was it connected with Parliamentary business ?-I do not think so.
Q. What Railway business had he done for yout-I could not speak from mé.

mory, but I have taken his advice severa ttimes.
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Pid jowpay him a larg amount .in fee ?-No.
Q.4 think that November, 1870, would be while tia Pariaent was sLtiig.

rukld not it?-No. I think on that occasion the service was performed before the
session. I think it was earlier.

Q. Were the services on acount of the bill before Parliament ?-No, tha t is for
-the revision of the bill before Parliament.

Q. The bill about to be introduced ?-I believe so.
Q, He was a member of our Local House at that time ?-Yes.
Q. Can you. tell by the choque how that 8100 was paid on the 28th Doember ?-,

-1 should say not, from the entry.
Q..I se. $1,000 to the hon. Frank Smith, 25th Feb., 1870, paid him for auynd

-amounts disbursed. Have you the particulars of that ?-That was for bonus expmom.
Q. Paid to him for bonus expenses ?-Yes.
Q. Then, on March 4, " Hon. Frank Smith, paid him for disbursme4nt,

$1,000 ? "-That is the same.
Q. Another thousand ?-Yes.
Q. What is this $573-90 ? Is it also bonus expenses ?-Yes.
Q. Mr. Barnhart again, 8100. That would ho for the same sort-of services ?-Ys.
Q. Mr. Barnhart again, $100, 25th April, 1870 ?-Yes.
Q. Mr. Smith again, $641-50, June 6. What would that be for? - Bonuh

-expenses.

Q. Were they paid from the Northern Railway ?-Yes, it was all repaid by t.ie
Extension when the Companies were amalgamated.

Q. What is th:s, 6th June, 1870, " S. B. Harman, paid expenses of missio
$41,000 " ?-This is the mission to England, I apprehend.

Q. Did ho go to England expressly for this Company ?-Yes.
Q. J. J. Vance, paid him $200. Who was ho ?-He is Private Bill clerk in

the Ontario Legislature.
Q. He was at that time ?-Yes.
Q. What was that for, because he got $60 before this ?-I think it was for priat.

ing and things of that sort. He undertook these services for us.
Q. For services or for disbursements, which ?-Fes, services and disbursements.

By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Would the $60 paid the clork of the Private Bills committee be the expenses

-of printing the bill ? $60 is the fee for a private bill ?-$60 for the bill and 200 for
*other services.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Here is another draft: October 25, 1870, draft drawn by J. 3. Vance, $23.

Was that on his way to France ?-I could not say whether it was on hie way Io
*France.

Q. Why did ho draw it ?-I rather think it was because I was not present to pay
it, while he was there.

Q. What was this for? Was if additional services ?-I think services in connSO-
--ton witl our dis4ursomcnts connocted witti Our bill.

n Would twait bu te cover the oxp-nses 0e ti bil ?-I think this was closig
his account.

Q. Was this for services as clork of the Privato Bills Committee ? or was it fer

*.omething else ?-I think Mr. Vance was one of the promoters and assistnts in uw
tonus matters.

Q. Outside of the City, or in the city ?-Oatside of the City I think. I know ho

attended country meetings with us.
Q. What is this: "N'ovember 24, 1870, draft drawn by C. W. Noberleyt$800
-htwus bonue ozpmnse.

D voo k-iow anything abrxtý this bill, «I(Lvell) $5,000 for land athGrav'a

urst '?-nar is fo- the pui'hase of thp depot land in Gravenhurst

Q. Wa that taount paid to thi.. man ?-Yes.



Q.Wat is thatA A Âgust 310 18%4c T&sr isahe. JohadBer&bs
400; what is that ?-These are bonus e nses.

Q. bo got the- bonus expenses paid -They teutsamt at gh
ending members of the different companies.

Q.Was there any aecount of that ?-1 presume there was at the titne.
Q. Where is it ?-I do not know. Whatmean to say isthat thes ae Omtn

were all considered at the time.
Q. Was this paid to him in advace, orîa fer he had been out,?--I could not say-

frem memory.
Q. Was there anything that would indicate that. The amount is a round smm

goa say ?-We went very often when the banks were elosed, and had t get the-
~money

By the Chairman
Q. s not this a transfer of the account offered in account of bonus expenses ?-

I sauppose it is 8o; I could fnot say.
By Mr. Guthrie :

Q. The other day, in speaking as to yourprivate means for paying subscriptionÉ ofr
a thousand dollars to election purposes, I think you used the phrase, that you were-
considered in such matters as representing the Railway ?-I did.

Q. And that no one would suppose that you were sufficiently wealthy to give-
amounts of that kind out of your private purse ?-I did.

Q. I may ask you this: Although your income appears to have been considerable,.
was itnot generally known that your expenditure was also considerable, liberal .

that you lived in what is called good style, and so un ? What do you mean by not
being considered wealthy ?-Railway men, as a class, are always open-handed and
liberal.

Q. You said in explaining how you were regarded in this subscription, that you
-were not sufficiently wealthy to give that out of your private purse. Your inceom
was large, and my reason for putting the question was to ask you to explain what you.
anean by not being sufficiently wealthy ?-I can say, as a matter of fact, that I should
never have made these subtcriptions personally under any circumstances. As a
inatter of fact, I should never have made them as personal subscriptions.

Q. What knowlodge had others dealing with you of that ?-I cannot pretend to-
dictate the thoughts of others.

Q. You say, you were not regarded as wealthy by others ?-I say if these had
been regarded as personal subscriptions, they must have thought me richer than I
was. i do not know of many men, who subscribed with the liberality that was
attributed to me.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q Had these gentlemen any means of knowing what your private means were ?

-I cannot say.
Q. What they may have thought? men may have thought different-you

cannot tell ?-I am not answerable, for other people's thoughts.

THURsDAY, l2th April, 1877.,
The Committee met.-Ma. ARDHiMBLD in the chair
Mr. F. W. CUMBERL&ND, re-called.

By Mr. Pabner
Q. Do you remember the proposal for settlement to extinguish the government

lien, that the Govemmerit brought before Parliament in 1873 ? Whatwas the amount
that was to be paidIby the Oompanyto extingish the government lien?-I am under

4he. imprøssion that it was 64o0 pounds sterling.
Q. To extinguish hei whole lien ?-Yes.
Q. Tle bonds that Canada beld were wbat was ealled the first prefereno&bndsr

88



.go';bà PecifeIns bonds; at'iat thue they afeo Iheld the third preference
bonds.

4 'The the. seonud and third preference would be whah?-Class Bof the third

Q. Are -he bonds now held of the class B?-Yes; they hame two holdings,
50,o00 in ieeoads and £50,000 in third preference, clàss B.

Q. None of these bonde are in the market ?-The seconds are quoted.
Q, What is the market value of them ?-They have been quo1tedeeently frouu

87 to 88; but it must be remembered that you are asking me in refereneé to th heM-
lnge of the Government. 1ach holding is in one bond of £50,000, and of coûrse a
market · hat is simply impossible, and if it were possible the 1oatingof-so Iarguo
proportion of the bonds at any one time would have a most depressing înfluence.

Q. And class B, of course was after class A, it would be of course of different
valie to olss A ?-'There has never been a quotation; there is no market, there ls no-
quotation.

Q. I see by the Act that the payment out of the earnings of the road, the firt
thing to be paid was the working expensesof the railway?-Yes.

Q. The second thing was the interest on the second preference bondsof the 4m-'
pany ?-The first preference bonds.

Q. What was the amount of these first preference bonds?-250,00) pounde.
sterling.

Q. Well, from 1868, at the time of the passing of the Act, an Act passed in 1868-
entitled "An Act respecting the Northern Railwayof Canada," from thattime down to
the time of this settlement with the Government, did the Company earn enoughm
money to p-ty the interest on the first preforence bonds and to pay the whòle e--
penses incltuding all the expenses for the maintenance of the railway, the maintenance
of stations and station sidings, fences etc., and plant used ir. ranning the road ?-Yes.

Q. It earned enough to do that ?-Yes.
Q. Did you pay any interest to the Government on the second preference bonds,

because that would be the second thing ?-We have paid the fall interest te this dater
to the Government on the second preference bonds.

Q. I am not speaking of the bonds the Government now holds, but the interest,
on the debt that was extinguished by the compromise?-It stood next after the third
preference bonds.

Q. Let me ask you whether the gross earnings of the road were auificient to pay
the working expenses, including the maintenance of buildings and equipment of the-
road that I have spoken of before, and interest on the first preference and interest on
the second preference and the third preference bonds, all which yon say preocded
the G(overnment lien, was it sufficient to pay all that ?-Yes.

Q. Thon in that time you did not pay anything to the Government lien ?-We
paid nothing on the lien.

Q. Then you did not ineur any floating debt during that time ?-We have-
alwavs had a floating debt, or alnost always.

Q. Would it be sufficient to pay what you have mentioned and the floating debt ?
-I think not.

Q. Then, if I understand you right, during ail this time there existed a floatingar
debt; that is, you say you were not able to pay what the Act defines, the necessary
Te-equipment of the road and pay off your floating debt. What is the amount of the-
floating debt ? I just want an approximation to it; we will just Say in 187172 and
'3 ?-The floating debt has fluctuated.

Q. Between what sums ?-Between, I should say, 20,000 and 50,000 pound,
sterling.

eQ.W l, then, we will suppose, Mr. Oumberland, that thesepatielar sums, We-
eill say the subseription toSir John A. Madonald's testimonial and to Mr. Eineks

and other sums of ttat nature, suppose none of these were pald at , would there b

any money left after paying the lloating debt and the different tiabitities that pree
athGovernment oan to pay towardsthe interest on the GovernmentI ien? ow t

9



appose that none of these sumo had been taken t-Asmigha , e o Aiese
iums had been paid the result would simply have been to reduce the volume af the

toating debt
Q. Then, if I understand you aright, none of this money could properly beappme-

priated to the payment of the Government lien ?-We should have had so much more
money in hand; it would have had the effect of redneing onr liabilities.

Q. Thien the result is, Mr. Cumberland, that noue of this money oould lave been
properly applied to the payment of the Government lien ?-No.

Q.In uther word8, theGovernment had no laim upon that money ?-No.
Q. Now I see by the Act that the very object of the Act was to enable yon to put

additional rolling stock upon the railway, and you are allowed by:the Aet to pay for
this out of the groas earnings of the road. Now, did you put more rolling stock on
the roSd than was remaonably necessary to conform to the intentions of the Act? I
will read the preamble to you so that you may understand it (reads the preamble;)
'Then it provides for the raising of the money and ten it reads that the money shall
be distributed as follows: to the payment of the working expenses of the railway,
that is working expenses and improvements, and so it is perfectly clear what is your
duty under the Act. What I want to get at is, whether you paid any more and ex-
tended your works any more than was reasonably necessary ?-Until the recent
depression of our trade during the last two years we never had sufficient facilities for
the traffic that was offered.

Q. In other words, you had not sufficient appliances and rollingstock to carry
your traffic ?-No.

Q. Would you have money, after paying the interest ou the lien aDd a reasonable
amount on expenditures on your railway, as permitted by the Act ?-Up to the period
of which I spoke we never had sufficient facilities for our traffic, and we could never
have paid the Government anything while there was a floating deb'.

Q. It has been insinuated that you deliberately spent, instead of allowing the
money to go to the Government, that you deliberately speut the money in unneces-
eary rolling stock or working expenses ?-That is absolutely an error.

Mr. Bertram to Mr. Cumberland:-When did you take the management of the
Northern Railway ?-In 1859.

Q. When you took the management of the road had your revenue equalled your
expenditure ?-Until the year 1859 the gross receipts had been insufficient to meet
the working expenses, and in 1859 it opened with an accumulated floating debt of

-64,448 sterling.
Q. Well, when did you first begin to make the payments ? In what year did you

first make a payment of interest to your bondholders ?-In 1860.-
Q. That is the second year that you had an amount of revenue over and above

the expenditure of the road ?-Yes.
Q. I notice by the Act of 1860 that you applied to Parliament for power to bor-

xow £250,000 sterling under certain conditions ?-That was 1860; the enactment of
1860 was eimply giving legislative effect to an order in Council of August 1859.

Q., Was that order in Council authorized by any Act of Parliament ?-It was
-authorized by an Act of the previous session giving power to the Goveraor General
in Council to dea with the property.

Q. I notice that there was 10,000 pounds sterling of bonds which was te be
_repaid to the Government under that Act ?-That was s temporary alvance to enable
the Company to lay sauiient new rails in the traok which had become unsafe and
wanted repairs. That was paid back to the Government when the Order in Coanil
went into operation. Prior to that the road had been declared unsafe for public use
-by the Government Railway Inspector, who required that a certain amount of new
rails ashould be laidiato the track before he could permit it tc ba ran; the Govern-
ment thon made the advanoes to which yon refer to enable the Company to de that

4e one, upon the. undetanding that upon the p1agn ofthe OGrdé in Canil anî the,
.riaieg of new moneys and new capital thereuaider, &kat this sam shoali be paid te
*he Govenurent.



Ad it waa .repaid a cash ?-Yes.
Q ,-kad you also paid to the Goernment 60,000 pounds:of second proference

Stock in payment of interest on the Government lien ?- e condition upon> which the
order in Ooancil of 1859 was passed was, that in consideration of the Government
permittiig 250,00 pounds of new capital ta be raised, that they, the(1GovornMost
should receive a bond for 50,000 pounds to take rank with the then existing 2Sa
preference.bonds, that is in consideration of the passing of the Aet to enable the Com-
pany to place increased new capital infront of the lien.

Q. Was that considered in payment of interest on the lien ?-1 should want to
refer to the Order in Council to see the'language. It was in reduction, it may bu
stated generally, that it was in reduction of the debt due by the Company te the
Government in regard to the lien.

Q. I wanted to know whether it was in payment of interest or thepayment et
the lien ?-It had been, so treated as a payment of interest. We have entered it in
.our capital account as "issue of preferences on account of interest arrears, 50,000
pounds."

Q. There was 50,000 pounds more of these bonds that you got power to isue,
either to be sold to pay the creditors or delivered to the creditors for their benefit ?-
'That was in regard to the floating debt to which I just now referred, and the
Government in giving us power to raise new capital made that provision for the
:security of the creditors, and it was so applied and the debt was paid off.

Q. Ali the floating debt ?-Yes.
Q. So that you started as it were with a clean sheet in 1860 so far as the floating

debt was concerned ? -As far as the floating dobt was concerned "yes," but
inasnuch as the execative lias never had any working capital, we no sooner got rid of
one floating debt than we lad to face anothe. carrent floating debt, because it i4 as
impossible to manage a railway without working capital or accommodation as it
would be to work any other commercial concern.

Q. Have you explained the 140,000 pounds: that accounts for the £ 100,000 and
.£10,000; how would the other £30,000 bc expended ?-It was expended in the
re-construction and improvement of the railway, in adding to and repairing its rolil-

ing stock and bringing the property up out of the delapidation in which it wa into
a condition of efficiency.

Q. In consequence of your action I suppose you were enabled soon afterwards tD

pay full interest on the first and second preterence bonds to the English bondholders?
-The theory and policy of our legislati ,n in 1859 and '60 was that if w. could
get rid of the floating debt, and if we could restore our works to actual effieiency and.
to a high standard, we should then instantly reduce our wirking expenses to a proper
standard and should make a margin of profit.

Q. In what year did you first pay full in terest on the first and second preference
bonds to thle English bondtiolders ?-We have paid full interest upon the first

preference bonds from the date of thoir issue and with oxaet punctuality, also the
second preference bonds from the tirst, but they only gradualy came into full

dividend rank.
Q. I notice by the returns that you spent a very large amount of money from

1863,-that you spent a large amount of money on new works and rolling stock Out
of revenue. Can you tell the Committee how mach you did spend fron say 1863 tg
1873 ?-I have got it to 1875, if it will b. eqnally convenient to you; from 1863 tu
1875, both inclusive, we expended on extension of new works, buildings and the lik4

and the outlays of which full particulars will be found in the report of eaeh year, we
exiended 142,576 pounds steling, and during the sane period we gpent apOU
additionai rolling stock, in engines, cars, and equipment of that classe 9,373 poald&

Q. Ont of revenue?-Out of gross earnings, out of revenue, 221,N pOUB

altogetuier. 1aotti;mtewyi Bt&' O M
SQ. I would like to ask you a question about ths matter, why it u

on making these, tome, very large expenditures ont of revenne i p e t n
the Goyernment lien as second pre:eren. ý l, , that is paying a pat, t

s1



fdthe interest due on thatUiep?-Iimust tris~l yoa withi soiko ahistory of
the groiwth ofourgtnanaiaid othe o@urs.oiur admieration i iesultd in the
enuo.o oae1tion to which you.refen.

Q. WelI, as shortly as possible ?-In 1860 we adopted the policy of entting out,.
sbaohaning, an unremanerative thro traio, and we devoted Qurselveswholly to the
dagelopment and nursing of the local trame; the through trafi had always been.
unofitable,-the local trafflo always profitable. The result of that policy wa ts,
Nht .very industry, every enterprise, every material interest t whole
country ttibutary to our line at once leaped into activity and rid 4evelopment;
this was the reward of our careful nuraing of all local interests, iana t brought upen

s the embarrassment of so large and sudden And continuous growth of trame
the equipment of 1860 at once becane altogether insufcienR and failed to enable U&
1» perform the services of the lino and to carry the traffie which was offered. Under
these circumbtances, which fortunately continued unbroken in progress from that date-
until 1874, when depression came, I say from that time down to 1873 and '74, the
continuous growth of the traffie kept us in a condition of embarrassment by insufficient
carrying power to serve the country, and it was therefore that we had to do ohe of
two things. We had to apply whatever surplus revenue we possessed to increase our
arrying power, alike in duty to the publie and in the interests of the Company. We

had either to apply surplus revenues to that purpose or to corne to the Government
from time to time to get new powers for the issue of further preferential capital,-of
course to the further postponement of the lien, i t was as broad as it was long. If we
fiad done it from new capital it must have further postponed the lien to that new
capital.

Q. Did you make an annual return tg the Government of the receipts and
expenses after this Act was passed in 1860 ?-We have made no expenditures of that
clas which have not been regularly reported to the public by our annual statement,
-by our half-yearly meetings, and you will allow me to add that not simply the
amounts expended but the detail for which they were expended.

Q. Did the Government ever make a demand on you for the payment of interest
-on this lien ?-Never; except so far as the £50,000 bonds were concerned.

Q. Did you corne to any understanding with them as to the policy you were pursu-
ing as to expending so large an amount of money as you have stated out of revenue,
whether you had an understanding with them that in place of paying over a part of

rths revenue you had an understanding that you should expend it in that way in place
of giving them part of the money ?-There was no understanding, but I took it that
there was a tacit concurrence by the Government, in the policy we were pursuing
and that it was much more acceptable to the Govern ment, that it would enable us to
attend to the public service of our line without new preferential capital.

Q. You seem to have come to the Government again after this Act that Mr.
Palmer was reading. You again raised £15 0,000; you seem to have " gond back "upon
'that policy of using the revenues you required in place of getting some more money ?
-That legislation was by no means independent of the previous policy ; that had
special reference to the grain traffic of our line and for which it was impossible to
imake graduai provision, and for which therefore capital became necessary, and you
-will observe that out of that £150,000, by the Act £50,000 only was new money.

Q. Ont of that £150,000 I notice you spent 50,000 pounds in building an elevator?
-No; speaking generally, the £50,000 was applicable in the first instance to the

aonstruction of the two elevators at Collingwood and Toronto, but in addition to that
it provided us with same additional rolling stock of whichyou wi il tind tho dotails
ia the accounts published.

Q. Then you paid in 50,000 pounds of it to the Government,-you gave ther
boxdtfor that ammat?--That is,te second occasion when we made an issue to tiemn
upon account of interest of the lien.

Q. That waa entered on account of interest ?-Yes.
Q. The 50,000 poundsinore vou paid wasjgiven for arrears of interest -?-£50,0O0

wa paid in reduction-of arrears of interest.
92
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rigîi a Ipnds of t4e Ckompany amounting to 238,00 pounds a 'now ftrmnted in
d preference bouds.

Q. Anderstand that this £5Q,000 which you borro-wed in 1868 was to pay in

fuRù th4ê:rrears of interest that had not ben paid at the regular time ?-Yes 'they
then ho ' the rank ofecond preference bonds.

Q. Ifnact paying back interest?-That was provided for by the Order i ConnoII
.of 18$9 and 1860.

Q. And the Government lien was postponed to the extent of'this £50,000?.-No;

they got £50,000 advanced at the same time.
Q. Can you tell the Committee how much money you expended in assisting the

Jqorthern Extension Railway up to ithe time of the lease or up to the time -of
·the amalgamation ?-There was no statement handed in of this, but it was

brought in in m, evidence and you will find that it is some 21,000 or 22,000 dollaM,
the amount advanced by the Northern Railway Company.

Q. I aisked you what amount of money the Northern Railway Company advanoed
a to the time of the lease?-829,973.81.

Q. flow much had they advanced to the Company prior to the amalgamation,
mot including the amount before the lease, how much was it increased on all theopen
accounts between the two companies ?-At the date of the amalgamation the Northera

Bailway was in advance to the Extension Railway Company $107,392.65.

Q. That does not include the $29,973.81, for that amount had been ap

paid off ?-This is exclusive ofthe $29,973.81 just spoken of, which was repaid in
en the 21st September, 1872.

Q. Does the amount include the $16,000 advanced to the Hotel Company ?-No.

Q. Then there is $16,000 additional. You will remember it was charged by your

Company to the Extension Company ?-This includes a further account -between the

Extension iRailway and the Northern Railway at the date of amalgamation.

Q. Perhaps you would like to explain how that account was passed ?-These

advances were in conformity with the provisions of the lease. We, the Northera

lRailway, took a lease of the Extension Line in April, 1872, and amongst other

condition 'of that lease was one that we should guarantee the interest upon their

bonds, and that we should see that interest was paid, and that if we made any
payments on acconut of that guarantee, that these payments should be a debit against
the Extension Company with interest added until they should be ultimately aid
off. The advances paid on account to the Extension Company amonnu to

$50,549.84 between the Northern and the Extension, $26,087.96 being advanced to

enable them to complete their works to Severn. It was a matter of absolute

-necessity: it was not a bad thing for us to get the holders of so valuable a property
.as the Extension into our debt.

Mr. Bertram :-Mr. Cumberland, you gave some rather curions evidence to 1fr.

Palmer; I must coùifess that I could not quite understand it. Yon stated that the

amount of money was paid by your Company te the Sir John A. Matdonald fund hde
-other matters, that it could not or would not have been properly applicable te the

payment of the Government lien. Now, the Government lien must have been worth

something, I would like some explanation of the evidence that you have given:

perhaps I have misunderstood it ?--iNo; I do not think you bave miBunderstOd it.
y view of the question evolved by Mr. Palmer is that these expenditures to whieh he

refers, had they not been made wod sim ly bave rlduced'the.volume Of our foatig

debt, but so long as we had that floating ebt then I apprehiend it je olmw that thS

is8 nething for the next rank of security.-4
Q. n our fioating debt n stated ty be between 20,000 and 50,00 poundsY

inuctuates. No interest connected with the Northern Railway las been e provern

eor ad#antAged by the policy of our expenditure of surplus revenue th" the Govrn-

,ent. The whole of that mas se frbcotifed that we have beenr ahleyt IvsY thly

-£100,000 for their lieu~;-100,000 Pound, i n bonds and nal 000ptaecs i
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eunrent interest, making altogether sometkiig 11ke a face value of 2,0O pounds
repaid on account of the lien which neyer could haye been repid t ail
if the property had not been brought up to the value to which our policy has
brought it.

Q. I would ask you this question: after paying the first and second preference
bonde and the ' 3 A' and '3 B' bonds, on whst account would you then apply any
moneys belonging to the Northern iRailway ?-I should have continued, the policy
was to capitalise all surplus revenues in the improvement of the property and the
extension of its facilities and thus improve, what has actually come to pass, the value
of the Government'lien.

Q. Then the Northern Railway property, held as it were by the Government,
although it was only the 3rd or 4th mortgage bonds that they held, that, property
was reduced in value by the amount ofmoney that was improperly expended,-if I
may use the tern improperly-by any expenditure that was made for other than
railway purposes ?-I think not.

Q. To what account would you make payment of any earnings of the road after
paying interest on your lst, 2nd and 3rd preference bonds, who is the next creditor ?
-The next creditor would be the Government lien.

Q. You had paid interest on the Government lien inaBmuch as you did give the
Government £50,000 of second preference bonds and £50,000 of third preference :
were not these paid as interest on the Government lien ?-Yes ; but not out of the
revenues of the road. It is as well to say that they were paid on account of interest,
on account of accumulated interest.

Mr. Guthrie:-Do you put the fioating debt before the Government lien ?-un-
doubtedly.

Q. Why ?-Because the debt had to be paid off before profits are applicable to
the lien, because before the lien could take payment the floating debt should be re-
inoved.

Q. Then in your opinion the fioating debt comes before the lien ?-Yes.
Q. And you increase the amount of that Iloating debt by any improper expendi-

tures: is not that so ?-That is a different question.
Q. You increase the amount of your fioating debt by any improper expendi-

tures: is not that so ?-Yes.
Q. For instance, if you had not given $2,500 to Sir John Macdonald's testimonial

you would, according to your idea, have reduced the fioating debt by that amount
and so have met a claim that had priority to the Government lien ?-Yes.

Q. Mt. Cumberland, on what principle did you pay the interest on the bonds
until you had paid what you call the working expenses ?-We have not-

Q. You had not done so ?-No. You are in error in supposing that the fioating
debt arose from working expense. We have, for instance, bought more locomotives
and more cars, and we have constructod more sidings than our actual or current
revenue provided for. It is these works that are represented by the fioating debt,
and the floating debt is very largely at this moment composed of liabilities arising
on the property acquired by the Extension Railway property.

Q. If you gave priority to the foating debt over the Government lien, why did
you not give it priority over the first and second preference bonds ?-It is surely
desirable to proteet the foreign creditor.

Q. You do not profess to regard the Act of Parliament-the mode in which the
earnings were appropriated by the Act of Parliament; either you did right or you
did wrong in paying the interest on the first, second and third preference bonds ?-I
am not surprised at a jealousy of paying the bondholder.

Q. Do you profess to follow t he Act of Parliament in appropriatingthe earnings
of the road ?-4-Undobtedly.

Q. You de ?-Yes.
. Lid yo nd that after pay-ing working expenses yon had surplus revenues

en hand to pay intereSt on the firt, second and third preference bonds ?--Yes.
Q, Yea fouiad thia,-Ye.
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Q. And you had more than sufficient to do that?-Sometimes, yes, to a eon-
eidersble extent over a series ofy

Q. And before 1868 you had ?-Yes.
Q. Well, you did not pay that surplus to the Government ?-No.
Q. Then in 1868 had you a surplus; yon paid interest on first, second and third

preference bondg?-We have had no real surplus because we have always had a
fioatiflg debt.

Q. Yon make the fioating debt an excuse for not paying the Government, but
yen do not make it an excuse for not paying the bondholders. Now, the Act of-
Iarliament does not make any difference ?-The difference is that one is a fixed
charge and the other is an open current account.

Q. Spealing of the Statute, Mr. Cumberland, I see nothing to entitle the bond-
holders to have priority to the floating debt any more than to the Government ?-The
floating debt was on account of capital, and you surely do not mean to suggest that a.
corporation like mine should suspend these payments on its fixed charges because
there is a floating debt on capital account. I repeat, you can find no such -policy
anywhere among corporations, that it is common as common can be that dividends
are properly earned and paid on fixed charges while there is still a floating debt.

Q. I ask you this, MrL. Cumberland: If you had not used the funds of the,
Northern Railway in contributing to elections, and the other purposes that we know
of, it is clear that you eould have used them in reducing this floating debt, is it not?
-The floating debt, as I said before, would have been so much less.

Q. And there would have been less, therefore, ahead of the Government lien ?-
You will pardon me for saying, that I feel sensitive on this point, because the
Northern is the only railway, and I am the only railway man in the Dominion, that
has been able to pay back anything like a substantial perceutage of Government aid,
gnd there is a want of recognition of our labours, which you can easily understand-

Mr. BERTAM objected that the witness had no right to make such statements.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. Yon admitted that these amounts would have reduced the floating debt ?-If
they had not been spent.

Q. If they had not been spent in that way, the floating debt would have been
less ?-Yes.

Q. And, therefore, there would have been a less claim ahead of the Government
lien ?-Yes.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. You say that the working expenses,-you used the term " working expenses;"

but in this act, the working expenses defined to mean what would ordinarily be.
charged to capital; that is to say, re-building and re-equipping of your road; you
understand that ?-Yes.

Q. You also understand that this Act makes these working expenses working
expenses having that meaning, a claim before the Government lien, as well as these
other bonds that you have mentioned ?-Yes.

Q. Then it would follow from what Mr. Guthrie said, that if yon made any
inmproper expenditures, it would of course increase,-it would make your working
expenses more than they otherwise would be; that is so?--Yes.

Q. And -Mr. Guthrie thon asked you how it was yon came to pay the interest on
the bonds that preceded the Government lien, before you paid all the working
expenses, and I understood you to say that because it was necessary to keep up the
credit of your Company ?-Because the interest on the bonds represents flxed charges,
and the Government lien is an open current account.

Q. Would it not be destructive to your Company if these were not paid ?-If

the crodit of our securitios had not been maintained, the Government lien wuld have
been raluelesa.

Q. I want to know whether the non-payment of the interest on these bonds that

were held in England, would not have been very njurious to your Company ?-Most
injurious.
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Q. Re-asked you whether it woyid1 not have boen the duty after the passing of
this Act in 188- th pay of the working expenses before you paid that interest, but if
I understand it right that was a matter that yon had to settle entirely with the per-
eons to whom you owed the floating debt; whether you paid the amounts that pre-
.eeded the Government lien,-whether you paid them or paid the working expenses
bas it made any difference in the position of the Goverrment. You understand what
I mean ?-It makes no difference to the Government.

Q. And of course it would be entirely a question between the Company and the
persons to whom you owed the fioating debt ?-Yes.

Q. The Gevernment could have had no interest in that ?-No.
Q. If I understand your evidence right, you said that there was no money, even

if you had not paid any of these sums, that could have been applied to pay off the
-Government lien, I mean properly, because it should have been applied tW reducing
the working expenditures under the Act ?-None.

Q. What would have been the general effect if you injured the value of the rail-
way securities; the Government would suffer in common with any party interested
in the Railway ?-The lien would suffer in common with all other interests.

Q. Then, if I understand you aright, you did not consider with the policy you
pursued that any expenditures you made did injure the value of the lien ?-Having
regard to the circumstances in which I have been placed throughout the whole course

-of my management I consider the policy I have pursued the best and most produ3tive
to all the interests concerned, ineluding the Government lien.

Q. Supposing you had been allowed to charge this to the RLailway, the money
you subscribed to the Sir John A. Macdonald testimonial and other matters of that
description. Supposing it turns out in point of law that you ought to pay that per-
sonally, could it by.any possibilitygo to the Government; is it not a matter between
the bondholders and others interested in the road ?-It would be entirely a matter
between the Company.and its preferential creditors.

Q. Would the Directors or Stockholders allow this to be taken out of the funds
of the Railway as a matter between them and you ?-I have not considered the
.question.

Q. Would you suppose, with their taking the whole of your administration fairly
into consideration, that they will sanction this payment. Do you not or do you ?-I
am able to believe that the administration from first to last, has been exceptionally
-successful, and that there is no parallel to it in the Dominion.

Q. That is not the point; but, whether as a matter still between you and them
you would be personally called upon to pay it ?-I am perfectly certain you could
not find a single proprietor in my Company who would call, upon me to pay it.

Q. You are perfectly satisfied to let it rest between you and them ?-Yes.
By fr. Guthrie :-

Q. Yon say it is a matter between you and the Company and its preferential
-creditors?-Yes.

Q. Io not the Government now a preferential creditor for these $100,000 of
bonds that it holds ?-I do not mean the preferential creditors as in the nature of
bonds but as in the nature of floating liabilities.

Q. I want to know, Mr. Cumberland, if in your opinion you did not postpone the
Government lien to the extent of $2,500 by that payment to the Sir John A. Mac-
donald testimonial ?-I have already' said to you that it increased the floating
liabilities.

Q. Supposing you had given $200,000 in the same way, would that not have post-
poned the Government in the same way ?-Of course.

Q. Every copper that you gave away illegally-if it is illegally-every copper
you gave away illegally, postponed the Government lien by that amount ?-Yes.

,he Committee now adjourned till the following day at 10 a.m.
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FaiDY, April l3th, 1877.
PRBSENT:

Mr. ARCHTRALD-Chairman.

Mr. GUTHRIE, Mr. BERTRA,
Mr. DEVEBER, Mr. PALMER,

Mr. KILLAM.

Mr. FRED. CUMBERLAND recalled and examined:
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. How long was the road in operation, Mr Cumberland, before you took the-management ?-I think some four or five years.
Q. What is the length of track of the Northern Railway proper ?-Ninety-five

miles.
Q. And you spoke yesterday of adopting as a policy the giving up of carryingthrough freight ; was that through freight from Chicago ?-Through freight from.Chicago to the Atlantic ports.
Q. And you found that that did not pay ?-It did not.
Q. And it was only after going in for a policy of cultivating your local trade that

you really brought the road into such a condition that you could pay the interest youspoke of ?- By that policy we increased our gross earnings at good rates, whilst at
the same time the restoration of our works enabled us to reach a lower standing of
working expenses.

Q. Iow many miles of rails have you now, including the new line ?-167 miles.,Q. Does that include sidings ?-No ; it is exclusive of sidings.Q. You had a considerable lumber trade, perhaps 12 or 15 years ago, comingdown
your line ?-Yes; one of the chief staples of our line is the lumber.

Q. That trade has been moving backwards into the back country, has it not ?-
Yes; of course, the lumbering districts get gradually exhausted.

Q. And I suppose looking at it from a Northern Railway point of view, it was
absolutely necessary for you, not only to take an interest in it, but to control this
new line with which you amalgamated, the Northern Extension ?-That was one of
the great reasons why we favoured the Muskoka extension, namely, that the lumber
upon our line, say from Lefroy to Collingwood was in process of exhaustion, and that
the Muskoka district affords a very large territory still untouched, and we therefore
thought by extending our line to the foot of the Muskoka Lakes, the waters of which
drain some 5,000 square miles, we should more then compensate by the now timber
district, for the loss we shall sustain before very long in regard to the old one.

Q. That is the timber of the district the new line is piercing will, in your
estimation, be productive of heavy freights for the line ?-I think the extension to
Muskoka will be of very great value to the Northern Railway.

Q. And can you tell the Committee what kind of a country lies to the north o
Muskoka, I mean north of the ridge on which Gravenhurst lies ?-The general aspect
of the count-y around the lakes is inhospitable in appearance, but improves north
towards Nipissing.

Q. How much did this Northern Railway extension cost you per mile, Mr. Cum-
berland ?-19.977.

Q. That is, of course, exclusive of any rolling stock?-That is the railway without
the equipment. That price, of course, includes discount upon debentures, proliminary:
expenses and everything else connected with the undertaking.

Q. Can you tell us what it cost to build the railway-what the actual cost of it
was per mile ?-The actual cost completed was $24,528 per mile.

Q. Then in amalgamation you made a profit of the difference out of the exten-
lions road ?-Whilst you are upon that point I may say that before entertaining the,

suggestion for amalgamation the Northern Railway Directors had the extensions-
road examined and reported upon by two engineers, Mr. Walter Shanly and Mr.-
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George Lowe Reid, and a valuation for the guidance of the Directors was made by
these gentlemen at $27,341 per mile.

Q. There were large bonuses given to this Company by the municipalities; caD
you tell us what it amounted to per mile ?-All the publie grants being bonuses and
Government subsidies amounted to $421,746, being at the rate of $5,785 per mile. ,

Q. When you spoke of your floating liabilities yesterday, Mr. Cumberland, were
they paid off in 186C ?-The debt that existed prior to the Order in Council of 1859
was paid off from moneys raised under authority of that Order.

Q. So that you started with a clean sheet in 1860 ?-Yes.
Q. Can you tell the Committee what the amount of your floating liabilities were

in 1868, wheu you came to Parliament again ?-I could not say, but in the absence
of working capital we always had a floating liability on revenue account representing
bank accommodation and the like.

Q. That is you mean the ordinary liability that any business or railway would
have; was there a floating liability of any other kind; had you a liability for interest
on any of your debentures in 1868?-I am not sure.

Q. Were not you in the habit of giving debentures for back interest on any of
your bonds-interest that was not paid ?-No; we never did, except in the case, and
under the authority of the Act of 1859, and then instead of paying up the arrears of
interest in cash the arrears of interest were capitalized and took the form of arrears
of interest debentures.

Q. I suppose you hold that this was one of your floating liabilities in 1868 ?-It
was a floating liability, but we settled that in that way.

Q. With the money that you received in 1860 you could only pay interest on
the second preference bonds up to a certain amount-that is, up to the amount that
you really received from the pieference bonds in cash; can you tell us what that
amount was; I suppose you have it in your books somewbere -the amounts that you
paid interest on ?-We have paid interest on the whole amount; I know of no reduc-
tion from the nominal or face value.

Q. What were these arrears of interest debentures for, Mr. Cumberland; what
did you issue them for ? -We issued them-if you refer to the Act of 1860 or the
Order in Council in August, 1859-you will find it explained that we were authorized
to issue arrears of interest debentures, being a capitalization of accumulated and
unpaid interest upon the Company's original bonds.

Q. That was paid in 1860 ?-That was done in 1860.
Q. Then it was the arrears on interest on the present second preference bonds

that you capitalized and paid in 1870 ?-Yes; we did not then pay; we never paid
interest upon the original arrears until under authority of the Act of 1868, these
arrears of interest debentures were issued to the amount of £50,000, which, with
the £,.0,000 bond we gave to the -Government, was put into the form of third
preference bonds, class B.

Q. Then you made a mistake in saying that you paid interest on the second
preference bonds for the face value ?-[ said tie first preference bonds.

Q. You did not pay îîterest on the first preference bonds from the time they
were made ?-Yes, from the time they were issued.

Q. I want to point out a clause in the Act which only gives it power to pay
interest, as I understand it, not on the face value of your second prefèrence bonds,
but on the amount of them; it only gives you power to pay interest on an amount
equivalent to the value you received for them?-No, you are quite wroing; the
application of that clause is limited to a small amount of mortgage bonds which,
prior to 1857, had been sacrificed, as we thought, at an improper discount, and there-
lore when, under that Order in Council, we came to make provision for arrears of
interest, we only met artears of interest in regard to these mortgage bonds to the
extent of the actual cash paymrents upon them, and we postponed the balance of the
interest, that is the interest due upon the discount, so that it does not in the slightest
degree affect the second preferences; it only affects a small amount of mortgage
bonds which we regarded as piratical



Q. I asked you to give us theamount of the second preference, the :oun t u
-whicli interest would become due ?-£233,749 14s. 6d.; that sum was increased !
-the £50,000 given to the Government.

,Q. The face value of the second preference bonds in 1860 was £233,749 14s. 6d.
these were put in the position of preferences to the Government lien at that time, but
-only to that amount for which you received cash for these bonds ?-That does not
affect that class at all, it only affected a very small issue just prior to 1857, which, in
the difficulties in which the Company was then placed was sacrificed at a very large
discount. I wanted you to understand clearly that this does not refer to the class of
second preferences. There was a balance of the mortgage bonds that we did not

:allow to take priority of the lien, that was an entirely different issue from what is
now known as the second preference bonds which went upon the London market
very little if any below par, and the Order in Council does not refer to that. The
-Order only refers to a small amount of what is known as mortgage bonds issued by
the Company when it was i extremis. On the first of January, 18I.1, our return
shows our first preference bonds, £250,000; second preference bonds £233,837 16s. 8d.
then to be issued to the Governmient under the Order in Council £50,000 making a
total amount of second preference bonds £283,837 16s. 8d.; then there is interest
-arrears on the Conipany's bonds, that is on what just now has been stated as second
preftrence bonds £ 13,434 8-. 4d.; then tinally we come to the item of your enquiry,
viz: the balance of the bonds not entitled to priority, £9,901 17s. 10d., which'amount
was regarded by the Government and ourselves ut the time of the passing of the Order
in Council as representing so extravagant a discount that it ought not to be allowed to,
go up in front of the Government lien, and therefore it was left and is now known as
in the form of " bonds not entitled to priority."

Q. That was, as I understand you to say, that this £9,901, 17s. 10d. was the
amount of this bond that was not entitled to priorty ?-No; that represents the
discount on these mortgage bonds issued prior to 1859, because the Finance Minister
at that time said, " what is your issue of mortgage bonds ?" "so much," and " what ia
the discount ?" and the discount was so much that we regarded it as piratical and the
whole amount of the discount was remitted into a position of "not entitled to
priority."

Q. Was that the whole amount that you coisidered entitled to go behind
£9,901 17s. 10d. ?-Yes.

Q. of course when you speak of the second preflerence bonds I understand there
was'no question about them because they were only to be issued in taking up these
>original tirst preference bonds as you could pay their face values at any time ?-Yes

The second preference was a new issue with which to take up the old first preference
bonds, together with the cash which had been actually advanced upon a certain
number of mortgage bonds and they together formed the sum of second preference
bonds which I have already given you.

Q. Well, then, the interest on this £9,901 17s. 10d. was allowed to accumulate
until 1868. You did not pay it up ?-It has never been paid ; it stands behind the
liien.

Q. You issued no interest debentures to that holding ?-1 think not.
Q. What were the interest debeatures for that floating in 1868?-Do you

rnean the £50,000.
Q. What were the i nterest debentures for ?-The interest on arrears; they were

for arrears of interest due in 1859 upon the original issue of the Company now in th',
form of second preference bonds. Up to that date the Company had not paid a
single shilling of interest to the bondholders. From the date of the issue down to
the date of the Order in Council not a sixpence had ever been paid, and it was that
interest which had accumulated at that date, and to that amnount that was capitalized
and put into the form of arrears of interest debentures under the Act of 1868.

Q. As you had not earned interest on your original bonds before 1860, of course
you could not pay it. The charges, therefore, of that back interest came after the
Government lien ?-At that time, olear.
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Q. Thon the efect of the Act of 1868 was this: that it aUowed your Company-
to pay the bank interest on tke original bonds that had been issued prior to 1860 and
postpone, if I understand it, the Government lien to the payment of that old interest;
was that the effect ofit ?-I rather think our sympathies are as much due to the-
bondholders as to the Government lien, as both had been running up to that date-
without any payment of interest.

Q. Wae that the effect of the Act, Mr. Cunberland ?-Clearly the effect of the-
Act of 1868 was to give priority to the arrears of interest capitalized by the Act of
1859-60, underthe conditions of which, notwithstanding that the then bondholders had
never received a shilling of interest they doubled their investment and put in a new-
£250,000. Now, the Government has never put in a shilling of new money fron
the time that the original lien was first created, but the bondholders have put in
£250,000 of new money, on condition that they should take the first rank and on
the condition that the arrears of interest then accumulated should be placed in the
form of interest debentures. It was a well understood and a most advantageous
bargain for the country.

Q. I asked you if it was not the effect of this Act of 1868 that the interest due
on these old mortgages which were floating prior to 1860, if that interest did not
tlearly come before the Government lien ?-It had not been paid.

Q. But in 1868, if I understand the Act at all, it clearly put you in the position
that it allowed you to pay the interest on the old mortgage or the back interest, and it
therefore postponed the Government lien to that amount ?-No ; it did not postpone
the Government lien to that amount; the method of that bargain was this: The
Company requires to issue £50,000 of bonds for new money, another issue for new
money Nmust come in front of the lien ; then the opportunity was taken to repeat
isomewhat the operation of 1859, and the bondholders again say we will find this
£50,00 of new money provîded you allow our arrears of interest debentures to come
up into the sane rank with it. The reply of the Government was " for every pound
of arrears of interest you get paid we must have a pound," and the consequence was
that both the arrears of interest on the previous bonds to the extent of £50,000 and
the arrears of interest on the lien to the extent of £50,000 were both brought up
into the rank of third preference bonds " B."

Q. You got authority by this Act of 1868 to borrow, £50,000 to build elevators
and other works, and gave a £50,000 bond to the Government, and on account of
your bondholders advancing this £50,000 in cash to enable you to build the elevators,
the Government thought fit to allow you to place before their lien the arnount of
£50,000 of back interest, which you considered you owed them prior to 1860 ?-No;
-not at all. I take an entirely different view. I say that the Government allowed
£àO,000 of arrears of interest debentures to come up into the third preference rank,
on condition that they also brought up their arrears of interest to a like figure so
that the Government got £50,000 at the sane time that the arrears of interest of
£50,000 was brought up, so that it cannot be said that the Gove.nment lien was
postponed.

Q. Have you paid interest on these " 3 B " bonds ?-Yes.
Q. liad you in 1859 earned the interest on these bonds that were floated in

England prior to that?-None.
Q. Therefore it could not be paid ?--No.
Q. The arrears of interest that you owed on your bonds was included in this

£243,739 14s. 6d.-the figure that is named in the Act of 18M0 ?--Certainly not.
Q. Thon that is the amount of principal, and if'you deduct the £9,901 17s. 10d.

from that amount you have the exact amount that has priority before the Govern-
ment lien ?-No; the £9,901 17s. 10d. is already excluded from the £233,837.

By Mr. Archibald:-
Q. As a matter of fact did the bondholders find £50,000 of cash that was required

and for which bonds were issued in 1868,-" 3 A " bonds ?-As a matter of fact,
yes, in regard to the larger portion of that sum.
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. Were they disposed of in England ?-They were disposed of in Engiand t
,Mot by a market issue, because they were only issued from time to time.Q. At what rate were they issued ?-4At 60.

Q. Is it not a fact that a portion of them were sent to England in return for a
.,certain amount of second preference bonds whieh were sent out in lieu of thui ?-
JNo; not to my knowledge.

Mu. ARcHIBALD: I asked because I saw an entry that left that Impression on
miny mind.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. Mr. Cumberland, the amount then to which the- Government lien was

-postponed in 1860 was £234,837 16s. Sd., and the £250,000 additional pf firt
preference bonds; that is the amount ?-Yes; the property was gone, and new
inoney had to be raised by some one, and the bondholders raised it.

Q. The Government lien then was postponed for the arrears of interest you
owed on these bonds at that date ?-Certainly not.

Q. I thought the Government lien was postponed to the " 3 B" bonds ?-The
-4 3 B" bonds include £50,000 of interest due on the Company's original issue, and
£50,000 of interest due on the Government lien, both were brought up together-
.they rank pari passu-and the lien was postponed to both.

Q. Well, you say you paid interest on the third preference bonds; was it " 3 A"
or "3 B "?-On the " 3 A" we paid interest from the date of issue.

Q. Did you pay any on the "3 B" ?-We paid after the period necessary to>
effect the exchange.

Q. You effected the exchange in England ?-Yes.
Q. How long was that after the issue ?-I should say foi six to twelve months.
Q. Are you paying interest on them now?-Yes.
Q. You paid interest on the other " 3 Bs " ?-Yes; we paid interest on the other

3 B's," on the whole of' the " A's" and on part of the "l B's.,'
Q. Under Section nine of the Act of 1868 provision is made that the " 3 B»

bonds shall not rank for interest until the proceeds of the "3 A" bonds had been
actually expended for the purposes of the Act. Well, the amount must have been
expended when you paid the interest on the "3 B's ?-No; we have had a residue of
"3 A" bonds unappropriated, still unissued.

By Mr. Archibald :-
Q. Is that the reason for not having paid the interest on the " 3 B's" held by

the Government ?-Well that, together with the fact that we have issued no bond to
the Government, and we have not been invited by the Government to pay on it
whilst in the Act of 1875, having reference to the extinction of the Lien provision,
is there made for the accrued interest on the second preference bonds and nothing
,said about the interest on the thirds.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Then it would appear that after all the so-called advantage given to the Gov-

*ernment in 1868 was more illusory than anything else; that they were not placed.
.in a better position than before so far as the receipt of money is concerned ?-I d>
-not agree with you.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. The Government holds £100,000 bonds of the road now ?-Yes.
Q. They never put these in the market ?---Never.
Q. And you hava never paid them any interest ?-Yesi always on the seconds.
Q. Have you kept the interest paid to the Governmont with punctuality ?-

'They have been paid up on the second preference bonds, but not on the thirds.
Q. What is the proportion ?-They are both alike £50,000 of each.

By Mr. Bertran:-
Q. You say you did not pay any interest on the "3 B" bonds held by the Gov-

-ernment ?-No.
Q. And you have-not been invited to do s- ?--No.
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Q. You could have paid tbem if you had been asked. It was in your power t<>
pay tbem ?-It would have been excessively inconvenient.

Q. You have a part of this £50,000 t1iat you borrowed for building the elevators
in 1868 unexpended. ' Can you tell us how mu;h you have unexpended ?-I coulk
iiot say, but I am under the impression some four or five thousand pounds sterling,
-which we have lodged as collateral.

Q. You issued the bonds for the full amount ?-Yes; and we have lodged some
of them as collateral, that is of this " 3 B " bonds.
- Q. Did I understand that it is in a single bond of £50,000 ?-We have never-
given a bond for it yet; we have never been asked for it.

By Mr. Bertrom:-
Q. After this Act of 1858 you went on with the same policy you had pursued on

your road of expending the surplus earnings on new works and rolling stock ?-Yes.
Q. A policy you considered for the well-being of the road ?-The policy forced

upon us by the continuons expansion of our traffie, and the necessity for further
facilities. No progressive railway can be worked without continuons investments
every year from one source or another; you cannot stop the extension of a railway
that is in a progressive country.

Q. Well, Mr. Cumberland, there is a part of the enquiry yesterday that I was.
going on with. I want to ask you if the moneys contributed by your Company for
election funds and similar purposes had not been paid, the amount would have been
available to purchase rolling stock or new works, or it would have been applicable to
pay interest on these third " B's " of the Government, or, it could have been paid
out to reduce the Government lien ?-Speaking of the interest the Government may
have to-day in these expenditures, I say that if the Government be entitled to the
balance of the interest on the third preference bonds which it holds, but which bas
nover been issued to it, that being done, there is absolutely no claim; whatever may
happen in the future, the lien is to-day absolutely extinguished by force of Act of
Parliament.

Q. I krow it is extinguished, but I want an answer to my question ?-The Gov-
ernment were aware of all these expenditures before they took our monoy.

Q. I ask you if these moneys had not been paid out for election purposes, or for
kindred objects, would the money not have been available to increase your rolling
stock or in building new works ?-The money would not have been available seeing
that we have always had a floating debt.

Q. Mr. Cumberland, I must say to you that I do not think that a very ingenuous
answer, and I will tell you my reason for saying so. You stated to the Committee
that-during this period you were carrying on your former policy of expending your
surplus earnings in new rolling stock and new works, and I ask you if the money
you expended for these other purposes, if you had kept it would it not have been
available to increase your rolling stock and new works. Would it or would it not ?-
You say my answer is disingenuous because you are not sufficiently well acquainted
with railway work.

Q. I ask you the question: Would it, or would it not ?-It stands thus: That
inoney would not have been available, because we had at the time a floating debt,
and a floating debt arising in connection with the equipment and works, represented
not merely by the policy to which you refer, but represented also by the floating
ýdebt.

The following question, previously asked, was read over to witness,,with bis
answer thereto:-" Q. I'ask you if these moneys had not been paid out for election
purposes, or for kindred objects, would the money not bave been available to increase
your rolling stock, or in building new works ?-The money would not have been
availed, seeing that we have always had a floating debt ?"

Mr. Cumbeland: Precisely.
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q. You wore expending a part of your net earnings; you bring in this questione
of floating debt very unnecessarily. You were spending, as you stated to the Com-
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mittee, all your surplus earningson works and rolling stock. Did you not earn that ?-
Yes; we were spending more than our surplus earnings and making adebt. In one half
year we carried forward the sum of 671,000 unprovided for by surplus earnings, and
representing a floating debt on account of new works and equipments necessary to
the growng trafic.

Q. Your floating liabilities for conducting your business were payable before
you paid any interest even on first preferonce bonds ?-No; they are not.

Q. Thon, suppose I sell 100 tons of iron to the Northern Railway Company, you
do not consider that you would owe that, and be obliged to pay that as a debt before
you paid your bondholders anything ?-I say, if on the first of July next ensuing,
that the interest on our debentures falls due, and we are then owing, as we shall be,
some $50,000 for rails, that we shall disregard the temporary floating debt on the un-
paid account for the rails, and we shall pay the interest.

Mr. Bertram: That is not the question.
Air. Boulton objected that this was a question of law, and that he did not think

the witness should be asked to construe a question of law.
By Mr. Bertram:-

Q I understand, Mr. Cumberland, the first amounts to be paid byyour Company
are the ordinary debts of the Company incurred in running the Company's business?
-Ordinary working expenses.

Q. The ordinary debts of the Company incurred in running the Company's
business: I understand that this is the first claim that must arise ?-The Act does not
sav debts., and I do not assume debts; ordinary working expen-Cs.

Q. Well, you had a floating liability on these working expenses ?-Of course we
bave; because we have had accommodation, but our floating liabilities are mainly on
account of capital works.

Q. If at the time you make your balance sheet you owe your clerk $100, that is
a liability ?-Certainly.

Q. That is his charge upon the business ?-Certainly.
Q. Do you not consider that the aniount which you expended on new rolling

stock-which in one halfyear amounted to $71,000-do not you consider an expen-
diture of that kind as an amount which, if your company were to go into insolvency,
would really be paid prior to any of the proprietors of the railway company getting
anything ?-I should say so.

Q. And in reality any debts which your company incurred after the ordinary
business of the company would be a claim prior to any other ?-There are differences
of opinion about that, Mr. Bertram, as to what a mortgage of the railway covers-
that is to say, how far a creditor can go upon a mortgaged railway.

Q. Even for such debts as you incurred, these debts were incurred for working
expenses ?-The debts incurred for new works and equipments are not ineurred as
working expenses. If you draw a line between actual maintenance and rdding to
the property by additional equipments and works, you will find that the floating
debt connected with the one is quite differen.t from the debt connected with the
other, and are not both to be spoken of as within the working expenses.

Mr: Boulton: It is a matter of doubt between lawyers as to what the working
expenses are.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. It seems to me, taking the ordinary view, that your Company was liable for

ail debts incurred in the progress of your business?-You were suggesting the event
of our going into insolvency; then, I say there is grave doubt as to the possibility of
entering on a property already mortgaged. I know there is quite an issue of opinion
about it. -

Q. Still. as a matter of fact, the amounts wbich you expended year byyear out of
the earnings of your road for these new works and for this new rollmig stock and

improvements, the amounts which you spent in these improvements, independent of

the earnings of your road, being for the maintenance of the road, and perhaps for the
better equipment of it, I suppose there can be no reasonable doubt that this is really
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a charge--that this is a debt of your road that you ought to pay, if the necessity
arose, prior to any other ?-That is the difficlty; there is na donbt about our being
obliged to pay it in some way or other, but whether it should come in in front is
another question. Our present Bill makes provision for it.

Q. This floating indebtedness for these purposes, if you had not paid these
monoys for these e:ection funds and for other purposes, would this floating indebted-
news not necessarily have been reduced by that amount ?-Yes.

Q. What amount of money did you employ to subsidize or purchase steamboaos ?
-The only steamboats in which the Company is interested is the " Chicora " in the
way in which you know from the proceedings of the Royal Commission, and the
"Emily May " on Lake Simcoe.

Q. How much bas your Company in the latter ?-That was taken over at the
time of the amalgamation at the face of the mortgage, $15,000.

Q. Who held the mortgage?-1 think the mortgage was originally made to Mr.
Howland.

Q. Had you aniy money invested in this steamboat before amalgamation ?-K.No;
none. It was a pur chase that was made from Captain May, and carried by the
Extension Company until amalgamation.

Q. By whom?-It was a purchase made from Captain May when the extension
lines came to be opened, as the steamer was running in competition with the railway,
made by Mr. Howland foi. the Extension Railway, and he subsequently transferred
the stoaner to us.

Q. You did not subsidize any other steamboats?-We subsidized the Lake
Superior steamuboas for a good many years.

Q. Your Company had no interest in any othor steamboats ?-No.
Q. Did your Board guarantee a rate of interest to the Coucliching Hotel

Company and the shareholders ?-The conditions upon which the original share list
was originally made was that the Northern should guarantee intierest at the rate of
6 per cent. upon a limited amount of stock for a certain number of years. The first
subscription list contained a condition that the Northern Railway should guarantee
interest at the rate of 6 per cent. per annum, upon a limited amount'of stock-I think
$18,000 or $20,000-and for, I think, seven years.

Q. This bas passed your Board, you say ?-Yes.
Q. Well, was that minute ot the Board ever acted upon ?-That was never acted

upon, because I was subsequently advised that such a guarantee was worth nothing,
that it was illegal. In the meantime, however, the stock had been subscribed aid
calls had been paid upon it.

Q. Probably then, Mr. Cumberland, that accounts for your Company assisting the
Hotel Company. Was it not that you were not able guarantee any interest to assist
them. in a measure, to go on with their works ?-Yes.

Q. You know, Mr. Cumberland, that Mr. Campbell, who was examined here,
made a statement that was a little contradictory to your evidence. He said that he
had no conversation with you at the time that you paid the $500 to the olection fund
in 1872, that you wrote him a letter offering to subscribe to the fnd-

Mr. Archibald: And also offering to supplement the subscription by another
equal amount, if Mr. Campbell saw fit to apply to Mr. Foreman, the book-keeper ?-1
think that is the purport of Mr. Campbell's evidence.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. Have you any statement to make about that; do you adhere to your state-

ment that it was by conversation with Mr. Campbell ?-I do adhere to my last
statement, vi,., that, in the absence of Mr. Canpbell's denial, 1 should still believe
that interviews were held and conversations passed between him and me upon the
subject of the two subscriptions.

Q. You stated that you had a good many conversations with Mr. Campbell at
different times, on kindred subjects, I think that is your evidence. Can you charge
your memory with any other subscriptions now ?-I could not charge my memory
with other subscriptions nor can I actually name the dates to you; but my conviction
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is clear that my memory is better than Mr. Campbell's, that we have had frequ=j
interviews. I have made personal subscriptions to and through Mr. Campbell a;"
others, independently of those which I subscribed as the represantative of the railway,
and I further say that to my knowlege or recollection I have made no subscriptions
or contributions of that-class, nor have I ever volunteered any contributions or sub-
scriptions of that class which have not been made on invitation, and in previous
concert with others.

By Mr. Killam:-
Q. Were these subscriptions of so large an amount as to warrant Sir John and

,other persons who were drawing upon you for election expenses in thinking that
these drafts could be all your personal subscription ?-There was sueh a difforence in
-the amounts that I should think there could be no confusion.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. I understand that the $2,000 note that Mr. John Beverly Robinson got fromr

,your book-keeper was not by your authority ?-No.
Q. And that on coming home from New York I think you swear you spoke to

your book-keeper about the matter, and spoke to him in the sense that he had been
wanting in a proper sense of his duty in giving that note without your authority?-
Upon the circumstances coming to my knowledge and at the first subsequent inter-
view with the Secretary I reprimanded him for acting in disobedience of my orders.Q. Have you any recollection of any conversation with Mr. Robinson in your
>wn house on the night before you left for New York ?-I do not think I went to
New Y ork at that time; I think I was at home.

Q. Have you any recollect ion of any conversation with Mr. Robinson about the
<drawing of a sum of this amount, about $2,000, and getting a note for it? I want to
know if you gave any atthority to Robinson to iake a draft of this description?-
I recollect a conversation, I think, prior to the date of the note, but if Mr. Robinson
understood me to assent to the issue of the note, it was a complete mis-conception.

Q. It was not with your authority that he got some of these other notes that he
got which are included in his overdrafts ?-Yes; I assented to some but not all of
these.

Q. And of the others that you did not assent?-I do not think that I dissented
in relation to other notes, but I think I dissented in relation to drafts.

Q. Drafts made by him ?-Yes.
Q. Upon yourself?-Upon the Company.

By Mr. Kiam:-
Q. Who signed the Company's notes ?-IJ did and the Secretary.
Q. Who signed this $2,000 that Mr. Robinson got ?-.-Myself and the Secretary.
Q. Then you left blank forms alrcady signed ?-Yes; at that period the Presi-

dent was not a signing officer.
Q. You left blank notes signed ?-Ye .
Q. And your Secretary filhed up one to give to Mr. Robinson ?--Yes; I always

leave in the hands of the Secretary a sufficient number of cheques.

(Signed) FRED. CUMIBERLAND.

TUESDAY, 20th March, 1877.

(b3mmittee met.-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.
lion. D. L. MACPHERsoN, Senator, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. It is said, Mr. Macpherson, that you received, on the 14th of January, 1871,

:a cheque from the Northern Railway Company for $2,500 ?-I am not sure about
the date; but I did receive a cheque of the Northern Railway Company for that
amount.
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Q. About that time, I suppose ?-I preaume it was.
Q. For what purpose was it paid to you-was it a personal debt ?-No; it was

d to me as the subscription of certain gentlemen, directors of the Northern
lway Company, towards the Sir John Macdonald testimonial.
Q. You,.I believe, were treasurer of that fund ?-I was.
Q. To what purpose did you ap dy the cheque ?-I applied it to the fund.
Q. To the testimonial fund ?-Yes.
(Cheque proditced).

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Is that the choque ?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. It is a choque dated the 14th of January, 1871, on the Bank of Toronto,

"Pay to the Hon. D. L. Macpherson or order, twenty-five bundred dollars. Thomas
Eamilton, Treasurer; Fred. Cumberland, Managing Director." A choque of the Nor-
thern Railway Company, and across the cheque are the words, in red letters, " Special
Account." I notice, Mr. Macpherson, that that choque is not payable to you as
treasurer, nor is it endorsed by you as treasuror ?-No; it is endorsed as it is made
payable ; but it was given to me as treasurer, and the proceeds handed over.

Q. But there is nothing on the choque to show the purpose ?-I do not say that
there is.

Q. You said it was in payment of the iubscription made by the directors?-I
said it was in payment of the subscriptions of three gentlemen-directors; they
were all directors of the Company.

Q. Wbo were they ?-There was the Hon. John Ross, the Hon. John Beverley
Robinson and Mr. Cumberland.

Q. Did they subscribe as directors ? -No; There was nothing special in their
subscription.

Q. Was it a joint subscription by the three ?-No; separate.
Q. Iow were the amounts separated ?-Two of a $ 1,000, and one of $500-Mr.

Ross and Mr. Cumberlond each, $ 1,000 ; and Mr. Robinson, $500.
Q. Did they subscribe, or rather, did they add to their signatures the word,

"Director," or " for the Company " ?-No; nothing special, as I just stated.
Q. But who procured the subscription-that subscription or these subscrip-

tions?-I remember the subscription by two of the gentlemen, by Mr. Ross and Mr.
Robinon. To the best of my recollection, they subscribed in my office-came to
my office and su bscribed. Mr. Cumberland's subscription-the act of bis subscrip
tion-I do not recollect at al.

Q. You recollect that two of these gentlemen subscribed together ?-No, not
together.

Q. At the same time, I meant ?-No, not~at the same time; to the best of my
recollection at different times.

Q. How was it understood at the time--that is, was it understood as an individual
subscription or a subscription by the railway company ?-A s well as I can recollect
the facts, the gentlemen said to -me after they bad subscribed-.each of them; they
were at different times---Mr Cumberland will pay that to you.

Q. Do you remember whether Mr. Cumberland himself had signed the list before,
that-before either Mr. Ross or Mr. Robinson ?---I can hardly speak positively on that
point. My impression is that ho did sign before.

Q. Was Mr. Cumberland's subscription to ho paid by the Northern Railway
Company ?--As I just stated, I do not recollect Mr. Cumberl:ind's actual subscription.
I do not recollect the circumstances of bis subscribing; when it was done nor where
it was done.

Q. What is your impression. Did you understand at the time that it would be
paid by the railway -company ?--I do not think that anything was said to me on that
subject.

Q. Before any of those gentlcmen had signed the list had you applied to them ?
-I think not.
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Q. Invited them to subscribe; or had you invited Mr. Cumberland on beh::a
the Company to subscribe ?--No; I never did that.

Q. Did you invite or ask any of the gentlemen to subscribe on behalf of the rail-way company ?-I asked them to subsribe, I have no doubt; but I do not think I
asked tbem to do so on behalf of the railway company. I have no recollection of
having done so, and I do not believe I did.

Q. When Mr. Robinson and Mr. Ross said " Mr. Cumberland will p: it I
suppose you did not expect, did you, that Mr. Cumberland would pay it indivi ually ?
.- I did not ask them anything about that.

Q. But did not you understand by their saying Mr. Cumberland would pay itrthat he would pay it out of the funds of the Northern Railway Company ?-Th didnot give any explanation on that subject; but I do not think I asked them. mat
my impression may have been at the time, I can hardly recollect. I have no hesita-
tion in saying this: that if they had told me so, I would not have thought there was
anything wrong in it--I would have taken the cheque. But I have no recollection of
their having said anything of the kind.

Q. Were all these gentlemen in a position to pay these subscriptions ont of their-
personal funds ?---Really I was not in their confidence in respect to their finances.

Q. You do not know ?--I do not know.
Q. Were the subscriptions not of a large character ?-They were liberal subscrip-

tions.
Q. Were they not very liberal, considering the circumstances of the parties ?-

Well, I do not know that they were. Mr. Ross was in very good circumstances. Mr.
Robinson, was of course, President of the Company.

Q. Mr. Ross was in good circumstances ?
Objected to by Mr. PALMER, as not being a question with reference to a fact in-

this case-as being a question in regard to a matter of opinion.
Mr. GUTHRIE thought be had a right to ask what Mr. Macpherson understood at

the fime on that point ; and also, whether the witness was aware that the circum-
stances of those gentlemen were such as to enable then to pay their subscriptions
or not.

A. I had no information on the subjecf.
Q. You know then, what Mr. Ross' reputation was ?-Yes.
Q Well, how did you know about the reputation of the other gentlemen; did

you think Mr. Robinson and Mr. Cumberland were reputed to be wealthy, or not ?--
I do not think they were.

Q. Were they not reputed to be bard up ?-Not to my knowledge.
Q. Then, although you know they were not reputed to be wealthy, you say that

the amount of their subscriptions was not very liberal ?-I said their subscriptions
were liberal.

Q. Did you not consider them very liberal ,if they were to pay them indi-
vidually ?-I dare say I did; a great many of the subscriptions at the time were very
liberal.

Q. Now, I put it in this way:-If they were to pay that individually, from what
you knew of thei r circumstances, did you consider them very liberal ?-Perhaps I did.
I do not wish to evade anything in this-nothing in the world. Whatever impression
I may have formed at the time, or if I formed any impression, if I am to say what
passed through my own mind, it is likely that I did suppose their subscriptions was
for the Northern Railway; but I did not know it. I have no doubt whatever that my
impression was that when three Directors subscribed, although they subscribed sepa-
rately, the subscriptions would be paid out of the Northern Railway; but I had no
positive information.

Q. But you became certain of the fact when you got the cheque ?-No 1 lid not
think that added to the circumstances. Il did not know what these gentlemen's
arrangements were with the Northern Railway. I did not know but Mr. Robinson's
subscription would bu paid out of his salary.

Q. But you knew what Mr. Ross' circumstances were ?-I knew he was a Director-
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Of the Railway; but I did not know what bis circumstances where. Me said, " Mr.
-Cumberland will pay yon that subscription./

Q. Al you knew at the time then, was that you were getting a choque from the
iorthern Railway Company ?-Yes. In payment of the subscriptions of the three
gentlemen named.

Q. Was it said to be a subscription by the Company?-Oh no; I told you that
the subscriptions were individual.

Q. But at the time you got the choque was it reforred to ?-Not that I recolleet.
Q. Where was the cheque given to you ?-The cheque was given to me in the

!Northern Railway office.
Q. Rad you gone to the Northern Railway office to get the cheque ?-I did.
Q. Whom did you see there ?-Mr. Cumberland, to my recollection.
Q. And I suppose asked him for a choque for $2,500 ?-Yes; I asked him for a

,choque for the subscriptions of the three gentlemen, himself being one of them, and
told him that the other two gentlemen told me ho would pay their subscriptions,
which lie did.

Q. Where you aware that this amount was charged to yon in the books of the
-Railway Company-to you personally ?-No; I had no knowledge about it until I
saw it in the evidence of the Commission.

Q. Was the choque prepared before you arrived at the office ?-I really do not
know.

Q. This voucher or order dated 14th January, 1871, is said to be the order upon
which that choque issued ; did you see it before ?-I have no recollection of it. I did
not see it.

Q. I thought likely it was prepared in your pres;ence as the choque was not
prepared before you arrived at the office that day ?-No; I have no recollection of
ever having seen that. My impression is very strong that I never did see it.

Q. At the time you received the cheque did you consider it a contribution
%y the Railway Company or a personal contribution by those gentlemîeri?-I
*considered it the payment of the subseriptions of these gentlemen. As to
whether it was the Railway's or their own, as I said before, if I formed my impression
upon it, it may have been that it was paid by the Railway Company, but I have no
recoilection onthe subject.

Q. You said, J think, that your impression was that it was a subscription on
'behalf of the Railway Company ?-I can only repeat what I said already, that it
-was the payment of those subscriptions by the Railway Company.

Q. And that the subscription then was on behalf of the Railway Company; that
-would be your impression right or wrong; of course it was paid clearly by the
Railway Company ?-Yes, it was paid by the Railway Company.

Q. But it might have been charged to those gentlemen individually ?-Yes.
Q. Might have been paid on account of what the Company owed them ?-Yes.
Mr. PALMER and Mr. MCCARTHY objected to the witness being asked what his

impression was.
THE CHARMAN-I think there can bo no objection to Mr. Guthrie asking what

"Mr. Macpberson's impressions were at the time. Mr. Macpherson can thon answer
-or not as ho sees fit.

Mr. PALMER-It is not material to this enquiry what his impressions were.
THE CAiIRmAN said the evidence would just b taken for what it was worth.

By -Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. At the time you got the choque, Mr. Macpherson, did you consider it was a

-contribution on behalf of the Railway Company or not ?-It is very difficult to
recollect facts, still more difficult to recollect impressions, and I cannot recollect pos-
tively what impressions I had. But if I had any impression it probably was what I
said before.

Q. What you said before was that you understood it to be a contribution'by the
]Railway Company to the testimonial ?-I have no definite recollection.
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Q. What was the order of these gentlemen's names on the subscription list ?-!
already told you that I am not sure about the order of Mr. Ross' and Mr. Cumber-
land's. I think Mr. Cumberland's'was first, but I am not positive of that. I am
certain they were both before Mr. Robinson's.

Q. Did any other names intervene ?-Yes; I think so.
Q. The three were not together ?-No. That I am quite certain of.
Q. JIave you referred to the list lately to refresh your memory ?-No, I have,

not.
Q. When did you see it ?-Oh, not for months. I saw it last at the time that

the Commission was issued.
Q.. That would be last autumn ?-Last summer. I was leaving for England at

the time.
Q. The list then is in existence is it ?-It probably is.
Q. To whom, Mr. Macpherson, did you pay over this $2,500 ?-Ijpaid it over as

part of a larger sum to the trustees of the fund.
Q. What were the names ?-Colonel Gzowski, Senator Allen and Colonel

Bernard.
Q. Did you retain the list in your possession ?-I did.
Q. It is in your custody yet-your possession or control?-Idare say it is.
Q. Have you it in Ottawa ?-No.
Q. Where is it ?-l do not feel called upon to give any information respecting it

further than what concerns the Northern Railway enquiry.
Q. Of course I do not presume to ask anything further than that ?-Upon that

you shall bave all the information I have.
Q. I do not presume to enquire further than what concerns this payment. You

have not seen it since last July; is it possible you may have mistaken in regard to-
the way these names are entered, not having seen the list since last July ?-I did not
say positively because I do not recollect positively as to the order in which Mr.
Ross' and Mr. Cumberlands's names appear. I told you they were both before Mr.
Robinson's; but which of them is first I do not recollect at the moment. They were
not taken at the same time, I know.

Q. Would you have any objection to produce the part of the list containing these
names ? -I would have no objection to looking at the list and telling you the order
they are ia.

Q. And give the Committee a copy of the entries-the mode in which the namets
are put down and the amount ?-Those three names I would give the Committee the
order of.

By Xr. Palmer:-
Q. And mark the number of names intervening?-Yes.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Would you produce the list itself to the Committee ?-No.
Q. You decline to do that ?-I decline to do that; because there are the names of

others upon the same page which have nothing to do with the Northern Railway
Company.

Q. Had you shown these lists to anyone ?-I do not think anyone except myself
has ever seen the whole list.

Q. Has anyone except yourself ever seen that part of it containing the entry of
these subscriptions ?-I do not know. It is possible that I may have shown that,
but I do not recollect having done so.

Q. I do not mean to those who signed it, for anyone who signed it might see the
names of those above ?-I do not think I ever showed the complete list to any
person.

Q. I mean after the Iist was completed, did you show it to anyone ?-No; I do
not think that I showed the completed list to anyone. Not that I recollect. Indeed
I am quite sure that I did not.

Q. Were these subscriptions voluntary, or did you solicit them?-Has that any
thing to do with the Northern Railway Company.
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Mr. BowzLL objected.
MR. GUTramE-I am asking about the railway subscriptions; I am not talking of

anything else, I beg your pardon. Were they solicited or voluntary ?-As I have
.already stated-the act of Mr. Curaberland's subieription I canuot recollect. The
-others I really cannot tell whether I asked for or whether they were volunteered.
A great many gentlemen did volunteer at the time. They were not circumstances
to make a very deep impression; they occurred a good many years ago.

Q. You do not recollect, you say, the act of Mr. Cumberland subscribing. Did
you see himn on the subject before he did subscribe ?-I do not recollect having
done so.

Q. Mr. Cumberland told us that you had invited him to subscribe ?-Well, it is
probable that I may have done so. I do not recollect the circumstances. If Mr.
Cumberland did not volunteer to sign it, it is pretty certain that I asked him to do
so ; but how it was I do not recollect.

Q. Did you apply to him for a subscription on behalf of the Railway Company?
-No, never, as far as I recollect.

Q. Do you recollect in what way you did apply to him, if you did ?-No. I told
you that I did not rceollect having done so at all. I saw that Mr. Cumberland did
state that, but I failed to recollect it. Mr. Cumberland is very likely correct about
it; I do not mean to contradict him.

Q. Can you recollect how long before you received the cheque it was that the
list was signed by these gentlemen ?-No, I do not, and I have no means of knowing
that.

Q. Did you keep any books for this subscription ?-I had a memorandum book-
.a cash book.

Q. How did you credit this payment ?-I credited it to the parties who had
subscribed.

Q. That is you credited it to the three individuals ?-Yes, to the three
individuals.

Q. Did these gentlemen subscribe any other sums ?-No.
Q. Any of them ?--No.

By Mr. Casgrain:-
Q. You originated the idea of this testimonial ?-I do not think 1 deserve that

credit. No, it was talked of long before it went into operation ; and it was only for
reasons which I stated, and which yon probably saw, that it went into active opera-
tion at that time.

Q. It was spoken of ?-Oh, probably a year or two before. When it was gone
into it was feared it would be for those who would be among the widows and
orphans.

By Mr. Palmer :-
Q. Mr. Ross and Mr. Robinson subscribed respectively $1,000 and $500 and told

you that Mr. Cumberland would pay their subscriptions, and Mr. Cumberland did
afterwards pay all the subscriptions by a cheque of the Northern Railway ?-Yes.

Q. Did you know at that time anything of the transactions between these gentle-
men and the Northern Railway-whether the Northern Railway owed them, or if
not, if they proposed to pay the railway at all or not ?-No; I did not.

Q. Had you no knowledge on that subject4-None whatever.
Q. Did they at any time, either in making the subscription or in paying, profess

to act for the Northern Railway?-No, they did not.
Q. Youhave said thatthis was a testimonial, and that it was paid over to trustees;

was there not a deed of trust executed previons to the payment of that over ?-Yes,
it passed through my hands direct to trustees.

Q. I know, but previous to that was there not a deed of trust by which these
gentlemen were made trustees of this money for Lady Macdonald and Sir John's
children ?-Yes; that deed was prepared and executed before I paid the money to
them.
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Q, Do you know that these gentlemen who had this trusteeship knew anythin ,
the source from which the money came ?-I am quite certain they did not.

Q. Do you know of any means by which they could have got information of thiz
4$2,50o at all ?-No, I do not.

Q. Did Sir John A. Macdonald, so far as you know, or any of these trustees or
any of the beneficiaries know at all that any of these funds belonged to the Northern
lailway in any way ?-No, I don't think they did. I am sure they did not.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. There was nothing said then at any tin1% by any of these gentlemen or any-

body else as to this money being a contribution from the railway funds ?--Not that I
recollect.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. On the contrary, were they not distinctly told that these were voluntary

,contributions by persons who chose to give them in consideration of the valiable
services Sir John Macdonald had done to the country ?-That was the under-
standing.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Were they told so by you ?-I have no recollection of having told them so.
Q. What means had they of knowing that that was the understanding ?-Because

ihey knew of the fund and that it was voluntarily contributed.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. I think the subscription list stated that fact did it not ?-That it was
voluntary ? Yes it did.

By Mr. Palmer
Q. Did you not explain to these gentlemen why they were wanted as trustees?

-I did not namethe trustees nor frame the trust-deed.
Q. Were you not in communication with them at all ?-I was in communication

with them when handing over the trust, but I have no recollection of having said
anything on the subject.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. I understand you to say that you never showed the subscription list to any-

body, trustees or anybody else ?--No. Not a complete list.
Q. Well, if they had seen the list there was nothing on it t6 show that the

$2,500 was subscribed by the Railway Company ?--.Nothing at all. Each subscriber
wrote opposite his name the amount of his subscription. When I got the $2,500 I
marked each of the subscriptions as " paid."

Q. So that whoever saw that list would have no opportunity of knowing by
whom the money was paid, but by those gentlemen whose names were there ?-No.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. Did you canvas for subscriptions for the Sir John Macdonald testimonial

fund ?-I object to answer that question, because 1 think it is foreign to the enquiry.
The CHAirAN-I think the question can only apply as far as the canvas ofthese

three gentlemen is concerned.
Q. Did you canvas Mr. Ross, Mr. Cumberland and Mr. Robinson ?-I think I

stated two or three times that I do not recollect having canvassed them. I recollect
Mr. Ross and Mr. Robinson subscribing. As I stated, if they did not volunteer I
believe I asked them to subscribe, but whether I did or not I cannot say.

Q. How many directors were there in the Railway Company ?-I do not know.
Q. Did you ask any of the other directors ?-I am not aware. I really did not

know or do not remember who the other directors were.
Q. Did you ask any of the original shareholders for a subscription to this fund?

-That it is impossible for me to answer without having a list of the shareholders
before me. I am not aware of having done so.

Q. You did not know who the rest of the directors were at that time ?-I did
not. I do not know who the directors are 0now. I can name some of them but not
-all of them.
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By M1r. Guthruie :
Q. I understood you to say that you knew those three gentlemon were,

directors ?-Yes. I did not know who al the directors were.
Q. I do not know whether I understood you correctly at first; but I understood

you to say that they were a majority of-the local Board ?-I said nothing on the.
subject.

Q. You do not know ?-No; there was no question of that character put to me.
Q. In answer to Mr. Palmer, I uiderstood you to say, that all these people wereý

told that the contributions were voluntary, and to be paid out of their own moneys?
-I did not say so. I said that I had no recollection of having said anything to them
about the contributions.

Q. Whether it was payable out of their own moneys or anything else ?-No.
Q. Or that the contributions were voluntary or otherwise; of course, necessa-

rily, they would be voluntary, I should say ?---Of course, they were voluntary.
By Mr. Casgrain:-

Q. You spoke of a deed of trust; were you a party to that deed as delivering
over the money ?---I think not. 1, as the treasurer, handed over the funds; but I am
sure I am not a party to it. My recollection is, at al] events, that I am not. I do
not see why I should have been ; that is, I do not sec any legal reason for my having
been so, and I do not think I was.

By -Mr. Bowell:-
Q.I think I understood Mr. Macpherson to saiy distinctly, that so far as he knew,

Sir John Macdonald.'had no knowledge of these subscriptions, either directly or
indirectly ?-None whatever.

1 desire further to say, that in compliance with the request of the Committee,
I referred to the subscription book, and find that Mr. Ross was the first of the three
gentlemen who signed; six names intervened between bis name and Mr. Cumberland's,
and several names intervened between Mr. Cumberland's and Mr. Robinson's. I feel
sure no two of them signed upon the same day.

(Signed) D. L. MACPHERSON.

TUESDAY, 20th March, 1871.
Committee met.-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.
Sir JOHN ALEXANDER MACDONALD sworn and examined:

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. Sir John, I have no particular question to ask you just now, but simply to

say that I thought it proper that you should be invited to attend the Committee, as
you did not make your statement before the Royal Commission, and be afforded an
opportunity of saying anything that you might have to say regarding this matter.
Of course we have no evidence to connect you with it now, but I thought it proper
that this opportunity should be given you ?-Well, I can only repeat what I said in
the House. I had no idea of such a testimonial, or of any testimonial being in
contemplation until, I think, the autumn of 1870, after I returned from Prince
-Edward Island. Then I saw a statement in some of the newspapers that it was
rumoured that the friends of Sir John Macdonald were getting up a testimonial for
him: but the nature of that testimonial, whether a piece of plate or any provision
for myself or family, I did not know. I did not pay much attention to it until. I
think, Mr. Macpherson told me all the circumstances. He said that they had got a
subscription from my friends for the benefit of my family; and that was the first
intimation I had of the nature of the testimonial. I did not feel myself at all at
liberty, in justice to my family-or indeed in justice to my friends, if they offered me
this mark of their appreciation of my services-to decline it. I thought I was not
in sufficiently easy circumstances to refuse it, and even if I had been a wealthy man
I do not think I ought to have refused a testimony of confidence from my friends. I
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certainly made no objectioni to it. I knew no men aboutit until I was asked if t
thmr names mentioned,-Ooloml Gowski, au old friend of mine; Senator Atlan, aho
an old friend of mine; aud Colonel ernard, who is my wife's brother,--4f I had any
a ectIOnto them se truste@s I said there couI not, be thre better, men chosoe

d I heard no more about it until after the trust deed wae exeeated and transmi#e.
tp me. I thon, for -the firet time, knew the extent of the testimonial. I had seen,
however, before that, a draft of the deed of settlemnt, whicb was enclosed to me by

ghristopher Robinson, of Toronto, who drew itand I returned it to him sayvug that,
&B far as I could judge, it was an instrument well ada ted for the purposes. Ican
only repeat what Mr. Macpherson has said: that I no idea-that I do not know
the name of one single individual who subscribed to that testimonial. I did nt
know until the Commission sat last summer at Toronto; thon I heard a street rumour
that there was a saubscription from the Northern Road. That is the firat idea I had
of it; I had no idea of it, in the world, before. I thon asked Macpherson about it,
and what ho said to me was (ho was just thon going to England), "it is not the case."
The subscription was made by Mr. Cumberland, as I understood from him. That wa
the first intimation that I md that Colonel Cumberland or anybody else--any indi-
vidual-had subscribed, and the firt intimation I had that it was said that lonl
Cumberland had paid this subscription out of Northern Railway funds. I never saw
the subscription list; Mr. Macpherson never showed it to me, nor did anybody else.
Mr. Macpherson said my friends had studiously kept any knowledge of it from me,
so that 1 might not feel under any personal obligation to any individual. It was
intended to be a testimonial from my party to myself for my services, which they
were good enough to< appreciate; and at this moment I do not know any name on
that list except so far as it has come out in the Northern Railroad investigation.
I hoard to-day, for the first time, about Ross and Robinson, since I came into this
room; I did not know before that they were subscribers.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. About the time these subscriptions were being got, and shortly before, were

you not very sick ?-Yes; I heard Mr. Macpherson say since I came into this roon
that there had been an intention of that kind some time before 1870; but I was not
aware of it until I heard that statement made to-day. I understood that the testi-
monial originated from my serious illness. Early in May, 1870, just before the
House was sitting, I was struck down by a severe attack which was supposed to be
fatal, and for a month or six weeks I remained in a state of semi-unconsciousness.
As soon as I improved my health somewhat I was carried down to Prince Edward
Island, where I remained ail summer; and during the whole of that sumnmer I heard
nothing about it, and it was not till my return in the month of September or
October that I knew anything about it; thon I saw in the newspaper that it was
rumoured that the friends of Sir John Macdonald were getting up a testimonial for
him; and afterwards the story was told me by Mr. Macpherson in the manner he has
related.

Q. The subscription was got up at the time your life was despaired of ?-Yes.
Q. So that it was intended as provision for your family ?-Oh, yes, it was so

dccidedly. (Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

MON»T, 9th April, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. AROHBALD in the Chair.
Righi Hon. Sir JOHN A. MACDONALD recalled and examined.

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. There were two drafts of $500 each by you, which appear to have been out

of the funds of the Northern Railway; will you explain to thé Committee who autho-
rized the drawing of the drafts?-Those dras were authorised by Col. Camberland.
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my mind, bet saasdel thm I wae M>theMibtêdi'wthem
Q. eAsya himseef that he, had u omUmníotloi with yöo diréetly ?-M it-

presion iu4hat hie must be wietahdn.
Q. Thii answer applied both th written tommáicmàtIons and verbal ones ?-4

MMY ay hatIobmvýed. î thée ft#,eùmt en thé pubkai n -orftbe ey idene, thjàt
CP. Cuberlandiwasm uolder thé imresion that hie eOmMIunication was with Mr.
Charles Camtpbell, ofToronto. 1 hadde recollëction of eVet 4äv'ihgl any commrniita-
tien with Mr. Campbell on the subject; and the other day I ea* M[r. CampbeIl àt
Toronto, and we compared notes, and he agreed With me that he had had ne eom-
muication with me on the subject. There must have been a communication betwéu
Côl. Cumberland and myself. It must either have been by his writing to me adtho-
riging me to draw, or my writing tohimasking him to subscribe to the election fuusd;
what it was I cannot-now say. But I drew upon advice, and it must have been frein
the advice from Col. Cumberland.

Q. Have you had an opportunity of looking to see whether you had any com-
munication, any letters or telegrams from him ?-I did not inspect my correspon-
dence-it is stowed away in an infinite number of boxes at Toronto-but I examined
my letter-book, and I find no letter from me to Col. Cumberland. My letter-book
wa not likely to contain correspondence of that kind which would be of a private
nature.

By the Chairman:-
Q. I see the drafts both state " as advised "?-Yes; I certainly would not have

drawn without advice.
By .Mr. Guthrie

Q. Perhaps you could say whether, if you received a letter or telegram from Mr.
Cumberland, you would be likely to have it ?-I would not be likely to retain them.

Q. Do you remember whether Mr. Cumberland was in Ottawa about the time
the drafts were drawn ?-I have not the slightest recollection.

Q. Were you in Toronto ?-Neither do I remember that. had forgotten the
circumstance altogether, until it was revived in this way.

Q. He says the drafts were for Sir Francis Hinck's election in North Renfrew, I
suppose that is correct ?-That is quite correct.

Q. He says that in such matters he was generally regarded as representing the
railway, although he cannot say that you so regarded him ; what have you to say
about that ?-I can explicit on that subject, I was aware that there were peculiar
and intimate relations between Sir Francis Hineks and Col. Cumberland, and I would
have been much surprised if he had not subscribed to any fund to assist Sir Francis
after he was made aware of it. My impression was then, and is now, that the sub-
scription was on accoant of those friendly, personal relations between the two
gentlemen.

Q. Then I understand you to say that you regarded it as a personal subscription
by him ?-Altogether.

Q. And you had no idea that he would pay them out of the railway funds,
because they are not charged to hinself; they are charged to Parliamentary expenses
on the very day they came due ?-That idea never presented itself to my mind.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Did you suppose at the time that subscriptions of a like character would be

paid out of the railway,fpneand not out of his private resources ?-I presumed
they would b ýaid by d6L. umberland as a subscriber to the fund.

Q. As a private gentleman ?-As a private gentleman.
By Mr. Guthrie

Q. Was the amount of this oubscription unusually large ?-No. It was merely
a supposition in my mind, and therefore must go for what it is worth. There were
two drafts for $500 each; myimproeion now s that I was authorized to draw for
$509, firs4tand thatOol. Cumberland, having ascertained#hat another party not so inti-
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Medýy doïnnected with É¶- Fà Èifiets ihad itibscr1ed $*1,00, thought ho should
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Q. Do you remember any letter or commnatioù tla â a, you to 8ay so?-
I† is merely a supposition, a âtong inpressioh Biat I have; xnn because I see

th'es. two drádts tay as adtad.
Q. I think it would be satisfactory to the Committee if y.ou would look and ée

if'you have telegrams relating te the matter ?-I coud nôt dd that withont going t»
Tordrito.

Q. Because the drafts say " as advised " and Mr. Cumberland says ho has abfie
from you ?-I might have a lètter, but I am not at all likely to keep letteds of
that kind.
t Q. For my own part it would be satisfactory if you could, after a search, say
that you had them orthatlyou had not them ?-You must see the physical impossibility
of my doing that.

Q. Unless you keep your letters and telegrams fyled away ?-Well; my corres-
pondence was so voluminous that it is stowed away in an infinite number of boies;
it would take me a long time to search for it.

Q. Can you tell the Conimittee whether you applied to him first or ho volunteeru8
to subecribe ; do you recollect how that was ?-I do not.

Q. And yeu have no recollection of the circumstances under which the seoond
draft came to be drawn ?-I have no recollection, but my supposition is as I haVe
mentioned.

Q. Did you regard Mr. Cumberland as a man in a position to make such a
contribution out of his personal means ?-Mr. Cumberland was always considered as
a well-to-do man.

Q.- He has said that any one who supposed he was wealthy enough to pay such
a subscription out of bis own funds was mistaken in regard to his means ?-That I
cannot speak about. Mr. Cumberland was considered to ho in the receipt of large
emoluments, and I would not have been surprised to see that he had contributed this
sum out of his own funds to aid Sir Francis Hincks, because, as I have said before,.
there wore relations existing between these two gentlemen which, to my own cogni-
zance, ought to have induced Col. Cumberland to come forward and aid Sir Francis ino
an especial way.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Were they strong personal friends ?-Yes; and had been for a long time. I

may mention in that regard that when Sir Francis left the country in 1865, ho asked
me as a special favour, I thon being in the Government, to be a friend to Mr. Cum-
berland, as ho had been previously. He gave him into my charge as it were.

Q. You have given us an idea as to why the five hundred dollars was nereased
to a thousand; you said it was that some other gentleman had subscribed a thousand.
Would you tell me who that was ?-I have no right, without his consent.

Q. You received this money; did you receive the other gentlema's ?-No, but I
knew that that subscription had been given.

Q. What did you do with the thousand dollars ?-I paid it over to the gentleman
who managed the money matters of that election for Sir Francis.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. So you did not expend it yourslf ?-No.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. I am afraid I must ask you who that gentleman was ?-Tht gentlemau was

Mr. Scott.
Q. Which Mr. Scott ?-The lIonourable Richard Scott.

Q.The prosont Secrotary of State ?-'Yes.
DO yen know whether ho received any other snuis tit *ère dbcrbed ?

know that Mr. Scott acted as treasurer during the election.
Q. Treasurer of the fund ?-Yes.
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Q.I suppose Teu would not know to whom he distibuted it ?-I know nothing
about it; I was Smpl-the medium of reeeivng the oeny friom Mr. Oumbedaud,
and handed it over to Ar.Scott; Sir Francis Hinke had made up his mind that he
would have nothin to do in. money mattera.

Q I Seen, C thesepa draft or communications, so far as yen are
concerned, had nothing to do ith Northern Railway or its funds ?-Not the
slightest.

Q. And you had no knowledge of out of what fund Mr. Cumberland would pay
this thousand dollars ?-I had no knowledge in the world; I prosumed ho would pay
it himseoif.

Q. That is a matter on which you did not speculate ?-I did not speculate at all
on it.

(Signed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

THunsDA, 12th April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mx. AaoniBALn in the Chair.
Sir JonN A. MACDONALD appeared before the Committee and said ho desired to

make an explanation touching his previous evidence in regard to what he had done
with the proceeds of the draft of five hundred dollars. He was under the impression
that ho had paid the money over to Mr. Scott, but ho found, on further examination,
that it was deposited to the credit of Sir Francis Hincks, and that it had not been
paid over to Mr. Scett.

(Signed) JQHN A. MACDONALD.

MONDAT, 9th April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. ARcHiBALi> in the Chair.

lion. JoHN BEVERLY RoBINsoN sworn and examined:-
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Have you any explanation to give the Committee in regard to the amount
expended in connection with your election for Algoma?-I have noue of any impor-
tance, further than I gave the louse.

Q. I do not know that those are before us, so it would be well for you to give
them here?--Yes. I would just say, as I told the House, that I left Toronto and
went up to Lake Superior, where I had been in the habit of going for five or seven
years previously, on purpose to avoid getting into election matters in Toronto. ÀAnd,
when I arrived at Sault Ste. Marie, I found, much to my astonishment, that Mr.
,Cumberland was there. While I was in the town-I think it was between three and
four o'clock in the afternoon,-the Captain of the steamer came up to me and said :
"iMr. Robinson, there is a large political meeting going on somewhere, and I hear
that Mr. Cumberland is here. I said, "let us go and see the fun;" s0 we went.
There muet have been 100 or 150 people in and outside the hotel, and they were about
breaking up. Some one, or several of them there, addressed me, and asked me where
I was going. I told them up to Fort William. They were in a pretty excited state
:about this eleetion, and they asked me to run. There appeared, from my recollection
of it now, to ho some local difference between Mr. Cumberland and them, the nature
of which I know nothing about, and they pressed me very hard to become a candi-
date. I resisted, and said it would not suit my business to run for any constituency
at that time. Mr. Cumberland thon, thinking it of importance that some one repre-
senting the interests of the Northern Boad, which were closely identified with that
conetituency, should be in Parliament, pressed me hard, a& h. states in his evidence,
to become a candidate at once. This was all done -in about half-an-hour. A com-
mittee from the Bruce Mines were up there at the Sault; they were anxious to get
away, but they pressed me se that I, at last, consented. I had to make a speech, and
I toid the people, Mr. Cumberland being prosent also, that, of sourse, it would be
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und.rstood that I would ihot, at any rate,pay any of tho expenses towards the clection
myelf. He said, and they all aid, as they do Mach cases, that, of coursthe
expensesof the candidate would be paid. and I woul not run any risk about that. In
the course of about half-an-hour, the steamer rooeeded to Fort William, sone live
hundred or seven hundred miles away, that eng a part of the onustituency, and
there being a number of votes there, and where I was, perhas. better known than
at the Sault. During that election, I may bave come down once again to the Saut,
then after that, I proceeded again to Fort William, or Prince Arthur's Landing; the
eleetion then came on, and I was returned; and my expenses, as I se bythe ieter
sent down in the Commission to the House, were paid, at least Mr. Cumbrla4 ays
so. He states the amount, of which, until I saw it in that return, I did aot know.,

Q. When Mr. Cumberland pressed yon to stand did you make it a condition or
noi?-I told all the people as well as Mr. Cumberland, and they were ail in the room
together.

Q. But whon he saw you did you stipulate that the Northern Railway should
pay your expenses ?-I do not think I did; in fact, it was al done in hurry, and
they all agreed that my expenses should be paid.

Q. All agreed ?-The people as well as Mr. Cumberland.
By Mr: Bowel:

Q. The people were urging you to come out ?-The people who were asseubled
there were two committees-o.e from the Bruce Mines and one trom the Sault

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. DidMr. Cumberland agree that your expenses should be paid; because inMi

evidence he said that was the understanding between yon and him; he is asked:
" Was there any arrangement made beforehand that Mr. Robinson's expenses should
be paid by the Company ?" and the answer is: "I invited Mr. Robinson, being our
President, to seek the seat of Algoma, and I proposed tO him that if he would we
would pay the election expenses." ?-It is just as I tell you; I was there with the

pople and Mr. Cumberland. There was a great crowd, at any rate, and I have no
onubt that it is as Mr. Cumberland says; I do not recollect particularly myself; but I

made it a point that under no circumstances would I stand the expense.
Q. Had yon seen Mr. Cumberland alone ?--No, I had not seen him alone; I had

not a chance, the whole thing was doue in such a hurry.
Q. Who were present besides Mr. Cumberland; can you name them ?-Oh, there

were lots of the first men of Bruce Mines; there was the head man of the Bruce
mines and his clerk; there were half a dozen strong friends of my own, who in olden
times had been engaged in Toronto elections; the most prominent man was a shoe-
maker-I forget his name; then there was a tavernkeeper and merchants of the
Bruce Mines. In fact, all the prominent men who had been previonsly engaged in
elections. There was Bampton, a tavernkeeper; Plumber, a stirring, active mer-
chant; Hamilton and Wilson-ail active go fellows. A number of French-Cana-
dians were there, with whoin I had been on the Upper ]akes.

Q. The question is not exactly who were at the meeting; but who promised to
pay the expenses ?-They all promised. I spoke to them in the room, and the all
more or liess agreed. If they had not, I would not, under any circumstances, ave
done anything oS the sort.

Q. Had you consented before you went to the meeting ?-No, I did not knowr
they were there until I got into the place.

Q. It was at the meeting you saw Mr. Cumberland ?-Yes, they were ail coming
out of the front room, and they took me with them.

Q. But had you any conversation amongst yourselves before that; you say he
said it was desirable that the interests of the Northerp should beOrepresented in Par-
liament; that was a conversation with Mr. Cumberland? -f I mistake not, he told

Vas it in the sanie conversation that he used the hie spekinlu
the conversation: "I invited him, being ur President, to the seat of Almona,
and I proposed to him that we would pay the election expenses ?-I have ne doabt ho
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paid, long with the rut of th.ep, that he wo;d pw 1þ. eoogoepses They
xàng ha've contributedtoo fibrft 1know.

Q. M ?reaident'of"h~orlhrn Railhay, did m up Sud out what amount it
hyd éost aie laly f the eleetIon'?-Ineør Fard.. Did " know whether they had pa$ ánt* ?-I knew they had id

0. , twas f arring some eeses ' ,.ad I thiii thtr. r
they pai me *$0 or $700.

You didni4dp Ô yriends for that qxpense ?-I did not look to them.
Q. l'or your own exèndfur ,you got rehabdrsee4 y Northern ?-TM, p m

the Northern ¢ the tie
Q. Mr. Ikuftor ans ta ixave been helping you?-I think he was upthareat

the tLe.
. Yes, but were yp, aware that the Norhern paid his expenditure too ?-I do

mot know.
Q. Were you aware tþat Plumber's acconts were paid out of the Northern ?-

Not tô my knowledge, tfll I saw it in the retüru.
" . You got a -cheque for .$226 -I muat have got a cheque for $500 or $700.

Q. I find, in the month of Augst, 1872, me wine bill of Dawson, Foster 4 Co.,
something about $100, certified ciect, J. B. Robinson ?-I dare say.

Q. Was that in connection wit* your election, although It was certified in August,
1872 V-J cannot say, as Dawson was in the habit of furnishing the railway, for
different excursions, wine, &c. Whether this was one of them or not, I don't know.

Q. But this was at the very time you were at Algorga. "I have a note of it as
ppid S eptember 17th, and it was charged to contingencios. The amount is $113.75,
aiun the goods were principelIy supplied in Augst' and certified by you ?-I don't
kriw what that was for.

Q. Did you have wine, and so on, from Dawson, Poster & Co., up there ?-None
for myself personally. I was away 700 miles digatnt.

Q. Unless it was sent for *hen you consented to Fun ?-No, it was not sent for,;
but I would' have been glad to have had it.

. Do you recolleet' how you came to certifg ?-Why, we were in the habit of
d4eling with Dawson for different things of that 4ind, apd I had no doubt of it gt the
time.

Q. I want you to state whether, when you frst consented to run for Algoma,
you did not epect the Northern to pay your expenses ?-I expected Mr. Cumber-

*I4 would, in the fret place, hold me harmless in the mfatter.
Q. But not out of his ownpocket, I suppose ?-I novor asked him.
Q. But I ask you if you und'eráod that he would do it out of his owa pocket

or ouit of the moniés ofthe Northern ?--I had no understanding with him on the
subject.

Q. But what dij you understand yourself?-I never thought about it one way
or the other. It is hard to'say. I cannot say whether Mr. Cumberland was to pay
it opt of his own pocket, or 'he Nohern Railway was to pay.

Q. You say ho iaed y t d tbome a candate 't- have said so before, gs ho
has done in his evidence.

Q. How did you oine to present an account to the Northern for $600 or 8700?
-I did not present any account. I drew for it, in the course of the election, as I
requiïred it.

Q. Than why should you draw on the Northern if you did not understand that
the Northern were to jathe épenses ?--The drat spak for themselves I drew
o» Mr. Cumberland for the amouri, in accordâne with the understanding wit' him
and the peop1e.

Q. But therewas ch que of $226 given yon; ot a draft ?--It might have
beenso.

Q. How did yoi corne to y for th4t a-1 re y it--I do not know tat I
applied for it ut an h a been sent tr gie.

Q. Thet you et he qorthern wer paying the expenses†-Qf



ÂAwM*4Nodix k. is;î~'

e; whien Idrew epen.Mrubedland. I would not like to swear to it but I
had notu Sh doubt of i-, bWt I didaot knew positelywitil I -v m.

DTd yon, as Pridteonet ryorself with thedisbarsements or the expese
.of the Northern Railway ?-NOtmaa geeral thing as far as other people wor fo-

F For instance, these AgeMA expenses, wer, you in the habit of looking at
the books ?-Never.

Q Yon never concerned yoursslf with the expenses T-No; Mr. Oaunhelabd ad
bookkeepers for that purpose.

Thon except the *700 that you pernally disbursed, the election orp.es
were paid by the Northern; and this that you paid yourself, you aime g-t pai4b

hen-es.
By Mr. Palmer

Q Then with the exception of this $600 or 8700 you did not incur any ,mhet
expenses yourself?-I incurred no other expenses individually that I know of.

Q. This expenditure was anthorized by Mr. Cumberland and you inade it on the
distiaet promise that It shoild be reimbursed ?-A distinet promise, without whjeh
1 would not have entered into it.

Q. And if l undertand it right, until this enquiry was entered into, you na*e
knew what the total amount was?-Never saw it.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. At this meeting that was held at the Sault was any subsoription taken up

amongst the people ?--Not whilst I was there; there was not time fr anything <f
the sort; I was only there for half an hour that day.

Q. Was there any understanding of a subscri ption list been opened ?--They
spoke about it I think, but I was not there suffieiently long to do any business of
that sort.

Q. Were you aware that any subscription was taken up in Algoa ?-I coWld
not say whether there was or not.

By Mr. Bowel:
Q. You say that when lfr. Cumberland asked you to becone a cndidate the

people knew you were President of the road ?-Of course they did.
Q. And did they understand that you were being elected in the interests of the

road as well as their own. 1 understood that Mr. Cumberland stated there that y ou
were President of the road and that they desired to have a representtive ?- r.
Cumberland need not have stated that because it was yell known to the people whep
they were often doing businoss with the road in connection with the works. They
all must, more or les, have been aware that I was President of the road and 1sa
been for ten years past.

Q. Your position was that you consented reluctantly to be a candidate on the
undertanding that you should be put to no expense?-It was positivelystated that
I àhould not.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Did I understand you that it was stated that it was imprtmn ±at the road

should be represented in Par1gament?-Yes; most imo t.
Q. Was it stated at the meeting ?-It was stated ypomqI ',
Q. Was this atated also during your canvass in Algoma ! gyde an ae-

sation against me that I hd oms quiin the interests Qf the gas one of the

charges that My friend nd oppçne, 00L Denison, made y a y and some df
the people said "'If so s0 much teb better."

Q. Thei I understand atJiatî nMde part of your paivpau that it wa

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q* De I -mderatand gon to say that yOU stated 4t the eeti gt the Sault tha

OR were 2*fmning in the 3lnerest fthe r0d0?-No, I 4i4 0& ata to t peupi,
but it was made an accusation against me. I defended myself, refrred to tha
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importanoe of.the road and aid that instead et It bol ' n4bjeci to me i would
serre our muteal interestt, and uany othera smpke i %; m so rain as I did.

Q. was it stated that your election expeuses would be paid by tha Northurn in
your speeche. ?-No; I nover rferred to my ex

Q. Was it stated at any other meeting atyou had been solicited by Mr.
Cumberland to run in the interests Of the Northem Ralway?-I don't kpoiw that
it was.

Q, Did ye state at any other meeting that you were running in the intarets
Of the Northern, or did yon merely put it in this way: in answer to charges thatyou
were running for the Northern, yon said the interesta of the Northern and Algoma
were identical ?-Yes.

Q. Then you did not admit the charge that you were running in the intereste of
the «Northern to be true ?-When my opponent charged- me with running in the
interesta of the Northern I explained to the people the connection between the
Northern and their interests.

Q. Do you remember at what meeting yen explained that?-I cannot say.
Q. Can you say where you said that?-Ool. Denison urged it as an objection te

me at more than one place.
Q. Do you remember where ?-I have no doubt it was done at the nomination

at Sault Ste. Marie. He wanted to make all the points he could against me, and
this was one of them.

Q. Who attended to the disbursements ?-I don't know; I was 500 or 700 miles
away most of the time.

Q. I mean the disbursements in connection with the election ?-I do not know
who attended to them; it might have been done by the Committee.

By Mfr. Bowel :-
Q. Do you know the parties to whom the bills were sent 2-No ; I do not.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. I was not in the House on the occasion of your making the speech on this

matter, but I read the report of it in one of the papers, and I do not recollect that
you said that anybody but Mr. Cumberland had pronised to pay your expenses. Did
you say it in the House ?-I do not know that I did.

Q. In the House, as I read the report, you stated, as Mr. Cumberland states in
bis evidence, that on his request you ran, and upon his promise as to the expenses.
Do you reoollect whether you stated in the House that any one else than Mr. Cum-
berland was to see your expenses paid ?-I do not know that I did. I have not read
my speech since I made it. I know it was a matter talked of by the people ih the
meeting.

By Mr. Bowel :-
Q. Yon know you refused to run if your expenses were not paid, and unles

they promised to pay them ?-I said it in the presence of a hundred people, and Mr.
Cumberland was there.

By X-. MeCarthy
Q. The Northern Road ws promoting the Pacifie Junction ?-Yes.
Q. Where was it intended to mn ?-It was intended to be an extension of the

Northern Road paut the Bruce Mines, from Gravenhurst to Sault Ste. Marie.
Q. That was direcluy through your constituency ?--Yes.
Q. Was that a matter at that time under consideration ?-It was one of the mat-

ter under consideration, and a most im rtant one.
Q. That was a matter that the go ern Road were actively promoting ?-Yes;

actively promoting; we had had general deputations down from the country about
it at different times.

Qi o that anyceoieon yun might have with the Northern Road could not
formaly have been an objection in the eyes of the constituency ?-Not at all with
my supporters.
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~By the CAWañaa:
Was the Pacife 3anction charte.rbeingproviodbefoethis House or the local

Houet-It was a Ioeal.ekarter.
Q. If it was a local charter, *st pattieular tuotive would the people of Algoma

have in returning yox to te H1ôqEa of Qommons ?-I eabuot peak s to tha"
exactly; but it was a subjeot of g d sionin the contes.

By.Mr. Marthy:-
Was it proposed to ask the Dominion Government for aiîd towards the con-

struction of that iroad ?-4 have no doubt it was.
Q. I believe the ides of that road was to connect with Jay Codke & Co.'s road-

the Northern Pacife ?-Yes; I think it was; we had gone down to New York, and
I think we met Jay Oooke there, Mr. Cumborland and myself, and a tnumber of per-
sons interested, and we talked the thing over.

By Mr. GutArie
Q. I find in the books of the Northern Railway, and, in fact, it i disclosed in-

the Railway Commission, that between *4,000 and 85,000 stands to your debit in the
books, as an overdraft ?-So I se.

Q. I suppose you got the money charged against you ?-No, I don't know it
was charged against me.

Q. But I say you got it ?-I don't know that I did.
Q. Have you ever looked over your accounta ?-Not that I recollect, except

once, hurriedly, with Mr. Cumberland.
Q. I have a copy of your accounts from the books, certified to by the accountant;

you have never looked over it ?-I looked over it hurriedly with Mr. Cumberland; I
asked him for the letter about it.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. What letter was that ?-That was the letter in whioh he stated that he knew

there were several items in that account for which I was not liable.
By Mr. Guthrie:

Q. By the books of the Northern Bailway a balance of 84,606 is made out,
against yQu; in July it was $4,970,'but they have credited you with some Directors'
fee, which bas reduced it; what explanation have you to give as to this amount
which is standing against you ? -I could not give an explanation as to the amount
until I knew the items. The firat I knew of it was that Mr. Hamilton met me on
the street and he told me that my account was considerably overdrawn; I think that
was in 1874, after I left or had to leave the road; I was not in a very good temper,
and I got into a conversation with him, and I asked him whether he had charged any
of the engines against me. He said, " No, not that." " Well," I said, " Hamilton,
you recollect a matter of a thousand dollars I came to you for, that Cumberland told
me to get, Ithink it was for the Muskoka business, is that charged against me ?" And
hesid, "Yes." Isaid, "I don't owe that." He said, "I know you don't." I aked
him if he charged -some travelling expenses against me whieh I got fr om him when
we were going to Now York. He saidit was chargd aginet me. "WeI, then," I
said, " you had better strike them off." Ho said I had better look at the accounts.
Then I never paid any further attention to it, until I spoke to Mr. Cumberland about
it; I was not in the humor to do it. I thoughi, in the summer of 1875, that if I
went away and met with any mishap, if that account was etanding*agaiiist me, som*
one, on my behalf, would get into trouble. I went to Cumberland, andOCumberland
said to me, " Let's look at it." We looked at it for a short time, and he said ho had
not time to look into the thing. And I then said, " Write me a letter that some of'
these items charged against me are not owing ;" and ho did so.

Q. Have you got the letter ?-I have; I have it in Ottawa.
It would be weIl to produce it, a Mr.Camberland was oxamined about it, and

we ail agreed it would be botter to see the letter. With regard to your account, I
*il glve you the aecount s it is taken from the books, and askyou to look it over
before examining you any further about it ?-I am not eredited fith the proper
salary I should receive, as Cumberland says in his evidence.
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Q. What salary were youto get when you firt the oàoe of President?
-Ihad no poitive under in bout it that I r . 99 or ound ont

abêut two years after I waís elnt, that ni ádoe~ <0 terling (u te
sameciffie. I have ben ,otd with tI u5 anidas myseIrvices
4reat any rate on a par e hoI d
tio 'ofle, was in a bette. andeeralyyesa
.director, I took it for granted !iit' Mberaa n e my
Say for Mfr. Cumberland, that he had o o iça to it 4 it, ad so thbings
went on. From time to tie, I drw thean d
I szhouJd have a satis9fa cr tj tom.nt.

By Mr. Bf,«4:-
Q. Then what you really fontend is, that yare no ie4bted to the road at all?

-- I contend quite the other way. I contend that the road owe me something worth
looking after; a considerable amount.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. You say there was no definite understanding when you first accepted offce.

What amount of salary was attached to the ofice ?-Cumberland spoke of $I,000 At
~thát time.

Q. Was that the amount credited to you ?-It might have been; the account will
show.

Q. When did you first learn that your predecessor was etting more than $1,000 ?
-It was in 1861 or 1862. It was about a year and a half or two years after I was
Made President.

Q. Up to that time had yon-?---Up to thattime, I might say that the interest
.on the bonds was not all paid; and after the interest on the bonds was paid to the
bond-holders, I took it for granted that I should be on a par with my predecessor.

Q. Up to that time you had not contended it ?-I do not know whether I had
positively or strongly contended it. I might have mentioned it to Mr. Cumberland.

Q. Of course, if you did not know what Mr. Morrison was getting, you would
-mot complain. Do you remember whether you spoke of it, or complained of it. until
:aifter you learned what Mr. Morrison was getting ?-I cannot say that I complained.
As )Mr. (, umberland says in his evidence, I was always talking about it. I looked
upon it as a great injustice, because at the time Mr. Morrison was getting £1,000
,terling, the road was not earning as much, perhaps by one-third, as when I was
President.

By Mr. McCartky
Q. Was it sterling ?-They all spoke of it as sterling.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
<. I see that the amount credited to you was $1,000 ap to 1864: that is $103.61

per month ?-That is 81,200 iyear or thereabouts.
Q, Was that what you got at first ?-Whatever the account says, I got.
Q. I find, then, from 1864 that it was reduced; perhaps yon were not President;

were you President continuously from 1861 ?-I was President contitnously till 1873.
Q. I find, in 1864, 1865, up to 1866, that you were credited with $44.5à a month ?

-He may have credited mo further; I 4o not know.
Q. Then in 1967 again it was raised to 83.33 per month ?-That would be

4140, a year.
Q. There were about three vears that $40.55 per month was credited to you. I

want to know if you were awaGe<,t the change ?-No; not tàat I recollect; but I
always-protested against thesmali es of my solary, and Cumberland always admit-
ted the reasonableness 0f my objection

Q. Were you aware 41st was Grt $1,200 and then it wasoeduced to somet4ing
he $500 ?- 1 could nt say that I was, thgh it migbt have been so ertered.

Q. £250 sterling is w t you apparénty ot i 1863; tin4 it came down to
00 sterling in 1864, or 4Pà per month. That continue p to 1864, when it

vas $83.33 per month. Then it was raised again i 18 t $ .89 per month?-.- aow 14168- 91er2*t



I do pot know how tb pere pet 1 do#vn; bpat I kpo tþie undertanding I had
with the manager aboui it.

QWas the aury gjeg or et 9y time, to your knowledge'?-I really
Sp> 0know. I mifht .w; d aa I ve stad s versations with M

.id freg v e apienay' aq -It onld appear tha I
ouglt to know. 4t ti ge tip‡i s a yaItiog a4 doig what one woq)4
na4-sily do to get a f4'ir sqpipp. C bra a y aditted tah4 I iil4 g
just elaim, so I di not 1oo<4 Ue~et.

Q. 1n looking 4 te , ip M63, fr cthpt drew, f£m
August, $103.66 a month. opf ptc$1ygtht .it lthe A
en was made in o4, . , ,tha
these argts were in , , aneç» tme amo dtI g a bWen 80.

Q. Can you state tt yoP did not know tlme 4meets to yoq w re Ipsa?
-I cainot speak positively * te ‡a poin. The fact e »p4tter is, t never

examined the accounts.
Q. But you must #!agr $þ "iount yog 4rew per piegg47 -J know Phat as it

appears by the books.
And you must Jggy s it was le@4 thu yog Fgd fg drø ?-Yes but I

alwaye felt that the amoà' 'ou d pid good.
Q. In 1866 they p q çregge¢ Aq $83.3 ", nd they ontinued at

thgt regularly qp to y pgain morpasp i4 Were you aware of the
increase in the salary credi ? e uo godt Çnmlerinf informed m4i orit.

Q. id you app1y to the Çpgirma in Lopdon or dp rogd ýþere ou the subject
of your salary ?-I thmik I did once.

Q. You #pplied for sa ' ee ?-Yes.
Q. It was not granied ?-T&bt I will not PAy positively; th;ey wrote an answer

to Mr. Cumberland perhaps to4 ç eet y u ' nention; I r.eilect asking Mr. Cum-
berland to bring it to the attention of the tocal B 4, ua4er' whose direction the
salary was as all 'the other salaries were; it was never done, so tçre the matter
rested.

Q.How was it you got this increase ?-I know, now you speak of a correspg4-
enoe, I recollect writing ta $4e Directors stating it gfs toS small a matter to in-
terest themselves in particuilrly after the interest op thor 4pads was paid, and tJp
salary was and should be in the gif, of the Local Boerd af Toronto.

Q, Well, were the Engliah Directors interfering ?-I don'tknow that they wee;
but I think I wrote to then, or they wrote ta Cumberland, a"d so far for the time the
matter dropped.

Q. What was the result of your application; did you get the increase ?-The
result was that Cumberland authorized me to draw sometlig in proportion to tJse
salary that my predecessor had got, for sometime at any rate. HRe adnitted th4
justice of it.

Q. Iow did you come to get this increase from $mm to $123.69?-i 4pn')
know.

Q. Was that the result of your application for au erSsfe of salary ?-It might
have been, I cannot say.

Q. The increase seems to have taken placl i ,uly, 1872, and I thiok it con-
tinued as long as you were President ; yo> agy t1pp M. OJaberland a=thorise4 you
to draw an extra allowance ?-Of course he did.

Q. When ?- Whenever I reminded him that the roed ys in a dilerent position
and that the interest of the bondholders ws p*id, -e .aditted ithe juatice of ;ay
request. I looked upon it that it was only just that I sh he on a par with pay
predecessor.

Q, Did you bring that befoe the Toato r oe y i-,ot eoloeeively; but
migt have spoken to the Board indivi4alRy.

R.Doyou remember whq you spoir. 9 diyidgauy?-I do Rot remrember.
Q. Or did you ?-I would not say.
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Q. When did Mr. Cumberland authorize you to begin drawing an inrosse ..
get his consent at different times.

Q. What amount did he permit to draw?-Nothig poitive. I told him
that under any circumstanoes I ong xt to have been entitted to have what Mr. Mor
rison got. He did not dispute it. W were promoting the construction of the Pacific
Junetion and several other branches, and ITwas being continually taken away front
my business, and there was a great dea to do, and h. then suggested ithimself, and
I said I ought to be allowed £750 sterling per year, and ho said, "I think you ought."1

Q. Did youi understand that from that sime you were entitled to £750 ?-I
eertainly thought so; though I had no particular agrement about it.

Q. You did not treat that as an ment ?-I did.
Q. But you knew that the Local had the power to fix the salaries ?-Yes.
Q. Why did not you have it before the Local Board ?-Because Mr. Cumberland,

as he stated in his evidence, had the management of the road.
Q. Thon ho was a member of the Local Board ?-Yes; and Managing Director

for the bondholdèrs in England.
Q. Thon had you any reason for not 6 ringing it before the Board ?-No reason;

1 knew they would have consented if I had.
Q. From that time did you consider you had an understanding with Mr. Cumber.

land to give you an increase, and to what amount ?-I could not state the amount,
exoept as above. I always said it ought to begin from the time of my appointment.

Q. I understand that you had been contending that you were underpaid ?-There
was no contention about it, because ho admitted it.

Q. What did ho authorize you to draw on account ?-I could not say without
looking at the books.

Q. Do you remember it at all ?-I do not think Iremember his telling me I could
draw half the amount that Mr. Justice Morrison received.

Q. When was that ?-As far back as 1866 or 1867.
Q. Did ho agree that from that time you should have that amount ?-I cannot

say that he even objected to it.
Q. Will you swear ?-He says I was equitably entitled to it, and I think so

myself.
Q. What I v ant to know is, whether there was any understanding with you for

that amount ?-There was no positive understanding.
Q. Nor for any positive amount ?-There was a positive amount, because I

always understood that under any circumstances I was entitled to half what my
predecessor got, and at one time he admitted that I ought to get £750 per- year, as 
have before stated.

Q Did you treat that as settled ?-I treated, and wanted to treat it as settled.
At times Cumberland would say It was all right, and at times ho would make some
objection.

Q. Yon say sometimes he agreed to it, and sometimes he did not ?-You know
how those things happen sometines.

Q. You got notes from Mr. Hamilton, the Secretary; did you get all those notes
with Mr. Cumberland's knowleige ?-Every one.

Q. ie says you get one when ho was away ?-He is mistaken.
Q. He says yon got that without his previous knowledge ?-He is mistaken, for

I never got any money without his knowledge.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. Any notes ?-Nor anything in the shape of money or notes, withont his con-
sent. I would not have presumed to have done it or got the Treasurer into anY
diculty about such a thing.

By Mr. G(utrmne:
Q. The note he refers to is one for $2,000, in Qetober, 1873, which would be a

few months before you ceased to be President?-I héard he was going to New York,
and as I required the money, I went up to his house in the evening, and in his hall I
spoke about it, and told him I would get the money from Hamilton the next day.
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Q. Didhe onsent toit ?-Ofcoarn hedidau4 I went the nert morning and
got the note.

By mr. Guthrie
Q Did you tel Mr. Cumberland how mnuh ?-T told him how much.
Q. He was away at New York when you got the note ?-I think he went away

the nùet evening.
Q. Was ho away when yeu got the note ?-He iight nit have been away that

day; he might have goqe away $hat .veUing. I know Lt was because I knew he was
going away that I went to him.

Q. When notes are made who is in the habit of signing them ?-Mr. Hamilton
and Mr. Cumberland.

Q. Did Mr. Cumberland sign that note of $2,000 ?-I think he muet have
signed it.

Q. You think ho did sign it ?-His name must have been on it; ho might or
might not have left it with Hamilton in blank.

Q. Did Mr. Cumberland leave blank notes ?-That I do not know; ho might
have done so at times.

Q. Was he in the habit of entrusting blanks to the secretary to be filIed up ?
-The secretary had the full confidence of Mr. Cumberland, and he might have done so.

Q. Do you recollect whether or not, as a fact, he signed your note for 82,00O,
because, if ho actually signed the note, knowing it was for you, he must have been
wrong ?-His name, as I stated before, must have been on the note.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Was it drawn in your favor ?-Yes, it was handed to me by Mr. Hamilton;

it may have been that Hamilton had sorhe blanks signed by Mr. Cumberland, as he
was going away.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. It was a note payable to your order ?-The account says it was a note ai any

rate.
Q. Do you recollect whother Mr. Cumberland signed the note drawn up at your

order or not ?-I do not recollect him signing it in my presence, and that is the
reason I think a note was handed me by Hamilton. Hamilton spoke to me of it
afterwards, and said that Mr. Cumberland had rowed him about givmng me that note.
I said, "I think you must be mistaken; lot us go in and see Mr. Camberland ;" and
we went into his room, but he was away thon. That was some five or six weeks
after the note was given.

Q. The secretary mentioned to you that Mr Cumberland had been fâding fault
with him for having given the note in his absence ?-Yes.

Q. And you went in to speak to Mr. Caurberland about it, but did not find him ?
-Yes. Upon the night I went to sec Mr. Cumberland he was very busy; there were
one or two others there besides himself, and I drew him out into the hall and spoke
to him about it. As he was going to New York ho may have lost sight of the
matter.

Q. I was going to ask you if you could tell the Committee from what date you
began to draw what you considered the proper allowance you should get ?-I could
not.

Q. Can you tell how long ago it was ?-No; I could not.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. Would not the accounts show ?-I dare say they would.
By Mr. Guthrie

Q. You say you do not know at what time ?-I think it was 181
Q. When you did begin tooverdraw, you did not draw for any partioac"ramount;

You just drew some now, and some again ?-Yes.
Q. When you got this letter from Mr. Cumberland, which you will produce, did

you present your Caim for more ?-I reminded him then, of course o the agree-
mnt.
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Q. id v-ou ever, Preent anw Zdaim Ag inat him on tbe B~7Invrddi
ë t u e t n *& r. he d i~ suit eucièÇti t nfinÇa to tal N9tt Ir ri~$rari andgehi o.

ent.
Q. Yes; but yoe have now cesed to be President for ove. tMë years. During

that tin-e have you evpr. prerred any élaimn 1. beHand or the Board in any
shaýe for *ht yIu oxdeid p or salaryiNo; lit to the Board oficially. I
epore to the present President about it before I came down her, only tbe oetâé dày,
aiid I spoke to Mr. Cumberland ebôtit it, sag aye ago.

Q. But have you ever Se''nt in iüy clant ?-Any 4Wrten fläiri, no.
Q. And have you ever asked for any definite afiotnt, to settie your claim

finälly ?-No; I was not in the mood to do it; I was annoyed at the way I was
treated.

By Mr. Plmer:
Q. If I understand you rigbt, you say the only persons who had the power to

fix the salary was the Local Board ?-Yes.
Q. Was the amount of the salary ever fixed by the Local Board at all ?-Never.
Q. Then, if I understand it, the amount of your 8alary never was fixed, and

never was settled on ?-Never, that I knew of.
Q. You took offee without any special agreement as to what your salary should

be ?--I took office partly with an agreement, and partly not. Mr. Cumberland
Spoke about $1,000, I think, at first, but I, even then, spoke of £500.

Q. I understand that Mr. Cumberland was not the party to fix it ; I understand
it is the Board ?-Well, Mtr. Cumberland was virtually so. He represented the bond-
holders, held their proxies, and managed the road in these matters.

Q. Had Mr. Cumberland the power to fix the salary ?-If Mr. Cumberland had
fixed it, I am sure there would have been no objection.

Q. Because his recommendation would be accepted; but I am speaking of the
legal power to fix it ?-The legal power is another thing, that was with the Local
Board.

Q. Of course, as the management was largely personal, you considered that his
recommendation would be pbwerful ?-I knêw that it would be.

Q. Then you went into this claiming on the one side that you were entitled to
the salary you speak of and, after several years, it being understood with Mr. Cum-
berland that the amount will be settled on ?-That was it.

Q. Then, because there was some trouble about paying interest on the bonds
was not that a reason why several tra4sactions of that Company were kept open ?-
Yes; because the interest was not paid on the bonds.

Q. And, of course, these persons particularly, who were interested in the road
kept their claims open until they got more capital ?-That was it. The interest was
paid on the bonds, say abouttwo years after I became President.

Q. fr. Cumberland recognized your claim, and gave you notes from time to
time on account of it. Is that correct ?-Yes.

Q. Then, if I undërstand it right, when these notes were given they were
distinctly given, not as you borrowing money from the Company, but as money that
they owed you ?-So much on account of what was due to me.

Q. Was there any pretence at any time that you owed the Company ?-No; none.
Q. On the contrary, if I understand it, you always claimed they owed you?-

After the difficulty with them, and the termination, in 1873, of my holding office, I
maintained that, and I do not think Mr. Cumberland disputed it.,

Q. I understood that they were not in a position to psy you at the time, and
they took these credits on account ?-I always considered that it was an accoint.

Q. Did you understand that the different moneys you got month by month were
younY total daim ?-INo; I did bot. I drew from tiíe to time as I wanted, and left
the balance to be decided afterwards.

Q. And of course there can be no doubt that yoù were not taking money your-
self from the road, or borrowing the money from the road ?-Neither one nor the
other as I understood it.
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s p g at a ~ dr y e ad what they óre&"nized ar.

By Mr. 9 &
Q.You state thi, >he l h oer ex' your lary aPresident ?-I tbn* thé Âét sa4 sé.

(.If the Local Board lias pu q or to theii lrh Jdyu
ondo oar ?I do t þ p I a wrot

a letter and showed me the le rhe ad got inl answer 19 ne h hbdrpm tiem.Q. Did flot yo nlimakpeication -. .<> iitfé e re dng so.. Did you rife to té Cirnn in London I eally d n> khow whethe
I dit or nQt, it waà 1o lOn àg.

Q. When yù beime President of the road 1 Wýup o hee was an understand-
ing what your salary Was to bt-.1 do not think the Bor ever heard of it•Iido not think it ever carme upbefore them.

Q. Was the sálary eenAidered entirely an unknoWn qüi>tity -I could not
as to that. You have heard what I have stated about it. tog. see there was a d-.

• <ulty in paying the sflary when the interest was not paid to the bondholders in full.Q. The reason I ask that question is that there is a discrep ney between Mr.
Cumberland's evidence and y ours. Mr. Cumüberland saya that e sla was fxed
at 8I,000 ?-I said during the first t*o years I did not speak positivey until the
bondholders got their interest. Then, when the bondholders got their interest, Isaid, as I said at first, learning that Mr. Justice Morrison got 4,000, that I ought
to have got half at any rate.

Q. I mean that you accepted the amount you were paid when you became
President, until you learned that Mr, Morrison had more ?-I said long ago I could
not speak to that. I know that the bondholders got their interet, and I thought
they ought to be liberal with me as the President, considering what I had done for
the road. I drew Mr. Cumberland's attention to the fact that I ha4 introduced a Bill
by which the bondholders got their six per cent., placing the road in a favourable
position by the Act, and having enabled them to get their interest I thought the time
had come when i should be paid liberally.

Q. So you made no claim until the bondholders received full interest for the
bonds ?-I don't think I did.

By Mr. Catgrain
Q. You made a statement in the House on 5th March last, .n the subject ofthe Northern Railway. Did you read the report that was made ?-I did rot.
Q. The report of it of which I desire to know whether it is correct, is on page

447 of the f'ansard
''Re hâd gone to the northern part of the district, and being aoquainted, as he had

previously mentioned, with a great number of the early settlers, he was returned as
a member; but he had not become a candidate-indeed he wouLd have been a foolhad he acted otherwise-until it was fairly understood on the part of the Northern
Railway and himself that his expensos would be paid."

Is that correct ?
A. Yes. I Aupplemented that by saying "and the people to-day."
Q. Is this a correct one ?-If I limited it to Mr. Cumberland it was an oversight
Q. Was this reported truly as your statement ?-I cannotsay.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. This report is true and you supplement it further with the statement that

others were present ?-Yes.
By Mr. Palmer :-

Q And were parties to the agreement?-Yes. Aswell asthey OOUMk be in such
a hurried meeting.

By AMr. Bowell
Q. When were you first connected with the rdad t-I was0on eedwith it f-om

the first meeting that was held in the cit bout it, ia no, î1.
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Q. Whon were you chosen Prsident ?- was cboSen a Dieretor by the Coaneil
f the oiity in 1858 or 1854, belg put 4n4h 0#k4 boyth Uuneil, un d I rezaainod on

the Board for several years previous to my being elected President.
Q. And when were you first elected Président ?--Iu 1861,1 think.
Q.Iow long did you remain Président ?-1hirten or fourteen years.
Q. Until when ?-Say, 1873.
Q Had you had any diilcnlty with thefBoard ?-None whatever; always the most

barm< nious.
Q Thon why were you remoed from the Presidency ?-I was made a martyr

.of for my political opinions I supposé. I think Mr. Cumbeland said the time had
.coIne when the directors sbould be of the political priniples of the party who were
in power, as it would botter serve the interests of the Road if the President and the

-directors were of the same political opinions as the party in power.
Q. Did he give yôu any reason ?-I think he went on to say that they had

Jinterests to serve that would be botter served by our being replaced by men who were
in the interests of the Government.

Q. Did Mr. Cumberland say to you that he had any reason other than this for
the course he was pursuing ?-None that I recollect.

Q. Did he say that that course was insisted upon by any outaide parties-any
parties who desired the composition of that Board to be changed ?-}He did not
mention any names to me.

Q. Did he say he had had any conversation with any person on the matter ?-I
do not think he did.

Q. Then I understand you to say that you were removed from the presidency in
.order that you might be replaced by others who were in harmony with the political
.opinions of those in power ?-Yes.

Q. And Mr. Cumberland told you so ?-Yes.

By M1r. Guthrie.
Q. Was this because they wanted to compromise the claim with the Govern-

ement ?-I could not swear as to Mr. Cumberland's reasons further than I have said.
Q. Was that spoken of ?-No, I do not think he said so; he.said, on broad terms,

it would better serve the interests of the road if myself and Mr. Morrison were not
on the Board.

Q. Do you know of any other way that this would help the Company, except
in settling the claims of the Government ?-No, none.

Q. Were you, while you were President, in the habit of presiding -at the annual
ameetings ?-Yes, both the-annual and semi-annual meetings.

Q. Did the statements produced show the net earnings of the Road ?-They were
.all printed, and must have done so.

Q. Did you move the adoption of the ré rts ?-Generally so.
Q. Then these net earnings were arrivod at by crediting you with the salaries

amentioned in your-account ?-They might have been.
Q. Do not you know that much, although you were President, that the net earn-

ings were arrived at by crediting yon with the amount of salary you received ?-I do
not know how the accountant arrived at it.

Q. Did you not, as President, take sufficient interest in the affairs of the Company
to know how the balance was stryck ?-I took a great interest in their affairs, but as
1 stated before, Mr. Cumberland had a staff of book-keepers and clerks to manage
those details.

Q. Did you receive your monthly payment by cheque ?-Yes; I think I did.
Q. And I suppose endorsed these cheques? -Yes; I dare say I did.
Q. Then there is one payment of 4200 I woeld like to mention to you. It is en-

tered February 29th, 1868: J. B. Robinson, Parliamentary expenses, for amouât paid
to him; for amount claimed by him as back salary ?-Yes.

Q. I want to ask you if you got 1200 on February 29th, 1868, as being the amount
then élaimed by you as baock salary ?-On account of back salary ?
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Q. It does not say on account of back salary on the voucher. Did yeu reccive
S200 as back salary in February, 1868 ?-Whatever the voucher says, and My name
is on it, I stick to it; but I cannot tell you ten years after.

Q. I ask you if you recollected on one occasion claiming and receiving $200 as
back salary ?-I do not recollect it as back salary; I only recollect it partly because
you mention it so.

Q. Do you recollect getting $200 at that time ?-No.
Q. For back salary ?-No; but I will not dispute it.
Q. It is entered in the book in that way ?-I dare say it is correct.
Q. I want to point out to you the two items under the head of sundries you are

credited with, 1250 ; and when we look at the journals we fmid that they are made
up of $50 for Parliamentary expenses, and $200 claimed by you as back salary ?-It
may have been; that shows that what I have said is correct.

Q. There was a balance that half-year of $321 ?-Yes.
Q. And by means of that allowance, at the end of the half year, the account was

balanced exactly; do you notice that ?-I see it there.
Q. Is your contra account against the Company based upon your claim for

salary ?-Yes; and my services to the Road.
Q. You claim salary and for your services besides?-Yes.
Q. Because I find you got $500 in connection with the Northern Extension?-I

dare say I did; I went to twenty meetings or so in varions parts of the country
about the Northern Extension.

Q. You got considerable sums of money from time to time for expenses, did you
not ?-I do not think I got considerable sums; I went to a considerable number of
pla0es.

Q. I will show you one place where you got $400 for disbursements; on another
occasion you got, as early as 1865, a considerable sum which is charged to sundries-
disbursements, $417.95; $256.67 is an account for monies claimed to have been
laid out for the Road; there is also the Grey and Simcoe Railway, 8200 ?-They were
for travelling expenses with the deputation on contests with opposing roads; in the
first place I dispute some of the items. I have not had an opportunity of looking at
them.

Q. Except, as to your claim for salary ?-Except that.
Q. When you got notes on account of your salary did you give receipts for

them ?--I cannot tell you; i gave a receipt for the amount I have no doubt.
Q. When you got notes was anything said about it being on account, or was that

your own understanding merely ?-It might have been my understanding, withont
any positive mention to the treasurer.

Q. Because I see you are charged the discount or the interest, and discount on
receiving them which is contrary to what would be the case if you had any express
nderstanding with Hamilton ?-I never had any positively express understanding with

Hamilton.
Q. Did you have any understanding with Mr. Cumberland that these notes were

on account ?-That they were on account of my just claims against salary.
Q. And that was expressly stated ?-Why, he says that himself.
Q. Do you know why ho charged you discount ?--No; I never agreed about the

discount; i never noticed it.
Q. Did you see the balance by which yon were charged for it, and with owing the

Company a balance ?-I do not think I did.
Q. I mean the balance sheets for the years, your account was overdrawn; no

doubt they would show ?-They ought to.
Q. Did you sce them?.-I do not think I did, except with Mr. aumberland.
Q. Did you ever make out any account, or did yon ever enter into any book or

memorandum of the amount yo claimed ?-Memorandum of my own I had.
Q. When ?-Time and again.
Q. Because you are unable to fix the date ?-How am I unable to fix thedate ?
Q. You are unable to fix the date as to when it was you set up the claim. Have
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you any memorandum that will show when you first set up a claim, and for what
amount?-I have not, except what I have stated.

'Q. With regard to the subscription to Sir John Macdonald's testirponial. What
have yougot to say about it ?--I have nothing to say particularly aboutit.

Q. Io there any explanation'?-l think that Mr. Ross at that time, and myself and
Mr. Cumberland, had a talk about it; and we agreed that a subscription should be
given by the Northern Road, to the testimonial to Sir John Macdonald.

Q. Of what amount ?---The amount that appears on the books is $2,500, the same
as the Great Western and other roads gave, as I understood.

Q. Afterwards you subscribed ?--Afterwards I did subscribe to a certain amount,
yes. , I see Mr. Macpherson says I put my name down for $500.

Q. Did you subscribe as a director of the railway, on behalf of the railway ?---
As a director of the railway. I subscribed on the understanding I had with Mr. Ross
and Mr. Cumberland, that the railroad was to pay the amount.

. Q. Did you and Mr. Ross subscribe at the same time ?--No; I happened to go
into Mr. Macpherson's office on other business, and he said, '' by the way, put your
name down for $500," and I told him the understanding we had had.

Q. Of what understanding ?-I don't know whether I told him; it was all done
so hurriedly. I went in about another business entirely ; I had not any conversation
of any account at all with him.

Q. You told him of the understanding you had ?-I would not swear positively to
that.

Q. You say he asked you to put your name down for $500, and you did so
Well. I will not swear to that, by any means.

Q. You said he asked you to put your name down for $500 ?-I told him I would
put down my name for $500.

Q. What understanding did you refer to ?-I referred to no understanding so far
as Mr. Macpherson was concerned, but remembering the conversation previously had
with Ross and Cumberland.

By Air. Bowell:-
Q. Did you tell him that this money was to be paid by the Railway Company ?-

No.
By Mr Guthrie :-

Q. You surely did not lead him to believe that it was a personal subscription ?-
Ie did not ask me, and I did not say.

Q. But did he understand anything about it ?-I will not swear what he under-
stood.

Q. You said that Mr. Macpherson referred to the understanding you hid ?--Mr.
Macpherson asked me if I would subscribe and I told him I would, and he asked me
to what amount, and I said $500, and whether it was at tLat time or afterwards that
1 put down my name I don't know.

By Mr. Palmer -
Q. Then the evidence you gave a little time ago is incorrect ?-I gave no

evidence.
Q. Because I understand you to say that Mr. Macpherson asked you to put

down your name for 8500 ?-He could not have asked me, because he did not know
what I was going to put down. He might have asked me to subscribe $5.00, $1,000
or $1,500 ; it was merely conversation.

By Mr. Guthrie
- You say that you, Mr. Cumberland and Mr. Ross agreed that the Railway

Company should give $2,500 ?-We had some conversation.
Q. Did you have an understanding, then, that it should bo given in your

individual names-that the subecription list should be equal in your individual names ?
-Yes, I think we did; I cannot speak positively as to that.

Q. Was it agreed that Mr. Cumberland should put down for $1,000; Mr. Ross,
$1,000; and yourself for $500 ?-All I can sweir to is that I did put down my name
for $500.
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Q. Why did not you put down your name for 42,500 ?-I never intended to,
Q. Why did not you put down your name for $2,500 as $2,500 was to be given ?-

That I cannot tell you; the fact speaks for itseolf.
Q. Did you know at the time that yon put down your name that Mr. Cumberland

and Mr. Ross had each put down their names for $1,000 ?-I cannot say wheu they
put their names down.

Q. Was it an understanding that the sum should be given in your three names?
-I know I put my name down for $500.

Q. Was there any arrangement between Mr. Cumberland, Mr. Rosm and yourself ?
-I think there was but I could not speak positively.

Q. When you put down your name you were aware that Mr. Cumberland and Mr.
Ross had each put down their names for $1,000 ?-I might have been aware of it, but
I cannot recolleet.

Q. Were you ?-I cannot spoak positively as to that.
Q. Did you learn that from any conversation ?-I will not say.
Q. Did Mr. Macpherson mention it to you ?~-Mr. Macpherson never mentioned it

to me.
Q. Can you explain why your individual name was put down for $500 ?-No;

except, perhaps, I thought it was a fair amount to give, as far as I was concerned.
Q. When you subscribed, did you see what other names were on the list ?-No;

but I mnst have seen some of them.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. Did you examine the list ?-I was not there two minutes; I went in for
another thing altogether; I renember the reason I was not there two minutes; it
was because I got Mr. Macpherson to put on his hat and come out with me on another
matter in which we were engaged, and I was so urgent with reference to this other
matter, that the testimonial subscription never remained on my niind for a moment.

Q. There was another director of the Nortbern at that time ?-Yes; Mr. Ross.
Q. Was not Mr. Elliott one at that time ?-On what year ?
Q. This was in 1871?-I don't know.
Q. There were more than three directors on the Local Board ?-There were

besides the three representing the bondholders, one from Toronto, and one represent-
ing the county of Simcoe; five in all.

Q. Why was it you did not consult the other directors ?- About what.?
Q. About this subscription ?-I hardly ever consulted tliem about anything.
Q. Why were not the other directors consulted ?-That I cannot tell. But I

co-operate with Mr. Cumberland in regard to his statement with reference to that. I
subscribed primarily because I knew that the stockholders and bondholders would
willingly agree to that subscription.

By Mr. Casgrain
Q. Is there a minute of that in the record of your deliberations ?-Not that I

know of; I don't know that one was made.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Were you aware of the subscription of 81,000 to the election of 1872 ?-No;
not that Irecollect. Any particular election?

Q. No; it was during the general election of 1872 ?-I cannot say I was.
Q. 11,000 was given to C. J. Campbell ?-I had nothing to do with it.
Q. You knew nothing of it ?-Nothing whatever.
Q. When did you first learn of it; since this investigation began ?-Yes; I saw

something about C. J. Campbell denying it.
Q. Were you aware of the subscriptions to the Mail newspaper?-No; I was

not; I had nothing whatever to do with it.
Q. Were you aware of the fact that they were paid out of the funds of the Nor-

thern Railway ?-No, I was not; neither one nor the other.
By Mr. Guthrie:- .

Q. About the draft for $3,750 that you drew in April and May, 1873 ?-I drew
some drafts.
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Q. wish them produced; (drafts produced); I3th March, Ottawa, 1873, $1,000 ?
-Yes.

Q. Eridorsed by Mr. Morrison ?-Yes.
Q. Then there is one April 17th, $750 ?-Yes.
Q. And one May 23rd, $2,000 ?-Yes.
Q. Were you in Parliament at that time ?-That is the time I was returned for

Algoma, and I had just got back.
Q. That was during the Session of 1873 ?-I would nQt say that as to the last

draft. I think Mr. Morrison and myself remained three or four days after the Session
was over, settling up the business.

Q. The Northern IRailway had a Bill before Parliament that Session ?-Yes; a
very important one.

Q. And there were also resolutions proposed by :the Government to settle the
Government claim during that Session ?-Yes; and to raise further capital.

Q. Will you explain what you did with the proceeds of those drafts ?
Mr. PALMER raised the question whether the Committee could follow the proceeds

of the drafts.
TUE CHAIRMAN :-I think the question must be answered.
A. I have no objection to answer the question.
Q. What became of the proceeds ?-I tell you that we had an important Bill

before the Legislature, and previous to our departure from Toronto, that is to say
Angus Morrison and myself, we had a meeting in Mr. Cumberland's office about
other matters, and this question came up. Recollect, in 1873, it was a very lively
time with railroads, with every railroad in fact, and the Midland, the Western and
the Northern had more traffic perhaps, than they could carry. It was a lively time
with the Northern and a $1,000 was as much as a $100 is now to them. Mr.
Cumberland said to Mr. Morrison and myself before we left the room: "Now, you
are goirg down to Ottawa, and after all the terrible fights we have had contending
with other roads for bonuses, I think the time has come when we ought to show
hospitalities and good treatment to our customers, who may be in or go to Ottawa."
At that time, also, Mr. Dodge was doing a great business on the road. I suppose be
had spent $2,000,000 in that country served by the Northern Road, and the Northern
might have made $100,000 or more out of it. Mr. Cumberland said what drafts we
drew in furtherance of that proper observance of hospitalities to our numerous
customers, as well as what we thought proper in the promotion of the Billhe would
honour. So we came down here, and I think Mr. Morrison and myself got money from
some bank, and Mr. Morrison got half and I got half. I think that, as far as I waA con-
cerned, we gave about, well, say a dinner a fortnight, to perhaps thirty-five or forty
people. We gave, I dare say, five or six dinners. We had a great deal of fun, and both
Grits and Conservatives enjoyed themselves at the dinners. I think I paid Kavanagh
something like $1,000; perhaps $1,400. I am not certain which. We had five or
six dinners at $6 or 87 apiece, 40 gentlemen or so. I forget whether I paid the
printing expenses to the Free Press office or not ; they can tell you that better than I
can; I think I did. We had a great deal of printing to do; Mr. Boulton was down
here ; and I think the Bill was corrected and printed, but I could not speak positively
as to that. I know I went to Toronto some half dozen times, and I went to Montreal
too, and I expended the balance just for purposes I thought were in the interests of
the Road, and to carry the Bill, which was a very important Bill. It was of essen-
tial service to the road, so we exerted ourselves to do the best we could.

Q. You say you spent the balance, over ana above the dinners, for the purpose
of carrying .the Bill?-I know what you mean, but would not like you to put that
interpretation upon it.

Q.What purpose ?-I suppose you are going to insinuate that I paid some
member ?

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Weil, did you ?-Not a cent.
Q. Did you offer any member a consideration for his vote ?-No.
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Q. How was the balance spent ?-I could not tell you exaetly.
By Mr. Caugrain:-

Q. Was it a large amount?-Not for a railroad in 1873.
Q. Approximate it ?-It was about $500 or $600. I do not know whether I paid

the printer's bill; I do not know whether I paid the clerks. We had the whole City
Council of Toronto here. There was the Mayor here, and we had to show them also
some hospitality.

Q. Did Mr. Cumberland draw some other money ; did you pay any hotel bills ?
-No, not that I recolleet.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Did you expend all the money you got ?-Every cent of it, and more.
Q. Did you keep any yourself?-Nothing of any consequence.
Q. What became of the balance ?-I really could not tell you further than that I

spent it on the interests of the Road.
Q. Can you tell what became of the balance ?-I cannot positively; I have not

any doubt that we spent something on cabs.
Q. Did you keep any account ?-Never, and was never asked for any.

By -Mr. Bou-ell:-
Q. Did you give any to any other members to spend or liquor up with ?-Not a

sixpence.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. You say half of the money was expended by Mr. Morrison ?-He got half; yes.
By Mr. Bertram:

Q. You paid for some dinners with your half ?-I did.
Q. You say that there were thirty-five or farty, at $6 each ?-Oh, I will not say

$6; it may have been $10.
By Mr. Palmer:

Q. Did Mr. Morrison pay for any dinners ?-I do not know; he was not living at
the same place as I was.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Did you get an account from Kavanagh ?-I paid him what he asked me to

pay him.
Q. But did you get any account from him showing how many people he charged

you for ?-It was a time when railroads had a good deal of money, and we were not
very particular, and Grits and Conservatives enjoyed themselves.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. You surely, before paying a large amount, would .have got full particulars ?

-I have no doubt he rendered me a bill and I paid it.
Q. Have you got the bill ?-I have not.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Do you know where it is ?-No.
Q. You don't take care of such things ?-No; not like these.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Were there any dinners given by Kavanagh except those paid for by you ?

-I cainot tell.
Q. Do y~ou remember any ?-I have no doubt he did; there were some lunches ;

it is true, as I said, and as Mr. Cumberland said, great hospitalities were offered to
many gentlemen who were interested in the Northern Railway business who were
down here at that time, and we spent, as he thought, what was right and proper in
the interegts of the Road, and did not spend it in our own interest& Mr. Dodge and
niany.Americans who were here at the time did a very large business with the
Road.

Q. IHow many Americans were there here ?-Twenty or thirty at times.
Q. That you entertained ?-Yes, I daresay there nust have been that nu ter;

it was a great time with the lumber business and there were many down here.
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By Mr. Paimer:-
Q. I want to know whether they were numerous ?-There were twenty or thirty

at times Y they came from Oswego, Buffalo, Rochester and other places.
By r. lasgrain

Q. What was the object of these dinners ?-To return hospitalities whieh we
thought in the interests of the Road were due to a large number of customers who
were here and -who were doing a very large business over the road; there were two
objecta: to return hospitalities and at the same time do all we could-in the promotion
of the Bill.

By Mr. McCarthy:-
Q. And to make all the members feel happy on it ?-Why, of course.

By Mr. Palimer:-
Q. During that session there was a pretty lively time down stairs ?-Ye8; by

the Western and Northern, who were both promoting Bills.
Q. What became of the balance ?-I cannot give you any more evidence about

that, for I never kept any account of it.

• Committee met.-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair. Thursday, 12th April,1877.

Hon. J. B. RoBINsoN recalled and examined.
By Mr. GJuthrie:-

Q. There is a certain letter, Mr. Robinson, will you produce it ?-Letter now
produced by Mr. Robinson, dated 25th July, 1875, and filed as Exhibit "A H."

Q. I find amongst the vouchers of the Railway Company a receipt apparently
signed by you, dated 17th March, 1871: " Received from the Northern Railway Com-
pany the sum of $1,050, to be accounted for, signed J. B. Robinson." Was that one of
your notes ?-No; I don't think it was. That was an item that Mr. Hamilton him-
self brought to my attention and said that he had charged it to me but he did not
think it should properly be charged to me; it was something that I had got from
him, instructed yr. Cumberland, to pay out on account of some Northern conten-
tion or bonus contention.

Q. Do you know whether you spent that for the Road as instructed ?-I know 1
did.

Q. Do you know for what ?-I think it was for the Muskoka contention or some
other Northern matter; it was never for my private business at all.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Was that a note ?-No; it was not. I went to Mr. Hamilton and got the

money and expended it in accordance with instructions to pay different people.
Q. Was it intended to be accounted for to him ?-I do not know whether he got

an account of it afterwards.
Q. An account of these oxpenditures ?-Yes.

By Mr Guthrie:-
Q. I see, referring to this book, the receipts for your salary usually say, in fact

for all the salaries on the Road, usually say: "Received from the Treasurer of the
Northern Railway the sum of, etc., on account of salary," they all use the same expres-
sion, "On account of salary ?"-Yes, it may be so.

Q. Even as far back as 1867 they appear to be in the same way; here is re-
ceived $83.35, 28th June, 1867?-Yes.

Q. Al the salary receipts seem to be drawn in that way?
MR. BOWELL wished to know the object of this branch of the examination.
Mr. GuTIE said the question was as to whether they were receipts in full or

on account of this matter.
1f Mr. Palmer:

Q. As I understand, these receipts taken were on account ?-Yes; Mr. Hamil-
ton knew nothing about my arrangement with Mr. Cumberland; he was only the
secretary.
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Q. Speaking about your salary I do not think you have stated what your busi-
ness as President was ?-Well, you know what the duties wore. At times, you must
recollect, Mr. Palmer, that for ten years, I suppose previous to 1873 or '74 this
Northern Railway had a very, vory great deal of business indeed to do. •It was a
very prosperous time with.the Road and the earnings were increasing fast ; well, at
the same time we were contending almost every year with rival roads to get into
the best part of the country, and get as much commerce as we could for Toronto and
the Road. I gave to the Road, as people know, very effectual assistance. I was al-
ways to the front in all its contests both in the city and other places, and as far as
the office was concerned, at times I might be up to the office two or three times a
day during these years.

Q. You were President during fourteen years ?-Yes.
Q. For all this work that you did, did you get auy thing at all by way of bonus

or anything else except your expenses and the money charged to you? No; noth-
ing that I recollect.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. That is, you were not paid for your time getting these bonuses and travelling

about ?-No.
By Mr. Palmer :-

Q. I believe you expected to be remunerated as President ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bo'reU:

Q. You were not elected President for the reasons already mentioned, that it
was neceessary to have some person in the directorate of the same political opinions
as the Government, for the benefit of the Road. Then, in 1875, you know that the
claim of the Government was compromised by the Bill introduced ?-The matter was
compromised with the Government in 1875 by the Bill.

Q. That was after persons got in who wore of the same political views as the
Government ?-Yes.

Q. Let me ask you whether the arrangement was similar that was made in 1875
to that which was proposed to be made in 1815 ?-I think it was very much the
same, but the sum demanded increased. There was an additional sum also, I recol-
lect, afterwards of $31,000-that is to say, that the interest upon the compromise
made was charged against the Road, and it was an additional expense to it of some
$31,000 fbr interest.

Q, What was actually paid upon the compromise in 1875; was it the same com-
promise that was endeavoured to be got through Parliament in 1875 ?-Yes, with the
above difference.

Q. If I understand it right, the compromise agreed to in 1875 was the same as
was reached in 1875 ?-It was more. I would not speak positively as to the terms of
the Bill.

Q. Well, what was the amount in each case ?-I think that the previous Govern-
ment had consented to take-after leaving it to Mr. Langtor and Mr. Strathy,
cashier of the Bank of Commerce-something like £20,000 or £25,000 less.

Q. Which was least ?-The last Government.
Q. Less to what aniount ?-It must have been something like $100,000.
Q. Do you know the exact figure ?-No, I do not. The Bill will show.
Q. Thon, when it was extended they had to pay that amount and the interest

upon it ?-Yes. Ulnder the decision, as I stated before, of Mr. Langton and Mr.
Strathey, that Government agreed to take $100,000 less than did the present Mac-
kenzie Government demand from the Road in the ensuing year, in 1874 or 1875.
Then by that Bill he got, I think it was until the lt of July, 1875, to pay up that
£100,000 sterling. Owing to the great depression of all rail'way stock in the old
country, the directors of this Northern found that they could not negotiate a loan,
and asked them for a further extension of six months or a year; and tIïat request was
granted, with the condition that they should in the meantime, notwithstanding their
inability to raise the principal, that they should pay the interest at the rate of six
per cent. to the Government for the time granted.
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By Mr. Palmer:Q. W4at, in your judgment, was, the amount that the Company proposed
to pay to extinguish the Government lien; was it not £100,000 sterling ?--I think it
was; I ould not si k positively.

Q. What was Be sum proposed by the Mackenzie Government in 1875 ?-I think
as I said, it was £25,000 additional.

To Mr. Bowell:-When they brought down the bill for the additional time,
then it was, I think it was upon an amendment by yourself, the interest was to be
paid at the rato of six per cent. until the principal money was pad up.

Q. Then it was altered upon Mr. Bowell's own motion ?-Yes; that is as far as
the interest was concerned.

By Guthrie:--
Q. The £100,OOO that the Macdonald Governmont agreed to take in 1873 was

eurrency you say ?-I think it was.
Q. Was that for the whole claim that the Government had against the Company ?

-I think it was.
Q. Bonds and lien included ?-I think so; I would not like to swear positively,

the Bill will speak.
Q. Then in 1875 it was compromised for £100,000 sterling ?-Yes.
Q. So that the offer of 1875, the compromise, was better than the compromise

in 1875 by $100,000 in money £100,000 in bonds ?-Yes.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. That proposal by the Government of 1875 was based upon a report made by
Mr. Lambton ?-Yes; and by the Cashier of the Bank of Commerce, Mr. Strathey;
it was left to them to decide, and they made a report to the Government, and it was
circulated in the House.

Q. Did not they report to the Government of the day, that if they received the
amount they proposed to take that it would b full value of their lien on the road ?
-That is the nature of their report.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Was it not, instead of being in full value of the lien, what the Company was

able to pay ?-Both, I think.
By Mr. P'almer :-

Q. What is the value of the bonds the Government still holds ?-The bonds are
greatly depreciated since these numerous enquiries.

(Signed) JOHN BEVERLY ROBINSON.

TuzSDAY, 10th April, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. AR JHIBALD in the Chair.
Honourable FRANK SMITH sworn and examined:-

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. I believe you were President of the Extension Railway ?-I was.
Q. Mr. Barnhardt was Vice-President ?-IHe was.
Q. Upon the amalgamation of the Northern Extension with the Northern,

certain amounts seem to have been voted by the directors to the shareholders of the
Northern Extension. You were at the meeting ?-I think I was.

Q. According to the book the meeting was held on the lst June, 1875, and the
meeting of the shareholders on the same day ?-Yes; I think that was about the date.

Q. Amongst the amounts voted at the special general meeting of shareholders,
appear to have been, to you, as President, $4,000; to the Vice-President, $1,250; to
the Board of Directors, $8,000, making $13,250 ?-I think that is correct.

Q. How was the amount distributed ?-I think it was all put into one pool. I
speak to the best of my knowledge. I declined to take the $4,000; Mr. Barnhardt
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also deelined his. We said that when the Company would be out of debt, if the're
was something left we had no objection to take the sane as the rest.

Q. How much did you get of that $13,250 ?-When it was allotted I got a note;
the note was for 82,559.86 to the best of my knowledge.

By Mr. Palmer ;-
Q. Does that inclade your stock, or was it just a division of the pool ?-No; that

does not include my stock.
By Mr. Guthrie :

Q. You got a note for that amount from the Northern Railway, as boing your
share of this $13,250 ?-I got it from the Company. I would not say that it was from
the Northern. I forget whether it was the Northern or the Northern Extension
winding up.

Q. I suppose it would be by the Northern, as part of their purchase ?-I think so.
Q. What did you get for your stock ?--I have not got any money yet.
Q. What have you got to represent it ?--I got a note.
Q. For how much ?--For $2,848.11.
Q. How was that made up ?-It was made up according to Act of Parliament.
Q. That is 10 per cent. interest and 12½ per cent. bonus ?--I would think so, but

I could not say that positively; but it was made up according to Act of Parliament.
Q. The Act permits the Northern to pay 12h?--It was upon that basis that it

was settled.
Q. What other gentlemen got the rest of the $13,250 ?-In saying they all got it

I only supposed they got it; I know they should have got it; it was allotted to.
them.

Q. Who did you understand were entitled to it ?-Frank Smith, Noah Barnhart,
John Turner, W. H. Iowland, H. L. Hime, Captain Hincks, Gordon Brown, J. D.
Edgar--eight.

Q. Who paid those parties; who was the payer ?---I don't know, but I think
notes were issued for the whole amount.

Q. Separate notes to each individual ?-As far as 1 was concerned, it was so. I
can only speak as to what came to me.

Q. Did Captain Hincks, Mr. Brown and Mr. Edgar get a share of that as well as
their stock; do-I understand that ?-I understand they got it-all but Gordon Brown.

Q. I am told that Mr. Brown and Captain Hincks did not ?--Oh, I'm sure-
Gordon Brown did not get it.

Q. Who got the share of the $13,250; among whom was that divided ?--That
was amongst the directors.

Q. And who were they ?-Frank Smith, Mr. Barnhart, Mr. Turner, Mr. llowland,
and Mr. Hime.

Q. That was divided into five ?-I think so; I am speaking from memory.
Q. So that Captain Hincks, Mr. Brown, and Mr. Edgar did not get any part of

the 813,250 ?-I don't think they got it. I won't say that positively from memory.
I really don't recollect that.

Q. If you divide $13,250 amongst five people, you will just get the amount of
your note; so that the amount of your note bears ont your impression ?-Yes.

Q. Captain Hineks, Mr. Brown, and Mr. Edgar, however, got paid for stock,
although they did not get any of this money ?-I think so.

Q. And I suppose they got paid at the rate fixed by Act of Parliament?-I
think so.

Q. Here is a list of stockholders in the Northern Extension. Do you happen to.
rememaber all who they were ?-I don't remember all of them.

(List of stockholders is shown to the witness.)
Q. I understand what is called a syndicate was formed, to buy up the outstand-

ing stock, and it is said you were a member of that syndicate ?-The syndicate waa
formed for the purpose of carrying a heavy liability that we had, for the purpose of
trying to raise means to finish the work; and it was thought that the smallest stock-
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holders would be more, troublesome to satisfy, and we put it in that shape, and
bonglit them out and pid for their stock.

Q. 1 understand the syndicate assamed very heavy liabilities ?-We did, sir; I
think it at one time would have reached close on to $200,000.

Q. You had a bond or agreement amongst yourselves, had you not ?-Not that I
am aware of.

Q. But do you not remember; Mr. Cumberland said there was a writing ?-J
don't know of any writing; I dont think there was any agreement.

By Mr. Palmer :-
Q. You don't mean that there was no writing, or that there was no agreement?

-I have never seen it to my knowledge.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Mr. Cumberland spoke of one ?-That may be ; there are a great many papers
pass on the Board that I would not recolleet of.

Q. At all events, the Syndicate, which consists of eight gentlemen, assumed these
liabilities, and they were actuated by the motives you mentioned ?-I think so; that
was my intention.

Q. Who acted for the Northern in these negotiations for amalgamation? -It was
Mr. Cumberland.

By Mr. Palmer
Q. Yon say you assumed large liabilities; do you mean personal liabilities or

liabilities as stockholders of the Northern Extension ?-I mean that the Company
would not have got the money unless there was a personal responsibility.

Q. Can you tell us to whom you became personally liable ?-I got a great deal
of money ont of two institutions; that is, the Company got the money through my
influence.

Q. Mr. Cumberland said it was simply a liability of the Company ?-So it is;
but the Company as a company could not have raised the money unless there were
some responsible men in it.

Q. You didn't mean to assume any personal liability; of course you will be liable
for whatever stock was not paid ?-I know I assumed a personal liability to a certain
extent; I told the institution from which we borrowed that I would see it settled.

Q. What security did they get for their money ?-Notes of the Company.
Q. Your liability, if I understand it, was that you pledged your word that it

should be paid ?-Yes ; I said that I would sec it put all right.
Q. You did not give any written liability ?-No.
Q. Was it an arrangement between you that any ofyou should become personally

liable ?-I don't think it.
Q. Was anybody personally liable but yourself ?-I scarcely think there was;

that is, the Company were all liable.
Q. I think you said that you received this money. )id you get any salary as

President?-Not a shilling.
Q. Well, if I understand it, you did not refuse it because you did not think you

were fairly entitled to it, but you thought you would not take it if the Company owed
money to other people ?-I knew I was fairly entitled to it, because I worked very
hard the whole winter and another summer trying to get bonuses; but I made up
my mind that until the Company was perfectly out of debt I would take none of
their money.

Q. Then if I understand, you werc not only President, but you took considerable
part in promoting the Company ?-I did.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. I suppose the $1,000 referred to in the first allotment was for personal

expenses ?-To the best of my knowledge the $ 1,000 was pooled as well as the rest.
By Mr. Bowell :-

Q. That $1,000-Mr. Cumberland stated that it was paid to you ?-I am satisfied
that it was voted to me.

Q. Did you so appropriate it ?-I did not, to the best of my knowledge.
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Q. What did you do with it ?-I did not take it. I think it was put where the
$4,000 went to. I think it was voted on the same day, and it all went the same way.Q. Did you not expend it in any way ?-I think not ; I have no recollection of
taking any money for my own use.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. Have you any recollection of having moneys to cover your outlays ?-Not at

that time.
By M. Bowell:-

Q. At any other time ?-Yes; I recollect getting $1,000.
Q. What was that for ?-There was a suit entered in Chancery against the

CJompany.
Q. What for ?-Against our getting the bonus from Toronto.
Q. That was after the bonus had been voted ?-After the money had been voted,

and I paid $1,000 to the party to withdraw the suit.
Q. Who was the party ?-I don't suppose it is necessary to know the party.
Q. Who is the party who got the money ; we have a right to know that ?-I

gave it to the party's lawyer.
Q. Who is the party's lawyer ?-James Carruthers.
Q. Now, who was the party for whom it was intended ?-James French.,
Q. Where does he live ?-In Toronto.
Q. Was ho the relator ; did lie sue out the injunction ?-I think so.
Q. Then this $1,000 went to buy him off ?-No, to pay the costs.

By Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. I see in the early part of the history of the Road that considerablo sums were

given to you in connection with what Mr. Cumberland calls bonus-hunting-getting
bonuses ?--Given to me ? there was a large amount of money spent.

Q. What amount ?-I really could not say, but the books will show.
Q. Have you any account of the moneys recoived by you, and expenses?-I

have not; I received none pereonally, but, as I told you, I made some little trifling
disbursements or other.

Q. Well, there are moneys charged to you?-Well, it was charged that way.
We had a very hard battle to fight; we had the Port Hope road and all the power
they could bring; and thon we had a good deal of trouble in Toronto. We spent a
great deal the part of one winter in the back townships Oro, Barrie, Rama, and their
the following summer we made another attempt to get a bonus in Oro, which cost a
good deal of money, and we were defeated each time.

Q. The moneys charged to you are sometimes $1,000, ahd on one occasion more?
-I don't know that they were charged to me, but if they are it was for that purpose.
I did not handle the money myself.

Q. Did you happen to know how much the Northern Extension advanced to the
Couchiching Hotel Company ?-The amount charged in the books is over $45,000.
I know we advanced a good deal; I cannot say the figures.

Q. What became of that debt ?-Do you moan so far as the Extension Company
is concerned?

By Mr. Bowell
Q. ]ow is it that the Company assumed liabilities to the amount of $200,000 ?-

I will not say exactly.
Q. That is when the syndicate was formed ?-Yes, we were in debt close on to

that amount.
What roperty did you represent with $200,000 ?-We had the Road.

Q.What lngth ?-I cannot tell exactly by a mile or two, but.I think about
seventy miles.

Q. What was the supposed value of the property; that is whàt I want to get at;
what is the amount that had been expended on the proporty ?-I cannot tell that
without looking at the figures.

Q. Approximate it. If you assumed a liability of $200,000, surely you had
Something to represent that; what I ask is: what do you think you had to represent
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that ?-We had the road from Barrie to where we built it. and the other way from
Collingwood to Meaford.

Q. Now, what is the probable cost ?- I cannot tell you the value of it; I can tell
you what we got for it.

Q. Tell us the cost ?-I cannot tell that without going into figures-between
$24,000 and $25,000 a mile, about fifty miles; it strikes me there were seventy miles.

Q. Did the seventy miles cost $24,000 a mile ?-No, not just at that time; I do
not think so.

Q. How much of it had cost that ?-I could not say.
Q. Fifty miles, that is what the solicitor says ?-It is possibly about fifty miles.
Q. Then when this syndicate bought this stock, for which they paid somae

$13,000, they assumed liabilities of $200,000, for which they hold a property which
had cost $1,200,000 ?-It is hard for me to remember all these things.

Q. The statement put in shows the property cost at that time $1,433,314; when
the syndicate was formed $13,800 was raised to pay for the stock ?-Yes.

Q. Who furnished that money ?-The company.
Q. The syndicate- eight persons ?-Yes.
Q. Did they advance any money or give any notes, or how was it don e; I merely

want to know who advanced the money ?-Well, the Company was to pay that; the
Company was to buy the small shareholders out and carry it for a time and the
Syndicate was then to pay up, which they did afterwards.

By 31r. Palmer :
Q. You mean the syndicate ?-Yes.

Byl Mr. Bowell!-
Q. Did you advance money for the payment of this stock, or did the syndicate

give their notes, and was it that these notes were kept floating until you made your
agreement with the Northern and paid this money ?-I think the most of the syndi-
cate gave their money or notes.

Q. Did Mr. Barnhardt advance any money to purchase that stock, or give his
note? Did Mr. Turner, Mr. Smith, Mr. Howland, Mr. Hime, Mr, Brown or Mr.
Edgar? Did you negotiate all this paper until you sold it ?-I think that was the
way it was done to the best of my knowledge; but the syndicate paid up their pro-
portion, except one, who was charged back with the interest.

Q. Until you sold out to the Northern ?-I think it was.
By Mr. Palmer :-

Q. There is one thing fiable to misapprehension; you said the Northern Exten-
sion is indebted about $200,000 ?-I said that at one time it was.

Q. Do yon mean about that time ?-I do not know whether that was the heaviest
time or not. I could not say positively that that was the heaviest responsibility.

Q. At all evonts it was in debt when you formed the syndicate ?-It was ; very
largely.

Q. Whether it was $200,000 or not you are not prepared to say ?-No.
Q. After the syndicate it was a company that was in debt still ?-Yes.
Q. Besides the liability that you incurred for the purpose of raising the money

to buy out these small stockholders there was no other personal liability on the
syndicate ?-I think not.

* Q. It was that way when you bought the stock and the debt continued ?-Yes;
but we supposed the smallest holders would be wanting dividends, and we knew we
would not be able to pay them; we had not any idea of selling out at that time, and
we wanted to get into the smallest compass and carry it on.

Q. It appears that the Company was in debt and continued in debt, and how this
Company assumed the liadilities, I cannot say ?-They were the men who worked
the Road, and it belonged to them.

Q. The liability and the working of the Road is the same thing ?-No, it is not;
it was a private Company, and stood so until the time of sale; it was t corporation
not connected at all with the Northern Road or with the Government, and so long as
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the Company agreed, they had a right to do so as they thought proper for the benetit
of the undertaking.

Q. Yes; but it had its own liability. 'How do you make it out that the syndicate
was liable; it was merely the Northern that was liable ?-We formed that syndicate.

Q. The fact is you formed the syndicate to get the stock ?-To carry the indebted-
ness.

Q. How do you mean ?-We were heavily indebted at the time.
Q. And the Company that had that ?-Well, I am speaking of the Extension

Company.
Q. I am speaking of the syndicate; I want you to distinguish between the syn-

dicate and the Company ?-There i8 very little difference between the syndicate and
the Company, they are very nearly the same persons; we stood in the same position
exactly as a syndicate with the exception that we bought out the small stockholders.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. And of course yon assumed the liability for the unpaid portion of the stock

which was pretty serions ?-Our unpaid portions.
Q. There was only a portion paid up ?-That was all.
Q. Yon did not mention in any one of your answers whether, at the time you

formed the syndicate you had any idea of selling out to the Northern ?-None.
Q. Then it was not with a view to that that the syndicate was formed ?-Not at

all. It is like this: The fewer stockholders there are the easier it is carried on.
By Mr. Palmer

Q. I notice that the amount of subscribed stock is $65,000, and the paid up,
$13,800. You and each individual member of the syndicate are liable for the balance
between $65,000 and $13,800 ?-Liable to whom ?

Q. Supposing the Company failed, they could not call on the syndicate for mare
than $65,000 ?-I don't think they could.

Q. Then you are liable for what you put in?-For what we put in and le
balance that was not subscribed. We were liable to be called upon for whatever
unpaid stock there was.

Q. You spoke of a liability of $200,000; that is the liability of the Company,
but it was only possible for you to lose the amount you had paid in on the stock, and
the balance of the stock subscribed but unpaid ?-That is ai; unless by a personal
guarantee which we would be held for.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Unless you had borrowed any from the bank and become personally respon-

sible ?-That is what I stated before. We became responsible for an amount of
money in the meantime.

By Mr. Bowell :-
Q. You pledged youself for it that it would be paid ?-Yes.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. And you were personally liable ?-I gave my word.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. About these hotel advances; I was asking you what had become of that debt

of $45,000, apparently advanced to the Couchiching Hotel Company ?-I believe we
paid it into the hotel and our hotel was burned down.

Q. What became of the insurance money ?-What was put into the hotel was
put in, in my judgment, for the benefit of my Company, as well as the Northern
Railway. I am satisfied it benefitted both. In fact, we wanted to aid the hotel for
the purpose of bringing traffic to the Road.

Q. Was this a loan to the Northern Company or a gift ?-It was a loan in the
meantime, but I always considered it as a gift or a bonus.

Q. By the Act of Parliament permitting amalgamation there is a provision that
debts due to the Northern Extension shall be transferred to the NorLhern ?-Yes;
but that wa not a debt; we did net call that a debt.

Q. You did not transfer it then ?-No, Sir; that is, when we got the insurance
from the Company we paid all our debts.
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Q. Bat.thore was a balance of a considerable amount*; I think it was $1b,000 or
$14,000; that amount was divided among the original shareholders of the Hotel
Company?-Yes, it would amount to 46 certs on the dollar, allowing interest on the
money form the time it was put in.

Q. If the hotel was for the benefit of the Railway why was not the balance of the
insurance money applied to rebuilding ?-People will go into speculations, and they
are not always prepared to go through the same trouble and turmoil again; I spent
a great deal of time and hardship and trouble with both the railway and hotel, and
the Northern Railway has security for all the money they put in.

Q. They have a mortgage ?-They have a mortgage on the buildings now stand-
ing on the land; there was a great deal of work to be done round that property;
roads to make, improvements to make, and it was all for the benefit of the under-
taking.

By .Mr. Bowell
Q. To establish a summer residence ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. Was there an understanding between the members of the Hotel Company and

the Board of the Extension Company when they went into the hotel that they were
to get an advance for this hotel ?-I cannot say that there was any such under-
standing.

Q. The reason I ask that is that I fancy that the persons who compose the Com-
pany of the Couchiching Hotel before building a hotel of that size, would sit down and
count the cost ?-The cost turned out very much larger than was at first thought.

Q. And you had no understanding that they were to give you any advances in
money when you commenced building ?-Not to my knowledge.

Q. Did you make application thon for this bonus ?-Oh, yes; of course an appli-
cation was made.

Q. By the Hotel Company ?-I should think so.
Q. I don't know whether you were a stockholder ?-Unfortunately, yes. I got

46 cents back on the dollar. The gross amount was 63J cents, but I looked to see
what - as the sum we got on other accounts, and I find that I received 46 cents and
interest, the same as other gentlemen received.

Q. You were President of the Extension Company*?-Yes.
Q. Who was President of the Hotel Company ?-Frank Smith.
Q. So Frank Smith of the Hotel Company made application to Frank Smith of

the Extension Company for the bonns ?-Yes.
Q. And Frank Smith gave it to him without much trouble ?-Very likely.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. If I understand you, you did not give the money to the hotel at ail ?-We

did it for the benefit of the hotel.
Q. That is to say, that when Mr. Frank Smith of the hotel applied to Mr. Frank

Smith of the railway for the money, you did not have much dispute about it ?-I
don't know that they did. We were a private Company, and we did not think we
were doing any wrong by assisting our undertaking.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. You still hold the property ?-The Motel Company still own the land and

whatever is upon it. The Northern Railway has a mortgage of $10,000 for moneys
advanced.

Q. Was that looked upon as a bonus from the Northern as being mutually aided?
-I think not. The Northern Railway went into it in good faith, expecting that they
had good security.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Tell me if this railway money was intended as a gift by the Northern Ex-

tension to this Hotel Company ?-I don't know that I can say that it was an out-and-
ont gift, but I consider it was given in the shape of a bonus.
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Q. I don't know what you mean by a bonus; was it intended to be a debt ornot? If it was a gift, wili you teil this Committee how it was that you took a mort-
gage for $10,000 ?-We did not take a mortgage for $.10,000.

Q. Mr. CunbeAand swore distinctly that, first of all, they took a mortgage to
secure $10,000. If it was true that it was a gift, how do you account for the mort-gage ?-Well, the Northern Railway had no power to giye us anything without
getting security.

Q. Then if they had no power to give, how did you take it to be a gift ?-What
I mean to say is that we did the best wo could; we wanted the work finished, and we
did it in that way.

Q. Are you prepared to state whether it is not truo that this lotel Company
owed this Northern Extension Road for the money they had advanced ?-There was
so much put in from the Company to the Iotel.

Q.Was it not a loan ?-I think scarcely a loan.
Q. Had you not a mortgage to secure it ?-If we had, we had to give it away.Q. Was there any agreement that it should be a gift ?-I cannot say that there

was.
Q. Were there not some stockholders in the Northern Extension that were not

stockholders in the Hotel Company ?-I think there were.Q. Surely you know, as an officer of the Company, you had no right to take the
money without an order of the Board and the consent of the stockholders ?-I am
satisfied we had the consent of the Board for whatever we did.Q. Where is that consent ?-I could not tell you.

Q. Well, you simply took the money without agreement, and how can you make
it out a gift ?-I cahnot say exactly that it was a gift.

Q. The fact is when you gave it, it was a loan; but when you got the insurance
money, you took it for a gift ?-However, no matter in which way it was, nobody lost
anything by i.

Q. Have not the Northern lost by it ?-No; they have not. They have gained.Q. Why ?-They have security for every dollar they have advanced.Q. Supposing the Hotel Company owes $46,000 to the Extension, and the
Extension is handed over to the Northern, will not that belongo the Northern ?-I
know this: that the Northern Railway has security for all the money they lent.Q. That is what they lent themselves; but I am speaking of the money the
Northern Extension lent; I want to know whether the Northern Railway had a right
to all the assets of the Extension Company ?-No; they had no right.

Q. If it is true that the Hotel Company owed the Extension Railway before the
amalgamation; then after amalgamation the Hotel Company must owe the Northern
the same amount of money ?-No, they dont owe it, that was not an asset of the
Northern Extension, and was never looked on as such.

Q. But the law says so ?-I don't care what the law says; the understanding was
that-

Q. But what is it under the Act of Parliament ?--I know what the understand-
ing was at that time, and how we felt at that time.

Q. If I understand aright, this $46,000 was utterly ignored and treated as a gift?
-That is just what I said at the first, and that is that I believe at this moment it was
a gift. The Hotel could not have gone on if we had not done so; I am satisfied that the
Northern made a great deal of money by that transaction; I am satisfied that from
the Hotel being there and from the course we took in that way, the Northern made
from $6,000 to $7,000 a year, clear money.

By Mr Bowell:-
Q. At the time you formed the syndicate, did you expect to dispose of the road ?

-No; I had not any idea of so doing.
Q. Not of disposing of it ?-No; my feeling then was not to dispose of the road,

we had no such idea, and the Northern Road would never have got the road only the
burthen of indebtedness was so heavy to carry; and the Northern wbed got in my
opinion a very great deal more than they should have got.
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Q. Thon when you formed a syndicate, you did it for.the purpose of construet-
ing the Road, owning it and running it ?-As a Cdmpany, money got very hard, and
the Company found it very difficult to carry, and we lost a great jeal both as a Com-
pany ana Prsonally.

y Mr. Palmer:-
Q. You had a good bargain, but you sold it out at a bad rate ?-Yes; it turned

out bad, because we preferred to make a bad bargain with the Northern rather than
carry the debt.

Q. And personally you lost money ?-I do not say that personally I did ; I think
you will find that I did not make anything.

Q. Why, you bought it at par and sold at 10 per cent. on that, with a 124 per
<ent. premium ?-If you consider the hardness -of times, and the money we spent, and
the risk and the personal responsibility, you will not think that we made such a good
bargain. I believe the Northern got $150,000 or $250,000 of a bargain that they
would not have got, if times had not been hard, and we had not wanted to carry the
debt.

Q. If that is true, the syndicate, when times were not so hard, got a very good
bargain ?-I want to say more: in my opinion, the Northern Railroad would never
have been able to pay the Government a dollar, had not those branches ; been
built; and it is by the exertion of that Company that the Northern Railway has been
able to go on in that way, because of the extension feeders to it. I think we were
more hardly dealt with than any other company that ever came before Parliament; I
mean that the present Minister of Justice was more determined to give us a severe Bill
than in any other Bill that I recollect of before Parliament, and h persevered in so
doing.

By Mr. Killam:-
Q. Did any gentleman connected with the Extension Company oppose the Bill

or amalgamation ?-Not to my knowledge.

(Signed) FRANK SMITII.

TUESDAY, 10th April, 1877.

Committee met-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.
3r. J. G. BRowN was called, sworn and examined:-

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. We understood from Mr. Cumberland the other day that the Northern Rail-

%vay Company had given $1,000 for a patent right in which you were interested-
Oakley's patent ?-Yes.

Q. Who got the money ?-The patentee, Mr. Oakley.
Q. Did you get any of it ?--None.
Q. Did you believe in the patent honestly at the time ?--Thoroughly; I spent a

good deal of money on it.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. You say you spent money on it ?-Yes.
Q. In what way ?-In taking ont patents, id travelling expenses in connection

with it, and other things.
Q. You sold the patent to the Northern for $1,000, and handed over the money

to Oakley ?-Yes.
Q. What did you get in return ?-Nothing. I along with others was to get a

certain share of the profits, after the patentee was paid.
Q. You purchased the patent from the patentee ?-Yes.
Q. How much were you to give Oakley?-2,000, I think.
Q. And the $1,000 you obtained from the Northern went in liquidation of the

debt to the patentee ?-Yes.
Q. Who is Mr. Oakley ?-A mechanie in Toronto.
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Oy Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Was there a written agreement with Mr. Oakley ?-I cannot say whetlier

there was or not; it's a long time ago, and I have nearly forgotten ail the circum-
stances.

Q. How long ago was it ?--In 1869.
Q, Can you tell me all the terms of your arrangement with Mr. Oakley ?--I have

really forgotten all the terms. I only remember generally that the patentee was to
get $2,000.

Q. What were you to get for that $2,000 ?--The right to use the patent, after he
was paid. Mr. Oakley also retained a share in the Company, but how much I cannot
tell.

Q. What you mean is that the Company were to own it--or rather the right to
use it ?-Yes.

Q. Then out of the first profits you were to pay Oakley $2,000, and then it was
to belong to you ?-.Yes.

Q. Were you liable to pay the $2,000 at all ?-No, I think not; I think it was to
come out of the profits of the Company.

Q. It was simply that you were to promote it, and only pay the $2,000 in case
yon got it ?-Yes. I think that was the way.

Q. And all that came in after that-all that went beyond the 82,000, belonged to-
yourself and the other members -of the Company ?-Yes. .

Q. Were you at liberty to sell it out to the Company ?-No, I should think not.
The Company was formed to work it and sell it to others.

Q. Who were the Company ?-I can only tell you some of the names; I have
forgotten the others. There was Mr. Hugh Miller, and Mr. Morgan-I don't recollect
the other names.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Was Mr. iRidout interested in it ?-Hle had some interest in it, but I cannot

recollect in what way.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. What was the capital to be ?-I cannot tell.
Q. Have you no idea ?-I have no idea at the present time.
Q. Had you a scheme or an agreement completely formed ?-I cannot recollect

the nature of the agreement; it has gone out of my mind entirely.
By Mr. Bowell:-

Q. Was it a Company formed under the Joint Stock Companies' Act? -No; I
fancy there was an intention to organize more perfectly at a future time. Mr. Mor-
gan, who was a lawyer, arranged that.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. What I want to know is, whether you ever realized any other sum from the-

patent, except the $1,000 from the Northern Railway ?-Never. I believe other
sums were paid to the Company after -I ceased to have anything to do with it.

Q. That was the only sum in your time ?-Yes.
Q. How did you get rid of it ?-t dropped it, and took no further interest in it.

By Mr. Bowell :
Q. When you say you dropped it, you had a certain amount of stock in it ?-

I suppose I have now. I took no more interest in it.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. Were no dividends paid ?-None.
Q. Were any call made upon you for stock ?-No.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Iow much did you lose by it ?-About 8800.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. How was that ?-It involved a good deal of expenditure and I undertook the,

respeonsibility. It ceost $500 at that time to take ont a patent in the United States,,
and I paid that amounat.
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By lir. Palmer:-
Q. id yon pay it before you receeivd the money from the Northern Railway?

-- I cannot remember as to that.
Q. You paid for taking the patent out in the United States ?-Yes.
Q. Personally ?-Yes.
Q. How was the balance of the $800 made up ?-Were there legal expen$es ?-

No; I think not. I cannot remember how the other expenses were made up.
Q. You say you have lost $800; if you received $1,000 and lost $800, that would

be $1,800 which you received in all?-No; I think not. The $1,000 was not owing
to me but went to Oakley.

Q. Then, although you made this expenditure of $800, you allowed the $1,000 to
go to Oakley ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. How was the money paid ?-By note.
(Note and voucher produced.)

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. You say that a company was formed with regard to this patent. Did you

sell it to any company other than the Northern ?-It was sold to the narrow gauge
railways.

Q. It was brought to their notice in the same way ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know the amount they were to pay ?-They agreed to pay $500 each.
Q. Was it offered to any one else ?-It was offered to an Indian Railway, and, I

believe, put on one road, but I am not certain of the facts about that. Sir Charles
Fox & Sons undertook the agency in England, and either put it on one road or
endeavoured to do so, 1 forget whieh.

Q. lad you no agent in the United States to push the sale of it there ?-Yes;
there were two agents, I think, at different times, but they were not really well
selected, for they did not produce any results. I suppose their failure was owing to
their not possessing the proper qualifications for pushing the patent.

Q. I understand you had it patented in the United States ?-Yes.
Q. And part of the $800 you lost was in taking out the American patent ?-Yes.

$500 of it.
By Mr. Guthrie

Q. With regard to the stock in the Northern Extension, I believe you formed
one of the syndicato ?-Yes.

Q. Did you sign any agreement in writing ?-Yes; I signed an agreement in
the offiee of Mr. W. H. Rowland, which bound me as one of the co-partners to the
syndicate.

Q. You have heard Mr. Smith's statement this morning as to the object of the
syndicate ?--Yes, and it agrees perfectly with my recollection of it so far as it goes,
but 1 had at that moment the additional idea that the Pacifie Road was to be built
very speedily; my idea was that the Northern Extension would be carried still
further and connect with the Pacific.

Q. In the interests of this city ?-Yes, that was one reason why I went into it.
Q. When you entered into the syndicate did you understand as to how the

money was to be raised; the stock was to be purchased at par from the small holders,
was it not ?-Yes.

Q. Iad you auy idea as to how the money was to be financed for ?--Mr. Edgar
informed me that the money was to be raised by note, and carried until the road was
finished.

Q. Was this after or before the bonus was obtained from the cit-y ?--About a
year after, I think; probably a year and a half, but certainly after.

Q. Was there then any idea of selling out to the Northern or aimalgamating ?-
No; their idea was that the N'orthern Extension would be a better road than the
Northern.

Q. And continue an independent line ?--Yes.
Q. Just as stated by Mr. Smith ?-Yes:
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Q. What amount of money di4yoe gtewbn the roads amalgamatd ?--8 .
Q. Did you understand that you got any part of the money voted to the directors,

the President, for their ee-1ee ?-No;I was told that as I was not a director,I had ne share of that.
By Mr. Bowel

Q. You understood you were not a direetor, and had no right to a portion of
-these monies ?-Yes, I understood so, of course.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. You understood that you simply got the profit on the stock you were respon-

:sible for ?-Yes; deducting the interest paid.
Q. You say you signed an agreement in Mr. Howland's office, by which you

Ibecame responsible for your share ; had you paid anything on that ?-No.
Q. Just explain your position in regard to that ?-I .was asked some short time

after the syndicate was formed to pay up my share of the money necessary to buy
-the stock, but I declined to do so. The sum mentioned was about $1,800.

Q. As your share ?-Yes. I held that it was essential to my safety in the
-natter that the gentlemen whose business capacity « relied upon to see the thing
through, should not be in a position to separate their interests from mine. I pro-
ferred to continue the original bargain.

Q. Did you make any offer at that time ?-I made an oQ'er that if they would
ýcount me out, and relieve me of responsibility, I would agree to that.

Q. Was that offer titken ?--I don't know that I ever got a distinct answer as to
-whetber they would or not, but in the end I was treated as one of the syndicate.

Q. Did you consider yourself responsible to the last ?-Most undoubtedly.
Q. When you made the proposal that you should be released of ail obligation,

_you were perfectly willing to go out without anything ?-Without anything.
By Mr. Palmer

Q. Had you anything to do with the hotel ?-No.
Q. If J understand you, you had no interest in the hotel ?-iNo; I had no interest

in it whatever.
Q. Did yon know that this money was given away for the Hotel Company ?--

iNo; I never attended any meeting, and never looked into any of the papers.
Q. You trusted to business men and to Providence ?-Yes. It was the business

of the directors, and 1 was an ordinary shareholder and knew nothing about the hotel.
By Air. Bowell

Q. You say you entered into this syndicate in the interestsof the city?-Partly.
I accepted Mr. Smith's explanation of the money part of the business.

Q. Then really you never paid any money ?-Yes ; I paid the interest at the
winding-up.

Q. But I understood you never paid anything ?-Yes, it was deducted from my
:hare.

Q. It could not have been deducted if you never had it ?-I would have got the
whole amount had it not been deducted.

Q. Did you ever advance any money out of your çwn pocket towards the pay-
ment of the stock ?-No.

Ry Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Did you undertake a liability ?-Yes.
Q. How did you undertake a liability ?-By signing the agreement.
Q. Did you give any notes ?-No.
Q. Endorse any ?-No.
Q. You simply became responsible, under this agreement, for your share of the

loss or gain as the case might be ?-Yes.
Q. They negotiated the notes, and carried the debt on behaff of the Company?

By Mr..BoweU:-
Q. You gave your name to the syndicate ?-Yes.
Q. With the expectation of assuming any responsibility with the others and

reaping any benefit that might arise ?-Yes.
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Q. How much money were you asked tr ?-&bout $1,800.
By Mr Bertram:

Q. When this syndicate was formed, was it the uùderstanding that none of thei
members of the synditate should advance any money personally ?-That was the-
understanding.

y. And you were only asked to contribute this money because the rate ofinterest
had ri8en higher than the members of the syndicate thought they should pay?-I
don't say that; but it was a change of plan which I- did not approve, no matter-
whether it was the rate of interest or not. I did not wish to change the plan.

Q. You did not want to be charged individually with your stock, apart from the,
rest of the syndicate, which you would have been if you had paid up the stock?--Yes..

(Signed) J. G. BROWN.

TuzsnAr, 10th April, 1877.

Committee met.-Mr. AncmBALD in the Chair.
Mr. OnAaLL.s J. CAMPBELL swOrn and examined.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. You reside in Toronto ?-Yes.
Q. Mr. Cumberland, in his evidence before us, said ho was under the impressiorn

that you were the gentleman who had spoken to him when ho subscribed to a contri-
bution for the election of Sir Francis Hincks, in North Renfrew, in 1869 ?-I see he
made that statement.

Q. Was his impression correct ?-It was entirely incorrect, as he subsequently
explained to the Committee. I had nothing to do with Sir Francis' election, or any
money connected with it.

Q. le says also, that in 1872, you got two sums of $500 each, for election pur-
poses ?-Yes, that is correct.

Q. In August, 1872 ?-I think it was; at all events, it was the summer of 1872.
Q. Were they contributed in aid of the Conservative candidates ?-They were

contributed, generally, for the election fund, not for aby special candidate.
Q. For what side ?--For my friends; for the Conservative side.
Q. You were acting for the Conservatives, of course ?- Yes.
Q. Were you treasurer of an election fund ?-I was treasurer to an election fund.
Q. Lad you applied to Mr. Cumberland to subscribe ?-No, I had not.
Q. How did you come to get the thousand dollarš ?-Mr. Cumberland wrote me a

nfote, enclosing a cheque for $500.
Q. Have you got the note ?-No, I have not.
Q. I do not mean, have you got it with you ; but, can you get it ?-No, I could

not. I looked through my letters before I left, but I could not find it.
Q. Well, thon there was another sum of $500 ?--There was a subsequent cheque

for $500.
Q. low did that come to you ?--That came from Mr. Foreman, an employee of

the Road. He is the accountant or secretary, I think. I do not know what his
officiai position was at the time; but he was on the railway, holding some position.

Q. Was that applied for ?--In the note that Mr. Cumberland wrote me, ho stated
that if I wanted another $500, I could get it by applying to Mr. Foreman. I think
he was going to England at the time. 1 did want another $500, and I wrote for it
and got it.

Q. Is Mr. Foreman the present accountant of the Northern ailway ?-I do not
know.

Mr. Barlow Ct»nberland said that Mr. Foreman was a clerk thon, but was
accountant now.

By Mr. Guthrie
Q. Io that ail you received ?--That is all I received.
Q. Erom that source ?-From that source.
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By Mr Boweu:
Q. Did you ever have any conversation with'Mr. Cumberland in reference to the

uoney sent to Sir John Macdonald ?-The money which I received ?
Q. No, not the thousand you reeqived, but the thousand you did not get ?-The

-thousand for Sir Francis lincks' election; never.
Q. When the other thousand dollars was paid by Mr. Oumberland, had you any

knowledge, direotly or indirectly, that it was to be paid ont of the Northern Railway
<unds?-No; I certainly did not.

Q. Had you any reason to suppose or believe that it was paid out of that fund?
-- No; at the time I did not think it came from the Northern Railway.

Q. Then I understand you to say that you supposed it was a private subscription
by a private gentleman ?-I so considered it.

Q. When did you learn that it was ?-I never suspected it until the whole ques.
-lion came up about the Northern Railway expenditire.

Q. This Commission, I suppose ?-The Commission.
By Mr. Bertram :-

Q. You are an intimate friend of Mr. Cumberland, I believe ?-Yes.
Q. The reason I ask you is that Mr. Cumberland said in his evidence in speaking

,,of this $1,000 subscription that was got by you from him in 1872, said that he hl
many such conversations with you, as if it was a very ordinary matter that such a
transaction would be gone into ?-I noticed he made that statement, but I think it is
incorrect. I have no recollection of any other conversation with him.

Q. Ii fact you had no conversation with him at all about the matter; you say he
-wrote to you ?-No.

Q. You never spoke to him about it ?- -I have no recollection of ever speaking
te him about it, nor he to me; certainly I never asked him for any contribution.

Q. And you never received any other contribution from him for election pur-
poses ?-No.

.By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Mr. Cumberland says that he was generally regarded in such matters sa

representing the Railway, and that he had no doubt-be believed, in fact-that yoi
so regarded him when he gave that money ?-le may have so considered it, but 1
did not.

Q. Were you a director of the road at that time ?-No.
Q. You became one subsequently ?-I became one in 1875.
Q. .Did his letter sending the cheque appropriate the money for any particular

election ?-I think not.
Q. It was a contribution generally ?-Just a'contribution to the election fund.

(Signed) C. J. CAMPBRTL -

WEDNESDAY, 11th April, 1877.

Committee met.--Mr. ARCHBALD in the Chair.
Mr. WILLAî THomsoN, sworn and examined.

By Mr Guthrie :-
Q. You are President of the Northern Railway ?-Yes.
Q. And have been since 1874 ?-Since 1874.
Q. It is staled that you and George Laidlaw, in 1873, were the means of getting

41,000 from the 1orthern Railway that went to Mr. Ohisholm to help to oppose the
Peel by-law for the Hamilton and North-Western Railway ?-Yes.

Q. Did you get that money yourself?-No.
Q. Who got it ?kIt was sent to Brampton ; I think Mr. Ohisholm discountet

4he note in the Merchants' Bank.

A. I877
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Q. Was there money contributed in Toronto for the same purpose or was this a.
solitary ontribution ?-That was the only one 1 know of.

Q. Since you have become President I suppose you have enquired into the affira
of thë Oompany ?- Tes.

Q. Frow information received or gathered by yourself can you state whether-
there are any iteins of expenditure analogous to those the Committeé hale been
enquiring into that we have not yet heard of?-No.

Q. Ido not mean from your own knowledge, but I mean from inforrmation of
the late Secretary or any of the Company's officers ?-Nothing further than what has
been made public.

Q. Than what we know ?-No.
Q. I would like to ask you another question: You were a candidate in Toronto>

for the Local House ?-Yes.
Q. Since you have been President of this Company ?---Yes.
Q. And while you were President ?-Yes.
Q. Who paid your election expenses?-Myself. I beg to say to the Committe0

-w'tb reference to the $1,000, that, during that year and the previous year I was one of
those who went out frequently to the county in the interests of the Northern Rail-
way towards the construction, and hoping to construct the late South Simcoe Junction
iRailway, and fiom that fact Mr. Laidlaw appealed to me to accompany him to see
Mr. Cumberland in reference to opposing the Hamilton and North-Western in Peel,
and who was, at that time, pursuing his Credit Valley scheme. My impression was
that it was a proper thing for the Northern to do if they could see their way clear to
do it. This was the wish of the people of Toronto and the desire of the Northern in
the direction of their interests that the Hamilton and North-Western should be-
blocked, and the money was given for that purpose. It was forwarded to Mr.
Chisholm, and he was the distributor of the whole sum that was given.

(Signed) WILLIAM THOMSON.

WEDNESDAY, lth April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. ARcniBALD in the Chair.
Mr. J. D. EDaAR, sworn, and examined:

By Mr. Guthrie:-
(Exhibit prodneed.)
Q. Have you seen this account ?-Yes; I have seen it.
Q. Is it correct ?-As far as I can make out, it is, I believe, correct, shewing all

the personal services and disbursements for which I have been paid.
Q. With regard to the last item of $3,050 voted by the Directors of the Northern

Extension, lst June, 1875, to you, can you explain it to the Committee; what it was
for, and whether it, or any of it, was included in any previous payment to you ?-
None of it was included in any previous payment.

Q. Well; explain to th3 Committee what it was for ?-I had been, some couple
of years before that, in England on behalf of the Northern Extension for more
than three months, and I had fnot been paid for that; and, before the Company closed,
I thought I should be paid, and the Directors thought so too; that is one matter
ineluded in this $3,050. WeU, in addition to that, I had been acting under the
instructions of the Extension Company Directors in assisting analgamation, and
forwarding the Bill here. Of course I was down here for the Northern, but I had
been acting for the Extension at the same time and with the same object; they took
that into tonsideration too. The last account for my firm's professional services,
which I had rendered, was up to 25th Septemnber, 1874, and from 24th September,

874, to 3rd Tane, 1875, my firm and myself had been engaged in doing ordinary
professional services.



Q. And you had not got your ordiay 1profesional fees ?--I had not; so that
they were taken into coneration. There was thus aboiut eight months' services, ii
addition, -taken into consideration. PBesides that,1eonsidered those were quite
sufficient 'services to have made up $3,050, but, in addition to that I had been assisting
in a great many ways, with advice and consultations with the Directors, which was
not solicitor's work but counsel's work. These other Dire4tors were getting fees theg
selves for the services, and I daresay, took into conbideration the five years i had beeii
helping them in the afairs of the road in addition to my solicitor's service.

Q. This amount was fixed by whom ?-By the Di rectors.
Q. Mr. Smith and the other directors ?-Yes; the Directors, and voted by them.

I do not know whether Mr. Cumberland was properly reported, but in the MaiCs
report of bis evidence the other day, he is reported to have said that I had been paid
for my trip to England. I had not been paid; I was only paid in that way.

Q. The imp ession may have arisen from your applying for payment?-- -Yes.
Q. At all events you were not paid ?--No; and I thought I should get it before

the thing closed up at any rate.
Q. Would you explain to the Committee about some scrip you got-$1,000 stock

in the Couchiching Hotel Company, for selling the land over and above the price you
paid for it ?--That was part of the purchase monev agreed upon for the land.

Q. Did the Directors of the Hotel Company know what price you had bought the
land ut originally; did they know you were making this stock protit?-I believe they
did; at any rate, my arrangement was made with the promoters before the
Company was incorporated. Mr. Cumberland and I agreed -to sell. Owning that
land jointly, and having expended, in the opening of roads and clearings on it
altogether with interest, $8,000 (there were some eighty odd acres). We offered té
sell to the Company when it was being organized, as a condition of organization, to
let therm have it for $8,000 in cash. which, by the way, they gave us a mortgage for,
and a thousand dollars each of paid up stock-Mr. Cumberland and myself.

Q. You had spent money on it after buying it ?-After buying it we had one
whole -immer, and had a gang of thirty or forty men opening roads, as it was all
bush. \Ir. Cumberland subbequently gave up bis $1,000 of stock. Besides that I
subscribed and paid $1,000. I did not give up my stock.

Q. You were in Parliament ftr a short time--during the Parliament of 1872 ?-
Yes.

Q. During that time did you not act as counsel for either of.those Roads in
connection with Parliamontary business at Ottawa ?-Not ut ail.

Q. While you sat in Parliament you did not act as Parlbamentary counsel for
those railways ?-I acted, probably, in the Local Hlouse, for the Northern Extension.

Q. But I mean in the Ottawa House ?-Certainly not; not for this railway nor
anything else, and I did not allow my partners either to do so.

Q. Did you get any contribution for your election from this railway or Mr.
Oumberland ?-No; I did not. The only interference of Mr. Cumberland in my
election was that he bet against me.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. You say you were in Parliament in 1872. Was it at that time that the,

Government and the Northern Railway had two schemes before Parliarnent, one
was to compromise the Government lien and the other was a Bill which was before
the House ?-No; that was in 1874-75.

Q. You were speaking of amalgamation ?-No; there was a Government scheme.
Q. I am speaking of Sir John Macdonald's Government ?-I was there, and

there was a Bill before the Ilouse.
(O The Government brought in a resolution to compromise the Government

lient -Yes ; and it was withdrawn.
Q. &t that time were not yourself, Mr. Cook burn, Mr. Morrison Mr. Robinson,

members of the House, interested in those two schemes ?-I did not interest myself
in any way in the Northern Railway at that time.

Q. You were not interested in the seheme ?-I was anxious te get It carried.
151
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Q. Andof course you used your inuence to get it carried ?-Yee; I did.
Q And, I suppose these Other gentlemen as far as you observed, did the same

thing ?-L fancy so. I know-Mr. Oockburn did; and I think Mr. Robinson and Mir.
Morrison did too.

Q. I suppose you know, during that time, there were considerable hospitalities
going on ?-WelIl, I was only lucky enoug once to experience it myself.

Q. Did you see other members ani gentlemen experiencing it ?-I was at one
dinner, which I understood was given by the Northern Railway to a number of
members and other gentlemen. Mr. Robinson was in the chair. That is the only
one I bave any recollection of.

Q. You knew, of course, that the extension was being promoted and carried on
really by the Northern ?-I cannot say that; it was a distinct organizaion, and it
was leased to the Northern.

Q. You were the paid solicitor of this Company ?-Of the Extension Company
for five years.

Q. From the time of its organization down to its extinction ?- Yes.
Q. At what salary ?-For nearly two years there was a fixed salary of $ 1,800.

The year before that. and after that, bils were rendered according to services by the
firm.

Q. Do I understand that you occupied professional relations between the two
Companies, and you did not know that the extension was promoted and paid for by
the Northern ?-As a fact I knew it was not paid fur by the Northern Road. I
knew it was paid for by the issue of bonds and by bonuses.

Q. But previous to the issue of bonds was not there a large expenditure ?-There
hate been advances made, but they were repaid though.

Q. Did not you know that this was promoted by the Northern Road, and for the
benefit of the Northern ?-At the original outset, hefore the Company was organized
and before they sold any bonds, no doubt the Northern did promote it, but not at the
time yon speak of.

Q. Were they not interested in the Company throughout ?-Well, the Extension
had settled upon the terms of their lease with the Northern then, and were no absolute
relations. One was a line leased by the other, with its bonds guaranteed by the
Northern. Mr. Cumberland was connected with both, and I was anxious to help the
Northern in any way I could.

Q. Were you in receipt of this salary as solicitor of the Road when you were in
Parliament ?--.Yes; my firm were at any rate.

Q. Well, you were solicitor, were you not ?-The accounts were sometimes
mnade out in my name and sometimes in the name of the firm.

Q. You were a stockholder, were you not ?--Yes.
Q. Were you not also, or your firm, doing the legal business of the Road ?----I see in

that year, 1872, that you are charged May 31st, quarter's salary and expenses----quar-
ter's salary, $400; expenses, $97.30. Where were these expenses incurred ?--They
were incurred in Toronto. There is a voucher here in which you will find them. They
were ordinary expenses in managing the business.

Q. I see by these accounts, that your salary and professional services against the
Northern Extension, from the lst October, 1869, to 3rd June, 1875, were 310,507.76.
Is that correct?-I have not added it up.

Q. That statement (referring to the statement produeed of Mr. Edgar's accoun,
is correct?-That is correct if it is-added up rightly.

Q. Thon, in addition, you received for expenses% and disbursements, during the
same time, $1,453.50 ?--I suppose so, if it is correctly added up.

Q. Then it appears, in addition to that you received,from 1868, to June, 1875,
$2,915.50 for services, from the Northern Railway?-That is not quite right. That is
incorrect, because that covered all my disbursements coming down to Ottawa many
imes. I have no particularsof that, because I lumped the whole thing, and it is ail
ut down asa fee;and it is incorrect. Ido.not know whatproportion i8 disbursements

g ardly, because it wassix months'disbursement&
12
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Q. At al events exept em flr as year diébrsements were concerned, that
amount may be correct ?--Yes, of course, there w*s a period fromi 1869 to 1875, in
iwhich I did not receive anything from the Northern.

Q. Thon from 1868, to June 1875, you reoeived $2,975.50 ?--Yes.
Q. And a further sum of $428, for expenses and disbursements ?-Yes.
Q. In addition to that, during that period you received this 11,000 stock in the

~Hotel Company ?-It was not included in this.
Q. You received this $ 1,000 in stock on the purchase of the land ?-Yes; that is

part of the purchase-money.
Q. Besides this, when the amalgamation came-will you be kind enough to tell

ms how much profit you received on your stock ?-I cannoî tell you exactly the
figures, but it was whatever the Act allows--ten per cent. interest, and twelve and a
haif premium. The amount I received was the same as others.

Q. Then did you share in the division; and if so, to what extent of the insuranoe
=noney that was collected when the hotel was burned down ?-I received the samn
proportion of it as the other stockholders.

Q. Can you tell us what it was ?--It was 63J cents on the dollar; I received the
same as Mr. Smith. He calculated that by taking off the interest on the money it
-would be 46, so that in my case it would be the same.

Q. This statement makes out that the amount you paid to the Northern
Extension as a stockholder was $1,860 ?-About that I should think.

Q. And the amount you received was $3,022.30 ?--No, it was not that at the time,
it was only $2,800, and something we all fùeceived in scrip; they did not pay that
:scrip when it was due, and they gave me a note for it which amounts to $3,000 and
something.

Q. Are these all the sums you received out of these three Companies; the
Northern, the Northern Extension and the Hotel Company ?--That is ail I received;
the right of way was sometimes bought through me or through my firm.

Q 1 don't understand you ?---As solicitors we had to purchase the right of way
for the railway Company.

By -Mr. Guthrie :-
Q. I suppose the titles and the money to pay for them would pass through your

hands ?-Yes.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. Of course these books woqld really do you an injustice, because they were
charging you with things that ought not to be charged ?-They dia undoubtedly.

Q. With reference to this 83,050 that was given to you on the 3rd June, 1875;
I see that on the same day yon were allowed 82,500 as your fe, as Parliamentary
Counsel for the Northern; the 83,050 for services included three months in England.
We-e these sums paid at the same time ?-No; I don't see how the dates come to be
the same, for they were entirely different; it appears to be the same date, but as a
matter of fact, the accounts were passed by diffrent Boards of difforent Companies at
different times.

Q. Was not that after the railways were consolidated ?-No; the sum of $3,050,
was voted by the directors of the Northern Extension before amalgamation.

Q. Did you not understand it was amalgamated on the 3rd June ?-Yes, but this
was before amalgamation.

Q. Was it entered in the books ?-Yes, unquestionably.
Q. Was it before or after the Act was passed ?-It was after that; the Act wa

passed in the spring.
Q. lu fact, was not this a part of the winding up of the two Compamies ?-Wel,

I wanted to get my matters wound up.
Q. You see they were Companies, but were they not the- samne people exaotly

settling the same things ?-Settling what?
Q The affairs of the Extension Company ?-I do not.think there was any member

of the Northern Extension Board on the Northern at ail until after amalgamation.
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Q. Rad not the arrangemen been made for smalgamation at thia time ?-The
genaral scheme had been before the LegiÈlutare in 1874.

1Q. Was not it understood who was to go into the dioeatorste ?-I think the Act
provides that the whole of th" direetoms of the ]Etension were, after amalganation,
to becomedireetors of the Northern for a cortain time.

Q. What I want to know is whether the was not done in unison ?-.No; the
account of $,ß3,050 was settling up for vaid claims I had against the Oomipany.

Q. Did you ever render any such account ?--In 1873 I wrote a letter urging them
to pay me for going to England.

Q Did you ever render a bill showing an account of $3,050 ?-I did not render
any voueher; it was just figured.

Q. low mach of that was for going to England?-I should think for a man to
be away 100 days would be worth $20 a day at the very least; I would not do it for
less now-; that would be $2,000. Aithough, at the time, if they had paid me I would
have taken $10 a day.

Q. Were not all your expenses in England paid ?-.-My expenses were paid.
Q. Then, if I understand it right, it was considered that 82,000 of this should be

for your trip to England ?-I think that was considered in coninection with it; it was
not fixed at that.

Q. Did you notrender an account to the railway, charging for your services in
England at the rate of $10 per day ?-I did in 1873; at the saine time I said it was
worth $20; I never kriew it was voted to me tilt yesterday, and I believe it is to my
credit now.

Q. I see in the return that is put in, vote of directors, "including three
months in England ;" that was not in the vote that passed, was it ?-- I do not know
that it was.

Q. Do you know how it got in here; was it put in.here at your suggestion ?-
It was.

Q. You suggested to the gentleman who made this statement up for the Com
mittee that he should put it in ?-1 told him so as a fact.

Q. The books show " Parliamentary Counsel," but parliamentary counsel and your
trip to England would be different things ?-I was not responsible for the wording
of the resolution.

Q. Had you much discussion to get these gentlemen to raise it from $10 a day
to $2,000 for the trip ?-lt was talked over in a general way; I do not know that
$2,000 was specifically detailed as part of that; but that item was talked o'È in mak-
ing all this up.

Q. I see from the detailed account of your services that as far as the vouchers
go, the accounts are particularized. Why were not the services for this letter de-
tailed in the same way ?---As Iexplained before, that covered also the whole of
the professional services, from 24thSeptember, 1874 to June, 1875, and I can accodnt
for that in this way: It was e"pected 1 think that amalgamation wpuld take effect
as "from the date September, and accounts were made up to that time with a
view to amalgamation. Up to that time a number of accounts were propared by my
partners and sent in; after that, pending their parliamentary work, there was no

il, but work-had been going on just the same. '
Q. Would there be any trouble in getting a detailed account down to 3rd June,

875 ?-I think I could get it to March, 1875.
Q. Why cannot you get it from March, if there was any ?-Because at that time

I made a change in theo arrangements of my firm, and the tirm had no interest in my
parliamentaiy and railway work.

Q You ha& a firm of your own ?-No, but these charges hat to be lumped, and
the thing was to be wound up.

4 At that time you hadt eredit in aïhmp ?-T was; credited in a lump.
Q. Was the lump to be the saine, no mat te- what yor servites were ?-No.
Q1 am not speàking of the parliamentary fee; what I want to ascertain is

what your professional services were, bevanî. Mr. Cumberlatid says you were paid
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for these things before ad I want to se whether that is orrect?-He is not cor-
reot, becaue was ýot.

Q. Do the books show ?-Ifany they would up to March.
Q. Why wont Wiotthey after careh ?-Beeaue the legislation had pretty wel}

progressed in Ottiwa. We knew pretty well the Bill for amalgamation wouM
carry, and I intended to edose it up at amalgamation.

Q. But did not yen keep in your office an aecoiunt of the services ?-I had the-
thing sent in, in a lump fee.

Q. But still you would know what the services were ?-I ought really, but in
parliamentary matters I did not make an entry.

Q. Can you show to the Committee the professional services that would not
comé under the head of eounsel and actual solicitor's work you did under that Bill ?
-Up to March I can; from 24th September to March 1874.

Q. With reference to the hotel, can you tell us what share you had in it ?-I had
$2,000 of stock.

Q. Tell us the amount of insurance money you received ?-I think there is a,
statement which shows-that exactly; I received the same as the others.

Q. Can you give us any reason why it was that the debts th the Northern and
the Extension were not paid, instead of dividing the money amongst the stockholders
of the hotel ?-I was not aware of the amounts the Northern Extension had advanced
in erecting the botel. I suppose it was advanced as a subsidy to assist the construe-
tion of the hotel for the benefit of the railway.

Q. You were solicitor to the Northern Extension ?-Yes.
Q. You drew the mortgage from the Hotel Comipany to the Extension then ?'

-1 cannot remember whether there was one.
Q. Mr. Cumberland says there was ?-I cannot remember it. iIhere was a mort

gage to the Northern for $10,000.
Q. But there was a mortgage to the Extension ?-I had kbeen in England; I

recollect coming back and hearing that a mortgage had been given on the hotel, but
I thought it was to the Northern; probably I was wrong.

Q. But ho says there was a mortgage originally given to the Extension ?-I do.
not know anything about the state of the account between the two Companies

Q. Who was solicitor of the Hotel Company ?-There was no solicitor; anlything
that had to be done I did, and there was nothing done except borrowing some money
from the Building Society. Only the main building of the hotel was burned and the-
furniture. A large number of'outbuildings, wharves and bowling-alleys,. the gas-
house and the boulevards,'in whieh much money was put, were not burnt or destroyed.
They are there yet, and the Northern had a mortgage on them. 'Many of the share-
hole'ers su bscri-bed to the undertaking under a guarantee from the Northern- -which
was supposed to be a good one--for interest on their money, and their subseriptions,
together with the money they borroved from the Building Society, erected the
building, bought the furniture, and paid off the floating liabilities, sôme $12,000 to-
$16,000. I cortainly thought, the property remaining there for the benefit of the
railway, it was quite fair that the shareholders should get some of their money
baek.

Q. Is it not a fact that the hotel was subject to the mortgage of $10,000 from
the Northern Railway ?-That is how it stands; but if there is a legal claitm against
the Hlotel Company, the railway could enforce it and get the whole property.

Q. Independent of that, did not you know that the lotel Company was borrow-
ing from the Extension $46,00 ?---l did not know it till afterwards.

Q. Then, if I understand it right, you were solicitor to the Nopthern Extension
and got $1,600 a year;' you were a stockholder in the Hotel Compaynuýwd hen this
teek place you did not know of it ?-I knew that the raMilwy was doing sometrng;
gravel trains wore running up there, and men were engaged to ckr the place.

Q. Thon you wore ignorant of the whole thing exeept Of -ome glravel trains
reiming ?-Mr. Cumberland was anxions to have the hotel furnishedi fok the bonefit
of the road.
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Q. Thatis not the point at ail; I amspeaking of the time yon divided this insu.
rance money, whether you were totally ignorant of this debt ?-No, I was not; I knew
there was a debt, advanced by the Old HxtensionsOompany.

Q. Then notwithstanding that this debt existed, and you knew that this debt
-was handed over to the Northern Railway, and the, Northern Railway owed the
Dominion more than it could pay, you divided the Insurance money'instead of giving
it to the.Northern Road ?-I don't agree that this amount awarded by the Extension
.Company to the Hotel Company is an asset of the Northern.

Q. Why ?-Because I think it was an advance as a subsidy to aid the construe-
tion of the botel.

Q. If so, why was there a mortgage ?-The mortgage was given to the Northern.
Q. To the Extension ?-If so I do not know that it was.
Q. Did not really the same parties engineer the hotel that were engineering the

Extension Company ?-Many of the Board were the same.
Q. But the real controlling spirits were the same ?-I don't know that.
Q. At all events what I want you to tell is this: It appears that yoy were

solicitor in the Extension and a stockholder in both the Companies; am I to under-
stand that you were ignorant this was or was not a debt of the Hotel to the Extensions
-Company ?-Now ?

Q. No, at the time the building was burned down ?-When the building was
.burned down I knew there was an advance, but I did not know the particulars on
the amount and knowing that advance I agreed to take that amount on my stock.

Q. Why did not you make an enquiry as to what the amount was ?-Because
the property is left there. If the Extensions Corpany volunteerod an expenditure
-of their money, I think when the shareholders get a hundred cents on the dollar the
Northern can get the property. I think there will be no objection by the shareholders
to that.

Q. And before you pay off the indebtedness of the Hotel Company to the Exten-
sion you think you ought to have your hundred cents on the dollar for the stock; is
that correct ?-Under the circumstances, I think the stockholders in the Couchiching
.should ; the Railway Company ah ould not lot them have it.

Q. And that was the roason you accepted this money?-Certainly.
Q. You said you never had any of your election expenses paid; have you not

-got pretty considerable sums otherwise ?-I workéd very hard ; the larger part of
my professional time was given to this thing, and I would not neglect my profession
for the same now. I was weeks and weeks away up there hunting for bonuses.

Q. Did yon charge nothing for that; your expenses were paid ?-My expenses
were paid, yes.

Q. Is that one of the reasons you had the money from the Hotel Company ?-
Nothing at all to do with it.

By Mr. GuthKrie:
Q. Did I understand you to say that in voting you the $3,050, the Directors

.allowed any particular part of that sum for your services in England ?--No; I do
not think they did.

Q. You said just noi that you considered the shareholders of the Rotel Company
had some claim by reason of the guarantee which the Northern had given, but had
not fulfilled. What was that ?-The shareholders subscribed on the understanding
with Mr. Cumberland that the Northern would guarantee them interest, I think for

.seven years, on their paid-up stock, and that guarantee was not carried out.
Q. Did they feel aggrieved on that account ?-They did very much and they

are very much agpeved still.

Q. You and Mr. Cumberland originally pmrchased this property for the hotel,
did you not ?-I purchased it myself originally;. Mr. Cumberland was out of the

.country, and I knew that railroads were going on then.
Q. Did you purchase for yourself and Mfr. Cumberland ?-I afterward saw him

.and asked hlm if he would pay half.
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Q. How much did you give for it -We gave $1,500.
Q. Then you formied a company?-No, not for some time afterwards.
Q. The Company was subsequently formed ?-Subeequently formed,
Q. To whom you sold this property?-Yes.

-Q. For how much ?-$6,00 ; 82,000 in stock and $4,000. It had.altogether cost
us $4,000 with the interest and what we paid on improvements. We had a gang of
men there a whole summer.

Q. You reeoived $1,000 advance, and Mr. Cumberland refused to take his ?
No; ho got it, but afterwards the shareholders grambled about the guarantee not
being fultilled, and ho said, being a stockholder, that ho would be on the same footings
as the others, and ho released the other $1,000, and only held the $1,000 ho had paid.

Q. Then you got an advance from the Northern Extension to the amount of-
$46,000 ?-I did not know that; I knew there were some advances being made, but I
did not know how much. I really did not know the particulars of this advance at
the time.

Q. What do you consider the present value of the property ?--That is very hard
to tell. It is a beautiful place and very valuable to the Northern Railway.

Q. What do you consider the property worth ?-I cannot form an opinion; it
depends so much on whether there is to be an hotel there or not.

Q. What would it be worth if you intended to rebuild the main building, and
establish it as before for the benefit of travellers and the Railway Company ?-It is
very good land. But, it is hard to tell, because it depends on the rental you eau get
for the hotel, and that is a very uncertain thing in the summer, as we have expe--
rienced.

Q, Then you really do not know what it is worth; you cannot give an approxi-
mate value ?-For the Northern Railway to use that as they are using it this sum-
mer as a pleasure ground for excursion parties, going by rail, and by their steamer
Emüly May, I think it is almost invaluable. It is worth an enormous amount.

Q. Then you refuse to say ?-I do not refuse to say; I would be glad to tell you.
if I could; but I cannot.

Q. las the original company still an existence as a company ?-Yes.
Q. Then if you pay off the $10,000 mortgage to the Northern Railway, te-

whom will the property eong ?-It will belong to the shareholders of the Couchi-
ching.

Q. Does it belong to the Hotel Company ?-Undoubtedly, but if the Extension
and the Northern have a claim against it and recover it they can get. it back.

Q. If the hotel paid up the $10,000 the Northern would still have this land, be-
cause of the $46,000 ?-If $ 10,000 were paid over, and the Northern has a legal
claim against the hotel company by reason of this advance, they could obtain the
property by an execution.

Q. Do I understand that instead of the claim being $10,000, it is, in fact,
$56,000 ?-That is a question of legal opinion.

Q. Do you consider yourselves as liable for that $46,000 ?-That is a matter of
opinion; I have not considered the question.

Q. If the Northern hold a mortgage, of course yon must be iable ?-I am-not
sure whether the Ilotel Company have power to give a mortgage. That is another
question I would not like to give an opinion on.

By -Mr. Bertram:
Q. You spoke of a guarantee that the Northern Railway Company ve the

stockholders. Is there a written guarantee ?-I was told there was. Mr. binson,
who was a stockholder of the Hotel Company, the other day stated that when ho was
President of the Northern, they signed a document under seal, but I was not aware
;of it.

Q. Mr. Robinson said there was a yritten guaranteo that six por cent., for seven-
years, should be paid ?-That was it. Mr. Robinson said he affixed-the.seal of the
Northern to it.
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Q. Are you aware whether there. was any minutç the Board or any coneita-
tion by the Boad of the Axtedsion Company, o t h 4*i advance they were to make
to the Hotel Compapy ?L-, arM not aware hat there, was.

Q, You do not know of any ?-No.
Q. You spoke of a considerable number of times you were out on the bqsiness of

-the Extension Company, holding meetings in the diNerent localities where they were
.asking for bonuses. Did you charge a professional fée for these tripq ?-I did some-
-times. I was a stoekholder, and I worked as the directors did, and they got their fées.

Q. You went out as a stockholder ?--Yes.
Q. Did you get any of the $13,250 that was distributed ?--No, I did not. I gt

none of those fees voted to the President and directors. g
Q. of the sum of $30,000, or whatever it may be, an amount of which was paid

to Mr. Cumberland, as consulting manager, and to yourself, as parliamentary counsel;
were these amounts paid in cash ?--A. far as I was concerned, I got notes for my
professional fées.

Q. Notes on the Northern ?---No, I think on the Extension. They were
renewed probably by the Northern.

Q. Lt was immediately before amalgamation ?--Yes.
By Mr. Palmer

Q. It was after the Act was passed ?-After the Act of Parliament was passed.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. Who paid the money ?-The money was paid by the Northern as a liability
of the Extension.

By Mr. Palmer :
Q. There was a settled amount to be paid by the Northern to the Northern Ex-

tension for its property, and it would appear front this that after paying the regular
stoekholders there was a further sum left to meet this $30,000; that was divided in
that way ?-I fancy there was more than that; there was enough to cover those
votes.

Q. This amount of money was actually left as sums of the Northern Extension
Company ?-1 fancy there was a balance, but I am not sure, I think there was a sur-
plus.

Q. As I understand it an amount of money was left in the coffers of the Exten-
sion Company, and out of that these amounts for the professional services and the
cnsulting manager were paid, and the balance was divided amongst the Direttors ?--
No; It was voted to the directors by the shareholders at the meeting; It was pub-
lished the next day; I saw it myself in the newspapers.

Q. Where did this $30,000 that was voted to Mr. Cumberland and yourself,
Frank Smith and the other directors, come from ?-I fancy it was a liability created
by those votes of the Extension Company, before amalgamation.

Q. It was created, in fact, on the 3 tst May, 1875, by vote of the Board; by vote
of the shareholders; into a liability of the Extension Railway Company ?--Yes.

Q. And then it became a liability to be paid by the Northern ?-Yes; that was
what it was; the amount included all the liabilities; that is to say $19,900, or some-
thing under- the $20,000 per mile.

By Mr. Gthrie:-
Q. There were other liabilities ?-Bonds.

By Mr. Palmer :-
Q. Is not thi a fact: The Act of Amalgamation authorized you to sell out to:

the Northern, bv which all the liabilities of the Extension were to be paid, but you
should have all your money back with ten per cent., interest and the premium?
-Yes.

Q The Northern was at liberty to pay whatever liabilities the Extension was
undr ?--Not to exceed $20,003.

Q. Yes, up to a certain amount. Then It was necesary to settle or 'create
liabilities previous to amalgamation, in order that it might be paid ?-Certainly
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By Mr. Bertram.:
Q. It beems that you had a rigbt to sell fbr a cePJi figure, 1iabilitic, and

everything else to the Northern; that the amount you uffld haveulüade them pay
,was not arrived at, and, therefore, net having arrived atthe amount you could claim,
yôu cireated this liability ?-The claim was acknowledged ; there was a large bahmee
left, of several thousands.

Q. Did you consider the Northern Railway Company got a good bargain by
buying out the Company ?-Certainly; I did consider it a very good bargain. Mr.
Shanly and Mr. Keefer valued the Northern Extension at, I think, over $27,O00 t
mile.

Q.. What did it sell for ?-Under $20,000.
• Q. I suppose the only reason you had fbr parting with your property at really
:a lower figure than it was worth was the difficulty you had as a Company in running
the railroad ?-Of running the railroad and in paying the debte. It cost more than
we thought it would, and we had debts, and we found it difficuilt to finance, and it
was or.ly for that reason that we sold to the Northern.

Q. I suppose that the Northern Extension Railroad itself was a much moo
valuable property to the Northern Railway proper than it would be if held by another
company, and on account of them having the rolling stock, it would cost them
nuch less to work it than you ?-Yes; but they leased it, and we received a certain

percentage of the profits, which were to be applied to pay off the bonds, and in a
few 3 ears there would have been a surplus even under that leaée. The Extension
was of great advantage to the Northern for the traffic obtained in it, and carried
over the Northern to Toronto.

Q. I suppose it would be more advantageous to the Northern to own the pro-
perty, than to have it 1eased in that way ?-Yes, I think so. I believe that unless
amalgamation had taken place the Northern would not have been able to pay of the
Government lien. I believe it strengthened their position so much.

Q. You have been all through the northern country ?-Yes.
Q. What is your opinion of the capabilities of the country to the north for pro-

ducing railway traffic ?-I think now that this Muskoka Branch strikes (ravenhurst,
the foot of all these large waters in the district of Muskoka, it will a very
large traffic, the steamers running over three or four lakes.

Q. I suppose you are aware that probably ten years ago there was a large dis-
trict tributary to the Northern that sent saw logs and square timber down to
Toronto ?-Yes.

Q. The only means the Northern had of obtaining a share of that traffle was by
opening up this Extension road into the districts ?-Yes. Not only had they to go
u into that district to meet the trade, but they were threatened to have it taken away'
a together from them by the Midland, which was to run up to the Georgian Bay.
Therefore it seemed, no doubt, the only protection to the interests of Toronto, and
these Toronto merchants went into it to keep the trade to the north of them.

Q. That part of the country where the Black River strikes Lake St. John is also
tributary to it ?-Yes. Longford Mills.

Q. Can you speak as to the character of the country lying north of Graven-
lurst?-I have been away up in canoes to the Magnetawan.

Q. So that in our estimation there is not a line of road possessing botter
chances of getting plenty to do than this same Extension ?-I do not know of another

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. How near doos it come to the Midland ?-The Midland rase. it, at right

angles at the Couchiching Hotel. There is a station there of both th, )id"and and
the Northern.

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. So that you expect to strike a large share of the lumber tràdé,Whii, in the

place of going to the Georgian Bay, will corne to your road ?-hidead oing dowa
the Muskoka, it will come down the Musknka Lake to Gravenhurst.
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By Mr. Palmer .
Q. I e. you are down for $9,30 of thtNorthern Extension stock. Did you

hold that altogether on y&ir own account ?-I o not know how that was at all. I
heard Mr. Gordon Brown saying, yesterday, that ho was interested, and ho was
interested in the way ho spoke of.

Q. Do I understand you to say that this represents stock held on account of Mr.
Brown ?-I don't oxactly understand it just now. I do not know how that was.
Upon the syndicate it did not matter how we stood in the books. If somebody
wanted to sell his stock, I would go and get money from the syndicate and buy it.
and take it in my name; if another did, they would take it in their names, and so on.

By AMr. Guthrie :-
Q. I see Frank Smith held double?-Yes; that was Captain Hincks' share.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Was Gordon Brown's share held by yourself?-It could not be, because he

was not credited with the stock because he had not paid it in.
Q. Were you and Gordon Brown partners in this operation ?-I think not ; that

figure represents my share.
By Mr. Palmer:-

Q. You say that Gordon Brown was interested in the stock; can you account
ior his naine not being on the stock list ?-In the first place, ho was not one of the
original stockholders. That is one reason why it does not appear there. In the
next place, the syndicate did not make any transfers to one another; they kept it
all in common, some holding a lot, and others very littie.

Q. Can you account for why Gordon Brown's name nover appeared as holding
any ?-Because he never bought in any.

Q. The stock was bought on account of the syndicate ?-So it was; but it was,
taken hap-hazard by any of us, and when we settled up we equalized it.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Did you pay your proportion of this $9,000 ?-Yes.
Q. In cash ?-Yes.
Q. I see Mr. Cockburn down for 81,000 stock on the stock book ?-And you will

soe it sjr J. D. E.
Q. r. Cockburn was not aware of that, was ho ?-I fancy ho knew of it. He

told me ho would take it, and I put his name down.
Q. How was that disposed of afterwards ?-It was wiped out; nothing was paid

on it.
By Mr. Guthrie:-

Q. I soe there are a number who were released, Mr. Cockburn: Mr. Robinson and
others ?-Yes; they did not pay up.

(Signed) J. D. EDGAR.

WEDNE8DAv, llth, April 1877.
Committee met.-MR. AROHIBALD in the Chair.
Mr. E. MmUtL, sworn, and examined:

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Were you sent by the Government to assist the Railway Commission in the

investigation of the books and accounts of the Northern Railway ?-That I cannot
say. I do not know who I was sent by. I know I was applied to by the Chairman
of the Commission.

Q. Are you in the employ of the Government ?-Yes.
By Mr. Palmer:

Q. In what capacity ?-I am Assistant <Commissioner ot Inland Revenue.
Q. And was at that time ?-I was thon.

By Mr. Qowell
Q. By whom were you applied to ?-By- Mr. Larratt Smith, Chairman of the-

Northorn Railway Commission.,
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Q. By what authority did you go ?-,By the authority of either Mr. Cartwright
or Mr. Scott, I cannot say which; that is to say I was in eénmunication with them
before I went; but I understood I was appointed by the Commissioners as accountant
to the Commission.

Q. Being in the employ of the Government, would you have considered yourself
at liberty to accept the employment of that Commission, or any other, without the
consent of the head of the Department ?-No, certainly I should not.

Q. Did you perform any services for that Commission ?-I was there ail the
time, doing what I could to assist the Commissioners; but I do not think my services
were very valuable.

Q. Did you examine the books ?-I could not get access to the books.
Q. Did you get accees to any of the books ?-I got access simply to the annual

financial statements, and I got access to the books on certain special points which
came before the Commission, and which the counsel of the Northern iRailway allowed
me to have access to-points which have all been brought up in the Commissioners'
report.

Q. Did you make any memoranda, as to the conclusion you had arrived at, after
the investigation of these books from what you saw ?-Do you mean, in relation to
the examination of the matters that came under the notice of the Commissioners?

Q. )id you make any memoranda of the conclusion at which you arrived ater
the examination of the documents which were placed in your possession, be they what
they were ?-Am I obliged to answer that question ?

.Mr. Guthrie :-le was not a Commissioner; his conclusion would not have been
of any value ?-I may explain that of course I don't know what the policy of the
Government, in relation to this matter, is.

The Chairman :-That is quite beside the question ; you were asked whether you
had made any memoranda, and you asked whether you were obliged to answer. I
have no hesitation in saying that, if you made any memoranda relating to the accounts
of the Northern Railway, based upon actual knowledge, you are bound to answer ?-
Then I did.

Q. Did you embody that in a report ?-I embodied that in a memegandum
addressed to the Chairman of the Commission; a confidential memorandum.

Q. What did you do with the memorandum ?-I handed it to the Chairman of
the Commission.

Q. Have you a copy of it ?-I think I have the original draft somewhere.
Q. Can you produce it ?-I can produce it, I have no doubt if it is necessary;

I have not it with me.
Q. What became of the copy ?-I don't know.
Q. Did you give a report or a memorandum to any one else but the Commis-

sion ?--No.
Q. Then you made a report to the Chairman of the Commission. Have you any

knowledge of what the Chairman of the Commission did with that report ?-I think
it was mailed to Ottawa.

Q. To whom ?--That I cannot say.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Do you know it to be a fact ?--I saw the Chairman enclose it in a letter, that
is all J know about it.

By Mr. Bowell.
Q. You really don't know whether it was enclosed to Ottawa or not. Can you

say you know as a fact that it was ?-I cannot say that I do know as a fa.t; because
I did not see any address on the envelope.

Q. Then, have you asy other knowledge of what became of it ?-I presume that
was the memorandum Mr. Mackenzie referred to as having been sent to him.

Q. What do you mean by a memorandum ?-I mean a memorandum which I
drew up for the information of the Commission.

Q. Was it not what you would call a report, a confidential report of your opinions
on the state of the books ?-Of the general fiancial transactions from 1859 to 1861.

161
5-il



Q. That was sent to the Govermnent was it ?-That I cannot say.
Q. You will produce your original then ?-Yee, if I am ordered to do sp.
A discussion arose as to whether the memorandum was admissable as evidence

or, not.,
By Mr. Bertram:

Q. You said you had not the books of the Northern Railway submitted to you?--
I had not, except on special items.

Q. Were these financial statements you speak of the half yearly reports that
were published ?--The yearly.

Q. Of the financial condition of the ,ailway ?-Yes.
Q. Did the Commissioners order you, as their accountant, to write your opinion

of this financial statement ?-They desired me to.
Q. With what view ?-I cannot say.
Q. What did they tell you to do ?-They asked me to analyze the statementa

published by the Company from the date of re-organization in 1859 to the then present
time, and to show more especially to what extent they acknowledged, in these state-
ments, to have paid out of revenue items which were properly chargeable to capital.

Q. Here is a statement furnished the Committee of the gross working expenses
and net revenue of the Company. Was it an analogous statement to that, or was it
the amount expended in new works, &c. ?-I may say the statement I sent down
accompanying this memorandum was a statement tabulated so as to'show, in con-
siderable detail,the items of revenue and the items of expenditure. I showed it in
three quinquennial periods, taking the average of five years from 1860 to 1865, 1865
to 1870, 1870 to 1875-three periods of five years each. I took it out separately every
year and then took the average of each five years, and I sent that statement to the
Commission.

By Mr. Palmer :-
Q. Separating the working expenses from expenditure on capital ?-.It was the

details of the revenue and axpenditure, designating what were the working expenses,
cost of operating, maintenance, and so on.

Q. And the revenue ?-And the revenue; and the dividends paid upon the
different stocks, and also the amount acknowledged to have been paid each year out
of revenue upon - ams which were, in my opinion, properly chargeable against
capital.

Q Then, after doing all this is thiis minute manner, you concluded bygiving a
report of what your information was on these points? -Yes; I wrote a memorandum
stating what the argument to be drawn from it was.

Q. That is to say, they having referred to you to give your opinion on these
points, you did so ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Did you not really make a report ?--It was a letter addressed to the Chairman

of the Commission.
Q. Was it a mere memorandum ?--I do not know the difference between a mem-

orandum and a report, except that it was not headed report. It was not headed
memorandum that I know of. It was a letter addressed to the Chairman.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. Did the Commissioners order you to make this investigation ?--I cannot say

whether they ordered me, but it was understood that I was to make this, in the.
ordinary course of conversation, and one of them assisted me in getting out the
figure& off and on occasionally

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. Did this letter refer to anything you had learned yourself from the books,

or was it merely the result of your analysis of their annual reports ?--It was the
result of an analysis of the reports.

Q. What do you mean by saying that it was a confidential letter ?---It was
marked confidential.
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By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Are you a railroad man ?-I am xnot, sir.
Q. You say you made an analysis of thesO reports; staté *hat in your opinion

were items probably chargeable to capital, and what were próbably chargeable to
revenue ?-(No answer.)

Q. How could you, not being a railroad man, give an oninion ?-I was educated
as a professional accountant, and I had a great many audits of railways to make
before I came to this country. It is not a question of opinion: t all, it is a matter of
accounts.

Q. Then I understand you to say that your opinion was based on what you had-
seen of railway audits in the old country as to what was properly chargeable to,
revenue and what was properly chargeable to capital ?-I do not know that.

Q. What was it based on ?- -The greater portion of it was acknowledged in the
annual reprts.

Q. D you give the Committee the idea that you differed from these reports as
to what items was properly chargeable to revenue and what was properly chargeable
to capital, and I ask you what knowledge you had to set aside the report ?-You
mean the printed reports.

Q. You say you took items from these reports that you thought were properly
chargeable to revenue, and I ask you what special knowledge you had that would
lead you to differ from the statement made by the Northern Railway Company
themselves as to how these amounts were apportioned ?--I do not know what state
ments were made by the railway.

Q. You had them before you?-I know they paid these items ont of revenue,
because they had no capital account to pay them out of.

Q. Th at is not the question. You see the statement was this: that there was an
amount of expenditure which would be chargeable to capital aceount; there was
another part of it that was properly chargeable to ordinary working expenses. You
made the statement that you made different from the statement of the Railroad
Company, and I want to know how you came to make this difference, and why in
your opinion the Railway Company placed the items in that way ?---I don't know
that I made any such statement that I differed from the Railway Company. I said I
made an analysis of the accounts, reproducing the reports for eighteen years on
one sheet.

Q. Yes; but under different headings ?--Under the headings which they them-
selves adopted.

Q. Then your report was simply the same as the railway report ?-Yes, the
appendices; but you have not got the Railway reports for eighteen years with the
result carried out.

By Mr. Guthrie:-
Q. You made a compilation ?--Yes.
Q. If the report showed the expenditure for revenue purposes, did you alter it

and charge it to capital ?-No.
Q. Then it is a mere compilation ?-It is a mere compilation. I could not get

any other date; I could not get any information beyond the information geVen in the
reports.

Q. Then this letter mentioned the results according to your view andjudgment,
and aceording to your compilation ?-Just so.

Q. When was it you wrote the letter ?-I do not remember exactly what time
it was ; it was just about the time they were closing their report.

Q. Was it after the lien had been paid ?--No.
Q. When was it ?-It was during the sitting of the Commission.
Q. It would be during the days of their final report ?-I do mot know how many

reports they made after the one they made while I was there,
Q. They made a first report ?-Yes1; I think there was a first report.Q. Was this a mere letter or was it given under oath ?-Certainly bot.
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By the Chairman -
Q. I understand that this paper was a mere compilation of the reports for

fdteen years back ?-That was part of it.
Q. Was there anything else; did that contain the whole case, because we want

to ascertain the nature of te contents of that report, so as to decide whether it is
necessary to produce it ?-I can say nothing exsept that I tabulated this statement ;
I took Mr. Cumberland's memorandum for 1874, and I endeavoured to point out, and
I thought I did point out clearly enough, to my own satisfaction- at least, that that
memorandum was not a reliable document. The figures given were not reliable.

Q. From what source did you draw that conclusion ?-From the statements.
Jir. Palmer :-I consider that we ought to have this memorandum first, because

it was before the Commission, made at the instance of the Commission, and they
ought to have acted upon it Secondly, that this may lead us to subjects of enquiry
that we may not have reached. Thirdly, it is impossible to tell exactly what that
report is from mere oral evidence, and without seeing the report itself.

Mr. BoweU :-I think it should be produced, because-this Committee have been
appointed to enquire into and report upon allegations in the report, and evidence of
the Commission on the Northern Railway Company, as to the application of moneys
payable to the Government, and also to make searching enquiry into the accounts of
the Northern Railway and the Northern Extensions Railway, so as to complete the
enquiry begun and loft unfinished by the Commission; that the Committee is
-entitled to have the report made by Mr. Miall, and given to the Commission stating
the results arrived at by him as to the financial state of the Company, laid before the
Committee.

By Mr. Guthrie:
Q. You wrote a letter to the Commissioners ?-I did.
Q. Were you instructed by Mr. Smith to make any such investigation, or did

you volunteer to do it ?-I believe I was instructed.
Q. Surely you know whether you were instructed or not. Was it a mere piece

of voluntary work on your part; if you were instructed to do it you would be
called as a witness; but writing a letter which no one authorizes would indicate that
it was a piece of gratuitous work on your part. Now, were you instructed by the
Chairman of that Commission to make any such analysis, verbally or in writing ?-I
should not have made it if I had no instruction.

Q. I ask you if you were instructed ?-I was instructed.
Q. Where; at a meeting of the Commission ?-No.
Q. Where?-In thé private office of the Chairman of the Commission, when

another Commissioner was there.
Q. In his private office, and not at a meeting of the Commission ?-Yes.
Q. Then you marked the letter confidential ?-I did.
Q. Because the instructions were confidential and private ?-It is rather difficult

for me to decide what instructions were private and what otherwise.
Q. Why did you mark the letter confidential ?-I did so under advice of Mr.

Mowat.
By Mr. Bertram :-

Q. Was this report before.the Commission ?-What constitutes being before the
Commission ?

Q. When they are in session ?-The Chairman read it aloud to the other Com-
missioner.

Q. Who were present ?-I was present, in addition to Mr. Smith and Mr.
F'eatherston.

Q. Was that a regular meeting of the Commission ?-I cannot say whether it was
or not.

Q. You were an officer of the Commission, surely you can say whether they were
in session taking evidence or not ?-I think they were preparing their report; they
were not taking evidence; it was not a public sitting.

Q. Then they were not in session ?-Not in that sense.
164
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.Sy Mr. Guthrie:-
Q Have you ever mentioned the fact to any one that you had written the

letter ?-Not that I had written the letter. It was known in Toronto that I got up
the statistical statement, because I had to borrow books from several individuals,

By Mr. Bowell
Q. Did you mention to any person that you made this report, besides the Gonm

missioners ?--I think I have mentioned to one party.
Q. Have you shown it to any one ?-No, sir; I mentioned it to my chief but

of course it was in confidence.
By Mr. Palmer :-

Q. Who was the chief ?-I mean the deputy; I mentioned it to him because h.
was interested in the-affairs of the railway as a stockholder.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Have you not shown it to any one else ?-No one.

By Mr. Bertram ;-
Q. Why is it you call this a report; that, apparently, from your own statemet

was a report that you were authorized and instructed by the Commission to mak%
but there is no statement of any such report in the evidence. Why is it you con-
sider this a confidential report any more than any other work ?-I have no particular
reason, except that I did not wish to bind them to make it part of their evidence.

Q. Was it merely information you gave to them which they rejected in their
report as being of no value ?-I do not know what they did; I have not read their
report in fulI.

By Mr. Bowell
Q. It is not there ?-No; it is not embodied in the report that I know of.

By Mr. Bertram :-
Q. You can give us no reason why you considered this confidential any

more than any other, except you may have made from any other books ?-All the
others were made in obedience to the ruling of the Commission publicly sitting and
taking evidence. These were not.

Q. They were private instructions ?---Private instructions from the Commis-
sioners.

Q. And as such, were not properly a part of the report ?-I cannot express an
opinion on that, of course.

Q. You say you got no authority to do this, other than the personal authority of
Mr. Smith. Might he not as well have told you to make an examination, in his
position of Commissioner ?-I was not a lawyer; I did not look at things from a legal
point of view; I looked at them from a common-sense point of view.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Did not you consider yourself bound to do what your chiefs told you ?-Yes.

By -Mr. Bertram:
Q. Then if the Commissioners had told you to do anything not exactly contrary

to law-say, to sweep out a barber shop-would you have considered it your duty to
do it ?-Certainly not.

Q. You wore only there to carry out the instructions of the Commissioners, as
such ?--To do what I thought best.

Q. Qn their instruction ?-No.
Q. Had you a separate order ?--No, not that I know of.
Q. Were you not under their instructions ?-I suppose I was, in a legal sense.
Q. Iad you any locus standi on the Commission, other than what the Commis-

sioners gave you ?-I do not know that I had.
Q. You say you were employed by the Commission ?-I think I was.
Mr. Killam:-I disapprove of the production of this paper, because we want

what Mr. Miall knows, an nôt what he thinks; but I think it would be best to order
the production of so mudh of it as is a compilation of the annual reports of the
Company, for the periods mentioned, because it may be useful to us; being simply t
matter of fact.
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The Chairman ruled -I think that this report or memorandum was not before
the Commission, and we have no evidence that it was made at the instance of the
Commission, as such; that they did not act upon it; that we have no right to assume
that they, should have acted upon it. I think, with regard to, Mr. Killam's suggeation,
that the whole must be produced, or none. I therefore rule, that it be not produced.

I have read over th e evidence which is correctly taken down, but I desire to
modify it upon two points.

Firstly. I am reported to have said in reply to question mai ked (a), I do not
know what statements were made by the Company. In making this reply I must
have misunderstood the question as it is directly in opposition to my statements
nade before and after it.

Secondly. With reference to the question as to whether I had shown my mem-
orandum to any one, I may say that I was replying to what appeared to me to be the
spirit of the question. I desire to modify it by saying that I showed it to Mr.
Attorney General Mowat before placing it in hands of Commissioners, and I have
since shown the original draft to one or two personal friends in the Department, but

has never been shown to any person whatever outside of the Departments.

(Signed) E. MIALL, JR.

Thursday, 12th April, 1877.

Committee met:-Ma. ARCHIBALD, in the Chair.
BARLOW CIMBERLAND, sworn, and examined:

By Mr. Guthrie :
Q. You are a son of Frederïck Cumberland, the manager of the Road ?-Yes.
Q. I believe that you were Chairman of what is called the Executive Committee

during his absence in the fall of 1874 ? - Yes; I was.
Q. You see two vouchers dated in October, 1874, one for $250, and the other for

$270 ?-Yes ; I see the m 'both.
Q. Accounts against the Northern Railway by the "Mail Publishing Com-

pany ?"-Yes.
Q. For editorials and notices ?-Yes; for editorials and notices.
Q. Was that voucher certified by you ?-Yes.
Q. I think Mr. Cumberland said they were your initials on the vouchers ?-

They were his initials made by me, being the technical mark used in passing
vouchers.

Q. What were these accounts paid to the Mail Company for ?-For Mr. Angus
Morrison's stock.

Q. How did it come to be put in the shape of a charge for editorials and notices?
-In this way: Mr. Morrison came to me while Mr. Cumberland was in England and
told me that lie had subscribed a thousand dollars at the instance of the Company in
the Mait, that the first portion of it had been paid up by the Company, and that he
was being very much pressed for the balance, and. asked me to have the balance paid.
He assured me that it wasall in that way, and I said I did not feel prepared to take
the responsibility of paying that stock; but if an arrangement could be made by
whih it could be paid under a general account so that if it was not right it would
le sàbject to revision on the return of the manager, I would pay up the balance, the
8520. In that way the vouchers were submitted, and I passed them and paid them.

Q. Who producod the:voucher ?- Mr. Dixon, of the Mail.
. Who is he ?-le is the financial clerk, I. think.
. He brought them to you in the shape in which they were paid ?-I think I

,had a conversation with h.im before he brought them, and my impression is that I
suggesfed the character ofthe account; that is my impression.
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Q. You say your impression is that you saw Mr. Dixon before the came with
the vouchers ?-I think so.

Q. How did ho come to see you?-I presume at the instance of Mr. Morrison.
Q. Why was the matter put in the shape of two vouchers?-That ws also d"ne

atny request. We were rather hard up for money at the time, and I preferred to
spread the payments; one was on the 2nd October, and the other on the23rd October,

Q. Then did Mr. Dixon come te you twice with the vouchers ?-Yes; he came
twice.

Q. First with one on the 2nd, and the other on the 23rd ?-I do not know whether
he came on these dates, but these were the times.

By Mr. Palmer:
Q. How does the account come te be instead of $500, 8520 ?-The $20 was ex-

plained te me by Mr. Morrison as interest on the notes that had been running for the
500.

Q. You thought this was the best way of hiding it up ?-No; I did not think of
hiding it up. I brought it te the attention of the Manager afterwards that it was the
balance of the $1,000 stock.

By -Mr Guthrie:
Q. Have you anything te say as te what was said in the Royal Commission as to

the commissions on insurance ?-I wish te say that for four years before I went into
the service of the Northern Railway Company, I was acting as their insurance agent,
being allowed commissions between the Company and the insurance companies, In
the same way that Mr. Spratt had been for many years prier to that time, and whn
I entered the service of the Northern Railway my commissions as an insurance agent
were regarded as a portion of my salary; that a year after I had entered the service
and became more acquainted with the risks, I saw a means of reducing the insurances
of the Company; that I did reduce these; that the commissions were reduced by
that much, and in consequence that my fixed salary was by that much increased.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. Then I understand that it was understood by the company that your services

were paid for partly by your commissions and partly by the salary ?-Precisely; and
a condition of the arrangement made before I entered the service.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Who paid these commissions ?-The insurance companies.
Q. Did that come out of the funds of the Northern Railway, these commissions?

-Whatever I received from the insurance companies was a proportion of my salary.
Q. What I want te know is, who paid these commissions ?-They were paid

practically by the Company.
Q. In addition te the premiums they were paid for the insurance ?-No; they

were a portion of the premiums.
Q. Which company do you mean ?-All the companies, there were five com-

panies.
Q. That is they were allowed by the insurance companies-Yes; What I desired

te state was this : that these commissions were with the knowledge of the Railway
Company and recognized as a portion of my salary.

By Mr. Bertram
Q. Mr. Cumberland, when you were Chairman of the Exeeutive Board, when

your father was in England, were there any other items that yon oertifled te of a
similar kind te these that were net properly payable by the, Railway Company.
When I say not properly payable, I mean in the ordinary business ?-Not any.

By Mr. Boweß:a
Q. When Mr. Cumberland returned, did you bring this to hia notice ?-I did.
Q. What was done ?-Nothing further was done except that I told him that we

had paid up the balance of Mr. Morrisoen stoek.
Q. You stated that yna said to Mr. Morrison that when the manager returned,

if it was net ail right it would be made right ?-Yes.
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Q. Did you bring it under Mr. Cumberland's notice ?-Yes.
Q. Can yo say whether you told him the manner of paying it 7-I cannot say.

I explained the vouchers to him.
Q. And ho approved of what yon did; he approved of the way of paying the,

*500,-the manner of paying it ?-I suppose so; I am not sure whether I told him at
that time of the manner in which it was done. We pased a great many vouchere.

(Signed) BARLOW CUMBERLAND.

MONDAY, April 16th, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. AUHIBALD in the Chair.
ANGUs MOREIsON, sworn, and examined:

By Mr. Bertram:--
Q. Were you a director of the Northern Railroad ?-I was twenty years ago,

and in 1871 was re-elected by the bondholders.
Q. When did you resign ?-1 never resigned; I was turned out.
Q. When ?-In February, 1874, at the annual election of the Company.
Q. There is a draft here, May 23rd, 1872, $2,000, made by John R. Robinson and

endorsed by you; and another dated 13th March, 1873, drawn by Mr. Robinson and
endorsed by you for $1,000; also another note here of $750 made by Mr. Robinson
and endorsed by Mr. Robinson: in all $3,750; did you get any part of that money e
The note for $1,000 dated on March, I did.

Q. Any of the others?-The one dated in April, which I name, is not on; I
know nothing about it.

Q. And the other one?-The $2,000 I have no knowledge of; except that I see
my name on the back of it.
. Q. You have no knowledge of how these funds of all this draft 'were applied ?--

None.
Q. You got some of the money of the draft for $1,000 ?- -I believe Mr. Robinson

gave me a portion to the best of my recollection, but I could not say the amount.
Q, You did not get it all?--No.
Q. You cannot say how much you got ?-No; it was all spent in hospitalities;

I was looked upon as rather a liberal man, and could pay ny bills.
Q. Did you get no part of the other drafts ?-I have no recollection of having

received any part of the proceeds.
Q. I may explain that Mr. Robinson says you'got half of the $3,750 ?-That is

not the case.
Q. You could not approximate the amount you received of that $ 1,000 ? I could

not; I have gone through my bank books before I visited Ottawa, and I could not
tell from them.

There is a letter of 28th June, of Mr. Cumberland's, with reference to $1,0000
granted to you. I would like you to explain what services you rendered to the com-
pany for that payment ?-This is dated June, 1871. It is between Messrs. Smith, Barn-
hart and Cumberland, and says Mr. Morrison should get this money. If I got this
money, I swear that I never put one cent in my pocket.

Q. I suppose you got the money. I ask you what services yon rendered to the
Railroad Company ?-It may have been professional services that I rendered for the-
last twenty years to the Company, or it may have been gratuities ; but the money
must have gone up north for the extension lines in fighting for bonuses.

Q. You think yon got that $1,000 for your services in getting the municipalities
to vote bonuses ?-I swear that I never obtained the 1,000; if I received it, it muet
have gone into other quarters, and not into my pocket.

Q. Did you say it was not given to. you ?-I have no recollection of it; there is
mothing in my books to make my memory at al perfect about it. I have no recollec-
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tion of ever getting it; but I now find it is ohanged in the Company's books to
Parliamentary expenses. If!I got the 11,000, it was sent up north to Barrie or somer
other of those places, for the Company.

Q. You have seen that letter before ?-Yes, I have seen it.
Q. At the date it was written ?-No; I only saw i, on Saturday; I never saw ft

before then.
Q. There was another draft of yours, 7th June, 1869, $400 ou.rency ?-I got that

ioney for professional services.
Q. Can yon tell us what were those services ?-Drawing out bills, travelling

expenses to New York, Montreal and Ottawa.
Q. What bills were they ?-Being connected with the railway since 1851, I was

always awaled te to advise on the bills and revise them.
at bill was it yon drew that that was in payment of ?-If I referred to the

Journals I could tell. There were a number of bills.
Q. There was no legislation in 1869; there was legislation in 1868 ?-It was in

Toronto, I find in my books, that I wrote a letter stating that I wanted to get my
bill paid; and that is the way I received it.

Q. Were yon the regular legal adviser of the Company ?-I was not; I wa»
merely parliamentary adviser.

Q. Were you a subscriber to the stock of the Mail newspaper ?-By my namae
wa&

Q. What amount of stock did yon take ?-I think my nàme was down for $1,000,
Q. What is the amount per share ?-I think the shares were $100 each.
Q. Did you pay for these ten shares ?-I did not.
Q. Were theypaid for ?-I assume they were paid; I think they were paid for

at varions periods by the Northern IRailway Company.
Q. How were they paid ?-They were paid by the Northern Railway Company

under Mr. Cumberland's order.
Q. Had you any understanding with the Board of the Northern Railway Com-

pany when yoe took these shares that they would be paid by the Company ?-Never.
Q. Had you any understanding with Mr. Cumberland ?-None at all, except

calling upon him to pay the shares up as they became due.
Q. Why did you call upon him any more than any one else to pay the shares ?--Mr.

Cumberland with the late Mr. Sandfield Macdonald met me in the streets in Toronto,
with a subscription list, and asked me to take stock; I said I could not afford it, I had
not the means to do so; Mr. Cumberland, or rather Mr. Macdonald said, put down
your name and we will see it paid.

Q. Mr. Cumberland and Macdonald would see it paid ?-No; Sandfield Macdonald
would see that it was paid.

Q. When the shares were payable, did you apply to Sandfield Macdonald ?-I did
not.

B. Why ?-Because I understood afterwards that the Northern Railway was to
pay the stock.

Q. How did this come to your knowledge ?-From Mr. Cumberland.
Q. Did Mr. Cumberland volunteer this information to yon ?-Re did not volunteer

any information to me at ail on the matter, but stated that he would see it paid, and
would pay it.

Q. Did I understand you to say that Sandfield Macdonald promised te see it paid ?
-If vou will allow me: there was a conversation on the street, and I was asked by
Sandfield Macdonald to subscribe; they said, put your name down here we want you
te represent the Company, and I put down my name with the understanding between
Mr. Cumberland and Sandfield Macdonald that it would be had.

Q. Did you say it was between them both ?-The conversation was mutual; they
said if I took the stock they would see it paid.

Q. They both said they would see it paid ?-Yes, both.
Q. Did you understand it was paid out of the funds of the Company ?-I wohld

say so; yes, in the interests of the Company.
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Q. How did yon expectthe paymntofthatstockyousubseibed wasintheinterests
of the Company ?--Because the CJmpany were then contending with the late Govern-
ment to get the Government lien removed. I.fancy that il was the principle object,
.and also to support the political party in getting the paper up.

Q. You say you. were trying to get the Government lien removed from the
road ?-I was at that time.

Q. What year was that ?-The Company commenced about this lien from 1869,
up to the time it was removed.

Q. Had you an understanding with the managers of the paper that tbey were to
.assist in getting this lien removed ?--No, I had not.

Q. Did you expect their assistance in taking this stock ?-I have no objection to
say that. There was not a manager till afterwards.

Q. You had some legiWlation about the time these drafts were drawn. You were
trying to get Bills through the House in 1873?-Yes.

Q. The resolutions on which that Bill was to be founded were introduced by Mr.
Tilley ?-Yes.

Q. Can you tell the Committee what amount this resolution proposed was to be
iaid on the lien ?--The same as was passed by the present Government.

Q. The same in money ?-The same in money; yes, I think £100,000 sterling.
Q. Further, I ask yon, were they to give up the £50,000 of second preferences and

the £50,000 of 3 B bonds ?-Yes.
Q. Did this newspaper to which the Northern Railway subscribed stock assist

you by advocating it, and on trying to get the Government lien removed ?-Not within
my knowledge.

Q. Then they did not give you the assistance you expected ?-Not within my
knowlee.

Q.You were a Director of the Northern in 1872 ?-I was ; in 1871, 1872 and
1873.

Q. Were you aware of any money being paid out of the funds of the Northern
Railway for the purpose of assisting the election of your friends, or any one else, m
1872 ?--Not to my knowledge.

Q. You do not know of the subscription received by Mr. Campbell ?-I know
*nothing about it.

Q. Did you apply to receive any assistance for the election of any of your
ifriends to Mr. Cumberland ?-I recollect a subscription of $100 which my friends
xeceived from him to assist my election.

Q. What year was that ?-That would be in 1873.
Q. In January, 1873 ?-Yes.
Q. Was that paid to yourself?-It was paid on account of my election in

iagara; it was not paid to myself, but I knew of it. I assume it was Mr. Cumber-
land's own private money.

Q. I suppose, as a director, you were not in the habit of looking into the accounts
.of the Northern Railway ?-Never.

Q. The management was entirely in the hands of Mr. Cumberland ?-It was
entirely under the control of Mr. Cumberland, and the directors were merely called
together for the purpose of passing legal resolutions for the purpose of carrying on
the affairs of the Company.

Q. Were you aware that in 1873, Mr. Robinson's election expenses in Algoma
were paid ?-Not from my own knowledge; but from hearsay.

Q. I asked you if you knew of any other subscription in 1872, and you said, no.
You mnst have heard of this one ?-[ heard of it after I left the Board, at the time
ýwe were removed from it, but not at the time I was a director.

Q. Have you no way that y ou could refresh your memory about the $1,000
.paid to you for these services ; we saw an entry in the books, and I suppose the
money must have been paid, and I would like you to gve Us some information
upon it ?-I can but give my own impression. I think that money, from informa-
tion I have lately obtained, wa sent up there to'assist in the extension lines, and to
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bonuses being given for lines which were running against the Northlner
way's interest. i a satiefie&tit- went up there; I bave no knowledge of it

coming to my hands. I will not say it did not, but I have no knowledge of it. If
I had received it for, my .ervices to ý the Northern Raitway Company, I would not
have been paid too much. All I know about that is that when I saw it I was
surprised. There was no communication or voucher on my part to show that I got
it, and there is nothing in my bank book, and I would see from my bank book every-
thing connected with this transaction. I have looked through my papers, and I
have no evidence to show that I ever got the money, and I would not swear that I
did not get it; but, from what I am told in regard to this tiansaction, of whièh I
knew nothing till Saturday, I believe that the rnoney went up for these expenses;
that is to say, the expense of bringing people up there, and of woeking against t*se
contending linos. I would not say, from the papers, that I did not get it, but if I
did, it went to that quarter.

Q. Were you one of the shareholders in the Couchiching Hotel Company?-I
was not. This note of $2,000, on the back of which I see my name, is, I think, one
of the transactions connected with the Extensions line. I am satisfled that that is
eonnected WiLh the railway for travelling expenses, &c. Mr. Robinson and myseif
went down to New York with Mr. Cumberland, and to Montreal and other places. I
think I came down several other times with Mr. Cumberland and Mr. Robinson, but
I awear that I never received a dollar of it.

Q. This note was drawn here while the House was in Session ?-I know it was.
The first thousànd I knew all about it.

Q. Were you in the habit of endorsing notes for the Railway Company ?-I will
not answer that because I have endorsed too much.

Q. Had you any power to sign ?-I never signed any paper except in these cases.
I have done it for private individuals.

Q. Did Mr. Robinson draw this $2,000 ?-I expect he did.
Q. You have no knowledge of what it was paid out for ?-No.

By Mr. Killam :
Q. Where did the conversation take place between you and Mr. Sandfield

Macdonald when he asked you to take the stock in the Mail ?-At the corner of Bay
and King streets.

Q. Was that the day on which the Mail was first projected ?-It was long pre-
viens.

Q. Was it the day on which he first thought of starting .it ?-No, it had been
thought of about two years before.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. You say you did not leave the Board and that you were turned offi?-I was.
Q. What do you mean by that; was it for bad conduct ?-1 should tbink not.
Q. Was it because you had had any difficulties in reference to the disbursements

of this money ?-No.
Q. Was there a reason assigned by Mr. Cumberland ?-The reason wasithat1I

was one of the most unselfish public men in the country; and I, being unselish, was
askedLo, leave the Board for the purpose of taking men in who were more injunison
with"the present Administration than I was.

Q. Why was it necessary, in running the Railway, that the directors shouldIbe
pelitically in accord with the Government of the day ?--It was, I presume, to get the
Government lien removed, in accordance with the resolution passed the year before.

Q. Did you underQtand from Mr. Cumberland that your remaining on the Board,
being politically opposed to the present Government, would affect th.e doing of what
he considered justice to the Railway ?-Impliedly I assumed at that. I will say yes, I
think so. [ have got Mr. Cumberland's letter with regard to that question, Mr.
Cumberland having written me to that effect.

By Mr. Killam:
Q. Did Mr. Cumberland say that the Government expected that ?-No.
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Q.You. have Mr. Cumberlanda letter-?-Yes; he wrote me an exceedinglykind
letter.

Q. Was that in reference to your removal from the Board ?-Yes.
Q. Where is it ?-It is at home. It Is marked private and confidential. I only

refer to one part of it, and that is merely the part that answers the question you put
to me. I got the information from him that I and Mr. Robinson should be removed.

Q. Can you produce the letter?-I have not got it with me.
Q. Can you send it ?--.I do not think I should produce it unless Mr. Cumberland

gives his consent.
Q. If there is nothing beyond what you have stated, I do not care about it ?-.

There is nothing in it but that. I would, for my part, desire to send it down, because
it is a great compliment to myself. I asked why I was to be removed from the
Board, and that is the answer. If I am ordered to produce it of course I wilL do so.

Q. You say the $400 you obtained was for sevices rendered in Toronto; not for
your parliamentary services rendered here while in parliament ?-Not one cent for
parliamentary services.

Q. Did you ever receive any money from the railway funds for services rendered
while a member of parliament ?-I never did in my life.

Q. Although you did not receive half the money from Mr. Robinson that he
drew while he was promoting the Bill, you stated you received a portion of it ?-A
portion of it.

Q. How did you spend it ?-In hospitalities.
Q. You don't remember the particulars ?-No.
Q. In reference to the Mail newspaper stock. You say you took $1,000 in the

Mail at the instance of Mr. Cumberland and Sandfield Macdonald, with the distinct
understanding that you were not to pay it ?--Yes.

Q. Were you told how it was to be paid ?-I was not.
Q. You were aware that it was subsequently paid by the Northern ?---Yes; you

will see that by my letter urging Mr. Cumberland to pay it, because I was almost
going to be sued for it.

Q. Did they threaten to take away the stock ?-Yes; they threatened to sue me.
Q. Then Mr. Cumberland paid it ?--Yes.
Q. Barlow Cumberland said the last payment was made by him. In order to

enable him to charge the payment to some account in the books he suggested an
account being made out for editorial notices ?--I have no knowledge of that. Mr. F.
W. Cumberland was in England and I asked his son to go and pay that stock up.

Q. You do not know the means by which it was paid ?-I do not.
Q. Do you remember when Mr. Tilley introduced the resolution in 1873, upon

what report the value of the Northern Railway lien was arrived at ?--I do.
Q. How was it ?-I think in 1872, we, Mr. Cumberland and myself, came down

here for the -purpose of negotiating with the Government about it. Sir Francis
Hincks was in the Governuent at the time, and it was left to Mr. Strathy, who was
the head of the Bank of Commerce, and Mr. Langton, who was in the Customs. They
valued the stock, but they differed, and after we had had nâegotiations with Sir Francis
Hincks and the Government, it was agreed that we would state the difference
between the two-the report will be found in the journals-and it was agreed by the
Government to accept £100,000; they valued it at £90,000. Upon that basis the
Government introduced the resolution.

Q. The cashier valued it at £90,000, Mr. Langton at £100,000 ?---No; they were
al under £100,000.

Q. The Government then comproinised at £100,000 sterling ?-Yes.
By the C7airman:

Q. That was more than either one of the arbitrators valued it at ?-Yes; more
than any one of them valued it at, that was the basis upon which it was settled; then
when the Parliament met we came down.
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. 'The $100 subscription made to your election by Mr. Oamberland was to your-
self personally ?-I am told it was.

Q. Have you any idea that that came out of the railway funds ?-Not the
remotest.

By Mr. Killam:-
Q. You were a candidate for the Hlouse in 1-74?-I was.
Q. For what constituency ?-Por Centre Toronto, and was defeated.
Q. It was on this occasion that you received this small subscription from Mr.

Cumberland ?-I am sure it waa for Niagara in 1879.
By Mr. Bertram -

Q. As a Director of the Northern Railway, yeu were very anxious to have this
arrangement to pay the £100,000 sterling carried out ?-Very anxious.

Q. You thought it would be a good arrangement for the Railway Company ?-
Decidedly so; I will follow the answer by saying that the object was to get the lien
removed whereby we could raise £100,000 for the purpose of putting steel rails on
the railway, extending the cars, and making it in unison with our railway system,
and we could not raise that money while the lien was on.

Q. And when the Government, of which you were a prominent supporter, went
ont in 1873, it was considered by parties who had the management of the road that
the-interests of the road would be subserved by changing the directorship ?-Yes; I
will go so far as to say that if Mr. Cumberland had spoken to me I would have
resigned in the interest of the road to let other parties come in.

Q. I suppose the object of the Company was simply to try to have this arrange-
ment carried out ?-No doubt of it.

Q. You said in your evidence that they did not quite manage to get the lien
removed at the time for £100,000 ?-We did not while we were in power.

Q. As a matter of fact they paid £100,000, and £100,000 more in bonde; that is

the way it was settled, was it not?-I have no knowledge of that; I was not on the
Board.

Q. You said in your evidence that the second debenture londs and 3 B bonds
were not included in the first settlement ?-That was not discussed.

Q. So that actually there was £100,000 in bond difference between the two
settlements ?-No.

Q. You stated that before?-We were contending to get the lien arranged at
£100,000 sterling ($500,000) ; negotiations were then to go on with regard to the
settlement of that if we obtained the million of money in England.

Q. Did I understand you to say that this £100,000 was in full settlement of any
claim of the Government ?-Oh, no; J never said so. If the resolutions could be
produced here I could find exactly what the settlement was; the other was a matter
-of detail altogether; the first thing, as I understand, was to get the len off.

Q. Do I understand your evidence to be that there were no negotiations about
the Government settling this $250,000 of preference bonds ?-It was thoroughly dis-
cussed.

Q. What was the arrangement they came to ?-There was nothing final, so far
as I know. All I know is that I was advocating to get the lien off for the $500,000.
We went before the Executive Council several times about it, and there was a great
deal of talk in regard to it.

Q. You do not know whether the bonds were to remain in the same position they
were ?-1 do not.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Did you expend all the moneys you received for promoting this railway ?-

Yes and a large sum more out of my own pocket.
Q. Then you did not inake any money by this operation ?-No; I lost money

by it.
By Mr. Casgrain

Q. Was that all in hospitalities ?-Yes. -
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.By Mr. BpemaU:
Q Rave you any knowledge of the amount ?-The faet i IL have charge4 it to

proft and loss in My own accoant.

TuXsDAY, 17th April, 1877.
Committee met:-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.

Mr. ANGUs MoRRIsoN recalled and further examined

By Mr. Bertram:
Q. Here is the note, Mr. Morrison, refei-red to in your evidence. Is this your

endorsation ?-(Note shown to witnes)-That is my signature.
Q. I ask you if you got the money ? -I say that I may have got it, but I have

no recollection of getting it; but, if I did get it, it never went into my pocket, as I
.swore here yesterday.

(Signed) ANGUS MORRISON.

MONDAY, April 16th, 1877.
Oommittee met-Mr. ARCHIBALD in the Chair.

Mr. ThoMAs C. PATTESON, sworn, and examined:

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. Mr. Barlow Cumberland in his evidence the other day stated that the balance

of Mr. Morrison's stock was paid by the Northern Railway Company, and that two
bills were made out, one for editorial notices in Daily and Weekly Mail, $250, and
another for editorial notices in Daily and Weekly Mail, 8270. That was to cover the
$500 stock remaining unpaid, and interest. Was any such work ever done for the
Company as represented on those two accounts? -Certainly not.

Q. Will you explain to the Committee how it was that they were made out ?-
Mr. Morrison's subscription of $1,000 stock in the Mail was made, as far as I knew,
exactly as any other person's calls were paid, through himself, his clerk, or somebody
representing him. They were not, within my knowledge, paid by the Northern
Railway Company. He became a defaulter to the amount of about $500.

By -Mr. Casgrain:
Q. At what date ?-There was $500 due in October, 1874, represented by pro-

missory notes.
By Mr. Bowell

Q. That was paid ?-That was paid by Barlow Cumberland.
Q. Ilad you any knowledge of this account being made out in that way to make

up the amount ?-The only knowledge I had was that I was pressing Mr. Morrison
on a resolution of the shareholders that all amounts in default must be paid up. At
least he referred my advertising agent to Barlow Cumberland. We went to the
Northern Railway for the $500, for which I should tell the Committee we held Mr.
Morrison's own notes protested, and it was paid. And Barlow Cumberland suggested
to Mr. Dixon to make out the accounts, which I now see for the first time, and which
I heard of for the first time in Barlow Cumberland's evidence. I would not have
allowed these accounts to have been rendered had it been within my knowledge.

(Exhibit A J produced.)
By Mr. McCarthy :

Q. Does that show the amount of the account ?-That is an exact transcript
from our ledger.

Q. For some reason unknown to you these vouchers were given in without your
knowledge ?--Yes. It is the first time I have heard of such accounts being rendered
to the Northern Railway Company.

Q. When the stock was originally subscribed did you ever hear of any arrange-
nent by which the Northern Railway Company was to pay for it ?-No. The first I
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knew of it-and I did not know of it then-was when evidene. was given before the
Committee, and I did not know then that it might not be charged against'Angus
Morrison 5 account.

Q.- As far as you know, you supposed that Mr. Morrison subsecribed to the stock
just as any other subscriber ?-Yes; he was a ty man.

Q. 'Were you present -wbon he subscribed ?-No; Mr. Sandfield Macdonald got
bis subscription, at least it was in bis book. Several gentlemen tookstock books, and
Mr. Angus Morrison's appeared on that of Mr. Sandfield Macdonald.

By Air. Casgrain:
Q. I don't undersland about these notes being protested ?-The notes were in our

hands for the balance of his stock; and they were a year -and a half under protest.
Q. And these two covered the balance of the subscription and the interest?-

There is $20 for interest; it ought to have been $120. There was a little inaccuracy-
in that respect.

Q. You have no doubt that these two vouchers came from the Mail ?-Certainly
they did.

Q. In whose handwriting are they ?-The advertising agent-Dixon.
By Mr. Bertram :

Q. Is Dixon the financial agent of your paper ?-He was employed in collecting
stock and amounts due on advertising; in fact, he has been a kind of head collecting
clerk. I rpay say that I published in full the advertisement account, in the Mail of
Friday week last. That is certified to be carried by Mr. Dixon.

Q. You learn for the first time of these two accounts having been insured by
Dixon in this way ?-Knew the money was got for the notes, but I never remember
hearing how these accounts were made out.

Q. Do you consider this an improper account ?-I do; because it ia likely to bring
a paper into discredit. Any paper would by such means be brought into discredit.

Q. I suppose you have reprimanded him?-I said it was a very unwise proceed-
ing, but he throws the blame on Mr. Barlow Cumberland, and he did it as a way out
of th' difficulty. I did not reprimand him very severely.

By Mr. McCarty :-Q. You never charge for editorial notices ?-Never.
Q. Never in any case ?-Never.
Q. You never made and you were never paid for any editorial notices ?-Never,
Q. I suppose the value of the stock was the stock ?-Yes. I wish to say that I

distinctly repudiate the idea that the Northern iRailway Company ever influenced
me to write an article for them from the time the stock was subscribed till the pre-
sent moment.

By Mr. Bowell:-
Q. Did they ever try ? -Never. The only thing ever said to me was by Mr.

Cumberland, when this legislation was contemplated. Ie begged me to hold my
tongue, and not to write articles for or against the Northern Railway.

By Mr. McCarthy
Q. Did you know about Mr. Cumberland paying bis stock himself or from the

railway ?-Certainly not.
Q. Did you suppose that Mr. Cumberland subscribed on his own account or for

the railway ?-On his own account.
Q. Was he a Director of the Mail Company ?-No; but he was one of the most

interested of the shareholders. le always talked more than any other man at the
meetings, and ho took great interest in the paper as a political partizan.

Q. I believe that Mr. Morrison was a Director fpr some time ?-Several years.
Q. Would ho bave been a Director if you supposed ho represented someby else

interested in the stock ?-It would not have devolved upon me to say that.

By Mr. Casgrain:-
Q. Is the stock still in Mr. Morrison's name ?-It is.
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By Mr. Bertrm:-
Q. You say that Mr. Cumberland begged you to hold your tongue ?-The only

request that was made to me was, not to write an article at the time that Mr. Man-
ning aad others waited on Sir Francis Hincks here endeavouring to arrive at a settle-
ment; and it got to Mr. Cumberland's ears that I was going to write an article, and
le begged me to let it alone.

By Mr. Bowell:
Q. That was the time the Globe was opposing the settlement ?-I suppose it

was ; and I suppose that is the reason I was asked not to throw any more fat into
the fire.

Q. An article in defence of the Railroad would have brought out the Globe more
bitterly against it ?-I do noL say he asked me except in a casual sort of way. I only
used the expression to show that the Mail was not influenced.

By Mr. Bertram:-
Q. Were you in favour of that settlement ?-I was in favour of any settlement,

but that has nothing to do with my position on the paper.
By Mr. McCarthy:-

Q. Have you a memorandum about the order given by you to Mr. Cumberland
to pay this $110 to L. P. Shears as the balance of the account of the owner to Sir
Francis Ilincks ?-I have no knowledge as to whether it was paid by Mr. Cumberland
.or his railroad.

Q. When did the dinner take place ?----When I was Assistant Provincial Secre-
tary. I think in 1870. I acted as Secretary to Mr. Sandfield Macdonald, and there
was a deficit to the amount of about $110.

Q. This dinner was given in 1872 or 1873 ?-In 1869.
Q. The order was given on April 23, 1870. When did the Mail start ?-In 1872.

I was Assistant Provincial Secretary, I acted as a quasi Government officer and got
the dinner up and put it through. There was a balance against the dinner fund and
we had to go around and get subscriptions, and amongst others, Mr. Cumberland paid

.Mn amount.
Q. And you had no means of knowing who the subscription was paid by ?-Not

the least; I always took it for granted that it was paid by Mr. Cumberland.

(Signed) THOS. C. PATTESON
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NORTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY.

August, 1853-Debentures issued ......................... $1,338,333 33
Dec., 1854 do ................... 973,333 34

2,311,666 67
Oct., 1876-Cash on account ........................... 486,,666 66

1,825,000 01

NORTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY.

INTEREST ACCOUNT.

interest charged to December, 1861...................... s 913,768 56
Less-Bond received in 1861 on account............... 243,333 33

670,435 23
Interest charged to June, 1867............................ 763,325 00

1,433,760 23
Interest to 31st December, 1874, Seventy-two years,

at 6 per cent ......... ....... ..................... 1,040,250 00

2,474,010 23
Less-Preference Bond ......... ......................... 243,333 33

2,230,676 90
Interest to 31st December, 1876, two

years, a 6 per cent .................. $277,400 00
Less-Two months interest on

$486,666 66 4,866 66
272,533 34

$2,503,210 24
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B.
NOIRTIEHRN RAILWAY OF CANADA.

.ABSTRAoT of Revenue Expenditure on New Works, Rolling Stock, &c., from 1863 tos
1875.

Year New Works, New Rolling
&c. Stock.

1863............................. .......... £3,234 £1,618
1864 ........................................... 2,172 2,306
1865............................................. 2,385 6,459
1866.................. .................... 1,550 3,181
1867............................................. 13,822 3,886
1868............................................ 8,327 2,488
1869............................ ............. 18,083 14,086
1870 ............................................ 14,735 11,902
1871....... .................................... 18,732 8,344
1872............................................ 20,896 14,981
1873............................................. 25,060 6,115
1874............................................. 8,965, 3,130
1875............................................ 4,615 877

142,576 79,373
-221,949

Mileage of Mlain Track and Sidings.

Main Track. Sidings. Total.

In 1859 .................................. 95 8 103
In 1876 ..................... .......... 177 36 213

Inerease ..................... 82 28 110

YOTE.-It was only by investing Ihese surplus earnings, as they arose in each year,
that the facilities and carrying power of the line were so extended, from time to
time, as to enable it to earn the revenues which now represent the value of the
undertaking, and have thus enabled the Company to make the following contri-
butions to the Government in regard to its Lien, which was absolutely valueless

j- in 1858, viz..-

In extinguishment of Lien ................................ £100,000 cash.
In Bonds of the Company, representing........... .... 100,000
And in annual interest since 1858........................ 63,000 cash.
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c.
NORTHERN RAILWAY OF CANADA.

STATEMENT of Gross Earnings and Net Revenue, 1858 to 1876.

MAIN LINE AND EXTENSIONS.

Year. Gros Working Per i Net
Receipts. Expenses. Centagt. Revenue.

1858............... £53,847 £53,851 ...... Minus £4
1859............... 49,391 40,987 82-98 £14,918
1860............... 68,511 53,593 78-22 14,918
1861............... 84,555 57,400 67-88 27,155
1862............... 83,588 61,840 73·98 21,748
1863............... 83,549 44,905 54-07 38,644
1864............... 96,013 50,166 52-25 45,847
1865............... 104,126 56,700 55-88 47,426
1866............... 105,385 | 63,510 60-26 41,875
1867............... 115,350 68,396 59-29 46,954
1868............... 113,028 69,019 61-06 44,009
1869............... 137,892 69,459 50'37 68,433
1870............... 159,733 87,558 58-08 63,175
1871............... 159,760 94,791 59-33 64,969
1872............... 183,857 108,597 59-06 75,260
1873............... 185,303 121,237 65-42 64,160
1874............... 184,129 117,226 63-66 1 66,903
1875............... 152,999 97,389 63-64 65,610
1876............... 161,260 93,400 57-81 67,860

NOTE.-In 1858 and previously the working expenses exceeded the gross earnings,
and a floating debt had accumulated to the extent of £64,448 sterling ($313,218).

Victoria.
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SUJNDRY ACCOUNTS.

Ledger 7, folio 375.

COMPETITIVE AND PROTECTIVE LINES.

Pacific Junction Railway .................. $3,472 33
Soyith Simcoe Junction ..................... 8,259 81
Grey and Simcoe Bailway ................ 3,941 86
Expenditure .................................. 300 00

Lédger 7, folio 965.
F. W. Cumberland Special Account-Chicora draft...

Special Ledger, folio 340, 341.
W . Hamilton & Son ...........................................
Hon. D. L. Macpherson......................
F. W. Cumberland Adjustment account

-Bill receivable ........................ $2,181 29
do ........................ 10,411 92

$15,973 99

88,000 00

$2,616 00
2,500 00

812,593 21

Q.
Positian of Mr. Cumberland's Account at time of giving Note, $2,181.29,

30th June, 1869.

Jan. 1,'69.-To Balance.........
" 20,'69.-To Cash to 30th

June, 1869. .....
g 30,'69.-Insurance Acet....,

30, '69.-Employés Wood
Account .........

"30,'69.-Employés Sick
Fund ............

30,'69.-By Salary from
1st Jan. to 30th June,
1869, credited .......... $6,083 32

30, '69.-By Travellius
expenses ............... 94 00

30,' 6 9.- By Bills received
to balance account at
close of half-year .... 2,181 29

$8,358 61

Position of Mr. Cumberland's Account at time of giving Note, $10,411.92,
15th April, 1873.

Jan. 3, '73. To Balance.......... $928 071 March 31,'73. By Salary cre-
" 10, '73. On account " chi- dited ........................ 81,642 50,

cora "..................... 6,245 00| March 31, '73. By Bills re-

" 10, '73. Trav'l'ng expenses 412 00' ceivable of 15th April,
10,'73. Cash to 15th April. 4,780 681 1873.........................,. 10,411 92

812,365 75 $12,05442

- -181
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NORTHERN RAILWAY OF CANADA.

EXTENSION LINES.

1. Cost of Contruction:-
Cost of construction of Extension Lines prior to

date of amalgamation ............................ $1,507,657 78
Cost to complete to Gravenhurst, subsequent to

amalgamation ....................................... 258,361 00

Total cost of completed Lines.......................... ....... $1,766,018 78
or $24,528 per mile.

2. Rate of Amalgamation or Purchase:-
The Northern Extension Railways were amalgamated with the

Northern Railway Company at a cost of ......................... $1,438,389 14
Or $19,977.62 per mile, as per Deed of Amalgamation,

dated 3rd June, 1875.

Margin of reduction to Northern Railway ............................ $327,629 64
Or at the rate of $4,551 per mile.

3. Public Grants:-
1. Municipal Boiuses................................... $225,558 08
2. Government Subsidies............................... 196,188 00

$421,746 08

4. Capital Account of Extensions as taken over under
Deed of Amalgamation

1. Debenture Debt-
1. lst Preference Bonds........ ...... £133,200
2. Improved Mortgage Bonds....... 44,400

£177,600
2. Township Bonds.......................................

3. Stock Account-
Paid up Stock to date of amal-

gamation......................13,800 O0
Add allowance authorized by

Act-interest at 10 per
cent. and premiun at 12
per cent ...................... 7,348 16

$864,320 00
18,707 12

8883,027 12

21,184 16

Total Capital Account taken over ......... .......
5. Floating Debt at Amalgamation

1. Bills Payable............ .............................. 8199, 7 44
2. N.RC. Advance Dividend Account ............. 50,549 84
3. do do Capital Account ................ 36087 19
4. do Current Account............................20755 62
5. Open Accounts........................................ 17,737 31
6. Contingencies ......................................... 4,633 46
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$904,211 28

329,660 86
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. Cost of Works of Completion
Actual Cost ........................................ 258,361 00
Less Government bsidy ............... . 53,844 00

204,517 00

$1,438,389 14

NORTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY.

STATEMENT shewing List of Stockholders of Extension Company at jAmalgamation,
3rd June, 1875.

Amount
Subscribed.

Amount
paid in.

$

lon. Frank Smith ............ 18,600 3720
W. H. Howland................ 9,300 1,860
,Robert Wilkes.................. 1,000 200
N. Barnhart.................... 9,300 160
J. D. Edgar ..................... 9,300 1,860
Jno. J. Vickers ................ 1,000 200
Jno. Turner ..................... 9,700 1,860
IHon. D. L. Macpherson...... 1,000 200
H. L. Hime ..................... 9,300 4860
'Thompson Smith............... 1,000 , 200

$68y500 813Y800
I200

Interet,1O p c.
iPremium, 12 p.e.

1,976 42
988 22
111 66
988 22
988 22
111 66
988 22
111 66
988 22
111 66

s.
4$1,000.

OTTAWA, 13th March, 1873.
At three days' sight pay to the order of A. Morrison, Esq., at the Quebec Bank

in Toronto, one thousand dollars, value received, and charge the same to account

JOHN BEVERLY ROBINSON.
<To F. W. CUMBERLAND, Esq.,

Managing Director N. R. of Canada,
Toronto.

Accepted, 24th March.-F. W. CUMBERLAND, Manager N. R.
Paid.

(Endorsed) A. MoRaisoN.
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Imount
of

Scrip Issued.

$ ctas

5,696 42
2,848 22

311 6*1
2,848 22
2,848 22

311 66
2,848 22

311 66
2,848 22

311 66

21,184 16
13,800 00

$7,384 18.
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T.
3750.00.

Om&wà, lth April, 1873.
Ten days after date pay to the order of myself, seven hundred and fifty dollars,

value received, and charge the same to account of

JOHNIBEVERLY ROBINSON.
'ro F. W. CUMBERLAND, Esq.,

Managing Director, Northern R. R.,
Toronto.

Accepted.-F. W. CUMBERLAND, Managing Director, N. R. Co.
Paid April 30th.

(Endorsed) JOHN BEVERLY ROBINSON.

UT.
32,000.

OTTAwA, 23rd May, 1873.
Thirty days after date pay to the order of Angus Morrison, Esq., at the Quebec

Bank, Toronto, two thousand dollars, value received, and charge the same to account,
4f

JOHN BEVERLY ROBINSON.
To F. CUMBERLAND, Esq.,

Managing Director, Northern R. R.,
- Toronto.

Accepted. -F. W. CUMBEhLAND, Kanaging Director, N. R. Co.
Paid 25th June.

(Endorsed) A. MoRRisoN.

V.
NORTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY.

RETURN-Re-advances to Extensions Company at date of lease and date of amal-
gamation respectively.

Amount advanced by Northern Railway Company on
account of Extensions Company at date of lease,
10th April, 1872........................ $ 29,973 81

This amount was written off repaid, 31st December, 1872.
Amount advanced by Northern Railway Company on account of Extension!

Company, at date of amalgamation, 3rd June, 1875:
Advance capital account ........... 8 36,087 19
Advance dividend account.................. 50;540 84
Current account............................... 20,755 62

8107;392 65
Account balanced by these charges for deed of amalgamation, 3rd June, 1875.
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NORTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY.

ErsTRN-Re Lake Conchiching Hotel Company account.
Amount advanced by Northern Railway

Company, 31st December, 1876, on
account Lake Couchiching Hotel
Company ................................. $ 10,479 *72

Deduct amount of first mortgage held
by Northern Railway Company on
property of Hotel Company......... 10,000 00

Balance covered by chattels..................................... 8 479 72

X.
(Copy.)
$500.00 OTTAWA, Nov. 8th, 1869.

Three days after sight pay to my order $500.00, at the office of the Bank of
Montreal, Toronto, for value received as advised.

JOHN A. MACDONALD.
To F. W. CUMXERLAND, Esq.,

Toronto.
Accepted, 12th November, 1869.-FRED. CUMBERLAND. Paid.

(Endorsed) JoHN A. MACDONALD.

Y.

(Copy.)
OTTÂwA, 10th November, 1869.

$500.00.

At ten days sight pay to my order, at the office of the Bank of Montreal, the-
sum of five hundred dollars for value received as advised.

JOHN A. MACDONALD.
To FREDERICK CUMBERLAND, Esq., M.P.P.,

Toronto.
Accepted, 16th November, 1869.-FRzn. CUMBERLAND.

(Endorsed) JOHN A. MACDONALD.

18a



~4O Yiotori& Âppoe~i~ ~No~ 5.) À~18~K

(Copy.-B. C., 4889.)
TORoNTO, 7th June, 1869.

46400.00.

At sight, please pay to my.own order, at the Canadian Bank of Commerce in
'Toronto, four hundred dollars cur ency, and charge same to my account, against the
-Northern Railway Company.

Youre, &c.,
A. MORRISON.

F. W. CUMBELAND, Esq.,
Manager of the Northern Railway,

Toronto.
Accepted, Item 116.-F. W. CUMBERLAND,

Managing Director N. R. Co.

AB.
LAKE COUCIIICHING HOTEL COMPANY.

LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS.

Name. No. of
Shares.

Noah Barnhart............................................ 10
F. W. Cumberland........................................ 10
Robert Wilkes ............................................. 10
Jos. Robinson............................................. 10
Estate John Crawford................................... 10
W. D. Ardagh ...........................................
William Thomson ............................. 10
I. C. Hime ....... ...................... 10
G. D'Arcy Boulton ....................................... 10
C. W. Moberly (transferred to R. Dickey)......... 10
lon. Frank Smith........................................ 10

J. R Silliman ....................................... 10
A. Manning................................................. 10
R. M. Elmsley ............................................. 10
K. Chisholm............................................... 10
Hon. J. B. Robinson ..... ............................... 10
J. D. Edgar. ..............................................- 20
John Turner.............................................. 10
,G. M. Hawke (transferred to J. Turner)............ 10

195

Amou t Amount
Subscribed. Paid.

1,000 00 1,000 00
1,000 00 1,000 00
1,000 00 1,000 00
1,000
1,000

500
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
1,000
2,000
1,000
1,000

19,500 00

1.000 00
1,000 00

500 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00

500 00
2,000 00
1,000 00
1,000 00

19,000 00

TouimT, 6th April, 1877.
186

Lake Couchiching Hotel

CHARLES RIDO UT,
Secretary, L.C.H.C.

Certified as a correct extract from the books of the
,Company.

Appendiz No. 15.1-40 Tietoria.
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NORTIERN EXTENSIONS RAILWAY OF CANADA.

.STATEMENT of Accounts of J. D. Edgar and the Firms of which he was a partner,
with the Toronto, Simcoe and Muskoka Junction, and the Northern Exten..
sions Railways.

Date. -

1870.
Decem ber

1871.
Mfarch
June
August
December

1872.
May
October

1873.
June

1874.
September

do

September 24

18 5.

J. D. Edgar (Edgar & Fenton).

3 Costs and professional services from lst
Oct., 1869, to date................ ........

31 lQuarter salary and expenses...... ........
30 do do ...............
31 do do ...............
31' do do ...............i

Edgar & Fenton.

31 Quarter salary and expenses...............
31 7 months' salary.......... ......... ...........

30 ISolicitors' account.............................

24 do ...................
241 do .............................

1 Edgar, Fenton & Ridout.

Solicitors' account to 3 st Dec., 1873.
Northern Extensions vs. Patterson

(Chanceryì ................ ,.................
'Norther'i Extensions vs. Kiott............

do vs. Brown...........
ISolicitors' account to March, 1874.......

do June, 1874........
do Se tember, 1874...

G. E. Corbould, Orillia ency, 1872 to
1874..................

L o Jas. D. Edgar.

Vote of Directors for services, includingi
three months' in England.............I

187

Services. Disburse-
mente.

, cts.1 ets.

1,706 06 623 41

400 00 40 12
400 00 1 143 05
400 00 84 64
400 00 62 70

400 00 97 30
933 33 .................

377 05 10 71

706 51 150 28
308 00 74 49

446 40 14 29
100 00 .................
71 65 ................ .

115 78 120 75
288 80 ..................
153 1s ..................
29 00 31 50

222 00 ................

3,050 00 ...........

10,507 76 1,453 30

40AJM Victona. A. 187Y
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AG.

NORTIHIERN RAILWAY OF CANADA.

SrATEuxENT of accounts of J. D. Edgar, and the .firms of which he was a partner,
with the Northern Railway, separating the disbursements from the services.

Date. Services. Disbursements.

e ts. $cs

March 31, '68IEdgar & Grahame............................. 274 00 91 00

June 30, '69!Strong, Edgar & Grahame................... 145 70 204 40

June 30, '691 do do do ................... 55 50  133 53

June 3, '75 J. D. Edgar, Parliamentary Counsel...... 2,500 00 .....................

2,975 20 428 93

AH.

NORTHERN RAILwAY OF CANADA,
MANAGING DIRECTOR's OFFICE.

TORONTO, 26th July, 1875.

MY DEAR RoBINso,-As you are leaving to-morrow, it is quite impossible to go-
into the details of your account with us, so as to reach an adjustment before your
departure; but immediately on your return, we will close it up. In the mean time, it
is fair to you to say that I am quite aware that there are some charges embraced in
the account against you which are not personal to yourself, and which, on investiga-
tion, will doubtless be written off.

With reference to your stipend as President, which you think ought to embrace
1874, I shall be happy, in the event of the new issue of stock being made, and the-
Government mortgage thereupon redeemed under the provisions of our recent Act,
to reeommend that your request be granted.

Very truly yours,

(Signed) F. W. CUMBERLAND.

The Hon. J. B. RoBINsoN.
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ÂJ.

NORTHERN EXTENSION RAILWAYS COMPANY.

SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING,
RossIN Housz, Tuesday, lst June, 1875.

Extracts from Minutes of Special General Meeting of Northern Extension Rail-
ways C'ompany, held at Toronto on Tuesday, lst June, 185:--

The Secretary read the following report from the Board of Directors:

"NORTHERN EXTENSION RAILWAYS COMPANY.

" SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING.

"TUESDAY, lst June, 1875.

" Report of the Directors.

"The Directors have the honour to report that they have had under careful consi-
deration the permissive powers of amalgamation with the Northern Railway Company-
of Canada, under the Act thirty-eight Victoria, chapter sixty-five, and have been in
negotiation with that Company as to the ternis and manner of giving effect to the
same.

" The provisions of the Act, so far as they relate to this Company, may be thus
generally stated:

"1. The companies may amalgamate under au agreement sanctioned by their
proprietors in special general meetings respectively.

" 2. Provided that the price or sum at which the lines of this Company shall be
transferred shall not exceed, when cleared of every incumbrance and liability, a
charge equivalent to $20,000 per mile ; and provided, further, that within that
charge the stock subscriptions actually paid up in cash (and within additional
limitations as to interest and premium) to be paid in a new issue of preferential or
ordinary stock to be made by the Northern Company under the said Act.

"3. All the rigbts and priorities of the debenture holders of this Company are
reserved and continued without change.

" 4. Pending the fulfilment of the agreement, three Directors of this Company,
at the time of amalgamation, to be additional Directors of the Northern.

" Since the proposal for amalgamation has been under discussion, the works of
the Extension Lines have been valued by two eminent engineers (acting on behalf of
the Northern Company) at $27,341 per mile; so that at the rate of transfer limited
by the Act ($20,000 per mile) all the Government subsidies and municipal bonuses
enure to the Northern Company with the property.

"l Under the provisions of the Act, therefore, this Company, in the event of amal-
gamation, will have incurred all the risk, responsibilities and labours of an important
public work, without any possibility of profit other than nominal, and the benefit of
the public grants will pass to another proprietory.

" Inasmuch, however, as that of the 72 miles of railway embraced in the Con-
panys undertaking, 13 yet remain to be constructed, and as in consequence of the
exceptionally high standard of the works, and the failure of several of the municipal
ities to contribute to the capital, the financial ability of the Company is exhausted,
the transfer of the property, with a view to its immediate completion to Gravenhurst,
-would seem to be an imperative duty and a necessary sacrifice. The Directors accord-
ingly submit an agreement for amalgamation, which, if sanctioned by both Companies,
will legally free the undertakings and will, they trust, ensure the early fulfilment of
the original and leading object of the enterprise.

" The Directors invite the proprietors to determine whether or not they, will
amalgamate this Company with the Northern under the provisions and within the

190
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limitations embodied in the Act, and should this question be determined in the affirm-
mtive, then the Directors will submit the agreement prepared in concert between the
authorities of both Companies, and which agreement they recommend for adoption.

" On a careful examination and abstract of the accounts of the undertaking, made-
-to the 3rd instant, on behalf of both Companies, it appears that effect can be given to,
the Act witbin the limitation prescribed, and that, accordingly, should the agreement
be approved, the property will pass as a completed work with a capital account of
$1,425,139.14 or at the rate of $ 19,798.59 per mile, free of every debt and liability,
and including the recognition of the paid-up cash capital of this Company within the
limitations of the Act."

"All of which is respectfully submitted.

(Signed) "FRANK SMITH,
(Signed) "JNo. D. FOREMAN, "-President.

" Secretary.

"Moved by N. Barnhart, Esq., seconded by John Turner, Esq., That the Report
be received.-Carried unanimously."

On the consideration of the provisions of Act 38, Cap. 65, in relation to the
amalgamation of this Company with the Northern Railway Company of Canada, and
regard being had to the limitàtions therein contained,

" Moved by N. Barnhart, Esq., seconded by H. L. Hime, Esq., That the Company
do amalgamate under the said Act and subject to its provisions, and that the price or
sum at which amalgamation shall be effected shall not exceed the equivalent of £4,109
(say $20,000) per mile on the 72 miles of completed Railway.-Carried unanimously."

Certified to be a true and correct extract from the Minutes of the meeting.

(Signed) JNO. D. FOREMAN,
Accountant.

AN.

TOIRONTO, SIM00E AND MUSKOKA JUNCTION RAILWAY.

Abstract of Prelininary Expenses from 2nd November, 1869, to Brd December, 1870:--

$ c.
1. General Management, including salaries of officers, rent,

fuel, furniture, postage, telegraphs, &c...................2,307 86
2. Parliamentary expenses........................................... 3,063 33
3. Legal expenses...................................................... 1,769 06
4. Original Survey of Exploration.......................... .... 2,42 86
5. Survey of Location and Engineering expenses...... 5,166 61
6. Bonus expenses. ... .................................... 2 0
7. Printing and advertising..........................................
8. Stationery..................... ........ ........................... 374 63
9. Travelling expenses.......................... .......... ...........

10: iReal Estate pui'ehase...................................... 446 30

$29,249 93

'Toronto, 9th June, 1871.



The above is a correct copy of the " Abstract of Preliminary Expenses" of the
'Toronto, $imcoe and Muskoka Junction Railway, as shown in the Preliminary
Expense Book of that Railway.

(Signed) FRED. CUMBERLAND.
JNO. D. FOREMAN,

N. R. O. Accountant.

AO.
(No. 967.)

ToRoNTO, 3rd July, 1871.
41,000.00

Three months after date The Northern Railway Company of Canada by their
Seal, promise to pay to the order of Angus Morrison, Esq., at the Company's Office
here, one thousand dollars, value received.

F. W. CUMBERLAND, [L.S.]
Managing Director.

J.IM. Ent'd. Tuos. 1TAMILTON,
Secretary.

(Endorsed) A. MoRRIsON.

19
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MINUTES OF PRO0EEDINGS

L, EO TEE

SELE CT COMMT ITEE

ON THE

NORTHERN AND NORTHERN EXTENSION RAILWAYS.

COMMITTEE Room, No. 6,
12th March, 177.

Committee met to organize.

PRESENT:

Messieurs Archibald, Messieurs Bowell,
Killam, McCarthy,
Guthrie, Casgrain, and
DeVeber, Palmer.

It was moved by Mr. DeVeber and seconded by Mr. Killam, that Mr. Archibaldt
take the Chair.-Carried.

With permission of the Committee, Mr. Thomson, President of the Northern,
Railway Company made a statement of the financial affairs of the Company, and
Mr. F. W. Cumberland, General Manager of the said Company, made a statement
similar to that of Mr. Thomson.

Moved by Mr. Guthrie, s conded by Mr. DeVeber, and carried,
That Frederick W. Cumberland, Esq., General Manager of the Northern Railway

Company of Canada, be summoned to appear as a witness before the Committee on
Friday, the 16th day of March, 1877, at 10 o'clock a.m., in Committee Room No. 6,
Parliament Buildings, and that ho be summoned to produce before the Committee
all books of account and minute books of the Northern Railway Company and
iNorthern Extension Railway including stock books of the latter Railway, con-
taining any entry or memorandum touching any of the matters referred to in the
Report of the Royal Commission appointed " for investigating the books, accounts
and vouchers of the Northern Railway Company of Canada, and the disbursements
and expenditures of the said Company," and touching any matters of a similar
character ; and also all documents, papers and vouchers in any wise relating to or
touching any of the matters aforesaid.

On motion of Mr. Palmer the Chairman was requested to ask the House for
leave to engage the service of a short-hand writer, for the purpose of taking down,
the evidence which may be taken by the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Guthrie, the Committee adjourned until 10 o'clock a.m., to--
inorrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

193
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COMMTTEE Boom No. 6.

Committee met. 13th March, 1877.

PRUSENT:

Mr. ARcHIRALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Bertram,
Guthrie, Killam,
DeVeber, Bowell, and
Palmer, McCarthy.

Moved by Mr. Guthrie, that the Chairman procure fcom the Auditor-General a
statement shewing the state of the accounts between the Government and the
Northern Railway Company-showing the several amounts advanced or paid to or
for the Railway; dates of advance, and nature and position of securities taken; also
showing arrears of interest from time to time; also shewing the present state of the
account.-Carried.

On motion of Mr. McCarthy, the Committe, adjourned to meet at the call of the
Chair.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
16th March, t877.

Committee met.
PRESENT :

Mir. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Killam,
DeVeber, Bowell, and
Bertram, Guthrie.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland, General Manager of the Northern Railway Company
appeared in obedience to the summons of the Committee, and, being sworn, was
.ex:aminel, his e vidence being taken down by a short-hand writer.

Moved by Mr. (Guthrie, seconded by Mr. Bertram, that the Chairman be
instructed to re quest the attendance of Sir John A. Macdonald and the Hon. J. B.
]Robinson, mem bers of the louse, before the Committee as witnesses, on Tuesday,
the 20th day of March inst., at 10.30 o'clock a.m: and further, that a report be made
to the Flouse th at the Committee desire the attendance of the Hon. D. L. Macpherson,
a member of the Senate, as a witness before them, in order that the usual steps may
be takea by the House to apply to the Honourable The Senate to grant permission
to Senator Macpherson to appear and be examined as a witness before this Commit-
tee, if he be willing.-Carried.

The statement called for on the 13th instant, showing the state of the account
betweeû the Government and the Northern Railway Company, was laid on the table,
(marked A).

On motion of Mr. DeVeber, the Committee adjourned to meet at the call of the
Chair.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.
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COMMTTEE Roox No. 6,
20th Marhi, 1877.

Committee met.
PRISENT

Mr. AROBAuL, Chairman.

Messieurs
Casgrain, Killam,
Guthrie, Palmer,
DeVeber, McCarthy,Iand
Bertram, Bowell.

Hon. D. L. Macpherson, Senator, appeared in answer to the request of the Com-
,nittee, and, being sworn, was examined, his evidence being taken down by a short-
Land writer.

Right Hon. Sir John A. Macdonald K.C.B., M.P., appeared in answer to the
request of the Committee, and, being sworn, was examined, (his evidence being taken
ldown by a shorthand wriner.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland's evidence, given by him on the 16th inst., was read over
to him.

Mr. Cumberland was recalled, and, being sworn, was further examined, (his
'evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.) Hie submitted the following
statements to the Committee, as requested on the 16th inst., which were filed, viz:-
Northern Railway of Canada-Abstract of Revenue, Expenditure on New Works,
Rolling Stock, &c., from 1863 to 1875, marked B. Northern Railway of Canada-
-Statement of Gross Earnings and Net Revenue, 1858 to 1876, Main Line and
Extension, marked C. Northern Railway Company of Canada-Statement shewing
Rolling Stock Equipment from years 1859 to 1876, marked D.

On motion of Mr. Bowell, the Committee adjourned until 10.30 o'clock'a.m.
-to-morrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chirman.

COMMITTEE Room No. 6,
21st March, 1877.

Committee met.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.

Messieurs
Casgrain, McCarthy,
Guthrie, Bowell,
DeVeber, Palmer, and
Bertram, Killam.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was recalled and further examined, his evidence being-
taken down by a shorthand writer.

Mr. McCarthy requested Mr. Cumberland to prepare a memo. of matters,
accounts or statements required of :-

1. When the Northern Railway Company amalgamated with the Northern
Extension Railway Company, how much was allowed for the Northern Extension
Company in the amalgamation; and by the arrangement that was made, what is the
position of the Government lien, and te Stockholders ?

2. The cost of construction of the Northern Extension Railway ; how much
was subscribed by stockholders ; how much was given by municipal bonuses ; how
,nuch by Government grant ?
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3. The fioating debt of the Northern FEtension Company (if any) assumed by-
the Northern Railway Company?

4. The floating debt of the Northern Railway Company at the time of th&
amalgamation, and at the present time ?

On motion of Mr. Bowell, the Committee adjourned until 10.30 a.m. to-morrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
22nd March, 1877.

Committee met.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARcIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Killam,
Guthrie. Bowell,
DeVeber, McCarthy and
Bertram, Palmer.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was recalled and further examined (his evidence being-
taken down by a shorthand writer). He submitted the following statements of-
account to the Committee, as requested on the 21st instant, which were filed, viz.:-
Ilon. J. B. Robinson, President, marked E; New Works and Rolling Stock Capital
Account, marked F; Suspense Account, " New Works and Rolling Stock," marked
G; Suspense Account, New Locomotive Engines, marked l; Suspense Account,
New Freight and other Cars, marked I; Suspense Account, "New Wharves," marked
J: F. W. Cumberland, marked K; C. W. Moberley, Engineer, marked L; Suspense
Account, " New Capital Act of 1868," marked M; Sundry Accounts, marked N.

On motion of Mr. Palmer, the Committee adjourned until 10.30 o'clock a.m. to-
jmorrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
23rd March, 1877

Committee pnet.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Bertram, Catsgrain,
Guthrie, Palmer,
McCarthy, DeVeber and
Bowell, Killam.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was recalled and further examined (his evidence being-
being taken down by a shorthand writer). He submitted to the Committee, Form
176, Northern Railway of Canada, being a form showing the' heads under which the
expenditure for each month is classified, marked O.

On motion of 1r. Palmer, the Committee adjourned until 10.30 o'clock a.m. to.
mnorrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCIIIBALD,
Chairman.
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COMXUTTBE Room No, 6,
Oommittee met:- 24th March, 1877.

PREsENT:

Mr. ARemaALn, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Guthrie,
Bertram, McCarthy,
DeVeber, Palmer and
Killam, Bowell.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was recalled and submitted the following statements,
-which were filed, viz:-

Printing and advertising, current account, amounts paid to Globe and Maul
Printing Companies, from year 1867 to 1877, marked P; position of Mr. Camber-
land's account at the time of giving note, $2,181.29, June 30th, 1869, marked Q ;
Northern Railway of Canada Extension Lines, showing. 1. Cost of construction.

ý2. Rate of amalgamation or purchase. 3. Public grants. 4. Capital account of
extensions as taken over under deed of amalgamation. 5. Floating debt at amalga-
mation. 6. Cost of works of completion, and showing list of stockholders of Exten-
sion Company at amalgamation, 3rd June, 1875, marked R.

le also submitted the following drafts, referred to in yesterday%evidence, whiek
were filed, viz:--

Draft for $1,000, dated 13th March, 1873, marked S.
Draft for $750, dated 17th April, 1873, marked T.
Draft for $2,000, dated 23rd May, 1873, marked U.
The eviden"e given by Mr. Cumberland on the 20th, 2 tit, a part of the 22nd, and

the whole of the 23rd instant, was read over to him and corrected.
Ledger 7, July lst, 1874, to date; cash book 13, April 15th, 1876, to date; jour-

_nal 9, July, 1874, to date.
Moved by Mr. Guthrie, that the President be permitted to take away the above

xnentioned books, to be returned when required by the Committee.
On motion of Mr. Guthrie, it was resolved that Mr. Cumberland's examination

te continued on Tuesday next.
On motion of Mr. McCarthy, the Committee adjourned until 10.30 o'clock, a.m,

*on Tuesday next.
(Signed) CYIRIL ARCIIBALD,

Chairman.

CoMXITTEZZ Roo No. 6,
Committee met. 27th March, 1877.

PRESENT :

Mr. ARCIIIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Palmer,
Killam, Bowell, and
Bertram, Gathrie.
DeVeber,

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and the remainder of the evidene
.given by him on the 22nd instant was read over to him and corrected.

Mr. Cumberland was re-called and further examined, his evidence being takea
.down by a shorthand-writer.

On motion of Mr. Bertram the Committee adjourned until 10 o'clock a.m.
rto-morrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairwaa.
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CoMmrTTE Roox, No. 6,
28th March, 1877.

Committee met.
PRISENT:

Mr. AcHIrALD, Cairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Bowell,
Guthrie, DeVeber, and
Bertram, McCarthy.
Killam.

The Committee made an examination of the books of the Northern Railway-
Company, in which they were assisted by Mr. Foreman, the book-keeper of the Com-
PAny.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until 10 o'clock a.m.
I-morrow.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
29th March, 187ý

Committee met.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARcHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Guthrie, DeVeber,
Bertram, Killam, an(1
Bowell, Palmer.
McCarthy,

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and the evidence given by him or-
the 27th inst. was read over to him and corrected.

Mr. Cumberland was then recalled and further examined (his evidence being
taken down by a shorthand writer.)

On motion of Mr. McCarthy, the Committee adjourned until Tuesday next, at
10.30 o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE Room No. 6,
3rd April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRISENT:

Mr. ARclIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, Killam,
Guthrie, Palmer,
DeVeber, McCarthy and
Bertram, Bowell.

Mr, F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and the evidence given by him on,
the 29th March was read over to him and corrected.

198



Mr. Cumberland was then re-called and furtber examined (his evidence being
taken down by a shorthand writer.) le submitted the following statements to the
Committee, which were filed, viz.: Northern Railway Co. Return-le Advances to
Extensions Company at date of Lease and date of Amalgamation respectively, marked
V. Northern Railway Co. Return-Re Lake Couchiching Hotel Co. Account marked
W. He also produced two drafts'drawn by Sir John A. Macdonald on F. W. Cumber.
land, in November, 1869, for $500 each, and a draft drawn by A. Morrison on F. W.
Cumberland in June, 1869, for $400, of which exhibits X, Y and Z are true copies.
(Exhibits filed.)

The Committee made a further examination of the books of the Northern Rail-
way, in which they were assisted by Mr. Foreman, the book-keeper of the Company.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chaiman.

COMMITTEE RooM, No. 6,
Committee met. 4th April, 1877.

PREsENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Casgrain, McCarthy,
Guthrie, Palmer,
Bertram, Bowell, and
Killam, DeVeber.

The Committee continued- their examination of the books of the Company, in
'which they were assisted by Mr. Foreman.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10
o'clock, a. M.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD.
Chairman.

COMMITTEE Room, No. 6,
Committee met. 5th April, 1877.

PRESENT:

Mr. ARcHIBLD, Chtzirman.
Messieurs

Guthrie, McCarthy,
Bertram, Palmer,
Killam, Bowell, and
Casgrain, DeVeber.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and the evidence given by hima
on the 3rd inst. was read over to him and corrected.

Mr. Cumberland was then re-called and further examined (his evidence being
taken down by a shorthand writer.) Mr. McCarthy requested Mr. Cumberland t&
prepare a memorandum showing the list of stockholders of the Lake Couchiehing
HRotel Company; the amount of stock subscribed respectively, and the amount paid;
the amount received from the insurance companies and how that was appropriated.

On motion of Mr. Guthrie, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL AIRCHIBALD,
Chairman.
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Comrra IRoom, No. 6,
6th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PREsENT :

Mr. AROHIBALD, Chairman.

Messieurs
Casgrain, DeVeber,
Guthrie, Bowell,
Bertram, McCarthy, and
Uillam, Palmer.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and, being recallel. was further
examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer). l submittod
to the Committee the following statement, which was filed, viz.: -Return-re Xail
Stock Account, Payments on Mr. Cumberland's stock and Payments on Mr. Mairris-
son's, Stock, marked AA.

Moved by Mr. Bowell, that Mr. E. Miall be summoned to appear before the Com-
mittee, to give evidence in reference to the state of the books, etc., of the Northern
Railway.

Moved by Mr. Guthrie, that the Chairman request Sir John Macdonald and Hon.
J. B. Robinson to attend before the Committee to give evidence on Monday next.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCIJBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
7th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRESEXT :

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Bertram, McCarthy,
DeVeber, Killam,
Casgrain, Bowell and
Guthrie, Palmer.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and, being re-called, was further
examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer). le submitted
the following statements to the Committee, which were filed, viz.: Lake Couchiching
lotel Company, List of Shareholders, marked AB; Northern Railway Company,
Return -re Shareholders Extension Company, marked AC; Memorandum of Salary
and C6mmission, etc., of General Manager, from 1865 to 1877, marked AD.

Moved by Mr. Guthrie, that application be made to the House to a permission
from the Senate for leave for the Hion. Frank Smith, Senator, to attend and give
evidence before the Committee, if he think fit.

Moved by Mr. Bertram, that the Printing Committee be requested to print the
evidence taken before the Northern Railway Committee as soon as possihle.

On motion of Mr. Guthrie, it was rosolved, That C. J. Campbell, Angus Morri-
son, William Thomso", J. D. Fdgar and Gordon Brown, be summoned to attend as
witnesses before the Committee for Tuesday, at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

On motion of Mr. Bertram the Committee adjourned until Monday next, at 10
o'clock, A. M.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

200

40 Vida"a. Appendi (No S.-) A487m



CouxruEE RooK No. 6,
9th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRISENT:

Mr. AROnIAnLD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Bowell, McCarthy,
Guthrie, Killam,
Bertram, DeVeber and
Palmer, Caugrain.

Rt. Hon. Sir John A. Macdonald, K.C.B., M.P., appeared in answer to the request
of the Committee, and being sworn was examined (his evidence being taken down by
;a shorthand writer.)

Hon. John Beverly Robinson, M.P., appeared in answer to the request of the
Committee, and being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a
shorthand writer.)

On motion of Mr. Bowell the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10 o'cloek,
a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHTR3ALD,
chazinnan.

CoMMITTEE Roox No. 6,

Committee met. 10th April, 1877.

PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, C7airman.
Messieurs

Bertram, Palmer,
Guthrie, Killam and
DeVeber, - Casgrain.
Bowell,

Hon. Frank Smith, Senator, appeared in answer to the request of the Committee,
:and being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand
writer.)

The following statement was submitted to the Committee from the Northern
Railway Company, which was filed, viz.: Account of Angus Morrison, Esq., marked
AE.

Mr. Gordon Brown appeared in obedience to the summons of the Committee, ant
being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.)

Mr. C. J. Campbell, of Toronto, appeared in obedience to the summons of the
Committee, and being sworn was examined (his evidence being taken down by a
shorthand writer.)

A letter was read from Mr. Angus Morrison, Toronto, to the effect that he Ws
unable to be present before the Committee to-day, but would appear before them on
Monday next. (Letter filed.)

On motion of Mr. Guthrie, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10
'elock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
càaùum
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CommTTi Room No. 6,
11th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRaassar:

Mr. AsamuJaàDn, Chairmana
Messieurs

Palmer, Bowell,
Bertram, Killam and
Guthrie, DeVeber.

Mr. William Thomson, President of the Northern Railway Company, appeared
in obedience to the summons of the Committee, and, being sworn, was examined (his,
evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.)

Mr. J. D. Edgar, of Toronto, appeared in obedience to the summons of the Com-
mAittee, and, being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a short-
baud writer.)

Mr. E. Miall appeared in obedience to the summons of the Committee, and, being
sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.)

The following statements were submitted to the Committee by the Northern
Railway Company, which were filed, viz: Northern Extensions Railway of Canada-.
8tatement of Accounts of J. D. Edgar and the Firms of which he was a partner with
the Toronto, Simcoe and Muskoka Junction and the Northern Extension Railways,
marked A.F.; and Northern Railway of Canada-Statement of Accounts of J. D.
Edgar and the Firms of which he was a partner with the Northern Railway separat-
ing the disbursements from the services, marked A.G.

On motion of Mr. Bowell, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10,
'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

CoMMITTM RooM, No. 6,
12th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Palmer, Bowell,
Bertram, Casgrain, and
Guthrie, DeVeber.
Killam,

Ioved by Mr. 0-uthrie that Mr. Barlow Cumberland be summoned as a witness
Mr. Barlow Cumberland appeared in obedience to the summons of the Com-

mittee, and being sworn was ,examined (his evidence being taken down by a short-
ang4 writer.)

l ion. John Beverly Robinson, M.P., was also in attendance, and being re-called
wa further examined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand-writer.) le

mod"uced a letter written to him by F. W. Cumberland, on 26th July, 1875, of which
exhibit AI. is a true copy.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance and being re-called was further
.amined (his evidence being taken down by a shorthand writer.)

Ët. lon. Sir John A. Macdonald, K.C. B., M.P., appeared before the Committee,
and at his own rcquest, made a siatement in regard to the evidence given by him on
the 9th inst.



The Chairman read a letter he had received from Mr. William Thomson, Presi-
dont of the Northern Railway Company, in which he (Mr. T.) desired that the-
labours of the Committee would soon be concluded. (Letter filed.)

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10-
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL A RCHIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE ROOM No. 6,

Committee met. 13th April, 1877.

PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.

Messieurs
Guthrie, Killam,
DeVeber, Bowell, and
Bertram, Casgrain.
Palmer,

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and being recalled was furtter-
examined (his evidence being taken down by a short-hand writer.)

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 1.
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARIICHIBALD,
Chairnan.

COMMITTEE Room No. 6,

Committee met. 14th A.pril, 1877.

PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, (hairman.

Messieurs
Casgrain, Bowell,
Bertram, Killam, and
McCarthy, DeVeber.

lon. D. L. Macpherson, Senator, was also in attendance, and the evidence givern
by him on the 20th 3March was read over and corrected, after which he signed it.

Hon. J. B. Robinson, M.P., was also in attendance, and the evidence given by
him on the 9th and 12th inst., was read over and corrected, after which he signed it.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until Monday next at 10:30-
o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.
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CoMIrTEE R1OoM No. 6,
16th April, 1877.

Committee met.
PRESENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Bertram, DeVeber,
Bowell, Casgrain, and
Killam, McCarthy.

Mr. Angus Morrison, of Toronto, appeared in obedience to the suimmons of the
-Committee, and, being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a
ashorthand writer.)

Mr. T. C. Patteson, of Toronto, being in the Committee Raom, was called by Mr.
Bowell, and, being sworn, was examined (his evidence being taken down by a short-
hand-writer. He submitted to the Committee a transcript from the stock-ledger of
the "Mail Printing and Publishing Company," showing the account of Anguas
Morrison, M. P., from 1872 to 1874, which was filed and marked AI.

Mr. E. Miall was also in attendance, and the evidence given by him ou the 11th
instant was read over and corrected, after wkich he signed it.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10.30
-o'clock, a.m.

(Signed) CYR[L ARCIIIBALD,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,
17th April, 1877.

PRESENT:

Mr. ARcIHIBALD, Chairman.
Messieurs

Bowell, Bertram and
Casgrain, Killam.

Mr. F. W. Cumberland was also in attendance, and that portion of his evidence
mot previously read was then read over and corrected, after which he signed it. He
isubmitted to the Committee the following statements, which were filed, viz.:-
Northern Extension Railways Company, Special General Meeting, Rossin House,
'Tuesday, lst June, 1875, marked AJ; Northern Railway of Canada, Adjourned
Special General Meeting, held at Toronto on Thursday, 3rd June, 1875, marked AK;
Northern Extension Railways Company, Balance Sheet, 31st May, 1875, marked AL;
No. 1, Northern Extension Railways Company, Memo. for Amalgamation 31st May,
1875, marked AM; and Toronto, Simcoe and Muskoka Juaction Railway, Abstract of
Preliminary Expenses from 2nd November, 1869, to 3rd December, 1870, marked
AN. He also produced a note made by the Northern Railway Company, and
payable to Angus Morrison, dated 3rd July, 1871, of which Exhibit AO is a true
copy.

Mr. Angus Morrison was also in attendance, and, being re-called, was further
,examined. His evidence, given on the 16th instant, was read over and corrected.

On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned, to meet at the call of the
Chair.

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairna.
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COMMITTI RooM No. 6,

ommittee m.20th April, 1877.

PRESENT:
Mr. ARCHIBALD, Chairman.

Messieurs
Bertram, McCarthy,
Killam, Bowell, and
Guthrie, DeVeber.

The Chairman submitted a draft report, which was read,
And the question being put that the first paragraph be adopted,
Mr. Bowell moves in amendment,
That the words "to the Government " be struck out of the last line in para-

graph one, and the following inserted in lieu thereof " in conformity with sub-
sections one to nine, inclusive of clause 11, cap. 86, 31st Vic., as follows:-

lst. In the payment of working expenses of the said Railway.
2nd. In payment of the interest on the First Preference Bonds of the Company..
3rd. In payment of the interest on the Second Preference Bonds of the Com-

pany.
4th. In payment of the interest Class A, Third Preferenco Bonds, authorized to-

be issued under this Act.
5th. In payment of the interest on Class B, Third Preference Bonds, authorized

to be issued under this Act.
6th. In paynlent of interest on the Government lien of four hundred and seventy-

five thousand pounds sterling.
7th. In payment of interest on the arrears of interest due to the Government of

the Dominion.
8th. In payment of the interest on the arrears of Interest Debentures (if any

there be) which, not being given up and exchanged as herein provided, shall con-
tinue to rank as if this Act had not been passed.

9th. In dividends on the share capital of the Company.
On which the Committee divided, and the yeas and nays, being called for were-

taken down as follow:-
Yeas:

Messieurs
Bowell and McCarthy.-2.

Nays:
Messieurs

Guthrie, Bertram, and Killam.-3.

The Chairman declared the amendment lost.
Mr. Bertran moves in amendment that all the words after " which " in the last.

part of paragraph one be struck out, and the following inserted " were applicable in
payment of the Government claims," to which

Mr. Bowell moves in amendment to the amendment,
That all the words after " were " in said amendment be struck out, and the

following inserted in lieu thereof: "should have been paid in liquidation of the
debts of any claims against the Company."

And the question being put on the amendment to the amendment, the Com-
mittee divided, and the yeas and nays being called for, were taken down as follow:-

Yeas:
Mesieurs
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Powell and McCarthy.-2.
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Nays:
Messieurs

Bertram, Guthrie, and Killam.-3.
The Chairman declared the amendment to the amendment lost.
Mr. Bertram's amendment was then put and carried on the following division:-

Yeas :
Messieurs

Bertram, Guthrie, and
Bowell, McCarthy.-4.

Nay :
Mr. Killam.-1.

The first paragraph, as amended, was then adopted on the following division:-
Yeas:

Messieurs
Bertram, Guthrie, and Killam.-3.

Nays :
Messieurs

Bowell, and McCarthy.-2.
On motion of Mr. Bertram, the Committee adjourned until 10 o'clock, a.m.,

to-morrow.

COMMITTEE RooM No. 6,

Committee met. 
21st April, 1877.

PRISENT:

Mr. ARCHIBALD, (hairman.
Messieurs

Killam, Guthrie, and
De Veber, Bowell.
Bertram,

The minutes of yesterday's proceedings were read and adopted.
The Committee proceeded to the further consideration [of the Report, and para-

grapbhs 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 were adopted.
And the question being put that the Report be now adopted, the Committe

divided, and the yeas and nays being called for, were taken down as follow:-
Yeas:

Messieurs
Bertram, Guthrie, and
De Veber, Killam.-4.

Nay:
Mr. Bowell.-1.

On motion of Mr. Guthrie, it was resolved, that the minutes of the proceedi,
and ihe exhibits or papers.submitted to the Committee, be presented to the House with

(Signed) CYRIL ARCHIBALD,
Chairman.

Attest.
T. C. B. FRA&R,

Clerk of Oommittee.
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Appendix (No. -A.)

RE P OR T.

The Select Standing Committee on Immigration and Colonization respectfully
submit their First and Final Reports.

The Committee have examined the following witnesses
Mr. Lowe, the Secretary of the Department of Agriculture, on the Immigration

and expenditure of the past year ;
Mr. Lesage, Assistant Commissioner of Public Works and Agriculture, for the

Province of Quebec, respecting the capabilities of that Province foi receiving
Immigrants;

Mr. Spence, Secretary of the Immigration Departmont, Toronto, on the same
subject, with respect to Ontario;

Mr. Donaldson, Dominion Immigration Agent, at Toronto, on the distribution

and omployment of Immigrants in Ontario.
Dr. Christie, M.P., on unoccupied lands;
Mr. J. Y. Shantz, on the Mennonite Settlements in Manitoba;
Mr.*Bannatyne, M.P., respeting the North-West, and the late grasshopper visita-

tion;
Mr. Kugh Sutherland, of the Publie Works Dcpartment, respecting the North.

Westfand its communications;
Mr. Thos. Spence, Clerk of the Legislative Assembly, Manitoba, respeoting that

Province and the North-West as a field for Immigration;
Mr. 1ill, of the Kittson Line, on the subject of transport and the resoeaethe

North-West;
Mr. Fuller, on the timber and other rosources of the North-West; and

- Col. Dennis, Surveyor-Gen oral, respecting lands in Manitoba.
It appears from the evidence of Mr. Lowe, that there was in the yar I7,'

consideiable decline in the immigration to Canada, as compared with the previos
year. The total number of immigrants fror all sources reported to have setUed in

Canada in 1876, being 25,633, against 27,382 in 1875; 39,373 in 1S74; and 5,050 in

1873; which appears to-have been the year of the largest immigration known, to this

continent, since the Irish exodus.
This continuous decline in immigration was not special to Canada, but extendod

to the whole continent. The United States had an immigration of 459,840 in 1873,
which dwindled to 169,986 in 1876, and if the percentage of docline is compared it

vill be found that Canada bas not been the greatest sufferer:-
6-1* 'a
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Per Centage of Per Centage of
Years. decline to Canada. decline to U. States.
1874 .... .... ..... 21-33 ....... ........ 31-84
1875 .......... 30-20 ...... ,.......... 27·07
1876 6-38 ............... 25-65

The total emigration from Great Britain to all parts, exhibited during the same
years, a remarkable decline, as appears from the following figures:-

Years. Emigration. Per Centage of decline.
1873 ....... . ..... 310,612 ......
1874 ............ 241,014 ............. 22-40
1875 ............ 173,809 ................. 27-92
1876 ............. 138,222 .................. 20-47

It is a soureo of satisfaction that, while Canada has shared the depression, ià has
so well beld its own on a comparison of figures.

-The Australian Colonies proved to be an exception dnring the years namcd, as it
appears from the Imperial Returns that the emigration to them shows increase. It
was, in 1873, 23,854; in 1874, 52,065 ; in 1875, 33,417; and in 1876, 30,612; but this
fact is owing to the very great exertions made by those Colonies to obtain immigrants,
and their very large exponditure, out of all proportion greater than that of Canada,
both in Agency and the payment of passage of immigrants.

Tho Committee find that the class of immigrants brought to this country by tho
exertions of the Department of Agriculture, were chiefly agricultural labourers and
female domestie servants; mechanies and artizans not having any inducements held
out to them to immigrate.

The agricultural labourors, and especially those with families, and the female
domestic servants, were assisted to immigrate by the Dominion Passenger Warrants,
and to some extent by Ontario bonus of $6.00 given in further reduction to passage.

The agricultural labourers who came, appear, as a rule, to have done well, and to
have found employment. There is very little doubt that Canada can furnish employ-
ment for large numbers of immigrants of this class. The suffering from want of
employment has been among the artizans and labourers in cities, owing to the general
depression in all commercial and industrial enterprise; but there is reason to believe
that oven in this respect, the cities of Canada have not suffered so severely as those
of the United States.

It appears froin Mr. Lowe's evidence that the Department of Agriculture has
made special exertions to attract to this country the class of tenant farmers; and the
timte appears to be propitious, as well from causes in the United Kingdom depriving
largo numbers of their holdings, as the atttention which is being attracted to Canada
by the new and important trade in meat, which has somewhat suddenly sprung up.

4]



It may be stated to be a demonstrated fact that meat can be carried, with profit,
from Canada to the United Kingdom, and there kept for a considerable time, in a cold
desiccated atmosphere, not only without deterioration, but with acti al improvement-
The quality of Canadian beef thus carried has been pronounced to be equal to Scotch
prime, which is the highest standard.

These facts being established, it fellows that the extent of the market must exceed
the -possible supply from Canada for years to come. But a profitable demand wiI1

undoubtedly lead to very greatly increased stock raising, and to the improvement of
Canadian farms. The total number of horned cattle, as appears by the lastcensus,in
the four old Provinces of the Dominion, was a little over two millions and a half, and
the number killed or sold a little over half a million. There has probably been a
considerable increase in the numbers from the date of the census of 1871. It is, how-
ever, evident that any surplus which Canada could now afford is not sufficient to
affect a market so vast as that of Great Britain, but an established trade and a steady
profitable demand, may, in a few years, entirely alter the present position. This
condition of things is highly favourable for attracting the immigration of a very
desirable class of settlers.

As regards the special colonization which has been attempted in Manitoba, Mr,
J. Y. Shantz, the Chairman of the Mennonite Committee of Ontario, who, to a great
extent, has had practical charge of the new Mennonite Colonies, reports them to be
in a satisfactory position. He gives the number of Mennonites who have settled in
Manitoba at 6,700, which is somewhat in excess of the numbers given by the Depart-
ment, the figures of the latter being 6,147. Mr. Shantz states that the Mennonites are
satisfied with their condition and prospects. They find the land tolbe exceedingly rich,
and their crops last year yielded abundantly. He describes them as thrifty and
industrious, and stated they would, in a few years, be enabled to pay the last cent of
the special loan voted by Parliament. Mr. Shantz further stated that there were yet
thousands of Mennonites in Southern Russia who were anxious to join their brethren
in Manitoba, but owing to the failure of the crops for two years in succession they
were unable to emigrate. There are difficulties placed in the way of the disposal of
their properties. There are a number of rich men among them, but these would not
leave without their poorer brethren. The Mennonites in Manitoba are grouped
together in bands of from 20 to 30 families in each, and each representing the nucleus of
so many villages. The numberof Mennonites who joined the colony lastyear was 1,357.

There was also during the year a special Icelandic immigration, with a view of
establishing a colony in the territory of Keewatin, on the west shore of Lake Winni-
peg. The number of Icelanders who immigrated in 1876, was 1,156, in addition
to 268 who went to Gimli the previous fall. The success of this colony is at pi esent
not assured. It was visited during the winter with a very severe epidemic of small
pox, causing a very large proportionate destruction of life, the deaths being 189 ont
of a population of 1,441. The deaths under 12 years were 136; over 12 years, 53.
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A ihrther special coloniuation whieh lias bean ma4.# nItipba, ,Qusists of

Ipatriated Canadians, principally of FZneh origin. Thenumberet 30Z took up

band during the year, and they are reported by the agputs of tbe#Depaitynent to hava-

ande a good start, They are satified with their condition and prospeÇts. They ar

thrifty and well adapted for a colonization of this nature, and largenumbers of t4en

bave written to their friends in the Eastern States to join theM.

Mr. Donaldson, the Dominion Immigration Agent at Toronto, submitted a plan,

-freolonization in the Free Grant Districts, which is worthy of consideration. ]>

auggests the advisability of clearing a few seresoand building a log house thereon a4

S ost of about $200, thereby giving occupation during the winter to previous.

ettlers; this improvement to be sold at cost price, but for cash only, to settlers who

ome in with some means, instead of giving it on credit, as in the case of the town-

ahip of Ryerson. Thattownship did fill up, but the subsequent instalments were not.

aid. Mr. Donaldson's plan, while it would assist the settler in a point of groat

importance to him, would not be open to the risk of loss from credit. The Coin-

imittee is informed that many immigrants would avail themselves of "such an advan-

lage; and, as a question of immigration, they would respectfully submit it to the local

tuphorities.
As regards the subject of immigration expenditure, the Committee find, after a.

oerful exami-nation of the figures and facts given in evidence by the Secretary of the

Dopartment, that it has not been excessive for the service. On the contrary, they

id that it has been administered with a view to efficiency and economy. They find

that the reductions contemplated by the re-organizing Order in Council of December,

875, which was considered by the Committee during last Session have been made..

And after careful examination, they think it is doubtful if further reductions can be-

imade without impairing the efficiency of the service. The staff of paid agents now

a yppears to be reduced to thirteen, viz: One stationary or chief agent in London, one

at Liverpool, one at Glasgow, one at Dublin, one at Belfast, and one at Limerick, and

*ur travelling or lecturing agents in Great Britain. This constitutes the whole staff

-lm the United Kingdom. On the continent there is an agent at Paris, one at lam-

burg, and one in Switzerland. There are in addition on the continent three unsalaried

aents.

The total expenditure during the calendar year 1876 was $252,013 againFt

4206,692 the previons year. It was further explained that the expenditure in 1876

Iostained an item of $25,000 for the Dufferin Buildings, which were transferred from

* e oundArYCCommfissioners to the service of Immigration, for which tbey are found

be %eful an#. necessary. There were also uthez. special and not recurring itenms

<expenditure. The fact of the reductions is establiaked by the Governmeqt aski

Wrliauent kS a diminiahed vote ibr the service of Iigration to the extent of

TI cqst of tiie London effice during the year was 20,0yigainst 8,58 tbg
g
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previons year. In deduction of both these items the Governments of the Provinces

pay an annual refund of 89,500 for their special use of the London office; Ontario,
Quebec and the Maritime Provinces having their own agents connected with it to

further their special interests, and answer enquiries respecting them. The actual

cost to the Dominion of the London office is therefore of modest proportions in view

of the importance of the services rendered. In addition to being the chief i mmigra

tion office of the Dominion, the London office now is an established place of call, not
only for Canadians going to England, but for all persons, including members of Par-
liament, the press and capitalists, seeking for authentie information respecting the

Dominion of Canada. Copies of all public documents of the Dominion and the several
Provinces, maps, &c., are regularly kept on file there.

The total cost of agencies in 1876 was $51,935, against $61,45r the previous year,
and the expenditure for passenger warrants, per capita commissions, and all publica-
tions was $64,063 in 1876, against $67,026 in 1875.

The per capita cost of immigrants since 1872, based on the number of immigrants
reported by the agents to have settled in Canada, and the totals of all Dominion
expenditure for immigration, both in Canada and out of it, but not including the
amounts spent by the several Provinces from their own funds, was as follows:-

1872 .............................................................. $ 5 51
1873.................................................................. 6 07
1874................................................................... 6 37
1875............................................................. .. . 10 83
1876................ ................................ . 9 83

Increases have arisen from two causes: first, the intense competition and very
large expenditure to obtain immigrants by the Australian Colonies; and second, the
cost of the necessary permanent establishments both in Canada and Great Britain and
the Continent, being spread over a smaller number of immigrants.

The per capita cost of the special immigration of Mennonites and Icelanders in
1876 was $28.51. If these figures and the item of the Dufferin Buildings were de
ducted from the expenses of 1876, it would leave the per capita cost $6.48.

The information given by Mr. Lesage and Mr. Spence respecting the resources
of the Provinces of Quebec and Ontario as fields for immigration was both interesting
and important. It shows that in both of those Provinces there are very large areas
of land still unoccupied, and great resources waiting to be developed by immigrants.

As respects the Province of Manitoba and the North-West Territory, in addition
to the information obtained by the Committee last Session on the subject of the vast
areas in those hitherto but lttle known regions, and their agricultural resources of
almost unbounded extent, coupled with climatic conditiors favourable to their settle-
ment and development, still further and interesting information has been obtained,
which is contained in the evidence appended to this Report, to which the attention of

7
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*M d the. public, aId partiseUlrby the "m.igraMigalines, suay mr lx

The limits of this report will notpermit a reCapitulati th#evidenoer sÉilit
us not further neeessary to dwell1 on the now demonstrated et of the unsurpamm
1rhness of the soil and the very large crops ofeereabl and roots It -yield. The on.
qneation of drawback which has to be considered, and on which the Commttee b.
stowed its special attention, is the scourge of grasshoppers, whdih has, at period, but

'ith long intervals between, visited those countries. Ail the witnoeses conCu in
tattng that the country is now free from it, and that there are no eggs laid. The

ople of the Province appear to believe that they have arrived at another of the im-
uinities, which Senator Sutherland stated, in his evidence before the Oommittee last

$éssion, that he had personally known to last for forty years. And, in fact, eue of
the witnesses, Mr. Bannatyne, M.P., stated that the people now do not even think of
grasshoppere. But these did, last year, cause considerable destruction in parts of the
Btte of Minnesota, and it is reported that numbers of their eggs were laid there. The
qiistion, therefore, is, whether, as the population becomes more numerous, it ena
suessefully cope with the evil. On this point the evidenceof Mr. Hill, of St. Paulais
important. He described a special instance, that of Blue Barth County, in Kinnesota.
ie informed the Committee that the grasshoppers visited that county in sufficient
numbers to cause the total destruction of crops. In the emergency, a reward of a
dollar a bushel was offered for the destruction of the insecte, and the inhabitants set
to work to eatch them, with no better appliances than bags made of mosquite mete,
stretched on hoops. The result was that 30,000 bushels, equivalent to ninety railway

ar loads, were destroyed in that county; and the crop that was saved by this
exertion was valued by the Bureau of Agriculture, at Washington, at $700,000. He

dded, the-same exertion was .not made in the neighbouring county, which is as
populous, and naturally as rich, and the result there was an almost entire destruction
of crop. Mr. Hill further informed the Committee that this experience had led to
the invention of a machine imade of wire netting, propelled by a horse pushing it
before, of such efficiency that one man and one horse could clear fifteen acres per day
with it. If these statements are accepted as established facts, and there appears to

ç no reason to doubt them, the grasshopper scourge ean in future be dealt with by
thbe energy of man.

The facts given in evidence by Mr. Hill, with respect to the eost of transportation,
wawe also of an important character as regards the settlement of Manitoba and the
North-West. He stated that wheat can now be brought from Winnipeg to Duluth
ibr 24 cents per bashel; from Duluth to Sarnia for 6 cents; and from Sarnia to
Tronto, for 5 ents,-making in all 35 tents between the points of Winnipeg aud
Trnto. He added that these figures might be accepted as geotatima et whatanmy

bw be dono, the tendeney, as the supply ineresses, being tewarrds redction ofratm
It fblows from this t et , that, if wheat can be grown with the abundmue. ewhieh @As



witnesses concur in alleging, on the prolific soil of the North-West, it will cease to be

profitable to grow it in Ontario, with the difference of price of only 35 cents per

bushel between the points of Winnipeg and Toronto. The quality of the wheat, too,
grown in the Northern Country has an established superiority. Mr. Hill refers to

the quotations of the flour made from Minnesota wheat as being much higher than

those made from wheat grown in other parts of the Union, and says the millers of his

State, being so sensible of the fact, take means to prevent the exportation of

Minnesota wheat to the Eastern States. Vast milling establishments have been put

in operation to manufacture it in Minnesota, and to produce the higher priced flour.

The Committee may point out that this probable opening of large wheat supplies

from the North-West of the Dominion, comes at the time that the establishing of the

new meat trade between Oanada and the Mother Country, seems to point to a more

,'profitable occupation for the farmers in the older Provinces.

The immigration into the Province of Manitoba during the last year was between

3,500 and 4,000, in the face of the grasshopper scourge of the year previous. The

immigration into that Province during the coming season is likely to be very

large.

The Committee have ascertained that the fares for foreign immigrants, brought

out by the Government, between Toronto and Winnipeg (immigrant class) is $17,
vid Duluth; for emigrants from the old Provinces to Manitoba, holding orders of

Government Agents, $20, from Toronto to Winnipeg. The ordinary second class fare

is $23 between these last named points.

The evidence of Mr. Hill would go to establish that there is no kidnapping of

Canadian immigrants at the point of Duluth, as he states that, with very slight ex-

ceptions, all the tickets issued to immigrants for Manitoba are taken up on the Red

River. But it nevertheless appears important to have an Agent at Duluth to assist

the immigrants to bond their effects at that point, and save them from any unneces-

sary, and in some cases, severe expenses.

The information given by Mr. Sutherland, in his evidence appended to this R.-

port, respecting the interior communications of the North-West, is important. Hre

shews that the available water communications are of vast extent.

And Mr. Fuller shows that there is an abundance of timber for all purposes for

years to come. The growth of trees appears to be very rapid. Mr. Hill stated one

specific fact, viz.:-That he planted an elm twenty-one years ago, and that it is now

twenty-four inches in diameter.

Your Committee would deprecate the shutting up from 'actual settlement of

large tracts of land in the North-West for the benefit of Companies or other con-
siderations, especially for the purposes of speculation. Their opinion is, that the

true policy is to facilitate as far as possible the operat ions of the actual settler, who,
by his industry, becomes a producer, and thereby adds to the general wealth, and also,

Uby earning means for increased consumption of dutiable articles, adds to the revenue
9
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of the eountry, and thus enables it to pay for the opexing up of atill farther means
cfeommunication, extending the field for settlement. for industrious milions frn ail.
parts ofthe world. The Committee consider that in this view, the proper facilitating
of immigration is one of the most important of all public questions for Canada; and
that the value of the result is out of all proportion greater than the cost of a judicious
and efficient service. Mr. Young, of the Bureau of Statistics at Washington, estimates-
the value of every immigrant to be *800, and Mr. Kapp, one of the New York
hnigration Commissioners, who bas given much attention to the subjeet, states

the average value of each immigrant to be $1,125. The value of an immigrant who
in thrifty and industrious, as a unit in building up a civilized community, in the now
w'aste and vast areas of our North-West, or on the undeveloped lands of the older-
Previnces, cannot be defined or described, but it is absolutely and undoubtedly very
great. It may be pointed out that the class of immigrants required by Canada, at the-
present time, is confined to those who are able and willing to work, principally on
laid, or those who have means. The class of professional men, or of men only fitted
fer special pursuits, sbould not be advised to come to Canada to seek employment, as
they would probably meet with bitter disappointment. Men of loose habits or thoser
Unwilling to work, should also be dissuaded froin coming.

Your Committee thought it advisable to prepare a series of questions respecting.
the unsettled lands and Free Grant Districts in Quebec and Ontario, with a view to
ecit information to correct some erroneous impressions which they had reason to
blieve prevailed. These questions were sent to Crown Lands Agents, Wardens,,
Reeves, Presidents of Agricultural Societies and old Settlers, in the Provinces of
Quebec and Ontario. The Committee also forwarded some of these questions to.
lanitoba and Prince Edward Island, leaving British Columbia and the Maritime

Provinces of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick for the subject of a future enquiry-
One hundred and seventy-five replies have been received containing facts of great
importance t intending immigrants. These have been carefully classified and.
appended to the Report of Your Committee.

The Committee have also appended to their Report a letter from Mr. Phipps,
Indian Land Agent and visiting- Superintendent of Manitoulin Island. This letter
gives a description of the nature of the soil, climate, crops and the advantages
effered by that Island to settlers.

From the Algoma District the Committee have received letters from the&
President and Secretary of the Agricultural Society, descriptive of that District and.
eMplaining the terms of settlement within it. Also giving a description of the

ineral resources. These letters are appended to the Report.

A letter addressed to Mr..Cimon, M.P., from the Rev.Father Raoine, as b e
gbmitted to the Committee and is appended to the 'Report, herewith. This letter-
gme a imost interèsting description of what is called "the kingdomof the Saguenay;"
mialso contains some extracts from the Reportof uon.,;mr. De Bouchervili, th
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Premier and Commissioner of Public Works, for the Province of Quebec, giving

information of much value, respecting the adaptability and successful settlement of

the lands bordering on Lake St. John and the Upper Saguenay Districta.
Letters from Messrs. John F. Day and John Bowker are herewith appended,

together with a Report prepared by a Select Committe'e of the County Couaeil of
Hastings, relative to the advantages to settlers ofered by that county.

On the subject of the mines and mineral operations on the shores of Iake
Superior, some interesting information was furnished to the Committee by Mr. Henry
Pilgrim, of Sault St. Marie, a copy of which is appended to this Report.

Col. TJennis, Surveyor General, gave ytur Committee some valuable information
respecting the Province of Manitoba and the manner in which it has been set, apart
for settlement. I1i& evidence shews the number of acres in that Province for School
Road and Railway puiposes, and also the number of acres belonging to the Hudson
Bay Co., and the Half-Breed Reserve. It also contains information respecting the
Scrip issued to the Mounted Police and Half-Breeds.

Your Committee cannot close their Report without acknowledging the valuahle
information and assistance received from Mr. Lowe, the Secretary of the Depoatent
of Agriculture.

JAMES TROW,
Chairman.

COMMITTEE 1oom,
Housz or COMMONS,

OTTAWA, 18ti April, 1877.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCEK

FRiDAY, 2nd March, 1877.

MR. LOWE, SECRETARY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE.

OPERATIONS oF DEPARTMENT - IMMIORATION TO CANADA -EXPENDITURE - ToE
MEAT TRADE.

Mr. JorN LowE, Secretary of the Department of Agriculture, appearea befie
the Committee.

By the C/udrman:-

Q. Can you state to the Committeo the immigration of 1876, defining the settlers
in Canada from the passengers through it ?-The total number of settlers in Canada
in 1876, as reported by the agents of the Department, w as 25,633, and the number of
immigrant passengers for the Western States 10,916, making a total of 36,549.

Q. How do these figures compare with those of the previous year, and 1873 and
1874. stating the decline per cent. ?-I can best answer this question by reading the
following tabulated statement which I have prepared

1873................................. 50,0504 Decrease per cent.

1874................................. 39,373 ............... 21-33 from 1873.
1875................................. 27,382 ............... 30-20 from 1874.
1876................................. 25,633 ............... 6-38 from 1875.

Q. Can you give the Committee the figures of the emigration from Great Britain
during the same years, stating the increase or decrease per cent. ?-The total emigra-
tion from Great Britain, including foreigners, in these years was:-

In 1873........................... 310,612 Decrease per cent.

1874........................... 241,014 ............... 22·40 from 1873.
1875........................... 173,809 ............... 27-92 from 1874.
1876.......................... 138,222 ............... 20-47 from 1875.

Q. Can you inform the Cominittce wbat was the immigration to the United
States in the same years, giving the increase and decrease per cent. ?-The immigra-
tion into the United States was:-

In 1873........................ .. 459,804 Decrease per cent.

1874........................... 313,339 ............... 31-84 from 1873.
1875........ .................. 228,498 ............... 27-07 from 1874.
1876........................... 169,886 ............... 25-65 from 1875.
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Q. Can you inform the Committee what are the causes of this decline ?-The
first serious check to the immigration to this continent commenced with the com-
mercial and industrial crisis whioh broke out in the United States in 1873. Bad
accounts, written in many thousands of letters, were sent home to the United
Kingdom, from immigrants, and they produced such an effect that very few emigrants
could be induced to go to America in 1874. Canada and the United States appear to
be very much mixed up in the minds of large masses in the United Kingdom, the
word " America " covering both. The consequence was that we should have had
very few immigrants in 1874 had it not been for the special inducements held out to
the class of agricultural labourers and their families by the Special Dominion £2 5s.
Passenger Warrants and the Ontario bonus of $6, which was allowed in further
reduction of passage, the Agents of the Dominion working in connection with the
Labourers' Trade Unions.

Q. Can you inform the Committee what class of immigi ants came to this country
last year ?-The large majority of all the immigrants who came from the United
Kingdom were agricultural labourers. Very few of the artisan or mechanic class
came from beyond the sea. This class was, in fact, dissuaded from coming, in view
of the depressed condition of industrial enterprise.

Q. Are there any grounds for a rumour that appears prevalent throughout the
Province of Ontario that a large proportion of those out of employment are immigrants
xecently come to the country ?-lt may be stated, with positiveness, that all the
agricultural labourers who came to this country found immediate employment, and
two or three agents in the Province of Ontario have reported that the demand for
this species of labour was not satisfied. The engagements in the western parts of
Ontario have ger'erally been made for the summer months at higher wages than
engagements by the year, but there is work which labourers can find in the country
in the winter, at lower wages than the exceptional summer rates. I may state
generally, with confidence, that the immigrant agrieultural labourers who have gone
into the country and been willing to work, bave done well. The distress which has
existed has been among artizans, mechanics and labourers in towns, in consequence,
as I have stated, of the industrial and commercial depression. Very few immigrants.
of the mechanie class have immigrated to this country from Europe for the last three
years, but I believe that large numbers have come in from the United States, where,
I think, from the published accounts, the distress in towns has been much more'severe
than in Canada.

Q. Was there any attempt made to introduce the immigration of tenant farmers,
as suggested by the Committee last year ?-Yes; serious attempts have been made,
and are still continued. There is reason to believe that changes in the mode of
leasing in all the three kingdoms have thrown, and are throwing, very large numbers
of tenant farmers out of their holdings, and it is thought this is a class of settlers
very desirable to secure. Information bas been diffused among them at the great
cattle fairs, by means of special pamphlets on stock raising in Canada, which subject
has excited great interest, especially in view of the now demonstrated fact that fresh
meat may be taken from Canada and sold with profit in the markets of the United
Kingdom, not only without deterioration but rather in an improved condition, by
being carried in a cold dessicated atmosphere, and, after arrival, it may, by the same
means, be kept for months in perfect condition. The butchers have, in fact, decided
that Canadian meat thus carried and kept is equal to the hest Scotch beef, which
appears to be the highest standard. This fact being established, there is almost no,
limit to the amount of this trade from Canada, and it has led to interested inquiry
respecting Canada by the tenant-farmer claes; while, on the other hand, it has-
already seriously affected the cattle-raising interest throughout the whole of the
United Kingdom, but especially in Ireland. Large preparations are made for
oarrying on this trade, and joint stock companies have been formed. The railways-
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.Are being fitted up with special receptacles for reeeiving the 'Mot from shipboard,
:and spemal cars to carry it, while in London very extensive vaalts have been pre-
purd for the receiving and storage of this meat. The agents hav,.taken pains to
prmeSnt thèse facts, and the advantages offered by Canada in relation to them, to the
,iana of tenant-farmers. There is a question if America wili not take the place
which Ireland has oceupied towards England for market supplies of meat. The
JAverpool Agent of the Department, Mr. Dyke, who was the first to initiate this trade,
points out that it may be profitably extended both to poultry and eggs, very largo

-values of both being imported into England.

Q What was the immigration expenditure of 1876 ?-The total e_ pnditure for
immigration in that year, including all establishments in Canada and Europe, was
*284,065.

Q. Do you include quarantine and public health in these figures ?-No. The
.expenditure for these services in 1876 was $25,473; but they are quite distinct froma
immigration, and, if there were no immigration, would be almost equally necessary.
-Such services are maintained in countries to which there is no immigration.

Q. Can you state how much was spent in passenger warrants and commissions
how much for agents, how much for the London office, and how mach for special
immigration, such as the Icelanders and Mennonites ?-The figures were, in 1876:-

Passenger Warrants and Commissions....... ............ $64,063
Agents' salaries and expenses in Europe .............. ....... 51,935
London Office ......................................................... 20,054
M ennonites...... .............................. ..................... 19,290 '
Icelanders ........... .............-................. .. 52,382

'There was also a special extra item included in the total figures I gave, of $25,000
for the Dufferin Buildings, taken over from the Boundary Commission and charged
in the Immigration expenditure of the year. This was, of course, simply money
transferred from one Government account to another, the expenditure having been
previously incurred; but the buildings are useful, and, in fact, necessary för the largely
increasing numbers of immigrants entering the Province of Manitoba at that point.

Q. How do these several expenses compare with former years, say since 1872 f
-The total expenses since 1872 were:

1872 .......................... ....................................... 196,124
1873..................... ............................................. 304,00
1874 ................................................................... 251 120
1875 ................................................................... 296,692
1876 ...................... ............................................ 1 52,013

T!he Department did pay out in 1876, $284,065;,- but it obtained refands from the
Ontario and Quebec Governments to the amount of 832,052, making the net total
expenditure $252,013.

The years 1873 and 1874 in the above figures, include the $70,000 paid to the Pro-
vinces in those years for promoting immigration. Such payments, although not admin-
istered by the Department, were made through it for the service of immigration; and
by an arrangement at the Immigration Conference of 1874, to which the Goverments
of Quebec, Ontario, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick were ies, the Provinces
withdrew their agents from the United Kingdom, leaving to tfw Dominian the entfra
day of immigration propagandism.
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The Passenger Warrants and Commissions during the same years were:-

1872 .................................. $17,941
1873................................................. ......... 53,286
1874 .......................................................... 66,943
1875 ................................................... ...... 67,026
1876 .......................................................... 64,063

For European agents' salaries and expenses:-

1872 .......................................................... $40,428
1873 .......................................................... 7 0,487
1874 ........ ................................................. 60,453
1875 .......................................................... 61,450
1876 ............................................ ............. 51,935

For London office

1872 ............. ................................. $9,439
1873 .......................................................... 14,246
1874. ..................... . . ............. ...... .... 21,682
1875 ..................................................... .... 48,538
1876 .............. ........................................... 20,054

The refunds for the Provinces amounting to $9,500 are to be deducted from the
last item of $20,05 1, making a net cost $10,554 for the London Office.

Q. Have the reductions as proposed by the Order in Council of December, 1875,
for the reorganization of the bondon office, been effected, and what changes have
taken place ?-That Order in Council was put into effect at the beginning of the year
and'Mr. Jenkins, M.P., declining to take the simple title of Canadian Emigration
Agent, with the rank of first class clerk in the Civil Service, as prescribed by that
Order, and a reduced establishment, resigned; and the office was placed in charge of
Mr. F. J. Dore, an officer of the Department of Agriculture. The reductions of
expenditure proposed by that Order in Council have been made, but the expenditure
of 1875 necessarily overlapped a portion of 1876.

Q. Please state the per capita cost of immigrants since 1872, year by year ?-
Taking the entire expenses of immigration in Europe and America, and including the
cost of all permanent establishments, the per capita cost to the Dominion Govern-
ment (not including the amounts paid by the Provinces) on the numbers of immi-
grants reported by the agents to have settled in Canada was-

In 1872............................................................. $5 51
1873............................................................. 6 07
1874...............................................,............. 6 37
1875............................................................. 10 83
1876............................................................. 9 83

The per capita cost of the special immigration of Mennonites and Icelanders in
1876 was $28.51.

If this special immigration and the item for the Dufferin Buildings were taken«
from the expenditure of 1876, it would leave the per capita cost $6.48.

Q. Can you inform the Committee of the nature of the efforts and amount of
expenses incurred to promote immigration by the United States or the Austrian
Colonies ?-The Government of the United States does not make direct propagandism.
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by agents and pamphlets, althoughsoimeo ftepublications of tbe -Bureau of Staties.
have been specially adapted and direoted to promote immigration, nud the Cohsular
Agents are to a great extent Immigration agents. But the large Enflway and Land
Companies bave made very active propagandism, maintainng expensive oMces
abroad, and issuing numerous publications iu almost every form. These publications.
have fairly loodôd the immigration market. Material aid as also been advanced to.
aist settlers to the lands, which are sold as high as $5 an acre or more. A lien being

taken on the land for security of the advances. The Northern Paciflc Railway is now
advertising free fares for immigrants and their .efects tosettle on ita landa. As respects
théef 60rta of the Australian Colonies, South Australia, with its limited population of
a 00,000, voted in 1875 for immigration $500,000, employing 250 agents and
iving mnaterial aid to immigrants. The Colony of New Zealand, with a white

population of 391,856, has incurred a debt of £1,113,000 sterling, or in round numbers
$6,565,000, for the purpose of immigration, its efforts in this respect extending over the
years I have referred to since 1872. It gives an aid of $100 towards the passage and
outfit of each immigrant, its agents having competed with ours at every st ep and in
*very place. In 1874 the emigration from the United Kingdom to New Zealand
reached the total number of 36,019 souls. The extent and persistence of these rival
efforts have been naturally an impediment to the succes of the- efforts made on behalf-
of Canada.

Q. Was there an inspection made of the cbildren brought to this country by
Miss Rye and Miss Macpherson, as suggested by the Committee on Immigration and
COionization, during the last Session of Parliament, in relation to Mr. Doyle's report?'
-es; such inspection *as made under authority of an Order in Council, the Inspec-
tors being experienced Immigration Agents of the Department, viz., Messrs. Donald-
son, Wills and Macpherson for the Provinces of Ontario and Quebec, and Mr. Clay
4or thé Maritime Provinces. It was considered that the experience of these agents
would enable them to judge as to the position and condition of the children. They
made a honse-to-house visitation. The result of the inspection was, that with very
ittle exception, they found the children well placed and doing well, with good

prospects before them. The exceptions were not of an importance to affect this
general statement, or the fact that this immigration has been on the whole beneficial
to the children and of advantage to the country.

By Mr. Little

Q. Is it correct that the sum appropriated for immigration was partly expended
in transporting immigrants from our country, and, if so, what was the amount thus
xe nded, and the number of persons who left the Dominion, thus assisted, in 1876,

-tu what foreigu country were they forwarded to?-It is true that about 230 French
immigrants were assisted to return from Montreal to France during the last fall, at
an expense of something over $5,000.

Q. How long had these immigrants been in the country, and for what reason
were they assisted to be sent back ?-The rule of the Department is that immigrants
who have not been over one year in the oountry, are, in some measure, under the-
care of the Department; and if it has been fou-nd, after they have come to the.
.ountry, that, from illness or bodily infirmity, they have been unable to get thoir
lirUg, they have been sent back, as the simplest and cheapest mode of dea, with
them. All eountries which receive large numbers of immigrants natually ado t a
'me of th nature; andI nctice in the eport of the NXè York Immigration m-
missioners, very eonuidei-ble sins for a ervice of thi kind, even in prosperous
years. The rule of one year's residenee was not made an absolute one in tbe case of
lh.s. PrOnch immigrants, bat al these who were aided produoed eertificates of sick-
»es and absolute incapacity to gain a living in Canada. The Department, therefore,

lt with the fact of the ai1mea and panerisim. A tendeicy to abus, however



inanifested itself, and the aid was stopped. The French Benevolent Soeiety of
Montreal asisted a consideraie number of these people to go back.

By the Ciairmaa
Q. Do you consider itadvisableto encourage the immigration, during the omiIng

season, of agricultural labourera and female domestic servants, and are yon of oinion
that immigrants of this clase could readily 3ind employment in the Provinces .- I
have no doubt that as many, or, in fact, more, agricultural labourers than weshall be
likely to obtain, would be able to fld employment during the coming season. It ls
doubtful if we shall be able to obtain many of this class of immigrants without special.
aid. I may make the same remarks with repect to the female domestic srvante,
and, further, that wages for servants of a good class are now probably quite as highin
the mother country as in the Dominin. They will not, therefore, come i:1 any large
numbers without some special indueement.

By .Mr. Bain
Q. Has the attention of the agents of our Immigration Department ben drawn

to the necessity of reaching the tenant-farmers of Great Britain, and what mes
have been taken to reach them rather than the population of the great commercial
centres ?-I have already stated that special efforts have been made .to reaeb the
class of tenant-farmers, and the efforts of the agents have scarcely been at all directed
to the populations of the commercial centres as such. The occasions offairs in to*wns,
have, however, been found very convenient to reach the class of farmers, and it l in
fact difficult to get meetings of farmers except upon such opporturiities. The efforts
of the agents are mainly directed to reach this class, agricultural labourers and
persons with small capital. The mechanic and artizan class is not only not now
invited, but, during the depression, has been dissuaded from coming.

WEDNESDAY, 14th March, 18.

Ma. LESAGE'S, ASSSISTANT COMMTSSIONER OF AGRICULTURE, QUIEMM

CÂABILITIES OF PROVINCE oF QuEBEc As A FIELD FOR IMMIGRATION.

Mr. SIMEoN LEsAGE appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman:
Q. Will you state your name, residence, and official position ?-Simeon Lesage,

Assistant Commissioner of Agriculture and Public Works, Quebec.

Q. Can, in your opinion, the Province of Quebee absorb many immigrant. and
if so of what clas ?-The Province of Quebec has room for a large number of imin-1-
grants, but I would not recommend any other elasm than agricultural immigrants who
have means to settle on our wild lands. I think that the labouring class nerlly
is not much wanted in the Province of Quebec, if at all; that is, the day abonrr.
With the exception of a few applications for female servant, I might say that w&
have hardly.any applications from country districts for farm labourers; and, as a
general rule, they do not seem to be well adapted for the icular kind of work4th"-
is going on on our farms--at lest it takes a year or two bore they can master their
work and get fully posted as to what they have to do.

Does your Province present inducements ihr the Immizration of men having
no capital but their labour, but are content to remain more laourers until thel isy
up snmcient capital to commence on Qàeir own accoutI would not gg into> *Ït
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very fally, but I kno .v of many instances of immigrants coming out here without
any thirg at all hardly, who have done romarkably well. I have remarked several
instances of men coming out here with a good deal of capital who spent it in no time
without any practical resutlt, whereas men with a few dollars would go right into the
bush and succeed remarkably well. We have an instance in the township of Suffolk

/of a Belgian colony. There are about twenty families altogether. They came out
here in 1872, I believe. There are two or three families from France also with them.
They had no money at all, but they were well provided with clothing.
We had to provide a heuse to receive them when they arrived, and there were a few
camps built also. We hired six men to help them in building up their log houses
and making a small beginning of a clearance on each lot for every family, with the
understanding that those who would not help our mon would not partake in the
benefit of the clearing and the building of the log house. They came early in April,
and they were able to plant some potatoes and sow some barley and some wheat; and
after they had put in their crop they went to work on the Grenville Canal and spent
all the summer there, while their wives were finishing up the clearances, and in the
fall they had a pretty good crop; and with the money they had earned during the
summer they were able to go on working on their farms, clearing their lots, and in
the spring of 1873 they had sufficient land cleared and ready for sowing to keep up
their families. In two years they achieved that, and now these farmers are, I might
say, as well to do as any of our old farmers. These people have such an idea of the
importance of manuring land that they began manuring even as soon as they began
clearing their lots. Each family bought a cow, and they used to go into the bush
and gather dry leaves to put under their cows, and they would mix that up, and in the
spring they would have heaps of manure. Of course there was no need for that, but
they said they ii anted a sufficiency of manure medicine to keep their lands in good
health. Year after year ono or two families have joined them, and I think it would
not be over.estimating their number to say that there are now at least twenty-five
families altogether in the township ofSuffolk. In that case, and I believe in every
case, while you will get agricultural settlers you must be. prepared to give some
assistance. There is no possibility in my opinion, of establishing European
settlers without coming to their rescue.

By Mr. Jones (Led);-
Q. If they have no means ?-I would not shut the door indiscriminately against

those who havq io means if they show good dispositions; I think there are some
immigrants without means who are as good as if they had two or three hundred or
even a thousand dollars.

By the Chairman:-

Q. What are the average monthly wages for farm labourers and female domestic
servants, and what is the demand for persons of that class ?-There is hardly any
demand now for farn labourers. There is a great cry in the city for female servar2ts.
The average rate of wages for farm labourers is from eight to twelve dollars per
month if hired by the year, and they will get as much as sixteen and sometimes
twenty dollars for the spring work or for the harvest.

By Mr. Jones:-
Q. And found ?-And board, of course. Board is included in both cases.

By the Chaî'irman:

Q Can you inform the Committee of the extent of wild land suitable for
ettlemnent in the Province of Quebec ?-The surveyed lands in the Province of

Quebec ready to be scttled upon-the number of acres in round numbers, I believe,
is six millions.
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By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. You have plenty more to sub-divide ?-I think we have nineteen sailliou

enore.
Q. Can you tell what proportion of that is suitable for settlemen t4-

deast four-fifths.
Q. Eighty per cent.-as high as that ?-Well, that is, perhaps, going j ro , fio

including rivers and lakes.
By Mr. White (Hastings):-

Q. About sixty per cent. of it ?-Yes, at least. They have never swrved
where the land was absolutely unfit for settlement.

By Mr. Hagar:
When they undertake to survey a block I suppose they take in a township ?-

Tes, sir.
By Mr. Jones

Q. I think it would be well for him to state, if he could, what description of
land it is, whether it is for agricultural p arposes-four-fifths of that--or for lambering
purposes ?-Some of our surveyed lands are actually .under licenses, and of course
the license holders take good care to cut all the valuable timber they can out;
because if a lot is under location ticket during the year, they have no more right t&
cut timber on it at the expiration of the year. In May, I believe, of each year here
is a renewal of all the licenses, and every lot which has been ticketed daring the
year is then taken off the license list.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. Is a large proportion of that land pine timber land ?-I do not think there ià

much pine left in the districts surveyed into farm lots.
By Mr. White (IHastings):

Q. I understand the G-overnment selected different districts and surveyed them
for settlement, and that out of this five millions of acres you believe there is'aixty
per cent. fit for settlement ?-Yes, sir. The pine timber has boen more or lesa
exhausted on all the watercoarses. Wherever it was easy of access the lumbermen
Lave taken good care not to leave much of it behind their shantymen; there is
still a good deal of spruce on the lands that have not been disposod of but are
-surveyed, and the settiers have also kept on every lot a good provision of standi
timber fit for building purposes that they are disposed to sell whenever a
.opportunity offers; and I understand that, this year, in the Province of Quebeo
anostly all the lumbering operations are carried on on that principle.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :
Q. Do you mean in the whole Province of Quebec ?-No, I mean on the lands

surveyed for settlement. I am speaking chiefly of the St. Maurice and Sagaenay
districts and some parts of the eastern townships. Lumbermen did not think proper
to risk as much money as usual in lumbering operations this year, so they have give*
contracts to the settlers for logs at so much per thousand feet.

Q. Do you consider it advantageous to the Province or to the country that set4es
enent should be forced into those lumber districts ?-Not at all. And measures have
been adopted by the Quebec Government in order to protect lumbering interests
against untimely interference of settlers. If, on the other hand, a settler has reason
to complain of encroachments by lumbermen, ho will find redress at the hands of
Crown Lands Agents. We have not, as yet, conducted our wild land affaire as they
should have bees conducted. I think we do not take sufficient care of them, in 1ot,
we have no system about them. If we attached half the importance that
they do in Europe to timber lands, certainly we would take great care of them-and
see that the timber that is eut down in certain districts is replaced every year 4M.
that the standing timber is protected. Of late there has been a move in the t
<irection in Quebec, viz., extending the leases of timber limite to a period of tw.ieby
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ears. Limit holders are thus interested in preserving the timber as long as they-
ve to pay their ground-rent, and they conduct their operations pretty much in the-

aame way as they would do on their own propery.
By the Chairman:

Q. Can you furnish the Committee with information r ting the country
about Lake St. John and St. Maurice to give the Committee an idea
ef the importance of those respective districts for settlement on an extensive scale?
- could not furnish much information except of a general character about the St.
Maurice territory, because my travels in St. Maurice district have been very limited ;
but I know the Lake St. John district very well. Sinoe 1867, when I was appointed
Assistant-Commissioner in the Public Works Department, I have had charge of the
Colonization department, and I have found, after visiting the Saguenay and several
other parts of the Province, that upon the whole the Saguenay district is the best;
settling district that we have by far. There are some inconveniences, but I believe
that before long the Saguenay district will prove to be the best part of the Province
of Quebec, if not of the Dominion of Canada.

By -Mr. White (Renfrew) :-
Q. Is not that a lumber district aliso ?-Yes.
Q. But there is clearly defined agricultural land ?-Well, there has been fine

timber cnt on the settling lands also. From the reports of the old settlers I under-
stand that the best timber was to be found around Lake St. John.

Q. On the best land ?-Yes. There you will find the elm as big nearly as you
will find the pine trees.

Q. Then your policy would be first to allow the timber to be cut away ?-To be&
cut away, and then call in the settler.

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. Is the land back of Lake St. John as good ?-Yes, of good quality.

By Mr. Pouliot:-
Q. Is there any part of the Province that offers more advantages for

settlers at present ?-I speak of course of the soil in the Saguenay district when I say-
that that is the best part of the Province to settle in. Intrinsically it is the best part
for agricultural purposes, but the means of communication is against it. We have
several other districts where settlement is more easy; along the Intercolonial Rail-
way, for instance, there are very large tracts of splendid land, such as in the county
of Rimouski, the county of Temiscouata, and the county of Bonaventure. And I
would mention Bonaventure especially, because the county of Bonaventure goes in
behind Rimouski nearly as far as Temiscouata.

By Air. White (Renfrew):-
Q. How is it with reference to the climate at Lake St. John-what is the length of

the winter, I mean to say as compared with the summer ?-I could not give an exact
report as to the state of the thermometer at Lake St. John; but all reports go to show
that the climate is much milder at Lake St. John and Chicoutimi than it is in Quebec.
It would seem to me that it is more like that of Montt eal than that of Quebec. Of
course the Laurentian chain might be the cause of that; because as soon as you have
passed the height of land you find at once a difference; there is not so much snow on
the north side of the Laurentian as there is on the south side.

Q. I understand that; but my impressson was that although the snowfall was
not s0 great the cold was more intense ?-No, Sir, it is not the case.lThere spring
generally begins at least two weeks and sometimes three weeksibefore we have it in
iuebec.

Q. What is the distance from the nearest market at Lake St. John ?-The
nearest market for the Lake St. John settlers would be Chicoutimi.

Q. But that is a very limited market?-It is a very limited market. At the
prsent time they have a surplus of wheat in the upper Saguenay district which they
"ve to carry to Chicoutimi, a distance of sixty miles for those who are the nearest
te Chicoutig and a distance of u w of a hundred miles for those



zat the uprr settlements; aud they only get one dollar a bushel for their wheat, and
that the st wheat that can be found in thanadas.

Q. And I suppose they can only travel over these roads in winter timef..-o;
the roads are good in summer as well as in winter from the upper end of Ha-Ma Bay
to Lake St. John settlements, whieh is 105 miles. The road is turnpiked. -t à
gravelled in the worst parts and the rest is very easy to keep ap. It was weR
made at first and the habitants take great care in keeping it up. But there la n
intermediate space of Ind unfit for settlement along Kinogamie Lake, aa for a
.distance of twenty fo4f miles of rocky space we had to build a very expensiverod
;there. There are two good parishes, one St. Alphonse and the other Le Grand Braiéd,
.and then you come to that barren country ; it is about thirty miles lot)g *âd we
have to keep up the road. We have a toll-gate thero and they have to pay ten eents
for every vehicle that passes ; but they do not gramble at it. There are oùl a few
settlers· along the roal. There is a patch of good land here and there, lut
-enough to make a settlement which would warrant the maintenance of the ired;
^That is the only road that is maintained under orders from the Departmnatr; the
rest are kept up by the municipalities themselv >s. I was saying that they have
that distance to go over to get one dollar per bashel for the fincst wheat that eau be
seen.

By Mr. Bagar:
Q. I suppose that is altogether spring wheat?-Some farmers at the upper Snd

-of Lake St. John have tried fall wheat and they have doue well. Mr. Price's ihrnnr
told me ho thought fall wheat would do very well in the Upper Saguenay.

By Mr. White:-
Q. In the newer settlements, I suppose, where they are just clearing ?-Yes
Q. Where the land is protected ?-Yes.
Q. Do you know what is the average number of bushels of wheat to the acre ?-

X could not exactly say, but I believe their average per bashel of seed is aboat
fifteen; it is hardly lower than fifteen; very often it exceels that. The depth of the
clay in the Lake St. John region is something remarkable. Those who have only
gone as far as Ha-ha Bay know nothing about the Saguenay region because of tho
Tocky borders of the river and bay. Even if you go by the river to Chicoutimi you
do not know what the country is. But if you take the land route from St. Alphons.
to go to Chicoutimi, a distance of twelve miles, there you will fini ravines and
gullies I suppose 150 feet doep, anI nothing but elay from top to bottome. Sir
William Logan and Mr. Robinson, I believe, have explored the Sauenay reglon fbr
the geological department; and they expressed thoir opinion that there is nowhere
to be found such a depth of alluvial soil-af clay-and under this there is a stratuu
of limestone all over. In fact the bottom of Lake St. John is nothing but limuestou%
and on the western side there is nothing but limestone on the edges of the lake.

By Mr. White, (Renfrew)
Q. Daes it crop up to the surface ?-Some places it does.

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Does the - Laurentian formation disappear in the east; is it a limest.m.

formation there ?-It is limestone; but you see granite cropping up there.

By the Chairman
'Q. What colour is the clay ?-It is blaish grey.

By Mr. White
Q. Terre Grise ?-Yes, Terre Grise, and there is a fair admixture of sand whidl

inakes it friable, it is loamy. It is quite friable at every season of the year. Th&
farmera there do not suffer from protractel droaghts or protracted raina.
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By Mr. iHagar:-
Q. It does not pack then ?-Not at all; I have seenthem ploughing -with on&

horse, and someti mes a horse and an ox-that is ail; of course they preler using a
pair of horses when they can afford it.

By the Chairman:
Q. It cannot be very stiff clay then ?-It is not stiff at all, it is like yellow loam.

By Mr. Hagar:
Q. R is not necessary to plough in the fall to let the frost at it?-No; but they-

fid it a great advantage to plough in the fall. Up to a year or two ago when the
lumbering operations nearly stopped, they used to go in for lumbering. Nearly every
farmer used to go and spend the winter in the Messrs. Price's establishments at the,
head of the rivers emptying into Lake St. John, and that caused many of them toý
meglect the work of their farms. But during the last couple of years the lumbering
operations havingdiminished, they have had to stay to.work on their farms; and I have
found in one parish that last year alone the increase of cleared land under crop was
1,300 acres. and the party who was telling me that thought if it had not been that the
lumbering operations had ceased, it would not have been more than one-fourth of that.
The example of that parish has certainly been followed nearly ail over the Saguenay.
In the year 1870 there was a great fire extending from the head of Lake St. John to
Ha-IHa Bay, a distance of upwards of a 100 miles. It occurred on the 19th of May ;
nearly all the crops were in at the time and they had to put in their crops again after
the fire had passed-they had to begin over again. All the crops were destroyed,
their houses were destroyed, and two-thirds of their cattle were destroyed by the fire>
In the majority of the parishes there were but a few houses and barns left.

Q. Did the fire run on the cleared land ?-Yes.
Q. There must have been a vegetable deposit on it then ?-There was not a vege-

table deposit. but the heat was so intense that whatever tiniber there was took tire
snd spread the heat on the soil and everything got into ashes. All that was fit to burn
was burned out. It caught at the head of Lake St. John in a new settlement; it was
s dry season and the fire was carried by strong wind from one end of the district to,
the other. The following figures, taken from the census of Canada, will show the-im-
portance of the Saguenay region:

ETATTeTIcs of the Lake St. John District, from the Census of'
Lands Department Returns:-

Canada, and from Crowrb

COUNTY OF CHIcOUTIMI. 1861.

Population of County................................... 10,478
two of the Townships on the Lake,

(Labarre and Roberval), as an illustration
as to where the gain has been................... 544

Bushels of Wheat raised.............................. 10,912
Oats " ............... ................ 39,316
Barley " ................................ 39,922

" Potatoes'" ................................ 101,382
'Tons of Iay.......... .... ,.............. 3,648
Pounds of Butter...............à.......................... 61,777
Bead of Live Stock..................................... 18,746
Acres ofLand under cultivation...................... 40,415

il

1871.

17,493

5,644
136,099
117,249

71,210
156,996

5,966
148,106
44,172
87,345

Percentage
of

increase.

938
1,14Y

198
78~
55.
63-

140-
139
116
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WNT raised in the County as eompared with the best Agricultural Districts in the
Eastern Townships and Ontario.

I ])xriiii~. Population.
COUNTv. DisTRICT. 1outo.

Chicoutimi................... Lake St. John............ 17,493
Compton .................... Eatern Townships .. .. 13,665
Stanstead ................... " " . 13,138
Hluntingdon ................ " 16,304
Simcoe, (the greatest wheat growing County in

Ontario).............. ................................ 57,389
Muskoka, (the celebrated new district to which

Ontario is directing ber immigration, and,
into which she is building several lines of
railway-nne of them heavily subsidized by
the City of Toronto) .............................. 5,400

Bushe~ of Per 1,000
Wheat of
raised, 1poipulation.

136,099 f ,8
24,359 .21583
27,679
40,683 2,495

509,965: 8,88à

4,631 858

Those figures, however good they may look, are not a fair estimate of the yield
in the Saguenay district.

By -Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. Owing to the fire ?- Yes; of course, their cattle having been destroyed, they

bave not yet been able to get over the deficiency.
By the Chairman:

Q. It will throw them back a couple of years ?-Yes, it did.
Q. What is the character of the intervening country between the settled portions

of the country and the valley of the St. John ?-It is very poor. There is a tract of
land of near ninety miles in breadth between Quebec and Lake St. John-or rather, I
might say, seventy miles-seventy miles at least that is not fit for settiement. It is
Laurentian formation altogether. The timber on the highlands is not very good
except for fuel. You will find in the valleys and along the watercourses some good
plots of merchantable timber; but the bulk of the timber is more fit for firewood
than for lumbering purposes.

Q. Will the obstructions you refer to prevent a continuous settlement? -'No, Sir.
Q. Are there minerals in that intervening part ?-Yes, sir.
Q. Of what description ?-There is titanic ore, and they talk of marble. There

has been a quarry of fine white marble discovered lately in the parish of St. Joachim,
cou nty of Montmorency. It is very easy of access; it is only a few acres from the
S#. Lawrence-only about twenty acres I believe. The quarry belongs to the gentle-
men of the Seminary in Quebec, and there is sonie talk of them offering the G6vern-
meint of Quebec all the marble required for the building of their Public Departments
for the price they will have to pay for the stone if they get it. I have met several
ien versed in mineralogy who have trav&lled all over that district, and, in genera

words, they have expressed their opinion that it is more valuable for its rieuc m
minerals than perhaps the rest of the Province. As to that I cannot give any personal
opinion.

By Mr. Cockburn
Q. Is it undeveloped yet ?-Yes, it is undeveloped; and I might say in referenee

to this, that the Quebec Government is in treaty with a gentleman of very high
attain ments in France, a mineralogist-in the meantime a metallurgist-oig him
a good position in Quebec in connection with the Crown Lande I>eprtmeti4 toget
him to lecture in Montreal and Quebec and wherever it would be found posA iile
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during the winter, and spend the snmmer in expcering the uusurveyed of the
Province, so as to come to a precise knowledge of the mineral wealth of e Province.

By the chairman.;
Q. Is the valley of Lake St. John surrounded by a chain of lofty mountains ?-

Yes; it is to the north-east and to the north. The mountains to the uorth are not so
high as they are to the north-east. We percoive that by the prevailing winds in that
district. The north-easterly wind is altogother unknown in that part of the country.

. Q. I suppose you account for the climate being so much milder in that district
*n account of the mou ntairis surrounding it ?-Yes, sir; bocauso it is sheltered. There
is a kind of depression of the soil ail aroind Lake St. John.

Q. Something of a basin ?-Yes.
Q. Could you give any estimate of the land fit for cultivation in that district ?-

I would not be very precise as to that; but the settlements that are now under culti-
vation are not very thickly populated. There is room for four times the population
in the parishes that are settled now; and beyond the present settlements, there are
available lands of fine quality for as many more. This I coniider to be a moderato
estimate of tue importance of the Saguenay region.

Q. What amount of land does each head of a family generally have ?-The
average would be 100 acres; but it is a hobby with all of them to have as large
amounts as they can get title for.

By Jfr. Aylmer:-
Q. Is it not a difficulty that the wild lands are taken up and the settlement duties

not performed ?-Yes.
By Mr. Cockburn

Q. Can you cancel them if the settlement duties are not performedl-
Yes; but you have no idea of the difficulty the Government has to cancel lot.
Yon would have the members' friends-sometimes the member himself-oomiag and
saying it should not be done.

By Mr. Little:-
Q. Did I understand fron yon that the lands for cancellation come under the

Free Grant System ?-No, sir; the price of these lands is twenty cents an acre only.
Q. Subject to settlement duties?-Yes, sir; I ought to have mentioned in the

beginning when I said that agricultural settlers as a rule should not be asked to come
here without the Provincial Governments or the Dominion Government being pro-
pared to do somcthing for them -to make preparation for them- that the Legislature
of Quebec in the year 1875, passed a law to reserve a certain tract of land, wherever
it would be found profitable to do so, to try the colony system, and we have tried it
in the Eastern Townships.

By the Chairan . -

Q. Free gran ts ?-They are not free grants; the land there is sold for sixty cents
an acre; it is very good land; it is in fact the beat part of'the Province for settiment,
on account of the lcilities of communication.

Q. What part is that ?-The county of Compton. In that connty we have taken
three townships, Ditton, Cheshama and Emberton, and there we have invited European
immigrants, Canadians returning from the States, and reaidents.

By Mr. Cockburn :-
Q. That is the county selected for the homes of the repatriated ?-Yes; they

would pay their location tickets before getting their lots; but the Government was
bound to advance them a sum of $140 dollars after they had cleared four acres of
land ready for sowing and built a house 16 x 12, but well finished. They were
allowed fifteen dollars an acre for their clearance and eighty dollars for their houe,
making altogether $140; and they had to pay back to the Government the $140
advanced them, and the sixty cents per acre for their lot of 100 acres wbich was sixty
dollars, making altogether $200. They have to disburse' twelve dollars when they
take their location ticket; they pay twelve dollars a year until they have paid up for
the ground; and then they have five years more to reimburse the Government for
the$140 advanced.
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SBy Mfr. Jonme:
Q. That is théy have tén years altogethei?-Ten years; but they have te poy

mo interest on the money advanced.
By Mr. Hagar

Q. But there is interest on the land?-There is. That could not very weitlb
taken of because it would make a difference with the rest of the settling 1a*u.

By Mr. dLittk-*
Q. The price of the land is sixty cents an acre ?-The price of the land lb dy

-cents in the Eastern Townships, and twenty cents in the Saguenay district.
The Committee adjourned.

TauRsDAT, 15th March, 181.

Mr. SimÉoN LEsAGE again appeared before the Committee.
By the Chairman:

Q. Are there any impassable barriers in crossing the Laurentian range of hils
that obstruet settlement of the fertile lands beyond the height of land ?-No. We
are building a colonization road just now between Quebec and Lake St. John by the
-shortest line. It follows the valley of the Jacques Cartier River, and then thevaloy
of the Chicoutimi River nearly all along, and there is a very good lino for th* roà4
there. The road is partially opened. It is open sixty-five miles, and there reunain.
about fifty five miles more which will be opened in the course of the next suamr.
It is 120 miles long altogether.

Q. Is navigation i mpeded up the Saguenay after you get to Chicoutimi ?-Yes;
there is no navigation after you reach Chicoutimi.

Q. It is i rnpeded by waterfalls, I suppose ?-There is a waterfall three or fiur
imiles above Chicoutimi, but the biggest ships can anchor at Ha Ha Bay, and even at
high tide they can reach Chicoutimi.

Q. Are there any impediments experieneed by European immigrants in solmg
the Province of Quebec?-There are some prejudices, I know, that are worktizz
against the Province of Quebec, but as far as I can make out, there is no real g
for them. Since I have had anything to do with immigration-sine 1867-immai-
gration has been uphill work with us all along, especially as regards the immigrant.
coming from the British Isles. They have an idea that the majority of the people of
the Province of Quebec, being of French descent and living under the Freneh laws, it
is impossible for them to accommodate tbemselves to that Province; but those wh.
have stayed amongst us have found, after a few years residence, that thers
worse places than the Province of Quebec tolivein.

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. The laws of the Province of Quebec are mare like the laws of ScotTaia, f

they only knew it ?-Yes; when they corne to unIerstand our manicipal system and.
the laws of the land they are well satisfted with them, because I do not think thewe
can be found in the Dominion a set of laws as precise and as easy of access asthe
laws of the Province of Quebee; they are within the reach of everybody; it reqxqru
no great legal science to know what they are. We have a code of Laws whicis
open to everyone, and which eau be reachel by every person by mere readin. Of
course, with Protestants, there might be a feeling also, but there are several om-
munities wholly Protestant, and we have many mixed communities, where theM a
Protestants and Gatholics living together in p3rfect harmony. The greatest ac *
that is to be found is, I believe, among politicians. Somtimes at elections ana
or a religions cry is raised for partry purposes, but, as a rule, the inhabitants hiv
nothing to sufer from the encroachments, either from Protestant authorities or fres
Catho'lic authorities. The majority is very liberal in all cases. As an instana 0.
that I raty cite our legislation on education; the management of the school
alway, belong to the majority, whethe- it be Protestant or Catholic, and de
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uiînority are not satisfied they may apply for trustees, and te trutees have the
management of their own Fehool8; they are then eie.d dintient. Bat there are
several counties where there are schoole for different denominations, and where they
have no separate management, they are satisfied with the general management..
Each denomination has its share of the money, and they can have their school as;
they please. But that is one of the questions that is against us. Several times 1
have had applications from French-Canadian farmers for tenants. The French-
Canadian farmers who have some lands to lease were very anxious to secure Scotch
firmers, and several timeï I have applied through our agent, Mr. White, in Glasgow,
to get farmers to go into the French parishes. Their objection was that they would
have no opportunity to educate their ebildren in their own language and in their-
own religion, where there was no Protestant sehool or church. 'l he first question,
they used to put was: Was there a sehool or church ? When the answer was in the-
negative, of course, there was no possibility of getting them. Al such applications.
for farmers were from French-Canadians.

By the Chairman: -
Q. Do you know of any class of people now located in the thickly-settled'

portions of Ontario that contemplate emigrating to Quebec ?-Yes; there was some
Ulk three or four years ago of an association organized in the county of Bruce, and
I believe some members of that association belonged to the county of Waterloo.
They were of German origin.

Q. Any particular class of Germans; because they like to colonize in bodies?-
Yes; that was their object. One of the causes of their trying to emigrate was that
they could not get German schools. I believe that was one of their grievances, and
they applied to the Government to know if they would be allowed to have German
mchools wherever they would settle. The reply was thai there would be no objection

Q. What part of the Province did they choose or calculate to settile in ?-After
inspecting the Eastern Townships they went down to the Metapedia Valley, on the,
Intercolonial, and there they found a splendid tract of land which they reported as
being just what they wanted. There was a deputation of five or six, among them
the editor of the Glocke. One of them bought, I believe, a couple of thousand acres
of land from the late Mr. Meagher, the late member for Bonaventure. Their idea.
was to establish a village at the intersection of the Metapedia by the Intercolonial
Railway.

Q. That is right from the Lake ?-At Mill Stream, rather; but I believe they
bave given up the idea. Theirorganization consisted of tradesmen of different kinds.
They wanted to establish manufactures on a small scale and supply the local market
there-in New Brunswick and the Baie des Chaleurs. The people on hie Baie des
Chaleurs and in the upper part of New Brunswick have, I understand, to go pretty
far to get articles of furniture, foundry articles, leather and agricultural implements.
They wanted to supply all those. There was certainly a good bottom in their
scheme, but eventually it was abandoned.

Q. They .calculated to utilize the water-powers of the Metapedia River?-Yes;
there is splendid water-power there.

Q. Could you furnish the Committee with any information relative to the
adaptability of other wild lands in the Province of Quebec for settlement, and their
snarketfacilitieq ?-We have the Ottawa Valley,which contains about a million of acres
of wild land, surveyed and ready for settlement. The counties of Ottawa and Pontiac.
Tbe proportion of arable land in the Ottawa Valley is not so large as it is in other parts.
It is a more broken country, but the valleys are splendid land. I have visited some of
the settlements on the Gatineau and on the Ottawa proper, as far as Culbute, andt
then on the Lièvre and the Nation rivers.

Q. What proportion of that million acres would be fit for cultivation ?-Certainly
one-half. Beyond the surveyed parts I understand there are large tracts of finel-
country still. Thero seems to be a stretch of land between tle lead of the St.
Maurice and the Gatineau of immense valu. I would not speak positively about it;.
but I have heard reports and had a good deal of information from those who have
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travelled and from surveyors who had surveyed the rivers for lumbering purposes,
and they all agree in eronouncing it a very rich arable country.

Q. Do these barriers, the Laurentian range, rn in that direction ?-They run all
through.

Q. And beyond that there is fertile land, a large portion of it ?-Yes,,&ere is a
large fertile belt there. We have also in the Eastern Townships part of the lands of'
the British American Lands Company; and the Government owns some 800,00>
acres there, but it is all scattered. Of course the Eastern Townships have been
settled for many years; but there still remains very good land there. The best
lands in the Eastern Townhips are supposed to bc the lands belonging to the Birtih.
American Land Company. They had, of course, the first choice, and they took.
very good care not to choose the worst.

By Mr. Bain :
Q. They have to make a profit on the transaction, and, of course, they hold their-

lands at a higher figure ?-Yes; they hold their lands at two, and sometimes four
dollars an acre. liowever, it does not seem to be a well-paying affair.

By Mr. Perry:
Q. Thero is not much population going in there ?-All our immigrants settle-

there.
Q. How many acres are there usually in a farm ?-One hundred acres; but every

settler has a right to two hundred acres if he chooses. We have also orne million and
a half of acres in the lower St. Lawrence district, on the south shore, which, with the-
Gaspé region, five hundred thousand more, makes two millions. I am only speaking
of surveyed lands. There is a trunk road at the rear of the Seignories, belouebec-
The Seignories occupy a space of from twelve to fifteen miles in depth. Belind the
Seignories we have a range of highlands and mountains which are not fit for settlemeat..
There is an intermediate space of from three to six miles, which is not fit for set1e-
ment. We had to cut roads for nearly every parish. Nearly every parisk ia
a road so that their young men could go and settle on the Government htiÏds-
The valley comprised between the highlands and the southern boundary is traversed
by a colonization road, starting from the township of Buckland, opposite Quebc,
down to opposite Ste. Flavie, below Rimouski.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Are those Seignories cultivated much now ?-Yes; those Seignories are miosIly

all under cultivation. Some of the land is very indifferent in these townships of the-
lower St. Lawrence. but the young men prefer settling there to going into other dis-
tricts, because they are more or less supported by their families while they are in the-
vicinity, aud they succeed in the course of time. We have five hundred thousand
acres of land in Gaspé proper -the peninsula-and the rest together, up to Quebec,,
contains 1,500,000, making two millions altogether for the lower part of the Province.
In the lower St. Lawrence district we have the Intercolonial going through a very
fine country which is settling up rapidly.

By Mr. Borron
Q. Are the lands on the Intercolonial higher now in price on account of it ?-

Not yet; but I think they ought to be, The Ottawa district has tolerably good com-
munication for vehicles, but, of course, the settlers in the upper part of the Gatineau,
for instance, cannot take their produce to market.

By Mr. White (Hastings):
Q. They sell it to the lumbermen ?-Yes; but I understand that of late yeamr.

they have had some difficulty in disposing of it.
By the Chairman

Q. On account of the depression in the lumber trade ?-Yes: they wil bar
to turn to other industries, making cheese and butter. The communication in the-
Eastern Townships is unsurpassed.

Q. Both by rail and water ?-No; not -by water. In the lower St. Lawrence-
districtthey have the Grand Trunk as far as Rivière du Loup, and then the Inter--
colonial. Besides, they have the St. Lawrence, and very good colonization roads,
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By Mr. White (Hastings)
Q. In going down the St. Lawrence I notice the bouses are very thiek, and there

seemed to be line fencing along narrow strips; is that the ordinary size of a farm ?-
The ordinary width is three arpents; that is throe acres, and thel.Jogth -ninety acres.

Q. Has the Government ever doue anything to let those people have larger
-fûrms ?-No; at the beginning of the colony it was found more convenient to have
the settlers close to each other.

By the Chairman:
Q. And within easy access to the water ?-Yes; but chiefly so that they could

'help each other in case of danger. In the townships the lots are of the saie size
main Ontario.

By Mr. White (ifastings)
Q. There is no way of getting those parties to change that system?-No; you see

-the roads and everything else are arranged to meet the requirements of such a division
*-and it is impossible now to change it.

Q. There seemed to be four or five families under the same roof ?-Oh, no. From
-Quebec to Montmorency Falls it is a regular village.

Q. Yes, but away down the St. Lawrence, away down to Kamouraska ?-The
-average distance from one house to another is three acres.

By Mr. ifagar :-
Q. They divide the farm up between father and son sometimes ?-Sometimes;

ebut there is a tenrency now to the enlargement of property.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Has the Government of Quebec adopted the policy of offering free grants of
-Crown lands, and what are the conditions of settlement?-We have offored free
grants of one hundred acres each on our colonization roads, eight in

.number, but we have found that the people did not care more for the free lands
than for those they had to pay for.

By Mr. Little :-
Q. Thon I presume from what you say the land is of very inferior quality that

is offered for free grants ?-The free grants are offered in the newer settlements of
course. Those who settle first on a new road have their lot for nothing. For
instance, on the Taché road all the lands fronting on the road are free grants. They

,are not yet all occupied, though they have been offered as free grants for upwards of
.4en years.

By Mr. Borron:-
Q. What is the length of the Taché road ?- 209 miles.
Q. And what distance from the river generally ?--[t is not more than eighteen

-miles.
Q. It is a great work then ?-Yes; It has been opened by degrees year after

year. It is not opened in its whole length yet. In some counties, there being no
settioment, the road has not been opened. I believe that three-quarters of it only is

-opened. If you take the scheme as a whole, the idea was not a bal one, of having a
'regular trunk road parallel with the Grand Trunk.

By Mr. Pouliot:-
Q. But yon canhot travel on it from Beauce down to Ste. Flavie ?-It has been

-made as far as L'Islot, at oae end, and from Ste. Flavie to St. Fabien at the other
end. It is opened also in the counaties of Kamouiraska and Terniscouata, where
several townships are rapidly settling. The free grant lands are as
good as the others. It is not on account of their inferior qualilty that they are free
4mt it is to encourage settlement in a particular direction-to induce others to buy
Government lands.

By the, Chairman
Q. Can you state what number of acres was disposed of during the year 1876,

more particularly for colotization ?-I could not give you an exact ligure; I believe
.about 200,000 acres. We have remarkel that settlement has increased this year a
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little more than usual on account of the depression in business; and people have
done more work in the settlements than they used te.

Q. The 100,000 acres is for colonisation, 1 understand ?-Yes, colonisatiu.
Q. Not timber limita nor anything of that description ?-Oh, no; therewsvery

little done in the way' of timber imits this year.
Q. What tracts of land are there which uire the construction of raüways for-

openiug them up ?-You have here the Ottawa Valley; that would require arailway
to the head of the Gatineau.

Q. And do you require a railway to Lake St. John ?-Yes, we reuire also a
railway from Quebec to Lake St. John. The Colonisation road which is iag built
just now, will, I believe, have the effect of opening the eyes of the people the-
necessity of building that road, and if the building of the Colonization road had no-
other result than that, I consider it would be a result which was cheaply attained
Settlers in the Lake St. John Valley have to travel sixty miles from the lower end
of the lake before they reach Chicoutimi, and then from Chicoutimi 165 milei more-
to come to Quebec, they would have 140 miles direct to Quebec by the new :oad.
That is a clear saving of 85 miles by the new road when it is opened, and we expect
to have it ready for travel by the end of next season. Camps provided with goò&,
stabling will be built along the road to accommodate the travellers, and the occupants
of those camps will have charge of keeping the road in good order. A daily mail
from Quebec to Lake St. John, on that new road, would help very much to facilitate
traffic in winter, and I think the Postmaster-General should try it next winter. The
Pile Railway, from Three Rivers up to Grandes Piles, will facilitate the communicationl
in the St. Maurice District, and after you have reached the Piles you have a stretoh
of fine navigation for, I believe, sixty miles on the St. Maurice. There is to be a
steamboat to ply in connection with the railway on the St. Maurice; so that with a
railway to the Gatineau, and one from Quebec to Lake St. John, al the available lands
in the Province would be within the reach of settlers. The North Shore Railway-
the railway from Montreal to Deep River-will enhance the value of the Government
lands in the County of Pontiac as well as in the County of Ottawa when it is com-
pleted; and then the branch to connect with the Pacific-wherever it goes-will ase
have the effect of putting a good'deal more land in the market.

By Mr. Pouliot:-
Q. There is another road that ought to be mentioned ?-Perhaps so; the New

Brunswick and Rivière du Loup., There were good prospects at one time of that
road being built; and of all the railway schemes started in the Province of Quebec, I
know of none which started with better prospects. The Company had a grant of^
land in the southern part of the County of Temiscouata. The line was topais through
those lands and reach some point on the St. Lawrence; but for some reason or other
the project has been abandoned and the grant of land made by the Quebec Legisla-
ture lapsed last year or the year before. I might mention that a gentleman
from New Brunswick-he is the American Consul at St. Johns, I believe-called
upon the Prime Minister some time ago and seemed to have an idea of revivine the
old Company and making a connection with the St. Andrew and Woodstock Radway
at Rivière du Loup, from Rivière du Loup to Edmondston. The proposed lineof that
railway would fQllow what was formerly the mail road between the Lower Provinces
and the Province of Quebec; that was the Temiscouata road or Madawaska route.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Could you give the Committee any information respecting the minerai

deposits in Quebec and the inducements they offer to settlers ?-I could not speak
very positively as to the mineral deposits; but it is very well known that there are
very rich deposits of gold in the Chaudière district, in the County of Beauceand also
in te County of Compton. All reports agree that there are veryrich depositasthere.
The only difficulty is to find the whereabouts of the boist deposits. They have alredy
a ent a large sum of money in digging in Beauce and in Compton. The e. r

pe is working a gold mine in Compton with tolerable resuIts, I understaudi and
all fle settlers-4he French Canadians who came back from the United States-have-
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an idea that there is some gold to be found lu the, County of Compton. Some of
them have had a good deal of experience either ir Australia or in British Columbia
eor in California, and they are speculating on the possibility of finding mines there.

Q. The developing of those mines would have a tendency to bring quite an influx
of ppulation into the country ?-Certainly. At one time there was quite a large
innux of population into the County of Beuce-when the De Lery mines were
.opened; but since that there have been only one or two individuals working at
.the mines with partial success here and there.

By Mr. Cockburn:
Q. Ottawa County is quite rich in iron and plumbago ?-Yes, it is. In the

~Eastern Townships copper is to be found in large quantities in several places-copper,
marble, chromie iron and slates.

By the Chairman :
Q. You have no reports of coal, have you ?-No.

By Mr. Hagar :-
Q. Some phosphates too ?-Yes, there are rich deposits of phosphate of lime

;in several places.
By the Chairman:-

Q. In what part of the Province are the slates located ?-In the Counties of
3Drummond and Wolfe.

Q. Are the slate mines developed ?-Yes; but I understand there have been
eome drawbacks on account of the duties. They have had some dissatisfaction
-at any rate, either on account of the duties being raised in the States against
the Canadian slates-

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. In Richmond and Wolfe there is slate also ?-Yes; and we have the iron

mnines of Three Rivers which seem to be inexhaustible, and plumbago, and moisie
iron. I have seen very fine deposits of plumbago in the County of Pontiac.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you know what is the percentage of the iron deposits in the Ottawa

-district ?-I could not say.
Q. It is very rich 1 understand ?-Yes. A large sum of money. One million

of dollars I understand, was expended by an English company to establish smelting
works at St. Urban, in the County of Charlevoix, and they had for some reason to
abandon them.

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. They could not compete with the American iron ?-J suppose not. They

could not manufacture that iron cheap enough to make a profitable business.
By Mr. Borron:-

Q. Did they smelt the iron with wood charcoal ?-Yes, and their charcoal was
made from soft wood, there being no more hardwood in the neighbourhood. This
may in some measure, account for their want of success. The old works were sold a
year or two ago for twenty-five pounds. They had spent, I understand, one million
of dollars on them.

By the chairman
Q. What time is the season usually open, so that ploughing and seeding can be

carried on in these districts that you have been speaking of?-In the last week in
April generally or the first week in May.

Q. Could farms be purchased by immigrants, and if so at about what rice per
acre-that is improved farms ?-You eau get good farms with buildings at om 30
to a good deal higher. You can get in the Eastern Townships very good lots of land,
nearly all cleared, at the rate of $30 er acre-in fact, everywhere in the Province.

Q. Good comfortable buildings ? -omfortable buildings. The lots are from $30
to $50, according to the facilities for market. You can get a farm for $5,000

,nearly anywhere. $40 would be a better average than $30; butyou eau get them
-for $30.
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By Mr Aybner:
Q. I think if you said from $20 to $40 you would be nearer the mark ?-WelI

yes, perhaps so. I was afraid of putting it too low; but really that is more acord-
ing te my own view.

Q. I think you can buy about the best farms we have for $40 ?-Yes.
Q. Are there lots rented, and if se at what price per acre% or is it custenary to

let or lease farms on shares, and if se what proportion does the owner receivd?-
'The majority of the people in the Province of Quebec are in the habit of renting
-their farms on shares. The ;landlord furnishes half the seed, half the stock, haff
,the implements-they go halves in everything -and he receives half the produce of
-the farm. Generally instead of giving butter for cows, a price per head a fired
-which ordinarily varies from two and a-half te three dollars per cow for the year;
.and they are obliged te raise calves also; so, for instance, if there are ten eows the
farmer will raise four or five calves, and they divide them when they are at two and
a-half years. For the sheep, half the wool and half the lambs.

By Mr. Biggar:
Q. Then the tenant gives his time as an offset, for the use of the land ?-Ye.

By the Chairman
Q. Does the tenant pay for the work ?-No; the tenant has te .do all the work,

.and pay for the statute labour.
Q. That stands as an offset against the rest, I suppose ?-Yes. You eau get

good farms at two and a half and three dollars rent per acre.
By Mr. Bigqar:-

Q. That includes the cleared land ?-The cleared land only; when the farmer
furnishes the horses generally lie is allowed te raise a colt every year for himself.

By the Chairman :-
Q. What are the chief farm products and the ordinary yield per acre ?-I tn

not very competent to answer. I can only speak in general terms as te the chief
farm products. For the last twenty years there has net been much wheat raised l
the Province of Quebec if you except the District of the Saguenay and the Gasp
country. There they have never suffered from the wheat worm; it is net known
there.

By Mr. Hagar:
Q. Is iL not a fact that they have begun during the last two or three years toriao

wheat in the old counties ?-Yes; we are beginning te see a good deal more wheg
grown of late years,but our farmers generally grow coarse grains. Wherever they have
raised root crops they have a splendid crop of wheat afterwards. That is the way
they do now. They sow their turnips, carrots or beet roots, then wheat for ti
following year.

Q. Have yen cultivated sugar beet there ?-Yes.
Q. To any extent ?-We have made experiments last year and the year befbre.

The experiments for last year are to be found in the general report of the Depart-
ment of Agriculture for last year. There has been a sum voted by the Legilature
for the encouragement of the manufacture of beet root sugar, which would be ver>
profitable. The Legislature have voted a sum of $7,000 a year during ten year tA
encourage the establishment of that manufacture. In order te establish the average
yield and the richness of the beet root grown in Canada, we last year import&e6o or
six hundred pounds of beet root seed. We have distributed that seed among the bSt
known farmers in the Province, asking them te give us a report of the extent eagian
planted with beets and the yield per acre; and we have reeeived also samplesafim
all the counties ofthe Province. Those samples we had weighed and analysed in the
office by a competent man, a Belgian, who happened to be in Quebec, and we aent
twelve other samples te France te have them analysed there, so as te test the
analysis made in Quebec, and they were found to be correct; se that at the presømt
day we are in a position te say: "In such a county the *average yield of beet i as
amuch and the average yield of sugar is so much."

Q. Do yen think the percentage of saccharine matter is as high in thebest
ST



grown here as in the beet grown in Belgium and France?-Yes; it appears it is
necher. It has been pronouneed richer by very competent men both in Belgium and
france. There have been reports on the subject in the reviews and special papers of
the beet root industry, the Jouria% des Fabricants de Sucre and la Sucrerie Indigène,
published in France.

Q. Do you think the manufacturers of beet root sugar here could compete with
those of the West Indies?-Certainly; and to my mind there could not be a more,
eatisfactory revolution than that created by the introduction of the beet root culture
into this country on a large scale.

Q. Do they utilize the pulp for the feeding of stock ?-Yes; twenty per cent. of
the root can be used for the feeding of stock, and the rest for making the sugar.

Q. Has not the beet a tendency in this country more than in Belgium and France
to be above the surface of the ground ?-No, Sir, if the soil is propery prepared. If
yon give the soil a sufficient depth of ploughing you will avoid that.

Q. That portion above the ground will not contain that saccharine matter ?-
No; it losses the saccharine matter the moment it comes out of the ground. We
made some recomendations in regard to that to the farmers who made the
experiments last year.

Q. The machinery necessary for manufacturing and refining-more particularly
refining-is very expensive ?-It is very expensive.

Q. Have you any idea of the capital requisite to enter into that branch of
business ?-We have been told that a capital of $200,000 would be sufficient, but I
Lad an idea that having refineries at leisure at the present moment we might perhaper
utilize them and only build what would be required for grinding and pressing the
pulp and extracting the juice from the beet.

Q. Is the season in the Province of Quebec sufficiently long for the growth of
the beet ?-Yes; it comes to perfect maturity; it has time to ripen very well if sown
in the early part of May. It is ripe in the beginning of October, but it is better to
leave it in the ground until you are ready to work it. We have been told-and it
seems to me it stands to reason-that it would be more advantageous te work the
beet root here than it is in Europe; because when it is frozen it does not lose any of
its qualities if you work it while it is frozen. They all seem to agree that a hard
winter would not be an impediment to their growth, and that fact has been well
established by what they have been doing in Russia. In Russia they go in very
heavily for beet root cultivation; and I believe it is in Russia where they have the
best average yield. In Germany the official figures are higher; but there
they levy Government duty on the beet itself by the weight, and in order to
pay as little as possible of the duty, they cut off the head of the beet which
pves less sugar, and they only work the best part of it. So there is a higher
percentage of sugar there than you find elsewhere. They are not superior to others
in the growth of beet root.

By Mr. Cockbura:-
Q. They do not levy an excise duty on the root do they; it is on the product-

for what is made ?-The duty is levied on the raw material; in France and Belgium
they have to pay an average of four dollars per ton on the beets.

By Mr. Hagar :
Q. On the raw material ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. Our sugar manufacturera here have been leading us to believe they give them,

a premium?-Yes; they do, I believe, on what they export.
By the Chairman.:-

Q. Are you aware of the failure in connection with the cultivation of beet root.
for sugar that occurred in Illinois during the past few years ?-No. We have found
invariably that the beets coming from the new settiements did not give se mu

as the othera; and it appears also tUat within ; radius of thirty miles from te
wator It would not pay to raise eem fbr sugar.
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7y Mr. Bain:
Q. The air is so impregnated with salt ?-The salt would spoil the quality.

By -Mr Haar :-

Q. Do I understand you to say that the yield of saccharine matter from the beet
root raised on new land is not as much ?-Yes. The matter is perhaps as much; but
there are salts in the juice which spoil it.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Was last season open sufficiently early to plant the beet ?-Yes; all the roots
I saw were perfectly ripe, and last year was later than usual. I recollect that in the
Eastern Townships the seed was put in in the month of June, and on the 15th of
{October it was perfectly ripe. I hear there has been a Convention lately at
.Sweetsburg, and that the question was very much discussed there, and that all the
influential farmers seemed to take a great deal of interest in it.

Q. How long is it necessary to keep cattle under shelter in the Province of Que-
bec, and in what months?-In some years it is very difficult for cattle to make a
living in May in the pastures. Some years about the 15th May the cattle can go
<out. In the fall they will sometimes remain in the field after the beginning of
November.

Q. That is six months ?-Yes; I would not make it less, because I find that
people are too much inclined to represent this country as ice-bound all the time.

Q. What is the usual price of stock ?-The price of st.ck varies very
much. In the fall you can get a very good cow for $25, even less.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Horses ?-From $60 upwards for a working horse.
Q. Is not that cheap for a horse ?-I consider it cheap for a good sound working

horse.
By Mfr. Bêchard:-

Q. That is very cheap ?-Yes. This is an exceptional year. Of course that
doesnot apply to improved stock ; but there is an idea prevailing among enlightened
farmers that Canadian cows are better, more profitable than the improved breeds.
'The cows that were much prized for dairy purposes at the Centennial Exhibition, the
Jerseys, were much like the old Canadian cows.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Could you state what pamphlets and other documents for promoting immigra-
tion have been circulated by your Department during the past year ?-We have not

pMen anything since 1873; but we had a good supply of the pamphlet on the Pro-
cince cf Quebec. I suppose we have printed about a hundred thousand copies of that

panitphl et in both languages: and J have seen it translated iuto German, Italian,
and I believe some Swedish papers have also reproduced it.

Mr. Lowe stated, upon a reference to him,-I may say with regard to that ques-
tion, that the Quebec pamphlet is a large standard pamphlet that is used very
generally; it has been used in the shorter pamphlet published by the Dominion; re-
publications have been made from it.

Witness.-It was published in 1870 for the first time, and a second edition was
published in 1873, and since that time the Government agents, and the Allan Line
agents, and all the interested in immigration have spread it broadcast in Europe.

Q. Do you think the Province of Quebec offers any advantages for the clIas of
foreign immigrants, say French, Belgian and Swiss ?-I should think so. That has
always been my opinion, but I have experienced a great deai of deception. I am
stili strongly of opinion, however, that if a proper man was to go to Belgium, Frane.
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and Switzerland, among the French-speaking population, it would be possible to
induce them to come and settle here; and I think they would be of great service to
the country, because they are more frugal, more simple in their habits than our own
population. I believe that our farmers are getting to live on too expensive a
ea e, and the frugality and simplicity of habits of those people would have a very

good effect. Yesterday I was speaking of that settlement in the township of Suffolk.
Those people were three years in the country before they were buying. They
still wear their wooden shoes and the clothes that they brought with them. What
they have bought is merely for their table.

Q. They manufacture their own clothes ?-Yes.

By Mr. Béchard:-

Q. I should infer from what you said that the class of immigrants you would
prefer to have come to this country is the farming class? Yes, I would have no other

ut the farming class. The farmers of France, Belgium and Switzerland seem to be
best adapted to the Province of Quebec on account of their language and habits of
life. They would suit the Province of Quebec botter than any other part of ther
Dominion; but it is very singular that a good many French immigrants have
preferred to go to Upper Canada. Some of those who first settled in Quebec have gone
to Ontario.

Q. They heard of the different climate ?-I suppose so. We thought we were
very fortunate in getting French-speaking immigrants, and those we expected would
romain with us. But the run of immigration is in a westerly direction, and I
believe the railway and steamboat agents, in fact all the influences were at
work to create that feeling against us. The moment an emigrant went on board a
steamer he was told that he should go west as far as possible.

By the Chairman : -
Q. Were the agents from the United States ?-Some of them were, I suppose;

but the very sailors on the steaniers would tell them that. It is a fact that the
English-speaking immigrants will sympathise sooner with the French Canadian than
the French themselves. Our experionce so far of immigrants from France has not
been very satisfactory, and generally the immigrants coming from Great Britain are
giving more satisfaction; but is owing to the fact that we have not taken the proper
steps to get the proper class of immigrants.

By Mr. Cockburn:-
Q. You have not made a good selection on the other side ?-There has been no

selection; the scheme was this :-The agents were paid so much per head for all the
emigrants they could send, and besides the Allan Line allowed so much per head
for the emigrants sent, no matter what they were. We had agents who took good
care to send such emigrants as were wanted hore; such, for instance, as Mr.
Bossange in Paris. I am glad you have mentioned this, because I haver
seen his name in the papers in connection with immigration matters, and
certainly a great deal of injustice bas been done him through the press
in this country, for I am positive in stating that a more trustworthy agent
could not be found. Several Canadians who had occasion to be in Paris have been in
his office repeatedly, and I have come to the conclusion that he was very careful
in selecting the emigrants he used to send to Canada; but there were other agents in
France, Switzerland, and Germany who did not care much whom they were sending.

* By the Chairman:-
Q. Numbers was their object ?-Yes; they were not Government agents; they

imake it a business as steamboat agents and speculators in emigration. Well, that
cainnot be easily stopped; it is independent of the Government.
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Q. Are you aware of the system that is adopted by the United States Govera-
ment with captains of ships bringing out immigrants; are they held responsible for
those who are unable to maintainthemselves or who are lunatics; that is, who have
become burdensome to society ?-Yes, I know it is the case; it is the cas r ith u&
also; the only difference is that the law is not enforced.

Q. Is the Belgian settlement at Namur ?-Yes, it is; I gave an account of it
yesterday.

By Mr. Mr. Cocikburn

Q. That is the Suffolk one ?-Yes.
Q. What county is that in ?-Ottawa.

By Mr. Béchard:-

Q. Is the Government satisfied in Quebec with the action of the Government
agents as to emigration in Europe ?-I have merely mentioned Mr. Bossane as on-
of them; he is about the only one fron whom we have immigrants. . Berns,
agent at Antwerp, is. also sending many from Belgium. But I believe the syut.mitself is not safe.

Q. What better system then could you suggest ?-The best plan would be to send
some Canadians to Europe; men who have a stake in the country and know the country
well and can speak from personal experience, to select the proper class of seters
and locate them carefully in special colonies on their arrival here, so that they wilt
be sure to succeed and thus induce their friends and relatives in the old coun to
come and join them later on. This system of course would have the effect of ac-
ing considerably the number of immigrants coming to Canada, but those who would
come would be sure to remain, which is far from being the case under the present.
arrangement.

THURSDAY, 22nd March.

MR. LOWE.-FURTTER EVIDENCE.

IMMIGRATION AGENTS - IMMIGRATION PROPAGANDISM - PUBLIcATIONS - PER CAIr
VALUE OF IMMIGRANTS-IMPERIAL FIGURES 0F IMMIGRATION AND EMIGRATlo
&c.

Mr. Lowe again appeared before the Committee, and, in answer to the Chairianü
stated, with respect to immigration agencies : I hold in my hand two statements
which I submit to the Committee, which have been preped in answer to Mr. lÀtde's
resolution, to the effect that the Committee be fun 'ish with the names and numbers
of all the Immigration Agents employed in 1875 and 1876; sta g where employId
and the amount of salaries, expenses and gratuities paid to each. Te followmg are
the statements tabulated for the two years respectively:
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EKGLAND.

Names. Locality or District. Salary. Expenses. Total.,

$ $ ets. cta.
1 . Jenkins ............. London ........................... 4,000 2,00000 6,00000
2 G. T. Haigh ...... Liver ool................. 1,200 1,446 -30 2,646 B

John Dke ......... Attahed to London A c'y 1,200 ' 1,884 82 3,084 2
6 G. P. Kingamill.. ..... South-west of England ...... 1,200 I 1,732 45 2,932 45
7 . Op r ......... Manchester ..................... 1,200 286 71 1,485 71
8 E. J. chards......... Channel Islands ...... ........ ...... ...................... 1,02601
9e ........... England generally .......... 1,200 1,02 98 2,W2 98

.10. . Davency......... do ........... 1,200 1,901 76 3,1016
il- Rer.ý L. Talr Lecturer-General............ 14800 1,5 73 3,351 la

-12 -IR. Murdoch ........ Glasgow ..................... 1,200 2,438 89 3,638 89
13 '1. Wbyýte............ Scotlaid...................... 200 6,36 9K 866 97 Terminated.

214 i.&. .,N~ichqloon. Elighlandu of Scotland.... 1,200 1,901 76 3,101 76
4 T. Potts ............ North-weat 'and Wçaýt of

Sco!lsnd...............o1,200 2,467 62 3,667 62
5 IJ. B. Talbot . .....Midland adSuhr

parte of t8ootland.......... 1,200 1,986 63 3,186 63

IRELAND.

:15, O.Foy ........... Belft......... . . .1,000 2,844 67 j3,84467
116 H. J. Larkin . Dublin ....... 120 1,126 86 j2,326 86

ON BUROPEÂN CONTINENT.

17 G. Bossange ......... Paris........... ...... ............. 500 00 500 00 For use of o
18 IP. DeCazes . France generally ....... ..... 1,200 1,473 62 2,673 52 in Paris.
19 J. G. Klotz ............ Hamburg ..................... 1,200 947 88 2,147 88
20 Mdme. Von Koëber... Switzerland and Germany.. 6001 1,608 76 2408 76
21 B. Mattson .......... Seandinavia ................ 2,400 1,729 99 4,129 99 Terminated.

-22 1W. C. Kreiger ........ Iceland ... ............... , 667 29 1,867 29
.23 r p> s ....... dp . .... ........... .............. ...... .... ..... 1,001 ý03
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By the Chairman:

Q."Can you inform the Committee of the number of agents now employed, and
where ?-Yes; they may be stated as follow:-

AGENTS NOW EMPLOYED IN ENGLAND.

STAT1ONARY.

F. J. Dore, London Ofice; John Dyke, Liverpool.

TRAVELLING AGENTS AND LECTURERS.

G. R Kingsmill, Thos. Potts,
Thos. Grahame, S. Capper.

IN SCOTLAND.

A. G. Nicholson, office in Glasgow, and travelling Agent in the Hebrides.

IN IRELAND.

STATIONART.

C. Foy, Belfast; H. J. Larkin, Dublin;
J. Murphy, Limerick.

CONTINENTAL.

G. Bossange, Paris; P. DeCazes, France;
J. E. Klotz, Hamburg; E. Von Korber, Switzerland amd
W. C. Kreiger, Special. Germany;

With respect to Mr. Bossange I may explain that he is only paid a nomin=d
amount yearly of $500, for the use of his office in one of the most important streots it
Paris. He keeps in his office, books of reference, maps and documents pertaining to
Canada, which are of very great use. Mr. Berns, Antwerp, Mr. Zwilchenba of
Basle, and Mr. Brown of Havre, are unpaid agents of the Department.

And, with respect to Mr. Kreiger, the mission with which he is charged is vwy
special in its character, and terminates with the year. The paid Agents of thei
Department, stationary and travelling, are therefore only thirteen; of which thoe
are only four travelling or lecturing agents in Great Britain.

Q. Do you consider these agents effective ?-Yes; they are men who have been
retained from all those who have been employed, on accoant of their experienoe,
special fitness and ability.

Q. Are the agents employed by the Australian Colonies more numerous
yes, very much more numerous, as I explained at my previous examination.

Q. When did Mr. Jenkins resign ?-At the very beginning of the year.

By a Member
Q. What was he paid ?-An allowance, by Order in Council, equivalent to 0W

months' salary, for the reason that the reorganization of the London office by the
Order in Council of December, 1875, made a change in his position which he was
unwilling to accept.

By Mr. White (Bmnfrew) -

Q. What is Mr. Dore's salary allowance ?-Salary $2,500, and he has an 5&fl-

ance for travelling expenses, the same as other agents, of 84 a day.

'40,victoria. Appadig.-(NO. 6.) A. I877



Q. In the figures of $51,935 for European agencies and erpenses, is -the London
COCe included ?-No; the expenses of the -London ç were $20,054, but th1s amount
icludes some expeinses which overlapped from 1875, such as the allowance té Mr.
Jenkins; also of the office staff, whose services were dispensed with ; and there is also
a deduction of $9,500, that being the amount of the payments by the Provinces for
their special use of the London offices.
M"P Q. Has the London office other functions than those of emigration ?-Yes; it is
an office of general call, not only for Canadians who may be in London, but for all
persons seeking for information respecting Canada; it has a library of books of
reference-the statutes of all the Provinces, the journals of Parliament and the Local
Legislatures, maps and other public documents, and a news-room where Canadian
papers are kept on file. It is thus in a position to furnish authentic information to-
visitors and others not elsewhere obtainable in the United Kingdom. On the invi-
tation of Mr. Dore, the present Agent, members of the press have very generally
availed thomselves of this means of obtaining information respecting Canada. In
fact, previous to the establishment of this source of information, the want of it was
found to be a necessity which had to be supplied. I may add that our establishment
in London is more modest and less expensive than those of some of the sister colonie s

Q. What is the staff employed in the London office in addition to Mr. Dore ?-
It consists of five clerks, one of whom is engaged to take charge of the library and
news room, and one to assist the agents of the Provinces, his salary being really
covered by the special allowance they pay. One is specially employed as an
accountant, leaving two to assist Mr. Dore with the general correspondence, which is
very large, and passenger warrants; there is, besides, a messenger. The clerks'
salaries in the London office are $7,111.41.

By the Chairman:-

Q. What results have been obtained in connection with the French agency, as
eompared with other agencies ?-The immigration from France bas not been so-
large as that from the United Kingdom, or the special Mennonite immigration
tist has come through the lamburg agency by the special arrangement which had

'beeu entered upon with delegates who came to this country in 1872. The total
niumber of French immigrants reported to have come to this country from Mr.
Bossange's agency (assisted by Mr. Barnard, Mr. Provencher and Mr. DeCazes, special
agents of the Department) since 1871 is 4,800. Of these a very considerable nuinber
pÏobably two-thirds or three-fonrths, have done well. A considerable part of the-
remainder had avocations not adapted to this country.

By AMr. White (Renfrew)

Q. If I understood the question, I do not think the answer is so full as I would
like to have it. As I understood it, the Chairman desired to learn what were the

Ôelative resuis obtained by the expenditure in connection wiLh the agencies in
France and in the United Kingdom?-I intended to convey that the imnigration
from the United Kingdom was relatively more successful than that from France, as
was also the special immigration from Berdiensk. A proportion of French immi-

lts which I stated, say a third or fourth, was not succe3sful; but on this point I
k it right to explain to the Committee that, in my opinion, the whole of the

Ynch immigrants who have come to Canada and been unsuccessful cannot he
roperly credited to Mr. Bossange's agency. Many, if not all, the great steam lines

have agents in France, who have induced immigrants to come to America,
probably without much regard to the question of their fitness to emi te; and
there is reason to believe that considerable numbers of these, when the t pinch
Ot the commercial and industriat depression in 1873 was felt in New York, came
over to Canada. As regards expenditur the immigration expenses in France bv



wot been very large, while, the agDey has been te a great extent tentativet it being
known that the french are net an emigrating peopke, except in special eirpum-
stances. Those who are doing well in France do net desire to leave; but ifIt of
4,800. immigrants from France, through Mr. Boséange's eney, a prppapn
cf two-thirds have done well, that immiigration, in so far as Canada is coe
cannot be said to be entirely a failure, whatever may have been the suffer' that
portion of the immigrants not adapted for settlement in this country, or ab
other outside of the city of Paris. And, further, those persons wlio did net well
here might not have done well in Paris; they might have suffered there. I think
among all large emigrations there is some-perhaps much-suffering, but that is not
to say that the general effect of the movement may not be beneficent.

By the Chirman

Q. Can you inform the Committee what was the number of pamphlets issued
during the past year and circulated for Immigration purposes ?-Yes; they are as
follow:-

50,000 Manitoba and North West. v
50,000 Manitoba and North West (Spence.)
20,000 Stock Breeding, for Tenant Farmers.

1,500 Copies of Report of Immigration Committee.
2,500 Year Books.
5,000 Mack's German pamphlet.

100 Graphie Description of Canada.
510 O'Leary's work on Canada.
153 Hurlbert's Climate, &c., of Canada.

In addition to these I may mention that the Allan Line have circulated a very
large number of pamphlets and hand bills, and printed slips of special information, as
well as advertised all over the United Kingdom. I have not the precise figures of the
publications circulated by the Allan Company, but they probably exceed in numbes
those issued by the Department. The Dominion Line has also made efforts of the
same nature, but I have no special information of its operations, or those of oiber
companies. The agents of the Department have also given very numerous lectures,
many of which have been published in the newspapers of the United Kingdom.
Large, however, as may be the apparent numbers of special publications,yar by
year, the field on which they are intended to operate is se vast that they scarcely
make an impression. The education, with respect to Canada, especially in th4epar-
ticular of its suitability as a field for immigration, has been by no means special in,
the United Kingdom.

By the Chairman:

Mr. White, of Hastings, wishes to have some information as to the distribution
of emigration publications, Were these all circulated in Europe, or were a1iy
distributed in this count-y and the neighbouring States? Please give informatibEn
respecting their distribution :-The emigration publications have been principeay
distributed in the United Kingdom and parts of the continent of Europe by agents,
with a view to furnish information respecting Canada te intending emigranis. - »ut
a considerable number of the pamphlets respecting the Province of Manitoba and-thé
North-West Territories of the Dominion, have been distributed in the New England,
and parts of the Western States. There has alo been a distribution of these
pltuhlets within the Dominion, te some extent, by members of Parliament. Th:y
have alo been distributed by the Dominion agents i Canada, and upon direct
estign te the Department. There has been, especidly in the last year, a desireto
obtain pamphlets on the North West. The pamphlet on Stock Breeding was atimost
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exclusively circulated in the United Kingdom, as far as possible amongst tenant
farmers. The copies of the report of the Immigration Committee and the Year Book
were principally sont to official persons and the press in .the United Kingdom, as
well as to reading rooms and mechanics' institutes. The press, in return, have
published notices; which is a useful mode of attracting attention to Canada. A
pamphlet, principally prepared in the London office, and to some extent by the
Department, is being printed. It is intended to furnish very full information with

_respect to Canada.

Q. Do you consider the number of pamphlets issued by the Department to be
-useful ? Is it exuessive ?-Given the fact that it is desirable to make a propagandism
to promote immigration to Canada, there can be no question that t he issuing of
publications in every formi and shape, containing information respecting the country,
is a useful means to that end. The number issued is certainly not excessive; in fact,

,as I before stated, it may be said that we have scarcely made an appreciable impres-
sion, so vast is the field to be operated upon. There is difficulty, however, in
distributing very large numbers of pamphlets gratuitously, and the limit of useful-
ness is the nunrber that can be judiciously distributed among the class of persons
interested. This is one of the difficulties to be dealt with. The reading of our
pamphlets may not induce persons to emigrate wholesale, but it does influence the
.action of the class of intending emigrants.

Q. Do you think the results obtained bear a fair proportion to the cost, taking
into consideration the total expenditure for immigration, and the per capita value of
the immigrants ?-This question covers a very wide ground and opens points on
which there may be debate. Probably I shall best answer it by giving to the Com-
taittee some facts. But as the question of opinion is asked, I may state, after very
careful study, that I am decidedly of opinion, the country, as a whole, bas
received very ample value for its immigration expenditure. The total per capita
,cost of immigrants in 1876, including every expenditure by the Dominion Govern-
ment, both in Europe and the Dominion, was $9.83; but as, against this, I showed the

-Oommittee last Session, calculations to the effect that each immigrant who stayed in
,,the country contributed from eight to twelve dollars a year to the revenue, as a con-
sumer of dutiable goods. The total cost for immigration is therefore actually covered
in one year by direct return to the revenue in Customs Duties. There is the further
fact, that the ascertained amount of money and effects brought by immigrants to this
zcountry in 1876 was $686,205.00, and there were besides considerable values not
ascertained ; the value asc'rtained being nearly $27 per capita. That is very uearly
three times the amount of direct cost. But these two facts,-lst the amount of their
contribution to the revenue being in one year equal to their cost; and 2nd, the value
they brought being nearly three times their cost, do not by any means cover the ques-
tion of the value of immigrants, and, in fact, form but an inconsiderable portion of it.
I have stated the return to the revenue only for one year, but that will continue
.every year they labour and consume. Then their children grow up, who also
become labourers and consumers and contributors to the revenue. There is a further
onsideration. Every productive interest in the country, both agricultural and

manufacturing, is aided and promoted by means of their labour, skilled and unskilled;
and, in this view, the wealth of the whole country is promoted and increased. Still
further, as I stated before, immigrants bring with them, not only strength to labour,
but special skill in the trades, in arts and agriculture. Considerations of this kind,
M hs been before shown to the Committee, have led to attempts at capitalizing the
average value of individual immigrants. The chief officer of the Bureau of Statisties
at Washington, places this at $800, and other authorities at $1,225, and $1,500. Dr.
Farr, in England, calculates the value of a labourer at the age of 25, at $1,200. Ise,
mysef, extreme difficulty in attempts at precise capitalzation of this kind, but there
4an be no doubt as to the very great, I may say enormous, value of immigrants wbo
are succossfu. All, of course, are not equally so, but, as a ale, the great bulk of alU
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immigrants who come to this country do arn their living and do well. The excep-
tions are especially few in the case of agricultural labourers. Of the special coloniza-
tions, those of the Mennonites and repatriated <Canadians, have so far donemviy Wele,
but that of the Icelanders is not assured.

Q. What was the character of the immigration from the Continent Qf Europe,
particularly from France and Germariy ?-There was very little immigration fiom
the Continent to Canada last year, with the exception of the special immigratio of
the Mennonites. There were the Icelanders from the Island of Iceland. Thegeneral
immigration from France and Germany almost stopped last year. There wna an
immigration from Switzerland, owing to Madame Vou Koerber's efforts firming th
nucleus of a settlement in the Free Grant district of Ontario, and it isoîmbe@
think, probable, this will be largely* increased. It will, if the setlement be

By a Member of the Committee

Q. You stated the number of immigrants who settled in the country last year
was 25,633, as reported by the Agents. Can you state how many left the country or
returned to Europe during the same time ?-I have no means of answering that
question with precision, but we have had reason to believe that there has been a
large return movement from this continent to Europe, both from Canada and the
United States. There is reason to believe that considerable numbers went to Esope
with the intention of returning to Canada. In fact, the transport by steamers has
become so cheap and so rapid and comparatively comfortable that a 'fluctution of
wages on either side of the Atlantic has become sufficient to cause a movement of the'
mochanie or artizan class either backward or forward. I may state that, since 1lasst
appeared before the Cammittee, I have received a copy of the Statistical TàWe.
relating to emigration and immigration from and into the United Kingdom for tie
year 1876, with the report of the Board of Trade thereon. These tables have a bi'
ing on the question, and contain facts of interest. It appears from them that tâà
total emigration from 'he United Kingdom last year was 138,222, while immigraden
was 91,647, leaving a total excess of only 46,575, being the smallest recorded in.g
year since the Irish exodus began. According to the same authority the tota
emigration of persons of British origin in 1876 was 109,469, against an immigration,
so far as recorded, of 71,404, leaving an excess of British emigrants of only 38,Q65.
The British emigrants to the United States were 54,544 against 54,697 immigrant
from the United States to the United Kingdom, showing the unusual fact of a b Pq
of 143 persons of British origin emigrating from the United States to the United
Kingdom. I think it well to give the Committee the following tables from. tàf*
Return:

UNITED KINGDOM.

A.-Comparing total Emigration with total recorded Immigration.

Exocuse ow
COUNTRY OF EMIGRATION

AND IMIXGRATION. Emigrants. Immigrants.
Emigrants. JImàigrdtd.á

United States................. .-. . 75,533 72,060 3,473
B. N. America...................................... 12,327 7,384 5,043
Australasia................I 33,191 2,579 30,612
All other places... .................... ; 17,171 9,724 7,447

Total................................... 138,222 91,647 468,575
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B.-Comparing Emigration and Iitäratioh of persons of British origin only.

COUNTRY or EXIGRATION
AND IWMGRATION. EInigrants. Immigrnts. îiat ;mmigrants.

Unit.d Statu ...................................... 1 54,554 54697 . 143
B. N. America .......... 9,335 6, 2,706
Australa a...................................... 3296 2,579 2617
Âll Other places .......... .... 13,384 7,499 5,885 ....

A other place..................... 109,469 1,40 38,065 143

These figures, at a first glance, appear to, be greatly different from those pube
lished by the Department, but the difference May be explained. The Board J
*Trade gives a total emigration to British North Âmerica of 12,321. The Depart7
ment gives a return of immigrants via the St. Lawrence and Maritime Province
ports of 12,211. The diffgrence of 116 may be immigrants who went to Newfound-
land. I find, ou looking at the tities to the tables in the Imperial return, thht they
consist of paîdsengers to, the ports to which the vessels sai Thus the large nuxuber.
of immigrants who corne to Canada by way of the 'United States, entering by theÔ
Grand 'fruink iRailway from Portland andat the Suspension Bridge, are ail classed in
thes roturus as emigrants to the UTnited States. With this explanation, the very
large difference existing botwoou the two sets of figures is recoucilable. But, as the
Board of Trade tables at p rosent stand, they do not by any means represent the
immigration to Canada. may futher remark, with regard to the figures of immi-
gration into the nited Kingdon from British North America, that such immigrants

enbt v any means necessarily consist of persons who have recently arrived in this
country. They consist of passngers who have, fsr any reason, sailed from British
North America t British ports, and I have already iudicated one reason for a move-
ment between this country and Europe.

By M1r. White (BRenfrew) :

Q. Can yon tell the Committee what -was the proportion of tenant-farmers or
mon sessd of demall m an es eompard, say, for instance, with the whole agricul-

rim migration ?- canna. t give the exact figures of that différence, but I may say
that efforts are being made for (and circumstances are favouring) attractîng, the
deirable class of tenant-farmers. I may add that I think in future the immigra-
tion te Canada will more largely consist of this class.

Q. For what reasons ?-I stated at my previe s examination that the reporte
ead us to believe there is a tendency in the United Kingdom to an elargement

Of fatms, which throws many small farmers eut of their holdings. Lt is found that
altered circumstances in agricultural practices require the investment of much more
a tal per acre. The farmers are, therefre, to a great extent, in a transition state,
andthey are necessarily, as yet, in very great doubts as to what wil be the effet of
tht recent mvement of meat importation. Thus, while turing their attention to
deir own oondition, hey ardisposed to look, at the saine time inte the circnm-
stane of the ountries whce the moat supplies have cosse. Mr. echi stats
that. as the capital of the Kingdom increases doeos the size of thrm hodins;
fam is added to farm the residencey bing occupied by farm aborenrs. n some
instances the holdings have been increa d to the exteut of six or seven thousand
acres. We have one such instance in eryg, and many of from 600 to 2,0f0 acres.
So long as ths country inere es in wealththis will go on." Ho goes on to cotend
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that farming capital, by the substitution of>ateam for hors. power in agriculture, as it
has bée in o àaiganýfactures, loc ögn l 4vition, mist verygreatly increased.
TenàtiifarW thus thiown ôf théit 1dnge, ad a t0 operation 'cn-
verting farms into parks, will be likely to emigrate if they see they can do better.

Q. Can you inform the Committee to what extent the meat trade is being carried
ýon ?-It is certainly assuming very large proportions, and companies Mïe bising
formed to carry it on. Many of the steamships are being specially fitted 'p forits
,conveyance, the railways on this aide having refrigerator cars to convey ýtt > the
ship, aid on the other side to convey it from Liverpool to London. I was informed
on Saturday last that the Dominion Line was making arrangements to convey large
numbers both of cattle and horses. The indications are that Canada and aru
.of the United States bid fair to become to England what [reland and Sotlmid Uve
been, so far as relates to meat supplies, and the effect of this upon immigration to
-Canada must be very considerable.

Q. Your answer leads to another question-that is, as to the manner in which
<our meat is viewed in England, and if it is considered to be equal to the beef raeod
by the Irish and Scotch stoek raisers ?-1 think I did state in my previous examina-
tion that it is considered to be equal to Scotch prime, which is the highest standad,
.and Mr. Tallermann, a large dealer of imported meat in London, advertises that if
his weekly supply should fail to be sufficient for his orders, he would fil themwitir
Scotch prime for the balance.

Q. By a Member.-Is there not danger of our glutting the market ?-.Certainly J
not, from any possible exportations of meat from Canada When the census wa
taken in 1871, the total number of horned cattle in the Dominion was only aboutwo
and a half millions, and the number killed or sold during that year was about haif
a million. The increase in the number of cattle has probably not beeia very large
since that time; at any rate, the number of cattle that could at once be spared feim
,Canada would not appreciably affect the English market. Of eourse a very bu"
demand might and would very soon increase the supply from Canada. I think-t
question of competition from the immense herds of Texas, driven up to Chieagemd
sent thence in quarters, by refrigerator cars, to the Atlantic seaboard, is a far more
important one for us to consider. An ox among the vast herds on the south-western
plains is only worth about five dollars, and the question is, what he can be driven to
-Chicago for, and, after being reduced to quarters, sent to the seaboard ? White I
cannot say what may be the ultimate effect of a competition of this kind, it is certai
that at present the margin between prices in England and Canada is sufficient oir a
profitable trade. I may add that I see it reported in the English newsppers' th*
the French have fitted out a steamer called the "Prigorifique," for the purpose ofoou-<'
veying meat in a dead state from the Tropies to France. An accident happenel.o
her machinery on her first trip, detaining her some weeks in the tropica, but she
yet took her cargo home in a perfect state. This fact not only settles the quesden
of the possibility of carrying meat successfully in warm weather, but broachlite
-question of a possible competition with South America, where many thousandaed
-cattlà are annually slaughtered for their bides and fat. I may further say, as te th*
extent'of the market in -eeA Britain, that without having made à spëcial study'of
such figures as may be obtained, 1 have noticed in some pamphlets which haws
been pulished on ths subMeot that accogliug to Mr. Wentworth Scott, the amount#
imeat annually consumed there wassome years ago,;281,000 000 lbs.' äan hi*èh-
mnat4 the capability of cXnsamption, th keep the population in comfort in.,tbw
rea to be ;A,54,gg9Q e. n l
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THURS-DAY, 22nd March, 1877.
MR. SPENCE.-SECRETARY IMMIGRATION DEPARTERNT, ONTARIO.

LANDS AVAILABLE FOR SETTLEMENT IN ONTARIO-SPECIAL CIROIMSTANCES OF IMMIGRA-
TION TO THAT PROVINCE.

Mr SPENCE appeared before the Committee.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Please state your name, designation of your office, and the number of
years' experience you have had ?-My name is David Spence; I am Secretary
of the Immigration Department for the Province of Ontario, and have been engaged
as such for over four years.

Q. Can you state to the Committee what number of acres, adapted for agricul-
tuiral purposes, are at the disposal of the Ontario Government; also, the num ber of
acres disposed of during the last ten years, or since Confederation. The object of
this question is to show that we have lands open to settlement, as very rash state-
ments have been made in Parliament to the effect that we had no land fit for settle-
ment ?-I am not prgpared to answer this question fully. In the Fr Grant
TeM.itory, between the Ottawa River and the Georgian Bay, there are near1y six
millions of acres surveyed, of which nearly a million and a-half acres are disposed of,
the rest being still in the hands of the Government. There are besides over three
millions of acres of unsurveyed land in the same territory at the disposal of the
Government. In the Algona district, there are probably thirty or forty millions of
acres, but I cannot give any reliable information respecting its adaptability for
agricultural purposes. As to the number of acres disposed of, I may explain that
since the adoption of the Free Grant system in 1868, the most of the arable land
disposed of by the Government has been settled under that system. Other lands
have been disposed of in different parts of the Province, and settled upon, but of
these I have taken no notice. On receipt of your summons on Monday last, 1 con-
densed the following statement from the reports of the Commissioner of (rown
Lands respecting the disposal of land in the Free Grant Territory under the Free
Grant and Homestead Act of 1868

Yer Q . C. '

M' 0 ge

1868................................ ...... . .. .............. 15 su ............... 82 2,120 ............ ......

1869.............................., .............................. 24 566 56,011 52 956 ........... ......

1870........................... . . ...................... 14 1,200 155,42711148 4,5851 ............ ......

1871. ...... ........................................... 1 1, 3 153,10 139 3,452 .....

1872.............................................. .............. 18 875 115,065 97 2,2681 148 ......

1873........................................ .................. 6 757 100,603J 79 5,038 381 ......

1874.............................................................. 10 919 119,070 57 2,144 453 75

1875............................. ................................ 1 1,387 186,807 I 89 3,896 381 570

1876 .............................. .................. ........ ......... 1,463 192,858 110 2,261 462 546

88 8,791 1,078,947 853 26,721J 1,825 1871
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In 1876 there were 'three more townships set spart for free grant ses,,
making in all ninety-two townships. These three are not included il n above
statement because they were.not formally opened for settlement within that yer.

By the Chairma:

Q. What is about the area of such townships ?- As near as I can estimate, ei¢h-
township will average about 50,000 acres, so that the total number of acres- se set
apart would be 4,500,000 or 5,000,000.

By the Chairman

Q. This number has'been set apart during that time for settlement ?-Yes, Under-
the free-grant system. It is to be understood that the Government has been in the
habit of surveyiig and appropriating lands as free-grants as they were required for
settlement.

By a Member of the Committee

Q. Are they still reserved ?-When the Government set these lands apart for
free-grant purposes, it reserved them for that purpose and no other. Of course, I
cannot speak in reference to the townships not yet appropriated as free-grants; or to-
those which may hereafter be surveyed, as to whether they will be set apart as free-
grants or otherwise.

By a Member:-

Q. Is the area given in the return, I would like to ask ?-The actual number of
acres of free-grant ]and taken up is given; the locatees on these numbered 8791; but
it will be seen from my statement, that some of these have been cancelled, fr-
non-fulfilment of settlement duties.

By a Member:-

Q. What is your approximate estimate of the population of the free-grant-
lands?--Ii forming an estimate of the population of the free-grant territory, it must
be borne in mind that, besides the locatees mentioned before, that during the last fow
years a large number of people have squatted in many of the townships not yet-
open for settlement; that quite a number had been settled there previously to the
adoption of the free-grant system; that the township of Ryerson, .which contains
158 families, is not included in the statement of locatees; aqd that the population'of
the villages must be counted separately. In putting all these together, I think I
should be near the mark in setting the population of all the free-grant districts at
50,000 souls. I believe that some of the townships not yet open for settlement, con-
tain a population as large as most of those that have been opened as free-grants. - As
for instance, the township of Perry. The population of these townships dowe not
figure in the returns. The township of Monteith is also opened up for
settlement. I may mention, that I have prepared a statement, of which I present a
copy, shewing in a tabular form the number of families settled in each of the free-
grant townships in each year, from 1868 to 1876, both inclusive. This is intended for
the information of people who are in search of land in those districts. (Statement
referred to appended to Mr. Spence's evidence.

By Mr. Cockburn:

Q. Are you aware that there is plenty of land in the free-grant distriets-
unoccupied at the present time ?-Those who go out there seem to find no diffimuI4r
in obtaining land that suits them, and of as good quality as that already settled upou
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Kycyownin pression is, moreover, that the lands now open for settlement are rather

By the Chaiman -

Q. That is an important point ?--As yon approach Lake Nipissing the land
is to be of good qualit. notiçed that in the surveyors report concerning the

1p of Nipissing ($h ha Been opened for settlement), it is stated that
per'cent. of the land is for agrifiltural puirposes ; and in the township of Guid,

which adjoiis it, 80 per cent. o'f the land is estimated to be'good. From the surveyoï•'s
reports and from conversations with several persons who had traversed those districts
I formed the opinion as already stated, that the tract of Iahd in that section is fully
as good, if not better than what has been already settled upon.

By a Member

I may say to the Committee that I know of eighty families who have squatted in
the township of Gurd in 1876; of course the Department has no knowledge of it.
Probably the reason that led so many to squat 1h that township, is that in passing
ethrough it they found the land better than in other townships which were open for
.settlemaent. The land in this township though surveyed has not been regularly opened
,up for location.

By Mr. Cockbwn:-

The Government only sends surveyors to lay out land when these are required. I
,nay say that I know about these squatters from the fact that many have applied for

-post offices. Information must be furnished to the Department under these circum-
stances, as to the number of families to be accommodated. We have no means of
know'ing this, save from petitions sent in, and we have now five post offices established

.outside of the lands which are in the market, and which are ready for location.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Has the Government of Ontario settled the policy of offering free grants of
,Crown Lands, and what are the conditions of settlement ?-Under the Free Grant
and lonestead Act, which came into force on the 28th February, 1868, every head
of a family having children under eighteen years of age, can obtain, gratis, two
hundred acres of land; any person arrived at the age of eighteen may obtain a grant
ot one hundred- acres in the Free Grant Districts. No such grant is to be made to a
peron under eighteen years of age, or for more than two hundred acres

Any locatee under the Act, being the male head of a family, is alfowed to pur-
chase an additional 100 acres at 50 cents per acre cash, at the time of such location,
subject to the sane reservations and conditions, and the performane of the same
settijment duties, as are provided in respect of Free Grant ecations by the 9th and
10th Sections of the Act, excépt that actual residence and building on the land pur-
chased-*ill net be required.

The settlement duties are :-to have 15 acres on each grant cleared and under
erop, of whieh at least two acres are to be cleared and cultivatod annually for five

; to b uId a habitable hoase, at least 16x 20 feet in size; and to
~ at least six monthe' in each eeanr.

There are other railations respecting timber, &c., but it may not be necessary
to enumerate them here.

By a Member :-

lOne of the, matters set forth in the, ton4itions relates to timber reserves; set-
ers o ttô* b inad&daare -it.
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By the Chairman:
Q. Do you mean settlers who are there, or settlers who intend to go there ?-

I allude to settlers who intend to go there.

By a Member:- Mr. Spence, you know that as a fact timber is reserved for fv
years?-Pine timber only is reserved, and the conditions state the reason why.
Exception, however, is made for such as may be sequired for fencing and other
necessary operations. If the pine timber is eut for any other purpose, the settler
miust pay dues to the Crown.

By the Chairman
Q. They have a right, however, to take it for their own use and for improvementa

on the property ?-Yes, this applies to ail timber. On the termination of the lveyears
the patent is issued, and the timber becomes the property of the settlers. The objeot
of the reservation of timber is to protect the bond fide settler and to ensure the actual
uettlement of the land. It is to prevent persons going upon it under pretence of set-
tlement, but in roality for the purpose of stripping it of the timber.

By à Member: -
I think that to the European immigrant this question of timber reserves is not a

matter of importance, for the simple reason that he does not belong to that lass
which settle on land for the sake of the timber. The class to whom it would be
valuable is to be found in our own midst; but the European immigrant is not anxions
to get rid of the timber in five years, because he wants to settie on the land and
occupy it as his home.

By a Mmber.
Q. But it becomes a serious annoyance to him to sec the timber eut on bis land?-

The further conditions are that, on the death of the locatee, the land veste in his
widow during her widowhood, unless she prefers to accept her dower in it. The land
cannot be alienated except by will, nor mortgaged until the patent is issued, nor within
twenty years of the location without the consent of the wife, if living. It is not at
any time liable to be sold under execution for any dobt contracted before or during
the twenty years after the location, except for a mortgage or pledge given after the
issue of the patent. It may be sold for taxes.

By a Member
Another thing known among ourselves is, that townships into which mauy

squatters have entered have been surveyed for a considerable time; the only reason
that these townships are not regularly located was that the Government wished to
dispose of the timber. It was contemplated to put these lands up for sale last year,
and this has kept back settlers. Persons desirous of settling demand to have them
put into the market and rendered open to location; but as this was not done they
squatted on the land. These people knew well enough where they were go and
the reason why the Government kept the land out of the market was in to
dispose of the timber.

By a Member
It is practically stripping the pine off the lots.

Ànother Member
There is no doubt about that. That is the practical result. The Govern*mt

wishes to get all the revenue possible out of these lands. t bas bean shown pr"ty
clearly that the previous Government did the same thing.

6-4 49
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By the Chairman: -
Q. Can you give us any information about the Free Grant lands, and the modes

of reaching them ?-The free grant system is conflned to the lands in the Algoma
and Nipissing districts, and the lands between the OttawaRiver and Georgian Bay,
to the west of a line drawn from a point opposite the south-east angle of the Town-
Bhip of Palmerston, north-westerly along the western boundary line of other town-
ships to the Ottawa River, and north of the northern boundaries of Oso, <Yden,
Kennebec, Kalador, Elzevir, Madoc, Marmora, Belmont, Dummer, SmithjEnnisusole,
Somerville, Laxton, Carden, Rama, and the River Severn. As to the mode of reach-
ing them-to that part of the district which lies to the west, settlers go by te
Northern Railway to Gravenhurst, thence by the Cockburn steamers through the
inland lakes to Rosseau, and thence by the colonization roads to the diffèrent parts of
the Free Grant lands. Settlers going into the eastern sections take the railways
from the front to the rear districts, and thence reach their destinations in a similar
manner to those settling in the west. Algoma district settlers go by steamers froin
Collingwood. The Free Grant lands are all quite accessible.

By the Chairman:
Q. And all the eastern section of Peterboro'?-That is also quite accessible.

By a .Member: -
Q. Some reach that section by Belleville and Renfrew ?-They can take different

routes to reach it.

By the Chairman
Q. Are there any barriers between the portion of the Province now settled and

the portion opened for colonization; can continuous settlements be made in the Free
Grant territory ?-There are no barriers, and settlements have been carried on very
continuously. It is true that, in some instances where better lands could be found in
the rear, settlers have shown a disposition to pass over nearer lands and reach those
further back; but in reality there are no barriers to prevent access to any part of
the Free Grant territory.

By the Chairman
Q. The object of my question was this; there is a range of mountains called the

Laurentian Range running up the Ottawa, and I merely wished to ascertain whether
continuously up to the Georgian Bay and in rear of these mountains good land was
not to be found; in order that people in reaching the slope of the mountain
might not imagine that this was the terminus of land fit for cultivation ?-As a ques-
tion of fact, teams leave Parry Sound or Rosseau and go to Lake Nipissing.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What are the market facilities in that section; what prices are given for

stock and agricultural products in these settlements ?-Small villages are springing
up in different parts of these districts; such as Gravenhurst, Bracebridge, Parry
Sound, Rosseau, Haliburton, &c. Orillia is not far from one portion of the settle-
ment. A good deal of the produce raised in these places is consumed by the new
settlers going in there; but near Lake Nipissing very high prices are obtained for
farm produce from lumbermen. A settler by the name of Beatty, who has
several hundred acres of land, makes a good deal of money in this way; he obtains
sometimes as high as $1 per bushel for his-oats. I am not prepared to give any
special information as to the price of stock.

By Mr. Cockburn
Q. I woul say, Mr. Spence, that there is a good market in Algoma, Graven-

hurst, Bracebridge and Parry Sound for everything which lumbermen desire to.

A. 187
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procure?-So far as I can learn, all that is rased in these quarters can be sold very
readily and at remunerative pricoes.

By a Member:

Q. You said that the price of oats was $1 per bushel ?-That was paid in a
very remote settlement. I did not mean to imply that that was a-usual price. I
merely mentioned that exceptional price to show what Wasgoing onin some distriets.
Beatty, I believe, was the only person, who, for some years raised any produce in
that section.

By a Member:

It is better for lumbermen to pay that, than draw oats 200 miles in sleighs

By the Chairman:

Q. The cost of transportation would equal the price ?-Yes; the transportation
at certain seasons of the year would certainly be difficult.

By the Chairman:-

Q. What are the chief agricultural products in the Free Grant territory, and the
ordinary yield per acre ?--They raise spring wheat to some extent in some parte; but
as the country is new, in many- sections, the principal products are oats, hartsy,
potatoes, and other root crops. I presume that the ordinary yield would not d
very materially from the general average in other parts of the country.

By the Chairman:

Q. Would the yield of the soil be better on the average than is usually the case?
-In making a comparison, I speak of the soil as compared with new lands in other
parts of the country. I may also state that, owing to the large supply of excellent
water; the abundant growth of natural grasses, which appear to be-very nutritions;
and the general healthfulness of the climate, this territory is eminently well adapted
for stock-raising, and for dairy purposes.

Q. You cannot, from hearsay, give any reliable information in regard to the
yield of the soit per acre ?-I cannot speak positively, or give any specific informa-
tion on this point.

Q. Does your Province present inducements for the immigration of men having
no capital but their labour, and who are content to remain mere labourera, until they
lay up sufficient capital to comrhence farming on their own account ?-In order to
make this matter clear, it may be well to state wliat has been done in former yearE.
In 1873 and 1874, the Ontario Government paid $6 per adult, to such farm laboureM
and female domestic servants as were selected in Europe and furnished with ertifi-
cates to that effect. In 1875, this bonus was paid only in reduction of the passge-
money of similar classes of emigrants. In 1876, the bonus was paid in the reduotio
of the passage-money of female domestic servants from Great Britain and Ireaad.

Q. But such assistance was not extended to males ?-In 1876, it was not generally
extended to males; but a bonus of £1 sterling was paid in reduction of the jpasg
money of such farm labourera as had their oceaa fares paidthrough the ImmJg-r*tic
Department, Toronto, by persons living in Ontario. It was considered that flari
labourers who left their families behind them, and other parties sending for faime
labourers or female domestic servants should receive assistance. People risking
their money in this way would not be apt to send for auy but good settlers and sueh
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as would he sure to remain in this Province. The same system that was in force in
1876 is continued in 1877; and applications are received at the Immigration Depart-
ment, Toronto, from parties wishing to bring their friends from any part of the
British lales to Ontario. After the applications are accepted in Ontario, the Depart-
ment attends to all furt her details and saves the applicants from Al further trouble.
It should be particulariy noticed that the amount of bonus paid for farm labourers is
one pound sterling, and that for female domestic servants one pound four shillings
and eight pence. The Government secures free passes for them from Quebec to
Ontario.

By a Member:-

Q. Is it the Local Goverriment whieh does this ?-The Local Government pays
two-thirds of the fare and the Dominion Government one-third. The Ontario
Government has an officer employed who convoys the immigrants from Montreal to
Toronto, supplies them with provisions on the way, and distributes them at their
various destinations. He brings the largest number of them to Toronto.

By a Member:-

Q. This is after they arrive at the boundary line ?-This officer generally goes
to the boundary line. The Dominion Government bas aiso a travelling agent, and
it is sometimes arranged that the Ontario offieer may go a little farther down, so
that the immigrants may be properly attended to. When the immigrants are left at
their respective agencies, they are sent by free passes to those parts of the Province
where their labour is required.

By the Chairman:-

Q. As a rule, these farm servants, I suppose, try to pick up land for themselves
in the cours.e of a year or two after their arrival, and obtain homesteads of their own ?
-The Department at Toronto advises them to work as farm labourers until they
gain experience and accumulate a little capital. As a rule, after they are here for a
few years, the industrious portion of them secure land for themselves. During the
current year, especially, large numbers of reeent immigrants have been making
enquiries about the Free Grant lands, and I am led to believe that many of them are
settling there.

Q. What are the average monthly wages for farm labourers and female domestic
servants, and how many months in the year can such immigrants get ready employ-
ment ?-The rate of wages depends on the locality and season of the year. During
the harvest of 1866 there were instances of men getting as high as $30 per imonth,
with board, say for a period of two months ; for periods of five to six months during
the summer sesson, $20 per month have been paid; the average wages per year
would be about $150 with board.

Q. What is the case with respect to female domestic servants?-In the city of
Toronto temale domestie servants get from $5 to 88 per month with board; some
girls who are good cooks can readily obtain $10 per month with board. Probably
the average wages is about 87 per month.

Q. And that continues all the year round ?-Yes; there is no difficulty in
obtaining employment at all seasons of the year for any number of female domestie
servants of suitable age and good character, and who thoroughly understand house-
hold work. The great dificulty is to supply the demand.

By a Member
Q. Is the demand for females greater than for males ?-I think so. We receive

52



40 Victoria. Appendix (No. 6) A. 1877

applications from all parts of the country for female domestic servants, but the orders
cannot at all times be supplied, as most of the girls are picked up in the principal
centres of population as they arrive, although ear poliey is to distribute =am as
much as possible over th. Province. Probably, on the whole, femalo domuestic
servants would do better i-n the country. but their inclination is to remain in the
cities.

Q. Are improved farms in Ontario usually rented; if so, at what price per acre,
or is it customary to let farms on shares; what proportion does the owner usually
get ?-This is done to some extent; but as a general rule farms are worked by the
owners. The average rent in most districts in Ontario, for cleared land, would be,
about $4 per acre. Farms could be obained in many places for much less; but in
the neighbourhood of cities and towns, rents would, be much higher; probably $86
per acre w~ould be a fair average for lands so situated.

Q. What part of the country can $4 per acre be obtained ?-In parts of the
counties of Bruce, Huron and Wellington.

Q. Don't you think that a rather high estimate ?-

By a Member:- à

It is high for my section of country.

By the Chairmanx:

It is also high for my sectiow

By a Alember :-

It is not too high for mine.

By the Chairman:-

Q. I know that $2 per acre is not received for some of the farms ?-Goodland
in the cointy of Bruce will not rent for that amount ($4). Of course, this is for
the cleared land; the bush land is given in.

Q. Near Walkerton ?-In Annan, North Bruce.

By a Member:-

Q. Owners of land do not view vory favourably the leasing of their farma; do
they ?-They do not, as a general rule; those who are in the prime of life prefr to
work their own land; they are afraid of their farms» being abused.

By a Member:-

Q. As a speculation it does not pay ?-Lands that are offered for rent are generally
owned by persons well up in years or in bad health.

By a Member:-

Q. Or by widows who cannot work them ?-Yes. In reference to the taiing of
farma on shares, I may state that this is donein some instances, but it is the reeption
rather than the rule.

Q. Is it not generally the rule that land being so easily obtained people prefer
'get land of their own ?-That is the-rule; when mon accumulate a little capital
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they prefer to secure land for themselves. When farms are týken on shares, the
owner generally leaves the implements and stock on the farm at a valuation, to be
returned afi er the expiration of the contract at the same value. The tenant supplies
the seed and gives half the produce or outcome of the farm to the owner.

By the Ohairman :

Q. Is one-half about the usual share ?-Yes, of stock and crop.

. What tracts of unsettled lands in the Province of Ontario require the con-
etruetion of railroad to induce settlers ?-I do not think that any portions of the
territory laid out as free grant land absolutely require railways, in order to induce
settlement; but there is no -question that settlement would be much accelerated by
the construction of railways into these districts. It is a question of acceleration
rather than of absolute necessity.

By the Chairman :

Q. And to finances as well ?---Yes. As to the northern portions of these districts,
say the Nipissing fbr instance, should a railway be built from French River to some
point on the Ottawa River, as was proposed some time ago, and railways be extended
from the frontier townships to tap it, there would be very little trouble experienced
in settling that part of the country. I believe that settlers would rush in as fast as
the railways were built.

A Member :-There is no doubt about that.

By the Chairman :-

Q. But as a rule the Free Grant Territory is easy of access either by water or
by railway in the meantime ?-In the m'antime this is the case; the colonization
roads are also to be taken into consideration.

Q. Could farms be purchased suitable'for the tenant farmers of Great Britain,
who are in possession of moderate means ?-The price would depend much on the
locality; such lands are to be found in different parts of the country, but it is difficult
to say what number could be obtained in any particular district. When immigrants
with means arrive, we advise them to work in some suitable part of the country and
gain experience before they purchase. This will enable them to find out such lands
as are for sale in their neighbourhood. The most of those men find lands to suit
them. We advise immigrants with small means to go to the newer districts, and
those with larger means, who wish to buy cleared land, to the older settlements. In
some parts of the country a man with £200 sterling may secure a partially cleared
farm.

By the Chairman:

Q. In a new settlement ?-Yes. In older parts of the country he would have
to pay $4,000 for such a farm. 0f course in some of the best districts $70 per acre
would have to be paid. I believe that during the last year farms of 100 acres have
been sold as high as-$10,000, but this price is exceptionable.

By a Member:- -

Q. That depends entirely on the chaÎiiater of the buildings and of the improve-
ments ?-A man possessed of $3,000 or 84,000 may secure a very comfortable farm.
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By the Chairmm

Q. You have reference to free-hold farms, of oourse ?-Yes. In the 1feo Grmat
Territories farms might be purchased from $100 to $200.

By a Member
Q. It is difficult to purchase a farm in the Free Grant District until the occupant
fulfilled the conditions of settlement and obtained his patent ?-Yes.

A Member :-Such occupants are not allowed to settle without special perm on

By the Chairman

Q. Do you know anything about the mineral deposits of Ontario ?-No.

Q. Can you state what pamphlets and other documnents calculated to promut
inImigration are circulated by the Immigration Department ?-I may explain that th
Ontario Government leaves the gerieral question of immigration to e Deminiot
Go'ernment, and that it confines its efforts to the bringing ont such immigranti M
are in special demand in0Ontário. It publishes an immigration map with Wfornie.'
tion on the, b4ck of it, which guplies the place of a pamphlet. The lat ed2"iomalh
issued in 1875 for the immigration seàon of 1876. Dûëing that peiod 50;000eopIes
have been printed and cira ed. Some more have been issued since, but I canheo
state what number has been circulated.

The Chairman :-I think it is the desire of the Committee that there shouldibe
published a map of the Province of Ontario, if we could only get one of the ordinary
size, and have a large number of them struck off.

By Mr. Horton

Q. Was the increase of settlers as much last year as usual ?-It was a good desL
larger than usual last year. In 1874, 119,070 acres were taken up in the Free Grant
districts; in 1875, 186,087 acres, and in 1876, 192,857 acres, so that a very conaider-
able increase has taken place..

By a Member:

Q. Are those who avail themselves of the Free Grant system general immi-
grants ?-As the immigrants, on their arrival, are distributed all over the Province
and only move to the Free Grant Territory after they accumulate sone capital, we
have no means of getting the exact proportions.

By the Chairman -

Q. I suppose that a large proportion of the settlers and of the squatters are
Canadians ? -Many of them undoubtedly arm.

By a Member

Q. I was going to ask what average amount of capital follows those im mi
grants; do merchants, millers and others follow as in oider sections, or dO those who
settle in free grants beco me merchants in their turn ?-As settlements are made,
merchants and others move in as in old settlements; water privilegs are soon
appropriated. I may state for instance that an immigrant from Switzerland went to
t1e Township of Armour a few days ago, te take possession of a; water piivage
which his father found when in the Province last faIL When the old gentianias
returned to Switzerland, he sent his son with eight other men ahead of him to the
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Free Grant Territory. He has considerable means, and intends to build mills on
the said site.

By a fember

Q. That township was only surveyed the winter before last ?-It was not opened
for settlement when the Swiss gentleman was here, but having taken a particular
fancy to it, lie resolved to squat in it.

Witness then read the following statement:-
" In the Township of Ryerson there are 45,000 acres of land over and above

lakes and rivers, and, under the Settlers' lomestead Fund Act, the Government has
cleared four or five acres of land, and built a log house on each of thirty-eight lots in
that township, and on each of thirteen lots in Spenee Township. Four acres, of land
have also been cleared on each of twenty-one lots in Ryerson Township, upon which
the settlers built their own houses. Fifty-eight families have been located apon
improved lots in the same township; 100 families on unimproved lots, and ten
families on improved lots in Spence Township. In all about 32,000 aci es have been
thug settled during the last four years. The settlers have from ten to forty acres
each eleared on their lots. There are three post offices and two schools within its
limite. The settlers also enjoy the privilege of attending religious sei-vices. The
settlement is a very promising one. The settlers for the most part have been resi-
dents of the Dominion for three or four years, or longer. The Government officials
discourage as far as possible newly-arrived immigrants from settling on wild land,
and very few of them do so until they have blome fauiliar with the climate and the
mode of clearing and farming,"

This information is &ivçn by Mr. William Edwards, Secretary of the Public
W9rks Department.

.fy îMr. Paterson

Q. Is there a falling away in the population of the townships or villages which
have sprung up in these districts by the leaving of parties who have gone in there
and who have found that the location did not answer their purpose ?-A good many
go in in that way, and leave the district, and I find that soine who have so gone in
and taken up lots have moved to other places in the district.

By the Chairman:-

Q. They had picked up better land I suppose ?-I presume so.

By Mr. Paterson

Q. Do you find that a point has been reached in settlement that has not been
maintained ?-I-find in the report of the Commissioner of Crown Lands a remark
bearing upon that point.

Q. The point I want to get at is whether a point of prosperity has been reached
which you have. been unable to maintain ?-I find that there have been instances of
that kind, where several parties have taken up locations and moved away, but, I
notice that the Commissioner of Crown Lands states that these grants have been
cancelled and handed over to other parties who located on the lots.

Q. This would still preserve the population ?-I am not very clear on that point.

By a Mmber :-
Q. What Mr. Patterson wants to know is whether there bas been any decrease in

the population of villages or settlements in these districts ?-I think not.
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By Mfr. Paterson

Q. There has been no retrogading in that respect ?-Not that I am awre of
There have been cases of course where parties have taken up locations and lft tJwe,.
but wherever these lands have been good, they have been located to others.

Mr. Paterson :-That maintains the population.

By the Chairman
Q. Those who moved away were not likely the first pioneers who have gone te

more favorable locations ?-Sometimes people go ont there at an unseasonable time
of the year, and take up lots, and afterwards fÈnd that these lots açe not good.

By a Member:-
Q. And then these persons may not be suited to the country?-Yes. Under

such circumstances they very often leave.

Q. I think I have heard of a large number of Germans having settled thereý.
and of most of them having left ; do you know anything about that ?-I do not.

FnAY, 23rd March, 1877

MR. J. A. DONALDSON-GOVERNMENT IMMIGRATION AGENT.

PLACING AND WAGZS OF IMMIGRANTS.

Mr. JoHN A. DONALDSON, Dominion Government Immigration Agent at Tozonto*
appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman:

Q. Please state your name and the number of years' experience you have had au
Immigration Agent ?-John A. Donaldson; I have been an Immigration Agent for
sixteen years-since 1861. I am in the employ of the Dominion Government,
and I am located in Toronto.

Q. What is the nature of the engagement generally made with agricultural
labourers ?-On farms the engagements with agricultural labourers. in fact, extend
for periods ranging from one month to all the year round ; labourers' engagements
are made acc rding to the time farmers may want them.

Q. Doyou find ready employment for them as a rle ?-Yes, Sir.

Q. You have no difficulty in securing engagements for them ?-No.

Q. They are in great demand ?-Yes.

Q. Both males and females ?-For both, Sir; we have never had so many of
them in the Agency that we could not distribute them. In fact, while on ths point
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anay state that some two years ago the demand was so great that one man came from
the neighbourhood of Clinton, 12 miles distant, and remained at the agency for a
-week'or ton days to send up parties to his friends and neigLhbours, in order to get
the hands required in that part of the country. We have Mr. Blain also; he is a con-
-tractor for drainage works; he sometimes comes to the Agency week after week to get
hands for drainage work. The wages he pays vary from $1 to $1.25 a day, and the
men can get board in the neighbourhood for $3 a week. We have had also Mr.
Miller, who is pretty well known as a cattle raiser at Pickering; he as made appli-
cation for hands to woik on his farm, which is very large. I -merely mention these
.cases to show what the demand is.

Q. Do you get numerous applications asking for labourers ?-Yes ; we get quite
;a number; both personal and by letter.

Q. Are many of such labourers engaged for the summer only, and what propor-
-tion are so engaged ?-The larger proportion are engaged for the summer only.

Q. That applies to the male portion ?-Yes.

Q. Females are engaged for the whole year ?-They are engaged by the month;
the demand for them is always very great.

Q. What are the chances of agricultural labourers engagod for the summer of
finding employment for the winter, and are there any considerable number who do
not find cmployment ?-This I look upon as the most important question which you
have put so far. I find that any industrious man who intends to do well by his
.employer and who has been engaged on a farm for six months, has no difficulty in
getting employment afterwards, either with bis previons employer or with some one
in that neighborhood, provided he will accept lower wages. We find farmers under
.such circumstances, willing to give 88 or $10 a month during the winter. This
applies to such men as I describe as being good farm labourers,-and any ploughman
is a good farm laborer-and who are competent to do man's work on a farm. I never
find any difficulty with men who intend to do for themselves; of course there are
characters that now and again we have to deal with who are not of this class. I
wish to mention another matter. If any party of that description writes back to me
And states that he las some difficulty in securing employment, I refer him to the
Reeve of the Township in which he lives, and I tell the Reeve, that as the Govern-
ment have been so liberal in furnishing free passes to these men, to send them to
the locality for the benefit of their farmers during the summer, I feel that it is his
.duty to find employment for them during the winter. It is very seldom that I ever
fail in obtainiing a suitable response in that way.

Q. Is there enough of work on farms in the winter to employ all those immi-
grants only employed for the summer ?-I do not think, that as a rule, there is a
sifficient amount of work to employ all those men in winter.

Q. Are there other means in winter to get work at lower rates ?-There is work
to be had at lower wages; for instance, a very large amount of cordwood comes into
Toronto both by the railways and by teams; in fact an immense quantity comes in
by way of the Nipissing Line and the Toronto, Grey & Bruce Railway; I suppose
that Gooderham & Worts themselves employ two or three hundred men during
,inter alone. We have no didiculty in sending men to these places if they are
inclined to work. I am quite aware of the noise made about so many people being
out of employment in winter, -and making their way back to the cities and villages;
but in point of fact the bulk of these men are not immigrants; they chieify belong
to the class called tramps, or idle men who go about the country depending on
carity or what they may obtain from charitable institutions.
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Q. A great many would not work if it was offered them?-, great many#of them
would not work if they had the opportunity. I wili give an instance in point- .,Tweo
or three days before I came down, two men, both able and strong, who had ber
since last fall, came back and said that they could not find work ; fortunately,
the very day after their arrival Mr. Porter- came down from Trafalger to obtaint i
and I sent for those two persons; one of them engaged with him for $13 a month
and board'for nine months fron that date ; we had the greatest diffleulty in indb6ing
the man to go there, and we gave him a pass to Oakville, the nearest station, -butPI
do not think that he went. I merely mention this to show with what characters we
have sometimes to deal.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Ias the supply of agricultural labourers at any time exceeded the demand-?-
No, Sir; we have never had too many of them at our Agency since I have had any-
thing to do with it.

Q. And that is the class which comes under your notice as being chiefly wanted ?-
Yes; they are chiefly agricultural labourers for whom application is made.

Q. They are forwarded to your Agency?-Yes; with working men for other
works, such as navvies, &c,

By a Member:-

Q. I suppose that these men can obtain eniloyment on the public wôrlrsin
winter, on such works as canals ?-A very great deal of employment is afforded them
in Toronto. A good many men are taken to labour at the water works.

Q. Duriug the winter ?-Yes; they are also engaged on corporation works.

Q. Work was obtainable on the Lachine and Grenville canal works during tIe
past winter ?--Yes; also on the Welland canal. We sent a number there.

By the Chairman :

Q. Could they work in winter on the Welland canal ?-Quarrying is done during
this season; a great deal of other work is also done in winter, but of course not so
much as is done during summer.

Q. Do you suppose that, if a man is disposed to work, he can obtain it during
winter, at a reasonable rate of wages ?-I do. I am quite satisfied that farmers are
prepared to take men on if they will only accept such wages as they eau afford to
give during the winter.

By Mr. Little:-

Q. Were there no immigrants who arrived in..Toronto in 1875-6, whoe were
unable to find work during the fall and winter ? and if they were unable t fnd
work how did they receive assistance-was it from the city or the corperation, or
from your department ?-We have had some cases of people coming back a secoud
time, and of course we feel inclined to treat them all liberally. We never allow men
to go away hungry.

Q. I am referring to the year 1875-6. What number of immigrants were
relieved by the corporation during that year ?-I cannot say.

Q. Were there none so aided ?-I have no means of knowing whether that was
the case or not.
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Q. Are you not aware that during that year distress existed among immigrants
who were unable to find work ?-No, sir ; if immigrants would take our advice when
they come out, and go into the country, we very seldom find them come back again;
but there are portions of them that will remain in the cities in spite of all the
advice that we give them. Of courbe we cannot be held accountable for these
persons afterwards, and the corporation may have had to take care of them. No
doubt those were among the ones who were assisted.

Q. Did no immigrants return and state that they could not finI work in the
country ?-Not if they were men who were disposed to work; I have not found any
of this clas making any such complaint.

Q. I know that in our county we were troubled with immigrants who had but
recently come out, and who could not find work; and even if work could be found
for them they asked such exorbitant wages that it was utterly impossible for farmers,
to employ them.

Witness:-Then in that case just let them go and they will soon come to time.
This is just the class of men with whom it is so difficult to deal.

A Member :-And they degenorate into tramps?

Mr. Little :-Our county was filled with tramps.

A Member :-The country is over run with them.

.Mr. Little:-I do not say that all the tramps were immigrants but I do think
that a great proportion of them were newly arrived from Europe.

Witness :-If the Chairman would allow me I would ask Mr. Little if he is aware
how many immigrants made application for aid at Bradford, just in his Riding ?

Mr. Little:-All I can say in answer to that question is that the county of Simcoe
lait year provided $5,000 for the relief of its poor.

Mr. Donaldson:-I do-not doubt that.

Mr. Little :-A great number of these poor persons were those who could work
who had had work at one time, and who could have laid by money, but who did not
de, ao; and then they were thrown on our hands.

Mr. White (Hasting)-It is a shame for any County Council, entrusted with the
people's money, to appropriate $5,000 for the relief of tramps.

-Mr. Little:-In many cases, women and children came and asked for assistance
and we had to provide for them.

Ohairman:-Have you any means of knowing whether these were immigrants?
It is possible some of them may have perpetrated a fraud on you for the purpose of
creating sympathy.

Mr. Little :-I say that the money was appropriated for the poor.

Okairman:-Yes; but you made it appear that those seeking relief were imm1

grante.
Mr. Little :-Some of thein undoubtedly were immigrants.

Chairman:-What means have you of knowing?

.Ar. Little :-Prom their own ipse diit.
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OAairman :-Are you not aware that they often put kn that plea to obtain
ýsympathy?

Mr. Little:-We know that very well, but we cannot see them want; we are
-obliged to aid them when they make application; very often we smd them to
Toronto, where they come from; and I wanted to aak Mr. Donaldson what nmuber
'were thrown back on hie hands.

Witness-1 can't tell the number that were thrown back on our hands, bet
,were very few; when men come to us with stories of that kind we send them buk
to where they come from to ask for aid; if they do not go there we know nothing
further about them. I have found one remedy, and a very permanent one, for that
state of things; we stop all supplies and give no more meals, and these men then
,never come near us any more.

By Mr. Little:

Q. You have no means of knowing what the City Fathers did for themr?-
I am not responsible for that.

Q. I suppose you are aware that a large number were assisted by the Corporation
-of Toronto ?-A number of poor persons are always assisted by the Corporation
-during the winter season.

Mr Little-Because there was no work for them.

Chairnan-There are so many people in all countries who are so improvident
that though they obtain good wages during the summer they make no provision fbr
.the winter.

By Mr. WAite (Hastings)

Q. Is any fault to be found with immigrant agents for sending men to the
,country as farm labourers who turn out not to be so ?-No, Sir.

Mr. White--There is no use in finding fault with the agents for this; how can
they tell who or what are those who ask for assistance to come to this country or
where they come from? I only blame members for finding fault with agents in this
respect; I know from a little experience I have had that they are anxious to .0ûd
out just the immigrants we want. Agents cannot help being deceived by îmôwtire
and there is no use finding fault with them for such results, as the mistake is not
made intentionally.

Witness:-Some of Mr. Little's remarks were particularly applicable to that
sort of thing. A man may come and represent himself to some agent at home as
a farm-labourer, because he knows that a reduction of fare is allowed to this clas.
They cannot always get the real kind of men they want ; but again, quite a number
-of people come on their own account into the country.

By Mr. W&ite ( Hastings):

Q. Do you know that the agents at Belfast, Dublin and in the South of Ireland
live hundreds of miles apart, and that parties apply at these different places, about
whom they know nothing, and that they are often imposed upon ? Do you believe
that this is the case ?-They may be sometimes imposed on.

By the Chairman:

Q. Please state the general rate of wages of engagements by the month for the
summer only, and for the year, and what rate labourers engaged by the month in
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summer will get in winter ?-The average rate of wages is from $16 to $20 per
month, with board, for six months of the year, and some men getnore. In a state-
ment of this kind, I inypriably like tO keep under the mark, if anything; I do not
wish to let people who may see this statement come out here and tell us, " why,
hre is an official statement which you have made before the Immigration Com-
mittee," for instance, " but we cannot get the rate of wages mentioned in it," and
therefore I am a little careful in keeping my statements within moderato bounds.
Mr. Spence told you yesterday that from $25 to $30 a month was known to be paid
farm labourers; [ have known this to be done myself, but these are exceptional cases.
The more usual rate of wages is from $16 to $20 per month, or from $150 to $200
per year, with board.

By a Member :-Does that statement refer altogether to farm-labourers ?-Yes,
Sir.

By a Member:-That is higlier than is paid in our section of the country.

Witness:-I find that in various counties rates of wages differ.

Mr. White (Hastings) :-That is about the figure in our section.

Chairman:-From $150 to $200 a year are given to farm-labourers in our
neighbourhood.

Witness:-I may state that at our office a very large portion of these people are
taken away by the farmers themselves.- We have the Township of York and the
Township of Scarboro' near us, and farmers come from these places and from
Pickering, and up in that neighbourhood, to obtain labourers. They come down and
take therm away with them, and I see them make their agreements very often in the
office, and, consequently, I know what the rate of wages is. They make their
bargains in our presence, and this is about the average run of wages they get--from
$150 to $200 a year. It is quite possible that the rate may be a little lowor this
year, asthe times are not so good as they have been. Very much will depend on
the prospects of the present crop. I have been making enquiry through my division
lately, and I find that farmers hesitate a little more in engaging labour than they
have done in other years since the beginning of the general depression. They are
waiting to see what will be the resuilt of the weather on the winter wheat of the
country. If the wheat escapes injury, and we are likely to have such a crop as
present appearances make probable, times will be botter. I suppose that the
prospects were never botter about this time of the year of the crops not being
injured by the frost. I am just as satisfied as I ever was that we shall not have any-
thing like the supply of farm labourers to meet the demand that will be made for
them this year immediately after the first of April.

By the Chairman:-

Q. You have not stated to the Committee what wages farm labourers get during
the winter months.-They obtain during the winter from 88 to $10 a month; that is,
any man who chooses to work for that can do so. There is a great deal of work to
be done about farmers' places during this season. A great many of the farms are
pretty, large consisting of 200 acres, etc., and many of themr are even a great deal
more extensive than that; consequently there is a great deal of work to be done in
taking care of stock, cutting Wood, and doing " chores " generally, as it is called.

By Mr. Little :-

Q. What farmers give the rate of wages you have mentioned ?-The farmers in
the districta I have mentioned give it.
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Q. $10 a month ?-from $8 to $10 a month.

Q. During the winter season ?-Yes; there was Mr. Malholland, who came and
hired some men at our place at that rate a little time ago.

By the Chairman:-

Q. As respects other kinds of labourers besides agricultural or artizans, what is
the demand ?-The demand for artizans has been very small, I may say, altbough -a
fair share of carpenters, masons and bricklayers obtain employment, beca*sê the-
weather had been so very favourable that a great deal of work has been going on in
Toronto during this season, and men can get employment there. Then there is also-
chopping to be doue; if a man is anything of a good hand at the axe he can chop two
cords of wood a day, and this at sixty cents a cord will make his wages about $120
a day, and he can get board at $3 a week. There is also a great deal of work to be
done about sawmills and the timber regions; there is a good deal of employment to.
be got of that kind in the country generally.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Do you think mon would have no difficulty in cutting two cords of hardwood a
day ?-No; in the bush no trouble at all would be found in doing it; it is coneidered
a good day's work, and farmers expect thom to do it.

Q. Can you give the Committee any information respecting purchases of farms
by immigrants in Ontario, and state the general prices?-Yes; I know of quit:e a
number of immigrants who have purchased farms in Ontario; the prices vary of
course, according to location and quality of the land and the improvements made on
it. A great many of them have purchased farms to my knowledge, during the years-
that I have been employed in my present position. The prices vary according to-
the kind of farm they want; I have known a great many farms sold there at $40 an
acre, $45 and $50 an acre, and some as high as $60 an acre.

By the Chairnan:-

Q. That is an improved farm with good substantial buildings on it ?-Improved
farms with good substantial buildings on them bring that price; but farms in the-
County of Simcoe. in Mr. Little's part of the country, could be got cheaper; they
would probably bring from $25 to $30 an acre; I think less of the land is cleared in
that section. I have been speaking of ordinary farms of one hundred acres, with
seventy-five or eighty cleared, and with good barns on them, and perhaps an orchard.
There are quite a number of farms for sale just now; I keep a register of them. We
ask farmers to send us word when they wish to sell, and I suppose that the listof
farms for sale on the books numbers from fifty to sixty. We take all the particulars,
and have seen most of the farms ourselves; the prices are $40, $45 and $60 an acre.

By a Member:-

Q. What counties have you reference to ?-I allude to the Counties of York
Ontario, and adjoining counties in my division, about the City of Toronto. I may
tell you that the work of the agents is divided. My division lies along the Grand
Trunk Railway, as far as Wellington Square, to the west, taking in the Northern
Railway, the Nipissing Railway, and part of the Toronto, Grey & Bruce Railway.
Of course thelagent at Hamilton takes in the Great Western Railway in his division.
We have another agent at London, and his division takes in the territory beyond
that city. Of course, I cannot answer for them; I can only speak concerning the,
counties around Toronto.
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.By the Chairman:
Q. Cannot immigrants procure a comfortable farm and home, with a little

improvemen't on it, m the newly-settled parts of the country, for $1,000 or £200
sterlin. ?-Certainly.

Q. Are there many such places, to your knowledge, that can be procured ?-I
think that they can be found, for instance, in Orillia, and in that section of the
country farms can be got with some improvementa on them.

Q. Farms of one hundred acres, with twenty acres improved ?-Yes; I know of
a farm within a mile of the village of Orillia, that bas no improvements on it, that
can be had for about $1,500.

By a Member:-
Q. Orillia is now a town ?-Yes.

Q. Do you think that such farms would suit tenant-farmers coming over from
the Old Country-I mean farms in such a rough state ?

The Ciairman:-It might suit those with very small means, especially if they had
.a family of young men to improve it.

By Mr. Farrow:-I thought that you would get information calculated to bring
eut tenant-farmers who had considerable capital, in order that they might take hold
of farms worth about $4,000 or $5,000, and probably $6,000, pay one-half down, get
.time for the rest. I think that class would suit Canada better than the other.

Chairman :-But there are classes, of tenant-farmers who are not possessed of so
-much means.

Mr. Farrow :-There are a great many tenant-farmers in the Old Country just
:now who are possessed of considerable means.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What are the chiof difficulties experienced by European immigrants who

come to this country who are desirous of setting on lands ?-I suppose the chief
difficulty is the want of capital and experience.

By a Member:-
Q. I supposed you avoided inexperience. I understood you to say that you

filways advised them to work for a year or two on farms if possible ?-I do always.

By a Member :-I think that is a very good idea.

Witness:-We never allow men to go to the Free Grant Settlement immediately
gafter their arrival in the country, if we can avoid it. We advise them, under such
.circumstances, to spend a year, and often more than that, on farms in the front, in
.érder that they may obtain experience.

By a Member :-I think that is a very good principle.

Witnes:-That is doue before we allow them to venture into the Free Grant
Districts.

B9 Member :
Q. Do you ever find headstrong people, who will not be advised ?-Very

•frequently that is the case; they come to us for advice and we find afterwards that
,they have not taken it.



By a Member-I have given such advice myseif and it has not been followed.
Witnes-In faet a strong feeling exista on the part of every immigrant oming

auto the country to get hold of land anm to get on it as soon as sble. h int,1s
&ave diffleuly mi preventing people acting in that way very , but I knee #
Lave no chance at all, very frequeatly, if tliy do no.

By tke Chaiman:-

Q. Have you had occasion recently of visiting the Free Grant settliements: if
*so, what are their prospecte and present position? What kinds of timber did you

observe in those settlements ?-I took a short trip through the district last sammer.
*Two gentlemen came out from England, and I was instructed to take them up Md
show them the Free Grant section. One of them was the London correspondent o
the Globe, and the other was a gentleman belonging to the press. I took em upa
far as the head of Lake Rousseau. On our way back we came ini the vicinity of aa
agricultural show, which was being held at a distance of some two miles fir the
lake. Captain Cockburn stopped the boat and let us off, and I took tjiem up to th*

.exhibition, which was for the township. They saw the agricultural products of the
meighbourhood and they expressed themselves wonderfully delighted at the suooes
ofthe farmers of that district. They expressed themselves highly pleased with the
-pects of that section of the country.' W e heard no complaints from the parties of om
-we made enquiry, and quite a number attended this agricultural exhibition, as iW
always the case. We asked them how they were getting on, and soine said they
had had a good deal of trouble and had had to do a great deal of hard work to get
along with small means; but, as a general rule, no complainte were made other than
,those one might hear in any new country.

By the Chairman:-

Q. What was said with regard to timber, grain, corn, cattle, etc. ?-There w-su-
<quite a number of etock and oxen there, but there was no stock for sale on exhibition.1They looked just as well as cattle in any other part of the country. I might alse-
inention, while speaking of stock in a new settlement, this circumstance: there was.-
a gentleman who came out from England four or five years ago, or longer, and whl».
was unfortunately drowned the other day in Muskoka. ie was one of the mo4
active settlers, I su ppose, that we had in the country for a short time. He had a.
little means, some £300, and he started business as a butcher. He afterwards became
a drover and he bought cattle all through the country, and he knew everythin
about this sort of business. He told me le was surprised how quickly the ettie
became fat. This took place at least two weeks sooner than in any of the front
townships. He gave as his reason for this, that water was plentiful while the cattle
lad an abundanoe of shelter. The grasses of that section were also of a very nutri-
tious nature. With respect to the timber it is like all our wood, in great varietyV.1There is beech, maple and some very fine pine. When I was at Parry Sound a few
years ago I saw trees of this kind which produced logs without a knot of any kind
in them. I look upon the timber as most valuable, and the extension of the road te.
Gravenhurst now enables people to get it down. I understand there are no less thana
eight saw mille4t Gravenhurst already. Although a year ago there was only one ard
that very small, there are now eight established on the most improved principle. We-
went through thenà and wu were astonished. ' He never saw anything like the mode
they have of taking ont logs, and four or five good logs at that,.with a common buiL
chain, in their aiils. The quality- of the timber is just as yen see it in our QWa
woods. It varies in character. There is both hard and soft wood.

By the Chairman:
Q. What is your opinion of the possibility of raising corn in the Proe G tu>6-5 -65
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aection ?-Some seasons it succeeds; I do not know how many bushels can be pro-
dàced to the acre, but I think that the quality is quite equal to our own.

Q. Ire sammer froéts prevalent ?-With respect to summer fosts, i think they
told ino that the reason why they don't suffbr so macdh from therg is that the unow-
falis pretty early and covers up the ground before the frost gets deep into the soil,
and I bave been told that people living there have left potatoes in the ground all
winter and taken then out in the spring without their having sustained any injury,,
but of course that is not common it simply shows that the cropi are pot injured by
frost.

By a Member
Q. Have-you any knowledge of summer frosts having killed the crops ?-Yes; I

bave heard them complain of it.

Q. There is some complaint of that ?-Yes.

Q Indian corn could not be raised if the crop was subject to such frost ?- Therer
is not much Indian corn raised there.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Do you know of any emigration from the Province of Ontario to other partsi
of the Dominion, and to what parts ?-Yes, Sir; we have almost constantly people
going from Ontario to Manitoba; and, when last spring opened, quite a number went,
from the more settled parts of Ontario into the Free Grant Districts.

Q. Are the Free Grant Districts of Ontario well watered and adapted for stock
raising or dairy ?-I suppose that there are no better watered tracts in the Dominionb
than are the Free Grant Districts; that was the reason Mr. Long gave for cattle,
fattening so much quicker there than on the front.

Q. What specimens of fish are caught in the lakes and rivers ?-They include
salmon trout, white fish, inaskinonge, black bass; very often speckled trout, pickerel,.
and a number of others.

Q. Do any parties make a business of catching these fish ?-Yes; there is a fish
company established at Collingwood, and there are also fish companies at Toronto..
There is an ample supply brought into the markets of the country. In addition to,
this, in the Free Grant District there are deer and partridge in abundance.

Q. So an immigrant just newly arrived, if he reaches the country early enough,.
can raise a few roots during the first season, and obtain fish enough for his own use ?
-I think that one, Mr. Cameron, caught four hundred weight of bass in one day, or-
during part of a day, near Bracebridge. The Mr. Long I have mentioned and he
were together. I have fished in that district myself and I have found the fish to bet
very plentiful.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Have you had any difficulty in locating agricultural labourers and female-
domestie servants forwarded to your Agency during your term of office, and is it your
opinion that a large number of that class of immigrants could get ready employment
the ensuiag season?-Yes ; that is my opinion.

Q. Have you heretofore had any difficulty in locating them ?-None whatever.

Q. You have had no trouble in disposing of them satisfactorily ?-None what-
ever. We have distributed from the office three or' four hundred a day; I have
booked as many as three hundred a day; our boolks will. show that this is the case-.
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Q. Have you reason to believe that this wi» alen be the case during the -ensuing
season ?-Yes, Sir; I am only afraid that we shall not have the nuimber fit *ill be
reguired during the senon. Inay mSetion, fer the information gf g.auom«wWho
may not have seen or who know nothing about our premises, .aWM>re-Wà#, I
suppose, the best accommodation that can possibly be had for immigrants. W. eau
accommodate fifteen hundred people, and we have furnished meals daily Ar twelve
hundred Mennonites, without inconvenience. We have a pretty gpod system. ,We
have a telegraph operator in the offico, and can order trains to go to any part of the
country; every facility in this respect is given us by the railway companies.

By a Member

Q. The trains stop right at tho door ?-Yes; we have three lines in front of us,
and the Great Western on the south. We have no trouble in obtaining them, and
parties are delayed no longer than is absolutely necessary. When any linmîgrants
come in, no matter what the hour may be, even if at two or three o'clock in the
morning, a hot meal is waiting for them. We know exactly when they are going
to arrive, and we prepare for them. We receive notice of' their approaching arrivai,
by telegraph, and every possible care is taken to attend to them. We have an officiai
who travels with them after they leave Quebec or Portland. We have a good staff.
Immigrants are supplied with wholesome provisions, and they get plenty of them.
we never allow anybody to go away without having enough to eat.

By the Chairman

Q. Does an interpreter accompany foreigners ?-Yes; thoy are accompanied by
an interpreter who talks different languages.

Q. Does one come with them from Rivière du Loup, or from thoir landing place,
as a rule ?-Yes; Mr. Anderson comes with them from Quebec; he has been on the
road for a long time as interpreter; he speaks German, French and English. We-
have also a man in the office for the same purpose; he went out with the Swiss
immigrants who came the other day. We sent instructions that he was to stay with
them until they got houses up; he was also to show them how to get loge out, etc.
It is a little early in the season, however, for immigrants to go out there.

Q. You have mingled agood deal with settlers, and you have been through the
various settlements in the Free Grant District; how long is it necessary to feed and
keep stock under sholter in that section; a great.portion of the old country immi-
grants are most anxious to know something about the duration of our winter menthe?
-Of course, seasons vary. For instance, this winter has been very open, s a general
rule; February was almost like a summer month. I think that it would b. verysafe to count on five out of the twelve months, during which it would be neceeearyto feed stock.

By a Member:-

Q. Not more ?-Sometimes for six months ; it would be within five or six
monthe. I am sure that some of the gentlemen around the table have even a botter
knowledge as to what the feeding period is than I myseif, they being practical
farmers.

By the 'hairman

Q. Is there better feeding in the new settlements than in.the old?-Yg', gakre
in a good deal of broweing; that is, cattle feding on the top$ of trees which have beoa
eut for elearing purposes, to be had in the new settlements, and there are very large
quantities of hay up there.
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Q. And tb country is more sheltered than the old.r seled arts ?-Y

A Mànber :-In Wilcox Township the season Is two weeks earlior than t
GOunty of Grey.

The Chairman:-I think that in new aettlements where the cattle are ùr
exposed so mach to storms as elsewhere, they are much warmer, and cattile can sta
out and feed much longer in the fall under these circumstance&.

Mr. Little :-The woods themselves afford shelter for cattle.

By a Member:

Q. I wish to ask Mr. Donaldson about the class of immigrants which is required
in my section of the country. We find it very difficult to get them, that is, people
who are competent to take care of stock and who understand dairying ?-We have
.a great many applications for parties of that class.

Member :-It is almost impossible to secure that class at all.

Witness:-It is difficult to get them; they are scarce. We do not secure as
large a proportion of immigrants who understand stock-keeping as we require.

By a fember:
Q. Would it be possible to induce such a class to come over.from the old country?

-I think it would be possible if we were to make a special thing of it. I think
-that it will be necessary now to do so, becanse our farmers are going into stock
raising very generally, and to some extent a great deal more than has been the case
heretofore. These men would, in fact, get higher wagos than almost any other class
-of immigrants.

Q. Do you think that our native population fully understand that branch of
farming, such as the propertfeeding of and caring for stock, and all that ?-I may
Mention that when a man who understands this department of farming comes my
way I often send him to Mr. Brown, because he employs forty or fiLfty men
of that class at Bow Park. If we flnd mon who understand stock well, he gives
them employment. He very often sends to the office for them in order to keep up

is staff, because lie gets a great many from us. We have furnished him with handa,
I suppose, since he started w Park.

By Mr. Christie :-I would like to enquire whether you do not think that intelli-
gent and industrious mechanices are not likely to make successful farmers. I ask
the question for this reason: as far as possible mechanics and artizans are being
<discouraged from coming to this country, and, as a matter of fact, I know that in my
own county some of our most successful farmers were originally mechanics; some
of them came from the city of Glasgow; others were weavers from Paisley, and
others came from other parts, but they were now among our most successfui and
vwealthy farmers. i wish to aseertain whether your experience does not coincide
with mine ?

Witness:-Which is your county?

Mr. Christie:-Argenteuil, in the Province of Quebec.

Witness:-With respect to weavers, I do not think we have a more succesaful
*laes of menin the country than the Paisley weavers, who came out about the time I
did, ilmoet forty vears ago, aud who aettled near Guelph ; they are about, the
wealthiest farmers in that section of the country, and they forttinately settledAdowa
in avery fine location-on the very best land in that quarter.
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By the Caima:-

Q. On tb PW Blook U.Yes; eight to ten mia' out of Guelph; a gnteman
ame down from Guel the other day, and I hap ed tO be in: gr H#td'an ffle

when he was there. Thequetion camoup about mon for whom ho loaned money,
ad ho said, ho lot ont money for none but farmers. I think ho menti<it 1lhot
that one farmer, who came ont to this country 22 years ago, with *Uê, is.ry
prosperous and well-todo, having $100,00 out at inters. He said that, he lot
money out for farmers around Guelph, and that ho would not do businesii or any one
else. He stated that he la making a very handsoine ling out of it. Tsreise a
very interesting question for immigrants. I have no doubt that i very iaiy
instances, mechanics who have corne to this country and settled on fums have been
vey suecessful; they are very ingenious, and when they apply themselves to farm-
ing are likely to succeed.

The Chairma :-The Paisley weavers, as a class, are better informed taan MS
any other class of immigrant-s that have come to this country.

M.r. Bain-I would like to say a word on that point; I have had a good deal of
experience with regard to the class of artizans which have come during the past ftw
years to this country; and while I agree with my friend, Mr. Christie, a t e ao-
ecs achieved by mechanics and artizans that came out to this country twenty years
ago, I would just remind him that the class of men who have come out durimg the
last half dozen years are no more like the same men who came out at the time men-
tioned, with regard to capacity, than day is like night, for the simple reason that the

Sontinued advent of capital in the shape of improved machinery in the old country
kas reduced these men almost to the position of machines. They come ont ere and
pretend to be meochanics and what not, but when you begin to ask what they eau do,
you find that perhaps their whole time has been occupied in p ing a little piace of
plate under a drili and getting a hole punched in it; they cal themselves mechanioes,
but they do not seem to be of any use after they get away from the part4oular
machinery to which they have been accustomed. They do not possess the ma
fertility of ideas as the mon who were trained to do everything necessary in their
own line; the consequence is they are utterly helpiess when they go away from the
particular brancb with which they are acquainted. I remember our gaoler, who was
ene a mechanic himself, and who is a very intelligent man, remarking that it seemod
to be utterly impossible to get anything at all into the heads of that elas of mon; he
stated that he ad the greatest difficulty to get along with this clas when they unfor-
tunately came under his hands as part of our criminal population.

By a Mmber :-I find the satne difficulty with the agricultural labourers who
come from the old country; they are trained to a certain line of business-a great
many of them are ditchers and ploughmen.

By the Oairman:

Q. What is the condition of the East of London men who were brought to this
country a few years ago ?-Well, they were considered just the worst lassm of men
that could come to the country or that was ever sent here; they wore a class which
was quite unsuited to the country, but there was such a demand for labour at the
time that they obtained employment. It has always been a marvel to me how they
got settled. We sent them out in amall lots to different parts of the country, and
distributed them in the best way that was possible; they all, however, foW on their
feet, and a good many of them have become succssful. We have beard but
little of them since, but they must have succeeded to a greater or les ett. A
more unsuitable class could not have been sent to Canada; in fact, they were brought
out by various chantable institutions which we established at hdme. SoMe-gn.tneen

amne with hem toasist them; but had it not been for the breaking ont of the
gg
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Franco-German war at the time which absorbed thatelass of people, the Goternment,
in ail probability, would have hud to put theirfoot down and prevented them coming
ont to this country any longer.

Q. Could you state to theO ommiflee your experience with respect te the snees
or otherwise of the children brought out to this coantry frem time to time by Cise
Rye and Mi s McPherson ?-T made an inspection of my district, and, in fact, of the
district in wjiich the childron brought out by Miss Rye were distribited.

Q. From what place were they distributed ?-From the Home at Niagara. 1
visited the different places where the ehildren were placed, and, with a few ex;ceptione,
I found them all comfortably located. I look upon the svstem as being a giest
blessing to the children. It is a work that was well worthy of the praise bestowed
upon the ladies who were the means of performing it. The children were given
comfortable homes, and they were well provided for. I took the statements of the
farmèrs themselves, and of the farmers' wives with whom they were placed.

By a 2Member:-
Q. Mosc of them were adopted, were they not ?-A good many of them were.

The children looked well cared for, well dressed, and well fed; and, in many cases,
they were being taught music, and other accomplishments of that kind.

By a Member:-

Q. Did you talk to the children themselves ?-I did, of course. We
heard complaints in cases, perhaps, where the woman of the house or the lady
who'had charge of the child was too exacting, or something of that kind; or of using
severity towards the children. I took an opportunity to talk to these persons about
it, and, if necessary, I removed the child altogether. One case occurred in Chatham.
À farmer who lived near there had got one of Miss Rye's boys, and it happened that
on the very evening I went to Chatham-a man named Dawes came back froin the
station and brought with him a little boy about ten years of age, with his feet badly
frozen. He stated that he had picked him up, and was going to take him back to
Miss Rye's Home at Niagara, but had missed the train. I thought that the case was
a very cruel one. I sent for a doctor, and had the boy properly attended to. The
next morning I went before the Police Magistrate and lodged a complaint. I was
not able to romain long enough to have the matter attended to before the Court, but
a gentleman who was there took the matter in hand. The child was well cared for,
and the doctor attended him until he was well. The boy's feet were badly frozen.
I saw them myself, and I had them examined. The man wts brought up and fined
£20 and costs. This money has been placed at the credit of the child at interest, and
will so remain until he becomes of age. The boy was removed to another farm.
This is one instance, and there have been cases of a similar character, but, on the
whole, the children were well cared for, and had been given good homes. Thi plan
is a good one. I was more particular in my enquiries, owing te the report which was
made by Mr. Doyle on this subject. In cases where it was necessary te have an.
investigation I prosecuted it, and we found that, on the whole, the children were well
cared for, and well placed. It is a great blessing te them.

By a Member
Q. Were the parties who had the children aware of your intended visit ?-No'

Sir; they had no chance ot knowing it. They knew nothing at al about My vist
before it took place.

By the Chairma:-
Q. Do yon think that immigrants of that class are desirabe-Yes, I do.

46 Viètoria.
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Q. I the venture a success f-In a groet many instances enquiries were m<de
as to when Miss Ryo was 90miwg Mit·&g.pr agiiiours waated to get k lden of
his class. I have always thought that some of our ladies in Toront6 might fik. up
that question, as we have a good -number of childrn, bothboys and girls, in4-* oity
of Tronto, who are-worth looking after. I daresay that this ia the casei*âI lerge
towns, but somiehow or other nothing is dIone her-e ; butt these ladies brieg4hsaot
1to this country and experience no trouble' in distributing them, strangers y
are. Of course our own people, if they took the matter up, would be more llkely
to saueed in placing such children in satisfactory positions.

31r. Aylmer:-I fancy such boys are in all our large towns. I sent fur hltÖ
week to different parties, and I could get more to send away in a siinilar- manier.

By Mr. Patterso:-
Q. I would like to put you the same question that I proposed yestud*y eo

Mr. Spence; that is, whether there has been any decrease in the population of any of
the settlements or villages in the Free Grant Districts ?-I am not aware of #iy
decrease. I have been quite surprised myself. since this enquiry came up, M to d
out what a large number of settlers are in that section at the present time, I wa
,ot previously quite satisfied that there were so many.

By Mr. Bain.:

Q. I suppose that you have some official mode of tracing men who go, iate d1at
1section ?-I had not been in the District for two years previous to my last visit.

Q. But you have been there several times?-Yes.

Q. Were you satisfied with what yoa observed ?-Yes; in fact to see the
improvements yhich had been made there, under the disadvantages withwhi!h
people of small means going in there had to contend with, I think that they hav'e
done wonders.

By Mr. Paterson:
Q. You have reason to believe that successful settlements have beSn effeoted

there ?-I am quite satisfied about that, and I think that the prospects which se now
before the settlers are brighter than they ever were before: they can iake use of the
timber which could not be done before. Large quantities of timber are broight
down in the shape of logs.

Q. That affords profitable employment during the winter ?-Yes, sir.

A Jember :-There is plenty of such employment for those who understand the
work, but old country immigrants are not much used to working in the woods.

By the Chairman
Q.Do you know of any assistance given by prominent and benevolent individual

în sending out immigrants to this country after their arrival here; is there a certaEs
number of that clas who might be seeking employment during the winter ?-1 think
that we see most of the people that come out to this country as immigrants. LadyHerbert sent a good many out, and various societieo have also sent persons ont; bit
I think that we see the most of them.

By a Member:-
Q. I suppose that the passenger return system brings most-of them uner øeur

Motice ?-wes; ve have the means of tracing all these persons,
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All that these societig e n o withh?-Y es.

The Chairman:-I do not know; but on thefloor of the House it was stated thsta
large number of immigrants were brought ont to this country who were seeking
enployment but could not obtain it, and that they were now under the necessity of
starving.

A Member:-It was said that people were willing to work but could not get wor k..
This was the only reason why we were anxions to send for thewitness.

Mr Donaldson :- have endeavoured to find this out as nearly as was possible. I
saw that the Council of the county in which I lived myself, for a long time before I
went to Toronto, and in which I still own some property, had granted a sum of money-
for charitable purposes; I wrote to the Clerk of the county asking for information as.
to the anount; I forget at the moment what this is. Had I thought it necessary I
would have brought it with me; I suppose, however, that in the whole course of the&
year it was probably $500 or $600. 1 wrote back to enquire what portion of the-
people who had received charity were immigrants, and recoived, in reply, the names
of the part ies. Out of the whole number of names I obtained I do not think there
were really those of half a dozen immigrants. This is the mistake made by peopl
in putting all the blame on immigrants. Tramps are going about the country, but
aine out of ten of them are not immigrants, either of this year or of last year or of
the year before.

À Member:-Simcoe County, which has been mentioned, is a large county; it is
almost a Province in itself.

Witness :-There are several towns in it, and there are eight or ten families by
the name of Stoddard who have extensive farms in the county. They are stock-
breeders and we send them a great many hands. We do send a great many immi-
grants into the County of Simcoe, and we have over and over again recoived letters.
complaining that we have not sufficiently supplied the different districts of the-
country.

Mr. oIve:-The essential points at issue is, whether work can be found in the,
-winter for those immigrants who only obtain summer engagements. The great fact
toestablish is, whether there is work at reduced wages to be got by these people.

Ar. .Donaldson :--All I can say is that farmers come in and complain that th&-
imen will not work for reasonable wages in winter:

Mr. Bain:-I will state another element which bas not been taken into account
in considering this question. A farmer may have a good, desirable man for some three-
or four years, just such a man as he would gladly furnish with a house if he coulI
keep him on his place. But a man of that kind takes care of his earnings and, as.
we have a large quantity of cheap land easy of access, he goes off, and, in turn,.
becomes an employer of labour in a few years. These men have to be replaced by
others. The faut that there is a large quantity of accessible land to be had at reason-
able rates, perpetually withdraws from our farms a class of agricultural labourers
we would glad y keep. There is no doubt that this diffilculty existe. There is not
on our farms in winter time the same amount of labour to be done as is the case on
farms in the old country. I have »bserved this in my own locality.- As a rule,
however, as Mr.i)Donaldson says, few\such men are willing to work at Teduced rates.
Theré e gonerally sufficient labour of various kinds on our farms to keep them
employed during the winter months and to preventthem from beingthoirughly id.
If they are careful, in a few years they will be able to go off and start for themselves.

AJS740 .Vietória.



fr. wee:-Yesi~ bnt~.th.esaa point to establas for te infor an o-
immigrants is to 1winter mployment of tiose Mwho have oldy made sammer
engagements.

Mr. Bain:-I wil tell yeu one thing, if immigrats Ieft the old oeSuryad
came here with the idea of pursuing farm engagements from year to year, and of
making it their life-long occupation, thon, I dare say, that in some =eas dtîfeulty
would exist; but we generally find au inherent desire shown by many farm laboSrs-
and even mechanics, to become possessed of a piece of soil of their own. This is also
a disturbing element to be taken into consideration in this regard.

Mr. Lowe:-Mr. Wiu, who iin charge of the agency in this city, maks "gage-,
monts for immigrants for the summer months only with great reluctance, becau*e-
he has found that when he makes that kind of engagement ii this distrfet, the-
immigrants will probably corne to the town during winter, and, under sùôh êireilm-
stances, there is difficulty found in dealing with them and in obtaining employment-
for them.

Mr. Bain:-I have no doubt that circumstances vary in different localities.

Witness :-This is not such a farming district as are other parts of Ontario, it is-
more of a lumbering district. I may also mention that we are advised that we are-
likely to have a large number of buyers over from the old country to purchase horses-
at Toronto during this season. IMr. Dyke, our agent at Liverpool, bas written me to-
eay that some thirty or forty buyers will likely come over.

By the Chairman:

Q. To purchase for the English market ?-Yes. I look upon this as a great
imeans for distributing useful information about this country. We intend to take-
care that the men who come over for this purpose are furnished with suitable pamph-
lets to take back with them. We will ask them to look at the country as they g
about to pick up horses. I think that their visit will be of immense service to us, and
not only that, but I believe that when these men proceed through the country and fe
what a chance industrious men have had, they will themselves become settlers.

Mr. Lowe:-The sale of horses at Toronto is advertised at Liverpool, Snd
apcial rates are to be given by the steamship companies for return passages fbr-

e advantage of intending buyers.

By a Member:

Q. May I ask, in connection with this subject, whether you can give any infor-
mation as to the class of horses that are likely to be in demand among these huyers t
-I saw two loads go out the other day; one of the huyers had taken what offsied,
but the other had been over here before and had had experience; his ciaMs Ws 'what
a man would calI good styles of carriage horses; they were of a breed between the-
heavy kind and the bloods.

Witness They were roadsters suitable to be used for carriage purposes.

Q. What was their heft?-Their wight was between eleven hundred and twehre-
hundred pounds, and I think that nne ofthem. were less than sixteBu hands hieJ,
the other buyer had hadles ee, and he bad picked out, bleek bçs.se-tkê-
sort you eaua atrong good b1okhors*# pnc ase;perience showa, are a gqod seu e r
teaming.
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A Member:-Still I see.that the besiness is brisk; a party Irom my township
shipped fUtëen the other day, and fi" toppled=over immediatbely on reaching the
steamship.

Witness:-Mr. Pattison, of the Mail, lost two of his fancy horses when taking
them over; he had bought a span of horses-one of them Jaek the Barber-both

.over sixteen hands high, and, he paid $500 for them; the largeSt one of the two
broke away from the stall and they were obliged to throw them overboard; they
etad sRffered varions injuries, and they would have died if left there.

By Mr Paterson

Q. Can they not insure these horses at reaonable rates ?-I do not understand
-exactly how they insure them; but I do not think that they can effect anything but
insurance recoverable in case of the loss of the vessel; I think they çárno1t
insure against loss suffered on the vessel morely in passage,

By the Chairman:-

Q. Do you expect any demand for cattle for the English market ?-Yes; there
--will be an immense demand for cattle.

By Mr. Paterson:-

Q. Will these cattle be taken over alive, or in the shape of meat prepared for the
market ?-I think prepared meat will be taken over principally, as they have sue-

-ceeded so well in this undertaking hitherto. I may tell you that in our own market
latterly parties in Toronto have largely engaged in the business, and one of the
1buyers took over a cargo of beet for the English market.

By a Member:-

Q. From the information you have obtained do you think that if our farmers go
An and raise horses and cattle for the English market, this will prove a profitable
enterprise ?-I do; I think that a great point that will be accomplished will be this:
farmers, instead of killing their calves, or selling them when young, as is done by a
great number of them, and keeping only a certain number, five or six, for stock, will
take an opposite course and raise them for the market. This demand is Iikely to

-continue and to inerease, and there will not be a sufficient supply by and by, unless
the farmers take steps to meet it.

A Member :-It strikes me that this will open up a new branch of industry
which will require special labour in the winter.

Mr. Bain:-I was going to remark that, in connection with this subject, there
-cones up a very material fact touching the question of labour during the winter
months. If it be a âùet that farmers wili be justified in raising horses and cattle for
the English market, then it follows, as a natural consequenee, that this will require
additional labour, and labour of a kind that will be needed during the winter.

A Member:-It will require special feeding--a great deal of stall feeding.

Winess :-I think that another great advantage will low from this demand.
Farmers under these circumstances will graze more, and this will help to bring up
the character of the land again. I find that in the neigblourhood of the chose.
factories whioh were started at IngraoRsBe1lvile and other places, land which pre-
vins and about the time that tiese factories oommeneod operations would have
rought only $40 an acre, >i worth today $60, and will sel readily at this price 1
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-eharseter of the land, saae ee aware areat dea of*~ ha ~kn exhaust.ß Ii.
,raiuing of continaons crops of wheat.

By Mr Paterson:

Q. Reference hais been made to a remark made by Mr. Pattisen ?-Yes.

Q. He is personally engaged in this buiness- hs takn over quit a t-
ber of horses to England.

Q. And he is greatly impressed with the chances of succeus in this relation ?-
Se has a farm near Ingersoll.

Q. He is firmly impressed with the idea that it will be a success ?-Just :
Ihad quite a long talk with him about it, and I was very glad to have had swnel au
-opportunity. I was very anxious to find out everything possible about the shipueqpt
-of these horses, and I do hope that the competition among the steamboats will brin.g
the rate down somewhat; the present rate charged for the- shipment of horses i&
pretty high.

The (hairman:-Boats must be fitted up expressly for the purpose.

By Mr. Paterson:

Q. I suppose that, as a rule, very fair prices are now obtained for horss?--
€rood prices are secured for horses and for meat as well; in fact, the trade which has
thus been opened up has raised the price of meat with us aready, to some extent at
least, in the city of Toronto.

Mr. Lowe :-And it has appreciably lowered the price of meat with the stoSk-
raisers of the three Kingdoms, as appears from the reports.

By Mr. Paterson:-

Q. Your impression is that a vast increase of cattle in our midst would not sue-
«eed in depreciating the price on the English market, so great will be the demand,
and that farmers can sell without trouble the stock they hold and fkr more 7-I thbkk
the prospects bid fair that this will be the case. All the cattle in Canada at te
present time would not do it if they were placed on the English market.

A Member:-The increased price will do more to btimulate the raising of catde
to supply the demand than anything else.

-Mr. Paterson :-The point is whether, if farmers went into stock-raising largely,
-the fact of their doing so will depreciate the price.

A ember:-Aasoon as the figure advances for meat this will stimulate the pro-
duction, and nothing else will draw farmers into it.

Mr. Paterson:-But when the advance is established is there reason to tope that
it will be maintained in spite of the largely increased prodaction on their part?

A Member :-They must take their chance the same as they do with wheatMd
barley.

Mr. Lowe stated in answer to a referente to him: as far as r
possible supply from Canada, this cannot affect the English mar t, owing tothelimited extent of our farming means, and the limited number of horned e&tde Wo
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pcs The onl qietien to be 1eesidered relates to oomti th South-
et. Can we cômpete wfth theimmnse ranches on the of Texas and with

other parts of the continent? I do not think that it isquite ttledwhat the efect
of this tompetition will be. This is the only thing I see in the way of the continued
auccess of the enterprise.

By a 'ember:-How do yon form an opinion that it is impossible to over-
gtock the English market-do you think that the lowered priée will increase the,
consumption so much ?

Mr. Lowe:-I do not say that it is impossible to overstock the English 'market,
with the enormous supplies which may b. obtained from the Western and South.
Western plains of North America, and possible supplies from South America. I only
ay that, with the-present limited farming means of Canada, and with the limited

number of cattle which are at present in Canada, we cannot do it. I have before
stated that the last census established- that the- number of horned cattle in the. four
old Provinces of Canada, in 1871, was in round numbers, two millions and a half,.
and the number killed or sold that year about half a million. Canada must have its
own needs supplied, and the possible total surplus from such a stock cannot glut the
English market.

By the Chinnan to Witness:
Q. What amount of money ought an immigrant have for settlement in the Fre.

Grant District ?-I should say that he should have from $600 to $1,000.

By Mr. Paterson .

Q. I should like to ask a question, to bring out information, as to the education
-snd religious privileges which are to be enjoyed in the Free Grant District. This,
is quite an important point. It is desirable to know whether these advantages are,
in proportion to population and circumstances, equal to those enjoyed in other
parts of the country ?-I think that Mr. Cockburn would be more competent to-
firnish that information than myself.

.Mr. Cockburn :-The school system in the Pree Grant district is almost perfect.
The Ontario Government have made a provision, and a very wise provision, under
whieh the school system can be carried on even in places which do not possess muni-
cipal institutions. Parties can meet together and appoint trustees, and assess even
in townships where there is no municipal organization. A very large sum of money
has been contributed for this purpose from the Educational Department; it is called
the Poor School Fund.

By the Chairman, and answered by Mr. Cockburn:-

Q. 1a it taken out of the gencral School Fund ?-Yes; and schoo rates can be-
levied in any settlement, whether it is organized or not. Sehools are universally
diffused over this section of the country. As for religious instruction, it is also very
universal. The settlers are a very law-abiding and sabbath-observing people, and a

very moral people. The Methodist Church, I suppose, keep, in Muskoka and Parry
Sound, something like six or eight missionaries or students; the Presbyterians have.
about half a dozen, and the Episcopal Church three or four. The Methodists, how-
ever, are leading in the van in this respect.

Mr. Paterson:-On that point the country is very anxious to have information.

Mr. 0ockUm :-And more than that, all unite. All the' settlers in the neigh-
bor<od, no matter what denomination they belong to, turn out when a minister
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arrive. They are glad. to hear a sersson from any clergyman. They are, however,
.beenoming a little more aristoetatie at Braebridg. The Epdo net,"*-
tines traternize with thé other tkere, but outside thiS place, that is not the es

By the Chairman:-

Q. Do mechanice and commercial men follow in the wake of the setemeAts

Witness:-I am very glad to be able to answer that enquiry, beaue I ha»
beard it said that the storekeeper makes enormous profite. First-class stores ins
acattered all over the district, and prices are very moderato indeed. I know one
£tore-keeper who brought into Bracebridge lst fall seventy-five half chetts of tea
which were imported, while two other merchants bronght forty half-cheste each. A
good article in tea is sold at the rate of fifty cents per pound, and it is good, sound,
fragrant tea. I have known' one person buy something like forty chests at a tibeb.
The prices of goods are very low. Prints are sold at six cents a yard. Théir
expenses are low; I do not wonder at them selling goods as cheaply as they can be
obtained in Toronto, where merchants are obliged to pay heavjrente and taxes, and
everything of that kind. The expense of living is also greater in the city. I think
that they can quite easily sell goods as low as they do in Toronto. I know that the
inerchants do not make big profits.

By the Chairman:,-

Q. Do you know any causes that tend to retard immigration ?-I would just
refer you to the letter which I placed before you; if fostered properly, I think that
fifty per cent more immigration could be obtained.

Mr. Wite (Renfrew) :-As to the religious advantagos enjoyed by settlers, I may
say that all our Free Grant lands form part of the older and more settled townships.
Our educational system in the Free Grants is consequently the same as in the more
settled townshi p; of course our Free Grant lands are all within the limite of the
eounty of Renfrew, and the same system of education which applies to the older
settled townships also applies to those who are settled under the provisions of the
Free Grant system.

Mr. C(ockburn:-We have special municipal institutions with us; we can frSi
Anunicipal institutions without being attached to any county, and we eau collect rates
without the aid of County Councils at all.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-That is in the District of Muskoka and in the District of
.Nipissing, but there is no such provision in force for our county; at all eventï if
there is, no advantage is taken of it.

Mr. Donaldson:-I may also mention that I believe, a large Company made the
purchase of nine townships some years ago north of Peterboro' from the Government;
.and I think that they are going to follow this same scheme which I have today
suggested to you. I was talking to Mr. Blomfleld to-day, and he says that he tiMika
this course is going to be adopted by the Company. I may also mention the "tht at
some years ago-in 1861-62--when I was asked to meet theLi Committee in H e
when Mr. Ilaliburton was chairman of their meeting, I made that propositios, -bt
no action was taken at the time with regard to earrying it into effeet.

In answer to a Menber:-

Witness:-I was just going to state, with respect to the matter before us, *
putting up of houses and the olearing of the land, that J; think this Company li nw
goig to do this. I made the suggestion at the time mentioned to their Committe.egoivi
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in London, and I suppose it would have been carried out had it net been for the Free
Gran. lande having been thrown on the market, ad hence it was not possible for
them to do anything. Having paid a half a dollar an acre for their land, and as, of
course, they must be in a position to make some profit. The Free Grant lands, how-
ever, shut up their shop, and they have not done anything of any consequence since.
I do not suppose that one-half of a township,among the number they secured, has been
located as yet. There is one thing that is apt to be forgotten. I called upon Mr.
Devine, the Deputy Survoyor-General, who said that the information he had obtained
frou the surveyors, the best land and the greater portion of the better quality of land
out in that direction had notas yet been settled upon. He says that as soon as these-
parts of the country get into the market as Free Grant lands, there is no doubt that
they will be filled up more rapidly than the greater distance at which they are
aituated from the centres of population would lead one to supposeowing to the super-
iority of the soil. This section is partially settled now.

Mr. DoNALDsoN then submitted the following letter

PLAN FOR SETTLING IN FREE GRANT DISTRICTS.

TORoNTO, 19th March, 1877.

To the Chairman of the Immigration Conmittee, mouse of Commons, Ottawa

SIR,-From the scarcity of employment in the Free Grant District during the-
winter months, I have the honour of submitting a scheme which, if carried out,
would, I think, in a great measure, meet this want.

I have always felt it would be a great boon to the people settling on those lands,
more especially to families, if a small outlay were made in the erection of a house of-
reasonable dimensions, wherein they could place their families on reaching the loca-
tion, and also in clearing a few acres of lands ready for crop, which would enable
them to raise probably sufficient to put them over the following winter, and this they
could not possibly do, if they have to set to and build their own house and clearing,
It is well known, there are more difficulties staring the immigrant in the face-
the. irst year than ever afterwards.

To prevent the Government from being imposed upon in any way, the work of~
clearing, say five acres on each lot, and putting up a log-house, could be doue by
contract, and at a cost of not exceeding $200.

If the Government did not feel disposed to bear this expense, the parties them-
selves would gladly do so, on entering on the -lands, as the advantage is really so-
very great. In submitting this project to immigrants with capital, who intended and
have settled in that district, I found that nine out of every ten would have been but
too glad to have paid for such improvements; further, I am satisfied many a good
setler has been deterred from facing the bush in not knowing how to go about
making a proper start.

Now that the Northern Extension Railway runs to Gravenhurst, and the excel-
lent lin. of steamers, owned by Captain Cockburn, M.P. for Muskoka, run into the-
different parts of the district, a number of our Canadian farmers are settling in the -
distriot, and these, as well as the immigrants, would gladly avail themselves of such
improvements, as long as the cost were not more than they could do it for them-
selves.

Many of the settlers already there, stuggling for a living, would be glad to
b.ome contractors to do this work, and while it would be such an advantage to the



uew settler, it would also be a great beet to thSeseettI&e ra n aiishiw Abow h
remunerative employment 4i the win ter 2ou*h ø l i8 want of 'h s hear
so much com paint at present- isue once e*eaMeed ansypst as ,lonWgs these a
acre of Free Grant lands offered for *ettlemaat.

This need not alter the present terms with the Government, foer t wil be sa
advantage to the settler to know that he cannot get the deeda çf his lands until he-
has cleared his fifteen acres, and become an actual settler for fdveyears.

Care should be taken to select the best tracts of land, for thos. ntering fa;
parties accustomed to bush life, and with full instructions frona the bedof $hê
Vrown Land Department, would be the best judges where to locate, md part ofthefr
instructions should be to select lands where there is an abundance of watr, eith.a
living stream running through the lot, or springs of such a nature as to produes t.
ample supply for all purposes.

From the absence of such a system, many parties have settled on lot unt for
settlement, and have been compelled to desert thoir new homes after having spent
their little all in making the first improvements.

I am the more convinced of the advantage of this system from a cireumtatne
that has lately taken place in the case of a number of Swiss immigrants ;at
reached my agency a few days ago; they have gone to settle on a plot of land set
apart for them by the Ontario Government; they had with them considerable capital,and more to follow should they require it; they were forwarded by rail to Graven-
hurst, there they had to engage four teams to carry their supplies and baggage tonear
the Maganettawan, some three days' journey, and thon to either camp out until they
could got a shelter put up, or they may have the good fortune to get under the roof
of some of the few settiers that have gone there before them; they were all hearty,
strong, young men, except one who was up in years, but as hale and hearty as any
of them; had there been any women and children among thom, I would have advised
them to remain in Toronto until spring operied. They expresd thoir willingness to
pay for such improvements, as it would have enabled them to go on at once and add
a few more acres to those already cleared, and it would have enabled them to put in
a considerable crop. As it is, they took with them a small quantity of spring grain of
each kind, some turnp seeds, &c., &c., and they expected to be able to procure a sup-
ply of potatoos in time for planting from some of the settlers near them.

I would not advise that any except heads of families with sufficient capital so
that after paying for the improvements they would have suficient means to tide
them ever the first year, should have the privilege of becoming possessed of thee.
improved lots.

All that would be required at the hands of the Government would be a loan of
a fow thousand dollars to make a start, and clear and prepare say twenty or thirty lots
in different sections; the payments made by parties entering on these could be used to
clear others.

Nothing could be more encouraging to immigrants intending to settle on the a
Free Grant lands than to know there was a home already propared for them, which
they could take their families into at once.

The agents in Europe would also find that this would strengthen their hands
considerably, and it would show a disposition on the part of Canada to prepare for
immigrants coming to our shores.

Seeing a number of the agents in Europe, seem to feel it would be an advantage
to have liste of farms furnished them from time to timo, with full descriptions of
prices and terms of payment, in conclusion, I would say that I will most cheerfully-
furnish such list from the Toronto Agency, which I would recommend should be
printed, stating prices in sterling-money as well as in dollars and cents.

I have the honor to be, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Signed,) JOHN A. DONALDSON,
Government Immigrant Agent.

4A 'Victri. ,L1811Appetu&r (No6.)



fr. Jonas (Ieeds):-I suppose that most gentlemen are aware that the Ontario
/Department of Agriculture in Ontrio adopted a 8ystem of the kind mentioned in

this éorrespondence in the Township of Ryerson, but it was fnally dropped. I think
that the Secretary of the Departmaent gave out the impression that it was not deàr-

-able, though successful. The plan proposed is a little different, and there would b.
no harm in trying it. I think that the scheme is quite sound.

Mr. Donaldson :-I ma) mention that the reason why I brought the matter
before the Committee at all was, with a view to furnish some employment to the
people who go into that section; of course, this report should properly go to the
-Ontario Government, but I founid the dificulty to exist to which Mr. Jones has just
.aluded. ieretofore, in consequence of the Government giving time to pay the
instalments, those dealing with the Goverument expected to be treated with a great
<deal of leniency. If the Government insisted upon a prompt payment, it would
create a great noise and would do more harm than good. The report would go back
to the old country, and people would hear that, after putting up houses and making
a clearing, occupants were forced by the Government to pay these instalments.

'This suggestion was made as far back as 1861-2. It appeared to me then that it was
not advisable for these people to go and settle on Free Grant lands without any hous
or home to bring their fau'ies into; and, as I remarked in the report, I think it would
be judicious to confine the application of the scheme to heads of families. I submitted
the project, I suppose, in not less than 40 or 50 cases, to parties who had £100 or
£200, and I askéd whether if such clearings were made, they would like to pay a
portion down, and I did not find a single person who did not reply in the uarmative
when I made it a point to ask their opinions on the seheme. lowever, this is a
matter which I thought I would submit for the consideration of the Committee.

The Chairman:-It is worthy ofoonsideration, certainly. It is carried on succesa
fully in the United States by railway companies and the like.

In reply to a Member :-

Mr. Lowe stated he had authentic information that the township of Ryerson was
quite succesaful in as far as related to filling up. But the scheme was not continued
in consequence of difflculty in collecting the instalment crodits. The difference of
Mr. Donaldson's scheme is that he would give no credits, and his evidence is ample
as to the fact that many immigrants would consider it a great boon to be able to bny
for cash, while a great assistance would be at the same time afforded to poor set-
tiers who have great difficulties to surmount, by affording them occupation. I may
add that in the Western United States the Railway Companies which have large land
grants are powerful immigration agencies. They make large sadvances to assist
settlement, taking liens on the improved lands for their security, and for their profit
selling the land at a high price per acre-at $5 and over.

Mr. Cockburn :-In corroboration of what Mr. Donaldson has observed, I may say
that I have myself received severat letters on the subject--one frem Madame Ton
Korber, who begged me to go to the Ontario Government and get buildings put up
for certain individuai parties. 1 kr. Crooks stated that they had given up the scheme,
and absolutely declined to do it. Of course, it would be necéssary to go to Parlia-
ment and get authority for it. He, however, could not see his way clear to doing
it; but there would be no harm in making the suggestion in a respectful way.

The Cairman:-It is easy to understand the difflcilty which arises with new
settlers. The expense to which they are put in going to any private dwelling, or
.even to a taiern, until they get up a little shanty, is serious. I may state that the
Dominion Government some years ago adopted a system similar to the one spoken of,
ain Manitoba; audit relieved the settlers wonderfully. The Governmentby subvention,
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p ut up two or three very large buildings, whieh were subdivided into, many apartments.
This was under the superintendence of Mr. Shantz; and it wasdone for theaccommoda-
tion of the Mennonites. It had a vsry beneficial effeot. They put up in these buildings
until such time as the settlers could prepare little places of their own. It took a few
weeks until everything was ready for them to move groni the large establishment.
into their own, and it was no expense to the settlers.

Witness :-You will notice that the whole amount which would be required front
the Govern ment under such a system as recommended, would only beé the firt
outlay. Suppose that twenty lots were so cleared, and $7,000 or $8,000 were apent
for the purpose, the money expended would cone in afterwards and could be used
in clearing other lots; this paying out of money would continue, and I feel that it
would be a great benefit to those people who would be the contractors. The person-
who should be employed in putting up the buildings would be the settlers themselves.
I would not allow any settler or contractor to go into the section in question foi the-
purpose of taking this work out of their hands; this little difficulty arose in the case
of the other Township. The contract was let ont to Mr. Sturdey, who agreed to build
quite a number of houses,-twenty or twenty-five. The consequence was that he got
into a little difficulty; he had not the means to carry out the project as should haye
been done. The scheme I suggest would avoid trouble so far as this matter is con-
eerned.

A Member :-One other thing which may be said in favour of that scheme is this,
some people might ask should not settfers going in be allowed to buy the improved
places of other settlers; but other settlers are not allowed to soli until they get the
deeds of their lands.

A Member :-I a1ýp net clear on the point that they would not be allowed to soel,
and if they did sell, I'do not. think that they would be allowed to take up other
locations.

A Member:-They are not allowed to sell unless they make special application for-
permission to do so. Each case of this sort must go before the Commissioner of
Crown Lands.

Mr. pence:--Suppose settlers were 'allowed the privilege. If a man were to
leave a lot and hand it over to another settler, and even if the law would not decide
that this could then be done, it is not very likely that the Government would inter-
fere with the rights of such a person if he remained on the lot and afterwards
applied for a patent, provided he were to continue the improvements.

A Member:-They can get over that. Say one is three years on a lot and he
cancels the location and re-locates. This makes eight years before a deed cau be got
instead of five.

Mr. Dmaldson:-If the practice Mr. Spence speaks of were permitted, the
object of the Bill would be defeated. The great object in view is to have people
become actual settlers for five years. and then it is considered that they will become
permanent settlers.

Chairman :-The suggestion thrown out by Mr. Donaldson is certainly worthy of
consideration. I would ask if the Committee think it desirable to embody it in the
report?

It was agreed that it should be so embodied.
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Wz*qaszi, 2sth March, 1877.

EVIDiÎtOR OF 1MR THOMAS SÉNCE.

MANITOBA AND NORTH-WEST TERRITORY.

1r. SPENCE appeared before the Oommittee.

By the Chairman:

Q. Will you state your name, your officiai position, and your place of residence ?
-Thomas Spence, Clerk of the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Manitoba.

Q. How long have you resided in the Province ?----A littile over ten years.

Q, Have you had any means of acquiring information respecting the settled
¡portions of the Province ?-Yes, I have had several.

Q. What were they ?--I have resided at Portage La Prairie during eighteen
,nonths, and I have lived in other sections of the Province. In fact I have been
nearly all over the Province.

Q. What distance is Portage La Prairie from Winnipeg ?-Sixty-two miles.

Q. Have you travelled pretty extensivèly through the Province of Manitoba ?-
Tes.

Q. Can you give any description with reference to the settlements with
regard to improvements and population ?-I cannot, with respect to improvements;
i have not been much through 'thë Province during the last three years; I have
'been at Portage La Prairie several times, but I have not been through the newer
settlements; there are new settlements made every year you may say. The
country, however, is pretty much the sanie, as far as description goes. On the
boundary line towards Pëmtbina principally, new settlements have been opening
-up ever since last season.

Q. What educational advantages have they, and what places of worship in
some of these settlements ?-They have hardly had time to secure yet, in the later
eettlements, either schools or churches.

Q. I presume that they have them in settlements of any extent ?-Yes.

Q. Do you know of any obstruction that impedes or retards immigration and
.colonization in Manitoba;. do you know of anything that you consider detrimental
to (its 'etoêpests of settlimisít?-4n iny expériënce there is nolhing besîdýs the
gråshnppéis which is càlulated'to have this effect, and last year these were
entirejy gone-not one was seen in the Province.

By Mr. Jonaes:
Q. Is the want of easy acces to the country also detrimental in this respect ?-

To a certain extent this does have thàt effïct. Of course, if we had quicker and
asier means of access it would make a great difference.
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Q. Owing to the want of railway fèeilities?-Tes; if we had the BiOmbhra
Branch open even, it would give us communication. The construction of some fifty

niles would complote the railway, but the Northern PaetMe fl*$r-poèple do not
sem inclined to do anything until thoy see the Canadian Government move in the

By Mr. Stephenson

Q. Are the immigrants who enter the Province going in by the Amorican,
route?-Yes; last year iearly all of them came by way f Il)uluth.

Q. What is the distance they have to go through the United States from
Duluth to reach the boundary line ?-The distance is two hundred and forty miles
from Moorhead.

By the Chairnumm:-

Q. To Duluth ?-That is the distance from Moorhead, acording to the general
contour of the countrv.

Q. It is two hundred and thirty miles from Moorhead to Winnipeg ?-That
distance is two hundred and forty miles, and it is about the same distance to Dulath
making about five hundred miles in all. The boundary line is seventy miles from
Winnipeg.

By Mr. Stephenson

Q. Ias the Province of Manitoba any immigration agents ?-Yes.

Q. Where are they stationed ?-One Mr. Hespeler is engaged in the work 4t
Winnipeg, and Mr. Tetu at Dufferin.

Q. Who takes charge of immigrants going to Manitoba when they get offthe
boat at Duluth, and while passing through the United States to Fort Garry ?-&o
one takes charge of them that I know of.

fMr. Stephenson :-They are carried in Canadian vessels to Duluth, and thon
they are left to the tender mercies of Uncle Samuel.

By the Chairmann:

Q. Do not agents of the Dominion or of the Province go with thom; in not fomp
one placed in charge of immigrants ?-No, sir, no one is placed in charge of them
that I know of.

Q. What plan would you suggest; do you not think that under this systeme a
number of immigrants are taken away from us, while they are going through the
Uiuted States ?-I know that several of them have remained in Minneena, and

there. Evidently in goiug tbrou h tiat coutry they bad taken a fabcyto
and. Many of then had to buy land. öet of' thexm rem~aihéd in fpríWat

1877



40 Victona. Âppeudiz (NO -;.) A 1r

Q. Have you ever thought of any mode calculated to remedy this state of
things ?-I do not know of anything more than I believe that at one time the
Canadian Government were in the habit of having an agent to travel with irmmi-
grants leaving for the West, and go with them as far as he could, to see that ithey
and their wants were properly attended to. I suppose this would be the only policy
to adopt to secure their settlement in the dountry.

By the Chairman

Q. To what class of immigrants have you reference ?-To the general class tht
has gone out to that country during the last few years.

Q. You do not include in it the Mennonite settlers ?-No.

Q. The Mennonites have always been in charge of some person ? -Yes. I am
speaking of the general class of English immigrants who come out to colonize the
Province.

By Mr. Stephenson

Q. What immigration do you expect·to secure during the present year ?-Froin
what I have learned since I left the Province of Manitoba, there is going to be a very
large immigration into the Province during the current year.

By the Chairman

Q. Do you expect this to come from Ontario, or from the United States ?-We
expect a good deal of immigration from Ontario, largely from the Ottawa district I
believe ; and we expect a good many from Lower Canada, some four or five hundred
I understand. Others, it is antièipated, will come from the Eastern States of the
American Union.

By Mr. Stephenson:-

Q. Where is the first agent stationed to meet immigrants going into the Pro-
vince of Manitoba ?-At Dufferin, on the boundary line.

Q. Have we an agent there regularly ?-Yes ; he has been there for the past
twelve months. There is fine accommodation at this place for immigrants, who
occupy while there the barracks lately used by the Mounted Police. Our immigrant
sheds now answer their purpose very well.

Q. Who is the immigration agent at Dufferin ?-Mr Têtu.

By a Member:-

Q. What is the best season for emigrants to start from here to go there ?-Of
course the earlier they go the better. It is of great consequence for an emigrant to
to put in a crop to support his family'.

Q. What lime do they sow wheat with advantage ?-It depends upon the season
a good deal. I think up to the lst June, or nearly; seasons vary, though. They
generally commence ploughing in May; sometimes lst May.

Q. There was a plan started by Mx. Carling in Ontario, in the Muskoka district,
to build them a house and start them on a clearing of five or ten acres. le there
something like that done ?-There is nothing of that kind done yet. It would be a
great advrantage, of course, and I suppoe immigrants would be very glad to reim-
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iburse the Government, because the Government could do this -mach cheaper than
the immigrant could dlo it himself.

Q. Any steam plough in the Province ?-No; it has been spoken of by parties "

,who have visited the Province but they have had no encouragement. But if there
was a steam plough it would be very well,

Q. The land is very favourable for the use of steam plough ?-Yes, very mach so.

Q. They are working steam ploughs with great success in England, Belgiimp,
and in Illinois and Indiana ?-I understand the American steam plough is rather a
failare. I met a gentleman from Dakota who had tried it. The American steam
plough is different altogether from the English steam plough. The English steam
plough works very well.

By the Chairman:

Q. You mentioned the ravages of grass-hoppers a few moments ago-do you
know how many years in succession that plague visited the Province of Manitoba?-
The first since I went to the Province came in the fall of 1868, and- they have been
more or less ever since until last year when they entirely disappeared. They settled
in the fall two years ago, and laid their eggs.

Q. It has only been a partial destruction of the crops, has it not ?-Only partial.
Some crops escaped.

Q. There was not a total destruction in any one year ?-No; always some left.

Qthat. Do you know of any prior to 1868 ?-I only went six or seven years befbre

Q. Did you not understand from the old settlers that the grasshoppors had been
there before that?-I understand that they had not seen grasshoppers for 25 years
before 1868.

Q. Were there any grasshoppers in 1876 ?-No, sir, not one.

Q. What is the general opinion entertained by the settlers in reference to grass-
hoppers now ?-They seem to be very confident of their having disappeared, sud
they are prepared to farm on a very large scale, generally more than double that of
last year. There is plenty of seed in the country and there is merely the labor of
extra ploughing.

Q. What would have a tendency to remove that plague ?-There was a measure
before the Local Hlouse, but the Bill was dropped. It was taken from the system
they have in Minnesota. They offered a premium for gathering the eggs.

Q. Would not an extensive cultivation of the soil have a tendency to do so?-I
think so. They generally take virgin soil to lay their eggs. Sometimes they lay
their eggs in the middle of the road.

Q. More usual in the middle of the7road than anywhere else ?-Yes.

By Mr. Hagar:

Q. How can the eggs be destroyed ?-By a system of gathering. The settlern
employ their children to do so.

Q. What was the reason of their disapp aring laat year ?--They fly al ovqr Uip
country. The eggs were hatched in 1878 that were laid in 1875.



Q. They were hatched in 18?6 and then disappe afterwards ?.-Ys, sir.
Q. Frost or cold does not deetroy them ?-No; it is almost impossible todestroy them.

By the Chairman:-

Q. The general and prevailing opinon is, with the settlers you have conversed
with, that they may not have any more grasshoppers for many years to come ?-Thatis the general impression.

Q. And they have no hesitation in cropping to a very large extent ?-No; they
,are as bnsy as they can be this spring. In fact, a large quantity of wheat will b.exported to Toronto and different quarters next winter.

By Mr. Stephenson:-

~. You have not eered fronM the potato pest?-No potato disease of any
kin-di

By Mr. ifagar.-

Q. Any bug ?-No.

By the Chairman

Q. What is the géñèfal àþppearance of the country in Manitoba--slightly undula-
ting, or one vast plain ?-Generally speaking, rather undulating.

Q. That is, sufficient for natural drainage ?-Yes.

Q. Any hills to any extent ?-Not what we would call a hili in this part of the
Dominion; simply an elevation.

Q. What are the market facilities for farm produce ?-I have got the lateat prices.
Q. Stock, produce, &c., wheat, oats, barley, peau, &c. ?-The price of wheat 'when

I loft, was $1.25. It was sold at 80c. in the falt, and then rose to $1.25 on account of
the sales being large, from people coming from the outside to buy wheat.

Q. Oats and barley ?-They did not raise much barley.

Q. Peas ?-75c. to $1.00.

Q. Oats ?-45c. to 50c. The following is a detailéd list of prices of outfits at
Winnipeg, as given in my book on the "dskatchewan Country of thé Nortlir*est
of the Dominion of Canada,' published this year:

"W gons, complete ............................................. 90 00
dYo without box ..................................... " 1

"Extra prairie breakîng plough ......................... ... 27 00
"Subo breaking pk>ti 12 înce .......... *............. 42 0@

"Cross-plough, 10 inches.............................................1 09,
"CUltivators9 5 feet .00.

"flarrowI4 eight bars............................$.16 00Ofo
"'ann m ....... ............. o.......4m5 00 to.

"....tiva......................... . .tper
iron .............................. ...... 7 cents per l1686



".Window ahes, fr ......... ........... 1 60 to $3 3Q0
" do frmen -0do',.................. 1 28 toi 06"
" Doo ramsii e,........~............... 1.0

" o utid ..... ................... ............. t 00
"Panel doors......................... ................... 1 80 to 2 50

"Oxen and horses of a superior breed being in firt demand in Manitot by
"constant arrivals would be purchased chsaper in Canada or the State of Minn"Y
"more particularly as the rapidly inereasing immigration will cause a scarcity had
"high prices. Parties desiring to become stock-raisers would do well to make their

@"seleetions of breeding stock in Quebee or Ontario, which Provinces took the pri-
"pal prizes at the great Oentennial Exhibition at Philadelphia." A very good klgle
ox can be got, for $60.00.

.By AMr. Hagar:-

Q. What is the meaning of Iharnes " and "yoke ?'-They are using harness
more than yoke now; harness is stronger and handier.

By the Chairma -

Q. Are horses much in use?-Yes; a good deal. A great many horses have
come into the country during the last few years; before that they were principally
native horses.

Q. What is the price of a tolerably good farm hors. ?-I could hardly the
price, they are so scarce; they are hardly sold at all; meh*generally bring t In
for their own use. I shonld think $200 would be páid, and that yon could not gel a
good one under.

Q. What would be the price for a good serviceable native horse ?-About ,100'

Q. What is the extent of the producing qualities of the soil in unsettled portions
of Manitoba ?-Taking the Province all through, I Bhould fancy about twothirds;i
that is, including the reserves.

The Chairman :-Yes.

The Witness:-I could tell better with a nap beforo me. Do you wqat Abe
quantity unoccupied ?

The Chairman :--Yes.

The Witness:--Including the IHudson's Bay lande and those of the Mennonites ?

The Chairman :-Yes; of al the nnsettled portions?

The Witness:-I should say fully two-thirds or more.

Q. What is the quality of the soil-is it good ?-Generally; only one-third is
only fit for hay lands; of course one cannot talk as if he had been all over th éoP-
try The following i from my pamphlet on the Saskatehewen an4 its tributaii
and country.--" In the present sparsely settled state of the country ihe
'pioneers of immigration will have great advantages in being able to ap
"best lands and the moèt eligible situations fbr wood and witer; and' fro the ten-
"dency of population being verned primarily by the directio of the nag .
" waters, se will the pioneer y the foundation of thrivii io*ns along their
"ez±ent, t the foot ofth4RÔöy nountains. The North and 8outh branches oYe



Saskatchewan, or Ki-sis-kah-che-wan (the river that runs swift), have their sources
"in the rocky mountains but a few miles apart. From their nearly common source
"the North branch diverges north-eastward, and the South branch, or Bow River,
"south-eastward, till at two hundred and fifty miles due eastward they attain a dis-
"tance of three hundred miles from each other, the South branch being, then within
"forty-tive miles from the frontier; then, gradually approaching, they meet at five
"hundred and fifty miles eastward from their source.

" From their junction the course of the main Saskatchewan to Lake Winnipeg is
"282 miles by field notes. This makes the whole length of the Saskatchewan, from the
"source of the South branch (which is the main stream) to Lake Winnipeg, 1,092
"miles; following the North branch the total length to Lake Winnipeg, 1,0541
"miles. The foregoing figures are the result of a carefal astronomical survey made
"many years ago by David Thompson, the North-west Company's astronomer ; and
"this gives occasion to remark that the length of rivers and distances generally are
"much exaggerated in new countries. Mach of the extraordinary length and size
"k.attributed to rivers in the United States is due to this, and errors respecting them

from this source have found their way into standard works, such as Johnson's
"Physical Atlas. Its magnitude will be more fully understood by the following
"comparison:-

It is 184 miles longer than the Ganges.
" 1,164 " " • Rhine.
" 1,649 " " Thames.

And only 376 miles shorter then the Nile.

"In considering the character of the Saskatchewan and its country, it will be
"advisable to limit this pamphlet to a brief description of the best localities in its
"country suitable for more immediate settlement. Ascending from its mouth, at
"Lake Winnipeg, there are two miles of strong current up to the Grand Rapids,
"which are nearly three miles in length, with a descent of 4àý feet. The country
"in the vicinity of the Grand Rapids has a considerable depth of good soil, and the
" banks of the river high; there is also abundance of timber for fuel and building,

and game of all kinds, and between this point and the lake would be very favour-
"able for the establishment of fisheries. 'The Pas mission, situated at the mouth of
"the Pasquia River, is about eighty-five miles in a direct line from Lake Winnipeg;
"the banks here are ten or twelve feet high at low water, and the soil a rich, dark

mould over a drift clay. At this place there is at present a small but prosperous
"settlement, and a Church of England mission has been established for many years.

" The next most favourable country for agriculture commences at a point about
"140 miles above this, the soil being rich and the timber of a fair quality. The
"soil consista of a rich alluvial deposit, ten feet in thickness above the water on both
"aides of the river, and well wooded with large poplar, balsam, spruce and birch,
"some of the poplars measuring 2j feet in diameter. This character of country
"continues till approaching Fort à la Corne, about 150 miles, and is well watered
"and drained by many fine creeks. A few miles west of this is the new and
"fnourishing settlement of Prince Albert, situated on the south side of the north
"branch of the Saskatchewan, about forty-five miles below Carleton. This settle-
"ment extends for about thirty miles along the Saskatchewan, the farms fronting
"on the river and extending back two miles. The settlers. though principally
"Scotch, are composed of English, Irish, German, Norwegians, Americans and
"Canadians. This settlement has increased rapidly, especially within the last two
"years, and now numbers about 500 souls, and the people are beginning to farm
"eItensively. Wheat sells there at $2 per bushel; barley, $1.50; oats, $1.50;
"potatoes, $1.25, and butter, 37c. per ILb. Several of the settlers have commenced
" stok-raising on a large cale, and the facilities for this branch of industry are of
U nÔ ordinary kind, inasmuch as there is abandance of hay and, pasture. As an
"eovidege of the prosperity of the settlement, it may be mentioned that good
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"borses, waggons, light waggons and buggies are found everywhere. The settlers
"have also the most approved agricultural implements, mowers, reapere, threshing
"machines, etc. There arnemills and stores and two schools in the sett wnt, one
"in connection with theýPreSbyterian Ohurch, of which there are two, sadthe
"other in connection with the Episcopal Church. The North and South Saskatehowan
"run in a north-easterly direction for about 120 miles before they'uuite. Tie
"channels are almost parallel, and with an average distance of twenty to twenty-
"five miles apart. The land between the rivers is all good. Along the" soth side
"of the south branch the land also is good and fertile."

Q. What about the other two-thirds of the land you speak about ?-I am not
including the timber lands. Al the country between the Portage and Pembina
Mountain is timber land; timber right to the Assiniboine.

Q. Do you consider the land on the unsettled portions equal to that on the
settled portions ?-Nearly; of course along the Red River it is richer-aong all of
the rivers it is richer. Generally it is good, but a little better in some places than
in others.

Q. What description of timber is in general use for fuel, and is the supply suff-
cient to guarantee extensive eettlement ?-Poplar and oak, for present use. There is
a great deal of timber fit for frewood, but it is getting expensive on account of hav-
ing to go so far for it. Immediately on the banks of the Red River it is getting
searce for a large population, and to get large supplies they have to go back to the,
Assiniboine. Back of that there is timber to last for many years.

Q. Is the growth of timber very rapid ?-The growth of poplar is.

Q. And if protec+ed from fire ?-It would keep on in3reasing, in proportion to the
increase of population.

Q. Instead of diminishing ?-Oh, yes.

By Mr. Bannatyne:

Q. Don't you believe that a farmer could grow timber more rapidly in Manitoba
than he could clear it in many parts of Ontario ?-I should say so. For instance soft
maple, from the seed I mean, is quite a little tree in the third year.

Q. That is a farmer wants but a snall quantity of wood, and he can grow what
he wants quicker there than he can clear it here ?-Yes.

By Mr. B[agar

Q. It grows on the Prairie ?-Yes; young trees come up thick like grass.

By the Chairman :-The question is, sooner or later there will be a scaroity of
wood. Some twenty years ago I travelled through Wisconsin and I made particular
remark that there was a great scarcity of timber. The gentleman to whom I wa
speaking replied: " Not if the trees are properly preserved." I visited. that State
again as I was returning from your province, two years ago, and around
pretty extensively with the saine party, and I found a larger supply of timber: than

had sen twenty years before.

The Witness :-That's the very same with us.

Q. Do you say that with proper care the supply of woòd would be sufficient fbi
generations to come ?-I think so. It only requires 'som legislation to proent
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By Mfr. Hpur:.-

Q. Would it requr some enouragement from the L.giuIture to indsøe the

people to set out tree -L believe there are some Dominn regulations.

By 1fr; Bor%:

Q. Prom whence do the people of Manitoba expect to derive an abundant and last-
ing supply of pine timber for building and other purposes ?-There is no pine timber
in the Province, but there is eaet of the Province, in the Keewatin Territory; and
all on the east side of the Lake of the Woods it is pine country.

Q. And by water communication can easily be brought to the settlements ?-
Not until the railway connecté.

Q. The railway east to Rat Portage?-Yes; I understand those limits are in
private hands, awaiting the time when the lumber can be shipped.

Q. There are extensive pine limita ?-On the east side of the Lake of the
Woods; and that country is open country.

Q. Are you aware if the country bordering on Raimy Lake and the Lake of the
Woods is capable of afording any considerable quantity of, useful timber ?-4 am net
familiar with Rainy Lake. I have been on Lake of the Woods as far as as the mouth
of the Rainy River. There is much timber all the way up to Rainy River. I under-
stand the land is pretty well all taken up between Fort Francis and the Lake of the
Woods, on one side, the east side. Last summer, I believe, a good many houses were
erected along the river.

By Mr. Bannatyne

Q. There is a large amount of white pine there yet ?-It hae not been explored

yet. ßaon. James MacKay is the only one that has explored it.

By the C(irman

Q. In the event of a large influx of emigrants to Manitoba, do you think there
is aiy danger of farm products being in Such a glit s that remunerative priee
could not be obtained ?-I should say that in the case of a large emigration, the

bability is that the pricés #ould b. kept up. 0 Course thetre will be a lorge
me market for years yet. We had an instance of it last summer, when wheât oeid

there for $1.25.

Q. And what effect would the construction of the Canadian Pacific Railwayr
have ?-Of course that would cause a good deal of consumption, and all the surplus
p educe could be brought down te the head of Lake Su rior; it will go that way.
What has been contracted for will go by way ofDul . I understand the rate to
Toronto i forty cents.

Q. From where ?-From Fort Garry to Montreal, 45 cents. These7rates have
beoe contracted for.

Q. What would wheat sell for in Montreal ?-Supposing it was purchased on
an average of $1-although it has ranged from 80 cents to $1.25-that would lay it
down in Montreal for 81.45.

Q. It would realizethat ?-I speak of seed only. I think $13 have been paid in
Toronto for seed.



Mr. Magar :-Only the other ày b'gt see§for

Witness :-But a change of seed would make prices higher.

Q. Do you know an facts oonnected with the Baskatchewan, fre b1fc>ba
and o*n you tell whai uem s mig es#914fi*, is qdite a -r , w ce
settle's at Prince Albert; they arepr@nePl#iI 0".,

Q. Do many of the Krench Half-breds move out west ?-A good nmanyria fae
they are going all the time.

Q. Do summer frosts come so as to be detrimental to the cultivation of wheat 7-
As far as I have been able to learn, they have not.

Q. Have you not known of summer frosts injurious to crops ?-Not to Op P f
I have known potatorto be nip>ped, but that occurs anywhere in Ontario.

Q. Can you state what is the maximum yield per acre of oats, wheat, s, &c.
and can you give any infôrmation as to the special ghafilties or weight of 0 geain
per bushel ?-I think the average has been set down as 3 buhels to the acre.

Q. Wheat ?-Yes, It does not average more. A fair average in Minnesota is
eighteen bushels.

Q. You know inany 'crops to be larger than that ?-Yes; I have seen some fifty
bwshels to the acre. We have had no opportuniiy of getting official figures. Our
Government cannot afford to get official statistice yet; although it would be a very
important thing for the Dominion if we had carefll agricultral statistica takendar
us.

Q. Can you give any information as to the special qualities or weight of wheat
pr bushel ?-I was acting as Secretary of the Advisory Board at the Centenniayiand
I had occasion to receive samples from all parts of thé Province, to select the best
to send down. The weightiest sample I had was 63J ibs. to the bushel, but the
farmer made it 67 1bs.

By Mr. Bamnatyne:

Q. That was by the new weights and measuree ?-tes; I had to take the new-
measures. In pouring wheat down if it is given the least shake at all it *Ift i
a diference of six or seven unds. Even if you give it a kick with your feet it
wil make a difference. h' quite a trouble to conen e the farmer that it wasot
6 ts. or 67 lbs. 1 nu h &es1à'id that this wheât was sent down duririg thé seh aW

the grasshoppers, and Mr. Kenneth Mackenzie objected to any going at all, he eayiid
it would do the Province more harm than good. But of course it would look very
bad to send nothing. As it was, however, we obtained a silver medal.

Q. I *as not so good as on former yeare?-No; and many farmers did not
want to send anything.

Q. Are the samples produced fair samples of last year's produce ?-Ys, and
they are very fine samples. There were several awards for seeds.

By a Member:-
Q. They were all chosen by hand ?-They were chosen carefully by hand,-Of

course.
By Mr. Bannatyne

Q. I don't think the small aeeds were all picked out by hand, as I see several
amall seed# here in the bottle ?-The amali eeds were taken out of all the samhples
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sent from the United States, but they were not from ours. They were sent as they
,came from the farmers, and some were hardly cleaned.

By the Chairman:

Q. I have had several communications from partiesin New Brunswick and Nova
Scotia as to the facilities for reaching Manitoba from the Eastern Provinces, or from
Ontario, and the expense, say from Toronto?-I believe there .are some alterations
being made in the Department. I have not an opportunity of examining the rates.
I believe there is some reduction in contemplation now. Of course, with regard to
the road the Lake route is certainly the cheapest. But if an, emigrant eau afford it,
jand time is an especial object, he had better go by rail.

Q. You would advise'going by Duluth by boat ?-Yes; but it is advisable that emi-
grants in a year like this, when the prospects of a good crop are favourable, should
go there early in the spring, say by th e 1st May.

Q. From Duluth to Moorhead by the Northern Pacifie ?---Yes.

Q. Then down the Red River by the Kitson line of steamers ?-Yes.

Q. And the expense from Toronto would be from $40 to $50 ?-I could not say.
The Department may know the rates.

Mr. Lowe :--Government immigrants can go for $17 from Toronto. That is
immigrants such as the Mennonites. The rate, immigrait o:, ou othors, is not
ixed for the next season. It was last season, $22.50.

Witness:-The first-class fare during the winter is nearly $100.

Q. That is on account of the stage ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you consider that the Province of Manitoba and the North-west has a

Lealthy climate, invigorating, and not subject to epidemies ?-Generally, it is one of
-the healthiest climates I have been in, and I have travelled over Europ3 and America
.a good deal.

Q. Fevers are not prevalent ?-Only one year, on account of bad drainage, and
that was confined to Wiunipeg. But since the drainage has been made better, I have
,not heard of any cases.

Q. You consider it a healthy country ?-Very much so.

The Chairman :-I have seen some very old ages on stones in grave yards there;
-72 and 78 quite often.

.Mr Bannatyne:-And 99.

The Chairman :-Yes, and 102 years.

Witness:-ardly a year passes but two or three of those who die are 100 years
old.

A Member:-That is partly accounted for by the fact that none but those who
have good constitutions go out there.



By Mr. Bannatyne:-
Q. Don't you think that the want of an emi ton agent at -Duluth is a great

injury to the Province,as emigrants wer left to e tender mercies f the Amerioans,
who tried to seduce them to settle upon their-lands, and not go on te Manitoba ?-It
is a great loss, and I would suggest that it is not necessary to have one stationed
there permanently, but he could go between Pembina and Duluth, and see that
proper arrangements were made for parties coming in.

Q. I understand that an arrangement has been made for Mr. Têtu to be at Pem-
bina, but I think al hie time is required there ?-Yes.

Q. A man tight be paid a certain sum for the season, and not a salary for the-
whole of the year ?-Certainly.

By the Chairman:-
Q. And his business would be to go with every batch and take care of them

until they got down to the next station ?-Yes, that is the only way to overcome the,
difficulty referred to. Not only that, but the baggage of emigrants could be protected
by the agent looking after it. They now have to pay $5 for bond. Arrangements
eau easily be made so that the agent of the Dominion Govermont could be the bonds-
man. I was informed that one officer made over $3,000 in acting as bondsman, ande
he was a Customs louse officer at that.

By Mr. laqar

Q. Would one agent be sufficient?-Yes; the agent can be advised by telegraph
of the arrival of parties.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Spring or well water can easily be procured in Manitoba ?-Generally; I
have heaid of a few failures and difficulties in getting water, but, as a rule, it is very
good. The nearest I have heard of is at depth of 12 feet, it ranges to 50 feet-18 to-
20 feet are common.

Q. What is the soil under the black ?-Blue clay. At the portage there is a-
good deal of yellow sand which makes it very warm.

By Mr. Bannatyne:

Q. You have seen springs flowing down through the woods just the same in winter
as in summer ?-It never freezes, even on the coldest day. In the neighbourhood of
Dawson ]Road I have passed seventy of them in a day-beautiful springs.

By Mr. Borron
Q. Iow far from Winnipeg is the nearest coal field in British territory ?-The

nearest proper coal is on the Saskatchewan; there has been talk of coal in the
Pembina Mountains, it is said; but I think there is nothing in it, it must be only a
drift.

The Chairman :-I fancy that is so; I have been out there. What distance is
the Saskatchewan district from Winnipeg.

Witness :-From 900 to 1,200 miles, that is according to the section of the coeI
which spreads all over the country.
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By Mr. uoiam
Q. IJow far from Winnipeg 'is the &elest oal feld in the the United tates

Territory ?-They have coal in Dakota.; the nearest workable coal field is in Illinois.

Q. They are bringing coal from Bisomdw-ok, Iøkota ?-Yes.

Q. Ras iron ore been foand in Manitoba, and if so in what quantity, and whether
open or otherwise ?-I sent some iron ore to the Exhibition whit-h was found on lake
Winnipeg, on the east shore; it was that kind which crumbles up in your hand.

A Member:-It makes superior steel.

By Mr. Borron :-

Q. ILt is maguetic ore ?-Yes; it is almost the saie as the magnetic ore found
at~the mouth of the St. Lawrence; you get it on the beach of the Lake. A gentleman
brought some in.

Q. Have any lead, copper, zinc and other useful metals been found ?-Not that I
am aware of in the Province; but in the North-West Territories there are plenty of
all these metals.

Q. Are there any deposits of rock salt, or springs ?-Yes; there are some very
fine salt springs, but they are outside of the Province. I have made some very fine
salt myself.

By the Chairman:

Q. What number of gallons does it take to make a bushel of salt ?-From
thirty to fifty gallons.

Q. What would the percentage be at that ?-- -The weight of a bushel is sixty
pounds. This brine is stronger than that at Onondaga, New York. I gave a
sample to a gentlemen where I was working, and he said that was stronger than
that at Onondaga.

By Mr. Borron:-
Q. Is it sdnlicient for curing meat ?--Of course; the Half-breeds were in the

'habit of using it before it was made pure; if trouble is taken with it it is as good
as that imported from Goderich, and cures both meat and fish. I have cured white-
fish with it, and fish is more difficult to cure than meat.

Q. Is there anything like unbroken water communication between Lake
><anitoba and the Saskatchewan?-It is unbroken, but a very little outlay would
make it unbroken, at the mouth of the Portages. You can get through in the
apring by a boat, when it has overflowed.

. That river can be used for navigation ?

Mr.Jasna(yne: -We ave two large steameçr running across the .ake 4 the
foot of he Rapids; then above the rnpids fie Udlson's Bay Oompany hare a



steamer whieh goes up te thie Rocky Moustains. And 4here a-eet,a teamboat
-which capne out in sections ahdx is ,bi put together up there. It was taken over
to the Peace River d they tve l it tere, andintend to put another one
there. They have engineers on the rD from England to put ittogether.

By tMe <7hemeim:-
Q. What distance is that stretch of water from Winnipeg to the head of naviga-

,tion on the Saskatchewan ?

Mr. Bannatyne:--I supppose 1,200 miles. There is one portage there. There in
:a little difficulty in one place with the falls, which could be got over, however.
Prom 140,600 to *50,00 properly spent would eturare uninterrupted navigion from
Lake Winnipeg. The exþenSe wond be for a bridge and for lifting out e rdoks.

Mr Blagar--Do you think you will be able to navigate the river during the
summer?

Mr. Bannatyne-They say they can clear off the falls, and that they would
:always find about three feet of water.

By a ember:-

Q. Flat-bottomed kind of boats would have to be used ?--Yes; stern-whee, i1
suppose are the best.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you consider it advisable to locate settlers to any great extent in the

valley of the Saskatchewan at present ?-I believe so, as the settlements are advane-
ing there; at St. Alberts, for instance, they are selling their wheat at the highest
priees that rule at Winnipeg; trade is increasing very fast, and the Indians are uiug
a great deal of four now. It would be well, I think, to establish small settlements
there for a year or two to come, and by that time I hope there will be some
means of shipping the grain. It would be desirable for the Government to give
every encouragement to people investing in cattle and stock-raising in that section.
A great many have been enquiring of me as to the facilities, and a number of people
from Eigland are talking about going out. If that class of people once settled there
farmers would soon follow.

The Chairman:-I suppose there are po boats from Winnipeg direct.

Mr Bannatyne.-Yes; down the Red River; there is as fine a built steamer as
any one would wish to see; the first one that was built proved no good, and we
another, which proved a success. This one runs up here and loads and the frig ht
has never to be removed. The other one often comes up the Upper Fort, and rma
right up to the Grand Rapids across Lake Winnipeg.

Tke<Iairman:-I was not aware that there were any other boats running down
that river than that of Dr. Bond.

Mr. Bannatyne:-We have three boats making regular trips-one in the morning
and the evening to the Lower Fort.

The Chairman:-Do you make regular trips up the Saskatehewan ?

Mr. Banatgne :-Thoee boats makr.elar trips, and there js another. boat
wich runs ut ta4halept f the Gd , .aros the Lake; then the is ai
dtauwayi -ad mwe har" teamr thns whiph get 4p the Saskatebewan.



The Wituness Do they evercarry pasengersby invitation?

Mr. Bannatyne :-They will soon be obliged tocarrypassengers; theydono>twant
any one to know what is in there.

The Witness:-They claim that they would not have aecommodation and there-
fore do not take passengers.

Mr. Bannatyne:-They can do it if they will.

By the Chairman:
Q. low far have you travelled west of Winnipeg ?-I have not been much west

of the province. I have been in the southern part of the Souris River. At that
time I was trading with the Indians. It is a very nice country.

Q. When you spoke of the Saskatchewan districts, you were speaking from
outside information, I presume ?-Yes, certainly; I am in the habit of seeing people
nearly every day who have been there; and I am almost as familiar with it as if I
had been living there myself.

Q. Can you give us any other information ?-I can mention some facts in regard
to the watering of cattle. Last winter an immigrant from Ontario lost some 220 or
250 sheep in the fall, and he found them in the spring all right and in a pretty fair
condition. It was astonishing to me that a flock of sheep should be able to live out
all the winter.

Q. Is it not common to have horses and cattle out in the winter ?-Yes.

Q. Are you acquainted with one Grant, a large farmer, a Half-breed, in Manitoba ?
-Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know whether he is in the habit of leaving his horses out in the winter ?
-Yes; the first winter he came into the country he brought about 500 horses with
him.

Q. Ie pays no attention to them whatever, and they are in good condition in
the spring ?-Yes.

Q. Have you any figures in regard to the export of wheat this spring ?--I think
I told you I could get some from merchants who bought wheat.

Mr. Bannatyne:--The last contract made for wheat was twenty-four cents from
Winnipeg, delivered at Duluth.

The Witness :-Forty-five cents to Montreal.

Mr. Lowe:-Mr. Beatty told me his boats carried wheat from Duluth to Sarnia for
five cents. He quoted thirty-five cents from Duluth. to Winnipeg, as the rate which
h. understood between these points, making forty cents.

Mr. Bannatyne :-The contract made laist fall was twenty-four cents, delivered at
Duluth. It is not outside of twenty-five cents any way, because I saw the parties
myself in going down. The freight wa said to be very low at the time.

fir. Lowe :-I inquired of Mr. Beatty, of the Beatty Line, when he was down
here, and gave me the figures of forty cents between Winnipeg and Sarnia, thirty-
five oents for theLKittson lino and Northern Paifie being included in the forty cents



r Bannatyne:-4 do not know what it can be done for this p a tbink
they would be gdtotake it. Theytake ont freight, and itould ban .gtifit
mnerely paid expense.

The Witnes:-Have you any idea of the quantity which will be exported this
epring ?

Mr. Bannatyne:-Some 6,000 bushels, I think, were sold to Whitehead.

The Witness :-I think they have sold more than that. Hungary sold a large
.quantity. But the figures could easily be got.

The Chairrnan:-It is a very important question. That is going to be the^great'
,grain-growing country.

Mr. Bannatyne:-It seems to be appreciated more by the New York people
than any others. They say they would rather go to the expense of putting the
wheat in sacks, as they consider thore is a danger of its being mixed in nog through
the elevators It is bard dry wheat, and almost the only one that will answer for
naking the new process flour.

Ma. CHRISTIE, M.P.

TiE CoUNTY oF ARGENTEUML.

WEDNESDAY, 28th Marcb, 1877.

àMr. CHRIsTIE, M.P., appeared before the Committee.

Bu the Chairman:-
Q. What county do you represent in the House of Commons ?-The county of

Argenteuil ?

Q. It is situated in the Province of Quebec ?-Yes, sir.

Q. What extent of unsettied land suitable for agricultural purposes existe in the
-county you represent ?-I could not state positively, but the county bas unsttled
lands of very large extent; but a considerabe portion of them is rocky and moun-
tainous, and, consequently, not very suitable for settlement. There is, however, ;àon-
siderable extent of fertile land in the rear of the county, near the Rouge and Mas-
kinonge Rivers. In the Townships at present surveyod I suppose that there is room
enough to settie from five hundred to a thousand families on two hundred acreof
land oach. The soil is very good. It is loamy and fertile and the land is rather
rolling. It is also weil watered. Some of the first settlers in this region, who came
out to this country ten or fifteen years ago, are now in very confortable ciroam.
stances. They have had excellent markets, owing to the lumbering o rations carried
on upon Rouge River, for all their produce, some of the farmers in t se"tion wh*
have only been there for a few years have now really accumulated wealth.

Q. Io that along the unsettled section of your county. Does what yout have just
now mentioned appiy to these portions ?-No; there are other Townships which are
not surveyed, and these comprise a large extent of the county.

Q. Is the land in these parts of equal quality?-It is not equa inquaâltytnQhe
land on the Rouge and Maskinoagé Rivers, It is more in the- lanin ang ,d
this section je very mountainous of coure, sti'l the land i« very good for pasturage.

4ô - iatoria. 18.. e7



Q. A large percentage of it is fit for pasturage ?-Yes ; it is also well wooded;
along the River Rouge the soil is very fertile and well adapted for settlement, and
even in rear of my country there is a large extent of fertile land suitable for settle-
ment which bas not as yet been surveyed.

Q. Are these Government lands ?-Yes.

Q.- Do you know their price per acre ?-I think it is thirty cents per acre. It
would contribute very largely to the settlement of the land if the Government would
adopt a Free Grant policy or system such as bas been introduced in the Province of
Ontario. However, that has not been done, and this circumstance retards to a certain
extent in the settlement of this section of the country. In some of the older settle-
ments, especially in my county, the settlers have not paid for their lands, and the
interest has been accumulating for a great number of years, and it consequently now
amounts to a considerable sum. The Government are pushing for payment, and the
settlers feel that they are being hardly deait with, so I am aware, from that circum-
stance, that if these lands were offered as free grants it would contri bute materially to
the settlement of ithe country.

Q. Do you know of any obstructions which impede and retard immigration and
eolonization in the section referred to ?-The great hindrance to immigration and
eolonization is the want of good roads, something should be done in the way of open-
ing up colonization roads; they have not as yet been sufficiently opened up, and a
further expenditure of money is required in that direction. Bridges especially should
be built across the Rouge River. The settlers are not able to construct these bridges,
and at present the only means of crossing this river is by aid of canoes for the people,
while horses have to swim across, and, of course, this is a very inconvenient as well as
a dangerous way of going to these lands. I have no doubt that if one or two bridges
were erected and constructed across the River Rouge, it would contribute very
materially towards the settlement of that section of the country.

Q. Do you consider that portion of the country adapted for stock-raising ?-Yes,
it is admirably adapted for that purpose, it is well watered and the grasses are very
abundant and nutritious.

Q. During how many months in the year is it necessary to keep stock under
cover and feed them ?-I suppose that this period would extend to about six months;
it might vary from five to six months.

Q. What class of settlers is most desirable for that part of the country ?--Well,
the settlers who have been most successful are the sons of farmers who have gone in
there and who had long experience in the way of clearing and cultivating land, or
emigrants who had been employed for some time in the country before going into
that section. There bas been abundant employment too for all kinds of labourers; a
good deal of lumbering has been done in the immediate vicinity, and this has furnished
both labour and markets for all the settlers.

Q. What description of timber is found on these unsettled lands ?-There has
been found a good deal of pine on them, and there is a good deal of lumbering carried
on there still, and lumbering will be carried on in that section for the next fifty years
I suppose. The country is well wooded, and contains all kinds of timber-a good
deal of hardwood, maple and birch, and some spruce.

Q. What is the usual yield per acre in the settled portions of that locality ?-
Well, as to wheat I could not say, but I have known thirty bushels of it to be raiscd
per acre. The farmers, however, depend more on stock raising and on the raising of
coarse grains. The yield compares favourably with that in any portion of the Pro-
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vince of Quebec. I may state that our local member has been labouring for, a number
of years past to secure the colonizatson of this section, and he has succeeded to a
certain extent; I only -wish to co-o rate with him and to draw his attention to this
particular section. Our local mem r is Mr. Sydney Bellingham; he even went so
far as to have one of the townships surveyed at his own expense in order to induce
settlement.

THE SAGUENAY DISTRICT.
LETTERS FROM MR. CIMON, M.P., AND REv. FATHER RACINE.

The following letter was received by the Committee and ordered to be embodied
in the Report. IousE OF COMMONS,

OTTAWA, 28th March, 1877.
DEAR SIR,-I have the honour to transmit you herewith, for the information of

your Committee and the public at large, a letter of the Reverend Dominique Racine,
Priest, Vicaire-General, and curate of Chicoutimi for fifteen years; also an extract
from the report of Hon. M. de Boucherville, Minister of Agriculture for the Province
of Quebec, and a copy of a statute of this Province, intituled: " An Act to encourage
settlers."

I will only add what follows :-The Upper Saguenay and the Lake St. John
form the County of Chicoutimi, and it contains a population of twenty-two thousand
souls. There are at Chicoutimi, the chef-lieu of the county, a court house, a superior
court, a circuit court, a criminal court, and a magistrate's court. At Hubertville, near
Lake St. John, we have also a circuit court ; and at Roberval another magistrate's
court. Two registry offices are established there, one at Chicoutimi and the other
one at Lake St. John. We have also two agricultural societies, In each township
there is a well organized municipal council. Regarding education, Chicoutimi
possesses a seminary or college where a commercial and a complete classical education
are given ; a convent under the authority of the ladies of Bon Pasteur. In the
county. there are above a hundred common schools under the authority of school
commissioners elected by each township. In different parts of the county one can
find notaries, doctors and lawyers. Two Crown Lands agents reside in the County.

Every day, during the navigation season, a steamer arrives at Ha! Ha! Bay,
coming from Quebec. The lumber trade is very extensivo in all the county.

All the difficulties relating to the possession of property or lands in the County
of Chicoutimi, are, according to the articles 1,107 to 1,113 of the code of civil pro-
cedure, decided without delay by the circuit court, or a judge in vacation.

I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your humble and obedient servant,

(Signed), ERNEST CIMON.
To JAMEs Tkow, Esq., M.P.,

Chairman of the Committee on Immigration aud Colonization.

CurcoUTrM, 6th March, 1877.
To ERNEST CIMoN, Esq.,

DEAR SIR,-In your letter of the 21st February last you call upon me to send
you a few notes for the use of the Committee on Immigration and Colonization, relat-
ing to the colonization of this part of the Province of Quebec, which was formerly
called by the pompous name of " The Kingdom of the Saguenay," but which we
designate now under the name of the Valley of the Saguenay and the Valley of Lac
St. Jean (Lake St. John). Nôtwithstanding my numerous occupations, I give ) ou
the desired information to be placed before the said Committee.
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The Saguenay territory is divided into three distinct parts:-1. The Lower
Saguenay, which commences at the St. Lawrence and terminates at Ha! Ha! Bay; 2.
The Upper Saguenay, which extends from Ha! Ha! Bay to Lac St Jean; and, 3. The
Lac St. Jean alley.

The Lower Saguenay comprises but few places open to colonization. At the
mouth of the Saguenay we have, on the north side, Tadousac, and, in going up,
River St. Marguerite, and a place called Descente des Femmes. On the south side
we find the River aux Canards, the Petit Saguenay and the parish of l'Anse St.
Jean. It is in this locality that are to be found the mountains called the Lauren-
tides, and, consequently, it is there that are to be found the less quantity of lands open
to cultivation. However, in rear of these mountains, which border both sides of the
River Saguenay, there are in different places good tracts of lands, which may here-
after form new centres of colonization.

The Upper Saguenay comprises the Peninsula of Chicoutimi, and is by far the
most advanced portion with respect to the settlements, eight regularly organized
parishes and four missions being established thereon. Still, a large number of uncul-
tivated lots and even whole townships lie here, in which the settier has not yet given
the first stroke of the axe.

As to the Valley of Lac St. Jean (Lake St. John), there is but a belt of land on
the borders of the Lake that may be considered to be.open to cultivation. This belt
is limited by the Petite Décharge of Lac St. Jean and the River Ashuapmouchouan,
and forms the parishes of Hébertville, St. Gédéon, St. Jérôme, St. Louis Roberval,
St. Prime, and St. Félicin.

Being unable to give you an exact idea of the extent of the lands good for colo-
nization in the Upper Saguenay and the Valley of Lac St. Jean, I will quote the
Rev. M. Pilote, who made special researches on the subject, and who says as
follows: -

" lst. All the western part of the Lac St. Jean between Metabetchouan and the
environs of Mistassini is estimated by Mr. Bouchette at 280 to 350,000 acres, say
300,000.

" 2nd. The northern and eastern parts of the Lac St. Jean, as well as that of the
Grande Décharge, may contain, according to the map made by the late Mr. P. Taché,

"corroborated by M. Joseph Hamel, Surveyor, and also according to the lette 1lof M.
"Thomas Simard (4,199,550) four millions one hundred and ninety-nine thousand,
"five hundred and fifty acres of lands.

"3rd. The south-east part of the lake between Metabetchouan and the Grande
"Décharge contains one hundred and fifteen thousands acres (115,000) of land.

"Thus," continues the Reverend M. Pilote, "here is a vast extent of land which
"inay contain a large number of people. It is nearly as large in extent as the six
"counties forming the Eastern Townships put together."

The climate is about the same as the one of Quebec, as everyone acknowledges it.
I cannot give a botter idea of the fertility of the soil of the Saguenay than by

citing the appreciation that an eminent man in the agricultural line, and quite dis-
interested, lately made. After having visited the whole of the Saguenay, ho said:-
" I have nowhere else seen richer or more fertile lands than those of the Saguenay
l'and Lac St. Jean."

This judgment corroborates exactly with that alroady rendered by the land sur-
veyors, Hamel, Bouchette, Ballantyne, and others who had occasion to go through
that great territory. Up to 1837, all the Saguenay territory was but an immense
forest, which had only been frequented by missionaries, and to which the attention
of the settlers had not yet been called. The parishioners of Murray Bay were the
first who had the idea and the courage of undertaking the difficult task of opening
that country to colonization. They flormed a society, the object of which was the
lumber trade and settlement; but success not having crowned their generous efforts
in the lumber trade, they sold all their rights to the MM. Price, who still continue
these operations in that direction.

Since 1837 and up to 1848, colonization made but little progress, 80 great wei e
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the numerous obstacles which had te be contended against by the new settlers. But
in 1848, owing to the intervention of the Government, also to several colonization
societies which were then formed, and above all to the indefatigable zeal of several
priests and the large pecuniary sacrifices they imposed upon themselves, a new
impulse vas given to the settlements in the Saguenay.

But how does. it happen that, with a soil so fertile and a climate so favourable,
the Saguenay territory was not more rapidly peopled? Here are a few of the prin-
cipal causes, which I extract from the pamphlet published by the Rev. M. Pilote:-

" In the beginning, the principal cause was the difficulty, I would say the
"impossibility, for the settler to establish himself on a lot, without being subject to
"the claims of dishonest speculators, and the absence of local authority to decide
"such claims, the same having to be decided by the superior tribunals of Quebec ;
"another cause was the impossibility for the bonafide settler to obtain from a negli-
"gent neighbour the indispensable mutual works, such as ditches, fences, &c., &c. A
< third cause was the depression of the lumber trade, and consequently the diminu-
"tion in the number of hands employed in the shanties. A fourth cause was the
"different fires which succeeded each other in the Saguenay, the last one especially,
"which occurred in 1870, causing enormous loss and ruining more than 600 families.
"Lastly, the want of communication."

These facts known, one is astonished to see that the Saguenay has been, however,
so rapidly peopled, its population being in 1871 nearly (19,000) nineteen thousand
souls ; altogether in 1851, it was but (4,901) four thousand nine hundred and one.

** *

I have the honor to be, &c., &c.,

D. RACINE,
Ptre.

Extract from the General Report of lHon. AM. DeBoucherville, Premier and Commissioner

of Agriculture and Public TVorks for the Province of Quebec, for the year ending
30th June, 1876.

M. DeBoucherville says

"Towards the end of August last, I visited, in the company of two of my
"colleagues, the Hon. Messrs. Garneau and Baker, the principal centre of coloniza-

tion in the Province of Quebec, to wit : the County of Chicoutimi, being the Upper
"Saguenay and Lake St. John. After all which had been said and written on the
"fertility of the territory of the Upper Saguenay, we expected to travel in a rich
"country, but, in reality, what we saw surpassed all our expectations.

" Every where on our way, from Hal Ha! Bay up to the township of Desmules,
"the north extremity of Lake St. John, that is to say, on a travel ot 100 miles,
"which is, however, but half of the Saguenay territory fit for colonization, we have
"seen around us, without interruption, beautiful fields of wheat then in maturity,
"and behind these fields a vast and extensive forest, which will also be very soon
"transformed into fields covered with rich harvests.

" Fine and easy roads communicate with all these new parishes, and extend to
'the most remote settlements. In one word, the roads in the Saguenay are perfect.
"What is needed, and what the population of this important territory, which will. be
"soon the most productive of the Province, ask, is a communication as short as
"possible with the City of Quebec, where they may have a market.

" Impressed as I am with the actual importance of this territory and of its
"future I do not hesitate to say that the Province has the greatest interest to hasten
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"a direct communication between Quebec and Lake St. John, inasmuch as larg sums
" of money have been expended on the Lake St. John Road, and that they will be of
"no use if the works are not completéd.

" Up to this day 81,476 have been expended on this road of Quebec to Lake St.
"John. It is good for vehicles for about two-thirds of its extent.

" The moment has arrived when it is necessary to do something to encourage
"the population of the Upper Saguenay and get it to understand that their intereet
" is united with that of the rest of the Province, and I am of the opinion that in
"completing this colonization road from Quebec to Lake St. John, we will attain
"that result. Another result, also certain and important, is, that once the road is
"completed and opened for the traffic, the settlers will take advantage of it to go
"and establish themselve3 at the Lake St. John. They will have then a direct line
"and will travel with their own carriages and provisions, with littie or no expense.
" In fact this road will considerably help the settlement of the Upper Saguenay.

" We must not, however, abandon the idea of having a railroad from Quebec to
"Lake St. John. I am of opinion that the colonization road will, in contributing to
"the increase of the population, and the production of the Upper Saguenay neces-
"sitate the railroad and impose it on public opinion. The gradual increase in the
"number of those who will visit the Upper Saguenay will have the effect of bring-
"ing forth before the country the richness and importance of that part of the
"Province and the advantage of annexing to us this territory by iron bands. There-
"fore, the opening of a road for vehicles in direct line between Quebec and Lake St.
"John, will be the surest means to arrive at the construction of the railroad so much
"desired."

(Extract fron the Statutes of the Province of Quebec.)

31 VICTORIA, CHAPTER 20.

"AN ACT TO ENCOURAGE SETTLERS."

[Assented to 24th February, 1868.]
"Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislature of Quebec,

"enacts as follows:-

"1. From and after the passing of this Act, public lands which shall be conceded
"and granted to bond fide settlers in virtue of and in conformity with the provisions
"of 23rd Victoria, chapter two (now the 32nd Victoria, chapter eleven), intituled:
"An Act respecting the sale and the management of the Public Lands," and in
"conformity with the Orders in Council and regalations arising from the said Act,
"shall not, except for the price of such lands, be mortgaged or hypothecated by
"judgment, or otherwise, nor seized, nor sold under authority of law, for any debt or
"debts contracted previous to the grant or concession of such lands, articles 2,034
"and 2,121 of the civil code to the contrary notwithstanding ; and, further, no one
"shall seize or sell under authority of law, for any such debt, the right, titie or
"interest of any settler in or upon any land which shall have been so conceded to
"him.

" 2. From the time of the occupation of any lot of land, and during the ten
"years following the issue of patents for the land of settlers conceded or granted
"aforesaid, the following chattels shall, without prejudice to article 556 of the code
"of civil procedure, be exempt from seizure under any writ of execution issued ont
"of any Court whatsoever, in this Province, viz.:

"1. The bed, bedding, and bedsteads in ordinary use by the debtor and his family
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"2. The necessary and ordinary wearing apparel of the debtor and his family.

"3 One stove and pipes, one crane and its appendages and one pair of handirons,
one set of cooking utensils, one pair of tongs and shovel, one table, six chairs, six
knives, six forks, six plates, six teacups, six saucers, one sugar basin, one milk jug,

"one teapot, six spoons, all spinning wheels and weaving looms in direct use, and 10
"volumes of books; one axe, one saw, one gun, six traps, and such fishing nets and
"seines as are in common use.

" 4. All necessary fuel, meat, fish, flour and vegetables provided for family use,
"not more than sufficient for the ordinary consumption of the debtor and his family

for three months.

" 5. Two horses or two draught oxen, four cows, six sheep, four pigs, eight hun-
"dred bundles of hay, other forage necessary for the support of these animals during
"the winter, and provender sufficient to fatten one pig and to maintain three during
"the winter.

6. Vehicles and other implements of agriculture.

7. The debtor may select from any large number of the same kind of chatte!s
the particular chattels to be exempt from seizure, in virtue of this section.

" But nothing in this section contained shall exempt from seizure any of the
ehattels enumerated in sections 3, 4, 5 or 6 of this section, in payment of any debt

" contracted in respect of such said chattels.

" 3. Nothing in this Act shall be held as exempting any land from the payment
"o, or being sold for the rates or taxes which now are or in future shall be legally
"imposed thereon.

" 4. All patents which shall issue for any land conceded or granted ai herein-
"before set forth, shall state the name of the person to whom such was 5so conceded or

"granted originally, and the date of such grant or concession.

" 5. If a settler occupy for more than five years a lot of land before the issue of
" the patent, the time over and above these five years shall be substracted from the
"(delay of ten years following the issue of the patent, mentioned in section two of

this Act.

" 6. The provisions of this Act shall apply to the widow, children and
heirs of the settler as constituting his representatives."

MR. J. Y. SHANTZ, CHAIRMAN OF THE MENNONITE COMMITTEE.

THE MENNONITE SETTLEMENTS OF MANITOBA, &C.

THURSDAY, March 29th, 1877
Mrl. JACOB Y. SHANTZ appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What is your name ?-My name is Jacob Y. Shantz.

Q. Where is your place of residence ?-In the town of Berlin, Waterloo
County.
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Q. What occupation do you follow ?-I am principally a farmer ; but I also do>
some manufacturing.

Q. Have you been out in the Province of Manitoba ?-I have.

Q. What object had you in view when you visited Manitoba ?-Well. I was sent;
out by the Government; I accompanied a Russian deputation in the first place
and I am Chairman of the Mennonite Committee of Ontario.

Q. It was a deputation that had come from Russia ?-Yes.

Q. You accompanied them to Manitoba ?-Yes.

Q. Did your travels extend to any part of the Western States ; to any portion
of the United States ?-I have been there.

Q. What was the object of the deputation in proceeding there; what informa-
tion were you calculated to gather ?-Well, the deputation were of course in search
of a good location ; they wanted to fnd a good part of the country.

Q. This was for the Mennonites ?-Yes.

Q. They were Mennonites who were about to remove from Southern Russia ?-
Yes.

By 3fr. McNabb
Q. These were the deputation of the Russian Mennonites, were they not ?-Yes.

Q. How many were there in the deputation ?-There were twelve.

By the Chairman
Q. What States of the Union-what parts of the -territories of the United States

did you travel through ?-We went through portions of Dakotah, Minnesota and
Nebraska.

Q. And what did you do afterwards; you went to Manitoba, did you not ?-We
went to Manitoba in the first place; we went from here to Manitoba direct.

Q. After having examined the quality of the land in the United States you took
these Mennonites to the Province of Manitoba, did you not ?-I took the greatest
part of them there; but some of the deputation preferred to locate in the States of
Nebraska and Kansas.

Q. Do you consider the Province of Manitoba to be more favorable for settle-
ment than the States of Nebraska, Dakotah or Minnesota ?-In my opinion, I
consider the part of Dakotah stretching along the line of the Northern Pacifie
Railway, not far from Red River, and the Province of Manitoba, just equal. I think
that they have the same soil.

Q. That is the territory lying on Red River ?-Yes.

Q. You think they have the same quality of soil?-Yes.

By MWr. Bain:-
Q. I suppose that they are really the same territory; they are only separated

by an imaginary boundary line ?-Yes; I suppose that they are the same. I might
add this: as -to the deputation which I accompanied, they divided; about half of
them chose Manitoba, and the other half selectedlDakotah, on the line of the Northern
Pacific Railway. The reason why a portion of thom preferred this part of the
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eountry was on account of the greater convenience of settling there. It was a sec-
tion which was much more convenient for starting settlements.

By a Mfember:-
Q. This was on account of the Northern Pacifie Railway ?-Yes.

Q. This relates to a portion of Dakotah ?-Yes ; I accompanied then on
their trip. When I was sent by the Department I was only to go with
thein to the Province of Manitoba, but they wanted me to go with theni
in the United States to act as interpeter; and I went. We passed over different
roads, we were taken on by the managers of the railroads in those parts; we were
taken by the railways to various tracts of land, and at certain places we got out and
went into the country for miles, in order to examine the land. Of course we saw a
great deal of good land, but all agreed that the land farther north was a little superior
to it, this was in Minnesota and in Nebraska. We went on the Union Pacifie,.
I suppose for two hundred and ten miles; we stopped at different places and went out
into the country twenty miles immediately along the railway lines; wo saw some
very good land, but it was always agreed that the soil up to the north-west of it was
preferable.

By a Member:-
Q. You mean Manitoba when you speak of the North-West ?-Yes.

Q. You considered that the soil of Manitoba was preferable ?-Yes. We were
then taken down another road-I forget what they call it-in Nebraska. We were
taken fifty miles beyond the railroad and down near the Kansas lines. We went to
the vicinity of a river where a settlement had been started and we were shown,
around the land.

Q. Was this prairie land ?-Yes, it was all prairie land. But the deputation just
kept to the same conclusion-that the soil of Dakotah and Manitoba was preferable,
and those who had decided on locating in Manitoba of course went there with us
and those who had at that time decided on Dakotah went there. But when they
commenced to emigrate a change took place. They came out at the time when the
company was scattered and a rumpus created in it. There was another thing that
happened. It was reported that they could not get water along the location, and that
the Railway Company had to draw their water to various stations along the line, sc
they did not trust the representations of the company which was then almost,
ruined, and somehow or other they went to Kansas. A good many went to that
State and some came to Manitoba.

By Mr. Jones:
Q. Could you state what proportion of Mennonites went to the United States

and what proportion of them came to our country?- I do not know exactly what
proportion of them went to the United States.

Q. No doubt, but give it as nearly as you can ?-As nearly as J can state
about seven hundred families went to the United States, and they settled in
different places. One settlement was located in Minnesota, another in Nebraska, and
a third in Kansas.

Q. And how many of them came to our country ?-Twelve hundred families
came to our country.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Then did not any of them settle in the State of Dakotah ?-A few did-
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about twenty-five or twenty-six families settled there and the most of thenm are those
that came from Manitoba after they went up there. Between twenty and thirty
families did so. The reports circulated were that a great many of the Mennonites
left Manitoba, but there were only between twenty and thirty families that took this
step. I knew eleven families who, after they had settled in Manitoba, returned and
settled in Dakotah; but these were poor families who had no means to commence
with, and as there was no work to be had in the place where they had gone, they
returned to Moorehead on account of the living there. A few others, besides, stopped
there and never went up to Manitoba. A few families among those I speak of as
having left Manitoba, had friends, or brothers, or fathers, or children settled in
Nebraska, Minnesota or Kansas.

Q. I suppose that the market for farm produce in Manitoba is more favourable
than it is in Dakota ?-I suppose it is at the present time, on account of the immigra-
tion there. It is wanted there. But as to the future, I do not know. I suppose it
will be about the same ; that is my opinion.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What is the Mennonite population of Manitoba, to the best of your know -

ledge ?-To the best of my knowledge, it is about six thousand five hundred. It is
either six thousand four hundred or six thousand five hundred. Six thousand seven
hundred went up to the Province. I had the record of every one; but some few
left, as I have already stated.

Q. Where are they located ?-There is one settlement-and it is the largest
settlement of all, being composed of about seven hundred families-located, on the
east side of Red River, on what is called Rat River, about thirty miles east of Winni-
peg; and there is another settlement on the west side of Red River, near the
boundary, or right on the boundary line of Dakotah, and situated about seventy miles
from Winnipeg.

Q. That is near the Pembina Mountains ?-Yes.

By Mr. fagar:-
Q. Did I understand you to say that the railroad companies in the United States

took the members of the Mennonite deputation through the country free of charge,
and showed them all their land ?-Yes.

Q. They were evidently desirous of turning the stream of this immigration in
their favour ?-Yes ; and they took the deputation about in the very best style.

By a'Member :
Q. Do they give free grants to settlers in the United States ?

fr. Bagar :-The railroad companies do not do so.

itness:-That is not done by the railway companies.

By Mr Jones :-
Q. I suppose, however, that these companies sell their lands on very reasonable

terms ?-Yes.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. What was the price charged per acre for the lands which they took you to

*soe ?-They charged four or five dollars per acre. These lands were located in a
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tract comprising twelve townships. The price on the average was put down at four
dollars per acre.

Q. What were the terms of payment ?-I think they had to be paid for in seven
vears.

Q. Interest was charged of course ?-Yes.

Q. What was the rate ?-I think that the rate was seven per cent. But then
vou must recollect that every other township belonged to the Government of the
United States; and of course these they gotfree of charge.

By Mr. lcNabb :-
Q. These were equally good lands and equally capable of cultivation ?-Yes;

the way they do is this: one section of land is appropriated for the company and the
next section is retained by the American Government.

By Jr. Hagar:-

Q. Every other section of the township is held by the company ?--Yes; every
other section.

Q. That is six hundred and forty acres? -Yes; equal to four homesteads.

By the Chairman:-
Q. How do the Mennonites locate themselves; do they scatter theraselves over

the country as farmers do in Ontario, or do they build little villages and group them-
selves together ?-lost of them build villages and live middling close to each other.

Q. What is about the extent of a little village of theirs ?-From sixteen to
twenty families live in them; that is about the usual number, but sometimes as many
as thirty families live in a village.

Q. Then their lands extend out from the village for miles around, probably ?-
Yes; around the villages they bave their lands; but those who are settled on the
Pembina Plains, take a different way from the others, because the land in this part
is, almost every acre of it, the very nicest and best cultivatable land ; hence they
can easily do it, they here have divided the sections into quarter sections, and home-
steads instead of into squares. The land is divided into strips a mile through-a
mile long and one-quarter of a mile broad; and of course the settlers generally build
their houses on the front of their lots, or both sides of the road. Thus four sections
would enable sixteen families, and six sections, twenty-four families to live in a
village.

Q. How many townships have been set apart for the Mennonites on Rat River ?
-They have eight towrships there.

Q. And what proportion of timber is found on these eight townships ?-Well,
there are two of these townships which have a good deal of timnber on them. The
timber, however, is small; but these were not preferred for farniing purposes; and
the Mennonites did not locate on them.

Q. As a rule, then, they settled on the open prairie ?-Yes.

Q. Do they suffer any inconvenience from want of fuel ?-They have not suffered
any so far.

Q. Then they are perfectly satisfied in this respect ?-Yes.
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By Mr. Jones: -

Q. Have you seen any of those settlers since they settled there; have you been
up there since they made these settlements ?-Yes; I have had communication with
the most of them who went up there.

Q. And those who were there, were they really satisfied with the progress which
they had made ?-Why, they were well pleased with the country; I am almost
daily in receipt of correspondence from them when I am at home ; and they have
never expressed any dissatisfaction in their letters, as yet. Their statements are
inclined much more the other way. They are confident that the soil is good. Some
say that the winter is pretty long and severe, but they approve of the good soil and
the good crops that are obtained. That is about the way in which they write me.

Q. Is there any probability that their numbers will receive large accessions
from Russia ?-It depends very much on circumstances. A great many more would
like to come to this country, but according to the correspondence of which I have
been in receipt, they cannot come out unless they obtain assistance. They have Lad,
up to the present two failures in iRussia ; for two years the crops have been a failuro
in that country, and this fact places these people in such a position that they have
no means to come out to this country, and for what they bave to sel], there are no>
means in the country to buy it with.

Q. Are you at all aware of the amount of assistance that would be required to
bring out families composed each of five persons to this country ; do you know what
would induce them to emigrate to this country ?-Families of five persons each.

Q. Yes, say five, the head of the family, and five or six in all ?-Well, I do not
know I am sure how much would be required for that purpose. Of course they can
be induced to come to this country, for they want to come to it; and if they could
only get assistance, they would do so.

Q. No doubt, I did not suppose that you would be aware, but I thought that you
might know what amount of assistance would be needed; what do you think would
be the expense which it would be necessary to incur per head to bring them from
that country to this, provided that free grants of land were offered to them as
inducements to emigrate ?-Well, I would have to judge as to that by what was given
to those who have already come to this country. I do not think that they would
want anything more than has been extended to the Mennonites who are in Manitoba.

By Mr. 1Ragar :-
Q. What was that, do you remember ?----The Secretary of the Department ean

give you that information better than I can.

Mr. Lowe :-The cost of bringing them to this country was altogether,
including the loan and all the assistance given, about $32 per head in round
numbers.

By a Member :-But the loan has to be paid back ?

Vitness :-Yes.

1fr. Lowe :--The direct cost to the Government is about half the amount I stated.

By Mr. Jones Io Witness:-
Q. That would be about sixteen dollars per head ?-Yes.
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By Mr. MicNab to Mr. Lowe:-

Q. Besides the loan made to them, the cost per head would be about sixteen
dollars ?-1 have taken the figures, and the outside figures are, in round numbers, two
hundred thousand dollars. The loan amountod to one hundred thousand dollars, and
the direct assistance given also to about one hundred thousand dollars. But neither
.was the whole of the loan expended, nor was there quite the amoant of one hundred
thousand dollars expended. In round numbers, it cost about thirty-two dollars per
bead, at the outside, including both the loan and the amount charged to the service
of Immigration, to bring them to this country and settle them.

By Mr. Jones to Witness :-
Q. That is for both young and old ?-Yes, sir, that is the case. There are about

one hundred and fifty of the best farms in the County of Waterloo, in the Province
of Ontario, pledged to the Government on bonds drawn out with the Department for
the repayment of that loan in ten year's time.

.Mr. Jones:-That is the principle on which it is worked; it is supposed that the
loan will be paid back, and the repayments will amount to aboutixteen dollars per
head.

-Mr. Wlhite (ffastinqs) :-The cost per lie-d is about thirty-two dollars.

Mr. Jones:-That includes the loan.

WdIness :-Yes, that includes the loan.

Mr. WVhite (IHastings) -
Q. Then one half of what was expended will be paid back ?-Yes; they requirad

assistance and the loan besides

E3y the Chairman :-
Q. In the event of securing a good crop or two in Manitoba, the Mennonites may

be expected to return, shortly, a portion of the money loaned them; do you not
think that this will be the case under such circumstances?-Well, this will be done
no sooner than at the time set down in the agreement, and that is five years; because
it wiHl take them sone time to get a good start. The G-overnment hold ample and
sufficient security to the extent of the loan, and every cent will be repaid.

By Mr. McNabb:-
Q. What is the nature of this security ?-It is composed of about one hundred

and titty of the best farmers in Canada, and none of them are worth less than from
eight to fifteen thousand dollars each.

Kr. McNabb:-That is enough for the purpose ?

Witness :-This is the security given, and the loan bears interest.

Mr. Lowe :-The understanding was that each of the signers of the bonds was
only to sign for about one-tenth of the value of his property.

Mr. McNabb :-Was the loan to be repaid at once ?

Chairman:-It is to be repaid in four instalments; during the first five years
nothing is to be paid.

TVitness:-There are five instalments to be paid afterwards.
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A Menber :-What is the total sum which is to be repaid ?

Chairman :-It is less than one hundred thousand dollars.

-Mr. Mc.Nabb:-Hlow long is allowed for the payment of each imstalment?

-1fr. Lowe :-The repayments extend over a period of ten years. For the first
four years, no part of the advance is to be repayable, or is to be demanded. The
whole loan is to bear interest at six per cent. After four years the principal and
interest are to be capitalized, and the amount divided into yearly instalments, so as
to extinguish the debt in six years atter the expiry of the first four years. The
interest is to be so calculated as to make six per cent. on the amount actually held
after the four years.

A Meniber :-Do they intend to draw any r.ore on the loan ?

Chairnan:-They would like to draw a little more in Manitoba-from five to six
thousand dollars.

Vitness:-They would like to get another five thousand dollars, but I believe
that there will be no call on any more.

By Mr. Jones :-
Q. Taking the soil, climate, markets, laws and the institutions of this country

into account, what do you think of their circumstances? If you your self were about
to remove from your location at Berlin, which country would you go to: the Ameri-
can or the Canadian side of Red River ?-I would go to the Canadian side without
any doubt.

Q. You would consider it preferable in every respect ?-Yez.

By -Mr. White (Hastings):
Q. They are altogether well satisfied with their lands, are they not ?-Yes.

Q. And they are well satisfied with the treatment which they have received at
the hands of the Canadian people ?-Yes; they are.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Whatis the general appearance of the eight townships you have just spoken

of on the Rat River settlement ?-It is generally good land.

Q. It is undulating and rolling ?-It is a little rolling.

Q. There is good natural drainage ?-Yes; there is some low land, a great deal
of flat land ; and the Mennonites seem to admire that sort of land.

Q. As a whole, it is a fine tract of land ?-Yes.

Q. This applies to the whole eight townships ?-Yes; but it is a little different
in different parts of the country. In some settlements the soil is a little harder than
it is in other settlements. I myself would prefer the other settlement, the Pembina
settlement.

Q. What is the extent of the Pembina settlement ?-I may say that this settle-
ment, in my opinion, is located on the best and nicest tract of land, that is for one scb
large ini extent, that I have ever seen in all my travels.

Q. This is at Pembina ?-The settlement extends out from that river to the,
Pembina Mountains, as they are called, though we would term them little hills, for-
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about thirty miles. I may say that this part of the country is almost just like one:
nice level field. It is also high land, and almost all plough land.

Q. It is rolling prairie ?-Yes.

Q. It is all fit for agricultural purposes ?-Yes. The objection first taken was
that there was scarcely enough hay land in that section for them, but when they
went on one side of it, they found a great big marsh, and that pleased them; there,
,was hay land in this part.

By a Member:-
Q. The winter there is not quite so cold as it is in Russia ?-They say that the

winter is not as rough as it is in Russia, but that it is longer. I might add that
beyond this settlement and around the Pembina Mountains, Canadians are settled.
Canadians will only settle where there is timber, and that is the reason why this
plain was not taken up before.

Q. Then these people are not so desirous of securing such an extent of timbered
,and as our Canadians ?-They are used to living 'n land without timuber, or even
within a hundred miles of it.

Q. Can they do with very little fuel ?-Yes; they could do with none at all when
they once get started; in the first place some of them when they get prairie grass
beat and dry it, and use it for fuel, and the remark is made by them: " when we get
started a few years, we do not care for wood for fuel," they burn straw and manure.
The Canadians contend that the land up in that part of the country does not want
manure.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In their peculiar structures or fire places they burn something of that descrip,

tion ?-Yes ; they build a stove or what we might call an oven of brick. Of course,
they have not good brick at present, but they will dry the clay and use it for the
purpose, I have seen the women take the clay and mould and dry it ; they build
their stove with it. When they have built their littlo house they generally have>
when the door is placed, a small hole for rubbish and stuff of that sort to be placed in.
The mouth of this stove is there and the other end comes into the room; if they have
two rooms they have it in the partition. It is built in for six or seven feet, it is about
two feet broad and six or seven feet high, and thon the fire place is below ; the flames
come in and go out above; the chimney comes out here, and with straw or hay the
stove will be heated in about half an hour during the morning; a good b:g artal of
straw will do it.

By 1r. Hagar
Q. The bricks will be heated by this means?-Yes ; it is done in about half an

hour, there is a constant flame during this time, and çvhen it is heated up itwill keep
the house warm they say, in the coldest weather until evening.

Q. Then the stove retains that heat?-Yes.

By 11fr. McNabb
Q. How thick is the brick wall ?-It is one brick thick; they have it open at the

side and in front a cast iron plate, sornetimes this is sheet iron when they c.mnot get
any better material. In the morning they do a little cooking while the heat is in,
and for the making of the dinner they have a place outside with a snall grate, into
which they put a little fire; theycook their dinner in it. This has been explained to
me, and I have seen them do it.
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By a M4ember :-

Q. Are the ashes used for manure ?-They contend that they do not want manui e
for their lands.

By -Mr. Hagar :-
Q. They burn their manure in these stoves or ovens with straw -Yes.

Q. -suppose they use the manure after it has been dried ?- The manure is
pressed, set out and dried.

By the Chairman

Q. Iow many little villages have they now in the Pembina settlement?-In the
Pembina settlement they have twenty-four villages.

Q. How nany have they in the Rat River settlement ?-I cannot exactly state
but the population is larger in this section. I think I have heard mention of twenty.
six villages situated there, but I am not precisely aware that this is the case.

Q. Then. they have altogether about fifty villages ?-Yes.

Q. And in cach village they have from sixteen to twenty families ?--Yes; this
maV, perhaps, be the case. Of course, when they started some of them had not a
fulI nunber; but afterwards they had friends who came along and joined them.

Q. Their ftrns are not fenced, are they ?-No.

Q. Iow do they manage with their cattle and crops ? -They herd their cattie.
That is one reason why they want to settle in villages. They have one herdsman
for each village.

Q. They take turn about in herding their cattleand in protecting their crops, do
they not ?-I do not know exactly that that is the case.

Q. At all events, they do herd them ?-Yes.

Q. They have nothing fenced except a little garden or yard ?-No; and that is
around the house.

Q. How are the villages arranged ?-Their houses are placed about one hundred
feet back from the street; the distance may, perhaps, be a little more.

Q. They have plants placed in the yard, or they intend to do so ?-You could see
plants there even during the tirst year of their settlement. There are trees to be
seen in them.

B a Jember:-

Q. Speaking of herding, how do they propose to regulate the grazing and the
ploughing ?-Particular pieces of land are devoted to grazing, but of course they
have enough for this purpose just now outside the limits.

By Mr. Bain:

Q. A certain strip of land is taken for it ?-Yes.

Q. Te practical result, I suppose, i. that they form a strip and graze a strip of
thei r propertv ?-They can change thei.
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Mr. Bain :-They will have to change pretty much together. If they formed a
strip and grazed a strip alternately, I do not see how they could keep the stock out.
of their crops.

The Chairman:-The system they have is followed in France and Germany.

Mr. Bain :-I understand that.I want to find out whether there is any rotation.
I fancy that they follow pretty much the old fashioned principle which pievailed in
Canada. There was certain farming land and certain grazing land, and farm ors kept
at it until they got out of the land all that was in it.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Are there good springs and water in these settlements; is well water easily

procured there ?-There is generally good well water, in this Rat River settlement.
I know that in one village-it was the first village which was started-tiiey dug wells,
and one man dug a well thirty feet in depth. He got water, and the well overflowed.
It does so yet. It supplies enough water for the whole village. I saw it, and it
sends quite a stream across the street. The people generally fnd good wells.

A Member :-They could almost irrigate the soil during a dry season.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do these settlers calculate upon cultivating a growth of timber in their

settlements ?-Yes, they speak of it at least; they have commenced to plant fruit
trees on trial. Last year, I sent out three hundred trees to them.

By Mr. Orton:-
Q. Is the water good in every locality ?-It is generally; sulphur wells are

found now and then.

Q. Alkaline water is met with ?-Yes.

Q. But the water is generally!pretty good ?-Yes

By -Mr. Hagar:
Q. What kind of fruit trees were sent out to these settlements ?-Apple and

cherry.

Q. The harder varieties were chosen for the purpose ?-Yes; I had a letter
lately from them asking for twelve hundred trees of various kinds.-plum, apple,
cherry and pear.

By the Chairman
Q. The Mennonites who are now4in the country-these six thousand five hun-

dred people-are well satisfied with their lot, and those who cultivated the land last,
year had good crops Mis not this the case ?-Yes.

Q. This was thelonly crop they have had since they came to the country ?-
Yes; I might say that it was the only crop they have had. It was only the year
before that they came in there, and that was the grasshopper year. In the Pembina
settlement I think that there were four villages which were visited with a very
severe hail storm last year, and the people living in these four villages lost their
Srops; and if it had not been for the hail which fell there last year they would have
had good crope. I just received a letter last Saturday evening from one of the set-
tiers. le left here in Ontario and went up there a year ago; that was last spring;
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le sowed six acres of land with wheat, and his crop amounted to one hundred and
eighty bushels; I do not know how much barley he obtained.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. That is a pretty good yield-thirty bushels per acre ?-That was his crop; it

was a good one.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Do they cultivate the land to any great extent; some of those who have been
there from the very outset do business on a large scale, 1 believe ?--Some do so.

By Mr. Jones :-

Q. Are you aware what was the value of wheat in that part last fall; what did
they realize for their crop ?-I think that wheat sold there last fall for about seventy
cents a bushel.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have they been writing you, Mr. Shantz, as to what is the general opinion
their with respect to the grasshopper plague?-Well, I do not exactly knew what is
their opinion in this regard; but they hope that they will not be troubled with them
too greatly. They say that there was not left a blade of grass the year they came;
but they have good hopes for this year.

Q. Had they grasshoppers in Russia ? are they troubled with them there ?--Yes;
sometimes this was the case.

Q. It is nov three or four years since you have had business with these people
and since you went out to Manitoba with them ?-Yes; in 1873 I weint out there
with the Mennonite deputation. I was out there'in the fall of 1872, but I was then
only accompanied by a young man from Russia.

Q. Do you know whether summer frosts are likely to be troubledsome ont iî
these territories w th reference to the cultivation of wheat or root crops ?-From all
the information 1 have received, it is not a bad country at all as far as spring or
summer frosts are concerned. During one year when I was up there in June a frost
come and nipped the potatoes in some low lands, but on the higher ground this did
not occur, but notwithstanding this, these damaged parts had a fair crops of potatoes.

By The Chairman:-Such frosts occur here in the more favored spots of Ontario.

Witness:-I gathered all the information I received on the subject when I was
up there for the first time, and I though the best information I obtained was given
me by some good knowing ok< Scotch Half-breeds. They are very nice men ; I occa-
sionally met them; they had lived there many years and knew all about the country.
I made enquiry about these summer frosts and they said they were not at all serious,
and they did not affect the crops to any great extent. The Scotchman, who was the
head of this family, had gone out there in his younger days and had married an Indian
wife. They lived in a very simple manner and had the largest farm that I met with,
owned by any member of that class. The farm was composed of ninety acre, which
were under cultivation. The owner had lived there forty-two years without ever
using a particle of man re on his land. I asked him what -he did with his manure,
and ho replied that be threw it into the river, until last year, when the Government
forbade the practice.

The Chairman:-A law was passed to this effect in Manitoba.
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Wtness:-This farm had an ordinarily good crop that year. I simply saw the
vheat and oat stock, and they looked very well.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. The residents of these Mennonite villages are not all agriculturists, are they;

have they a due proportion of mechanics among them ?-Yes; they have many
znechanics amongst t hem--indeed, each one is his own mechanic.

Q. And every family has its own land ?-Yes. I found a great many of these
.farmers who were capable of making a waggon, including iron and wood work.

Q. They are very ingenious 9-Yes.

By 31r. Jones :-
Q. Was the Scotchman, of whom you spoke, very well to do; was he considered

very well off ?-Yes; he was thought to be well off. There was no opening for the
euse of money at the time when he went into the country. In those days there was
nothing sold, except perhaps a little produce to the Hudson's Bay Co. Very little
-was done in this respect. He had four or five very good horses; and he was very

wqVell situated for one of his class. The best of them live in a very simple way. This
,man's bouse was used as a stopping-place, but beds were not provided tor his guests.

Q. People will be more likely now, as the country settles up, to be able to
accumulate wealth ?-Certainly.

By the Chairman:
Q. Until quite recently-and even after Confederation-there was very little

sold in that part of the country, save to the Hudson's Bay Company ?-In former
times the people only cultivated enough to live on.

Q. There was no encouragement to cultivate anything ?-No.

Q. How do the winters in Manitoba compare with those of Ontario, as far as the
housing, protecting and feeding of stock are concerned ?--I can only answer that
question from hearsay.

Q. But you will have reliable information from people settled there on this
point ?-Of course, hay and grass are very abundant, and they have good land for
raising them. They have stables to keep their stock in; they are made of wood, are
well enclosed, but the hay is stacked outside. The Ialf-breeds have good strong
horses, or Indian ponies, as they call them. In the fall of the year they let
them out, with the exception of one or two kept for use, and are let take care of
themselves until spring. Some of the Half-breeds raise a considerable number of
horses. I bad an opportunity of seeing several of them brought in during the latter
,part of May, and one of them was intended for a daughter of Lieut.-Governor Morris.

Q. That had been roaming at large all winter ?-Yes.

By Mr. McNab:-
Q. Is there any place where they could get shelter during rough weather ?-

Yes; they can go off where there are bluffe.

By the Chairman:
Q. There is.a little under-growth of grass ?-Yes; an-1 the animals take off the

snow ; as regards cold, I am fully convinced that the air is different to what it is here.
The first year I was up there, the two last days of November were very cold, at least.
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they said so, and no doubt the thermometer was down to 29° or 30°. I was riding on
the prairies in an open carriage these two days. It was cold, and what puzzled me
was, that I met three large herds of cattle that had been out pasturing ; I would have
supposed here that cattle would freeze to death being out in such weather.

Q. There are no piercing winds, and the air is more uniform ?-Yes, more
uniform ; it is a dry cold air.

Q. What kind of timber did you observe in the country you have been just des-
cribing ?-Mostly poplar, though of course on the rivers there is oak and elm, and on
the Pembina Mountains there is some nice oak, but generally it is poplar.

By Mr. Jones, (Leeds):-

Q. Any ash ?-Yes, on the rivers, but I did not notice any on the bluffs in ther
country.

By Mr. Orton:-
Q. Do they grow large-trees ?-No; rather small.

Q. And very thick, J suppose ?-Yes; very thick.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you know anything about market facilities, and you must know the pricce

of farm stock, because you have purchased for the Mennonites so much ?-Yes; at
first the prices of oxen and waggons were high, but after that they were not so very
high. With regard to waggons and ploughs, I went to the States, to Indiana, andi
bought there in large quantities and got them very cheap, so cheap that I delivered
them for $65, first class waggons without a box.

By a Member:
Q. What are Indian ponies worth, and is there a ready market for them; I sup-

pose the farmers raise them for sale ?-I think they sell, or they did at that time, for
é60 to $80.

By the Chairman:-
Q. They are not what are called Indian ponies here, but a kind of a half-breec

horses ?-Yes.

Q. They are double the size of our Indian pony here, and have a good deal of
-muscle ?-Yes.

By Mr. Jones (Leeds)
Q. Something of the French breed ?-Yes.

Mr. Hagar :-Serviceable ?

The Chairman:-Yes; more so than some of our imported horses.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. Any large market except local ?-No.

By the Chairman
Q. Are your people healthy, and do they consider the country healthy, or do you%

know of any disease peculiar to the country ?-It is generally considered healthy;.
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these people think so; considering the simple way they have of living, it is rather
!singu1ar how they keep their health; a good many of them have no floors to their
houses.

By Mr. McNab:-
Q. Of what material do the Mennonites generally build their houses ?-In the

Red River settlenent they are mostly built of logs. There is some tamarack there
-vhich furnishes nice building material, and prairie grass makes a good thatch. It
is very warm. In the other settlempnts where timber was plentiful they made a
frame and the poorer classes put up posts, and covered it with turf, with a couple of
,windows.

By the Chairman:-
Q. As a rule are not the log buildings being replaced with frame ?-.-l think so.

Q. They are commencing to put up frame ?-Yes, those that are able to do so.
They say that as quickly as they can t ey will make brick.

By Mr. Orton:-
Q. Is there good clay for brick ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. Have you any idea of the amount of money the Mennonites took out-or

,valuables ?-I should know, for I think I changed it all for them.

By Mr. ffagar:-
Q. It is mostly spent ?-Yes, in the way of living and implements. They

brouglit ont a little over $500,000.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In money ?-Yes.

Q. And their personal effects would be worth a great deal more ?-It would be
nore. Their money was all spent in clothes, oxen, implements, &c.

By Mr. Jones (Leeds) :-
Q. These 6,500 people brought out $500,000 ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. They have property which represents that now ?-Yes.

By Mlr. Cunningham -
'Q. Are they sure to find a market for all they raise ?-They will now.

Q. Where will they export to, by and by, after supplying the home market ?-
I was engaged in buying wheat for the grasshopper sufferers at Moorehead, a
year ago last fall, and they quoted their prices at 15 cents less than at Milwaukee,
which is the principal western market, I believe. As the freights are very high
now, there being no opposition, we could really suppose that in future the difference
would not be more from Manitoba than from Milwaukee, because we are no further
from the head of lake navigation than the American districts are from Milwaukee or
Chicago.
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By the Chairman ;

Q. If that railway is completed-the Northern Pacifie to Pembina, &c., and the-
Pembina branch to Winnipeg-what do you suppose grain could be brought from
this settlement to Duluth for ?-Supposing that both railways are opeined, I think it
could be brought for 15 cents to 20 cents a bushel.

That would be from 6 cents to 7 cents a bushel from Duluth to Toronto by water,
so that the only difference would be one quarter of a dollar per bushel?

Mr. Cunningham:-Above Ontario rates?

The Chairman :-Yes.

Q. And the grain is much superior ?-Yes.

Mr. Cunningham:-And they produce so abundantly ?

The (hairman :-Yes.

Q. Have your people mills ?-They have put up a little bit of a windmill and at
twelve-horse-power engine this last summer in the IRed River Settlement.

Q. Have they got the improved machinery, bolts, &c., or is it merely rough ?-
They have in the steam mill, but not in the windmill. I had a letter not very long,
ago, this winter, which stated that 1,700 bushels had been ground for their owný
people.

By Mfr. Hiagar
Q. It was unbolted-sifted by hand ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bain:---
Q. Were you up in summer during harvest time ?---Yes.

Q. They had not much rain then, but the dews were very heavy at night ?-
Yes.

Q. How does that affect the colour of their barlev? Has it a tendency to make-
itdark in ordinary dry seasons ?-Not to my knowledge.

Q. You did not notice it complained about ?-No; I did not. The dews are sc>
heavy, however, that after lying all night on the grass, I found my blanket wet
through.

By the Chairman: -
Q. Are there many domestic animals--pigs, cattle, &c., such as we have here ?-

They are getting them as fast as they can.

Q. Each family ?-At first they could hardly get them on account of the price;.
but last season they cou Id get them very reasonably.

Q. They have hogs, and even fowls ?-Yes.

Q. With all the other comforts of an old settlement ?-Yes; and they are trying
all the kinds of grain they can get hold of.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. Do they go into root crops any ?-Yes; potatoes, turnips, &c.

Q. And raise cabbage, turnips, onions, &c. ?-Yes, very much; that is the first
thing they look to.
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Q. Toget a good vegetable garden?-.-Yes; by their ordur I got $50 worth of
vegetable seed.

By Mr. Bain:
Q. How do they preserve potatoes and turnips-does not the frost penetrate

pretty deeply into the soil ?-It seems it does ; but I saw a hole in one corner of their
houses in which to put them.

By Mr. Cmningham:-
Q. Your people seoem inclined to live within themselves; they do not marry with

any other people; are they forbidden to do so ?-They are not forbidden, but they
feel that way as most other classes do.

Q. Do you think they will ever mix with the people of this country -There is
no doubt they will. They hire out and let their girls do service work in Winnipeg
and all round; and they " fall in."

Q. The girls are not forbidden to take a good chance if they can get it ?-No.

Q. Yon have your own system of education and your own schools?-No; we
don't want it in Canada.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You have that privilege ?-Yes, but we don't want it here.

By Mr. Cunningham:-
Q. Do the young people grow up without education ?-They have their own

schols in Russia, because they just live among themselves. They have good schools
in Russia, and most of the women can both read and write.

Q. Have they got good facilities for getting an education bere ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You have schools and churches here now ?-Yes.

By Mr. Cunningham:--
Q. They are inclined to be a religious set of people ?-.Yes. The doctrines are

the same as those of a good many other sects, with the exception of the "unresist-
mg" doctrine. They take the Seripture just as you read it. If you take the New
Testament you will find their doctrines. If they are persecuted they eau " flee from
one city to another."

Q. Then you don't want any police ?-No, not for themselves; but of course
they live amongst others, and you don't find them bringing up their own friends
belore magistrates.

Q. They settle it in their own way ?--Yes.

By Mr. flagar:-
Q. They seldom have lawsuits amongst themselves ?-None.

By the Chairman:-

Q. None whatever?-No; they settle their grievances amongst-themselves.
They are allowed by their own Church views to defend themselves when they think
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it is not right; but they are not allowed to sue. They believe in overcoming evil
with good.

Q. They heap coals of fire upon their heads ?-But stili they don't carry out
their good principles sometimes; they are not strong enough.

Q. You have been out there several times, to Manitoba, have you not ?-Y es,
five times.

Q. What are the facilities for reaching Manitoba, and what is the expense ?-1
think the best way at present is by the lakes, by way of Duluth, Moorhead and the
Red River.

Q. By the Northern Pacific to Moorhead, and down the Red River by boat ?-
Yes; they run down by rail to Fisher's Landing.

Q, That's to Grand Forks nearly ?-Yes.

Q. What distance is Grand Forks to Red River Landing ?--J think about 205
miles fr.om Moorhead, but I forget how fer Grand Forks is.

By Mr. McCraney :-
Q. What is the expense to Manitoba ?-I think $22.50 from Toronto.

By the Chairman:.-
Q. You consider the country well adapted for stock-raising ?-I do.
Q. As well as for the production of grain ?-Yes, and root crops are an excep-

tion.

Q. Much superior to ours in Ontario ?-So far as I have seen.

By Mr. Orton .
Q. There would! be no difficulty in keeping turnips, etc., in winter ?--I should

think not, because, when I was there, 'in June and July, they had excellent potatoes,
ttc., of the previous year, superior to ours in relish, and far larger in size.

By Mr. Higar:

Q. I have heard it stated that frost penetrates in winter to a groat depth, and in
many cases it hardly thaws out ?--Yes, and there are reasons for that. In the fail of
1872 there was no snow, and when I left, on the 1st December, it was very cold,
down to 300 ; the frost, therefore, got deeper and deoper. The next year, when I
was up there, a man who had been digging a well, said the frost had gone down
sevel feet.

By the Chairman:-
Q. That was in the city of Winnipeg ?-Yes; there was a great handle made of

that by a few opponents. When I got back, in August, I enquired wh etber the frost
was out of the ground; I suppose it must have been, because Ihad such nice new
potatoes; some think that aids to the rapid growth.

By Mr. Orton:-
Q. Some seem to think that the constant evaporation affords sufficient moisture

to the soil ?--Yes; as quick as the sun thaws out a few inches of the grýound they
begin to sow. 120
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y Mr. ifagar:
Q. As I understand it, they have very little rain there during the summer ?--I

bave experienced very heavy raina in June and July.

Q. The soil is quite dusty then ?-Yes.

By Mr. McCrney :
Q. Do you think owing to the great depth of frost it would be a good country

-for fruit, such as apples, pears, cherries, plums, gooseberries, &c. ?-I should judge 80
from what I have seen.

Q. When the country is cleared it will be better for fruit ?-I believe so.

By the Ckairman:
Q. Have you met with wild fruit ?-Frequently

By Mr iagar
Q. What kind ?-Plum. grape, and especially strawberries.

By Mr Cunningham:-
Q. There is a man who has cultivated fruit for forty-two Jyears ?-I have not

'met him. I met Mr. McKinley in the fall of 1872, who had a few trees of two
,years' growth. I sent up some last spring and they told me they grew very
fine.

By Mr Hagar:-
Q. Do you remember what kind ?-Snow apple, northern spy, and other hardy

warieties of apples, &c.

Q. And crabs, I suppose ?-A few orabs, and tthe Alexander and the Filman
5weet.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In your travels ) through Minnesota did you notice many thriving

orchards ?-Not many in. the parts I travelled in; I travelled in the most un-
settled parts.

Q. I suppose your people purchased fruit raised in Minnesota ?-I don't know
that they did, because in that portion of Minnesota fruit is not grown much yet; they
mostly get it from Michigan; but I saw some nice fruit at the agricultural fair at
St. Paul.

Q. The Half-breeds roam about with their few heads of cattle, &c. ?-They are
brought up in such a simple way that they are just about like Indians; they live
almost without work.

By Mr. Cunningham:-
Q They manage to get hold of a good deal of money sometimes ?

The Chairman-Yes ; some Half-breeds are very wealthy.

Mr McCraney-This matter of timber is most important.

Mr. Bain---Not up there, where they don't require any fuel to make them warm.

Mr. 'WcCraney-No doubt this has a great influence upon the climate. I would
like to know whether the country is adapted to the cultivation of the forest tree,
such asj the piue and the maple ?
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Witness-I don't know, but the poplar grows wonderfully fast. As regards,
timber, it would not be so important to our people; if the crops do well they can
afford to lay by something for wood and coal, and thon they can plant trees.

By the Chairman:
Q. What can you get wood for per cord ?-I believe $2, and sometimes $4 a cord

in Winnipeg.

Q. Of course your people could get it much cheaper if they desired it ?-I sup-
pose so.

ByJMr Ragar -
Q. This poplar seems to thrive in that country; it is not exactly like our-

poplar here ? -It seems to me to be a little botter.

By the Chairman:-
Q. It grows very rapidly ?-Yes.

By Mr. Ilagar:-
Q. How about its durability for fonces, rails, 'and the like of that ?-It lasts

sbout 15 years.

The Chairman-That is very good ; it is something like basswood.

-Mr. Blagar-Bass will not last that long.

By the Chairman :-
Q. From your own experience as a fa-rmer, would you not prefer farming in

Manitoba to your own section at Waterloo; that is, if your intention was to make
noney and a home at the same time ?

Witness-Do you mean providing that our country was in the wild ?

The Chairman-Yes.

Witness-Since I have learned what prairie is, I could not be induced to go into
wood land; it takes too long to clear.

Q. You prefer prairie ?-I do.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. A man can settle right down in the first year on prairie land, where as it

takes almost a life time to clear wood land ?-Yes; that is my idea of it.

By Mr. Orton:-
Q. Do you think that country will suffer for the want of rain ?-I have n1ot seen

any particular dryness, or hoard any complaints.

Mr. Orton:-It was said that the cultivation of that prairie would have the effect
of causing less rain than what occurs in its natural state.

.Mr. agar:-One would think the evaporation would be greater when the soil
was stirred up. I think we had that question up last year.

The Chairman:-The heat in the summer causes evaporation.
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By Mr. ilagar:-
Q. You don't feel the drought as we do here ?-No. I was up there in June one yearr,-

and it was pretty wet in some places we traversed. li the low places, there was a
great deal of water. I was up again in October and heard no complaint of drought..
The grass and everything was green and fresh.

Q. I suppose the heavy dews prevent dryness to some extent ?- -Yes.

By a Member:-

Q. Aie there many of those people in Russia ?-Yes; there were about 60,000,
before emigration began.

Q. Do you think they would all emigrate if they had the means ?-I suppose not
all.

Q. Can they realise much for their estates in Russia ?-Very little at present.

Q. At present they have no right to sell except to their own people ?-Mostly
that; there are some few exceptions.

By a Member:-
Q. Have they to get permission to emigrate from Russia ?-Yes; they have per-

mission to emigrate from 1872 to 1882.

Q. Was there a law passed prohibiting them from leaving ?-Not to my
knowledge.

The Chairman:-We ought to make strenuous efforts to get the whole 60,000
out before 1882.

Mr. Jones (Leeds) :-If they bring $75 a head, it would be a good thing.

The Chairman :-Besides, they are very prolific. They will settle up that
country very rapidly.

Mr. Jones (Leeds) :-It will not take long to do that; fifteen to twenty years will
suffice.

By Mr. Cunningham :-
Q. Are there any banking institutions out there now where they can deposit

there money by and by ?-They have none now. I do not suppose they are likely to-
go into that.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Would they be apt to learn our language ?-Yes; they learn very quick, I

have noticed that when some have been in the country a year, they talk pretty well.

By the Chairman:
Q. They have the German language, not the Rassian ?-Some can talk Russian;

their language, however, is Low Dutch.

Q. You can converse with any of them?-Yes, sir; They can almost all talk
High Dutch.

The Chairman:-Speaking the German language, I found myself perfectly at
home with them. That is a reason J came to take an interest in their welfare.
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By Mr. Jagar:-
Q. Is there any prospect of furtber immigration this season ?-According to

letters I have received, I think there would be considerable emigration if they
received assistance. They have been asking whether they could get any assis-
tance.

Q. Could none come without assistance at present ?-I expect some few will
come, but it is just like this amongst them. Half of them might be able to come,
but they would not come unless they could bring the other half along with them.

Q. Then you think a great many could be induced to come if they were assisted?
-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. I suppose a good crop this year would be a great inducement to them?-Yes;

I suppose that would start ont a great nany. If there was a good crop also in Mani-
toba, it would be a still greater inducement.

By Mr. Hagar:
Q. Have you any way of knowing how your people who went South, to Kansas

-and other parts of the United States are satisfied with their location as compared
with those settlers in Manitoba, and what reports they would be likely to send home?
-As far as I am aware, and I have correspondence with a few with whom I was
acquainted, they are also satisfied there.

Q. As well satisfied as those in Manitoba ?-Yes, sir.

Mr. Jones (Leeds):-I do not suppose there is any disposition on the part of the
-Government to grant another loan of 850,000 or $100,000 to bring those people out.

The Chairnan:--No; in fact they are not anxious now to give the balance o
the money already granted.

-Mr. Cunningham :-Why is that ?

The Chairman:-I do not know; but there is a diffidence on the part of the
Government to use the remainder of the loan. This gentlemen is desirous of making

;some improvements on a mill, and he bas ample security, but the Government are a
little reluctant in letting him have $5,000 of the loan already voted.

By Mr. ifagar :-
Q. Have the Mennonites preachers with them ?-Yes; I think in the Pembina

settlement they have what they call a bishop, and there are five or six local preachers
.besides.

By the Chairman
Q. They are not paid anything ?-No.

By Mr. Cunningham :
Q. Do they have Sunday schools for the children ?-They have in Ontario; 1 do

not know whether they have them there; I have no doubt they will have them.

Mr. Blagar :-It is a great thing to get such an intelligent class of settlers.

The Chairman-Yes ; the Mennonites are valuable settlers.

Mr. agar :-They have good habits, are thrifty and industrious, and they.have a
ýcareful simple mode of living.
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By the Chairman
Q. Do they all write ?-Yes; all--male and female.

By Mr. Cunningham:-
Q. Do they allow any liquor to be sold ?-Yes; they are very strict as regards,

temperance, but they do use liquor and allow it to be used.

Q. Beer ?-Beer and whiskey; a great many are opposed to it, however.

The Chairman: -They use it more for medicinal purposes than anything else,

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. I suppose they have stores ?-Not yet.

Q. Then they have to go to outside places for their supplies of groceries, &c. ?-
Yes.

Mr. Cunningham :-No doubt they would all sign a prohibitory liquor law if they
had the opportunity.

The Chairman:-There is great independence among the German settlers in that
way; they like to have the liberty even if they don't use it.

-Mr. Cunningham :-Still, if they were convinced that it was injurious to the rest I
think they would agree to prohibit it.

The Chairman. -Yes; they would try and eradicate anything which was the
mneans of making a brother to stumble.

MR. HUGH SUTHERLAND'S EVIDENCE.

THE NORTH-WEST-CLIMATE-FACILITIES OF COMMUNICATION-THE sASKATCHEWAN-
TIMBER SUPPLY-RAINY RIVER, &C.

THURSDAY, 29th. March, 1877.

Mr. HUGFH SUTHERLAND appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman :-
Q. What is your name ?-Hugh Sutherland.

Q. Where is your place of residence ?-I may say that I reside in the North-West
most of the time.

Q. Have you been in the North-West for any length of time ?-Yes, most of the
time since July, 1874.

Q. You have travelled pretty extensively in Manitoba ?-Yes, and the North-West.

Q. How far west have you been ?-1 have been about 1,000 miles west of
Winnipeg.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. Along the Saskatchewan ?-Yes, sir.
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By the Chairman :-
Q. What is your opinion of Manitoba as a farming country ?-I think it is an

.excellont farming country, the best I ever saw. You speak of Manitoba, and not of
the North-West.

Q. Yes, merely the Province. Have you mingled much with the settlers ?-Yes;
a great deal. I buy from them.

Q. What is the general character of the stock you have been purchasing from
them ?-I have purchased oxen and ponies nearly every spring, and I intend going
,out again this year.

Q. What is your occupation ?-The Public Works Department.

Q. What works have you been engaged in ?-In the construction of canals,
locks, and various public buildings; in fact everything in the Department, outside of
the Canada Pacific Railway.

Q. Were you in Manitoba during the ravages of the grasshoppers ?-Yes, sir.

Q. What is the opinion of the settlers now respecting that plague ?-The
.opinion is that they are rid of tbem. In my travels last year, I did not sec any
grasshoppers worth speaking of.

Q. And that is the prevailing opinion among old settlers ?-It is.

Q. Has there been any long period heretofore that they have been free from
-them ?-Yes.

Q. You have heard that from old residents ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. On what foundation do they build their -opinion in regard to their future

freedom from grasshoppers ?-Well, there were no eggs deposited last year worth
,speaking of, and the old settlers say that when they once leave, they are rid of them
for a season. They don't expect them for a good while, and they may perhaps never
icome back. They say the more the ground is tilled, the less are the chances for the
return of the grasshoppers.

Q. Still there is nothing to prevent their periodical return ?-No; no more than
-there is here. I would not surprised to see them here next year; they are work-
ing east all the time. They were bad in Minnesota and Iowa last year. They seemn
to come from the mountains and travel East. They have left Manitoba altogether,
,and they were just as bad in parts of Minnesota and Iowa last year as they were in
that province. Where they go to I do not know. You cannot get any definite
information out of the half-breed settlers in that respect. They have views of their
own, and you can scarcely tell how they form their opinions.

By the Chairman:-
Q. I suppose you have heard them state that they have been rid of the grass.

,hoppers for twenty years ?--Yes, some think they come every twenty-one years.

Q. Well, they can afford to spare a crop ont of twenty years ?-Yes. How
farýit is true I don't know. For my own part I cannot form any idea where they
come from.

Q. What is your opinion of the clirnate. Have you been there during winter ?-
Yes.
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Q Are the winters severe ?-Not what I call severe.

Q. Do you find any more inconvenience than in Ontario?-No; I prefer
Manitoba in the winter season to here.

Q. The weather is more uniform ?--Yes.

Q, And is not subject to such changes ?-No; and the degree of moisture is very
-much less there. The air is dry and pure.

Q. Do summer frosts prevail in Manitoba to the injury of crops ?-I have not
seen any, but I have heard of it sometimes. Last year I saw the crops harvested in
the North-West and the Saskatchewan. I was there during July, August and
September, and I did not see any frosts to injure anything. One night during that
time the frost nipped the potatoes, but I have seen that in Ontario.

Q. Where was that ?-On Battle River.
Q. Frosts are more likely to occur near rivers ?-I do not know that that is the

case.

Q. It is the case here. Do you know the average crops of wheat, oats, barley
and peas, in the old settlements or in any settlements you have travelled through ?-
I cannot say exactly as to the average. I have not paid much attention to that, only
what I have seen in newspaper reports.

Q. Do you find that good spring water is easily obtained ?-I do now. The first
year I had great difficulty, not knowing much about the country, but I don't find any
,difficulty now. I travelled 2,600 miles overland last summer through this country.

Q. What kind of timber do you observe in Manitoba ?-The poplar is the
principal timber there.

Q. Is there much of it ?-Not so much there as there is in the North-West.

Q. Is there sufficient for settiement?---Yes; there is sufficient for fencing and
fuel.

Q. Do you consider the climate healthy ?---I do; very.

Q. Do you know any disease peculiar to the country ?----I do not.

Q. The people are not subject to fevers or epidemies ?--In 1874 there was
sickness in the city of Winnipeg, owing no doubt to the want of proper drainage.

By Mr. Cunninaham:--
Q. What was it ?---Low or bilious fever; I think of the typhoid type.

Q. Have you had means of becoming acquainted with that country bordering on
the Saskatchewan ?-Yes.

Q. What is the nature of the soil and the climate, and how is it watered and
wooded ?---I have travelled up the Saskatchewan Valley by the river, from Carlton
nearly up to Edmonton.

Q. What is the distance ?-About 500 miles; I find the soil is a sandy loam-
mnot exactly the same kind of soil as you find in Maniboba; in color it is.

By -Mr. Blagar:-

Q. Is there any sand there ?--No; there is more sand in the soit of tbe
Saskatehewan country; this black soil is not so deep.
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Q. What underlies this ?-Clay in some instances, and in other places sand and
gravel.

Q. What about the climate ?---I consider the climate better than that of Mani-
toba; it is more moderate in winter.

Q. How is it watered and wooded ?---After you touch the Saskatchewan-
taking a line due west from Manitoba to the Saskatchewan---you strike a wooded
country, about half and half; that is after you cross the south branch of the Upper
Saskatchewan.

Q. -Are there many settlers on the Saskatchewan ?----They are scattered along
from the forks of the two Saskatchewans up to Carlton.

Q. What class of people are they ?--There are quite a number of Canadians, and
some Ealf-breed settlers.

Q. Are they engaged in agriculture ?-Yes; about Prince Albert's Missioir
there is a fine piece of country, and there is quite a large settlement.

Q. Do they find a fready market for their surplus produce ?---Yes, they find a
market for all they can raise.

Q. The climate is preferable to that of Manitoba ?--Yes.

Q. And the soil is more fertile ?-I think that in a wet season the crops would
come up better in the Saskatchewan than in Manitoba.

Q. Are the seasons earlier ?-Yes; I suppose you have samples of Mr. Taylor's
grain here (the samples referred to were on the table); I saw that harvested on
Battle River on the 31st July. It was sown about the middle of May.

Q. Vegetation is very rapid ?-Yes, I think much more se than in Manitoba.
During that time there was very little or no rain. They had a great deal of rain in
Manitoba last season, but on the Saskatchewan there was scarcely any at all.

Q. Were there any bailstorms during the season ?-I did not sec any. I heard
of a hailstorm in Manitoba.

Q. It was stated that the crops were cut by bail at Prince Albert's Mission ?-I
saw that contradicted. That was after I left, and it must have been late in the
season. I left in September; I saw an account in the papers, but I afterwards saw
a letter from the Mission contradicting it. That is all I know about it.

By Mr. Cunningham .-
Q. Is there plenty of good land round there ?-Yes, and room for plenty of

settlers. I consider that the best land is on the north side of the North Branch. I
have here a register of meteorological observations taken in December. If necessary
I can get them for other months. They were sent to me by a doctor at Battle River,
who compiles them every month. This for December is as follows:-
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REGISTER of Meteorological Observations taken at Battleford for month of December,
1876.

Self-Registering
Thermometer.

Date. -- - - Weather Remarks. Miscellaneous Phenomena.

Max. Min.

Dec. 1 19 -5 Clear and Wrndy ................... Ducks seen on Saskatchewan.
do 2 -9 and clear ....................
do 3 28 0 do
do 4 45 0Q Calm and clear tili 6 p.m., when cloudy,1
do 5 with warm south wind...... .....

do 6 20 O' Snow from 9.30 a.m. tili 10 p.m ........
do 7 39 -15 Very stormy ail day .......
do 8 4 -31 Windy day.......... .............
do 9 38 -10 Cala tili 6 p.m., when wind from south... Heavy ram from il p.n. till2a.m,
do 10 44 0 South wiid during entire day .........
do 11 41 25 Fair weather; hazy
do 12 52 23 Clear and calm ....................
do 13 25 -20 Squally tili 12 noon, when calm and clear
do 14 32 -25 Fair weather .....................
do 15 32 -20 Clearandwindy..................
do 16 7 -20 Fairweather; hazy atmosphere......Three sun dogs visible fro i
do 17 27 5 Calm and clear.................... a.m. tili 1 p.m.
do 18 7 5 Squally ail day................ .
do 19 23 0Q Calm day; hazy atmosphere. .........
do 20 15 5 Windy tili 3 p.m., when ca...........1
do 21 15 5 Fair weather; hazy atmosphere.
do 22 15 -25 Calt and clear...................
do 23 15 -40 do
do 24 10 -32 Fair weather; hazy atmosphere.......
do 25 30 -5 do do
do 26 27 5 ICloudyday......................
do 28 2 -31 d

do 21 17 - 90 Calm and clear ........ ........... ......... ..........
do 28 2 03 do ........ ... .. .....................

do 29 6 -21 Squally l till 3 p.m., when calm and clear..
do 30 30 -16 Calm and clear; snowing at 3 p ...........
do 31 5 -15 Windy.

N.B.-The sign - means below zero.

Sreceived a letter from Col. 6Roberton, who is in tho Swan River district, in whih
ho says that the weather since the 24th January has hardly touched zero. I wintered
there myse2f about a year ago. I have also a letter from one of the Mounted Police at
Cypress Hu[i-s, who says that they oft their horses out until the eath January before

-2sF i w at e ..........................

By Mr. Ilfagar
That is a buffalo country, is .it not?-Yes; I saw thousands of buffalo this

last summer.

Q.Are there large numbers left yet ?-Yes.
What is your idea about their bing exterminated?-I think the hunters are

doing a great deal in that direction; theyshould not be allowed to llughter them
for their skins.

By tCe Chairm an a
Q What is the general appearance of the country west of Manitoba ?-t is afin

looking29 country; it a undulating; thre are some sandy spots; for instance, there 
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a strip of land running from Fort Ellis to the Swan River-to the southern boundary
-that is not fertile ; it is about 50 miles.

Q. That is the outskirts of the Great American Desert I suppose ?-Yes; it
seems to be just a point that runs up to the north from this desert; when you get to
Touchwood Hills the land becomes better; I consider the land light about Fort
Ellis, and after you reachi the Touchwood Hills the land gets better all the way untit
you cross the North Saskatchewan. The soil on the north side is a little better as it
is a little the beaviest.

Q. In travelling hundreds of miles on the prairie country do you find grasses in
abundance for your stoek, and can game and fish be easily caught by the way ?-
I don't find abundance of grass in the buffalo country, because they go in such tre-
mendous herds that they eat everything bcfore them and drink up nearly all the
water ; but I bave never had any difficulty; I have taken out large trains-men,
horses, cattle and supplies-and I never experienced any difficulty.

Q. Are you aware of any emigration from the Province of Manitoba to the Sas-
katchewan, and if so, what elass of settlers are leaving for the west ?-I am not
acquainted with many of the settlers ; my work was west of the settlements last year,
so that I cannot speak from personal knowledge.

Q. It is said that a number of Half-breeds on the Red-River and the Assiniboine
are leaving for the west ?-On my return trip last fall I met quite a number of peo-
ple going out with supplies and farming implements from Red River ; they were
going to the Saskatchewan to settle; there was a man by the nane of Tait engaged
in taking up firming mniplements; he made several trips last summer and disposed
of them to the settlers iin the Saska.tchewan.

Q. Would you consider it advisable to locate settlers to any great extent in the valley
of th e Sask atchewa at prsennt ?-I certainly would ; there are advanti ges there which
are not to bc found in ianitoba; for instance, wood does not cost much; it is more
plentiful; building naterial is not so dear, and you can get just as good, if not botter
prices for your produce.

By 3r. lagar:
Q. The climate is milder ?-I consider it so on the whole.

By the Chairman
Q. What are the water communications from Manitoba and Edmonton ?-The

Saskatchewan livor.

Q. Can you deseribe the breadth of the river at various points and the nature of
the navigatioi ?-lt is navigable from Cedar Lake, which, properly speaking, is the
mouth oi te Saskatchewan River. There are thrce very extensive rapids between
Cedar Lake and Winnipeg, noue of which could ever be made navigable.

Q. Arc not boats plying there now ?-They have to be warped up the two
uppc rapids. A canal ibere would be of no service, because the river boats could
not iun on the lake ; they would capsize before they proceeded ten miles. Neither
could the lake boats run on the river.

Q. On account of the draught of water ?-Yes. This is a large lake, and I have
been told by good judges that it is certainly one and a half times the size of Lake
Ontario. Fron Red River to the Grand Riapids is supposed to bc about 400 miles;
sOle ray 300 miles. But, of course, it has iever been measured exactly.
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By Mr. Jones (Leeds)
Q. Clear navigation through ?-Oh, yes; lots of water. The country north of this

lake of course is nothing like the country south.

Q. Pine country ?----It is more of a timber country and rock. The south of this
lake is a good farming country, except along the edge where the Icelanders have
gone.

Q. Is not that good land ?-I do not think sô. The great route to the Saskatche
wan will be by Lake Manitoba. It is 150 miles from the City of Winnipeg and the
route by Lake Manitoba is 150 miles nearer the Saskatchewan than the Lake Winni-
peg route.

Q. What would be the distances of the two as near as you can judge ?-There
are 1,500 miles of navigation up the Saskatchewan. It is navigable up to the
mountains.

Q. For what class of boats ?----For such boats as they have on the Missouri
River.

Q. That would be in the spring ?--In all seasons; that is, of couise, during the
scason of navigation.

Q. Would the lake boats do for the river as well ?-No; a different class of
boats would be required on Lake Winnipeg than Lake Manitoba.

Q. Are there any boats navigating the Saskatchewan now ?----Yes; thcy have
been out as far as Edmonton.

Q. What draught of water and tonnage ?--The tonnage will be about 140 or 150
perhaps 125, but no less than that. I think the boat draws about three feet or three
feet and a half.

Q. Cao :at boat run the whole of the open season. In September and August
can she make that trip from Lake Manitoba?---She can. There are two or three
falls or rapids on the river here which are obstructed by boulders. There is plenty
of water, but there are a few boulders in the way which make the channel bad in
low water.

Q. Are they extensive rapids like ouira on the St. Lawrence ?----l have a muemor-
andun showing where every boulder is from Cedar Lake to the RZocky Mountains,
which I obtained froni two different captains who had been over the route. I finds
the two statements to correspond very iearly. I have examined the boulders myself
from Carlton up. Froui the rapids to Carlton is where the principal obbtruU-ions
take place.

Q. At high water in the spring can you run over them?-Yes.In low vrter
the boulders obstruct the cliannel in such a manner thatyou cannotget stocrage way
goimg down the strcam to turn.

By Mr. Ifagar:-
Q. That is in three or four places ?--Yes; several places.

By Mr. Jones (Leeds) :-
Q. To make it continuously navigable, locks would probably be required ?---

No; locks are not re 1uired at all; they are al] on sand bottoms, and none are very
large. A few night have to be blasted, but they could alil be r-emoved at snall
expense.
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Q. That is a pretty good stretch of navigation ?---Yes, it is. Captain Arno, one
of the captains from whom I obtained the statement in regard to the boulders, was
fourteen years on the Missouri and Mississippi, and ho says that the Saskatchewan
River, if those boalders were removed, is far ahead of the Missouri for purposes of
navigation.

Q. Does the location of the Pacific Railroad come any way near ?--It strikes
within a mile of the Saskatchewan at Battleford, but it does not cross the river until
it reaches Old White Earth Fort, sixty miles above Edmonton. I located saw-mills
at that place last summer, to manufacture lumber for buildings at Battleford.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. What timber is there ?--- Pine and spruce.

Q. Of good size ?----Yes, good quality. I am informed that there is a large
quantity of timber in the mountains above.

Q. What is the width of the Saskatchewan ?---I have not seen any place less
than a quarter of a mile; in some places it is half a mile wide.

Q. How is the eurrent ?-It is pretty swift all the way.

Q. The water is not very deep ?- It is deep in the channel. It is obstructed by
sand bars from Carlton to Fort Pitt, which are shifting in their nature, and it
requires an experienced hand to keep the channel. The channel, however, is
generally quite deep, although pretty narrow. I do not think that dredging would
be of any service at all for those sand bars. Some contrivance would have to be
fixed upon the boats for getting over the bars. On the Mississippi and Missouri
they use spars at the bow, put up like shears. They raise the bow up and draw it
over with the boat; when they get over they haul up the spars, which they hang on
the side, and go on. In other countries, I believe, they have another contrivance.
A shaft on each side of the bow, with spur wheels on, which, on being set in
motion, works the sand loose and allows the boat te go through. It fills up again
immediately afterwards.

Q. What is the width of the valley of the Saskatchewan on both sides ?- --The
great valley that I beard so much about before I went out there I could not sec.

By -Mr. Jones (Leeds)

Q. It is not like what we call a valley in this country ?---No; it is an immense
plain on either side, and thîs water goes through it; and streams for miles and
miles back running towards the Saskatchewan.

Q. Does the Saskatchewan flood its banks ?--Not that I know of. The rise of
water takes place there in August: when the sun is very hot the snow melts on the
mountains. I have seen the water rise four feet in a night, and there has not been
a drop of rain for a month previous.

By .Mr. Bain -
Q. Do those streams you have mentioned increase the volume of the River

much ?-I do not think they increase it very much.

Q. Is there not more than sufficient to keep up the evaporation ?-No.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Are there many streams of that description ?-Quite a number. Battle River,
e large river, runs into the Saskatchèwan.
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Q. Are any of those streams navigable ?--Battle River is in high water.

By Mr. Jones (Leeds) :-
Q. What do you call the place where you put up the saw mill ?--It has no name'

There used to be an old fort there called Old White Earth Fort. To return to the
question of navigation by Lake Manitoba. There are two portages which would
require to be cut-one called Money Portage, between Cedar Lake and Winnipegoosis,
and the other Muddy Portage. It is low land there. The level of Cedar Lake and
Winnipegoosis is the same, so that a ditch could be made between the two. By
excavating a ditch with a few feet of water no locks would be required. Muddy
Portage, I believe, is only a narrow space of about a quarter of a mile and could be
easily overcome.

By Mr. Iagar :
Q. Are there any boats on the Lake ?-No; not now. It is navigable across the

Narrows to Lake Manitoba. A line of boats connecting with the Canada Pacifie
Railway at the Narrows or at the foot of Lake Manitoba would make a complete
route.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What distance would a canal have to be cut to the Assiniboine to have na vi

gation all round ?--About 20 miles.

By Mr. Jones (Leeds) -
Q. What is the distance from Lake Manitoba to Winnipeg ?-The distance is 50

miles. The obstructions by this route would not cost so much to clear as clearing out
the Rapids from Cedar Lake to Grand Rapids because there they require two locks
and of course locks of any description are expensive. Beside, 150 miles in distance
would be saved.

Q. According to your statement it would not cost very much to make the ditch
you have mentioned and it would merely require a stop-gate for the other ?-The
expense would not be great, and it would make 1,500 miles of continuous navigation
without transhipment.

By Mr. Bain
Q. Including the removing of the boulders ?-Yes.

By Mr. Jones :-
Q. Have you been instructed at ail to make a calculation ?-- No; I have an idea

what the removal of the obstructions in the Saskatchewan and Cedar Lake would
cost from general observation.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Have you noticed any wanton destruction of buffalos in your travels ?-I have

seen a great many carcases with their hides taken off, rotting in the sun.

Q. They were slaughtered for the robes ?---Yes ; I think the hunters should be
compelled to use up the meat.

By Mr. Bain
Q. How could you do that ?---The only way would be to pass a law prohibiting

the wanton destruction.
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By the- Chairman
Q. Would not the Indians object to such a law ?--I find that the half-breeds do

the most damage.

Q. The HIalf-breeds go out expressly for the purpose of getting buffalo skins ?---
Yes, the half-breeds and white men. The Indians invariably sit right down and
cut up the meat and make pemmican on the spot.

Mr. Bain :-Restrictions should be imposed upon the Half-breeds.

The Chairman:-The half-breeds and hunters go out expressly for the purpose of
getting the robes.

-Mr. Bain :-The trouble would be to regulate them.

Witness :-They could be regulated to a certain extent by the Mounted Police.
News travels very fast in that country, and if the Indians knew there was a law to
prevent the destruction of buffaloes they would inform against the Half-breeds.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Does stock roam at large on the Saskatchewan during the winter ?-Yes, I

have ponies out now.

Q, Do they thrive well and come in good condition in the spring ?-Yes; I have
seen ponies in as good condition there in the spring as you would see around the
farme here.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. What is their average condition as a rule-rather thin ?-No; in good heaithy

condition ; but of course they have different hair to the horses here.

Q. And that is a natural protection against the climate ?-Yes; I am of opinion
that if they stabled their horses and cattle there it would make a decided improve
ment in the stock in a few years.

Mr. Bain:-Yes ; I an satisfied it would pay if they went into that business.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. How far east do the buffalo come ?-I met them last year between the Touch-

wood Hills and the South Branch.

Q. They formerly roamed over all those territories ?-Yes; you can sec their
skeletons at present in Manitoba.

By the Chairman:-
Q. low far from Winnipeg is the nearest coal field ?-The best I have seen is at

Victoria, between Fort Pitt and Carleton.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. About how far is that ?-About 100 miles east of Edmonton. About half

way between Fort Pitt and Edmonton.

Q. What is the distance from Winnipeg ?-By trail, about 900 miles.

By the Chairman:-
Q. low far from Winnipeg is the nearest coal field in the United States ?-I

cannot say.
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By Mr. Bain :--
Q. I think you said that that at Victoria is the best. Is there any other much

nearer ?-Yes; there are indications of coal down as far as Battleford and Battie River.

By the Chairman :---
Q. Coal may be developed much more conveniently there than at Victoria ?-

Yes; it is the opinion of professional men that coal may be got at Carleton.

Q. Has iron ore or any other ore been found convenient to Winni peg-Sach as
lead, copper, zinc, &c. ?----I do not know of my own personal knowlodge; I have heard
of iron, but I don't know anything about it. Speaking of coal, [ may say that the
further you go up the river, the more coal is exposeÀ to view. It is exposed on the
banks about 60 miles from Victoria.

Q. Is the vein thick ?--Yes.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. Do you know how much lower it extends ?-No ; thore has never been a test

made.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Have you seen any deposits of rock salt ?-Yes; in several plaees. I have

used a great deal of native salt made by the Hudson Bay Company.

Q. Out of the salt wells ?-Yes; and salt water there. It is very strong salt,
Coal can be taken down the Saskatchewan to Manitoba very much cheaper than by
rail. Speaking of minerals, I may state that I sawv gold washed in theSaskatchewan
last year. Several of my men had sone. One had as mach as forty dollars when1i
he got to Toronto; it was washed near where the saw mill is.

By Mr. Blagar :
Q. What shape was it in? -Gold-dust, there were two miners washing there

during low water, and they calculated to make from five dollars to fifteen dollars a
day, but provisions were so high that they could only renain a short time. Flour
was twenty-five dollars a bag.

Q. What kind of game is there ?--Ducks and prairie chicken are plentiful---wild
geese also are very plentifal on the Saskatchewan.

By -Mr. Bain :---

Q. I suppose the wild turkey does not find its way there ?-No ; I never saw
them, but you can get sand-hill cranes which are as good; they are about the size of
turkeys. Caribou are also plentiful up near the mountains.

By Mr. Hagar -
Q. Are there any antelopes or deer ?-There is what they call the jumping-deer

-the small red deer,-I have seen plenty of them. Wolves are also very thick.

Q. They are not very dangerous ?-No.

Q. Do the Indians of the north-east cultivate the soil to any extent ?-No.

Q. Is there any probability of their doing so ?-I do not think so; they will not
work.

Q. Is it possible in your opinion to preserve the buffalo from destruction ?-
think it is to a certain extent.
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By the Chairman:-
Q. What means would you propose ?-Of course the only means would be to

give the Mounted Police the power to arrest hunters for that offence, the same as for
any other. We find that the hunters merely destroy the buffalo for their skins.

By Mr. Bagar:-
Q. In what season of the year do you recommend that they should be protected ?

-I do not know exactly; between November and May, I suppose. A great many
buffalo are killed during the winter.

By Mr. Bain
Q. I suppose that the robes are in the best condition during the winter ?- Yes;

in the early part of the winter. The buffalo should be protected in the winter and
the spring.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you think the Indians could be induced to raise horses and cattle ?-Yes;

better than they can be induced to go into farming. They take a great pride in
raising horses, especially.

By Mr. fHagar :-
Q. Do they raise anything more than their own ?-I believe that in a few years

-keep whiskey away from them-they will have a surplus of horses. leretofore
they have been so demoralized by the American traders that they have never been
well enough off to keep horses.

Q. Do they prefer our Canadian horses to ponies ?-Out in the Saskatchewan
district they don't know anything about Canadian horses; I took some out with me,
and most of the Indians said they had never seen sitch horses before.

Q. Do you think those native ponies could be improved by crossing them with
better breeds ?-Yes, I do.

By the Chairman
Q. Would the Indians of the plain be able to subsist on fish and smaller game>

such as the antelope, should the supply of buffalo be eut off for a season-that is, if
a law were enacted prohibiting them from killing the buffalo for a time ?-I do not
know; they have been used to buffalo for so many years that I am inclined to think
that they would .not like that. But there is abundance of fish in the Saskatchewan
and streams running into the Saskatchewan.

Q, Of what description ?-There are jack-fish, a very large fish, something like
the pike here, and the gold-eye, which looks very much like the white-fish and is
very good; these have a gold eye on one side.

Q. About what will be their weight ?-The gold-eye are about the size of the
ordinary run of white-fish, about three or four pounds probably.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. The others are larger I suppose ?-Yes; the jask-fish are large fish, from

two to thirty pounds.

Q. Is there any trout ?-There is brook trout in the mountain streams, but I
have not seen any below.
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By the Chairman
Q. You have had considerable intercourse with the Indians ?-Yes.

Q. Do you find them honest ?-I do; I never had any trouble with th em; they
have never stolen anything from me.

Q. And peaceable ?-Yes ; I can trust them as they are, in their native state,
better than I can most white men.

Q. There is no trouble if you treat them kindly ?-No; I have had occasion to
leave supplies stacked on the prairie in different places, and I have never missed
anything.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. Were the Indians around ?-Yes; but I may say this, as soon as they get

noar civilization they are just the contrary. I have changed ny mind coisiderably
about civilizing Indians since I have been out among them.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you know anything further about the North-West ?-I have a good

knowledge of Keewatin.

Q. What description can you give of if ?-It is all the country east and north of
Manitoba, until it reaches the boundary of Ontario.

Q. Is it a farming country; is there much good land ?-There is some very
good land on the Rainy River.

Q. To any extent ?-Well, all along the river, which is about eighty miles long,
from Rainy Lake to Lake of the Woods. It is well timbered.

Q. What description of timber ?-Poplar, some oak and elm.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Is there not some pine ?-lt is all a pine country in the southern portion.

Q. What ways are there of getting it out ?-There is no way except through
Rainy Lake and down the Lake of the Woods and out through Rat Portage by the
Pacifie Railway to Manitoba. The steamers run north on the American side and
south on the Canadian side ; there is a large tract of timber country on the American
as well as our side, which would pass down Rainy River, Lake of the Woods, to Rat
Portage and be manufactured there, and from Rat Portage it would go to Manitoba
by the Pacifie Railway.

By the Chairman:-
Q. How does Rainy River compare with the Saskatchewan foi' volume of water ?

-It is a much better river and heavier stream.

Q. There are some rapids on Rainy River ?-Yes; Maiitou and Long Sault
Rapids.

Q. And there are obstructions to Fort Francis ?-Yes; that is a perpendicuarl
fall of nearly 25 feet.

Q. Could it be utilized for machinery ?-Yes; it is a fine water-power.
Q. The on ly water power iii that section?:-Yes; it is the only one that I know

of in that section.
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By Mr. Bain:-
Q. I suppose that the ouly land in Keewatin valuable for agricultural purposes

is that strip bordering on Rainy River ?---Yes.

By the Chairman:---
Q. Can you give us any description of the northern portion of Keewatin ?----

have never travelled there.

Q. What description of pine is there in Southern Keewatin ?---Norway pine,
spruce and some white pine.

Q. Is it large ?----Pretty large, some of it. We have seen a large quantity of
timber taken out there a foot square, and sone forty feet long; it must be good
timber for that. There is also some oak.

By Mr. Hagar:--
Q. Does that grow to any size ?---We were able to get sticks nineteen inches

square and forty-five feet long, but we had to hunt a great deal for them.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What distance of uninterrupted navigation would there be from Winnipeg,

provided these boulders were taken out of this Rainy River, Long Sault and
Manitou Rapids, and the locks at Fort Francis constructed ?

Witness:-Between Rat Portage and the head of navigation ?

The Chairman :-Yes.

Witness :-It is 275 miles from the head of Rainy Lake to Rat Portage.

Q. And what obstructions are there at the head of Rainy Lake until you come
to Lac des Mille Lacs-the eastern stretch of Lakes ?-I don't consider the obstructions
on Rainy River now to be very great ; no locks would be required there; a few
boulders removed and the channel would be better; at the present. time it is navi-
gated at all seasons of the year when there can be navigation; but the boats at
present in use are not suitable.

Q. What is the usual width of Rainy River ?----I think it averages 20 chains.

Q. Eighty-three rods-and the depth ?-The depth, except at the rapids, is from
eight to fourteen feet. Rainy River is one of the finest rivers I ever saw.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. In what respect ?-It is a straight, nice, large volume of water, and well

timbered.

Q. The banks are different from those on the Saskatchewan, are they not ?---
Yes.

The Chairman.--There are regular forests on the side ?---The scenery is beautiful.
Nearly every settler within the last two years that went into that country went
from Manitoba by the Dawson route. I have known a great many to come back
from Manitoba and settle upon Rainy River, because there was plenty of timber;
and it is a very valuable country. So many applications come for lots in this
district, from the union office at Winnipeg that the land agent there has opened a
branch office at Fort Francis. Heretofore it was believed that the land on the north
side of the Rainy River was w<-hless, until it was surveyed last year.
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By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. There is very little prairie land there ?--Very little.
The Chairman:-There are some very small settlements near Hungry Hill.

By -Mr. Hagar :-
Q. What is the soil like ?-It is something similar to ¯that in Manitoba. Coal

has also been discovered at Rainy River last year. I was told by a man informed on
the subject.

Q. What portion of it ?-I don't know exactly what portion of it, but I saw
samples.

Q. 1How did it compare with that from the Saskatchewan ?----What the man had
did not look as well as what I saw on the Saskatchewan. On the Saskatchewan we
used coal for blacksmithing purposes all the time.

Q. Does it crop out ?---Yes, it crops out all the time. We did not dig for it.

Q. And any quantity ?---Yes; I believe the supply is inexhaustible, and the
farther you go the better it is.

WEDNEsDAY, 4th April, 1877.

MR. BANNATYNE, M.P.

HIS IMPRESSIONS OF MANITOBA AS A FIELD FOR IMMIGRATION.

Mr. BANNATYNE, M.P., appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What is your name ?---Andrew Bannatyne.

Q. How long have you resided in the] Province of Manitoba ?---I have lived
there since 1848.

Q. What are the iacilities for reaching Manitoba fron Ontario, and what is the
expense required to do so ?----You can go there viá Duluth by steamboat, or viá St.
Paul's by rail.

Q. Youî can go by Duluth ?---There is a steamboat line running from Collingwood,
Sarnia, Goderich and Southampton, to Duluth; thence by the Northern Pacific to
Moorehead, and down by steamer on the Red River to Winnipeg. I may say that
there is at present a gentleman here who is connected with a steamboat line, and ho
is making arrangements to take out immigrants to the Province at very low rates.

Q. Do you know what the rate is ?-He bas not dccided exactly what it will bo,
but it will be a much lower rate than bas existed before; lie also intends, I believe,
to try and make arrangments to give excursion tickets to go and come to any part
for $50.

Q. From what place ?-From any part of Ontario to the Province of Manitoba.

Q. Were any immigrants taken from iDuluth to Winnipeg last season for $10 ?-
I have heard that they were, but I could not be positive.
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The Chairman:-Probably Mr. Lowe can inform the Committee what was the
rate for the transport of immigrants from Duluth last year.

Mr. Lowe :-The rate that was charged for Government immigrants from Duluth
was ten dollars a head; but this was confined to immigrants coming from across the
seas, and to those who came in from the New England States.

Q. Do you think that the same arrangements will be carried on this year, Mr.
Lowe ?-I think so.

By Mr. McNabb :

Q. Will you repeat that again, Mr. Lowe ?-I may state that the gentleman to
whom Mr. Bannatyne refers was in the Department yesterday, and I had a con-
versation with him. He stated that his line of steamers and the Northern Paific
Railway Line were very anxious to make the most favourable possible arrangements
for carrying immigrants this year; that they would again take them from Duluth
on the same terms as last year; that is $10 per adult, and 200lbs. of luggage allowed.
Further, that they would consider all those immigrants who went with the intention
of settling in the Province of Manitoba. This would have the effect of extending this
privilege to emigrants from the old Provinces; and this would be an advantage which
they have not had in previous years.

By Mr. Bannatyne :-

Q. Did he say anything to you about excursion tickets ?-He did.

Q. What was the amoutt mentioned ?-The price for going and coming was
fifty dollars.

Mr. iagar :-That is for going and coming from any part?

Mr. Lowe :-I cannot say that; but I understood the tickets were to be good for
several weeks, and that it would not be necessary for holders of them to go in com-
panies. They can go out there in any of the ordinary trains.

By the Chairman to Witness:-

Q. What were the crops in the Province of Manitoba last year; were they
encouraging ?-They were very good; that is to say, the new settlers all looked upon
them as splendid crops; but the old settlers grumbled, as usual, and thought that they
were not very good.

Q. What was the average yield ?-I could not give that.

Q. You have heard what it was, I suppose; was it thirty bushels to the acre
It would be all of that.

Q. It would be fully thirty bushels to the acre ?-Yes.

Q. And the old settlers are not suited unless they get forty bushels to the acre ?-It
looks like it. I may say that the settlers who came into the Province recently were
all well satisfied with the c op.

Q. Is wheat cultivated there pretty extensively ?-Yes.

Q. For how long an interval has the Province of Manitoba been free from the
grasshopper plague at a time ?-I should think it has been free from them for
periods as long as fifteen years at a time. I believe that if the settlers have another
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good year, they will be able to get along even if they were to corne, and protect
themselves that is to say, I think that the settlers, under such circumstances, would
be able to get on and have what is still considered a good crop even if the grass-
hoppers were to come.

By -Mr. Borron:-
Q. Is fall wheat successful in Manitoba ?-No; it is grown, but it has never

been tried to any great extent.

By the Chirman:-

Q. Would flax grow on the alluvial deposits of the Province, and could it bo
made profitable and be manufactured into ropes, twine and coarse fabrics ?-Flax
grows very well there; it seems to be a splendid country for flax.

Q. You think that flax could be cultivated and made profitable ?-Yes ; it could
be made very profitable.

Q. Have any farmers out there tried the experiment of beet rising and of making
beet-root sugar ?-Not to my knowledge, but all agree that it could be made there,
It is, however, a more rumor as yet; it has nover been tried; but the sugar-beet itself
grows very well there.

Q. What is the average price of provisions, fuel and bouse rent in the towns ?-
House rent is rather high as yet, but it is getting cheaper every year.

Q. And what is the price of provisions ?

Witness :-Provisions ?-Do you mean pork ?

The Chairman:-I allude to what usually finds it way into the poor man's house,
such as bread stuffs, beef and pork.

Witness :-You can purchase flour from $2 to $2.50 a hundred; the price of pork
ranges from $22 to $26 per barrel, according to the season.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Is that the price of mess pork ?- That is the price of the bestmess pork. It

is not worth while to send any other quality, in view of the difference in freight, and
this is the heaviest item.

Q. Is much pork raised by the settlers ?-Last year there was a good deal raised.
Q. But not near enough to supply the demand in the Province ?-No. It will

be sometime before sufficient is raised for this purpose.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What is the price of beef?-Soven and a half cents a pound.

By Mr Hfagar :-
Q. Can you tell me how peas do in the Province ?-They grow remarkably well,and even when the grasshoppers come there is always a crop of peas. They do not

seem to destroy peas.

Q. They do not grow too rank and mildew ?-It seems not, They always seem
tobe a good crop.

Q. If they can raise peas, the settlers will soon raise their own pork ?-They
[will do so, undoubtedly. There was imported into the Province last year, a large
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number of pigs of a rather good breed. One man brought over two hundred of them,
I think, at a time. They were brought down in flat boats, so that this will give the
farmers a good chance in this relation.

T'y the Chairman :

Q. What is the opinion of the people with reference to grasshoppers ?-They
do not think of them now. They have forgotten about them.

Q. Do they think'that the grasshoppers have left the country entircly ?-Yes.

Q. But the old settlers, I suppose, have some idea about their return. Have
they come to the calculation that they will probably not appear again for a long
time ?-I do not think that they give a thought to the matter at all. They do not
look for them again.

By a Member:
Q. What reasous have they for thinking that they will not return ?-They havc

no reason for it; but they have been sometimes absent for fifteen years,

Q.' They never were troubled with grasshoppers until 1868, were they ?-They
never were troubled with thern to any extent worth speaking of, or to such an extent
as to frighten or alarm thom. Previously there was only one settlerment scattered
along the belt of river, and the farmns were really first-class and there were goodJ
kitchen gardens ; and these vast prairies were covered with grasshoppers. You
could do what you liked, but they would destroy you. But now the settlers arc
scattered over the land in every direction. They can now turn out and protect
themselves; and no doubt in the worst of seasons in future, they will have at least
half a crop.

Q. Are peas cultivated very extensively in the Province ?-Yes.

Q. And I understand that grasshoppers do no: touch peas ?-They do not.

Q, The pea crop is then certain ?-Yes; settlers are always certain of it.

A Member :-That is a valuable crop.

Q. WLen you had grasshoppers in the Province so extensively, they left the
peas hecure ?-Yes; the peas were always safe. I do not think that 1 ever heard of
a case of a pea crop being destroyed by them.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. You have known of the pests that visit the wheat crop, and have you never

the fly or rust in Manitoba ?-I never saw anything of the sort save during one year,
and that was over thirty years ago. I once saw a species of caterpillar which went
all over the wheat. They seemed to take the whole leaf off and leave the head;
you could see the heads all over the fields. But that is nany years ago.

Q. Do you have the potato bug ?-No.

By Mr. McNab :-
Q. You will find them yet coming into the Province ?-Yes; I suppose that we

will yet have all of these things.

By Mr. Hagar:
Q. They follow in the track of civilization ?-I have never heard much complaint

of them.
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By the Chairman :-
Q. Can agricultural labourers and female domestic servants find employment

during the next season in the Province of Manitoba; and if they can, at what rate of
wages can they do so ?-I should say that farm labourers would be sure of from $20
to $25 a month at the very least.

Q. Rates would vary from $20 to $25 a month ?-Generally the rate is $30 per
month.

Q. And could any large number of either male or female servants find ready
employment in that Province ?-We will employ all the female servants that you will
send up ; there is a great demand for them at good remunerative prices.

By Mr. Hagar :-
Q. And can they get husbands there ?-No doubt they will be able to secure

husbands too. The wages for female servants are from $8 to $10 a month, and even
more.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What season of the year is most suitable and desirable for immigrants to arrive

in your Province ?-Immigrants who intend to farm, I should say, ought to come
into the Province by the first week in May if possible.

Q. Why ?-In order that they may get somethinglout of the soil during their
first season ; I do not care where they settle, they can get a good crop of potatoes,
and in many cases some j rain also from the first ploughing, from the first turning
over of the sod.

Q. Is all material expensive; and how are farm buildings usually constructed ?
-Where you have wood on your land you can put up a log house, but lumber is still
rather high in price.

Q. Is it cheaper than it has been beretofore ?-Yes, it is very much cheaper.

By Mr. McNab :-
Q. Do you think it unwise for immigrants to go into the Province in the fall ?

My object in asking this question is this. It might be difficult for them to go in
there in the spring, and would it be unwise for them to go there in the fall of the
year to be ready for operations in the spring ?-I think not; I think that it would
be a very good plan.

Q. What is the cost of living up there ?-Provisions will be very cheap for somo
years until better communications are obtained. There are always large supplies
for the home market.

By the Chairman:-
Q. While speaking on this subject, I would ask whether you knew what the

charge is conveying wheat from Winnipeg to Duluth ?-It was taken down last fall
for 24 cents a bushel.

Q. The rate was 24 cents from Winnipeg to Duluth ?-Yes, as far as Duluth.

Q. And what was the rate from Duluth to Toronto ?-I have understood that
this was about seven cents a bushel.

Q. I understood that it was five cents; have you heard Mr. Lowe saythat it was
five cents a bushel ?-Mr. Hill told me yesterday that the rate to be fixed this year
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in order to encourage the conveyance of wheat between Winnipeg and Toronto, would
be 34 cents a bushel. He says that it will be carried in Canada at that rate.

Q. This season ?-Yes; the rate will be 34 cents between the points named,
and five cents less to Sarnia. The rate will be five cents from Sarnia to Toronto,
and five cents from Sarnia to Duluth, and the charge for the rest of the distance will
make up 34 cents.

Q. The rate is 29 cents to Sarnia ?-Yes.

By a Member :-
Q. From Winnipeg ?-Yes.

By the Chairman :~-
Q. What is the price of wheat in Sarnia ?-I do not know.

Q. Wheat is worth $1 a bushel in Winnipeg, I believe ?--If I wanted to buy
wheat, and if I had the money, I could get all I wanted for 80 cents a bushel there.

Mr. McNab :-Wheat ought to be worth as much in Winnipeg as in Sarnia, less
the rate for transportation.

A Member:-Especially such wheat as is here shown.

Witness :-I believe that our wheat is superior to this sample, speaking gener-
ally. As to flour, I have to-day seen in the papers information of flour having been
sent down to certain parts of Canada.

The Chairman :-If the average yield is thirty bushels to the acre in the Province
of Manitoba, while it is only from ten to twelve bushels per acre here, that country
is certainly desirable for settlers, as they can raise wheat there at less expense than
is possible here. If the freight is only twenty-nine cents per bushel, you can easily
calculate the difference, and see what wheat is worth at Winnipeg.

,Mr. McNab:-You would have to add a little for the trouble of drawing and
getting the wheat shipped.

The Chairman ;-That would be very little, I should think.

Mr. McNab :-It would, nevertheless, have to be taken into account.

By the Chairman :-
Q. As you have been for such a length of time in the Province, would you tell

us whether the atmosphere is dry, uniform and invigorating, or damp, changeable
and disagreeable ?-It is dry.

Q. And uniform in winter ?-Yes; and it is healthy.

Q. It is conducive to longevity-to living long, and to old age ?-Yes.

Q. More than is ordinarily the case in other parts of the country ?-I would not
say so.

Q. You often have people over one hundred years of age ?-There are cases of
it; but I could not say that there are many of them.

Q. Are the services of medical men required very often in the Province ?-I
would not like to recommend any physicians to go out there. We have plenty of
them at the present time. 144



Q. Do you know of any peat land in the Province ?-Yes; I believe that there is
such land in it.

Q. And this can at any time be made available as fuel ?-Yes.

Q. Has the experiment been tried ?-Well, it has not been tried as yet.

Q. There is sufficient timber as yet, and it has not been required, I suppose ?-
But all parties are satisfied that there are large beds of peat there.

By Mr. Cockbura:-
Q. What is the price of cordwood-maple and beech ?-In summer bouse-

holders can purchase cordwood for three dollars a cord.

Q. And in winter, how much is it ?-In winter the price just depends on circum-
stances. It is as high as $4 and $5 a cord.

Q. What kind of wood is sold at that rate ?-You can buy, at that rate, poplar,
maple, ash, oak and spruce, but there is no liard maple.

Mr. Chairnan:-People are compelled to pay the advanced price owing to the
want of prudence in failing to lay in supplies during the summer season.

By Mr. Cockburn :-

Q. The price is not so very high in that case ?-That is the price at which a man,
if he chooses, can lay in wood.

Q. Thatis not the retail price ?-That is the retail price in summer.

By the Chairman:-

Q. Can stock-raising be profitably carried.on in the Province ?-Yes; and very
profitably. A young man, a Mr. Desbarats, went up there last year, and he took out
servants with him; I think lie is connected with dairy farming---the making of
cheese in Canada; he came back, and lie has returned to that part of the country.
I also know of others who have a large fnumber of cows, and who intend making
dairy-farming their business.

By Mr. Hagar :-
Q. Do you think that the native grasses are suitable f'or dairy-farming?-- -Yes;

the native grasses are very good for the purpose; there is a great deal of what is
called pea grass and vetches.

By the Chairman

Q. It is wild ?---Yes.

By Mr. Ifagar:---
Q. What is the qnality of the butter and the cheese ?-Our butter is said to be

really superior to that obtained in most places. I have even known gentlemen fi om
Minnesota who have gone up therel for a visit, went back and got our butter in
Ipreference to their own ; a great deal depends on the feed ibe cattle get, as to the
lquality and the flavour of it.

By Mr. Borron:-
Q. Does this grass produce good butter ?-Yes.
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By the Chairman:
Q. After the prairies are taken up can you cultivate the tane grasses suc

cessfully ?-Yes.

Q. Such as clover and timothy ?-Yes; both clover and timothy.

Q. Do you know of any such cases ?-Yes

Q. And they grow well?---Yes.

Q. They take good root ?-- The settlers find the natural grasses so good, that
they really do not take the trouble to raise them; but as the country is settled up,
and the land is occupied, they will raise them. I believe that they are even now
going into it.

Q. I see there is a very fine sample of seed shown liere ?-There the Hungarian
grass agrees remarkable well with the country; and unless it is very strongly fenced
in, indeed you cannot keep the cattle out of the fields when they once taste it.

Q. It grows very high ?-Yes.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. Can you speak from your personal knowledge as to clover doing well in the

Province ?-Yes; clover has done very well.

Q. It does not freeze out?-No.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You speak from your own observation on this point ?-Yes.

Q. As to clover ?-Yes.

Q, It grows well there ?---Yes.

Q. And timothy also ?-Yes.

By 3r. Hagar :---
Q. I was under a different impression. I thought it was killed out during the

.4winter ?---The experiment of raising clover was tried at one time. The Hudson's
Bay Company went into it pretty extensively, and the clover seed remained for years
and years, and it spread all over the place. It grew within many miles of the place
where it used to be carried about.

Q. Has it died out ?---It seems to have died out since that time.

By Mr. Borron:-
Q. Have you manufactured good bricks up there ?--.-We make very good bricks

indeed. The clay is very good for the purpose.

By the Chairman :
Q. Have you ever heard it denied that clover and timothy would succeed there ?

-1 have, in this way: Formerly we used to get out clover seed by York Faetorv.
It was the only means we had of procuring it. The clover seed had to be a year
old when it was shipped, and it frequently was at York Factory for a considerable
period; it was then brought out into the country. I believe that this clover seed was
probably too old foi' sowing purposes; I consider that this was the only reason of



failure. It has never been much tried, as I have just said, on account of the natural
grasses being so rich that the people preferred them to taking the trouble to get
artificial grass. I have known parties who have grown a field of timothy--and it
grows very high there----for the use of the horses. . It does very well indeed.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Do fruit trees grow in the Province ?-Well, as to that I believe that they will

do well in it. There were some parties last year who had apples; I suppose this is
what you mean.

3fr. Chairman :-Yes.

Witness:-Plums and all that we have in abundance,we have fine kinds of plums.

Q. Do they grow well in Minnesota, the adjoining State?-Yes.

Q. And there is no reason why they should not also grow with you ?-No.

Q. You have the same quality of soil ?-I think that the reason why we have pot
had much fruit as yet is this: during the last few years the grasshoppers have ceme
in and stripped the fruit trees of their bark, and if you take the bark off, it kills the
trees; they grow up again from the roots, however; nevertheless some parties had
apples last year, they were crab apples though. I do not know that any other kinds
of apples have been tried as yet.

Q. Do the reserves which you bave, retard the settlement of the country ?--They
do very much,

Q. And what would you advise should be done with reference to them.?-I
would advise that they should be thrown into the market.

Q. And be disposed of?-Yes; but only to actual settlers, otherwise they would
fali into the hands of speculators and be reserved again.

ByIMr. Hagar:-
Q. What reserves have you reference to ? Ihose of the Half-Breeds ? -1 allude

to the Half-Breed reserves and also to the railway reserves.

By the Chairrian:-

Q. And are the Hudson Bay Company reserves also a draw back to the
sett1ement of the country ?-It cannot be said at present, I hope to sec them some day
in the hands of a Canadian Company to be made use of; I do not know that they are
very far off from that now.

Q. So that the Company would become good immigration agents ?-Yes; I
believe that this would be the case.

Q. Do summer frosts prevail to any extent in the Province; are they detri-
mental to the cultivation of wheat ?- No; not in the Province of Manitoba.

Q. What is the general appearance of the country ?-Fat.

Q. Is it sufficiently undulating for actual drainage purposes ?-It is very easy
of drainage.

Q. In the event of a large influx of immigration to Manitoba, do you think that
there would be any danger of farm produce glutting the market ?-I think not.
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Q. Under the circumstances, as wheat can now be brought here from Manitoba
for 29 or 30 cents a bushel, I should think that this argument would be set aside ?-
I do not think that wheat will ever be a glut in the market, but vegetables may
become so.

Q. Do vegetables grow very large and abundantly there ?-Yes.

Q. What species of fish are to be found in the Red and in the Assiniboine
Rivers, and in Lakes Winnipeg and Manitoba ?-Whitefish and pike.

Q. In large quantities ?-Yes. Then we have the gold-eyed perch, sunfish and
sturgeon in large quantities.

By Mfr. Hagar -
Q. And bass ?-I do not think that we have bass. I have heard some say that

we have them, but I should think not.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Do any people make a business of fishing?-No. There are nevertheless

large quantities brought into the market and sold. They are frozen in the winter.
We get fish both during the summer and winter.

,By Mr. Farrow:-
Q. What species of wild animals range over the prairies ?

Witness:-Do you mean animals fit for food, or animals in general ?

-Mr Farrow :-I mean wild animals in general. Have you any bears?

Witnes :-Yes.

Q. And wild cats ?-We have bears, wild cats, foxes, wolves, anddeer of different
kinds; we have also buffaloes, but they are far from us--about as far from us as fron
you.

By the Chairnan:-
Q. Have you ever resided in Ontario or in any of the other Provinces during

the winter season ?-I have been down as far as Sault Ste. Marie, on Lake Superior.
I was there during two years.

Q. How does the climate of Manitoba in winter compare with that of Ontario?
-I prefer our climate to yours. It is very much better, and every one who comes
down here from Manitoba says the same thing.

By 11r. Farrow :-
Q. At this season-you see what the weather is now-is it generally as fine in

Manitoba and as far forward as it is here at the present time ?-From the reports I
have seen it seems to be just as favourable in the Province of Manitoba as it is here.
There is no snow in the Province.

Q. You know yourself, from your experience of other years ?-I find that we
are not much behind you. I took notice last year in going home. I went through
the country very rapidly and I was not delayed at all; and I watched the country al
the way up from Chicago, and when I reached Manitoba I found, on making allow-
ance for the four days consumed in travelling, that appearances were about the same.
We were Tloughing early in April.
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By the Chairman
Q. The season is open in Manitoba as early in Ontario ?-I should say that there

is littie difference, it is not very much; we have more rapid vegetation, we make up
for the difference in this way, our vegetation is certainly more rapid than it is here.

Q. I suppose that new settlers would have easy access to fish and game to obtain
a portion of their sustenance during the summer season ?-As to fish, well, if they
were far away from the rivers it would be difficult; but they can purchase fish, and
game they can get in any amount wherever they go, that is to say, ducks.

By Mr. Farrow:-
Q. We have a good many people whom we cannot call poor men who would like

to go out there, they may have $100 and four or five children; could they do any-
thing out there, get land and improve their circumstances ?-You see this $100 would
be taken pretty well up in building a little house unless they settled near a bush.
Men with $400 or $500, and who will work, can do very well in the Province.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Could the settler not get in a few acres of root crops ?-He could, and very

easily.
By -Mr. Farrow :-

Q. I would like to obtain sufficient information on the point I have raised,
because there are four or five of my neighbours who have been talking to me about it,
and the advice I might give them they might act upon; and I would be very sorry
to get them there and have them dissatisfied. They asked me if there was any possi-
bility of the Government helping them to get there.

Witness:-The Government does not help them so far as I know.

,Mr Farrow :-I know one man who bas fourteen children, and his boys are 8, 14
and 15 years of age; if they could once get there they would be an accession to the
country, for they are all willing to work.

Witness:-I know of no country where a poor man can attain to comfortable
circumstances easier than he can in Manitoba.

Mr. Farrow:-He would be willing to pay back to the Government any aid he
muight receive, he would take up land and refund any advance that might be made
him.

Witness :-I bave no means of saying what the Government would do, but they
do not extend such aid at present; what they might do I really do not krow.

I think that a good persevering fellow with $100 might make a living there.
le might go to work for a little while, and then take up land.

If he would do that he might do very well; still, you see that $100 with a
large family like that is soon eaten up, and he cannot expect to add much to the
$100. If he obtained work it might take all his wages to feed his family, and a
little more ; but many of the boys might work as well.

Q. Of course he could work ; how many hundred dollars do yoù think a man
ought to have when he arrives at Winnipeg ?-I think that a man with $300 or $400
couki make sure of being very comfortable.

By the Chairnan :-
Q. With a family ?-Yes, with a family, if they were willing to work.
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By Mr. Farrow:---

Q. Probably be might leave his boys at Winpipeg ?-Yes; they might get em-
ployment there in one way or other during the summer; but it would be more
profitable for a man to put his labour in land.

Q. It would take him some time to get the land; he would have to go and pick
out the land and locate it ?-The trouble is that people are too anxious to secure the
finest land; they want something better and better all the time, but there is good
land anywhere in the Province, if they will settle on it. They all want to be near
the centre, as it would be near Winnipeg.

By the Chairman :-
Q. What quantity of land is allotted to each member of a family ?-160 acres is

given.
By a Menber

Q. To the head of the family ?-To any one over eighteen.

By the Chairnan :-
Q. To any member of a family ?-No; any one over eighteen years of age.

Q. And what are the terms of settlement ?-Three years.

By .Mr. Farrow :-
Q. Do you think it would be any use to approach the Government in any way,

and ask for any assistance to be given to such parties as I spoke about.

-Mr. Chairman :-I do not know that any suggestion from the Committee to this
effect would do any good, but it would do no harm.

3fr. Farrow :-You are aware that parties are got out from the old country who
are not half as good for settlement purposes às these persons who are Canadians?

Mr. Ragar :-But we have them here already.

Mr. Farrow :-But they want to get there; they are starving where they are
now; I know of four or five families who have no work in winter for their children
or for themselves.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you really know of any mineral deposits in the Province of Manitoba ?-

No; I really know nothing of a certainty about them-salt excepted.

By Mr. Hagar:-

Q. What is your school system in Manitoba; is it similar to the Ontario
system ?-It is much the same.

Q. They are generally free schools ?-Yes.

By Mr. Farrow :-
Q. What do the teachers receive per annum ?-Well, I could not precisely say

what they get there.

Q. I suppose they are graded as elsewhere ?-I think that one teacher, who
takes charge of the High School, receives $1,200 a year.
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Q. But out in the rural districts ?-I do not know ; they bave about $500 a year,
I think, but I could not say.

-Mr. Efagar:-That would pay a second-class certificate here.

By Mr. Gunninghan :
Q. Is the cost of living much higher in your Province than it is in Onfario ?-

I do not think it is at present.

By 3fr. Farrow:-
Q. Excepting Winnipeg, I suppose that it his high there ?-The only difference

is the freight with the small profit we put on such goods.

By Mr. Cunningham:-

Q. What per cent of profit do you take ?-I think that it is as much as ten or
twelve per cent.

By fr. Farrow:-

Q. At what price do you sell fair tea up there ?-We sell a-fair black tea at
forty cents per pound and upwards.

Q. And what is the price of green tea, is it the same ?-Yes, good green tea
is sold at about the same price; but green tea is not much used up there.

Q. And bow do you sell a nice kind of yellow sugar, for instance like what Red-
path used to make ?-You can buy it for about seven pounds for the dollar; and some
merchants even give a little more.

Q. What is rice a pound ?-I could not be sure of that, and yet I sell a great
quantity of it.

Q. Is it six cents a pound ?-I think that it is a little higher than six cents a
pound.

Q. We have sold it for six cents in Ontario, but it is less now ; it is cheaper ?-I
think that the price is about seven cents and a half a pound.

Q. Can you buy raisins for 12Î cents a pound there ?-Yes.

Q. And currants for ten cents a pound ?-I would not like to say that ; I am not
sure about it.

Mr. Farrow :-We have to pay nine cents a pound, I think.

By Mr. Hagar -
Q. Do you know whether hops are cultivated in the Province ?-Hops grow

very finely there. Hops, like flax, grow better the farther north you go.

Q. I should think that with the soil and its depth, this article would be exten-
sively gone into, if your soil would not require manuring ?-Hops grow splendidly
up there.

By Mr. Borron:-
Q. What do you think the Indians will turn to, if the buffalo fails, and I con-

sider it absolutely certain that they will be killed off; will they take to pastoral
pursuits and the breeding of horses ?-I do not know; you cannot say much about
them.
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Q. But will you have to feed them ?-If we do not protect the buffalo, the Gov-
ernment will have to feed them.

By Mr. Cunninghan:-
Q. Is there such a thing as ague in the country ?-There is no such thing. A

person who had it before coming to the Province might suffer from it, but he very
soon gets rid of it.

Q. Do children grow up healthily ?-Yes, they are very healthy. There is
always something or other affecting -children, but we have no epidemie of any kind.

Mr. Cunningham :-In our country on the Pacific coast, people are remarkably
healthy.

Witness:-We have no severe cases of fever. Children go through the measles
and all those things, but diseases may become more prevalent as the country is
settled up.

By -Mr. Forbes;-
Q. You have no fevers in your climate ?-No.

Q. Have you typhoid fever?-There have been cases of it, where houses have
been overcrowded, and where a number of people have slept together, and houses
are badly ventilated.

Mr. Forbes:-These are malarions diseases, arising fron the decay of vegetable
matter, &c.

By -Mr. Christie.:-
Q. You think that the whole country is hcalthy, and that it will compare

favorably in this respect with Ontario and Quebec ?-I believe that it is very healthy.

Q. Is consumption a common disease ?--It is about the same as in this country;
and I think the reason is that shoes are not generally *orn by the Indians. These
people go about in moccasins in the wet and frost, and their feet are almost always
wet.

MLr. White (Renfrew) :----This disease also seems prevalent among the Indians
here.

Witness:--It seems to be about the onlydisease amongst them, and it is contracted
from exposure. I have known of several cases of gentlemen having gone up there, who
were reported to have almost no lungs at all--one being gone and the other pretty
nearly gone--and I have known them afterwards to become strong and well, and
remain in the country ; they preferred to remain in it. There was a recent case of a
clergyman having been sont up there from Ontario. He was very unwell from this
cause, and he merely went up for a change of air, in the hope that it might help him.
He now feels perfectly well; I frget bis name. I have known cases of parties
going in there of whom it was said that they would not live long, one lung being
gone and they coughing all the time; and afterwards they got well.

-Mr. Forbes :---People with pulmonary affections go from here up there, and they
are sure to be benefitted, owing to the dryness of the atmosphere. It helps them.

Witness :-The only thing I ever heard people say anything about, was the
atmosphere; a good many seem to complain of it, but whether it was because it was
so healthy that they did not care whether they were wet or not, I do not know, but I
have heard a few complain of it.
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Q. Did I not understand you to say that the drainage was very defective, and
that the country was low and swampy ?--I said that the country is easily drained
by running a plough across the fields; this always affords outlets for water.

Q. Is there declivity enough in the soil to carry off the water?---Yes.

Q. How far is it carried: to streams and brooks ?--Yes ; to brooks.

Mr. Forbes:-If it wasjust carried to swamps, that would just make the country
more unhealthy than if lit was carried to brooks.

By a Member:-
Q. Have you many swamps im your country ?-We have swamps, but not very

many of them.

Q. Do they dry up in the summer time ?-The trouble is, that we have not
swamps enough for some of the people, for haying purposes.

By 11r. ifagar
Q. That is where the hay grows ?-Yes.

Q. Do you know the yield per acre of clover and timothy ?-I really could not
say.

Q. I do not think that you have said anything about Indian corn. Do you know
whether the soil and the climate are adapted to the raising of it ?-Indian corn is
grown in the gardens, and some patches in the fields do very well. It is raised a
little. Indian corn could always be raised every season, and it would make a splendid
means of feeding; and it would pay well as fodder, I believe.

Q. But you are not sure that it always matures ?-I do not think that it always
matures.

Q. Perhaps you have not tried the earlier varieties ?-They have not been much
tried, but they all grow very well. People can get something of a yield just for their
own use.

Mr. Hagar:-For their own use; I do not think that it is a corn country, though
tle soil must be rich and well adapted for it.

Tie Chairman:-

Q. You want a sandy and warm soil for corn?-I thiik so.

BylMr. Borron:-
Q. Do not the Indians grow it near the Lake of the Woods ?-Yes; they grow

it. They have some patches of it.

By a JlNem ber :

Q. Are the nights hot in the sunmer time ?-They are always cool.
Q. You cannot sleep without some clothing on ?-We have none of the warm,

sultry nights which prevail in some places.

Mr. Cunnigham>n:-The climate is the same in this respect as it is on the Pacifie
Coast.
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By Mfr. Hagar :
Q. Do the mosquitoes and black flies trouble you up there ?-The mosquitoes

are bad enough.

Q. In the open prairie ?-They are not so troublesome in the open prairie, the.
grass is so rank, I never heard many complaints of them.

By Mr. Cunningham :
Q. They are bad in the swamps, are they not ?-They are worse there; they aie

troublesome in swampy places but I do not think that the musquitoes will frigh ten
any one except some one who goes out there for pleasure.

Q. They do not remain long ?--No.

Q. When are they most troublesome ?-On summer nights we are frequently
troubled with them.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. Do you know whether there are any flies that trouble the cattle much in the-

summer time- like the big horse fly, etc. ?-Yes, sir; they do; we call them the
b)ull dogs, they take a bit right out of the flesh, they are larger than the house fly and
brown in colour.

Q. How do the cattle generally protect themselves in summer from their
attacks ?-I never hear of them giving much trouble except to people who are work-
ing cattle; they annoy them so much that the people do frequently protect them;
but the cattle outside seem to get along well enough, I have never heard of much
complaint.

By Mr. Christie:-
Q. Is cholera common up there ?-We have never bad any cases of it.

Q. I do not mean the malignant form of the disease ?-We have some diarrhœea
and such diseases as that.

Q. Do they suffer more from colds than in this part of Canada ?-The only way
they suffer is practically in the houses. The people do not seem to suffer from cold
outside; they do not seem to complain outside the houses, but if a man has not been
able to make his house warm, he will no doubt suffer the cold.

Q. I have reference to the disease-to catarrh, and to taking cold as it is known
in common language; are people there subject to taking cold ?-I sometimes know
of cases of that kind, but the people affeoted seem to go about.

Q. It is not more prevalent than usual ?-No.

By the Clhairman:--
Q. Do you know at what date the Red River is open for navigation ?-We-

always look for the river to open about the 20th April. I have known it, how-
ever to open on the lst day of April.

Q. You have known this occur on the lst of April ?-Yes; but that is in a very
unusual season. We look for it generally to happen between the 20th and 28th of'
April.

Q. That is when the boats commence to run ?-Yes.

Q. At what time does the Ottawa River open?
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Mr. Lowe :-I saw by the telegrams last year, that Red River opened for naviga-
tion at least ten days before the Ottawa River did.

3fr. Bannatyne:-Last year the boats went down Red River about the 23rd or
the 25th of April. The reason why they did not go down earlier vas, that they had
to run up to Moorehead, having in the previous fall been frozen in the river. This
was owing to the rush of business-they had bad all that they could do. The boats
al stopped and went down to the other end. They usually try to lay up at the head
o}f navigation. This was the reason why the boats had to go up. I might safely
Say, that navigation was open about the 22nd of April, last year.

By Vir Lowe :-
Q. At what time does it close in the fall ?-It is pretty unsafe after the 20th of

October. You can run boats some years in November, but I think that I may safely
say that navigation closes about the 25th October. The water runs so slowly, that a
severe night's frost puts an ice over it, and no one will run. We try to have all the
freight in about the time I have mentioned at the very latest.

By M1fr. Lowe:-
Q. With reference to the cultivated grasses, is any difficulty experienced in grow-

ing them; have you known of any difficulty?

Witness :-Do you mean timothy?

Mr. Lowe :-YeF.

Witness:-I do not think that there is any.

Q. You have not known of any difficulties being experienced in this cultivation ?-
I have known of none; I think that they can be grown very well. I was told last
year by a gentleman in Mr. Fleming's Department, that some party in your depart-
ment had stated that timothy grass would not grow there; but I know to the con-
trary. I have had it grown, and it has grown very well.

By Mr. HUagar
Q. Has clover been tried there ?-Yes; but I think not in any quantity. I think

it will suit the country well; it is a hardier kind than the other.

By 1r. Lowe :-
Q. Have any serious attempts to grow the cultivated grasses been made that

have failed ?-No; not that I know of. I know it has been tried, and it does well.
I know of no attempts that have failed, except formerly, when we had to get the seed
in the way I have mentioned. Until lately, when we obtained such rapid means of
communication by way of the United States, wo had no means of bringing in fruit
trees; but now that we can get them in so rapidly, a very large number were brought
into the country last year, and this will be the case every year in future. People-
are bringing them in, and they propose to start nurseries for themselves.

By -Mr. Hagar :--
Q. Do you know what is the comparative value of native grasses, and of culti-

vated grasses, for use as winter fodder ?-I could. not really say what it is. I know
that away from Winnipeg, where the grasses are eut up and destroyed a great deal,
they get a little sour, they are not as good as they were; but ont in the country back
a piece, many farmers never think of giving grain to their horses.

Q. They only feed them with native grass ?-Yes.
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Q. It must be very nutritious ?-It is.

By a Member:-
Q. At what time do they generally house stock, and for how many months ?-I

think from about December to the end of April.

By Mr. Hagar :
Q. It is about the same period as here, I fancy ?-The grass seems to grow so

rapidly that the moment there is a little heat, it makes a difference, and the cattle go
out, and they fatten very quickly. During the first few days the grass seems to act
as a sort of purgative, but immediately after that they seem to fatten very quickly ;
they grow very fat. I think that the greatest trouble about raising grasses is that
there is so much wild hay and native grasses, that people will not really go to the
trouble of raising artificial grasses for their cattle.

By Mr. Lowe:-

Q. The only objection I have heard made to the native grasses, is this: That as
cultivated grasses cannot be raised with any sort of certainty, it is necessary to main-
tain a very large expanse of pasture for a few heads of cattle, much larger than
with the ordinary grasses with us.

Mr. Bannatyne:--l do not think so. I consider that there is too large an,
expanse of pasture there already.

The Chairman:-I saw a very nice field of timothy at Poplar Point; it belongs
to the inn-keeper there, and it was a splendid field.

Mr. Bannatyne :-I have seen splendid fields of this grass in the Province.

The Chairman :-Many of them?
1r. Bannatyne:-Yes; the grass was as high as the fence.

-Ur. Lowe :-The question is:"isthere auy difficulty experienced in raising it?

11fr. Hagar:-I think the great trouble would be that the winter would kill it.
That must be the trouble. The ground lifts up, owing to the effect of the frost, and
the roots are exposed. I think that must be the only trouble, for the soil must be
adapted for it, and the climate also. I think you could have a growth of it when
.once rooted.

Miir. Lowe :-I have heard it said that when the natural grass is destroyed and the
prairie is ploughed over, it is difficult to grow the cultivated grasses.

M1fr. Bannatyne :-The finest grass we have is the wild grass, for all purposes. If
it is cultivated and you get the seed from it, there is no finer grass anywhere.

By Mr. Lowe:
Q. It grows with facilitv ?-Yes.

Mr. Lowe :-That is the point, if it can be done.

By Mr. Hagar :
Q. Is it natural to the soil? Does it grow spontaneously after the soil is broken

up? Suppose you did not put any crop in, what springs up ?-Weeds.

Q. What kind of weeds ?-All kinds of weeds. Probably weeds that have never
before been seen around there at all; you really cannot account for it.
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By Mr. Cunningham

Q. Have you sorel in that country ?-Yes ; I think that we have i t.

Mr. Hagar :-I do not think that this grass would be natural to that soil.

The Chairman:-You will find some little ridges of it. It is not prevaient there,
but is is found where the soil is a little light.

Mr. Bannatyne:-When I saw the glowing report written by Mr. Pilgrim about
your country, I thought ours equally favourable; J have lived there for a few years,
and I know it.

MR. HILL'S EVIDENCE.

FACTS PERTAINING TO TRANSPORTATION-EM[GRANT AND OTIER FARES-TRANSPORT OF
GRAIN-NORTHERN WHEAT AND MINNESOTA FLOUR.

TiiURSDAY, 5th April, 1877.
MR. HILL appeared before the Committee.

Q. What is your name ?--James J. Hill.

Q. You are a member of the firm of----?----Of the Red River Transportation Com-
pany. This is our proper legal term.

Q. Where do you reside ?----At St. Pauls, Minnesota. I was fornerly a resident
o>f the Dominion.

Q. Have you had a large experience in transportation ?---Yes; J have been
engaged in transportation in that country for twenty-one years.

Q. Have you hitherto been charged with the conveyance of immigrants going to,
Winnipeg, in Manitoba ?---Yes, we have.

Q. What wero your rates of transportation for immigrants from Duluth to
Winnipeg during the past season ?---During the past year the rate eharged iinmi-
grants who were going to settle in Manitoba, was î10. This included passage froi
Duluth to Winnipeg, and each passenger was allowed to carry, free of extra charge,
two hundred pounds of baggage.

By Mr. Jiagar:-
Q. Is this the charge by rail and river ?----By rail and by steamboat.

By the Chairman:--
Q. By rail to Moorehead and Fisher's Landing, and then by steamboat to Winni-

peg, down the Red River ?----Yes.

Q. Have you taken any immigrants into that country by this route ?----We took
Out the Mennonites who settled in that country. There were something over five-
thousand of them.

Q. That have gone by your line ?-Yes.
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By mr. Biggar:
Q. What difference do you make between settlers and travellers going to the

Province of Manitoba ?-The price of the second class fare is fifteen dollars, and the
charge for immigrants is ten dollars per head.

By the Oltairman:-
Q. Who do you consid-!r immigrants; supposing a person was to renove froin

here to that country.

MAhr. Rlagar :-From what point ?

By te Chairman:
Q. From Duluth. Do you make any distinction ?-There is no distinction made

in the mode of convcyances.

Q. Is there any distinction made in price ?-The distinction in priee is five
dollars, and the object of that is to settle up the country.

Q. Supposing parties wcre to leave this section of the country in a body of four
or tive hundred, as I understand is now contemplated, would you consider themi
immigrants ?-We consider as an immigrant any person who goes into that country
with the view to becomo settier.

By Mfr. Biggar -
Q. Whether they cone from Europe or from th- Dominion ?-No matter where

they come from, from the Dominion or from anywhere else. We would be very glad
to0have them come fr-om Ontario inito that country, for they are quite as good astthe
Eunro pea n imnimigrants.

Q. What do we understand by seond-class?-The ordinary second-class; if a
man on the Grand Trunk, buys a second-class ticket, he does not ride in a first-class

Ione h, but yet he goes on the same train.

Q. Then you have two kinds of coaches ?-On the Northern Pacifie Railway
1iey have the saie coaches as are on the roads here, and all travel by the same train.
The idea which induced 111e establishment of a specially low rate, was with a view to

eurm ii he seit ilement ot the country up there.

By the C/wirman
Q. The accommodation on the botis precisely the same ?-By boat and by

rail. Yes.

By 3fr. Bain:-
Q. It is practically a second-class fare reduced for the accomodatidn of immi

grants ?-Yes; there is a special rate for second-class transportation.

By the Chairman

Q. Do I understand that this rate will apply in the event of a large immigration
fron any portion of Ontario with the design of becoming permanent settlers of
Manitoba and of the North-West?-Yes.

Q. And that you will carry them up there for $10 a head, or will that low rate
jprevail during the ensuing season ?-The rate of $10 from Duluth to Winnipegwould
be the rate that they have to pay for the coming season,-and thatincludes200 pounds
of baggage fr each passenger, we have to establish some reasonable amount, but we
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are not particularly close on the baggage question, we have taken them through
when they had more than that weight of baggage.

Q. Do you know the fare, or have yoti any connection with the other lines from
Sarnia to Duluth?--There have been some changes during the past winter in the
lake arrangements; but the lake rates are very low. I do not know that there will be
,any advance, and possibly there might be a reduction.

Q. What were the lake rates during the past vear ?-I think that the rate from .
Toronto to Duluth was $6.50.

By Mr. fagar : -
Q. Do you allude to the immigrant classes ?-Yes; however, I do not know this

of my own personal knowledge. I only know of it in a general way, but I think my
estimate is quite correct ; still I ani not positive as to the amount.

Mr. Biggar :-I did not catch the question you asked.

MUr. Chairnan:-It was in referenco to the fare fron Toronto to Daluth. and Mr.
Hill stated that to the best of his knowledge it was last year $6.50, making the fare '
$16.50 from Toronto to Winnipeg.

Q. IIave you in contemplation the re luetion of the fare for ordinary excur-
sion ists ?--Yes.

Q. And the establishment of return tickets for next season ?-Yes.

Q. What is the proposition ?-When I was in Montreal I spoke to Mr. Wainright,
the general passenger agent for the Grand Trunk Railway Company, a few days ago,
and, in relation to excursion tickets, something was said about the plan on which they
were issued last year to Philadelphia-that is a ticket at a reduced rate up and back,
which a man can buy at his own home; and I said that we vould pro rata take any
proportion of any rate ho would imake; for instance we might establish the rate from
Toronto through to Winnipeg and return at $50. This would be for first-class tickets,
and we would allow parties to go up by the lake and return by the lake, or go up by
the lake and return by way of Chicago, as they might see fit.

By Mfr. Biggar
Q. What discount would that be compared with the present rate ?-That would

be about one-half of the present rate.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. The tickets would be good for thirty or sixty days ?-They ought not to be

good for less than ninety days, for when people get up there they want to feel that
they have plenty of time to explore the country. It would not be done for the
profit we would make out of the transaction, but for the accommodation of passen-
gers; and by a rate of that kind, every man who went up there during the summer
would become an immigration agent, because he would see the country, and then he
could not help being enthusiastic in relation to it.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. Of course the longer the time is extended, the more temptation there will be

for parties to go up there-will be greater than if this was not done ?-Yes.

By the Chairman :-
Q. What are the rates for carrying wheat and grain ?-Last year the first
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Y wheat that was es er sent out of that country was brought down, and we carried it to
Duluth for 24 cents a bushel.

Q. From Winnipeg ?-Yes.

Q. And it was carried to Toronto for 35 cents a bushel, if my recollection serves
i me right ; that is from Winnipeg to Toronto ?-The rate was 35 cents a bushel, or

30 cents to Sarnia.

By Mr. BHagar
Q. What was the rate to Duluth ?-Twenty-four cents a bushel.

Q. And what was the rate from Duluth to Toronto ?--Taking 24 from 35 cents,
that would leave 11 cents.

Q. To take it to Sarnia ?-The rate vas five cents a bushel from Duluth to
Sarnia.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. Was any quantity of grain sent down ?-Something in the neighbourhood of

5,000 bushels were brought down.

Q. What are your freights inward ?-Of course there are diffèrent kinds of
freight, but they averaged lNst year a trifle under 50 cents per hundred pounds.

Q. From Duluth ?---No; but from Moorehead.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. From Moorehead alone ?-Yes; fifty cents was about the averagc rate.

By -Mr. Bain :
Q. To what height do they go on the river ?-There are so many diffèrent special

rates, some are sixty-five cents a hundred pounds, and there are'special hazardous
rates up to $2.00 and $2.50 a hundred pounds.

By Mr. Cqckburn
Q. What are the first-class rates on the river ?-The greater proportion is sixty

odd cents.

Q. What is the distance ?-It is 350 odd miles from Fisher's Landing and 90 miICs
from Moorehead.

By Mr. Bain -
Q. What is the cost of freight on the heavy articles,-pork, for. instance, and on

barrels and boxes ?-The charge for pork from St. Paul is $1.80 a'car, if my recol-
lection serves me right, or ninety cents a 100 pounds.

By the Chairnan
Q. Would it be the same from Duluth ?-It is a little less than from Duluth.

By M1r. Bain:-

Q. From Duluth to Winnipeg ?-Yes.
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By the Chairnan:-
Q. In considerable lots it would be less, I suppose ?-Yes; they make, [ think, a

difference of fifteen dollars on a car. I have not the classification and freight tariff
with me, but it is about that. I speak from recollection merely.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. That is about the figure, according to your recollection ?--Yes; and that is,

in the main, correct. Grain can be brought from Manitoba for twenty-four cents,
that is from Winnipeg to Duluth, and as the amount to be transported increases, the

rate would be reduced.

Q. Of course then better facilities would be provided for its transportation ?-
Yes. They have now to bag it and handle it in that sort of way; but they would
not do so if there was enough to transport on barges in bulk. A barge would carry
from six to eight thousand bushels of grain. But it would not pty to go to work
and arrange a barge to carry wheat in bulk, and to have to disar-range t t for all other
business, for the sake of one or two barge loads. It is a q ousti of time-until
there is sufficient grain to be transported as a surplus. There is a large demand for
it in Manitoba froin new comers, and those going into the newer parts of the country
and the interior, There is also a demand for it from the West all the time, and until
such time as there is a surplus sufficient to make it an object to change the vessels or
barges, it will have to be transported in bags. One year would work a wonderful
difference in this respect. I renember when the first bushel of wheat was shipped
from St. Paul, it was shipped in bags, and for a time that system was continued.
When we comrmenced to carry wheat in bulk on the river people would say that it
could not be done. People told us it was not possible that it could be done. These
great barges are of bulky proportions. Some hold twenty thousand bushels, and it
takes a stern wheel steamer to come down with three of them and 60,0J0 bushels in
tow.

By the Chairian:-
Q. Have you an elevator in Moorehead ?-No. There is no occasion for one.

By 2Itr. Bain :-

Q. As soon as the trade becomes developed one will be necessary ?-Yes, but
only a transfer elevator.

By the Chairman:-
Q. That will necessitate some expense ?-It is a matter of a couple of thousand

dollars. The transportation companies would bave to furnish it in self defence, as it
were, because it is the easiest method of handling grain.

By Mr. Bain :-

Q. And it is more profitable ?-Yes. Take at the present time the place where
the Mennonites settled at New Odessa in Dakotah, just north of Yankton. They
went up there at the same time that your Mennonites went to Manitoba. A number
remained in the United States, and settled in Southern Dakotah, and the place whcro
they settled they called New Odessa. It was named by themselves. They paid
twenty-nine cents to carry their wheat to Duluth. That is the rate to Duluth from
Yankton. That section of the country is being rapidly settled up, and it is a rich
agricultural section ; but they have not as good land, and they have iot the same
am1ount of good land, that they have in the Province of Manitoba; it is not vs good.
I have been over the country, and I am familiar with it; I know bo th Manitoba and
that country. They are also more liable in Dakotab, being eloser to the Sage Brush

6-11 161



-country, to visitations from locusts. This country is also more easily affected by
drouth. than Manitoba, and by dry seasons; it is a prairie country, and the Province
of Manitoba is pretty woll watered.

By Mr. Bagar:-
Q. And the soil is not equal to the soil on Red River ?-No; you will not find it

in any other place on the American continent as good as it is in Manitoba, unless it
be in a litile place on the Wabash, a short distance from Miami, nearly opposite St.

, Louis, called the Illinois Bottom; but anywhere else I have never seen any soil so
rich as it is along the Red River.

By the Chairman :-
Q. You have travelled very extensively ?-I have been in every State in the

Union, I think, except in the Pacifie States.

Q. And for a settler to make a comfortable home for himself, you would prefer
Manitoba to any other place ?-The soil in the Red River valley is, to my mind, the
richest farming country that I have ever seen. It is not only rich, but it has also
bright prospects. A few years ago, St. Louis was the centre of the fine flour trade
of the United States. St. Louis winter wheat flour would sell for more money by a
dollar a barrel than any other flour, not barring your best Canadian. Take the best
Canadian flour and send it to the Eastern markets, and St. Louis winter wheat flour
will outsell it. Still wit.hin these last few years, in Minnesota, they have started a
patent process of making flour, from this hard Fyfe wheat. The flour does not look
white ; it looks yellow, and it is ahaost like powder. Take it in your hand, and you
will find it eomparatively coarse ; but when you come to bake it, it makes whiter
and better bread, and sells better than any other. Take up any paper and look at the
prices current in any of the large cities, and you will see that Minnesota Patent
lExtra hbeds the list by fifty cents or a dollar a barrel. We have in Minneapolis an
interest wbich lias sprung up within eighteen years, and which bas been growing
stronger every year since. When the first flour was shipped to Minneapolis it had
to be hauled in waggons for eleven miles to the mill to be ground ; but they have
now there a milling capacity of between six and seven thousand barrels a day, and
they grind up fi om six to eight millions of bushels of wheat into flour per.annum.

Q. With water power ?-Yes, at the Falls of St. Anthony; and thisjhas all been
done on account of the very great success of this patent process. Well, now, what I
was corring at is this: you might think that the subject is foreign to Manitoba, but
it is not. The wheat that is necessary to niake this quality of flour must be grown
in a cool, northern latitude; and the farther north it is raised, the better wheat it is,
und the better the quality of flour made from it will be The millers of Iowa come
up to Minnesota and fight for that wheat; the wbeat-buyers of Chicago and Mil-
'waukee and the wheat-shippers cannot get on to the northern roads-they cannot
get on to the roads running to the northern part of Minnesota and buy any of that
wheat, because those millers absolutely control the market. They will pay the price
that wheat is worth in Chicago and Milwa.ukee sooner than allow them to cone in
amd buy any of that bard wheat. The same statenent applies to Manitoba, but only
in a greater degree, because a superior quality of wheat is grown in Manitoba, it
being further iiorth. You have seen tbe samples, and you know if you have tried it
in the hand, or between the teeth, that it is hard wheat; and Manitoba is a country
which is peculiarly adapted to the growth of that quality. The quantity raised will
not niake any difference; the whole country might go to the growing of this wheat,
and it would not even affect the price, because there is always a demand for good
four; and this is a locality that must raise it.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. Where is a market chiefly found for grade of flour ?-It goes all over the

Union. Anuy of you gentlemen who were at the Centennial, may have son the
162

40 Victoria. Appendix (No. 6.) A. 1877



Vienna Bakery, which was a feature in the Exhibition. The Vienna Bakery would
not use winter wheat when they first came there, in the spring; they said that they
eould not use it, but the moment they tried the Patent Process Flour, they would not
use anything else.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. What is the process ?-First they blow out the dust of the inside berry; the

inside of the kernal being the softer is the portion heretofore depended on to make
the finest flour. Now they use the outside and flinty part.

By a Member:-
Q. What mills in Canada use it?--At the Ogilvie Mills the same flour is made

and the same process is employed.

A Member :-Mr. Ogilvie goes to Minnesota to buy his wheat.

Mr Cockburn :-Mr. Snider, of Waterloo, has had it for twelve years.

.Mr. Chairman:-l know that there is a great demand in the West of Ontario for
Minnesota wheat.

Mr. Hill :-The only point is that not one bushel of Minnesota wheat is shipped
from the States where it grows. The millers get it all. I only speak of these things
to show that you cannot over-produce it. There is no such thing possible. When
the ordinary spring wheat would be dull in the market this wheat always commando
a good price, and it will be sought for too.

By the Chairman :-
Q. The small quantity you brought up during the past season, I suppose, was of

very superior quality notwithstanding the bad season ?-There is one trouble down
there. The farmers, many of them, did not look after their crops: that is, it was
their first year. The growth is very great. The soil is rich, and it willstand almost
fifty per cent. more seed than your soil here, and nourish it. You can plant thickly
and still have a good crop. The straw will be heavy.

Q. How much do they sow per acre ?-I think it is something over two bushels

A Meber :-That is more than we sow here unless the land is impoverished.

Witness:-Many of them last year went to work and planted their crop, and
expected that it would about grow as it does here. The growth is a great deal more
rank, strong, thick and heavy. The result was that they had a great deal of lodged
wheat, and in that way a portion of the crop was injured. You can understand
that.

Q. It did not fill out ?-There is no reason why the crop up there having such a
soil and good seed, and all that is necessary to the best development of a crop, should
nlot be a good one. It will give a fine yield in the hands of good men who have had a
little experience, and who know just what is the best thing to do. They will get a
crop that will astonish them. I should not be surprised to see plenty of fields yield-
ing over fifty bushels to the acre, in a good year, and under good tillage.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Could you give the through rate to Sarnia or some leading place ?-On the

Grand Trunk you can get through 'rates at every station on their lino if you are
inclined.

40 Victoria.
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11r. Farrow -- Kincardine is an important point out our way, and an outiet
to the Southern Extension Railway.

By the Chairman:-
Q. It might be muet cheaper to Kincardine than to Toronto ?-There will be

tickets to all local points. There is just one point which I would like to mention.
Parties here in the east, where transportation is comparatively low, being in the
settled portions of the country, have been used to it for a long time, but if many of us
would go back for twenty-five years, we would remember the times when rates were
higher here. Take the west, from Manitoba down, the distance is about seven hun-
dred miles and a little over to Duluth, by river and by railroad, and the rate of
twenty-four cents is charged for bringing freight this distance, is one that will com-
pare favorably with the Western States and the prices of transportation there. Take
for instance from Dumont to Chicago, or, as I said before, from Yankton to Chicago,
or Duluth beyond. I speak of Yankton because, at the same tirme that the Men-
nonites went in, a settlement went in there and as in Kansas. The rate is much less
than it is there. The rate from St. Paul in the winter time is twenty-one cents a
bushel to Chicago for wheat ; in summer time, when the river is open, the rate is
eighteen cents. The distance is 407 miles. That is a rate which will compare
favorably with those of other localities in the west, and consequently the people who
go into Manitoba will not be any worse off, as far as the expense of transportation
goes, than other parties who settle in other localities in the West. I only speak of it
in this connection to show that people will not be any worse off if they settle in
Manitoba than others who settle in diffèrent parts of the Western States.

Q. Is that rate of twenty-four cents for transportation between Winnipeg and
Toronto one that can be maintained ?-That rate is between there and Toronto so
that for the portion of the wheat that is sent to Sarnia or Mon treal, or anywhere
else, Duluth would be the starting point. The rate is twenty-four cents to Duluth.

By the Chairman:-
Q. That is an established fact ?-Yes ; and it will be reduced as the amount for

transportation increases.

By Mr. Bannatyne:-
Q. The rate is not likely to be increased ?-No; things do not go backward

in these days.

Q. You consider that as being a permanent rate; that is the point to be esta-
blished ?-Yes; the rate would be reduced as fast as the amount to be transported
increases. It might be reduced. After it comes down to twenty cents, you will not
see much further reduction, because that is about the minimum rate for the services
performed; that is, it is a remunerative rate and a working rate. The transportation
companies are anxious to do as well as they can by the public.

By Mr. ilagar:-

Q. What is the length of the season of navigation on the Red River ?-It is sevea
months, and sometimes it is a week or two shorter than that, but it usually lasts for
about six and a-half or seven months.

By the Chairman:-

Q. When does it open ?-About the 2Oth of April.
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By Mr. Cockburn :-
Q. How many days in the season is it open-170 days ?-I think that we have

about 200 days.

Q. Two hundred days ?-Yes.

Q. That is an exceptional year ?-Yes.

Q. What is the shortest season ?-Possibly it would be twenty days less than
that.

Q. That is a very good season ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. Do you think that many immigrants pass through the Lnited States and go

to Winuipeg, or to other parts of the Province of Manitoba ?-A good many go there
from different parts of the West. They drive through and go in there.

Q. And do they remain ?-Yes; I see a good many do so. They keep coming
in there. There is a little settlement, which I suppose is mostly made up of Ameri-
cans, and old country people and Canadians who had settled in the States, and who
afterwards went in there.

Q. That is near the boundary lire ?-Yes; there is one item which it might be a
matter of satisfaction to people here to know of-there seems to be an impression
p revalent here that many of the immigrants who go out to Manitoba stop in the
United States.

Mr. Chairman:-Yes, there is.

Mr. ill :-Now I will :tell you what our experience has been in this respect
We get reports of all tickets sold; we obtain reports of ail tickets sold in Canada.
For instance, the Grand Trunk reports once a month every ticket sold by them at.
their different stations; and it is the same with other lines-the Great Western or
the Northern, or any of the competing roads. We know just what tickets are sold
in Canada; and all the immigrant tickets sold last year were taken up from the
passengers but thirteen.

By Mr. Bain
Q. That statement is rather disastrous to the idea that American agents catch

them between Duluth and the boundary line ?-Yes. All but thirteen of the tickets
were taken up.

By -Mr. Borron:
Q. Out of how many ?--Out of something over 3,500 immigrants.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Do they not stop in the States on their way to their destinations, as has been

understood was the case ?---No.

3fr. Borron:--We do not leave them on the way.

Mr. Bannatyne:--We do lose some of them too.

Jir. 1Hill:-I know how that is. It is our interest to carry them through to
Winnipeg. We do not get anything if we do not carry them through to Winnipeg.
We have an interest in keeping them all the way down.
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By Mr. Hagar: -
Q. This is only on the railroad ?-There is not so much diversion as is supposed

of people going through there from the Dominion. It is not much use in any of
our people to exercise themselves in talking to them about settling in the States.
They are usually glad enough to get out of it.

By MVr. Bannatyne:-
Q. Still, do you not tbink that if an agent travelled with them at times after

they had arrived at Duluth, it would be of great assistance to them ?-Yes; it would
be of very great assistance.

By Mr. ilagar:---
Q. You have reference to foreign immigration ?-I refer to both.

B3y Mr. Bannatyne:-
Q. A man wbo is pretty well to do may get on too, and a person settled there

who could travel with them could do a great deal to assist him ?--le would know
what to do, and he could save thiem many expenses which they now incur and which
are needless.

By the Chairman:-
Q. I suppose that your Company, if an agent was stationed at Duluth, would

carry him to and fro free of expense ?-Yes; we would be glad to do it, for it would
facilitate our business.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. Are there agents in Manitoba?

Mr. Chairman:--There is Mr. Hespeler at Winnipeg, and Mr. Têtu at Dufferin,

By Mr Bannatyne:--
Q. Such an agent with his headquarters at Duluth would save much more than the

cost of keeping every year. The agent could be placed there just during the period of
navigation for a few months. The expenditure of a few hundred dollars would
secure a good man who would do a great deal. It is just as bad as arriving at some
large place, when it is difficult to know whether you are to go this way or that way.
An emigrant is a perfect stranger. -He knows nothing about the place, and he talks
with the first person who pretends to be his friend.

Mr. HUill:--The immigrant finally realizes when he gets to his destination that
he has been led to invest five, ten or fifteen dollars in such a way that it has donc hin
no good.

By Mr. White:--
Q. That is just where an immigration agent is required ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You think that an agent located at Duluth would b of great service

to those who intend to settle in the Province of Manitoba ?-Yes; I think it would
avoid the danger of anything untoward occurring. An immigrant bouse is situated
right there where the landing is; it is a first rate immigrant house. There is plenty
of room in it, and I know that the agent could get the use of it from the railway
company. Parties could go right in there and make themselves comfortable at once.
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Q. What is the average amount of freight allowed to immigrants. Is it any-
thing more than is allowed to others-two hundred pounds ?-If they carry anything
more, that is to say, largely in excess of that quantity, they are charged a low rate
on it. If it is not largely in excess, as is the usual thing (the liné has not been
drawn very close) we do not charge anytbing. In one instance there were fifty-two
in a party, I think, there were four car loads of effects, and we did not have one
car load of people, and they had waggons, seed, wheat, &c., for effects, but we did not
charge them extra. We will get that out of them when they have raised
soie crops.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You look to the future ?-Yes.

By Mr. Hfagar:-
Q. I suppose that, as a rule, settlers who come into the country do not bring any

stock with them ?-Well, stock is cheap in the North-West, and the grazing and
feeding of stock is a pretty easy matter there. It is a great deal easier than it is
here. I think that unless they take in the better grades, or improved breeds of
cattle, it would not pay them to take stock in. They might take up there, however-
some of the better breeds of stock, so as to improve the breeds existing in the Pro,
vince. This is very desirable. Horses are cheap up there, as cheap as they are here.

.Mr. Bannatyne:-

Q. How do you find clover and other grasses grow in the State of Minnesota ?-
They thrive abundantly, but the most of our farmers think that the wild grasses are
as nutricious unless the clover is cured, and under the most favourable circumstancos.
As for the housed grass, that is of the ordinary kind, it is not a first rate food; while
as to the wild grass, it is an absolute fact that cattle will leave timothy for it. I
know that myself from my experience this winter. I feed my horses with timothy,
aid I also keep a couple of cows, but they won't use timothy if they can get the
wild grass or hay.

Mr. Bannatyne :- That is just what I said yesterday.

Mr ill :-There is an abundance of this grass, as to growing timothy and clover
there is no difficulty in raising them.

Q. And you think, as far as you can see, having spent winters and summers in
Manitoba, that these grasses are as likely to grow there as here ?-Why, certainly,
timothy will grow anywhere there.

By the Chairman

Q. There is an idea prevalent that it won't be successful ?-But it will grow
there; I have seen it, and if only a specialty was made of it, I think that there
would be a good crop. I would be very much disappointed if one would not get agood
Crop, and such a crop that would surprise Ontario people, because of the richness of
the soil.

-Mr. Bannatyne :-It is owing to the fact that the wild grasses are so abundant
and nutritious which prevents its being grown.

Q. When the wild grasses are cleared away, will timothy grow ?-Where cattle
are fenced in, in a pasture for instance, and when they are confined to the use of a
piece of ground for two or three years, the field grows up with white clover.
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By the Chairman
Q. That is very nutritious grass ?-It is in Minnesota.

By fr. Bain :-
Q. Is it the tendency of the wild grasses, when the pastures are enclosed for the

cattle, to die out ?-Where a number of cattle are confined in a pasture, it will run
to white clover and red top.

Q. The natural wild grasses will not come up ?-The red top is a wild grass.

Q. The red top is your ordinary prairie grass ?--They have red top and blue
joint, both are very nutritious.

By the Chairman :--
Q. The red top, you describe, is not the red top I think that we have here ? -Here

it is sour.

By MVr. Bain
Q. What is known as red top in Ontario is a fine grass ; it grows very thickly. If

it gets a satisfactory soil, it reaches up very tall, and has a small feathered top.

fr. H1l :-Yes; that is our red-top, itgrows in great abundance and tall. It is
very nutritious and good for cattle; cows won't eat timothy if they can get that.
There is another thing, you do not see horses troubled with the heaves out in that
country, on account of the existence of the red-top and one or two weeds ; then there
is the wild pea that grows abundantly there through the grass. I have never seen
out there a case of what we call heaves in Ontario among the horses.

By _11r. Bain:-
Q. They say that wild peas grow out there to an enormous length on the edge

of timbers ?-There is no end to it, and hops grow wild in that country; you will
flnd there wild hops that will surprise you, and as nice as anything you ever saw
cultivated.

By fr. Borron:-
Q. Can immigrants cook their meals on the boats ?-Immigrants can do it at

Duluth, or Brainard, or Moorehead, or Fisher's Landing. They will buy a ham or
shoulder and eook their meals on the cooking stove; or, if they desire it, they can go
up stairs and get their meals, and this is often the case. The man often thinks he eau
rough it with the boys, and they will send the mother up stairs to the cabin where
she gets her meals at 50 cents each. furnished on the boat; this is also donc in cases
of sickness or anything of that kind.

A Menier :-That is a consideration for poor people.

Mr. Hdl :-They always have the means at hand for cooking for themselves if
they choose to do so, or go up stairs and get their meals on the boat for fifty cents
each.

By Mr. Bannatyne
Q. You find that tree planting in Minnesota is going to b- a great success, do

you not ? -Yes; it is the case throughout the State of Minnesota and over towards
Missouri where the people have devoted attention to it. It is an established fact, as
regards planting of trees, that if vou take two men who are equally strong, and
twenty-one years old, who marry and settle on one hundred and sixty acres of land
each, one on the prairie where there are no trees, and the other on so maiy acres of
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good Canadian forest, the man who goes on the prairie can have one hundred and
sixty acres of forest of good growth before the other can have one hundred and sixty
acres of cleared land, unless he has outside help besides bimself.

Mr. Biggar :-It takes about one hundred years for an ordinary sized tree to
grow.

fr. BHill:-I will show you an elm tree twenty-four inches in diameter that I
planted nineteen years ago. J left Ontario twenty. one years ago, and I know it to
be a fart.

Mr. Eiggar:--That is perfectly amazing , a tree two feet in diameter is a pretty
large tree.

Mr. Hagar:-
Q. IIow large was it when you set it out ?-It would not have made a whip-

stock.

3fr Biggar: -We know that it could not be planted out if it was very large.

By the Chairman :--

Q. What month do you think most advisable for immigrants to go out there and
settle in the country ?---The earlier in the season they go out there the better,
for the reason that they will have that much more time to become acquainted with
the country, fix up their houses, and get ready for a good crop.

Q. Iow late can you put in potatoes or oats?---I think you could safely plant
potatoes in Manitoba up to the 20th J une.

Mr. Bannatyne :---I know that potatoes have ripened after having been planted on
the 8th of July. This was of the early rose variety.

By Mr. Riagar :-

Q. You have given us a great deal of valuable information about the wheat
crop ; can you tell us anything about barley ?---Yes.

Q. How does it compare with our best barley ?---I have seen a fine crop of barley
taken friom land which had been cultivated for a great many years. The mali said
that he did not know how long his father had cultivated it, and he was a mniddle aged
nan.

Q. This was without any manure ?---They haul avay the manure and put it on
the ice. They get it out of the way.

Q. I ain alluding more to lhe quality and the colour of the barley ?---Barley wants
to be taken care of and housed. You will see a great deal of a very fine quality of
barley. They say three barley corns inake one inch, but I think that the rule in
Manitoba would have to be changed, and made to read, two barley corns to the
inch

By Mr. Bain

Q. Speaking of barley, how does the dow affect it ? I think that something was
said about a very heavy summer dew prevailing out there and very little rain. How
does that affect the colour? It is rain and dark, wet weather that discolours barley ?
-This"is not the case in Manitoba I have seen the sun shine a great deal longer

during the twenty-four hours than it does here. The weather is drier, and the crop
ripens in a shorter time, and that sort of weather is peculiarly adapted to the growth
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of barley, the same as is the case in Northern Minnesota and Utah. Barley is of a
very high price there. Your Canada barley brings a high price for this reason:
You take care of it and keep it in good, big barns, and preserve it from,,the wet.

Q. You think that the discoloration of barley then is due'to the fact that it'is
neglected and not properly housed ?-There would not be any comparisoný between
their barley and yours if this was not the case, for their country is much better
adapted for the growth of barley, and heretofore the barley has been simply raised
and fed to their ponies and horses.

Q. They feed it to their stock, do they ?-They care nothing about it.

By Mr. Hagar : -
Q. If the same care and attention was given to this crop as is done here, you

judge that a superior article would be raised ?-I tell you that if the farmers in that
country gave t e same attention to it, and if the cultivation of the soil was carried
on with the same skill as it is in my own old county- say Wellington, the result
would surprise the people here. I know something of farming myself, because I was
a farmer until I left Ontario to go to the West, and I have always kept track of it
closely.

By the Chairman
Q. If the same tillage and system were employed there, it would produce greater

profits and better crops ?-Much greater.

Q. Do you know whether flax is successfully raised there ?-In the northern part
of our State, the raising of flax is very successful as to growth. We have had two
linseed mills started within a short time, one at Minneapolis and one at Minnehaha.
The farmers did not know what flax was. -Many of them would not have it about
the place. They were afraid that it was some weed, but the owners of the mills
furnished the seed, and said they would give them so much per acre, if they would
plant it, and that they would take the chances on the crop. The farmers then found
out that they were paid about $20 or $22 on the acre, and that the crop was worth
from $28 to $30 per acre. Consequently they then wanted sto sell it by the
bushel instead of by the acre. The difficulty experienced was mostly in that way
within the past couple of years.

By the Chairman;-

Q. The land out there is peculiarly adapted foi the growth.of flax ?-Oh, yes; we
raise good crops of flax, and our manufacture of linseed oil up there is going to be a
considerable item in the States, but it is only just started. The oil is shipped to New
York, St. Louis and Chicago.

Q. The oil cake is fed, I suppose, to stock ?-The oil cake at some of the mills is
just thrown away.

By Ir. Ilagar:-
Q. It is thrown away ?-Yes.

Q. But it is worth something ?-It is7hard for you to realize it, but good hay can
be bought up there for $1-50 a ton, and what does a man want with oil cake when lie
can get a ton of hay for $150.

Q. Still, oil cake is fattening ?-For stall feeding, it is good,"of course, but lou
people have not got that far yet. They do rot understand the feeding of cattie as
people do down here. The country is new, but these matters will adjust theM-
selves.
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Q. Do you know any thing about how the country is adapted for Indian corn ?
I suppose it would not pay to raise it up there ?-Every year the story is told that
corn will not ripen in such and such a latitude, and the year following it is proved
that it will ripen there. How far that will prove true, I do not know. The same
thing was said about fruit and apples. When I went to Minnesota, for years after, it
was said that you could not raise apples there; that it was not a bit of use to try; and
the first thing we knew of, people were raising grapes out of doors. I raise in my
garden seven or eight varieties of grapes, and the fruit ripens out of doors.

Q. Where are you located ?-At St. Paul.
Q. And I believe that the hardier varieties of grapes will ripen in Manitoba ?-I

think that there is no doubt of that, for the wild grape grows up there in the greatest
abundance along the Red River Valley.

Q. It is a small grape, I suppose ?-Yes; and that is an indication of what can
be done. It takes about the same time to grow them.

Q. Yes; and they are very much hardier ?-Yes; that is just the way we
reasoned in Minnesota. It was said that wc could not raise grapes, but it was found
out that we can do, and now we do. And wild plums grow ail the way down in that
country in the greatest abundance; apples are now raised in Minnesota in great
pknty and the only point is, that the orchards are yet quite young; it is only a few
years ago since nobody would attempt to plant an apple tree there ; many of the
people said that they might has well put down orange, lemon, banana or pine apple
trees.

Q. What does your Company pay for the fuel you use on the boats on the river ?
-We pay $2.50 a cord.

Q. I suppose that large quantities of fuel can be obtained there ?-Yes; for
immediate requirements or what are likely to occur.

Q. You give $2.50 a cord for wood ?-Yes.

Q. It is cheaper than it is here ?-Yes.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Is it poplar wood ?-It is white oak, and of good quality, and ash; the price

Of the sof ter woods, is $2 a cord.

Q. Do you know whether water can be easily obtained at any distance over all
Prairies ?-Wherever I have been I have never known any difficulty at the
experienced in getting it.

Q. It is obtained at a reasonable depth ?-It is reached at quite a moderate
depth; they use drilling wells almost universally. They just take a piece of pipe and
drive it down into the ground; and that saves the trouble of digging, or anything
of that kind.

By Mr. Bain:-
Q. They are not troubled with boulders in the bottom ?-When we built our first

steamboat we had to haul the sand thirty-two miles. The sand was used on the roof.
From Abercrombie to where it was built, in the Red River valley-a distance of
thirty-two miles-we had to bring the sand all that distance, and, unIer such circum-
Stance, there would not be much trouble from boulders.
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By Mr. Cockburn:-

Q But if you built a low pressure steamboat you would not want any sand ?-

We could not use low pressure there at all; we have boats drawing less than eighteen

inches of water.

By Mr. Rlagar

Q They are stern-wheelers, I suppose?-Yes; one sided wheelers. We could

run propellers with a great deal less fuel. ligh pressure boats burn from fourteen

to fifteen cords of wood a day.

Q. You said that there could be built barges that would carry from fifteen to

twenty thousand bushels of wheat ?-Not for that river. Barges could not be built

to carry that quantity there. We have them now carrying 8,000 bushels on that

river.

Q. And they do not draw over eighteen inches ?-They draw three and one half

feet loaded down.

Q. They could not navigate in all seasons?-They will navigate during the

greater portion of the time. The water is higher in the spring than n the fall.

Tey go up to, say Grand Falls. At times we only put on five; that would be draw.

ing thirty inches-5,000 bushels, or 150 tons.

Q. Are there many shallow places in the river?-There are so many that it

would cost a great deal to improve it or deepen it. The river is of very equal and

uniform denth, except in places where it is wide, and wherever it is wide the volume

of water being spread out, it becomes sballow.

By Mr. Chairnan;-.

Q. Except at the Goose Rapids ?-We have it even deepened at the Goose

Rapids by putting in wing-bands.

By Mr. Hagar:-

Q. You confine the volume of water ?---This increases the current and we are

able to do a good deal in that way.

By the Chairman:-

Q. What is the price of lumber at Pembina?----Well, the prices vary. Lamber,

ut the Junction west of Duluth, is worth about $8 per thousand feet.

Y kind of ,'umber is that ?---It is pine.

By Mr. Hagar

Q. At what point is that?---It is west of Duluth, at the Northern Pacifie Junction.

Then it could be taken to the river, and it would cost at Winnipeg about $16 or $18

per thousand feet.

Q. That is for the run of the mill ?--The run of the mill will cost from $15 to

$16 a thousand, and the selections, throwing out portions of it, makes good flooring.

Q. It is good, sound, dressed lumber ?-Yes. Take what is classed as fencing

No. 1, it is equivalent to No. 2 flooring.
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By the Chairman:
Q. It could be purchased much cheaper if people would join in a company and

build their own barge and get it down in that way ?-Yes. Then it coi'l be floated
down, and this is just the time to do it. I have spoken of taking a car load of 5,000
or 6,000 feet at a time, or something like that. I think that lumber is sld at Winni-
peg for somewhere between $16 and $20 per thousand feet.

Mr. Bannatyne:-The price is somewhere between $17 and $25 a thousnnd.

By _Mr. Hfagar:-
Q. What did you say was the distance by boat from where the immigrants st'ike

your line to Winnipeg ?-From Fisher's Landing, by the river, it is 250 miles ; but it
is easily passed over in a little less than forty-eight hours.

Q. And what distance is it, in a direct course, by land ?-By land it would be
about 180 miles.

Q. The river is very crooked ?-It is two miles by river to one by land.

By the Chairman :-
Q. It is about 330 miles from Moorhead ?--Yes; it is 337 miles, or there-

abouts.

Q. Do roots grow very successfully there, such as potatoes, turnips and beets,
&c. ?-I do not know that'there is any country that will surpass iManitoba for the
growth of roots of all kinds-potatoes, turnips and beets especially. I think that
potatoes do better there thani in any other place that I have ever seen.

By Mr. Hagar ;-
Q. There is the saine soil here; and tbey say that potatoes are very hard and

hollow in a soil like that ?-When I first saw some of the large potatoes there, I did
not know what they were. I saw them out West. They were dug up before they
were rire, and let lie in the sun. I did not know what they were. It was on
account of their size, and they were turned a little in colour with the sun. I thought
that they were some new loot of a similar kind. There would be no difficulty in
getting potatoes to grow there.

Mr. Bannatyne :--And they are solid; they are not hollow in the middle ?

Mr. ill:- I supposed, owing to their great size, that they were hollow and
watery; but they are not. You will find that they are a nice, dry potato.

Mr. Banna tyne:-All over two and one-half pounds we keep for seed.

By the Chairman : -
Q. What is the general opinion of settlers with reference to the disappearance

Of grasshoppers ?-When I first went to Minnesota the grasshoppers came in, that
was in 1858. It was pretty well settled, and the people turned out and fought them.
This was in the St. Cloud and Chalk Valley. They drove the grasshoppers away and
they have not been back since. The western part of the State has been afflicted
with them for a few years. They came into Blue Earth County, which is one of the
mEost thickly settled counties, and there was a man there who did not want to lose
his crop. He took some musquito netting and put it on a hoop and fastened it to the

d f a stick, and began to catch grasshoppers in it.

Q. On the wing ?-No, in the grass. They jumped into the hoop, and as it was
successfnl he went to the county authorities and asked if they would give him one
dollar a bushel as a bounty. The story got out and woke the farmers up, They
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-thought that it was the proper thing to do, and they caught thirty thousand bushels
of grasshoppers in that county. The crop of the county was saved, absolutely saved.
In the next county the people did nothing. The county authorities would not do
anything in the matter. In Blue Earth County the statisties shew that the crop of
that year was worth about seven hundred thousand dollars, and in the next county,
Angelo County, where nothing was done, the crop was worth less than one hundred
thousand dollars. It demonstrated this to our people, that grasshoppers can be
caught and killed. They are not a new thing. We find them across the Mediter.
ranean, iii the south of France. In former years, when they came into this quarter,
the people turned out and drove them into pits, and many of them were killed. They
can be kil!ed, and they will be killed as the country setties up.

Q. How do they destroy them ?-They burn them or put them into ditches and
burn them ; they throw straw on them and burn them, and they are soon killed in
that way. The present winter bas destroyed, I think, almost all the grasshopper
eggs in the North-West, being an open winter.

By M11r Hagar :-
Q. Have they been destroyed by the cold ?-No; bat by the openness of the

winter. The weather was very warim in the month of February, and the grasshop-
pers deposit their eggs by instinct on the warm sunny side of knolls where the soil
was warm.

By the Chairnan
Q. Do tbeydeposit them at any depth ?-They place them at about three quarters

of an inch, or an inch, down in the ground. The eggs aredepositedin a little sackor
cocoon ; they are covered with the cocoon, which is made to deposit the eggs in.
Early in the season we used to take some soil out along the line of ,the railway and
hatch them, the hoppers hatched, there is no doubt about that, there they were in
little bags covered with gloss, the warm weather came on, and in portions of Min.
nesota, ii the Northern parts of the State, and in the Western part, the grasshoppers
commenced to hatch out, and they were from one quarter to one-half of an inch long
in February. They came out in large numbers in places where they were exposed to
the rays of the sun. There were three weeks or a little more of that weather, and
then it turned extremely cold again, and when we took thé eggs in many cases and
tried the same operation, putting them in a warm room where the sun would shine on

'them, they would not hatch. I have not seen any of them since hatched out, and if
you take the little cocoons and put them close to your ear, and press them, they will
pop like a rotton egg almost. They are offensive to the smell. The weather has
destroyed them, because the heat has partially germinated the egg, they had started
to hatch as it were, and then the cold came and destroyed life.

By Mr. Hagar :-
Q. Then there is a point and stage at which cold will destroy them. I was

readirg the other day, that it would not destroy the young hopper, if the eggs were
frozen hall a dozen times ?- We have made the experiment ; we were told that the
young insect would live under such circumstances, and we made exporiments. We
heard ail sorts of stories about grasshoppers living through frost, and we took some
of the eggs and tried the experiment in St. Paul. We hatched them, they were put
out for one night and frozen, and they were brought in in the morning, and,We
found that they never lived afterwards. In an extract from a newspaper shown mûe,
it stated that grasshopper eggs were frozen solid, and then hcated, and that they
came to life ; but I will just say regarding this extract, that our experience, where
we have made these experiments, is exactly the opposite. It is not according to
nature that any insect would live under those circumstances.
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Mr. Hagar ; -It does not look reasonable, I must confess, and that was the reason
1 asked you.

Mr. Hill :---There are many of these stories that will be told for the sake of a
sensation.

Mr. Eagar :--I think that 1 have seen something like that before.

Mr. JUill:---It was so claimed in our State, and that is the reason wby we made
the experiments.

Q. You have actually verified it ?---Yes; it was just such things as these, the
writing of such articles as these that induced us to make the experiments, and when
we tried it we found what I have stated. My observation applies to three or four, or
to half a dozen cases. When the grasshoppers were once frozen they never came
back to life. It would be a very unnatural thing if they did.

By the Charnan:-
Q. Do you consider that the climate out west is invigorating and healthy ?--

Yes; it is a particularly dry and favorable climate. There is no reason why it
should not be as healthy a climate as there is in the world. I can tell just when I
get north of the latitude of Milwaukee; I can as it were snuff the air. It bas a differ-
ent relish. Tho air is better. I think that it is a little more stimulating than it is
elsewhere. A man will work with more vigour in it, but he may wear out sooner.

By MVr. Bannatyne:-
Q. In your place, St. Paul, is it not a place of very great resort for people

affected with lung complaints ?---Yes; many who went there within my recollection
have been completely re-established in health. Take Dr. Day for instance: he bas
but one lung. He is postmaster there at the present time. He bas but one lung,
and he is as healthy a looking man as is to be seen in this room.

By the Chairman --
Q. Are the winters out there very severe ?---The weather is cold, but you do not

suffer so much frorn it on account of the absence of dampness and of winds.

Q. It is uniform ?---Yes.

Q. Are there fish in abundance in that country ?---Yes ; there is no end to the
fish in the North-West; the rivers are filled with them.

Q. What kind of fish bave you ?--You will find pike, sun-fish, perch, gold-eyes
a.nd white-fish ; and in the lake water, any quanty of salmon and sturgeon. This is
il the northern parts.

Q. If a new settler were to go into that country and raise a crop of roots, could
he furnish bis family with fish and potatoes at the outset with very little expense ?--.
-All the expense would consist in the purchase of a hook and line.

Q. And of seed potatoes ?----Yes.

By Mr. Ragar:--
Q. This refers to the first year ?

-Mr. Hill.:--In the winter time fish are to be found in pockets in the water, and
You do not even bave to wait to catch them with a bait; you can load a waggon with
thern. You ean get all the fish you want for a cent or two cents a pound in our
Market.
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Q. You have never been up the Saskatchewan, have you ?---No. I have never
been west of the Pembina Mountains.

Q. Is that country adapted for stock-raising ?--I have been up in the months of
December and January, and have seen the cattle running about at large. I came
down seven years ago this month. I left Pembina on the 11th or 12th of April, and
they were then engaged in ploughing; and John Dace went out----this was at the
Pembina Mountains--and caught a poney on the prairie that had been running out
there all winter, for me to ride down on to Moorehead or Fort Abercrombie. The
poney was fat, though it had been running about all winter, and in good condition for
the trip. I rode him, and I know it to be a fact.

By 1r. iHagar:---
Q. He was pretty shaggy, I fancy ?----le was a hardy little fellow, and all right.

Hle was in good condition for the trip to Yankton. This is a common thing; I have
even done it miyself when I used to keep horses; worked them during the whole of
the summer, and in the fall of the yearI let them go, and did not look for them again
until the spring. But now, when so many people are coming in and taking up the
land, it is different. This shows that the grasses are nourishing for the cattle and
stock. Ponies and cattle can run out all winter on the prairie.

By Mr. Hagar :--

Q. Do the natural grasses dry up as it were in the fall ?----I think that they are
frozen up. The winter cones ou very suddenly, and they are frozen and not dried up.

Q. That was the question I was going to ask. Why if they were dried up, there
would not be much left in them but woody fibre ?-I think that the season changes
very quickly, and that the grasses are frozen with the juices in them.

Mr. Chairman :----We have obtained considerably more information from Mr.
Hill than we anticipated. It is adapted for parties in this country and to be
circulated amongst farmers. We have received a great deal of valuable and reliable
information.

By -Mr. Lowe:--

Q. You have described a new patent and a new machine for catching grasshop-
pers ?-Yes; in relation to that, I may say that our Legislature during the present
winter has made preparations for the purpose of securing models for machines,
devised for catching grasshoppers.

By the Chairnan:-

Q. That is in Minnesota ?---Yes, sir; in Minnesota, and they have adopted one
which is very much in the form of an old-fashioned Dutch oven. It is made of a
wire netting mounted on wheels, like a sulky-rig, or a horse-rig, with the exception
that the horse is hitched behind it, and shoves it ahead of him ; a little buoy 15

pinned at the bottom of it in order to agitate the grass as it passes along; and
the grasshoppers if they hop ahead of it are caught again, while those that ho)
backwards are caught in this great wire box as it were; and when it is full, or fali
enough to have a comparatively heavy load, they just dump it. They take it to a
ditch and empty it. The machine is managed in this way. I think that they make
them twenty-two and twenty-four feet long. From your own experience with a
mowing machine or a reaper, you could easily imagine how many acres a man-r boY
with one horse will go over with that machine in a single day.
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[?y the Chaiirman:--
Q. low many a.res in a day can be gone over with ït, do you suppose ?-

Fifteeni or twenty acres.

By fr. GCockburn

Q. How do they destroy the grassboppers n the ditch, when they get them
there ?---By fire or by water or they cover them up. Grasshoppers when they get
in a muss in that way destroy one another.

By the Chairman :-
Q. They cannot get up outof the ditch ?-No; the grasshopper is then without

wings; ho is nearly four or five weeks old tnd is very helptess; he cannot get out of
a ditch sixteen or eighteen feet in depth at that stage.

By Mr Bain:-
Q. I suppose the machines are more for use before the grasshoppers are well c

IowrI ?-That is the idea; they usethern on pastures and open ground.

By M3/r. Haqar:-

Q. You could not use them on the crops ?-You can before the crop is too long

By Mr. Lowe:-
Q. What percentage of the grasshoppers will the machines catch ?-There are

various estimates. It is said that they w.ill take from three-quartcrs to ninetenths of
hem; it first depends how closely a man works them. The machines are very inex-

pensive, they cost from $30 to $35 each; there is nothing of them but a little frame
-and a wire netting, and the axles and a place for the horses behind them.

Q. How do they act ?-They go over the grasshoppers; the point is this: they
very soon catch the grasshoppers and destroy them, and that was best demonstrated
under our own eyesight in Blue Earth County. I mention the fact because I saw one
or two at work, and they resembled a musquito notting placed on a hook.

Q. There is no theory in that case, it bas been done ?--Yes; and they saved their
crops, and this was what encouraged the Legislature of the State to make preparations
for a better way of catching them. Thee Western States which are interested in the
matter held a convention last year, and fôtir Governors met; the Governor of our
State proposed it, and the four Governors met and agreed to take concerted action.
They also decided to appoint a commission composed of the most eminent men in the
States to lake this matter under their charge during the coming season; and they
bave. in a neighbourly way, I see, included in their duties one of the Commissioners of
the Northern boundary and the Boundary of Manitoba. They proposed to see what
they could do over there. Dr. Adams, I think, is included in the commission.

Q. One man and a horse can go over fifteen acres a day and keep it a good deal
under control ?-Certaifnly.

By -Mr. Ragar:-
Q. Do not grasshoppers go in swarms and clands almost, and settle down en and

destroy the crops in a day or two ?-Yes.

Mr. Bannatyne :--That is when they first begin to fly.

Mr. Hill:-They came in this way when they first visited Blue Barth County,
anfld when the people turned out to destroy them.
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Mr. Hagar :-That is an important fact.

Mr. Hill:-They flnished the grasshoppers as far as the county is concerned.

By Mr. Hagar: -
Q. I thought it was said that their ravages were so destructive that theydestroyed the crops in a day or two.

,Mr. Bain :---Thirty thousand bushels of them are a good deal to be taken in one
county.

Mr. Chairman :--The potato bug does not trouble us in the least now.

Mr. Bain :-This is the case since each faimer bas done bis part.

'Mr. Chairman :---One coating of Paris Green kills them.

MR. FULLER'S EVIDENCE.

TIMBER CAPABILITIES AND OBSERVATIONS OF COUNTRY ALONG THE LINE OF
TELEGRAP3.

FRIDAY, 6th April, 1877.
Mr. FULLER appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman:-
Q. What is your name ?----Richard Fuller.

Q. Where do you reside ?---I live principally in the City of Hamilton.

Q. Have you travelled much in the North-West Territory ?---Yes.

Q. In what portion of the North-West have you been ?---I have been at the Lake
of the Woods, and as far west as Battleford, in the country north of the Saskatchewa,,

Q. What were you engaged in out there ?---For the last two years I have been
engaged in building telegraphs for the Government.

Q. You have been building them to what point ?---To Edmonton.

Q. You are a contractor ?---Yes; I am a contractor for the construction of the
Pacifie Telegraph Line.

Q. You are building this telegraph line--from what point ?---From Swan River
to Edmonton.

Q. What distance is that ?--It is about five hundred and seventeen or twentlY
miles.

Q. And being in that position you wore under the necessity of travelling for a
considerable distance on each side of the line of the route laid out for the telegraph?
-I have travelled considerably in that region, though not so much on each side If'
the line, but I have passed over parts of it.

Q. Will you describe to the Committee the timber interests of that country; that
portion of the North-West over whîch you have travelled ?-The timber, of the kid
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we call marketable timber, is not to be found on that route ; you will find none there.
I do not think there is any good timber botween Fort Pelly and Edmont mn, except a
strip of about six miles in extent. I am informed that this strip continues in a north-
west course for a very long distance. Good timber is found not far north of Edmon-
ton, about sixty miles north of Carleton, and Battleford and these places.

Q. What description of timber is it ?--It is composed of red and white pine.

Q. Does this exist to any large extent ?-I am prepared to say that as soon as a
railroad is opened from Rob Portage, I think I can guarantee to supply the country
for twenty years with timber, and at a mach less price than is given for lumber there
now.

Q. Have you timber limits then there ?--Yes.

Q Are they of any great extent ?---Yes ; I bave large lirmits at the Lake of the.
Woods.

Q. Have you developed them yet ?---It is of no use to develope 'themr until
we cau get the staff to market: We will have no mearis of getting to the market
untilarailway is built overiRat Portage andto Red River. Of course we would then
be prepared to fill orders now if the lumber could be taken over Rat Portage, or out
of any point on the Lake of the Woods.

Q. Have you yourself or others in your employ made a general survey of the-
timber interests in that section ?--I have been through a considerable portion of thein.
myself.

Q. And there is a very large supply of valuable timber ?---Yes; the supply is very
large.

Q. And it is accessible to all settled portions of Manitoba if the construction of
this road is compluted ?-After the construction of this ruaJ, tihese interests will be
accessible to the North-West.

Q. And I infer, from your remarks, that after the road is completed, and the
Pacifie Railway runs from Rat Portage to Red River, building material will be very
much reduced in price ?---I am not prepared to say to what extent the price will
then be reduced, because the element of carriage and thecharge made by the railway
for carrying it to market would affect that as you will perceive. I think, however,that if ordinary rates were charged on the railway, the price of lumber would be-
roduced four or five dollars a thousand feet. In this calculation allowance is made
for the railroad charging three dollars a thousand for carrying it one hundred and
ten miles.

Q. How much is that per thousand feet ?-That would allow the railway $3 a
thousand for carrying it.

Q. And at what price could the lumber be delivered ?-That would be twenty-
four dollars a car ; then on the creeks, on the east side of the Lake of the Woods,there is good timber: it is red and white pine. There is also a large amount of other
timber, such as cedar.

Q. That is situated on the east side of the Lake of the Woods ?-Yes.

Q. It is situated east aid north of that place ?-les ; there is a large amount
Ot'poplar at that point. A great many of the islands situated in that neighborhood,
are covered with good timber'; on the west side the country is not as well timbered.
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It is principally found on the east and south side, as far as my own personal
knowledge is concernedi; 1 bave been there. There are now no means of getting
timber down the Rainy River very well on account of the rapids; these and the falls
would destroy the timber.

Q. Are these the rapids at Manitou?--No; they are those on the Winnipeg
River; but before that supply of timber can be got out, this road must be finished
to Selkirk. As soon as we can get the road built as far as Selkirk, this lumber will
be available for the north-west; this market will then bc opened up.

Q. What distance is it from Rat Portage to the crossing at Red River?-1
believe that it is about ene hundred and twelve miles.

Q. The construction of the Canadian Pacifie would destroy the American lumber
trade ?-Yes; Winnipeg and that portion of the country is thus supplied now.

Q. It all comes from the United States, from the State of Minnesota ?-YO.

Q. And after the construction of the Pacifie Railway to Rat Portage, you think
that the supplies of lumber will be furnished from the Lake of the Woods, and from
that section of the country ?-I am certain of it, if I possess the limits when that
time arrives, I am certainly bound not to let American lumber come into that
country because we can produce it more cheaply.

By 3r. Hagar :-
Q. Do you say so, owing to the quantities of timber that exist in our own terri-

tory out there ?-It would hardly do for me to state what is on my own limits; but I
think that I could guarantee to supply all the lumber which will likely be wanted in
this western country for a great number of years.

Q. I suppose that there are others besides yourself who own timber linits ont
there; you do nut monopolize the whole of it ?-Messrs. Mcllroy & Jarvis own other
larg'e limita.

Q. Are they n il taken up?--I do not know what else there is except my own.
I am speaking of what I know personally.

By the Chairman:
Q. You have t avelled on the line of the Pacifc iRa ilway ?---1 bave not been ail

along it, but I have to Lake Manitoba and to Winnipeg. That is a good section of
the country.

Q. But you have not been to the Narrows ?-No; but I bave gone from Winni-
peg to Livingstone and Fort Pelly. Livingstone is the Government name for the

lace and Pelly is the common name of it. Swan River is another place where I
ave been.

Q. And how do you describe the country south of Lake Manitoba, and past the
Portage ?-That is ail a good oountry. It is all valuable for settlement.

Q. Past Palestine ?-Untiljyou reach Livingstone ; all except tbat which is at
the foot of the mountsins, is good land, as far as my observation goes. It is swanPY
on the south side of L:ake Manitoba. As I passed over the country I found that it
is very low, although it. is very superior land.

Q. It is good for meadows ?--Yes; and still it is excellent for settling upon and
raising tine crops. It is very good land until we reach Livingstone.
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Q. How do you describe the Duck Mountains ? Is the land there arable ?----I
have not been on the Duck Mountains; we pass and leave then to the right. I have
been from Swan River to Edmonton, where we are constructing the telegraph line.

Q. That is for a dihtance of five hundred miles ?-It is a distance of a little over
five hundred miles.

Q. How does that country from Pelly to 'Edmonton compare with the section
east of Edmonton to Winnipeg, for fertility of soi ?-Do you mean the country east
of Livingstone ?

Q. The section west of Livingstone to Edmonton: how does it compare with the
country stretching from Pelly to Edmonton ?-I cannot speak of anything on the
railway line with authority. I can only speak of the route I have taken.

Q. What is the route that you h ave taken ?--I have been for sixty-five miles up
this line myself; but the country there is not as good as that which is east of it.
There are good spots in it, however, and it is timbered considerably for the first
bundred miles.

Q. What is the des cription of timber to be found there ?-When we get about
twelve miles out of Livingstone, we go through poplar.

Q. Is the poplar of any sizel?---It is-valuable for railroading, for fencing, and for
building log houses; then we reach a strip of good spruce.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. Does that timber grow to any size ?---Yes. The Government put it all

alorg the line, and used it at Fort Pelly; it makes very fine lumber. Then we pass
on for twenty-seven miles, when we cross a prairie probably ten or twelve miles in
wicth. Of course, I have not the records here, and I could not tell exactly without
thim. Then we pass through woodsýuntil we reach somewhere about one hundred
m les.

Q. This is the same description of timber-it is composed of poplar and spruce?
-It consists of poplar an d of very little spruce. There is a small patch of spruce,
but it is principally poplar. My men informed me that you can get the best land
there. It is not a part of the country though that is suitable for being cut up into
small farms. When we reach this point, to the north of the Alkali Plains, there is
good land.

By Mr. Aylmer:-
Q. You have been all the way'up here yourself, you say, and as far as Edmon-

ton ?-I have been all along the line.n

Q. You might say just what you know about the country generally ?--After we
reach about one hundred miles west of Livingston, we meet with a more open
Country. To the south of this it i s a salt plain-what is called the Salt Plain. It
is very good for grazing purpo ses; and on the north of this it is good farming
land principally. As we cross the south branch oflthe Saskatchewan it is all good
land to the northwards, between the two branches.

By Mr. iHagar
Q. You do not know how far this is the ease though ?-I know that it is the case

from the railway line at least to the Saskatchewan, because I have crossed tbis part,
and lave learned it from the people who have settled in that country. After we
leare the 100 miles, we meet with no timber, but a very small patch, until we have
passed on and come to Eagle Bills, which are apparently well covered with bluffs of
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poplar. In fact you can drive through them. It is broken up. I think there are
ten or twelve large ravines which are met with in coming down from the mountains.
It is somewhat troublesome to get along. I came along there and tound the land
good. The section of the country passed through from the time we reach Eagle iis
until we arrive at Battleford, and on the south side of the river, is sufficiently wooded
for settlement purposes, except for making flooring and doors, and ail these things.

Q. The timber is pine and poplar, chiefly ?-Yes; it is principally poplar. It
was very much burned last year. Hundreds of thousands of dollars worth were
spoilt, I have no doubt; the timber was burnt for miles. As to Battlefbrd, I can
speak personally; I was there one summer myseif. It is a very fine site for a town,
though s< me people say that the land is light. My own opinion is, that the light
lands are the best for settlement purposes out there, on account of the season being
short, and you are almost certain that the crops will mature on themquicker than on
land in the valley.

By the Chairman:-
Q. It is a warm soil, but not so durable as it is in the valleys,|I suppose ?-There

is a sample of barley (sample produced), which I grew this year, and you cannot
produce a sample of barley in all Canada equal to it. I sent that to the Department,
and I have just now borrowed it. The prairie was broken for about two or three
inches, and we began ploughing last year on the 17th April. The barley was sown
about the 17th or 18t, or the 20th May; I commenced to reap it on the last of July.

By Mr. Jiagar :-
Q That was about ten weeks, then ? This was the ine in which the crops grew

and matured ?--Yes; I suppose that would be about it. There is no comparison
between it and the barley here. Mly farmer reported it me when it was sown, but I
know when it was commenced to be cut. I was not present at the sowing.

Q. What was the yield per acre ?--It was twenty-five bushels. Of course it
might have been a little more or a little less.

Q. That was raised on the light soil you speak of ?---That is on what we cail a
light soil. I think it is preferable to the land in the valleys. A lighter soil is calcu-
lated to develop the crops earlier; and they are not liab;e to get caught with the
frost. Owing to the fact that I was told that wheat would never ripen in that country.
I sowed wheat, and the crop ripened beautifully. although I do nottbinkthat it would
have ripened in the same time, if it had been sown in ihe valley.

Q. You do not tbink so ?--No; my observation has been that frost is always
severer on low land than on high land. People like to get heavy lands which are
generally low lands. They prefer them for that reason, I suppose. This land 1
speak of migbt not be as lasting as the other, but I arn satisfied that it would be more
satisfactory in the long run. When you can have plenty of it, I would take a lighter
soil. It is more easily worked.

Q. That is what we call sandy loam here ?---Yes.

Q. Are there any vegetable deposits on it ?-There is nothing on it but whathas

been left from the burnings of the prairies.

A ember:-Deposits are generally washed into these valleys.

By the Chairman :---
Q. Proceeding westward to Battleford, what do we find ?--I am now speaking Of

the country west of Battleford, and I will have to speak from the reports of m.y
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Superintendent of the Lines, after proceediiig westward for thirty miles, they find an
excellent farming country, both to the north and to the south. They reach woods
several miles before they get to the longitude of Edmonton. The telegraph line is
run about twenty miles south of Edmonton, where I left off. My foreman reports
coming here into spruco. This section is full of timber, spruce. We went through
it f)r some miles and we came among a great deal of spruce.

By Mr. Vhite (Renfrew) -
Q. Is the land of any account ?-I have no doubt that this neighborhood wili be

settled in a very short time; there is already quite a settlement around Burnt Lake.
Q. What kind of settlers are they? Are they employés of the Hudson Bay

Company ?-No ; there are Half-breeds, Canadians, Englishnen and Scotchmen, and
all sorts of people in the settlement.

By a Xlember:-
Q. They chiefly corne from the Hudson Bay Company's posts, do they not--the

-ettlers down at the Mission ?---No ; they are principally men who have gone west;
hat is, with respect to the most recent settlers.

Q. Where is the section where you are building your telegraph line?

11r. Chairman:--It runs from Livingstone, and extends to Fort Edmonton.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :-
Q. What is the character of the country; is there much wood on it ?--I have gone

through the whole of that five huidred miles, and in it there is a little over two
handred miles of woods. But, of course, when speaking of the wood and timber in
that country, it must not be taken that it is oqual to the Canadian.

Q. It is of a different description ?---Altogether.

Q. It is not of so thick a growth, I suppose; and the trees do not grow so big ?-
No; a great deal of misunderstanding is produced in speaking of the timber and
woodland in that country. Its character is altogether different from that which we
Àind here. In passng through this five hundred miles, we find two hundred and
thirty or two bundred and forty miles of woods, but it is a different class of woods
rom that which is found here.

1 Q. Are the woods continuous, or do they grow in clumps ? Do the trees grow
LU clumps, and are there spaces between them ?---In parts this is the case. There are
parts that we call bluffs ; that is a patch of timber ; they may be a mile or half a mile
i extent.

Q. Without any tinber ?-There are miles, probably, without timber.

Q. And then there are clumps of timber ?-Yes, the first hundred miles are
tlnost continuously wooded, with some class or other of timber.

By Mr. Hagar:-
Q. What you call bluffs are not rising ground ?---No; a bluff is merely a clump

of timber.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. It is not raised ground ?-No.
Q. It is all level ground ?---There is no level country after Lyou get outside'ofManitoba.
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Q. It is a rolling country, is it ?--After you get eighteen or twenty miles west of,
-Red River, you meet with no level country.

By Mr. Hagar :-

Q. It is rolling land ?-Yes, the country then assumes altogether a different
aspect. Instead of large areas of flat and level prairie, it becomes undulating, anid
continues so as far as my experience goes.

Q. Do you find the timber on the lower places, or on the higher parts of land'?

A Member :-It is a matter of accident, I presume, that timber is to be found
there; that is, where the fires have not been.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :-
Q. It is of second growth ?-Sometimes a fire will take place, for some reason or

other, and probably it is intercepted by water or by winds ; but there is no guide to
go by. Generally speaking, you wilI always find timber on one side or the other of
the water.

By Mr Hagar:-
Q. Do you fancy that if there had been no fires there, the whole country would

have been wooded ?-I fancy so.

Q. But the fires have kept the growth of the wood down ?-I fancy that if it
lhad not been for the fires, the whole country would have been wooded.

By the Chairman:
Q. The timber there grows very rapidly ?-Yes.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. Are these fires injurious to the present growth of timber out there ?-Yes

undoubtedly the fires are very extensive. I met two ministers who had arrive d
within eight or ten miles of Battleford upon a Sunday ; they preferred not to travel
on Sunday and they accordingly stopped to cook their breakfast, ani they set the
prairie on fire and also the voods I had to go through; they could have savedI all
thnt by going to Battleford the night before. It is principally white people who do
thib, stopping on the prairies to cook their meals. I do not think that the Indians
set tire to the prairies as mach as has been represented. I think that this is donc by
reckless travellers.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-That is the case on the Ottawa River ; the Indians thrC
very seldom start these fires.

Witness:-My observation has been that Indians are very careful in this respect.
The Half-breeds, who travel in trains, and the white men, are very reckless; they
think that it is the last time they will be over the route and that it does not matter.
They do not care for any results that may happen if they can get safely through.

Q. Is the fire caused by the dryness of the prairie: does the grass catch fire on
this account?-It is the grass, of course, that takes fire; but the fires as a usual thin
do not take place much before the months of September or October.

Q. In the wooded part of the country, do the grasses grow amongst the woods
-There is none, not where the timber is; there is hardly any part of the country
which is timbered, where you will find it; there is likely to-be considerable grass in
the swamps; they produce a luxuriant crop of bay; that is my impression of the
timber.
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By Mr. Hagar:
Q. What is the nature of the hay, is there anything in this part of the country

which resembles it, especially the bine joint-you know what we call blue joint
here-is the grass there similar to this ?-They have the blue joint and red top.
grasses there.

Q. The red top is similar to ours, which grows on low ground ?-Yes; it grows
very luxurioutly in parts of the country ; but, as a general rule, the prairie grass iS
not a thick grass; that on the ordinary dry prairie is short, but it is a very succulen t
and a very sweet grass.

By Mr. White (Renfrew )
Q. Are the grasses which grow in tho swampy part of the country similar to the-

wild grasses of this Province ?-I think that they are superior to what we have bere.

Q. Because tbey are more succulent in their nature ? -Yes ; the grass we meot
with, when we reach what is called the Buffalo country now, is a very short grass,,
and cattle always become improved by feeding on it.

Q. There is plenty of sait through that country ?-There is plenty of alkali, but
I do not know whether there is sait.

By M1fr. Hagar:-
Q. But there are salt springs there, are there not?

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-They speak of sait springs as existing on the Peace
River.

Mr. Fuller :-Sait does come from the Narrows between Lake Winnipegoosis
and Lake Manitoba. It is produced there.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :-

Q. You speak of the buffalo country. I suppose that the buffalo naturally
frequents the parts of the country where they can obtain sait ?

The Chairman:-You find salt licks and alkali dotted over patches which are,
completely bare.

By Mr. Bain
Q. Are the alkali patches strongly impregnated with salt, or with something-

else ?-It is destructive to horses, if they drink of this water. We are very careful
Bot to allow horses or cattle to drink of it.

By Mr. Hagar :
Q. Would they drink it ?-Yes.

By Mr. Bain :-
Q. It must be different from a salty substance ?-We never allow cattle to drink

it if we can help it. We sometimes will permit it. If they only drink once or twice
of it, it will not probably affect them much.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. Is there any vegetation in these regions ?-Yes. If it is an alkali clay, it may

be dried up more. You can see the effects of the alkali easier; there is no vegetation,
under it.
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Q. It does not affect the surrounding country ?-You could hardly tell an alkali
plain from the outward appearances. Of course, in the fall of the year, when the
small marshes and lakes are dried up, you can see it; but the grasses there are
good. #

Q. How far is Battleford from Winnipeg ?-By the way we travel now, it is
about six hundred and forty miles.

By Mr. White (Renfrew):-

Q That is the seat of the Government for the North-West Territories, is it not?

The Chairman :-Yes.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. Is that place situated on the Saskatchewan River ?-Yes.

Q. Is that the point of junction of Battle River with the Saskatchewan ?-Yes.

Q. Is Battle River navigable ?-It is navigable very early in the spring. You
could float timber, and such like, down it at almost any time ; but it is not navigable
for boats in the summer season.

Q. Is the Saskatchewan River na- igable from Lake Winnipeg ?--I should pre-
sume that the Saskatchewan River is navigable for the whole distance. I do not
.know that any one has forded it, or is able to ford it.

Q. For steamers, I mean ?-Yes. Fron Lake Winnipeg to the Rocky Moun-
-tains, there is one break ; there are rapids of about three miles in extent, and near
Lake Winnipeg there are other.

Q. Are there no rapids beyond that ?--There is one at Gold Falls.

Q. Can these rapids be overcome ?--Tihey do take steamers over them. The
Hudson Bay Company's steamboats have rui up as far as Edmonton.

Q. And they could run beyond that, I suppose?----It is represented that they
could; but I do not know myseli that tins a fact. I know that they have gone up to
Edmonton. I have no doubt that there is a channel in the riveî, but it will require
experienced men who know the water, to make the passage. Of course, my idea as
to securing the population of the country where homes can be found for many poor
people, is, that you ought to give inducements to capitalists to go up there. It is a
country of such a character that you can well afford to do it.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-It is for small capitalists to improve the country; the
difficulty with large capitalists is that they hold the lands for the purposes of specu-
lation.

.Mr. Fuller:-I do not mean in that way; a certain portion of that country
-consists of good arable land, and this should be divided into small farms for poor
,men; but certain other portions ought to be laid out in large blocks, each twentY
or thirty miles square, according to the means available for grazing. These lands
are not likely to be required for settlement purposes for a great many years ; they
are well adapted for grazing purposes.

Q. They are well adapted for grazing purposes ?-Yes; if taken in large areas.

Q. You are satisfied that it would be excellent for a sheep-raising country ?--
think it would be excellent for raising cattle and horses.
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Mr. Jones (L eeds:)-I think it would not do for sheep; sheep want higher
land.

Mr. Chairman :-And dry land, as well.

Mr. Fuller :-You see that there is a class of men out there who are wel 1 adapted
for the purpose; this is owing to the peculiar population of the country; a great
many people there prefer such a life, and they would make good drovers and good
herdsmen.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-And they can ride well ?-And they also know the
'country ; in fact, they prefer that kind of life; and under the circumstances, with
such a population, an enormous amount of stock could be raised, thus adding to the
wealth of the country.

Q. Would any difficulty arise in defining the boundaries of these large tracts of
land ?-No.

Q. They could keep, for instance, say twenty square miles, or ten square miles,
or one hundred squard miles of land apart; I suppose that it would take large areas
of that character to be of any service. A man wants to drive cattle over bis land all
sumner, and he doos not want, under such circumstances, to purchase hay to keep
them in winter; I do not myself think th.at any difficulty would be experienced in
defining the boundaries of such lands; it is done in Australia, and they must have
some way of doing it.

Q. I wonder how they fix the boundaries and keep the cattle separate; in Texas,
1 think, they let them run altogether ?

Ur. Chairman:-You will find in Scotland and in Wales that no difficulty is
foun i 'n keeping the sheep; the shepherds will easily separate the flocks and take
thci to their own pasture fields; the dogs are trained to it.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :
Q. is t a fact that horses and cattle can live out on these plains during the

winter time without being housed or fed ?-I do not think that this could be done
with oxen very well.

Q. What about horses ?-Horses can so live; my horses do so; my own ponies
were out on the plains all this winter.

By Mr Cockburn :-
Q. Where do you reside now ?-In Hamilton.

By ifr. Greenway:-
Q. Can you tell us what is the price of lumber at, Winnipeg ?-I never buy it,

but I never saw any of it sold at a price less than twenty-five dollars a thousand feet.

By -Mr. Hagar:-
Q. That is the retail price ?-Yes.

By Mr White (Renfrew)

Q. This relates to the commoner kinds, does it not ?-Yes; that is the price of
comon lumber. They could not afford to sell the whole of their lumber at that
Price.' They would not make any money if they did.

Q. Are there any pine lands on the tUpper Saskatchewan that coald be rande
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available for the supply of that country with lumber, up towards the RockyMoun-
tains ?-My information is that there is a supply of spruce above Edmonton.

Q. But there is no pine there ?-There is good pine in that country, and also,
spruce. It is good hard pine.

Q. I suppose that the spruce is pretty large. There is some of this timber in the
northern parts of the Province of Quebec, but there is none in this part of the country
to speak of? - Probably I should not put it on the average, at more than Lwelve or
fifteen inches in diameter. There is more small than large spruce in a patch, but you
will find some of it much larger than that. It will run froin ten to fifteen inches in
diameter.

By Mr. Hagar
Q. That is across the stump ?-Across the log. The top of the log would, of

course, be small.

By 1fr White (Renfrew)
Q. You speak of a good size tree ?-Yes; spruce is found of pretty much the

same diameter in the Province of Quebec; I have seen logs cut there which~were ten
inches and upwards in diameter.

By Mr. Blagar :-
Q. Those trees must grow to considerable length ?-None of the timber grows

quite as large in that country as it does here. Take a pine tree there of the same
diameter as one here, which would give you five logs, and it will not probably make
more than four logs. That is taking trees of the same kind.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)
Q. You refer to trees of a similar size ?-To trees of the same kind, or having the

same diameter.

By the Chairman:-
Q. If it was properly guarded from fire, do you think that there is sufficient

timber for the settlement of the whole of that section of the country ?-In portions of
it this is the case, but unfortunately in some places there is no timber for miles.
Then you come again to other portions where there is more of it than is wanted.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-I am afraid that the timber for building material would
Lave to be taken principally from the western part of Lake Superior. I am told that
there is a considerable tract of good pine in the country about there.

-Mr Fuller:-You can get good timber in the country; but the timber which is
Io be used for doors and flooring, &c., of course, will have to be brought from the
Lake of the Woods, or from this northern country.

Q. Is there any pine timber in that northern country ?-There is spruce in it.

Q. What do they build their.houses of there now ?-They build them of poplar
logs.

Q. Of poplar logs ?-Yes.

Q. This wood must dec ay very rapidly ?-I do not think that it decays so very
fast. You will find houses out there which are very old.
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Mr. Chairman :-They place uprights at the doors, and the logs on ly reach to
them.

Mr. White (Renfrew) :-Is that the kind of material which is used in
Manitoba?

Mr Chairman :--Yes.

Mr. Fuller :--I think that by the time we have exhausted our own pine here, they
nay be able to grow it up there.

By Mr. Chairman:-

Q. Have you ever examined the section of the country north of Lake Winnipeg ?
-- No; but I have had it examined.

Q. Is pine timber to be found there ?-No. I think that there is only Spruce and
poplar.

By Mr. White (Renfrew)

Q. They could supply Mamitoba with timber from there very easily ?---Yes. The
difficulty with us now is, that to bring timber from there would require a very great
.outlay of capital. A lock must be built, and the season of navigation is very short.
You would also have to have first-class steamers to bring the lumber down. All this
involves a large outlay, and the present consumption would not be sufficient to keep
that capital employed. To make the plant pay, it would have to be employed night
.and day during the summer.

Q. Still, I imagine that a good strong tug would do a good deal of work ?---O
course it would.

Q. And how far have you to take it ?-To get it down represents a large outlay,
and your machinery is only working for a certain portion of the year; and for the
rest of the year it is laid up.

Q. You would have three, four or five months in which you could work, any
way ?----Yes; and any quantity of material. You could not expect to monopolize the
whole of the market.

Q. There would also be a supply from Minnesota, I suppose ?-As soon as the
railway is opened no man can monopolize the market there, and the demand is still
limited. If you prod ace an excess over the demand, the result would be that the
timber would be practically worth nothing.

Q. Is the timber out there spruce or pine ?----I do not think, or at least such is the
information I have roceived, that you can find any pine there. The best information
I have is, that there is no pine west of the Lake of the Woods. There are two small
patches, however, I know, some few miles on the western side of it.

By Mr. Chairnan:-

Q. Don't you find a large timber interest between the North-West Angle and
Winnipeg? You have been all through that country over the old Dawson route ?--
i have been across that section. There is ample material there, I suppose, to produce
ties and telegraph-poles, &c.

By the Chairman :

Q. Have you noticed any deposits of coal between Battleford and Edmonton ?-I
am sorry that I have not my foreman's report with me, or I could have told you
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where it was. He informs me that near Edmonton some of the telegraph poles stand
in coal.

Q. Are you convinced that the coal is of any depth ?-Of course, I could not tell
that.

Q. Not being developed ?-No; the telegraph poles are placed in the coal bed.
Q. The coal crops out ?-No; but in digging down you; strike it ; the men

had to dig in the coal and put in the posts. le informs me that about thirty-five
miles east of that he struck another bed of coal about four feet deep.

Q. He found there a seam of coal four feet in depth ?-Yes; that is the informa-
tion he has given me ; but, of course, no one can tell, as it never has been tested.
The Government might send a geologist out to sec and test the coal; but the year
before last the Indians turned whites out very quickly who had gone out there; they
would not allow them to sec it. The treaty had not been made then.

By .Mr. Jones (Leeds):-
Q. The Indians would not Jet them come in and open up the seams ?-No.

By the Chairman
Q. You think that there will always be a sufficient supply of timber there for the

use of settlers ?-Of course that country is very large, and it will be avery long time
before individuals will be able to expend money and pay freights there. I think that
there are three classes of land there: what is suitable for fur-bearing purposes, what
is suitable for stock raising, and what is suitable for ordinary farming purposes. I
think if the whole country was divided into large limits which were given to good
men in order to preserve the fur, and if good laws were made to protect them, it would.
keep up a means of support for the Indians and make the state of things better than
it is now. That country can produce a very large amount of fur.

Q. Where was the specimen of barley which you have exhibited raised ?-It was
raised at Battleford.

By Dr. Orton:
Q. Was that raised last year ?-Yes; I sent a sample of it to the Department of

the Interior, and a sample to the Department of Public Works. You have nothing
like it I think, this year in Canada.

Q. That is very dark, it is very much damaged apparently ?-There is one thing
I might mention, I am keeping a record of the weather at Livingstone and Edmonton
at each of these stations, and 1 can communicate it next year. Last year there were-
rains and a wet season in Manitoba, and the rains extended to my station, and up to
what is called Big Stone Lake, about one hundred and thirty miles west of Livingstone;
but the rains did not reach much west of that, beyond that the season was dry. The
limit of the rains was very distinct and marked; before we reached that place it somle-
times rained for hours and hours together, and for nights and days. There were very
heavy storms, but it was dry to the westward of the point I have named. It may be-
quite different next year, as I said the limit of the rains was very distinct and marked.
I only know that this is a fact-the-rains reached that position.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Last year the season was bad and wet ?-That accounts for the barley being

so dark. Of course that is a new country and people out there have their difficultie&
like other people.
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By Mr. Alymner:-
Q. Many people who are going into that section would like to know whether-

there are mills out there ?-Yes; there is a mill.

Q. A flour mill ?-It is both a flour and saw mill.

Q. Is that a good country for timothy, grass and clover ?-I could not say that;.
I do not think that any of the artificial grasses are grown there.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Not to any extent ?---No ; in fact real farming has hardly commenced in that

territory.

Q. Do you know of any mineral lands along the line of route you have passed
over, further than the coal you have just described ?--I am informed by my men that
they have found iron, but I could not personally say that this is the case.

Q. Is it near any coal ?--They are not a very long distance apart.

Q. It has not been developed yet ?-.-No.

Q. And you do not know anything about it, of course ?-No.

By Mr. White (Renfrew) :-
Q. Iron is found there in that vicinity ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. On the Saskatchwan ?--Yes; but it will take a long time to develope it.

Mr. White:--This supply of iron will be a good thing for that country, if-
coal is situated in the vicinity of the iron. I do not see any reason wby, if this be
the case, that country could not be supplied with it from there.

Mr. Chairman:-If we had a deposit of coal within a few miles of this city,,
our iron would be valuable. That is the only drawback, as iron is of little value-
unless there is coal in the immedate locality.

Mr. White :--The ore in the county of Ottawa makes splendid iron; if we had.
coal there would be no difficulty in developing it.

COL. DENNIS' EVIDENCE.

THE LAND SYSTEM OF MANITOBA AND NORTH-WEST.

WEDNEsDAY, 18th April, 1817

Colonell.DENNIs appeared before the Committee.

Q. Would you state you state your name and officiai position ?-John Stoughton.
Dennis, Surveyor General of Dominion Lands.

Q. Have you often been in Manitoba, and are you well acquainted with that.
Province ?-Yes; I have visited the Province several times, and. have -a. good. know--
ledge of it.
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Q. Would you be kind enough to give the Committee a synopsis of the Govern.
ment policy respecting the sale and settlement of Dominion Lands ?-The readiest
way to do that, Mr. Chairman, would be to refêr you to the synopsis as published in
.Spence's pamphlet on the North-West Territories, a copy of which I beg to hand
you.

Q. It is not the Act itself ?-No; it is the policy of the Dominion Lands con.
densed.

Q. Do you think it would be requisite to embody this with our report ?-
Decidedly so. I think it of much importance.

[ The synopsis referred to foflows Col. Dennis' evidence.]

Q. Would you describe the different kinds of scrip available for the purpose of
acquiring Dominion Lands ?-There are three kinds of scrip,

1. The certificates issued to soldiers for military services performed to the
Dominion-in other words, Military Bounty Land Warrants.

2. Similar certificates are issued by the authority of law for services rendered
to the Government in the North-West Mounted Police.

These two certificates, if located by the owner, may only be entered in quarter
sections of land, 160 acres, intact.

A number of these warrants, however, may be acquired by any individual and
may be used to pay for land in the same way as cash.

Both military and police warrants may be purchased and are assignable, and
whoever holds them for the time being, under a proper form of assignment, can
exercise full ownership over them, either in the locating or paying for land ; but the
first assignment from the soldier or policeman, as the case may be, must be endorsed
on the back of the warrant.

No affidavit is necessary where the assignment is endorsed, but the- execution of
the assignment must be witnessed, either by a Commissioner for taking affidavits or
by a Justice of the Peace.

Any subsequent assignment may be upon a separate paper, but must be regularly
attested before a Commissioner, and acoompany the warrant in its transmission to
the Lund Office.

3. The third kind of scrip is that issued to the half-breed heads of families and
to old settlers in the Province, under recent Acts.

A claim against the Government for lands may, by law, be committed by an
issue of scrip which would be in form similar to that issued to the Hlalf-breed heads
of families and old settlers before mentioned.

This scrip is a personalty, and there is no assignment thereof necessary to
transfer the ownership. The bearer for the time being is held to be the owner, and
we accept it in the Dominion Lands Office, in payment for Dominion lands, the
same as cash.

Q. Are the Dominion lands situate in the Northwest ?-Yes, Manitoba, Kee-
watin, and the North-West Territories.

Q. Do I understand you rightly when you state that in the transfer of a Military
Bounty Land Warrant by the soldiers to another party, the assignment must be Ofl
the back of the warrant ?-Yes ; that is, the first transfer from the soldier or warran-
tee, himself ; the assignment, in such case, only requiring to be witnessed by"a Coin-
missioner for taking affidavits or a Justioe of the Peace. Any subsequent assign-
ment, however, must be in proper legal form, and be attested before a Commissionler
ir taking affidavits.

Q. Is scrip available for the purchase of lands, part of the 1,400,000 acres of
land set apart y law for Half-breed children in Manitoba ?-It is not. The land 8e
apart for Ialf-breeds, under the Manitoba Act, waz -n absolute grant to the childre'
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of half-breed heads of families. The moment a patent issues to one of these Half-
breeds, the land becomes his, or her, private property, to all intents and purposes,
and, in case of a sale, the seller is not bound to take scrip, which is only redeemable
in our own lands.

Q. Are there any fees chargeable for the issue of patents to the Half-breeds ?-
No; there are no fees charged for the issue of any patents for Dominion lands.

Q. Do you think that the retaining of these lands until the Half-breed minors
arrive of age would have a tendency to retard settlement in the Province ?-I do.

Q. Would it not be advisable to have trustees appointed, and to have the landa
vested in them, so that they could dispose of the lands in the interests and for the.
benefit of the minors ?-If such an arrangement could be made, I think it would be
greatly to the advantage af the country generally, and I may say that in a majority
of cases, it would also be to the advantage of the recipients themselves. There is a
large area of magnificent land, which, unless some arrangements of the kind is
made, will be locked up for years.

Q. Is it true, as reported, that the ingoing settlers have to go beyond these
reserves in order to obtain lands for homesteads ?-Yes.

Q. Have many patents been issued to the half-breeds for the lands within their
reserves ?-There are about 150 patents at the present time awaiting signature, but
none have, as yet, issued. The first returns only came down about a week ago from
the Winnipeg Lands Office. Probably none of these patents will issue until after the
close of the present session of Parliament. The returns are now coming in rapidly,
and the probability is that the whole of the patents for the claimants over eighteen
will be issued within a few months hence.

Q. Can you form any idea of the number of these patents to be issued ?-I should
say that there will be in the vicinity of two thousand.

Q. Do you imagine that these parties, on receiving their patents, will readily
dispose of the lands ?-I think that of those Half-breeds over eighteen years who-
obtain their patents now, probably sixty per cent. have either already disposed of
their claims, or will disose of them on a suitable opportunity offering. Of those
who have already sold their claims, many will carry out their agreements, and will
complete the transfer of their lands to the purchasers at prices ranging from $30 to
$80 for the grant of 240 acres. After the issue of the patents, those who wish to
dispose of their lands will probably selVfor from $120 to $200.

Q. Do you think that many of these claims have been disposed of oonditionally ?
-I think very many have sold, accepting monieseand giving assignments.

Q. Are the assignments from minors considered legal -- I mean those minors who
have obtained their patents on arriving at the age of eighteen ?-Purchasers must
take their chances of that. I take it that the law of the Province would not recog-
mize an assignment made by a person who may be under the full age of twenty-one
years.

Q. What proportion of land is taken up, as compared with the whole area of the
Province of Manitoba, and iîs the land remaining for sale and settlement as good in
quality as that already appropriated ?-I presume you refer to the extent of land
that is at present tied up in the shape of reserves.

The railway beit, that is, the belt of twenty miles on each side of the line of the
Canadian Pacifie Railway, within the limits of the Province, comprises a very large
extent of good land, but these lands, it is hoped, are only temporarily tied up. Of
the 1,400,000 acres set apart for the Half-breeds, probably 1,200 of the allotmeats will
COme into the market within a year or two. The period for which the remainder of
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the lands belonging to minors will be tied up will depend greatly upon whether steps
be taken to appoint trustees who would be able to make sales, or upon such other
measure as the Government might see fit to adopt, with the view of bringing thes0
lands into the market.

The only other Reserves in the Province are those of the Mennonites, which are
rapidly filling up. There is still a very considerable extent of excellent land in the
Province now available for settlement, but it can easily be understood that people
-who have been going into the Province for the last four or five years have selected
the most favourable locations, and, consequently, the most of the good land in those
localities has been taken up. The lands remaining, although generally desirable, are
not so conveniently situated.

Q. What is the total acreage of Manitoba ?-The Province contains nearly nine
millions of acres.

Q. How much land is contained in the Railway Reserve ?-About 1,900,000
acres.

Q. How much land in the Mennonite townships ?-About 500,000 acres.

Q. How much is taken up by the Hludson's Bay Conpany's one-twentieth ?-
About 430,000, acres.

Q. How nuch is granted for school purposes ?-Two whole sections, or 1,280
acres, being sections 11 and 29 in each township, are, by law, dedicated throughout
the whole North-West for educational purposes, and the grant amounts, in Manitoba,
to 400,000 acres.

Q. In what part of Manitoba will be found the grcatest quantity of land avail-
able for settlement ?-Principally in the west and south-west.

Q. How many miles of railway have been located in the Province ?-About 158
'altogether ; the main line of the Canada Pacific Rail way about 77, and the Pembina
Branch about 81 miles.

Q. In laying out the Province for settlement, have road allowances been set
apart the same as in Ontario, or have no roads been left in accordance with the
American system ?-Road allowances are laid out on the ground in the townships in
Manitoba which correspond to concessions and side roads in Ontario and Quebec.
Each section or square mile there is surrounded by an avenue of 99 feet, or a chaim
and a half, in width, resulting in a magnificent dedication to the public for highways.

Q. How many townships are there in the Province ?-About 360.
Q. What are the relative areas of Keewatin and Manitoba ?-Keewatin com-

prises,,in round figures, some 180,000 square miles; Manitoba about 14,000 square
miles.

Q. Over what part of the North-West Territories does the Hudson's Bay Com-
lpany's one-twentieth extend ?-Over what is known as the " Fertile Belt," that is to
say, bounded on the west by the Rocky Mountains, on the north by the North
Saskatchewan, on the east by Lake Winnipeg and the Lake of the Woods, and 01a
the south by the 49th parallel of north latitude or the international boundary.

Q. Are any of the lands fronting on the main river in Manitoba available for
settlement ?-None, with the exception of lands on the Assiniboine River, above
Prairie Portage. As a rule, the lands on the Red River and Assiniboine River wOle
laid out and settled upon, previous to the transfer, in narrow frontages, running
back two miles, ealled the " Settlement Belt," and the township lands available for
sale and settlement lie outside of this Bolt. There are many unoccupied lots in the
Settlement Bolt, but people are not allowed to enter them, as they are considered tO

194

40. ictonia A. 18jg



40 Victoria Appendix (No. 6.) A. 1877

possess a special value. The intention is, shortly, to offer the unoccupied lots
belonging to the Government, in the Settlement Belt, atpublic auction, at an upset
price, with conditions of actual settlement upon the land.

(Synopsis referred to in Colonel Dennis' Evidence.)

PROVISIONS RESPECTING DOMINION PUBLIC LANDS, HOMESTEAD RIGHTS, AND
FOREST TREE AGRICULTURE.

HOMIEsTEAD RIGHTS.

All persons interested in obtaining homestead grants or purchasing Dominion
lands will give attention to the following provisions respecting the public lands of'
the Dominion:-

Unappropriated Dominion lands, the surveys of which have been duly made and
confirmed, shall, except as otherwise hereinafter provided, be open for parchase at
the rate of one dollar per acre; but no such purchase of more than a section, or six
hundred and forty acres, shall be made by the same person, provided that whenever
so ordered by the Minister of the Interior, such unoccupied lands as may be deeme.
by him expedient from time to time may be withdrawn from ordinary sale or settle-
ment. and offered at public sale (of which sale due and sufficient notice will be given)
at the upset price of one dollar per acre, and sold to the highest bidder.

Payment for lands purchased in the ordinary manner shall be made in cash,
except in the case of payment by scrip or in military bounty warrants as provided
by law.

Any person, male or female, who is the sole head of a family, or any male who
has attained the age of eighteen years, shall be entitled to be entered for one quarter-
section or a less quantity of unappropriated Dominion lands, for the purpose of
receiving a homestead right in respect thereof.

The entry of a person for a homestead right shall entitle him to receive, at the-
samne time therewith, an entry for any adjoining quarter section then unclaimed, and
such entry shall entitle such person to take and hold possession of and cultivate such
quarter-section in addition to his homestead, but not to cut wooI thereon for sale or
barter; and at the expiration of the period of three years, or upon the sooner
obtaining a patent for the homestead, under the fifteenth sub-section of section thirty-
three of the " Dominion Lands Act," shall entitle him to pre-emption of the said
adjoining quarter-section at the Government price of one dollar per acre; but the
right to claim such pre-emption shall cease and be forfeited, together with all
improvements on the land, 3upon any forfeit of the homestead right under the
Dominion Lands Act.

When two or more persons have settled on and seek to obtain a title to the
6alne land, the homestead right shall be in him who made the first settlement.

Every persoâ claiming a homestead right on surveyed land must, previously-
to settlement on such land, be duly entered thereof with the local agent within whose
D}istrict such land may bo situate; but in the case of a claim from actual settlement
I then unsurveyed lands, the claimant must file such application within three
nonths after due notice has been received at the Land Office of such land having
beni Surveyed and the survey thereof confirmed; and proof of settlement and
imuprovement shall be made to the Local Agent at the time of filing such application.

hA person applying for leave to be entered for lands with a view of securinga

holestead right therein, must make application to the Local Agent (Form B.), that
e is over eighteen years of age, that ha has not previously obtained a homestead

lInder the provisions of the Dominion Lands Act; that the land in question belong
to the class open for hoxmestead entry; that there is no person residing or having
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improvements thereon ; and that his application is made for his exclusive use and
benefit and with the intention to reside upon and cultivate the said lands.

Upon making this affidavit and filing it with the Local Agent (and on payment
to him of an office fee of ten dollars--for which he shall receive a receipt from the
Agent) he shall be permitted to enter the land specified in the application.

No patent shall be granted for the land until the expiration of three years from
the time of entering into possession of it exceptas hereinafter provided.

At the expiration of three years the settler or his widow, her heirs or devisees
-or if the settler leaves no widow, bis heirs or devisees-upon proof to the satisfac-
tion of the Local Agent that he or his widow, or his or her representatives as afore-
said, or some of them, have (except in the case of entry upon contiguous lands as
hereinbefore provided) resided upon and cultivated the land for the three years next
after the filing of the affidavit for entry, or in the case of a settler on unsurveyed
land, who may, upon the same being surveyed, have filed his application¡ as provided
in sub-section five, upon proof as aforesaid, that he or his widow, or bis or their
representatives, as aforesaid, or some of them, have resided upon and cultivated the
iand for the three years next preceding the application for patent, shall be entitled
to a patent for the land, provided such claimant is then a subject of Her Majesty by
birth or naturalization.

Provided always, that the right of the claimant to obtain a patent under the
said sub-section as amended shall be subject to the provisions of section fifteen herein

lastly quoted.
Provided further, that in case of settlements being formed of immigrants in

eommunities (such, for instance, as as those of Mennonites or Icelanders), the
Minister of the Interior may vary or waive, in his discretion, the foregoing require-
ments as to residence and cultivation on each separate quarter-section entered as a
homestead.

When both parents die, without having devised the land, and leaving a child or
children under age, it shall be lawful for the executor (if any) of the last surviving
parent, or the guardian or guardians of such child or children, with the approval of
a Judge of a Superior Court of the Province or Territory in which the lands lie, te
sell the lands for i lie benefit of the infant or infants, but for no other purpose; and
the purchaser in suech case shall receive a patent for the lands so purchased.

The title to iands shall remain in the Crown until the issue of the patent
therefor; and such iands shall not be liable to be taken in execution before the issue
of the patent.

In case it is proved to the satisfaction of the Minister of the Interior that the
settler bas voluntai ly relinquished his claim, or has been absent from the land
entered by him for iore than six momths in any one year without leave of absence
from the Minister os the Interior, then the right to such land shall be liable to for-
feiture, and may be oancelled by the said Minister; and the settler so relinquishing
or abandoning his claim shall not be permitted to make more than a second entry.

Any person who lias availed himself of the foregoing provisions may, before the
expiration of the tii ce years, obtain a patent for the land entered upon by him,
including the wood lot, if any, appertaining to the same as hereinafter provided, on
paying the Government price thereo, at the date of entry, and making proof of
settlement and cultivai ion for not les than twelve months from the date of entry.

Proof of actual settlement and «uItivation shall be made by affidavit of the
claimant before the Local Agent, eorroborated on oath by two eredible witneses.

The Minister of the Interior may at any time order an inspection of any home-
stead or homesteads in referenoe to which there may be reason to believe the fore-
going provisions, as rer ards settlement and eultivation, have not been or are not
being carried out, and n ay, on a report of the facta cancel the entry of such home-
stead or homesteads; and in the case of a oancelled homestead, with or withut
improvements thereon, tbe same shaH not be considered as of right open for fresh
entry, but may be held for sale of the land and of the improvements, or of the
improvements thereon, in connection with a fresh homestead entry thereof; at the
discretion of the Minister of the Interior.
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Ail assigrments and transfers of homestead rights before the issue of the patent
shall be nuli and void, and shall be deemed evidence of abandonient of the right ;
and the person so assigning or transferring shall not be permitted to make a second
entry.

Any person who may have obtained a homest ead entry shall be considered, unless
and until such entry be cancelled, as having an exclusive right to the land so entered
as against any other person or persons whomsoever, and may bring and maintain
action for trespass committed on the said land or any part thereof.

The provisions relating to homesteads shall only apply to agricultural lands;
that is to say, they shall not be held to apply to lands set apart as timber limits, or
as bay lands, or to lands valuable for stone or marble quarries, or to those having
water-power thereon which may be useful for driving rnachinery.

Any homestead claimant who, previous to the issue of the patent, shall sell any
of the timber on his claim or on the wood lot appertaining to bis claim, to saw mill
proprietors or to any other than settlers for their own private use, shall be guilty of
trespass, and nay be prosecuted therefor before a Justice of the Peace ; and upon con-
viction thereof shall be subject to a fine or imprisonment, or both; and further, such
person shall forfeit bis claim absolutely.

If any person or persons undertake to settle any of the public lands of the
Dominion free of expense to the Government, in the proportion of one family to
each alternate quarter-section, or not less than sixty-fourfamilies in anyone township,
under the homestead provisions of the Act hereby amended, the Governor in Coun-
cil may withdraw any such township from public sale and general settlement, and
may, if he thinks proper, having reference to the settlement so affected and to the
expeise incurred by such person or persons in procuring the same, order the sale of
any other and additional lands in such township to such person or persons, at a
redueed price, and may make all necessary conditions and agreements for carrying
the same into effect.

The expenses, or any part thereof, incurred by any person or persons, for the
passage money or subsistence in bringing out an immigrant, or for aid in erecting
buildings on the homestead, or in providing farm implements or seed for such immi-
grants, may, if so agreed upon by the parties, be made a charge on the homestead of
such immigrant; and in case of such immigrant attempting to evade such liability
by obtainng a homestead entry outside of the land withdrawn under the provisions
of the next preceding section, then and in such case the expenso incurred on behalf
Of such immigrant as above, shall become a charge on the homestead so entered,which, with interest thereon, must be satisfied before a patent shall issue for the
land; provided as follows:--

(a.) That the sum or sums charged for the passage money and subsistence of
such imigrant shall not be in excess of the actual cost of the same as proved to the
satisfaction of the Minister of the Interior;

(b.) That an acknowledgement by such immigrant of the debt so incurrel shall
have been fyled in the Dominion Lands Office;

(c.) That in no case shall the charge for principal moneys advanced against
such homestead exceed in amount the sum of two hundred dollars;

(d.) That no greater rate of interest than six per cent. per annum shall b
charged on the debt so ineurred by such immigrant.

FOREST TREE CULTURE.

Any person, male or female, being a subject of Her Majesty by birth or naturali
Zation, and having attained the age of nineteen years, shall be entered for one quarter-
section or less quantity of' unappropriated Dominion lands as a claim for forest tree
Plailting.

ti.gApplication for such entry shall be made (Form F) for the purpose of cultiva-
ir forest trees thereon, a'nd the applicant shall make an affidavit (Form G) that he

(r sie is over eighteen years of age, that hEt or she bas not previously obtained an
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.entry of land for forest trec culture, the extent of which, added to that now applied
for, will exceed in all one hundred ard sixty acres; that the land is open prairie and
without timber, and is unoccupied and unclaimed and belongs to the class open
for entry for tree culture; and that the application is made for bis or her exclusive
use and benefit.

The applicant shall pay at the time of applying, an office fee of ten dollars, for
which he or she shall receivea receipt and also a certificate of entry, and shall there-
upon be entitled to enter into possession of the land.

No patent shall issue for the land so entered until the expiration of six years
froin the date of entering into possession thereof, and any assignment of such land
shall be nuil and void unless permission to make the same shall have been previously
obtained from the Minister of the Interior.

At the expiration of six years the persons who obtained the entry, or if not
living, bis or ber legal representative or assigns shall receive a patent for the land
so entered on proof to the satisfaction of the Local Agent as follows:-

1. That eight acres of the land entered had been broken and prepared for
tree planting within one year after entry, an eqal quantity during the second year,
and sixteen additional acres within the third year after such date.

2. That eight acres of the land entered had been planted with forest trees
during the second year, an equal quantity during the third year, and sixteen addi-
tional acres within four years from the date of entry, the trees so planted being not
less than twelve feet apart each way.

3. That the above area-that is to say, one-fifth of the land-has for the last two
years of the term, been planted with timber, and that the latter bas been regularly
and well cultivated and protected from the time of planting; provided that in cases
where the land entered is less in extent than one quarter-section, or one hundred
and sixty acres, then the respective areas required to be broken and planted under
this and the two next preceding subsections shall be proportionately less in extent.

If at any time within the period of six years as above, the claimant fails to do
the breaking up or planting. or either, as required by this Act or any part thereof,
or fails to cultivate. protect and keep in good condition such timber, then and upon
such event the land entered shall be liable to forfeiture in the discretion of the Minis-
ter of the Interior, and may be dealt with in the sanie manner as homesteads which
may have been cancelled for non-compliance with the law.

Provided that no person who may have obtained pre-emption entry of a quarter-
section of land in addition to bis homestead entry under the provisions of sub-section
one of section thirty-three of the said "Dominion Lands Act," as amended by the Act
of 1874 and this Act, shall have the right to enter a third quarter-section as a tree
planting claim; but such person, if resident upon bis homestead, may have the option
of changing the pre-emption entry of the quarter section or of a less quantity of such
quarter section for one under the foregoing provisions, and, on fulfilling the prelimi-
nary conditions as to affidavit and fee, may receive a certificate for such quarter-
section or for sncb portion thereof as may have been embraced in the application, and
thereupon the land included in such change of entry shall become subject in al,
respects to the provisions of this Act relating to tree-planting.

Any person who may have been entered for a tree planting claim under the fore-
going provisions, and whose right may not have been forfeited for non-compliance
with the provisions thereof, shahl have the same rights of possession, and to eject
trespassers from the land entered by him, as are given to persons on homesteads;
and the title to land entered for a tree plan ting claim shall remain in the Government
until the issue of a patent therefor, and such land shall not be liable to be taken il
execution before the issue of the patent.

For further information apply to
0DoNALD CODD,

Agent of/Dominion Lands, Winnipeg.
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LETTERS SUBMITTED TO TUE COMMITTEE.

The following letters were received by the Committee and ordered to be em-
bodied in the Report:-

THE ALGOMA DISTRICT, A FIELD FOR IMMIGRATION.

SAULT STE. MARIE,
DISTRICT oF ALGOMA, ONT.,

12th March, 1877.
SIR,-We beg respeetfully to submit, for the information of your honourable,

Committce, a short st aiment showing some of the advantages and inducements the
District of Algoma of fars for settlement. We speak more particularly of that portion
of the District im mediately under our own observation, namely, the country lying
between Batchewana Bay on Lake Superior, and the Bruce Mines on Lake Huron,
Icaving it to the residents of other portions to speak for themselves; they are best
qualified to do so.

This part of Algoma is made up of rocky ranges (containing copper and iron
cres, silver, lead, &c.,') alternating with agricultural lands. We will own that, taking
out these mining ranges, bad swamps, and broken and stony sections, that not more
than one-half of the unsold lands are likely to be settled at the present time; but in
the future, when the large capital required to open up a miniug country can be ob-
tained, then evcry acre of difficult swamp, every acre of rugged, broken land, will be
settled on, owing to the great advantage the cash markets of the mines will be to the
settlers around them. There can be little or no doubt but this part of Algoma will
eventually becojme a rich mining country. Enough is already known to fully support
this assertion. Large quantities of copper ore and ingot copper have been shipped
to England and the United States from the Bruce and Wellington mines. James
Stobie, Esq., (an energetic, persevering explorer) is now opening an iron deposit
about nine miles from the Bruce mines; and Colin Campbell, Esq., is working a
silver Iode about twelve miles from Sault Ste. Marie. Numerous other ]odes are
known, that reaain untried, owing to the want of money, and at this present time it
is impossible to induce the investment of money in mining enterprises.

The timbe: in this section consists of maple, black and white birch, oak, elm,
cedar, pine, hemilock, tamarac, balsam, spruce, &c. The country is beautifully watered
with rivers and streams, and contains numerous picturesque inland lakes. The rivers,
lakes and larger streams abound with fish. A road from Sault Ste. Marie to Batche-
wana will, we have every reason to believe, be commenced during the coming sum-
mer. This road will enable intending settlers without difficulty to select their lands
from the tne tracts through which said road will run.

Terms on which Lands can be Obtained.
Cr)wn Lands in certain Townships can be taken as " Fre Grants," with settle-

ment dluties; or can be purchased without settlement duties for $1 per acre.
Crown Lands in other Townships (not " Free Grant,") land is 20c. per acre,

with settlement duties ; or $1 per acre without settlement duties.
ining locations on unsurveyed Crown tracts can be purchased for $1 per acre,

purchaser paying for survey. Indian Lands are 50 cents per acre in ail townships
except the Township of Laird, where the prices are $1, 75 ets. and 50 ets. per acre.
Mining locations on unsurveyed Indian lands are $1.50 per acre, purchaser paying
for su vey.

Tie " Agricultural Society of the District of Algoma " was established in the
year 1868. In this year $250 were subscrib2d to enable the Society to draw the /

'Govern ment grant of $700, and the first exhibition was held at Sault Ste. Marie, in a
rlented building, in October, 1868, at which exhibition preiiums to the amount of
4247.5o were awarded.

Durinag the year 1869 the Society purchased an acre of ground in the Town of
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Sault Ste. Marie, on which they crected a spacious hall 60 feet by 60 feet, and in this
hall was held the second exhibition in October, 1869, at which $261.65 was paid in
prizes for animals, grain, roots, dairy produce, ploughing matches, &c.

The Society continued improving, but altbough the number of members had
/greatly increased, still remained without branch societies until 1875, when the

"Township of Howland Agricultural Society " was established on Manitoulin Island,
:and there are now three branch societies. The interest in agricultural matters and
stock r-aising increases every day.

Since its establishment in 1868, our Society bas held nine annual exhibitions,
seven annual ploughing matches, three annual corpetitions for special prizes in
wheat-growing, and bas paid, since 1868, $2,754 for prizes, acquiring also during that
time property in lands buildings, &c., to the value of $2,363, leaving a cash credit
balance at this present time.

With regard to the capabilities of Algoma as a producing country, and its adapt-
:ability as a home for immigrants, we would state that whcat, oats, barley, buck-
wheat, &c., are most successfully grown, and tbat the root crops of Algoma cannot be
surpassed by those of any other part of the Dominion (our potatoes are unequalled).
This bas been frequently assented to by practical agriculturists from Western
Ontario, who had visited our exhibitions. As a grazing and stock-raising country,
Algoma possesses a great advantage in having large tracts of unenclosed indigenous
grasses, and many years of experience have shown that it would be difficult to beat
us as a hay and pasture country. To speak of our wheat crops particularly-a
,subject which is generally interesting to every agriculturist---we Vould remark, that
in every case which has come under the notice of the judges of this Society, during
three years of actual inspection of growing crops, the decision bas been to the effet
that wieat can be grown here successfully ; and now that we have flour mills, it
will be g own on larger areas than in former years. In the eastern part of Algoma,
Indian corn is one of the staple products.

That crops and stock can be raised remuneratively is proved by the fact, that
every settler of industrious habits bas prospered, even although, in some instances;
labouring under the disadvantage of want of practical experience.

Throughout Algoma, all the smaller fruits, raspberries, strawberries, currants,
gooseberries, plums, &c., are iudigenous to the country, and the cultivated varieties,
thrive as well, and are as productive here as in any other part of the Province.
Experiments with the apple and pear, in the section betveen Batchewana and Bruce
-Mines, have up to the present time been limited, but many results are most encourag-
ing, particularly the experiments of Thomas McCulloch, Esq., J.P., Township of
Korah, the Vice-President of this Society.

The district of Algoma, is, at many points, plentifully supplied with pine, and
contains many first-class saw-mills.

We must not leave without some slight notice, the very valuable fisheries that
extend along the whole coast line of Algoma, being a distance of some thirteen
hundred miles, when including the coast lines of the islands of Manitoulin and St.
Joseph, and Cockburn Island.

Algoma is very easy of access during the season of navigation, as first-class
steamers plies between Collingwood, Owen Sound, Detroit, Windsor, Sarnia, Goderich,
Kincardine, Port Elgin, Southampton; and from this part of the district we have
frequent communication with Chicago, and more than daily opportunities of connect-
ing (either by North or South Shore of Lake Superior) with the Ainerican Northern
Pacific Railroad at Duluth. During the winter the trip from Sault Ste. Marie to
Windsor, Ont., (vid United States) is sometimes made in three days.

The Americans will soon be engage- completing railroad connection between
Sault Ste Marie, U.S., and the American Northern Pacifie Railroad at Duluth; and
we trust our Sault Ste. Marie will soon be connected with the Canadian railroads
east. When this is don e, a very moderately fast train will run from Sault Ste. Marie to
Ottawa, in fourteen or fifteen hours; the greater portion of this lino of connection
Las alreudy been surveyed.
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Mails from Sault Ste. MIJarie, from the East.

During season of navigation..................Eight per week.
do winter..................................Three do viá United States.
do do viá N. shore ofLakeHuron..Three per month.

We will close by saying that the climate of our section of the district of Algoma,
is not so severe as it is at Montreal, and during the greater portion of January and
February, the River St. Mary has been open, and the weather more like the early
commencement of spring than the depth of winter-the healthiness of our climate,
is beyond dispute.

We reman, Sir,

Your obedient servants,
HENRY J. M. SIMPSON, J.P.,

President Algoma Agricultural Society.

C. J. BAMPTON,
Secretary Algoma Agricultural Society.

To JAMES TRow, Esq., M.P.,
Chairman of the Committee on Immigration and Colonization,

House of Commons, Ottawa.

MANITOULIN ISLAND, A FIELD FOR IMMIGRATION.

INDIAN OFFICE, MANITOWANING,
MANITOULIN ISLAND, March 10, 1877.

SIR,-In reply to your request that I would furnish you with some information
about this island, its climate, productions and suitability for settlement, I beg to
transmit you a short description which I have prepared with a view of its being of
service to those seeking after land, and who may, perhaps, contemplates making
their homes on this island.

A short sketch of its early history may not be out of place here, compiled from
reports and records in this office.

The Manitoulin Island, formerly exclusively occupied by the Chippewa and
Ottawa Indians, was, with many other islands in Lake Huron, surrendered by them
in 1836, with the view of aiding the intention of Lieutenant-Governor Sir Francis
Bondhead, who proposed to collect on the Manitoulin Island, not only the wandering
bands of the north shore, but also the tribes settled in all parts of Upper Canada.

The scheme, however, was practically a failure, the only Indians who availed
themselves of the offer being from the United States, and from the north shores of
Lakes Superior and Huron.

In 1835 the number of Indians living on the island was 80; in 1837, 268; and
in 1839 they numbered 822. The number now living on the island is 1,500.

In 1836 the buildings for the Indian establishment at Manitowaning were com-
menced, and in 1838 were occupied by the officer of the department. That year the
first white men wintered upon the island.

In 1862 a treaty was made with the Indians, by which all that part of the island
lying west of Manitowaning Bay was surrendered (with the exception of certain
Indian reserves), the land to be sold for the benefit of the Indians. The land was
Placed in the market in 1866 at fifty cents per acre, but few settlers, however, located
on the island, and in 1867, with a view to induce settlement, the price was reduced to
twenty cents per acre, but was again advanced to fifty cents in 1870, at which price it
has continued ever since.
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Population.-At the close of the year 1876 the white population was estimated at
.3,500, making the entire population of the island, including Indians, about 5,000.

Those settlers who have made this island their home and given its lands a fairtrial are unanimous in their expressions of content and satisfaction, and the largelyincreased settlement that has taken place during the last three years is not owing to
any efforts made by advertising or otherwise to bring the island into notice, but is
mainly owing to the cheering accounts of prosperity and progress which have been
transmitted by the settlers to old friends and former neighbours. This speaks volumes
in favor of the island and the advantages it offers to those who desire to make a home
for themselves and families within its borders.

Townships. -The surveyed townships are eleven in number, as follows :--low-
land, Bidwell, Billings, Assiginack, Carnarvon, Allan, Tetikummah, Sandfield, Gor-
don, and Campbell.

Soil.-The land for sale in the surveyed townships, about 210,000 acres, may be
classified as :-

Upland, which has usually a fine growth of maple, bircb, elm, beech, basswood
oak, ironwood, pine, &c.; this land varies from sandy loam to stiff clay; it yields
abundant crops and being easily cleared, is most in request by settlers. It may be
remarked that much of the fertility of the land may be ascribed to the li-mestone for-
mation of the island, the decomposition of which continually enriches the soil and
renews its productiveness

Burnt land has had the timber destroyed by the fires which have ravaged the
island, and in many places the surface or vegetable soil has also been burned, leaving
generally a rather stiff clay, which, when properly tilled, yields good crops. This
land is easily brought into cultivation, requiring only to be logged and fenced, and
for this reason is sonetimes preferred by new settlers.

Swamp Land.-This is generally timbered with cedar, black ash, spruce, balsam,
&c., and although more difficult to clear than upland, is considered by good judges to
be the most valuable land on the island, and has proved, when brouglit into cultiva-
tion, exceedingly productive; it also withstands drought bctter than other land.
There are numerous marshes or natural meadows of wild grass, which furnish
many of the settlers with food for their stock.

Stony Land.-A large quantity of land must come under this classification,
probably one-third of the entire surface of the surveyed townships, and is of but very
little value, consisting of bare rock, or rock with but a trifling covering of soil, too
shallow to be fit for cultivation.

Productions.-Wheat, both fall and spring, of excellent quality, is raised, and
yields largely. The first prize for wheat at the District Agricultural Show, at Sault
Ste. Marie, for 1876, was taken by this island.

Pease are also extensively cultivated, and yield abundantly, and are free from
defects by being worm eaten; the sample raised on this island compares favourably
with that grown on the main land.

Barley of excellent quality and bright colour is raised, and succeeds well.
Oats, buckwheat, &c., also do well, and yield abundantly.
Potatoes are extensively cultivated, and generally are of excellent quality. The

potatoe bug not yet having effected a lodgment on the island.
Turnips succeed well, especially in bush land ; the yield is enormous.
Beets and all garden vegetables do wonderfully well. Tomatoes and melons

ripen in the open air. The exemption from summer frost being one of the marked
features of the climate of the island.

Cattle and sheep roam at large, and find abundant and highly nutricious pasture
on the burnt land, and in the fall are taken home in fine condition.

Fruits.-The island abounds with wild fruits, apples, pliims, cherries, raspberries,
strawberries, gooseberries, grapes, &c.; and, although the settlement has been s0
recent that but little grafted fruit has been planted sufficiently long to come into
-bearing, the young orchards have already a thrifty appearance, and promise well.

Bugar.-Large quantities of maple sugar are made annually by the Indians and
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white settlers. Upwards of one hundred tons has frequently been exported in one
season.

Frice of Land and Conditions of Settlement.-The land is sold at fifty cents per
acre, subject to actual settlement. The first instalment (twenty cents per'acre), is
Payable at the time of purchase. The balance (thirty cents per acre), is payable in
three yearly instalments, with six per cent. interest.

A patent for the'land is issued to the settler without charge when the settlement
duties have been performed. These require, residence on the land for three years;
a substantial dwelling-house not less than 18 feet by 24 feet, to be built thereon; and
five acres for each hundred purchased to be cleared, fenced and cultivated.

Climate.-The climate is healthy, pleasant and bracing, the summer heats being
tempered by the breezes from the surrounding lake ; while in winter the cold,
although sometimes severe, is never intensely so; and the dry pleasant air and bright
clear sunshine, render it more enjoyable, and far more healthy than the more change-
able climate in the vicinity of Lake Ontario.

The only drawback of any importance to the enjoyment of the delightful summer
weather, is the pest of black fies and mosquitoes, which, from the middle of May to
the end of July, are exceedingly disagreeable to dwellers in the bush, and in the
neighbourbood of swamps. As the country becomes cleared up, it is expected that
this annoyance will rapidly decrease, and in a few years will have ceased to be trou-
blesome.

Roads have been constructed at the expense of the Indian Department,
between

Little Carrent and Sheguiandah......... ......... ............. 8 miles.
Sheguiandah and Manitowaning............................... 15
Manitowaning to Michael's Bay............................... 22
Michael's Bay to Providence Bay.............................. 10 "
Mudge Bay to Gore Bay........................................... 10

In addition to the above, many roads have been made by the settlers, especially
in those townships where municipalities have been formed.

Mills.-The Island contains five Grist Mills, viz.: Sheguiandah, Sandfield, Provi-
dence Bay, Kagawong and Gore Bay.

There are also six Saw Mills in operation, at Michael's Bay, Providence Bay,
Sandfield, Kagawong or Mudge Bay, Gore Bay and Little Current.

Churches:
At Little Current, 1 Episcopal, 1 Methodist.
Sheguiandah, 1 Episcopal, 1 Methodist.
Manitowaning, 1 Episcopal, 1 Methodist building.
Gore Bay, 1 Presbyterian Church.
Wikwemikong, 1 Roman Catholic.
West Bay, 1 Roman Catholic.
Sheslesqwaning, 1 Roman Catholie.
Wikwanikonysing, 1 Roman Catholic.
Alchitawaganing, 1 Roman Catholic.

Post Offices have been established at Manitowaning, Little Current, Sheguiandah,
Michael's Bay, Providence Bay, Kagawong, Gore Bay, Telekummato and Hilly
Grove.

Stores have been opened at Manitowaning, 3; Little Current, 4; Michael's Bay,
1; Providence Bay, 1; Kagawong, 1; Gore Bay, 2; West Bay, 1.
. Agricultural Societies.-Two Township Agricultural Societies have been formed,

viz: the Municipalities of HEowland and Assiginack.
Communications.-The best way to reach the Island during the season of naviga-

tion is be the local steamers which leave Owen Sound and Collingwood twice a week.
The steamers from those ports to Lake Superior call at Little Current only. Fifteen



hours after leaving Owen Sound or Collingwood, Manitowaning is reached, where the
Land Office is situated. Maps of the surveyed townships can be examined, and lists
of unsold land will be furnished upon application to the Indian Land Agent.

Trusting that the above may be of service to intending settlers,
I have the honour to be, Sir,

Your obedient servant,
JAS. C. PHIPP,

Indian Land Agent and Visiting Superintendent.

ST. JOSEPH ISLAND AND TOWNSHIPS OF PLUMMER.

BRUCE MINES, 21st March, 1877.
MY DEAR SIR,-A s you are a member of the Committee on Emigration and

Colonization, I feel much pleasure in laying before you the information required as
Crown Land Agent for St. Joseph Island and the Townships of Plummer, both places
situated near this place. I would first observe that this Island possesses all requests
bestowed by nature for settlement, well watered with living springs, with a fine
elevated scenery; it bas been opened up as a "Free Grant " since 1871, and from that
time to the present more or less have been settling thereon, so that I cannot say just
now the exact number of inhabitants, as there were quite a lot before the "Free
Grant " came into operation. The Island is about 30 miles long by 10 or 12 wide,
more or less. It is expected quite a number will be up next summer seeking land; at
the v est end of the Island a municipality is formed with a post office, John Richards,
Postmaster; on another part of the Island a school section bas been formed, and a
school-house erected, waiting until the navigation opened for a school teacher. As
this Island is on the high way to Lake Superior, numerous steamers and vessels pass
and repass more particularly on the south side. The land, taken as a general thing, is
pretty fair, and, like all other immense tracts of land, good and bad may be foukd.
The timber consists principally of maple, beech and cedar, a few pine may be seen
sparsely scattered on the Island not of very good quality. The Government have
granted a sum for making roads, and if a road should be made from one end of the
Island to the other, and the old claims of 1856 wiped off, I have no
doubt Fut in a few years this Island will form aun important part of
Algoma. The conditions of the Free Grants are very liberal for settlers; thle
head of a family with children under 18 years living with him, 200 acres are granted.
over that age 100 acres; it will be required of them to clear and have under cultiva-
tion two acres at least annually, to build a bouse 16 x 20 feet to live in, i.e. while you
can have one as large as you like, this is the minimum ; having continued improviflg,
at the end of five years your patent issues for the same, and it thus become your bona
fide property. Relative to the Township of Plummer, surveyed in 1873, embraciIlg
about "9,800 acres including water and patented mining locations, it is nearly all
taken up, I am happy to say, by a better class of settlers; some of them, the greater
partffrom below, whose families were getting too large for their respective farms, came
up hither determined to carve out a home in those new townships, bringing sOme
capital with them; that and other townships are surveyed into lots of about 320 acre
cach ; those applying for a " Free Grant " get the half of the lot, be it more or less
subjeet to same conditions. The timber in most abundance on those lands is maph.
birch and hemlock, very few pine and no beech. To the extreme of the boundary Of
.Plum mer an iron mine patented is now working with a gang of about 30 men, audit
is hoped next summer more extensive operations will be had. The copper mines at
the Wellington still continue in the same state of suspense, and, it is hoped, when the
manager Mr. Benjamin Plummer returns from Europe some arrangements may be
made to resume operations. We bave had during the past season nine different steam
boats, two hailing from Collint'wood, two from Windsor and three from Sarnia, ai,
destined for Lake Superior. Two smaller steamers which bail from Owen SOUd
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and only go as far as Sault St. Marie; those littie boats touch at Manitoulin, Byng
inlet, Thessalon and all other intermediate points. The distance from Collingwood to
the Bruce Mines is, I suppose, 250 or 300 miles, more or less, and froin Sarnia there is
not much difference; I do not know the exact arrangements of those boats for the
ensuing year, but heard that the Beatty and Windsor line had amalgamatod. I
always advise those who write up to me about land to come up and see for theinselves,
and let their eyes behold it and not anothers, and call at this office, and I always shall
feel happy to give them every information that lays in my power which they may
require on the subject.

I remain, mny Dear Sir,
Your obedient humble servant,

(Signed), JOHN BOWKER,
Crown Land Agent for St. Joseph Island and

Township of Plumnmer.
E. B. BORRON, Esq., M.P.,

Ottawa.

CRowN LAND AGENCY, NEAR BRUCE MINEs,

ALGoMA, March 22nd, 1877.

DEAR SIR,-In answer to your enquiry for information for the Committee on
Immigration and Colonization of the 2nd inst., as to what I think of the prospocts of
this district as a farming locality. I think an unanswerable reply in its favour will
be found in the fact of most of the land sold having been taken up by Ontario
farmers, whose farms below having been found too small for their rising families, and
rather than scatter them abroad have sold out, and moved either on to the Free
Grant, Plummer Township or Rose and Lefroy. Although attention has only been
directed to the locality less than two years, upwards of sixteen thousand acres have
been taken up in the two last named townships.

As you are aware, the land along the lake shore does not present a very inviting
appearance as a farming locality. Yet within one and a half or two miles of the
shore there is as good land as need be seen, in fact; I think you could hardly select a
half section (320 acres) that would not contain the making of a farm. What has held
it back a good deal has been having no roads cut into the townships, but the Ontario
Governnent gave us an instalment last year of four or five miles, and are going to
extend it this summer. As you say you want this for the information of intending
settlers, I may add that the Dominion Government surveyed a township on the Indian
reservation, east of Lefrov, last fall; this, I presume, will be open for settlement this
summer. There is also guing to be more townships surveyed adjoining Rose and I
believe west of Plummer this summer, not only finding work for those in need of it,
but opening up some splendid land where squatters are already in, and an iron
mine is being opened out by Mr. Stobie, employing about thirty men, so that on the
whole I may sately say this locality has got a start that before long will assume
greater proportions when better known. I am aware a misapprehension exists as to
the capabilities of the olimate, but anything that will grow east of us will prosper
here. and any man who means business need not be afraid of suiting himself except
he is too fastidions. I may add the land in Rose and Lefroy is twenty cents per acre
cash down, subject to actual settlement, but what any other lands will be that may
be brought into the market this or next summer I am unable to say.

Our woods are pretty well stocked with rabbits and partridge, and our rivers and
lakes with fish, but the carriboo are keeping further north since the settlers have
begun their chopping. I mnl Sir, truly yours,

(Signed) JNO. F. DAY. C.L.A.
t'- B. BORRoN Esq., M.P.
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INFORMATION FOR IMMIGRANTS.
ANsWERS TO QUESTIONS.

The following questions were prepared and circulated by the
different parts of the Dominion:-

1. Please give your name, business, and full post office address.

Committee in

[This question is especially intended for Immigrant settlers.J

2. If from the United Kingdom, please give the date of your settlement.in
Canada, and post office address before coming.

3. State your impressions from personal observation of the adaptability of your
district for successful settlement, giving the area of your Township or district, its
population, and its market facilities, either by rail, water or otherwise.

4. What time does the season usually open, so that ploughing and seeding can
be carried on ?

5. What kind of crops do you grow most extensively? State the usual yield per
acre, and what roots and vegetables do you raise successfully.

6. Do you consider your district adapted for the raising of stock, and how many
nonths in the year is it necessary to feed and keep stock under shelter?

7. What proportion of the district is timbered, and would you describe the
various kinds, and to what extent lumbering is carried on ?

S. Are the soil, chimate, and other natural advantages conducive to successful
farming, and what inducements are held out to tenant farmers and others of
moderate means to procure partially improved farms, and can you cite any instance
of individual success in this respect in your locality ?

9. What amount of means, in your opinion, ought an immigrant to have for
settlement in your district?

10. State generally any information of interest to intending immigrants, and
state the difficulties they would be likely to meet with in settlement in your district?

11. What kind of fish are caught in the rivers and lakes in your district, and is
there a plentiful supply ?

12. Are there any minerals and mines in your district, and to what extent axe
they developed ?

Answers to these questions were received from the following parties:-

ONTARIO.
COUNTY OF HASTINGS.

Name. Occupation. Po-t Offiee Address.

Ralph More Norman.........
Patrick Nuge4t................
Peter M. Gunter...........
J. R. Tait.................
James Clarke.......... .........
John Wilson....................
John Ray.......................
William Lake.............
Robert clarswell...............
J. W. Bennett ............
Dermot Kavanagh...... .....

Henry Bentley...........
Alexander Menzie.........
J. R. Hamilton..............
W. D. Parkhurst.............

Merchant and Farmer.................. .........
Weaver and Farmer.....................
Conveyancer, Reeve...... ....................
Crown Land Agent......................... ...
Grist and Saw Millowner........................
Division Court Clerk...........................
Postmaster and Farmer.........................

do do ..................... ....
Farmer..............................
Merchant...................................... .......
Storekeeper and Farmer, Reeve of Town-

ships of Dungannon and Faraday .........
Farmer... . ......................

do ..............................................
Clerk of Garlow and Mayo Townshipa......
Farmer....~...,.................... ...........

Millbridge.
Thanet.
St. Ola.
L'Amable.
Tork River.
L'Amable.
Glanmire.
Purdy.
Maynooth.

do

Umfraville.
Bronson.
Thanet.
Boulter.

do
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PROVISIONAL COUNTY OF HALIBURTON.

Name. Occupation. Post Office Address.

James Langton ............... General Merchant and Farmer.............. Minden.j
Charles James Bloomfield. Manager Canadian Land and Emigration

Company..........................

COUNTY OF RENFREW.

William S. Coleman..Merchant.........................Forester's Falls.
Robert Coburn..........Fae... r................. ........ .Pembroke,
A. T. Mansell..................do and Deputy Reeve ............. Westmeath.
Thomas Culbertson.......do................ .......... Douglas.
George Black ........ ... do ............................. Fenelon Fals.
Theophile Bellefeuille . d. ...... ....... ................ Petawawa.
George Sparling..........do.............. .................... Stafford.

COUNTY 0F PETERBOROUGH.

William iarte ......... Farmer .......... .....................................

COUNTY 0F BRUCE.

James Allen.............Far nerd ............ ................. Allenford.
Ludwick Spragg......... do ......... ,....................................Colpoy's Bay.

COUNTY 0F JOLIETTE.

Louis Levesque ......... Notary Publie and Farmer............. Ste. Melanie.
Josiah E. Page .... ... .. Fariner and Agent ....................... : it. Felix de Valois.
Jeanl Louis Martel .... Faimer and Blacksinith, Mayor........... St. Alhne
Rev. Joseph Bonin .... Curé.......................... .......... St. Emmelie de L'Energie.
Blugli Daly, J. P. ..... Fariner ....................................... Kildare.
Russeld Woods, n ........ do ............................... Rudstock.
John Shields ............... do........................................ St. Alphonse.
Louis Robitajîle............ do ................................... j St. Jean de Matha.
11YPolite Courellier........ do and Revenue Officer....... '**...J Joliette.

ido ...................... .......................... St. Ambroise de Kildare.

Geoarge Sprlin............... I

Octave Gauthier, dFo Fon- r
derville ................... do ....................................... 1 St. Côme.

COUNTY OFARGENTHUIL.

David lStamforth .......... Fariner ....................................... AYundel.
William Munro .......... Postinaster and Fariner ................. Antoinette.

.B.Filion ........... C...1rown Land Agent...................... Grenville.
oh Me..l....................... ..................... Stafr.

GWil Htle . . aer .... ............................. Ace.
Peter MeArthur.............. Postta iter and merchant..................Se Mle.
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ELECTORAL DISTRICT OF MUSKOKA.

Name. Occupation. Post Office Address.

Alexander Begg ........... Millowner... ........................ Beggsboro.
Turner Koyl.................... Contractor ...... .................
.James Sharpe......... ........ Inspector, Weights and Measures, and

Emigrant Agent.................. Gravenhurst.
John S. Scarlett............... Merchant........................................ .. .Huntsville.
John Doherty... ............. Farmer................................................. Uffington.
James Ashdown .............. Merchant and Postmaster............ . Ashdown
E. Sirett...... ......... Farmer ........ .................... do
Gordon M. Ewing...... ... Reeve of Monck Township, Farmer.......Ziska.
William Parker. ............. .do Stephenson do do .......* Utterson.
Aubrey White................ Wood Ranger for Crown Lands Depart-I

ment............................ Bracebridge.
William Davidson............ Farmer ......................... ................. Brackenrig.
Thomas Burgess............... Saw Millowner......... ............................. Bala.
James Tookey.................. Farmer.................................................. Bracebridge.
G. McEachern.................. Postmaster and Merehant........................ Spence.
W. H. Brown................... Saw Millowner and Farmer..................... Baysville.
William Tait............ Farmer ................................ .................. 3racebridge..
Benjamin H. Johnston...... Postmaster and Farmer.......................... IPort Carling.
John Fluker..................... Farmer....... ........................... Maganetawan.
William H. Brooks........ . do .................................................. Howsey's Rapids
S. G. Best........................ Crown Land Agent................................ Maganetawan.
Wm. Wilcock..................Farmer........................... Fielding.
Joseph A. Lalor............... Yeoman, Township Clerk and Treasurer.. Aspdin.
tSamuel & John Armstrong General Merchants, Contractors, &c........
John Dobbin.................... Merchant ............................... .............. Bracebridge.
Hamilton Fraser.............. Postmaster and Farmer.......................... Port Colborn.
Robert Ballantine............ Miller ........................................ ......... Grassmere.
Andrew Starrat............... Farmer................................................. Starrat.
John Beatty..................... do and Lumberer............................ Nipissingon.
R. N. ill........... ..... do............................. Huntsville.
Henry Jarvis.................... Yeomen............................ Emberson.

COUNTY OF VICTORIA.

Malcolm McLaren............ Hotel-keeper...................... Sheddeu.
John Feul........................ Farmer and Saw-millowner..,................Berry' Gren.
Adam Hastings ...... ........ Lumberer ............... ........................... Norland.
Alex. A. McLaughlin........ .......................................................... Shedden.
Albert Spring ................ Farmer ............................................ Mu. koka FaI.
William Hovey .........Farmer and Grocer............ ...... Rosedale.
Samuel Reagin, J. P ..... armer ......... ....................... ...... Cambray.

OOUNTY 0F PERTH.

Robert Joues............... Farmr................................. .. : mitheil.
John McDermott...... do . ................ _PalmerGeton.
Ebenezer Rutherford ........ Merha ................. ............................. mbak.
A. E. Ford....................... Practising Physian................ St. Mary'e.
Richard Cleland............... Farmer and Cheesemaker.............. Listowel.
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COUNTY OF MONTCALM.

Name. Occupation. Post Office Address.

William Copping. ...... Farmer...... ............................................ Rawdon.
Thomas McCarthy........ do ................................................. St. Julienne.
Michael Green.. ........... do ........... ,....... ............................. Chertsey.
Marcel Lepine ........... do ............. ..................... do
John G. Copping. do............... ................ do

COUNTY OF CHAMPLAIN.

Pierre George Beaudry..... Notary, Agent for Seigniories of Ste.1
Anne and St. Mathieu.......................... St. Anne de La Parade.

Narcisse Houle..... ........... Farmer and Revenue Officer........ ... ...... St. Narcisse.

COUNTY OF MASKINONGE.

Wilbrod Ferron, M.D...... Forest Overseer..................................... St. Paulin.
Joseph, Julien, sen......... Farmer and Mayor................................ do
J. M. Bayeur................... otary.............................. do

COUNTY OF OTTAWA.

John Little Aylwin.......... Farmer, Merchant and Postmaster........... Aylwin.
Louis Duhamel, M.P. P...... Doctor.............................. .................... Wright.
Joshua Ellard........... Merchant............................................... do

DISTRICT OF THREE RIVERS.

Pierre Neault.................. Farmer.................................................. St. Maience.
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PRINCE IDWARD ISLAND.

Name. Occupation. Post Office Address County or District

David Mutch..................... Farmer.................... South Rustico.......... Queen's.
Thomas M. Neill.... . .............. Justice of Peace and

Farmer.. ............. Alberton ........ . Prince
John McEachern................. Farmer and Currier..'Cherry Valley.. Queen'.
W illiam Brown ................ ............... .Esquire................... New Glasgow.......... do
Alexander Smith.......................... ..... Farmer, &c ....... Lot 20....................Prince.
James A. McKinnnon... ........ ........ do .............. McDougald's ......... do
John McGregor.... ................... do ........... Southport .............. Queen's.
William Carroll ....................... ......... Miler...........Car1eton ......... Prince.
W illiam Callaghan, J.P ........ ............ Farmer.................... Miminegash ............ do
John S. Sutherland.................. ....... do ..... .. ....... Park Corner............Queen's.
Peter Doyle ......... ............................. do ............ Campbelltown ....... Lot 4.
John Doughort..................... do............ Long River.......Queen's.
Malcolm dcPhail............................... do ........... ...... Argyle Shore........
Alexander Martin, J.P............... do.................. Springton .............. Lot 67, Queen's.
John F. Murphy......... ............... do......... ......... Newton .......... Prine.
Reuben Tuplin...... .......... ........ Merchant................. Margate ..... .......... do
Donald McKenzie ................ Farmer.................... Rose Valley.... .Queen's
William C. Lea....................do............ Victoria .................. do
A. Robertson.................... Merchant................. Bonshaw .............. do
John Beaton...................................... Mill-owner, &c......... Lot 6..... ....... P inc
W. B. Hall..............r..........en..... H ,e.i..
Robert Morgan......... .......................... do ..... do do
Duncan Mackercher... ....................... do ...... Rosseau Crossing..... Provencher.
Alexander Waddel............................. do ..... do d
Daniel Harlow....................... do............ do do 
W. Robertson..................... .. do................. do do
Alexander McLean .......................... do.do do

.John Taylor, M.l>.P ........ ......... 'f1...... Headingly........... Selkirk.

ANSWERS TO QUESTION No. 2.

Question 2.--If from the Uniiited Kingdom, please give the date of your sette-
cnent in Canada ,.,id Post Office address before coming ?

ONTARIO.

aotmty Pf rastings.

Answers of Messrs.
Normain, July, 1857, British APrmy.
Nugent, 1846, Keady, Ireland.
Tait, 1851, Aberdeen, Sootland.
Cleake, 18,55, Liverpool Elugland,
Willson, 1857, Wakefield, Yorkshire, England.
Carswell, 1854, Paisley, Seofland.
]Bennett, 1867, Dlublin, Irdalid.
Menzies, 1858, Scotland.

Etectoral District of Muskoka.

Begg, 1846, WQatten, Seotland.
Scarlett, Londonderry, Jrela.nd.
Doherty, JuIy, 1862, J)onegal, Ireland.
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Ashdown, 1851, Walworth Road, London, England.
sirett, 1860, Croughton, England.
Ewing, 1855, Castle Fraser, Scotland.
Parker, April. 1872, Amersham, England.
White, April, 1862, Omagh, Ireland.
Davidson, Jnly, 1857, Keswick, England.
Burgess, Merionetshire, Wales.
Tookey, 1855, Kereton Holme, England.
Tait, May, 1862, Lanarkshire, Scotland.
Johinston, 1842, Rochfort Bridge, Ireland.
Fluker, 1854, Dublin, Ireland.
Brooks, 1637, Maidstone, England.
Lalor, 1872, Carlow, Ireland.
Lelcock, 1852, Whitley Bridge, Yorkshire, England.
Duffin, 1872, Glasgow, Scotland.
Ballantine, 1867, Glasgow, Scotland.
Starrat, 1820, Ireland.
McKenzie, 1855, Glasgow, Scotland.

County of Victoria.

Fell, 1851, Guysborough, England.
Hastings, 1832, Tyrone, Ireland.
Ioovey, 1832, Ireland.

County of Perth.

Jones, 1847, Dunlavin, Ireland.
Clelaad, 1859, Glasgow, Scotland.

County of Renfrew.

Coburn, 1831, Mohill, Ireland.
Culbertson, 1833, Derry, Ireland.
Black, 1834, Scotland.
Bellefeuille, 1854, Ireland.
Sparling, Limerick, Ireland.

QUEBECo.

County of Joliette.

Daly, 1822, Strabane, Ireland.

County of Argenteu

McCallum, 183, Isle of Mull, Scotland.

County of Montcalm.

Copping, 1817, London, England,
MicCarthy, 1820, Longford, Ireland.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin, 1834, Killeshandra, Ireland.
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Brown, 1844, Carluke, Scotland.
Sutherland, 1842, West May, Scotland.
Doughort, 1824, Bannockburn, Scotland.
Martin, 1859, Isle of Skye, Scotland.
Tuplin, 1837. Devonshire, England.
McKenzie, 1840, Isle of Skye, Seotland.

MANITOBA.
Hall, from Ontario.
Morgan, Dunfermline, Scotland.
MacKercher, friom Ontario.
Waddell, do do
IHarlow, do do
Robertson, do do
McLean, do do

ADAPTABILITY OF DISTRICTS FOR SETTLE31ENT.

Question 3.-State your impressions, from personal observat ion, of the adapta-
bility of your district for successful settlement, giving the area of your township or
district, its population and its market facilities, either by rail, water or otherwise?

ONTARIO.

County of Hastings.
Answers of Messrs.

Norman-I consider the Township of Tudor favorable, generally speaking, for
farming purposes; area 10 miles; market with lumbermen.

Nugent-This part of the country cannot be successfully settled without a rail-
way ; market with lumbermen.

Gunter-The Townships of Tudor, Wollaston, Limerick and Cashel are well
adapted for farming ; pop. 1,150; market with lumbermen.

Tait-The Townships under my charge are Dungannon, Faraday, Mayo, Carlow,
Monteagle, Herschel, McClure,s Wicklow and Bangor ; pop., 700 families; capable
of maintaining over 3,000 families; fifty per cent. of land suitable for tillage, and
greater part of the balance welI suited for meadow and pasture.

Cleake-The soil, being loamy, is well adapted for cultivation, and under
proper management, with a due regard to rotation of crops and a liberal use of
inanures, I can say, from my own experience and the success of others who farn
with care, that the yield per acre is an average remuneration. This district is
formed of two Townships, Dungannon and Faraday, with an area of 10 miles square
in each Township; pop., 750; about two-thirds of the land is available for settle-
ment. The present market facilities are very limited, being ,merely derived froim
the lumbering business, so that the demand for produce is very unsteady and
uncertain. There are no railway facilities within a distance of over fifty miles, and
no water communication. The Colonization Road cannot be used for the transport
of produce to the generallmarket; no attempt bas ever been made to make thein
permanently serviceable, although the Government annually grant large sums for
repairs; the difficulty of transit bas retarded the settlement of the country 1,000
per cent.; however, more settlers have come in within the last six months than for
some years previously, on account of the prospects of the North Hastings RailwaY
being extended to these Townships, the Government having guaranteed strong aid
for that purpose.

Wilson-The two Townships, Dungannon and Faraday, are one municipality,
having an area of 20 miles square, and a population of 150 families. Markets With
the lumberers. Nearest front market at Belleville, 80 miles distant, reached by the
Hastings Road.
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Rav-There is considerable land in the two Townships of Tudor and Lake fit for
farming or grazing, open to settlement; railway in course of construction.

Lake.-The township of Bangor has room for about 100 more settlers; popula-
·tion 200 ; market with lumbermen.

Carswell-In the townships of McClure, Wicklow, Herschel and Monteagle there
is considerable land not yet taken up. Population 600; markets with lumberers.

Bennett-The land in these townships is of excellent quality, well adapted for
settlenent either by men with large or small capital.

Kavanagh-Two-thirds of the land of the municipality of Dungannon and Fara-
day are fit for agricultural purposes; population 750. When lumbering is brisk,
narkets are good.

Bontley-The municipality of Dangannon and Faraday comprises about 160
square miles; population small; room for a large number; good colonization roada
to the frontier; markets with lumberers.

Monzies-The soil and climate of the Township of Wollaston are good; area 1a
milies quare; population 450; markets with lumberers.

Hamilton-The two townships of Carlow and Mayo are well adapted for settle-
ment; population 700; township capable of sustaining 2,000; market with lumborers.

Parkhurst-This Township of Carlow is well adapted for settlement; when the
Belleville and North Hastings Railway is built, we will have every facility for
marketing; market now with lumberers.

Electoral District of Muskoka.

Begg-The area of the Township of McMurrich is about 8 miles east and west
by 10 miles north and south. Its settlement was only commenced in the winter of
1874-5; before that time it was a waste wildernesss. Since then I have erected a
saw, grist, and shingle mill in the Township. About 200 settlers have located, and
are making improvements, whilst a number of lots have been applied for. The
mills at Beggsboro are nearly 40 miles north of' Bracebridge, from which a waggon
road is open through to Maganetawan via Stisted Township

IKoyl-Spent the summer of 1875 in Muskoka, and consider it well adapted for
successful settlement. Good water communicaiion to Bracebridge.

Sharpe-With industry and perseverance a settler can do well on the lands ii
,lis district. Good market facilities by rail and water.

Searlett-Am perfectly satisfied that this district will support a prosperous
settlement of the agricultural class; we want no mechanics, unless they have some
knowledge of chopping down trees. District about 60 miles square; railway within.
35 miles; good water communication.

Doherty-The Township of Draper is best adapted for dairy farming; area S
miles square; population 1,000; market facilities by Bracebridge and Gravenhurst
Colonization Road.

Ashdown-The Township of Humphrey has a population of 300; 65 per cent. of
the land fit for settlement; good water communication.

Sirett-I was one of the first settlers of this district, and from personal experience-
can state that this country offers considerable inducements to industrious and
persevering men. Area, 81 square miles; population, 600; markets as yet local;

summer we are but one day's travel from Toronto.
Ewing-The area of the Township of Monch is 30,000 acres; population, 1,050;

narket facilities good by water and by rail to Gravenhurst, 25 miles distant. This
is a rough, broken, beautiful, picturesque, delightful, sterling and grand country..
In some places only one half of the land is fit for the plough, but the other half
Possesses good qualities for hay and timber growing, and makes fine pasture.

Parker-The Township of Stephenson is pretty well settled, still there is some
'very good land not yet taken up ; there are over 200 voters assessed at $200, and
Over, for real estate. The Northern Railway comes to Gravenhurst, about 23 miles
distant, and steamboat to Bracebridge in summer. If the railway was pushed
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-through to Huntsville no immigrant agents would be required to represent this
district.

White-I think this country well adapted for settlement. Muskoka means al
the country north of Severn River and south of Lake Nipissing, and west of Bb-
caygeon Road line ; probably contains four millions of acres, 70 per cent. of which is
fit for settlement ; population, 15,000. The centre of district is one day's journey
from 'loronto by Northern Railway, good market afforded by lumbermen.

Davidson-This district is more adapted for stock raising, especially sheep raising,
than grain growing. Area of the Township of Watt contains 48,856 acres, of which
e0 per cent. is fit for cultivation ; population in 1871, 711. Bracebridge, the chief
market, is distant 15 miles by road and 24 miles by water.

Burgess-Industrious settlers may easily procure comfortable homes and good
farms for themselves; home markets for everything raised ; population about 600.

McMurray (Parry Sound District)-Sixty per cent. of the land in this district
is fit for settlement; it embraces about forty townships; population 4,000.

Tookey-The Township of Macauley, containing good soil and being well
-watered, produces fine crops; some farms can be rented at a fair price; markets
with lumberers.

McEachern (Parry Sound District)-The Townships of Spence, Ryerson, Chap-
-man and Croft, are well adapted for settlement. Although there is considerable
rocky land, there is a large quantity of good suitable land not yet taken up; markets
local. Spence Township containes about 100 settlers.

Brown-The free grant Township of McLean has an area of 40,000 acres, and a
population of 350. Local demands consume more than can be produced; railway 28
miles distant; Bracebridge, by water, 161 miles.

Tait-About 60 per cent. of the Township of Macauley is fit for settlement, the
most of it being taken up; area 16J miles; population, including Bracebridge, 2,000;
good market in Bracebridge; steamboat from Branebridge to railway connection at
Gravenhu-st.

Johnston-The Township of Medora is nearly all settled, with the exception of
a few lots well worth taking up. The adjoining Townships of Wood, Conger, and
Humphrey contain unsettled land as good as those settled upon in this Township.
Marketing all donc by water from Port Carling to Bracebridge, a distance of 21
miles; from Part Carling to Port Cockburn, 21 miles ; from Port Carling to Graven-
hurst, 22 miles; and from Port Carling to Rosseau, 15 miles. All these places arC
easily reached by one of Captain Cockburn, M.P.'s, beautiful steamboats, at very low
fare. Bracebridge and Gravenhurst are our main markets.

Fluker-The Township of Chapman is eight miles square ; good for settlement;
population between 1,000 and 1,500; good water communication by Rosseau Lake;
good home market with lumbermen.

Brooks-The soil of Township of Ryde is vell adapted for farming; area 36
square miles, population 100 families; at least 12 settlers arrived last season; roads
are bad, but we have promises from the Government of their being improved.
Gravenhurst 12 miles distant.

Best-Parry Sound District-The Townships of Spence, Monteith, Ryerson,
Armour, Croft, Chapman, Strong, Fount, Machar, Pringle, Gurd, Patterson, llims-
worth, and Nipissing, containing from forty-five to tifty thousand acres each, are said
to be considerably above the average quality, and in my opinion well suited for suC-
cessful settlement. The populatidn of some of these Townships, lying along the
Nipissing Road from Rosseau, is at present from three to four hundred in each,
quite a number of settlers have also gone in upon the lands in several of the new
Townships lying to the north of Maganefawa. The increase of settlers generally
causes a market for any surplus produce raised.

Wilcock-The Township of Foley has about 500 inhabitants; water facilities
good.

Lalor-The Township of Stisted is well adapted for successful settlement, though
more likely to become a pasturing than an agricultural district. The area of the
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,Township is about 8 x 8 miles; roads intersect one another at distances of Il miles.
The nearest market town is Bracebridge, 22 miles distant; good stores, however, are
found all along the road. Flour mill about twelve miles distant ; saw mills in the
neighbourbood. Population of Township between 400 and 500.

Armstrong-The Township of MeKellar is well adapted for settle:nerit; we have
taken off six crops, and al] have been good. Area, nine miles square; population,
700; markets local, with new settlers and lumbermen; a good market is being opened
up at Parry Sound, about 15 miles distant.

Dobbin-The Township Macaulay is very favourable for grazing purposes; area,
eight miles square; population, includilg Bracebridge, 2,000 ; markets local and
-eady.

Fraser-One half of the Township of Humphrey is fit for cultivation and the
other half is good grazing land; area of township, 10 miles square; population, 400;
market facilities good, by water and rail to Toronto 150 miles; local markets at
present.

Ballantine-The Township of Lincoln is about seven miles square; population,
150; no market except that caused by new settlers; land worth settling on when got
free.

Sarrat-Well adapted for successful settlement; the Township of Ryerson is
9x12 miles; population, 500; market local as yet. The continuation of the railroad
from Gravenhurst would greatly develope and aid in settling up this section of the
country.

Beatty-Nipissing District--I believe this disurict svill be a good agricultural
one and well suited for settlement; markets so far have been local, but very good ;
hay bringing from $35 to $40 per ton, oats this present season sold from 80c. to 90c.
per bushel ; no railway facilities yet, but in summer there is good water communica-
tion vid the Georgian Bay and French River; in winter we team from Lake Rosseau.

liill-Franklin Township is well adapted for successful settlement and capable
of affording a comfortable living to an industrious population ; population about 200;
market local; thirty miles from rail and water communication.

Jarvis-Any person commeneing with sufficient funds on 200 acres should
succeed; area of the Township of Brunel is 44,800 acres ;good Government road to
Gravenhurst.

McKenzie-The soil of the Township of McMurrich is over the maximum; area 70
miles square; population, 200; market local; Bracebridge, 36 miles distant, Rosseau
51- miles distant, and Toronto by water and rail 157 miles distant.

Ross-This township (Humphrey) is generally broken up with lakes and rocks;
patches of good land around the lakes; railroad at Gravenhurst, 50 miles distant ; Ros-
seau Lake, 8 miles distant, and Parry Sound, 20 miles ; boats come to both places.

County of Victoria.

McLaren-Two-thirds of the land of the Township of Bexley is fit for settlement.
population, 2,500; good market facilities by rail and water; good roads.

Tell-About one half the land of the Township of Somerville is adapted for farm-
ing purposes; wheat, barley, oats, peas and other grains grow well; the inferior land
affords good pasturage; area 62,000 acres; Toronto and Nipissing Railroad and
Victoria Railroad run through the township.

Staples-The Township of Bexley contains about 27,000 acres ; population, 1,000;
a large portion of the area is rock; market facilities good both by rail and water.

Hastings-The Township of Toxton, though nearly all settlel, still offers induce-
ients to intending settlers; good home markets, and there will be for years to come.

McLaughlin-In the Township of Somerville there is a large quantity of land fit
for settlement and well adapted for stock raising ; good marketing facilities by the
Bobcaygeon, Cameron and Monck roads, and the Toronto & Nipissing and Victoria
Railway.
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Spring-The land of the three United Townships of Draper, Ryde and Oakley
is good; population 1,000; by rail from Gravenhurst to Toronto, and by water from
ýGravenhurst to Bracebridge.

Hovey-Fenelon Township is not very well adapted for settlement, beingstony; railway and water facilities for marketing.
Reagin-The County is peculiarly adapted for settlement; area 30 by 70 miles;

population 30,000 ; facilities for marketing both by rail and water excellent; Mid-
land, Nipissing and Victoria Railways run through the County.

County of Perth.

Jones-Good settlement; 52,000 acres; population 4,000; market facilities
good.

McDermott-This district is admirably adapted for successful farming and is
all settled ; area of Township of Wallace, 50,000; population 2,600.

Rutherford-The Township of Mornington all settled; markets convenient;
population 5,500; railway about 17 miles distant.

Ford---St. Mary's is a town of 5,000 inhabitants, and is a good market place.
Cleland---Area of Township of Wallace is 9 by 12 miles, 68,000 acres; popula-

tion 4,000; chief market, Mitchell, 10 miles distant by rail; any industrious man can
do well.

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Langton-The Township of Lutterworth, Anson and Hindon contain about
130,000 acres; population 1,500; men with small capital and industrious will cer-
tainly succeed. Farmers have been able, so far, to dispose of all their produce in the
village of Minden at better prices than could be obtained in Toronto; communication
by stage and water with Coboconk, the terminus of the Nipissing Railway, distance
24 miles; also by stage with Kinmount, the terminus of the Victoria Railway;
distance 12 miles.

Blomfield--Am manager of the Canadian Land and Emigration Company.
Company own nine townships in the Provisional County of Haliburton, formerly
County of Peterborough, containing about 401,665 acres and 564,106 lots. The
country is hilly, rocky in places and generally more or less stony; soil is chiefly
a sandy loam with clay subsoil in places. A considerable settlement has been
established by us in spite ot the inaccessibility of the country until recently, by a
liberal expenditure in roads and other improvements, and easy terms of payment
allowed for lots taken up; settlers so far dependent on lumbermen for a market, but
other markets are now being provided for by rail. The Victoria Railway is com-
pleted to Kinmount, and to secure its early extension to Haliburton we are paying
about $30,000 out of a $55,000 bonus voted by section of iHaliburton County, and
agree to give $3,000 a mile for every mile in our owa territory, and will probably
give further assistance.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman-This Township (Ross) is pretty well settled, all land fit for settlement
being taken up; area, 10 miles square. Pembroke, the County Town and terminus
of the Canada Central, is the chief market town.

Coburn-The Township of Pembroke is but a small gore; pop., 640. I know
of no sober, industrious persons who did not succeed here. This township contains
the County Town, Pembroke.

Mansell-The township of Westmeath is nearly all settled ; area, 100 square
miles; population, 2,500; good communication by rail and water.
àfCulberton-The Township of Bromley is all settled; area, 10 miles square;
markets with lumbermen.
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Black-The Township of -Ross has an area of 75 square miles; pop., 400 rate-

payers; market facilities good. Not much inducement to settlers.
Bellefeuille-Land too poor for successful settlement. Area of Township of

Petewawa, 10 miles square; pop., 300 ; good market facilities.

County of Peterborough.

lartle-The Township of Littleworth, containing about 3,000 acres, 66 per cent.
of which is fit for settlement, is well adapted for successful farming ; pop., 450.
The Victoria Railway is within one mile of the township.

County of Bruce,

Allen-The Township of Amable contains 62,500 acres; pop., 2,500; market
facilities good by rail and water.

Spragg-The Townships of Albemarle, Eastnor, Lindsay and St. Edmunds are
only about 25 per cent. fit for settlement; pop. 900; nearest market Owen Sound,
reached by water communication and by roads.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Levesque-The District of Joliette fas a population of 50,000 souls. In the old
parishes there is easy enough communication with the St. Lawrence. The roads are
more difficult in the mountainous parts of the country, but practicable at all seasons.
Country is good enough for industrious and steady emigrants.

Pagé-The District of Joliette, with great hardship and toil, might be settled
with a good farming population; markets reached only by roads.

Martel-The Township of Cathcart offers great inducements to settlers; market
Il miles distant, over good roads.

Bonin-The Parish of Ste. Emmelie, situated in the northern part of the County
of Joliette, possesses a good number of unoccupied lots which could be advantageously
cleared. The extent of the parish is three leagues in width, with an unlimited
length, as it is the last parish towards the north, excepting a small colony situate 10
leagues to the north-west, called St. Michel des Saints; pop., 88 families; nearest
market at Joliette, 10 leagues distant; products usually sold to lumbermen and at
Joliette.

Daly-The township of Kildare is four and a half miles wide by eleven miles
long; settlers have very generally been successful; there is a good road through the
district.

Woods-Not much improvement in land here; market twelve'miles distant.
Shields-The Parish of St. Alphonse contains 300 families; 25 miles from rail-

Way; Joliette nearest market place.
Cornellier-In the parishes of Ste. Emelie de L'Energie, St. Côme, St. Jean de

-Matha and St. Beatrix, there are great facilities for colonization at distances varying
from 15 to 30 miles from Joliette market, and from 60 to 75 miles from Montreal
which are the largest markets accessible either by rail or water. The District of
Joliette, is formed of three counties, viz., Joliette, Montcalm, and L'Assomption;
Population about 60,000.

Neveux-Considerable land here yet to be settled, but much of it is far removed
from market and of little value.

Gauthier-The lumber business is a great assistance to settlement and to the
Cleariii of land; area of township of Kildare eight by nine miles; population 700.
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County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth-The township of Arundel is eight miles square, one half beinginountains and lakes; population 360 ; nearest market is Grenville, on the Ottawa
River, about 30 miles distant by colonization road.

Munro-This district is well adapted for settlement; population 300 or 400;
produce sold mostly to lumbermen, there being no water or rail communication
-nearer than Grenville, 40 miles distant, which is reached by a good colonization road.

Filion-Very fine lands can be found along River Rouge and its tributaries, in
the townships of Clyde, Ponsonby, Arundel. and DeSalaberry.

Meikles-The townships of Morin, Wentworth, Howard, Walf, DeSalaberry
Arundel, Montcalm, and Harrington lie immediately north of Lachute; about one-
third of the land settled on ; of the balance one-half is fit for settlement; country
-nountainous; main roads from different parts lead into Lachute, where there is
railway connection with Montreal.

McCallm-The township of (renville is very rugged; back townships settling
up fast; the completion of the railway from Montreal will help this district greatly.

MacArthur-The township of Chatham is all taken up; other rear townships
are only halfsettled; the land of this township is hilly and soil light; convenient to
Montreal by rail.

County of Montcalm.

Copping-No wild lands here fit for settlement. Township of Rawdon 10 miles
square ; population 1,306.

McCarty-Consider this district of L'Assomption well adapted for settlement.
Its limits are very extensive, and soil avantageous. Market at the Ohief-Lieu,
Joliette, over good roads.

Green-The Township of Chertsey contains about 100 families; market 32
rniles distant.

Copping-Country backward ; good water privileges.

County of Chanplain.

Beaudry-The population of the District of Three Rivers was 76,044 by the
Census of 1871, and bas since then increased. It is needless to dwell on the advan-
tages afforded by water communication. There are numerous wharves at different
points, where vessels of all sizes ean load or discharge. The Grand Trunk lRailwaY
connects directly with Three Rivers, by means of the Arthabaska Branch. The
North Shore Railway, now in course of construction, traverses three counties in our
district, at a distance, at some points, of 7 or 8 miles from the uncleared lands.
These means of communication afford great facilities for colonization; if completed
for the benefit of future settlements by roads running from the St. Lawrence into tbe
interior, particularly on the north side of the river, where a road from the Parish of
St. Anne to the St. Maurice would, for two-thirds of its length (where the present
road follows the St. Maurice from Three Rivers), pass through good lands, well tiln-
bered with every kind of hard-wood and soft-wood of large growth. Roads are the
first condition for the success of settlement, and vet nothing is so much neglected.
Though the Government rates contain amounts each year for the purpose, yet the
advantages are nearly lost by reason of the money being badly spent, without control
on the part of the authorities, and a distinction by dishonest persons, who favor their
friends or their own interests.

County of Maskinonge.

Ferrow-In the Townships of De Calonne and Belleau there is some land fit for
settlement; railway and River St. Lawrence are from 18 to 20 miles distant.

Julien-Land tolerably cheap; plenty of employment to be had at good wages-
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The Parish of St. Paulin is four square leagues in extent; population 1,700 ; market,
1o miles distant by waggon road. The adjoining townships, covering from 26 to
40 miles of country, are almost all bush; the land is good and can be bought for about
30 cents per acre.

Bayeur-The Parish of St. Pauline is four leagues in superficies; land is pretty
cheap; back of us there are townships covering twelve to fifteen leagues of good
lands fit for settlement; These lands can be bought for 30 cents per acre; on these
lands there is also a large quantity of merchantable timber; market, 15 miles distant.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin-The Township of Aylwin is nearly all settled, though there are still
some lands in the hands of the Government. The country is very mountainous, but
in the valley there is good land; roads are bad; population 500 ; produce sold to
lumbermen.

Duhamel--Land for the most part is of good quality; being in the Laurentian
range it is mountainous, but there are flats and gorges of very fertile land. The area
of the district is 30 miles frontage, and extends 150 miles north; population, apart
from Hull, 2,500; market with lumberers.

Ellard-The Township of Wright is especially adapted for successful settlement;
the land is a good clay loam; township about ten miles square; plenty of unoccupied
land in the district ; markets local.

District of Three Rivers.

Neault-Our district affords inducements for settlement to those only who have
the means of living for three years before calculating on the produce of their land,
and who are strong, active, and accustomed to the labor of clearing.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Mutch-Am favorably impressed with the adaptability of the Island for settle
ment.

McEachren-This is an old settled district (Cherry Valley), with an area of
20,000 acres, divided generally into fhims of 50 and 100 acres each, and is all
occupied; population 1,800.

MeNeili-Soil well adapted for agricultural purposes ; acreage of district (near
Alberton), 20,000 acres; population, over 2,000; a railroad passes through the district;
harbour convenient but not sufficiently deep to admit vessels of large draft.

Brown-Land is al] taken in our township (New Glasgow); would not advise
settlers to come here; three miles from shipping, and about the same from the rail-
way station.

Breannon-Every chance to make settlement successful; the musile is mud on
al quarters of it ; markets by shipping, two miles ; by rail, five miles; area of
township (Lot 20), about 40 square miles.

MeKinnon-One half of the district is under cultivation; population about 1,000;
nearest general market from 15 to 20 miles distant.

McGregor-I do not know of 100 acres in this Township (No. 48) worth having;
lansettled ; area, 23,000 acres ; population, 1,412; markets reached by water.

Callaghan-Area of district, 32 miles square; population, 2,000 ; railway runs
through district; produce and cattle taken to market by water.

Sutherland -Township No. 20 all settled, area, 20,000 acres ; markets reached
by water.

Doyle-All arable lands in this Township (No. 4) are taken up by tenants;
Population, 1,000; market facilities not convenient.

Doughort-Area of Township No. 20, 20,000 acres; population, 1,000; market-
facilities good by rail and water.
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McPhail-Any healthy, industrious person must succeed; area of Township
No. 30, 20,000 acres; population from 1,000 to 1,500 ; markets convenient.

Martin- No unsettled lots in this Township (No. 67); area, 28,000 acres; pop.
lation between 1,000 and 1,100; nearest seaport, nine miles; nearest railway station
four miles.

Murphy-This Township (No. 26) is tll occupied; markets convenient.
Tuplin-Margate is an old settlement ; area, 2,000 acres; population, 150; three

miles from railroad station; two miles from navigable water; land of good quality,*and all settled.
McKenzie--In Rose Valley there is a poor prospect for settlers; population,

350; from rail, distant three miles; from water, 10 miles.
Robertson-Lot 30 is nearly ail settled; area, 20,000 acres; market about four

miles distant.
Beaton-The Townsbip No. 6 is well adapted for settiement; good, arable soil;

inarket facilities good by rail and water; vacant land enough to settle from 100 to
to 150 families.

MANITOBA.

Hall, Headingly-Soil good, clay loam; 10 miles from Winnipeg by road;
Assiniboine River runs through the centre of the parish,'navigable by'large steamers;
population, 100 families.

Morgan, Headingly-Soil good, with a strong clay subsoil; 16 miles from
Winnipeg; River Assiniboine flowing through district affords good water communi-
cation.

MacKercher, Rosseau-This district has almost every facility for immediate and
successful settlement, being intersected by the Rosseau River and the Pembina
Branch of the Canada Pacific Railway.

Waddell, Rosseau-This district possesses great advantages, and to intending
settlers offers many inducements.

Harlow, Rosseau-Favourable; soil very rich, and drained by the Rosseau
River; market facilities via Red River good during navigation; population, 150.

Robertson, Rosseau-A desirable locality to settle in; population, 100: market
at Emerson eight miles distant; water communication with Winnipeg and Moorehead.

McLean, Rosseau--Soil very rich; circumstances favourable; population, 100.
Taylor-The Parish of Headingly is one of the best farming districts in the

Province; area about four miles on each side of the River Assiniboine.

SEASON OF PLOUGHING AND SEEDING.

Question 4. What time does the season usually open, so that ploughing and
seeding can be carried on?

ONTARIO.

County of ffastings.
Answers of Messrs.

Nugent, Tait and Ray-About middle of May.
Norman-Generally latter end of March.
Gunter, Bennett and Menzies-Latter end of April.
Wilson-Ploughing last week in April; sowing first week in May.
Clarke and Kavanagh-Generally in the month of April.
Lake, Carswell, Hamilton and Parkhurst-About the first of May.
Bentley-Generally from lst to 10th May.

Electoral District of Muskoka.
Begg-About lst May; the seasons vary a week or two, but the natqre of the

-soil being porous enables seeding to commence early.
Koyle-About the 10th or 15th May.
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McMurray, Sharp, Brown, Parker, Fluker, White, Ballantine, Best, Beatty and
gill-About lst May.

McEachren, Scarlett and Sirett-Between the 15th and last of April.
Doherty, Tait and Wilcock-About middle of April.
Ashdown, Ewing, Brooks, Armstrongs and Davidson-From the last week in

April to first week in May.
Burgess, Tookey, Fraser and Jarvis-Early in May.
Johnston and McKenzie--From middle of April to lst of May.
Mr. Lalor--Seeding commences in May.
Dobbin----About 20th April.
Mr. Ross---Latter end of April.

County of Perth.

Jones-About the middle of April.
McDermott-From lst to 15th April.
Rutherford-From the 20th April to the 20th May.
Ford-April sometimes latter part of March.
Cleland-From the middle of April to lst May.

County of Victoria.

Staples-Latter part of April.
McLaren-In April.
Fell and Hastings-About the 20th of April.
McLoughlin and lovey-About 1st of May.
Spring-About middle of April.
Reazin-From 20th April to lst May.

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Langton-From lst April to 15th May.
Bloomfield-Opens a fortnighter later and closes ten days earlier than in

Western Ontario.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman-From lst to end of May.
Coburn-Latter part of April ; some springs, lst May.
Mansell, Black and Sparling-20th April.
Culbertson and Bellefeuille-First week in May.

County of Peterborough.

Mr. Hartle-1st May.

County of Bruce.

Messrs. Allen and Spragg--The middle of April.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Mr. Levesque -Generally in May.
Messrs. Pagé, Bonin, Daly, Woods, Comellier and Neveux--About 1st May.
Messrs. Martel, Shields, Robitaille and Gauthier-About the middle of May..,
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County of Argenteuil.

Messrs. Stamfoth, G. R. Meikle and MCallum---About the 20th April.
Mr. Mynro-1st May.
Messrs. Filion and MacArthur---From 15th April to lst May.

County of 3montcalm.

Messrs. Wm. Copping, McCarthy, Green and J. G. Copping----Between 1st aid
1Oth May.

County of Champlain.

Mr. Beaudry-From lst May to 10th June.
Messrs. Houle and Lepine--First week in May.

County of iaskinonge.

Messrs. Hiron, Julien and Bayeur---From lst to 15th May.

County of Ottawa.

Messrs. Aylwin and Ellard---From Tst to 10th May.
Mr. Duhamel----Latter part of April and beginning of May.

District of Three Rivers.

Mr. Meault--lst May.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Messrs. Meikle, McEachern, McKinnon, Carroll, Callaghan, Sutherland, Doyle,
fDoughort, McPhail, Murphy, Tuplin, Robertson and Beaton --About 1st May.

Messrs. McNeil, Brown, Smith, McGregor and Lea---Last of April and beginning
of May.

Messrs. Martin and McKenzie---Second week in May.

MANITOBA.

Messrs. Hall and Morgan-20th April to 1st May.
Messrs. Mackercher, Waddell, Harlow, Robertson and MeLean-- -Middle of April.
Mr. Taylor----First week in May.

KIND OF CROPS GROWN.

Question 5.-What kind of crops do you grow most extensively? State the
usual yield per acre, and what roots and vegetables do you raise successfully.

ONTARIO.

County of Ifastings.
Answers of Messrs.

Norman-Oats and peas; a fair average crop of all cereals; roots and vegetables
do well, but not extensively grown.

Nugent--Oats yield from 25 to 30 bushels per acre; turnips, carrots, OnioflE
cabbage, and, in fact, all kinds of roots.

Gunter--Oats yield 35 bushels; wheat, 25 bushels ; peas, 20 bushels; and barley
40 bushels per acre; potatoes, 200 to 400 bushiels, and turnips, 600 to 1,000 bushelî
per acre.
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Tait -Oats average 20 to 40 bushels; spring wheat, 18 bushels; and fall wheat,
20 busbels per acre. All kinds of root crops successfully grown.

Cleake-Oats, very heavy crop, average, 40 bushels ; and wheat, 20 to 30 bushels

per acre. Wheat is of a good quality, yielding from 38 to 43 pounds of flour to the
bushel. All roots and garden vegetables as well.

Wilson-Answer same as the last, with barley added 25 bushels per acre.
Ray-Answer same as last. Polatoes yield from 100 to 300 bushels per acre.
Lake-Wheat, 25 bushels per acre; oats, 50; barley, 45; potatoes, 200; and

turnips, 300.
Carswell-Wheat, from 15 to 20 bushels; oats, 50 bushels per acre. Potatoes,

turnips, cabbage and carrots grow well.
Bennett-Oats, wheat, barley and peas yield largely. All roots do well.
Kavanagh-Wheat, 18 to 25 ; oats, 30; peas, 20 ; potatoes, 200 ; ryc, 20; barley,

30 bushels per acre.
Bentley-Oats, 25 bushels per acre; hay, 1½ tons. Potatoes succeed.
Menzies-Oats, 20 bushels; peas, 15 bushels; potatoes, 100 bushels per acre.
Hamilton-Oats, 40 bushels per acre; peas, 30 ; wheat, 25 ; barley, 40 ; potatoes,

250; turnips, 300.
Parkhurst-Wheat, 30 bushels per acre ; oats, 50; potatoes, 300; barley, 45

peas, 35.

Electoral District of Muskoka.

Begg-All sorts of root crops and culinary vegetables thrive and arc grown
plentifully.

Koyl-Wheat, 20 bushels per acre ; oats, 30; potatoes, 200.
Sharpe-Oats and hay, with all kinds of root crops grow abundantly.
Scarlett-Oats being most in demand, is grown most extensively-average yield,

25 to 40 bushels per acre. Corn grows to perfection. All vegetables do well.
Doherty-Oats and peas yield 25 to 40 bushels per acre.
Ashdown-Potatoes, hay, oats, peas, barley and some wheat.
Sirett-Hay and oats are the principal crops; oats yield 30 bushels; peas, 20;

wheat, 15; hay, 2,500 lbs. per acre. All kinds of vegetables grown.
Ewing--Spring wheat yields 12 bushels; oats, 25 ; peas, 18; barley, 20 per acre.

Potatoes and turnips are good crops.
Parker-Oats, peas and barley, average from 30 to 40 bushels per acre, on now

land. Timothy and clover are heavy crops. Roots cannot be excelled.
White-Oats, 35 bushels; and wheat, 20 bushels to the acre. All kinds of roots

and vegetables.
Davidson-Wheat, 20 bushelis; oats, 30 bushels; peas, from 25 to 30 bushels;

rye, 25 bushels; barley, from 20 to 25 bushels per acre. All root crops do well.
Burgess-Grains and roots do well.
McMurray & Fookey-Same answer.
iMcEachern-Oats, 50 bushels; peas, 30 bushels; potatoes, 200 bushels; hay,

li tons per acre. Wheat hitherto not much grown, yield last season 20 bushels per
acre.

Brown-Oats, spring wheat, peas and Indian corn. Hay is in good demand for
lunbermen

Tait-Peas, oats, barley, corn and hay. All roots and vegetables do well. Oats
average 20 bushels per acre.

Johnston-Wheat yields 15 to 20 bushels; oats, 30 to 40 bushels; peas, 20 to <O
bushels; hay, 2 to 2j tons; potatoes, 200 to 250 bushels per acre. All roots grow
splendidly.

Fluker-Same answer, with rye 30 bushels, and barley 40 bushels per acre.
Brooks-Hay, oats and peas; wheat risky; potatoes and turnips yield remark-

ably. Prom about two acres of hops last year, I raised $600 worth.
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Best -Oats, peas, barley and hay are grown most extensively, yielding large
crops of excellent quality. Roots and garden vegetables of all kinds do remarkablywell.

Wilcock-Hlay, oats and roots.
Lalor-All kinds of cereals and garden fruits can be grown to perfection.

Turnips weigh 7, 9, 11 and 16 lbs. each. Potatoes, if the beetle does not destrythem, are as fine as any in the world. Barley yields 20 bushels to the acre.
Armstrong-Wheat (spring), 20 bushels ; oats, 45 bushels; barley, 40 bushels

per acre ; al! cereals grow and yield well.
Dobbin-Same answer.
Fraser-Corn, oats, peas, barley, rye and wheat can be raised successfully.

Roots of all kinds.
Ballantine-Wheat is grown successfully; oats excellent. Have raised 80

bushels from 3- bushels of potatoes; have had turnips in light soil, weighing 16 lbs.
Starrat-Any kind of roots or grain can be grown with average yield.
Beattv-Wheat, potatoes, beans, onions, carrots, manglewurtzle, &c.
fHill-Wheat, 15 to 30 bushels ; oats, 30 bushels; barley, 25 busbels; peas, 25

bushels; maize, 30 bushels per acre. Potatoes excel in quality, and yield from 100
to 200 bushels per acre. Oats have yielded 70 and 100 bushels per acre.

Jarvis-Hay, oats, peas, barley and corn are grown most extensively, yielding
generally above an Ontario average. Corn is a precarious crop. Hardy vegetables
do well.

McKenzie-Oats, peas, barley and spring wheat average about 20 to 25 bushels
per acre. All kinds of roots and vegetables with the greatest success.

Ross-Wheat, 12 to 15 bushels; oats, 30 to 40, and peas, 15 to 20 per acre.
Potatoes and turnips do well.

County of Victoria.
McLaren-Fall wheat, 20 bushels; spring, 18; oats, 30 to 40; barley, 40 to 50-;

peas, 18 to 20 ; potatoes, 180 to 200 per acre. All roots grow well.
Fell-Same answer, with barley at 30 bushels; peas, 20 bushels, and turnips,

800 bushels to the acre.
Staples-Wheat, oats, peas and barley. Wheat yields from 5 to 30 bushels per

acre. Potatoes and turnips.
Hastings-All grains and vegetables as good as can be raised in Canada.
McLaughlin-Wheat, 15 to 20 bushels; oats, 30 to 40; peas, 20 to 25; barley,

25 to 30 per acre; hay, 1l tons. We grow first quality of potatoes and turnips.
Spring-Same answer.
Hovey-Barley, oats and fall wheat. The latter is most extensively grown,

.yielding 20 bushels to the acre. Very few roots or vegetables.
Reagin-Wheat, 20 bushels; barley, 28 bushels, and oats 45 bushels per acre-

and upwards. Roots and vegetables of all sorts.

County of Perth.

Jones-Wheat, oats, barley and peas, from 20 to 30 bushels per acre. Carrots
and turnips raised successfully.

McDermott-Wheat, 20 bushels, oats, 40 bushels; peas, 25 bushels per acre.
Rutherford-Wheat, 20 bushels; oats, 50 bushels; peas, 40 bushels per acre.

Potatoes, cabbage, beets and turnips.
Ford-All cereal grains and almost every edible root and vegetable.
Cleland-Wheat, 20 bushels; oats, 40 ; peas, 30; and barley, 30; are the average

per acre; all roots and vegetables.

Provisional County of Haliburton.
Langton-Oats, 25 to 50 bushels; and hay two tons per acre; these are thO-

principal crops to supply lumbermen. All roots and vegetables.
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Blomfield-Wheat, oats, barley, &c., and some Indian corn. Ail kinds of roots
raised successfully.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman-Wheat, 15 to 20 bushels; oats, 30 bushels; hay, one and a half tons to,
the acre. Ail roots.

Coburn- Wheat, 25 to 40 bushels; oats, rye and barley, 40 bushels per acre. Al
roots do well.

Mansell-Hay, three-fourths ton; wheat, 15 bushels; oats, 30; peas, 16; potatoes,.
150; turnips, 300; and carrots, bOO per acre.

Culbertson-Wheat, 20 bushels; oats, 30; peas, L5; hay, one and a half tons per
acre. Ail roots commonly raised in Canada.

Black-Same average as Coleman.
Bellefeuille-Oats are best crop; yield 30 bushels per acre ; turnips and

potatoes.
Sparling-Wheat, 15 bushels; oats, 30; and hay, one and a half tons per acre-

Potatoes, turnips, and carrots.

County of Peterborough.

lartle-Wheat, 15 bushels; oats, 30 ; and peas, 20 per acre; barley also grown.

County of Bruce.

Allen-Wheat, 20 bushels; oats, 40 ; peas, 25 per acre; potatoes and turnips.
Spragg-Wheat, 15 to 20 bushels; oats, 30 to 50 ; peas, 20 to 30; and barley, 25ý

per acre. Ail roots and vegetables.

QUEBEc.

County of Joliette.

Levesque-Oats, 30 bushels; and peas, 20 bushels to the acre. Roots succeed,

Pagé--Oats and peas are the chief products, but wheat, rye, barley, buckwheat,
and ail roots do well.

Martel-Oats and peas, 20 to 25 bushels to the acre; potatoes and carrots.
Bonin-Oats, wheat, buckwheat, peas and barley grow luxuriantly; potatoes

grow readily.
Daly-Peas and oats are grown most extensively and yield from 12 to 20 bushels.

per acre; potatoes 200 to 250 bushels per acre.
Woods-Same answer as Levesque.
Shields--Same answer, leaving out peas.
Robitaille-Oats, rye, and wheat yield about ten bushels ; potatoes.
Cornellier-Wheat, barley, oats, and buckwheat ordinary yield, from 10 to 20

bushels per acre; potatoes and Indian corn are cultivated with success.
Neveux-Peas, wheat, oats, and buckwheat general yield 15: to 20 bushels; oats,

25 bushels to the acre.
Gauthier-Oats, 30 bushels per acre; potatoes.

County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth-Hay, one and a half tons; wheat, 12 to 20 bushels; oats, 15 to 30 per
acre; potatoes and turnips of excellent quality are raised.

Munro.-Wheat, 25 bushels per acre. Oats, barley and ail other grains grow
abundantly; no part of Canada can produce more per acre. Ail roots and vegetables.
,do Well.
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Filion-Oats, barley, buckwheat yield 25 bushels per acre; potatoes and
turnips yield largely.

G. and R. Meikle-Oats and barley 20 bushels, wheat 12 bushels per acre. All
root crops.

McCaillum-Oats, 30 bushels, and Indian corn, 20 bushels per acre. Potatoes and
turnips 300 bushels to the acre.

McArthur-Oats, barley and peas; all root crops.

County of Montcalm.

Wm. Copping-Oats 15 to 20 bushels per acre; potatous 500 bushels per acre.
McCarthy-Wheat, oats, barley, rye, buckwheat, flax, &c., average 25 to 30

bushels per acre. Roots very successful.
Green-Oats, 10 to 15 bushels; buckwheat, 20 bushels; potatoes 100 bushels, and

hay 200 bundles per acre.
Lepine-Oats, peas, beans and buckwheat, from 20 to 25 bushels per acre;

potatoes abundant.
J. GT. Copping-Oats 25 bushels per acre; wheat and peas. Potatoes from 80 to

100 bushels per acre; buckwheat raised extensively.

County of Champlain.

Beaudry-Oats 16 to 18 bushels per acre; potatoes yield well. Barley gives a
good return, but is not generally cultivated.

Houle-Oats 15 bushels per acre; potatoes and turnips.

County of Maskinonge.

Ferron-Oats, peas and buckwheat. Potatoes and turnips yield well.
Julien-Wheat, oats, buckwheat, peas and barley yield 15 to 20 bushels per acre.

Potat-oes and turnips yield 100 to 125 bushels per acre.
Bayeur-Wheat, oats, buckwheat and peas yield from 10 to 15 bushels per acre.

Root crops are successfully grown.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin-Oats .0 to 40 bushels, and wheat 15 to 30 bushels per acre. Potatoes
and turnips do well.

Duhamel-Oats yield 20 to 30 bushels, fall wheat 30 to 35, spring wheat 15 to
20. Potatoes, turnips, carrote and beets. The sugar beet has been tried with
success.

Ellard---Oate 40 to 50 bushels; hay 4 tons; wheat 30 to 40 bushels; peas 25 to
35 bushels to the acre. Root erops and vegetables do well.

Distriet of Three Rivers.

Neault----All kinds of grain etitable to the Province of Quebee.

Pi~nce ß.doard Island.

Muých----Oate 40 bashels, Md potatoeS 160 bushels per acre.
3McNeiIJ, McEachern, Sraitk_ McKinnon, McGregor, Carroll, .Callaghan, DoyIO.

McPhail, Tuplin, Lea, Robertson, Beaton-In eereals, oats, wheat, and barley are genI-
rally raised. Oats average 40 bushels per acre, wheat 20 to 25, and barley 30. Potatoes
yield 200 to 300 bushels, and turnips 600 to 1,000 per acre. These are our staple
reot crops, the Island being nQted for its potatoes and turnips,
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Brown--Wheat, barley, oats, hay, potatoes, and turnips; yield very uneertain.
Sutiierland-Hay, 9j to 3 tons; wheat, 20 bushels; oats, 40; barley, 35; potatoes

200, anI turnips 800 (and, if well manured, 1,000) per acre.
Doughort--Wheat, 18 bushels; barley, 30 ; oats, 32; potatoes, 200 per acre. Al

root crops do well.
iartin--We grow more oats than any other grain; yield 25 bushels to the acre.

Yotatocs and turnips 200 bushels per acre.
Murphy-Oats, 40 bushels; wheat, 18, and potatoes, 240 per acre.
McKenzie-Oats, 28 bushels, and potatoes 150 to 200 bushels per acre.

-Manitoba.
Hlal-Wheat is the principal crop, and yields 25 bushels per acre; oats, 50 to

40O; potatoes, 200, and turnips, 600.
Morgan -Same answer, giving potatoes 400 bushels.
Mnckercher-Wheat, 30 bushels; barley, 40; oats, 60; peas, 25; potatoes, 400

per;acre. Turnips succeed well.
Waddell and Harlow-Same answer, giving oats 70 bushels.
Robertson--Same answer, giving peas 35 bushels.
McLean-Wheat, 25 bushels ; oats, 55; barley, 40; peas, 30; turnips, 700, and

carrots, 300 bushels per acre.
Taylor-Wheat, 30 bushels; barley and oats, 50 bushels per acre.

ADAPTATION OF DISTRICTS FOR STOCK RAISING.

-- Question-Do you consider your district adapted for the raising of stock, and-
Low.imniy months in the year ik it necessary to feed and keep stock under shelter T

ONTARIo.

County of Hastings.
Answers of Messrs.

Norman, Gunter, Tait, Wilson, Ray, Lake, Carswell, Bennett, Kavanagh, Bentley,
Menzies and Hamilton-Yes; five or six months.

Nugent-It is better adapted for this than any thing else; when the lowland is
lared the grass is excellent. Five months in the year.

Cleake-The district is well adapted for stock raising, the woods affording an
abundance of nutricious food after the commencement of spring, and by the middle of
November all cattle are in fine condition. Five months is the average time that stock
have to be fed and houwed. Sheep raising here is very profitable. Dairy farming
will one day be carried on in this district on a large scale, when there are any facili-
nies!for transportation.

Parkhurst-Settlement too new for stock raising. Six months.

Electoral District of fuskoka.

Begg, Koyl, Sharpe, Doherty, Ashdown, Parker, Ewing, Davidson, Burgoess,
McMurray, White, Tait, Johnston, Brooks, Best, Wilcock, Lalor, S. and J. Armstrong,
Dobbin, FJraser, Ballantine, Starrat, Beatty, Hill, Jarvis and Ross-The district is
ainirably adapted for stock raising, being well watered, and all kinds of grasses grow
!uxuriantly. Cattle housed and fed for five to six months.

Scarlett-This district is better adapted for stock raising than wheat growing.
Coarse graine are a sure crop; barley never failing. From ten acres sown last spring
W'ith grass seed, one and a-half tons of pure timothy hay per acre was mowed. Five
months.

Sirett-A conAidorable portion of this district is and always will be in a wild
state, but is excellent pasturage, making the district well adapted for stock raising or
lairying. Young stock'do well in the woods as soon as the snow disappears. FIve

10 six monthm.
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Tookey-Cattle and sheep do remarkably well in this district.
McEachern- I consider that stock raising could be profitably conducted in this

vicinity, as grasses of every kind grow very abundantly, and are not affected by the
summer drought on account of the abundance of water and the moist nature of the
soil; also, at present, there is a large area of beaver meadow that would afford pasture
in summer, and if the hay was properly cured, make splendid winter fodder. About
six months winter.

Fluker-I consider this district second to none in Ontario for stock raisingpurposes: we have large natural meadows dotted all over the country, which are of
great assistance to the new settler in keeping his stock.

McKenzie-Yes; sheltered five months; fed six months. Sheep farming could
be carried on very profitably, but is precluded by the presence of wolves, lor the
destruction of which there is no bounty.

County of Victoria.

McLaren-As the hay crop is one of the best, and beaver meadows are
numerous, it is ; seven months.

Fell-The land being high and dry, and tolerably well watered by streams
and springs, it is well adapted for stock raising; six months.

Staples--This will undoubtedly eventually become a stock raising district; six
months.

lastings-Stock can be kept here during winter cheaper than in the County of
York.

McLaughlin, Spring, Hovey and Ragin-The district is well adapted for stock
raising; six months.

County of Perth.

Jones, McDermott, Rutherford and Ford-Yes ; between five and six months.
Cleland-This district best adapted for dairying purposes, combined Iwith stock

raising[; five and a half months; ten cheese factories in operation.

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Langton and Blomfield-Well suited to stock raising, particularly sheep; fromt
four to six months.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman, Coburn, Culbertson, Black and Sparling-Yes; from five to six monthsý
Mansell-Not very good; six months.
Bellefeuille--Middling ; six months.

County of Peterborough.

lartte---Yes; six months.E
Spragg--The long winter of six months is a drawback.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Levesque, Pagé, Martel, Woods, Shields, Robitaille, Cornellier and Gauthier-
Yes ; from five to seven months.

Boni---Since the soil naturally produces abundance of hay, and in certain of the
more mountainous parts it is only harvested, this section is well adapted' for stock
raising.
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paly---No; it being necessary to feed and keep stock under shelter six months.
Neveux--No; six or seven months.

County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth, Munro, Filion, Meckles and McCallum---Yes; from five to six months;
,Ioun tains afford excellent pastures.

McArthur---Yes; all this region is well adapted for the purpose, and any money
mcade here is made by stock raising. It is a fine butter section ; six months.

County of Montcalm.

Wm. Copping, McCarthy, Green, Lepine and J. G. Copping--Yes ; from five ta
ýjx mionthis.

County of Chanplain.
Beaudry---Yes; six months.
Houle-No ; six and a half to seven months.

County .of Vaskinonge.

Ferrow, Julien and Bayeur--Yes; from five and a half to seven months.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin-Good stock raised here; about seven months. Duhamel and Ellard.
Not very well adapted for stock raising. Winter rather long; about six months.

-District of Three Rivers.

Neault-Yes; six and one-half months.

Prince Edu-ard Island.
.Mutch, MeNeill, McEachern, Brown, Smith, McGregor, Callaghan, Doyle, Mc-

Phail, Martin, Murphy, Tuplin, Lea, Robertson and Beaton-Yes; from five to seven
months.

McKinnon-Good deal of labour to raise stock.
Carroll-Not very well adapted for stock raising, as shelter and food must be

provided for six or seven, and sometimes eight months.
Sutherland-Soil rather dry; seven or seven and one-half months.
Doughort-Winter too long; five to six months.
McKenzie-No; six or seven months.

Manitoba.
Hall, Morgan, Harlow and Taylor-Yes; from five to six months.
Mackercher, Waddell, Robertson and McLean-Yes; as hay is easily got and

'ery plentiful, stock generally is very healthy. Five months for young stock, but
six months feeding is the usual time. Stock does better with good warm shelter.

TIMBER IN VARIOUS DISTRICTS.

Question 7. What proportion of the District is timbered, and would you describe
the various kinds and to what extent lumbering is carried on?

ONTARIO.

County of Bastings.
Answers to Messieurs

Norman and Gunter-About two-thirds with cedar, ash, beech, hemlock, bireh,
Ptfe,tamarae, maple and elm. Lumberinz limited.
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Nugent-From the Township of Madoc north to the Ottawa, pine, cedar. maple
birch, basswood, ash, hemlock, black oak and elm; until the last two years many
firms were engaged in lumbering chiefly in pine and cedar.

Tait, Ray, Carswell, Bennett, Kavanagh, Bentley and Parkhurst-A good Ipor-
tion of the district is timbered with pine, beech, maple, basswood, elm, hemlock, oak
ironwood, &c. Lumbering carried on to a considerable extent, affording, in many
instarces, an excellent market for farm produce.

Cleake-There are extensive groves of pine, but the best portions have been cut
for market. The hardwood consists of maple, beech, birch, elm, basswood, ash, &c.,
with a servicable quantity of cedar. The hardwood.is large sound and serviceable, but
there being no means of transit it is destroyed when the land is being cleared.
Lumbering decreasing annually.

Wilson-District pretty well cleared ; in the north about 20 ou 30 miles largt
pine limits exist, and a large amount of lumbering is donc about three miles fronm
'Amable. Timber same as in last answer.

Lake-Hardwood and pine along the lakes and streams.
Menzies-One-sixth timbered with pine, the remainder with maple, elm, bass-

wood and birch.
Hamilton-Townships very generally timbered with pine, nmple, beech, birch,

basswood, hemlock, spruce, tamarac, ash and elm. Lumbering disappearing. Fires
have been more destructive than the axe.

Electoral District of Muskoka.

Begg-The Township of McMurrich is timbered with mixed wood : black and
white birch, inaple, tamarac, spruce, &c. Pine is scarce, and of poor quality. iNc
lumbering.

Koyl, Sharpe, Doherty, Ashdown, Sirett, White, Davidson, Burgess, Mclurray,
Tookey, Brown, Tait, Johnston, Fluker, Brooks, Wilcock, S. and J. Armstrong,
IDobbin, Fraser, Ballantine, Starratt, Beatty, Hill and Jarvis-The greater portion of
the district is timbered with pine, beech, maple, ash, elm, hemlock, birch, basswood.
oak, ironwood, &c. On swampy land there are cedar, tamarac, pine, balsami and
spruce; on hilly land, birch, maple, beech and hemlock ; on the level land the timber
is more mixed. In some townships lumbering is carried on very extensively, and in
some degree in all the townships; it is particularly extensive near the Georgian Bay.
Lunbermen afford a good local market for fari produce.

Scarlett, Parker and Lalor-Timber as in last an-wer, but no lumbering.
Ewing-About four-fifths still under timber; beech, maple, birch, hemlock, ash,

ironwood, pine in groves, spruce, cedar, oak and basswood, Marketable timbei
nearly all gone ; square timber, saw logs and soine oak still taken out.

McEachern---In this township (Spence) there is more or less pine scattered ali
over, under license to the Maganatewan Lumbering Co. Other timber is abundant.

Best-Mixed timber covers the whole district; very little lumbering carried on;
not any more pine, in many sections, than is required for use of settlers.

McKetizie---Wholly timbered with various kinds. No lumbering at present7
cannot be successfully carried on but for local purposes.

Ross-District well timbered with pine and oak.

County of Victoria.

McLaren, Fell, McLaughlin, Spring and Reagin--About two-thirds of the district
is timbered with birch, beech, hemlock, cedar, pine, tamarac, elm, &c. Pine is
rapidly disappearing. Lumbering has been for a considerable time past, and is nOWr
extensively carried on.

Staples-Three-fourths of this township (Bexley) is timbered with some kinds
as in last answer, with black beech and butternut. The best has nearly all gone toi
market. Six steam sawmills in the neighbourhood.
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HRastings-In the Free Grant lands are maple, beech, birch, b.tNwood anI con-
siderable pine. Lumbering largely carried on.

Hlovey--About one-half timbered with various kinds. Pine nearly ail gone.

County of Perth.

Jones-One-fifth. Beech, maple, ash, cedar, elm, pine and hemlock.
McDermott--One-tenth with hardwood. Lumbering very limited.
Rutherford-Timber nearly all gone; only sufficient left for firewood and

domestic purposes.
Ford-No timber only for home use.
Cleland-About one-fifth of Township of Wallace is in bush, timbered with pine,

cedar, black ash, &c. Eleven sawmills in township. Best timber all used up.

Provisional County of Raliburton.

Langton-This municipality, consisting of the Townships of Anson, Lutterworth
and Hindon, is well timbered with fine maple, beech, birch, and some cedar. Some
four years ago, lumbering was extensively carried on; but, owing to the depression,
there is not much doing now.

Blomfield-The whole country is thickly timbered with beach, 'maple, birch,
hemlock, basswood, wormwood, and some elm, cedar, &c. From 50,000 to 100,000
standard logs, and from 200,000 to 500,000 feet square timber annually.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman-Timber of all kinds is becoming scarce; no lumbering in this
vicinity.

Coburn-Bush fires have swept this district of the valuable timber it once
possessed; pine is the timber principally used and, including what is done on the
Quebec side opposite here, it is extensively manufactured into saw-logs and square
timber.

Mansell, Culbertson, Black, Bellefenille, and Sparliig-About one fouith of the
district is still timbered with various hardwoods, with some cedars, spruce and
balsam. Pine is becoming searce; very little lumbering carried on now.

County of Peterborough.

lartle--This is a well-timbered district, one-half hardwood and one-half pine;
considerable lumbering.

County of Bruce.

Allen and Spragg-All timbered with maple, beech, hemlock, cedar and pine;
Ilimbering limited.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Levesque, Martel, Daly, Woods, Robitaille, Cornellier, and Gauthier-A portion
of the district is timbered with pine, spruce, hemlock, birch, sugar maple, &c.;
umbering operations carried on principally in the unsettled parts; just now that
mIdustry is dull.

Pagé-Plenty of timber up the Matawa and Manawen ; lumbering operations
limited just now.
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Boni --Seven-eighths of the parisl1 (St. Emmelie) is magnificently wooded
with inuple, black birch, pine, spruce, elm, basswood. hemlock, &c.; lumbering is
carried on extensively on the Black and Assomption River.

McCarthy--The mountainous parts of the district are timbered with useful
woods of various kinds; considerable lumbering.

Shields--In the back parishes pine and spruce abound; lumbering' stopped
owing to hard times.

Neveux-There is a large extent of wooded country here owned principally bylumbermen; we have all woods but pine.

County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth and McCallum-Two thirds of the land is timbered with various
kinds of wood. but all the pine being eut lumbering is not much carried on here.

Munro-About nine-tenths is timbered with pile, spruce, hemlock, elm, ash,
cedar, birch, maple, and some oak; about 75,000 pine logs eut annually on River
Rouge.

Filion-In the rear townships several firms do a large lumbering business.
G. and R. Meikle--Distriet well timbered with hard and soft woods.
McArthur.-Half the land is under timber, chiefly hardwood; hills are timbered

'with spruce of which several thousand logs are floated to Lachute every spring.

County of Montcalm.

Wm. Copping and G. Copping-Considerable timber of various kinds eau be
found, but the best has been eut; not much lumbering now.

Green -About one-half is covered with birch, beech, maple, spruce and hemlock;
considerable lumbering.

Lepine-Maple, birch, and white spruce.

County of Champlain.

Beanidry-About one-half of the occupied land and three-fourths of the uncleared
land are bush. All kinds of hardwood is to be found, and also the merchantable
timber-pine, spruce, &c., which is largely manufactured in the district, and whieh
furnishes nearly one-third of the sawn and other lumber of our Province.

County of Maskinonge.

Ferrow-Large portion is wooded.
Julien and Bayeur-One-third is timbered with maple, birch, ash, pine, balsam,

oak, tamarac, white spruce, cedar, &c. Considerable lumbering in sawlogs and
square timber.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin--Timber nearly all taken off by lumberers and settlers; that left
embraces all kinds.

Duhamel-About one-half the district is timbered with pine, oak, tamarac, cedar,
maple and birch. About 4,000 logs eut last season are to be taken to market from'
the Gatineau.

Ellard-The greater portion of this district is timbered, and lumbering i

extensively carried on.

District of Three Rivers.

Neault-Greater portion wooded with timber peculiar to Canada.
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Mutch., McEachern, Brown & Robertson-Not much timber left, and consequently
very little lumbering done.

McNeill-About one-fourth of the district is still forest, principally beech, birch,
maple, spruce and fir.

Smith-Almost, every farmer has timber growing on his own farm for fuel and
fencing; principally spruce, fir, hemlock, maple and pine.

McKinnon-One-half, principally small growth hard and soft woods suited for
ship timber, boards, firewood, fence-poles, &c.

McGregor-Timber nearly all gone; firewood so scarce that many are using
coal.

Carroll-One-half of Lot No. 6 is covered with soine kind of timber, much of
which is of no value; some deals are sawn and shipbuilding done, but lumbering is
not carried on to any great extent.

Callaghan, Sutherland, Doyle, Doughort, MePhail, Martin, McKenzie, and
Beton-About one-third is timbered, of which one fifth is the original growth ; birch,
maple, beach, spruce, fir, pine, &c., Not much lumbering done.

Murphy-One-sixth is timbered.
Lea-Spruce, fir and hemlock are sawn, but the supply does not near meet the

demand; considerable lumber is imported.

MANITOBA.

Hall and Morgon, Headingly----Only a small portion of district is wooded; no
lumbering done here; up the Assiniboine considerable is done.

Macketcher, Waddell, Harlow, Robertson, and MeLean, Rosseau--Along the
Rousseau River are belts of timber from a few rods to a mile wide. These contist of
tamarac, spruce, pine, poplar, cotton-wood, hemp-log, &c., to a considerable extent,
but chiefly oak. There is plenty of lumber for present requirements; no lumbering

"done, though the natural advantages for it are good.

ADVANTAGES AND FACILITIES FOR SETTLEMENT ON FARMS.

Question 8-Are the soil, climate and other natural advantages conducive to sue
aesful farming, and what inducements are held out to tenant farmers and others of
moderate means to procure partially improved farms, and can you cite any instances
of imdividual success in this respect in your locality ?

ONTARIO.

County of Bastings.
Answers of Messieurs

Norman-Climate, favorable; soil, medium.
Nugent-The soil produces abundantly. Partially improved farms can be

obtained cheap from men who, coming here without experience, have got tired of
farming. Some men without capital, but with experience, are doing well.

Gunter-The soil and climate are both conducive to successful farming.
Imiproved farms can be bought for $400 or $500. One-half of the wbole population
have made themselves comfortable.

Tait, Lake, Kavanagh, Bentley and Parkhurst-Yes; soil, though stony, is
good, and the climate is healthy. Some partially improved farms are to be pro-
Cured reasonably; district is free grant; settlers doing tolerably well.

Munro--Same answer. Twelve years ago I came to this district without any-
thing, and I have now three hundred acres of land and a good stock.

Bennett-Same answer. I know of no man, who minded his farm and kept
fromn whiskey, but has succeeded. Many are doing well who came here without
rIeanS.
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Cleake-The climate is much the same here as elsewhere in Canada; the season
for work is but very little later in the spring or earlier in the fall, and the little
difference will become less and less noticeable as the country becomes improved
The whole district is remarkably well watered, and completely salubrious. With
regard to tenant farmers, as the land is patented under the Free Grant system, there
is very little demand for rented farms, but they can easily obtain partially improved
farms on very moderate terms. Some settlers occupy rented farms for a season or
two, until they can locate themselves satisfactorily.

Wilson-I have been used to market gardening in England, and I have paid there
£4 per acre rent for worse land than I now occupy. Not many farms to rent, for.
each occupier desires to keep his farm. The district is well watered.

Ray-The district is better adapted for grazing than general farming. Tenant
farmers would do well, as there are a number of places to rent.

Menzies-Yes; partially improved flarms can be purchased from $200 to $800.
Hundrods of individuals are now well off who came here with $50 to begin with.

Hamilton-Soil, light, sandy loam, easy of caltivation: soda abounds in it. No
place for tenant farmers. A man with moderate means can easily procure an
improved farni.

Electoral District of Muskoka.

Begg-The soil is fertile, climate favorable, and the locality suitable for success-
ful farming and stock raising. Settlers appear well satisfied.

Royal, Sharpe, Ashdown, Sirett, _Davidhon, Burgess, McMurray, Johnston,
Fluker, Dobbin, Fraser, Ballantine, Hill and Ross-Yes. Soi], fertile; climate,
healthy; good yields; good markets in most places, and fair roads. All thrifty
settlers have succeeded To men with moderate means there are good inducements
with from $.30 to $1,000. The most of the land being free grants, there is not much
renting done, for every one can gt a lot for himself by performance of settlement
duties. This district can be made a profitable farming district, particularly if the
farmers turn their attention to stock-raising.

Scarlett The soil here is of a sandy and clay loam in different places. Climate
same as that of of Toronto. A farm, with about 25 agres of cleared land on it, and
well fenced, can be obtained for from $500 to $1,000.

Doherty-Yes. Experience, application and energy will ensure success. Good
inducements to men having from $200 to $500.

Ewing-In this district there is every variety of soil from heavy clay on the
flats and lowlands to light gravel on the heights and ridges. Climate, the finest in
the world; mild winters and cool summers. The majority owning their own land;
tenant farming has not been tried as yet. Improved fhrms with clearances of 20 or

30 acres, could be purchased fro £50 to £400.
Parker-Answer same as last. I know men who located here some years ago,

and who had to hire out the first year, but who now have 30 or 40 acres cleared, good
buildings, and 10 or 12 head of cattle; others, with means and without experience,

have failed.
White-Same answer. A Mr. Fetterly came in here ten years ago with six of a

family and $2 capital, and is now worth $3,000 or $4,000.
Tookey-Soil, sandy loam, and climate good. Parties having $500 or $1,000 can

procure improved farms to advantage. Industry, perseverance and sobriety ensure
success.

McEachern-At present there is not much inducement to tenant farmers, as all
the lands are held under the Free Grant Act, which does not permit leasing to advan-
tage. The soil is very productive when pr<.perly cultivated, and all the settlers whe
have been thrifty and industrious are prosperous and comfortable.

Brown-District too new for any but actual settlers. Those who came here
with some means are doing remarkably well.
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Tait-The general aspect of the country is rough and rolling, the soil varies so.
much, that it is difficult to give a correct idea of it. Climato exceedingly healthy.
Parties with some means are the most suitable class for this district now.

Brooks-The long winters are the only drawbacks. It costs $20 to clear and
fence an acre, the land being free grant, any one take up a location for himself.

Best-Soil, clay loam; climate, healthy. All lands are free grant.
Wilcock-Soil, various; climate, good. Harvest is two weeks earlier than some

parts of Grey County, 100 miles south.
Lalor-Yes; I do not think an emigrant would do well to settle here as a tenant

farmer unless he got a clearance near his location, so that he could have that while
clearing his own location. This being a young district there are not many farms in
the market, If a tenant farmer from the British Isles purchased a farm he could
have advantages which pioneers lack, viz., roads, schools, post ofhie, a market and
more help. There is also the advantage of having neighbours by whose experience
he can profit. There are two brothers, not two miles from here, who came in about
six years ago, one of whom was the owner of an axe and about fifteen dollars, he bas-
now a good clearance, dwelling and outbuildings, and a fair stock. The other brother
had nothing but a stout heart, a willing mind and a good pair of hands; he also now
has a good clearance, dwelling and outbuildings, and a fair stock. I know of others
who live at a greater distance off who are also successful.

S. and L. Armstrong--Yes; new settlers being able to procure locations of their
own, this being a free grant district (o not care to lease. This will be done in the
future, however, and we think successfully.

Saratt-Same answer. Any farms for sale are at too great a price.
Beatty-Soil in general clay loam, some parts mixed. Being a free grant district

there are no tenant farmers.
Jarvis-Soil and climate fair. No inducements to tenant farmers, locatees not

being permitted to sell.
McKenzie-Soil light alluvial with usual vegetable mould. Climate unsurpassed

on continent for healthiness. Men with moderate mueans and ordinary energy and
good judgment will succeed. The failures have been men plus money minus brains
and activity.

County of Victoria.

McLaren-Climate, good; fall wheat can be grown which will sell for within one
cent per bushel the price in the Toronto markets. Men with very limited means
have become wealthy within the last ten or twelve years; free grants can be pur-
chased for $100 to $200 within eight or ten miles of the village of Sheddon.

Fell, Staples and Spring-Yes; some parts are stony, but the soil and climate are
good; industry and prudence ensure success; numbers around here have succeeded
admirably, and from small beginnings have vastly bettered their circumstances.

Hastings-Climate and soil are good ; the land is too mach neglected by settlers
working with lumbermen; men of moderate means can easily procure good partially
improved farms.

McLaughlin--Cannot be considered a successful farming district; partially
improved farms can be bought from $800 to $1,500.

lovey- -Soil and climate suitable for farming purposes, the drawback being the
large number of stones; not many tenant farmers here, but these are doing well.

IReagin---Soil and climate good; inducements are low rents, good markets and
cheap lands partially cleared. There are various persons in the county who ten years
ago had not enough money to buy a cow, but who now have everything around them
Comfortable, and are worth from $3,000 to $10,000.

County of Perth.

. Jones and Rutherford-Yes; farms can be rented reasonably, and several begira
g in that way have afterwards purchased for themselves.
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McDermott-Yes; farmers here who are industrious are successful.
Ford-Our farmers are a most successful class.
Cleland-With partial draining the soil is well suited' for raising ail kinds of

crops. Tenant farmers who can stock a farm of 100 acres will succeed.

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Laughton-As the country is broken up by ridges of rock and a good deal of th e
land is stony it requires a man who is industrious, persevering and economical to be

-successful. Such settlers have succeeded. Squatters are ready to sell them small
improvements at any time for small amounts.

Bloomfield (for Can. Emmi., Com.)-Yes; although the season is somewhat
shorter than at the "front," the soil is fit for the plough on the disappearance of the
snow ; from its friable character and from the fact that there is littie or no frost in the
ground, nature has provided a soil suitable to the climate. A heavy Clay soil would
be wasted in our district. The country is well watered by beautiful lakes and innumer-
able streams. We do not improve lots for sale. We tried this plan on a small scale
by putting up log houses and elearing a few acres but found it a failure. Oppor-
tunities are offered of buying out some of our original settlers. Some few old country.
men have succeeded well, but, as a rule, our most successful farmers have come from
older settled districts. Any real farmer can succeed if he is industrions, and he need
no longer fear the want of markets or that the settlement will be deserted on the
departure of the lumbermen.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman, Coburn, Mansell, Culbertson and Sparling-Yes; partially improved
farms can be obtained reasonably. Men can secure good situations with $ 1,000 or
$1,500. German settlers have done well.

Black -Soil is very goodt but summer season is rather short for suceessfu
farming.

Bellefeuille-Soil generally poor. No tenant farmers.

County of Peterborough.

Hartle--Yes; partially inproved favm reasonable. Many settlers who have
,purchased irnprovements have succeeded.

County of Bruce.

Spragg-Soil and climate good.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

N Levesque-The whole district is more or less adapted for cultivation. Land
partially improved are reasonably dear. Some who came here with scarcely ten dollar
are now worth from $4,000 to $12,000.

Pagé, Martel, Robitaille and Cornellier-Yes; settlers have succeeded well
Partially improved and can be procured at a moderate sum. Good farms sell for $1,000
and upwards.

Bonin-Soil, fertile; climate, advantageous. A number who came from the old
parishes wit'. out any means of subsistence are now in easy circumstances.

Daly- -The soil, with some exceptions, is good; the unsettled portions are some'
what inferior. The winter is long and cold.

Woods-Soil varies.
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Neveux-Unsettled land does not offer much inducement to settlers. Men wit h
small means frequently succeed.

Gauthier-Soil a yellow loam mixed with sand. Climate cold but healthy.
people are long.lived. Land partly cleared not dear.

County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth-Any industrious farmer may attain comfortable circumstances. All
occupants are proprietors.

Munro-Soil and climate are good. Partially improved farms can be procured
on good terms. Settlers have done well, and generally commenced without means.

Filion-The county is favourable to tenant farmers for whilst renting a farm
they can purchase a bush lot and improve it during their s pare time.

G. & R. Meikle-Three-fourths of our farmers prove that an industrious settler
can make a comfortable living.

McCallum-Soil, good; climate, healthy. Not much renting done. Small im-
provements can be reasonably procured.

McArthur-Farming can be successfully conducted. N ot many farms rented,
but tenants appear to do as well as the proprietors. Some improved farms for sale.

County of Montcalm.

McCarthy, Green and Lepine-Yes ; tenant farmers or others, with moderate
means, can easily make a good living if willing to work. Most of the settlers came
here poor, but those who have been thrifty and saving are now well off.

J. G. Copping-Farms rather rough and stony.

County of Champlain.

Beaudry-All economical and industrious settlers can become independent in a
few years, and there are many instances of this in the district. The soil and climate
are favourable to the cultivation of all grains and vegetables. Over and above his
crop the settler has the timber on his land and the advantage of employment in the
large lumbering establishments.

Houle-Soi, good; climate, bad ; frosts frequent; land cbeap.

County of Alaskinonge.

Ferron-An emigrant to succeed must settle on land covered with standing
timber and work upon it. Land is cheap.

Julien and Bayeur-Climate and soil are tolerably favourable for farming. Many
have succeeded who began with nothing. Improved farms can be bought for $10 to
$20 per acre.

Count y of Ottawa.

Aylwin-Soil sandy and heavy clay. Renting farms would hardly pay, as it
takes aIl a man can raise to make a living.

Duhamel-Yes. If we had railway facilities our district would equal any part
of the Province of Quebec, and be superior to the Province of Manitoba.

Ellard---S(il and climate good; ail engaged in farming are successful according
to their diligence. Partially improved farms can be purchased on moderate terms.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Mutch, McNeill, McEachern, Brown, Beanon, Callaghan, Sutherland, Doyle,
McPhail, Tuplin, McKenzie, Lea and Beaton-The soil and climate are such as to
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make farming successful with industry and forethought. There are no natural
impediments. ,There are not many farms either for sale or to rent. Land usually
sells at from $10 to $40 per acre, according to location. Partially improved farm
may occasionally be purchased on good terms. A goodly number who commened
with but little means have made themselves comfortable. A railway through the
island has recently been constructed. We have good roads, a free educational
.system, and local weekly newspapers.

MeKinnon--Soil of medium quality; winter season for four months very cold
four months moderate, and four months very warm. Settlers generally have to work
hard for fifteen or twenty years, and then are very lucky if independent.

McGregor---The soil is not good, as in other parts of the island. Few farms
change hands, but when they do the price is $20 or $40 per acre. There are seven
brick yards in the western part of the district, which consume all the wood farmers
can supply.

Carroll---No. Not much inducement to tenant farmers; very few farms
jor sale. '

Doughort-Soil easily cultivated, but not rich. Partially improved f arms can
be bought for about $600 per 100 acres. Old country farmers succeed well.

Martin---Yes. The expense of getting lime or mussel mud to the interior by
rail or cart is the greatest drawback to tuccessful farming. Some here could not
keep their farms; others have redeemed therm in a few years, with very little capital
to begin with.

Robertson--The extreme length of winter is a drawback. A few farms can be
.rented moderately. A good number have succeeded.

MANITOBA.

Hall and Morgan-Soil and climate very favorable. No difficulty in renting a
farm at a reasonable rate. Success is the rule.

Waddell-The fertility of the soil is inexhaustible, and climate favorable.
Mackenher, Harlow and Rodertson---Soil unsurpassed in the world. Climate

,good. Improved farms can be secured on good terms. Farms are rented and worked
on shares also. Success is sure to follow industry and good management.

MEA&NS REQUIRED FOR SETTLEMENT.

Question 9.-What amount of means, in your opinion, ought an immigrant te
have for settlement in your District?

ONTARIO.

Province of Ontario.
Answers of Messieurs

Norman, Nugent, Gunter, Tait, Cleake, Ray, Carswell, Bennett, Kavanagh,
Hamilton and Parkhurst--From $200 to $300; many settlers have got along well
who came here without anything.

Wilsov-A single man requires nothing more tht'n health, a willingness to work,
.a good axe and a jack-knife. A man with a family should have enoagh to carry
through the first season.

Lake--.Money enough to get liere with, good health and a willingness to work.
Bentley-At least $800.

Electoral District of Muskoka

Begg, Koyl, Doherty, Ashdown, Sirett, Parker, White, Davidson, McMarraY
-McEntchern, Brown Johnston, Mluker, Best, Wilcock, Lalor, S. and J. Armstrong,
]Dobbin, Fraser, ýallantine, Starrat and Ross-From $200 to $500. The amount
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necessary depends on the energy of the settler. Settlers shoild bring sufficient to

tide thenm over the first season, or until they can sow a crop. Many have come here
without a dollar and are doing well.

Sharpe--Some came with $5 and are now rich.
Scarlett-Emigrants should bave about £500 sterling, and purchase improved

farms. A Canadian with his axe is better than an emigrant with $500.
Ewing-.Depends much on number and age of familv. As a rile parties coming

with $150 are better off at the end of ten years than one who brings $1,500. Settlers,
of course, should bring all they can, but should not stay away for want of a certain
sum. Many come without a cent and succeed.

Burgess---No steady, industrious working man need fear to face the bush with
even a small amount of cash.

Tookey-No particular amount; some come with considerable and some with
nothing ; all seem to do well.

Tait--Depends upon the economy and energy of the individual; we had only
nine months' provisions.

Brooks-Enough to do the first year; say from $400 to $800.
Beatty---Six months' provisions and a few dollars.
HFill-$1 ,00\0.
Jarvis-About $600.
McKenzie-$500 to $700 should establish a man of ordinary energy.

County of Victoria.

Fell, Spring and Reagin-About from $200 to $600, to buy seed, stock, &c.
Staples---The work of this section is altogether unsuited to old country immi-

grants. They should have $1,000 or $1,500, and secure improved farms.
Hastings--From $1,000 to $2,000.

SMcLaughlin--From $600 to $1,000.
IHovey---$2,000.

ounty of Perth.

Jones--81,000.
Rutherford and Ford--$500, and know how to farm.
Cleland--Farms can be boaght here for from $2,000 to $4,000.

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Langton--$200 to $400. Improved farms can be bought from $100 to $1,500.
Blomfield--,A farmer with £400 can do well.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman, Mansell, Culbertson, and Sparling---From $1,000 to $2,000.
Coburn-If he bas brain, muscle, industry and perseverence, and, above alil,

sobriety, not a great amount of means is required.
Black--Cleared or partially improved farms are usually sold from $10 to $20 per

~aere.

County of Petérborough.

HIartley,-From $200 to $500.

County of Bruce.

Allen..-$2ß00.
Spragg--At least enough to keep them over the first year.
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County of Joliette.

Levesque and Pagé- -Enough to support himself and family on cleared land for
year, and more if he settles on uncleared land.

Martel, Boivin, Daly and Shields--From $200 to $500.
Cornellier--In the new parishes $500 or $600 is a sufficient sum to succeed with,
Neveux-To establish himself advantageously, from $1,000 to $1,200.

County of Argenteuil.

Munro, McCallum and McArthur---A few hundred dollars would do much towards
giving an immigrant a start. Many have come here aad succeeded with very litt le
means.

Stanforth--One year's provisions, if going on bush land.
Filion--If an emigrant can support his family for the first year on a new farna,

be will do very well.
G. and R. Meikle---An emigrant having $600 can get along comfortably.

County of Montcalm.

McCarthy---Judging by myself, very little means will do.
Green-On free grants, enough to carry them through the first year.
Lepine-$1,000, in some cases less would do.
J. G. Copping-At least $200.

County of Champlain.

Beaudry-Prom $300 to $400.
Houle-About $500.

County of Maskinongé.

Ferron-An emigrant who can work can succeept with $300 to $400.
Julien and Bayeur-From $1,000 to $2,000.|

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin-A man with a family should have $60, a yoke of oxen, and one year's
provisions.

Duhamel-400 or $500.
Ellard-An industrious settler can make a good start with $150 or $200.

.District of Three Rivers.

Neault-At least $2,000.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

Mutch, McNeil, McEachern, Brown, MeKinnon, Carroll, Callaghan, Sutherland,
Doughort, MePhail, Martin, Murphy and McKenzie-From $1,000 to $5,000.

Smith-An immigrant can get 100 acres of improved land for $1,000 or $1,500,
withbuildings, and sixty acres cleared. A horse costs $80; a cow, $15 to $20,
and a sheep, $2.

McGregor-Land can be obtained in some townships from the Government o1
very favourable terns.
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Doyle-The greater the capital the more the improvements~; and, consequently,
the sooner independent.

Taplin-From $4,000 to $6,000. In somo localities mucli less will do.
Lea, Robertson and Beaton-From $100 to $1,000 would start an immigrant

comfortably.
MANITOBA.

Hali, McKercher and HIarlow-About $1,000.
Morgan-If he wished to buy a partially improved farm, foin $1,500 to $3,000.
Waddell-A practical farmer with any sum over $800, can soon inakbe himself a

confortable home. I came hcre two years ago, and have since then expended $1,500;
have now $500 worth of crop, a good frame house, lath and plastered, two cows, two
largo yoke of oxon, and eighty acres feniced and ready to sow.

McLcan-About $800 does to get a good start.

GENERAL INFORMATION.

Question 10.- State generally any information of interest to intendirig immi-
grants, and state the difficulties they would be likely to meet with in settlement in
your district?

ONTARIO.

County of Ilastings.

RNugent, Tait, Clak, Ray, Bentley, and Mcnzies----Tbe bad roads are the princi-

pat difficulties with which settlers have to contend. The want of railway communi-
catioi is another great drawback to the settlement of the eountry.

Gunter---Discontentment is the greatest difficulty.
Wilson ---A settler should come into the bush not later than the middle of

September, that ho may build a shanty and do some underbrushing before winter
sets in. From the 1st April till the middle of winter anyone Can get work am ong
the present settlers. Immigrants sbould not bc advisec to stay at the front for a
year or two, but sent right into the bush where they eau find ready employment and
gaI experience.

Carswell---An industrious man ean get along well.
Bonnett-WTant cf knowledge cf fariming.
Kavanagh----Immigran ts should purchase improved farins.
lamilton----Immigrants from Europe should bring warm elothing, pienty of

biedding with them. Provisions eau be had here ini the fali and winter muonths, bu t
nlot in summer. Colonization roads obviate many difficulties.

Prkhurst---Same answer. Perseverence and pluck may overcoine every diffi-

Electora/ District oJ lua/koka.

B3egg, Koyi, Sharpe, Brooks, Balilantine, Starral, Beatty and Riss---Bad roads
thechief difficultv. These are being improved every year. iailway communica-
hon is rather distant. With hardv work and economy, however, any ene ean make a
good living.

-Doherty---Two difficulties with immigrants are the subduing of old country
nide and leaving the ways of the countrv.

Searlett and Mackenzie----One great difficulty is the want of a propei reliable
fuide in the townships to show settlers to their destination and tell them what they

actually requir.e. This would be the means of saving the settler much unnecessary
UXense, and also put a stop to the bad reports trequenty sent home of the bad
lcueption thev met with.



Ashdown.---As little freight as possible should be brought, for goods can be
bought reasonably here. The black flies on bush lots are a drawback, but they
decrease as the land becomes cleared.

Sirett--Every adult is entitled to a frec grant of land. Excellent water abounds
and the climate is rmarkably healthy; good demand for labour; grain is plentiful,
Ail the difficulties can be surmounted by industry, perseverance and sobricty.

Ewing----An immigaant should be young, strong, healthy, of good courage
acustomed to and not afraid of hard work. Such an one is sure to succeed.

White---Want of experience. There are good roads and plenty of available lands.
Burgess-Hard work, hoiely fare, roigh roads, no churches, lack of schools,

no doctors, hence no sickness.
McMurrav--Since roads were built difficulties are very few.
Tookey--The stringent means of the Local Government in regard to timber on

the Free Grant lands keep back many settlers. The Government should give full
control of their farms, and then settlers with a better heart cin contend against tiej
natural difficulties.

McEachern-The only difficulty is the heavy expense of coming in during the
early part of spring on account of bad roads. The best ways to reach here are by
Gravenhurst and Rousseau or via Parry Sound.

Brown-The great disadvantage is the broken nature of the country, the good
land lying in patches divided by rocky ridges-devoid of sufficient soil for cultivation.

Tait-The erection of a large tannery at Bracebridge this coming summer will
create a demand for labour, and also require 3,000 cords of hemlock bark annually.
A large amount of Government money is to be expended this coming summer by the
Government on the roads. No lime is a great drawback, as wheat cannot profitably
be raised without it.

Fluker -The construction of a colonization road has removed all the difficulties.
Best-Settlers should arrive in August or early in September.
S. & J. Armstrong-Black flies two months in the year, deep snow in the winter

arc the difficulties they appear greater the first year than ever afterwards. To old
settlers they are not diffieulties at all.

Fraser---The greatest trouble with immigrants is the choice of site.
HIill-Immigrants should be careful to invest in something without delay, that

would bring the best and quickest returns, in clearing if on bush land, and sheep
raising if on improved land.

County of Victoria.

Fell----Emigrants who make up their minds to put up with hardships for a tiue
will succecd.

Hastings---Immigrants como out too poor,and after locating have to work out to
make a living, thus neglecting their farms , they then soon become discontented.

McLaughlin----To the sober and industrious, with a little means, there are nU
difficulties..

Hovey-The scarcity of well wooded farms is the chief drawback.
Rteagin-Perfornaace of certain duties entitles a settler to a frce grant. No.

difficulties to the saving and industrious. Schools and good roads.

County of Perth.

Ford-Wages good for good mon and female domestic servants; hard work.
Cieland-A man with the nccessary means, willing to work, need fear io difficultY

Provisional County of Haliburton.

Langton-1f immigrants have sufficient means to make a small clearing, creut a
house, and are willing to work, difficulties are not many or serious.
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Blomfild-No difficulties other than those peculiar to a bush life. All the neces-
sarios can be procured in Haliburton where there are good stores, churches and

ools. Roads are now good. Employment can always be found.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman-Good markets for all grain are found either at Pembroke or sone of
thie lumbering shanties on the Upper Ottawa.

Coburn-A man, if he intends following farming. should get on the farm as soon
possible.

Mansell-Industrious immigrants can do well, mechanies and artizans are not
suited to the locality.

Bellefeuille-No difficulties; good roads and close to markets.
Sparling-A settler with sufficient will not meet with many difficulties.

County of Brure.

Sp)ragg-lHard work the only difficulty.

QUEBEC.

Coun(y of Joliette.

Levesque-Irishmen who have settled in the hilly portions of this district are
now tolerably well off.

Pigé-The unsettled districts are 60 or '0 miles to the north of here, but there
s a good road all through it.

Martel--Want of means.
Bonin-Settlers too poor to clear their lands, and, consequently, not able to do

nuch ; would dispose of their land, upon which houses, barns, &c., had been erected,
theap. With perseverence and industry it is easy to secure a good establishment aIt
ltle cost.

Daly-The difficulties are in finding work and good work to settle on.
Woods-The land is bad, rough, strong and hilly.
Cornellier-Grain and wood sell well. The North Shore and Laurentian Rail-

wvay will greatly develope this part of the Province. The greatest difficulty is the
onig winter.

Neveux-
41authier-Chief difficulty, distance from market.

County of Argenteuil.

Munro and McCallum-The main difficulties are the want of roads and bridges.
Filion-Cleaning the forest is a great difficulty; every immigrant must learn to

beo an1 axeman.
.McArthur-Immigrants should certainly hire for a year with a farmer before

Utthing for themselves, thus adding to their means, and learning how to farm in
anajda.

County of Jontcalm.

WII. Copping-Mountains too rocky, plains too sandy, but some good valleys.
McCarbty-A man with a little means, industrions and sober, will not meet with

.Iaiiy difficulties.
Green-An immigrant should have a horse and two cows.
Ltpine-Our people are well conducted; we have good sehools. Our roads, with
t Goveriment aid, would be put in good condition.

243

Appendix (No. 6.) A 18 740 Victoria.



Appendix (No. 6.)

County of Champlain.

Beaudry-There are good lots of land for sale on the north side of the river, at a
distance varying from 10 to 20 miles from it, stretching from Three Rivers down.
wards to the district of Quebec. These lands are in general covered with mixed
timber, soft and hard wood. But the great difficulty, and what is always the grand
obstacle to settiement, is the want of roads, and of easy means of communication
vith the interior, particularly in the northern part of the district, where the work of

clearing is most backward for that reason. In fact, it is the rost backward locality
bctween Quebec and Montreal, for, at six miles from the river at this point betweei
the districts of Quebec and Thrce Rivers, we find the forest, which extends as far as
the limits of the Province. There is room there for thousands of settlers, but ac-
climated settlers, and not Europeans, who are not in anyway fitted for clearing the land,
There is abundant proof of this. Our climate does not suit them, and the resuit is
that they do not romain here long. We bring them here, partly at our own expense,
and the benefit is reaped by the United States or Ontario. The best mode of settle.
ment would be to keep the elildren of the soil; they are acclimated, and ask no
botter than to remain in the country, and are in many respects the best settlers.
And what strikes all men of sense is, that we spend money uselessly in this way ii
a gencies, &c., while if they were encouraged to remain bere, they would soon seWe
ou uncleared lands. It would be necessary to furnish poor settlers with all theynced
for a year or two, besides a frec grant of'land.

County of Milaskinonge.

Ferron-Employment easily obtainable froni limbermen.
Julien and Baveur-Wlhen the lumber trade is good, people can get good wages

and steady work. At the present tine linbering is dull, and, consequently, there
is very little work.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin--Ready emplonyment can be got with the lumbermen in the winter.
Duhamel-Good road through lthe country from Hull to River Desert, 100 miles.
Ellard-The only difficulty is the want of roads. Plenty of good land bere for

settlement.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

McNeill----The immigrant settling on the island is never at any distance froim
older settlers. Roads are wherever nceded. No destructive animals in our fores.
Farm labour can always be secured at reasonable rates.

Smith----No difficulties to immigrants with money. Plenty of good stores
churches of every name, and sehools every three miles.

SMcKinnon----IImmigrants eoning here with small means would be obiiged 
take a poor-soil farm, with few advantages.

Callaghan and McPhail-The greatest drawback is the long and cold wintes.
Sutherlaud-Good practical farmers would do well to come here.
McKenzie---An immigrant with a strong family and some mtoney ean live. jl

d[ffieulty iii obtaining manure is a great drawback.
Lea---Greenwood farms can be bouglit at front 50 ets. to $2.50 p acre, am

improved farms at friom $5 to $20 per acre, according to location.
Benton----Living is cheap, taxes light, fair sehools and easily made roads.

MANITOBA.

Hall and Morgan---.No diffleulties. if they have a-littie money and are willing to

work,
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MIackercher----Immigrants coming by Diuluth should beware of dishonest railway
0ficials, and at Fisher's Landing of thrce-card-monte men. At Emerson all farming
lilpl-ements can be reasonably purchased.

W-addell---Immn]igrants should be careful not to be led into buying unnecessary
îings. Only such things as clothing, provisions, grain, lumber, shingles, oxen

,and a few edged tools, should be bought.
Robertson----Immigrants should arrive about the middle of iMay, so as to get

ihoroughly prepared for winter. Cattle and implements enn be obtained reasonably.
liunber, from $18 to $25 per 1,000 feet.

FIsH IN VARIOUS DISTRICTS.

Question 11.----What kind of fish are caught in the rivers and lakes in your
district, and is there a plentifuil supply ?

ONTARIO.

County of Hfastings.
Answers of Messieurs

Norman----Trout and bass; supply limited.
Nugent and Gunter----Speckled trout, salmon and bass are pleniiful.
Cieake----In some loealities brook-trout are plentiful. Red tront of a superla-
.irely fine sort was eanglit in many of the lakes.
Wilson----The lakes and rivers are well stoeked with saluon-trout, speekled-

irout and perch.
Ray----The rivers abound with bass, percb, chub, eels, &c., and the lakes with

tInt of various kinds, bass, &c.
Lake-Trout, perch, eels and white fish.
Carswell and Bennett-Abundance of trout.
Kavanagh, Bentley, Hamilton and Parkhurst-Salmon, trout, bass, perch, and

other small fish are plentiful.
Menzies----Supply of fish good.

Electoral District of -Muskoka.
Sharpe, Doherty, Ashdown, Sirett, Ewing, Parker, White, IDavidson, Burgess,

Mc'Murray, Tookey, McEachren, Tait, Fluker, Best, Lalor, L. & J. Armstrong,
bobbin, Fraser, Starrat, Beatty and Hill--.-The whole district is intersected by lakes
and rivers abounding with all kinds of fish. Brook and salmon trout, white fish,
bass, pickerel, maskinonge, pike, &e., are plentiful in the season.

Begg---Salmon trout, bass, white fish, herring, &c., are tolerably plentiful. Deer
alre to be found in the neighborhood, but are very rapidly exterminated by rapacious
pot hunters and wolves. Severe restrictions should be placed on the former, and a
bounty offered for the scalps of the latter.

Scarlett and Brown----Salmon and speckled trout are caught in large numbers in
sýpring and fall.

Jnston--Lake Mukoka, Lake Rosseau and Lake Joseph abound with salmon,
trout, bass, piekerel, white fish and herrings of the finest quality.

Brooks---There are a good many maskinongce, bass and pickerel in the lakes.
Wilcock---In different lakes the kind raises; some lakes have all kinds plentifully.
Ballantine--Trout the most plentiful and best.
Jarvis, McKenzie & Rioss---Trout, white fish, bass, herrings, perch, &c. Supply

nlot plentiful.

County Victoria.
McLaren & Hastings----Black bass and ling abound; there are aiso trout, white

fish, eels, herrins, &c.
Fell snon ge, bass, &c., supply decreasing.
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Staples--Maskinonge, black bass, perch, eels and small herrings. Lots of suekers
McLaughian-Besides the smaller fish we have salmon trout, maskinonge and

black bass.
Spring and Reagine----Tront, white fish, maskinonge, pickerel, bass, &c., are

plentiful. Lots of game.
Hovey.--Lunge and bass scarce.

County of Perti.

McDermott----Trout and white fish.
Ford----Bass, trout, chubs and shiners, scarce.

Provisional County of Hfaliburton.

Langton--Salmon trout, black bass, eels, herrings, and white fish are plentiful.
Eloomfield----Excellent salmon trout. In the waters of the Madawaska and

Severn are brook trout.

'County of Renfrew.

Coleman and Coburn---A good supply of fish such as pike, pickerel, black bass,
trout, white fish, &c., can bc obtained from our different lakes and rivers.

Mansell, Cuilberton, Black and Bellefeuille--Various kinds, but not plentiful.
Sparling--Mostly pike. Supply pretty good.

County of Peterborough.

larte----Trout and bass, but not very plentiful.

County of Bruce.

Allen---Trout, white fish and herring are plentiful.
Spragg---Plenty of salmon trout and white fish in the lake (Huron). Numerous

small inland lakes abound with pike, bass, sunfish and perch.

QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Levesque -Speckled and grey trout, whité fish and freshi water herring in the
lakes; carps, maskinonge, and pike in the rivers.

Pagé----All kinds. Supply decreasing.
Martel---Great quantities of red or salmon and grey trout.
Bonin and Daly--Trout, pike and white fish not very plentiful.
Woods---Trout, white fish and suckers not plentiful.
Shields and Gauthier-Trout most plentiful.
Robitaille-Trout in small quantities.
Cornellier-In the lakes trout, white fish, and niany other small fish.
Neveux---Carp and trout in small quantities.

County of Argenteuil.

Stamforth and Munro---Trout and pike abound.
Filion--Pike. trout and maskinonge, supply plentiful in rear townships.
G. and R. Meikle, McCallum and McArthur-Trout of différent kinds are

plentiful.
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County of Contcalm.

Wm. Copping--Trout are plentiful.
McCarthy--There is a plentiful supply of fish in our rivers and lakes, white and

red trout, pike, pickerel and white fish abound.
GTreen--Plenity of trout and white fish.
Lepine-Red trout in abundance.
J. G. Copping---Mostly trout.

County of Champlain.

Beaudry-'-Some f' the rivers and lakes abound with pike, maskinonge, mullet
trout, &c.; great profits result from the Tom Cod Fishery, which is carried on froni
the 20th October to the 20th January, on the north shore of the St. Lawrence.

County of Ma.skinonge.

Ferron--Trout, sturgeon and eels.
Julien---Trout and perch in large quantities.
Bayeur--River, lake and salmon trout in abundance.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin, Duhamel and Ellard---Salmon and brook trout, white fish, black bass,
pike, pickerel, &c., are plentiful.

Prince Edward Island.

Mutch--lerrings, trout and salmon.
MeNeill- -Trout; in many of our rivers and bays the finest oysters are fbund in

considerable abundance; along the shore of the district are some of the best fishing
grounds for mackerel, cod, salmon, &c., in the Dominion.

Brown---Trout in most of the rivers, but the supply is docreasing; salmon in the
fll come up the rivers.

Breanon---Salmon, herring, smelt, eels on the sea shore, codfish and nackerel in
ajundance in the summer time; trout in the rivers; fish very plentiful and a first
class market.

M4 cIKinnon--lerring, trout and eels.
McGregor---In their season there are herring, mackerel, alewives, trout, &c., in

the rivers and creeks.
Carroll--Trout, gaspereaux, ecl and a few salmon; supply limited.
Callaghan--Mackorel, codfish and herring in great abundance during the suminer

seasonl, also bass and trout in Miminigash River.
Sutherland---Codfish and mackerel are caught off the coast in large quantities,

viUjous other kinds in the rivers.
Doyle---Trout, salmon, codfish, herring, mackerel, &c., in great abundance.
Dloughort--Trout, smelts, oysters and lobsters.
M)cPhail--Trout, salmon, smelts, gaspereaux and herrings caught in abundanîce

1n Northunberland Straits.
Martin---Only trout.
Murphy---Trout and salmon in abundance.
Tuplin.--Excellent oysters, trout in limited quantity.
Lea--Mackerel, cod, hake, oysters, lobsters, salmon, nid trout are caught around

the isand in considerable quantities.
Rlobertson-Trout, salImon, gaspereaux, herring and codfish.
Beatoi-Sea-fishingr for cod, hake, mackerel, herring and spring and fall lobsters;

ier' fishing for trout, salmon and oysters.
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MINES AND MINERALS IN VARIOUS DISTRICTS.

Question 12.--Arc there any minerals and mines in your district, and to what
extent are they developed ?

ONTARIO.

County of Hastinghs.

Answers of Messe-s.

Norman, Nu:gent, Gunter, Tait, Wilson, Ray, Bennett, Hamilton and Parkhtî',t
-The district possesses such minerals as lead, iron, copper, &c.,'but they are yet
undeveloped. The want of a railway retards the development of our minerai
resources.

Cleake--I bave frequently been shown specimens of lead and copper ores, the
latter very rich. Gold and silver have been met with in paying quantities according
to the analysis made by some of the Toronto Assayers. A deposit of iron bas been
traced for two miles at one spot, at least. 100 feet in width, being of the magnetic
sort. For want of a railway this and everything elso requiring transport is value-
less.

Kavanagh-About 20 or 30 miles to the south of us there are largo deposits of
iron and other minerals yet undeveloped.

Menzies-Any quantity of iron ore and probably other valuable ores.

Electoral District of AIuskoka.

Doherty, White, Lalor, Beatty and Hill-Iron in abundance, but it is not
developed.

Ashdowi---Coal, lead, tiij mica and magnetic iron. No mining.
Sirett----Specimens of iron and copper have been found in the neighbourhood, but

it is unquestionable whether they exist in paying quantities.
Ewing, Parker, McMurray, Brooks and Best----It is generally thought that thore

are mineral. No mining.

CouIty of Victoria.

McLaren----Black lead, marble, free stone, and lithographie stone arc found. IrOnl
is plentiful about 14 miles from bore.

Fell----Iron, lcad and marble are abundant, undevoloped.
Iastings--Iron is very plentiful, also lithographie stone, free-stone and marble.

Will be opened up the coming season.
McLaughlin----Gold, silver, lead, copper, iron, graphite, Aberdeen granite, free-

stone, white and variegated marble and lithographie stone are here in abundance only
requiring energy and means to be developed.

Ilovey----lron and lead are plentiful. Marble, granite, froc stone, lithograplic
stone and lime stone, undeveloped.

Reazin----Any amount of iron and lcad, but not worked. Saine stones as in lat
answer.

Provisional Coun ty oj lHaliburton.

Langton----There aie mines of iron, lead, copper and a quarry of marble. Stop
are being taken to work them on a large scale, 1 a-:ticularly the marble.

County of Renfrew.

Coleman and Coburn---Mincrals, but not developed.
Black---Iron and lead undeveloped. Any quantity of lirnestone.
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QUEBEC.

County of Joliette.

Martel---There are minerals, undeveloped.

County of Argenteuil.

Filion-There are iron and lead mines in the County, but they are idle.
McCallum--Plumbago and mica bave been fbund, and small quantities exported.

County of Montcalm.

Wm. Copping-Gold, but not in any quantity.
McCarthy-Iron, gold and silver, undeveloped.
Greer--Iron mines, but not worked.
Lepine--Minerals, but no mines.
J. G. Copping--One mine in operation here.

County of Champlain.

Beaudry--Iron ore in abundance, but little worked. The next generation, more
advanced, perhaps, than we are, will develop the mineral resources of our country.

Houle-Iron abounds, and is worked bv the Radnor forges on a lvrge scale.

Courity of faskinonge.

Ferron-Iron exists, undeveloped.

County of Ottawa.

Aylwin, Duhamel and Ellard-Iron, galena, ]ead, phosphate of lime, and coai;
Udeveloped.

District of Three Rivers.

Neault-The northern part of the District is rich in iron oie, undeveloped.

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND.

McGregor-No mines or minerals, but we have what the farmer covets, rich
deposits of matter for manure. Fresh water "swamp mud " is found in many parts,
and in considerable quantities. It is well adapted for both potatoes and oats. Salt
"marsh mud, " when mixed with earth and applied with lime, produces good results.
In the rivers and creeks are found extensive deposits of oyster or "mussel mud,"
composed of decayed oyster and mussel sheils, sometimes over fifteen feet in depth.
It is dug in the winter, by means of a machine constructed for the purpose, and
worked by one horse. From 20 to 40 loads are put to the acre. For hay, it cannot
be surpassed.

MANITOBA.

Harlow and MoLean-Coal has been discovered.
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DISTRICT OF ALGOMA.

REMARKS OF MR. PIL GRIM.

The two following replies to these questions were ordered to be embodied in the
Report without being classified:

1. Henry Pilgrim, of Sault Ste Marie, District of Algoma, Ont., Gentleman.
2. In May, 1834. Address before leaving England :-HENRY PILGRIM,

Southampton, Hants.

3. I think the District of Algoma is exceedingly well adapted for successful
settlement, and that the view of its future is exceedingly bright and hopeful to the
settler ; for when obtaining railroad connection with Eastern Ontario, Algoma w¶il
fill up rapidiv; so rapidly as to astonish those who hitherto have thought but little
(or perhaps none at all) of this most important part of Ontario. Before our railroad
eastward is built, there can be little doubt but the Americans will have completed
their railroad connecting Sault Ste Marie, U.S., with Duluth, and no sooner shall
these two roads be opened than the people of Ontario will be still more astonished
at the immense trade which will at once pass over the line. The electoral district of
Algoma contains over thirty thousand square miles. Cannot give the population
accuratelv. unless there had been time to communicate with all the municipalities;
bit should think it to be about twelve thousand. The Crown lands immediately
around Sault Ste Marie are almost all taken up. What are left can be obtained as

free grants," or at twenty cents >er acre. There are large tracts of Indian and
Crown lands north and east of the Sault; and should the Indian Department carry
out their proinse of making a road through the Batchawana Reserve, then a large
surveyed tract of soie three hundred square miles, with good soil and timber, and
beautifully watered, will be made easy of access to the intending settler. Good sur-
veved agricultural lands can aliso be obtained, in the Bruce Mines and Otter Tail
Lake sections, on the Island of St. Joseph, at the Thessalon, Missisaqua and Spanish
Rivers. and on the Manitoulin Island, etc.

I think that this year there will be an average of'at least one Canadian steamer
leaving some port below every day for Algoma, and still more frequent communica-
tion with Sault Ste. Marie, as the very numerous American steamers bound west
must all pass that port.

Passengers for Manitoulin Island and the main-land coast to Thessalon should
embark at Collingwood or Owen Sound.

Passengers for Bruce Mines and Island of St. Joseph should embark at Colling-
wood, Owen Sound, Windsor, or any port on the east coast of Lake Huron, at which
the Windsor line of steamers touch.

Passengers for Sault Ste. Marie and the north shore of Lake Superior can take
any steamer sailing from any port between Windsor and Collingwood.

All the steamers carry freight, and some of them proceed to Duluth. During
winter, Sault Ste. Marie can be reached from below (viá United States) in three days
if all things conduce towards making a very favorable trip, but the average time
might safely be called four or five days; going below by our own north shore route
the trip would average about nine days, but could only be made by persons accus-
tomed to snow-shoes.

4. On an average about 25th of April.
5. Wheat, oats. barley, hay, buckwheat peas, beans. There are no statistics to

enable me to give average yield per acre. With regard to wheat can say that in one
instance at the Sault, which came directly under my own observation, spring wheat,
badly put in. and with too little seed, gave nearly twenty bushels per acre, weighing
sixty-two pounds to the bushel. Until lately but little wheat has been sown, there
being no grist-mill. Now we have a mill the area sown will increase every year.
Our crops of potatoes, turnips, mangel-wurzell, in fact, all descriptions of roots,
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gardon and otherwise, are so good that it would be difficult to find any part f O tario
that could beat the root crops of this district. Cabbage, cauliflower, brocoli, ceery
Asparagus, carrot-, parsnips, &c., are, most successfully cultivated.

6. Yes, most certainly so ; the growth of clover and ait grasses is very luxurian t,
and there exists at present large ranges of unenclosed indigenous grass lands. Stock
should be under shelter and fed about five months in the year.

7. When considering the whole of the Electoral District of Algorna, the propor-
tion of well timbered lands would not be so large as in those portions that have
already been spoken of as being ready for settlement, and I should say that, taking
the whole of said Electoral District, the good, welltimbered, agricultural lands would
not amount to more than one-fifth of the whole, but the remaining four-fifths, though
rough, and either destitute of timber or indifferently timbered, and unfit for farming,
mast not be despised, as that portion of the country contains large areas most favor-
able for explorations for copper, iron, galena, silver, &c., and, in all probability, will
eventually become a rich and busy mining country, and the most important part of
the district. The growth on well timbered lands consists of oak, red and white,
maple, hard and soft, curly bird's-eye macle, black and white birch, elm, pine, red
and white, hemlock, cedar, spruce, balsam, tamarac, poplar, balm of gilead.

There are some twelve saw-mills in the Electoral District, three-fourths of the
number worked heavily before the great depression in the lumtber trade came.

8. Yes ; the agricultural portions of the Ditrict are capable of suecessful
farming. There are hardly aiy tenant farmers, and even the few there are only
rent on a small scale. the reason being that every settler is abie to obtain iland for
himself. and almost every one p rs to do so.

Persons of moderate mean, e d, I think, easily purchase partially imaproved
farms.

Better not to cite cases of inlividual success, for they are so -numerous in
Algoma that very many names would have to be omitted, as canri say that every
idustrious settler prospers.

9. An immigrant with sn"i 'nt means to preclude the necessity of' wo:king for
others. at any rate, until he hav established his home, could, if single, coeainejce with
two hundred dollars; if with wife and child, would require five hundred dollars.

10. I know of nothing mo)re of any particular interest to immigrants ; there
are no difficulties in the way of settlement that cannot be easily overcome, save our
one great obstacle and drawback----I mean the want of roads.

11. The rivers and lakes of Algoma contain fish in very great abundance. In
the rivers are found speckled trout, (often white fish), sturgeon, pike, maskinongé,
blacl bass, perch, &c., &c. In the lakes----salmon-trout, white fish, sturgeon, bass---
black and rock, pike. maskinongé, perch, mullet, catfish, pickerel, herring, &e., &c.

12. Yes; certain ranges contain copper ores, native copper, iron ores, gatena
sodmetimes lieavily charged with silver, native silver, &c. The Bruce and Wellington
Mines were worked for mtnv years on a very large scale, and having their own
costly smelting works attached, sometimes employed nearly five hundred men. The
Village around the mines often contained a population of considerably over one
thousand souls; but the low price of copper in England for the last few years has
induced the Company to close the mine for the present. A deposit of iron near
Bruce Mines is beirig opened by Mr. Stobie. A Iode of gatena containig silver is
also opening under Mr. Campbell.

Very nurnerous lodes are known throughout the District that rernain unopened,
Untried, from the impossibility of obtaining, in these hard times, the large amount of
capital required to test a new mîning country.

The rich Iode of Silver Islet, and other Iodes in the Thunder Bay District, is
better to leave to be reported on by some resident of that District who is fully
,acquainted with its mining operations.

Agents for the disposal of Crown and Indian lands are located as follows:-
Manitowaning, Sault Ste. Marie, Bruce Mines, Prince Arthur's Landing, Ottertail
Lake.
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County of Hastings.

Reoprt of a Committee appointed by County Council of County of Eastings, to consider
and reply to questions submitted by .Dominion Immigration and Colonization Committee.

3. The County of Hastings contains about 3,600 square miles. The southern
part is very fine land, and highly cultivated. The more northern part is rough,
though interspersed with fine arable belts. Population, 54,000.

Belleville, on the southern border, is the principle market town, and is beauti-
fully situated on Bay of Quinte, an arm of Lake Ontario. Grand Trunk Railway
passes throuih it, and two railways are now under constiuction, leading north and,
north-westeriv from it. One is called the Belleville and North Hastings ; the other,
Grand Junction.

There are large sections of good land in the northeri part of the county well
suited for settlement by a class of men who are prepared to "rough it " for a time.

4. The seasons usually open so that ploughing and seeding eau be carried on
about the middle of April.

5. The kind of crops grown are, wheat, barley, peas, rye, oats, some corn, pota-
toes, turnips, mangold wurtzels, carrots and beets.

Yield per aere-

W heat........................... from 15 to 20 busbels
Rye,...................,......... " 20 to 25
Barley ......................... " 30 to 45
Peas...... ...................... " 15 to 20
Oats .................. " 40 to 50
Potatoes........................ " 100 to 200

6. This district is considered among the best in Canada for raising stock. The
draw-back is the long winter. Cattle have to be fed about six months, housed four
months; but cattle are remarkably healtby, and free fromn diseases of all kinds.
Land rolling and well watered.

There was sbipped at the Port of Belleville, in 1876, 4,762,518 lbs. cheese; and
large quantities of butter made. i

7. About half of the country is timbered witb prinicipally, map'e, beech, elm,
bass-wood, oak and hemlock on the highlands; on the lowlands, elm, cedar and ash.
Ail through the coun itry are to be found groves of pine. Lumbering has been carried
on through the southern part of the county to considerable extent ; but now for the
want of material, is more confined to the northern part of the county. Many thou-
sand of logs are floated annually down the Rivers Trent and Moira, which empty into
the Bay of Quinte ; and also down the branches of the Ot tawa River to Ottawa City,
where they are manufactured into lumber. Latterly more attention has béen given
to square timber. This is shipped to Quebec.

8. The soil and other natural advantages are generally good for farming
purposes. - The principal difficulty is the long winter, wbile it also bas its advau-
tages.

Renting farms is, of course, more practuied in the older settled parts of the
county. It is an uncommon thing to see a farm rented in the newer settled parts.
We don't consider it desirable to rent in this country as a rule, tho' we know many
cases of great success by tenant farmers.

R. Somers, of Lot 21, in the 2nd Concession of the Township of Rawdon, in this
county, commenced with almost nothing and has become com]paratively wealthy.

Geo. Johnson, of Lot 34, 3rd Concession of Township Sidney, also very successful.
Wm. Johnson, Lot 27, in 1st Concession of Sidney, also attained a handsome

competence. As a rule, however, the tenant remains but a very few years as a
tenant; he generally buys.

9. To settle in the older parts of the county as a tenant or purchaser, the inlmi-
grant sbould have from $1,000 to $3,000; in the newer parts, which would be the
northern parts, frcm $50 to $500, with which he would require a good, hardy consti-
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tution, with plenty of pluck and perseverance, but with these le would be almost sure
of success.

10. The greatest difficulty would be want of experience in the habits of the
people, and mode of prosecuting the work. Added to this would be the difficulty of
getting immediate employment at what we here consider good wages, skilled labour
being always considered preferable by all classes of employers.

But " pluck and perseverance " would overcome these difficulties, and, as a rule,
honest, earnest, faithful labour is wanted, even though for a time unskilled.

If a farm is to be rented or bought, it would be well for the immigrant not to be
in too much hurry, but locate himself at some point, say Belleville, and there "look
around." While engaged at this, it would be well if he engaged with a farmer, evet
at a low rate of wages-practical experience would be a great gain. If going with
but little capital into the newest parts, he had better " hire out " to some farmer for
a time. As a rule, this class are the most successful. It may be " pinching times "
for a while, but in no place " where there is a will " is there more likely " to be a
way," than in this part of Canada. Generally, there is a kindly feeling by all classes
towards the man who tries to get on, but it is the idle and shiftless who get but
little, if any, sympathy. It is the rule with the honest and industrious to succeed.

Il. The streams are generally well supplied with fish. Our lakes and rivers
have maskinonge, pickerel, pike, bass, some isalmon, which are being fostered and
protected by our tishery laws. Many of our small streams abound in trout.

12. There are several fine mines of iron in this county.

In Madoc Township:-
Moore Mine...................... 69 per cent, magnetic and hematite.
Seymour Mine................... 70 do magnetic.
Thomson Mine................... 64 do do
Nelson Mine...................... 65 do do
Dufferin Mine.................... 66 do do
Wallbridge Mine, red hematite, rich.

In Marmora Township :-
Blairton Mine....... ,....... 64 do do
Maloney Mine................... 60 do do

Of the above mines, only the Seymour and Blairton have been worked. The
others are merely opened. A railway, Belleville and North Hastings, is being built,
which, connecting with the Grand Junction, makes an outlet from these beds of ore
to Belleville water communication. Large quantities of the Blairton ore has been
shipped to the United States. The Seymour ore has been smelted successfully at the
village of Madoc by the party whose name the mine bears.

The Blairton ore also has been smelted at Marmora village.
In several other townships, viz : Elzevir, Tudor, Lake and Limerick, have iron

deposits been discovered.
No doubt when railway communication reaches this district, it will be found in

many other sections.
Gold, lead, copper and other metals exist in this county, but whether in paying

quantities has not been yet fully tested.
The Toronto Gold Mining Company exhibited at the Centennial Exhibition, at

Philadelphia, samples of crushed gold ore, concentrated ore, from their Marmora
mine; also, the Gatling Gold Mining Company exhibited a small bar of gold, a small
bar of silver, from their Marmora mine. Both these companies claim the ore to be
very rich. The difficulty appears to be a process to work it.

Various otber kinds of valuable minerals exist here; marbles, lithographic
stone, whet stones, limestone, suitable for building, slate, &c.

ln conclusion the Committee would submit, that they believe much harm has
been done by too glowing accounts of what the immigrant might expect in the way
of success ; at the same time more harm has been done by experiments being made
in farming by parties who never tried it practically, and who were totally unfit for
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it by former business habits, and also by the statements of parties who have made
but a short sojourn in the country.

In the finest countries in the world all don't succeed, but the exception is the
rule with us. When we say succeed we mean secure a comfortable living.

Canada, just now, is labouring under the general depression of trade, but, com-
paratively speaking, her resources for recuperation are larger in proportion to her
population than any nationality in the world.

A. F. WOOD,
Ex- Warden (Chairman.)

BALTIS ROSE,
Ex- Warden.

THOS. WALKER,
Warden.

BILLA FLINT (Senator),
Ex- Warden.

SIHIRE HALL, BELLEVILLE,
COUNTY OF iHASTINGS,

March 14th, 18177.

MANITOULIN ISLAND.

A number of answers from Manitoulin Island came too late for classification
with the rest. The information they contain is pretty fully given in the 1etters
written by Messrs Phipps, Simpson, Bampton, Bowker and Day, of A] goma District.
These answers were from the following parties

Samuel R. McKewen, Tehkummah.
Thomas Gorley, Manitowaning.
James M. Fraser, Gore Bay.
John Skippend, Sen-Sheguiandah.
George Brockitt Abrey, Little Current.
Robert A. Johnston, Littile Current.

Replies were also received from the following parties after the Report had beeh
in the printer's hands:---

John Bailey, Head Lake, Victoria Co., Ont,; D. B. Campbell, larrington,
Argenteuil Co., Que.; D. McTavish, Harrington, Argenteuil Co., Que.; Wm. Fleming,
Aspdin, Muskoka, Ont.; George Kelcay, Dunchurch, Parry Sound District, Ont.;
James Dickson, Prince Arthur's Landing, Ont.; Rev. R. Delarge, O.M.I., Maniwaki,
Ottawa Co., Que.; Ambroise Majeau, Joliette, Que.; J. B. Massicotte, J.P., St.
Prosper, Que.

The information given, for the most part, is contained in the questions classified.
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REPORT.
The Committee appointed to enquire into the present condition of the Civil

Service, and the method of nominating and examining candidates for appointment
with a view to ascertaining whether better means cannot be adopted for securing the
appointment of properly qualified persons, and the general efficiency of the Service,
with power to send for persons, papers and records, and to report their observations
on the subject referred to them, together with the minutes of evidence taken before
them, by leave to report.

Your Conmittee regret that, owing to the unusual delay in bringing down the
return to an address of the House for statistics of the Civil Service, they have not been
able to consider and report upon those statisties.

They have, however, orally examined several of the Deputy Ministers of the
different departments and other gentlemen of high standing in the service of the
Dominion, and the Deputy Minister of Education for the Province of' Ontario. Some
of these gentlemen also submitted written memoranda on the subject referred to the
Committee. To all these witnesses the Committee are indebted for much valuable
information given with unvarying readiness and courtesy.

Their evidence is submitted in the appendix to this report. That evidence and
the finding of the Committee are to be understood as referring to a lengthened
experience under different Governments.

The Committee have also considered as fully as time as would allow the system in
force in the Civil Service of Great Britain and that of the Colony of Victoria,
Australia, and several suggestions made by members of the Commtittee.

In regard to the present condition of the Service and the methcd of nominating
and examining candidates for appointment, your Committee find as follows:

The matters referred to, and the general economy of the Service are regulated
to a great extent by statute. The Act provides rules for appointments,
promotions, superannuations and other details of management. It also establishes
a Civil Service Board composed of permanent heads of Departments to conduct the
prescribed entrance examinations.

In carrying out the provisions of the Act great irregularities are found to have
existed. The entrance examinations which were intended to secure the efficiency of
employés have been only applied at all tp candidates for the inside service of the
Departments, and even in regard to these they appear to have been almost a matter
of form. The subjects have been very elementary and the test is not nearly equal to
that applied to scholars entering the high schools of Ontario, and is said by the
Chairman of the Board to be intended merely to exclude those who are utterly
ignorant and quite unfit for the Service. It certainly appears to be ill-calculated to,
do more than this and quite insufficient to ensure the real efficiency of those who pass.
Such as it is, no power rests with official heads of Departments or the Civil Service-
Board, to compel candidates to undergo it. These are examined only when they
imake voluntary application or are sent to the Board by the Minister who appoints
them. As a matter of fact the provisions of the law in this respect have been very
generally violated ever since its establishment, compliance with them having been the-
exception rather than the rule.

The practice of making appointments by political pationage was considered by
mnost of the witaesses to be bad both in principle and results. Some, however, thought
it might work well enough if checked by a proper entrance examination and system
of probation.

In the outside service with the exception of the Inland Revenue Department and
the engineering branches the exercise of politicai patronage seems to be almost un-
checked, and its results correspondingly bad. Except in the departments men-
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tioned there is no departmental examination of nominees, and no other guarantee of
their suitability in any respect than the political recommendation on which they are
appointed.

This system has been found te lead to grave practical evils. In the Customs
Department for example, it was testified that not only a grood business education but
,certain special qualifications were required to enable officers te act efficiently as ap.
praisers, a duty which is performed at ail, but a few, of the largest ports by the col.
Sector himself. Some acquaintance with chemistry is often required for this duty,
and at least a commercial knowledge of goods is absolutely necessary. No means
are now taken to ensure the possession of either of these qualifications, and men Of
no experience are often placed in very responsible positions. The Deputy Minister
of the Department believes that loss to the revenue often results from the inefficiency
of officers so appointed.

In the engineering branches also down to a laie period, the evils of political
nomination have been strongly felt. Mr. Sandford Fleming, Chief Engineer of the
Canada Pacific, and formerly of the Intercolonial Railway, states that serious loss
te the public has resulted from the blunders of incompetent men thrust upon the ser-
vice and employed on important works. That gentleman states, however, that ho has
lately been allowed to exercise a more careful system of selection and promotion, and
that his branch of the service is now in a more efficient condition than ever before.

In regard to the class of men obtained for the inside departmental service by the
present system, the testimony of the witnesses varied. The official head of one of the
largest departments said that they were not up to the average of the young men who
enter banks at much lower initiatory salaries and furnished little material capable of
being trained for the higher ppsitions. Most of the other witnesses declared them-
selves fairly well satisfied witli their present staff. It, was generally admitted, how-
ever, that the same amount of work could be done by a smaller number of highly
efficient men.

The discipline of the Service was generally stated to be good enough as a matter
of fact, though the rules for enforcing it seem rather defective. No power of infliet-
ing any real penalty rests with the official heads of Departments, who are, never-
theless, responsible for the actual performance of the work and the discipline of
their employés. Political influence has also beei4 felt in this connection, though
most generally, in the retention of men who are incompetent rather than insubor-
dinate. It is stated that when a man is once appointed, it is almost impossible to
get rid of hii for any less cause than notable misconduct.

In regard to promotions, your Committee find an entire absence of any system in
the outside service of the Department, except in those already mentioned, as
exercising some special care in the selection of officials.

Employés remain as a rule in the positions te which they are first nominated,
vacancies being filled by new appointments from outside the service, made, as usual,
by political influence. Perhaps the most glaring instances of the working of this
system may be found in the Customs and Post Office Departments, in which ail the
prizes go te outsiders, and those who enter in the lower grades have no prospect of
promotion as a reward for their ability or zeal. The Committee agree with ail the
witnesses in condemning this practice. It is bad both fromi its discouraging effect 01
those in the Service who have earned their promotion, and from the inexperience of
most of those so brought in.

In the inside service a system of promotion is practised on the basis laid down
in the Act, but with frequent suspensions and violations arising fron political
causes.

Referring to the provisions of the Act, the Committee considers that the regula-
tion which compels officials to spend a certain term of years in each of the lower
grades, without regard te their efficiency before being promoted, and which is coupled
with a raie of promotion by seniority alone, is injudicious. It keeps superior mon
too long a- mechanical work, whicb could be donc as well by others, and thereby
tends te unfit them for higher duties. It takes away also that stimulus to exertiol
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which would be afforded by the hope of hastening their promotion. As the
maximum of efficiency cannot hasten that event, and only glaring misconduct can
retard it, there is a strong temptation to employés to be content with the minimum
of exertion. Its effect in keeping men for many years on the lower salaries,
insufficient for the proper support of themselves and families, is also found to be
injurious to their character and self respect. The evils arising from the introduction
of outsiders have also been felt in this branch of the Service.

From all these facts in regard to promotion as at present practiced, it is found to
follow that the Service is not attractive to the class of active and intelligent young
men who sbould be obtained for it, nor always able to retain such of that class as do,
enter. It was stated in evidence that the banks could obtain better men at initiatory
salaries of from $250 to $300, with prospects of promotion, than the average of those
who can be induced to enter the public service at $400 a year, under the present
system.

Generally speaking, political influence has been found to interfere more or less
in the working of all branches of the Service, and always with bad effect.

The Committee conclude, from the foregoing considerations, that the condition
of the Civil Service has not been, and is not, satisfactory ; that many of the most
important provisions of the law in respect thereof have been systematically
violated ; and that that law is, in many particulars, insufficient to secure the highest
efficiency of the service. Many valuable suggestions for reforms in the Service were
made by the witnesses examined, which will be found in detail in their evidence, and
most of' which the Committee were able to agree with. Chiefly on the basis of these
suggestions, they are prepared to make the following recommendations :-

As a general principle, appointments, promotions, and the whole management of
the Service should be separated as far as possible from political considerations. The
Service should be looked upon merely as an organization for conducting the public
business, and not as a means of rewarding personal political friends. The attempt
should be made to render it a profession calculated to attract the best ability available,
and to afford a due reward for the possession and exercise of first-class business and
administrative capacity.

The Committee believe that the following reforms would tend to obtain such
results

Recommendations for appointments should be in the hands of a Commission
composed of gentlemen of highest qualifications, outside the Service.

The selection of employés should consist of two processes : Selection for trial
and probation ; and no appointment should be confirmed unless both of these ordeals
have been satisfactorily passed through by the candidate.

The opportunity of being taken on trial should be offered freely to all applicants
of the proper age, who have established their character and soundness of health to
the satisfaction of the Commissioners.

All such applicants should be submitted to such an examination as would
thoroughly test their possession of ordinary intelligence and education, that is, one
considerably more severe than that which is at present theoretically required.

Some means of choosing the number actually required from amongst those who
have thus proved their fitness for employment will be necessary. This must be done
by personal seloction by the Commissioners, or by competition, The former method
1s open to the risk of favoritism, which it is desired to avoid, and further open to
objection on account of the imperfect knowledge the Board would have of the
individuals before them. A selection according to standing at this çr, preferably, at
a subsequent and more severe examination, seem s therefore the best practicable
course.

The men thus chosen should not be considered as having any claim to permanent
employment till they have shown their practical efficiency on actual trial. Their
appointment sbould be conditional on their having earned a favorable report from
their superiors in the Department at the end of a certain time.

In regard to competitive selection, the opinion of the witnesses differed. Only
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one expressed satisfaction with the present system of nominations. Others
considered a qualifying examination of nominees sufficient. Others again were of
the opinion that no other means of getting rid of political influence and securing the
efficiency of employees existed but that above recommended. The majority
admitted that such a scheme would be a great improvement on the present system,
if combined with probationary appointment. The latter provision is one which ail
agreed in eonsidering necessary.

The question of promotion involves several considerations. In the first place,
there is a general agreement of the witnesses that promotions to vacancies, instead
of new appointments,-should be the rule, subject to such exceptions as the necessi.
ties of the service may compel. Such cases should be considered as special, and the
reasons for resorting to outside material should be freely stated at the time of
making the appointment.

It would be advisable to grade the service in departments where the nature of
the work will permit, in such a manner as to separate the mechanical from the
higher duties, and to confine promotion in rank to the class of officers engaged in the
performance of the latter. Employees in the lower class might be rewarded by
periodical increases of salary up to a certain point, if found deserving of it.

Promotion should proceed primá facie on the ground of seniority, unless a
junior be reported as better qualified for the position, with full reasons for such
report. There should not be any, or, if any, a very short compuisory term of
service in each class. This rule should apply to both the inside and outside service.

Some of the witnesses thought it advisable to consolidate the lower grades of the
inside service, in those departments where the work is reasonably simia, nto one
body, for purposes of promotion, allowing a man to pass from one department to a
higher position in another. 'Dhis would remedy the inequality in the rate of promo-
tion between the larger and smaller departments.

In some departments, too, it might be advisable to allow promotion from the
inside to the outside service, and vice versa. This was specially brought under the
notice of the Committee by the Deputy Postmaster-General. Neariy all the prizes
in that department are in the outside service, and the work is so similar that the
same experience would serve for both.

The question of making departmental examinations a necessary preliminary to
promotion was thoroughly discussed with the witnesses.

In one Department, that of Inland Revenue, such a system was found to be to
some extent in actual operation. The evidence of the Commissioner and Assistant
Commissioner went to show that an employé's knowledge of Departmental duties
could be very thoroughly tested by examinations, even in some cases to which they
niight not at first sight seem applicable. A special class of officers have been selected
by this means to superintend large establishments subject to excise, their knowledge
of tle technical and commercial details of the business having been brought out by
written examinations. In these and all other cases in that Department, the practical
efficiency and general usefulness of employés have been found to be very accurately
indicated by their standing at the examinations. Those again who have repeatedly
failed to pass bave proven themselves practically useless in actual service. It is not
contended, however, by these witnesses, that such examinations shotld be the only
qualification for promotion, but they have been found the most valuable factor in
determining a man's fitness therefor.

In the Engineering branches, Mr. Sandford Fleming testified that though the
technical knowledge of an officer might be fairly well tested by Departmental exaim-
inations, so much depended on other qualities, such as the capacity for nanaging
bodies of men, that an examination would not be an infallible test of fitness for the
highèr positions. While agreeing with this, the Committee think that a certain
degree of advancement in professional or special knowledge might fairly be demanded
as a condition of promotion, at least up to a certain point.

In the other Departments the general opinion of the witnesses was against the
possibility of obtaining any better test of fitness for promotion than the knowledge of
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individuals gained by their superiors in the oversight of their work from day to day;
while this opinion has great weight the Committee are not inclined to accept it as
filnally negativing the feasibility of the proposal in view of the results obtained in the
Inland Revenue Department, which appear to have surprised even those who have
tried the experiment.

In regard to discipline, the Committee would call attention to the provisions of
the Victorian Act, an abstract of which is appended, and which gives to official heads
of departments the power of inflicting a limited fine for offences, in addition to that
of suspending officials.

The reforms in the method of appointments submitted by the Committee, have
been long in force in Great Britain, and with generally favorable results, The fact
that they have continued in force under successive Governments is felt to be strong
testimony in their favor. Many objections are made to the method of conducting
examinations, but the prinqiple of non-political appointment involved is fully accepted
by those who are most cognizant with the working of the system.

Many other points besides those noticed, have been brought before the Commit-
tee, but have not had sufficient consideration to warrant their being included in this
report.

All which is respectfully submitted.

April 27th, 1877.

GEORGE CASEY,
Chairman.

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

Committee met.-Mr. CASEY in the Chair.
Lieut-Colonel WILLIAM WHITE, called and examined:

By the Chairman :-
Q. What is your present position ?-I am Secretary ofthe Post Office Depart-

ment.
Q. What are your special duties ?-To superintend the ordinary correspondence

of the Department-under the instructions, of course, of the Deputy Postmaster-
General,-to attend to the arrangement of the mail servite and execution of contracts,
to attend to the whole of the appointments, both of postmasters and clerks, outside
and inside of the service, so far as the Department is concerned; and to assist
generally in the management of the Department under the Deputy Postmaster-
General.

Q. Have you any special class of employés under your own charge ?-I have
supervision of the Dead Letter Branch, of the distribution of stamps, of the Ocean
Mail Service, and of the correspondence generally.

Q. Any special class of clerks Lo attend to these ?-Yes ; sonie 33 or 34 clerks, I
think.

TQ. Do you find that you have in your clerks the best material you could wish,
speaking as a general thing ?--No. I think the Civil Service would be much im-
proved if we had some system of examination to test a man's qualification. At
present, practically, there is none.

ý Q. Do you find any difficulty in carrying out the business of your branch, or
any defects on the part of your employés ?-Yes; I do.

Q. There is delay ?-I cannot say it is so in the superior branches, but
it is so in the minor branches. The work would undoubtedly be better done in
the minor branches if the men were better qualified.

Q. In the lower branches the work is chiefly mechanical?-We have no purely
mechanical work.
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Q. Would all branches of your department require men of special qualifications
-a special training in the department ?-Not junior clerks. What we roquire most
is some assurance that every person bas at least the groundwork of a good education
-that he can read and write well. Bad writing on the part of a clerk is a veryserious matter. For instance, in the Dead Letter Office, if a man engaged in return-
ing letters writes an indifferent hand it impairs the value of bis services. We 'want
men of a certain standard of intelligence. In my opinion, what is most required ina
my own branch is, that the men should be able to write correctly from dictation and
have a fair knowledge of elementary arithmetic: it is not necessary to go beyond
proportion. Suppose, for instance, that it is wanted to make out an estimate of the
relative cost of a contract, if we increased the service, and to know pro rata what it
would cost-this could not be done readily unless theclerk had a fair knowledge of
elementary arithmetic. Any man in the Department should be able to do such things
as this at once, otherwise the value of bis services would le seriously impaired.

Q. You have spoken so far about a qualifying examination-would you also
introduce the competitive system?-There are, te my mind, one or two serious
objections. The first is this, unless I am very much mistaken, that it will lead to a
system of cramming, as it bas in England. I have known men who knew a great
deal more through cramming when they were examined, than they did six months
afterwards. Then it is a question whether by a system of competitive examination
yo.u would not limit the area from which you could select. Under such a system
the appointments would be almost all in the hands of persons living in the cities
where educational facilities are great. I don't know that that would be an advan-
tage.

Q. With regard to cramming: It is held that the evil of cramming arises largely
from the peculiar arrangement of the examinations. Lord Salisbury says in bis last
letter on the subject that it is a defect chiefly of detail, which he thinks could be
remedied by re-arranging the examinations.

Q. Did you ever think sufficiently on the matter to say that the examinations
could be so arranged as to avoid any trouble through cramming ?-I have never
thought much on the subject, but I have noticed that cramming bas been alleged an
evil ever since I can remember anything about it.

Q. Do you consider competitive examinations, no matter how arranged, must
necessarily involve the evil of cramming ?-More 6r less.

Q. Suppose it did, would it not be an improvement to have a few men a little
over-crammed, instead of the class you get under our present system ?-Let me illus-
trate by an example.

Q. Were you in the Civil Service at home?-Yes; I was in the Post Office
Department for eight years.

Witness :-In the Civil Service at home we had a man who would pass through
the most severe examinations, and could translate anything in Greek that might be
placed before him, yet ho was one of the worst clerks in the Department; ho could
not even compose a letter. You may get a man whose learning may be thoroughly
scholastic, but yet who would have no power to adapt bis information to practical
purposes.

Q. Do you think that could be remedied by making appointments provisional
for a fixed period, during which a man's practical qualifications could be tested ?-
My experience is that when once you get a man in the service it is very hard to get
him out again.

Q. The rule in England in 1870, was that if a man's appointment had not been
favorably reported upon at the en< of a year, bis appointment lapsed, as a matter of
course, without any action being taken. Do you think such a rule would be suffl-
cient bore ?-Yes ; if you could rely upon such an order being carried out.

Q. It was established by Order in Council, and required no special action te
carry it out. Do you think a year a sufficient time to test a man's capacities_?-I
think that six months is sufficient.
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By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-
Q. Do you think the competitive system, with the trial system afterwards,

would do away with the evils, or counteract the evils of the cramming system ?-It
might.

By the Chairman
Q. Do you think there would be as much difficulty under that system as under

the present in getting rid of an inefficient man ?-Probably not.
Q. You think where a man owed bis appointment to havingpassed examinations,

there would not be so much difficulty in getting rid of him if he did not suit?-No;.
there would not.

Q. Do you think the mere abolition of political influence in appointments, even
if the character of the employés was not very much improved, would be an advantage
in any way ?-Well; I am not so clear upon that point. It might be questioned
whether the system of nominations by members of Parliament, as now carried out,
with the safeguards you have spoken of, would not be better.

By MEr. Kirkpatrick :-
Q. The safeguards you refer to are-- ?-Thoroughly practical examinations.

The nominations could be made and then the examinations held.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Have you ever found that political influence in connection with the manage.
ment of your Department was an evil ?-

After some discussion as to the propriety of the question the witness said I
think I might say that the tendency of political influence was rather to the injury
than benefit of the Service.

Q. And if the Service was carried on without regard to political influence, then
the promotion would follow according to merit ?-Yes; that's the way it is now in
England.

Q. I come to your second objection to the competitive system, viz; that it would
limit the nominations or selections to cities and other places where the people had
the advantage of superior education. Suppose examinations were arranged at
different places, as are the examinations for Normal and common school teachers,
throughout the country; don't you think that our school teachers, for example, would
have a good chance of coming into the Service ?-Yes; you would spread the area for
selection, of course.

Q. You think the examinations could be so arranged as to obviate that particular
difficulty ?-I think myself that the examinations would be far better held away
from the seat of Government altogether.

Q. Could not examinations be held at different places upon uniform papers ?-
Yes; and the papers should be sent to some Central Board afterwards. I think the
examinations should be held in as many places as possible.

Q. Common school teachers are examined in every county town, on uniform
papers, throughout Ontario. Do you think that system would do ?-That would
probably meet the objection, and grades could be made according to the several
classes ; but there would be more applications than offices to fill.

Q. Would a great many persons be disappointed in not getting appointments,
after passing examinations ?- Yes.

Q. Under the present system if a man is inefficient is it easy to get rid of himY
-No ; it is very difficult to get rid of a man after he bas been appointed. There is
no question about that.

Q. So that you find great difficulty of ridding the service of ineMicient men ?-
Undoubtedly.

Q. Have you ever known that to lead to the appointment of additional men to
de the duties of those who were inefficient, but still retained ?-Not in that way;.
not ostensibly.

Q. You have known men appointed because of the inefficiency of others ?-I
could not exactly say that.
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By Mfr. Roscoe:-
Q. If there were twenty men, and four or five of them were inefficient, would

not twenty-three or twenty-four men be required to do the work ?-Undoubtedly it
would take a certain per centage more, but it is difficult to say absolutely that there
has been additional appointments, because of inefficiency. I think, however, you
,might reduce the per centage of our respective staffs.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In your department cou!d you arrange examinations as preliminary to pro-

motion ?-I think promotion ought always to rest upon particular knowledge of the
business. You could not very well go beyond that.

Q. You think promotions should be left with the heads of the Departments ?-
I think so.

Q. Mr. Griffin objected to it being left altogether with him, although he thought
bis voice should always be taken in the matter ?-I think a certain attention should
always be paid to the permanent head of the Department.

Q. Do you think any more power in the way of enforcing discipline should be
lcft in the hands of the permanent or deputy head of the Department ?-I don't think
-se. The permanent heads have power to suspend and to report. That is quite suffi-
cient.

Q. Do you know anything about superannuation in your Department ?-We have
had several superannuations.

Q. Do you know of any irregularities with regard to superannuations arising
from political influences, such as the delaying of superannuations or giving them too
soon ?-None whatever, all our superannuations have taken place from age or in-
firmity, ill health, &c.

Q. Do you know of any ihdividuals now in the Department who are really unfit
-for the Service, and have been for some time from ill health or other causes ?-Not
from ill health.

Q. Then trom any other cause?-Yes; still I could not say much upon'that
point.

Q. Is your Department particularly hard upon the health ?-Yes; I think so, as
respects the outside service. We have a large proportion of young men who appear
to be suffering from di.sease of the lungs.

Q. Is there no medical examination in your Departmeat ?-Not that I am aware
of; but I think it is very necessary.

By Mr. 1Roscoe:-
Q. To what do you attribute the disease of the lungs ?--Probably to impure air,

and the dust from the handling of mail bags. Constant travelling is very hard on the
railway clerks.

Q. Has superannuation generally been on account of ill-health ?-Almost with-
exception.

Q. Any from age ?-No.
Q. Then really many are worn out before their time ?--Yes.
Q. Have you known any who have been superannuated to be put on again ?.--

Not in our Department.
By Mr. Church

Q. Are yon now referring to the inside service ?-No; to the whole service.
We have tbree classes: 1st, the Inside Service at Ottawa; 2nd, the Railway Mail
Service, that is the Railway Mail Clerks; and 3rd, the City Post Officos all over the
Dominion. The Railway and City Post Offices Clerks are our "lOutside Service."
Wehave nothing to do with country Post Masters.

Q. They are not eligible for promotion ?-No; but all the rest I speak of are
eligible for promotion.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Suppose that an examination for entrance into the Service were to be estab-

lished, by whom should it be conducted?-I think it had better be conducted on the
siame principiles as the examination for teachers, and by parties outside the Service, I
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think that the results of the examination should be sent in and that a record should
be kept at Ottawa, and a return made to Parliament.

Q. Speaking of the Service generally as far as you know, do you think that the
lower clerks in the Service could be so graded that one common examination would
answer the purpose for the lower ranks of the whole Service ?-Yes; I think so, that
is where no special qualifications would be required.

Q. If an examination was required, only one set of papers and one Board would
do for all the Departments ?-I think so.

Q. Are there any other points you would like to mention arising from your
experience in the Service ?- I do not think of any at the moment.

Q. What are the hours of work in your Department ?-In the City Post Offices
they vary. I think there is scarcely any hour in the twenty four not occupied in
some way or other.

Q. I mean for each employé ?-The hours vary from seven to nine; nine hours
for the outside and seven for the inside service.

Q. Do you find any difficulty in getting men in the Departments to attend
during these full hours ?-No.

Q. Is there any complaint made of their being too long ?-No.
By -Mr. Church:-

Q. Do you think that the system of competitive examination should bc applied to
all the grades of officers in your Department, outside in villages, towns, &c ?---No it
could not be undertaken for the small country offices. We do not consider any man
in the service who does not pay to the superannuation fund.

Q. That is the conventional understanding ?-Yes.
By Mr. Aylmer:-

Q. Do you not think that a system might be arranged to give to the boys in the
leading schools in the country who distinguish themaselves, appointments in the lower
offices ?-These are practical ways of getting at it.

Q. Don't you think that in this way a class of young men of the very best kind
would be brought into the service ?

Witness.-You mean that this would be the best way as far as common schools
are concerned ?

Mr. Aylrner.-Or bigh schools.
A. Yes; I dare say that would be a good way of selecting them.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Would you bave any fear under any system of securing a too highly oducated

class of employés ?-I don't think so; I do not think that the competition would be
sufficiently great for that.

By Mr Roscoe :-
Q. Is the Service not sufficiently attractive ?-I do not think so; the professions

will always attract the best men.
By the Chairman:-

Q. What means would you adopt to make the Service more attractive ?-I think
that if in our Department they would do as in England, and give all the larg c ountry
postmastership's to employé., it would have such an effect; in England the system
is very simple. All country postmasterships exceeding in annual value two hundred
pounds sterling are given to men in the Service ; the result is that they are constantly
sending trained men to act as postmasters all over the country; the postmasters at
large cities like Birmingham, Manchester and Liverpool, are all men who have had
post office training in some branch or other of the Service.

Q. Is promotion made from one post office to another ?-I think it is occasionally;
I think it is safe to say that this is the case.

Q. In Canada, as a rule, are large postmasterships given to people outside ?-

Exactly.
By Mr Church: -

Q. On whose recommendation ought those appointments be made ?-In that
case, - think the recommendation would have to be left to the Minister; the large
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post offices could be given to some one in the service. I dare say, as a rule, they could
be bestowed upon some one in, the same office who had knowledge of its affairs. The
position would be given to some one at headquarters here or in the office itself; it is
very unlikely that there would be such a thing as a senior clerk at Toronto being
made a postmaster at Halifax.

By the Chairman :-
Q. You think that promotion in large offices should be made in the offices

themselves as a rule ?-Yes.

By -Mr. Church :-
Q. Still there would be some political responsibility ?-This must rest on the

head of the Department; there is no other way of arranging the matter.
Q. Would any change in the mode of promotion make the Service more attrac-

tive in your opinion ?-No; I do not know that it could, we always now single out
men who are fit for promotion as far as we can.

Q. Do you think that the salaries in the lower grades are sufficient at present ?-
I think not. I do not think that any man can live respectably with the present
prices which prevail in Ottawa on $300 or $400 a year.

Q. At present how long must a man stay in the Service before he can reasonably
expect a good living salary ?-If the law was strictly carried out, it would take him
at Ieast three years before his salary would pay his expenses. I arn afraid that a
good many get into difficulties ; in fact they do try, but they cannot do it. 1 think
that of a number of young men who are here, a large proportion are not assisted by
their friends to such an extent as to enable them to live as they ought to live. It is
not to our advantage that they should be driven to the worst parts of the town. I do
not think that any young man in the service can possibly live as he ought on less
than $500 a year.

Q. Of course your remarks apply to unmarried men ?-Yes.
Q. And what is the case with respect to the outside service ?-I could not say,

prices vary so.
Q. You Think that the same general remark applies to the outside service; that

the salaries are not then too low ?-I think that they are; I do not think that any
advantage is gaiied by placing the salaries at the owest possible point.

Q. Do yo agree with Mr. Griffin, that if a more efficient class of men were
appointed, salaries could be raised on account of the decrease in the number of
employés, with the present expenditure of money ?-I should not like to say that
the meu as a rale are inefficient, I do not think that you could find any great differ-
pnce in the men. I do not think that the margin would be sufficiently large te make
any material dleduction; but I do think that it is a mistake to limit the salaries of
young men first entering the service to $300 a year.

Q. If the chances of promotion were made rapid, could you get along with low
entrance salaries ?-I do not think that it would be wise to promote young men so
rapidly as that; I do not think that they could acquire sufficient knowledge of their
duties to warrant it, unless they were for three or four years in the Service; My
practical experience is that under this system, young fellows get into difficulties at
the time they enter the Service, and that they never get out of them.

Q. Do you consider that the low salaries paid to men in positions of trust are a
temptation to these men?-I cannot say that they are; we have never to my knoW-
ledge any such cases.

Q. Are there any positions in the Department where men have any chance to
abuse their trusts ?-I do not think that in any part of the Post Office Service, the
inside service at least, anything of that kind could occur. The system is such that
no means for giving way to temptations of that kind are presented. I think, how-
ever, that it rather tends to lower the standard of the men employed in the Depart-
ment. That is about the effect of the system, and it is important in this way that it
tends to lower their self-respect, &c.
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By Mr Aylmer :--
Q. What is the limit as to age, for men entering the Department ?-From

eighteen to twenty-five years.
By Mr Church:-

Q. It is more than that, is it not ?- That is the limit, but it is not insisted on.
By the Chairman :-

Q. Do you know that the rule as to age is broken ?-Undoubtedlv it is.
Q. Is it frequently broken ?-The rule as to age has been very littile observed; it

has been frequently violated.
1. 1 am decidedly of opinion that the examination to test the qualification of

candidates for employment in the Civil Service should, in all cases, precede
employment ; and that no person who has not received a certificate of qualification
should be employed.

2. I would suggest that a return should be laid before Parliament at the
commencement of each Session, shewing:-

1. The total number of' persons who offered themselves for examination at each
place where examinations had been held during the preceding year.

-2. The names, arranged in the order of merit, of those who had received certifi-
cates of qualification during the year at each place. ·

3. The names of the Departmrent to which successful candidates had been
appointed, and the rank and salary assigned in each case.

(Signed) W. WH1ITE.

TUESDAY, April 17th, 1877.
Committee met.-Hr. CAsEY in tbe Chair.

Mr. E. MIALL, jr., Assistant Commissioner of Inland Revenue, called and
examined:

By the Chairman:-
Q. How long have you been in the Service ?-Seven years.
Q. The Department has not been in existence much longer, has it ?-It has been

in existence ninte or ten years.
Q. What was your previous training ?-I was articled to a firm of publie

accountants in England, and I have been, since coming to this country, engaged in
manufacturing.

By the Chairman
Q. Do you approve of the present mode of making appointments to the Civil

Service ? If not, on what grounds ?-I consider it utterly indefensible. Theoretically
it may not improperly be urged that the responsibility of all appointments must ulti-
mately rest with the Executive, but I cannot see that this proposition is any excuse
for the Executive failing to institute some system under which the wisdom and adapt-
ability of their selection might, in a great measure, be guaranteed. There are, how-
ever, those who uphold and defend the present system, and who argue that Govern-
ment ought to be able, confidently, to rely upon the advice anld rcoommendations
of those of the peoples' representatives who usually support them, and who share with
them the credit or discredit of such nominations; but it should be borne in mind that
these representatives have seldom the means of knowing vhat qualifications are
required in order to fill creditably the positions to which they may be requested to
nominate their friends; and even did they know what were required, it would often
happen that they would be quite incapable of deciding whether or not those qualifi-
cations were possessed by the persons they would desire to nominate. It is to be
regretted also, that these are not the greatest obstacles in the way of judicious nomi-
nations. Too often the fitness of the candidate would appear to be the last matter
considered ; neither do 1 see how it eau be much otherwise until members of Parlia-
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ment cease to bo virtually mere delegates of local majorities, and become by a more
rational method of election (such as that proposed by Mr. Hare or an approximation
to it) the unanimously chosen representatives of certain quotas of the electors. In
that case the influence of those small but active coteries that exist in every constitu
ency and virtuaIly hold the electoral wires, would wane; and members, not being
driven to consult or conciliate them might, and probably would, recommend men for
the public service for other and higher reasons than those which almost of necessity
must actuate them under the existing political system. It is manifestly to the interest
of any Government to entrench itself behind some carefully considered system, which,
while relieving them from constant annoyance, would ensure the choice of the best
attainable instruments to aid them in conducting the public business of the country.

Q. Do you think that a system of competitive examination would effect that
object ?-Without committing myself too fully to the theory of competitive examina-
tions, I have no doubt at all that a non-political Board of Commissioners who should
have the power of calling to their aid men versed in the various branches which go
to make up a liberal education, for the purpose of drawing up examination papers
and of valuing the candidates' replies, and otherwise in aiding professionally the
Commissioners in the discharge of their duties, would very largely bring about the
desired result. I am inclined to think, however, that if the object be to select the
very best men attainable, the Commissioners would have to be entrusted with a
certain amount of discretionary power. There are obviously, certain mental, moral,
as also physical characteristics which any ordinary examination would entirely fail
to test ; such means could only test candidates as to acquired kuowledge. In some of the
higher branches of the service, other qualifications might be of greater moment than
acquired knowledge. The very originality and versatility of mind on the part of a
candidate possessing, for example, great powers oforganization, might be a positive bar
to the acquisition of that kindef knowledge in regard to which a more docile and im-
pressionable mind would considerably surpass him ; and yet this power of organization
might be the very feature most to be desired. Other positions call for an intuitive
knowledge of human nature; others for great decision of character; others for a
semi-idicial tone of mind, capable of weighing evidence and arguments, deciding
rapidly and judiciously, and reproducing the whole case in skeleton form with
lucidity, for the consideration of the political chief of the department. These are all
characteristies which ordinary examination would fail to test; and, in fact, San only
be recognized by what a man is and what he has alFeady done. These remarks, how-
ever, are applicable only to a very small proportion of the positions in the Civil
Service, which Might, in fact, be specifically excepted from the operations of the
general regulations. When I hesitate to commit myself unreservedly to the
principle of competitive examination, I desire it to be understood that I do not deny
the efficiency of exarmination as a test of acquired knowledge. My experience has
been that they are a very powerful and efficient aid to discriminating in this respect;
but I think some latitude must be allowed to the Commissioners in determining how
far acquired knowledge is to be taken as the test, or how far that is to be modified
by considerations as to temperament, mental force or other features they deem to be
important under special circumstances. In any case, however, it might be desirable
to provide that a candidate possessing a first-class certificate should always have
precedence over one having a certificate of any lower grade, whatever latitude might
be allowed the Commissioners as to. candidates within the highest class. I confess
that I look with some jealousy upon the giving of this latitude to the Commissioners,
lest it might be the means of re-introducing the liaison between the administrative
and legislative functions of Government, which, unhappily, has so long existed,
and which it is the design of those who are pressing for competitive examination
to break through. Probably competitive examinations, in conjunction with a term of
probationary service, would meet the requirements referred to; but the approval,
of the Department most interested ought to be positively signified in writing before
that probationary appointment became permanent. The mere failure of the
Department to signify its disapproval should not be sufficient.
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Q. What bas been the experilence of your Department as regards examinations ?
-The experience of the Inland levenue Department has been emphatically favour-
able to really effective examinations. As a rule, all those who bave obtained first-
class certificates have, sooner or later, reached responsible and comparatively lucra-
tive positions; several have become inspectors; still more have obtained collector-
ships; and there are not half-a-dozen who bave not risen to positions commanding
$1,000 per annum. Unfortunately, others have reached similar positions from

political favoritism, and those who were entitled by length of service, and by acknow-
ledged fitness, have from time to time seen the higher posts to which they were fairly
entitled, filched from them by men, whose chief recommendation may have been
that of political partizanship, and to whom the duties and technicalities of the office
were almost totally unknown. This practice is very disheartening to the men in our
service, who are led to conclude that intelligence and zeal are unnoticed and
unvalued. It is still more suicidal when it is borne in mind, that these officers are
placed in positions of the utmost temptations-positions in which the slightest
deflection from the straight line of duty might enable them to supplement their
earnings far beyond anything to which they may expect to rise as honest men.

Q. What is the outside staff employed by your Department?-The number of
officers of ail grades on the outside staff of the Inland Revenue Department (Excise
Branch) is about 200. Of these, about 125 have passed successful examinations ;
eighteen have failed to pass, and fifty-seven have not yet submitted to examination.
Referring to the 125 above-mentioned, these include all who have passed the mini-
mum, and have become entitled to be graded, whether among the first-class, second-
class, or third-class; the first-class being those who have attained 1,200 points, out of
a possible 1,500; the second-class, those who have attained 900; and the third-class,
those who have secured 600. The experience of the Department bas been, that those
who have obtained first-class certificates, are indisputably good men, available
for any position in the outside service, I think I may say without a single exception.
With reference to the second-class, they may be regarded as men of something more
than the average avatlability. The third-class men are very indifferent ; and, as a
rule can only be utilized as warehousemen, or what, in the Customs Department,
would be called lockers-men engaged in superintending bonded warehouses, &c., &c.
Those who have failed to pass their examinations have, in some cases, submitted to
examination more than once, always with a similar result. Almost without excep-
tion they are looked upon by the Department, not from this cause alone, but as the
result of actual experience, as men decidedly unfit and likely to remain unfit for the
duties of the service. We find that the standing at examination generally indicates
very effectually the efficiency of the candidates. I may also point out that that
which at one time appeared to be an obstacle to obtaining really practical results,
namely, that examinations would fail to indicate the technical knowledge of officers,
has been considerably removed or dissipated by the result of an experiment made
within the last twelve or eighteen months. A provision was made in the Estimates
for 1874-75 for a sum of money to enable the Department to pay $200 per annum
beyond the ordinary salaries of first class excisemen to 20 officers, whose duty it
should be especially to supervise large manufactories subject 'to excise. It was
determined to try the experiment of testing their special knowledge and fitness for
this work by examination. The papers got up for this purpose were based very
largely upon the books and accounts used in connection with special manufacturing
establishments, the transactions were all real transactions, and the result showed that
quite as close an approximation to a correct judgment as to their capacity could be
reached as had already been done in reference to examinations of a less technical
nature. During the last examination of this kind which was held, 13 officers sub-
mitted themselves to examination, ail of whom had passed a first-class general
examination, showing that in their general information they stood nearly on a par
one with the other. One of these officers, however, had but recently entered the
Service, and while, with the exception of this one, all passed creditable examinations,
he completely broke down ; in fact, he was not able to attain any position at all.
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ýThis was owing entirely to the fact that he had not been able to attain that special
knowledge which could only be attained by a considerable length of actual service
and p. actical work in the distilleries. I mention this simply to show that papers
May be " set " in such a way as to cover far more ground than is usually supposed,
and that something more than mere knowledge acquired from reading, &c., may be
indicated as the result of such examination. All officers, except one or two
appointed at Confederation, have been appointed subject to examination; but
very few, if any, having failed to pass such examination, have been discontinued
on that ground alone. The service would be materially improved if the rule were
adopted of dismissing all officers who failed to pass after having been twelve or
eighteen months on probation, provided the rule were rigorously carried out. After
passing the first examination successfully, officers are invited to submit themselves
voluntarily for future examination with a view to improve their rating. They may
undergo examination from time to time, the understanding being that the Depart-
ment will use its best endeavour to have the salaries of those who are successful in
inproving their rating correspondingly advanced, and, as a rule, this bas been done.
The effect would, however, be more marked if the increased emolument followed
increased rating as a inatter of course, immediately after such rating were attained.
The application necessary to enable officers to achieve a creditable position lias had
a marked effect upon the Service. There is little doubt that if a preliminary, untech-
nical examination, before a Board such as has been proposed, were a pre-requisite to
even a probationary appointment, the outside staff would be relieved of a consider-
able weight of useless material which, in fact, never can be utilized. In the other
branches of the-Inland Revenue, except that of Weights and Measures, I an not
aware that any examination of a technical character would be of much use, though
one of a general character sufficient to cull out those obviously unqualified for the
duties they would have to perform, would certainly tend considerably to lighten the
responsibility of those having the conduct of the Department in their charge. With
reference to the inside services at Ottawa, general intelligence, good moral character,
a thorough knowledge of English and in some cases of French, good legible hand-
writing and quickness at figures appear to me to be the desiderata, rather than very
high attainments, in any particular direction except perhaps in the case of two or
three positions in each Department. The Publie Works Department or Surveyor-
General's office. where, of course, special professional knowledge is required, must in
a great measure be excepted from my remarks. "

Q. There is one point I wish to refer to. It is with regard to what you have
said as to the impossibility of testing actual results by examination before actual
experience has been obtained. I would ask if there is no other means of testing a
candidate's fitness in this respect than by actual experiment ?-I do not believe there
is. It is only by what lie has already done that this can be determined.

Q. You believe, then that it is only by actual training in the Department that
this experience can be acquired ?-Yes; or by the appointment of one whose past
history and acknowledged versatility of talent is such as to be a perfect guarantee of
bis ability.

Q. Would it not be possible to try a candidate who had passed a special examin-
ation for, say, a period of twelve months ?-It would be very difficult to try a man
for twelve months under such conditions. It might throw the work of the Depart-
ment into confusion. It seems to me that it would be incurring a great risk.

Q. It would then be necessary to take men who had filled positions outside ?-
I think it would be necessary to take men who had had experience outside. I, of
course, refer only to a few of the higher positions, calling for skill not ordinarily
acquired in the Civil Service.

Q. Notwithstanding this, you are disposed to favor the means of testing by
examination for primary appointments ?-The ordinary divisions of the service would
certainly be immensely benefitted by admitting no one except after examination.

Q. How do you think the present system of promotion works?-The present
system is a system of haphazard; sometimes promotions are made fairly. When the
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heads of Department have their own way, it is usually done fairly ; but frequently
the political element comes in, and promotions are made on the same principle as
that on which appointments are sometimes made. I cannot say that in our Depart-
ment we have had much to complain of. The superior officers of the Department
have had their own way very much in the selection of men for the higher branches,
as well as in promoting them.

Q. Do you think that a young man entering the Department, has a fair chance
of obtaining, by application and ability, some of the prizes in the Department ?-
Does this question apply to the service generally, or only to our Department ?-

Q. State your views as to both.-With reference to the Departments generally, I
do not think that mere industry, nor even ability, will enable a young man to force
his way into high positions. In spite of all he can do, men less worthy, but having
political support, will rise above him. With regard to the Inland Revenue Depart,
ment, the fact that so many ministers have come and gone-I think there have been
five or six, since I entered the Service, seven years ago, has left the Department fre-
quently without a political head. At such times, the Deputy-head, a man who took
an active interest in the work of the Department, has, under the acting minister, had
tolerably full sway; and he bas at those times, made recommendations favorable to
those employés who have been efficient; but who, up to that time, had been left
unpromoted. Another thing which lias assisted the Service in the Inland Revenue
Department, has been the knowledge that the duties of its officers are of a somewhat
technical nature, requiring a fair amount of ability; and that the appointment of
inferior men would work great injury to the public-would, in fact, tend to a loss of
revenue.

By Mr. Roscoe:
Q. I understand yon to say that the higher grades in the service could not be

filled up fron the inferior officers ?-There would be times when the men could be
promoted without taking them from outside; but this could not always be done. The
duics of certain positions require special training which cannot always be given in
the Department. For instance, take the Accountant of our Department-he must be
a trained Accountant. There are so many complicated returns which cover so much
ground that a man who was not a thorough Accountant could not keep the books at
all--in fact, he would have no chance at all.

Q. Could not this knowledge be obtained in the Department ?-No; I do not
believe there is any position in the Department where a man could learn accounts
thoroughly.

Q. Such positions may, I suppose, be called those of the stalf of the Department ?
-Yes ; I mean positions requiring special qualifications; qualifications that can only
be acquiied outside. An Accountant possessing a thorough practieal knowledge of
his profesaion cannot be made in the Department ; a mere book-keeper may.

By the Chairman
Q. How should appointments from the outside be made ?-As a preliminary to

sudh appointments from the outside there should be a statement in writing from the
tead of the Department that the requisite qualifications cannot he'found in the Depart-
Ment, such statement to be gazetted. In some cases those oficers who are filling
Positions requiring special qualifications, should have assistants fitted to take their
places. As a rule a thorough knowledge of accounts cannot be had without going
outside the Department. I think, however, it would be well to avoid making any
cast-iron rule on the subject which would have to be broken.

(Signed) E. MIALL, JUN.
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WEDNESDAY, 28th March, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair.

Mr. MEREDITH called and examined:

By the Chairman :-
Q. Are you Chairman of the Civil Service Board ?-Yes.
Q. When was that Board established, and how ?-In 1857, by statute.
Q. Will you state generally what are its functions ?-The duties of the Board are

set forth in detail in the 25th Section of " The Canada Civil Service Act, 1868." One
of the most important duties is that connected with the examination of candidates
for admission into the Civil Service.

In response to several questions, Mr. Meredith then made the following state-
ment :-

Under the Act of 1857 we were authorized to examine all who presented them-
selves. Consequently many came up who, after passing, felt that they had claims,
and were disappointed by not getting employment. Under the Act of 1868 we only
examine those whc have received nominations. We are notified by the candidate of
his appointment, and proceed to examine him. Sometime the notification comes
from the Minister. As a matter of fact the appointment is sometimes made by
Order in Council before examination, though often subject to passing the examina-
tion. This is indeed the general course. In the majority of eases we don't examine
till after appointment, and in many cases there is no examination. I don't remember
any case of a man appointed by Order in Council before examination who failed to
pass. Candidates would be allowed to try a second time, if they failed on the first
trial. I am sure the majority of nominees do not come before us. Only 72 have
been examined by us since Act of 1868. Those rejected do not bear a large propor-
tion to those who pass. Two or three were rejected and tried over again, and only
one was finally rejected. We do not make a classification according to merit, there
is not much room for it. Under the old Act we bad optional subjects which allowed
us to some extent to show the proficiency of candidates. There was no rule giving an
advantage to those who stood highest. The examinations have been always
exclusively written. The time allowed varies. (See papers.)

Examinations are always held at the Seat of Government. Under the old Act
it was held monthly, now it is held when required, that is when application is made.
We would hold an examination for one applicant. The last examination held was in
Febrnary, 1876, there was only one that year, and none in 1875. In 1874 there appears
from our books to have been 15; in 1873, 10 ; in 1,872, 14; in 1871, 13; in 1870, 16 ; in
1869,3. No general heads of subjects are prescribed by the Act, but they are settled by
the regulations ofthe Board, and confirmed by Order in Council. The examination is
only useful in excluding those who are utterly ignorant and entirely unfit for the Ser-
vice. It is not at all comparable to primary examinations in England, and is no adequate
test of the qualification of the candidate. Any boy of 13 should be able to pass it. it
is not nearly as severe as the entrance examinations of High Schools. We do not
necessarily receive notice of any appointment. Any number of appointments might
be made without our knowledge. We have no power to compel nominees to be
examined. We have often represented to the Government that the law has not been
complied with in regard to examinations. Appointment before examination is a
violation of the Act. The Act applies in terms to both inside and outside Service,
but the organization for the examination of the outside service as provided by section 2
of this Act, has never been carried out. Answers to questions at examinations are
kept and will be produced. Nominees to a grade higher than the lowest should also
come before us, according to the Act. We have but very rarely been called upon to
examinç men appointed to the higher ranks for special qualifications. The only
subjects on which we have examined such nominees are shorthand writing and higher
arithmetie, and, I think, book-keeping, occasionally. In my opinion, it would
decidedly improve the efficiency of the Service to have a more severe preliminary
and compulsory examination before appointment. I think the standing at these
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examinations should be taken into account in making appointients. Practically,
now, any person scraping through at ail is in as good a position as any other, no
matter how good. Competitive examinations should no doubt be a good test of
ability, though perhaps not a satisfactory test of other qualifications, such as indus-
try, application, punctuality, character, health, etc. There is no means of testing
these under the present system. There can be no means of testing these except by
probationary appointment. Both systens fail to reach these personal qualifications,
but the competitive system is a better test of ability. I think a competitive system
combined with probationary appointments would be decidedly very inuch preferable
to the present system. The examination would determine one factor ; the rest would
be decided by experience.

I think the existing law, even if literally carried out, would not be sufficient to
secure the acceptable efficiency of the service. There is no examination for promotion.
I think a man's superior officer should know him so well as not to need an examina-
tion. Promotion is made on the recommendation of responsible Ministers, confirmed
by Order in Council. I think the permanent head is generally consulted. When a
vacancy to which a promotion might take place is filled from outside the Service the
Deputy Head is powerless. I have known this to occur occasionally. I can say of
my own Department that it is not overcrowded; I cannot speak fi-om personal
knowledge of the others. Overcrowding would lessen the rapidity of promotion and
be otherwise injurious to the Service. I think it should be very rarely necessary in
ordinary Departmental work to call in an outsider for special qualifications; the
bringing in of such men, when there is no necessity for an expert, discourages those
in the Service, and lowers its efficiency and morale. I think this practice should only
be resorted to when absolutely nocessary, i. e., in the case of a shorthand writer. As
Head of a Department, I should prefer to promote my own employés rather than
take in outsiders. I speak from long experience. I have been for 3ýO years the
Deputy Dead of a department. I should exercise selection and decidedly not promote
by seniority alone. Promotion should go by seniority where efficiency, in the
opinion of the Head of the Department, is equal. Nothing could absolutely prevent
favouritism and jealousy. Cases constantly occur where promotions over the heads
of other men have caused general dissatisfacti on. Promotion in a department should
be quite aside from political considerations, and the Departmental head should be
consulted. In my Department I could not arrange an examination as a preliminary to
promotion. I know my men thoroughly without this, and the chiefs of the various
branches should have the same knowledge of the men under their immediate charge.
In Departments where technical duties are discharged such examination might be
probably advantageous.

Practically, the gentlemen employed in my Department undergo a continuous
individual examination day by day, in the ordinary course of their duties. It
is practically a competitive examination. I have not, however, the power of pro
moting those I consider most efficient. I should not like to leave the responsibility
of making promotions altogether to the permanent head, though I think he ought to
be able to advise on the subject better than anyone else.

It may be occasionally advisable to introduce a Deputy Head from outside. It
would be best as a general thing to train them up in the Department.

The separation of appointments from political considerations is advisable.
Apart from technical and scientific branches, work in the lower grades is, I think,

sufficiently similar in the diffèrent Departments to be done by men of the same
qualificatiops.

In my Department I have many men employed in copying, &c.; others in work
requiring special thought and intelligence.

I have come to the conclusion long ago that a change of system, such as I have
already indicated, is necessary to the efficiency of the service. This is not so much
fim experience in my own Department, as from knowledge of what is going on in
1the service generally.

12
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In compliance with the request of the Committee of the House of Commons on
the Civil Service, I respectfully submit the accompanying statement in connection
with the evidence given by me before the Committee on the 28th ultimo.

The Civil Service Board was first established under the authority of the Act 20
Victoria, chapter 24, and bas been continued under the 31 Victoria, chapter 34, comn-
monly called the Canadian Civil Service Act of 1868.

The Civil Service Board is composed of the Deputy Heads of the several Execu-
tive Departnents at the Seat of Government, who annually elect their chairman, I
bave held the office of chairinan continuously since the passing of the last cited Act,
and have taken an active part in the Civil Service examinations under both Acts.

The general duties of the Board are defined in the 25th section of the Act, sofar
as the examination of candidates for employment in the Civil Service is concerned,
its duties are :-

1. To frane the regulations to be observed by such candidates subject to the
approval of Tis Exuellency in Council.

2. To examine all candidates who present themselves upon a nominati, n for
office.

3. To keep a record of the candidates for examination, showing the name, age,
place of birth and residence of each candidate, by whom nominated, and the results
of examination, and

4. To grant certificates of qualification to candidates who have passed a satis-
factorv examination, and otherwise complied with the provisions of the Act.

Under the formor Act, i.e., the 2Oth Victoria, chapter 24, the Board was authorized
to examine all candidates who presented themselves ; whereas under the Act now in
force, i.e., the 31st Victoria, chapter .34, those candidates only are examined who
have obtaîid a nination for ofce.

A copy of the regulations of the Board, approved by His Excellency in Council,
is submitted herewith ; and the book containing the official record of the results of
examinationis has been laid before the Committee.

The number of candidates examined under the Act 20th Victoria, chapter 24, is
, and the nunber rejected,
The number of candidates examined under the 31st Victoria, chapter 34, is

and the number rejectcd,
The Board bas no authority to compel candidates to present themselves for

examination before 1i.
Candidates are examined either at the request of the Head of the Departnent

nominating them, or on the application of the candidates themselves. The Act
requires that candidates should be examined before tleir appointment. As a matter
of fact, however, the appointments generally precede the examination, and during the
last few years but a small number of those appointed to office have been examined.

The subjects for examination are not prescribed by the Act, but are settled by
the regulations of the Board, confirmed by Order in Council. The examination is
very elementary, and is not at all as severe as the entrance examination to High
Schools in Canada.

Any intelligent boy of thirteen should be able to pass the examination success-
fully.

The exaninations are conducted principally by means of printed papers contai-
ing the questions for examination. A passage from an English or French writer h
also read out to the candidates, to test their power of writing from dictation.

N,) attempt is made to classify the candidates who pass; indeed the examinatioln
is so elenentary as hardly to admit of it.

Under the original Act there were several "optional" subjects, in which
candidates might be examined, if they desired it.

The following were the optional subjects :-1. Grammar ; 2. Translating Frencli
ito English and English into French ; 3. Arithmetic as far as decimal fractions; 4.
Book keeping; 5. Eleientary Geography; 6. Making abstracts of documents; 7.
Shorthand writing.
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The marks obtained by those who passed in'several of the " optional " subjects
afforded some test of the general attainments of the candidates.

It was not found, however, that the character of the examination passed affected
the candidates chances of appointment; a man who had barely scraped through the
examination being as likely to be appointed as one who had passed a very creditablo
examination.

The only useful end which the present examination serves, in my opinion, is
that of excluding from the Service those who are utterly ignorant and incompetent.

The present Civil Service Act applies in terms to both the Outside and Inside
Service, but as regards the Outside Service its provisions have never been carried
out.

The Act also provides that persons whom it is proposed to appoint on the ground
of special attainments may be subjected to a special examination in that respect.

Very few persons have been examined under this provision of the Act, and the
only subjects on which such special examination has been held are : 1. Shorthand
writing ; 2. Higher Arithmetic ; 3. Book-keeping.

In my evidence I have stated my views on the subject of examinationswfor
promotion. Such examinations in most Departments would, it seems to me, be
utterly useless. The Deputy Head of a Department and the heads of branches
should, without any special examination, know thoroughly whether the men under
them are or are not eligible for promotion. In the ordinary transaction of the business
of the Department, the efficiency and ability of every man is being tested in the best
possible way. le is in fact undergoing a daily examination of the most practical
kind.

I have also stated that 1 think the frequent introduction of men from joutside
to fil1 vacancies in the higher grades of the Service is a grievous evil, injurious to the
public interest, and fatal to the morale of the Service.

The prizes, such as they are, in the Service, should, I think, be reserved for
those who having made the Service their profession, have regularly served their
apprenticeship in it, and performed their work faithfully and well. Persons from
outside should only be brought into the Service on those rare occasions, where very
special attainments are required, or when professional or technical knowledge is
necessary, and when there is not any avaiable person in the Service possessing such
attainments or such 'professional or technical knowledge.

In conclusion, I would respectfully submit the following suggestions with a view
to increasing the efficiency and cconomy of the Public Service.

1. No person should be appointed either to the inside or outside service who had
nlot passed an examination, showing that he was possessed of, at least, a fair English
education.

2. The examination should be conducted by a Board of Examiners, composed
generally of persons unconnected with the Service. One member of the Civil Service
Board being, however, associated with them for the purpose of consultation.

3. The Board should hold its sittings at the Seat of Government, but examina-
tions might be held at other places by means of sealed printed papers sent to persons
appointed by the Board to superintend the examinations in accordance with its
regulations.

4. Appointments should be made irrespective of political considerations ; those
being selected who had passed a creditable examination, and who, so far as could be
ascertained, appeared to be in other respects best qualified for the service.

5. All appointments to the junior grades, at least, should be strictly probationary
for the first year or six months, and should then only be made permanent by Order
Of Council passed on the recommendation of the head of the Department or his
deputy.

6. Certain classes of persons might possibly be exempted from examination, i...,Univrsity gý_aduates, professional men, or members of the English Civil Service,
who have passed the Civil Service examination in that country.

7. Promotions should be made on the recommendation of the Head of the
21
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Department, who should consult in the matter with the Deputy Heads and the lead
of tte particular branch (should there be such) in which the promotion was to be
made.

8. Promotion should be made solely on the grounds of merit and seniority.
9. Vacancies in the higher ranks of the Service should, if possible, be filled by

promoting men already in the service. Persons from outside should be brought into
the Service in those rare cases only where professional or scientific attainments are
required, and wbere there is no person available either in the Department itself or in
any other Department of the Service, possessing the necessary qualifications.

10. Ail unnecessary offices should be rigorously abolished and the staff of every
Department reduced to the minimum required for the efficient discharge of business.

11. Assuming that those employed in the Service are fully engaged in their
official labours, their remuneration, especially in the higher grades, should be more
liberal than at present. Respectfully submitted,

(Signed) E. A. MEREDITH,
Chairman of the Civil Service Board.

REGULATIONS FOR THE GUIDANCE OF CANDIDATES FOR ADMISSION INTO THE CIVIL
SERVICE OF CANADA.

Framed unieî the provisions of the 3lst Vic., cap. 34.

1. Every candidate for admission into the Civil Service of Canada must make
application in his own handwriting to the Civil Service Board, setting forth in such
application his age, place of birth, place of residence, the length of time he has -been
in Canada, and the nature of his previous occupation, and stating also at which of
the places, hereinafter mentioned for the purpose, lie desires to bc examined. Can-
didates who have previously been employed in the Public, or any otier service, must
state in their application the nature and particulars of such service, and why, and
whcn they lett it; and the Board, before admittifg such candidates to examination,
shall enquire into such particulars, and cause to be endorsed on the candidate's
application any information thus obtained as to his qualification which may appear
to them material.

2. Such application must be accompanied by the nomination in writing of some
Head of a Departmont in favour of the candidate, together with such certificates as to
the age, health and moral character of the candidate as hereinafter prescribed-
subject to any alterations that may be hereafter made therein by the Civil Service
Board.

3. The certificate of age should contain the best evidence of the date of the candi-
date's birth which he can conveniently supply.

4 The certificate of health must be in the subjoined form A, and must be signed
by a duly licensed medical practitioner, and bear date within one month of the date
of the application.

5. Every candidate must transmit with his application two certificates in the
subjoined form B. The parties signing such certificates must be Justices of the Peace
or householders.

6. No candidate shall be admitted to examination unless he shall have lodged
with the Board at Ottawa, at least twenty days before the day of examination, his
written application accompanied by the nomination and certificates bereinbeforO
prescribed ; nor unless such certificates shall have been approved by the Board.

7. The certificates of candidates shall be examined by the Examining Committec
hereafter appointed, and they shall forthwith notify each candidate whether his
certificates have or hve not been approved, and when the examination will be held.
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Examinations.

8. A Committee of five Deputy Heads shall be appointed annually who shall, from
time to time, prepare the necessary examination papers, and conduct the examination
at Ottawa. Such Committee to be called the Examining Committee. But nothing
herein shall prevent any other member of the Board from being present at examina-
tions. The examinations at all other places shall be conducted by the Local Examiners
hereinafter mentioned.

9. The examination shall be held as soon as practicable after the nomination of
the candidate and the approval of his certificates, &c.

10. The examinations shall in all cases commence at eleven o'clock a.m., and be
continued, with such adjournment as may be necessary, until the examination is
completed.

11. The Board shall appoint at Toronto, Kingston, Montreal, Quebec, Halifax
and St. John, local examiners who, under the instructions of the Board, shall conduct
the examinations to be held at those places respectively.

12. The examinations at Toronto, Kingston, Montreal and Quebec shall be held
on any day named by the Board for the purpose.

13. The chairman of the Examining Committee shall cause to be kept a record
of the candidates for examination, showing the name, age, place of birth and resi-
dence of each candidate, by what head of a department nominated, and the time,
place and result of bis examination.

Compulsory Subjects.

14. All candidates shall be examined in the following subjects: -

1. Penmanship.
2. Spelling.
3. Arithmetic-as far as vulgar fractions.
4. Writing from1 dictation.

Optional Subjects.

15. A candidate may be examined, should he so desire, in any one or more of the
undermentioned subjects:-

1. Grammar.
2. Translating French into English and English into French.
3. Arithmetic as far as decimal fractions.
4. Book-keeping.
5. Elementary geography.
6. Making abstracts of documents.
7. Shorthand writing.

16. Any one or more of the optional subjects mentioned in the preceding rule
may, by order in writing of the Head of any Department, communicated to the Board,
be made compulsory for candidates for that department.

17. The examinations shall be conducted by means of printed papers; but the
examiners shall not be precluded from putting viva voce questions to any candidate
for the purpose of ascertaining his competence to pass in any subject.

18. When the Board, by resolution, orders that an examination shall be held at
any of the places named herein for such purpose other than Ottawa, the Board shall
lorthwith notify the Local Examiners at that place of the fact, and shall at the same
time transmit to them the necessary examination papers, with a list of the candidates
to be examined.

19. The Local Examiners shall see that the examinations are conducted strictly
in accordance with the regulations of the Board, and with any instructions they may
receive. One Local Examiner at least shall be present during the whole time of the
examination.



20. After the close of every examination, the Examining Committee shall report
to the Board the result of such examination, and shall at the same time submit the
application and certificates of the candidates. and the Board shall determine as to the
candidates to whom certificates of qualification shall be granted, and shall forthwith
notify such candidate of the result of his examination, and shall also notify each Head
of a Department of the result of the examination of any candidate or candidates by
him nominated.

Certificates.

21. The certificates of qualification shall be in the following form, and shall be
signed by the Chairman of the Board for the time being, and countersigned by the
Secretary :-

"The Civil Service Board, established under the provisions of the 'Civil Service
Act of 1868,' hereby certify that on the day of at the city
of Mr. was duly examined by the Board, and that his
examination as to fitness and capacity for employment as
and his testimonials as to moral character were found satisfactory."

Should the candidate present himself for examination in any of the optional
subjects and be found " proficient " or "highly proficient " in any one or more of
them, the fact shall be noted on the certificate in the following terms:-

"Mr. wa% also examined, at his own request, in the following
subjects, viz.: and was found

Marks.

22. To regulate the decisions of the Board upon the granting of certificates to
candidates, each of the compulsory subjects shall be valued at 100, and the examiners
shall report the numerical value of the answers of each candidate. No certificate
shall, be granted to any candidate who lias not 6btained an average of 60 marks in
the compulsory subjects, or who has obtained less than 30 marks in any one of the
said subjects.

Provided, however, that in cases of candidates for the situation of Messenger
or other inferior employment, the Board may, though the prescribed number of
marks has not been obtained, grant a special certificate of the candidate's sufficiency
for such situation or employment.

23. Each of the optional subjects shall be valued at 100, and the examiners shall
decide the numerical value of the answers of each candidate.

24. Any candidate who shall obtain 80 marks or upwards in any of the optional
subjects, shall be deemed " highly proficient " therein. If lie shall obtain 60 marks,
but less than 80, he shall be deemed "proficient." No candidate obtaining less than
60 marks, for any optional subject, shall receive a special certificate for such subject.

25. When any optional subject is made compulsory for a Department, the Head
of that Department shal prescribe the minimum number of marks which shall entitle
the candidate to pass in such branch.

26. When any Department has organized, or shall hereafter organize, a special
examination, under the supervision of the Department, for candidates for appointment
in the outside service of such Department, the Board may, by resolution, order that
such special examination, subject to such rules as they may prescribe, shall be held
to be an examination by the Board for the purposes of "the Civil Service Act.'
Provided, always, that candidates for such outside service must in ail respects complY
with the preceding rules and regulations so far as relates to their applications for
admission into the Civil Service, and to ail matters other than the examination.
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(A.)

" I hereby certify that I have this day personally examined Mr.
"and that I believe him to be free from any physical defect, or disease, or mental

ailment, which should disqualify him from admission into the Public Service."

(Signature.)

(Address.)

(Date.)

(B.)

STATEMENT respecting (give nane of Candidate in full) a Candidate for employ-
ment in the Civil Service of Canada.

QUE S Tl ON S. ANS W ERS,

1. Are you related to the Candidate, if so,
what is the relationship ?

2. Are you well acquainted with the Can-
didate ?

3. From what circumstances does vour
knowledge of him arise ?

4. HIow long have you known him ?

Is he strictly honest, intelligent and
diligent ?

6. Is he of strictly temperate habits?

7. What do you know of his education and
acquirements?

8. So for as you can judge, is his character
in all respects such as to qualify him
for Public Employment?

Signature,.... ................

A ddress,....................

D ate,.....................

I certify that the answers above written and the Signature thereto affixed, are in
the proper handwriting of , and that the said
is a householder, and is a person worthy of credit.

(The above certificate to be signed by a Justice of the Peace, unless the Referee
be himself a Justice of the Peace, in which case the certificate is not required.)
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THURSDAY, 29th March, 1877.
Committee met :-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair.

Mr. W. H. GRIFFIN, Deputy Head of Post Office Department, called and examined:
I have been virtually in my present position under different names for 43 years.

I think the inside employés in my Department number 87. The limits of age pres
-cribed by the Civil Service Act are 18 to 25. Special reasons must be given for
.appointments of persons between 25 and 40. If over 40 these reasons must be
submitted to Parliament. It has always been a moot point how far these and other
regulations of the Act apply to the outside Service. These regulations as to age have
been generally observed in my Department in both the inside and outside service.
Not one per cent. of nominations have violated this rule. Certificates of character,
age, health, &c., are required from such candidates as come before the Civil Service
Board. When they do not do so there is official enquiry mto these points. I have
no power to compel the examination of any employé sent to me, and I do not know
officially whether lie has been examined or not. There is no departmental examina-
tion in my Department.

The Act of 1857 was intended to introduce the competitive system to some
.extent, by providing open qualifying examinations, of the result of which an official
record was kept, showing marks obtained by candidates; no one was to be appointed
except from this Iist. The Act became imperative in this respect from the facility
.of examining and passing any one whom it was intended to nominate at the time of
appointment. A provision that the examination should have been passed. say three
èmonths before appointment would have assisted in carrying out the intentions of the
Act. The Act did not provide for appointment in order of merit; some weight
ahould have been given to stadding at these examinations in making appointments.

Promotion.

There are no examinations for promotion in my Department. My clerks are
divided into four classes. The duties of the three junior classes cannot be discrimi-
nated with any accuracy from the nature of their work. They are therefore
promoted from class to class by seniority after the expiration of the time fixed by
the Act for service in each class. Conduet is of course, considered in making promo-
tions. Bad conduct may keep a man back but good conduct cannot hasten his pro-
motion before the fixed time. Industry and application can have no direct effect in
;hastening promotion. Promotion is always made after consultation withi me; my
recommendations are generally, though not always, taken ; but I remember no case
of a man being promoted contrary to my recommendation. My recommendation is
based on seniority. I have no power to promote of myself. This refers to tho three
junior classes. A man cannot become a first class clerk by mere length of service or
until a vacancy occurs, or a new clerkship of that grade is created. Promotions to
these places are made generally in order of seniority, though a choice is permitted
Lhroughout the Department down to the most junior clerk.

Above the clerks come the Departmental officers. They are two classes:-

rST CLASS:

Accountant
Secretary;
Superintendent of Money Order Bi-anch.

2ND CLAss:
Assistant Accountant;
Cashier;
Superintendent of Savings Bank.

The grades in the outside service are 1st Chief Inspector, Inspectors and
Assistant Inspectors, forming the staff.
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Then come Clerks in iispectors' offices, Local Money Order Superintendent, City
postmasters, Railway Mail Clerks and Clerks in Post Offices, in that order.

The pinch of the Service is that the recruits we get are not of a class likely to
fuinish fitting material for the higher branches of the Service, after any amount of
training. Consequently, these branches have to be sometimes filled from outside.
The problem is to make the service attractive to a class of men who would furnish
such material. It is a great niisfortune to have to go outside the Service for men to
fill these positions. I think the obtaining of such material as we get is an inherent
fault of the present system of appointments, combined with the absence of induce-
ments such as to lead young men of ability to enter the professions. A man entering
the Service cannot count upon obtaining such prizes as do exist by meritorious conduct
in the banks. A system ofpromotion by merit, apart from political con siderati ons,would
go far to remedy this. At present, when we do get good men, we often find that
they leave the Service because their prospects are better in general business. The men
now filling the chief offices in my Departmient have been, for the most part, promoted
within the Department. As the Department grows larger, the proportion of men in
it qualifying for the higher positions has tended rather to diminish than to increase.

Salaries.

I think men are kept too long on the lower salaries. These salaries are not
sufficient to attract the more active and able young men of the country. We cannot
get nearly the same class of young men that enter the banks. A young man would
rather enter a bank at $200 a year than the servi-e at $400 a year. This preference
arises foin the nature of the work and the chances of promotion.

Classification.

A great deal of the work in my Department is meremonotonous drudgery. The
best men could do this no better than an ordinary copyist. It rather tends to lessen
a man's fitness for higher work. Much of this work could be put into a lower grade.
Such a separation, by permitting new men to go at once into the higher work, would
facilitate the obtaining of better men for these positions.

Discipline.

I have no power, except in the absence of the Minister, to dismiss men for
inefficiency or misconduct.

In regard to appointments, promotions, discipline and everything else, interfer-
ence'from outside is always for the w orse.

(Signed) W. H. GRIFFIN.

TUEsDAY, 3rd April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair.

Mr. GRIFFIN recalled and further examined.

Q. You say that the power of dismissal is in the -ovornor's hands ?-Yes; the
general power; and the Postmaster-General bas, in respect to the Post Office service,
a special powrr under the Post Office Act.

Q. As a matter of fact, have you ever experienced any difficulty from the lack
of power to dismiss in enforcing discipline in your Department ?-Never. Of course,
there is more or less trouble in managing a great body of men.

Q. Do you think that if the power of dismissal was left in the hands of the
Deputy-lead of the Department it would improve the discipline of the Service ?-No;
I do not think it would. There has been no difficulty on this point hitherto; though



it would depend very much upon the relations at the time lbetween the Head and the
the Deputy-Head. I never had any difficulty myseif. I can understand that some
incompatibility between them might create a difficulty.

Q. Might favouritism interfere to prevent dismissal ?-Yes. I do not think there
is any disadvantage, however, in not transferring the powers to the Deputy-Hlead.

Q. But you eau easily understand that, under our present system, favouri tism
might interfere with the discipline of the Department ?-Yes.

By Mr. Macdougall (Elgin) :-
Q. You said something about transferring the power to the Deputy-Heads of

Departments ?-I do not think that any advantage, as a matter of system, would flow
from that. I think it would put the Deputy in a false position.

By the Chairman :-
Q. In what respect ?-If lie had the power of dismissing a man his chief might

want to retain, I do not think any good to the Service would accrue.
Q. You mean that it might bring about a clashing between the Deputy and the

.Head ?-Yes; which would not be for the good of the Service.
Q. Might it not be for the good of the Service occasionally that a man should be

dismissed, whom the Minister wished to retain ?-I do not think it would promote
the good of the Service to give the Deputy-Minister power to control the wishes of
the Minister.

Q. Do you not think that the Deputy-Minister is the person who best knows
the qualifications of the employés ?-Certainly.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. I understood you to say the other day that no one was placed in the Depart-

ment contrary to the wishes of the Deputy ?-That no one as a rule was promoted.
Q. I suppose I may ask then whether any dismissal was ever made that did not

meet with the approval of the Deputy-Head ?-Never, that I can reach to mind.
Q. Then it is really a fact that the Deputy-Head is consulted on all matters ?-

Yes; as a rule on the matters of this nature. I am merely speaking, however, of my
own experience.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You said the other day that recommendations of the Deputy-Hlead for pro-

motion were sometimes not taken on those points ?-Yes; but I wish to qualify that,
by saying that when this happens it is almost always due to general political
exigencies. Sometimes all promotions are suspended for a time.

Q. When your recommendations are not taken it is for political reasons that they
are rejected ?-Yes; what I apprehend to be political reasons of a general character.

Q. Have you know instances where those political exigencies interfered in your
opinion with the interest of the Service ?-Yes; they always do; that is, so far as you
can say, the interest of the Service differs from the general interests of the country.
I do not, of course, mean any reflection on the general policy of the Government.

Q. You mean the " interests " in having an efficient body of men for the
Service ?-Yes; as a way of managing a body of mon it is not good.

Q. What is your general opinion of the effect of this political interference ?-
Any interference with the rules laid down for the good management of the Depart-
ment for mere political reasons, is, of course, injurlous, if the rules are to have a
good influence on the Department.

Q. You have known instances where such interference has had a bad influence?
-Yes,

By Mr. Macdougall (Elgin)
Q. In what respect ; as to lack of mental capacity, skill, or what ?-Well, the

first Civil Service Act was passed in 1857; it was quite clear the new system would
not begin to bear fruit for eight or ten years. Before that period elapsed ail pro-
motions were temporarily stopped for, I think, at least two years.

Q. You found that seriously affected the opertations of the'Act, and practicallY
the efficiency of the Department ?-We lost, in iny opinion, the whole time that had

28
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passed from the passage of the Act as respects much of its beneficial influence on the
Service.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. Have there been anv dismissals during the past few years ? -Yes.
Q. Many ?-Not a great many; they are a well behaved body of meri for the

most part.
Q. For what cause have the dismissals taken place ?-Intemperance, I think, in

al cases.
Q. In cases where a party bas been dismissed for intemperance bas any other

person equally guilty been retained for political reasons ?-Not that I know of.
Q. You think that polities would make no difference as fail as the administration

of the Departient is at present concerned in the matter; that any one guilty of
intemperance would be dealt with ?-Yes ; I never knew of any partiality.

By the Chairman
Q. Do you mean to say that vou never knew partiality exercised in the dismissal

of persons for political reasons ? -No instance of such dismissal strikes me at present.
Q. That is not one of the ways in which political influence enters the Service ?-

No.
Q. You have known political influence to kecp a man in the Department after

he was not needed or he had become unfit for the Service ?-Not ostensibly: not
anything noticeable.

Q. Do you know. as a matter of fact ?-I do not know any particular instance; I
know nothing of political influence within the Department; f presume that I have
the saine knowledge that anybody else has, that a Minister will probably appoint his
own friends; but there is no question of politics within the Department.

Q. You bave found political influence to affect first appointments rather than
promotion ?-Yes; the question of politics never comes up in the Department.

Q. Do you think it possible to arrange such an examination in the Departinent
as would test a mnan's fitness for promotion ?-Well, that, (the fitness for promotion), is
a matter of judgment, and depends a great deal upon the office to which you want to
promote a man; I do not mean, however, the ordinary advancement from class to
class; that depends on the conduct and not the qualifications.

Q. You do not think it would be possible in the three junior classes ?-No.
Q. Would it be possible to test a man's fitness for promotion from those classes

to the higher grades by that means ?-I am inclined to think that it would be better
to have the conditions that surround the first-elass extended to the class immediately
below, that is the senior second.

Q. What are those conditions ?-Pure merit and general qualifications ; you
cannot really bring out by examination whether a man is intelligent, and ready and
fit to direct and control other men; and those are the qualifications wanted in the
higher grades.

Q. You could bring out what knowledge a man had of the duties of the Depart-
ment by examination ?-No, not very well; it must be left to the judgment of the
Deputy Head, assisted by the other chief officers.

Q. Are there no positions in your Department for which a man's fitness in regard
to bis knowledge of the duties of the place could be tested by examination ?-It
would certainly be inexpedierit to put a man in the higher grades of the Money
Order or Accountant Departments unless he were proven to be a thoroughly good
accountant.

Q. You could test a maun's fitness for those positions ?-Yes, if that were all
required to fit a man for then.

Q. The question is whether it is possible to test and prove a man's ability for
such a position by examination ?-You could only partially test his qualification by
an examination.

Q. You could test bis fitness for an accountant's position ?-You could test his
qualifications as an aceountant, but he might be a good accountant and book-keeper,
and yet be unfit for tle position.
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Q. I do not mean to make the examination a reasonî for the promotion, but
simply as a preliminary ?-Then it would be useful.

Q. You think that for some of those positions, it might be useful in order to
select a man ?-Yes.

Q. In regard to superannuation, I wish to ask if the rules of the Act have been
strictly enforced in your Department ?-Yes ; I know of no instance to the
contrary.

Q. fias superannuation, to your knowledge, been improperly delayed ?-No.
Q. Are there any persons in the Service who have long been unfit for duty that

have not been dismissed or superannuated ?-No; I think there are one or two that
possibly might be superannuated for those reasons.

Q. But there are none at present in the Service who have been for a considerable
time unfit for duty who have not been superannuated ?-No. Of course it takes some
time to corne to a decided opinion on a point of that kind in many cases.

Q. Thon you prefer not to express an opinion on that point ?-Yes ; as to pre-
sent condition of particular men in. this respect. But I know of no man who has
been improperly superannuated, or whose superannuation has been improperly de-
layed.

Q. You cannot say. on the spur of the moment, whether such is or is not the
fact ?-No.

Q. To come back to the general subject of appointment: have you considered
the question of competitive examination ?-Yes, 1 have.

Q. Please give, in a connected form, your opinion of the system.-I bave looked
upon the English competitive examination as an advantageous system, its chief virtue
being that it removes appoingments from the sphere of political influences.

By Mr. Paterson :-
Q. Does it altogether remove them from that sphere ?-At all events it linits

the choice.
By the Chairman:

Q. Do you think it would also secure a better class of recruits for the Service ?-
Yes; I think it would, if the Service were made suficiently attractive. But the two
things must go together.

Q. You think that competitive examination as a means of selection, and making
the Service more attractive, are both requisite te the improvement of the elass of
recruits ?-Yes; neither, of course, will work any great improvement unless accom-
panied by the other.

Q. ln regard to the competitive system, have you considered whether it would
be possible to inake an examination suited to the wants of the country ?-I have;
you must not make the examination too strict, and follow the English plan too
closely, as the general tone of education here is different.

Q. You could easily conceive of an exanination suited to our circumstances ?-
Yes.

Q. And you consider such a schene as applicable to Canada ?-Yes. The exam-
inations hitherto have, if I may use the term, been rather exclusive than inclusive-
they have been rather to keep out incompetent persons than to test accurately the
competency of persons who pass.

Q. If I have got your idea you think that reforms in the Service would be these:
competitive examinations, increased pay in the lower ranks of the Service, and
improved prospects of advancements, and the total abolition of political influence ?-
Yes, with regard to the promotion to higher grades; but I think the good effect would
be felt in the future rather than immediately.

Q. I asked you the other day about grading the Service into mechanical and
professional grades, and you seemed to express a partially favourable opinion ?-
It would not go very far.

Q. But do you think it could be introduced ?-You would lose your means of
training if it were carried too far. To a certain extent the pùst office service is a
profession; there is a great deal to learn.
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Q. Do you think there shoiubt be any change as to the age at which a young
inan should enter the Service ?-I think the present rules are right in that respeet.
It is better to take young men.

Q. Would you advocate a limited competitive system or an open competitive
system as practiced in England ?-I think I should prefer the open system.

Q. You think it would be easy under the competitive system to institute as
careful inquiries into character and such points as are now instituted ?-Yes.

Q. That there would be no more reason to fear the introduction of improper
characters into the service ?--No.

By Mr. Paterson -
Q. Does character corne in as part of the examination in competitive examina-

tions ?-Yes; it always does; of course the inquiries of a Board, under the open
system, would be more thorough and searching .than they could be when you are
dealing with the nominee of a Minister.

By the Chairman -
Q. By whom do you think the competitive examination should be conducted ?-I

think it should be conducted outside the Service by a Board.
Q. Please give your further views on discipline ?-Any system would, I think,

fail, in which it was attempted to set up the Deputy as a check upon the Minister.
Q. Then you think that the power of internal management should remain with

the responsible Minister?-With the Deputy, controlled by the Minister.

By a -Member :
Q. Giving the Deputy such power would be to put him in a false position ?-It

would put him in a false position to exalt him in any way above the Minister, or
give him any independent power or authority.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. By making the Service " attractive " you mean increasing the pay ?-No ; I

mean improving the prospects of arriving, by ability and good conduct, at what
would be attractive results in respect to salary and position.

Q. Would the chances for promotion be any botter under a competitive system
than they are at present ?-The two should go together; unless that were.so, the men
you would get under the competitive examination would not be the class you want;
you would not get the proper class to corne forward.

Q. But in order to have greater attractions the Service must be made more
remiunerative ?-Yes.

Q. Would competitive examination result in securing a botter class of men, a
srnaller number of whom would be able to manage the work it now takes a large]
nmber to jerform ?-No doubt.

Q. You would secure a botter class of employés, a smaller number of whom
would accomplish much more than the present staff accomplishes ?-I think so.

Q. You say that there is some room for questioning that the work, in some cases,
iS done as efficiently as it might be ?-Of course it is not.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. That inefficiency would be more as regarded promptness than in correctness '

-lu every way there would be improvement.
By 3fr. Roscoe:-

Q. When you speak of making the Service attractive, you partly refer to men
from the outside not being placed over the heads of those already in the Department
Without some very good reason ?-Yes ; not without some very sufficient reason.

Q. Would you be proparle to say that outside talent bas frequently been brought
in ?-It has frequently been brought in, and the men in the service have thereby lost
mlany of the prizes.

Q. How?-What I cal prizes are inspectorships, postmasterships of city offices,
chiefs of branches, etc. The city postinasters require no great training like the
others, but still they are prizes. If these prizes are given to outsiders there is
lothing left for the reward of men in the Service.
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Q. Do the clerks in the Post Office Department require any specific training ?-..
Tes.

Q. Do postmasters in cities ?-They ought to have had it, of course; but they
have assistants who have had post office experience.

Q. Would you appoint post masters in cities as rewards in the Service ?-If you
do not there is nothing left in the Service. If you do not you make the limit which
can be reached to be a salary of $1,600 or $1,800, that is the ordinary limit, even if
you have superior ability.

By Mr. Kirkpatrick
Q. low far would you extend the system of competitive examinatios ? I ask

you to see whether you would extend it from the inside Civil Service at Ottawa to
the outside ?-But of course city postmasters belong to the "outside," as you call it.

By the Chairman : -
Q. Would the remarks you have made with reference to the inside service apply

to the outside service ?-Yes.
By M1fr. Kirkpatrick:-

Q. You would apply your remarks to the whole of the outside service ?-I should
recommend competitive examinations for the first appointment, and that of course
would apply equally to the outside as to the iuside., except to country postmaster-
ships.

Q. Then the system you would like in Ottawa you would like outside also:
competitive exaniinations, the test for appointments, and then successive promotions?
-Yes.

Q. It would extend to wherever there is a fixed salary ?-Yes ; wherever you
purchase a man's whole time.

Q. But not to country postmasters who may be storekeepers, or anything else
besides being postmaster ? -No.

Q. Then there is no part of the Post Office Department, except that of the
country postmasters, which you would not bring under this system ?-No.

rWEDNESDAY, 3rd April, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CASEY in the Chair.

Mr. J. JOHNsON called and examined:
By the Chairnum:-

Q. You are the Deputy Head of the Customs' Department ?-Yes, sir.
Q. How long have you been in that position ?-I have been in the Custons'

Department since 1867; it is a little over two years since I was appointed Commis-
sioner of Customs ; previous to that I was Assistant Commissioner of Customs.

Q. Your first appointment was to the position of Assistant Commissioner ?--
Yes, my first appointment in the Customs; but my first appointment in the Civil
Service dlates twenty-one years back in 1 ew Brunswick.

Q. Would that position enable you to judge of the condition of the Service almost
as well as the one you now hold ?-Quite as much ; I have bad pretty much ail the
duties of the office to attend to since my appointment.

Q. How did that come about ?-Mr. Bouchette, who was Commissioner, was
getting infirm, and a great deal of his time he was unable to attend to his business,
and all the business virtually passed through my hands ever since 1867, till I was
appointed Commissioner myself.

Q. Can you give ie a rough idea of the number of the employees in your
department ?-I have copies of the returns. In the inside service there are twentY-
four, including the Commis4oner down to the Messengers. In the outside service
there are 918 actually appointed by Order-in-Council.

Q. Al of whom are at present engaged ?- Yes.
32



Q. How are appointments made in the department ?-The appointnents for the
inside service are usqally -made on the recommendation of the Minister himself by
Order in Council. In the outside service they are usually made on the recommen-
dation of the member for the district or constituency in which the apipointment is to
be made.

By Mr. Roscoe:
Q. That is the practical way of doing it, I bolieve; but theoretically the Minister

is supposed to have all appointments in his hands ?-Yes.
Q. The Minister, as a rule, chooses to take the recommendation of the member

for the district ?-Yes.
By the Chairman

Q. In which Service-the outside or i n-do the salaries range the !highest ?-I:
could hardly make a comparison ; the duties are so very different, and I cannot
easily rank our clerks in the inside service according to analogous positions in the
outside service.

Q. But I mean in which branch do you consider the chief prizes of the Service
are ?-There are more prizes, what I might call real prizes in point of salary, in the
utside than in the inside service ; still, the average salaries of the inside service are

mnuch higher than the outside.
Q. But there are more in the outside ?-Yes ; for instance the maximum salary

)f Coliectors is put down here at $3,800, which refers to Montreal.
By Mr. Roscoe :-

Q. What does Mr. Hammerly get ?-$3,200.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Are the rules in regard to examination before appointment pretty generally
carried out ?-No; they are not carried out at all in our Department, in fact, except
with reference to the inside service; the rules respocting examination have hitherto,
in our Department, only applied to the inside service, and in that case it is carriec
out; all our present staff who have been appointed since Confederation have under-
gone that examination; that is, the examination of the Civil Service Board.

Q. Then you bave had no appointments duriug the last two years to the insida
service? -- No absolutely new officer; there was one officer appointed, but lbe had-
been in the Service as extra clerk for some time before.

Q. Have you any special examination in the duties of the Department which
nominees are required to pass ?-No, Sir.

Q. N either in the outside nor inside branches ?-No; we did have a plan two,
years ago, I think for putting candidates for appointment in the outside service
through a special examination; it was carrie I out in a few cases but was found
utterly impracticable under the system which had been adopted-under the system
o>f recommendation for appointment, I mean. We could not depend upon getting the
men appointed whose qualitications were the best, because of the political questions
arising in the matter, and we found it quite useless to attempt to carry out the
examination under such circumstances as those.

By Mr. Roscoe:-
Q. You mean that it was possible in some cases that the men recommendec

-would not pass the best examination ?--Yes; and yet they would, in a certain sense,
be forced upon the Department.

By the Chairman :
Q. At what date were those experiments tried ?-1 could not give the exact

date; it was about two years ago; it was since my appointment as Commissioner.
Q. Were the examinations then to take place before the appointments ?-Yes;

after application, but before appointment; they did so take place in several cases.
Q. And I understand you to say that you found the system a failure on account

Of the political influences mixed up in the question?-We found it so far a failure
that we could not depend upon the examinations being the test for ultimate a ppoint-
Ment.

Q. Were any considerable number examined ?-No more than three or four.
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Q. Have you any recollection of whether they got along well ?-In every case
out of these three or four, except one, those that were appointed were pronounced
capable of performing the duties.

Q. Four ?-Yes.
Q. What was the nature of this examination ?-It simply extended to a generat

acquaintance with the practical rules of arithmetic, the capability of writing a good
letter, comprehending the principle of the Customs law, and a few other small matters
like that. We did not consider it at all necessary to make it a searching educationai
test, as the Service did not require it.

Q. What qualifications would you consider necessary for the lower grade of the
outside service ?-Reading, writing and arithmetic, so far as the rule of proportion
and practice and vulgar fractions; a little acquaintance with decimals would also be
very desirable, but that is a very simple matter and easily learned in practice.

Q. Do you find now, as a matter of fact, that the men whom you get into the
outside service under the present system of nomination are generally possessed of
those qualifications to a satisfactory degree ?-In the lower grades, I think not; in
the higher grades in the outside service I think the qualification of those now in the
Service-which would be the test of course,-are very fair as a general rule ; I mean
from the position of a landing waiter and searcher to that of collector.

Q. What do you call the lowest grade ?-The lowest in point of salary is what
-we cail a preventive officer, yet he is a commissioned officer ; his duty, as the name
indicat es, is simply to guard the country from smuggling.

Q. Please mention those next in order ?--Preventive officer, tide waiter, ware-
house locker, landing waiter and searcher, surveyor, sub-collector, and collector;
there are other occasional offeers, but those constitute the general staff.

Q. You say that you tbink the lower grades are not as well qualified as they
should be; to wbich do you refer?-Irefer principally to the preventive officers, and
I attribute that very much to the fact that they get such very small salaries that
there is no inducemient for a person well qualified to seek the position; and, gene-
rally speaking, they are by no means a usefut class of officers; they do very little
service indeed; their salaries range from $60 to perhaps $250 a year; and you can
see there is no living in the matter.

Q. Are appointinents always made to the lower grades, or is there any rule to
that effect ?-Oh, no; new men are brought into atI the grades frequently.

Q. Is it common to appoint new men to the grade of collector, for example,
instead ofmaking promotions ?-Oh, yes.

Q. Is it not the rule ?-Yes; I should say it has been the rule; there are instances
of promotion, but since 1867 I think the rule has been that new men have been
appointed.

Q. Is that the general rule in regard tothe higher grades ?-The making of new
appointments ?

Q. Yes ?-I can hardly call it a rule; it bas been the general practice. When 1
say the " general practice," I mean that I think that the majority of appointmients
have been of new ien-the minority being of promotions.

Q. -Do you consider that this practice of making appointments of outsiders to
the higher grades tends to discourage the zeal of those in the iower grades ?-
Decidedly; it must have that tendency.

Q. Do you think, too, that mcn promoted from the lower grades would be likely
to know the duties of their offices better than new men brought in ?-It would
depend very much upon the men. We have always men who are capable of taking
any position; but in order to carry out à system of promotion effectually, the whole
system from beginning to end would have to be changed. We would require, in the
first place, to guard the entrance to the Service by means of a proper ežamination.
Then the appointments would have to be made independent of all political consider-
ation. Thus, for instance, when a collectorship was vacant in Ontario we should
have the privilege of calling a man from any part of the Dominion, already in the
Bervice, to fill the position ; and from Ontario we should have the privilege in the
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same way in regard to Nova Scotia and New Brunswick when the opportunity arose.
Such an arrangement in the Customs service would be of the highest possible service
to the country ; because we all know that every Customs officer, however 1ów his

position, has a great deal of power in his hands-power with reference to the com-
mercial community; and Le can, supposing that he gets very intimate with a portion
of the business community, render them services in an illegal manner without much
chance of detection for a considerable time ; or he can obstruct their business very
materially. One idea connected with that intercl)ange of officers would be that of
preventing officers from becoming too well acquainied in the communities in which
they are engaged. When a man goes to a strange place where Le is not known and
bas no particular circle of friends Le would be more apt to discharge his duties pro-
per1ly. No man can act independently when lie is suri ounded with his friends. I do
not say that this happens in the direct operation of the customs; but I think the
service would be increased in efficiency if the appointing power was in a Board, who,
independent of all influences, could exercise some discretion and make this inter-
change that I have suggested.

Q. Do I understand you then to say that the present system of appointment
scarcely gives you proper material for promotion ?-Not so good material as we
otherwise would have.

Q. On account of being sometinies compelled to take men from the outside ?-
That is not the r ason why we do that; the reason is because of the pressure brought
upon us to niake certain appointments.

Q. Do you mean that ycu never have any difficulty in getting proper material
for promotion ?-We would not if we had the privilege of selecting fron all parts of
the province.

Q. What about the pressure of which you speak ?-It is simply this: The
patronage is virtually in the hands of you members of Parliament; the pressure is
brought to bear upon you and you bring the pressure on the Government; you are
surrounded with the parties who are applicants. I speak it with all modesty, but 1
think it places members of Parliament in unpleasant positions to look after such
matters, and it does not give them really any more political popularity. My thoughts
have been led into that channel perhaps more from examining into the nature of the
regulations and laws which prevail in England, than from any other circumstance.
The whole customs laws in England were consolidated last year, and on examining the
law as it now stands you will find that all the power of appointment is vested in the
Commissioners of Custons who are entirely outside of political influences. The
appointments, dismissals, promotion and everything is vested in those Commis-
sioners.

Q. Who are the Commissioners?-They are a body appointed by the Govern-
ment-life appointments.

Q. They are not members of the Sei-vice ?-No ; nor members of Parliament.
They have no political status whatever. I think there are five of tiem, but I am not
quite certain.

By Mr. Burpee
Q. What are these especial duties ?-To take the Customs Law and administer

it, and all appointments are made by them from the list of persons who have under-
gene examinations. In England they have what are called competitive examina-
tions. The parties who undergo that examination and are approved of, get graded to
certain classes and are placed on an indexed list, and froim this list all appointments
are made by the Commissioners. I do not think that that system could be carried out
in ihis country in its entirety; but a system of competitive examination adapted to
each particular Department could very easily be devised and carried out. Some
I)epartments would requ're a much higher grade than others.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do vou think your Department would require any special examination ?-It

requires, I think, that every man should be a good arithmetician and possess the
other qualifications that I have mentioned.
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Q. Do you tbink higher standards are required in other Departments ?-J think
not. The Inland Revenue Department requires as high a grade as any other.

Q. Do you think that a uniform examination could be instituted which would
fairly test the qualifications for the lower grades in the different departments ?-j
think so.

By Mr. Burpee (Sunbury):-
Q. Do you think there should be a special test for each Department ?-I would

have a special examination for all persons seeking for promotion. If it was thouglht
desireable to promote an officer from a lower to a higher grade I would have an
examination through which he should be obliged to pais.

Q. Is there any such examination at present in the Department ?-No.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Can you arrange any such examination in your Department in such a way as
would be a proper test of fitness ?-Oh, yes ; very easilv.

Q. In both the inside and outside service ?-Well the examination in the inside
service is all-sufficient when it is passed through. Any young man that can pass the
examination before the Board of Examiners is qualified for any duty that he may
have to perform in the higher grades of the inside service.

Q. Are there positions in the outside service in which special scientific know-
ledge would be useful or requisite ?-Yes; I did not mention in the list of officers
the peculiar position of appraiser. It would be very desirable in the case of
appraisers that they should have a considerable amount of chemical knowledge.
If they were good chemists iý would very often facilitate our business very mach.

Q. What other knowledge would be useful-business or commercial experience?
-Commercial experience would be very valuable in any of the offices in the outside
service of the Customs.

Q. Does an appraiser's duty ever require him to value goods that are not very
common in the country and would require to be specially tested ?-Yes; -very
frequently.

Q. (Goods in which the invoice would be no guide to their actual value ?-It very
frequently occurs. Frequently goods are composed of different materials, and the
diliferent materials are subject to different rates of' duty. It is very desirable that an
appraiser should be able to deteet those different materials, which could ofter only be
done 1y a knowledge of ciiem- istry. That is particularly the case with reference to
liquorsnd sugars. There are many articles coming into the country in which
there may be detected so large a proportion of sugar that would make them liable to
the sugar duties; whereas they often pass at a lower duty in consequence of the want
of knowledge on the part of the officer.

Q. Is there any examination at present fhr the position of appraiser ?-No, sir
Q. Neither for entrance nor for trial in the position ?-Nono whatever.
Q. Do you ever experienco any difficulty from gettinig inefficient appraisers ?-

We have had cases of difficulty.
Q. As a matter of flact there is no safeguard against getting an utterly ignorant

appraiser ?-Well, there is just this: that parties in whom the patronage is vested,
will, generally speaking for their own sakes, refuse to reeommend an utterly incof
petent man. They may be examined as to the question of a man's qualiticatiols.

Q. But I understanid you to say there is no check upon froc appointment in thi8
matter ?-No.

Q. Is that of appraiser the only position in which special qualifications are
requisite?-The same qualifications would apply to almost alil collectors, because the
collector is, in point of fact, appraiser of his port except whei e a special appraiser 1
appointed, and the large majority of our ports have no appin ers. The duties then
devolve upon the collector ; and it is also desirable that the laiding-waiter have the
ame knowiedge because the sarie duties might occasionally devolve upon him.

Q. For instance, do such ports as Clifton have special appraisers ?-No.
Q. Do Windsor ?-No; we have appraisers at London, lamnilton, and, of coure

there are two or three at Toronto. At Montreal we have four, besides assistant le

A 1540 Victoria. Appendix (No. 7.)



aisers. At Quebec there is an appraiser and an assistant. St. John, Halifax, and
harlottetown also have an appraiser each. I think those constitute all the ports at

which we have appraisers. 1 should have included Winnipeg and Victoria, in the

list, however.
By Mr. Church

.Q. Have you one at Pictou, Nova Scotia ?-No, sir. In all the other ports the
daties of appraiser devolve upon the collector.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Do you consider that there is considerable loss and risk to the revenue from

the lack of special knowledge on the part of appraisers ?-I do not think the risk is
very extensive; I do not think the loss could extend to any very large amount.

Q. It would depend altogether upon the amount of special articles coming in
at any particular port ?-Yes, sir.

Q. But suppose a man chooses to import articles requiring chemical analysis at
places where he knew there was not an appraiser. would there not be a risk of his
getting them in at a lower rate of duty ?-Yes; a great risk, and the probabilities
are that the duties would be lost. But the principal losses which are probably sus-
tained from the want of a perfect system of appraisement is in the undervaluation of
ordinary goods. That renders a commercial knowledge necessary to a correct
discharge of customs duties, so that the officers might be able to judge as to whether
goods are really undervalued or niot.

Q. Speaking generally of the whole system of appointment and promotion, I
think I understand you to say that you consider a strict entrance exarmination and a
free general system of promotion by merit, are necessary to the efficiency of the
Service ; is that your opinion ?-Yes ; I an decidedly of that opinion.

Q. By a free system of promotion, I mean appointing from one part of the
Service to another ?-Yes.

Q. Are such promotions as are made, generally made upon your recommenda-
tion to the Minister of the Departnîent ?- _No; the Deputy Head has very little
influenue in reference to appointments. We lay before the Minister the applications
and ie recommendations, and so forth.

Q. For promotions ?-No; for appointments.
Q. I was speaking of promotions ?-Well, no ; the same rule applies in both

cases.
Q. That promotions originate with the responsible Minister ?-Yes, generally.
Q. Has it been the usuai practise to ask the Deputy IHead to report on cases when

promotions are thought of ?-I do not think it has been the general rule, but it has
been (one occasionally.

Q. Do those remarks -lways apply to the outside service ?-Yes, altogether.
Q Do you feel qualified to speak of the capaeity of nearly ail the individual

employés; have you the means at hand ?-Not always with referenee to the lower
grades. I presume I could give a pretty correct opinion with reference to a man
holding the position of Collector or sub-Collector with whom I might have communi-
cation. But I have no direct communication with men in the lower grades.

Q. Who could then report on their qualifications ?-The Inspectors are the best
qualified, and have the best opportunities for doing that.

Q. Have you ever known any one to be promoted contrary to a recommendation
on your part ?-No, Sir.

Q. Who had been reported as being inefficient ?-I have no recollection of any
instance.

Q. I do not understand distinctly whether you said you were generally asked
about promotions or not-were you generally consulted ?-I am generally not. I had
better say in reference to that, that when a vacancy occurs it is a very general rule
With us to get an Inspector to make a report with reference to the case. If a man
iS te be promoted in the outside service we generally take the means to communi-
cate with the Inspector and ascertain what his qualifications are.
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Q. You mean that when it is proposed to promote a man you generally get the
Inspector to report in regard to him?-Yes. I might perhaps mention as an illus-
tration the case of Toronto. Very recently the surveyor, an old valuable officer,
died, and before any appointinent was made we sent to the Inspector and had him
make-a report with reference to the efficiency and standing of the whole staff at that
city. The fact was, afterwards, that there was a general promotion on the report.
An officer who had been acting as chief clerk was appointed to be surveyor, and the
others went up according to their merits.

Q. How long was that ago ?-Only within the last three months.
Q. Then there was really an attempt there to follow merit in making the

appointments ?-Yes; and I think rather successfully.
Q. Are you familiar with the arrangement adopted in the Inland Revenue

Department of requiring examinations for appointments to certain grades, and of
giving an extra salary to persons passing a certain examination ?- have not given
any attention to that. I am only aware of the general fact that they have such
examinations.

Q. Are there any remarks you would like to volunteer ?--I don't know of any-
thing further. The general points upon which you have examined me have been
those upon which I would like to have spoken. Perhaps I might mention that the
great difficulty we have in the outside service of the Customs Department is from the
drinking habits of a good many of the men. If any possible means could be devised
to prevent thei from using liquor we should have a much more efficient Service.

Q. What are the meanus for enforcing discipline in your Department ?-When a
complaint is made against an officer, we require a collector, if the person complained
against is lower in grade than tie collector, to make a report of the whole circum-
stances; and if it be necessary we appoint an inspector, or some other person if the
inspector is not available at the time, to niake an investigation and to report upon it.
And by these means we generally look into the merits of the case very success-
fully.

Q. Then to whom is the report made ?-To myself usually, and I examine the
matter over again and report to the Minister.

Q. And, as a matter of fact, is your report accompanied by a recommendation for
dismissal or retention ?-Usually.

Q. Is it generally followed ?-Generally; always, I might say.
Q. Have you any difficulty in enforcing discipline ?-Oh, yes. This difficulty

ilses from the same causes which makes it difficult to have a proper selection in the
Department.

Q. These are - ?-Political influences which are brought to bear on the matter.
Q. Bas a man of good habits, of industry and application, any considerable

advantage over another in the work of the Department-any greater chance of
promotion ?-I should say he had decidedly. If we know a man to be dissipated,
and consequently I don't think any influence would ensure his promotion.

Q. His bad conduct would prevent promotion ?-Yes.
Q. Would good conduct ensure promotion ?--Not necessarily; it may be pre-

vented however meritorious a man might be.
Q. Chiefly by the importation of outsiders ?-Yes.
Q. On the whole do you consider the system as now, so arranged as to give

proper reward to zeal and application and industry in the Service ?-It is so arranged
as to make that possible, but not so as to make it certain..

Q. As a matter of fact do you thi nk that civil servants do get their due reward?
-I think not in all cases ; not pei1aps in the najority of cases.

Q. As to salaries; give your general opinion as to the sufficienev of salaries
from the lower grades upwards ?-With the exception of officers who arc not expecte
to devote their whole time to the Service, I am of the opinion that the salaries are
very fairly proportioned. Of courbe there may be and are, doubtless, individual
cases in which men of merit are kept at a lower salary than they deserve, but there
are none of these salaries that would not c6nstitute a great inducement to a great
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imany outsiders to look for the office if it was vacant-and even men capable of filling
the positions.

Q. Do you think, in general terms, that the average run of salaries is such as to
attract the sort of material you would wish to cone into the service if a system of
alppoiftments was properly arranged ?-J think so.

By Mr. Church:-
Q. On what principle do you arrange the amount of salaries of these officers, say

collectors, for instance ?-We appoint salaries, as a general rule, in accordance with
the business of the port. In 1867 I suppose you are aware there was a Commission
appointed to report upon the Civil Service, and, anongst other things, t hey adopted a
certain scale of salaries for the Customs ports. But that scale of salaries was very crude
in its character, and could not be carried out in its integrity by any means. If it were
ciried out according to the scale laid down, a great injustice would be done in many
cases.

Q. Do you take the exports and imports as the basis ?-Yes.
Q. And the whole general work ?-We have to consider the general work, because

the niere amount of the duty collected at a port is not a proper index to the amount
of work actually to be performed. At a seaport, for instance, there is a vast deal of
real, actual work, which yields no revenue whatever. The same thing is true
where there is a junction of several railroads. But I can hardly go into details just
now. We have necessarily to take al! these things into consideration, and judge of
the requirements of the case. The amount of revenue collected is, however, the prin-
cipal item in consideration.

By Mr. Aylmer:-
Q. You say that those men who are not expected to devote the whole of their

ine to their work, have lower wages than the men who were obliged to give their
wvhole time. Are they supposed to be allowed to do any other kind of business for
themuselves ?-Oh, yes ; all the officers under $1,000 a year are allowed to use their
spare time to earn money for themselves in addition, except under certain conditions
which we have in the rules and regulations. We don't allow any man in the Customs
-it is contrary to rule, at all events-to be engaged in any commercial pursuits, and.
It is also contrary to rules to engage in an y municipal contest; indeed, tbey should
lot run any election at all of any kind. They might, however, be allowed to accept

an appointment by a municipal council in soie cases where it did not involve any
of the considerations which stand associated with an Election Board.

By the Chairman -
Q. A Sanitary Board, for instance ?-Yes.

By Mr Aylner :-
Q. H1e might take a Secretary-Treasurership ?-Yes; although by the strict

letter of the law he is forbidden.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Is not that rule strictly carried out?-As far as we have information, there

have been one or two cases in which we have had compl.ints of parties serving in
the capacity of councillor or reeve or something of that kind of municipal office, an
electoral office; and we have gone so far as to permit him to serve his term out
rather than to put the whole affair to inconvenience; otherwise, we never give them
the slightest permission contrary to the rules. I will quote for you the two rules on
the subject :-

" 2. Officers of Customs are not, either in their own name, or in the name of, or
in Company or in partnership with any other person, to trade as merchants or ast
factors, agents or brokers for any person, or in any goods, wares or merchandise
whatever, or in any matter whatever affecting the Customs."

By the Chairman :-
Q. Is that rule observed ?-As far as my knowledge extends it is; we have had

one or two removals in consequence of fiading that they were engaged in commercial
pursuaits.
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Q. Do you take special means for flnding out ?-We have the continual reporting
of the Inspectors, who, if they find any deviation from these rules, will let us know

Q. I would like to know what the Inspectors' duties are ?-They have a general
supervision over all the business of the port. Ie bas first of all to see that the books,
are properly written up; then he has got to examine all the vouchers connected with
these books and accounts, to see that every thing bas been duly accounted for; to go
back to the original reports and manifests ; find out whether all the goods reportej
have been duly entered ; and, generally, he is to tind out whether there is anything
contrary to law or the regulations existing in any port; if so, it is his duty to see
that it is corrected at once, and report to the Departnent if necessary.

Q. Then he goes around to each port for this purpose ?-He is supposed to go to
every port.

Q. In his Division ?-Yes.
Q. Ilow frequently ?-There is no specified number of times in the year ; he may

lave to go to some one port half a dozen times in the year, and to another port a
single vihitation would be sufficienit ; it miuch depends how he finds the port on his
irst visitation; the second rule I referred to, No. 10 of the General Instructions.

" 10. No Officer of Customs is allowed to hold any corporate office, nor to inter-
"fere in political questions, either local or generai."

That, you ob-erve, night admit of a man holding the appointment of Secretary-
Treasurer, or something of that kind, because in a certain sense it is not a " corporate "
office; it is a mere appointment. But we don't often sanction that where we arc
aware of it.

Q. Do yoi cider the wort of your Department, speaking of the outside service.
specially hapd on tLe hcalth may answer that question generally in this way:
that I conside te scrvice generally as not bard on the bealth. There are cases in
which office;ýs Laàe gut to be out on duîty at night. In such cases tbey my bc
exposed to stormas and other things which mikht be injaious to health.

Q. As a mt' ter ef fact, do you find tlat they wear outt rapidly in that Depart-
nent ?-I tinhîk It e oentrary is the truth. I think lit is a service in which a man cai

bave as good betith as In any service ia the word.
Q. Is not good physical health necessary ?-Very desirable, and indeed

niecessary.
Q. Something above the average. I don't rerely mean that he should not bc

sick, but that he should be a stronhg, vigorous ain ?-Activity more than strengtl Il
what is requii ed.

Q. Is a nedical examination required for entrance ?-No.
Q. Do you think it would be desirable to tet the soundness of a mai's consati-

tution ?-I tbink it would be desirable in all eses.
Q. What is the limit of age of appointments ?--The limit by law is 18 years.

No man enters the Civil Service, that I am aware of, who is not over 18 ycars old
By the Chairnan:-

We were told in the Post Office Department the limit was 25 years, and that iL

your Departmenît it was 45 years.
By the Titness:-

I am not aware of any absolute limit in our Department. We consider it very
desirable that nio man should be appointed who is over 45. In fact we have used
special endeavours to prevent a man being taken iato the service who was over 45
years.

Q. Do you consider as a rule that 25 is a good average at which men should be
appointed ?-I would as soon take on a man at 35 as at 25 years.

Q. As far as vigour is concerned ?-Yes.
Q. But don't you consider that the public would get more work out of a nman

who joined the service at twenty-five, during his life time, than out of one who
joined it at thirty-five years ?-Yes.

Q. Should a man as early a twenty do work in the service ?-For the more
important work I should think not.
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Q. But I am speaking of the lower grades ?-Yes; but you cannot expect a mant

to be efficient at twenty years.
Q. Can you give me your opinion of the age limit such as would give the Iongest

effective period in the service, with fair efficiency at the time of entering-entrance

being at the lowest grades ?-I don't think I can answer that very well; it would

require some examination of vital statistics.
Q. Do you think from twenty to thirty would be a fair limit ?-I should judge

one would get more service during a life time from that limit than frorfi a later-
period.

Q. I see superannuation runs some pretty good ages as a rule-one class averages,
seventy-five years ?-Yes.

By Mr. Alymer :-
Q. H1ow is superannuation arranged-by the age or years of service ?-A man

cannot be superannuated legally, unless he becomes a subject of some mental or
bodily infirmity, or meets with some accident, until he is sixty years of age.

Q. No matter how long be has been in the service ?-No; after sixty a mail may
be superannuated at any time, for any cause whatever.

Q. But suppose a man enters the Service at thirty-five and is superannuated at
sixty, would le receive the same superannuation allowance as a man who entered
the service at twcnty-five and was superannuated at sixty ?-No; le only receives
10-50th of bis salary.

By the Chairman -

Q. Please give hie general rule ?-The allowance is two )er cent. a year; two
per cent. is the amount we pay out of our salaries to provide for tbis fund.

Q. And what is Ihe allowance ?-It is 10-50th of his salary; that is to say, a
man cannot be supler'uintated who las not served ten years ; then le gets 10-50th ;
if he got $100 a year saîary that would give him $20.00 superannuation ; that is
really two per ceni. per' anaum.

Q. Tiat is the reguiiar rule ?-That is the law ; in connection witb tbat, the law
leaves it in the discretio of ithe Government to add a nuiber of years to a man's
time of service who Las entured the service at forty years of age for any special quali-
fientions for which ei my hiave been ehosen. If he served until le was sixty years
cf age, e would have nineteei years' service. The Governmient might add ie yeais
and make it twenîty-niae years' service. Or they might add any portion of the ten
years, 2, 3, 4, 5, as they please. according to the merits of tle case, but they cannot
excecd ten years.

By Mr. Ayinîer:-
Q. Are these additions very often made?-Very seldcom.

By M1r. Roscoe --

Q. Only in very exceptional cases ?-Yes.

By Jr. Church :-
Q. As a rule you would not care to appoint to the office any aan over 45 years

old Lwho had not been in the Service previously ?-Not to any office. WVe don't like
to take a man over 45 years.

By the Chairmni :-
Q. Do you know instances where that bas occurred ?-I don't reramember just

now; but I think there are not many of them.
Q. Do you know of any difliiculty in naking superannuations from the same in-

fluence you spoke of as affecting appointments and promotions ?-Yes ; that pervades
the whole Service. In eveiy movement we make, that difficulty is ever pre-ent.

Q. A sort of a night-mare ?-Yes.

By Mr. Aylmer :-
Q. Is it a fact that when an Inspector reports a man as inefficient, and that it

would be better to get rid of' him, that political influence is brought to bear to super-
annuate him instead of dischargirg him altogether ?-I am not awae tiat it operates
that way.
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By the Chairman
Q. You have never known a man to be superannuated who ought to have been

dismissed ?-Oh, no. The fact is, there is a certain limit of forbearance. When a
nan becomes too bad, we would set aside political and every other influence, and let

him go.
Q. It is only when he is pretty bad that political influence can be set aside ?-

Necessarily so, I think.
Q. I would like to ask you your opinion about improvements. You have already

stated that entrance examinations would be necessary ?-I think so.
Q. I understood you to say that the competitive system, as- it exists in England,

would be difficult to carry out bere ?-It could not be carried out here.
Q. Would you please go into soine little details for your reasons ?-I would have

this objection to it: That it would attract the attention of a large number of younig
men to the Civil Service, to their detriment. They would go in for these examin-
ations, and their attention would be withdawn from other means of establishing them-
selves in life. And the number of vacancies would necessarily be iothing in pro-
portion to the number of such applicants. ilence, these young men, instead of being
benefitted by it, would be injured. You will observe that when once a young man
bas found bis name on the list of candidates for appointment, he would feel: "I have
only to wait a little time, more or less, and I am sure to get into the Civil Service."
In the meantime, if he had bis eyes open, and his friends were exerting themselves,
he might get better employment somewhere else, but the opportunity for which he
would lose in consequence of his attention being thus detracted.

Q. But suppose he was appginted immediately after bis examination, ho would
know whether he could get an appointment or not, and that the matter was final.
That would do away with that objection.--That is what I advocate. I advocate that
an examination should take place when there is a vacancy,

Q. And that onlv those required for this particular vacancy should have any claim
on the Service ?-Yes.

Q. That would obviate that difficulty?-Yes.
Q. At all events that is a difficulty with regard to the candidates and riot with

regard to the Civil Service ?-Precisely.
Q. Do you not thin k, however, that the exaiintions could be so arranged that

the knowieuge acquired in working up for them would be useful in any section of
business afterwards ?-Unquestionably, if you could find a case in which a young man
would have equally exerted himself without that incentive.

Q. What I mean is: do you consider that the acquirements of the knowledge a
waste of time on the young man's part ?-Oh, no; the acquisition of any knowledge
cannot be a waste of time.

Q. So far, your objection refers to the candidate himself. As to the interest of
the Service, do you think a competitive system of examination would give you a
better.class of men than you ha-ve now ?-Educationally speaking, it would.

Q. Do you see any reason why you would get a worse class of men in any other
respect ?-There is a possibility that it might exclude some very deserving young
men who èould not afford the time nor the means to secure a good education.

Q. That might bc. But of course every system must exclude some deservinlg
young men. The present system excludes a great many ?-Yes.

Q. Not speaking of those whom it excludes, do you think the class which it
would bring into the Service would be superior to that now ?-I thinkl under any
system of examination the class of officials would be improved.

Q. The competitive system, as you are well aware, brings in only the best of
those who succeed in passing certain examinations. Do you not think t e chance of
getting good men would be equally great amongst comparatively higlny educated
men as amongst those that are chosen at random ?-I think so.

Q. Do you think a year's probation would be sufficient to test particular quali-
fications ?-Oh, yes; in our service it would.

Q. Do you think that a system of competitive examinations, combined with pro-
42



bationary appointments, making a continuance dependent upon particular qualities
shown during that year, would be a very effective means of getting good employees?
-If ca, ried out in its integrity it certainly would. But I am afraid it would not.
Apart from political influences a man becomes attached to the service, and a proba-
tionary would be found to be against the fact that there is a very great reluctance
to remove an employée.

Q. I would call your attention to the provision of the law of 1870, in England, by
which it was provided that un] ess there was a favourable report, a man's appointment
lapsed as a matter of course. Do you think that such a provision would meet the
case ?-Yes.

Q. No dismissal was required you see, unless there was an especial favourable
report there could not be any confirmation of the appointment ?-I think that would
be useful.

Q. You would be prepared, as between the present system and such an one as
have mentioned, to advocate the competitive system with this additional particular
test ?-I would if we could not get a system better adapted to our circumstances.
My idea would be not to have the examinations made general for the whole service,
but to have it adapted to each particular Department.

Q. A competitive examination for each Department?-Yes.
Q. You would not restrict candidates for examination to persons nominated by

members-would you or would you not ?--I would like to do away with that system
of nomination entirely, to take it away root and branch. And more than that, I
would not expect any man in our brandh of the Service to present a petition from the
commercial community for his appointment. I consider that is the worse kind of
recommendation a man can get; and that is a very cominon practice. An office
becomes vacant and a man goes round and gets a number of persons to sign apetition
for his appointment. These are the very men with whom ho bas to deal. The
Customs service is to a certain extent awarlike service. Every man in the Service is
considered like an enemy. I cannot say why it should be so; it should not be so,
but that is the feeling. There is an effort to conciliate the officers and get them
under an obligation to them if they can, so that they will get things easier for them-
selves. [ don't say this with reference to any particular fact, but merely reason
on the tendency of the matter.

By Mfr. Aylner :-
Q. Don't you think it would be a mistake to have too high a standard for admit-

tance-that it ought to be just sufficient to see that the applicants were qualified for
the office ?-Decidedly. The examination should be confined to just such branches
of education as would be essential for the duties.

By the Chairnan :-
Q. Supposing you had an cxamination of that kind as preliminary, an examina-

tion showing the bare qualitications of the iman, do you see aiy objection fbr a man,
after he is appointed, to be examined in a higher branch wheu it is intended to pro-
mote him ?-Il would consider that the higher a man's education was, the better
would, naturally, be his qualifications.

Q. So that a systern of joint examinations and actual test would, probably, get
the best men ?-I think so. There might be instances in which it would operate
otherwise. Sometimes a man bas a great show of education, which would enable hiu
to pass any examination, when really there was no substance to his education.

Q. Could not that be tested by the probationary system '-I think so.

By Mr. Aylmer :-
Q. lIow would you propose, if you have objections to nomination, that persons

should present themselves for examination. Wouid you leave the thing ope4 and
permit any man to come forward ?-Certainly, you could not restrict it; I do not
see how you could.

By the Chairman
Q. You would require certificates as to character ?-That constitutes a part o,
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the examinations. A medical certificate is required for every man now who presents
himself for the inside service.

By Mr. Aylmer :-
Q. Do you not think that the highest certificate a man can give is his nolina.

tion by a member ? He is responsible that the man he nominates is fit' for the
position ?-If he was an independent man ho might be so. I do not think that a
recommendation by a member of Parliament should, in all cases, be taken as a cer-
tificate of character. The practical working of the thing bas proved that it should
iot be so taken.

Mr. Ayliner :-It is not hard for a man to get certificates of character ?
The Witness :-We would first of all have to get a certificate of character of the

member himself.
-Mr. Aylmer :-You have that in his being returned to Parliament.
The Witness :-I am speaking on general principles entirely.
Q. Do you not think that because ho is sent here it is pretty good evidence that

le is a man of good character ?--I know myself I have voted for a man I would really
much sooner not have voted for.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Then there is the difficulty that the member might not always know inti-

imately the character of the man he recommends ?---Oh yes.
Q. Do you not think that the examinations of an independent board would be

inuch botter ?-I think that the certificate of a clergyman and one or two indepen-
dent parties, received in connection with the application, as to a man's general
eharacter, would be more reliable.

Q. Than bis nomination by a member?-Yes.
Q. Supposing the certificates were not satisfactory, don't you know that the

examinations of an Examining Board, with power to send for persons and papers,
such as an Examining Board would have, would be a much more thorough means of
eifting a man's character than a member would have ?-Certainly.

Q. Have you ever found among the employés of the outside or inside service, any
inconvenience arising from political feeling on their part, or from the expression of it,
as creating difficulties between them and their superiors, or that it bas bindered them
in the discharge of their duties ?-I have not any instance of that kind ; I think I
-have had complaints made with reference to officerf, in which it has been alleged
that they were actuated by political feeling, but never of any serious character, and
-never in such a shape as that it would require any Departmental action.

By Mr. Roscoe:-
Q. You were not forced to take any action in it ?-No.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you find, as a rule, that employés in the Service keep pretty clear of

politics ?-I think the general tendency is to keep pretty quiet; I think when men
once get into the Service they feel like throwing away their old political proclivi-
ties and keeping themselves quiet for their own sakes. That I think is the general
rule.

The Chairman-That is an important point because we have heard the reverse
-was the case.

The Witness-No; there may ho cases of the -kind, but they were never the
Bubject of any Departinental action. I don't think I mentioned, in reference to these
examinations, these competitive examinations, that I would make every man's promO-
tion dependent upon a second examination.

By Mr. Roscoe :-
Q. From one class to another ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:
Q. You are speaking of your Department ?-Yes.
The Chairman-Some of the other heads of the Departments did not see how this

ÀCould be arranged.
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The Witness-It might not be applicable to all promotions; for instance, a man

promoted from tide waiter to landing waiter, where the dutics are ilie same in both
cases, would not of necessity be examined the second time; but supposing a landing
waiter was promoted to be an appraiser, I would subject him to an exami nation as to
his qualifications for the peculiar duties of waiter before giving hii the position.

.By the Chairman :-
Q. Even in cases where the duties are the same would not an exanination be

useful as showing that the applicait had fairly learned them ?-It woild be ; a repe-
tition of the examination woild at all times be useful; and in making such an
arrangement the better way would be to make it general.

Memorandum shewing number of Customs employés in each class of the Outside
Service who were appointed when over forty-five years of age:-

Appointed when
Classes. over 45 years.

Collectors.......... ................................. 37
Su b-Collectors...................4..................
S arveyors........................................... 2
A ppraisers........................ .................. 16
Clerks............... ................................. il
Landing Waiters.................................. 67
L ockers,......... .................................... 14
Tide Waiters........................................ 14
Prventive Officers................................. 44
Tide Surveyors., .................................. nil
Registrars and Shipping....... ......... nil
Gaugers...... . ........... ... ...................
Samplers and Weighers...... .................. 1
P ackers.............................................. 3
Engineers and Firemen................ ....... ni!
Boatmen............ ................................. nil
Messengers............. .............
Inspectors................. ................... i1

261

(Signed)

Total of
all ages.

135
123
37
33

110
208

47
78

122
5
1
4
5

14
Q

5
9
3

921

J. JOIINSON.
Commissioner.

CUSTOMS DEPARTMENT,
OTTAWA, 7th April, 1877.

THURSDAY, APRIL 5th, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair.

WILLTAM SMITH called and examined:-
By the Chiairman:-

Q. You are Deputy Minister of Marine and Fisheries, Mr. Smith ?-Yes, Sir
Q. How long have you held that position ?-Since 1867; since Confederation
Q. At what time did vou enter the Service ?-In 1840.
Q. I mean the Canadian service ?-In 1842.
Q. I understand you were at one time in the English service ?-Yes.
Q. For two years?-Yes.
Q. What is the number of employés in the inside service of your Department?

-We have twenty on the staff and five extras. We find itis useful to have the extra
clerks, and we do not always fil a vacancy with permanent employés, because we
find good men among the extras. We -ometimes get good work out of them at less
pay.
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Q. Are the duties of those extra clerks different from those of the permanent
members of the staff ?-No difference whatever; we utili>e them foi whatever thcy
are suitable. We had one man who understands five languages, and we use him sa
translator and to write a great many letters, as he is a fine writer. I try to exclude
everybody out of our Department who is not a good writer. My principal objeet
is to have men who are well educated, intelligent, and write well. I cannot tolerate
having to sign my naine to bad wrting. I always look out for men and recom-
mend them who are of steady, industrious habits and are good writers.

Q. Do I understand you to say that you have a certain amount of selection your-.
self ?-It so happens that I have got a number into the office.

Q. Of your own choice ?-Yes; I have recomimended them. When a person
applies to -me to do anything fer him, I make himiï wrile a letter of application apply.
ing for a situation, and I put that on record in the office. If he is a bad writer I
never trouble any more about him. I would oppose himn as mnuch as 1 could.

Q. I suppose the extra clerks are paid less than the regular staff?-We just pay
them according to circumstances. The man, wrom we use as a translator in the
Marine Branch we took in at $1.50 a day; we afterwards gave him $2.00, and when
he was about to leave for the purpose of doing better for himself we gave him $2.50,
and he is worth it.

Q. Do you think that in the inside service there could bc a division of workinto
mechanical work as distinct from work requiring a special trainiing. For instance,
could you not call letter copying mechanical ?--Wo ti nt coniine the clerks to any
particular class of work, but use them fo'r all urp

Q. But do you think the w4rk could be c divided ?-No; we have indexing of
books, which is very particular work, and a single mistake would cause great
difficulty.

Q. And you want as good a man for that work as anything else ?--Yes; but it
does not require as good hand-writing as is required for writing letters.

Q. Have you much letter copying in your Department ?--Yes; we have a -great
deal of copying.

Q. Could not that be made a grade by itself?--Not very well, because we utilise
the staff according to pressure, and change them from one job to another.

Q. In England, I understand, they have a classrof men called writers whom they
pay so much a week ?----Yes.

Q. Do you think that could be arranged in your Department ?-Yes ; we always
have work enough for three or four of that class.

Q. Do you think, if such an arrangement were made, that it would be an advan-
tage to your higher class of employees to be free from the mechanical drudgery ?
-We do not employ our high class officers in that kind of work.

Q. Would it be to the interest of the Department to set this mechanical work
apart by itself?---I don't know that it would; because we begin them with that, and as
they show an aptitude for other work we raise them to it. I think, however, that a
class of men could be got such as they have in England, called writers, who could be
used for that purpose, and paid by the week, and never promoted higher unless they
were appointed permanently to the Service.

Q. Do you not think that that would, perhaps, be econony ?-I think it would.
We are virtually doing it now. We have five extra clerks in the office.

Q. I suppose that appointments to the inside service of your Department are
made on the recommendation of the Minister ?-I could tell you all the different
appointments that have been made if you like. Speaking generally, however, I may
say the Minister and myself confer on the subject. Sometimes the Minister has
known of a suitable person, and sometimes i have.

Q. Then you have generally been consulted in regard to appointments ?-Yes,
Sir. I advertised once for a shorthand writer, and obtained a good one. I did not
state in the advertisement that he was required for the public seivice.

Q. Is there any examination for entrance in your Department ?-The law pro-
vided an examination, but it has never been carried out. I think we only have tWO
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that passed an examination. I have sent persons over to the Examiners on several
occasions, and told them to let me know when they would be ready to examine the
candidates, but the law is practically a dead letter as it is at present.

Q. Can you compel them to submit to this examination before taking them into
the Department ?-The law says it should be donc.

Q. But there are no special means of putting the law in force ?-No; I have
sent them over to the Examiners, but we have only two officers who passed an examin-
ation.

Q. What qualifications would you require in a clerk ?-I would require him-L to

pass an examination to prove that he was an educated man,-an examination similar
to the one in England, but perhaps of not such a high standard.

Q. Will you please particularise a little ?-I would have then examined in three
subjccts, and require them to pass in two out of the three: French, book-keeping by
double entry, and shorthand, besides the ordinary essentials of an Englisi education.

By a Member:-
Q. Would you make these optional subjects ?-No; I would require them to pass

in two out of the tbree.
Q. Would you make an examination of that kind compulsory ?-Yes, Sir.
Q. Don't you think it would be difficult to get men under such a system ?-If

the Service was thrown open, there would be no difficulty in procuring plenty of quali-
fied men eager to come in at small salary, provided t here was a good prospect of' pro-
motion, and political appointments were abolished. The plan I would recommond is
this: Have the Civil Service Commissiners appointed apart from the Civil Service,
as, in my opinion, the present system of examination has proved a failure. I would
have them outside of the Service altogether, professional men, and throw the Service
open. I would let it be known that at certain days in the year they would sit at the
different towns in the Dominion for the examination of candidates, the candidates, of
course, to furnish information as to age, good character, &c., beforehand. Those
passing the examination would be certified and their names entered in a book, and as
a vacancy occurred in a Department, let the Minister and his Deputy examine into
the history of ary of those cases, and select men according to the position to be filled.

Q. You would have them selectedi according to merit ?-According to what was
wanted. I would have a list of passed persons from which to select.

Q. Indiscriminately, or according to merit?-They must have a certain standard.
Q. Suppose 1,000 marks is the maximum, and one makes 900 and 800 ?-We

would have a minimum.
Q. Would you give the appointment to the man who is the highest on the list?

-No; I would recommend that the Minister of the Department should select a man
out of the list, after looking at the certificates and examinations, and finding out
whether ho would suit for the position. But he must come in through that door.

By Mr. McDougall (Renfrew) :-
Q. You would give a discretionary power in the selection ?-Yes ; I would recom-

mend discretion to select out of this list, because a man might be efficient in French
and know nothing about shorthand, and we might want a shorthand writer. The
man on the top of the list might not be the one we wanted.

'Q. But the man you selected might not have passed as good an examination as
the nian on the top of the list ?-1 contendthat the Minister of the Departmont sbould
not be b und to take the man on the top of the list. Once a man got on the list he
should be eligible.

Q. In the scheme you suggest there would be a minimum, and that all who
passed that and got on the list would be eligible ?-Yes; they would report so many
men passed, and state in the report what their specialties were.

Q. Leaving to the Minister the power to select men for positions regardless of
the numberof marks they had ?-Yes; when once the candidates have passed the Board
and got on the book, then the Departments should have the privilege of selecting
-whichever one they considered most suitable for them, judging from his handwriting
and other acquirements.
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By the Chairiman:
Q, You know how the app >intments are made under the English system ?-They

-vary in the different departnents.
Q. There is a uniform examinLtion for all the lower classes, and the man at the

head of the list atter the competicivo examination takes his choice of the positions
vacant, and the next man his choice, ai so on until all the vacancies are tilled ?-
That would scarcely answer here, as there are not so many vacancies to fil. In a
country like this, where the vacancies are so few, I think the beýt plan would be to
-select men as I have suggested.

Q. Would the Minister have any special facilities for knowing which mai would
suit for the position he might want tilling ?-Hc would have the report of the exam-
ination before him.

Q. Then you would have him go by the report of the examination principally?
'The Minister should not be obliged to take the man at the head of the list.

Q. But I understood you to say that you would have the Ministor determine the
-qualifications of the man according to the report of the Examiners ?--Ie wonuld select
men out ot the list according as ho thought they would suiu him.

Q. But how would he ascertain whether they would suit him ?-Well, suppose
it was in our own Department, I might, perhaps, be assisting the Minister to make the
selection. I should first look at the mar's handwriting, as I think it very important
that a clerk should write a good round, bold, legible handwriting. I would thou look
at his antecederts, ascertain what business he had been engaged in, if any, and the
,proficiency that ho showed in the subjects in which he was examined. If we wanted
-a shorthand main I would see wdhat exainination he passed in shorthand.

Q. Would it not be well, however, to have a uniforin examination for the lower

grades and require those wanted for special position, such as shorthand writer to pass
a special examination ?-Yes; for copying clerks or writers a simple examination
anight be instituted.

Q. What is the rule for promotion at present in the inside service of your
Department ?-In certain classes they get an increase of $50 a year, and a discussion
usually takes place in Parliament every session as to the reason of such a great increase
in the Estimates for the Service; I think that that might be changed so that no
increase in the annual expense of the permanent staff need be necessary.

Q. Is any test required as a preliminary tor promotion-any examination or
other test ?-No; if there is nothing objectionable they are recommended, and get
the $50 a year until they get to the top of the class.

Q. Is recommendation necessary for therm to get this increase ?-They get it
every year unless they are reported against; we had one case, a good clerk and writer,
who for certain reasons did not get it.

Q. What is the condition of promotion from one class to another; is any stated
time required in each case ?-It very much depends upon the report of the
Minister.

Q. Does the power of promotion rest with you or with the responsible Min-
ister ?-The Minister.

By a Member
Q. Al the responsibility rests with the Minister ?-Yes; but of course most of

the Ministers would be apt to consuit the Deputies, who are with the men most of
the time ; the Minister has not the same opportunities of learning the peculiarities of
the employés.

By the Chairman
Q. Could you arrange such an examination in your Department as would show

a man's fitness for promotion from one class to another ?-No; you require to judge
from a man's industry, attention and correctness.

Q. Can a man at present, by special application and industry, hasten promotion;
do the rules of the Service allow promotion to be hastened on account of special
attention and efficiency ?-No; I think not. In some Departments they get promo-
tion more rapidly than in others.



Q. But speaking of your own Department ?-No; I think not.
Q. What improvements could you suggest on the present systen of promotion?

I would recommend that every one should come on the permanent staff through
the Civil Service Commissioners; they should come in at the bottom of the list;
there should be one list for the inside service, first-class, second, third, fourth, fifth,
and so on.

Q. Making a uniform classification in all Departments ?-Yes; I would allow
them to be kept in any Department they suited, or move them about as the
Government saw fit.

Q. Do you think the work in the different departments is of such a character as
to admit uniform classification ?-1 do not think there is much difference.

Q. Now, as to promotion ?-Having got them all on the list, I would take them
np by seniority and salaries, as at present, and classify them. Then, if a vacancy took
place, everyone would get a move upwards if he was eligible for it. If there was a
report against a man, he would not go up, and the man below would step over him.

Q. Would you make a favourable report a necessary preliminary to promotion ?
-- Yes; every man in order to get promotion should have a favourable report on each
vacancy occurring.

Q. And he would not receive promotion, as a matter of course, unless this favourable
report was made ?-No; fbr instance if he was a drinking man he would be reported
:as unsuitable for promotion, and the man below would step over him.

By a Member:-
Q. Would you make a favourable report a necessary preliminary to promotion,

or would you make an unfavcurable report a check on promotion ?-I would make
-a favourable report necessary. If that practice was strictly carried out it would
amount to the same thing.

Q. Would you report according to seniority ?-They would all go up by
seniority.

Q. The man entitled to the vacancy would be reported on ?-We would report
on every man who would get a step up or an increase of salary.

Q. What would you do supposing the first man on the list was ineligible ?-Just
report his ineligibility. Then the question would come up : What about the nextý
man ? If he were ineligible also we would report him, and fall back upon the next,
and so on. There should be something on record, however, to show why they did not
get their turn.

By the Chairman
Q. You think that power should be given to move the man from one Department

to another ?-Yes.
Q. Has it fiequently occurred in your Department that outsiders have been

brought in to fill vancancies to which promotion could otherwise have been made ?
-I have nothing to complain of in that respect.

Q. Do you think such a practice injurious to the Service ?-I think so. It would
be better to have a plan of the character suggested, by which everybody could look
forward to promotion without any increased expense to the Government, and without
bis looking to political influence to assist him.

By Mr. Macdougall (Elgin):
Q. Have you found out the disadvantages of this system of bringing in outsiders

fronI your experience ?-It has not occurred in our Department. I have no com-
plaint to make. We have a good staff of men, and none have been brought in by
outside political influence that I am aware of.

Q. How do promotions take place ?-Departmentally. In some Departments a
'nan rnay go up to a large salary all at once, without much length of service.

Q. Do you think that promotion should take place generally all through the
inside service ?-Yes; every vacancy that occurred in the Civil Service at Ottawa
under such a system would give promotion to every one on the list below when the
vacancy occurred, who was reported eligible for promotion; but employment might
te given in the different Departments according to the suitability.of the men.
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Q. You would have the whole inside service regarded as one body for the pur-
poses 0f promotion ?-Yes.

By Mr. McDougall (Renfrew)
Q. I think the clerks commence at $400 ?-The Act prescribes $300, but I think

we generally begin them at $400.
Q. Would you suggest anything with reference to increasing the minimum

salary and having an examination which would exclude all except men who would be
worth the salary ?-If you threw the Service open to competition and have can-
didates examined in the different towns, we would get as many men as the Service
requires beginning at the lowest salary, viz., $300.

Q. And able men ?-Yes ; young men.
Q. It is generally, believed that the Service does not get as good men as the

banks secure, and I would like to know if such a system would secure good
men ?-I think so. Wc get as good men in our Department as they have in the
banks, but they have not come in through political influence.

Q. Do you think that any scheme whereby selection by patronage would be done
away with as far as possible would be feasible ?-Yes, and it lwould be more eco-
nomical for the Government.

By the Chairman:-
Q. In regard to the outside service, can you give a brief idea of the different

classes of men employed therein ?-We have the offleers of the steamers. They arL
selected partly by the Department and partly by recommendation. The recom-
mendation of a good man by a member of Parliament would have a considerable
weight.

Q. Are the crews selected by the captains ?-Yes; generally speaking.
Q. How are lighthouse-keepers selected ?-They are nominated by the member

of the district, if he is a friend of the Government.
Q. Are no tests applied to ascertain the qualifications of the lighthouse-keepers ?

-No ; we have a printed paper which we require them to fill in, and they aire
required to furnish certificates stating their age, whether they are able to manage a
boat, and how their eyesight is. But this is a condition which follows appointment
instead of preceding it.

Q. There is no examination made until after the appointment ?-No. We
recommend them to Counicil on the recommendation 'of the member for the district
if he is a friend of the Government.

Q. Are not other qualifications thain those necessary for lighthouse-keepers in
your opinion ?-I think it would be better to adopt the English system.

Q. That is-- ?-Bringing them in on small salaries and increasing it, removing
them from place to place to better positions as vacancies occur.

Q. What qualifications would you consider necessary for a lighthouse-keeper ?
-- Ie should have good eyesight, and be able to bandle a boat, and be something of a
mechanie, so as to keep the machinery right, if it was a revolving light that he had.

Q. Is not the machineries of these lighthouses sometimes very intricate and
easily disarranged ?-Revolving lights are, but the others are not difficult.

Q. Is 'it difficult to manage a revolving light-does it require any special
mechanical skill ?-Not much, but the keeper has to be a careful, sober, industrionS,
attentive man.

Q. What other class of employés is there in your outside service ?-We have
agents and clerks. At different places we have an agent-at Halifax, Carleton,
St. John, Quebec and Victoria-one in each.

Q. Whose duties are ?-To attend to the business of the Department under
orders from Ottawa.

Q. Are there any special means taken for choosing these ?-No ; they have
principally been selected by patronage. We take the advice of the member from the
district. Lately we appointed an agent in British Columbia-, and one in Prince
Edward Island, and we took the advice of the members from the district, friends Of
he Government.
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By Mr. IRoscoe
Q. Three members or one ?-I think more than one in BritishlColumbia, and in

prince Edward Island the advice of one.
Q. Is there any such thing as promotion in your outside service-bas a man

every chance for promotion from a lower to a higher grade ?-No; not much; in
the River Police lie might.

Q. How are they chosen ?-They are chosen in Quebec on the recommendation
of members, and a report of the Chief of Police, as to their eligibility and suit-
ability.

Q. And he is responsible for their suitability ?-Yes.
Q. Are they not appointed when a report is receivod from the Chief of Police

as to their suitability ?-The candidate's name is sent to him,·and lie reports.
Q. Are they never appointed unless he reports them fit for the position ?-No-

in very few instances bas a candidate been -ppointed against his report.
Q. And is the report always required as a preliminary ?-Well, we give him the

name, and he reports upon it.
Q. I ask you the question whether his report is considered a necessary prefi-

minary for appointment ?-No ; not in all cases, but it is generally speaking.
Q. By whom is promotion made in the River Police; by the Minister ?-Yes;

and on the report. There is no absolute rule.
Q. But it is done by the Minister ?-There is no absolute rule; but these

remarks don't apply to Montreal, only to Quebec. At Montreal it bas been under
the management of Judge Coursol.

Q. By whom are these river police paid ?-By the Government.
Q. I thought there was a fund given by the cities for their support ?-No ; the

ships are taxed three cents a ton, so that virtually the Government are trustees for
the ships.

Q. We were speaking as to pro>motion of light-house keepers. Is a man ever
removed from a poorer situation to a better one, or does lie remain in the light-
bouse to which he bas been appointed ?-He remains in the lighthouse to which he
bas been appointed.

Q. Then, when a better place falls vacant, another man is taken on ?-Yes ; a
member recommends him.

Q. Do you think it advisable to change that system and have promotion
throughout ? -Yes; I think any system better where there is promotion.

Q. Do you think the influence of political patronage in your Department and
the Service generally is beneficial or otherwise ?--I think it would be more economi-
cal and more efficient if any system could be introduced, removed as much as possible
from political patronage.

Q. Do you think also that young men of ability and industry have a fair oppor-
tunity of earning any prizes in the Service, such as they ought to bave ?-They
have very fair opportunities.

Q. Are there sufficient opportunities to make the Service attractive in your
opinion ?-I think there are always a great many applicants for Government
employment.

Q. But I ask you whether the opportunities are sufficiently attractive to young
men who could get a good living in other employments ?-It is attractive enough; it
is very attractive. There is a great pressure brought to bear to get in. I believe if
my plan was adopted of having a list ranging from $300 a year to $2,400 or $2,800 a
year, to which they could all gradually move up, there would be plenty of well
qualified men trying to get in.

By Mr. Wright (Pontiac :)-
Q. What is the effect upon your Department and the Service generally of appoint-

ments to positions of comparative trust, to persons from the outsiue, instead of making
them by a system of promotion ?-It bas a depressing influence, and they feel much
discouraged when an outsider is appointed over their heads when an office becomes.
vacant.
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Q. Then what is the general effect, and do you know of any instances where
dissatisfaction has arisen inside the Service by what is considered the undue promo-
tion or appointment of one civil servant over the heads of the others ?-I have had
no complaints, but I hear people speaking of it. When a new man is brought in over
the heads of the others I hear a great many comments upon it.

Q. When a man has been unduly promoted have you heard any general conver-
sation which would lead you to believe that it tended to the inefficiency of the Service?
-I don't know of any instance, but I have heard remarks such as any one would
hear. I have no instance to mention in our own Department.

Q. The promotion of the inside Civil Service generally goes on by selection of
the Minister, I believe, on the recommendation of the Deputy head ?-Yes; but in the
meantime they are all getting a graduai increase, until they arrive at a certain point.
I don't say this system has worked badly. You ask me if it could be improved.

Q. I will not say it has worked badly. But has not that system preserved the
patronage system ?-Yes; everything is patronage where you select and appoint a
man.

Q. Is there no way that you know of whereby that species of patronage and
promotion, by irresponsible selection almost, could not be done away with ?-Not
unless my plan was adopted of having a list where all could take their rank and
place the same as in the navy, where they move upwards according to their order
-and he vacancies. I would commence by doing away with igh salaries at the
bottom of the list, but would increase them by progression.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Would you do away with the annual increase every year ?-Yes. There

would be so many at $3,000 a year, so many at $2,800, so many at $2,6G0, so many at
$2,400 and $2,200 a year, and so on; and when the top of the class was reached by
an employé then lie would take his place at the bottom of the class above him with
an increase in salary.

By Mr. Wriqht (Pontiac)
Q. Is it possible or is it an advantage to have more than one examination ?-I

don't thiik it would be necessary in a small service like this. And even at $300 a
year at the commencement, there would be a large number of applicants to be
examined as candidates for the Service. r

By the Chairman:-
Q. Suppose there was a certain amount of work to be done in any one Depart-

ment, and enough men could not be got to do it in that Department, would it be
advisable to get men from the other Departments for the time being ?-I don't think
so. I don't think it is advisable to go to another Department for another man. The
best way to do would be to get extra clerks.

Q. Do you think that class could be got here ?-They could be got everywhere
they are wanted.

Q. Can you give me any idea as to the number of the outside service ?-Counting
everybody, there are between 1,500 and 1,600 persons employed in the outside Service
of our IDepartment. The harbour-masters and shipping-masters get paid by fees;
they are not paid by the Government, and they are appointed on the recommenda-
tion of members. There are no other examinations for outside people at all. We
trust to the recommendations of the members.

(Signed) WM. SMITH.
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TELESPEoRE TRUDEAU called and examined:

By the Chairman:-
Q. You are Deputy Minister of Customs ?-Yes.
Q. Hâve you been long in that position ?-Ever since 1864.
Q. And you were in the service before that ?--Yes, since 1860.
Q. Approximately, what is the number of inside and outside employés ?-There

are about 25 inside.
Q. How are these graded, by position or in classes ?-Classes ; first, second and

third classes.
Q. Are appointments always made to the lowest classes ?-Not always.
Q. Is the departure from that principle frequent ?-Yes. You were speaking of

first appointments : you mean Engineers, Clerks, etc. ?
The Chairman: Yes.
The Witness : They are not very frequent.
Q. Are these appointments made by patronage, in the usuali way ?-They are

made by the Minister on the recommendation of a member.
Q. I mean are the recommendations generally sent in by outside members ?-

Generally by himself.
Q. Are the rules of the Service quite strictly enforced with regard to these

appointments as to examinations, etc. ?-Yes; of late we have not been examining.
Q. Did you find that these examinations were of any particular use ?-I would

not like to rely entirely on an examination of that kind, bit I think it is a very
useful thing.

Q. But did you find any use in the particular examinations that used to be in
force ?-It did not seem to be carried out sufficient to try whether it was useful or not.

Q. What was the rule as to the exanination of these inside clerks ?-They are
not promoted on my recommendation, but I am generally consulted.

Q. There is no examination preliminary to promotion, I suppose ?-The exami-
nation may be during the whole time of the young man's service. When lie dis-
charges bis duties efficiently, that is takcn as an examination.

Q. It is a practical daily test ?-Yes.
Q. Would it be possible to arrange specific examinations to show a man's

fitne-s?-I don't think any examination is better than practical experience.
Q. With whom cocs the appreciation of the employés services rest- with you or

the responsible Minister ?-It differs from one Minister to another.
Q. Does the power of promotion rest absolutely with the person who is

acquainted with the man's qualifications ?-I have found as a rule that the Ministers
are generally willing to be guided by a recommendation based on merit.

Q. That they were guided by merit ?-Yes.
Q. Have you then bad any trouble from political interference in making promo-

tions ?-I have not found it.
Q. Not with the regular course of promotion in your Department ?-No.
Q. Da you find any difficulty in finding as many young mcn as you want for the

clerkships?-No
Q. Do you find any difficulty in finding the class you want with the particular

qualifications you want. I don't mean at present, but as a general thing ?-Young
men come in and are able to do the particular work first given them, and then later
as they advance to more difficult work their judgment is not always found equal to
the duty. That is the only difficulty.

Q. You find they are generally fit for the lower grades ?-Generally, but not
malways fit for promotion.

Q. Do you think that an examination as a preliminary to appointment would
enable you to get a better class, and would exclude any of those young men found
to be inefficient ?-Of course a preliminary examination would secure educated men.
But I don't think we have taken in any men that we would have sent back from
-an examination.
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Q. As a general rule your entrance examination would improve the average of
the recruits you get in your service ?-I don't think so if you have appointments,
made.

Q. You mean that vou would not have got any botter than those you have at
present, if you bad an examination ?-I mean that.

Q. What are the subdivisions in the outside service called ?-Railways, construe-
tion of canals, construction of harbours, architects, &c. There is one department for
construction and work on the canals, and then for the construction and work on
railways, then for the construction of harbours, and buildings, architects, &c.

Q. Give me the names of the Heads ?-The Chief Engineer of all the hydraulic
works is Mr. Page; the Chief Engineer of the railways is Mr. Fleming; the Chief
Architect is Mr. Scott. The work on the railways would be under Mr. Brydges.

Committee met.-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair. FwinAr, APRIL 6th, 187

J. GEORGE HODGINS, Esq., LL.D., called and examined:-
By the Chairman:-

Q. You have prepared some notes on this subject ?-Yes; I have done so, as re.
quested, and as the result of a long experience. I think I am one of the oldest mem-
bers of the Civil Service; I havejeen 33 years in the Service, having been appointei
in 1844.

Q. What is your position ?--Deputy Minister of Education for Ontario.
Q. Have you been in the saine position since your appointment ?-Yes; but

under another name. The title was originally that of Deputy Saperintendent of
Education. On the appointment of the IIon. Mr. Crooks as Minister of Education-in
Ontario, I was appointed Deputy Ministerof Ediucation. I have confined my remarks
entirely to our own Department, as far as the present systen is concerned. The
paper I have prepared reads as follows :-

CIVIL SERVICE-ONTARIO EDUCATI'ON DEPARTMENT.

For the last twelve or fifteen years, or more, the system of appointment in the
Education Department of Ontario has been very simple and effective. It has been
also most satisfactory in its results.

There are at present about twenty-four employés in the Department. As a
vacancy occurs, we generally apply to the head master in the Model School to recoin-
inend the names of two or three youths from 16 to 20 years of age, whose character,
deportment, and success in the Model School has been most marked, and whose varied
ability for the position of a clerk in the Department is, in the judgment of the master,
unquestio-ned. From these recommendations the selection is made, and an appoint-
ment on trial for three or six months is made. The salary is from $200 to $250 a
year, according to age and ability, subject to a periodical increase, as regulated by
the Civil Service Act of the late Province of Canada.

The youth employed is put in charge of the head of a branch-chiefly the De-
,pository Branch of the Department-and he is required to do al kinds of work (not
menial). As he develops capacity, he is placed in such Departments of the establish-
nent as seem most fitting. Promotion is determined solely according to merit ; length
of service, fidelity, industry and application being taken into account.

The discipline adopted is kindly, but very strict Nothing is allowed to be taken
for granted ; and for every mistake or omission of duty, full explanation is required,
either orally or in writing (chiefly the latter). Disobedience to orders is followed
by immediate suspension and loss of salary for the time. The authority of the Head
of each branch in the Department is supreme, subject to appeal to the Deputy
Minister, who rarely has occasion to 1 ring any case before the Minister of Education-
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At present the salaries of the clerks, after a certain time lias been reached, i-
subject to no fixed rule. No superannuation is at present provided. In consequence-
of these two omissions, the Department has unfortunately been subjected to the aver---
age loss of two or three of its best trained mon every year for several years. And.
this compels us to keep a larger number in training than we could do with were the-
efficient men retained.

A very kind and courteous spirit. as between the young men, has for many years
existed; and no personal disagreement lias interposed to prevent the satisfactory ancL
harmonious working of the several branches of the Department.

On the assumption of the post of Minister of Education in March of last year,
I submitted to the lHon. Mr. Crooks a scheme of regulations for the internai manage-
ment of the Department and its various branches, which, after some verbal alteration,.
was adopted by him. I append these regulations herewith. They were suggested
as the result of several years experience and were, during Rev. Dr. Ryerson's incum-
bency, practically acted upon.

The advantages to the public service which have resulted from the system.
adopted by the Ontario Education Department have been most marked and satisfac-
tory. We have, with great advantage, got rid of political appointments, and of
unknown and untried mon. We have also been enabled, by one system of training,
to put no man in charge of a branch of the Department who is not practically
familiar with ail of its details. When there he is made responsible for its proper
working and efficiency.

In order that strict supervision shall ho exercised over the various branches of
the Departinent, it is arrangod that everything, at one stage or other of its.progress,
shall come under the personal notice of the Deputy Minister, and no one can be absent
without his knowledge or permission.

Sometimes, but rarely, when we fail to get a suitable youth in our model schools
we obtain them by anonymous advertising and subsequent selection, after personal,
inquiry and proof of ability, character and competence.

I believe it to be the opinion of the Minister of Education that the Department,
Under the regulations and mode of appointment adopted, bas reached, if not the
highest state of efficiency, yet efficiency in a very high and satisfactory degree.

(Signed) J. GEORGE HODGINS,
Deputy Minister of Education for Ontario.

Ottawa, 6th April, 1877.

Q. Are the young men taken from the Model School merely on the recommen-
dation of the Head, or do you examine them for your own satisfaction ?-We do not
re-examine them, because they are subject to a written examination at the school,
and that evidence is sufficient. It may be produced if required. No one is appointed
unless ho lias taken a very respectable position in the highest fori of the Model
School, so that we are certain their literary qualifications will not be inferior.

Q. Do you ever find that young men who are appointed on account of high
literary qualifications are practically inefficient ?-Yes; it does not at ail follow that
because a youth is successful as a student, he, therefore, possesses the particular
capacity for work which we require from him in the practical details of our office.
lie may be slow or careless; and in our Department nothing is allowed to be taken
for granted. le must be certain of what lie does in everything. If he makes a mis-
take at ail, lie is required to give an explanation orally or in writing. Every
branch of the Department is subject to the careful oversight of its Head. As the
result of my experience in the matter, I may say that it is utterly impossible to-
maake any Department efficient unless the Deputy Minister is cognizant, more or less,.
cf ail the details of the work, and everything should in some form cone under his-
notice.
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Q. You say that promotion is altogether by merit ; how do you judge of that-.
simply from your own personal observation ?-Yes: and from the report of the head
of the branch.

Q. The man's immediate superior ?-Yes; but that is not in all cases sufficient.
I must be perfectly satisfied myself of the fact of the mau's efficiency.

Q. Have you ever tried the experiment of requiring an examination as a pre-
liminary to promotion ?-No; from the very fact that we must have already the
practical evidence ourselves that the youth is qualified for the position to which he
may be promoted. For instance, if he wishes to take a higher posi tion, he is
required to perform the duties pertaining for some time before he is actually
appointed to it, or he is appointed on trial for a fixed period.

Q. Then promotion is generally made on your recommendation ?-Yes ; my
recommendations under the circumstances which I have stated, have never been
called in question.

Q. Do suspension and dismissal follow the same rale ?-The head of the branch
has the right of suspension, subject to an appeal to me in all cases. Of course if my
decision is adverse to bis restoration, he has the right of appeal to the Minister
himself, but I know of no case of appeal to him in any case.

Q. Do you think that the placing of this power in the hands of the permanent
Head of the Department is conducive to discipline ?-Yes; iL is all important to do so,
subject to appeal, and I will give you my reasons. The permanent Head knows all
£bout the particular duties to be performed, and whether the duties are well or
ill-performed, which the officiaIlr political Head could not possibly know. With
the knowledge that an appeal would be against lis decision, he would necessarily act
with judgment and fairness.

Q. And, according to your experience, the resuIt has been good ?-Yes; it has
been most salutary.

Q. You mention that there is no superannuation in your Civil Service, and that
you thought that was one reason why you lost some good men ?-Yes; that and the
uncertainty of promotion and salary.

Q. Do you find that the certainty of promotion for merit is any attraction to a
good class of men ?-I am perfectly certain of it; Ihave met with so many cases of
that kind in my experience that I know it to be a fact.

Q. Do you find young men willing to go into the Service at a low salary on
account of the chances for promotion ?-Yes; they generally come in with us at a
salary of $200 to $250 a year.

Q. That is a much lower salary than they pay here (Ottawa) at the beginning?
Yes, I know it is ; but ours are younger men.

Q. Do you consider, from what you have seen, that the hope of promotion for
merit is as strong an inducement to young men as a large entrance salary ?-I think
it much stronger; because, as a general rule, young men living in the city with their
parents do not look upon salary at first as of so much importance, as upon the chances
for promotion. As they get on in life they want to support themselves and like to
look forward to something better in the future than junior elerkships. I have noW
a private letter from one of our most efficient men, and he gives me that as a reasoni
for leaving the service.

Q. Do you invariably take men into the lowest grades ?-Yes. One or tWO
special cases have, however. occurred, which form the exception to the rule, as all
rules have an exception. The eyesight of one of our young men. who has important
duties to perform, is failing, and he will have to get leave of absence to consult some
eminent oculist. In that case, we shall be called upon to put a specially competent
man in charge of his department, or as an assistant, in view of ultimately taking his
place, should he unfortunately fail in effecting a cure. But that is an exceptional
case.

Q. You sometimes find young men inefficient who have passed good examina-
tions; cau you give any idea of the percentage ?-It is very small-so very small
that it is reduced probably to the minimum, from the fact that we exercise great care
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at first. When a young fellow has been in the Model School for five or six years, the
naster is generally able to tell something about his habits-whether he is reliable,
quick and industrions, and has an aptitude for understanding things so as to be able to
take a subordinate position at once. We, therefore, avoid the chances of getting
unsuitable young men, to a large extent. My own experience is that the acquisition
of knowledge and the possession of a good degree of it, is not a sufficient recommen-
dation, apart from the other qualitications I have mentioned.

Q. How long does it take you to form an idee of a young man's practical useful-
ness ?-Probably three months. But it generally takes two years for him to become
so accustomed to the duties that we can see with certainty that there is something in
him, and can recommend him for promotion.

Q. Do you think from what you have seen in your own experience that the
average of practical ability, general character and usefulness, is apt to be better
among an educated class of young men obtained in the manner you get them than if
they were obtained by political patronage ?-Yes; I would not have them througn.
political patronage at ail. It is a lottery system-painfully uncertain. My own
experience is that our system of early training is essential; and in an educational
department it is essential that the employés should, as they are supposed to, be educated
and well trained.

By Mr. Roscoe:-
Q. This system is only carried out in your own Department ?-Yes; so I believe.

The great difficulty I understand in having a Civil Service system with me is, that
the employés are of unequal merit in the various Departments. I bave, however, no
personal knowledge of the subject and only repeat what I have heard assigned as a
reason for having no Civil Service organization.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Do you mean that the quality of the men is so different ?-They are unequal

from the fact that several of them h:ave had no training and are the result of political
appointments. They are personally excellent men, and ail that you can desire as
gentlemen; but many of them have lad no such training as we give, and which I
regard as so very essential.

Q. Have you considered the question of competitive examinations as practised in
England ?-Oh, yes; that has often been considered and talked of; but it fails to touch
the real want of the Departments; that is, efficiency for the particular branch in which
you wish to put a young man. It is all very well as to theory and as to education,
but it does not work well in practice. For instance, we might want a young man to
act as what we call clerk of record and reference, who has to put away and get
documents when required, relating to any case that may come up. There are cases
which involve references to from five to twenty documents, and the young man must
be expert in his duty and be so thoroughly trained in that branch that you cai depend
upon him getting the whole of those papers in the shortest possible time. No compe-
titive examination could qualify a young man for any position of that kind which
requires expertness, thoroughness and practice.

Q. Could any system qualify him for that position without experience ?-Not
Without experience. You really have to train them for all such special duties. A
novice could not undertake such duties.

Q. What do you think of the competitive -system as a means of getting raw
muaterial for the Service ?-It might answer where there are not the facilities which
We possess. In the absence of some such facilities, you must fali back on somesuch
competitive system. If we had not our Model School, or could not get youths frest
froma some educational institution, an examination of that character would be abso-
lutely necessary.

Q. Then, you would rather take them by competitive examination than by
nomination ?--Oh, yes; there is no comparison between the practical efficiency of
the two systems-that is, if efficiency in the Public Service is desirable.

Q. We have had a recomniendation to adopt a scheme of holding "qualifying'"
examinations from amongst the successful candidates, out of which members of the
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Civil Service should be chosen at the will of the Minister. What do you think of-
such a system ?-I think there is one dificulty in the way of carrying out that systenJ
which would be fatal to its success. From the fact that such an examination would
merely give the passed men a sort of quasi-official status, you would get in a shoal of
aspirants to office whom you would be sorry to see in the Public Service. Besides
the moment you get a number of young men nominally " qualified " for positions in
the service, personal solicitation and influence would be brought to bear upon mem-
bers of the Government to get appointments; and after that a " competitive " exami-
Mation, as a condition, would be subject to such silent influences, that they could not
well be resisted to prevent an unsuitable appointment.

Q. We would, in fact, be thrown back upon patronage ?-Yes; under the guise
of a competîtive system of examinations. Another objection to the system would be
this:-A great many might come up to a fixed standard, and pass. If, however, in
the first place, you pitted one man against another, and said, " The best men only
shall receive appointments," you would then put all of the candidates on their mettie
to take the highest rank. There would be no such impulse to excel under a merely
"qualifying " examination. I look upon it somewhat in the same light as the ex-
amination for a third-class teacher. Anybody may pass and become a third-class
teacher; but when it comes to a competition for the higher grades, you only get the
better class of men to succeed. You cannot make the mere " pass " examination
anything like as strict as the formal or strictly coinpctitive examination would be.
Even if you should put the same subjects down for candidates in the " qualifying"
and competitive examination, yet when you came to compare paper with paper of
answers in the competitive examination, you would be compelled to take the very
best; whereas, in the other case, if the candidates came up to the maximum simply,
you could not refuse to pass them.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Referring to school teachers, is it not the case that a school teacher who<does

not succeed in passing for the second-class within a certain time is thrown out
altogether ?-No; he may, on the recommendation of the Inspector, receive the
third-class certificate on his second-class papers.

Q. lis there not a rule, that you are allowed to drop them altogether ?-Oh, yes;
but practically speaking, such men if they do pretfy well, get their third-class certifi-
cate renewed for a year for unless you do so you put the teacher out of the profession
altogether.

Q. Can you tell me roughly how many school teachers are paid in Ontario in a
year, as a rule ?-I think there are about one thousand.

Q. Each year ?-Yes; of all grades.
Q. These young men are all of a class who would be sufficiently educated for

the ordinary work of any Department in the Civil Service ?-I think that the second-
class men would be ordinarily superior. I don't know a single young man from the
highest form of the Toronto Model School who is not ordinarily very much superior
to the third-class teachers.

Q. Xfy reason for asking you was to see whether one could reasonably expect
300 or 400 well educated young men from the class of teachers who would be able
to enter the Service every year ?-I think so; especially from the fact that under the
recent school legislation of Ontario, teachers will be required to get more thorough
training in the elements of a good English education so as to fit them for the official
practice of their profession ; and the literary qualifications required in the immediat,
examinations of tfhe High Schools will be equivalent to the literary acquirements Of
Second-class teachers. Then again the Normal Schools will be confined more strictlY
to the preparation of teachers in a professional capacity, so that the means now avaih
able for providing a large class of ordinarily well-educated teachers will be in full

operation within a year; we shall then be in a much better position than before to

give you a large class to draw from, should you wish to recruit from· them for the
public service. The High Schools too, will be made much more efficient than ever,
for the reason that in the Local House, by a two-third vote, it was made compulsory
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upon County Councils to give an equal amount to the Government grant for high
8chools. These Iligh Schools will now be compelled to confine themselves more
strictly to their legitimate work, which will be to provide a class of well-educated
Vien for the ordinary duties of life. and for higher rank in the profession of teaching.
You may, therefore, reasonably look forward to a much larger supply of well-educated
young men in this country.

Q. What is the average of third-class teachers' salaries when they first enter the
profession ?-It is not much more than $250, and $300 would be a capital salary; but
when you go to the Normal School, the lowest you would get would be about $400.

Q. Do you find that your teachers are drawn pretty equally from all classes of
society ?-lt is chiefly from the farming community. The whole system of education,
from the primary school to the university will be organized within twelve months
,on a footing of almost complete efficiency. We have reached that point at which we
shall not stand still, and the machinery in operation will, I trust, produce such
gratifying results that you will find in five years there will virtually be a revolution
in our school system. Our whole effort has been to keep these young men in the profes-
sion; the whole of legislation for the last five years has been in that direction. Teachers
or persons acting as such have heretofore made this profession but a stepping stone
to something better, and we have been shaping our efforts to bring about a different
result. I have no doubt but that the supply of well-educated young men will soon
be largely increased, while at the same time the character of the profession will be
correspondingly raised. There are inducements held out to teachers to remain, in the
hope of getting the highest positions in the profession-that of County Examiner and
County Inspeetor-the highest position is that of County Inspector, and that posi-
tion is reserved exclusively for teachers.

By Mr. MicDougall (Renfrew.)
Q. Supposing there were two candidates for a particular position, in which neither

had had experience, would you not prefer that one who gave evidence on an examin-
ation that he possessed a fair knowledge on general subjects ?-I would at once take
the man who gave evidence of general information on all subjects, because his facul-
ties would be quickened and he would be able to pick up matters of detail quicker.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Of two men equally experienced you would choose the man who had the best

education ?-Yes; certainly.
By Mr. McDougall (Renfrew)

Q. Do you approve of a qualifying examination and then being appointed at the
iwill of the Head of the Department ?-I think that would be fatal. My particular
objection to that system, if applied to one Department, would be that if a maximum
was fixed upon, and that was passed by a number of candidates, the Head of the
Department could not refuse to admit them. But when you have a competitive
examination you only choose the best men. The moment a man vas qualified, if he
had to pass a second examination, influence might be brought to bear to get him
through in some way. And there is one thing which shouid not be lost sight of,
and that is that the Civil Service is different now from what it was years ago. It
requites higher and better qualitications than before, because new questions of
ad ninistration more important are constantly arising. The higher officer in the Service
would find that without a thorough training he cannot keep himself up with them..
A man in the position of a Deputy Head of a Department ought to be familiar with
the new and delicate relations which exist between the local, the central, and home
Governments. He should also be acquainted with questions of finance, legislation,
Pohtical economy and kindred subjects. as his Department would have to deal with
them. In our own Department there were a great many legal questions which pre-
viously had not arisen and I found myself compelled to qualify in this"respect. The
gentleman next to me had also done the same. Many difficult and dehicate questions
Would naturally arise with the growth of the Civil Service. I would, therefore, re-
qu ire young men to qualify themselves in those particular subjects which must
necessarily come up in their Department-. It is absolutely necessary to see that a
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iman is thoroughly and systematically trained. One man who is thoroughly conver.
sant with all the branches in a Department is worth half a dozen otherwise. I do
not know that any question is of more practical utility in the Civil Service than the
question to which I referred. The Committue are engaged in a very important
work. The great question of the reform of the Civil Service is agitating official
circles in the United States. I made it my special business to inquire whether this
was a mere political cry. A gentleman connected with the department at Washing.
ton told me that it was not so, but that they had the same difficulties that we have
here, and would give anything to get rid of them.

By the Chairman :-
Q. You are probably aware that there was a Civil Service Bill in 1872 ?--Yes;

and the people must be educated up to it. By the standard being raised there would
be greater efficiency, and each of the civil servants could get a higher salary than
now, as the business of the country could be performed by a less number than at
present. A great misfortune is that there are too many in the Civil Service of
untrained men, owing to a thorougb want of system.

APPEND>IX TO THE EVIDENCE OF DR. HODGINS.

EDUCATION IDEPARTMENT, ONTARIO.

Regulations, sanctioned by the Éonorable the ofinster of Educatioi, to be observed by
the Officers, Clerks, and all others concerned.

The following shall be the divisions or branches of the Education Office:-
I. The Departmental.-Comprising:--
1. All matters coming directly under control of athe Minister, or Executivc

Council.
2. All matters involving the policy of the Government on educational subjects.
3. Official decisions and other special acts of the Minister of Education.
NOTE.-All correspondence arising in this Brapch shall pass through the Secre-

tary of the Department, as may be directed by the Minister, or, in his absence, by
the Deputy Minister.

I. The Administrative Branch.-laving to do with the administration of existing
High and Public School Laws and regulations, and various routine matters of the
office, shall be under the personal supervision of the Deputy Minister, subject to such
directions as the Minister of Education may from time to time give.

IIM. The Financial Branch.-The details of this Branch shall remain in the hands
of the Accountant, under the supervision of the Deputy Minister. All financial
matters shall be submitted to the Minister, except where specially provided for by
law, or already prescribed. The expenditure shall be supervised by the Deputy, and
the accounts, when approved by the Minister or Deputy, shall be sent for payment
to the Tieasury Department by the Accountant.

IV. The Depository Branch-Shall be conducted, as heretofore, urder the direc-
tion of the Deputy, subject to the control of the Minister of Education.

GENERAL REGULATIONS RELATING TO INTERNAL ECONOMY.

1. The Deputy Minister shall be responsible to the Minister of Education for the
internal management and economy of the Education Office, Depository, Museum and
grounds around the buildings, and for the due and faithful discharge of duty on the
part of officers, clerks, messengers, gardeners, engineers and all others employed,
who shall be subject to his orders. ie shall also have the supervision of the Ottawa
Normal School, and of the 'l oronto Normal School, so far as this relates to the current
expenditure, and matters of routine and detail, not necessary to bring before the
Xmister.
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2. The office hours shal be:-
(a). For the Seniors-From 9 a.m. until 4 p.m., including lunch hour. Where

the lunch hour is not taken, the hours shall be from 9.30 a.m. to 4 p.m.
(b). For the Juniors-The hours shall be from 8.50 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., including

the lunch hour, or where the lunch hour is not taken, from 8.50 to 4.30 p.m.
(c). For the Depository-(As a business establishment) the hours shall be from

9 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., (except during the busy seasons). The " Juniors " shall be
in their places at 8.50 a.m. The regulations as to lunch hour, and as to "Seniors,"
shall apply to the Depository, except that some responsible officer and clerk shall
always be left in charge during Depository hours. It is understood that during a
pressure of work these hours may be lengthened, and that each officer and clerk shall
do bis own work, as may be assigned to him. On Saturdays the hours for the Seniors
shall be until 1 o'clock, and for Juniors and those in the Depository until 2.30 p.

3. Any questions arising under these Gereral Regulations shall be decided by
the Deputy Minister, who (for disobedience, or other cause) shall have power to sus-
pend from position and salary any Clerk, Messenger, or Servant until the pleasure of
the Minister is known.

4. In the absence of the Deputy Minister, his functions shall, for the time being,
devolve on the Secretary.

NORMAL AND MODEL SCHOOLS.

1. The Principals of the Normal Schools shall be responsible to the Minister of
Education for the success and efficiency of the Normal and Model Schools under their
charge.

2. The Masters, Teachers and all others employed in the Normal and Model
Schools, shall be directly responsible to their respective Principals for the due and
faithful discharge of their duties.

Approved.

(Signed) ADAM CROOKS,

EDUCATION OFFICE, Minister of Education.

TORONTO, 28th Feb., 1876.

SATURDAY, April Mt, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CAsEy in the Chair.

Mr. TRUDEAU called and further examined:
By the Chairman :-

Q. I understand you have prepared a memorandum in regard to the system
pursued in your Department ?-I have. It is as follows :

Memorandum submitted to the Civil Service Committee.
The parties holding office in the Department of Public Works are:

1. lead Office Staff,
2. Engineering Branch,
3. Architects' Branch,
4. Canal Working Staff,
5. Railway Working Staff.

1. The appointments have been made in some cases by Order in Council, in
others by the Minister; in both cases generally on recommendation.

2. The senior Engineers and Architects are consulted when professional men are
engaged.

3. Salaries of the office staff are determined in accordance with the Civil Service



4. The salaries of professional men are, in each case, the matter of special deter-unination, in which length of service, previous experience, and aptitude for theposition are considered.
5. Promotion of junior officers is made generally as vacancies occur, by the

3Minister, on the recommendation of the senior officers, who submit the claims of the
party recommended, as established by his past career, giving a detail of what mlay be
held to be his title to consideration, and setting forth the work which lias been per-
formed by him, and the mode in which it has been done.

6. Tho organization of the general office is such that every man has a special
.duty to perform, for which he is responsible ; the amount of his work having been
-established accordingly as experience has shown the extent of labour which his duty
-entails. It is generally found that, when one person is absent from sickness or on
leave, in order for the work thoroughly to be kept up, those remaining in the office
have to work extra hours.

7. It has been suggested that expectations should be held out that the highest
-offices in the permanent staff can be reached by young men of good education, so that
they should be encouraged to enter the Service at a low salary to make their way by
capacity and good conduct, and that a competent man in one Department could be
promoted into another Department.

8. I myself agree with the opinion that it should be understood that the
-vacancies in the higher grades should be lilled up as much as possible from the ranks
of the Service.

9. This theory does not takO account of those who fail to gain the first offices.
-Many deserving men must, necessarily, come within this category when there are
but two or three of the higher offices to fill.

10. Therefore, the secondary positions should receive such salaries that they
:should be desirable situations in themselves and should be looked forward to as sub-
stantial rewards for industry and capacity.

11. There are objections to an officer being transferred from one Department to
another, except under special circumstances. The information and experience
.gained in one line of the Service is seldom of use in another, the work itself being
special and best fitted for the field where it has been obtained.

12. The Superannuation Fund, extending providon to old age and infirmity, may
lead many to seek employment in the public service, but it scarcely influences the
very young.

-DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKs,
OTTAWA, 7th April, 1877.

Q. With regard to paragraphs one and two, do I understand that appointments
-were ever made and affirmed by the Minister without reference to the qualifications
:as a whole ?-Yes; lock-keepers and men of that kind.

Q. By whom are those people generally recommended ?-When it is a mero work
.of labour, the members are consulted. When professionals are to be appointed mem-
bers of the same profession in the Department are consulted.

Q. When professional men are to be appointed, from whom does the original
recommendation come ?-If it is an engineer who is to be appointed, the Chief Engineer
-of the Department generally informs the Minister that he wants an engineer, and the
Minister generally asks him whether he has anybody to suggest.

Q. Is it not a fact that the recommendation in all cases, as a rule, comes from mn-
bers, although the engineer may be afterwards consulted as to the-man's fitness ?-Not
in regard to professional appointments. Ministers may be consulted in regard to
these appointments, but I do not think that their recommendation is what the Minis-
ter bases his decision on.

A. 187140 Victoria. Appendix (No. 7.)



Q. Does not the first suggestion of the man come as a rule, from niembers ?-Not
in regard to professional men.

Q. You think not?-Yes, sir.
Q. The first suggestion of the individual to fill the position comnes from somebody

in the Department ?-Yes ; because the engineer or architect-in-chief is the first man
who is aware that a vacancy bas occurred.

Q. But does he generally suggest any individual to fil the vacaney ?--Yes; lie
(renerally knows what the Minister will ask him, and le is prepared to answer the
questions.Q. Then it is generally on the recommendation of the heads of the scientific
branches that men for those Departmonts are appointed ?-Yes, sir.

Q. And not by political influence ?--Yes, sir.
Q. How far does political influence enter into those appointments ?-I do not

think it is perceptible in professional appointments.
Q. Now, with regard to paragraph 4, you say that the salaries of professional

men are matters of special determination ?-Yes, sir.
Q. Whose advice is asked on this point ?-That of the head of the branch.
Q. The head of the particular branch ?-Yes, sir,
Q. Have you ever known political influence to have any effect in this conne'etioi

as to the arrangement of salary ?-No, sir; I have not.
Q. I will now refer to paragraph 5. Is it not a rule of the Department that

vacancies shall be filled by promotion whenever possible, instead of bringing in out-
siders ?-We have been following that rule of late years, but we have had very few
appointments.

Q. lave you followed that in the office ?-Yes; there havebeen several advanced.
Q. But has it been the rule to do so ?-It is the understanding.
Q. But is it the practice ?-Yes; it is donc.
Q. You mean that outsiders are not brought in over the beads of others in the

Departments ?-Yes, sir; they are not. We have not had any appointments at all
latelv.

Q. You say that the promotion of junior officers are made generally as vacancies
oUccr. Do you mean that that rule applies to the junior officers only, or applies
throughout the grades?-For a number of years we have not had a high official
appointment in the Department of Publie Works. It has so happened that no vacan-
cies have occurred.

Q. In speaking of junior officers, how high up would you go ?-To the junior
second class, for instance.

Q. Are officers above that grade promoted in the same way on the recommenda-
tion of the senior officer, or are they promoted by seniority ?-Their promotion is not
by seniority, it is by merit.

Q. On recommendation of the chief?--Yes, sir. When there is to be a change
of salary or a change of position, and I approach the Minister with my recommenda-
tion, I do not simply lay before him a bald statement, but I subinit to him speci-
mens of the man's work. For instance, I call to his mind, that the officer recom-
inonded performed certain duties which probably came under the notice of the Min-
ister before.

Q. You do not then, in general terms, say that you consider so and so the best
man to promote; but you give reasons ?-Yes, sir. I give reasons.

Q. Do you find that your recommendations are generally carried out ?-Yes,
they are. I do not believe that it is simply because I recommend them, but because
the recommendations I lay before the Minister are appreciated by him.

Q. I will now refer to paragraph 6. To whom is the man responsible; to bis
ext superior ?-The men are responsible from one to the other in the order of

grades.
Q. I conclude from this paragraph, that you have no more men than are sufficient

to do the work in the office ?-There are two classes of men in the office. One set of
len are engagod-and are well adapted-to keep a record of the correspondence as
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it goes along; others are kept as letter-writers. We have a very large correspon.
dence and the numnber of our corresponding clerks must be equal to the greatest
emergency. We find that our corresponding clerks are always engaged.

Q. Do you mean that you have to keep on hand some corresponding clerks who
are not continually employed:-No, sir. It is done in this way. When the cor-
respondence becomes very large some of the copying is done by outsiders-some of
the engrossing I mean.

Q. Then you bring in some copying clerks to do correspondence for the time
being ?-Yes; to write it out neat and copy it.

Q. Would you require as highly qualified men for this work of copying or
engrossing as you have called it, as for other work ?-There is not much of tLt
done. Letters are generally written off hand.

Q. But don't you copy letters and documents you receive ?-Oh, yes.
Q. Are they copied by hand ?-During the Session we employ womon by the

day to copy. When there is work, they are paid, and wben there is no work, they
are not paid.

Q. Do you find that they are as efficient as men ?-I do.
Q. Do you have to pay them as much ?-We ß)ay thein $2 a day, and we fini

that they do well.
Q. You do not pay them by the folio ?-No, Sir; by the day, and the quantity of

work they do is audited.
Q. You have a certain check upon them ?-Yes, Sir.
Q. How many women havÉ you at present ?-I think we have nine.
Q. Do you pay them less than you pay men for the same labour ?----No, Sir

they are paid about the same as men copyists.
Q. With regard to paragraph seven ; do you consider that the expectation of

promotion would be an increased attraction to able youngimen to enter the Service ?
-My theory is that there should be always something to struggle for as an indace-
ment. If young men thought that by mere length of service they would arrive at
a certain position, whether they performed the duty or not, they would not take the
same interest in their work.

Q. Then a system of promotion to ensure efficiency should include both seniorit'
and merit ?-Yes, Sir.

Q. Do you think that such a system of promotion would be attractive to able
young men to enter the Service in the first instance ?-I think so; it would ensure
them, if they were attentive, of getting a certain salary when they were 50 or 60.

Q. Do you think that such a prospect of promotion for merit would be a greater
attraction than the more increase of the minimum salary on entrance ?-It would be
botter, I think.

Q. Do you think that it would be botter to increase the attraction by raisingQ
the entrance salary, or by increasing the chances of promotion ? -I think the salary
for a young man entering should be as low as possible, with speedy chances of
improvement.

Q. What do you mean by paragraph 9 ?-What I mean by that is this: That if
the reward is high up, and there are two or three deserving men, one inan mnay
reach it, and the others, equally deserving, may remain behind, and then those mel
have missed the objects of their life.

Q. You think the higher offices are too few to excite healthy competition aimonlg
the men ?-Yes, Sir.

Q. With regard to paragraph 10, do you think there would be any large number
of secondary positions ?-No, Sir; I do not think that the number would be large.

Q. Would what you speak of in paragraph 11 apply to the junior grades ?-Not
so much in the junior grades.

Q. Do you think it would be, among the lower classes of clerks, for instance, to
have free promotion from one Department to another without disarranging the work .
-From certain Departments to certain other Departments. It would be very little
advantage, for instance, to promote a man from our Department to that of the Minî
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ter of Justice. There could not bc much objection where similar duties could be per-
formed.

Q. Do you not think such a consolidation of the Service for purposes of pro-
motion would give more rapid promotion ?-Yes ; if it were confined to the lower
grades.

Q. Do you think the prospect of a superannuating allowance ever induces men
of poor health to seek employment as a sort of means of insuring provision for their
old age ?-I am sure there is no such influence upon young men; I don't think men
seek employment in the Civil Service largely because of that.

Q. I don't say largely; but don't you think it is an inducement for weakly men
to enter the Service ?-It would be natural to say so.

Q. Is any medical examination required of candidates in your Department ?-
-No.

Q. Do you, not, as a general thing, think that theyremain in office to a consider-
able agc; or do you think they wear out rapidly in the Service ?-I do not think they
wear out faster than in any other Service.

Q. Is there anything particularly trying on the health in your Department ?--
No.

Q. What would you consider the requisite qualifications for candidates in the
professional branch of your Department ?-They would have to be efficient clerks.

Q. Do you not think it would be advisable for thern to know the two languages,
English and French ?-It is far better; it would be very useful. Of course every
candidate would have to read and write correctly, and understand the arithmetic. I
think that some consideration should be given to a man who knew shorthand. I
think it ought to be some positive inducement to young men to know shorthand; it
is exceedingly useful. A yoang man at a very low salary can take off a report die-
tated by a man who would probably take two or three hours to write ont what a
shorthand writer would do in an hour. A superior man would then have much
greater time at his disposal.

Q. The possession of shorthand by a clerk, then, would save a great deal of time ?
-Yes; I think through the Service something should be donc in that way. We have
three or four in our Department, and I find them exceedingly useful.

By Mfr. Wright (Pontiac) :--
Q. So, then, a knowledge of shorthand would entitie a man to appointment in

preference to another ?---Yes, Sir.

By the Chairman.--
Q. Generally, do you think it would be well to require an examination to test a

man's general education before appointing him to the Service ?--Yes.
Q. Taking a number of candidates equally unacquainted with the work they

were to be put at and totally inexperienced. Do you not think that the better
educated man should have the preference ?-Of course.

Q. So that if you had a number of men equally acceptable in other respects and
equally unacquainted with the work they were to perform, you would be inclined to
give the preference to the best educated men ?-Uudoubtedly.

Q. Do you think that a system of appointment on the ground of educational
acquirement, character of course being previously ascertained, combined with a
probationary appointment on time for a year would improve the general character of
the Service ?-Of course; I can only speak as far as our Department is concerned.
I think we have been rather fortunate in the selection of our employés.

Q. I do not mean to say you have a bad lot of men; I don't suppose you have;
but I ask you whether you could not improve it for the future by having such a
systern as I have referred to; by taking in the best educated men and putting them
ou trial for a year before the confirmation of appointment. Do you think you could
then obtain a better class of mon than you do by nomination ?-I think I have stated
before that candidates are practically submitted to an examination.
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Q. Not before appointment; you stated there was no examination before appoint-
ment ?-There is no examination before a Board; but there is a practical test say as
to engineering, for instance.

By the Chairman:
I am aware of that.
Witness.-There is an enquiry into a man's previous history, and what he has

been doing, what schools he has been at; and, although candidates may not be before
a Board of professional examiners the result is nearly the same.

Q. Do you mean to say that it is a'satisfactory ground of appointment as to the
schools a man bas attended, or is he not appointed on the strong recommendation ho
gets from parties in authority ?--I don't think the Minister shuts his eyes to a man's
ability.

Q. But any person the Minister chooses to recommend is appointed; you have
no power to enquire into his qualification as Head of the Department ?-We have
had some young men appointed who were lawyers.

Q. Speaking in general terms do you not think that such a system of appoint-
ment would be preferable to the system of nomination by meibers ?-Probationary
appointments for educational acquirements would be preferable to the system of
nomination.

Mr. SANDFORD FLEMING called and examined:

Q. What is your proper official designation, Mr. Fleming ?-I am called the
Engineer-in-Chief of the Canadian Pacifie Railway.

Q. Have you a general supervision over the railway work as well as over the
Pacific Railway?-My attention at present is confined to the Pacifie Railway;
although I am consulted about various matters. But that is my official position. I
have nothing to do with the Intercolonial or any other line now.

Q. But you were the Engineer who constructed the Intercolonial ?-Yes.
Q. Have you thought over this matter of the Civii Service ?-Not much.
Q. What is the present rule for making appointments in your branch of the

Department ?-The rule at present may be gathered from what I will read entitled
"'General Instructions from the Engineer in Chief to the Staff." I shall explain that
at the commencement of the Pacifie Railway I had great difficulty in getting the
right sort of men to do the work; there were no end of applicants but the difficulty
was to call those that were suitable. Many were suitable and many were not suitable.
It was impossible for me to examine them myself there was not time to do it. Fron
year to year this difficulty arose, and in the spring of 1875 I submitted various sug-
gestions to the Minister with regard to appointments, which suggestions were in the
main approved of by him ; they were embodied by me in a memorandum which I had
printed at the time for circulation amongst the staff, so that they themselves and all
interested, èould sec what kind of men that we wanted appointed. I will read a por-
tion of the memorandum.

" The undersigned considers it to be his duty to communicate to the staff some
information respecting appointments and terms of engagements.

" The Government, desiring to render the Engineering Staff as efficient as
possible, has had under consideration certain suggestions and recommendations, sub-
mitted with that object in view by the undersigned; a system has now been adopted
which, it is hoped, will prove satisfactory to those at present or hereafter to be
engaged on the work of survey and construction, while in the public interests it can
scarcely fail to result advantageously.

" The Engineers serving the Government on the great public works of the
country, should be characterized hy high integrity and skill. They should, for
obvious reasons, be men of the very best character, and at the commencement of the
location of the Canadian Pacifie Railway, it is felt that every effort should be made
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not only to secure the most suitable men that can be had, but also to adopt the course
best calculated to maintain the Staff in a state of thorough effleiency.

" Unfortunately, there are a great many young men in the Dominion who aro
classed indiscriminately as engirieers, though many of them have not had the
elementarY education to enable them even to understand the principles of engineer-
ing. Some of them may have acquired the mechanical use of the transit and level,
but that, in many cases, is nearly all they know.

" Men of a much higher standard than that described are required. Those to be
employed in charge of locating parties or of sections under construction, should bave
a thorough professional education with executive experience and sound judgment.
In selecting the precise line for the railway, it is of public importance to secure the
very best engineering line that the locality will admit, at the very lowest expendi-
turc; by a single error in engineering, through want of skill or bad judgmont, on
the part of the officer in charge of the locating party,-which error might not be dis-
covered until too late,-the expenditure unnecessarily made might readily exceed
ten years' salary of a really good man who would not have committed such a blunder.

" The assistants of the Engineers-in-charge of locating parties, or of works of
construction, should all have more or less training and an aptitude for their work ;
they should be capable of assisting the Engineers-in-charge in preparing drawings of
all kinds, setting out structures, measuring works, and making calculations of quan-
tities: in fact, they should be men who would eventually be able, as Engineers to fill
similar positions of responsibility themselves.

" Young men joining the staff, in a junior capacity, should at least have a sound
character, a fair rudimentary education, and a decided aptitude for the work. It is
important to have young men in training for the public service bye and bye,. and
those only who intend to devote themselves to the work, and who are suitable for it
should enjoy the opportunity of being trained.

" The system heretofore adopted with regard to appointments and promotions,
and especially with respect to the uncertain term of engagements, has not had the
effect of encouraging or rewarding the best men. The system is, hereafter, to be
different; the Government now favours a careful selection óf young men, in every
respect eligible to enter the profession, bas adopted the policy of retaining and
properly rewarding public officers so long as they perform their duties efficiently,
and bas extended this rule to Engineers in the public service as far as it can be
applied.

"The great object being to secure the best possible Engineering Staff and main-
tain it in an efficient condition.

" It is proposed to accomplish this object, as far as it may be practicable, by the
tollowing means :-

" 1. By employing, for the higher positions, the most efficient men that can be
obtained.

" 2. By giving liberal salaries, graduated with regard to the responsibilities and
duties in each case.

" 3. By offering engagements until the completion of the works, or for a fixed
tern of years (on good behaviour).

" 4. By the appointment of young men, as Juniors, who are well trained and
educated, who may be qualified to pass a prescribed examination, who have a sound
constitution, and who are of good moral character.

" 5. By encouraging Juniors and Assistants to pursue their studies at leisure
times. By requiring them to exhibit due diligence in their work, and to give
evidence, from time to time, of satisfactory progress in professional attainments.

"6. By promoting mon from one class or grade to another by selection and
merit, not by seniority rnerely.

"7. By removing from the Service all those who may prove negligent or
indifferent, or who may turn out immoral or intemperate in their habits.

"8. Generally by retaining the services of the most meritorious men on terms
alike satisfactory to themselves and the Government.
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" 9. By a favourable consideration of, and in some cases by awarding gratuities
for

4(1.) Special and meritorious services.
"(2.) Bodily accident met with on duty by which the officer is permanently

in c apacitated.
"(3.) Long and faithful services.
"(4.) Unexpected discharge on any reduction of staff and abolition of office,

length and character of service being considered.
" The staff shall be divided into several classes, each embracing different grades.

The following graduated rates of salary is for the present adopted, which rates are
for engineering services alone, and do not include the cost of board, moving about, or
travelling on business.

Salaries.

Class. Grade. - -¯nCon
On Surveys On Cton-
per month. struction, per

_______________ ___ ____year.

Subordinates........................ A. 20 240

C. 60 720
D' . 8 0 960

Assistants...................... E. 80 920E. 100 1,ý200
F. 120 1,440

S I. 140
Engineers in charge, or resi- j. 160 1,920
dents on construction ......... 1 I. 180 2,160

i Kl. 200 2,400

'The salaries of the higher executive and superintending engineers are under consideration.
"The class 'Subordinates ' includes rodmen, chainmen, tapemen and picketmen.

It is considered that the salaries prescribed for this class should not be so high as to
tempt young men to solicit employment who have no intention of following up the
profession of engineering, and who have no qualifications for becoming engineers;
while, at the same time, the small pay offered should be sufficient to encourage
others with a fair rudimentary educating and an aptitude for engineering work to
enter and devote their lives to the profession.

" The branches of study in which candidates for this ciass should be proficient
in are arithnìetic, geometry (first four and the sixth books of Euclid), algebra, men-
suration, trigonometry, and the elements of statics and dynamies. A knowledge of
geology, chemistry, heat, light, electricity, French (or German), mechanical or free-
hand drawing is also desirable, but not compulsory.

"The class 'Assistants' embraces those who have fairly entered on the pro-
fession of an engineer, who have either become proficient in the more advanced
studies, or are diligently pursuing them. In promoting Junior and Assistants from
one grade to another, it is intended to give a preference to those who maintain a
good moral character, and who give evidence of attainments in their work and
studies.*

* The attention of Assistants, who have not had tbe advantage of a collegiate course, is directed to
the following branches of study: Mathematics, pure and applied; surveying; navigation; practical
mechanics; theory and practice of construction; mechanical and free-hand drawing; designing and
estimating; book-keeping; geology and mineralogy.

70



The appointment of any person to a particular grade will be probational, it
wilil in no case be considered permanent unless, when brouglit to the test, his acquire-
ments be found to justify it.

- A. This grade includes those who have no experience whatever, but who have
acquired an education at least equal to that prescribed by the Survey Act of Canada
for pupils in land surveying, who are qualified to pass an examination on the subjects
referred to, and who appear to have a decided aptitude for the work and life of an
engineer.

" B.-This grade is of the same class of young mon as A: but such as have had
some actual practice on Surveys or Engineering work, not less than one year.

C.-This is a grade of Junior assistants. who should have had not less than
two year's experience in the field, who should thoroughly understand the use of the
level and transit, keeping field books, plotting, mapping, &c., but whose experience
in the actual use of instruments has not been great.

" D.-Assistants of the second grade are those who are quite able to use the
level and transit on surveys, and who have had at least three years' actual field practice
in engineering and surveying.

" E.-This grade includes those who, in addition to the experience referred to
aibove, thoroughly understand location surveys, the setting out of earthworks and
structures, and who can accurately measure up and compute quantities.

F.--This grade includes, first class assistants of fult experience in construction,
good and accurate draughtsmen, who can be placed, with all confidence, to aid in the
carrying out of difficult and costly sections of work.

G -This grade includes those who are capable of taking charge of a surveying
or exploring party, but who may not have had experionce in construction.

"H.-This grade includes those who, in addition to their beinggood engineering
Surveyors, and possessing al] the experience necessary for conducting a surveying
party, have some knowledge of construction sufficient to justify their being placed
in charge of light works where the responsibility is not great.

"L-This includes really good constructing Engineers-those who have had
long experience, and are fully&able, under general directions, to carry out in a perfectly
satisfactory manner moderately large contracts.

"K.-This grade includes first class men, those in fact whose experience, high
character and attainments qualify them to act as Resident Engineers on the heaviest
and most important engineering works.

"Whon the time comes when members of the Staff will be required to settle
down on construction and remain fixed in particular localities, it is intended to
furnish them with plain but comfortable houses, and as the salaries do not cover
board, the residents and their assistants will be supplied with rations, or allowances
will be made equivalent thereto. In the case of those having families, if the
circumstances appear to justify it, the familes will be assisted in moving, and it is
farther intended to adopt such means as will enable families to obtain necessary
Supplies of various kinds at the rates paid for similar articles at the nearest market
towns.

" Only the scale of salaries for the thre classes of officers specially alluded to
above is as yet adopted. The permanent scale of emoluments to the higher Executive
and Superintending Engineers is however under consideration and it may be assumed
that the Government will, with regard to these officers, sanction and adopt an equally
liberal and correct policy.(Siged) SANDFOD FLEMING,

" Engineer in Chief.
c CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY,

OFFICE OF THE ENGINEER-IN-CHIEF,
" OTTAWA,, lst July, 1875."
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I have been pressed to take young men who were really not of the kind we
wanted at all. Probably some of them were inchned to intemperate habits and their
parents thought they had better get them out of the way, forgetting that they would
be worse out of their sight than in their sight. I am glad to say we have very few
of these. One man of that kind will not do any good to a party of men at all events.
Sometimes men in my profession are suddenly thrown out of employment owing to
the stoppage of Public Works. It is very hard on them; they have nothing else to
fall back upon, it is only right that they should be considered, and therefore one of the
rules, as above given, is, that when they are suddenly discharged they should have
some compensation.

By Mr. McDougall (IRenfrew):-
Q. How do you test their qualifications ?-They are examined by the body of

Land Surveyors in the country, we have no board here ; I wish we had, but if they
pass the board of Land Surveyors I am satisfied they are pretty good.

By the Chairman :--
Q. If there was not this Board you would have to examine themn yourself ?--I

would like to do it myself.
Q. If they had not passed the Board of Land Surveyors there are no means of

examining them ?--No; there are no means; but if a man came who bad passed a
creditable examination at a good college, such as McGill, I would have no hesitation
in recommending him. If he bas nothing to show that he iswell up in the rudiments
ot education I would be at a loss to.know what to do with him; at any rate I would
be at loss as to recommending.

Q. You have in these regulations shown what qualifications are required. Does
the remark you have made about the lowest grade apply to those that you at present
had no definite means of testng them by examination ?-It is not intended that they
should all be tested. No man is supposed to be appointed, and I don't know that he-
is, unless he can show that he is fit for the position.

Q. Do you examine each candidate yourself, personally ?--I generally examine
their testimonials, and when in doubt I refer them to somebody to make inquiries.

Q. At present there is no Board ?--No.
Q. No official Board of Examiners ?---No; I wish there was a Board.
Q. Those regulations only refer to the Pacific Railway service in 1875, and since ?

-Yes.
Q. Before that time you had no such formal regulations ?---I attempted to carry

out the sarne principles but did not always succeed. There was nothing reduced to
writing.

Q. Were those principles actually carried out, for instance in the case of the
Intercolonial Railway ?--No; they were not strictly carried out. An attempt was
made to carry them out, but it was but a feeble attempt.

Q. When you want a man, from whom does the first nomination of the candi-
date come ?-The appointment comes from the Minister of the Department.

Q. On the nomination of yourself or some members ?---Not always. It is supposed
I concur in the nomination.

Q. Yes; but from whom do they proceed in the first instance ?---Sometimes a
member of Parliament; sometimes one and sometimes another, generally a member
of Parliament.

Q. Does the recommendation originate with you or some outside party ?-.-Some
outside party, unless I am asked to noninate anyone ; if so, I nominate some one I
think especially fitted for the place. Very often there are a great number of nomin-
ations by members of Parliament, and selections are made of these.

Q. By you ?-No, by the Minister.
Q. Is his selection generally made on your recommendation ?--It is made on n'Y

knowledge, as a rule. There is no written recommendation, it is made with ry con-
eurrence.

Q. Have you always been consulted, and have you always c'ncurred in the noilm-
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ination?---I have generally been consulted. I generally know who is to be appointedl
before appointments are made.

Q. Are they made, as a rule, from your concurrence or for political reasons ?-On
the Pacific Railway I don't think I protested against any appointments.

Q. Have you ever had occasion -o do so ?-I have had on the Intercolonial; andi
it is a most delicate matter ta do so, because it creates unpleasant feeling. I would.
rather silently concur than protest.

Q. Can you say you have had reason to protest ?- -Yes.
Q. On several occasions?-Yes; but I would rather not say much about it.
The Chairman: These are, to some extent, delicate questions, but everybody was

asked them.-The Witness: I had a good deal of difficulty, and I don't want to open
the old sores.-The Chairman: There is a general understanding that everybody
wants the case fully stated ?-The Witness: Still, it would not do any good purpose.
to raise the question.

By Mr. 3McDougall (Renfrew)
Q. It would be very difficult, I suppose, to suggest any means by which you could'

prevent political patronage in your Depantment ?-I don't see how it is to be done.
Some men have strong political influence and can secure the influence of members of
Parliament supporting the Government upon the Ministers for their appointment.
The Minister, of course, is desirous of serving his friends if he can. It is most di fi-
cult for a person in my position to say that a man is not fit for a position and ought
not to be appointed.

By the Chairman:-
Q. You have always found it very difficult to resist political influence in making

appointments ?-It is a delicate matter to interfere with.
Q. You would feel it would be a benefit to the Service and a convenience to your-

self if some test were established by which inefficient men could be excluded without-
your having to protest ?-I feel so, of course. Hence those regulations which I sug-
gested for the approval of the Minister and which have really been approved by
him.

Q. Are you prepared to say whether you have in the course of your general
experience, found that political influence in these appointments has been injurious to.
the efficiency of the Service, and whether by that system you have, got inefficient men ?
-There can be no doubt at all that through political influence men are apt to be.
appointed that are not the best men that can be found.

Q. But have you known such to take place, as a matter of fact ?-Yes; under both,
Governments.

Q. I want to know whether you have known of appointments that were not to.
the interest of the Service that were made for political reasons. I don't refer to any
Government; I don't ask you for details; but I only ask you whether political influence,
has injured the efficieney of your Department ?---I have no hesitation in saying that it
has under both Governments.

Q. Is not your department one especially liable to involve loss to the Govern-
ment ?---Oh, yes. As is remarked, the loss oecasioned by one careless or inefficient
man might exceed ten years' salary of a really good man who would not have com-
mited such a blunder.

Q. Do you know as a fact that at any time loss has occurred from the blunders of
inefficient men ?--Yes; we have had losses many times, under both Governments.

Q. And that through the blunders of men you would not yourself have chosen ?----
Yes; men whom I would not have chosen had I been untrammeled.

Q. las it been customary in your Department to fill vacancies by promotion of
by those already in the Service, or by the appointment of outsiders ?---Not much ; we-
have adhered to the system of promotion rather rigidly.

Q. As far as the amount of material you have had at hand ?--Yes; I am bound to
say that the organization is in a better condition to-day than it ever has been; the-
resuit partly of three printed regulations. When any influence is brought to bear-
with respect to appointments, we always have them to fall back upon, and we ask the-
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candidates whether they can come within these regulations. They have been of great
protection to us.

Q. Do you find that the junior employés are generally of such a class as to be fit
for promotion, or have you ever been compelled to take in outsiders from the fact that
your juniors were not fit to be promoted to these stations ?-In some cases, juniors
have been appointed who were quite unfit for the life; they had not the education:
they had not the aptitude ; sometimes they had not the constitution. Theyvery soon
discovered their mistake, and as a rale drop out from the ranks. Those who romain.
unless they change in some respects, will never be very brilliant officers. Lt is desir
able in the interest of the individuals themselves as well as in the interest of the
Service, to point out to them that they should not enter unless they are fit. I
aldways endeavour to do so, so that we may get the right class of men, and so that
men who are not likely ever to be accomplished engineers, may not waste their lives
when they may be better employed in some other walk of life.

Q. The appointments you refer to come about éntirely by political influence?
Yes; i would not have appointed them, but there are very few now.

Q. You consider that your present regulations will limit the number of such men
;that enter ?-Yes; very much.

Q. Would not the institution of such a Board of Examiners as you have spoken of
further tend to accomplish the same object ?-Yes, it would.

Q. Would it be possible in your Department to choose men on the basis of a
professional examination after theirjharacter and health and other qualifications had
been certified to ?-Undoubtedly.

Q. Would you consider that professional acquirements should be the proper
ground of selection ?-Undoubtedly; I must say, however in some individual cases an
examination would not bring out the best men. Men may be very valuable indeed.
who could not pass an examination; they may be very nervous, and their self-posses-
sion may forsake them at an examination, and yet they may be most valuable men.,
Again, a man may shine at an examination, and yet be deficient in other respects.

Q. It is desirable to have a good constitution ?-Yes.
Q. Would a medical examination be requisite ?-I don't think that is necessary.
Q. You say an examination would not be a test on all these points. S ipposing

vou examined a dozen men on their educational capacities, would you not bo more
hkely to find ont their other qualities than under a system of appointmont ?-Perhaps
so; I propose to promote not by seniority alone, but by merit. I could'name men who
could not pass a first class examination, but who would be more valuable than others
who appeared to be very brilliant men at an examination.

Q. But I am speaking of first appointments. These qualities you say, could not
be tested by an examination; could they be tested by any other means except by
actual trial ?-No actual trial would be necessary.

Q. Would not a professional examination combined with probationary appoint-
ment of actual trial b the best means ?-Yes; I think an examination of candidates
to begin with very desirable, and in addition to be employed on probation simply for
a year, or perhaps less or more.

Q. I mean a competitive professional examination-that those who stood tne
highest should have the first chance of appointment ?-I am not sure about that.

Q. Competitive examinations at all events would remove the political patronage ?
-Oh, certainly.

Q. Would you not consider that in itself an advantage even if the class of men
Were not improved ?--I think all candidates should be capable of -passing certain

-examinations. But I don't know that those who pass those examinations best should
take a higher rank than any others.

Q. Do you not think that the abolition of political patronage by using coimpe-
tition as a test of selection would be an advantage in itself, even if the class of men
were not greatly improved.?-I dare say it would. I think officers serving the
ýGovernment should be noncombative as to politics. I would go so far as to deprive
dtJem of the franchise. They would not then be required to consider for whom they

-49 Victoria. A. 1877iAppendix (No. 7.)



should vote. And they need not enter the Public Service unless they are satisfied
to give up the privilege of voting.

Q. Would it be desirable to make the appointments free from political influence ?
-That is very desirable indeed, the further you remove the servants of the Govern-
ment from polities the botter the duties are performed.

Q. Has the system of promotion you have given us been enforced generally or
only since the issue of these regulations ?-An attempt was made to enforce it
practically before the principles were reduced to writing; but it was not enforced
to the same extent as now.

Q. Did you find that political inflence interfered with the carrying out of these
rules ?-Very much.

Q. Do you find it less trouble now, that the rules are adopted and printed ?-
Yes.

Q. Before the rules were enforced do you consider a man had a proper opportunity
of earning a due reward for his ability and industry ?-I think the regulations have
had a very good effect in this respect.

Q. Do you think without these regulations he had such a fair chance or oppor-
tunity ?-No.

Q. Would you say he had a fair opportunity or not?-I am bound to say he did
not have much favoritism shown him. with respect to promotion that I have had to
do with.

Q. At any time ?-Yes; I have had to do with myself.
Q. You have generally managed the control of the appointments yourself?-

Yes; although sometimes with difficulty.
Q. You have found a hinderance in the officers getting their due reward ?-

Yes; before these regulations were reduced to writing.
Q. Do you find your printed regulations at present sufficient protection to secure

the service of such a class of men as you would wish to have; can you get such men
at the price paid ?-Yes; I think there is nothing on that score. My difficulty is the
great number of applicants; there are so few public works going on at present in
different parts of the world that Civil Engineers and Survoyors areilooking to Canada
for employment. A large number have come from England and from the United
States besides those residing in Canada.

Q. Could you conveniently arrange examinations as a test or evidence for promo
tion ?-Yes; I would defer to the test here; I have already considered that.

Q. You could arrange an examination to test those qualifications; or are officers
at present examined for promotion ?-No; in making any promotions I had to con-
sult the officers under whom the parties had served. 1 ascertained from them
who immediately was best qualified for promotion. That is the test. They had
been tested for a long time under the higher officer, and he has an opportunity of
iudging of their general ability, etc.

By Mr. McDougal (Renfrew)
Q. Which you could not here ?-No; I could not ascertaixi se well as the

officer above the mon.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Are they actually examined as to professional acquirements before promotion ?

-No examination is necessary.
Q. Such an examination does exist at present ?-No.
Q. You consider that unnecesshry on account of the personal knowledge possessed

by the immediate superior ?-That is an evidence as to qualifications sought for and
obtained. An examination would not be such good evidence as that.

Q. Could not examinations be so arranged as to test their mere professional
acquiremeits without reference to general acquirements ?-Not very well. It would
be difficult to do it.

Q. Would it be advisable to require a passing of a certain professional exami-
nation as one preliminary to promotion ?-No; I think it would be embarrassing.
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Q. But the contrary must sometimes prevent the promotion ?--Satisfactory
evidence of their qualifications should be had either by examinations or otherwise.

Q. The trouble arises as to who is to decide-whether it is to be left to the
superiorofficer. He may exercise favoritism. I wish to put it so there should not
be favoritism. And would it not be better to require examination ?-But, then, in
the examinations there might be favoritism.

Q. But not if conducted by somebody disinterested ?-It might be. One of the
Board might be interested.

Q. But there would not be so much chance as if the whole affair rested on the
officer ?-lf men are not honest there is always a chance of favoritism.

Q. There would not be so much chance in a Board as by one officer ?-Probably
not. Of course if any individual is not conscientious he might act dishonestly on a
Board just the same as an officer might.

Q. In the case of a Board there would not be the same chance to favor one
subordinate more than another ?-1 think when there was a new appointment there
might be an examination. But in the case of a promotion I don't know that an
examination would accomplish the object you have.

Q. Would it net be advisable to make an examination, one of the things required,
not the only thing, to compel a man to pass a certain standard before he can be
promoted, but not to make the passing the grounds for his asking promotion ?-I
have no objection to examinations, sbut I doubt if examinations alone would accom-
plish this object. I think if you had too many of these examinations they would be
very troublesome and would not secure the best men, they might shut out men who
were in every way qualified for the office they sought. I take my own case for
instance: I have no doubt 1 could not pass such a good exmination as I could have
done twenty years ago.

Q. I do not ask you that examinations should be held on knowledge possessed
twenty or thirty years ago, but in i he actual duties employés would be required tô
perform in the next grade ?-If you could get examinations by a competent body
it would be a good thing; but I don't think you could do it. Take for instance a
Board for examining engineers.

Q. Your difficulty rests on the difficulty of obtainin-g a proper examining Board ?
-That is one difficulty. The man being examined might know more upon the
particular subject than the examining Board did.

Q. But the Board could appoint examiners. The examiners may be the juniors
of the parties examined ?-They might and they might not. Take this instance:
the office of the Chief Engineer of the canals is vacant. There are many candidates
for the office. Who is to examine them ? One of the candidates may know more
than any body of men in Canada.

Q. But my question had no reference to the staff, but merely to juniors. In
your Department, these remarks do not apply higher than to heads of parties; of
course they cannot apply to the staff, that must be left entirely to the responsibility
of the Minister ?-I don't see my way to recommending that examinations should
take place fbr promotions, they would be cumbersome and difficult.

Q. Supposing that a man required, after being a certain number of years in the
Service, to pass an examination to qualify him for the next grade, whether there was
a vacancy or not. Then when a vacancy occurred you would not have to examine
him, you would have him already examined. That is the rule in the army ?-That
may be ; but I doubt whether a competitive examination would make good soldiers,
they may be scientific men but not good fighters.

Q. These are not fighting men. Would it not be well to have an uniform test
to which all candidates for promotion would be subjected, so that it would show evi-
dence of professional capacity ?--I think it would be difficult to carry that out.

By Mr. McDougall (Renfrew) :-
Q. Supposing a man is going into one of these grades where he really requires

scientific information, would it not be well on this point ?-I would have no objoetionl
to examining them every year if it could be accomplished.
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By the Chairman:-
Q. Supposing it were possible, would it be advisable ?-I do not think it would

be practicable.
Q. If practicable, would it be advisable ?-It is advisable to secure the most

efficient men you can get, if it could be practically carried out, which I doubt it might
be advisable.

Q. Is there any superannuation in your Department ?-No.
Q. Is there frequently not a great necessity for a superannuation allowance from

accidents, &c. ?-Yes; but the present and the late Governnent have both dealt
liberally in cases of accident or more serious disaster.

Q. And officers who have been so injured have received a gratuity ?-Yes.
Q. As to the discipline of the Department-does the power of suspension and

dismissal rest with you ?-Yes.
Q. Both ?-Yes; suspensions rest with me and I delegate that power to the

officer under me when I am away : I may be away six or seven months.
Q. And the power of dismissal ?-With the Minister.
Q. But generally upon your recommendation ?-Yes.
Q. Have you ever had occasion to recommend a man for dismissal unsuccess-

fully ?-Yes; but my recommendation is generally acted upon.
Q. But you have known instances where it was not. As a rule, have you found

any difficulty in enforcing discipline ?-No; I have not. The rules are laid down so
that no one can misunderstand them. Evory one is expected to act in accordance
with the rules. There are full instructio is to the staff given in the book I have
quoted from above.

Q. low many employees have you ?-For the year there nust be close on a
thiousaid in one way and another.

J. S DENNIs, called and examined:

By the Chairman :-
Q. How long have you been in your present position as Surveyor-Gencral ?-

Since the 8th Marcb, 1871.
Q. You were some time before that in the Service ?-I have had experience more

or less in the Public Service for many years.
Q. Describe briefly the class of employés that come under your charge ?-

Well, the class of men required in the branch under my charge must have some
special qualifications be ond good business habits and a good English education.

Q. But I mean in the surveying ?-That, of course, is a professional matter that
is outside.

. Q. But we are inquiring into the engineering and all branches of your Depart-
ment ?-My duties are to conduct the surveys of the public domain, and in addition
to that to administer the land grants in connection with the public domain.

Q. Then you have the inside and outside service ?-Yes; connected with the
land.

Yes.Q. The land branch is the business department and the other professional?-

Q. Do you take any means of testing the qualifications of nominees in your
department ? -We do not under the present system.

Q. They are taken simply on the recommendation of whoever recommends
then ?-Yes; generally through political influence.

Q. Do you think that by this means you get as good a class of men on an
-average as you would if you made the selections yourself for business reading ?-So
far as my own branch is concerned. I have had very little reason to complain. The
Government in power at the present time and als:> the other Government listen to
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the Heads of the Departments. So far as my experience goes the Ministers exereise
very good judgment in the selection of men.

Q. What is the number of men in the inside land branch ?-Seventeen.
Q. Are the outside land agents appointed here or where they are situated ?-

The principal agent for was sent from here. The branch agents were
appointed from the head agency in Manitoba, on the recommendation of myseif or
the Minister.

Q. Primarily the recommendation was by some member ?-No; there has been
very little pressure brought to bear----indeed none sucessfully-to force people into
these offices or into the Branch office at Winnipeg who are incompetent.

Q. But were those who were appointed put in on account of the recommerid-
ations of a Minister, or dia the suggestion corne from inside the office ?-Yes; they
were experienced in the routine of the brani.

Q. Iow many do you generally employ in your inside branch ?-The nuniber
varies in accordance with the requirements of thie Public Service. This year past
we have only had eight or nine surveyors, whereas some years we employ 50.

Q. Do the parties pick their own men ?-Yes; part of the service is by contraet,
but the more important surveys are conducted by agents paid by the day. They aie
allowed to select their own parties, except one or two officers of the staff, who are
appointed, they having in view the following of surveying as a profession.

Q. These ail require a good education ?-Yes.
Q. Do you examine them ?--No; the right to survey Dominion lands is given by

law, and a part of that law makes it necessary that they pass an examination, which
is fixed, and on passing it they receive a commission which entitles them to be
Dominion Land surveyors.

Q. So that, practically, there is au examination ?-Oh, certainly. At present we
have an enactment by which we are in a position to provide a superior class of
surveyors, men capable of conducting highly scientific surveys, explorations, and
operations of that kind.

Q. Are those gentlemen about on a par as to salary, or are they graded ?-The
only grade is between the best class of surveyors who are employed in blocking out
the country into townships. They receive $6 a day zand expenses. But the other
surveyors get a mileage rate which, in prairie country enables them to make as good
money as block surveyors, but not in a wooded country. At any rate we look upon
the two classes as distinct, and the block surveyors are considered the best.

Q. So there is not much chance of promotion ?-There is no promotion as far as
surveying is concerned, as it is merely a question of how much work a man may be
able to get from the Government.

Q. That is a matter outside your individual province and regulated at the
pleasure of the Minister ?-Exactly. The Minister is usually applied to by members
of Parliatuent or influential friends in regard to the employment of a certain
individuai. The Minister usually consults me as to whether the person in whose
favor the application is made is worthy of being employed. If' he is, other things
being equal, he gets the preference.

Yes. Q. The employment of those men, of course, generally goes in the same way ?---

• Q. You look upon it as employment and not appointment ?-Yes. One man is
sometimes only employed two or three months in the year; another man possessed
of special qualifications, and who can command good influence, may be employed
from year to year.

Q. What is your opinion of the general results of political nominations to
positions.-I think the present system of appointments in the Civil Service is not fa
good one.

By Mr. Roscoe:-

Q. 'You mean the Civil Service generally ?--YeQ.
Q. You mean the inside service ?-Yes.
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By the Chairman
Q. What special evils does it lead to ?--I have no reason to complain personally

of the class of men I have under me, but I think that under a different system we
might have more valuable men.

Q. You think more valuable men could be got for the money ?--I think so.
Q. Do you think it would be possible to do the work with fewer men if you had

still more efficient men ?---I do not know; we are pretty well worked. We have
plenty to do in my branch. They are all good fellows to work, although some of
them are not as bright as they might be. I think that if a thoroughly effioient class
of men were brought into the Service in a different way, the public business could be
discharged with a less number of clerks.

Q. Do you think that in any professional branches of the Civil Service the evils
arising from political nominations would be aggravated ?- --As regards professionait
labor in the public service I do not see very well how you could regulate it by com-
)etitive examinations.

Q. I am not speaking as to competitive examinations, but as to whether the-
exercise of political influence is not likely to lead to worse results in professional
branches than elsewhere; are not special qualifications requisite for special branches,
than for any others ?---Decidedly. But if the administration of surveys and the-
granting of lands are centred in one individual, I do not think you could settle the
matter by competitive examinations.

Q. 1 only speak of primary appointments and not of the Staff. I only speak of
the actual men to go into the field ?---The admission is regulated by law.

Q. But political nominations would be more disastrous in professional branches
than otherwise ?---Yes.

Q. The opportunities for making blunders would be greater and the results
would also be greater ?----Yes.

Q. Supposing you bad not the advantage of falling back upon those Dominion
examiners, would you not consider it advisable to examine them in your own depart-
ment ?--Decidedly.

Q. Would not competitive examination be a very good test, and would it not be-
better to take on those men who stood the examination best ?-.--Decidedly. The only
baleful influence that political pressure exercises in connection with my service is
the occasional pressure brought to bear on the Minister for the time being in favour of
a certain individual as a surveyor. It is mentioned that the man is a qualified sur-
veyor and is a respectable man, worthy of employment, and we find out afterwards
that he is incompetent, and that he has passed his examination by a mere fluke.

Q. You do not find " D.L.S." absolute evidence of the qualifications of a sur-
veyor ?-That is not it; it is to the "I P.L.S " that I refer. Some of the Provinces,
have not stringent regulations enough.

Q. If you had examinations that vere fairly tried you would take the man, as a
rule, who came out best ?-Yes.

Q. You would advise also probationary appointments ?-I would, in connection
with the Dominion ordinary surveys, but not professional.

Q. On the Canadian Pacifie Railway situations are permanent, and are supposedi
to continue as long as the men suit; would not examinations be as weil in such a
branch as that ?-I should think so.

Q. Where the appointment was looked upon as a permanent appointment and
not as a temporary job ?-Most decidedly.

Q. Are there competitive examinations in the inside'service ?-My own opinioni
is that appointments to the inside service should be by competitive examinations.
One of the subjects should be shorthand writing, regulated from dictation. It is a
most invaluable thing. A man who can write freely from dictation should always,
receive the preference, other things being equal.

Q. What is the present rule of promotion-by seniority, by caprice, by merit
or how ?-My branch is comparatively a new one, and I have perhaps been exce p-
tionally fortunate in having a fair element presented to me so far as my clerks ar &
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«eoncerned. The promotion, therefore, such as it has been so far, has been by
.seniority.

Q. Did you recognize the morits of the individual ?-Yes.
Q. You would allow merit to overrule seniority?-I should most certainly recom-

nend a man whose merit pointed him out as a proper man for promotion, if ry,opinion was asked on the subject; whether, under the present system, the Minister.
avould take him is another thing.

Q. You have had no clash whatever?-No ; all the Ministers, I am glad to say,
show every desire to give the best man, and to put the right man in the right
iplace.

Q. As te your gencral opinion ?-My own opinion is that promotion should b)e
by merit, other things being equal. The man who is likely to be most useful to the
,public service should receive the promotion. Other things being equal, the prefer-
,ence should be by seniority.

Q. You would go by seniority and merit combined ?-Yes; I quite agree with
the remark that I heard while sitting here, respecting it being desirable before
confirmation that the appointment should only be temporary. A few months would
be sufficient to test a man, and it should be distinctly understood that the employé
vas simply on trial.

Q. That he had no rights or claims until he bad shown his fitness for the posi-
'tion ?-Yes.

Q. It seems to be the general domplaint that when a man has been appointed it
is difficult to get rid of him ?-Yes.

Q. Would it be possible to grade the work in your Department so as to separate
the mechanical from the higher class of work ?-We do now; part of the clerks I
'have are draughtsmen, and are so classified; they are ranked a little higher than the
rest.

Q. Do promotions to that class take place from below ?-No; it is a special
,class.

Q. You can test their fitness for that position ?-Yos; I have generally done
that myself.

Q. The competitive examination would suit that thon ?-Yes; in that particular
branch no man would be eligible for appointmcnt, reither in the Public Works
Department or in the Surveyor-General's branch, until lie had shown his professional
:attainments.

Q. Is the work in the lower branches sufficiently similar that men could be
promoted from one to the other?-I should say so; I think they could be promoted
from one of the lower branches to another; I think that is not only possible, buit
that it would be a very excellent feature.

Q. By opening a larger field for promotion ?-Decidedly.
Q. Do you find the Service sufficiently attractive to induce the best class of

young men to enter it ?-No; I do not.
Q. What means would you propose to make it more attractive ?-I think the

service is underpaid; I think a little increase in the pay, together with competitive
ýexaminationaà and promotion by merit would make it more attractive.

Q. Would you consider the increase of pay or some chances of promotion to be
the higher attraction ?-I think if the alternative was put, the employés would prefer
promotion by merit. There would then be less complaint of the present rates of
salaries.

Q. Would not the complaint of low salaries be decreased if the rule was inva-
iriably followed of promoting the men according to merit and by putting the young
'men into the lower branches ?-Yes.

Q. So that they would have a decent chance to attain a salary before they get a
family ?-Yes; I do not think there would be any reason for complaint if the salary
was even lower than it is at prosent for young men just entering the Service, and the
iincrease afterwards was liberal according to proficiency. The men want to get
'married and not having salary enough to support a family they run into trouble.
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Many of them have a family about them before they get even $1,000 a year, and
it is quite pitying to see them doing so. Sometimes I have thought it would be
almost well to say that no man should be allowed to marry until he had got a certain
salary. I think that promotions for the first, second and third years should be more
rapid than they are.

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 11th, 1877.

Committee met.-Mr. CAsEY in the Chair.

Mr. BRUNEL, Deputy Minister of Inland Revenue, appeared before the Com-
mittee and read a statement, embodying his views on Civil Service reform, as
follows:-

MEMORANDUM respecting the Civil Service in so far as the Department of Inland
Revenue is concerned, given in evidence before Civil Service Committee, April
lth.

As to Inside Service.

The comparatively short period during which this Department has been in
existence has not afforded the same amount of experience as bas been had with
reference to the older Departments. Of the employés who were first attached to
this Department only one, besides myself and the messenger, now remain. The
others have been removed by death, superannuation, resignations, or removal to
other branches of the Service. The Department was established in 1867.

I arm not aware that, in reference to appointments in the Inland Revenue
Departnent, any notice bas been taken of the Civil Service examinations
provided for in the Civil Service Act. This Department bas never been officially
informed whether the parties appointed in it have passed that examination or not.
I am a memi-er of the Civil Service Board, but I do not remember having evor
heard the examinations officially mentioned, though they may have been referred to
incidentally.

The employés now on the staff are, as a rule, efficient, and occupy the relative
positions for which they are best adapted ; but I do not think that in cvery case the
pay they receive is in proportion to the nature of the duties they perform. Some
injustice is done in that respect.

The present Civil Service Act contain some useful provisions, but they are not
always obeyed. The restrictions as to the age at which an individual m ay join the
Service are valuable, but so far as I know they have not been much regarded. At all
events they have been oftener disregarded. It is, I think, very desirable that the
Service should be recruited by young mon who will make it a profession, and who
would then prepare themselves for it, and more thoroughly identif V themselves with
it. Cases do arise in which it is necessary to look outside thte Service for special
qualifications, but the necessity for so doing should be very clearly established before
that course is resorted to. That course should rot be taken until it is quite evident that
the requisite qualifications cannot be had within the Service. Above all, when a good
appointment. is given to an outsider on the ground of special qualifications, there
should exist some means for determining beyond all cavil that the recipient does
really possess the qualifications alleged to be necessary.

Cases may, it is true, occur when special qualifications which cannot be tested by
any system of examination are necessary. I may mention reticence, decision and a
capacity for sound reasoning. These qualities of the mind are essential in all the
higher offices and their presence can only be ascertained by a personal knoivledge of
the individual, accompanied by a knowledge of mon.

The intention of the present law as to appointments for special qualifications is
tolerably clear, but not always observed.
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But, notwithstanding the value of some of the provisions of the Civil Service
Act, I am persuaded that practically it works a good deal of mischief, more than
enough to neutralize all the good it is capable of. I have observed its workings
pretty closely since Confederation, and the conviction has been forced upon me, that
the law bas a tendency to make the employees feel that inefficiency is about as
likely to lead to promotion as efficiency. Annual increments of salary and eligi-
bility for promotion when established by law, and without reference to ability or
merit, have, I think, a decided tendency to increase that feeling. That being the
case, they not unnaturally become indifferent. Of course, I speak in general terms.
There are many honourable exceptions. There are clerks in this Department who
take as warm an interest in their work,and as much pride in having it promptly and
well done, as any men can possibly do.

With certain reservations as to the character of the examination, I am of
opinion that competitive examinations for first entrance to the Service would effect
much good. If such examinations merely referred to educational acquirements they
would be of little value. To be useful they should relate to some specific object or
objects in connection with the proposed Service.

There are qualifications essential to ail branches of the Civil Service, and there
are qualifications peculiarly necessary to certain branches of the Service, all of which
may be fairly tested by examination. But there are also qualities which every
member of the Civil Service should possess, the existence or absence of which no
system of examination cau test. They can only be determined by personal acquaint-
ance and probationary employment. Among these qualities, may be mentioned
honesty, sobriety and application. Nevertheless, the qualities which may be tested
by examinations properly conducted bear a large proportion to the whole, and hence
I infer that a system of examination combined with probationary employment and
with due precautions for ascertaining the physical and moral character and personal
habits of the candidates would work a most beneficial influence on the Service, and
may at the sane time be made conducive to economy.

The service of the Government ought to command a higher average ability at a
lower cost than the same average can be had for by private employers, banks or
other corporations. The Civil Service has many considerations to recommend it.
It is respectable; it is permanent during good behaviour ; it is noi, except in some
exceptional cases, over-laborious; the pay is sure; it is not probable that the em-
ployés will ever be affected by depression of trade or commercial fluctuations; and
as now arranged, the Civil servant who performs his work with reasonable e'fficiency
during the vigour of his life, may retire in his old age on an income sufficient for all
reasonable necessities. On all these points the Civil Service offers decided advan-
tages over private employment.

But in order to avail of these advantages, certain conditions are necessary. One
condition is a reasonable certainty that merit will secure promotion as vacancies
occur. The converse of this is equally necessary-that promotion cannot be had
without merit.

If the employés coufd be made to feel that these conditions had assumed a sub-
stantial form, I am confident there would be an immediate and decided improvement.
And if the same feeling prevailed outside, it would induce more highly qualified
persons to look for employment in the Service; and those seeking such employment
would be more careful to qualify themselves for it. It would follow that the salaries
now paid would secure more efficient services, and in that way greater econo!ny as
to the number of employés would be possible.

It is not difficult to conceive how a system of examinations might be devised
upon which admission to, and promotions in, the Service should be based, and which
would have the effect of inspiring a feeling of confidence both inside and outside the
Service that merit would be the most reliable road to advancement: But to do this
effectually, the system must be so contrived and administered as to ignore all mere
political considerations.



Of course, the fact that the Minister of the day must, under our system of
government, be held responsible for ail appointments to the Pubic Service, cannot be
ignored. I am not a politician, and may perhaps be pardoned if I suggest that the
Minister who inaugurates such a system as will secure the grcatest degiee of efficiency
at the smallest cost will best discharge his responsibility. To do that effectually, it is
necessary to thrust aside ail political influence that tends to cast a doubt on the cer-
tainty of promotion going by merit.

A satisfactory solution of the problem appears to require a system which shall
insure, with reference to persons first entering the Service : That they shall not have
passed a stated age, that they shall be in the enjoyment of good bealth, and that
they shall have a reputation for sobriety, integrity and industry; and, although these
qualities cannot be tested by examinations, their presence or absence may neverthe-
less be determined with reasonable certainty by suitable regulations respecting appli-
cations for admission to examination and probationary appointment. The Govern-
ment, like ail other employers, must take some risk on these points.

Having advanced this first step it must next be determined what qualifications.
are most necessary (for properly filling existing vacancies in the probationary
class. To explain my meaning more fully it may be convenient to state a hypotheti-
cal case. Let us then suppose ten vacancies---five to be employed in statistical work
and five as copyists. It is not difficult to determine what subjects the candidates for
such employment should be examined in. Writing grammatically, spelling, writing
neatly and with due despatch, tabulating figures, expertness in picking out and
classifying quantities, proficiency in addition, multiplication and subtraction. Ail
these qualities can be readily tested and valued by examination ; and assuming that
we have fifty candidates who comply with the conditions as to character, &c., first
stated, it seems only reasonable to assume that the ton wbo showed the greatest

proficiency in such an examination would, as a rule, be the best men to appoint.
It is quite possible that of the ten so selected, some one or even more might,on being

submitted to the probationary test, turn out somewhat different to what was expected,and
a different estimate may then be formed of his capabilities. He may not possess the
necessary application to work, or removal from his home and new associations may
act injuriously on his habits. These are risks which must, under any circumstances,
be taken. But the especial value of the probationary appointment lies in the
opportunity it affords of testing these things.

In this Department appointments have, during the past three years, been usually
of a probationary character, and considerable advantage has been derived lrom the
practice, though there have been influences at work which have to some extent
neutralised those advantages. If a probationary appointment were made in defiance
of, or without reference to political influences, and the appointee proved to be
unsuitable, there could be no difficulty in dealing with him as he deserved. But if the
app,irttnent is made through political influence, it is apt to be as difficult to deal with
the appointee as it would be if he were permanently appointed. For this reason, I
think it is important that the probationary class should be open to those who have
first passed the ordeal of some such examination as I have sketched, and that such
examinations shall be open.

Examinations for probationary appointments should, in order to give ail eligible
aspirants a fair opportunity, be held in various parts of the Dominion ; but candidates
would necessarily incur some expense which as it would deter the notoriously incom-
petent from competing, would be rather an advantage than otherwise. Among the
advantages of competitive examinations an important one is that the mere fact of
having to pass such an examination will usually deter those who are incompetent
from submitting themselves to the ordeal. The result of the several exarninations,
nust, of course, be so taken and recorded that a just comparison eau be made.

Having made provision for recruiting the lower grades of the Service, it becomes
necessary to consider how its internal economy is to be regulated, especially with
reference to promotions.
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I know of nothing so calculated to depress the zeal of a public servant who is so
conscious of having done his work thoroughly, and to the satisfaction of his immediate
superiors, and who knows of no blot on bis character or hab.ts as, with bis chiefs expres-
sion of satisfaction sounding in bis ears, to find himself deprived of legitimate promo-
tion by the appointment of some inferior officer, or perhaps an outsider, who, to say
the least, bas establisbhed no claim to superior qualifications. It is not surprising that
a man so treated should become soured and gradually sink below mediocrity in the
full conviction that efficiency is not the road to advancement. Out of seed so planted
the country reaps a plentiful harvest of expense, delays, red tape, circumlocution, and
inefficiency of which we hear so much when the pinch of the shoe is felt.

It has been said in effect by a shrewd observer that it is vain to look for
efficient service from dissatisfied servants, and all the experience I have had tends to
confirm the truth of the observation. Hence the importance of so managing the
promotions in the Service as to remove as far as possible all just causes for dissatisfac-
tion.

It may be assumed that in each Department there will be work more or less
special to those branches of the Service, and it should be an object to obtain material
suitable for the work. In al] Departments there is work which requires for its
efficient performance no very high educational accomplishments nor, in fact, much
more than industry. In the class suited to that sort of work, a good many of those
appointed on probation would find . permanent abiding place. For, while those
who have the ability requisite for filling higher places should have the chance of
raising themselves as vacancies occur, it by no means follows that mere length of
service should insure promotion. Promotion by seniority, all other things being
equal, is just; but it can not be admitted that a young man who would be incapable
of taking a high position in private service should be able to do so in the public ser-
vice. It is probable that promotions by seniority irrespe2tive of merit, have done
their full share of mischief.

Speaking exclusively for the Inland Revenue Department, there is no difficulty
in dividing the work into sections. Commencing below the sections would probably
be : Statistics, accounts, or book-keeping, correspondence and technical and scientfic.
Bach section would, of course, demand two or three degrees of ability, and there should
be a head over each.

There does not appear to be any insuperable, nor indeed any grave difficulty, in
preparing examination papers and so conducting examinations as to obtain a valuable
index as to the relative ability of the various persons available for the required work.
To that end, I cons der competitive examinations within the Service would be of
great value.

Assuming that a number of vacancies occur in any grade or section of the
Service, I think there should be a competitive examination open to all the grades in
the service below that in which the vacancies exist, and the promotion should
.be given to those who stand at the head of the list in each case. But in all such
competitions the general character which each candidate bas acquired with his imme-
diate superior, for industry and personal habits, should have a definite value attached
to it and should be dealt with in the competition.

I would deal on this principle with all promotions, until we come to the higher
grades to which appointments can only be judiciously made upon a thorough
knowledge, acquired by personal intercourse, of the qualifications and mental
qualities of those who are available for the service. There is but little danger of
wrorg or injustice in leaving such appointments untrammelled, for every man will, as
far as in him lies, take care to select a suitable person as bis immediate subordinate.
IHence, when the Minister appoints his Deputy, he will for bis own credit and comfort
take care to select a suitable person.

Nevertheless it should be understood that selection for such appointments will be
made from the service if a suitable man can be found, and that the man wanted will
be looked for without as well as within the Department to which the proposed

.eappointment relates, before going outside the service; but obviously one trained in the
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Department will be more likely to understand its working and the duties he will
have to perform than one comparatively new to them.

Discipline in a Department is as essential to the proper performance of its fune-
tions as ability on the part of the employees. Without discipline the work is apt to
be both expensively and badly done. The maintenance of discipline must mainly
depend on the influence possessed by the Deputy-head over his subordinates, and I
apprehend that more responsibility should rest on him than is at present understood.

I make this observation because it is sometimes assumed that the political. Head
of a Department can at once stop into his office and personally control the whole of
the details. Of course the absurdity of such an idea is evident to any one who has
any experience. The political head of a department might sometimes find time
personally to exercise his autbority, but generally the higher duties of his office do
not permit him to devote himself continuously to matters of a subordinate character.
At least the attention so given cannot be continuous, and its necessarily irregular
nature would have a tendency to weaken the hands of his Deputy, and, what is worse,
create a sense of relief from responsibility which ought not to exist.

Hence I incline to the belief that whether in the larger Departments or in those
where the range of business is narrowest, and the number of employés smallest, the
business should be so conducted as to make al] feel that the recommendation of the
Deputy Head, and his approval of the conduct of the subordinate officers, is a
necessary step towards preferment. I would go further. I would place him in a
position to administer a substantial rebuke to inefficieney or insubordination. If that
officer is not fit to exercise that much power, he is not fit for the position.

The same principle should prevail with reference to the heads of the several
sections. This can only be carried out by establishing well-defined rules of conduct.
For the honest and impartial administration of the Department in accordance with
such rules, the Minister should hold his Deputy to a strict account.

One of the most grievous foes to discipline is the advancement of individuals at
the cost of sacrificing the principle of advancement by merit. It is not unreasonable
to imagine some such case as this. A clerk, without having had his qualifications
tested by any process that would establish his fitness for the office, by some personal
influence finds bimself in an important position in opposition to the opinions of the
permanent head of his Department. le owes his chief no allegiance. He can hold
his post in spite of him. Itmay be said that a clerk so placed would feel that by and
by his friends may be out of power, and that then there would be retribution. There
is no probability of that. The chief officer knows that any such action on his part
would be attributed to a feeling of vindictiveness, and that the object of it would
forthwith become a martyr.

I desire to guard myself against being supposed to assert that all who are
appointed by political influence make bad officers. On the contrary, I know that
excellent men have been brought into the service in that way. I only assert that
the knowledge that appointments are so made is necessarily detrimental to the
service, and that the evil so caused might be avoided without excluding any of the
useful men who would enter the Service in that way.

Outside Service.

Speaking generally, the preceding observations apply equally to the outside
service; but the outside service of the Inland Revenue demands a considerable amount
of special knowledge of a technical character, and it is rarely possible to find persons
who possess such knowledge before they enter the service. Occasionally, however,
men with special qualifications have been found. From this it is seen how necessary
it is to avoid the appointment of men far advanced in years unless they have already
acquired the requisite knowledge. Wben the Excise service first assumed consider-
able importance the opportunity was afforded me of pressing upon the consideration
of the Minister the views I held on this subject. I submitted a report in 1866, in
which I suggested some general rules for governing appointments and promotions in

85
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the Excise service, and for constituting the Excise Boards of Examiners. That
report was adopted by Order in Council and, so to speak, became the constitution of
the Excise branch of the service. To a large extent it has been acted upon, though
not infrequently it has been disregarded. The Departmei al reports on this sub-
ject for 1874, 1875 and 1876, which have been laid before Parliament, will show to
what extent the service has been managed in accordance with the Order in Council
above mentioned.

During the past three years appointments in the ouside Excise service have,
with few exceptions, been probationary, and have been made by Departmental letters
only. The confirmation of such appointments by Order in Council being conditional
<>n the parties passing a satisfactory examination. Previous to that time the appoint-
ments were more frequently made at once by Order in Council, but I do not
remember more than one case where the appointment by Order in Council was not
-made conditional on the parties passing the prescribed examinations in a satisfactory
manner. I believe this mode of making appointments has a very beneficial influence,
though it would be better to have a preliminary examination and then make a
probationary appointment by Departmental letter, reserving the formaI appointment
by Order in Council until the character and qualifications of the candidates are
thoroughly known.

Appointments so made afford young men an opportunity for acquiring a
knowledge of the duties to which its proposed toappoint them, whilethe knowledge
that they are subject to further examination before they can be firmly seated would
act as a stimulus to study.

Such a result has been greatly promoted by the publication of the examination
papers with the results of the examinations that have been held. These do<-uments
I have reason to know are anxiously looked for and carefully studied by most of the
younger mem bers of the Service, as well as by some of the older on es. Practically
these examinations have been a technical school which has greatly promoted the
study of the technical subjects connected with the service.

The examinations have enabled the Department to classify the officers in accor-
dance with their abilities. This is in itself a great advantage. It is always
desirable to place a man at the work for which he is best qualified, and this the
examinations afford us the data for doing. They have also enabled the Department
to place the least competent men where they can do the least mischief, and this
feature bas some value.

It may be accepted as an axiom that a man who cannot pass a third-class
examination, after being in the Service a year or eighteen months, is unfit for it and
sbould be removed.

The nature of the past excise examinations may be ascertained from the papers
laid before Parliament during its present session. From therm it will be seen that the
examination papers have been prepared exclusively with reference to the work
which the candidates may be require4 to perform. I do not think any other kind of
examination would be of any value. I lay great stress on this point. If conducted
merely with reference to ordinary educational acquirements, they would be of very
little use.

It would be an improvement on the system of recruiting the outside service
which has hitherto prevailed, if when additional officers are required open com-

petitive examinations were held. The number of appointments to be made should
be announced, and the branch of the service to which the probationary appoint-
ments would be made should be specitled, as well as the places at which the service
would commence. The examinations should then be held at varions places where
candidates could conveniently present themselves. This would be indicated by the
applications for admission.

The examination papers should be prepared with reference to the branch of the
Service for which recruits are wanted. In this way for every ton appointments,
there would, perhaps, be one hundred candidates to select from. It would be strange
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if in that way we did not secure a better class of recruits than we can reasonably
hope to obtain when they are subject to no test at all.

The parties wbo receive probationary appointments, would, of course, be subject
to further examination before their appointments would be confirmed, and thereafter
every step upward should be competed for, and the competitors should have absolute
confidence that, so long as there was no disqualification by reason of bad habits or
the like, to head the list would be to secure the coveted vacancy.

Practical results are held to be of more value than theory, and as ten years
have elapsed since examination came into use in the Excise Service, it may be stated,
as a practical result that very obvious benefits have been derived from them. As a
rulo-the exceptions being so rare as only to prove it-the best officers are those who
have passed the best examinations, and they have attained the highest places in the
Service. In attaining those places they have been greatly assisted by the manner in
which they passed their examination, but especially by their thorough knowledge of
technicalities of the Service which they were found to aequire before they could pass
them.

I think this statement will be fully sustained by the reports and returns which
have been made to Parliament by the Department.

(Signed) A. BRUNEL,
Commissioner of Inland Revenue.

DEPARTMENT OF INLAND REVENUE,
April 11th, 1877.

The Witness was then examined:

By Mr. Charlton:-
Q. What would you do with officers who having been in the Service beyond the

time allowed have not gone through their examination ?-We have in the Excise
Branch abont thirty officers who have not passed the technical examination for the
more difficult branches.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Who, I suppose, are not yet confirmed ?-They are not, but in most cases

they continue to hold their positions.
Bu Mr. Charlton:-

Q. They have not, I suppose, been finally appointed. What would you propose
to do with incompetent officers-I suppose such are never appointed ?-Such appoint-
ments have sometimes been made. It is necessary in the interests of the Service that
incompetent officers be removed.

Q. Have you ever known of dismissals for political reasons ?-No.
By -Mr. JRoscoe :-

Q. When an officer is dismissed in your Department does the recommendation for
his dismissal come from you in the first place ?-No ; but it is nmy duty to discuss the
point with the Head of the Department.

By Mr Charlton:-
Q. Who approves of your suggestions ?-Sometimes that will depend upon circum-

stances.
By the Chairman

Q. To get a clear idea of the present rule I wish to ask, did I understand you to
say that you now required an examination in all the branches ?-Ne; the system
does not prevail so far.

Q. Is there not such a thing as special examinations for promotion, or as to
salaries ?-There is such a class as " special." We are only allowed twenty in that
class. They have to pass a very severe examination. The object in establishing this
class was to secure men who have a thorough knowledge of manufactures subject to
Excise.
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By Mr. Paterson
Q. You do not care if you obtain technical knowledge with candidates for

appointment ?-We would be glad to find that they possess technical knowledge when
they came into the service but before a candidate is put to a crucial test we give him
an opportunity to acquire knowledge in the service.

Q. Wbat time do you give him?-We give him twelve months to acquire it.
By the Chairman:-

Q. Do you think a technical examination should be required in all cases ?-I
think a technical examination should be required in all cases where the employment
demands techinical knowledge. I do not think thorough technical knowledgo can be
expected, but we should know what knowledge the candidate possesses. Our Excise
Officers require in all cases to have a knowledge of the lower branches of mathe-
matics. It is necessary for the intelligent survey of distilleries and malt houses. I
have known cases where it became necessary to determine the quantity of spirits in
a vessel which was of the form of an inverted cone, the bottom being an inclined
plane.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. This would be a case of inspection ?-Yes.
Q. An officer would hardly be expected to examine all this himself; it would

be examined by an expert ?-Yes; but an officer should understand it.
Q. The question I wished to alk was, whether you had different examinations

-one in book-keeping and another in that particular knowledge necessary in the
routine of the Excise Department ?-The subjects are classified; there are seven or
eight subjects, and marks are given in each subject of examination. A candidate
who takes all the subjects and gets a certain number of marks, is classified. If ho
gets less than 800 marks he is not classified.

Q. What are the advantages of classification; are collectors taken from first-
class mon ?-They ought to be.

Q. Are they ?-That is a question. I do not think that all the advantages
that should result from the system of classification have been availed of. Still, if
a man is very low in his examination, I think it is always a bar to his promotion-
not an insuperable bar, but one ho will be anxious.should not exist.

Q. s promotion according to efficiency ?-I cannot say that itis.
By the Chairman:-

Q. You cannot say, thon, that promotion follows the test of efficiency in an
officer ?-No, not always.

Q. Have you found any difficulty in the way of arranging such a system as
would make promotion depend on efficiency ?-There should be no great difficulty lu
doing so.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. You would not limit your promotion to one office; for instance, when a col-

lector dies, you would not appoint a successor from the same office ?-I would not
limit the promotion to the same office, but extend it all over the Department. I
have always advocated this. I have always held that it would be an advantage if
promotion should be made so as to exchange officers between the different Provinces.

By the Chairman
Q. Referring to technical examinations, if candidates professing to have technical

knowledge stood the examination, would you think the fact of their standing the
examination primd facie evidence of their capabilities ?-Yes; I think so as a rule.

Q. Of course primd fade evidence is not proof, but in the absence of evidence to
the contrary it makes a case ?--Such evidence would be in their favour.

Q. Do you consider competitive examinations an improvement ?-Yes.
By Mr. Paterson :

Q. Are you in favour of competitive examinations for probationary appoint-
ments ?-Yes.

Q. What is the necessity for probationary appointments; you have taken awaY'
al danger of offending any party: you place on the same footing both employés and
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employers ?-J think I have stated important reasons to show that preliminary
examinations are not sufficient; an employé, prior to his appointment, may bave
had a good character; he may come here to Ottawa and fall into bad habits and bad
company, and it may become desirable that he should not be retained in the Service.

Q. You do not quite understand me; you say you are in favour of probationary
appointments for one or two years; but what is the necessity for probationary
appointments at all; does not an appointment hold good only during good beha-
viour ?-It sometimes holds good during very bad behaviour.

Q. It is understood when a clerk is appointed that it is a permanent appoint-
ment, but if, in the course of two or three years, he develops bad habits he may be
dismissed. Of course he will be on probation all the time ?-There is a great diffi-
culty in this. In order to get rid of a man appointed by Order in Council it is
necessary to have recourse to the same authority to dismiss him; you cannot get rid
of him except by an Order in Council. In the other case you merely drop him.

By the Chairman :--
Q. When appointed by Order in Council there is so much political influence that

you cannot drop him ?--No; it becomes a difficult matter to dismiss him.
Q. it would require greater misconduct on the part of an employé to get rid of

him ?---Very much.
By Mr. Kirkpatrick:-

Q. By giving him a permanent appointment you give him a sort of claim ?-
Yes.

By Mr. Paterson :-
Q. You give him a claim if it turns out that political influence is on the same

side; but we are discussing a system in which these influences are supposed not to
have sway What I wish to ask is this: if a candidate fails to got an appointment
and has strong friends in the administration, or if, being appointed, he is giiilty of
misconduet sufficient to justify his dismissal, and if that is done, the charge may
still be brought against the Head of the Department that he was quietly dropped to
give another a chance ?- -If probationary appointmets only are made, they would
cause no feeling at all, and if you want to get rid of a man no regular report will be
necessary as in the other case. In one or two years you know what kind of a man
he is, and if the conclusion is that he does not suit then he may be easily removed.

By the Chairman:--
Q. The English system is, that unless a favourable report is made at the end of

one year, I believe, setting forth that the employé is efficient, he could not be retained
in the service. Do you think that system offers any advantage ?---I think it would
be a less slur upon his character in the case of his not being retained in the Service.
Another advantage is thatyou make some one responsible for his efficiency. A great
deal depends on making some one responsible.

Q. You would make the Minister, or Head of the Department responsible ?---I
would make the one who knows him personally, and who employs him, responsible.

Q. Have you any power of dismissal ?--None at all. If the Minister is not
here in Ottawa I have the power to suspend.

By Mr. Paterson:
Q. Have you this power both in the outside and inside Service ?-Yes.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Have you any difficulty in maintaining discipline?- No; I do not find

any difficulty as a general rule. There have been cases in which some difficulty has
been felt; but they have been few. Such cases are very difficult to deal with, and the
Deputy should have power of making the employé feel that the Deputy had the power
of administering a substantial reprimand.

Q. Did you ever make a report on a case of bad conduct that was not acted
upon ?-I once reported a case-not of bad conduct but in which the clerk did not attend
to his duty, and I know that that clerk was not only retained in the Department bat
he got an increase of salary.

Q. How long ago was that ?-That was a considerable time ago.
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By Mr. Paterson:---
Q. You say he got an increase of salary when your recommendation for his

dismissal was made ?-I did not recommend his dismissal.
Q. It is sometimes supposed that political Heads of Departments do not always

treat the permanent deputy-heads well when the latter are appointed by political
opponents ?-I was appointed under the administration of Mr. Sandfield Mac-
donald, and I bave been treated well by both political parties. It is a matter of per-
fect indifference to me which is in power.

By Mfr. Kirkpatrick :-
Q. Have you ever known of an instance in which an increase of salary was

granted without the recommendation of the Deputy-head ?-As a general rule he is
consulted; I bave, however, known instances in which his opinion was not asked.

Q. Are his recommendations generally acted upon ?-They are not invariably
acted upon; but as a general rule he is consulted.

By Mr. Paterson:-
Q. Do I understand you to say that in all matters of this kind the I'eputy-head

is generally almost all powerful ?--No; I said he is generally consulted; I did not
.say he was all powerful.

By the Chairman:-
Q. As a general rule, does the influence in making appointments really lie in

your hands, or in those of the Hends of Departments ?--In the Heads of Departments.
Q. Do you refer to the inside or outside service ?--I refer to both.
Q. What as regards the outside service ?--I think my recommendations have

had weight.
Q. Does the same rule apply to promotions ?---With regard to promotions in the

inside service my representations have, as a rule, been listened to. There have been
*some exceptions.

Q. Are you asked to suggest the men for promotion ?-We have not had many
promotions; it is a new department, and there are not many in it. I have only been
six years at the head of it.

Q. But when promotions are made, are you, as a rule, consulted: are you asked,
for instance, " Is such a man fit to be promoted ?"--I have been generally consulted,
,but not always.

By Mr. Paterson:
Q. J suppose a consultation is held between the Minister and yourself.

Have you found bim to resist the suggestions you have made as to promotions ?----I
have found him anxious, generally, to listen to my suggestions, because he would
get information as to the efficiency of officers from me. CHe listens to what I have
to say; and if there are objections, he may give way after he bas heard the reasons
I have had to urge.

Q. Have you been asked by Reads of Departments to recommend officers for
promotion ? -es.

Q. Is it not understood in the Department that the Deputy head of the Depart-
nent is in, a position to deal with promotion independently ?-No; lie can only

recommend favourably for promotion, it is for the Government to decide.
Q. Do you believe that if he bad that power absolutely it would conduce to the

perfection of the efficiency of the Service ?-There sbould be definite rales for bis
guidance, and he should be responsible to the head of the department for the proper
administration.

By the Chairman:-
Q. Is there work of a techincal kind to be done in the Department ?-Yes.
Q. So much so that it could not be done by the ordinary officers ?-Quite so.
Q. Do you think that the efficiency of the Service would be promoted by separat-

ing those branches ?-No.
Q. I suppose you have some men who are not sufficiently qualified for general

work in the Department ?-Yes; there are men in the Service who are only fit for
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certain kinds of work, such as compiling statistics and tabulated work, and who would
not be fit for other work.

Q. Are there prizes in the Service in the way of salaries ?-Yes; there are a few
good positions with fair salaries attached.

Q. Do you think those prizes are given principally to outsiders or -to employés
taken from within the IDepartmeiit ?-I think the prizes are too often given to out-
siders-men who are not in the service.

By Mr. Kirkcpatrick :-
Q. Have collectorships been given to outsiders ?-Yes.
Q. Do you think that if the prizes in the service were put within the reach of

every young man entering the Service it would tend to promote the efficiency o the
Service ?-Undoubtedly it would.

THuUsDAY, April 12th, 1877.
Committee met.-Mr. CASEY in the Chair.

Mr. PATRICK, Clerk of the House, called and examined:
By the Chairman :-

Q. How long have you been in the Service ?-From the 17th January, 1827.
Q. That is for fifty years ?--Yes.
Q. Ilow long have you held your present position ?-Since January, 1873.
Q. You hold your office under a commission ?-Yes ; a commission under the

Great Seal.
Q. Before that were you in a high position ?-I was Clerk Assistant since 1858.
Q. You have had every opportunity to see what was going on with regard to

the efficiency of the officers of the House under your charge; are all the officers
under your charge ?-They are, by a rule of the House, except the Sergeant-at-Arms.

Q. Mention the grades ?-Law Clorks; Translators, (English and French;)
English and Frencb Journal Clerks; Clerks of Committees; Standing and Select;
Clerks of Votes, &c.

,Q. Can you state the number in all the branches of your Department, English
ýand French ?-Thirty-nine in all the branches of the Service, under the Clerk of the
House.

Q. By whom are those clerks appointed ?-By the Speaker, upon enquiry as to
the necessity of their appointment.

Q. That is under his patronage as Speaker of the House ?-Yes ; that is his
patronage under the rule.

Q. And is it the Speaker who is to decide as to the necessity of having them
appointed or yourself ?-The Speaker freely consults with the Clerk before lie makes
appointments or fills vacancies.

Q. From whom does ho learn when vacancies occur ?-From the Clerk of the
House.

Q. Are all appointments made on your recommendation ?-Not as a matter of
Course.

Q. Are clerks ever appointed without a statement from you that they are
required ?-In exceptional instances it might be done.

Q. Are they ever appointed except when you have asked that it might be done ?
-In some instances where political interest is brought to bear, changes are made
and appointments given by the Speaker without my knowledge, or without spocial
reference to me.

Q. Then I suppose that these appointments are like other appointments, a matter
of patronage ?-I think so.

Q. Of course, I do not mean improper patronage, but the same as in the other
departments of the Civil Service ?-I think so.

Q. You have a large class of sessional employés ?-Yes.
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Q. What is your opinion as to that class of employés ?-My opinion is, to engage
as few of that class as possible, and more permanent sessional clerks, paid a certain
sum per session, who are efficient men-that is, without yearly salaries; they are
generally clever young men who do the work well, and I much prefer this class to
those attached to the Department with low annual salaries. Our Service is a peculiar
one. We have three months of very hard work, and during the rest of the year the
work is very slack ; but there must be a certain number of permanent officers, men
of special ability, whose salaries should be extra good. We can always command the
services of extra clerks, at the fixed pay of a pound a day during the session--such
as law students and others. I have never recommended the filling up of vacancies by
the appointment of permanent clerks at lower salaries.

Q. What is the number of sessional clerks now engaged in your Department ?-
Thirty-six, distributed throughout the various offices and Committee rooms where
required, as well as, also, in the engrossing and copying rooms.

Q. What do ycu mean by permanent sessional clerks ?-There are five most
efficient men paid $400 each for a session, long or short.

Q. By whom are these sessional clerks paid ?-By the sole authority of the Com-
missioners of Internal Economy of the House of Commons, who have by law the
sole control over every salary and pay of any kind; this is their only function.

Q. What amount of qualifieation would you consider necessary in a young man
to make hi mi an efficient sessional clerk ?-The most important is a ready use of the
pen and general intelligence in transacting official business, and legibility and
correctness in copying.

Q. They have tew other duties ?-Very few.
Q. Can you not arrange an examination of some kind, say in dictation, to test

the handwriting and general intelligence of applicants ?-I should recommend that
there should be no appointments except after a test as to the general intelligence of
the applicant. In that case we should doubtless have a more efficient class- of
sessional clerks.

Q. Is there any scope for promotion in the House Service ?-No other than by
attaching or making an assistant of one who has knowledge of a particular branch,
and keeping him familiar with the duties, so that hb may understand the duties of
the position thoroughly and be fully prepared to take the place of the Chief in case
of a vacancy occurring, or in case of sickness or death. I have one attached to each
of the offices; I think it absolutely necessary.

Q. How are promotions made-by seniority ?-Not always.
Q. You promote them strictly according to what you consider indispensable

qualifications ?-Yes.
Q. It would be inexpedient, then, to make promotions throughout the House

Service promiscuously ?-That would be impossible.
Q. Is there much scope, much room fbr promotion ?-Not very much.
Q. There is not any considerable prize in the way of salaries I suppose ?-Yes;

the Chief in each branch of the Department holds a very good position and worthy of
ambition.

Q. There is then a fair prospect of good salaries in the service of the flouse ?-
There is; but it is very slow; and it has been particularly so since Confederationi.

Q. Do you think that any arrangement could be made to increase the rapidity
of promotion ?-No; I don't know that we can; for instance, the head clerk of the
journals is a man who must have peculiar qualifications; the formulating of the
journals is a specialty in itself. There is no other in the Department except his
assistant who could do the work, and that is the one who is educated to take his
place.

Q. The work, then, is very much individualized ?-Yes; each one has his OWD
pecuhar duties.

Q. As a ruie, I understand that you promote invariably from within the Depart-
ments instead of bringing in outsiders ?-Yes; I have only known this rule depar
from in one or two cases.

A. 1sgr



Q. As to the discipline of the Service of the House, with whom doee the power
of disnissal rest in case of inefficiency ?-The power of suspension rests with the
Clerk of the House.

Q. And the power of dismissal ?-With the Speaker. The Speaker under the
law has the power of dismissal over all employés except the clerk himself; and ho
has the power of suspending him.

Q. Are dismissals generally made on your recommendation ?-Yes; in every
case.

Q. You consider that it is necessary, in order to maintain proper discipline in ail
the offices of the House, that this should be done on your recommendation ?-Un-
doubtedly; as the Clerk of the House is held responsible for the proper performance of
the duties by ail the officers and clerks who are in every official respect his deputies,
to this end the House by its rule has placed them all under his control and direction.

Q. In case vou did not suspend a man for improper conduct might not the
Speaker lower bis salary ?-In such a case, the Speaker may lower his salary if he
should judge proper to do so.

Q. ilave your recommendations ever been disregarded in this respect ?-Never;
quite the contrary.

Q. When you get a clerk who is inefficient, have you any difficulty in dismissing
him ?-Yes.

Q. iow does the difficulty arise?-It arises from the interest of friends in the
House who bring influence to bear on the Speaker.

Q. Have you any suggestions to offer, that, you think would, if acted upon,
promote the efficiency of the Service ?-While I do not undervalue the advantages of
a competitive examination for candidates prior to their entering the Civil Service,
I an very strongly of opinion that there is no quality more requisite and essential to
efficiency than that of an apprenticeship in a subordinate position in the Service
before being appointed to a place of responsibility; or, in other words, that a vacancy
in an important position should, in ail cases (except when an expert May be required)
be filled by a subordinate in the same Department.

Q. Supposing a number of candidates were before you for choice, all of them
equally inexperienced as to the duties they would have to perform, and ail of them of
good moral character and standing, would you consider the possession of the best
relative acquirements, other things being equal, of most advantage in the candidate
for the place ?---I would certainly.

Q. That is cæteris paribus, you would consider him the best man for the place ?
-- Yes; certainly.

Q. Who, in your opinion, should have the appointing of the employés of the
flouse ?-I would let the patronage rest with the Speaker; the Speaker is the
House, and gives his directions to the clerk.

Q. Are young men appointed to the Service subjected to any test ?-No; they
are not.

Q. They do not come under the Civil Service Act ?-No.

By Mr. Aylmer
Q. Yet some of them are very efficient ?-Yes, very.

By the Chairman :-
Q. Would the system of probationary appointments work in your service ?-

Yes, undoubtedly it would.

By Mr. Aylmer :-
Q. If a man was appointed a sessional clerk, say this session, would be be again

appointed next session ?-Yes, if efficient, and the Service required the appointment.
Q. And they are re-engaged I suppose ?-They may be re-engaged.
Q. Then you are not always allowed to re-engage those whom you have found

to be most efficient?-Not always; political interest, the bane of efficiency, some-
times prevails to prevent it.

Q. In fact, in Most cases, new men are brought in and appointed instead of
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40 Viçtoria. Appendix (No. 7.) A 1877



40 Victoria. Appendix (No. 7.) A. 187Ï

those who have been found to be efficient ?-In some cases it is so. We try to get
the best men we can.

Q. The experience of one who bas been through the service of the House is
valuable ?-Of course it is; and a man will get this experience no where else, the
duties are so peculiar.

By the Chairman
Q. As the saying is', a man will require a session to "know the ropes ?"-Yes;

and when they become efficient we are glad to get them back again.
Q. The prospect of a permanent sessional appointment would tend to increase

the efficiency of the sessional employé, would it not ?-Yes.
Q. I suppose the nature of your duties keeps you up late at night ?-As regards

myself it is so. The Journals have to be proved from my seroll record while fresh in
my memory each night after the adjournment of the House, which takes from an
hour to an hour and a-half; therefore, I am about the last one to leave the bouse.

FRiAY, April 13th, 1877.
Committee met,-Mr. CASWY in the Chair.
Mr. JOHN LANGTON called and examined:

By the Chairman:
Q. What is your official designation besides Auditor-General ?-I am Auditor-

General and Deputy-Minister.
Q. How long have you been in the Service ?-Since the year 1855.
Q. And in your present position ?-I came in as Auditor. We had two branches

in the Service when I came in; now they are united.
Q. But you have only had your present name since Confederation ?-1 was then

Inspector-General and Auditor-General; now these offices are united.
Q. Have you a large number of employés in your Department ?-Yes; between

thirty and forty.
Q. What is the nature of their work for the most part ?-The work naturally

divides itself into different branches. There is the Bookkeeping branch and
the Auditing branch, and the Savings bra-ch, which forms a separate and
distinct branch altogether. Then we are obliged to adopt a different system for
the outlying provinces from that which we have in Ontario and Quebec. In the
latter provinces, when money is to be paid the order is issued and it is paid at
once; but in the outlying provinces we have got to do it through our local offices;
therefoIre there had to be a branch devoted to the outlying provinces. That makes
up the several different branches of the office.

Q. What is about the average of your salaries ?-The chief clerks get from
82,000 to $2,400. Of these, I think, four are of the first-class. Of the chief clerks
of the secQnd grade there is only one who is about to be promoted. The range of
salaries in that grade is from $ 1,800 to $2,200. Then there are the other classes of
clerks in their usual proportion; there are the senior seconds and the junior
seconds, etc.

Q. Are there any what you might call mechanical kinds of work in your Depart-
ment ?-lard ly.

Q. Copying ?-It is principally bookkeeping or auditing accounts.
Q. Then the clerks at the bottom of your office would require to be pretty fairly

educated ?-They ought.
Q. Are there no means taken to test the business capacity of candidates-?-There

is an examination before the person is appointed, but I have never taken part in
them.

Q. With regard to persons appointed in your own Department, has the rule
about passing that axamination been pretty generally carried out ?-Yes; I have one-
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or two exceptions in the case of men later on in life than the rest; these were put on
without exanination.

Q. But you have no departnental examination ?-No.
Q. How far should a man be quahfied when he enters your Department to make

an efficient clerk ? What do you think he should know ?-My own feeling is that
examinations should be made more thorough than they are at present, and that there
should be a range of subjects. Many of the subjects might not be peculiarly appli-
cable to a man's duties in his office, but a man of general intelligence and application
would be able to turn the knowledge into use. These examinations should be more-
strict and efficient than they are. The candidate should be taken upon the general
average upon all subjects, and there ought to be certain subjects whîch would ho
required particularly in the Department upon which he ought to be examined. For
instance, in my Department a very thorough knowledge of bookkeeping is required ;
and thon, I think, there might be optional subjects that may not be absolutely
required, though if he has the qualifications he should be able to show them. Take
languages, for instance; it is very desirable that the employé should know French.
If the employé knows German, he should let it be known; some use might be made
of him in that particular line. I would have examinations spread over a considerable
range of subjects, and there should also be subjects which, if absolutely necessary, the
candidate should show he has the knowledge of.

Q. I suppose nominations are made by political patronage ?-The Minister
states what man is to be appointed, and he is appointed.

Q. Have you as Deputy Minister any control over these appointments ?-
Occasionally we have been asked to bring in some extra clerk. We may have had him
at intervals, and found that he was a good man, and that we should like to have him
permanently, in which case I sometimes recommend him.

Q. Is your opinion merely advising ?-That is all. But the case I have
mentioned has occurred two or three times, and there are at present in my office two
men I have had as extra clerks, both of whon have proved themselves as exceedingly
good men, and I would strongly recommend them for permanent employment.

Q. Speaking generally, witbout mentioning particular instances, have you ever
had men thrust upon you as employés, whom you knew to be inefficient ? -I have.

Q. Have you found as a rule that the average ofthe class you get by this system
of political patronage has given you the class of men you would have chosen nad you
been free to select for yourself; I am not speaking of the present men, but of the
general run of the raw material that you get ?-I consider that no young man should
be appointed, except on probation for at least six months or a year, and at the end of
that time, as a matter of course, his work could be seen. I have had a few cases in
my office of more lads, brought in as probationary clerks, and I have found they were
not competent enough to be appointed permanently.

Q. Do you think if you had your own free choice of selection and rejection after
trial that you could have got on the whole a better class ?-I think so.

By Mr. Roscoe
Q. You mean the adoption of the English system, by which a clerk is on trial for

a time, on the understanding that he leaves, unless ho has a special appointment
permanently ?-Yes; that is in effect the spirit of the present Civil Service Act.

By the Chairman
Q. Taking the Civil Service Act as a whole, has it really been carried out about

arrangements, promotions, appointments, &c. ?-There have been some breaches of
that Act. There have been promotions in excess of the provisions. The Act requires
that a man should serve a certain length of time before being promoted. Sometimes
he has been promoted as if ho had been much longer in a class than he really has.
There have been a great many breaches of the Civil Service Act in that respect.

Q. In your Department, have there been appointments to vacancies to higher
ranks instead of promotions ?- I think there has been an exception in the Receiver-
General's office, inasmuch as there has been no breach of the Civil Service Act
There is no Department in which there have been so few broaches as in my office.
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Q. As to bringing in outsiders, bas it often occurred that they are brought in to
positions above the rest of the employés ?-There have been a good number of cases
of thatt kind; but that is authorized.

Q. But bas that been done in cases where promotion might have taken place ?-
I cai only recollect one or two instances of a man being brought from the outside
and put in the higher offices where some one else might have been promoted. There
bas not been much of that.

Q. Have you ever found it difficult or inexpedient to promote, on account of the
-class of raw material in the lower ranks from which promotions must be made-that
the nien eligible for promotion by seniority have not been able to fill the positions ?
-We have not had many chances of promotion, and they have been quite efficient
men who were promoted.

Q. As a matter of opinion, do you think it injurious to the Service to bring in
outsiders, if you have men already in the Service capable of filling the same positions?
-That is a question on which there might be two sides. It is, no doubt, desirable,
for the sake of attracting a good class of men into the Civil Service, that there should
be promotion-that a young man who is capable, attentive, industrious and conducts
himself well, should have a chance of rising. That ougbt decidedly to be the rule.
But, on the other band, there is no doubt that a Department might get into a sort of
routine way of doing business, rid there is much good occasionally in bringing in a
little new blood to suggest new methods of doing things. I have seen several in-
stances of the advantages of this in different Departments. Where the ordinary
work bas got into a sort of "humdrum" way of going on, the change by a man
being brought in from the outside is sometimes astonishing. But these cases ought
to be quite exceptional.

Q. And these should be in the higher offices-what you might call the staff ?-
Yes.

Q. In the ranks you think promotion should be the rule ?-I think so. They
should enter at the lower grades and rise up. Our present classification commences
at the third-class clerks, small boys. In a Department like mine you don't appoint
small boys. If you have boys they would not be ef1cient enough to raise and you
would have to put in new men. But, as a general rule, if you have a man in the
lower grade he should be promoted if he is tit, and not an outsider brought in. But
if yoa find you have a special branch requiring a little experience, it may be advis-
able to make a new appointment. You want a man competent to go on with his
work at once and not a mere lad. But, as a general rule, there should be promotions
all through, except in special cases where it is desirable otherwise.

Q. These considerations arise from the nature of your classifications ?-Yes.
Q. Could classifications be so arranged that men could go ih at a fair age, so that

they would be capable of promotion in a year or two if they applied themselves to
their business ?-In my departments it may not have been advisable to bring in one
of the lads from the third-class, but as a rule new appointments have not been made
to the third-class clerks, but to the junior second.

Q. Yeur third-class clerks really do not come in for promotion as a rule ?-We
have very few third-class clerks. At present there is only one in my office. We
don't make original appointments to the third-class clerks, generally, but to the
junior second. In our Department you don't want a mere lad, but a man with some
knowledge.

Q. What are the regulations in regaid to discipline in your department-as to
the power of suspensions, dismissals, &c. ?-1 have the power to suspend. I consult
with the Minister, if he is convenient; if not, I suspend without consulting him. If
I thought it necessary to suspend a man during the absence of the Minister I would
do it. But I have not the power of dismissal. Two or three men who have been
suspended have been restored. In some cases where a man had been suspended I
would, for bis own sake, recommend him to resign if he is not wanted.

Q. You find it then very difficult to get rid of a man when once he is on the
-staff?-Yery diflcult.



Q. So that in case you had an inefficient man you would really find it very hard
to relieve the service of him ?-Yes.

Q. Have you ever actually been forced to continue inefficient mon on account of
this difficulty-that is of men you would rather get rid of ?-Yes.

Q. Is an annual increase given in your department ?-Yes.
Q. Is this given as a matter of course, or on your recommendation in every

case ?-Almost as a matter of course. The exception is where it is not given. There
have been very few such exceptions. .

Q. Is there any immediate reward open to a man for extra industry or ability in
your Department ?-Not until a vacancy occur in some of the higher ranks. If one
of the men was a good one I would recommend that he fill the vacancy.

Q. Would it not be encouragement to the zeal of the employés if this annual
increase were made dependent on a good report by the Head of the Department?-
Strictly speaking it is so now. But as a matter of course a man knows that as a
second-class clerk he may rise from $700 to $1,000, and that there he would stand
until he was promoted. There should be a proper inducement held out to young
mon. It makes them more satisfied.

Q. Would it not be botter to make it provisional upon the clerk's industry, &c.?
-Yes; it is now in the option of the Minister to give it; but, as a general rule, it is
given. It might be desirable that for special good qualities a man should be advanced
in his class without being promoted to the next class. Say, a junior second-class
clerk from $400 or $450 to $900. That is what in done in a great number of Depart-
ments where the Civil Service Act is not strictly carried out. But we have adhered
strictly to the law in our Department.

Q. Speaking again of promotion,-would it be possible to arrange progressive
examinations in your Department so th-at they would be some test of a man's fituess
for promotion from one grade to another ?-I hardly think so in our Department.

Q. Are not the duties sufficiently different ?-When you have a man under your
supervision for three or four years you can thoroughly test him, and see whether he
is worthy, more so than by an examination. Take book-keeping for instance. You
can tell on some extra new job whether he has original ideas.

Q. I should not propose an examination as a decisive test; but are there no
technical duties belonging to each grade which might be tested by some outside
power ?-No; you test a man's capacity, say in bookkeeping, by the way be keeps
his books.

Q. Do examinations in book-keeping amount to much ?-No.
The Chairman :-That is my opinion.

By 2&r. Roscoe:-
Q. I should think that is one of the few things which you cannot test ?-Yes.

It is not only in bookkeeping that he should be proficient. A man might be a most
thorough bookkeeper, but with very few ideas, and incapable of originating anything
new.

By the Chairman:
Q. Are you acquainted with the English system as at present arranged, the

competitive system ?-Yes.
Q. Would you give your opinion generally ?-For a Department like mine I have

not much faith in competitive examinations.
Q. When you say that, do you mean that it is likely to give you a worse class of

men than you have at present ?-No; I don't say that it would, if you introduce a
more efficient system than you have, which I have already recommended. If a man
has shown his capacity after being a year or so on probation, I think he should have
the best chance.
, Q. You said if there were two applicants for an office, the one who showed the

mfost general information would be the one most likely to learn his work quickly ?-
Yes.

Q. Suppose you had a general examination which would show relative capacity,
7-7 97
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would it not be advisable to take those who, other things being equal, showed that
they had the largest amount of intelligence ?-Yes; if he had a year of probation.

Q. I am speaking of the first appointment. You are going to take a number of
men on probation: you want to get the men most likely to undergo this probation
creditably; do you not think it right to suppose that, things being equal in other
respects, the best educated man would be the most likely to pass his probation Most
creditably ?-Certainly.

Q. So that if proper means are taken to test the character of applicants, yon
admit competitive examinations would ho a very good means of getting the raw
material, to be tested afterwards by probation ?-My own suggestion as to thé
examinations being spread over a larger number of subjects is very much of the saIne
idea. But then I don't think an applicant should have the position because he has
the most marks, necessarily.

Q. You would not propose a hard and fast competition, but that the principle of
competition be practicaliy carried out by extensive examinations over a certain range
of subjects ?-Yes.

Q. But although ho passes the examination, if the choice is to rest upon the
Minister, is not the door still open for political favouritism ?-Do you think te get
rid of it or personal favouritism.

The Chairman':-I think it is as in England, where the Minister has nothing to
do with the appointment.

The Witness:-In England the classes are more divided than they are here. In
England there are young men who would be quite willing to take an appointment
without any great expectation of ever rising above it, however minor it might ho.
Here young men don't care to enter a minor position where there is not almost a cer-
tainly of getting something better. We have not the first-class here.

Q. I upderstand you to say that difficulty was experienced in removing inefficient
men and replacing them by better; I suppose this arises from political connections.
You find it very difficult to " drop" a man ?-Nobody ever is " dropped; " the Civil
Service must be different to what a private business is ; unless a man is drunk or
something else of the kind, you have no means of getting rid of him.

Q. But suppose men came in on the ground of having passed a certain standard of
examination merely, simply on account of qualifications they possessed or professed
to possess ; do you not think it would be easier then to remove them if they were
found not to be suitable ?-If a man has passed a competitive examination you cannot
turn round and say that you don't want him.

Q. But you can say, that if after six months' trial you don't suit practically, you
cannot be permenantly appointed ?-I am afraid you would have a difficulty in carry-
ing that out.

Q. Do you think the Service in your Department is sufflciently attractive to
obtain the services of the best men-such men as you would wish to get ?-I hardly
think it is; the prospects in the Civil Service at present are not very brigh. Pro-
motion is very slow in the Post Office. I should not like to put one of my sons into
the Civil Service if I could put him into a profession or anything else.

Q. Do you think a young man bas as good a chance in the Civil Service as in a
bank ?-Young men in the banks complain that promotion is very slow ; but I think
there are more prizes in a bank than in the Civil Service.

Q. You think that an increase in the chance of promotion is even more
important than an increase in the salaries ?-I think it would ; I think the salaries
would require revision; but the prospect of promotion is the grand thing for getting
good men. Supposing there are 60 men in a Department; there are only five or six
decent situations to look forward to.

Q. In the outside service ?-They can be appointed over the offices at Halifax,
Montreal, Toronto, St. John, &c., and in the savings banks, &c., as Receivers-Generat

Q. Are these appointed by the Minister through his personal knowledge of the
appointed, or by the recommedation of the people in the locality ?--They are-
appointed by the Minister.



Q. Is there any promotion, or do they generally remain where they are put ?-
The Receiver-General is at the top of the tree. There can be promolion among the
juniors; but it cannot be very high.

Q. You don't generally remove these Savings bank managers from one place to
another ?-These positions are altogether apart. It is only a small affair given to
Custom House officers and Postmasters. The salary is only from $200 to $300 a year.

SATUDAY, 14th APRIL, 1877.

Committee met.-Mr. CASEY in the Chair.
Mr. J. C. TAoHÈ, Deputy of the Minister of Agriculture, called and examined:

By the Chairman:-
Q. How long have you been in the Service ?-Over seventeen years, nearly

eighteen.
Q. llow long in your present position ?-About thirteen years in the present

position.
Q. Your Department is divided into two branches, is it not ?-There are several

branches, although not apportioned under the masterships of exclusively responsible
Directors, some of these branches are separately kept; but clerks are made to work
in various branches according to the pressure of business.

Q. Which is the most important branch ?-The most important branch, in extent
and in amount of business transacted, is the Patent branch.

Q. There is not a special head of lmm;gration ?-No; there is not, Mr. Lowe,
the secretary of the Department takes, however, a special charge of that branch.

Q. It is under your responsibility ?-Yes; so far as carrying out the orders
given to me by the Minister; but orders are also given directly to the secretary.

Q. What about statistics ?-There have been four clerks employed at statistics,
who occasionally also give their Services to other branches of the Department;
especially in making searches and preparing memoranda of various kinds, which are
often times requested from our Department. They have again given assistance in
the census labours, and have been the workers of the retrospective statistics which
are annexed to the First Census Report of Canada, and from the whole of the fourth
and part of the fifth volume of the said work.

Q. Are there any other statistics taken, besides those already referred to ?-
There are labours on criminal statîstics and insolvency presently going on in pur-
suance of Acts of Parliament.

Q. Is the Census work finished now ?-The Census work, restrictedly so-called,
was terminated long ago,-what has been going on, since, is the completion and tabu-
lation of statistical operations which are the complement of the first Census of the
Dominion, embodying the numerical information and vital statistics such as have
been found in a vast number of manuscripts, archives and registers and in printed
documents. The whole, for print, worked into a compact form, for comparative
study and for reference at all times to come.

Q. How many clerks are employed in the Department ?-The personel of the
Department is composed of 25 permanent and of 10 non-permanent employés, all told ;
there are besides 8 temporary employés, connected with the statistical operations,
complementary to the Census.

Q. Hocw are these employés graded ?-They are classified in accordance with the
Civil Service Act.

Q. Do you always make appointments to the lowest of these classes ?-The
appointments have been made in different classes, some in the lowest, some in the
highest grades.

Q. Are appointments frequently made from the lower to the higher classes?-
Promotions in the Department have not been frequently made, and none, at a jump,
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from the lower to a high class. The higher classes, as a rule, have been filled by
appointment rather than by promotions.

Q. It follows from this that promotion is not very rapid in the Department ?---
It has been very slow, indeed.

Q. Do you think fhat this is a discouragement to the clerks ?-Of course, it is
necessarily so, especially to the most deserving.

Q. Are promotions and appointments made on your recommendation ?-No; I
bave not been consulted on promotions. As regards appointments, since Confedera.
tion, I have contributed only to two nominations of third-class clerks, and been con-
sulted on a third one of the same class.

Q. Promotions have been at the will of the Minister, then ?-Necessarily the
Minister is the authoritv in the matter.

Q. Do you suppose that political influence has had anything to do with making
promotions ?-Having not been made acquainted with the motives, I cannot venture
to express an opinion, and I only mean to state facts in this respect.

Q. What is the nature of the work in the Department generally; is it technical ?
-There is work of both kinds, mechanical and technical. A good deal of the ques-
tions arising, and of the decisions to be given, are of the intellectual and technical
kinds. The branches of patents, erade marks, copyrights, quarantine, statistics and
others involves studies, searches and training of experience and discriminating
practice.

Q. Have you any position requiring technical knowledge ?-Yes ; as I have
already said, the office, as a whole, must be possessed of a fair amount of technical
knowledge-specially of such as is the result of experience acquired in the practical
,contact with the subjects, either acquired beforehand or obtained in the Department.

Q. Have you ever had men appointed to positions requiring technical knowledge
without test as to their qualifications ?-I am not aware of any other test having
been applied in the matter of appointments in the Department, than what was known
.of the appointee and of his previous life.

Q.1Did you find that they were efficient ?-Yes ; the Department has been for-
tunate in this respect-the clerks, as a whole, are effircient.

Q. But after some time ?-Yes; I do not expect 'that any one coming into the
Department could be thoroughly efficient except after some time.

Q. Are you satisfied with the work as done in your Department ?-Yes; our
work is well done. Perfection, of course, cannot be expected under any circum-
,stances, and all clerks are not of the same value; but our staff is efficient.

Q. You have had a class of good employés all along ?-Our employés, as a whole,
are good. We have had very unsatisfactory cases, which the Department has got
rid of.

Q. Then it has been by good luck, I suppose ?-I would not say that. I suppose
the Ministers have taken pains to enquire into the general qualifications of the
persons before appointing them. Roasonable discipline and kindness united with
firmness, goes a great way in breaking employés into their work.

Q. What you require then is intelligence and good education ?-I care a vast
deal more for intelligence, associated with steadiness of disposition, than for the
amount of instruction possessed at the time of appointment, for clerks entering the
lower grades of the service.

Q. Then you do not care for a bigh standard of learning in candidates for
appointment ?-Not for the generality of cierks. Some of the best elerks have
entered the scrvice mere boys, issuing from elementary schools, in fact knowing
nothing else then than how to read and write. It is not what the clerk who
is te be permanently attached to the Service, knows at the time of his appointment
which is the essential, but what lie is capable of learning about his work and what
are his aptitudes for an office life.

Q. Supposing that severial candidates were before yon for appointment, all
possessing qualifications for the work and all of good character, would you not
suppose that the man who showed most education would be best suited for the work?
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-No; I would not. I think it is a mistake to suppose that the young man who has
had the most grammar and ready made geography and arithmetic ground into his
head-.must be the most fitted for any situation.

Q. Then you suppose that educational acquirements have little or no value in a.
candidate for appointment ?-The amount of educational acquirements possessed by
a young man at a given moment, is, in my opinion, no criterion of his capabilities
and his aptitude.

Q. Then you are not in favour of competitive examinations ?-Decidedly not.
Q. Are you in favour of probation, that is taking candidates on trial ?-Yes; I

believe it is the only sure way to judge of the aptitude of a man for any work; I
mean a probation of sufficient duration to bring out qualifications of the kind wanted.

Q. Supposing you had ten candidates to choose from, how would you be guided in
your choice ?-I would have to choose one under such circumstances, if not previously
acquainted with them by the intelligence and understanding shown. I would have,
I might say, in such a case, to select one by his looks.

Q. By his looks ? but you would only take him on trial, I suppose ?-Certainly.
This I always take for granted, and if not found apt after trial, then his services
should be dispensed with.

Q. You consider probation necessary then ?-Decidedly so ; I mean for young
clerks. I suppose that those who are appointed at a mature age have had their
probationary stage gone through in the practice of outside life and are selected for
being well known as men of general capacity and of moral standing.

Q. But that is a probation of which neither the Minister nor the Deputy Head of
the Department can know anything ?-Oh, yes; a man who has made his mark in
the world, who has won an honourable reputation, can certainly claim that as a fair
probation of his value ; the test of which can easily be ascertained.

Q. Do you find that when you once get a man on the staff it becomes a difficult
matter to get rid of him should it be necessary to do so ?-Yes, it is a matter of fact
that it is so; this difficulty, however, is independent of the system or mode under
which the appointments are made. I think it is less necessarily incident on proba-
tion than on competitive examination.

Q. You have to take a man as you get him and do the best you can with him?-
I ha.ve to take the clerks as they are given to me ; I have no choice in the matter.

Q. Have you had to recommend any dismissals ?-I have had to recommend two
quasi-dismissals, or forced retirements.

Q. Did you find your recommendation acted upon ?-Yes.
Q. You have no power of acting by yourself in such cases ?-No; the only

power given to me is to suspend in the absence of the Minister.
Q. Speaking of probation, do you not consider that the best probation for the

higher ranks in the service of the Department is training in the lower ?-Not always,
for the higher ranks, such as deputies, for instance. As a general rule, however,
promotion should be the means of filling the vacancies in the various classes of
clerks.

Q. As a general thing then you would promote froin the lower to the higher
grades ?-As a general thing, yes; but I hold that in some grades it is advantageous,
and at times necessary, to bring men from the outside. The service in the long run
has its advantages and offers the best opportunities of acquiring experience in what
constitutes a good and steady routine, which insures the efficiency of the Service; but
it has also its disadvantages and it becomes sometimes necessary to infuse new blood
b~y bringing in the higher grades men who have gone through the struggles of life,
and who, single-handed, have passed with distinction through the difficulties of
varied and laborious occupations of the outside world.

Q. At present is there no fixed age at which candidates may enter the Depart-
ments ?-There are certain ages prescribed by law; but as a matter of fact such
provisions are of no great avail.

Q. The rule laid down by the law is not observed then ?-The practice makes it
oftentimes unobserved.
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Q. Do you not think this should be done ?-I do not think that extremely
stringent and elaborate provisions and iron rules could ever be strictly maintained.

Q. Is the work individualized; that is, is there only one clerk in each particular
branch who understands the work of that branch, and would it be possible to sepa-
rate the various labour-say, for instance, to make the mechanical work distinct
from the rest ?-There are clerks appointed to each branch of the Department; but
I try, as much as I can, to gradually bring the clerks to be acquainted with the
various subjects with which we have to deal, and I take special care that more than
one clerk should be competent to undertake the work of any branch. We have to
provide that no class of work shall suffer through the absence or retirement of any

.of the clerks. The Department is kept up as a whole, and I consider that it would
be a great disadvantage and risk to run, to so individualize the work as to render it a
matter of necessity that each part should be done by one man to the exclusion of all
others. In the practice of the Department we often get very good hints from clerks
not actually in charge of the matter, but who have been allowed and made to acquaint
themselves with the varions parts of the Departmental administration.

Q. It bas been said that the junior clerks in all the Departments might be put
together to form one class for purposes of promotion, so that they might be promoted
fron one department to another till such positions are reached in which work would
have become individualized. Do you think that the work in your Department is so
different as to interfere with tLe carrying out of this idea ?-I think that such a
system would be very detrimental to the good working of Departmente, besides
opening the door to medley. The matters entrusted to eaeh Department are sufmcient
to oocupy the mind and attention of clerks. These matters they can only acquaint
themselves with by degrees. The mere copying of documents is in itself an initia-
tion into the subject matter thereof. It is in copying patent papers and statistical
papers, for instance, that one young clerk begins to acquire notions about patents,
and statistics, and so forth, and gradually becomes familiar with the intricacies -of
questions.

Q. Have you had many superannuations in your Departmont ?-We have had
two superannuations, one on account of physical incapacitation, the other was one of
the two quasi-dismissals I have spoken of.

Q. Is an increase of salary given to all clerks in the inside service, and is it
given on your recommendation?-There are clerks that have never had any increase
made to their salary. Increases are not given every year to all clerks. When a
certain maximum bas been roached in one class, then, properly speaking, increase

,Means promotion. The increases have not been given on my recommendation, I
have not been consulted on that matter.

Q. Then the increase of salary does not go by good conduct ?-Good conduct bas
not in every case secured it to the clerks, but they run the risk of losing it by bad
conduct.

Q. Do you think it would be better to make promotions depend on merit ?-Most
"decidedly : It would be the continuation of the system of probation, which, I think,
is the only one capable of securing the greatest possible efficiency; defects and draw-
backs there are and will be, whatever means and systems are adopted.

Q. The English systen some years ago was that unless an employee taken on
probation was recommended by his immediate superiors at the end of a certain time
he could not be retained in the Service. Would you approve of that system ?-I would
undoubtedly recommend that any clerk taken on probation shouid not be retained in
the service after the end of his probation if he is really proved to be unfit for it; but
I would make it a matter of qualified decision, but not of a de facto lapsing by non
action taken.

Q. Tell us about the outside services of the Department ?-The permanent out-
side service of the Department belong to statistics, quarantines and immigration. The
statistical outside service has four employees. The quarantine service has about 36
employees all told, and the immigration service 25. There are besides travelling
immigrant agents no v numbering 13. The branches of art, agriculture and statistics
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are casually adding temporary employees to the outside service, such as for instance
the census labours and the occasional necessity of guarding the country against the
introduction of epizootics.

Q. Are the men graded in the outside service as in the inside service ?-No; the
officers, such as the medical superintendents of quarantines and the immigration
agents in charge of agencies, are special in their functions. In the quarantine stations
the employees, besides the medical officers, are hospital staments, orderlies, nurses
and boatmen.

(Signed) J. C. TAcHÉ

Col. the Hon. EUGENE CHARLES PANET, Deputy Minister of Militia and Defence
called and exainined :

By the Chairman:-
Q. How long have you been in the position you now occupy ?-I have not been

very long in my present position; this is my second year.
Q. You have been thoroughly acquainted with the service in the Militia

Department ?-Yes.
Q. About how many employees have you in your Department ?-The Depart-

ment consists in the Minister, his Deputy, the Major-General, his aide-de-camp, the
Adjutant-General, twenty-two clerks, of which three are chief clerks, ,six are first-
class clerks, four are senior second-class, eight are junior second-class, and one is a
third-class clerk, and four messengers. These are divided between the Minister's
office, where there are three clerks, the Account Branch, employing five clerks, the
Store Branch five clerks, and the Adjutant-General's Office nine.

Q. Have you any outside employees in the Militia Department ?-Yes; we have
a good many, but they generally come in under the staff for the different districts.
Then we have the Major-General and his staff.

Q. But these are not civil servants ?-No; these are all military officers. Besides
these we have a number of care-takers and store-keepers. We have ten store-
keepers in the different military districts.

Q. You get these men, I suppose, in the usual way, on the nomination of the
Minister?-The storekeepers are named by Orders in Council; the caretakers are
named by the Minister.

Q. You have no personal voice in their appointment ?-No.
Q. Are they submitted to any examination ?-Not that I am aware.of.
Q. Have you had many promotions ?-There have not been many promotions

in my time.
Q. Have appointments been made of which you had no previous knowledge ?-

Yes. I have found men coming in without knowing anything at all of their appoint-
ment.

Q. I suppose your power, is, as in the case of other Deputy Heads, merely to
suspend ?-That is all.

Q. You have had no trouble in enforcing discipline ?-No; none whatever.
Q. Do promobions follow any regular rule, or are they made entirely at the

option of the Minister ?-Promotions do not follow a regular rule, and are made by
-Order in Council. Promotion is the all-important matter to the clerk. The rule is
supposed to exist, and clerks are supposed to be eligible for promotion when the time
comes; but the clause in the Act is permissive only, and hence it is that clerks do
lot always feel secure. Those who can command political influence, or influence of

some kind, of course, make use of it. I believe that is the main lever employed in
inany cases in order to secure promotion. There are several clerks who haye taken
no means of obtaining this influence who are now at the maximum salary of their
class, and they cannot get promotion without an Order in Council.

Q. Which cannot be got without influence ?-Well, that I am not to say.
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Q. What would you consider an improvement over the present system ?-Anysystem that would be clear of political influence would be the best.
Q. To what result does the present system tend ?-I think it is discouraging in

some cases.
Q. Does it tend to the demoralization of the Service ?-I think it would have

that effect if continued too long.
Q. Do you think it would be possible to get rid of political influence ?-I think

that it would not be possible to get rid entirely of political influence.
Q. If you had the ehoice of candidates and the right of promotion yourself, would

that give you better men ?-Well, I can't complain. I think I have as good a set of
employés as could be had to do the work required.

Q. But if you had the choice yourself, do you think that in a number of years
it would make a difference ?-Well, I have so good a set of employés that I think I
could not get a better staff to do the work required. If the choice was left with the
Deputy, the case might be altered either way, according to the influence that might
be brought to bear.

Q. Do you think that a system of probation would be better ?-Well, I think it
would be a good arrangement.

Q. Such a system as would permit of dismissal after a year's trial ?-Yes.
Q. No matter how appointed, provided they might be dismissed within one

year ?-I think so. We have had many clerks in the office at the same salary.
There is one who has been for years receiving a salary of a thousand dollars; he
now gets fourteen hundred, the maximum he can receive. There are four now
drawing the maximum, and it would require an Order in Conncil to get them an
increase.

Q. Is this increase for good conduct, or does it come as a matter of course ?-It
comes as a matter of course; but only on the recommendation of the Minister, good
conduct, of course, being indispensable.

Q. Do you consider the salaries paid in the Civil Service sufficient to attract a
good class of men ?-Not some of the salaries in the lower grades.

Q. In order to increase the efficiency of the Service, do you think salaries should
be increased ?-The lower classes are very low.

Q. What is the minimum ?--The minimum is six hundred dollars a year.
Q. Do employés always commenee with the minimum salary ?-No; I have a

man who is receiving a thousand dollars and he has been receiving the same salary
ever since he was appointed.

Q. Do you think it a good system, that of appointing clerks at high salaries ?-
No; I think not.

Q. Do you think it would be a good plan to offer the prospect of promotion to
young men entering the service ?-Yes; I think it would ; but I think the salaries at
which you appoint young men are very low--six hundred dollars is a very low salary
for a good clerk.

Q. Still, you say you get a good class of young men. The banks got a very
good class of young men at $250, with prospect of promotion of course ?-Well, if
you hold out the prospect of promotion it is different; and a great deal will depend
on the confidence the employe will have that promotion will be carried out.

Q. Do you think it would be an improvement to make these appointments
dependent on a Boaid eutside the Civil Service ?-That would depend how your
Board would be constituted. It would be difficult to get anything but a politcal
Board from outside.

Q. Suppose the Board were composed of men from both sides as in England ?-
The examinations would have to be carried on then as in the universities. Examima-
tion papers should be given out and the answers eent in, the -parties not knowing
who they were examining. That is the examination should be carried on by means
of sealed papers.

Q. You think it would be a good way ?-I think so.
Q. Do you think that, of several candidates for appointment, it would be
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preferable to appoint those showing superior educational standing, if quite equal in
other respects, and that a competitive examination is a fair system of choosing ?-
I think so.

Q. And that it could be worked ?-I believe it could be worked and depended
upon to a certain degree.

Q. Would you have promotion go by seniority, other merits being equal ?-
Yes; but you would have to make exceptions sometimes. I think that special quali-
fications showing themselves would constitute an exception; and there would be a
right to promote a junior.

Q. Have you any suggestions of your own to offer ?-I have not been in the
Department long enough, and I am aware that parties have been examined before
this Committee who have more experience than I have.

By Mr. Aylmer:-
Q. How are the storekeepers appointed ?-The store-keepers are named by

Order in Council, like the others.
Q. What class of men are these storekeepers ?-They are a very good class;

some are professional men.
Q. They do not require to be a good class of people, do they ?-Oh, yes; they

require to be a good class of people, as they have valuable property in their keeping.
Q. What salaries do they receive? -From five to six hundred dollars.
Q. What are their duties ?-They have to look after a good deal of property.

They are intrusted with the keeping of the militia stores of all kinds. In Quebec,
for instance, we have an officer who, in addition to his regular duties, has to look
after the military property in Quebec and Point Levis. He gets an extra hundred
dollars for that. ln Kingston the storekeeper has also to look after military pro-
perty.

Q. How many of these storekeepers have you?-We have nine or ten. We have
one in London, Toronto, Montreal, Kingston, Quebec, Halifax, St. John, Hamilton,
Victoria, and Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island.

Q. How much stores has the man in Charlottetown to look after ?-He has to
take charge of all military stores, such as shot and shell, small arm ammunition,
clothing, &c., required for the artillery and infantry on the island. Major Cropley,
who is storekeeper there, gets four hundred dollars per annum.

The Storekeepers are:
Captain Starr, at London.
Captain Burt, at Toronto.
Major King, at Kingston.
Major Pope, at Montreal.
Major Lampson, at Quebec.
Lieut.-Colonel Evan, at St. John.
Major Guy, at Halifax.
Lieut.-Colonel Peebles, Fort Garry.
Captain McDonell, Victoria, B.C.
Major Cropley, at Charlottetown.

Q. Are all ùhese paymasters as well ?-No; paymasters are a separate class of
officers.

Q. Storekeepers, I suppose, would not be included in the Civil Service ?-Yes,
they are appointed by Order in Council.

Q. They are appointed on recommendation ?-Yes; on the recommendation of
the Minister of Militia.

Q. Their salaries would not be a prize to anybody, I suppose ?-No, they only
get from five to six hundred dollars per annum.

Q. What do paymasters get ?- Paymasters get six hundred dollars per annum.
Q. Are they appointed by Order in Council?-Yes.
Q. They have a great deal of money in their hands ?-Yes.
Q. Do they give security ?-Yes; from five to ten thousand dollars.
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Q. I have known them to have sixty thousand dollars in their hande ?--Yes.
They do not receive a very high salary.

Q. Are they appointed after examination ?-No.
Q. As a rule they are good men ?- Yes; we have all good men; they are recom-

imended, and as they require special qualification, inferior men would scarcely applyfor the position.
Q. Still, all those appointments could come under the same system. Do you

not think the Deputy Head should be consulted ?-Yes; paymasters have a great deal
-of responsibility. They are appointed by Order in Council; and sometimes they
are taken from the officers who have done some service in the force, and they consider
they have a right te promotion there. We have a very good set of officers.

By Mr. Roscoe:-
Q. The Brigade Majors and other officers are promoted by seniority ?-Yes; in

all military appointments of course seniority has its rights; and unless a man is dis-
.qualified he has a right to promotion when there is a vacancy.

Q. How are the adjutants appointed ?-By adjutants-I suppose you mean the
Deputy Adjutants General in the different districts. These are appointed also by
Order in Council, and generally on the recommendation made to the Minister by the
Major General.

Q. Has Gen. Smyth poweiw to prevent the appointment of men whom he con-
7siders unfit ?-He would report against the appointment.

By Mr. Aylmer:-
Q. The Minister of Militia would not put in a man who is not recommerded or

who is unfit ?-No; but it might happen that a man whom the General has recom-
,mended would not be appointed.

By Mr. Roscoe :-
Q. Are these Brigade Majors appointed for life ?-Many are appointed during

pleasure.

Notes on Civil Service Reform by Wm. D. LeSueur.

It may be well first to enquire what are the evils to which the Civil Service is
subject in the nature of things; secondly to what extent those evils have made them-
.selves felt; thirdly, how they may best be remedied.

1st. The first great evil to which the Civil Service of almost any country is
subject, or would be but for restraining influences, is being administered not in the
interest of the community at large 'but in that of a favoured class. It is urne-
cessary to do more than merely refer to the fact that in past times the civil
list in various countries has been mainly a means of rewarding court or party
favourites, and that it has not been supposed in the least necessary that persons

,drawing money from the public purse should render any service in return. Different
views now prevail almost universally, and the age of sinecures may be said to be
inearly paàt, but the old evil is still represented by the tendency to overcrowd the
Public Service. In Canada men are not appointed with absolutely nothing to do, but
they are still sometimes appointôd when they are not required, and when therefore
the resuit of their appointment is to subdivide work which cannot well stand sub-
division, the direct effect of this is to promote idleness and disorder, and to lower
the moral authority of the heads of the Departments. It stands in the way also of
satisfactory organization, for it is almost harder to know what to do with too many
clerks than how to manage with too few.

The evils of overcrowding make themselves felt whether the persons appointed
are competent or not; but there is at times a temptation to appoint incompetent
persons. These, of course, are a serious embarrassment in any office. It is not often
that a thoroughly and hopelessly incompetent person is appointed, but the thing
appens sometimes, and then the question is what to do with him. le is tried at
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several duties and fails in all. If a Department has to keep such a person on its pay-
list, the best thing to do would be to give him unlimited leave of absence. This is an
unusual case, but it not unfrequently happons that men are appointed who are very
poorly qualified for the duties of a public office, and from whom therefore no really
satisfactory work can ho got. Every Department, I imagine, in the public service
has its own share of these.

Next comes the coil of interference with the regular and legal order of promo-
tions in the Service, and the earrying off of the only prizes the Service holds out by
political partizans. It bas been, with a view to meet this evil, that the rule of promo-
tion by seniority has been established, the supposition being that if promotton by
merit were freely conceded it would be abused for political purposes. In the
Department with which I am connected, the last three Inspectorships created have
been awarded to outsiders, and other offices of less importance, but still which would
have been regarded by many men in the service as very desirable positions, have
been similarly disposed of. The pretension has been in some cases at least that there
were no men in the service capable of filling these offices, but, so far as I can
judge, the pretension was not well founded.

On the other hand the rule of promotion by seniority which, as I have remarked,
was and is intended to exclude political influence, has itself become a fetter of a very
burdensome kind. A clerk who, in point of ability and application, shoots far ahead of
the majority of his colleagues. finds his natural aspirations for improvement of position
checked and frustrated by a cast-iron rule. le becomes discouraged and, if any
other career is open to him, rosigns. The Department has in this way lost the
services of some of its best men.

The above are the chief evils that attack the public service from the outside;
those that affect it from the inside are such as spring from the weaknesses of its
administrators. Though speaking only as a clerk I may take it for granted that the
heads of the Departments are not exempt from human infirmities; perhaps I might
even venture to say that they do not dlaim to be. Upon them depend, in a large
degree, the organization, discipline and tone of the Departments over which they
preside. I say in a large measure because the external influences above referred to
affect all these in a certain degree. The superior administrator will show his super-
iority in the results ho accomplishes in the face of these influences, or by the extent
to which ho succeeds in keeping them in check. In e ery Department vis inertie
counts for something; in some it counts for more than in others. By vis inerti I
mean, of course, the spirit of routine, which, in some men, overpowers all sense of
the necessity of progressive changes, and causes them to prefer an old and inefficient
machinery to anything new that can be suggested. The evils which may spring
from this source are by no means unimportant. No ill-organized Departmont, and
no Department which does not progressively adapt itself to the increasing range of
its duties and fanctions can be in a healthy condition, or yield satisfactory results to
the public.

The order of subjects which I adopted at the outset would require me next to
speak of the extent to which the evils described exist in the public service of Canada.
Some of the remarks, however, which I have already made indicate partially my
views on the point, and I do not think, upon the whole, considering my position in
the Service, that 1 am called upon to say more.

On reconsideration, I think it not out of place that I should express my opinion
as to the present average of ability in the public service, or more strictly speaking,
in that branch of it with which I am personally acquain+ed, My opinion briefly is
that the average is higher than might be expected under the present system of
mnaking appointments, and that if proper pains wore taken to train men and to
educate their sense of responsibility, there would be no occasion whatever, taking
the service just as it is, to go outside for suitable successors to the present occupants
of staff appointments. One head of a branch who has taken great pains with his
subordinates in teaching them their duty and training them to habits of punctuality
and exactness has told me that ho has no fault to find with the present system of
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:naking appointments. lis opinion on the latter point would not probably be gener-
ally concurred in, but the fact that he is able to accomplish such satisfactory results
under the present system is deserving of all attention. I have myself had cons ider.
able experience in the supervision and training of juniors, and I must say that some
of them have been possessed of excellent abilities and have needed only a vigorous
discipline and reasonable prospects of promotion to render them highly capable
officers.

The next question is how these evils, supposing them to exist to a greater or less
extent, can be most successfully counteracted.

1. The evil of over-crowding.-The remedy for this lies immediately with the
political heads of Departments and with Parliament. My impression is, however,
that a distinct and emphatic statement by a Deputy Hlead that the staff of the Depart.
ment was complete, and that any further appointments would be entirely superfluous,
would supply a check which few Ministers would disregard. Then the provisions of
the law regarding temporary appointments ought to be strictly enforced. Those who
are familiar with the internal working of the Departments know what an advantage
it is to have no superfluous men-how much more smoothly all the work goes on.

2. The remedy for incompetency would seem to lie in a reasonable system of at
least qualifying examinations. These examinations should be framed to test capacity
and mental resource more then mere knowledge; for if a young man enters the
public service possessed of good natural abilities but somewhat deficient in knowledge
he can repair the latter fault afterwards; but if he slips in on the strength of hi
knowledge without being possessed of adequate ability, he will make but little if any
progress afterwards and will likely always be a drag on the Service. I have known
a man enter the Service whose hand-writing was altogether below par, whose spelling
was imperfect, his composition more so, and his general knowledge of men and things
almost nil, and I have known him, by dint of industry and application and the use of
a good natural intelligence, make himself one of the most efficient clerks in the branch
to which he was attached. What he did nol know he set himself at once to learn,
and was always eager for opportunities of extending his knowledge. I do not cite
this case as showing that examinations to test education are of no value. Far from
it; my only object is to show that education is not the most important thing that a
man can bring to the public service; the most important thing is vigour of mind. I
hold at the same time that no man should be allowed to enter the publie service who
has not had a good elementary education. The man who can learn after he enters
the public service can also learn before, and there is no reason why he should not. It
is not right or fitting that anything like school education should be going on during
office hours. I have heard the head of a branch state that he had been obliged to be
in a great measure a schoolmaster to some of the clerks who were sent to him. This,
which of course involves waste of time, might be obviated by a strict preliminary
examination. Competitive examinations woukl tend still further to raise the standard
of ability in the Service; but the question arises whether the standard of ability
being raised, the present scale of salaries would be found sufficient. That, however,
is not a question for discussion at present.

The question of organization is a more important one even than that as to the
best methoci of making appointments. The important points in organization are:

1. A proper division of the work according to its nature.
2. A proper distribution of it amongst the staff.
3. The enforcement of a graduated responsibility.
4. Some distinct provision for training, under which head would be included

arrangements for testing, by some form of examination, the proficiency of
employees.

On the subject of distribution of work, I may remark that it is a very undesirable
thing for a junior clerk to be assigned work of a more important or confidential kind
than that performed by some of his seniors. This sometimes happens, and it alwaYs
croates dissatisfaction. The junior clerk not receiving any special compensation for
the higher quality of work he does feels that his claims have not been fairly met,
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while the seniors feel that the placing of more important work than theirs in the
hands of juniors is a kind of reflection on their capacity. My opinion is that work
should begraded according to its character, and set down as lst class, senior 2nd,
junior 2nd, &c., as the case may be, and that an effort should be made to keep each
class of work in the hands of a clerk of the proper grade. The English system of
"duty pay " would, I think, be found very serviceable.

This system will be found described in the Report of the English Civil Service
Commission of 1875.

In a service where two languages are used, it is obviously unfair that a man who
brings to the Service a knowledge of both, and whose knowledge of both is made use
of by the Department in which he serves, should derive no advantage whatever from
the fact. Such, however, is the fact. In the Department in which I serve a man
who knows both French and English is made to do work requiring a knowledge of
both those languages, and to do it even for his seniors. A senior clerk may send
in to a junior clerk that portion of his work which requires a knowledge of a second
language, and the junior gets nothing at all in the way of pay or promotion for this
special qualification.

As regards the evil of political interference with promotions, there is little doubt
that it could be largely met by some of the provisions that have been ado pted in
England. When an appointment is made from outside the Service the Deputy Head of
the Department should state distinctly in a return to be laid before Parliament that,
to the best of his judgment, there was no person in the Department competent to fill
it, or suitable generally for the appointment; and if the office is not a staff appoint-
ment the chief clerk under whom the appointment is made should state whether or
not he concurs in the opinion.

I regret that it is not in my power at present, for want of time, to go more
particularly into the subject of examinations. The above, however, is the substance
of what I think it most important to say.

25 Vict., Chap. 160, Victoria, Australia, 1862.

I have recently had the Civil Service Act of Victoria brought before my not»ee.
Many of its provisions indicate that great care and ability has been brought to
bear upon it.

By this Act the Civil Service is made to consist of two main divisions, viz:-
The professional and the ordinary. The former including all offices requiring the
exercise of skill usually acquired only in some other profession or pursuit, and to
consist of such number of classes in each Department as may be approved by Order
in Council. The latter to include all other than the above and to consist of five
classes. The maximum and minimum rate of salary payable to each class is fixed by
Order in Council in accordance with a general classification, and provision is made
that such maximum and minimum may be increased and reduced by message to the
Legislative Assembly before transmission of the message accompanying the estimates.
An increment of one-sixth of the difference between the maximum' and minimum of
each class may be added each year as a matter of course, except in case of mis-
behaviour. The first-class in both ordinary and professional divisions is left open as
to salary giving great elasticity to the Act. Appointments are made after examination
for three months and appointee may be dismissed at any time, if not practically
suitable, prior to the completion of such probationary term. On a written recom-
mendation of the first officer the appointment may be made absolute. The examina-
tions are not competitive, however. Promotions are to be made from the order next
below in the ordinary division; but in the professional division, if there are in the
lOwer ranks none competent to fill such vacancies, parties may be brought in from
without the Service, with er without examination. In such case a statement must be
published in the Gazette within one week of such appointment, setting forth the
reasons for such selection. A further provision renders it necessary for each Depart-
nient to furnish a report to Governor in Council once in each year, as to the conduet
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and efficiency of its employés. This Act contains a provision also which, if adopted
here, would put a summary stop to minor irregularities. The first officer is authorized
to impose a fine of £5, to be stopped from the salary of the offending officer; he mayalso withhold his annual leave of absence for similar causes. For graver breaches of
regulations the Governor in Council may reduce oficer to lower rank or reduce
salaries in the rank already attained. On reduction of staff, officers are 'entitled to
one month's salary for each year's service, and a provision is made for superannuation
out of Consolidated Fund. A schedule accompanying Act designates the office
deemed professional.

The Public Service.
Some years since, 1 drew up a tabular statement showing the rates of pay drawn

by the several grades of officers employed in the publie service of the several colonies
possessing representative Government; and whilst doing so, I discovered that in one
Clony (Victoria) a Civil Service Act was in existence. This Act bas been recalled
to my mind in connection with the enquiry now on foot respecting the Canadian
Civil Service, and I trust it will not be out of place to draw the attention of the
Committee of the House of Commons to the Act, and to make some remarks thereon.

The Act is intituled " An Act to regulate the Civil Service." It is numbered
"160 of 1862," and the volume'containing the Act is in the Library.

I have consulted the several volumes of the Victoria Statutes since 1862, so far
as the Library affords the means, and as up to the latest date, 1874, no amending
Act las become law, I presume the Bill, with one modification, which I shall notice
presently, stands in its original integrity. The Bill beara evidence of having been
very carefully drawn up and well considered, each clause having evidently been
carefully sifted by the Committees of each House. I find in thé tabular statement
prefixed to the volume of the Votes and- Proceedings of that Session (1862), that
almost immediately after its commencement the Government introduced a Civil
Service Act, which went to the second reading, and was dropped. Another Act (the
one now in question) was at once introduced; was passed, after much discussion in
the Assembly, sent to the Legislative Council, returned with some 30 amendments to
the Lower House, and, finally, became law.

The Act divides the Public Service into two diviåions, the " ordinary " and the
"professional," defining each division; the ordinary division consisting of five
classes. The Act does not fix the limits of pay, which is left to be decided by
the condition of the country, and is arranged in the estimates of the year: it simply
says that, except in the highest grades, there shall be a maximum and a minimum
limit of salary for each class; and it is to this elasticity that, I imagine, the Act owes
its vitality. I should state that increases appear to be made to the yearly salaries by
adding to each a sixth part of the difference between the limits of the salary of the
class, for instance, a junior is appointed to the fifth grade at £80 stg.;-presuming the
maximum of the fifth grade to be £200 stg., the second years' salary would be £80+
20-80 or£80+£20=£100. A clause àt the end of the 72nd Section is very deserving
of notice, "in every inferior class the maximum limit of salary shall be less than
the minimum limit of salary in the class next above such inferior class." One of the
greatest troubles in working the Civil Service Act in Canada is occasioned by the
overlapping limits of the Senior 2nd and 1st-class clerks; the one running from $ 1,100
to $1,400, the other from $1,200 to $1,800. The Act, Sec. xi, further directs that a
classified list of all officers in the Public Service shall be published in the month of
January in each year in the Government Gazette.

Sec. xvii directs that every candidate for admission into the Service shall
pass an examination before a Board of Examiners appointed by the Governor in
Council; such examinations to be as the Governor in Council may from time to time
direct, but without competition. So far as I recollect, the Board -consisted of three
persous, two being professional men, and the third a high offieer of the Service. I
think this is right; it would be desirable either that one of the examinera should be
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connected with the Department the candidate wishes to enter, or else thàt the BoaWd
should be assisted by an officer of such Department.

Section xix limits the probation to three months, but it directs that the Ôfflcer at
the head of the office or class shall, before the appointment takes place, recommen4
the probationer, in writing, as, in his opinion, a suitable person. I am inolined to
think three months to be too short a period for test purposes. A young man may
be physically and intellectûally qualified to join the Service; he may, fùrther, bW
honest, sober, industrious, and steady; but though possessing all these qualities, he
may have a temper such as to set ail the office by the ears, or he may even be over
scrupulous as to the manner in which his work is performed. Sir Arthur Helps treats
of this last fault in the chapter " on attracting a ble men to the service of Govern-
ment," in his book, " Thoughts upon Government," wherein he quotes a case when, in
conjunction with his chief, he engaged for the English Public Service a double first from
Oxford, and thought he had secured a prize. He states "<that the man bad one fatal
defect. He was slow. There were, for example, about ten matters of business which
had to be brought to him in the course of the day. He was an exacting, fastidious
kind of man, and could never be persuaded to settle more than three of them. The
consequence was that the business in question fell off from him, and was carried to a
man in another department, of more limited education, but a fine reasoner, a
master of expression, and, altogether, an admirable man of business." In fact I think
it would be desirable to do away with thetern " probation," as establishing a kind
of claim, and for twelve months simply retain the successful candidate as a temporary
clerk; if then he proved to be quick, intelligent, and possessed of a certain amount
of give and take, his appointment might be made permanent. I question the interfer-
ence by recommendation of the senior officer for reasons which I shall give further on.

Section xxiii of the Act is very worthy of attention, as it enables the Governor
in Council to secure for the Service any person of known ability to till a high office,
even when there are officers already in the service capable of filling the position.
Although, in my opinion, such a step should only be resorted to in extreme cases, yet
I can imagine instances where it might be necessary to bring in an outsider even
when there is an officer already in the Service capable of filling the appointment.
Section xxix guards against unfairness in the making of appointments under these
circumstances.

Section xxxi directs annual reports from the head officer. From Section xxxii
to Section xxxv, the Act is taken up with penal clauses; and here I think the weak
point of the Act is to be found, though I am not certain that the Act has not
been modified in these clauses. It will be seen that power is given to dismiss, or to
fine; and that, combined with the annual report, the powers granted by the penal
clauses give such large grasp of the several Departments to the Secretaries or
-Deputies, that unless most carefully administered, the government of the Department
is apt to become autocratie. It is well known that unlimited power is apt to beget
tyranny; certainly this is the case in this very service in the Colony of Victoria, of
which I am now writing. One Secretary, by reason of his arbitrary conduct, brought
on nearly a revolt. It was recorded by the Melbourne correspondent of the London
Times, that men used to tremble at the sound of his voice, whilst others would shed
tears if his bell rang for their presence. Of course the case is altogether excep-
tional; but although it is desirable for the sake ofgood discipline that penalties should
remain in the Statute Book, yet the greatest possible safeguards should be instituted to
prevent their abuse.

Sec. xxxvi grants annual leave of absence for three weeks. I do not think this is
enough, especially in a place so situated as Ottawa.

Secs. xxxix to xlix treat of superannuation. I do not think the Committee have
noticed this question, and I shall make no remark thereon.

I have here hurriedly glanced at the Victoria Act. Inow propose to make a few
remarks on the general question of the Civil Service of Canada.

In the first place, I must remark that beyond the memoranda of Mr. Meredith
and Col. Brunel, and lhe short notices in the papers, I know nothing of the nature-
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of the questions asked, or the information desired to be obtained; and if I have gone
beyond the bounds of the enquiry, I have erred through ignorance.

I agree with Col. Brunel's observations regarding the Civil Service Act as it now
-stands; and to bis remarks I can add no more.

I have not, so far, seen that the attention of the Committee has been drawn to the
peculiar circumstances attending the Public Service at the seat of Government in
Canada. In England and in all other British Provinces, so far as I know, the seat of

rovern ment, wherever it is placed, is also the seat of the learning, trade and com-
merce of the country. In Canada this is not the case. The Public Service at Ottawa
form an isolated community, herding together and measuring themselves, not against
their fellows in other conditions of life, but against each other. Such a condition of
affairs is unhealthy. I am afraid that to maintain the efficiency of the Public Service
at Ottawa at a high standard, and to place it above the keen criticism Dow in force in
Canada, that, from timeto time, infusion of new blood will be expedient. I do not
wish in those remarks to give more than my individual opinion, and 1 wish to state
that, in no sense, do I desire to detract from the merit of the Service.

I have already said that only in rare cases should vacancies be filled up from
outside, and amongst other reasons in support of this view I beg to advance the
following -

(a.) To pass a man over destroys his self-esteen, takes away all his hope in the
future, renders his life aimless, and since the individual must always be of chief
interest to himself, it has a powerful tendency even with minds of high moral tone to
make their work perfunctory.

(b.) The public servant naturallyjudges what his own future may be by the
treatment accorded to bis fellows; and to pass a man over not only affects himself,but it
affects bis immediate surroundings-possibly the entire Department suffers, and in
certain cases it will take the heart out of the whole public service.

(c.) It seriously affects discipline. As nothing succeeds like succese so nothing
is so damaging as failure; and the unsuccessful man can neither obtain respect from his
equals, nor obedience from his inferiors. It would probably be well if changea could
be more frequently made from the outside to the inside services.

I notice in the Reports oi the " Playfair Commission " on the English Public
Service that mention is made of the employment ofwomen writers, and, inter alia, the
Commission reported thereon. The office to which I am attached (the Treasury
Board) is occupied chiefly with accounts, and has but little clerical work; neverthe-
less, at times of pressure I have give out work to women writers; in fact, I think I was
the first to try the experiment. I have gone further than mere copying. In order
to facilitate the preparation of the Estimates for Parliament, I have had the previous
year's estimates put up in skeleton form by a lady, leaving blanks for the Estimates of
the year to be filled in afterwards. I have also had the Abstracts of Expenditure attached
to the Public Accounts tabulated by a lady, and I am bound to say that the experiment
has been successful. As a rule, women write a clear running hand, they are steady
workers (necessity often making them so), and I see no reason why they cannot form
part of thse Public Service. As a specimen of woman's work, I send the Victoria Act,
written out.

I have only further to remark that if the Committee have not had their attention
already drawn thereto, it would be worth while to consult the Report of the
Playfair Commission; and it would not be amiss to notice the evidence of Mr. Lowe,
Mr. Stansfeld and the officers of the Treasury, given before the Committee appointed
in 1873 to enquire into " Civil Service Expenditure." The report of the Playfair
Commission, in particular, upsets the belief entertained of the necessity of competition,
and reverses the results arrived at in the report of Sir Stafford Northcote and Sir

-Charles Trevelyan in 1853.
The salient points in the scheme recommended by the Commission are:-
J. The introduction of a system of service pay and duty pay.
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IL. The great reduction of the Civil Service writer class, and the reorganization
of the service in such a manner as to assign the bulk of the work now done by writers
to established clerks.

III. The substitution of selection froin a list of successful candidates for the
present system of competition.

IV. Proposals for promotion by merit, for transfer from office to office, and for
staff appointments.

The second point in the schene of flie Commission is opposed to the
opinion of Sir [Ienry Taylor, who in his book, " The Statesman," published in
1836, gave it as his belief that there should bc only one established class, and that the
great bulk of the copying business of an office will be always executed most cheaply
and efficiently by the piece or job.

(Signed) J. M. COURTNEY.

P.S.-Since writing the above memorandum the Civil Service Votes have pas I
through the English House. On the vote " Salaries of the Treasury," Sir IL ). Woltf
asked how appointments ar now made ;-vhether by ce)luj>tition or otherwise. Mir.
Smith replied that during the exstcnce of the preent Givernmnent no appoiiltmenlts
by competition had been made to the Treasury. No further discussion occurred.
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NOTES TO TUE FOREGOING TABLES.

(a) One-half the Imports come from the United Kingdom, and about one-third of the Exports areshipped to it. The Exports include:-Wool, £2,801,233; and Gold Dust and Gold Coin
£1,878,823; or together, £4,680,056=$22,776,273. In the Branch Officers, I bave taken theSalaries of the Colonial Architect, Examiiners of Titles, &c., as the test; but there are other
offieers, such as the Deputy Master of the Mint, Chief Engineer, &c., whose emoluments are
much greater. The reason of a smaller sum being paid to the Under-Secretary of the Attorney-
General, arises from the fact that the Cabinet includes a Solicitor-General as webl as the Premier.

(b) A considerable portion of the Revenue of New Zealand is derived from the sale of Crown Lands
Depasturing Licenses, &c. ; tbis is not included in the ordinary financial statement, but is treated
separately in the accounts as " Territorial Revenue." The latest return shows this revenue to
be S3,8E 8,968 fer the ycar. The Imports from the United Kingdcm, and the Exports to, are, as
in Niw South v les, ji:st one-half and one-third respectively. In the year 1868, which gives
the laitst detail, oit f the total value of Exports-£4,429,198-Wool was valued at £1,516,548
and gold at £2,492.721 ; in all, £4,009,269. or $19,511,776. The total quantity of Gold exported
fr ni the 1st of April. 1857, to the 3lst March, 1870, was 5,155,295 ounces; value £20,024,218, or
*97,451,1t5. Tiere is no Minister of Public Works ; the Colonial Secretary bas no Under-
Secretarv. Members of both branches of the Legislature receive £1 sterling per diem for each
day's attendance. New Zealand is divided into Eight Provinces, each of which is governed by
an elected Superintendent and a Provincial Council.

(c) The trade is chiefty with the other Colonies and Great Britain. The staple articles of Export are
Wool, Gold and Cotton ; the last having risen from an Export, in 1864, of 200 cwt., to an
Export, in 1870, of 8,201 cwt.

(d) The chief Exports are Corn, Wool and Copper; and of the total of 1868, which gives the latest
details, out of Exports, in value £2,819,300, Flour and Wheat=£554,585; Wool==£1,346,323,
and Copper=-£400,691; in all, £2,301,599. There is no Postmaster-General ; the Post Offices are
under the control of the Colonial Secretary.

(e) The trade of Tasmania is chiefly with the other Australian Colonies, more particulatly with New
South Wales and Victoria. About one-fifth of the Imports are received from Great Britain, and
rather less than half the Exports are sent there. In addition to the Cabinet there is an Execu-
tive Council cf i t' mbers.

(f) Ti Imports from Great Brttain during the year given=$20,970,701, and the Exports to Great
Britain $28,136,634, of which Wool alone amounted to $22,900, 378, the weigbt of the Wool being
64,220,935 lbs. Half the total Export nearly consists of Gold, chiefly expoited to India and
China. The official return of the Gold Fields from 1851 to 1870, shows the produce to have been
M9,515,989 ozs., of the value of $748,455,053. In Victoria, besides the Attorney-Geaeral and
Ftolicitor-General, there are also attached to the Law Departments a Crown Solicitor at $4,866;J
three Crown Prosecutors at $2,920; and two Cbief Clerks (Civil and Criminal) at $2,920. There
are also a Commissioner of Titles at $9,733; a Master in Equity at $7,300; a Chief Commissioner
of Insolvent Estates at $7,30; and a Curator of Estates of Deceased Persons at $2,920 and 2j
per cent. commission. There is no Auditor, lut there are three Commissioners of Audit at
$4,866 cach; and the Clerks, Clerks of Works, Accountants, &c., answering to the 1st Class
Clerks of Canada, receive $2,361. There is a Board of Examiners for the Civil Service, consisting
of the following gentlemen:-W. E. Heaxn, M.D., LL.D.; Capt. Kay, R.N., F.R.S. (Clerk of
Council) W. W. Wardell, C.E.
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VICT OR I A.

An Act to regulate the Civil Service.

Cap. 160 of 1862.

PREAMBLE.

W1IEREAS it is expedient to classify the Civil Service according to the duties
performed by the officers thereof, and to regulate the salaries therein accord-

ingly, and to establish a just and uniform system ot appointment, promotion and
dismissal, and to grant to such officers furlough for recreation and other purposes,
and provide retiring allowances for them in certain cases; Be it therefore enacted by
the Queen's Most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the
Legislative Council and Legislative Assembly of Victoria, iii this present Parlia-
ment assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:-

PART I.-LASSIFICATION,

1. Nothing in this Act shall apply to any Judge of the Supreme Court, or of
any inferior Court, or to the Master in Equity, or to the chief or any other commis-
sioner of insolvent estates, or to any prosecuting barrister, or to the Commissioners
of Audit, or to any officer, the right to appoint whom is not vested in the Governor
in Council, or to any officer, constable or other member of the police or volunteer
force, or to any officer paid out of contingencies, or to any officer remunerated by
fees or commission, or to any officer who is now or hereafter shall be in any Depart-
ment which the Governor in Counell shall declare temporary, or to any officer tempor
arily appointed or employed, or to any officer or class of officers to whom or
to which the Governor in Council shall declare that the provisions of this Act shall
niot apply.

2. The Civil Service shall, for the purposes of this Act, be taken to consist of
two divisions, that is to say: The " Ordinary Division," and the " Professional Divi-
sion."

3. The professional division shall include all those offices, whether now existing
or hereafter to be created which require for their exercise some skill usually acquired
only in some profession or other pursuit diffèrent from the Civil Service, and shall
consist of as many classes as the Governor in Council may, in the case of each
department of such division direct.

4. The ordinary division shall include all those offices, whether now existing or
hereafter to be created, which are not comprised in the professional division, and
shall consist of five classes.

5. The officers mentioned in the first schedule to this Act shall be officers of the
first-class in the ordinary or the professional division, and, except in the case of
officers paid by virtue of any Act now, or which hereafter shall be in force, shall have
attached to them respectively, but subject to such alterations as are hereinafter pro-
vided, the several salaries which shall be granted to them by the Appropriation Act
for the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two.

6. Every class in each division as aforesaid, except the first class of the ordinary
and the first class of the professional division, shall have a maximum and a minimum
limit of salary, ascertained in the manner hereinafter directed, and every officer
therein shall be entitled to receive in every year by way of increase to his salary, a
sum equal to one-sixth part of the difference between the limits of the salary assigned
for that year to the division and the class in which he is placed, but no officer shall
in any year receive a salary higher than the maximum limit for that year in his
division and class.
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7. Before the transmission of the message accompanying the estimates in anyfinancial year, the Governor may recommend, by message to the Legislative
Assembly, a rateable reduction or increase, if any such be required, according to a
specified rate in or to the salaries of the officers of the first class, and also a maximum
and minimum limit of salary for each class except the first in each division of the
service, and the rate of such reduction and increase, if any, and the limits of salarythereupon adopted by the Legislative Assembly for each such class shall be the rate
of reduction and increase, or the limits of the salary as the case nray be for that
class, during the financial year, but in every inferior class the maximum limit of
salary shall be less than the minimum limit of salary in the class next above such
inferior class.

S. As soon as conveniently may be after the passing of this Act the Governor
in Council shall determine the number of offices of each division and (lass aforesaid,
that are required for the efficient working of each department, and shall classify the
officers of the Civil Service according to the arrangement of offices so determined,
and as soon as such classification bas been completed a statement thereof shall bc
published in the Government Gazette.

9. Where any officer thinks that in the classification for the year one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-two lie bas been placed in a class lower than that in which,
from the nature of the services he performed he ought to have been placed, if the
responsible Minister in charge of the department, consent in writing, that he shall do
so, lie may, within one month from the date of publication of such classification,
apply to the Governor in Council, and the Governor in Council shall thereupon
appoint three or more competent persons to hear and report thereon and may confirin
or alter such classification, and such classification as confirmed or altered shall be
final.

10. Where any question arises respecting the rights or the obligations under
this Act, of any officer or class of officers, the Governor in Council may decide the
same and such decision shall be final.

11. As soon as convenient after the determination of such application in the
year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, and in the month of January in
every year afterwards, a list of all officers in the Civil Service, classified as aforesaid,
with the date of their first appointment, shall bè published in the Government
Gazette, and such list shall be prima facie evidence of the character of the office and
of the rank and length of service of every officer therein named.

12. It shall be lawful for the Governor in Council from time to time to diminish
the total number and alter the distribution of the officers in the Civil Service in each
Department as circumstances may require.

13. Where in the present year any officer shall receive a salary assigned under
this Act to the class in which the Governor in Council places him, but beyond the
minimum salary of that class, such officer shall continue to receive the same salary,
but shall not receive any annual increment thereto until the time at which if he had
entered such class at its minimum salary in the present year, ho would have been
entitled to receive an annual increment.

14. Where in the year one -thousand eight hundred and sixty-one any officer
received a salary higher than that assigned under this Act to the class in which the
Governor in Council places him, he shall receive the maximum salary of such class.

15. Where in the case mentioned in the next preceding section, the reduction
of salary amounts to or exceeds ton per cent., the officer whose salary is so reduced
shall receive in consideration thereof a sum amounting to one-twelfth part of such
reduction for eauh year of service, and a proportionate sum for any additional time
less than a year.

16., When the services of any officer.are dispensed with in consequence of any
change in any department and not for any fault on the part of such officer, if ho
have been employed at the time of the passing of this Act in any office for which a
salary#has been provided by the Appropriation Act of 1861, or if at any future time he
holds in his own behalf, and not as acting for any other person, any office within
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the meaning of this Act, every such officer shall as compensation receive for each year
of service one month's salary, according to the rate of salary paid to him during the
year one thousand eight bundred and sixty-one, or at the time when his services
shall be so dispensed with as aforesaid and a proportionate sum for any additional
time less than a year.

PART II.-APPINTMENTS.

17. Every person entering the Civil Service within the meaning of this Act
shall, except as hereinafter provided, be subject to the probation herein directed and
shall be conditionally employed in the lowest, or where, in 'the opinion of the Gov-
ernor in Council, special but not professional qualifications are required, in the fourth
class in that division of the service to which he is attached at the minimum salary
of such class.

is. Every candidate for admission into the Civil Service shall, as a condition
precedent to his nomination as a probationer, produce such evidence as the Governor
in Council may think sufficient as to his age, health and moral character and every
candidate for admission into the ordinary or the professional division shall further
pass before a Board of Examiners appointed by the Governor in Council such examin-
ation but without competition, as the Goverinor in Council may from time to time
direct.

19. When any person has been conditionally employed upon probation in any
office in the Civil Service, if, at the expiration of three months from the date of such
employmont, the first class officer of the department in which the probationer has
served recommend in writing the probationer as a suitable person to be appointed an
officer of the Civil Service, the Governor in Council may, if he think fit, then, but
not before, appoint such person.

20. The Governor in Council may at any time during the probation sum-
marily dismiss any probationer, and every probationer shall during such period
receive half the salary of the class to which he is conditionally employed, but if he
be permanently appointed he shall receive the remaining moiety from the date of his
conditional employment.

PART III--PROMOTION.

21. When in the ordinary division any vacancy occurs in any superior class, if
it be expedient to fill up such vacancy, the Governor in Council, except as hereinafter
provided, shall promote from the class next below that in which the vacancy has
occurred, such officer as he shall judge the most deserving of such promotion.

22. When in the professional division any vacancy occurs in any superior class,
if it be expedient to fill up such vacancy, and if the Governor in Council be of opinion
that there is any officer of lower rank in the Department where such vacancy has
occurred, competent to discharge the duties of the vacant office, he shall appoint such
officer, but if there be no such officer then he may appoint such person as he may
think fit, although not previously engaged in the Civil Service, with or without
examination or probation.

23. Whenever it is expedient to secure for the public service on the occurrence of
any vacancy the services of some person of known ability and to place such person im-
mediately in some of the higher classes of the Civil Service although such person may
fnot have been previously engaged in the Civil Service of this colony, and although
there may be in the lower classes of the Service officers competent to perform the
duties of the vacant office, the Governor in Council, anything in this Act to the
contrary notwithstanding, may appoint sucht person accordingly and without either
examination or probation.

21. When any such appointment is made without examination or probation, a
statement thereof and of the reasons for which it has been made, shall within one
week after the date thereof be published in the Government Gazette.
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25. Notwithstanding anything herein contained, any person who at any time
has been or shall hereafter be employed in any office in the Civil Service, and who
has not been dismissed or called on to resign for improper conduct, may be appointed
to any class in the same manner as if lie had never left such service.

26. Every head of a Department shall furnish to the Governor in Couneil
once in each year, or at other times as the Governor in Council may direct, reports
upon the conduct and the efficiency of the officers employed in his Department.

PART IV.-PENALTIES-DIsMISSALS.

27. After the passing of this Act, no officer of the Civil Service shall be dis-
missed therefrom, or suffer any other penalty in respect thereof, except for the causes
and in the manner set forth in this Act; but nothing herein contained shall be taen
to prevent the Governor in Council, if it be expedient, to reduce the number of
officers in any Department, or to amalgamate two or more Departments from dispen-
sing with the services of any officers in consequence of any such alteration.

28. The Governor in Council may from time to time make and publish in the
Government Gazette regulations, and repeal or vary the same concerniing the duties to
be performed by officers of the Civil Service, and the discipline to be observed in the
performance of such duties, and may affix to breaches of such regulations according
to the nature of the offence, the penalties herein set forth, provided always that no
such regulations shall in any manner alter or affect duties which by any Act now or
creafter to be in force are, or shall be, required to be performed.

29. If any officer be guilty of any breach of such regulations the Governor in
Council may, according to the nature of the offence, dismiss him from the service or
reduce him to a lower rank therein or to a lower salary within his class, or deprive
him of such future annual increment as he would otherwise have been entitled to
reccive, or of any part thereof, or of his leave of absence daring such time as the
Governor in Council thinks fit.

30. If any officer be convicted of any felony or infamous offence, or become
baiikrupt, or apply to take the benefit of any Act now or hereafter to be in force for
the relief of insolvent debtors, or by any deed or ther writing, compound with his
creditors or make an assignment of his salary for •their benefit, he shall be deemed
to have forfeited his office.

31. When any such officer has forfeited his office by reason of any such pecuni-
arv embarrassment as aforesaid, if lie prove to the satisfaction of the Governor in
Couiicil that such embarrassment has not been caused or attended by any fraud,
extravagance or dishonorable conduct, the Governor in Council may reinstate such
officer in his former position in the service.

32. Where any officer is guilty of any conduct which, in the opinion of the
Governor in Council, renders him unfit to continue in the Civil Service, such officer,
upon proof thereof as hereinafter directed, nay be dismissed from the service.

33. When any officer is negligent or careless in the discharge of his duties, if
the officer in immediate charge of the department wherein such first-mentioned
officer is engaged, be of opinion that the offence is not of so serious a nature that a

report thereof should, in the course of his duty, be made to t-he Governor in Council,
such officer in charge may, for every such case of misconduct, order to be deducted
by way of fine from the salary of such other officer a bum not exceeding five poulds,
and the responsible Minister of the departinent may, on the appeal of the officer so

punished, confirm or disallow such penalty, and his decision shall be final and without
appeal.

34. The Treasurer on receiving notice of any pecuniary penalty imposed under
the authority of this Act shall deduct the amount thereof froin the *salary or next
payment made by him on account of salâry to the officer incurring such penalty.

35. When any officer is accused of a breach of his duty or of any conduct

rendering it unfit that lie should remain in the Civil Service, if he deny the truth of

such acusation, and if the Governor in Council nevertheless thinks that sufficient
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cause has been shown-for further proceedings, the Governor in Council may appoint
three or more fit and proper persons to inquire as to the truth of such charge, and
sueh persons shall have authority to hear, receive and examine evidence, and shal
after fully hearing the case report to the Governor in Coun cil their opinion thereon.

PART V.-LEAVE OF ABSENCE.

36. The responsible Minister of every Departmeni may, at such times as may
be convenient, grant to every officer leave of absence for recreation for any period or
periods not exceeding in the whole three weeks in each year, and in each case of
illness or other pressing necessity grant such extended leave, not exceeding twelve
months, and on such terms as he thinks fit.

37. Where any officer desires to visit Europe or some other distant country if
he Lave continued in the Civil Service of this colony at least ten years, and have not
been reduced for his conduct or deprived of leave of absence under this Act, the
Governor in Council may grant bim leave of absence upon half salary for a period not
exieeding twelve months, but for such period of absence such officer shall not be
entitled to receive any annual increment.

38. The following days shall be observed as holidays in the public offices
New Year's Day, Christmas Day, Good Friday, and the three following days, Whit
Monday, the anniversaries of the birthday of Ber Majesty, of the day of separation
of the District of Port Phillip from the Colony of New Siuth Wales, and of the day
of Proclamation of the Constitution Statute, and any other day appointed in the
Government Gazette as a public holiday. Provided that nothing in this Act shall pre-
vent the responsible Minister in charge of a Department from requiring the services
of any officers of such Department during any such holiday in case of emergency,
but in that case such officers shall be entitled in lieu thereof to a holiday upon such
othei occasion as shall not interfere with the public service.

PART VI.-SUPERANNUATION.

39. When any officer, after the passing of this Act (except as hereinafter pro-
vided) has attained the full age of sixty years, he shall therefrom retire from actiTe-
service upon a superannuation allowance.

40. Atny officer who at the time of the passage of this Act has attained, or
within ten years after, shall have attained tne age of sixtyyears, if or as son as he
eh!?ii have been ten years in the Civil Service of Victoria. or of the District of Port
Pbillip, or of both, and if he has not received any other compensation or retiring
allowance in respect of such service, shall retire from active service on'an annual
alowance ef half of the average annual salary received by birm during the twoyears
preceding his superannuation.

41. The Governor in Council may nevertheless require any officer who would
otherwise retire as aforesaid, notwithstanding his age, to continue to perforin his
duties.

42. When any officer desires to retire froin active service, and bas not attained
the full age of sixty years, if he produce medical evidenice satisfactory to the Governor
in Couneil that ho is incapable, from infirmity of mind or body, to discharge the
duties of his office, and that such infirmity is likely to be permanent, the Governor
iL Council may permit such officer to retire accordingly upon a superannuation
allowance.

43. If the Governor in Council requires any officer to resume his duties in his
former office or in any other office for which be is qualified, and if such officer be in
such a state of health as to be able to perform such duties, and if be decline to under-
take such duties, or rieglect duly to perform the same, such officer shall forfeit his
right to the superannuation allowance which had been granted to him; and if he
resume his duties, his superannuation allowance shall merge in his salary.
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44. Every superannuated officer (except as bereinbefore expressly provided),
whèther bis remuneration be computed by day pay, w eekly wages or annual salary,
shall recive in respect of such superannuation the following annual allowance (that
it to say:-After fen years' service and under eleven years, ten-sixtieths of the
average annual salary received by him during three years preceding his superannua-
tion; after eleven and under twelve years' service. eleven-sixtieths of such annual
salary; and in like manner, for each additional vear of service, an addition to bis
anial allowance of ona-sixtieth of such salary until he has conpleted the full term
of service of forty yaars ; but the total amount of any superannuation allowance
shall in no case exceed forty-sixtietbs of the salary on which the allowance is coin-
puted.

45. Where any officer bas served for a less period than ten years, if without bis
ewn default and in the discharge of his public duty, he receive such bodily injury as
to incapacitate bimi fromi the discharge of his duties, the Governor in Council may
grant to such officer a t-ratuity not exceeding thre months' pay at bis then rate of
salar for eaci year of service.

46. Where any officer bas served for a less period than ten years if ho be con-
strained from infirmity of body or niind to leave the service the Governor in Council
may grant to him such gratuity as be may think fit, not exceeding in any case the
.amount of one month's pay at his then rate of salary for each vear of service.

47. If any officer shall die from bodily iijury rceived without lis own default
in the discharge of' his public duty, the Governor in Council niay grant to the widow
or children, or at bis discretion to any other relation of such officer a gratuity not
.exceeding one month's pay for each year of service at the average annual salary he
was receiving for the ton years next preceding his death if such officer was employed
ten years in the Civil Service, and if he was not employed tifn years, then at the
average annual salary he was receiving during the time ho was so employed.

48. Wben any superannuation allowance is granted under this Act, the causes
of the granting thereof shall be set forth in the warrant granting the saine.

49. Nothing herein contained shall be taken to prevent the Governor froi
recommending to Parliament any addition to any superannuation allowance or
gratuity in consideration of any special services rQndered by the officers entitled
thereto, or of any other unusual circumstances.

PART VII.-MISCELLANEOUS.

50. The provisions contained in the sixteenth Section and the fourth, fifth,
sixth and seventh parts of this Act, and none others shall apply to the officers men-
tionod in the second schedule hereto, and the salaries of such officers shall be the
salaries respectively assigned to them by the Appropriation Act for the year one
thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, and shall (except in cases of officers whose
salaries are paid by virtue of any Act which now is, or which hereafter shall be in
force) be subject to reduction or increase in the same ianner as the salaries of
officers of the first class in the ordinary or professional -division are deternined under
this Act, and any such officer mày be appointed to any other office in the Civil Service
which in the opinion of the Governor in Council he is comupetent to fill.

51. The provisions contained in the sixteenth section, and the fourth, sixtb and
seventh parts of this Act and none others shall apply to the officers mentioned in the
third schedule hereto, and such officers shall receive respectively such salaries as
Parliament may from year to year provide, except lockers and weighers in the Cus-
toms' Service, who shall have all benefits arising from the provisions of this Act to
officers of the fourth class except that of increment alone.

52. Where any officer is allowed to use for the purpose of residence any building
belonging to the Goverument, the Governor in Council may direct that a fair and
reasonable sum as rent thereof be deducted from su,ch officer's salary.

53. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to alter the Constitution Act of
the Parliament of Victoria numbered 86.
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54. No officer in the Civil Service shall be deemed to be entitled to any com-
pensation by reason of any reduction of his salary or annual increment consequent
upon any alteration of the limits of salary of his class as hereinbefore provided, or by
reason of any alteration in the scale of superannuation allowances which may be
made by any Act amending or repealing this Act.

55. Where any money has been appropriated by Parliament in any year for
the payment of the salaries of the officers in any class and division if during the
year for which such appropriation has been made any vacancy occur in any such
class and be not filled up, the Governor in Council may apply the money appro-
priated to such vacant office or any part thereof to the payment of any other officers
in a lower class of the same division that he may appoint.
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REPORT.
The Select Standing Committee on PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS under the Order

of The House, made on the ninth day of April instant:-" That the attention of this
House having been calied to the Reports, Returns, and Vouchers laid upon the table,
touching the payment of public moneys to the Hon. T. W. Anglin, Member for the
Electoral District of Gloucester, for Printing and Stationery for the Post Office
Department, the said papers be referred to the Select Standing Committee on
Privileges and Elections, and they be directed to enquire into the facts, to search for
precedents, and to report the result of their enquiries; and whether the said Hon.
T. W. Anglin has vacated his seat;"

Have the honor to report unanimously as follows:-That at the first meeting of
the Committee they direeted that notice of their next meeting be given to the Hon.
T. W. Anglin;

That on the 14th day of April, instant, The House made a further Order that it
was desirable that any witness to be examined by the Committee in relation to the
matters in the Order first above mentioned. should be examined on oath;

That the said Hon. T. W. Anglin appeared before the Committee and made a
statement under oath, and submitted himself for cross-examination and was so
examined;

That subsequently the Committee examined The Honorable D. A. Macdonald,
late Postmaster General, and now Lieutenant-Governor of Ontario, and Mr. William
H. Griffin, the Deputy of the Postmaster General, and examined papers and docu-
ments relating to the facts, and searched for precedents;

That it appears from the evidence before the Committee that the Hon. T. W.
Anglin, since he has been elected a Member of this House, has fulfilled various
orders given by Public Officers for the insertion in his newspaper, the St. John
Freeman, of advertisements in connection with the Public Service, and various
orders given by the Post Office Inspector, under the instructions of the Postmaster
General, for the printing of forms required for the Post Office Department, and has
received public moneys for such advertisements and printing; *

That it appears from Mr. Anglin's evidence that his action was taken under the
bona fide belief, founded on the precedent and practice bereinafter stated, that he was
not thereby holding, enjoying, undertaking or executing any contract or agreement
within the second section of the Act 31 Victoria, Chapter 35, for securing the inde-
pendence of Parliament;

That in the year 1864 an Election Committee of the Legislative Assembly of
the late Province of Canada, found that the publication by the Member for Russell of
advertisements for the public service, paid for with the public moneys, did not create
a contract within the meaning of the Provincial Act, the prôvisions of which are, so
far as is material, as follows :-No person whosoever holding or enjoying, undertak-
ing or executing, * '*- * any contract or agreement with Her Majesty, or with
any Public Officer or Department with respect to the Public Service of the Province,
or under which any public money of the Province is to be paid for any service,
work, matter or thing, shall be eligible as a Member, &c.;

That in giving their decision the Committee used the following language:-
" The performance of a particular work undoubtedly raises an implied contract to
" pay the value of such work. In that case, an undertaking may be said to havo
" arisen and the money was no doubt paid directly either to the sitting Member or his
"Agent.

"ILt is to be remembered, however, that the Statute is a disabling and penai one,
and must be strictly interpreted. The word ' contract' *is accordingly to bo taken
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"in its most restricted meaning. There must be, in our opinion, a distinct covenant,
"or a subsisting and continuous agreement, assented to by both parties, and having"the character of mutuality. The words tlhemselves may be said in some sense to
"bear out this view, for it is required to be held or entjoyed, undertaken or executed."

That it appears from the evidence taken by the Committee and from the Public
Accounts of the Dominion, and Returns laid before Parliament, that between 1867
and 1873 numerous orders given by public officers for the insertion of advertisements
connected with the public service were fulfilled, and various sums of public moneys
were in respect thereof received by several persons then being Members of Parlia-
ment; and that, although these practices were notorious, it was never alleged in
Parliament that the Members concerned therein had entered into disqualifying
contracts, but they held their seats unchallenged through two Parliaments;

The Committee are of opinion that, in point of Law, the same principle must
govern the case referred to them, and the cases of the Russell Election and the said
other Members;

The Committee are, however, of opinion that the said precedent and practice are
erroneous, and that, according to the true construction of the Act for securing the
independence of Parliament, the transactions in question did constitute disqualifying
contracts ;

And therefore find: That the Hon. Timothy Warren Anglin, Member for the
Electoral District of the County of Gloucester, after his Election for the said Elec-
toral District, became a party to a contract or agreement with the Postmaster
General of Canada, with respect to the Public Service of Canada, and under which
publie money of Canada has been paid for certain service and work, and that his
election thereby became void;

The investigations of the Committee have led them to the conclusion that the
Act for securitig the independence of Parliament requires careful revision and
amendment.

The Committee herewith respectfully transmit a copy of the evidence of' the
witnesses exainined by them, and report the same for the information of the House.

The whole, nevertheless, humbly submitted.

EMILIUS IRVING,
Chairian.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

FRIDAr, April 13th, 1877.

The Standing Committee on PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS met.

Mr. IRVING in the Chair.

Mr. Chairman:-On looking at the Statute, I find that it does not authorize ay
Committee, and not even any of the regular Standing Committees to administer the
oath to the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Mr. Mackenzie :-Without a previous motion made in the House, and as this bas
not been done in this case, the Committee has no power to administer the oath to
Mr. Speaker.

Mr. Anglin :-Then, to avoid loss of time, I will make a statement-and make
it, of course, as if I were under the obligations of an oath-and if it be desired
afterwards that the statement be made upon oath, and a motion be made in the Ilouse
to obtain leave for nte to do so, I will swear to the truth of what I will now state,
or repeat it on oath.

Mr. Chairman:-In proceeding to make a statement of all I know about this mat-
ter, I think it is necessary for the full understanding of the question that I should go a
a little outside of the strict record of the case, because, in course of the debate in the
flouse of Commons on this subject, various statements have been made, and various
insinuations have been thrown out, which, if at all founded in fact, would make the whole
transaction, not only a contract or agreement, but one of the most corrupt and disgrace-
ful transactions that was ever committed. I think that it is desirable, under the
circumstances, to deny the truth of these statements and to show what is the
simple state of the facts, and also that these statements have no possible foundatior;
in truth there is no ground for the statement that there was any corrupt agreement.
and there is no truth in any of these allegations which have been made. 1 will take
the opportunity of saying that I have the permission of Mr. Mackenzie to refer to
what passed between him and myself at the time of the formation of the Govern-
ment, because it bas been more than insinuated, in the course of the debate in the
Hlouse of Commons, that the Speakership had been given to me with the work in
question in order that I might receive an amount equal to the salary whieh I would
have received had I been a member of the Cabinet. It has been stated as well that I
asked a place in the Cabinet, and that, on being refused, I asked for the Speakership;
but these statements are utterly and absolutely untrue and have no foundation
whatever, in fact. I never asked from this or any other Government, for any personal
favour, and I never intimated to Mr. Mackenzie or to any member of the Cabinet,
that I should become a member of the Administration; nor did I ever intimate
either directly or indirectly, that I had any anxiety or desire to become a member
of the Cabinet, or that I had or pretended to have any claiin whatever to a seat in
the Government. What I stated most'distinctly, and what I think every member of
the Government, if called upon, would necessarily substantiate, was that I had no
wish to become a iember of the Government. On the day that Sir John A. Mac-
donald resigned, there was a great deal of excitement in the House, and I was myself
made the centre of excitement of a special character, and, in fact, I felt so anxious to
escape from it that I left the House and went down to my lodgings, taking a book
with me to read; I did not see Mr. Mackenzie after he left the louse, nor did I
communicate with him in any way directly or indirectly, but went to my lodgings
and remained there all day. Mr. Mackenzie came to my lodgings to see me between
nine and ten o'clock in the evening, and told me that he had been successful to a great
extent, in the formation of Government, but that there was some difficulty about
inviting me to become a member of the Cabinet; he also said that he was very
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desirous of overcoming that difficulty. Perhaps it is not necessary for me to allude
more fully to the difficulty I speak of, but I have no objection, if any gentleman
imagines that there is anything in it, to be subjected to the most strict cross-examin-
ation with regard to it. I will now, however, say nothing else on the subjeet.
We spoke about this difficulty, and so far from my then demanding a seat in the
Cabinet, I pointed out to him myself that this difficulty was of such a character that
it would be foolish and unwise in him, and almost inconsistent with his duty to the
party, for him to take me into the Government. He asked me to help him to over-
come that difficulty, but this I declined to do, I told him most distinctly that; so far
as I was concerned, I did not pretend to have any claim to a seat in the Government,
that I had no desire to be in the Cabinet, and that if I was offered a seat in it, all I
coul d say would be that I would consider whether I would or would not accept it,
inasmuch as it would cause such a serions change in my whole position as, in my
opinion, at all events, would render it not very desirable. However, he again
insisted upon my endeavouring to overcome the difficulty; but I assured him that so
entir e was my confidence in him, and in his integrity and in his principles, that
wha tever Government ho should succeed in forming I would support most beartily
and most cordially, as far as itwas possible for me to support any Government. Of
cou 'se, there were questions on which he and I differed, probably; but I intimated
to him that wherever I could support his Government, I would do so most heartily
and most cordially. le saw me the next day, and ho told me that the difficulty still
existed. I told him it was what I expected, but that, as far as I was, concerned, it
m ade no difference whatever, and that ho still might regard me as one of his
staunchest and most warm supporters. le then asked me if I would take the
Speakership, but I said that I would not. I had always regarded the Speakership
as a most irksome and unpleasant position, and with my habits-accustomed, as I
was, to take an active part in the business of the louse, and a large share in the
debates of the House,-I felt that the occupancy of the Chair would be for me a particu-
larly unpleasant position, and that I would not take it. le asked me if I would not
reconsider my decision, and I answered positively that I would not. We then parted,
and I saw nothing more of Mr. Mackenzie, and heard nothing more from Mr. Mac-
kenzie ; nor had I any communication, directly or indirectly, with Mr. Mackenzie
from that moment until the time when the anhouncement of the formation of the
Government was made in the House. During the interval, a great many gentlemen
did come to me, and sounded me on my opinion and the position I might possibly
take, if still invited to become a member of the Administration; but of all that I
never thought that Mr. Mackenzie knew anything. I was asked what I would do on
the New Brunswick School Question, and I stated yery plainly what I would do; but
of that I never heard that Mir. Mackenzie said a word. There was not a single word
said during all that time about my getting any benefit or advantage from the change
in the Government, or of my getting any compensation for not becoming a member
of the Government. There was never a word said or a syllable breathed about it, nor
do I believe that it entered the mind of any man to suggest or think of such a thing.
I know that it did not enter my mind; I never thought or dreamt of it. So far with
regard'to the statement, I have thought it necessary to myself and to the gentlemen
who are members of the Government, and, in fact, necessary as a duty to the publie,
inasmuch as these charges have been made and these insinuations thrown out, tO
make, and, if it is thought necessary, I will make it under the solemn obligation of
the oath. It has been alleged that, in this case, there was a contract or agreement;
but I do not believe that, in any reasonable sense of the word, there was either a con-
tract or an agreement. I will state exactly ail that ever took place-and it was very
little-with regard to the transaction between myself and a member of the Govern-
ment. One day-I think that it was some time after the formation of the
Government-I was detained here for a day or two, and it was while W
were all still in Ottawa I think, though I will not be very sure, I met the Honourable
ID. A. Macdonald, who had bocome Postmaster-General, and ho told me that he had
been looking into the affairs of his office a little, and had learned that there WW



nome Post Office printing done in the city of St. John, and that he had sent instrue -
tions to have this printing transferred to the office of the Morning Freeman. I
accepted that -statement as a simple statement, of course. It had been long the
custom-and I presume that every gentleman present is aware of it-that Govern-
ment advertisements are sent to the newspapers supporting the Government, and
that if any other kind is to be done at newspaper offices, it is usually sent to the
offices of the newspapers supporting the Administration of the day. This, therefore,
was not surprising to me. It appeared a matter of course that when the change of
Government took place a change of that kind should also take place, and that the
advertisements and other work done at the offices of the newspapers in St. John
which had supported the late Administration should be transferred to the offices of
the papers which would support the incoming Administration. There was various
other work to be done, and it so happened that the work of the Post Office Depart-
ment was sent to the Freeman office. On the occasion when the Hon. D A. Macdonald
simply told me that he had sent instructions, and had given them, that this work
should be transferred to the Freeman office, I merelythanked him. On that occasion
there was not a word more passed upon the subject; I think not over twenty words
altogether passed between us. There was nothing said that any ingenuity could
possibly convert into the semblance of a contract or agreement. I did not imagine
then that the Postmaster-General was bound in the slightest degree to send me any
work he pleased to withhold, or that I was bound to do any work he sent. I did not
imagine at aIl when he told me this that there was in this transaction or would be
in it the slightest violation of the Independence of Parliament Act. From that day I
do not know but that-with the exception of passing a word or two with the Hon.
D. A. Macdonald, while Postmaster-General, when I happened to meet him at Ottawa
-this was every word said between us; and I know that never a word passed
between myself and any other member of the Government with respect to this
printing. I cannot tell whether the other members of the Government did or did
not know anything about it, but I presume they did. It was a perfectly open tran-
saction; there was not the slightest characteristic of secrecy in the matter. It was
merely work transferred from one newspaper office to another newspaper office in
St. John, by which that paper lost the work, and, consequently, this became a matter
of notoriety down there. A gentleman read in the House of Commons, during the
debate, an extract from the Montreal Gazette, published in 1874, in which this very
transaction is spoken of. The accounts were made out in the usual form, I presume.
They were not prepared by myself, but by my business man, and sent up here. The
facts appeared in the Public Accounts of 1875, I believe, and I think again in 1876.
There was not the slightest idea of concealing anything in connection with the
matter. So far from this being the case, on one occasion, while I was in Ottawa, my
business man wrote up to say that some accounts which had been sent up were
unsettled, and that the money was very much required for some purpose or another,
and I went myself over to the Department to learn whether the accounts had been
audited and settled; and I affixed my own name, as appears, I believe, by the papers
on the table, to one of the receipts, perhaps the second of them. I knew I was
doing nothing wrong. I knew the country was not suffering the loss of a single
dollar by the change of the work from one office to the other, because the rates paid
were the same in each case; and there was no reason why I should resort to any
trick or subterfuge of any kind to conceal the fact. I saw no reason, either, to be
ashamed of the affair. I find that in one of the papers produced during the debate
in the House, the words " per agreement " appear. I confess that rather startled me,
for, as I have already stated, there was no agreement and no contract, and no ques-
tion of this work being continued for any specific length of time, or for any length-
of time.

By Mr. Palmer
Q. This is not one of your papers?
Hon. Mr. Anglin :-It is not a paper signed by me, or of which I knew anything.

I want to say that there was no agreement. most distinctly; neither did I myself ever
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make any agreement, nor was any other person authorized by me to act on my
behalf and make any agreement with the Government or any officer representing
any Department of the Government. I wish to state distinctly and positively that
this work came into the office from day to day; one day the Inspector of the Post
Office Department, or a clerk in it, would send in an order for a certain quantity of
blank forms of one kind ; and on another day, they would send in an order for another
set of blank forms of another kind, without my ever knowing that a single order
would succeed it or not. There was no agreement. I want to try and explain what
I imagine the words " per agreement " might possibly mean. There was no
arrangement as to the prices in the first place; not a word was said about them; the
work was simply sent to the office, and the accounts were rendered to the Depart-
ment, and some time after my business manager, in whose bands I must leave my
business very largely, being away from home so many months in the year, and who-
las entii e control of the financial part of the business, and a great deal beside, came
to me and said the Inspector had informed him that there were disputes about the
prices charged. I said to him, you must take care not to overcharge, and be very
careful to act so that nobody can-if the transaction ever comes up for examination
-find any reason to suppose that there was any improper charge, the accounts will
go before the Public Accounts Committee, and will be carefully investigated th're,
or at all events, be subject to investigation, and you must be exceedingly careful. He
said he did not know what to do ; he thought he had made reasonable charges. He
oponed-a controversy if you will-with the Inspector, who, I suppose, communica-
ted with the Department at Ottawa; a schedule of prices was sent down about that
time, and the Inspector, so my foreman infofmed me, submitted this to him, and he
asked me what he would do about it. He said that the Department had signified its
willingness to apply this scale of prices to the accounts. I think that the accounts
were then in the possession of the Department, I told him that I was no judge of
the matter at all, and to examine the scale carefully, and let me know what he
thoughtof the prices. A day or two afterwards, he said to me that he had examined
the scale of prices, and that they were fair, and besaid that the Inspector wished me
to say whether I would agree to accept this scale of prices. I said to him, " Take
care and do not, on my bebalf, agree to anything; simply state to the Inspector that
you have examined the scale of prices, and that you think them fair and reasonable."
These,as well as I can remember,are the words I used, but whether they regarded that in
the Department as an agreement to a seale of prices or not, I cannot say; this is the
only thing that I can remember in connection with the whole transaction,which would
give the slightest foundation to anybody to imagine that there was an agreement; I
wish to be understood again distinctly on this point; I warned my foreman that he
must not say or do anything that would involve the understanding or the idea that
there was between me and the Government, or any of their subordinates, any agree-
ment; then, with regard to the quantity of work, it is stated to have been very large.
It may be so ; but I had very little idea, when I was told that the work would be sent
to the Freeman office,-of what the quantity would be. I did not think that it would
at all be as large as it proved to be. I never, by myself or by anybody else, solikited
any increase in the work. If the quantity grew larger, owing to any changes in the
regulations of the Post Office Department, I had nothing whatever te do with it,
directly or indirectly; nor did I have the slightest idea that there was any increase
made for the sake of putting money in my pocket; that 1 have no reason to believe
and I do not believe it; nor, again, may I say, is the amount at all as large in propor-
tion to the time, as at first sight appears. My impression is, that the first or ers
came to my office in November, 1873; that is my impression, and the accounts will
probfbly show whether I am correct in this or not. I have not looked at them,
because I determined that in this case, I would simply state what my recallection o
the transaction was; and my recollection is, that the work first came to my office in
the month of November, 1873; and then continued to come from that time until the
end of the month of December 1875; there being nearly two years and three months
of it altogether. Then again, there was another order sent down to cover Messrs,
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Chubb's importation of stationery, or partly cover it,-which was really work done
for the year following; so that the whole amount is extended over nearly three years;
and I may say that of some of the blanks there was fully a three years' supply. That
is my impression; I state this, because it might seem that a very great increase in the
quantity of the work was made, in order to benefit me in some way or other. I do not
believe that it was the case. I never had any such idea; and I am sure that I never
did anything in the world to solicit any increase or anything at all to obtain it. The
orders came in as I say. They were entirely voluntary and sent by the Inspector ;
and they were simply executed in my office or through my office, and the work was
sent back again. At the end of the quarters the accounts were sent in, for any
orders that had been received and executed, to the Department, in the most
public and open way imaginable, and this, I say, continued until, I think,
the 15th of December, 1875; I find from the papers read in the House, that it was
somewhere in January that the crder for stopping the sending of this work was
issued, but my impression is that no orders actually came to the office from the
month of December. My foreman, I know, came to me sometime in January, and
told me that no work had come in for some time, and suggested that I should make
some enquiry about it. I told him that I would make no enquiry about it at all; that
the Government might do as they pleased; that I had no claim on them to send me
any work; that I had nothing to say if they did not send a single dollar's worth of
work to the office, therefore that I could not enquire into the matter. I also told
him that my position forbade me asking any favours of the Goverment, or making
any remonstrance, or pointing out that the work had ceased to come without any
intimation having been given to me and without the receipt of any communication
from the Government in the matter, stating the reasons why they had acted in the
way they did. My position forbade any such course. Nor did I ever enquire, either
directly or indirectly, why the work so ceased to come. I felt I had no claim and,
as I say, there was no contract and no agreement and no understanding that the
Government should send me anything. There was no claim for emolument either
personal or political, of any kind whatever. Matters remained in that way until we
had been at the Session of 1876 for several weeks-I do not know how many-when
my furernan or business man wrote to me to say that the Messes. Chubb, of St. John,
had ordered a large quantity of the peculiar kind of stationery which is required for
some post-office work; they desired, of course, to get it as cheaply as possible and
to save as much money as possible, and that this would remain on their hands unless
something was done to protect them from the loss that would otherwise accrue; they
did not pretend to have any legal claims, of course, but they asked me to interfere
in the matter. I felt very reluctant to interfere, and I wrote back to say that the
Messrs. Chubbs should themselves make any application they had to make to the
Government directly, and that, of course, they could refer to me as to the facts of
the case, which I would be quite willing to state to the Government if necessary;
I said that the application must come from themselves, and that I could make none. I
think they wrote again to say that they had sent some such application to the Gov-
ernment. I received two or three letters on the subject. I know that
they wrote to me, at all events, to induce me to ,speak to Mr. Mackenzie
about it. I mentioned it in this way; I remember very well, meeting Mr.
Mackenzie in the House one day-it was not in IEession at the time-
and saying to him--" Are you aware that there was some post-office printing
done at the Freeman office." He answered " yes." " Well, I said, of course I never
asked for the work and the Government are under no obligation to send it to me and
I do not wish that it should be sent again, and I do not ask at all for the renewal of
the work, but Messrs. Chubb write t6 me and say that they have imported a quantity
of stationery, supposing that this would go on next year as it did last year, and this
stationery is quite unsaleable, not being needed for ordinary shop purposes, and that
they will lose very heavily if this is thrown on their hands; do you think that you
could do anything for them ? Perhaps, I said, you "could manage in some way to
have them allowed for it, and to have it handed over on the invoice prices to some
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parties, and take the stuif off their hands; I think this could be done without loss to
the Government, and if it is not done, or something of the kind, it will involve the
Messrs. Chubb in rather a serious loss. Mr. Mackenzie said le would think about it,
a-d speak to Mr. Huntington about it. I think, Mr. Huntington afterwards spoke to
me about. He said he had been thinking over the matter, and said he did not see
how they could take the stationery off the hands of Igessrs. Chubb, or what he was
to do with it. I said that it was possible that the contractor here-I understood that
they were now having the work done under contract-would be glad to get the stuff
at what would be a very cheap rate,-the cheapest possible rate, of eourse. He said,
that he would think it over, and the matter remained in that way, very little more
being said about it, until Mr. Huntington told me one day that he had been thinking it
over, and that he could not take the stationery very well, but that perhaps he would
issue an order for some printing to be done to cover it. Where the order was to go,
or how it was to be done, I could not say, nor did I think about it at the time, nor did
he tell me; nothing passed on that point at all, as all of these three or four conversa-
tions were directed simply to the purpose of protecting these gentlemen from loss,
as they must suffer if this material were not taken off their hands. I learned from a
letter read during the debate, and which is on the table, I presume, that about that
time-somewhere in April, an order did go down to the Inspector to send orders
into the Freeman office again for printing, for a three months' supply I think,
or some thing to that effect. In point of fact, no order went to the Freeman
Office, until several weeks after the Session was closed. I was detained in Ottawa for
some three weeks after the prorogation, and it was long after I went down to
St. John's, but no order came into the Freeman office; for sometime I supposed
that none was coming, and I imagined at .the time that the orders were going to the
Messrs. Chubb, and that possibly this was the wish of the Postmaster-General. No
orders, however, came to the Freeman office for weeks; but by-and-by orders came
in and continued for six or seven weeks, and not, as was stated in the House, for
three months; and then the whole transaction closed. Mr. Mackenzie, in the House
of Commons, stated that the whole transaction had absolutely terminated--call it a
transaction or a series of transactions-at the close of the year 1875, and he then
stated what was exactly the truth; nor was there anything ever donc since for any
one of the Departments in the Freeman office, of what is called job work, except
these orders which were sent in for six or seven weeks, that I spoke of, and which
was done in the way I spoke of. It was not asked for by me, nor was it suggested by
me that it should be sent down, because, as has been stated, Messrs. Chubb were
apprehensive of incurring this loss on the unsaleable portion of the stationery which
they had ordered for Post Office use, and they did not know what else to do with it;
but it was sent, I presume, because the Government thought that it would be desirable
to save themfrom that loss. I have told everything I know about it. Now, that is the
whole transaction, Mr. Chairman, as far as I know anything about it. There are no
documents-a request was made the other day for documents in the case--to be produced.
There is no correspondence on this question to be produced. These orders were merely
sent in to me, from day to day, and they were executed from day to day and from week
to week, as the case may be. Whenever it suited the Irspector to send an order, he
sent it, and it was executed when he sent it in, and the accounts were sent up here at
the end of the quarter, through the Inspector. They were sent to the Inspector by
me, and by the Inspector to the Department, where they were audited, and where
their own scale of prices were applied to the accounts. In very many cases my
foreman complained that there was not enough allowed to pay the cost. There was
nothing like underhand dealing, at all events, in the way in which the matter was
carried on for something over two years, when it absolutely ceased, without a word
of intimation or a word of warning being given me by the Government, indicating
that they would send no more printing to the Freeman office; nor.had I, I will repeat,
any right to ask the Government why it ceased. There was no contract; there was
no agreement; and there was no understanding of any kind that this work was
to bp sent to me, or that it was to be continued to be sent. J was simply told
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one day, by the Postmaster-General, that the work was to come to my
office. I to>k that announcement as a matter of course, and as a thing that
was naturally to happen after a change of Government; and the whole tran-
saction is exactly as I have stated it. I cannot remember a single circum-
stance in connection with it, which I have not now stated fully to the Com-
mittee. Perhaps something else will occur to me, and if any bon gentleman chooses
to cross-examine me, I wish him to do so. I invite every member of the Committee
to do so, as I have been trying to bring to mind all that has takon place touching
this matter, as I want the facts to be placed as fully and as clearly and as unreser-
vedly as possible before the Committee and before the House of Commons and before
the public. With regard to the law of the case, it was stated during the course of
the debate that I knew what the Independence of Parliament Act was, and that,
therefore, I should not have accepted the orders when sent. I thought that I did
know what the Independence of Parliament Act was, but I cannot remiember, when
looking back now on the matter, that I troubled my mind about the Independence
of Parliament Act at the time. I do remember very well, however, that no suspicion
crossed my mind ai the time that the transaction was any violation of the Indepen-
dence of Parlianent Act. I know now, too, looking back at that time, that I had
become-I cannot tell how - aware that there were some Canadian decisions in
similar cases. I had a very clear recollection, though I do not know whether I quite
recollect the way in which I became acquainted with it, of a case which has since
been talked of-the Russell election case, whieh, as I see by some paper this morning,
took place in 1864. In this case, Sir John Rose. then Mr. Rose, was Chairman of
the Committee, and there this question of contracts was very fully discussed and very
fully disposed of as I thought. I will try to remember how and where I saw it, and
I possibly saw it during the protracted enquiry into the Peterborough election case
when brought before us; perhaps it was this, made me familiar with that
decision, but I have no doubt now at all but that my familiarity with that decision
left an impression strongly on my mind that in allowing these orders to come to my
office from day to day without, as I say, any agreement or understanding whatever,
or anything approaching a contract or agreement whatever, between myself and any
member of the Government, or any one representing the Government, I was acting
entirely within, at all events, the Canadian interpretation of the Canadian Indepen-
dence of Parliament Act. I could not help also, I may say, remarking that during
several years previous, there sat in the House of Commons, a number of gentlemen
who were reported to be proprietors of newspapers which supported the Government
and received Government advertising-how much or how little I never
stopped to enquire-I saw that these parties were never challenged, and I
knew that after, when some question concerning the Independence of Parliament
Act arose, and an amendment to the Act was moved in the Ilouse, it
was never even suggested that theRe gentlemen held an equivocal position
in the House. I think it was notorious that such gentlemen were in the Hlouse; and
that their position was never questioned is certainly a matter of fact. Their right to
stop there was never questioned. These things, I have no doubt, had their influence
on my mind, so far as to cause me never to suspect for a moment, that I was
committing any violation of the Independence of Parliament Act; and as I knew
that I had done nothing dishonourable, I never really felt that there was anything to
be ashamed or afraid of in this transaction; I never thought that the work was sent
to me because I happened to be a Member of Parliament. I was satisfied that if I
ceased to be a Member of Parliament, the work would have been sent to me, and I
believe that, under such circumstances; I could possibly, in a great many cases, have
insisted upon getting what my foreman said were more reasonable prices than were
allowed. Of course, my position as a Member of Parliament would prevent me at all
interfering as between him and the Department. in matters of that kind. Indeed, on
one occasion, I happened, as I say, to go to the Department and draw a sum of money,
which I was told was due there, and which was wanted in St. John, and I had then
a conversation with Mr. Wicksteed, who alluded to this matter; but I said to him,



" have only to say to you in this matter, that I feel satisfied you will do your duty
fairly." I never, in any case,-imagined that there was a single dollar of that money
coming te me because I was a Member of Parliament. I am satisfied now that this
was not the case; and I thought that my paper, as a paper, had established a fair
claim to any share of the patronage-if. it is so to be called-which was distributed
among the papers in St. John, which supported this Administration. I thought that
sort of a claim existed, but I never pressed it; and I never suggested it to
anybody. I do not know that I have anything more to add,-as far as I am
concerned in this case,-to what I have already stated with regard to the
facts. I would summarize them in a few words, and they are simply these:-
that I never made any application to become a member of the Government;
that I never sought, directly or indirectly, a place in the Cabinet; that I never
intimated, in the remotest degree, to any one of the leading gentlemen or any other
member of the former Opposition or of the present Government party, that I desired
or expected to be a member of the Government; that when Mr. Mackenzie came to
consult with me respecting the troubles he had to overcome in the formation of his
Government, I did not attempt, in the slightest degree, to detract from the importance
of the difficulties which were in the way of lis taking me into the Cabinet, but, on
the contrary, told him that I thought it would be very foolish on bis part, under the
circumstances, to take me in as a member of the Government; that 1 did not ask for
any remuneration or recompense, directly or indirectly, for not becoming a member
of the Government; that such an idea never entered into my head, and I did not
conceive it possible, from my standing and character in the country, that anybody
would impute anything so disgraceful to me; that I thought this work went to the
Freeman office in the ordinary way and in the usual course of things; and that I did
not think that in allowing this work to be executed, I was violating, either in the
letter or in the spirit, the Independence of Parliament Act. Whether it was expe-
dient or inexpedient that this work should be so done by a Member of Parliament is,
I think, another question altogether. I would be myself prepared to say, I think,
that if I had an opportunity of voting on the question now-having had more time to
give to the consideration of it-I would vote that it is, inexpedient, and I do not
know but that I would not go so far as to say it is improper. But as to there being
anything improper in it under the circumstances, as they existed, this never occurred
to me; there was nothing dishonest or dishonourable in the transaction, I was
always satisfied about that, and, therefore, when the matter came up, I never
attempted to conceal my opinions as to the facts, and I always endeavoured to put
the case before the public as plainly, and as fully, and as clearly, and as thor-ughly as
I have now endeavoured to put it before the Committee. Mr. Chairman, I have now
mnade my statement, and I invite the strictest cross-examination from the members
of the Committee; and, more than that, I again offer, if it be at all thought desirable,
that after the Committee have fi st obtained power to administer the oath to me,
either to make this statement over again on oath, or swear to the strict, exact,
literal and absolute truth of every word I have said.

Mr. Chairman:-If any Member of the Committee desires to put any questions to
the Hon. Mr. Anglin, he is now present and ready to be cross-examined.

By Mr. Cameron:
Q. I think it was stated in the House, that this work was sub.let by the Ilon. Mr.

Anglin, and that it was not done at his own office; I would like to know whether it
was done in bis own office ?-No; "through my office," I think was the expression I
used-in and through my office. A portion of the work was done in my office, but a
very great portion of it was not done in my office; the compositors' work and the
press work were done in the office of Messrs. Chubb & Co.

Q. Are Messrs. Chubb & Co. printers ?-They are stationers and printers; they
are a large and old stationery firm in the city of St. John.

Q. But the bulk of the work was done through them, or in your own office?
-The work was done through my office, but the bulk of the actual manual labour
was done in their offiee. The management of the work was altogether dono

_40 Victoria. Appendix (No. 8.) A. 1811



in my office. The time of my business man was almost entirely occupied by this
work during two years, in taking orders and in seeing them executed.

Q. Did you make arrangements on a certain scale of prices with Messrs. Chubb
& Co. for the work they did ?-I made arrangements with them for. the work, and for
the stationery also; I went to them because they dealt largely in stationery, other-
wise, I would have had to buy the stationery; there was no agreement under which
I could pretend to act, and I was simply buying it from day to day, and in getting
the work done by them and the stationery from them, of course, I was able to do it
more cheaply than if I was compelled to go in and pay the usual high rates of profits
made on stationery to any stationer.

Q. What was the amount of profit on the work you sub-let or gave over to them ?
-I think that is hardly a fair question. If the Committee presses me I will answer
it, but 1 do not feel inclined to do so.

Q. You say that there was an agreement as to the prices charged ?-Between me
and the Messrs. Chubb-yes.

Q. I have only one other question: have you yourself had any communication
with the Post Office Inspector on the subject ?-I might have talked to him in a
general way about it. I think, when I have gone into his office on business in con-
nection with his Department as Post Office Inspector. I had business of my own
there and he may have possibly spoken to me about it; but there was never anything
in the way of an understanding. proposai, or suggestion regarding the making of an
agreement between me and Government in this matter. Nothing of that kind passed
at any time.

Q. During your conversations was anything mentioned as to the quantity of the
work ?-No, never; I never had the slightest discussion as to the quantity of work
sent in. I never suggested anything of the kind to him.

Q. Were you aware that Messrs. Chubb & Co. had imported an extra quantity of
stationery ?-No; not until after the work had ceased for some time; when they
found it had ceased and that they would probably suffer loss, they then applied to me
about it. I then wrote to them, saying that they must make their own application
to the Government.

Q. That was paper of a particular kind ?-It was paper of a particular kind ; it
was the large heavy paper used for way-bills and such forms as are frequently used
in post offices. It was not of the character ordinarily sold, and it was not easy to-
be got. Had there being any contract, or agreement, I might say, concerning any
specific time I would have taken a very different course. I would have possibly
imported my own stationery under such circumstances and had nmy own profits on it,
but I had nothing to act upon and I was simply obliged to buy it from day to day;
and they, in order to get the proper kind of stationery-which I think they had first
imported from the United States at very high prices-afterwards, I believe, sent over
and bought it in Great Britain in order to have a profit on the stationery. Of course
the other arrangements were much more satisfactory under these circumstances than
otherwise would have been. The profit in stationery being usually very large.

By Mr. Palmer:-
Q. As to the conversations with the Inspector, of course it was necessary for the

Inspector to direct the particular kind of thing you would have to do?-My conver-
sations with the Inspector arose when I went to him on some other business. The
conversations that passed between us were not directed to anything that regarded
the price, the quantity or the quality of the work, or anything of that kind. It
is more than possible that something was said about the printing that was going on
from time to time. I think that this is probable, but I can hardly tell what the
conversations were. I cannot recollect any specific statements, because nothing
passed between us of a character that would be at all specific, and nothing in the
way of bringing pressure to bear as to sending me work. If the honourable member
has any idea of that kind, I would like to remove it. There was absolutely nothing
of the sort. I never descended to anything of the kind in any way, directly or indi-
rectly. I did not quite answer Mr. Palmer's question. You asked if aify directions
were given to the Inspector regarding the quantities of work ?

il
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Mr. Palmer:-What I assumed was, that the Inspector would be directing the
former as to the kind of things he wanted.

Bon. Mr. Anglin :-I will tell you when that was done. An order would be sent
in, say for five or ten reams of a particular kind of form, and with the order was
sent a specimen form. Possibly conversations passed between him and my foreman,
of which I knew nothing, but which would be of that character-as to the quality of
the paper requirod by the authorities, or something of that kind. Such conversations
would naturally take place.

Mr. Chairman :-Is any other gentleman prepared to ask any questions, or make
any observations to the lon. Mr. Anglin ?

Ron. Mr. Anglin :-As no other questions are put, I beg leave to withdraw, and
to leave the matter entirely in your hands.

(Signed) T. W. ANGLIN.

Sworn before me on the 17th day of April, 1877,
at the House of Commons, in the City of
Ottawa.

The Hon. T. W. Anglin has declared that the
foregoing is a re-statement by him under
oath of his statement of 13th April last. J

(Signed) AMsLIUS IRVING,
Chairman.

TUESDAY, 17th April, 1877.
The Standing Committee on PRIVILIGEs and ELEcTIONS met at eleven o'clock.
The Hon. Mr. ANGLIN appeared before the Committee.

By the Chairman :
Q. Mr. Speaker, is this statement which you have read 'over a re-statement of

the evidence you gave a few days ago ?-It is, and it contains all I can recollect of
the entire transaction.

The Chairman :
Mr. Speaker has appeared before the Committee, in answer to a request that he

should be here again, to answer any questions which hon. members thought proper
might be propounded to him, if he attended to it; and he is now in attendance for
that purpose. I have communicated to Mr. Speaker the object for which he was
required-that his attendance was requested here to give information upon the sub-
ject of that part of his evidence relating to hon. members who had satin Parliaments
previous to this Parliament with him, and who, lie had reason to believe, had enjoyed
certain benefits from the Gevernment in relation to advertising and printing.

lHon. fr. Anglin:
Mr. Chairman, if any statement I might make would involve any one in the

slightest trouble, I would beg to be excused from making it, even at the risk of hurt-
ing my own case. When I spoke of the fact that gentlemen did hold seats in Par-
liament who were known to be proprietors of newspapers which supported -the
Government of the day, and which were said to have been receiving-and, I presume,
truly said to have been receiving Government patronage, as newspapers call it-I
thought that I spoke of what was within the knowledge of very many members of
the Committee, and that it would not be necessary to use any names. However, as
the Committee, you inform me, dosire that I should name a few of these gentlemen,
I will name those who sat in the First Parliament of Canada, and who, of course, I
presume, are not responsible to-day in any way for any unconscious violation of the
Independence of Parliament Act. I referred to them as having acted within their right
and within the law,and not with the view of charging them with having done any wrong.

12

40 Victoria. Appenadix (No. 8.) A 1817



I refer to their cases as proof that I was not myself doing anything wrong. MreChamber-
lain was one who was well known to be a partner in the Montreal G#azette, I presume
that there is no doubt of that fact, and ho sat in the House for the firt Parliament
of Canada for two or three Sessions, and I think for three Sessions. his rights there
were never questioned or doubted in the slightest degree. I never hemi4 a syllable
breathed to say that Mr. Chamberlain was acting in violation of the law, and yet I
have no doubt that during all this time, bis newspaper was getting a large share of
Government advertising; all the advertising the Government wished to have donc in
Montreal, I presume, was done there, and lie had a share of it. Mr. Beatty, of the
Toronto Leader, was also a member of the First Parliament for nearly the wholo
Parliamont, I believe, and he was reputed by everybody to be the proprietor of the
Leader-there is no doubt about that fact whatever. I cannot speak to my own
knowledge, for I cannot remember that I ever looked at one of the papers with the
view of ascertaining whether or not the Leader received Government advertising,
but I have no doubt that bis paper at that time did receive sucb advertising. Indeed,
in Mr. Beatty's case, I cannot have any doubt of the fact, bocause although his right
to sit in the House was never questioned, it did sometimes happen that an allusion
was made in the course of some of our rather angry debates to the fact that ho was
in receipt of Government advertising patronage and received pay for it, and I
remember very well that on one occasion, after something of that kind had been said,
I met Mr. Beatty in the corridor, when ho very angrily protested against
such an imputation being levelled at him. fie did not at all deny that he
received this patronage, but lie most emphatically denied that any amount
of patronage could possibly be held to influence bis vote or conduct in
the flouse as a member of the House; and as to that, I quite agreed
with him at the time. I also think that Mr. Bowell was spoken of as boing
one of the proprietors, or the sole proprietor, of the Belleville Intelligencer; I know
that I heard him taunted in the flouse with having received and being in receipt of
pay for Government work and Government advertising; but bis right to sit there was
never ehallenged or questioned, and it was never hinted at even that ho had violated
in this the Independence of Parliament Act, but it was simply thought that, being
there in receipt of pay from the Government, he ought, therefore, perhaps, to be more
moderate in what he said in support of the Government, or something to that effect.
I also think that the Chatham Planet is said to be owned by a member of the flouse,
Mr. Rufus Stephenson. He was said to be the proprietor of the Chatham Planet; he
was so regarded in the House; and I thought that this was the case. I will say
again that I thought all these gentleman were acting perfectly within the law, and I
think so now. When I referred to their cases, it was not at all with the idea of sayingto the Committee that five or six wrongs made a right, but simply as proof that, in
the opinion of the House of Commons itself, the receiving of work of that kind was
not a violation of the Independence of Parliament Act. There was also the previous
decision. in the Bell case, extending over a term of years; and that, in my opinion,
rendered it an acceptation and declaration of the Canadian interprotation of this
particular Act of Parliament. I think that there were some othergentlemen-whose
names I cannot remember now-who stood in a somewhat similar position in
that and in the succeeding Parliament. It was generally understood in the-
city pf St. John, that Mr. Palmer, who is a very astute lawyer, was, if not exactly
the proprietor of a little paper publishod down there, largely interested in it at all
events, and any Government advertising received by it, must be held to be Govern-
ment advertieing given to him; and I saw him sit for two sessions, I think, in the
second Parliament of Canada, and bis right to sit there was unquestioned, unchal-
lenged, and never thought of.

By Mr.
Q. You allude to the Tribune 1-Yes. I do not know the exact relation of MrPalmer to it, I only speak of public report.

By Mr. Cameron :
Q. You only refer to cases of the publication of advertisements ?- Yes.
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Q. Are you aware that any of these gentlemen whom you have mentioned did
ordinary Departmental printing ?-No.

Q. Ie only made publication of advertisements ?-[ do not know whether he
did or not. I am not prepared to say it was only publishing advertisements, I only
speak of what was reported at the time; I do not meddle much in other people's
busine>s, and I never pried into this matter. I may say that I cannot see much
difference myself, unless that I would suppose that the publication of advertisements
would be much more in the nature of a contract than the execution of ordinary job
printing, inasmuch ae it usually extends over some specifie time; an order is sent to
publish a certain advertisement for one, two or three months, from day to day, or
from week to week, as the case may be. I would regard this as being more of the
nature of a contract than a job of job printing ordered to be executed within a day
or two.

THuRSDAr, 19th April, 1877.

Hon. D. A. MACDONALD, Lieutenant-Governor of Ontario, and formerly Post-
master-General of Canada, was in attendance before the Committee, and gave under
oath his evidence as follows:-

Q. I believe you were Postmaster-General-from wbat dates ?-From about the
4th or 7th of November, 1873, until I was appointed Lieutenant-Governor.

Q. That was about ?-About eighteen months after I was appointed Post-
-naster-General; I was appointed, I think, the 21st of May, 1875.

Q. When Postmaster-General, had you any communication with Mr. Anglin
about Government printing in New Brunswick ?-Not any that I have any recollec-
tion of; I have no recollection of communicating with Mr. Anglin on the subject
-except verbally; I met him arter I concluded to give the printing, and I mentioned
what I had done.

Q. When was this ?- Shortly after the formation of the Government.
Q. Shortly after the formation of the Government you made up your mind to give

himn the printing ?-I made up my mind to give the papers that supported the Gov-
ernment the printing of the Department.

Q. You met Mr. Anglin ?-After I bad decided to give him the printing, my
recollection goes back, that I first ordered that the printing should be given to two
papers in St. John ; I do not recollect the other paper-the Freeman and another
paper ; shortly after I ordered that it should be all given to the Freeman; I then
stated to Mr. Anglin tliat I had ordered the printing to be sent to his office.

Q. The printing of your Department ?--The printing---all that was to be done
for New Brunswick for my Department; Mr. Aiglin coolly thanked me, and that
was all.

Q. As I understand it then, at first you had given instructions to send the printing
ofyour Department in New Brunswick to two newspapers, and changed your mind
and resolved to give it to the Freeman alone ?--I do not recollect how long the other
paper had it.

Q. You made up your mind to give all the printing to the Freeman before you
saw Mr. Anglin ?--Before I spoke to him about it.

Q. Can you remember the date when you spoke to him about it?--. do not
know; I do not know how soon after the formation of the Government I spoke to
him, or whether I spoke to him the first time I met him after I made the change or
not, I cannot say.

Q. It could not have been long after the formation of the Government?-I
cannot state; it was, however, after the formation of the Government; I forget all
.about it; I do not recollect whether it was on the street or not; I do not recollect the
date---whether one week or one month or two months, I cannot state.

Q. Did you send the order to the proper officer of your Department?-Yes; I
-ordered Major White to send the printing to the Freeman; I merely ordered that the
,printing to be done for the Department should be done by the Freeman.
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Q. Any orders about stationery ?-No; I do not know about any stationery, I

gave no orders regarding stationery; I merely told Major White to change the

printing to the Freeman on the same basis as the other.

Q. Did that order exist as long as you were Postmaster-General ?-Yes.

Q. Can you tell us how you came to the conclusion to give the printing to the

Freeman ?-I came to it, because the paper was supporting the Government.

Q. Was that determination come to by yourself or after communicating with

your De artment ?-I do not hesitate to say that it was my own act.

Q.tid you give any instructions as to the prices or rates ?-I told the Secretary,
Mr. White, that the printing was to be sent to the Freenan, and that the rates were

not to be higher than those paid by the former G-overnment, in fact I said that if we

could get them less, we were to try and do so.
Q. Do you happen to know il there was any stationery ?-No, I cannot say.
Q. Did you examine the accounts ?-I never examined the accounts, I seldom did

that sort of thing; I had enough to do without going into details.

Q. You were aware, of course, who the proprietor of the Freenan was ?-Oh, yes;
it was reported to be Mr. Anglin.

Q. You spoke to Mr. Anglin ?-Of course.
Q. As being a matter of interest to him ?-Nothing was said about it being of

interest to him.
The Chairman:-Do you propose to ask the Lieutenant-Governor any further

questions.
Q. Is that the only communication you ever had with Mr. Anglin on the subject?

-- The only one I recollect at ail; I mean by that direct to him personally.
Q. There is some little doubt, as to the lapse of time between the formation of

the Government and your interview with Mr. Anglin-was it in Ottawa tbat you
had this conversation ?-I cannot tell where it was; it was the first time I met him
after the formation of the Government.

Q. The Deputy Postmaster-General bas stated, after you were examined, that
the first instructions from that department was given in November, 1873, and it was
to the effect that two-thirds of the business should be given to the Freeman and one-
third to the Globe, and states that that was late in February, 1874, before the in-
structions to give it ail to the Freenan were given. Do you remember anything
about the dates ?-I gave instructions to Mr. White to communicate with the
Inspector. I do not recollect the proportion that was given to either of these papers,
but it was ordered that some would be given to each. I know that something of that
kind was done. Subsequently I ordered tbat the whole should be given to the
Freenan, because I found it was more convenient to have the whole printing done at
-one place than at two. That was the reason I gave it all to the Freeman, because it
would be more convenient.

Q. Don't you remember the date when that communication was made, or about
the time ?-I cannot tell. That, of course, would be for the Department. My in-
structions entirely were given to Mr. White. I do not recollect having a conver-
sation with Mr. Griffin at ail about it.

Q. The reason why I gave you this trouble was simply to ask this question-
the reason you took the printing from the Globe and gave it to the Freenan; that
is the only question? ---It was for the sake of convenience.

Q. What sort of a convenience was it ?---It was easier to keep one account.
Q. Mr. Griffin states that it was found to be more economical to bring ail tbe

-departmental printing here, because it was more economical to do a large amount of
work than a small amount; it was more economical to get the work done in one
office than in two ?---My idea was that it was more convenient to have it at one place.
My recollection is that when I told Mr. Anglin about the printing, it was aiter the
whole printing was given to him ; and my impression is, it was after our return from
our election crisis. My recollection is that when I ordered the printing to be given
to him, it was after the election.

(Signed)
16
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The Chairman:-
W. H. GRIFFIN, Esq., Deputy Postmaster-General for Canada, was also in atten-

dance and gave under oath his evidence as follows: -
Q. Mr. Màcdonald, formerly Postmaster-General, gave instructions that the

printing of the Post Office Department in New Brunswick should be transferred to
the Freeman soon after the formation of the present Government ?-It was done by
letter of the 20th of November.

Q. Do you remember the instructions given by Mr. Macdonald to the Inspector ?
-I cannot exactly recall how my knowledge came. I spoke to the Lieutenant-Gov-
ernor on bis taking office as Postmaster-General, telling him what the arrangements
were for printing the work in the Maritime Provinces, and asking bis instructions,
and he said he would let me know in a few days. A letter was written in conse-
quence of bis decision, and the Inspector was directed by this letter to give two-
thirds of the printing to the St. John's Freeman, and one-third to the St. John's Globe.

Q. How long did this arrangement continue ?-That lasted I think until some
time in the February following, and then the Inspector was directed to give the
whole of the printing to the Freeman.

Q. For what reason ?-I do not know, except that that was the Postmaster-Gen-
eral's desire.

Q. What was donc about prices ?-There was some difficulty for the first few
months. The accounts were all audited by me, and paid by me, and the prices were
regulated by the prices we paid previously, and I think there was considerable diffi-
culty. There were discussions about what the prices should be. There is always a
difficulty in comparing the prices of work done in different quantities and in differ-
ent places. We had a schedule of prices drawn up by the Queen's Printer. It was
assented to by the parties doing the printing in both the Maritime Provinces. That
was some time in June or July following. I don't think in any case up to that time
we paid more than we had paid previously. *My impression is that the schedule was
in some cases more, and in some cases less, but on the average less.

Statement of amounts paid to several newspapers for Post Office printing was
here handed to the Chairman.

Q. Do you know who are the proprietors of these papers ?-No, but I can find
out who gave the receipts.

Q. You spoke of two letters from the Department, the first written in Novem-
ber, 1873, giving instructions that the New Brunswick printing should be given to
two newspapers, and a subsequeut letter altering these instructions, and ordering
that the printing should be given to the Freeman alone; are these letters in
existence ?-- -Copies of them are in the letter-books, and the originals are in the
possession of the Inspector.

Q. You say that tnere was at first some considerable trouble about the prices ?
Did you discuss the case with any one ?-Only through the Inspector. The accounts
came through the Inspector, and he certified as to the quantity that had been delivered,
and that the work was suitably done.

Q. Do you, know with whom- the discussions took place on the part of the
printers ?-No; you may see that the accounts themselves have corrections in them
made with red ink. We did not pay the full prices charged in all eases.

Q. These discussions took place then in St. John with some one representing
the Freeman ?-Yes ; with the Inspector.

Q. Who that party was you do not know ?-No.
Q. Will the papers or the letters show ?-No.
Q. Did you state that the schedule was assented to ?-It was assented to, but how

that took place I don't think there is anything to show. The schedule was sent to
the Inspector with a letter, saying that no other prices would be admitted.

Q. Was there any correspondence with anybody else on this subject ?-We did
not deal with any one but the Post Office Inspector. There may, however, have been
some correspondence with Messrs. Chu bb in regard to paper.
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Q. Was there any schedule of prices before July, 1874 ?-No.
Q. There was no arrangement as to prices come to earlier than November ?- No.
Q. Then between November and July these difficulties took place about the

prices ?-Well they could hardly be called difficulties. Occasionally the prices were
discovered to be incorrect.

Q. You did not commuunicate with anybody about that except the Inspector ?-
No.

Q. Mr. Griffin, can you tell us why the amount of printing should be so much
greater during those two years than it was formerly?-It was owing to the changes
in the Way Post Offices in New Brunswick; in order to assimilate them in accor-
dance with the other parts of the Dominion they had to be furnished with entirely
new blanks and forms.

Q. Was the change made in 1874 ?-It began in 1874 and continued through
1874 and 1875.

Q. The amount of printing in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick seems to be much
larger than in Ontario and Quebec ?-- -Well, that was the cause.

Q. lHow long did that continue ?----For about two or three years.
After recess-
Letters dated November 20th and December 17th were read.
Q. Do you know of any other schedule before this one of July ?--No.
Q. What did you mean this morning when you said that the prices under this

schedule averaged less ?----My impression is that the prices were less than those pre-
viously paid; there had been no previous sehedule.

Q. I suppose there would have been considerable difficulty in dividing the
printing, giving two-thirds to one and one-third to the other ?---I do not remember
that there was; the fact is we had no account before the second letter was sent.

Q. As a matter of practice would it have been difficult for the Postmaster-
General or Inspector to know when ho was giving two-thirds to one and one-third to
the other ?---Of course there would have been difficulty.

Q. Referring to letter of the 22ad of April, 1876, where is report No. 564?-
It would be a letter from the Inspector, and I have not got it with me.

Q. That, of course, you eau produce ?-Oh, yes.
Q. You had no personal commanication with any party in regard to this print-

ing ?-No.
Q. I think you stated that at the time the change was made, no account had

been rendered ?-No; it was hardly possible.
Q. Was any work done ?-We could see by the first account. It would depend

upon what the wants of the service might be between the first letter and the second,
nodifying it. No doubt something was ordered.

Q. I sec that on the 17th of Diecember, instructions were given by your Depart-
ment, to give all the printing to the Freeman, and none to the Globe. Do you know
of any Departmental reasons ?-No.

Q. Do you know who the proprietor of the Globe was ?-No, I have no idea.
Q. I understand you to say the amount of work was largely increased by

changing the Way Offices into Post Offices, and that the work was much larger for
those two years than for other years. Will you have the kindness to state to the
Committee what was required during these two years ?-Each of these offices
required a different set of forms and blanks. It required about $25 worth to fit each
of them out. Indeed, for my own information, I went into the matter, and found it
cost nearer $30 than $25, altogether for each office, and there were some five hundred
offices. It was substantially the same as establishing five hundred new Post Offices.

Q. Was there any printing done by Messrs. Chubb & Co. ?-Not that I know of.

(Signed) W. H. GRIFFIN,
Deputy Postmaster-General.

17
8-2


